Transistor Thyristor & Diode Manual

Technical Series SC-15 | Optional Price \$2.50



NGN

Transistor Thyristor & Diode Manual

This Manual, like its preceding editions, is useful to engineers, educators, students, radio amateurs, hobbyists, and others who are technically interested in bipolar transistors, MOS field-effect transistors, thyristors, silicon rectifiers, and other solid-state diodes. It provides detailed information on the operation, technology, circuit applications, and testing of such devices, as well as definitive characteristics and ratings on all current RCA types.

This edition has been expanded and updated to cover the latest developments in solid-state device technology and applications. In addition, the technical data has been grouped according to product types to facilitate selection of the optimum device for a particular application. A complete index to specific devices is provided at the back of the Manual. The popular Circuits Section has also been augmented by several new types of circuits, and circuits previously included have been modified and updated as required to reflect current practices in circuit design and applications.

RCA | Solid-State Division | Somerville, N.J. 08876

Copyright 1971 by RCA Corporation (All rights reserved under Pan-American Copyright Convention)

Printed in U.S.A. 4/71

Contents

-

Materials, Junctions, and Devices	3
Bipolar Transistors	12
MOS Field-Effect Transistors	39
Thyristors	56
Silicon Rectifiers	77
Other Solid-State Diodes	83
Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications	88
Low-Frequency Amplification	112
RF Power Amplification and Generation	133
TV Deflection	175
Power Switching and Control	189
DC Power Supplies	228
Testing and Mounting	237
RCA SK-Series Solid-State Replacement Devices	258
Symbols	270
Selection Charts	276
Interpretation of Data	282
Technical Data for Small-Signal Bipolar Transistors	284
Technical Data for MOS Field-Effect Transistors	363
Technical Data for Low- and Medium-Frequency Power	
Transistors	389
Technical Data for RF Power Transistors	538
Technical Data for Thyristors	586
Technical Data for Silicon Rectifiers and Other Solid-State	
Diodes	652
Chart of Discontinued Transistors	659
Outlines	666
Mounting Hardware	684
Circuits	691
Other RCA Technical Manuals	758
Index to RCA Solid-State Devices	759
Index	765

Information furnished by RCA is believed to be accurate and reliable. However, no responsibility is assumed by RCA for its use; nor for any infringements of patents or other rights of third parties which may result from its use. No license is granted by implication or otherwise under any patent or patent rights of RCA.

Materials, Junctions, and Devices

SOLID-STATE devices are small but versatile units that can perform an amazing variety of control functions in electronic equipment. Like other electron devices, they have the ability to control almost instantly the movement of charges of electricity. They are used as rectifiers, detectors, amplifiers, oscillators, electronic switches, mixers, and modulators.

In addition, solid-state devices have many important advantages over other types of electron devices. They are very small and light in weight (some are less than an inch long and weigh just a fraction of an ounce). They have no filaments or heaters, and therefore require no heating power or warm-up time. They consume very little power. They are solid in construction, extremely rugged, free from microphonics, and can be made impervious to many severe environmental conditions. The circuits required for their operation are usually simple.

SEMICONDUCTOR MATERIALS

Unlike other electron devices, which depend for their functioning on the flow of electric charges through a vacuum or a gas, solid-state devices make use of the flow of current in a solid. In general, all materials may be classified in three major categories—conductors, semiconductors, and insulators—depending upon their ability to conduct an electric current. As the name indicates, a semiconductor material has poorer conductivity than a conductor, but better conductivity than an insulator.

The materials most often used in semiconductor devices are germanium and silicon. Germanium has higher electrical conductivity (less resistance to current flow) than silicon, and is used in devices intended for applications that require low voltage drops at high currents and in some small-signal transistors. Silicon is more suitable for high-power devices than germanium. One reason is that it can be used at much higher temperatures. In general, silicon is preferred over germanium because processing techniques yield more economical devices. As a result, today, silicon tends to supersede germanium in almost every type of application, including the small-signal area, unless a very low device voltage drop is required.

Resistivity

The ability of a material to conduct current (conductivity) is directly proportional to the number of free (loosely held) electrons in the material. Good conductors, such as silver, copper, and aluminum, have large numbers of free electrons; their resistivities are of the order of a few millionths of an ohm-centimeter. Insulators such as glass, rubber, and mica, which have very few loosely held electrons, have resistivities of several million ohm-centimeters. Semiconductor materials lie in the range between these two extremes, as shown in Fig. 1. Pure germanium has a resistivity of 60 ohm-centimeters. Pure silicon has a considerably higher resistivity, in the order of 60,000 ohm-centimeters. As used in semiconductor devices, however, these materials contain carefully controlled amounts of certain impurities



INCREASING CONDUCTIVITY Fig. 1—Resistivity of typical conductor, semiconductors, and insulator.

which reduce their resistivity to about 2 ohm-centimeters at room temperature (this resistivity decreases rapidly as temperature rises).

Impurities

Carefully prepared semiconductor materials have a crystal structure. In this type of structure, which is called a lattice, the outer or valence electrons of individual atoms are tightly bound to the electrons of adjacent atoms in electron-pair bonds, as shown in Fig. 2. Because such a



structure has no loosely held electrons, semiconductor materials are poor conductors under normal conditions. In order to separate the electron-pair bonds and provide free electrons for electrical conduction, it would be necessary to apply high temperatures or strong electric fields.

Another way to alter the lattice structure and thereby obtain free electrons, however, is to add small amounts of other elements having a different atomic structure. By the addition of almost infinitesimal amounts of such other elements, called "impurities", the basic electrical properties of pure semiconductor materials can be modified and controlled. The ratio of impurity to the semiconductor material is usually extremely small, in the order of one part in ten million.

When the impurity elements are added to the semiconductor material, impurity atoms take the place of semiconductor atoms in the lattice structure. If the impurity atoms added have the same number of valence electrons as the atoms of the original semiconductor material, they fit neatly into the lattice, forming the required number of electron-pair bonds with semiconductor atoms. In this case, the electrical properties of the material are essentially unchanged.

When the impurity atom has one more valence electron than the semiconductor atom, however, this extra electron cannot form an electronpair bond because no adjacent valence electron is available. The excess electron is then held very loosely by the atom, as shown in Fig. 3, and



Fig. 3-Lattice structure of n-type material.

requires only slight excitation to break away. Consequently, the presence of such excess electrons makes the material a better conductor, i.e., its resistance to current flow is reduced.

Impurity elements which are added to germanium and silicon crystals to provide excess electrons include arsenic and antimony. When these elements are introduced, the resulting material is called n-type because the excess free electrons have a negative charge. (It should be noted, however, that the negative charge of the electrons is balanced by an equivalent positive charge in the center of the impurity atoms. Therefore, the net electrical charge of the semiconductor material is not changed.)

A different effect is produced when an impurity atom having one less valence electron than the semiconductor atom is substituted in the lattice structure. Although all the valence electrons of the impurity atom form electron-pair bonds with electrons of neighboring semiconductor atoms, one of the bonds in the lattice structure cannot be completed because the impurity atom lacks the final valence electron. As a result, a vacancy or "hole" exists in the lattice, as shown in Fig. 4. An electron from an adjacent electron-pair bond may then absorb enough energy to break its bond and move through the lattice to fill the hole. As in the



Fig. 4—Lattice structure of p-type material.

case of excess electrons, the presence of "holes" encourages the flow of electrons in the semiconductor material; consequently, the conductivity is increased and the resistivity is reduced.

The vacancy or hole in the crystal structure is considered to have a positive electrical charge because it represents the absence of an electron. (Again, however, the net charge of the crystal is unchanged.) Semiconductor material which contains these "holes" or positive charges is called p-type material. P-type materials are formed by the addition of aluminum, gallium, or indium.

Although the difference in the chemical composition of n-type and p-type materials is slight, the differences in the electrical characteristics of the two types are substantial, and are very important in the operation of solid-state devices.

P-N JUNCTIONS

When n-type and p-type materials are joined together, as shown in Fig. 5, an unusual but very important phenomenon occurs at the interface



Fig. 5—Interaction of holes and electrons at p-n junction.

where the two materials meet (called the p-n junction). An interaction takes place between the two types of material at the junction as a result of the holes in one material and the excess electrons in the other.

When a p-n junction is formed, some of the free electrons from the n-type material diffuse across the junction and recombine with holes in the lattice structure of the p-type material; similarly, some of the holes in the p-type material diffuse across the junction and recombine with free electrons in the lattice structure of the n-type material. This interaction or diffusion is brought into equilibrium by a small space-charge region (sometimes called the transition region or depletion layer). The p-type material thus acquires a slight negative charge and the n-type material acquires a slight positive charge.

Thermal energy causes charge carriers (electrons and holes) to diffuse from one side of the p-n junction to the other side; this flow of charge carriers is called diffusion current. As a result of the diffusion process, however, a potential gradient builds up across the space-charge region. This potential gradient can be represented, as shown in Fig. 6, by an imaginary battery connected across the p-n junction. (The battery symbol



Fig. 6—Potential gradient across spacecharge region.

is used merely to illustrate internal effects; the potential it represents is not directly measurable.) The potential gradient causes a flow



(a) REVERSE BIAS

of charge carriers, referred to as drift current. in the opposite direction to the diffusion current. Under equilibrium conditions, the diffusion current is exactly balanced by the drift current so that the net current across the p-n junction is zero. In other words, when no external current or voltage is applied to the p-n junction, the potential gradient forms an energy barrier that prevents further diffusion of charge carriers across the junction. In effect, electrons from the n-type material that tend to diffuse across the junction are repelled by the slight negative charge induced in the p-type material by the potential gradient, and holes from the p-type material are repelled by the slight positive charge induced in the n-type material. The potential gradient (or energy barrier, as it is sometimes called), therefore, prevents total interaction between the two types of materials, and thus preserves the differences in their characteristics.

CURRENT FLOW

When an external battery is connected across a p-n junction, the amount of current flow is determined by the polarity of the applied voltage and its effect on the space-charge region. In Fig. 7(a), the positive terminal of the battery is connected to the n-type material and the negative terminal to the p-type material. In this arrangement, the free electrons in the n-type material are attracted toward the positive terminal of the battery and away from the junction. At the same time, holes from the



(b) FORWARD BIAS

p-type material are attracted toward the negative terminal of the battery and away from the junction. As a result, the space-charge region at the junction becomes effectively wider, and the potential gradient increases until it approaches the potential of the external battery. Current flow is then extremely small because no voltage difference (electric field) exists across either the p-type or the n-type region. Under these conditions, the p-n junction is said to be reverse-biased.

In Fig. 7(b), the positive terminal of the external battery is connected to the p-type material and the negative terminal to the n-type material. In this arrangement, electrons in the p-type material near the positive terminal of the battery break their electron-pair bonds and enter the battery, creating new holes. At the same time, electrons from the negative terminal of the battery enter the n-type material and diffuse toward the junction. As a result, the spacecharge region becomes effectively narrower, and the energy barrier decreases to an insignificant value. Excess electrons from the n-type material can then penetrate the spacecharge region, flow across the junction, and move by way of the holes in the p-type material toward the positive terminal of the battery. This electron flow continues as long as the external voltage is applied. Under these conditions, the junction is said to be forward-biased.

The generalized voltage-current characteristic for a p-n junction in Fig. 8 shows both the reverse-bias and forward-bias regions. In the forward-bias region, current rises rapidly as the voltage is increased and is quite high. Current in the reverse-bias region is usually much lower. Excessive voltage (bias) in either direction should be avoided in normal applications because excessive currents and the resulting high temperatures may permanently damage the solid-state device.



Fig. 8—Voltage-current characteristic for a p-n junction.

TYPES OF DEVICES

The simplest type of solid-state device is the diode, which is represented by the symbol shown in Fig. 9. Structurally, the diode is basically a p-n junction similar to those shown in Fig. 7. The n-type material which serves as the negative electrode is referred to as the cathode, and the p-type material which serves as the positive electrode is referred to as the anode. The arrow symbol used for the anode represents the direction of "conventional current flow";



Fig. 9—Schematic symbol for a solidstate diode.

electron current flows in a direction opposite to the arrow.

Because the junction diode conducts current more easily in one direction than in the other, it is an effective rectifying device. If an ac signal is applied, as shown in Fig. 10, electron current flows freely during the positive half cycle, but little or no current flows during the negative half cycle.

One of the most widely used types of solid-state diode is the silicon rectifier. These devices are available in a wide range of current



Fig. 10-Simple diode rectifying circuit.

capabilities, ranging from tenths of an ampere to several hundred amperes or more, and are capable of operation at voltages as high as 1000 volts or more. Parallel and series arrangements of silicon rectifiers permit even further extension of current and voltage limits. Characteristics and applications of these devices are discussed in detail in the section on Silicon Rectifiers.

Several variations of the basic junction diode structure have been developed for use in special applications. One of the most important of these developments is the tunnel diode, which is used for amplification, switching, and pulse generation. This diode and other special types (i.e., varactor, voltage-reference, and compensating diodes) are described in the section on Other Solid-State Diodes.

When another layer is added to a semiconductor diode to form three layers (two junctions), a device is produced which provides power or voltage amplification. The resulting device is called a bipolar transistor. The three regions of the device are called the emitter, the base, and the collector, as shown in Fig. 11(a). In normal operation, the emitter-tobase junction is biased in the forward direction, and the collector-tobase junction in the reverse direction.

Different symbols are used for n-p-n and p-n-p transistors to show the difference in the direction of current flow in the two types of devices. In the n-p-n transistor shown in Fig. 11(b), electrons flow from the emitter to the collector. In the p-n-p transistor shown in Fig. 11(c), electrons flow from the collector to the emitter. In other words, the direction of dc electron current is always opposite to that of the arrow on the emitter lead. (As in the case of semiconductor diodes, the arrow indicates the direction of "conventional current flow" in the circuit.)

The first two letters of the n-p-n and p-n-p designations indicate the respective polarities of the voltages applied to the emitter and the collector in normal operation. In



Fig. 11—Functional diagram and schematic symbols for bipolar transistors.

an n-p-n transistor the emitter is made negative with respect to both the collector and the base, and the collector is made positive with respect to both the emitter and the base. In a p-n-p transistor, the emitter is made positive with respect to both the collector and the base, and the collector is made negative with respect to both emitter and base.

The transistor, which is a threeelement device, can be used for a wide variety of control functions, including amplification, oscillation, and frequency conversion. A complete description of the fabrication, electrical characteristics, and basic circuits of bipolar transistors is given in the section on **Bipolar Transistors**.

The field-effect transistor (FET) is another type of solid-state device that is becoming increasingly popular in electronic circuits. Functionally, this type of transistor differs from the bipolar transistor in that current flow through the de-vice is controlled by variation of the electric field established by a control voltage rather than by variation of the current injected into the base terminal. Field-effect transistors exhibit many of the electrical characteristics of electron tubes, but still retain the inherent advantages of solid-state devices (e.g., small size, low power consumption, and mechanical ruggedness). the On basis of structural and functional differences, these devices are classified as either junction-gate field-effect transistors (JFET) or metal-oxidesemiconductor field-effect transistors (MOS/FET). Although in both types the conduction current is controlled by an electric field, the electrical characteristics of these devices differ significantly.

Fig. 12 shows the schematic symbols for both n-channel and pchannel junction-gate field-effect transistors. The gate, source, and



Fig. 12-Schematic symbols for junctiongate field-effect transistors (JFET).

drain electrodes of these devices are equivalent to the base, emitter, and collector electrodes, respectively, of bipolar transistors. A signal voltage applied to the gate electrode controls the conductivity of the semiconductor layer immediately below the gate, between the source and drain terminals. The n-channel type, which is analogous to an n-p-n bipolar transistor, is operated with the drain at a positive potential with respect to the source terminal. In the schematic symbol, this type is indicated by an arrow in the gate lead that points into the device. The drain potential for the pchannel type, which is analogous to a p-n-p bipolar transistor, is negative with respect to the source terminal. In the schematic symbol for this type, the arrow in the gate lead points away from the device.

Fig. 13 shows the schematic symbols for both n-channel and p-channel versions of the basic classes of MOS field-effect transistors, i.e., enhancement types and depletion types. The arrow used in the schematic symbol to indicate whether a device is an n-channel type (points inward) or a p-channel type (points outward) is shown in the lead from the substrate terminal. The substrate terminal is connected to the semiconductor substrate (also referred to as the active "bulk") on which the transistor is fabricated.

The technology for MOS fieldeffect transistors is more versatile than that for junction-gate types. Specific categories of MOS fieldeffect transistors have been designed with unique characteristics that make them ideal for linear (analog) and digital applications. For example, the depletion type is frequently used in linear applications, and the enhancement type is ideal for digital applications. An enhancement type of MOS field-effect transistor is equivalent to a "normally open" switch, as indicated in the schematic symbol by the gaps in the source-to-drain path. The depletion type, however, is normally conductive and its source-to-drain path is shown continuous in the schematic symbol. The enhancement-MOS/ FET technology is being used increasingly in the fabrication of integrated circuits for digital application, particularly for large-scaleintegration (LSI) circuits. A comprehensive description of MOS/FET devices is given in the section on MOS Field-Effect Transistors.



Fig. 13—Schematic symbols for metal-oxide-semiconductor field-effect transistors (MOS/FET).

When alternate layers of p-type and n-type semiconductor materials are arranged in a series array, various types of thyristors can be produced. The term thyristor is the generic name for solid-state devices that have electrical characteristics similar to those of thyratron tubes. The three basic types of thyristors are the bidirectional trigger diode called the diac, the reverse blocking triode called the silicon controlled rectifier or SCR, and the bidirectional triode thyristor, called the triac. The diac, shown in Fig. 14, is a two-electrode, three-layer device having the same doping level at both junctions and a "floating" base. The device conducts current in



Fig. 14—Junction diagram (a) and schematic symbol (b) for a diac.

either direction after the applied voltage exceeds a certain value called the "breakover voltage." The SCR is a three-electrode, four-layer device, as shown in Fig. 15. The SCR





behaves as a conventional rectifier to block current flow in the reverse direction and as a transistor switch in the forward direction to first block current and then conduct through the device when a current pulse of sufficient magnitude is applied to the gate electrode. The triac is a three-electrode, five-layer device, as shown in Fig. 16, which exhibits the forward-blocking forward-conducting voltage-current characteristic of the SCR structure for either direction of voltage applied to the main terminals. The schematic symbols for these thyristor devices are also shown in Figs. 14, 15, and 16. A complete description of these devices is given in the section on Thyristors.



Fig. 16—Junction diagram (a) and schematic symbol (b) for a triac.

Bipolar Transistors

p-n junction biased in the reverse direction is equivalent to element high-resistance (low я current for a given applied voltage), while a junction biased in the forward direction is equivalent to a low-resistance element (high current for a given applied voltage). Because the power developed by a given current is greater in a highresistance element than in a lowresistance element ($P = I^2 R$), power gain can be obtained in a structure containing two such resistance elements if the current flow is not materially reduced. A device containing two p-n junctions biased in opposite directions is called a junction or bipolar transistor.

Such a two-junction device is shown in Fig. 17. The thick end layers are made of the same type of material (n-type in this case), and are separated by a very thin layer of the opposite type of material (p-type in the device shown). By means of the



Fig. 17-An n-p-n structure biased for power gain.

external batteries, the left-hand (n-p) junction is biased in the forward

direction to provide a low-resistance input circuit, and the right-hand (p-n) junction is biased in the reverse direction to provide a highresistance output circuit.

Electrons flow easily from the lefthand n-type region to the center ptype region as a result of the forward biasing. Most of these electrons diffuse through the thin p-type region, however, and are attracted by the positive potential of the external battery across the right-hand junction. In practical devices, approximately 95 to 99.5 per cent of the electron current reaches the right-hand ntype region. This high percentage of current penetration provides power gain in the high-resistance output circuit and is the basis for transistor amplification capability.

The operation of p-n-p devices is similar to that shown for the n-p-n device, except that the bias-voltage polarities are reversed, and electroncurrent flow is in the opposite direction. (Many discussions of semiconductor theory assume that the "holes" in semiconductor material constitute the charge carriers in p-n-p devices, and discuss "hole currents" for these devices and "electron currents" for n-p-n devices. Other texts discuss neither hole current nor electron current, but rather "conventional current flow", which is assumed to travel through a circuit in a direction from the positive terminal of the external battery back to its negative terminal. For the sake of simplicity, this dis-

Bipolar Transistors

cussion will be restricted to the concept of electron current flow, which travels from a negative to a positive terminal.)

DESIGN AND FABRICATION

The ultimate aim of all transistor fabrication techniques is the construction of two parallel p-n junctions with controlled spacing between the junctions and controlled impurity levels on both sides of each junction. A variety of structures has been developed in the course of transistor evolution.

The earliest transistors made were of the point-contact type. In this type of structure, two pointed wires were placed next to each other on an n-type block of semiconductor material. The p-n junctions were formed by electrical pulsing of the wires. This type has been superseded by junction transistors, which are fabricated by various alloy, diffusion, and crystal-growth techniques.

In grown-junction transistors, the impurity content of the semiconductor material is changed during the growth of the original crystal ingot to provide the p-n-p or n-p-n regions. The grown crystal is then sliced into a large number of small-area devices, and contacts are made to each region of the devices. Fig. 18(a) shows a cross-section of a grownjunction transistor.

In alloy-junction transistors, two small "dots" of a p-type or n-type impurity element are placed on opposite sides of a thin wafer of n-type or p-type semiconductor material, respectively, as shown in Fig. 18(b). After proper heating, the impurity "dots" alloy with the semiconductor material to form the regions for the emitter and collector junctions. The base connection in this structure is made to the original semiconductor wafer.

The drift-field transistor is a modified alloy-junction device in which the impurity concentration in the base wafer is diffused or graded, as



shown in Fig. 18(c). Two advantages are derived from this structure: (a) the resultant built-in voltage or "drift field" speeds current flow, and (b) the ability to use a heavy impurity concentration in the vicinity of the emitter and a light concentration in the vicinity of the collector makes it possible to minimize capacitive charging times. Both these advantages lead to a substantial extension of the frequency performance over the allov-junction device.

The diffused-junction transistor represents a major advance in transistor technology because increased control over junction spacings and impurity levels makes possible significant improvements in transistor performance capabilities. A crosssection of a single-diffused "hometaxial" structure is shown in Fig. 19(a). Hometaxial transistors are fabricated by simultaneous diffusion of impurity from each side of a homogeneously doped base wafer. A mesa or flat-topped peak is etched on one side of the wafer in an intricate design to define the transistor emitter and expose the base region for connection of metal contacts. Large amounts of heat can be dissipated from a hometaxial structure through the highly conductive solder joint between the semiconductor material and the device package. This structure provides a very low collector resistance.

Double-diffused transistors have an additional degree of freedom for selection of the impurity levels and junction spacings of the base, emitter, and collector. This structure provides high voltage capability through a lightly doped collector region without compromise of the junction spacings which determine device frequency response and other important characteristics. Fig. 19(b) shows a double-diffused transistor: tvnical the emitter and base junctions are diffused into the same side of the original semiconductor wafer, which serves as the collector. A mesa is usually etched through the base region to reduce the collector area at the base-to-collector junction and to provide a stable semiconductor surface.

Double-diffused planar transistors provide the added advantage of protection or passivation of the emitterto-base and collector-to-base junction surfaces. Fig. 19(c) shows a typical double-diffused planar transistor. The base and emitter regions terminate at the top surface of the semiconductor wafer under the protection of an insulating layer. Photolithographic and masking techniques are used to provide for diffusion of both base and emitter impurities in selective areas of the semiconductor wafer.

In triple-diffused transistors, a heavily doped region diffused from the bottom of the semiconductor wafer effectively reduces the thickness of the lightly doped collector region to a value dictated only by electric-field considerations. Thus, the thickness of the lightly doped or high-resistivity portion of the collector is minimized to obtain a low collector resistance. A section of a triple-diffused planar structure is shown in Fig. 19(d).

Epitaxial transistors differ from diffused structures in the manner in which the various regions are fabricated. Epitaxial structures are grown on top of a semiconductor wafer in a high-temperature reaction chamber. The growth proceeds atom by atom, and is a perfect extension of the crystal lattice of the wafer on which it is grown. In the epitaxial-base transistor shown in Fig. 20(a) a lightly doped base region is deposited by epitaxial techniques on a heavily doped collector wafer of Photolithoopposite-type dopant. graphic and masking techniques and





Fig. 20—Cross-sections of epitaxial transistors.

a single impurity diffusion are used to define the emitter region, This structure offers the advantages of low collector resistance and easy control of impurity spacings and emitter geometry. A variation of this structure uses two epitaxial layers. A thin lightly doped epitaxial layer used for the collector is deposited over the original heavily doped semiconductor wafer prior to the epitaxial deposition of the base region. The collector epitaxial layer is of opposite-type dopant to the epitaxial base layer. This structure, shown in Fig. 20(b), has the added advantage of higher voltage ratings provided by the epitaxial collector laver.

The overlay transistor is a doublediffused epitaxial device which employs a unique emitter structure. A large number of separate emitters are tied together by diffused and metalized regions to increase the emitter edge-to-area ratio and reduce the charging-time constants of the transistor without compromise of current- and power-handling capability. Fig. 20(c) shows a section through a typical overlay emitter region.

After fabrication, individual transistor chips are mechanically separated and mounted on individual headers. Connector wires are then bonded to the metalized regions, and each unit is encased in plastic or a hermetically sealed enclosure. In power transistors, the wafer is usually soldered or alloyed to a solid metal header to provide for high thermal conductivity and low-resistance collector contacts, and lowresistance contacts are soldered or metal-bonded from the emitter or base metalizing contacts to the anpropriate package leads. This packaging concept results in a simple structure that can be readily attached to a variety of circuit heat sinks and can safely withstand power dissipations of hundreds of watts and currents of tens of amperes.

BASIC CIRCUITS

Bipolar transistors are ideal current amplifiers. When a small signal current is applied to the input terminals of a bipolar transistor, an amplified reproduction of this signal appears at the output terminals. Although there are six possible ways of connecting the input signal, only three useful circuit configurations exist for current or power amplification: common-base, common-emitter, and common-collector. In the common-base (or grounded-base) connection shown in Fig. 21, the signal is introduced into the emitter-base circuit and extracted from the collector-base circuit. (Thus the base element of the transistor is common to both the input and output circuits). Because the input or emitterbase circuit has a low impedance (resistance plus reactance) in the order of 0.5 to 50 ohms, and the output or collector-base circuit has a high impedance in the order of 1000 ohms to one megohm, the voltage or power gain in this type of configuration may be in the order of 1500.



Fig. 21—Common-base circuit configuration,

The direction of the arrows in Fig. 21 indicates electron current flow. As stated previously, most of the current from the emitter flows to the collector; the remainder flows through the base. In practical transistors, from 95 to 99.5 per cent of the emitter current reaches the collector. The current gain of this configuration, therefore, is always less than unity, usually in the order of 0.95 to 0.995.

The waveforms in Fig. 21 represent the input voltage produced by the signal generator e, and the output voltage developed across the load resistor R_I.. When the input voltage is positive, as shown at AB, it opposes the forward bias produced by the base-emitter battery, and thus reduces current flow through the n-p-n transistor. The reduced electron current flow through R_L then causes the top point of the resistor to become less negative (or more positive) with respect to the lower point, as shown at A'B' on the output waveform. Conversely, when the input signal is negative, as at CD, the output signal is also negative, as at C'D'. Thus, the phase of the signal remains unchanged in this circuit, i.e., there is no voltage phase reversal between the input and the output of a common-base amplifier.

In the common-emitter (or grounded-emitter) connection shown in Fig. 22 the signal is introduced into the base-emitter circuit and extracted from the collector-emitter circuit. This configuration has more moderate input and output impedances than the common-base circuit. The input (base-emitter) impedance is in the range of 20 to 5000 ohms, and the output (collector-emitter) impedance is about 50 to 50,000 ohms. Power gains in the order of 10,000 (or approximately 40 dB) can be realized with this circuit because it provides both current gain and voltage gain.

Current gain in the commonemitter configuration is measured between the base and the collector, rather than between the emitter and the collector as in the common-base circuit. Because a very small change in base current produces a relatively large change in collector current, the current gain is always greater than unity in a common-emitter circuit; a typical value is about 50.

The input signal voltage undergoes a phase reversal of 180 degrees in a common-emitter amplifier, as shown by the waveforms in Fig. 22.



Fig. 22—Common-emitter circuit configuration.

When the input voltage is positive, as shown at AB, it increases the forward bias across the base-emitter junction, and thus increases the total current flow through the transistor. The increased electron flow through R_{l} , then causes the output voltage to become negative, as shown at A'B'. During the second half-cycle of the waveform, the process is reversed, i.e., when the input signal is negative, the output signal is positive (as shown at CD and C'D'.)

The third type of connection, shown in Fig. 23, is the common-collector (or grounded-collector) circuit. In this configuration, the signal is introduced into the base-collector circuit and extracted from the emittercollector circuit. Because the input

Bipolar Transistors

impedance of the transistor is high and the output impedance low in this connection, the voltage gain is less than unity and the power gain is usually lower than that obtained in either a common-base or a common-emitter circuit. The commoncollector circuit is used primarily as



Fig. 23—Common-collector circuit configuration.

an impedance-matching device. As in the case of the common-base circuit, there is no phase reversal of the signal between the input and the output.

The circuits shown in Figs. 21 through 23 are biased for n-p-n transistors. When p-n-p transistors are used, the polarities of the batteries must be reversed. The voltage phase relationships, however, remain the same.

CHARACTERISTICS

THE term "characteristic" is used to identify the distinguishing electrical features and values of a transistor. These values may be shown in curve form or they may be tabulated. When the characteristics values are given in curve form, the curves may be used for the determination of transistor performance and the calculation of additional transistor parameters.

Characteristics values are obtained from electrical measurements of transistors in various circuits under certain definite conditions of current and voltage. Static characteristics are obtained with dc potentials applied to the transistor electrodes. Dynamic characteristics are obtained with an ac voltage on one electrode under various conditions of dc potentials on all the electrodes. The dynamic characteristics, therefore, are indicative of the performance capabilities of the transistor under actual working conditions.

Published data for transistors include both electrode characteristic curves and transfer characteristic curves. These curves present the same information, but in two different forms to provide more useful data. Because transistors are used most often in the common-emitter configuration, characteristic curves are usually shown for the collector or output electrode. The collectorcharacteristic curve is obtained by varying collector-to-emitter voltage and measuring collector current for different values of base current. The transfer-characteristic curve is obtained by varying the base-to-emitter (bias) voltage or current at a specified or constant collector voltage. and measuring collector current. A collector-characteristic family of curves is shown in Fig. 24, Fig. 25 shows transfer-characteristic curves for the same transistor.



Fig. 24-Collector-characteristic curves.

A measure of the current gain of a transistor is its forward currenttransfer ratio, i.e., the ratio of the current in the output electrode to the current in the input electrode. Because of the different ways in which transistors may be connected in circuits, the forward currenttransfer ratio is specified for a



Fig. 25-Transfer-characteristic curves.

particular circuit configuration. The common-base forward current-transfer ratio is often called alpha (or α), and the common-emitter forward current-transfer ratio is often called beta (or β).

In the common-base circuit shown in Fig. 21 the emitter is the input electrode and the collector is the output electrode. The dc alpha, therefore, is the ratio of the steady-state collector current I_c to the steadystate emitter current I_E :

$$\alpha = \frac{l_{\rm C}}{l_{\rm E}} = \frac{0.98 \ \rm l}{\rm l} = 0.98$$

In the common-emitter circuit shown in Fig. 22, the base is the input electrode and the collector is the output electrode. The dc beta, therefore, is the ratio of the steadystate collector current I_c to the steady-state base current I_n :

$$\beta = \frac{1_{\rm C}}{1_{\rm B}} = \frac{0.98}{0.021} = 49$$

Because the ratios given above are based on steady-state currents, they are properly called dc alpha and dc beta. It is more common, however, for the current-transfer ratio to be given in terms of the ratio of signal currents in the input and output electrodes, or the ratio of a change in the output current to the input signal current which causes the change. Fig. 26 shows typical electrode currents in a common-emitter circuit (a) under nosignal conditions and (b) with a one-microampere signal applied to the base. The signal current of one microampere in the base causes a change of 49 microamperes (147-98) in the collector current. Thus the ac beta for the transistor is 49.

The cutoff frequency of a transistor is defined as the frequency at





Fig. 26—Electrode currents under (a) nosignal and (b) signal conditions.

which the value of alpha (for a common-base circuit) or beta (for a common-emitter circuit) drops to 0.707 times its 1-kHz value. The gain-bandwidth product is the freauency at which the commonemitter forward current-transfer ratio (beta) is equal to unity. These characteristics provide an approximate indication of the useful frequency range of the device, and help to determine the most suitable circuit configuration for a particular application. Fig. 27 shows typical curves of alpha and beta as functions of frequency.

Extrinsic transconductance may be defined as the quotient of a small change in collector current divided



Fig. 27—Forward current-transfer ratio as a function of frequency.

by the small change in emitter-tobase voltage producing it, under the condition that other voltages remain unchanged. Thus, if an emitter-tobase voltage change of 0.1 volt causes a collector-current change of 3 milliamperes (0.003 ampere) with other voltages constant, the transconductance is 0.003 divided by 0.1, or 0.03 mho. (A "mho" is the unit of conductance, and was named by spelling "ohm" backward.) For convenience, a millionth of a mho, or a micromho (µmho), is used to express transconductance. Thus, in the example, 0.03 mho is 30,000 micromhos.

Cutoff currents are small steadystate reverse currents which flow when a transistor is biased into non-conduction. They consist of leakage currents, which are related to the surface characteristics of the semiconductor material, and saturation currents, which are related to the impurity concentration in the material and which increase with increasing temperatures. Collectorcutoff current is the steady-state current which flows in the reversebiased collector-to-base circuit when the emitter-to-base circuit is open. Emitter-cutoff current is the current which flows in the reversebiased emitter-to-base circuit when the collector-to-base circuit is open.

Transistor breakdown voltages define the voltage values between two specified electrodes at which the crystal structure changes and current begins to rise rapidly. The voltage then remains relatively constant over a wide range of electrode currents. Breakdown voltages may be measured with the third electrode open, shorted, or biased in either the forward or the reverse direction. For example, Fig. 28 shows a series of collector-characteristic curves for different base-bias conditions. It can



Fig. 28—Typical collector-characteristic curves showing location of various breakdown voltages.

be seen that the collector-to-emitter breakdown voltage increases as the base-to-emitter bias decreases from the normal forward values through zero to reverse values. The symbols shown on the abscissa are sometimes used to designate collector-to-emitter breakdown voltages with the base open $V_{(BR)CEO}$, with external base-toemitter resistance $V_{(BR)CER}$, with the base shorted to the emitter $V_{(BR)CES}$, and with a reverse base-to-emitter voltage $V_{(BR)CEV}$.

As the resistance in the base-toemitter circuit decreases, the collector characteristic develops two breakdown points, as shown in Fig. 28. After the initial breakdown, the collector-to-emitter voltage decreases with increasing collector current until another breakdown occurs at a lower voltage. This minimum collector-to-emitter breakdown voltage is called the sustaining voltage.

In large-area power transistors, there is a limiting mechanism referred to as "second breakdown". This condition is not a voltage breakdown, but rather an electrically and thermally regenerative process in which current is focused in a very small area of the order of the diameter of a human hair. The verv high current, together with the voltage across the transistor, causes a localized heating that may melt a minute hole from the collector to the emitter of the transistor and thus cause a short circuit. This regenerative process is not initiated unless certain high voltages and currents are coincident for certain finite lengths of time.

In conventional transistor structures, the limiting effects of second breakdown vary directly with the amplitude of the applied voltage and inversely with the width of the base region. These effects are most severe in power transistors in which narrow base structures are used to achieve good high-frequency response. In RCA "overlay" power transistors, a special emitter configuration is used to provide greater current-handling capability and minimize the possibility of "hot spots" occurring at the emitter-base junction. This new design extends the range of power and frequency over which transistors can be operated before second breakdown begins to limit performance.

The curves at the left of Fig. 28 show typical collector characteristics under normal forward-bias conditions. For a given base input current, the collector-to-emitter saturation voltage is the minimum voltage required to maintain the transistor in full conduction (i.e., in the saturation region). Under saturation conditions, a further increase in forward bias produces no corresponding increase in collector current. Saturation voltages are very important in switching applications, and are usually specified for several conditions of electrode currents and ambient temperatures.

Reach-through (or punch-through) voltage defines the voltage value at which the depletion region in the collector region passes completely through the base region and makes contact at some point with the emitter region. This "reach-through" phenomenon results in a relatively low-resistance nath between the emitter and the collector, and causes a sharp increase in current. Punchthrough voltage does not result in permanent damage to a transistor. provided there is sufficient impedance in the power-supply source to limit transistor dissipation to safe values.

BIASING

For most non-switching applications, the operating point for a particular transistor is established by the quiescent (dc, no-signal) values of collector voltage and emitter current. In general, a transistor may be considered as a current-operated device, i.e., the current flowing in the emitter-base circuit controls the current flowing in the collector circuit. The voltage and current values selected, as well as the particular biasing arrangement used, depend upon both the transistor characteristics and the specific requirements of the application.

As mentioned previously, biasing of a transistor for most applications consists of forward bias across the emitter-base junction and reverse bias across the collector-base junction. In Figs. 21, 22, and 23, two batteries were used to establish bias of the correct polarity for an n-p-n transistor in the common-base, common-emitter, and common-collector circuits, respectively. Many variations of these basic circuits can also be used. (In these simplified dc circuits, inductors and transformers are represented only by their series resistance.)

A simplified biasing arrangement for the common-base circuit is shown in Fig. 29. Bias for both the collectorbase junction and the emitter-base



Fig. 29—Biasing network for common-base circuit for (a) n-p-n and (b) p-n-p transistors.

junction is obtained from the single battery through the voltage-divider network consisting of resistors R2 and R_a. (For the n-p-n transistor shown in Fig. 29(a) the emitter-base junction is forward-biased because the emitter is negative with respect to the base, and the collector-base junction is reverse-biased because the collector is positive with respect to the base, as shown. For the p-n-p transistor shown in Fig. 29(b), the polarity of the battery and of the electrolytic bypass capacitor C₁ is reversed.) The electron current I from the battery and through the voltage divider causes a voltage drop across resistor R₂ which biases the base. The proper amount of current then flows through R_1 so that the correct emitter potential is established to provide forward bias relative to the base. This emitter current establishes the amount of collector current which, in turn, causes a voltage drop across R. Simply stated, the voltage divider consisting of R2 and R3 establishes the base potential; the base potential essentially establishes the emitter potential; the emitter potential and resistor R_1 establish the emitter current; the emitter current establishes the collector current; and the collector current and R_1 establish the collector potential. R_2 is bypassed with capacitor C_1 so that the base is effectively grounded for ac signals.

A single battery can also be used to bias the common-emitter circuit. The simplified arrangement shown in Fig. 30 is commonly called "fixed bias". In this case, both the base and the collector are made positive with respect to the emitter by means of the battery. The base resistance R_B is then selected to provide the desired base current I_B for the transistor (which, in turn, establishes the desired emitter current I_E), by means of the following expression:

$$R_{B} = \frac{V_{BB} - V_{BE}}{I_{B}}$$

where V_{BB} is the battery supply voltage and V_{BE} is the base-to-emitter voltage of the transistor.

In the circuit shown, for example, the battery voltage is six volts. The



Fig. 30—"Fixed-bias" arrangement for common-emitter circuit.

value of R_B was selected to provide a base current of 27 microamperes, as follows:

$$R_{B} = \frac{6 - 0.6}{27 \times 10^{-6}} = 200,000 \text{ ohms}$$

The fixed-bias arrangement shown in Fig. 30, however, is not a satisfactory method of biasing the base in a common-emitter circuit. The critical base current in this type of circuit is very difficult to maintain under fixed-bias conditions because of variations between transistors and the sensitivity of these devices to temperature changes. This problem is partially overcome in the "selfbias" arrangement shown in Fig. 31.



Fig. 31—"Self-bias" arrangement for common-emitter circuit.

In this circuit, the base resistor is tied directly to the collector. This connection helps to stabilize the operating point because an increase or decrease in collector current produces a corresponding decrease or increase in base bias. The value of $R_{\rm B}$ is then determined as described above, except that the collector voltage $V_{\rm CE}$ is used in place of the supplv voltage $V_{\rm RB}$:

$$R_{B} = \frac{V_{CE} - V_{BE}}{I_{B}}$$
$$= \frac{3 - 0.6}{27 \times 10^{-6}} = 90,000 \text{ ohms}$$

The arrangement shown in Fig. 31 overcomes many of the disadvantages of fixed bias, although it reduces the effective gain of the circuit.

In the bias method shown in Fig. 32 the voltage-divider network composed of R_1 and R_2 provides the



Fig. 32—Bias network using voltagedivider arrangement for increased stability.

required forward bias across the base-emitter junction. The value of

the base bias voltage is determined by the current through the voltage divider. This type of circuit provides less gain than the circuit of Fig. 31, but is commonly used because of its inherent stability.

The common-emitter circuits shown in Figs. 33 and 34 may be used to provide stability and yet minimize loss of gain. In Fig. 33, a resistor



Fig. 33—Bias network using emitter stabilizing resistor.

 $R_{\rm E}$ is added to the emitter circuit, and the base resistor R_2 is returned to the positive terminal of the battery instead of to the collector. The emitter resistor $R_{\rm E}$ provides additional stability. It is bypassed with capacitor $C_{\rm E}$. The value of $C_{\rm E}$ depends on the lowest frequency to be amplified.

In Fig. 34 the R_2R_3 voltage-divider network is split, and all ac feedback currents through R_3 are shunted to ground (bypassed) by capacitor C₁.



Fig. 34—Bias network using split voltagedivider network.

The value of R_3 is usually larger than the value of R_2 . The total resistance of R_2 and R_3 should equal the resistance of R_1 in Fig. 32.

In practical circuit applications. any combination of the arrangements shown in Figs. 31, 32, 33, and 34 may be used. However, the stability of Figs. 31, 32, and 34 may be

Bipolar Transistors

poor unless the voltage drop across the load resistor R_{t} is at least onethird the value of the supply voltage. The determining factors in the selection of the biasing circuit are usually gain and bias stability (which is discussed later).

In many cases, the bias network may include special elements to compensate for the effects of variations in ambient temperature or in supply voltage. For example, the thermistor (temperature-sensitive resistor) shown in Fig. 35(a) is used to compensate for the rapid increase of collector current with increasing



Fig. 35—Bias networks including (a) a thermistor and (b) a voltage-compensating diode.

temperature. Because the thermistor resistance decreases as the temperature increases, the emitter-to-base bias voltage is reduced and the collector current tends to remain constant. The addition of the shunt and series resistances provides most effective compensation over a desired temperature range.

The diode biasing network shown in Fig. 35(b) stabilizes collector current for variations in both temperature and supply voltage. The forward-biased diode current determines a bias voltage which establishes the transistor idling current (collector current under no-signal conditions). As the temperature increases, this bias voltage decreases. Because the transistor characteristic also shifts in the same direction and magnitude, however, the idling current remains essentially independent of temperature. Temperature stabilization with a properly designed diode network is substantially better than that provided by most thermistor bias networks. Any temperature-stabilizing element should be thermally close to the transistor being stabilized.

In addition, the diode bias current varies in direct proportion with changes in supply voltage. The resultant change in bias voltage is small, however, so that the idling current also changes in direct proportion to the supply voltage. Supply-voltage stabilization with a diode biasing network reduces current variation to about one-fifth that obtained when resistor or thermistor bias is used for a germanium transistor and one-fifteenth for a silicon transistor.

The bias networks of Figs. 30 through 34 are generally used in class A circuits. Class B circuits normally employ the bias networks shown in Fig. 35. The bias resistor values for class B circuits are generally much lower than those for class A circuits.

BIAS STABILITY

Because transistor currents tend to increase with temperature, it is necessary in the design of transistor circuits to include a "stability factor" to keep the collector-current variation within tolerable values under the expected high-temperature operating conditions. The bias stability factor SF is expressed as the ratio between a change in steadystate collector current and the corresponding change in steady-state collector-cutoff current.

For a given set of operating voltages, the stability factor can be calculated for a maximum permissible rise in steady-state collector current from the room-temperature value, as follows:

$$\mathrm{SF} = \frac{\mathrm{I}_{\mathrm{cmax}} - \mathrm{I}_{\mathrm{c1}}}{\mathrm{I}_{\mathrm{cB02}} - \mathrm{I}_{\mathrm{cB01}}}$$

where I_{C1} and I_{CB01} are measured at 25°C, I_{CB02} is measured at the maximum expected ambient (or junction) temperature, and I_{Cmax} is the maximum permissible collector current for the specified collector-to-emitter voltage at the maximum expected ambient (or junction) temperature (to keep transistor dissipation within ratings).

The calculated values of SF can then be used, together with the appropriate values of beta and rb' (baseconnection resistance). to determine suitable resistance values for the transistor circuit. Fig. 36 shows equations for SF in terms of resistance values for three typical circuit configurations. The maximum value which SF can assume is the value of beta. Although this analysis was originally made for germanium transistors, in which the collector saturation current Ico is relatively large, the same type of analysis may be applied to interchangeability with beta for silicon transistors.

COUPLING

Three basic methods are used to couple transistor stages: transformer, resistance-capacitance, and direct coupling.

The major advantage of transformer coupling is that it permits power to be transferred from one impedance level to another. transformer-coupled common-emitter n-p-n stage is shown in Fig. 37. The voltage step-down transformer T₁ couples the signal from the collector of the preceding stage to the base of the common-emitter stage. The voltage loss inherent in this transformer is not significant in transistor circuits because, as mentioned previously, the transistor is a currentoperated device. Although the voltage is stepped down, the available current is stepped up. The change in base current resulting from the presence of the signal causes an alternating collector current to flow in the primary winding of transformer T_2 , and a power gain is obtained between T_1 and T_2 .

This use of a voltage step-down transformer is similar to that in the output stage of an audio amplifier, where a step-down transformer is



Fig. 36-Bias-stability-factor equations for three typical circuit configurations.

normally used to drive the loudspeaker, which is also a currentoperated device.

The voltage-divider network consisting of resistors R_1 and R_2 in Fig. 37 provides bias for the transistor.



Fig. 37—Transformer-coupled commonemitter stage.

The voltage divider is bypassed by capacitor C₁ to avoid signal attenuation. The stabilizing emitter resistor $R_{\rm E}$ permits normal variations of the transistor and circuit elements to be compensated for automatically without adverse effects. This resistor RE is bypassed by capacitor C₂. The voltage supply V_{BB} is also bypassed, by capacitor C_3 , to prevent feedback in the event that ac signal voltages are developed across the power supply. Capacitors C1 and C2 may normally be replaced by a single capacitor connected between the emitter and the bottom of the secondary winding of transformer T₁ with little change in performance.

The use of resistance-capacitance coupling usually permits some economy of circuit costs and reduction of size, with some accompanying sacrifice of gain. This method of coupling is particularly desirable in low-level, low-noise audio amplifier stages to minimize hum pickup from stray magnetic fields. Use of resistance-capacitance (RC) coupling in battery-operated equipment is usually limited to low-power operation. The frequency response of an RCcoupled stage is normally better than that of a transformer-coupled stage.

Fig. 38 shows a two-stage RCcoupled circuit using n-p-n transistors in the common-emitter configuration. The method of bias is similar to that used in the transformercoupled circuit of Fig. 37. The major additional components are the collector load resistances R_{L1} and R_{L2} and the coupling capacitor Cs. The value of C_c must be made fairly large, in the order of 2 to 10 microfarads, because of the small input and load resistances involved. (It should be noted that electrolytic capacitors are normally used for coupling in transistor audio circuits. Polarity must be observed, therefore, to obtain proper circuit operation. Occasionally, excessive leakage current through an electrolytic counling capacitor may adversely affect transistor operating currents.)

Impedance coupling is a modified form of resistance-capacitance coupling in which inductances are used



Fig. 38-Two-stage resistance-capacitance coupled circuit.

to replace the load resistors. This type of coupling is rarely used except in special applications where supply voltages are low and cost is not a significant factor.

Direct coupling is used primarily when cost is an important factor. (It should be noted that directcoupled amplifiers are not inherently dc amplifiers, i.e., that they cannot always amplify dc signals. Lowfrequency response is usually limited by other factors than the coupling network.) In the direct-coupled amplifier shown in Fig. 39, resistor R₃ serves as both the collector load resistor for the first stage and the bias resistor for the second stage. Resistors R₁ and R₂ provide circuit stability similar to that of Fig. 32 because the emitter voltage of transistor Q2 and the collector voltage of transistor Q₁ are within a few tenths of a volt of each other.

a pronounced effect on the gain and power-output capabilities of transistors. As a result, physical aspects such as layout, type of chassis, shielding, and heat-sink considerations are important in the design of high-frequency amplifiers and oscillators.

General Considerations

In general, high-frequency circuits are constructed on material such as brass or aluminum which is either silver-plated or machined to increase conductivity. The input and output circuits are "compartmentalized" by use of a milling operation. Copperclad laminated or printed circuit boards facilitate soldering operations, and have been used satisfactorily at frequencies up to 400 MHz when the entire copper surface was kept intact and used for the ground plane.



Fig. 39-Two-stage direct-coupled circuit.

Because so few circuit parts are required in the direct-coupled amplifier, maximum economy can be achieved. However, the number of stages which can be directly coupled is limited. Temperature variation of the bias current in one stage may be amplified by all the stages, and severe temperature instability may result.

HIGH-FREQUENCY OPERATION

11

At frequencies of 100 MHz or more, the effects of stray capacitances and inductances, ground paths, and feedback coupling have Because even a short lead provides a large impedance at high frequencies, it is necessary to keep all high-frequency leads as short as possible. This precaution is especially important for ground connections and for all connections to bypass capacitors and high-frequency filter capacitors. It is recommended that a common ground return be used for each stage, and that short, direct connections be made to the common ground point. The emitter lead especially should be kept as short as possible.

In many cases, problems of oscillation and regenerative feedback are

caused by unwanted ground currents (i.e., ground-circuit feedback currents). An effective solution is to isolate the ac signal path from the dc path so that the signal does not pass through the power supply by way of the power leads. In a multistage amplifier, the power leads should enter the circuit at the highest power stage to minimize the amount of signal on the common power path. Lower-frequency oscillations can be minimized by use of a large capacitor across the powersupply terminals. High-quality feedthrough capacitors should also be used as the power-lead connections.

Particular care should be taken with the lead dress of the input and output circuits of high-frequency stages so that the possibility of stray coupling is minimized. Unshielded leads connected to shielded components should be dressed close to the chassis. (In high-gain audio amplifiers, these same precautions should be taken to minimize the possibility of self-oscillation.)

Feedback effects may occur in radio or television receivers as a result of coupling between stages through common voltage-supply circuits. Filters find an important use in minimizing such effects. They should be placed in voltage-supply leads to each transistor to provide isolation between stages.

Capacitors used in transistor rf circuits, particularly at high frequencies, should be mica or ceramic. For audio bypassing, electrolytic capacitors are required.

In high frequency stages having high gain, undesired feedback may occur and produce harmful effects on circuit performance unless shielding is used. The output circuit of each stage is usually shielded from the input of the stage, and each highfrequency stage is usually shielded from other high-frequency stages. It is also desirable to shield separately each unit of the high-frequency stages. For example, each if and rf coil in a superheterodyne receiver may be mounted in a separate shield can. Baffle plates may be mounted on the ganged tuning capacitor to shield each section of the capacitor from the other section.

The shielding precautions required in a circuit depend on the design of the circuit and the layout of the parts. When the metal case of a transistor is grounded at the socket terminal, the grounding connection should be as short as possible to minimize lead inductance. Many transistors have a separate lead connected to the case and used as a ground lead; where present, these leads are indicated in the outline diagrams.

Transistor Requirements

The important performance criteria in rf power-amplifier circuits are power output, power gain, and efficiency. Transistors to be used for power amplification must deliver power efficiently with sufficient gain in the frequency range of interest.

Power Output-The power-output capability of a transistor is determined by the current- and voltage-handling capabilities of the device in the frequency range of interest. The current-handling capability of the transistor is limited by its emitter periphery and the resistivity of the epitaxial layer. The voltage-handling capability of the device is limited by the breakdown voltages which are, in turn, limited by the resistivity of the epitaxial layer and by the penetration of the junction.

Fig. 40 shows a typical family of dc collector characteristics with base current as a parameter. The highest breakdown voltage is that of the collector-to-base junction $V_{(BR)CBO}$; the lowest voltage is that of the collector-to-emitter junction with the base open $V_{(BR)CEO}$. Breakdown voltages may vary anywhere between these two values depending on how the base is biased with respect to the emitter or on the resistance between the emitter and the base. The



Fig. 40—Collector current as a function of collector-to-emitter voltage for a typical rf transistor.

static V_{CEO} and V_{CBO} values are related by the following equation:

$$V_{CEO} = \frac{V_{CBO}}{(1 + h_{FE})^{1/n}}$$

where h_{FE} is the static forwardcurrent transfer ratio and n is an empirical number that varies from 2.5 to 4 for n-p-n silicon transistors. When rf input is applied, the breakdown voltage is substantially higher than the dc or static value observed in the V_{CEO} mode. Substitution of f_T/f for h_{FE} in the equation for V_{CEO} yields the following result:

$$V_{CEO}(rf) = \frac{V_{CEO}}{[(f_T/f) + 1]^{1/n}}$$

where f_T is the dynamic gain-bandwidth product and f is the frequency of operation. This equation indicates an increase in the breakdown characteristic from the V_{CEO} value under dc conditions to a value that approaches V_{CBO} at operating frequencies equal to or greater than f_T .

Another parameter which limits the power-handling capability of the transistor is the saturation voltage. The rf value of the saturation voltage $V_{CE(SAT)}$ is significantly greater than the dc value because the active area is less at high frequencies than at dc.

In general, all rf power transistors have operating voltage restrictions, and only current-handling capability differentiates power transistors from small-signal units. At high current levels, the emitter current of a transistor is concentrated at the emitter-base edge: therefore. transistor current-handling capability can be increased by the use of emitter geometries which have high emitter-peripherv-to-emitterarea ratios and by the use of improved methods of growing collector substrate material. Transistors intended for large-signal applications should be designed so that the peak currents do not cause base widening, a condition that would limit the current-handling capability of the device. Base widening is severe in transistors in which the collector side of the collector-base junction has a lower carrier concentration and higher resistivity than the base side of the junction. However, the need for low-resistivity material in the collector to handle high currents without base widening severely limits the breakdown voltages. As a result, epitaxial layers of different resistivity are often used for different operational voltages.

Large-Signal Power Gain—The power gain of a transistor power amplifier is determined by the dynamic f_{T} , the dynamic input impedance, and the collector load impedance; the collector load impedance; the collector load impedance; the collector voltage swing. The power gain, P.G., of a transistor power amplifier may be expressed in many forms. The simplest one is as follows:

P.G. =
$$\frac{(f_T/f)^2 R_L}{4 R_e (Z_{in})}$$

where R_L is the real part of the collector parallel-equivalent-load impedance determined by the required power output, and Z_{1n} is the dynamic input impedance when the collector load impedance is Z_L .

Bipolar Transistors

The equation for power gain shows that for high-gain operation large-signal or power transistors should have a high current gain which remains constant as the largesignal current level is varied. In other words, transistors suitable for large-signal operation must provide current gain under large-currentswing conditions. Constant current gain for varied current level can be achieved with shallow diffusion techniques.

The dynamic input impedance of the transistor pellet varies considerably under large-signal operation as compared to small-signal operation. The resistive part of the input impedance is inversely proportional to the area of the transistor and, therefore, to the power output of the device. The package parasitic inductance has a significant effect on the input impedance. A simple representation of a common-emitter equivalent transistor input circuit at uhf and microwave frequences is shown in Fig. 41. The large-signal Rin and L_{1n} are different from the smallsignal values; therefore, their exact quantitative analysis is difficult. The



Fig. 41—Equivalent input circuit of an rf power transistor.

input impedance Z_{in} can be expressed as follows:

$$Z_{in} = (r_b + \omega_T L_e) + j \left(\omega L_e - \frac{\omega_T}{\omega} r_e \right)$$

where $\omega_T \stackrel{!}{=} 2\pi f_T$, $\omega = 2\pi f$, and L_e is the emitter parasitic inductance.

The parasitic emitter inductance also has a significant effect on power gain, as indicated by the following relation:

P.G. =
$$\frac{(f_T/f)^2 R_L}{4 (r_b + \omega_T L_e)}$$

The effect of the emitter parasitic inductance is to reduce the power gain.

Efficiency-Transistor efficiency is determined with the device operating under signal-bias conditions. The collector-to-base junction is reversebiased, and the emitter-to-base junction is forward-biased partially with the input drive signal. The collector efficiency of a transistor rf amplifier is defined as the ratio of the rf power output at the frequency of interest to the dc input power. Therefore, high efficiency implies that circuit loss is minimum and that the ratio of the transistor output, the parallel equivalent resistance, and its collector load resistance are maximum. Thus, the transistor parameter which limits the collector efficiency is output admittance. The output admittance of a transistor pellet consists of two parts: an output capacitance C_o and an equivalent parallel output resistance which approaches 1/wr Co at microwave frequencies under small-signal conditions. In a common-emitter circuit, C_{ub} is essentially the output capacitance because the impedance level at the base is low relative to the impedance level at the transistor output. The output capacitance represents effectively the transistor junction capacitance in series with a resistance. If the collector resistivity is increased, the effective output capacitance and the collectorbase breakdown voltage are both increased. In a power transistor, variations in junction and epitaxial thickness cause variations in Cob with V_{CB}, as shown in Fig. 42. Thus, the dynamic output capacitance is a function of voltage swing and power level. It can be shown that the average Co under maximum voltage swing is equal to 2Cob, where C_{ob} is measured at the voltage value of V_{Cn} . For a first approximation, the large-signal output resistance can be assumed to be inversely proportional to C_{ob} . Because the ratio of the transistor output resistance to its collector load resistance determines the collector efficiency, a transistor with high output resistance and, therefore, low C_{ob} is essential.



Fig. 42—Collector-to-base capacitance as a function of collector-to-base voltage for a typical rf power transistor.

Another transistor parameter that affects the efficiency of the device is the dissipation capability. The maximum power that can be dissipated before thermal runway occurs depends on how well internal transistor heat is removed. The amount of heat removed by conduction is an inverse function of the thermal resistance. The total thermal resistance is equal to the sum of several thermal drops in series: from the collector junction to the back of the pellet, at the pellet-solder interface, at the solder connection to the case, from the case to the heat sink, and from the heat sink to the atmosphere or ambient. These drops are usually divided into two major groups, junction-to-case thermal resistance θ_{1-C} and case-to-ambient thermal resistance θ_{C-A} . Generally, power transistors are designed for minimum junction-to-case thermal resistance. The thermal resistance θ , expressed in degrees C per watt of dissipation, may be calculated for the various sections of total heatflow path as follows:

$$\theta = L/KA$$

where L is the distance that the heat travels in inches, A is the area of the path in square inches, and K is the material constant in W/°Cinches. K is equal to 2.12 for silicon, 5.2 for beryllium oxide, 9.7 for copper, and 3.1 for aluminum. For a given length and width, the thermal resistance can thus be calculated for most geometries. It has been common practice to characterize the transistor heat dissipation by the average device thermal resistance. junction-to-ambient The average thermal resistance $\theta_{J-\Lambda}$ of a device can be expressed as follows:

$$\theta_{J-A} = \frac{(T_J - T_A)}{P_{diss}} = \theta_{J-C} + \theta_{C-A} (°C/W)$$

One of the problems in power dissipation is that of complete mounting of the pellet so that there is no discontinuity in the bond between pellet and mounting. Considerable care must be used in selection of the mounting system. At present, microwave power transistors are mounted with gold-silicon mounting systems. It should be pointed out that the dissipation of a microwave power transistor is considerably higher under rf operation than under dc operation. The junction temperature at radio frequencies is more a function of the average device dissipation than of the peak dissipation. The dissipation of a microwave power transistor is also a function of the thermal time constant.

SWITCHING

Transistor switching applications are usually characterized by largesignal nonlinear operation of the devices. The switching transistor is generally required to operate in

Bipolar Transistors

either of two states: on or off. In transistor switching circuits, the common-emitter configuration is by far the most widely used.

Typical output characteristics for an n-p-n transistor in the commonemitter configuration are shown in Fig. 43. These characteristics are divided into three regions of operation, i.e., cutoff region, active region, and saturation region.



Fig. 43—Typical collector characteristic of an n-p-n transistor showing three principal regions involved in switching.

In the cutoff region, both the emitter-base and collector-base junctions are reverse-biased. Under these conditions, the collector current is very small, and is comparable in magnitude to the leakage current I_{CEO} , I_{CEV} , or I_{CEO} , depending on the type of base-emitter biasing used.

Fig. 44 is a sketch of the minoritycarrier concentration in an n-p-n transistor. For the cutoff condition, the concentration is zero at both junctions because both junctions are reverse-biased, as shown by curve 1 in Fig. 44.

In the active region, the emitterbase junction is forward-biased and the collector-base junction is reversebiased. Switching from the cutoff region to the active region is accomplished along a load line, as indicated in Fig. 43. The speed of transition through the active region is a function of the frequency-response characteristics of the device.



Fig. 44—Minority-carrier concentrations in an n-p-n transistor: (1) in cutoff region, (2) in active region at edge of saturation region, (3) in saturation region.

The minority-carrier concentration for the active region is shown by curve 2 in Fig. 44.

The remaining region of operation is the saturation region. In this region, the emitter-base and collector-base junctions are both forwardbiased. Because the forward voltage drop across the emitter-base junction under this condition $[V_{BE}(sat)]$ is greater than that across the collector-base junction, there is a net collector-to-emitter voltage referred to as $V_{CE}(sat)$. It is evident that any series-resistance effects of the emitter and collector also enter into determining $V_{CE}(sat)$. Because the collector is now forward-biased, additional carriers are injected into the base, and some into the collector. This minority-carrier concentration is shown by curve 3 in Fig. 44.

A basic saturated-transistor switching circuit is shown in Fig. 45. The voltage and current waveforms for this circuit under typical



Fig. 45-Basic saturated transistor switching circuit.

base-drive conditions are shown in Fig. 46. Prior to the application of the positive-going input pulse, the emitter-base junction is reversebiased by a voltage $-V_{BE}(off) =$ V_{BB} . Because the transistor is in the cutoff region, the base current I_B is the reverse leakage current IBEY, which is negligible compared with I_{B1} , and the collector current I_C is the reverse leakage current ICEV, which is negligible compared with When the positive-going $V_{cc}/R_{c.}$ input pulse V_{g} is applied, the base current I_B immediately goes positive.



for saturated switching circuit shown in Fig. 45.

The collector current, however, does not begin to increase until some time later. This delay in the flow of collector current (t_d) results because the emitter and collector capacitances do not allow the emitter-base junction to become forwardbiased instantaneously. These capacitances must be charged from their original negative potential $[-V_{BE}(off)]$ to a forward bias sufficient to cause the transistor to appreciably. conduct After the emitter-base junction is sufficiently forward-biased, there is an additional delay caused by the time required for minority carriers which are injected into the base to diffuse across the base and be collected at the collector. This delay is usually negligible compared with the delay introduced by the capacitive component. The collector and emitter capacitances vary with the collectorbase and emitter-base junction voltages, and increase as the voltage V_{BE} goes positive. An accurate determination of total delay time, therefore, requires knowledge of the nonlinear characteristics of these capacitances.

When the collector current Ic begins to increase, the transistor has made the transition from the cutoff region into the active region. The collector current takes a finite time to reach its final value. This time, called rise time (t_r), is determined by the gain-bandwidth product (f_T) , the collector-to-emitter capacitance (C_c) , and the static forward currenttransfer ratio (h_{FE}) of the transistor. At high collector currents and/ or low collector voltages, the effect of this capacitance on rise time is negligible, and the rise time of collector current is inversely proportional to fr. At low currents and/or high voltages, the effect of gainbandwidth product is negligible, and the rise time of collector current is directly proportional to the product R_cC_c. At intermediate currents and voltages, the rise time is proportional to the sum $(\frac{1}{2}\pi f_T) + R_c C_c$. Under any of the above conditions, the collector current responds exponentially to a step of base current. If a turn-on base current (I_{B1}) is applied to the device, and the product $I_{B_1}h_{FE}$ is less than V_{CC}/R_c , the collector current rises exponentially until it reaches the steady-state value $I_{B1}h_{FE}$. If $I_{B1}h_{FE}$ is greater than V_{cc}/R_c , the collector current rises toward the value Inhre. The transistor becomes saturated when Ic reaches the value $I_{\rm cs}~(\approx~V_{\rm cc}/\,R_{\rm c})$. At this point, Ic is effectively clamped at the value V_{cc}/R_c .

The rise time, therefore, depends on an exponential function of the ratio I_{CS}/I_{B1} : h_{FE}. Because the values of h_{FE}, f_T, and C_C are not constant, but vary with collector voltage and current as the transistor is switching, the rise time as well as the delay time is dependent on nonlinear transistor characteristics.

After the collector current of the transistor has reached a steady-state value Ics, the minority-charge distribution is that shown by curve 3 in Fig. 44. When the transistor is turned off by returning the input pulse to zero, the collector current does not change immediately. This delay is caused by the excess charge in the base and collector regions, which tends to maintain the collector current at the Ics value until this charge decays to an amount equal to that in the active region at the edge of saturation (curve 2 in Fig 44). The time required for this charge to decay is called the storage time (t_s). The rate of charge decay is determined by the minoritycarrier lifetime in the base and collector regions, on the amount of reverse "turn-off" base current (IB2), and on the overdrive "turn-on' ' current (I_{B1}) which determined how deeply the transistor was driven into saturation. (In non-saturated switching, there is no excess charge in the base region, so that storage time is negligible.)

When the stored charge (Q_s) has decayed to the point where it is equal to that at the edge of saturation, the transistor again enters the active region and the collector current begins to decrease. This falltime portion of the collector-current characteristic is similar to the risetime portion because the transistor is again in the active region. The fall time, however, depends on In2, whereas the rise time was dependent on In1. Fall time, like rise time, also depends on fr and Cc.

The approximate values of I_{B1} , I_{B2} , and I_{CS} for the circuit shown in Fig. 45 are given by:

$$I_{B1} = \frac{V_{G} - V_{BB} - V_{BE}(sat)}{R_{B}}$$
$$I_{B2} = \frac{V_{BB} + V_{BE}(sat)}{R_{B}}$$
$$I_{CS} = \frac{V_{CQ} - V_{CE}(sat)}{R_{C}}$$

Switching Characteristics

The electrical characteristics for a switching transistor, in general, differ from that for a linear-amplifier type of transistor in several respects. The static forward currenttransfer ratio hre and the saturation voltages $V_{CE}(sat)$ and $V_{BE}(sat)$ are of fundamental importance in a switching transistor. The static forward current-transfer ratio determines the maximum amount of current amplification that can be achieved in any given circuit, saturated or non-saturated. The saturation voltages are necessary for the proper dc design of saturated circuits. Consequently, hre is always specified for a switching transistor, generally at two or more values of collector current. V_{CE}(sat) and $V_{BE}(sat)$ are specified at one or more current levels for saturated transistor applications. Control of these three characteristics determines the performance of a given transistor type over a broad range of operating conditions. For nonsaturated applications, $V_{CE}(sat)$ and $V_{BE}(sat)$ need not be specified. For such applications, it is important to specify VBE at specific values of collector current and collector-to-emitter voltage in the active region.

Because the collector and emitter capacitances and the gain-bandwidth product influence switching time, these characteristics are specified for most switching transistors. The collector-base and emitter-base junction capacitances are usually measured at some value of reverse bias and are designated Cob and Cib, respectively. The gain-bandwidth product (f_T) of the transistor is the frequency at which the small-signal forward current-transfer ratio (h_f.) is unity. Because this characteristic falls off at 6 dB per octave above the corner frequency, fr is usually controlled by specifying the hr. at a fixed frequency anywhere from 1/2 to 1/10 fr. Because Cob, Cib, and f_{T} vary nonlinearly over the

operating range, these characteristics are generally more useful as figures of merit than as controls for determining switching speeds. When the switching speeds in a particular application are of major importance, it is preferable to specify the required switching speeds in the desired switching circuit rather than C_{ub} , C_{1b} , and f_T .

The storage time (t_s) of a transistor is dependent on the stored charge (Q_s) and on the driving current employed to switch the transistor between cutoff and saturation. Consequently, either the stored charge or the storage time under heavy overdrive conditions should be specified. Most recent transistor specifications require that storage time be specified.

Because of the dependence of the switching times on current and voltage levels, these times are determined by the voltages and currents employed in circuit operation.

Dissipation, Current, and Voltage Ratings

Up to this point, no mention has been made of dissipation, current, and voltage ratings for a switching transistor. The maximum continuous ratings for dissipation and current are determined in the same manner as for any other transistor. In a switching application, however, the peak dissipation and current may be permitted to exceed these continuous ratings depending on the pulse duration, on the duty factor, and on the thermal time constant of the transistor.

Voltage ratings for switching transistors are more complicated. In the basic switching circuit shown in Fig. 45, three breakdown voltages must be considered. When the transistor is turned off, the emitter-base junction is reverse-biased by the voltage $V_{BE}(off)$, (i.e., V_{BB}), the collector-base junction by V_{CC} + V_{BB} , and the emitter-to-collector junction by + V_{CC}. To assure that none of the voltage ratings for the

transistor is exceeded under "off" conditions, the following requirements must be met:

The minimum emitter-to-base breakdown voltage $V_{(BIDEB0}$ must be greater than $V_{BE}(off)$.

The minimum collector-to-base breakdown voltage V_{CBOCBO} must be greater than $V_{\text{CC}} + V_{\text{BE}}(\text{off})$.

The minimum collector-to-emitter breakdown voltage $V_{(BR)CERL}$ must be greater than V_{CC} .

 $V_{(BRDEBO}$ and $V_{(BRDEBO}$ are always specified for a switching transistor. The collector-to-emitter breakdown voltage $V_{(BRDEBO}$ is usually specified under open-base conditions. The breakdown voltage BV_{CERL} (the subscript "RL" indicates a resistive load in the collector circuit) is generally higher than $V_{(BRDEEO}$. The requirement that $V_{(BRDEEO}$ be greater than V_{CC} is overly pessimistic. The requirement that $V_{(BRDEERL}$ be greater than V_{CC} should be used wherever applicable.

Coupled with the breakdown voltages are the collector-to-emitter and base-to-emitter transistor leakage currents. These leakage currents (ICEV and IBEV) are particularly important considerations at high operating temperatures. The subscript "V" in these symbols indicates that these leakage currents are specified at a given emitter-to-base voltage (either forward or reverse). In the basic circuit of Fig. 41, these currents are determined by the following conditions:

In a switching transistor, these leakage currents are usually controlled not only at room temperature, but also at some higher operating temperature near the upper operational limit of the transistor.

Inductive Switching

Most inductive switching circuits can be represented by the basic equivalent circuit shown in Fig. 47.
This type of circuit requires a rapid transfer of energy from the switched inductance to the switching mechan-



Fig. 47—Basic equivalent circuit for inductive switching circuit.

ism, which may be a relay, a transistor, a commutating diode, or some other device. Often an accurate calculation of the energy to be dissipated in the switching device is required, particularly if that device is a transistor. If the supply voltage is low compared to the sustaining breakdown voltage of the transistor



Fig. 48—Typical reverse-bias secondbreakdown (E+/b) rating curves.

and if the series resistance of the inductor can be ignored, then the energy to be dissipated is $\frac{1}{2}$ LI². This type of rating for a transistor is called "reverse-bias second breakdown." The energy capability of a transistor varies with the load inductance and base-emitter reverse bias. A typical set of ratings which now appears in RCA published data is shown on Fig. 48.

SAFE-OPERATING-AREA RATINGS

During normal circuit operation, power transistors are often required to sustain high current and high voltage simultaneously. The capability of a transistor to withstand such conditions is normally shown by use of a safe-operating-area rating curve. This type of rating curve defines, for both steady-state and pulsed operation, the voltagecurrent boundaries that result from the combined limitations imposed by voltage and current ratings, the maximum allowable dissipation, and the second-breakdown (Is/b) capabilities of the transistor.

If the safe operating area of a power transistor is limited within any portion of the voltage-current characteristics by thermal factors (thermal impedance, maximum junction temperatures, or operating case temperature), this limiting is defined by a constant-power hyperbola $(I = KV^{-1})$ which can be represented on the log-log voltage-current curve by a straight line that has a slope of -1.

The energy level at which second breakdown occurs in a power transistor increases as the time duration of the applied voltage and current decreases. The power-handling capability of the transistor also increases with a decrease in pulse duration because the thermal mass of the power-transistor chip and associated mounting hardware imparts an inherent thermal delay to a rise in junction temperature.

Fig. 49 shows a forward-bias safe-area rating chart for a typical silicon power transistor, the RCA-2N3585. The boundaries defined by the curves in the safe-area chart indicate, for both continuous-wave nonrepetitive-pulse operation. and the maximum current ratings, the maximum collector-to-emitter forbreakdownavalanche ward-bias voltage rating $\lceil V \alpha M \rceil = 1$, which is usually approximated by V_{CEO}(sus)], and the thermal and second-breakdown ratings of the transistors.

As shown in Fig. 49, the thermal (dissipation) limiting of the 2N3585 ceases when the collector-to-emitter voltage rises above 100 volts during dc operation. Beyond this point, the safe operating area of the transistor is limited by the second-break-down ratings. During pulsed opera-

If a transistor is to be operated at a pulse duration that differs from those shown on the safe-area chart, the boundaries provided by the safearea curve for the next higher pulse duration must be used, or the transistor manufacturer should be consulted. Moreover, as indicated in Fig. 49, safe-area ratings are normally given for single nonrepetitive pulse operation at a case temperature of 25°C and must be derated for operation at higher case temperatures and under repetitive-pulse or continuous-wave conditions.

Fig. 50 shows temperature derating curves for the 2N3585 safe-area chart of Fig. 49. These curves show that thermal ratings are affected far more by increases in case temperature than are second-breakdown



Fig. 49—Safe-area rating chart for the 2N3585 silicon power transistor.

tion, the thermal limiting extends to higher values of collector-toemitter voltage before the secondbreakdown region is reached, and as the pulse duration decreases, the thermal-limited region increases.



Fig. 50—Safe-area temperature-derating curves for the 2N3585 silicon power transistor.

ratings. The thermal (dissipationlimited) derating curve decreases linearly to zero at the maximum junction temperature of the transistor $[T_J(max) = 200^{\circ}C]$. The second-breakdown (Is/b-limited) temperature derating curve, however, is less severe because the increase in the formation of the high current concentrations that cause second breakdown is less than the increase in dissipation factors as the temperature increases.

Because the thermal and secondbreakdown deratings are different, it may be necessary to use both curves to determine the proper derating factor for a voltage-current point that occurs near the breakpoint of the thermal-limited and second-breakdown-limited regions on the safe-area curve. For this condition. a derating factor is read from each derating curve. For one of the readings, however, either the thermal-limited section of the safearea curve must be extrapolated upward in yoltage or the secondbreakdown-limited section must be extrapolated downward in voltage, depending upon which side of the voltage breakpoint the voltagecurrent point is located. The smaller of the collector-current values obtained from the thermal and secondbreakdown deratings must be used as the safe rating.

For pulsed operation, the derating factor shown in Fig. 50 must be applied to the appropriate curve on the safe-area rating chart. For the derating, the effective case temperature $T_c(eff)$ may be approximated by the average junction temperature $T_j(av)$. The laverage junction temperature is determined as follows:

$$\mathbf{T}_{J}(\mathbf{av}) = \mathbf{T}_{C} + \mathbf{P}_{AV} (\theta_{J-C})$$

This approach results in a conservative rating for the pulsed capability of the transistor. A more accurate determination can be made by computation of actual instantaneous junction temperatures. (For more detailed information on safe-area ratings and temperature derating the reader should refer to the RCA Power Circuits Manual, Technical Series SP-51, pp. 94 to 105.)

HANDLING CONSIDERATIONS

The generation of static charge in dry weather is harmful to all transistors, and can cause permanent damage or catastrophic failure in

the case of high-speed devices. The most obvious precaution against such damage is humidity control in stor-age and operating areas. In addition, it is desirable that transistors be stored and transported in metal trays rather than in polystyrene foam "snow". During testing and installation, both the equipment and the operator should be grounded, and all power should be turned off when the device is inserted into the socket. Grounded plates may also be used for stockpiling of transistors prior to or after testing, or for use in testing ovens or on operating life racks. Further protection against static charges can be provided by use of partially conducting floor planes and non-insulating footwear for all personnel.

Environmental temperature also affects performance. Variations of as little as 5 per cent can cause changes of as much as 50 per cent in the saturation current of a transistor. Some test operators can cause marked changes in measurements of saturation current because the heat of their hands affects the transistors they work on. Precautions against temperature effects include airconditioning systems, use of finger cots in handling of transistors (or use of pliers or "plug-in boards" to eliminate handling), and accurate monitoring and control of temperature near the devices. Prior to testing, it is also desirable to allow sufficient time (about 5 minutes) for a transistor to stabilize if it has been subjected to temperature much higher or lower than normal room temperature (25°C).

Although transient rf fields are not usually of sufficient magnitude to cause permanent damage to transistors, they can interfere with accurate measurement of characteristics at very low signal levels or at high frequencies. For this reason, it is desirable to check for such radiation periodically and to eliminate its causes. In addition, sensitive measurements should be made in shielded screen rooms if possible. Care must also be taken to avoid the exposure of transistors to other ac or magnetic fields.

Many transistor characteristics are sensitive to variations in temperature, and may change enough at high operating temperatures to affect circuit performance. Fig. 51 illustrates the effect of increasing temperature on the common-emitter forward current-transfer ratio (beta), the dc collector-cutoff current, and the input and output impedances. To avoid undesired changes in circuit operation, it is recommended that transistors be located away from heat sources in equipment, and also that provisions be made for adequate heat dissipation and, if necessary, for temperature compensation.



Fig. 51-Variation of transistor characteristics with temperature.

MOS Field-Effect Transistors

FIELD-EFFECT transistors represent a unique and important category of electronic components. These devices combine many of the desirable characteristics of electron tubes with small size, low power mechanical consumption, ruggedness, and other advantages inherent in solid-state devices. For example, these devices can provide a squarelaw transfer characteristic that is especially desirable for amplification of multiple signals in rf amplifiers that are required to exhibit exceptionally low cross-modulation effects.

In this section, the basic operation and structure of the various types of field-effect transistors are briefly described and compared. The main emphasis, however, is placed on metal-oxide-semiconductor fieldeffect transistors, which are becoming increasily popular in electroniccircuit applications, particularly in receiver rf-amplifier and mixer cir-The electrical cuits. fabrication. characteristics, biasing, and basic circuit configurations of these devices are discussed, and the integral gate-protection system developed for dual-gate types is explained.

TYPES OF FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTORS

Field-effect transistors (FET's) derive their name from the fact that current flow in them is controlled

by variation of an electric field established by application of a voltage to a control electrode referred to as the gate. In contrast, current flow in bipolar transistors is controlled by variation of the current injected into the base terminal. Moreover, the performance of bipolar transistors depends on the interaction of two types of charge carriers (holes and electrons). Field-effect transistors, however, are unipolar devices; as a result, their operation is basically a function of only one type of charge carrier, holes in pchannel devices and electrons in nchannel devices.

A charge-control concept can be used to explain the basic operation of field-effect transistors. A charge on the gate (control electrode) induces an equal, but opposite, charge in a semiconductor layer, referred to as the channel, located directly beneath the gate. The charge induced in the channel controls the conduction of current through the channel and, therefore, between the source and drain terminals which are connected to opposite ends of the channel.

Discrete-device field-effect transistors are classified, on the basis of their control-gate construction, as either junction-gate types or metaloxide-semiconductor types. Although both types operate on the basic principle that current conduction is controlled by variation of an electric

1

field, the significant difference in their gate construction results in unique characteristics and advantages for each type.

Junction-Gate Types

Junction-gate field-effect transistors, which are commonly referred to as JFET's or, in popular parlance, as JUG-FET's, may be either nchannel or p-channel devices. Fig. 52 shows the structure of an n-channel junction-gate field-effect transistor, together with the schematic symbols for both n-channel and p-channel versions of these devices. The structure for a p-channel device is identical to that of an n-channel device with the exception that n- and ptype semiconductor materials are replaced by p- and n-type materials, respectively.

In both types of junction-gate devices, a thin channel under the gate provides a conductive path between the source and drain termi-



Fig. 52—Junction-gate field-effect transistor (JFET): (a) side-view cross section of an n-channel device; (b) schematic symbols for n- and p-channel devices. nals with zero gate-bias voltage. A p-n junction is formed at the interface of the gate and the source-to-drain layer. When this junction is reverse-biased, current conduction in the channel between the source and drain terminals is controlled by the magnitude of reverse-bias voltage, which if sufficient can virtually cut off the flow of current through the channel. If the becomes forward-biased, iunction the input resistance (i.e., resistance between the gate and the sourceto-drain layer) decreases sharply, and an appreciable amount of gate current flows. Under such conditions, the gate loading reduces the amplitude of the input signal, and a significant reduction in power gain results. This characteristic is a major disadvantage of junction-gate field-effect transistors. Another undesirable feature of these devices is that the leakage currents across the reverse-biased p-n junction can vary markedly with changes in ambient temperature. This latter factor tends to complicate circuit design considerations. Nonetheless, the junction-gate field-effect transistor is a very useful device in manv small-signal-amplifier and chopper applications.

Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor Types

Figs. 53 and 54 show the structures and schematic symbols for both enhancement and depletion types of metal-oxide-semiconductor fieldeffect transistors (MOS/FET'S). In these devices, the metallic gate is electrically insulated from the semiconductor surface by a thin layer of silicon dioxide. These devices, which are commonly referred to as MOS field-effect transistors or, more simply, as MOS transistors, derive their name from the tri-layer construction of metal, oxide, and semiconductor material. Another name sometimes used for them is IGFET, which is an acronym for insulated-gate fieldeffect transistor. Insulation of the gate from the remainder of the

MOS Field-Effect Transistors



Fig. 53—Enhancement-type metal-oxidesemiconductor field-effect transistor (MOS/ FET): (a) side-view cross section of an n-channel device; (b) schematic symbols of n- and p-channel devices.

transistor structure results in an exceedingly high input resistance (i.e., in the order of 10" ohms). It should be realized that the metal gate and the semiconductor channel form a capacitor in which the oxide layer serves as the dielectric insulator. The marked differences in the construction of enhancement and depletion types of MOS field-effect transistors, as is apparent from a comparison of Figs. 53(a) and 54(a), results in significant differences in the characteristics of these devices and, therefore, in the applications in which they are normally employed. (The differences in the



Fig. 54—Depletion-type metal-oxide-semiconductor field-effect transistor (MOS/ FET): (a) side-view cross section of an n-channel device; (b) schematic symbols for n- and p-channel devices.

characteristics of the two types of MOS transistors are discussed subsequently in the section on Electrical Characteristics.)

Devices-As Enhancement-Type indicated by the interruptions in the channel line of the schematic symbols shown in Fig 53(b), enhancement-type MOS field-effect transistors are characterized by the fact that they have a "normally open" channel so that no useful channel conductivity exists for either zero or reverse gate bias. Consequently, this type of device is ideal for use in digital and switching applications. The gate of the enhancement type of MOS field-effect transistor must be forward-biased with respect to the source to produce the active charge carriers in the channel required for conduction. When sufficient forward-bias (positive) voltage is applied to the gate of an n-channel device, the region under the gate changes from p-type to ntype and provides a conduction path between the n-type source and drain regions. Similarly, in p-channel devices, application of sufficient negative gate voltage draws holes into the region below the gate so that this channel region changes from n-type to p-type to provide a sourceto-drain conduction path.

The technology for enhancementtype MOS field-effect transistors is making its greatest impact in the fabrication of integrated circuits for digital applications, particularly in large-scale-integration (LSI) circuits.

Depletion-Type Devices—Depletion-type MOS field-effect transistors are characterized by the fact that, with zero gate bias, the thin channel under the gate region provides a conductive path between the source and drain terminals. In the schematic symbols for these devices, shown in Fig. 54(b), the channel line is drawn continuous to indicate this "normally on" condition. When the gate is reverse-biased (negative with respect to the source for n-

channel devices, or positive with respect to the source for p-channel devices), the channel can be depleted of charge carriers; conduction in the channel, therefore, can be cut off if the gate potential is sufficiently high.

A unique characteristic of depletion-type MOS transistors is that additional charge carriers can be produced in the channel and, therefore, conduction in the channel can be increased by application of forward bias to the gate. No reduction in power gain occurs under these conditions, as is the case in junctiongate field-effect transistors, because the oxide insulation between the gate and the source-to-drain layer blocks the flow of gate current even when the gate is forward-biased.

The diagram shown in Fig. 54(a) illustrates the structure of a singlegate depletion-type MOS field-effect transistor. Depletion-type MOS fieldeffect transistors that have two independent insulated gate electrodes are also available. These devices offer unique advantages and represent the most important category of MOS field-effect transistors.

Fig. 55(a) shows a cross-sectional diagram of an n-channel depletiontype dual-gate MOS field-effect transistor. The transistor includes three terminating (n-diffused) regions connected by two conductive channels. each of which is controlled by its own independent gate terminal. For convenience of explanation, the transistor is shown divided into two units. Unit No. 1 consists of the source, gate No. 1, channel No. 1, and the central n-region which functions as drain No. 1. These elements act as a conventional single-gate depletion-type MOS field-effect transistor for which unit No. 2 functions as a load resistor. Unit No. 2 consists of the central n-region, which functions as source No. 2, gate No. 2, channel No. 2, and the drain. This unit may also be used as an independent single-gate transistor for which unit No. 1 acts as a source resistor. Fig. 55(b) shows the sche-



Fig. 55--Dual-gate n-channel depletiontype metal-oxide-semiconductor field-effect transistor (MOS/FET): (a) side-view cross section; (b) schematic symbol.

matic symbol for an n-channel dualgate MOS field-effect transistor.

Equivalent-circuit representations of the two units in a dual-gate MOS transistor are shown in Fig. 56.



Fig. 56—Equivalent-circuit representation of the two units in a dual-gate MOS field-effect transistor.

Current can be cut off if either gate is sufficiently reverse-biased with respect to the source. When one gate is biased to cutoff, a change in the voltage on the other gate is equivalent to a change in the value of a resistor in series with a cut-off transistor.

The dual-gate MOS field-effect transistor is analogous to a multigrid electron tube in its versatility for circuit applications. The independent pair of gates makes this device attractive for use in rf amplifiers, gain-controlled amplifiers, mixers, and demodulators. In a gaincontrolled amplifier, the signal is applied to gate No. 1, and the gaincontrol voltage is applied to gate No. 2. This arrangement is recommended because the forward transconductance obtained with gate No. 1 is higher than that obtained with gate No. 2. Moreover, unit No. 2 is very effective for isolation of the drain and gate No. 1. This unit provides sufficient isolation so that the dualgate devices can be operated at frequencies into the uhf range without the need for neutralization. Examples of the use of dual-gate MOS field-effect transistors in circuit applications are shown in the Circuits section of this Manual.

A gate-protection system which can be incorporated as an integral part of the transistor structure has been developed for dual-gate MOS transistors. In devices that include this system, a set of back-to-back diodes is diffused directly into the semiconductor pellet and connected between each insulated gate and the source. (The low junction capacitance of the small diodes represents a relatively insignificant addition to the total capacitance that shunts the gate.) Fig. 57 shows a cross-sectional diagram and the schematic symbol for an n-channel dual-gate-protected depletion-type MOS field-effect transistor.

The back-to-back diodes do not conduct unless the gate-to-source voltage exceeds \pm 10 volts typically. The transistor, therefore, can handle



(b)

Fig. 57—Dual-gate-protected n-channel depletion-type MOS field-effect transistor: (a) sideview cross section; (b) schematic symbol.

a very wide dynamic signal swing without significant conductive shunting effects by the diodes (leakage through the "nonconductive" diodes is very low). If the potential on either gate exceeds + 10 volts typically, the upper diode [shown in Fig. 57(b)] of the pair associated with that particular gate becomes conductive in the forward direction and the lower diode breaks down in the backward (zener) direction. In this way, the back-to-back diode pair provides a path to shunt excessive positive charge from the gate to the source. Similarly, if the potential on either gate exceeds -10 volts typically, the lower diode becomes conductive in the forward direction and the upper diode breaks down in the reverse direction to provide a shunt path for excessive negative charge from the gate to the source. (The diode gate-protection technique is described in more detail in the following section on Integral Gate Protection).

Dual-gate-protected MOS transistors can be connected so that functionally they are directly equivalent to a single-gate type with gate protection. This method of connection is shown in Fig. 58.

INTEGRAL GATE PROTECTION

The advent of an integral system of gate-protection in MOS fieldeffect transistors has resulted in a class of solid-state devices that exhibits ruggedness on a par with other solid-state devices that provide comparable performance. The gate-protection system mentioned in the preceding section offers protection against static discharge during handling operations without the need for external shorting mechanisms.



Fig. 58—Connection of a dual-gate-protected MOS field-effect transistor (a) so that it is functionally equivalent to a single-gate-protected MOS field-effect transistor (b).

This system also guards against potential damage from in-circuit transients. Because the integral gateprotection system has provided a major impact on the acceptability of MOS field-effect transistors for a broad spectrum of applications, it is pertinent to examine the rudiments of this system.

Fig. 59 shows a simple equivalent circuit for a source of static electricity that can deliver a potential e_0 to the gate input of an MOS



Fig. 59—Equivalent circuit for a source of static electricity.

transistor. The static potential E_s stored in an "equivalent" capacitor C_0 must be discharged through an internal generator resistance R_s . Laboratory experiments indicate that the human body acts as a static (storage) source with a capacitance C_0 ranging from 100 to 200 picofarads and a resistance R_s greater than 1000 ohms. Although the upper limits of accumulated static voltage can be very high, measurements suggest that the potential stored by the

human body is usually less than 1000 volts. Experience has also indicated that the likelihood of damage to an MOS transistor as a result of static discharge is greater during handling than when the device is installed in a typical circuit. In an rf application, for example, static potential discharged into the antenna must traverse an input circuit that normally provides a large degree of attenuation to the static surge before it appears at the gate terminal of the MOS transistor. The ideal gate-protection signal-limiting circuit is a configuration that allows for a signal, such as that shown in Fig. 60(a), to be handled without clipping or distortion, but limits the amplitude of all transients that exceed a safe operating level, as shown in Fig. 60(b). An arrangement of back-to-back diodes, shown in Fig. 60(c), meets these requirements for protection of the gate insulation in MOS transistors.

Ideally, the transfer characteristic of the protective signal-limiting diodes should have an infinite slope at limiting, as shown in Fig. 61(a). Under these conditions, the static potential across C_p in Fig. 61(b) discharges through its internal impedance R_s into the load represented by the signal-limiting diodes. The ideal signal-limiting diodes, which have an infinite transfer slope, would then



Fig. 60—MOS gate-protection requirements and a solution.

limit the voltage present at the gate terminal to its knee value, ed. The difference voltage e. appears as an





Fig. 61—Transfer characteristic of protective diodes (a), and resulting waveforms in equivalent circuit (b).

IR drop across the internal impedance of the source R_* , i.e., $e_* = E_* - e_d$ where E_* is the potential in the source of static electricity and e_d is the diode voltage drop. The instantaneous value of the diode current is then equal to e_*/R_* . During physical handling, practical peak values of currents produced by static-electricity discharges range from several milliamperes to several hundred milliamperes.

Fig. 62 shows a typical transfer characteristic curve measured on a typical set of back-to-back diodes used to protect the gate insulation in an MOS field-effect transistor that is nominally rated for a gate-tosource breakdown voltage of 20 volts.



Fig. 62—Typical diode transfer characteristic measured with 1-microsecond pulse width at a duty factor of 4×10^{-3} .

The transfer-characteristic curves show that the diodes will constrain a transient impulse to potential values well below the ± 20 volt limit, even when the source of the transient surge is capable of delivering several hundred milliamperes of current. (These data were measured with 1-microsecond pulses applied to the protected gate at a dutyfactor of 4 x 10⁻³).

FABRICATION

The fabrication techniques used to produce MOS transistors are similar to those used for modern high-speed

silicon bipolar transistors. The starting material for an n-channel transistor is a lightly doped p-type silicon wafer. (Reversal of p-type and n-type materials referred to in this description produces a p-channel transistor.) After the wafer is polished on one side and oxidized in a furnace, photolithographic techniques are used to etch away the oxide coating and expose bare silicon in the source and drain regions. The source and drain regions are then formed by diffusion in a furnace containing an n-type impurity (such as phosphorus). If the transistor is to be an enhancement-type device. no channel diffusion is required. If a depletion-type transistor is desired, an n-type channel is formed to bridge the space between the diffused source and drain.

The wafer is then oxidized again to cover the bare silicon regions. and a second photolithographic and etching step is performed to remove the oxide in the contact regions. After metal is evaporated over the entire wafer, another photolithographic and etching step removes all metal not needed for the ohmic contacts to the source, drain, and gate. The individual transistor chips are then mechanically separated and mounted on individual headers, connector wires are bonded to the metalized regions, and each unit is hermetically sealed in its case in an inert atmosphere. After testing, the external leads of each device are physically shorted together to prevent electrostatic damage to the gate insulation during branding and shipping.

ELECTRICAL CHARACTERISTICS

The basic current-voltage relationship for an MOS transistor is shown in Fig. 63. With a constant gate-tosource voltage (e.g., $V_{\rm GS} = 0$), the resistance of the channel is essentially constant, and current varies directly with drain-to-source voltage ($V_{\rm DS}$), as illustrated in region A-B.

The flow of drain current (I_p) produces an IR drop along the channel. The polarity of this drop is such as to oppose the field produced within the gate oxide by the gate bias. As the drain voltage is increased, a point is reached at which the IR drop becomes sufficiently high so that the capability of the gate field to attract enough carriers into the channel to sustain a higher draincurrent is nullified. When this condition occurs (in the proximity of point B in Fig. 63), the channel is essentially depleted of carriers (i.e., becomes "constricted"), and drain current increases very much more slowly with further increases in drain-to-source voltage V_{DS}. This condition leads to the description of region B-C as the "pinch-off" region because the channel "pinches off" and the drain current (I_{DS}) tends to saturate at a constant value. Bevond point C, the transistor enters the "breakdown" region (also known as the "punch-through" region). in which unrestricted current flow and damage to the transistor result if current flow is not limited by the external circuit.



Fig. 63—Basic current-voltage relationship for an MOS transistor.

MOS transistors are especially useful in high-impedance voltage amplifiers when they are operated in the "pinch-off" region. The direct variation in their channel resistance (Region A-B in Fig. 63) makes them very attractive for use in voltagecontrolled resistor applications, such as the chopper circuits used in connection with some types of dc amplifiers.

Typical output characteristic curves for n-channel MOS transistors are shown in Fig. 64. The resemblance of these curves to the basic curve shown in Fig. 63 should be noted. (For p-channel transistors. the polarity of the voltages and the direction of the current are reversed.) Typical transfer characterfor n-channel single-gate istics MOS transistors are shown in Fig. 65. (Again, voltage polarities and current direction would be reversed for p-channel devices.) The threshold voltage (V_{TH}) shown in connection with the enhancement-type transistor illustrates the "normally-open"



Fig. 64—Typical output-characteristic curves for n-channel MOS transistors.



GATE-TO-SOURCE VOLTAGE (VGS)

Fig. 65—Typical transfer characteristics for n-channel MOS transistors.

source-drain characteristic of the device. In these transistors, conduction does not begin until V_{GS} is increased to a particular value. Fig. 66 shows typical drain-current curves



Fig. 66—Drain current of a dual-gate MOS transistor as a function of gate-No. I-tosource voltage for several values of gate-No. 2-to-source voltage.

MOS Field-Effect Transistors

for a dual-gate device as a function of gate No. 1-to-source voltage for several values of gate No. 2-tosource voltage.

BIASING TECHNIQUES FOR SINGLE-GATE MOS TRANSISTORS

The bias required for operation of a single-gate MOS transistor can be supplied by use of a self-bias (source-bias) arrangement, from a supply of fixed bias, or, preferably, by a combination of these methods. Fig. 67 illustrates each of the three biasing techniques.

The design of a self-bias circuit is relatively simple and straightforward. For example, if a 3N128MOS transistor is to be operated with a drain-to-source voltage V_{DS} of 15 volts and a small-signal transconductance g. of 7400 micromhos, conductance. The source voltage V_s , the source resistance R_s , and the dc supply voltage $V_{\rm DD}$ can then be readily calculated, as follows:

$$\begin{array}{l} V_{s} = V_{G} - V_{Gs} = 1.1 \text{ volts} \\ R_{s} = V_{s}/I_{D} = 1.1/5 = 220 \text{ ohms} \\ V_{DD} = V_{DS} + V_{s} = 15 + 1.1 \\ = 16.1 \text{ volts} \end{array}$$

The self-bias arrangement is satisfactory for some applications. A particular source resistance, however, must be selected for each device if a specified drain current is required because the drain-current characteristics of individual devices can vary significantly from the typical values. The dashed-line curves in Fig. 68(b) define the "high" and "low" limits for the characteristics of the 3N128 MOS transistor. For example, the zero-bias drain current I_{DSS} can vary from a low value of 5 milliamperes



Fig. 67—Biasing arrangements for single-gate MOS transistors: (a) self-bias circuit; (b) fixed bias supply; (c) combination of self bias and fixed bias.

the drain current I_D required for the specified value of transconductance is first obtained from published curves, such as those shown in Fig. 68(a). Next, the gate-to-source voltage required for this value of drain current is determined from another published curve, such as the solidline curve shown in Fig. 68(b). These curves indicate that the drain current should be 5 milliamperes and that the gate-to-source voltage should be -1.1 volts for the specified values of drain-to-source voltage and transto a high value of 25 milliamperes, a range of 20 milliamperes. Use of a source resistor of 220 ohms, as calculated in the preceding example, reduces the range of the drain current between "high" and "low" 3N128 transistors operated in selfbias circuits from 20 milliamperes to about 4 milliamperes. A reduction of about 5 to 1 in the range of I_{D88} values among individual devices can be achieved, therefore, by a judicious choice of the proper value of source resistance.



Fig. 68—Operating characteristics for the RCA-3N128 MOS transistor: (a) forward transconductance as a function of drain current; (b) drain current as a function of gate-to-source voltage.

such Fixed-bias-supply systems, as that shown in Fig. 68(b), are generally unattractive for use with MOS transistors for two main reasons. First, this type of system is undesirable because it requires the use of a separate, negative-voltage power supply. Second, as shown by the curves in Fig. 68(b), for a fixed bias supply of 1.1 volts, drain current would be 14 milliamperes for a "high" 3N128 transistor and would be cut off for a "low" device. Consequently, if an external bias system is used provisions must be made for adjustment of the bias voltage if a specific drain current is required for a particular device.

combination bias system The shown in Fig. 67(c) is the most effective arrangement when an application requires a specific drain current despite the range of draincurrent characteristics encountered among individual devices. Fig. 69 shows two families of characteristic curves developed empirically for the combination bias system shown in Fig. 67(c). The family of curves on the left is pertinent for operation at a drain current of 5 milliamperes. For operation at a drain current of 10 milliamperes, the family of curves on the right should be used.

If a drain current of 5 milliamperes is desired, the pertinent curves in Fig. 69 show that, for a source resistance of 1000 ohms, a bias system can provide this value of current within 1 milliampere (as indicated by projections of lines a and b to the abscissa), despite a range of 5 to 25 milliamperes in the value of I_{DSS} for individual devices. A drain current Ip of 5 milliamperes, however, develops a self bias of -5 volts across the 1000-ohm source resistor Rs, and the transistor will be cut off unless sufficient positive bias is applied across the input resistors $(R_1 \text{ and } R_2)$ to establish the correct operating point. The positive bias voltage can be obtained from the positive drain supply V_{DD} so that there is no need for a separate bias supply. For a drain-to-source voltage $V_{\rm DS}$ of 15 volts, a drain current Ip of 5 milliamperes, a gate-to-source voltage V_{GS} of -1.1 volts, and a source resistance Rs of 1000 ohms, the circuit parameters for the combination bias system shown in Fig. 67(c) can be calculated as follows:

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{V}_{s} &= \mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{D}}\mathbf{R}_{s} = (0.005) \, (1000) \\ &= 5 \, \mathrm{volts} \\ \mathbf{V}_{\mathrm{G}} &= \mathbf{V}_{\mathrm{Gs}} + \mathbf{V}_{\mathrm{S}} = -1.1 + 5 \\ &= 3.9 \, \mathrm{volts} \\ \mathbf{V}_{\mathrm{DD}} &= \mathbf{V}_{\mathrm{DS}} + \cdot \mathbf{V}_{\mathrm{S}} = 15 + 5 \\ &= 20 \, \mathrm{volts} \\ \mathbf{V}_{\mathrm{DD}} / \mathbf{V}_{\mathrm{G}} = (\mathbf{R}_{1} + \mathbf{R}_{2}) / \mathbf{R}_{2} = 20 / 3.9 \\ &= 5.12 \end{split}$$

MOS Field-Effect Transistors



Fig. 69—Drain current I_D as a function of zero-bias drain current I_{DSS} for several values of source resistance R_s .

The lower limits for the values of the input resistors R_1 and R_2 are determined on the basis of the maximum permissible loading of the input circuit. The resistance that corresponds to this value is set equal to the equivalent value of the parallel combination of the two resistors. For example, if the total resistance in shunt with the input circuit is to be no less than 50,000 ohms, the values of R_1 and R_2 are calculated as follows:



Fig. 70—Circuit used to eliminate inputcircuit loading in rf-amplifier applications.

 $\frac{R_1R_2/(R_1 + R_2)}{(R_1 + R_2)/R_2} = \frac{50,000}{5.12}$

Therefore, $R_1 = 256,000$ ohms and $R_2 = 62,000$ ohms.

In rf-circuit applications, the effects of input-circuit loading can be circumvented by use of the circuit arrangement shown in Fig. 70.

BIASING TECHNIQUES FOR DUAL-GATE MOS TRANSISTORS

The following example illustrates the techniques used to provide the bias required for operation of a dualgate MOS transistor. This example assumes a typical application in which a 3N140 dual-gate MOS transistor is required to operate with a drain-to-source voltage V_{DS} of 15 volts and a forward transconductance gr. of 10,500 micromhos. (The techniques described for the 3N140 transistor are also applicable to dualgate-protected MOS transistors.) The characteristic curves for the 3N140, shown in Fig. 71(a), indicate that the desired value of transconductance can be obtained for a gate No. 1-to-source voltage V_{G18} of --0.45

volt and a gate No. 2-to-source voltage $V_{\rm G2S}$ of +4 volts. The curves in Fig. 71(b) show that for these conditions the drain current $I_{\rm P}$ is 10 milliamperes.





Fig. 71—Operating characteristics for the RCA-3N140 dual-gate MOS transistor: (a) forward transconductance as a function of gate-No. 1-to-source voltage; (b) drain current as a function of gate-No. 1-tosource voltage.

Fig. 72 shows a biasing arrangement that can be used for dual-gate MOS field-effect transistors. For the application being considered, the



Fig. 72—Typical biasing circuit for dualgate MOS field-effect transistors.

shunt resistance for gate No. 1 is assumed to be 25,000 ohms. Gate No. 2 is operated at rf ground (by means of adequate bypassing) and is biased with a fixed dc potential. Empirical experience with dual-gate MOS transistors has shown that a source resistance of approximately 270 ohms provides adequate self-bias for the transistor for operation from the proposed dc supply voltage. For this value of source resistance, the remaining parameters of the bias circuit are obtained from the following calculations:

$$\begin{split} V_{s} &= I_{\rm b} R_{\rm s} = (0.010) \, (270) \\ &= +2.7 \, \, {\rm volts} \\ V_{\rm G1} &= V_{\rm G18} + V_{\rm s} = (-0.45) \\ &+ (+2.7) = +2.25 \, \, {\rm volts} \\ V_{\rm G2} &= V_{\rm G28} + V_{\rm s} = (+4.0) + (+2.7) \\ &= +6.7 \, \, {\rm volts} \\ V_{\rm DD} &= V_{\rm D8} + V_{\rm s} = (+15) + (+2.7) \\ &= +17.7 \, \, {\rm volts} \end{split}$$

The values of the voltage-divider resistances required to provide the appropriate voltage at each gate are determined in a manner similar to that described for single-gate MOS transistors. The value calculated for R_a is 197,000 ohms, that for R_i is 28,600 ohms, and the ratio R_1/R_2 is 11.67.

The circuit shown in Fig. 72 is normally used in rf amplifier applications. In this circuit, the signal

MOS Field-Effect Transistors

voltage is applied at point "a" through appropriate input circuitry. If the age feature is not employed, (e.g. in mixer circuits), the resistor R_{age} is disconnected at point "b." In a mixer application, the local oscillator signal is injected at point "b."

GENERAL CIRCUIT CONFIGURATIONS

There are three basic single-stage amplifier configurations for MOS transistors: common-source, common-gate, and common-drain. Each of these configurations provides certain advantages in particular applications.

The common-source arrangement shown in Fig. 73 is most frequently used. This configuration provides a



Fig. 73—Basic common-source circuit for MOS field-effect transistors.

high input impedance, medium to high output impedance, and voltage gain greater than unity. The input signal is applied between gate and source, and the output signal is taken between drain and source. The voltage gain without feedback, A, for the common-source circuit may be determined as follows:

$$\mathbf{A} = \frac{\mathbf{g}_{fs} \mathbf{r}_{os} \mathbf{R}_{L}}{\mathbf{r}_{os} + \mathbf{R}_{L}}$$

where $g_{f.}$ is the gate-to-drain forward transconductance of the transistor, $r_{o.}$ is the common-source output resistance, and R_L is the effective load resistance. The addition of an unbypassed source resistor to the circuit of Fig. 73 produces negative voltage feedback proportional to the output current. The voltage gain with feedback, A', for a common-source circuit is given by

$$A' = \frac{g_{fs} r_{os} R_{L}}{r_{os} + (g_{fs} r_{os} + 1) R_{s} + R_{L}}$$

where R_s is the total unbypassed source resistance in series with the source terminal. The common-source output impedance with feedback, Z_o , is increased by the unbypassed source resistor as follows:

$$Z_{o} = r_{os} + (g_{fs} r_{os} + 1) R_{s}$$

The common-drain arrangement, shown in Fig. 74, is also frequently referred to as a source-follower. In this configuration, the input impedance is higher than in the common-source configuration, the output impedance is low, there is no polarity reversal between input and output, the voltage gain is always less than unity, and distortion is low. The source-follower is used in applications which require reduced input-circuit capacitance. downward impedance transformation, or increased input-signal-handling capability. The input signal is effectively injected between gate and drain, and the output is taken between source and drain. The circuit inherently has 100-per-cent negative



Fig. 74—Basic common-drain (or sourcefollower) circuit for MOS transistors.

voltage feedback; its gain A' is given by

$$\mathbf{A}' = \frac{\mathbf{R}_{\mathrm{s}}}{\frac{\mu+1}{\mu} \mathbf{R}_{\mathrm{s}} + \frac{1}{\mathbf{g}_{\mathrm{rs}}}}$$

Because the amplification factor (μ) of an MOS transistor is usually much greater than unity, the equation for gain in the source-follower can be simplified as follows:

$$\mathbf{A}' = \frac{\mathbf{g}_{t*} \mathbf{R}_s}{1 + \mathbf{g}_{t*} \mathbf{R}_s}$$

For example, if it is assumed that the gate-to-drain forward transconductance g_{1*} is 2000 micromhos $(2 \times 10^{-3} \text{ mho})$ and the unbypassed source resistance R_s is 500 ohms, the stage gain A' is 0.5. If the same source resistance is used with a transistor having a transconductance of 10,000 micromhos (1 x 10^{-2} mho), the stage gain increases to 0.83.

When the resistor R_0 is returned to ground, as shown in Fig. 74, the input resistance R_1 of the sourcefollower is equal to R_0 . If R_0 is returned to the source terminal, however, the effective input resistance R_1' is given by

$$R_{i}' = \frac{R_{G}}{1 - A'}$$

where A' is the voltage amplification of the stage with feedback. For example, if R_a is one megohm and A' is 0.5, the effective resistance R_i ' is two megohms.

If the load is resistive, the effective input capacitance C_i of the source-follower is reduced by the inherent voltage feedback and is given by

 $C_{i'} = c_{gil} + (1 - A') c_{gil}$

where c_{gel} and c_{ge} are the intrinsic gate-to-drain and gate-to-source capacitances, respectively, of the MOS transistor. For example, if a typical MOS transistor having a c_{gel} of 0.3 picofarad and a c_{ge} of 5 picofarads is used, and if A' is equal to 0.5, then C₁' is reduced to 2.8 picofarads.

The effective output resistance R_{o} of the source-follower stage is given by

$$R_{o'} = \frac{r_{os} R_{s}}{(g_{ts} r_{os} + 1) R_{s} + r_{os}}$$

where r., is the transistor commonsource output resistance in ohms. For example, if a unit having a gate-to-drain forward transconductance g_{rs} of 2000 micromhos and a common-source output resistance r_{os} of 7500 ohms is used in a sourcefollower stage with an unbypassed source resistance R_s of 500 ohms, the effective output resistance R_s' of the source-follower stage is 241 ohms.

The source-follower output capacitance $C_{o'}$ may be expressed as follows:

$$C_{o'} = c_{ds} + c_{gs} \left(\frac{1 - A'}{A'} \right)$$

where c_{4*} and c_{8*} are the intrinsic drain-to-source and gate-to-source capacitances, respectively, of the MOS transistor. If A' is equal to 0.5 (as assumed for the sample input-circuit calculations), $C_{0'}$ is reduced to the sum of c_{4*} and c_{8*} .

The common-gate circuit, shown in Fig. 75, is used to transform from a low input impedance to a



Fig. 75—Basic common-gate circuit for MOS transistors.

high output impedance. The input impedance of this configuration has approximately the same value as the output impedance of the source-follower circuit. The common-gate circuit is also a desirable configuration for high-frequency applications because its relatively low voltage gain makes neutralization unnecessary in most cases. The common-gate voltage gain, A, is given by

$$A = \frac{(g_{f*} r_{o*} + 1) R_{L}}{(g_{f*} r_{o*} + 1) R_{G} + r_{o*} + R_{L}}$$

where R_{o} is the resistance of the input-signal source. For a typical MOS transistor (g₁. = 2000 micromhos, $r_{o.}$ = 7500 ohms) and with R_{L} = 2000 ohms and R_{o} = 500 ohms, the common-gate voltage gain

MOS Field-Effect Transistors

is 1.8. If the value of R_0 is doubled, the voltage gain is reduced to 1.25.

TECHNICAL FEATURES

It is apparent from the preceding discussions that MOS field-effect transistors exhibit a number of technical features that result in unique performance advantages in circuit applications such as mixers, product detectors, remote gain-control circuits. balanced modulators, choppers, elippers, and gated amplifiers. These features include:

1. An extremely high input resistance and a low input capacitance—as a result, MO transistors impose virtually no loading on an agc voltage source (i.e., virtually no agc power is required) and have a wide agc mange capability.

2. A wide dynamic range—MOS transistors, therefore, can handle positive and negative input-signal excursions without diode-current loading.

3. Cross-modulation effects and spurious response that are substantially less than those of other types of electronic devices—the crossmodulation characteristics of dualgate transistors actually improve as the device approaches cutoff.

4. Zero offset voltage—this feature is especially desirable for chopper applications.

5. An exceptionally high forward transconductance.

6. Negative temperature coefficient for the drain current-"thermal runaway," therefore, is virtually impossible.

7. A very low gate leakage current that is relatively insensitive to temperature variations.

8. Very low oscillator feedthrough in dual-gate mixer circuits.

9. Dual-gate transistors can provide good gain in common-source amplifiers into the uhf range without neutralization.

HANDLING CONSIDERATIONS

MOS field-effect transistors, like high-frequency bipolar transistors, can be damaged by exposure to excessive voltages. The gate oxide insulation is susceptible to puncture when subjected to voltage in excess of the rated value. The very high resistance of the oxide insulation imposes a negligible load on electrostatically generated potentials and, therefore, provides an ineffective discharge path for sources of static electricity. As discussed earlier, the integral gate-protection system incorporated into some types of dualgate MOS transistors is highly effective in the protection of these devices against the effects of electrostatic charges. Special precautions, however, must be taken in the handling and application of other types of MOS transistors that do not contain the integral gate protection. The discussion of MOS Transistors in the section on Testing and Mounting outlines the special handling procedures recommended for such devices.

Thyristors

The term thyristor is the generic for name solid-state devices that have characteristics similar to those of thyratron tubes. Basically, this group includes bistable solidstate devices that have two or more junctions (three or more semiconductor layers) and that can be switched between conducting states (from OFF to ON or from ON to OFF) within at least one quadrant of the principal voltage-current characteristic. Reverse-blocking triode thyristors, commonly called silicon controlled rectifiers (SCR's), and bidirectional triode thyristors, usually referred to as triacs, have three electrodes and are switched between states by a current pulse applied to the gate terminal. The bidirectional trigger diode. commonly called a diac, has only two electrodes. This device has no gate electrode but may be switched from an OFF state to an ON state for either polarity of applied voltage. The discussions in this section deal primarily with the SCR and the triac, their operation, electrical characteristics, and ratings. A brief description is also given of the operation of the diac and its chief function in triac phasecontrol circuits.

SILICON CONTROLLED RECTIFIERS

A silicon controlled rectifier (SCR) is basically a four-layer p-n-p-n device that has three electrodes (a cathode, an anode, and a control electrode called the gate). Fig. 76 shows the junction diagram, principal voltage-current characteristic, and schematic symbol for an SCR.





Fig. 76(b) shows that under forward-bias conditions (anode positive with respect to cathode) the SCR has two states. At low values of forward bias, the SCR exhibits a very high impedance; in this forward-blocking or OFF state, a small forward current, called the forward OFF-state current, flows through the device. As the forward bias is increased, however, a voltage point is reached at which the forward cur-

Thyristors

rent increases rapidly and the SCR switches to the ON state. This value of voltage is called the breakover voltage. When the SCR is in the ON state, the forward current is limited primarily by the impedance of the external circuit.

Under reverse bias (anode negative with respect to cathode), the SCR exhibits a very high internal impedance, and only a small amount of current, called the reverse blocking current, flows through the device. This current remains very small and the device remains in this OFF state unless the reverse voltage exceeds the reverse-breakdown-voltage limitation. At this point, the reverse current increases rapidly, and the SCR undergoes thermal runaway, a condition that normally causes irreversible damage to the device. The value of reverse breakdown voltage differs for individual SCR types, but is approximately 100 volts greater than the forward breakover voltage for most types. Under forward-bias conditions, the breakover voltage of the SCR can be controlled or varied by application of a current pulse to the gate electrode, as shown in Fig. 77. As the amplitude of the gate current pulse is increased, the breakover voltage for the SCR decreases until the curve closely resembles that of a rectifier. In normal operation, the SCR is operated with critical values well below the breakover voltage and is made to switch on by gate signals of sufficient magnitude to assure that



Fig. 77—Curves showing the forward-voltage characteristics of a thyristor for different values of gate current.

the device is switched to the ON state at the instant desired.

After the SCR is triggered by the gate signal, the current through the device is independent of the gate voltage or gate current. The SCR remains in the ON state until the principal current is reduced to a level below that required to sustain conduction.

Construction details of a typical SCR pellet are shown in Fig. 78.



Fig. 78—Cross-section of a typical SCR pellet.

The shorted-emitter construction used in RCA SCR's can be recognized by the metallic cathode electrode in direct contact with the p-type base layer around the periphery of the pellet. The gate, at the center of the pellet, also makes direct metallic contact to the p-type base so that the portion of this layer under the n-type emitter acts as an ohmic path for current flow between gate and cathode. Because this ohmic path is in parallel with the n-type emitter junction, current preferentially takes the ohmic path until the IR drop in this path reaches the junction threshold voltage of about 0.8 volt. When the gate voltage exceeds this value, the junction current increases rapidly. and injection of electrons by the ntype emitter reaches a level high enough to turn on the device.

In addition to providing a precisely controlled gate current, the shortedemitter construction also improves the high-temperature and dv/dt(maximum allowable rate of rise of OFF-state voltage) capabilities of the device.

The center-gate construction of the SCR pellet provides fast turn-on and high di/dt capabilities. In an SCR, conduction is initiated in the cathode region immediately adjacent to the gate contact and must then propagate to the more remote regions of the cathode. Switching losses are influenced by the rate of propagation of conduction and the distance conduction must propagate from the gate. With a central gate, all regions of the cathode are in close proximity to the initially conducting region so that propagation distance is significantly decreased; as a result, switching losses are minimized.

TRIACS

Fig. 79 shows the junction diagram, voltage-current characteristic, and schematic symbol for a triac. The triac, like the SCR, has three electrodes; they are designated as main terminal No.1, main terminal No.2, and the gate. As shown in Fig. 79(b), the triac exhibits the same forward-blocking, forwardconducting voltage-current characteristic of the SCR, but for either polarity of voltage applied to the main terminals. Under forward bias (main terminal No.2 positive with respect to main terminal No.1) or reverse bias (main terminal No.2 negative with respect to main terminal No.1), the triac exhibits first a forward-blocking (OFF) state, then a forward-conducting (ON) state. point at which The the device switches states is the breakover voltage. Again like the SCR, the breakover voltage of the triac can be controlled or varied by application of a positive or negative current pulse to the gate electrode. As the amplitude of the current pulse is



Fig. 79—(a) Junction diagram, (b) principal voltage-current characteristic, and (c) schematic symbol for a triac thyristor.

increased, the breakover point of the triac is decreased. The triac can therefore be considered as two SCR's connected in parallel and oriented in opposite directions, as shown in Fig. 80.



Fig. 80—A triac equivalent circuit: two SCR's in parallel and oriented in opposite directions.

Construction of a typical RCA triac pellet is shown in Fig. 81. In

Thyristors

this devide, the main-terminal-No. 1 electrode makes ohmic contact to a p-type emitter as well as to an n-type emitter. Similarly, the main-terminal-No. 2 electrode also makes ohmic contact to both types of emitters, but the p-type emitter of the mainterminal-No. 2 side is located opposite the n-type emitter of the mainterminal-No. 1 side, and the mainterminal-No. 2 n-type emitter is opposite the main-terminal-No. 1 p-type emitter. The net result is two fourlayer switches in parallel, but oriented in opposite directions, in one silicon pellet. This type of construction makes it possible for a triac either to block or to conduct current in either direction between main terminal No. 1 and main terminal No. 2.



Fig. 81—Cross-section of a typical triac pellet.

DIACS

A diac is a two-electrode, threelayer bidirectional avalanche diode which can be switched from the OFF state to the ON state for either polarity of applied voltage. Fig. 82 shows the junction diagram, voltagecurrent characteristic, and schematic symbol for a diac.

This three-layer trigger diode is similar in construction to a bipolar



Fig. 82-(a) Junction diagram, (b) voltage-current characteristic, and (c) schematic symbol for a diac.

transistor. A diac differs from a bipolar transistor in that the doping concentrations at the two junctions are approximately the same and there is no contact made to the base layer. The equal doping levels result in a symmetrical bidirectional switching characteristic, as shown in Fig. 82(b). When an increasing positive or negative voltage is applied across the terminals of the diac, a minimum (leakage) current I_(BO) flows through the device until the voltage reaches the breakover point V(BO). The reverse-biased junction then undergoes avalanche breakdown and, beyond this point, the device exhibits a negative-resistance characteristic, i.e., current through the device increases substantially with decreasing voltage.

Diacs are primarily used as triggering devices in triac phase-control circuits used for light dimming, universal motor-speed control, heat control, and similar applications. Fig. 83 shows the general circuit diagram for a diac/triac phasecontrol circuit. The magnitude and



Fig. 83—General circuit diagram for a diac/triac phase-control circuit.

duration of the current pulse applied to the gate of the triac are determined by the value of phaseshift capacitance C, the change in voltage across and the dynamic impedance of the diac, and the triac gate impedance. The interaction of all circuit impedances and the phaseshift capacitance can best be represented by the curve of peak current as a function of the capacitance shown in Fig. 84.



Fig. 84—Peak current as a function of capacitance in a triac.

SCR AND TRIAC GATE CHARACTERISTICS

Silicon controlled rectifiers and triacs are ideal for switching applications. When the working voltage of the thyristor is below the breakover point, the device is essentially an open switch; above the breakover voltage, the thyristor switches to the ON state and is effectively a closed switch. The breakover voltage can be varied or controlled by injections of a signal at the gate terminal.

The manufacturer's specifications indicate the magnitude of gate current and voltage required to turn on these devices. Gate characteristics, however, vary from device to device even among devices within the same family. For this reason, manufacturer's specifications on gating characteristics provide a range of values in the form of characteristic diagrams. A diagram such as that shown in Fig. 85 is given to define the limits of gate currents and voltages that may be used to trigger any given device of a specific family. The boundary lines of maximum and minimum gate impedance on this characteristic diagram represent the loci of all possible triggering points for thyristors in this family. The curve OA represents the gate characteristic of a specific device that is triggered within the shaded area.

The magnitude of gate current and voltage required to trigger a thyristor varies inversely with junction temperature. As the junction temperature increases, the level of gate signal required to trigger the thyristor becomes smaller. Worst-case triggering conditions occur, therefore, at



Fig. 85—Gate-characteristics curves for a typical RCA SCR.

the minimum operating junction temperature.

The gate nontrigger voltage V_{gat} is the maximum dc gate voltage that may be applied between gate and cathode of the thyristor for which the device can maintain its rated blocking voltage. This voltage is usually specified at the rated operating temperature (100°C) of the thyristor. Noise signals in the gate circuit should be maintained below this level to prevent unwanted triggering of the thyristor.

When very precise triggering of a thyristor is desired, the thyristor gate must be overdriven by a pulse of current much larger than the dc gate current required to trigger the device. The use of a large current pulse reduces variations in turn-on time, minimizes the effect of temperature variations on triggering characteristics, and makes possible very short switching times.

The coaxial gate structure and the "shorted-emitter" construction techniques used in RCA thyristors have greatly extended the range of limiting gate characteristics. As a result, the gate-dissipation ratings of RCA thyristors are compatible with the power-handling capabilities of other elements of these devices. Advantage can be taken of the higher peakpower capability of the gate to improve dynamic performance, increase di/dt capability (maximum allowable rate of rise of ON-state current), minimize interpulse jitter, and reduce switching losses. This higher peak-power capability also allows greater interchangeability of thyristors in high-performance applications.

The forward gate characteristics for thyristors, shown in Fig. 86, indicate the maximum allowable pulse widths for various peak values of gate input power. The pulse width is determined by the relationship that exists between gate power input and the increase in the temperature of the thyristor pellet that results from the application of gate power. The curves shown in Fig. 86(a) are for RCA SCR's that have relatively small current ratings (2N4101, 2N4102, and 40379 families), and the curves shown in Fig. 86(b) are for RCA SCR's that have larger current ratings (2N4103, 2N3873, and 2N3899 families). Because



Fig. 86—Forward gate characteristics for pulse triggering of RCA SCR's: (a) lowcurrent types; (b) high-current types.

the higher-current thyristors have larger pellets, they also have greater thermal capacities than the smallercurrent devices. Wider gate trigger pulses can therefore be used on these devices for the same peak value of gate input power.

Because of the resistive nature of the "shorted-emitter" construction, similar volt-ampere curves can be constructed for reverse gate voltages and currents, with maximum allowable pulse widths for various peakpower values, as shown in Fig. 87. These curves indicate that reverse dissipations do not exceed the maximum allowable power dissipation for the device.

The total average dissipation caused by gate-trigger pulses is the sum of the average forward and reverse dissipations. This total dissipation should be less than the Maximum Gate Power Dissipation Post shown in the published data for the selected SCR. If the average gate dissipation exceeds the maximum published value, as the result of forward gate-trigger pulses high and transient or steady-state reverse gate biasing, the maximum allowable forward-conduction-current rating of the device must be reduced to compensate for the increased rise of junction temperature caused by the increased gate power dissipation

The triac can be triggered in any of four operating modes, as summarized in Table I. The quadrant designations refer to the operating quadrant on the principal voltagecurrent characteristics, shown in Fig. 79 (either I or III), and the polarity



Fig. 87—Reverse gate characteristics of RCA SCR's: (a) low-current types; (b) high-current types.

symbol represents the gate-to-mainterminal-No. 1 voltage.

Table I—Triac Triggering Modes		
Gate-to-Main- Terminal-No. 1 Voltage	Main-Terminal-No. 2-to Main-Terminal-No. 1 Voltage	- Operating Quadrant
Positive	Positive	I(+)
Negative	Positive	I(—)
Positive	Negative	III(+)
Negative	Negative	III(—)

The gate-trigger requirements of the triac are different in each operating mode. The I(+) mode (gate positive with respect to main terminal No. 1 and main terminal No. 2 positive with respect to main terminal No. 1), which is comparable to equivalent SCR operation, is usually the most sensitive. The smallest gate current is required to trigger the triac in this mode. The other three operating modes require larger gatetrigger currents. For RCA triacs, the maximum trigger-current rating in the published data is the largest value of gate current that is required to trigger the selected device in any operating mode.

Gate Trigger Circuits

The gate signal used to trigger an SCR or triac must be of sufficient strength to assure sustained forward conduction. Triggering requirements are usually stated in terms Bedc voltage and current. of cause it is common practice to pulse-fire thyristors, it is also necessary to consider the duration of firing pulse required. A trigger pulse that has an amplitude just equivalent to the dc requirements must be applied for a relatively long period of time (approximately 30 microseconds) to ensure that the gate signal is provided during the full turn-on period of the thyristor. As the amplitude of the gate-triggering signal is increased, the turn-on time of the

Thyris**to**rs

thyristor is decreased, and the width of the gate pulse may be reduced. When highly inductive loads are used, the inductance controls the current-rise portion of the turn-on time. For this type of load, the width of the gate pulse must be made long enough to assure that the principal current rises to a value greater than the latching-current level of the device. The latching current of RCA thyristors is always less than twice the holding current.

The application usually determines whether a simple or somewhat sophisticated triggering circuit should be used to trigger a given thyristor. Triggering circuits can be as numerous and as varied as the applications in which they are used; this text discusses the basic types only.

Many applications require that a thyristor be switched full ON or full OFF in a manner similar to the operation of a relay. Although higher currents are handled by the thyristor, only small trigger or gate currents are required from the control circuit or switch. The simplest method of accomplishing this type of triggering is illustrated in Fig. 88.

Each circuit shows a variable resistor in the gate circuit to control the conduction angle of the thyristor.



Fig. 88—Degree of control over conduction angles when ac resistive network is used to trigger SCR's and triacs.

The waveforms indicating the degree of control exercised by the variable resistance are also shown in Fig. 88. With maximum resistance in either circuit, the thyristor is

OFF. As the resistance is reduced in the SCR circuit, a point is reached at which sufficient gate trigger current is provided at the positive peak of the voltage wave (90 degrees) to trigger the SCR ON. The SCR conducts from the 90-degree point to the 180-degree point for a total conduction angle of (180 - 90), or 90 degrees. In the triac circuit, as the resistance is reduced, the gate current increases until the triac is triggered at both the peak positive (90 degrees) and peak negative (270 degrees) points on the voltage wave. The triac then conducts between 90 degrees and 180 degrees, and between 270 degrees and 360 degrees for a total conduction angle of 180 degrees. The conduction angles of both the SCR and the triac can be increased by further reduction of the resistance in the gate circuits. For the SCR, the firing point is moved back from 90 degrees toward zero for a total conduction angle approaching 180 degrees. The triac firing points can also be moved back from 90 degrees toward zero for the positive half-cycle and from 270 degrees toward 180 degrees for the negative half-cycle to obtain a total conduction angle approaching 360 degrees. The resistor in the gate circuit assures that the gate current decreases to a negligible value after the thyristor is fired.

An easier method of obtaining a phase angle greater than 90 degrees for half-wave operation is to use a resistance-capacitance triggering network. Fig. 89 shows the simplest form of such networks for use with an SCR and a triac. The thyristor is in series with the load and in parallel with the RC network. At the beginning of each half-cycle (positive half-cycle only for the SCR), the thyristor is in the OFF state. As a result, the ac voltage appears across the thyristor and essentially none appears across the load. Because the thyristor is in parallel with the potentiometer and capacitor, the voltage across the thyristor drives current through the



Fig. 89---RC triggering networks used for phase-control triggering of thyristors.

potentiometer and charges the capacitor. When the capacitor voltage reaches the breakover voltage of the thyristor, the capacitor discharges through the gate circuit and turns the thyristor on. At this point, the ac voltage is transferred from the thyristor to the load R_L for the remainder of the half-cycle. If the potentiometer resistance is reduced, the capacitor charges more rapidly, and the breakover voltage is reached earlier in the cycle; as a result, the power applied to the load is increased.

The gate trigger voltage can be more closely controlled in simple resistance or resistance-capacitance circuits by use of a variety of special triggering devices. These triggering devices, including the diac, have a smaller range of characteristics, and are less temperature-sensitive. Basically, a thyristor triggering device exhibits a negative resistance after a critical voltage is reached, so that the gate-current requirement of the thyristor can be obtained as a pulse from the discharge of the phase-shift capacitor. Because the gate pulse need be only microseconds in duration, the gatepulse energy and the size of the triggering components are relatively small. Triggering circuits of this type employ elements such as neon bulbs, diacs, unijunction transistors, and two-transistor switches.

Fig. 90 shows a light-dimming circuit in which a diac is used to trigger a triac. The voltage-current



Fig. 90—A light-dimmer circuit in which a diac is used to trigger a triac.

characteristic for the diac in this circuit is shown in Fig. 91. The magnitude and duration of the gate-current pulse are determined



Fig. 91-Voltage-current characteristic for triggering device shown in Fig. 90.

by the interaction of the capacitor C_1 , the diac characteristics, and the impedance of the thyristor gate. Fig. 92 shows the typical shape of the gate-current pulse that is produced.



Fig. 92-Typical gate-current waveform for circuit shown in Fig. 90.

SWITCHING CHARACTERISTICS

The ratings of thyristors are based primarily upon the amount of heat generated within the device pellet and the ability of the device package to transfer the internal heat to the external case. For high-frequency applications in which the peak-to-average current ratio is high, or for highperformance applications that require large peak values but narrow current pulses, the energy lost during the turn-on process may be the main cause of heat generation within the thyristor. The switching properties of the device must be known. therefore, to determine power dissipation which may limit the device performance.

When a thyristor is triggered by a gate signal, the turn-on time of the device consists of two stages, a delay time t_a and a rise time t_r , as shown in Fig. 93. The total turn-on time t_{gt} is defined as the time interval between the initiation of the gate signal and the time when the resulting current through the thyristor reaches 90 per cent of its maximum value with a resistive load. The delay time t_a is defined as the time interval between the 10-per-cent point of the leading edge of the gate-trigger voltage and the 10-per-cent point of the



Fig. 93—Gate-current and voltage turn-on waveforms for a thyristor.

resulting current with a resistive load. The rise time t_r is the time interval required for the principal current to rise from 10 to 90 per cent of its maximum value. The total turn-on time, therefore, is the sum of both the delay and rise times of the thyristor.

Although the turn-on time is affected to some extent by the peak OFF-state voltage and the peak ONstate current level, it is influenced primarily by the magnitude of the gate-trigger current pulse. Fig. 94 shows the variation in turn-on time with gate-trigger current for the RCA-2N3873 SCR.



Fig. 94—Range of turn-on time as a function of gate current for the 2N3873 SCR.

To guarantee reliable operation and provide guidance for equipment designers in applications having short conduction periods, the voltage drop across RCA thyristors, at a given instantaneous forward current and at a specified time after turn-on from an OFF-state condition, is given in the published data. The waveshape for the initial ON-state voltage for the RCA-2N3873 SCR is shown in Fig. 95. This initial voltage, together with the time required for reduction of the dynamic forward voltage drop during the spreading time, is an indication of the currentswitching capability of the thyristor.

When the entire junction area of a thyristor is not in conduction, the current through that fraction of the pellet area in conduction may result in large instantaneous power losses. These turn-on switching losses are proportional to the current and the voltage from cathode to anode of the device, together with the repetition rate of the gate-trigger pulses. The instantaneous power dissipated in a



Fig. 95—Initial on-state voltage and current waveforms for the 2N3873 SCR.

thyristor under such conditions is shown in Fig. 96. The curves shown in this figure indicate that the peak



power dissipation occurs in the short interval immediately after the device starts to conduct, usually in the first microsecond. During this time interval, the peak junction temperature may exceed the maximum operating temperature given in the manufacturer's data; in this case, the thyristor should not be required to block voltages immediately after the conduction interval. If the thyristor must block voltages immediately following the conduction interval, the junction-temperature rating must not be exceeded.

The turn-off time of an SCR also consists of two stages, a reverserecovery time and a gate-recovery time, as shown in Fig. 97. When the



Fig. 97—Circuit-commutated turn-off voltage and current waveforms for a thyristor.

forward current of an SCR is reduced to zero at the end of a conduction period, application of reverse voltage between the anode and cathode terminals causes reverse current to flow in the SCR until the reverse-blocking junction establishes a depletion region. The time interval between the application of reverse voltage and the time that the reverse current passes its peak value to a steadystate level is called the reverserecovery time trr. A second recovery period, called the gate-recovery time tgr, must then elapse for the forwardblocking junction to establish a forward-depletion region so that forward-blocking voltage can be reapplied and successfully blocked by the SCR.

Thyristors

The gate-recovery time of an SCR is usually much longer than the reverse-recovery time. The total time from the instant reverse-recovery current begins to flow to the start of the re-applied forward-blocking voltage is referred to as the circuit commutated turn-off time tr. The turn-off time is dependent upon a number of circuit parameters, including the ONstate current prior to turn-off, the rate of change of current during the forward-to-reverse transition, the reverse-blocking voltage, the rate of change of the re-applied forward voltage, the gate trigger level, the gate bias, and the junction temperature. The junction temperature and the ON-state current, however, have a more significant effect on turn-off time than any of the other factors. Because the turn-off time of an SCR depends upon a number of circuit parameters! the manufacturer's turnoff time specification is meaningful only if these critical parameters are listed and the test circuit used for the measurement is indicated.

Thyristor's must be operated within the maximum ratings specified by the manufacturer to assure best results in terms of performance, life, and reliability. These ratings define limiting values, determined on the basis of extensive tests, that represent the best judgment of the manufacturer of the safe operating capability of the device.

VOLTAGE RATINGS

The voltage ratings of thyristors are given for both steady-state and transient operation and for both forward- and reverse-blocking conditions. For SCR's, voltages are considered to be in the forward or positive direction when the anode is positive with respect to the cathode. Negative voltages for SCR's are referred to as reverse-blocking voltages. For triacs, voltages are considered to be positive when main terminal No. 2 is positive with respect to main terminal No. 1. Alternatively, this condition may be referred to as operation in the first quadrant.

OFF-State Voltages

The repetitive peak OFF-state voltage V_{DRM} is the maximum value of OFF-state voltage, either transient or steady-state, that the thyristor should be required to block under the stated conditions of temperature and gate-to-cathode resistance. If this voltage is exceeded, the thyristor may switch to the ON state. The circuit designer should insure that the V_{DRM} rating is not exceeded to assure proper operation of the thyristor.

Under relaxed conditions of temperature or gate impedance, or when the blocking capability of the thyristor exceeds the specified rating, it may be found that a thyristor can block voltages far in excess of its repetitive OFF-state voltage rating VDRM. Because the application of an excessive voltage to a thyristor may produce irreversible effects, an absolute upper limit should be imposed on the amount of voltage that may be applied to the main terminals of the device. This voltage rating is referred to as the peak OFF-state voltage V_{DM}. It should be noted that the peak OFF-state voltage has a single rating irrespective of the voltage grade of the thyristor. This rating is a function of the construction of the thyristor and of the surface properties of the pellet; it should not be exceeded under either continuous or transient conditions.

Reverse Voltages (SCR's only)

Reverse voltage ratings are given for SCR's to provide operating guidance in the third quadrant, or reverse-blocking mode. There are two voltage ratings for SCR's in the reverse-blocking mode: repetitive peak reverse voltage ($V_{\rm RRM}$) and nonrepetitive peak reverse voltage ($V_{\rm RSM}$). The repetitive peak reverse voltage is the maximum allowable value of reverse voltage, including all repetitive transient voltages, that may be applied to the SCR. Because reverse power dissipation is small at this voltage, the rise in junction temperature because of this reverse dissipation is very slight and is accounted for in the rating of the SCR.

The nonrepetitive peak reverse voltage is the maximum allowable value of any nonrepetitive transient reverse voltage which may be applied to the SCR. These nonrepetitive transient voltages are allowed to exceed the steady-state ratings, even though the instantaneous power dissipation can be significant. While the transient voltage is applied, the junction temperature may increase, but removal of the transient voltage in a specified time allows the junction temperature to return to its steadystate operating temperature before a thermal runaway occurs.

ON-State Voltages

When a thyristor is in a highconduction state, the voltage drop across the device is no different in nature from the forward-conduction voltage drop of a semiconductor diode, although the magnitude may be slightly higher. As in diodes, the ON-state voltage-drop characteristic is the major source of power losses in the operation of the thyristor, and the temperatures produced become a limiting feature in the rating of the device.

CURRENT RATINGS

The current ratings for SCR's and triacs define maximum values for normal or repetitive currents and for surge or nonrepetitive currents. These maximum ratings are determined on the basis of the maximum junction-temperature rating, the junction-to-case thermal resistance, the internal power dissipation that results from the current flow through the thyristor, and the ambient temperature. The effect of these factors in the determination of current ratings is illustrated by the following example.

Fig. 98 shows curves of the maximum average forward power dissipation for the RCA-2N3873 SCR as a



function of average forward current for dc operation and for various conduction angles. For the 2N3873, the junction-to-case thermal resistance θ_{J-C} is 0.92°C per watt and the maximum operating junction temperature T_J is 100°C. If the maximum case temperature $T_{C(max)}$ is assumed to be 65°C, the maximum average forward power dissipation can be determined as follows:

$$P_{AVG(max)} = \frac{T_{J(max)} - T_{C(max)}}{\theta_{J=0}}$$
$$= \frac{(100 - 65) \circ C}{0.92 \circ C/watt}$$
$$= 38 \text{ watts}$$

Thyristors

The maximum average forward current rating for the specified conditions can then be determined from the rating curves shown in Fig. 98. For example, if a conduction angle of 180 degrees is assumed, the average forward current rating for a maximum dissipation of 38 watts is found to be 22 amperes.

These calculations assume that the temperature is uniform throughout the pellet and the case. The junction temperature, however, increases and decreases under conditions of transient loading or periodic currents, depending upon the instantaneous power dissipated within the thyristor. The current rating takes these variations into account.

The ON-state current ratings for a thyristor indicate the maximum values of average, rms, and peak (surge) current that should be allowed to flow through the main terminals of the device. under conditions, stated when the thvristor is in the ON state. For heat-sink-mounted thyristors, these maximum ratings are based on the case temperature; for lead-mounted thyristors, the ratings are based on the ambient temperature.

The maximum average ON-state current rating is usually specified for a half-sine-wave current at a particular frequency. Fig. 99 shows curves of the maximum allowable average ON-state current ITF(avg) for the RCA-2N3873 SCR family as a function of case temperature. Because peak and rms currents may be high for small conduction angles, the curves in Fig. 99 also show maximum allowable average currents as a function of conduction angle. The maximum operating junction temperature for the 2N3873 is 100°C. The rating curves indicate, for a given case temperature, the maximum average ON-state current for which the average temperature of the pellet will not exceed the maximum allowable value. The rating curves may be used for only resistive or inductive loads. When capacitive loads are used, the currents produced



Fig. 99—Current rating chart for the 2N3873 SCR.

by the charge or discharge of the capacitor through the thyristor may be excessively high, and a resistance should be used in series with the capacitor to limit the current to the rating of the thyristor.

The ON-state current rating for a triac is given only in rms values because these devices normally conduct alternating current. Fig. 100 shows an rms ON-state current rating curve



Fig. 100—Current rating curve for a typical RCA triac.

for a typical triac as a function of case temperature. As with the SCR, the triac curve is derated to zero current when the case temperature rises to the maximum operating junction temperature. Triac current ratings are given for full-wave conduction under resistive or inductive loads. Precautions should be taken to limit the peak current to tolerable levels when capacitive loads are used.

The surge ON-state current rating ITF(surge) indicates the maximum peak value of a short-duration current pulse that should be allowed to flow through a thyristor during one ONstate cycle, under stated conditions. This rating is applicable for any rated load condition. During normal operation, the junction temperature of a thyristor may rise to the maximum allowable value; if the surge occurs at this time, the maximum limit is exceeded. For this reason, a thyristor is not rated to block OFFstate voltage immediately following the occurrence of a current surge. Sufficient time must be allowed to permit the junction temperature to return to the normal operating value before gate control is restored to the thyristor. Fig. 101 shows a surgecurrent rating curve for the 2N3873







cal triac. For triacs, the rating curve shows peak values for a full-sinewave current as a function of the number of cycles of overload duration. Multicycle surge curves are the basis for the selection of circuit breakers and fuses that are used to prevent damage to the thyristor in the event of accidental short-circuit of the device. The number of surges permitted over the life of the thyristor should be limited to prevent device degradation.

CRITICAL RATE OF RISE OF ON-STATE CURRENT (di/dt)

In an SCR or triac, the load current is initially concentrated in the small area of the pellet where load current first begins to flow. This effectively limits the small area amount of current that the device can handle and results in a high voltage drop across the pellet in the first microsecond after the thyristor is triggered. If the rate of rise of current is not maintained within the rating of the thyristor, localized hot spots may occur within the pellet and permanent damage to the device may result. The waveshape for testing the di/dt cap-RCA 2N3873is ability of the shown in Fig. 103. The critical rate of rise of ON-state current is dependent upon the size of the cathode area that begins to conduct initially,
Thyristors

and the size of this area is increased for larger values of gate trigger current. For this reason, the di/dt rating is specified for a specific value of gate trigger current.



Fig. 103—Voltage and current waveforms used to determine di/dt rating of the 2N3873 SCR.

HOLDING AND LATCHING CURRENTS

After an SCR or triac has been switched to the ON-state condition. a certain minimum value of anode current is required to maintain the thyristor in this low-impedance state. If the anode current is reduced below this critical holdingcurrent value, the thyristor cannot maintain regeneration and reverts the OFF or high-impedance to state. Because the holding current $(I_{\rm H})$ is sensitive to changes in temperature (increases as temperature decreases), this rating is specified at room temperature with the gate open.

The latching-current rating of a thyristor specifies a value of anode current, slightly higher than the holding current, which is the minimum amount required to sustain conduction immediately after the thyristor is switched from the OFF state to the ON state and the gate signal is removed. Once the latching current (I_L) is reached, the thyristor remains in the ON, or low-impedance, state until its anode current is decreased below the holding-current value. The latching-current rating is

an important consideration when a thyristor is to be used with an inductive load because the inductance limits the rate of rise of the anode current. Precautions should be taken to insure that, under such conditions, the gate signal is present until the anode current rises to the latching value so that complete turn-on of the thyristor is assured.

CRITICAL RATE OF RISE OF OFF-STATE VOLTAGE (dv/dt)

Because of the internal capacitance of a thyristor, the forward-blocking capability of the device is sensitive to the rate at which the forward voltage is applied. A steep rising voltage impressed across the main terminals of a thyristor causes a capacitive charging current to flow through the device. This charging current (i = Cdv/dt) is a function of the rate of rise of the OFF-state voltage.

If the rate of rise of the forward voltage exceeds a critical value, the capacitive charging current may become large enough to trigger the thyristor. The steeper the wavefront of applied forward voltage, the smaller the value of the thyristor breakover voltage becomes.

The use of the shorted-emitter construction in SCR's has resulted in a substantial increase in the dv/dt capability of these devices by providing a shunt path around the gate-tocathode junction. Typical units can withstand rates of voltage rise up to 200 volts per microsecond under worst-case conditions. The dv/dt capability of a thyristor decreases as the temperature rises and is increased by the addition of an external resistance from gate to reference terminal. The dv/dt rating, therefore, is given for the maximum junction temperature with the gate open, i.e., for worst-case conditions.

TRANSIENT PROTECTION

Voltage transients occur in electrical systems when some disturbance disrupts the normal operation of the system. These disturbances may be produced by various sources (such as lighting surges, energizing transformers, and load switching) and may generate voltages which exceed the rating of the thyristors. In addition, transients generally have a fast rate of rise that is usually greater than the critical value for the rate of rise of the thyristor OFF-state voltage (static dv/dt).

If transient voltages have magnitudes far greater than the device rating, the thyristor may switch from the OFF state to the ON state, and energy is then transferred from the thyristor to the load. Because the internal resistance of the thyristor is high during the OFF state, the transients may cause considerable energy to be dissipated in the thyristor before breakover occurs. In such instances, the transient voltage exceeds the maximum allowable voltage rating, and irreversible damage to the thyristor may occur.

Even if the magnitude of a transient voltage is within the maximum allowable voltage rating of the thyristor, the rate of rise of the transient may exceed the static dv/dt capability of the thyristor and cause the device to switch from the OFF state to the ON state. This condition also results in transfer of energy from the thyristor to the load. In this case, thyristor switching from the OFF state to the ON state does not occur because the maximum allowable voltage is exceeded but. instead, occurs because of the fast rate of rise of OFF-state voltage (dv/dt) and the thyristor capacitance, which result in a turn-on Thyristor current i = Cdv/dt. switching produced in this way is free from high-energy dissipation, and turn-on is not destructive provided that the current that results from the energy transfer is within the device capability.

In either case, transient suppression techniques are employed to minimize the effects of turn-on because of overvoltage or because the thyristor dv/dt capability is exceeded.

One of the obvious solutions to insure that transients do not exceed the maximum allowable voltage rating is to provide a thyristor with ε voltage rating greater than the highest transient voltage expected in a system. This technique, however, does not represent an economical solution because, in most magnitude. transient the cases. which is dependent on the source of transient generation, is not easily defined. Transient voltages as high as 2600 volts have resulted from lighting disturbances on a 120-volt residential power line. Usually, the best solution is to specify devices that can withstand voltage from 2 to 3 times the steady-state value. This technique provides a reasonable safety factor. The effects of voltage transients can further be minimized by use of external circuit elements, such as RC snubber networks across the thyristor terminals, as shown in Fig. 104. The rate at which the voltage rises at the thyristor terminal is a function of the load



Fig. 104—Minimizing effects of voltage transients in thyristor circuit by means of an RC snubber network.

impedance and the values of the resistor R and the capacitor C in the snubber network. Because the load impedance is usually variable, the preferred approach is to assume a worst-case condition for the load and, through actual transient measurement, to select a value of C that provides the minimum rate of rise at the thyristor terminals. The snubber resistance should be selected to minimize the capacitor discharge currents during turn-on.

For applications in which it is necessary to minimize false turnon because of transients, the addition of a coil in series with the load, as shown in Fig. 105, is very effective for suppression of transient rise times at the thyristor terminals. For example, if a transient of



Fig. 105-Suppression of transient rise times at the terminals of a thyristor by means of a coil in series with the load.

infinite rise time is assumed to occur at the input terminals and if the effects of the load impedance are neglected, the rise time of the transient at the thyristor terminals is approximately equal to E_{pk}/\sqrt{LC} . If the value of the added inductor L is 100 microhenries and the value of the snubber capacitor C is 0.1 microfarad, the infinite rate of rise of the transient at the thyristor terminals is reduced by a factor of 3. For a filter network consisting of L = 100 microhenries, C = 22microfarads, and R = 47 ohms, a 1000-volt-per-microsecond transient that appears at the input terminals is suppressed by a factor of 6 at the thyristor terminals.

COMMUTATING dv/dt CAPABILITY

In ac power-control applications, a triac must switch from the conducting state to the blocking state

at each zero-current point, or twice each cycle, of the applied ac power. This action is called commutation. If the triac fails to block the circuit voltage (turn off) following the zero-current point, this action is not damaging to the triac, but control of the load power is lost. Commutation for resistive loading presents no special problems because the voltage and current are essentially in phase. For inductive loading, however, the current lags the voltage so that, following the zerocurrent point, an applied voltage opposite to the current and equal to the peak of the ac line voltage occurs across the thyristor. The maximum rate of rise of this voltage which can be blocked without the triac reverting to the ON state is termed the critical rate of rise of commutation voltage, or the commutating dv/dt capability, of the triac.

SCR's do not experience commutation limitations because turn-on is not possible for the polarity of voltage opposite to current flow.

The commutating dv/dt is a major operating characteristic used to describe the performance capability of a triac. The characteristic can be more easily understood if the triac pellet, shown in Fig. 106, is considered to be divided into two halves.



Fig. 106—Junction diagram for a triac pellet.

One half conducts current in one direction, the other half conducts in the opposite direction. The main blocking junctions and a lightly doped n-type base region in which charge can be stored are common to both halves of the triac pellet. (The base region is the section shown between the dotted lines in Fig. 106.)

Charge is stored in the base when current is conducted in either direction. The amount of charge stored at the end of each half-cycle of conduction depends on the commutating di/dt, i.e., the rate of decrease of load current as commutation is approached. The junction capacitance of the triac at commutation is a function of the remaining charge at that time. The greater the di/dt, the more remaining charge, and the greater the junction capacitance. When the voltage changes direction, the remaining charge diffuses into the opposite half of the triac structure. The rate of rise of this voltage (commutating dv/dt) in conjunction with the junction capacitance results in a current flow which, if large enough, can cause the triac to revert to the conducting state in the absence of a gate signal.

The commutating dv/dt capability is specified in volts per microsecond for the following conditions:

- the maximum rated on-state current [I_T(RMS)];
- the maximum case temperature for the rated value of on-state current;
- 3. the maximum rated off-state voltage (VDROM);
- 4. the maximum commutating di/dt (where di/dt = $I_{px} \sin \omega t$ and $\omega = 2\pi f$).

It is apparent, therefore, that the frequency (f) of the applied ac power is an important factor in determination of the commutating dv/dt capability of a triac.

Fig. 107 indicates how the commutating dv/dt capability of a triac depends on current and frequency. A particular triac has a specific commutating dv/dt capability at the rated 60-Hz on-state current. If this 60-Hz on-state current is reduced (dashed-line), then its associated commutating dv/dt capability is increased. It should be noted that although the sine-wave current is decreased in magnitude, the commutating di/dt is also decreased. For a 400-Hz on-state current of the same magnitude, it is evident that the commutating di/dt is much greater than at 60 Hz and, therefore, the commutating dv/dt capability is greatly reduced. These relationships indicate that a triac capable of 400-Hz operation must have an extremely high commutating capability.



Fig. 107—Dependence of triac commutating capability on current and frequency.

RCA offers a complete line of triacs rated for 400-Hz operation. Applications of such devices are described in the section on Power Switching and Control.

It should be evident that 400 Hz is not an upper limit on frequency capability for triacs: 400 Hz is a characterization point simply because it is a standard operating frequency. Figs. 108 and 109 indicate how the frequency capability of a typical RCA 400-Hz triac can be increased. Fig. 108 shows that reduction of load current increases frequency capability. Maximum rated junction temperature and minimum rated commutating dv/dt are held constant for this test of capability. Fig. 109 shows the effects of junction temperature on frequency capability. For this test, rated current and minimum rated dv/dt are held constant. Therefore, if a typical

Thyristors

400-Hz triac is used at less than its maximum rated junction temperature and less than its rated current, its frequency capability is greatly enhanced.



Fig. 108—Frequency capability of a 400-Hz triac as a function of load current.

One other factor that greatly affects commutating capability is temperature. All commutating characteristic data are specified for maximum operating case temperature at maximum rated steady-state current. If the operating case temperature is below the rated value, the commutating capability is increased.



Fig. 109—Frequency capability of a 400-Hz triac as a function of junction temperature.

RADIO-FREQUENCY INTERFERENCE

The fast switching action of triacs when they turn on into resistive loads causes the current to rise to the instantaneous value determined by the load in a very short period of time. Triacs switch from the

high- to the low-impedance state within 1 or 2 microseconds; the current must rise from essentially zero to full-load value during this period. This fast switching action produces a current step which is largely composed of higher-harmonic frequencies of several megahertz that have an amplitude varying inversely as the frequency. In phase-control applications, such as light dimming, this current step is produced on each half-cycle of the input voltage. Because the switching occurs many times a second, a noise pulse is generated into frequency-sensitive devices such as AM radios and causes annoying interference. The amplitude of the higher frequencies in the current step is of such low levels that they do not interfere with television or FM radio. In general, the level of radio-frequency interference (RFI) produced by the triac is well below that produced by most ac/dc brush-type electric motors; however, some type of RFI suppression network is usually added.

There are two basic types of radio-frequency interference (RFI) associated with the switching action of triacs. One form, radiated RFI, consists of the high-frequency energy radiated through the air from the equipment. In most cases, this radiated RFI is insignificant unless the radio is located very close to the source of the radiation.

Of more significance is conducted RFI which is carried through the power lines and affects equipment attached to the same power lines. Because the composition of the current waveshape consists of higher frequencies, a simple choke placed in series with the load increases the current rise time and reduces the amplitude of the higher harmonics. To be effective, however, such a choke must be quite large. A more effective filter, and one that has been found adequate for most light-dimming applications, is shown in Fig. 110. The LC filter provides adequate attenuation of the highfrequency harmonics and reduces



Fig. 110---RF1-suppression networks (C = 0.1 μF, 200 V at 120 V ac; 0.1 μF, 400 V at 240 V ac).

the noise interference to a low level. The capacitor connected across the entire network bypasses high-frequency signals so that they are not connected to any external circuits through the power lines. Fig. 111 shows a triac control circuit that includes RFI suppression for the purpose of minimizing highfrequency interference. The values indicated are typical of those used in lamp-dimmer circuits.



Fig. 111—Lamp-control circuit incorporating RF1 suppression.

Silicon Rectifiers

S ILICON rectifiers are essentially cells containing a simple p-n junction. As a result, they have low resistance to current flow in one (forward) direction, but high resistance to current flow in the opposite (reverse) direction. They can be operated at ambient temperatures up to 200°C and at current levels as high as hundreds of amperes, with voltage levels greater than 1000 volts. In addition, they can be used in parallel or series arrangements to provide higher current or voltage capabilities.

Because of their high forward-toreverse current ratios, silicon rectifiers can achieve rectification efficiencies greater than 99 per cent. When properly used, they have excellent life characteristics which are not affected by aging, moisture, or temperature. They are very small and light-weight, and can be made impervious to shock and other severe environmental conditions.

THERMAL CONSIDERATIONS

Although rectifiers can operate at high temperatures, the thermal capacity of a silicon rectifier is quite low, and the junction temperature rises rapidly during high-current operation. Sudden rises in junction temperature caused by either high currents or excessive ambient-temperature conditions can cause failure. (A silicon rectifier is considered to have failed when either the forward voltage drop or the reverse current has increased to a point where the crystal structure or surrounding material breaks down.) Consequently, temperature effects are very important in the consideration of silicon rectifier characteristics.

REVERSE CHARACTERISTICS

When a reverse-bias voltage is applied to a silicon rectifier, a limited amount of reverse current (usually measured in microamperes, as compared to milliamperes or amperes of forward current) begins to flow. As shown in Fig. 112, this reverse current flow increases slightly as the bias voltage increases, but then tends



Fig. 112—Typical reverse characteristics in a silicon rectifier,

to remain constant even though the voltage continues to increase significantly. However, an increase in operating temperature increases the reverse current considerably for a given reverse bias.

At a specific reverse voltage (which varies for different types of diodes), a very sharp increase in reverse current occurs. This voltage is called the breakdown or avalanche (or zener) voltage. In many applications, rectifiers can operate safely at the avalanche point. If the reverse voltage is increased beyond this point, however, or if the ambient temperature is raised sufficiently (for example, a rise from 25 to 150°C increases the current by a factor of several hundred), "thermal runaway" results and the diode may be destroyed.

FORWARD CHARACTERISTICS

A silicon rectifier usually requires a forward voltage of 0.4 to 0.8 volt (depending upon the temperature and the impurity concentration in the p-type and n-type materials) before significant current flow occurs. As shown in Fig. 113, a slight rise voltage beyond this point inin creases the forward current sharply. Because of the small mass of the silicon rectifier, the forward voltage drop must be carefully controlled so that the specified maximum value of dissipation for the device is not exceeded. Otherwise, the diode may be seriously damaged or destroyed.

Fig. 113 shows the effects of an increase in temperature on the forwardcurrent characteristic of a silicon



Fig. 113—Typical forward characteristics in a silicon rectifier.

rectifier. In certain applications, close control of ambient temperature is required for satisfactory operation. Close control is not usually required, however, in power circuits.

RATINGS

Ratings for silicon rectifiers are determined by the manufacturer on the basis of extensive reliability testings. One of the most important ratings is the maximum peak reverse voltage (PRV), i.e., the highest amount of reverse voltage which can be applied to a specific rectifier before the avalanche breakdown point is reached. PRV ratings range from about 50 volts to as high as 1000 volts for some single-junction diodes. As will be discussed later, several junction diodes can be connected in series to obtain the PRV values required for very-high-voltage powersupply applications.

Because the current through a rectifier is normally not dc, current ratings are usually given in terms of average, rms, and peak values. The waveshapes shown in Fig. 114 and 115 help to illustrate the relationships among these ratings. For example, Fig. 114 shows the current variation with time of a sine wave



Fig. 114—Variation of current of a sine wave with time.

that has a peak current I_{prak} of 10 amperes. The area under the curve can be translated mathematically into an equivalent rectangle that indicates the average value I_{av} of the sine wave. The relationship between the average and peak values of the total sine-wave current is then given by

or

$$I_{av} = 0.637 I_{peak}$$
$$I_{peak} = 1.57 I_{av}$$

However, the power P consumed by a device (and thus the heat generated within it) is equal to the square of the current through it times its finite electrical resistance R (i.e., $P = I^2R$). Therefore, the power is proportional to the square of the current rather than to the peak or average value. Fig. 115 shows the square of the current for the sine wave of Fig. 114. A horizontal line drawn through a point halfway up the I² curve indicates the average (or mean) of the squares, and the square root of the I² value



Fig. 115-Variation of the square of sinewave current with time.

at this point is the root-mean-square (rms) value of the current. The relationship between rms and peak current is given by

or

$I_{rms} = 0.707 I_{peak}$

 $I_{peak} = 1.414 I_{rms}$

Because a single rectifier cell passes current in one direction only, it conducts for only half of each cycle of an ac sine wave. Therefore. the second half of the curves in Figs. 114 and 115 is eliminated. The average current I_{av} then becomes half of the value determined for full-cycle conduction, and the rms current Irms is equal to the square root of half the mean-square value for full-cycle conduction. In terms of half-cycle sine-wave conduction (as in a singlephase half-wave circuit), the relationships of the rectifier currents can be shown as follows:

 $\begin{array}{l} I_{peak} = \pi \ x \ I_{av} = 3.14 \ I_{av} \\ I_{av} = (1/\pi) \ I_{peak} = 0.32 \ I_{peak} \\ I_{rms} = (\pi/2) \ I_{av} = 1.57 \ I_{av} \\ I_{av} = (2/\pi) \ I_{rms} = 0.64 \ I_{rms} \\ I_{peak} = 2| \ I_{rms} \\ I_{rms} = 0.5 \ I_{peak} \end{array}$

For different combinations of rectifier cells and different circuit configurations, these relationships are, of course, changed again. Current (and voltage) relationships have been derived for various types of rectifier applications and are given in the section on DC Power Supplies.

Published data for silicon rectifiers usually include maximum ratings for both average and peak forward current. As shown in Fig. 116, the maximum average forward current is the maximum average value of current which is allowed to flow in the forward direction during a full ac cycle at a specified ambient or case temperature. Typical average current outputs range from 0.5 ampere to as high as 100 amperes for single silicon diodes. The peak recurrent forward current is the maximum repetitive instantaneous forward current permitted under stated conditions.



Fig. 116--Representation of rectifier currents.

In addition, ratings are usually given for non-repetitive surge, or fault, current. In rectifier applications, conditions may develop which cause momentary currents that are considerably higher than normal operating current. These increases (current surges) may occur from time to time during normal circuit operation as a result of normal load variations, or they may be caused by abnormal conditions or faults in the circuit. Although a rectifier can usually absorb a limited amount of additional heat without any effects other than a momentary rise in junction temperature, a sufficiently high surge can drive the junction temperature high enough to destroy the rectifier. Surge ratings indicate the amount of current overload or surge that the rectifier can withstand without detrimental effects.

Fig. 117 shows universal surge

rating charts for families of rectifiers having average current ratings up to 40 amperes. The rms currents shown in these charts are incremental values which add to the normal rms forward current during surge periods. The charts indicate maximum current increments that can be safely handled by the rectifiers for given lengths of time. These charts can be used by designers to determine whether circuit modifications are necessary to protect the rectifiers. If the value and duration of expected current surges are greater than the ratings for the rectifier, impedance should be added to capacitive-load circuits or fuses or circuit breakers to variable-load circuits for surge protection. The fusing requirements for a



RCA rectifiers.

RMS CURRENT --- AMPERES 100 D

0

200

0.0 01 SURGE DURATION-SECONDS

given circuit can be determined by

use of a coordination chart such as

that shown in Fig. 118. Two charac-

teristics are plotted on the coordi-

nation chart initially: (A) the surge

rating curve for the rectifier, and

Fig. 118—Typical coordination chart for determining fusing requirements (A surge-rating chart for 20-ampere rectifier; B = expected surge current in half-wave circuit; C = opening characteristics of protective device: D = resulting surge current in modified circuit).

(B) the maximum surge (fault current) expected in the circuit. In Fig. 118, curve A is the surge rating curve for a 20-ampere rectifier, and curve B is the maximum surge expected to occur in a single-phase half-wave rectifier circuit that has an input voltage of 600 volts and is subject to overload conditions in which the load resistance can decrease to 2 ohms. The maximum rms current which can flow under these conditions is given by

$$I_{rms} = E_{in}/2R_L = 600/4$$

= 150 amperes

The incremental portion of this current is determined by subtracting the normal rms current of the 20ampere rectifier ($I_{rms} = 1.57 I_{av} =$ $1.57 \times 20 = 31.4$ amperes; $I_{surge} =$ 150 - 31.4 = 118.6 amperes). The straight line of curve B is then drawn at an rms value of 118.6 amperes in Fig 118.

The intersection of curves A and B indicates that the 20-ampere rectifier can safely support an incremental rms surge current of 118.6 amperes for a maximum duration of about 40 milliseconds. Therefore, the circuit must be modified to include a protective element that has an

80

"opening" characteristic that falls below the rectifier surge rating curve for all times greater than 40 milliseconds. The opening characteristic of such a protective element is shown in Fig. 118 as curve C. Surge current in the modified circuit is then limited by the circuit resistance for periods up to 40 milliseconds and by the protective element for surges of longer duration, as shown by curve D.

Surge 'currents generally occur when the equipment is first turned on, or when unusual voltage transients are introduced in the ac supply line. Protection against excessive currents of this type can be provided in various ways, as will be discussed later.

Because these maximum current ratings are all affected by thermal variations, ambient-temperature conditions must be considered in the application of silicon rectifiers. Temperature-rating charts are usually provided to show the percentage by which maximum currents must be decreased for operation at temperatures higher than normal room temperature (25°C).

OVERLOAD PROTECTION

In the application of silicon rectifiers, it is necessary to guard against both over-voltage and over-current (surge) conditions. A voltage surge in a rectifier arrangement can be caused by dc switching, reverse recovery transients, transformer switching, inductive-load switching, and various other causes. The effects of such surges can be reduced by the use of a capacitor connected across the input or the output of the rectifier. In addition, the magnitude of the voltage surge can be reduced by changes in the switching elements or the sequence of switching, or by a reduction in the speed of current interruption by the switching elements.

In all applications, a rectifier having a more-than-adequate peak reverse voltage rating should be used. The safety margin for reverse voltage usually depends on the application. For a single-phase half-wave application using switching of the transformer primary and having no transient suppression, a rectifier having a peak reverse voltage three or four times the expected working voltage should be used. For a fullwave bridge using load switching and having adequate suppression of transients, a margin of 1.5 to 1 is generally acceptable.

Because of the small size of the silicon rectifier, excessive surge currents are particularly harmful to rectifier operation. Current surges may be caused by short circuits, capacitor inrush, dc overload, or failure of a single cell in a multiple arrangement. In the case of low-power cells, fuses or circuit breakers are often placed in the ac input circuit to the rectifier to interrupt the fault current before it damages the rectifier. When circuit requirements are such that service must be continued in case of failure of an individual diode. a number of cells can be used in parallel, each with its own fuse. Additional fuses should be used in the ac line and in series with the load for protection against dc load faults. In high-power cells, an arrangement of circuit breakers, fuses, and series resistances is often used to reduce the amplitude of the surge current. Fusing requirements can be determined by use of coordination charts for the particular circuits and rectifiers used.

SERIES AND PARALLEL ARRANGEMENTS

Silicon rectifiers can be arranged in series or in parallel to provide higher voltage or current capabilities, respectively, as required for specific applications.

A parallel arrangement of rectifiers can be used when the maximum average forward current required is larger than the maximum current rating of an individual rectifier cell. In such arrangements, however, some means must be provided to assure proper division of current through the parallel rectifier cells. Parallel rectifier arrangements are not in general use. Designers normally use a polyphase arrangement to provide higher currents, or simply substitute the readily available higher-current rectifier types.

Series arrangements of silicon rectifiers are used when the applied reverse voltage is expected to be greater than the maximum peak reverse voltage rating of a single silicon rectifier (or cell). For example, four rectifiers having a maximum reverse voltage rating of 200 volts each could be connected in series to handle an applied reverse voltage of 800 volts.

In a series arrangement, the most important consideration is that the applied voltage be divided equally across the individual rectifiers. If the instantaneous voltage is not uniformly divided, one of the rectifiers may be subjected to a voltage greater than its specified maximum reverse voltage, and, as a result, may be destroyed. Uniform voltage division can usually be assured by connection of either resistors or capacitors in parallel with individual cells. Shunt resistors are used in steady-state applications, and shunt capacitors in applications in which transient voltages are expected. Both resistors and capacitors should be used if the circuit is to be exposed to both dc and ac components. When only a few diodes are in series, multiple transformer windings may be used, each winding supplying its own assembly consisting of one series diode. The outputs of the diodes are then connected in series for the desired voltage.

RCA stacks (CR101. rectifier CR201, and CR301 series) are designed to provide equal reverse voltage across the individual rectifier cells in the assembly under both steady-state and transient conditions. The CR101 and CR301 series stacks include an integral resistancecapacitance network to equalize the reverse voltage across the seriesconnected rectifier cells. The CR201 series stacks use precisely matched rectifier cells for internal voltage equalization. Extended life tests have shown that these rectifier stacks are capable of operating for many thousands of hours without noticeable degradation of performance.

Other Solid-State Diodes

N addition to the silicon rectifiers described in the preceding section, a number of other types of solidstate diode devices are available for use in a broad variety of circuit applications. For example, low-level rectifying diodes are widely used in signal-mixing, detector, and balanced-modulator applications. Such diodes, although they have significantly lower voltage and current ratings, operate essentially the same as the silicon rectifiers and are not discussed further. The emphasis in this section is on specialized types (i.e., tunnel, varactor, voltage-reference, and compensating diodes) that are used primarily to provide functions other than rectification.

TUNNEL DIODES

A tunnel diode is a small p-n junction device having a very high concentration of impurities in the p-type and n-type semiconductor materials. This high impurity density makes the junction depletion region (or space-charge region) so narrow that electrical charges can transfer across the junction by a quantum-mechanical action called "tunneling." This tunneling effect provides a negative-resistance region on the characteristic curve of the device that makes it possible to achieve amplification, pulse generation, and rf-energy generation.

Characteristics

Typical current-voltage characteristics for a tunnel diode are shown in Fig. 119. Conventional diodes do not conduct current under conditions of reverse bias until the breakdown voltage is reached; under forward bias they begin to conduct at approximately 300 millivolts. In tunnel diodes, however, a small reverse bias



Fig. 119—Typical current-voltage characteristic of a tunnel diode.

causes the valence electrons of semiconductor atoms near the junction to "tunnel" across the junction from the p-type region into the n-type region; as a result, the tunnel diode is highly conductive for all reverse biases. Similarly, under conditions of small forward bias, the electrons in the n-type region "tunnel" across the junction to the p-type region and the tunnel-diode current rises rapidly to a sharp maximum peak Ip. At intermediate values of forward bias. the tunnel diode exhibits a negativeresistance characteristic and the current drops to a deep minimum valley point I_v. At higher values of forward bias, the tunnel diode exhibits the diode characteristic associated with conventional semiconductor current flow. The decreasing current with increasing forward bias in the negative-resistance region of the characteristic provides the tunnel diode with its ability to amplify, oscillate, and switch.

Equivalent Circuit

In the equivalent circuit for a tunnel diode shown in Fig. 120, the ntype and p-type regions are shown as



Fig. 120—Equivalent circuit for a tunnel diode.

pure resistances r_1 and r_2 . The transition region is represented as a voltage-sensitive resistance R(v) in parallel with a voltage-sensitive capacitance C(v) because tunneling is a function of both voltage and junction capacitance. This capacitance is similar to that of a parallel-plate capacitor having plates separated by the transition region.

The dashed portion L in Fig. 120 represents an inductance which results from the case and mounting of the tunnel diode. This inductance is unimportant for low-frequency diodes, but becomes increasingly important at high frequencies (above 100 MHz).

Fig. 121 shows the form of the equivalent circuit when the diode is biased so that its operating point is in the negative-resistance region; dynamic characteristics of tunnel diodes are defined with respect to this circuit. L_s represents the total series inductance, and R_s the total series resistance. C_D is the capacitance and $-R_D$ is the negative resistance of the diode. For small signal variations, both the resistance R_D and the capacitance C_D are constant.

The figure of merit F of a tunnel diode is equal to the reciprocal of $2\pi RC$, where R and C are the equivalent values $-R_p$ and C_p , respectively, shown in Fig. 121. This expression has two very useful interpretations:



Fig. 121—Equivalent circuit for a tunnel diode biased in the negative-resistance region.

(1) it is the diode gain-bandwidth product for circuits operating in the linear negative-resistance region of the characteristic, and (2) its reciprocal is the diode switching time when the device is used as a logic element.

Operating Point

When the tunnel diode is used in circuits such as amplifiers and oscillators, the operating point must be established in the negative-resistance region. The dc load line, shown as a solid line in Fig. 122, must be very steep so that it intersects the static characteristic curve at only one point A. The ac load line can be either steep with only one intersection B, as in the case of an amplifier, or relatively flat with three intersections C, D, and E, as in the case of an oscillator. The location of the operating point is determined by the anticipated signal swing, the required signal-to-noise ratio, and the operating temperature of the device. Biasing at the center of the linear portion



Fig. 122—Typical load lines for tunneldiode circuits.

of the negative-resistance slope permits the greatest signal swing. For high-temperature operation, a higher operating current is chosen; for low noise, the device is operated at the lowest possible bias current.

Radiation and Thermal Considerations

One of the most important features of the tunnel diode is its resistance to nuclear radiation. Experimental results have shown tunnel diodes to be at least ten times more resistant to radiation than transistors. Because the resistivity of tunnel diodes is so low initially, it is not critically affected by radiation until large doses have been applied. In addition, tunnel diodes are less affected by ionizing radiation because they are relatively insensitive to surface changes produced by such radiation.

In general, the tunnel-diode voltage-current characteristic is relatively independent of temperature. Specific tunnel-diode applications may be affected, however, by the relative temperature dependence of the various circuit components. In such applications, negative feedback or direct (circuit) compensation may be required.

TUNNEL RECTIFIERS

In addition to its negative-resistance properties, the tunnel diode has an efficient rectification characteristic which can be used in many rectifier applications. When a tunnel diode is used in a circuit in such a way that this rectification property is emphasized rather than its negative-resistance characteristic, it is called a tunnel rectifier. In general, the peak current for a tunnel rectifier is less than one milliampere.

The major differences in the current-voltage characteristics of tunnel rectifiers and conventional rectifiers are shown in Fig. 123. In conventional rectifiers, current flow is substantial in the forward direction, but extremely small in the reverse direction (for signal voltages less than the breakdown voltage for the device). In tunnel rectifiers, however, substantial reverse current flows at very low voltages, while forward current is relatively small. Consequently, tunnel rectifiers can provide rectification at smaller signal voltages than conventional rectifiers, although their polarity requirements are opposite. (For this reason, tunnel rectifiers are sometimes called "back diodes.")



Fig. 123—Current-voltage characteristics of tunnel rectifier and conventional rectifier,

Because of their high-speed capability and superior rectification characteristics, tunnel rectifiers can be used to provide coupling in one direction and isolation in the opposite direction. Fig. 124 shows the use of tunnel rectifiers to provide directional coupling in a tunnel-diode logic circuit.



Fig. 124—Logic circuit using a tunnel diode and three tunnel rectifiers.

VARACTOR DIODES

A varactor or variable-reactance diode is a microwave-frequency p-n junction solid-state device in which the depletion-layer capacitance bears a nonlinear relation to the junction voltage, as shown in Fig. 125(a). When biased in the reverse direction. a varactor diode can be represented by a voltage-sensitive capacitance C(v) in series with a resistance R_s , as shown in Fig. 125(b). This nonlinear capacitance and low series resistance, which permit the device to perform frequency-multiplication, oscillation, and switching functions, result from a very high impurity concentration outside the depletion-layer region and a rela-



Fig. 125—(a) Capacitance-voltage relationand (b) equivalent circuit for a varactor diode.

tively low concentration at the junction. Very low noise levels are possible in circuits using varactor diodes because the dominant current across the junction is reactive and shot-noise components are absent.

Reactive nonlinearity, without an appreciable series resistance component, enables varactor diodes to generate harmonics with very high efficiency in circuits such as the shunttype frequency multiplier shown in Fig. 126. The circuit is driven by a sinusoidal voltage source V, having a fundamental frequency f and an internal impedance Z. Because the ideal input filter is an open circuit for all frequencies except the fundamental frequency, only the fundamental component of current if can flow in the input loop. A secondharmonic current ize is generated by



Fig. 126—Varactor-diode frequency multiplier

the varactor diode and flows toward the load Z_{t} ; another ideal filter is used in the output loop to block the fundamental-frequency component of the input current.

Varactor diodes can amplify signals when their voltage-dependent capacitance is modulated by an alternating voltage at a different frequency. This alternating voltage supply, which is often referred to as the "pump", adds energy to the signal by changing the diode capacitance in a specific phase relation with the stored signal charge so that potential energy is added to this charge. An "idler" circuit is generally used to provide the proper phase relationship between the signal and the "pump."

VOLTAGE-REFERENCE DIODES

Voltage-reference or zener diodes are silicon rectifiers in which the reverse current remains small until the breakdown voltage is reached and then increases rapidly with little further increase in voltage. The breakdown voltage is a function of the diode material and construction. and can be varied from one volt to several hundred volts for various current and power ratings, depending on the junction area and the method of cooling. A stabilized supply can deliver a constant output (voltage or current) unaffected by temperature, output load, or input voltage, within given limits. The stability provided by voltage-reference diodes makes

Other Solid-State Diodes

them useful as stabilizing devices and as reference sources capable of supplying extremely constant current loads.

COMPENSATING DIODES

Excellent stabilization of collector current for variations in both supply voltage and temperature can be obtained by the use of a compensating diode operating in the forward direction in the bias network of amplifier or oscillator circuits. Fig. 127 shows the transfer characteristics of a transistor; Fig. 128 shows the forward characteristics of a compensating diode. In a typical circuit, the diode is biased in the forward direction; the operating point is represented on the diode characteristics by the dashed horizontal line. The diode current at this point deter-



mines a bias voltage which establishes the transistor idling current. This bias voltage shifts with varying temperature in the same direction and magnitude as the transistor characteristic, and thus provides an idling current that is essentially independent of temperature.



Fig. 128—Forward characteristics of compensating diode.

The use of a compensating diode also reduces the variation in transistor idling current as a result of supply-voltage variations. Because the diode current changes in proportion with the supply voltage, the bias voltage to the transistor changes in the same proportion and idling-current changes are minimized. (The use of diode compensation is discussed in more detail under "Biasing" in the section on **Bipolar Transistors**.

Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications

W HEN speech, music, or video information is transmitted from a radio or television station, the station radiates a modulated radiofrequency (rf) carrier. The function of a radio or television receiver is simply to reproduce the modulating wave from the modulated carrier.

As shown in Fig. 129, a superheterodyne radio receiver picks up the transmitted modulated rf signal, amplifies it and converts it to a modulated intermediate-frequency (if) signal, amplifies the modulated if signal, separates the modulating signal from the basic carrier wave, and amplifies the resulting audio signal to a level sufficient to produce the desired volume in a speaker. In addition, the receiver usually includes some means of producing automatic gain control (agc) of the modulated signal before the audio information is separated from the carrier.

The transmitted rf signal picked

up by the radio receiver may contain either amplitude modulation (AM) modulation (FM). or frequency (These modulation techniques are described later under the heading Detection.) In either case, amplification prior to the detector stage is performed by tuned amplifier circuits designed for the proper frequency and bandwidth. Frequency conversion is performed by mixer and oscillator circuits or by a single converter stage which performs both mixer and oscillator functions. Separation of the modulating signal is normally accomplished by one or more diodes in a detector or discriminator circuit. Amplification of the audio signal is then performed by one or more audio amplifier stages. (Audio amplifiers are discussed in the section on Low-Frequency Amplification.)

The operation of a television receiver (shown in block-diagram form in Fig. 130) is more complex



Fig. 129-Simplified block diagram for a broadcast-band receiver.

Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications



Fig. 130-Simplified block diagram for a television receiver.

than that of a radio receiver, as shown by a comparison of Figs. 129 and 130.

The tuner section of the television receiver selects the proper rf signals for the desired channel frequency, amplifies them, and converts them to a lower intermediate frequency. As in a radio receiver. these functions are accomplished in rf-amplifier, mixer, and localoscillator stages. The if signal is then amplified in if-amplifier stages which provide the additional gain required to bring the signal level to an amplitude suitable for detection.

After if amplification, the detected signal is separated into sound and picture information. The sound signal is amplified and processed to provide an audio signal which is fed to an audio amplifier system. The picture (video) signal is passed through a video amplifier (discussed in the section on Low-Frequency Amplifiers) which conveys beam-intensity information to the television picture tube and thus controls instantaneous "spot" brightness. At the same time, deflection circuits cause the electron beam of the picture tube to move the "spot" across the faceplate horizontally and vertically. Special "sync"

signals derived from the video signal assure that the horizontal and vertical scanning are timed so that the picture produced on the receiver exactly duplicates the picture being viewed by the camera or pickup tube. (The sync and deflection circuits are described in the section on TV Deflection.)

In a television receiver, the video signal contains a dc component, and therefore the average carrier level varies with signal information. As a result, the agc circuit is designed to provide a control voltage proportional to the peak modulated carrier level rather than the average modulated carrier level. The time constant of the agc detector circuit is made large enough so that the picture content of the composite video signal does not influence the magnitude of the agc voltage. In addition, an electronic switch is often included in the circuit so that it can be operated only during the retrace portion of the scanning cycle. This "gated agc" technique prevents noise peaks from affecting agc operation.

DETECTION

The circuit of a radio, television, or communications receiver in which the modulation is separated from the carrier is called the demodulator or detector stage. Transmitted rf signals may be modulated in either of two ways. If the frequency of the carrier remains constant and its amplitude is varied, the carrier is called an amplitude-modulated (AM) signal. If the amplitude remains essentially constant and the frequency is varied, the carrier is called a frequency-modulated (FM) signal.

The effect of amplitude modulation (AM) on an rf carrier wave is shown in Fig. 131. The audio-



Fig. 131—Waveforms showing effect of amplitude modulation on an rf wave.

frequency (af) modulation can be extracted from the amplitude-modulated carrier by means of a simple diode detector such as that shown in Fig. 132(a). This circuit eliminates alternate half-cycles of the waveform, and detects the peaks of the remaining half-cycles to produce the output voltage shown in Fig. 132(b). In this figure, the rf voltage applied to the circuit is shown in light line; the output voltage across the capacitor C is shown in heavy line.

Between points a and b of Fig. 132(b), capacitor C charges up to the peak value of the rf voltage. Then, as the applied rf voltage falls away from its peak value, the capacitor holds the cathode of the diode at a potential more positive than the voltage applied to the anode. The capacitor thus temporarily cuts off current through the diode. While the



Fig. 132—(a) Basic diode detector circuit and (b) waveform showing modulated rf input (light line) and output voltage (heavy line) of diode-detector circuit.

diode current is cut off, the capacitor discharges from b to c through the diode load resistor R.

When the rf voltage on the anode rises high enough to exceed the potential at which the capacitor holds the cathode, current flows again, and the capacitor charges up to the peak value of the second positive halfcycle at d. In this way, the voltage across the capacitor follows the peak value of the applied rf voltage and reproduces the af modulating signal. The jaggedness of the curve in Fig. 132(b), which represents an rf component in the voltage across the capacitor, is exaggerated in the drawing. In an actual circuit, the rf component of the voltage across the capacitor is small. When the voltage across the capacitor is amplified, the output of the amplifier reproduces the speech or music that originated at the transmitting station.

Another way to describe the action of a diode detector is to consider the circuit as a half-wave rectifier. When the signal on the anode swings positive, the diode conducts and the rectified current flows. The dc voltage

Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications

across the capacitor C varies in accordance with the rectified amplitude of the carrier and thus reproduces the af signal. Capacitor C should be large enough to smooth out rf or if variations, but should not be so large as to affect the audio variations. (Although two diodes can be connected in a circuit similar to a full-wave rectifier to produce full-wave detection, in practice the advantages of this connection generally do not justify the extra circuit cost and complication.)

In the circuit shown in Fig. 132(a), it is often desirable to forward-bias the diode almost to the point of conduction to improve performance for weak signal levels. It is also desirable that the resistance of the ac load which follows the detector be considerably larger than the diode load resistor to avoid severe distortion of the audio waveform at high modulation levels.

The basic diode detector may also be adapted to provide video-signal detection in black-and-white and color television receivers. Fig. 133 shows an example of a diode type of video detector for a color television receiver.

The video detector demodulates the if signal so that the luminance, chrominance, and sync signals are available at the output of the detector circuit. A crystal diode with an



Fig. 133—Video detector for a color television receiver.

if filter is commonly used for this purpose. The video detector in a color receiver may employ a soundcarrier trap in its input. This trap attenuates the sound carrier and insures against the development of an undesirable 920-kHz beat frequency which is the frequency difference between the sound carrier and the color subcarrier. When the sound carrier is attenuated in this manner, the sound take-off point is located ahead of the video detector.

The effect of frequency modulation (FM) on the waveform of an rf carrier wave is shown in Fig. 134. In





this type of transmission, the frequency of the rf carrier deviates from the mean value at a rate proto the audio-frequency portional modulation and by an amount (determined in the transmitter) proportional to the amplitude of the af modulating signal. That is, the number of times the carrier frequency deviates above and below the center frequency is a measure of the frequency of the modulating signal: the amount of frequency deviation from the center frequency is a measure of the loudness (amplitude) of the modulating signal. For



Fig. 135-Balanced phase-shift discriminator circuit.

this type of modulation, a detector is required to discriminate between deviations above and below the center frequency and to translate these deviations into a voltage having an amplitude that varies at audio frequencies.

The FM detector shown in Fig. 135 is called a balanced phase-shift discriminator. In this detector, the mutually coupled tuned circuits in the primary and secondary windings of the transformer T are tuned to the center frequency. A characteristic of a double-tuned transformer is that the voltages in the primary and secondary windings are 90 degrees out of phase at resonance, and that the phase shift changes as the frequency changes from resonance. Therefore. the signal applied to the diodes and the RC combinations for peak detection also changes with frequency.

Because the secondary winding of the transformer T is center-tapped, the applied primary voltage E_p is added to one-half the secondary voltage E_s through the capacitor C_c. The addition of these voltages at resonance can be represented by the diagram in Fig. 136; the resultant volt-



Fig. 136—Diagram illustrating phase shift in double-tuned transformer at resonance.

age E_1 is the signal applied to one peak-detector network consisting of one diode and its RC load. When the signal frequency decreases (from resonance), the phase shift of $E_1/2$ becomes greater than 90 degrees, as shown at (a) in Fig. 137, and E_1 becomes smaller. When the signal frequency increases (above resonance), the phase shift of $E_1/2$ is less than 90 degrees, as shown at (b), and E_1 becomes larger. The curve



Fig. 137—Diagrams illustrating phase shift in double-tuned transformer (a) below resonance and (b) above resonance.

of E_1 as a function of frequency in Fig. 138 is readily identified as the response curve of an FM detector.

Because the discriminator circuit shown in Fig. 135 uses a push-pull configuration, the diodes conduct on alternate half-cycles of the signal frequency and produce a plus-andminus output with respect to zero rather than with respect to E. The primary advantage of this arrangement is that there is no output at resonance. When an FM signal is applied to the input, the audio output voltage varies above and below zero as the instantaneous frequency varies above and below resonance.

Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications

The frequency of this audio voltage is determined by the modulation frequency of the FM signal, and the amplitude of the voltage is proportional to the frequency excursion from resonance. (The resistor R_2 in the circuit provides a dc return for the diodes, and also maintains a load impedance across the primary winding of the transformer.)



Fig. 138—Diagram showing resultant voltage E_1 in Fig. 136 as a function of frequency.

One disadvantage of the balanced phase-shift discriminator shown in Fig. 135 is that it detects amplitude modulation (AM) as well as frequency modulation (FM) in the if signal because the circuit is balanced only at the center frequency. At frequencies off resonance, any variation in amplitude of the if signal is reproduced to some extent in the audio output.

The ratio-detector circuit shown in Fig. 139 is a discriminator circuit which has the advantage of being relatively insensitive to amplitude variations in the FM signal. In this circuit, E_p is added to $E_*/2$ through

the mutual coupling M₂ (this voltage addition may be made by either mutual or capacitive coupling). Because of the phase-shift relationship of these voltages, the resultant detected signals vary with frequency variations in the same manner as described for the phase-discriminator circuit shown in Fig. 135. However, the diodes in the ratio detector are placed "back-to-back" (in series, rather than in push-pull) so that both halves of the circuit operate simultaneously during one-half of the signal frequency cycle (and are cut off on the other half-cycle). As a result, the detected voltages E. and E_2 are in series, as shown for the instantaneous polarities that occur during the conduction half-cycle. When the audio output is taken between the equal capacitors C₁ and C₂, therefore, the output voltage is equal to $(E_2-E_1)/2$ (for equal resistors R_1 and R_2).

The dc circuit of the ratio detector consists of a path through the secondary winding of the transformer, both diodes (which are in series), and resistors R_1 and R_2 . The value of the electrolytic capacitor C₃ is selected so that the time constant of R_1 , R_2 , and C₃ is very long compared to the detected audio signal. As a result, the sum of the detected voltages $(E_1 + E_2)$ is a constant, and the AM components on the signal frequency are suppressed. This feature of the ratio detector provides improved AM rejection as compared to the phaseshift discriminator circuit shown in Fig. 135.



Fig. 139—Ratio-detector circuit.

TUNED AMPLIFIERS

In radio-frequency (rf) and intermediate-frequency (if) amplifiers, the bandwidth of frequencies to be amplified is usually only a small percentage of the center frequency. Tuned amplifiers are used in these applications to select the desired bandwidth of frequencies and to suppress unwanted frequencies. The selectivity of the amplifier is obtained by means of tuned interstage coupling networks.

Resonant-Circuit Characteristics

The properties of tuned amplifiers depend upon the characteristics of resonant circuits. A simple parallel resonant circuit (sometimes called a "tank" because it stores energy) is shown in Fig. 140. For practical purposes, the resonant frequency of such a circuit may be considered independent of the resistance R, provided R is small compared to the inductive reactance $X_{1.}$. The resonant frequency fr is then given by

$$r = \frac{1}{2\pi\sqrt{\mathrm{LC}}}$$

For any given resonant frequency, the product of L and C is a constant; at low frequencies LC is large; at high frequencies it is small.

The Q (selectivity) of a parallel resonant circuit alone is the ratio of the current in the tank $(I_{L} \text{ or } I_{C})$ to the current in the line (I). This un-



Fig. 140-Simple parallel resonant circuit.

loaded Q, or Q_0 , may be expressed in various ways, for example:

$$\mathbf{Q}_{\circ} = \frac{\mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{c}}}{\mathbf{I}} = \frac{\mathbf{X}_{\mathrm{L}}}{\mathbf{R}_{\mathrm{s}}} = \frac{\mathbf{R}_{\mathrm{p}}}{\mathbf{X}_{\mathrm{c}}}$$

where X_L is the inductive reactance $(=2\pi fL)$, X_c is the capacitive reactance $(=1/[2\pi fC])$, and R_p is the total impedance of the parallel resonant circuit (tank) at resonance. The Q varies inversely with the resistance of the inductor R_s . The lower the resistance, the higher the Q and the greater the difference between the tank impedance at frequencies off resonance compared to the tank impedance at the resonant frequency.

The Q of a tuned interstage coupling network also depends upon the impedances of the preceding and following stages. The output impedance of a transistor can be considered as consisting of a resistance R_o in parallel with a capacitance C_o , as shown in Fig. 141. Similarly, the input impedance can be considered as consisting of a resistance R_i in parallel with a capacitance C_i . Because the



Fig. 141—Equivalent output and input circuits of transistors connected by a coupling network.

tuned circuit is shunted by both the output impedance of the preceding transistor and the input impedance of the following transistor, the effective selectivity of the circuit is the loaded Q (or $Q_{1.}$) based upon the total impedance of the coupled network, as follows:

$$Q_{L} = \frac{\int \text{total loading on } }{ \underbrace{ \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \text{coil at resonance} \\ X_{L} \text{ or } X_{C} \end{array} \right\} } } \end{array}$$

The capacitances C. and C. in Fig. 141 are usually considered as part of

Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications

the coupling network. For example, if the required capacitance between terminals 1 and 2 of the coupling network is calculated to be 500 picofarads and the value of C_o is 10 picofarads, a capacitor of 490 picofarads is used between terminals 1 and 2 so that the total capacitance is 500 picofarads. The same method is used to allow for the capacitance C_1 at terminals 3 and 4.

When a tuned resonant circuit in the primary winding of a transformer is coupled to the nonresonant secondary winding of the transformer, as shown in Fig. 142(a), the effect of the input impedance of the following stage on the Q of the tuned circuit can be determined by considering the values reflected (or referred) to the primary circuit by transformer action. The reflected resistance rilis equal to the resistance R, in the secondary circuit times the square of the effective turns ratio between the primary and secondary windings of the transformer T:

$$r_i = R_i (N_1/N_2)^2$$

where N_1/N_2 represents the electrical turns ratio between the primary winding and the secondary winding of T. If there is capacitance in the secondary circuit (C_s), it is reflected to the primary circuit as a capacitance C_{sp}, and is given by

$$C_{1p}^{\dagger} = C_{p} \div (N_{1}/N_{2})^{2}$$

The loaded Q, or Q_L , is then calculated on the basis of the inductance L_p , the total shunt resistance (Ro plus r_1 plus the tuned-circuit impedance $Z_t = Q_o X_c = Q_o X_L$), and the total capacitance $(C_p + C_{sp})$ in the tuned circuit.

Fig. 142(b) shows a coupling network which consists of a singletuned circuit using mutual inductive coupling. The capacitance C_t includes the effects of both the output capacitance of the preceding transistor and the input capacitance of the following transistor (referred to the primary of transformer T_1). The bandwidth of a single-tuned transformer is determined by the half-power points on the resonance curve (-3 dB or 0.707 down from



Fig. 142—Equivalent circuits for transformer-coupling networks: (a) having tuned primary winding; (b) using inductive coupling; (c) using tap on primary winding.

the maximum). Under these conditions, the band pass $\triangle f$ is equal to the ratio of the center or resonant frequency f, divided by the loaded (effective) Q of the circuit, as follows:

$\Delta f = f_r/Q_L$

The inherent internal feedback in transistors can cause instability and oscillation as the gain of an amplifier stage is increased (i.e., as the load and source impedances are increased from zero to matched conditions). At low radio frequencies, therefore, where the potential gain of transistors is high, it is often desirable to keep the transistor load impedance low. Relatively high capacitance values in the tuned collector circuit can then be avoided by use of a tap on the primary winding of the coupling transformer, as shown in Fig. 142(c). At higher frequencies, the gain potential of the transistor decreases, and impedance matching is permissible. However, lead inductance becomes significant at higher

frequencies, particularly in the emitter circuit. All lead lengths should be kept short, therefore, and especially the emitter lead, which not only degrades performance but is also a mutual coupling to the output circuit.

Gain and Noise Figure

In the design of low-level tuned rf amplifiers, careful consideration must be given to the transistor and circuit parameters which control circuit stability, as well as those which maintain adequate power gain. The power gain of an rf transistor must be sufficient to provide a signal that overcome the noise level will of succeeding stages. In addition. signals to be amplified the if are relatively weak, it is important that the transistor and its associated circuit provide low noise figure at the operating frequency. In communication receivers, the noise figure of the rf stage determines the absolute sensitivity of the receiver and is, therefore, one of the most important characteristics of the device used in the rf stage.

The relative power-gain capabilities of transistors at high frequencies are indicated by their theoretical maximum frequency of oscillation f_{max} . At this frequency, the unilateralized matched power gain, or maximum available gain MAG, is 0 dB. As shown in Fig. 143, the curve of MAG as a function of frequency for a typical rf transistor rises approximately 6 dB per octave below f_{max} .

Because most practical rf amplifiers are not individually unilateralized, the power gain that can be obtained is somewhat less than the MAG because of internal feedback in the circuit. This feedback is greater in unneutralized circuits than in neutralized circuits, and therefore gain is lower when neutralization is not used. From a practical consideration, the feedback capacitance which must be considered is the total feedback capacitance between collector and base, including both stray and socket capacitances. In neutralized circuits, stray capacitances, socket capacitance, and the typical value of device capacitance can generally be neutralized. At a given frequency, maximum usable the therefore. power gain MUG of a neutralized circuit depends on the transconductance gm and the amount of internal feedback capacitance Ct. In unneutralized circuits, however, both socket and stray capacitances are involved in the determination of gain and must be included in the value of Cr. The ratio of gm to Cr should be high to provide high power gain. Fig. 146 shows typical curves of MAG and MUG (for both the neutralized and the unneutralized case) for a lowlevel rf transistor used in a commonemitter circuit.



Fig. 143—Maximum available gain MAG, maximum usable gain MUG, and noise figure NF as functions of frequency.

The transistor requirements for high power gain and low noise figure are essentially the same. Published data for transistors intended for lowlevel rf applications generally indicate a minimum power gain and a maximum noise figure in a circuit typical of the intended use. A curve

Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications

of noise figure NF as a function of frequency is also shown in Fig. 143. Circuit design factors for lowest noise figure include use of a lownoise transistor, choice of optimum bias current and source resistance, and use of low-loss input circuits. Optimum low-noise bias current for most low-level rf transistors is about 1 milliampere, or slightly higher in the uhf range. Optimum source resistance is a function of operating frequency and bias current for a given transistor.

Although maximum theoretical power gain cannot be achived in practical circuits, the gain of MOS transistors | at high frequencies closely approximates the theoretical limit except for some losses in the input and output matching circuits.

Power gain is essentially independent of channel width, which is a determining factor in the size of MOS transistors. For example, if the width of the transistor is reduced by one half (and the steadystate drain current is similarly reduced to maintain a constant current density in the device), power gain remains the same because the transconductance, the input conductance, and the output conductance are all reduced by one half. Consequently, the frequency capability of MOS transistors can be increased by a reduction in their size.

The input circuit to the first stage of the amplifier should have as little loss as possible because such loss adds directly to the otherwise attainable noise figure. In other words, if the loss at the input to the first stage is 2 dB, the amplifier noise figure will be 2 dB higher than could be achieved with no loss at the input. To minimize such loss, it is generally desirable that the ratio of unloaded Q (Q_o) to loaded Q ($Q_{1.}$) of the input circuit be high and that the bias resistors be isolated from the input by chokes or tuned circuits.

In practical rf-amplifier circuits using MOS transistors, the best possible noise figures are obtained when the input impedance of the transistor is slightly mismatched to that of the source. With this technique, noise figures as low as 1.9 dB have been obtained. Dual-gate MOS transistors typically exhibit a noise figure of 3.5 dB in the vhf range and of 4.5 dB in the uhf range.

In high-frequency tuned amplifiers, in which the input impedance is typically low, mutual inductive coupling may be impractical because of the small number of turns in the secondary winding. It is extremely difficult in practice to construct a fractional part of a turn. In such cases, capacitance coupling may be used, as shown in Fig. 144. This arrangement, which is also called capacitive division, is similar to



Fig. 144—Single-tuned coupling network using capacitive division.

tapping down on a coil at or near resonance. Impedance transformation in this network is determined by the ratio between capacitors C_1 and C_2 . Capacitor C_1 is normally much smaller than C_2 ; thus the capacitive reactance X_{C1} is normally much larger than X_{C2} . Provided the input resistance of the following transistor is much greater than X_{C2} , the effective turns ratio from the top of the coil to the input of the following transistor is $(C_1 + C_2)/C_1$. The total capacitance C_1 across the inductance L is given by

$$C_t = \frac{C_1 C_2}{C_1 + C_2}$$

The resonant frequency f_r is then given by

$$f_r = \frac{1}{2\pi\sqrt{L_1C_t}}$$

Double-tuned interstage coupling networks are often used in preference to single-tuned networks to provide flatter frequency response within the pass band, a sharper drop in response immediately adjacent to the ends of the pass band, or more attenuation at frequencies far reresonance. In synmoved from double-tuned networks. chronous both the resonant circuit in the input of the coupling network and the resonant circuit in the output are tuned to the same resonant fre-"stagger-tuned" net-In quency. works, the two resonant circuits are tuned to slightly different resonant frequencies to provide a more rectangular band pass with sharper selectivity at the ends of the pass band. Double-tuned or stagger-tuned networks may use capacitive, inductive, or mutual inductance coupling, or any combination of the three.

Automatic Gain Control

Automatic gain control (agc) is often used in rf and if amplifiers in AM radio and television receivers to provide lower gain for strong signals and higher gain for weak signals. (In radio receivers, this gain-compensation network may also be called automatic volume control or avc.) When the signal strength at the antenna changes, the agc circuit modifies the receiver gain so that the output of the last if-amplifier stage remains nearly constant and consequently maintains a nearly constant speaker volume or picture contrast.

The agc circuit usually reduces the rf and if gain for a strong signal by varying the bias on the rf-amplifier and if-amplifier stages when the signal increases. A simple reverse agc circuit is shown in Fig. 145. On each positive half-cycle of the signal voltage, when the diode anode is positive with respect to the cathode, the diode passes current. Because of the flow of diode current through R₁, there is a voltage drop across R₁ which makes the upper end of the resistor negative with respect to ground. This

voltage drop across R_1 is applied, through the filter R_2 and C, as reverse



Fig. 145-Simple reverse agc circuit.

bias on the preceding stages. When the signal strength at the antenna increases, therefore, the signal applied to the agc diode increases, the voltage drop across R. increases, the reverse bias applied to the rf and if stages increases, and the gain of the rf and if stages is decreased. As a result, the increase in signal strength at the antenna does not produce as much increase in the output of the last if-amplifier stage as it would without agc.

When the signal strength at the antenna decreases from a previous steady value, the agc circuit acts in the opposite direction, applying less reverse bias and thus permitting the rf and if gain to increase.

The filter composed of C and R₂ prevents the agc voltage from varying at an audio frequency. This filter is necessary because the voltage drop across R1 varies with the modulation of the carrier being received. If agc voltage were taken directly from R, without filtering, the audio variations in agc voltage would vary the receiver gain so as to smooth out the modulation of the carrier. To avoid this effect, the agc voltage is taken from the capacitor C. Because of the resistance R₂ in series with C, the capacitor can charge and discharge at only a comparatively slow rate. The agc voltage therefore cannot vary at frequencies as high as the audio range, but can vary rapidly at frequencies high enough to compensate for most changes in signal strength.

There are two ways in which automatic gain control can be applied to a transistor. In the reverse agc method shown in Fig. 145, agc action is obtained by decreasing the collector or emitter current of the transistor, and thus its transconductance and gain. The use of forward agc provides improved cross-modulation characteristics and better signalhandling capability than reverse agc. For forward agc operation, however, the transistor used must be specially designed so that transconductance decreases with increasing emitter current. In such transistors, the current-cutoff characteristics are designed to be more remote than the typical sharp-cutoff characteristics of conventional transistors. (All transistors can be used with reverse agc. but only specially designed types with forward agc.)

Reverse agc is simpler to use, and provides less bandpass shift and tilt with signal-strength variations. The input and output resistances of a transistor increase when reverse agc is applied, but the input and output capacitances are not appreciably changed. The change in the loading of tuned circuits is minimal, however, because considerable mismatch already exists and the additional mismatch caused by agc has little effect.

In forward agc, however, the input and output resistances of the transistor are reduced when the collector or emitter current is increased, and thus the tuned circuits are damped. In addition, the input and output capacitances change drastically, and alter the resonant frequency of the tuned circuits. In a practical circuit, the bandpass shift and tilt caused by forward agc can be compensated to a large extent by the use of passive coupling circuits.

Cross-Modulation Distortion

Cross-modulation, an important consideration in the evaluation of

transistorized tuner circuits, is produced when an undesired signal within the pass band of the receiver input circuit modulates the carrier of the desired signal. Such distortion occurs when third- and higherodd-order nonlinearities are present in an rf-amplifier stage. In general, the severity of cross-modulation is independent of both the semiconductor material and the construction of the transistor (provided gain and noise factor are not sacrificed). At low frequencies, cross-modulation is also independent of the amplitude of the desired carrier, but varies as the square of the amplitude of the interfering signal.

To measure cross-modulation distortion, it is necessary to determine the amplitude of the undesired signal which transfers one per cent of its modulation to the desired signal. In most cases, a value of 100 millivolts or more over the complete agc range is considered good. The cross-modulation characteristics of MOS transistors are as good as those of bipolar transistors in the high-attenuation region, and are as much as ten times better in the lowattenuation region (when the incoming signal is weak). This low cross-modulation distortion should ultimately lead to extensive use of MOS transistors in the rf stages of all types of communications receivers.

In most rf circuits, the undesirable effects of cross-modulation can be minimized by good selectivity in the antenna and rf interstage coils. Minimum cross-modulation can best be achieved by use of the optimum circuit Q with respect to bandwidth and tracking considerations, which implies minimum loading of the tank circuits.

In rf circuits where selectivity is limited by the low unloaded Q's of the coils being used, improved crossmodulation can be obtained by mismatching the antenna circuit (that is, selecting the antenna primaryto-secondary turns ratio such that the reflected antenna impedance at the base of the rf amplifier is very low compared to the input impedance). This technique is commonly used in automobile receivers, and causes a slight degradation in noise figure. At high frequencies, such as in television, where low source impedances are difficult to obtain because of lead inductance or the impracticality of putting a tap on a coil having one or two turns, an unbypassed emitter resistor having a low value of resistance (e.g., 22 ohms) may be used to obtain the same effect.

Cross-modulation may occur in the mixer or rf amplifier, or both. Accordingly, it is important to analyze the entire tuner as well as the individual stages. Cross-modulation is also a function of agc. At sensitivity conditions where the rf stage is operating at maximum gain and the interfering signal is far removed from the desired signal, cross-modulation occurs primarily in the rf stage. As the desired signal level increases and agc is applied to the rf stage, the rf transistor gain decreases and provides improved cross-modulation. If the interfering signal is close to the desired signal, it is the rf gain at the undesired signal frequency which determines whether the rf stage or mixer stage is the prime contributor of cross-modulation. For example, it is possible that the rf stage gain (including selectivity of tuned circuits) at the undesired frequency is greater than unity. In this case, the undesired signal at the mixer input is larger than that at the rf input; thus the contribution of the mixer is appreciable. Intermediate and high signal conditions may be analyzed similarly by considering rf agc.

If adequate limiting is employed, cross-modulation does not occur in an FM signal.

Spurious-response characteristics are an important consideration in the evaluation of transistorized FM tuner circuits. Like cross-modulation, spurious response, an effect caused by the mixture of unwanted signals

with the desired carrier, can occur in either the rf stage or the mixer. MOS field-effect transistors are especially suitable for use in FM rfamplifier and mixer stages because of their inherently superior spuriousresponse rejection properties and signal-handling capabilities.

When spurious response is created in the rf amplifier, it may be removed by improved filtering between the rf amplifier and the mixer. The output of an MOS-transistor rf amplifier is low in harmonics. As a result, the need for a double-tuned rf interstage transformer is reduced and acceptable performance can usually be achieved with single-tuned circuits in both the antenna and rf interstage sections.

The dynamic-range capability of MOS field-effect transistors is about 25 times greater than that of bipolar transistors. In an actual tuner circuit, this large intrinsic dynamic range is reduced by a factor proportional to the square of the circuit source impedances. The net result is a practical dynamic range for MOS tuner circuits about five times that for bipolar types.

With MOS field-effect transistors, as contrasted with either bipolar transistors or junction-gate fieldeffect transistors, there is no loading of the input signal, nor drastic change of input capacitance even under extreme overdrive conditions.

In junction-gate field-effect transistors, a large incoming signal can have sufficiently high positive swing to drive the gate into conduction by a momentary forward bias; power is then drawn from the input signal just as if a resistance were placed across the input circuit. In bipolar transistors, there is a gradual change of both input impedance and input capacitance as a function of large signal excursions. These changes are undesirable because they can result in detuning of tuned circuits and widening of the input selectivity curve.

Fig. 146 shows the basic circuit configuration for the "front-end"



Fig. 146—Circuit diagram of FM tuner using dual-gate MOS transistors in the rf amplifier and mixer stages.

stages of an FM tuner that uses dual-gate-protected MOS field-effect transistors in both the rf-amplifier and mixer stages. A bipolar transistor is used in the local-oscillator stage. The detailed schematic diagram and functional description of a practical circuit of this type are given in the Circuits section at the back of this Manual.

Selection of appropriate source and load impedances for the rf stage should also take into consideration the fact that achievement of a low spurious response requires that the gate of the MOS transistor be tapped as far down on the antenna coil as gain and noise considerations permit. This arrangement makes possible optimum use of the available dynamic range of the MOS transistor.

The dual-gate MOS transistor is very attractive for use in mixer service because the two signals to be mixed are applied to separate gate terminals. This arrangement is an effective technique for reduction of oscillator radiation. In the circuit shown in Fig. 146, the signal frequency is applied to gate No. 1 of the mixer transistor and the localoscillator input to gate No. 2.

Figs. 147 and 148 show FM tuner circuits that use bipolar transistors only. The n-p-n silicon transistors used are characterized by very low feedback capacitance, low noise, and high useful power gain, and feature terminal arrangement in which а the base and emitter terminals are interchanged to provide maximum isolation between the base and collector terminals. Although this basing configuration does not appreciably change the measured device-feedback capacitance, it does allow reduction of the collector-tobase capacitance due to external circuitry.

Laboratory results indicate that although tuners using three tuned circuits (including the oscillator tank) perform extremely well with regard to gain, noise, and rejection of certain higher-order spurious responses, the addition of another tuned circuit provides truly superior performance with regard to the attenuation of all spurious responses including image and the troublesome "half-if."

Figs. 147 and 148 each show the schematic diagram of a four-coil tuner designed around bipolar transistors. The dc conditions of both circuits are identical. The rf-stage transistor operates in the commonemitter configuration at an emitter current of 1.5 milliamperes. This configuration offers the highest stable gain at FM frequencies: the operating point specified was chosen as a compromise between noise, gain, and spurious response rejection. The mixer transistor operates in a common-emitter configura-1.5 milliamperes. The tion at oscillator transistor operates in the common-collector configuration at approximately 2.5 milliamperes and provides approximately 28 millivolts of injection voltage to the mixer base. The common-collector configuration was chosen because it offers the greatest frequency stability with respect to changes in voltage and temperature. Also, if recommended wiring practices are adhered to, the use of the common-collector oscillator minimizes higher-order spurious responses.

In Fig. 147, the antenna coil is provides double-tuned. and thus selectivity characteristics better ahead of the rf stage than a singletuned transformer under the same impedance-matching condition. Bv using coils with unloaded, mounted Q's of 100, sufficient selectivity is realized so that at signal levels up to 200 millivolts there are no spurious responses within the FM frequency band. One disadvantage of double-tuned transformers is the coupling loss associated with them. Noise performance is degraded from that obtained when single tuning is employed in the antenna coil by exactly the coupling loss of the double-tuned coil.



Fig. 147—Four-coil FM tuner with double-tuned antenna transformer.

Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications

Because the IHF (Institute of High Fidelity) sensitivity has developed into an important requirement and because a low value of IHF sensitivity is determined in part by noise performance, a circuit, Fig. 148, has been designed that improves the noise performance and yet maintains a high degree of rejection of spurious responses. It is Neither of the four-coil tuner circuits shown in Figs. 147 and 148 uses a 10.7-MHz if trap because the need for such a trap is eliminated with the use of the inductively tapped transformer.

A choice of first if transformer is offered. One version employs a capacitance-tapped secondary, as shown in Figs. 147 and 148; the



Fig. 148—Four-coil FM tuner with double-tuned rf transformer.

felt that although high selectivity ahead of the rf stage is desirable, it is not essential. Laboratory tests indicate that the mixer is primarily responsible for spurious generation and that it is more important to maintain low drive to the mixer base and to have adequate selectivity ahead of it. Because the over-all gain from antenna to mixer base must be kept low enough for spurious immunity, and sufficiently high (10 to 15 dB) to mask mixer noise, it is clear that all of the available maximum usable gain is not needed. At a sacrifice of some gain, therefore, the selectivity characteristics of the double-tuned rf transformer can be improved by decreasing the cou-pling. It is assumed that if harmonics are generated in the rf stage. they will be adequately attenuated by the rf transformer. With a singletuned antenna coil, circuit noise performance is improved for the reasons described.

other has an inductively tapped secondary. Electrically, both transformers are identical.

A limiter circuit is essentially an if-amplifier stage designed to provide clipping at a desired signal level. Such circuits are used in FM receivers to remove AM components from the if signal prior to FM detection. The limiter stage is normally the last stage prior to detection, and is similar to preceding if stages. At low input rf signal levels, it amplifies the if signal in the same manner as preceding stages. As the signal level increases, however, a point is reached at which the limiter stage is driven into saturation (i.e., the peak currents and voltages are limited by the supply voltage and load impedances and increases in signal produce very little increase in collector current). At this point, the if signal is "clipped" (or flattened) and further increases in rf signal level produce no further output in if signal to the detector.

Limiter stages may be designed to provide clipping at various inputsignal levels. A high-gain FM tuner is usually designed to limit at very low rf input signal levels, and possibly even on noise signals. Additional' AM rejection may be obtained by use of a ratio detector for the frequency discriminator.

OSCILLATION

Bipolar and field-effect transistor circuits are similar in oscillator many respects to the tuned amplifiers discussed previously, except that a portion of the output power is returned to the input network in phase with the starting power (regenerative or positive feedback) to sustain oscillation. DC bias-voltage for oscillators are requirements similar to those discussed for amplifiers.

The maximum operating frequency of an oscillator circuit is limited by the frequency capability of the transistor used. The maximum frequency of oscillation of a transistor is defined as the frequency at which the power gain is unity. Because some power gain is required in an oscillator circuit to overcome losses in the feedback network, the operating frequency must be some value below the transistor maximum frequency of oscillation.

For sustained oscillation in a transistor oscillator, the power gain of the amplifier network must be equal to or greater than unity. When the amplifier power gain becomes less than unity, oscillations become smaller with time (are "damped") until they cease to exist. In practical oscillator circuits, power gains greater than unity are required because the power output is divided between the load and the feedback network, as shown in Fig. 149. The feedback power must be equal to the input power plus the losses in the feedback network to sustain oscillation. (A number of the oscillator circuits shown in the following sections on LC Resonant Feedback Oscillators and Crystal Oscillators employ field-effect transistors. Al-MOS though only single-gate types are shown in these circuits, the configurations are equally applicable for use with dual-gate devices. In such applications, the dual-gate MOS transistor is connected as shown in Fig. 58 to provide performance substantially equivalent to that provided by the single-gate device.)

LC Resonant Feedback Oscillators

The frequency-determining elements of an oscillator circuit may consist of an inductance-capacitance (LC) network, a crystal, or a resistance-capacitance (RC) network. An LC tuned circuit may be placed in either the base circuit or the collector circuit of a common-emitter transistor oscillator. In the tuned-base oscillator shown in Fig. 150, one



Fig. 149-Block diagram of transistor oscillator showing division of output power.

Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications

battery is used to provide all the dc operating voltages for the transistor. Resistors R_1 , R_3 , and R_4 provide the necessary bias conditions. Resistor R_2 is the emitter stabilizing resistor. The components within the dotted lines comprise the transistor amplifier. The collector shuntfeed arrangement prevents dc current flow through the tickler



Fig. 150-Tuned-base oscillator.

(primary) winding of transformer T. Feedback is accomplished by the mutual inductance between the transformer windings.

The tuned circuit consisting of the secondary winding of transformer T and variable capacitor C₁ is the frequency-determining element of the oscillator. Variable capacitor C₁ permits tuning through a range of frequencies. Capacitor C₂ couples the oscillation signal to the base of the transistor, and also blocks dc. Capacitor C₄ bypasses the ac signal around the emitter resistor R₃ and prevents degeneration. The output signal is coupled from the collector through coupling capacitor C₅ to the load.

A tuned-collector transistor oscillator is shown in Fig. 151. In this circuit, resistors R_1 and R_3 establish the base bias. Resistor R_2 is the emitter stabilizing resistor. Capacitors C_1 and C_2 bypass ac around resistors R_1 and R_2 , respectively. The



Fig. 151—Tuned-collector oscillator.

tuned circuit consists of the primary winding of transformer T and the variable capacitor C_3 . Regeneration is accomplished by coupling the feedback signal from transformer winding 3-4 to the tickler coil winding 1-2. The secondary winding of the transformer couples the signal output to the load.

Another form of LC resonant feedback oscillator is the Hartley oscillator. This oscillator makes use of split inductance to obtain feedback and may be either shunt or series fed. In the shunt-fed circuit of Fig. 152, R_1 , R_2 , and R_3 are the biasing resistors; the frequencydetermining network consists of



Fig. 152—Shunt-fed Hartley oscillator.

variable capacitor C_1 in series with the windings of T_1 . The frequency of the oscillator is varied by C_1 ; C_2 is the dc blocking capacitor and C_3 is an ac bypass capacitor.

The circuit inductance functions in the manner of an auto transformer and provides the regenerative feedback signal obtained from the voltage induced in the lower half of the transformer winding and coupled through C, to the transistor base. No dc current flows through the primary of T₁ because the collector is shunt fed through R_2 .

In the series-fed Hartley circuit shown in Fig. 153, the base-emitter circuit is biased through R₁ and R₂;



Fig. 153-Series-fed Hartley oscillator.

the collector is biased through the upper half of the transformer windings. Again, as in the shunt-fed circuit, C_3 provides an ac bypass. Feedback in the series-fed Hartley circuit is obtained from the lowerhalf of the transformer winding and is coupled through C_4 to the base of the transistor. The center-tap of the transformer winding is maintained at ac ground potential by C_2 .

Fig. 154 shows two arrangements of a Hartley oscillator circuit using MOS field-effect transistors. Circuit (a) uses a bypassed source resistor to provide proper operating conditions; circuit (b) uses a gate-leak resistor and biasing diode. The amount of feedback in either circuit is dependent on the position of the tap on the coil. Too little feedback results in a feedback signal voltage at the gate insufficient



Fig. 154—Hartley oscillator circuits using MOS transistors.

to sustain oscillation; too much feedback causes the impedance between source and drain to become so low that the circuit becomes unstable. Output from these circuits can be obtained through inductive coupling to the coil or through capacitive coupling to the gate.

Another form of LC resonant feedback oscillator is the transistor version of the Colpitts oscillator, shown in Fig. 155. Regenerative feedback is obtained from the tuned circuit consisting of capacitors C_2



Fig. 155-Transistor Colpitts oscillator.

and C_3 in parallel with the primary winding of the transformer, and is applied to the emitter of the transistor. Base bias is provided by resistors R_2 and R_3 . Resistor R_1 is the collector load resistor. Resistor
Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications

 R_1 develops the emitter input signal and also acts as the emitter stabilizing resistor. Capacitors C_2 and C_3 form a voltage divider; the voltage developed across C_3 is the feedback voltage. The frequency and the amount of feedback voltage can be controlled by adjustment of either or both capacitors. For minimum feedback loss, the ratio of the capacitive reactance between C_2 and C_3 should be approximately equal to the ratio between the output impedance and the input impedance of the transistor.

Fig. 156 shows the field-effect transistor in use in two forms of the Colpitts oscillator circuit. These circuits are more commonly used in vhf and uhf equipment than the



Fig. 156—Colpitts oscillator circuits using MOS transistors.

Hartley circuits because of the mechanical difficulty involved in making the tapped coils required at these frequencies by the Hartley circuits. Feedback is controlled in the Colpitts oscillator by the ratio of the capacitance of C' to C".

Fig. 157, the gate-tickler-feedback oscillator circuit, and Fig. 158, the drain-tickler-feedback oscillator



Fig. 157—Gate-tickler-feedback oscillator circuits.

circuit, have no particular advantages over the Hartley and Colpitts circuits except that in some designs



Fig. 158—Drain-tickler-feedback oscillator circuits.

it may be more economical to provide a tickler winding than the tapped coil or capacitive divider required in the Hartley or Colpitts circuits, respectively.

A Clapp oscillator is a modification of the Colpitts circuit shown in Fig. 155 in which a capacitor is added in series with the primary winding of the transformer to improve frequency stability. When the added capacitance is small compared to the series capacitance of C_s and C_q , the oscillator frequency is determined by the series LC combination of the transformer primary and the added capacitor.

Crystal Oscillators

A quartz crystal is often used as the frequency-determining element in a transistor oscillator circuit because of its extremely high Q (narrow bandwidth) and good frequency stability over a given temperature range. A quartz crystal may be operated as either a series or parallel resonant circuit. As shown in Fig. 159, the electrical equivalent of the mechanical vibrating characteristic of the crystal can be represented by a resistance R, an inductance L, and a capacitance C. in series. The lowest impedance of the crystal occurs at the series resonant frequency of C. and L; the resonant frequency of the circuit is then determined only by the mechanical vibrating characteristics of the crystal.

The parallel capacitance C_p shown in Fig. 159 represents the electrostatic capacitance between the crystal electrodes. At frequencies above the



Fig. 159—Equivalent circuit of quartz crystal.

series resonant frequency, the combination of L and C. has the effect of a net inductance because the inductive reactance of L is greater than the capacitive reactance of C.. This net inductance forms a parallel resonant circuit with C_p and any circuit capacitance across the crystal. The impedance of the crystal is highest at the parallel resonant frequency; the resonant frequency of the circuit is then determined by both the crystal and externally connected circuit elements.

Increased frequency stability can be obtained in the tuned-collector and tuned-base oscillators discussed previously if a crystal is used in the feedback path. The oscillation frequency is then fixed by the crystal. At frequencies above and below the series resonant frequency of the crystal, the impedance of the crystal increases and the feedback is reduced. Thus, oscillation is prevented at frequencies other than the series resonant frequency.

The parallel mode of crystal resonance is used in the Pierce oscillator shown in Fig. 160. (If the crystal were replaced by its equivalent cir-



Fig. 160-Pierce-type transistor crystal oscillator.

cuit, the functioning of the oscillator would be analogous to that of the Colpitts oscillator shown in Fig. 155.) The resistances shown in Fig. 160 provide the proper bias and stabilizing conditions for the common-emitcircuit. Capacitor C_1 is the ter emitter bypass capacitor. The required 180-degree phase inversion of the feedback signal is accomplished through the arrangement of the voltage-divider network C2 and C3. The connection between the capacitors is grounded so that the voltage developed across C₃ is applied between base and ground and a 180-degree phase reversal is obtained. The oscillating frequency of the circuit is determined by the crystal and the capacitors connected in parallel with it.

Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications

The field-effect transistor also operates well in crystal oscillator circuits such as the Pierce-type oscillators shown in Fig. 161. Pierce oscillator are extremely popular because



Fig. 161—Pierce-type crystal oscillator circuits using MOS transistors.

of their simplicity and minimum number of components. At frequencies below 2 MHz, a capacitive voltage divider may be required across the crystal. The connection between the voltage-divider capacitors must be grounded so that the voltage developed across the capacitors is reversed in phase by 180 degrees.

It is frequently desirable to opercrystals in communications ate equipment at their harmonic or overtone frequencies; Fig. 162 shows two circuits designed for this purpose. Additional feedback is obtained for the overtone crystal by the use of a capacitive divider as the tuned-circuit bypass. Most third-overtone crystals operate satisfactorily without this additional feedback, but the extra feedback is required for the 5th and 7th harmonics. The tuned circuit in Figs. 162(a) and 162(b) is not fully bypassed and produces a voltage that aids oscillation. The crystal in both circuits is connected to the junction of the capacitors C_d ' and C_d "; the ratio of these capacitors should be approximately 1:3.

The circuit of Fig. 163 operates well with low-frequency quartz bars. The crystal is located in the feedback circuit between the sources of



Fig. 162—Crystal oscillator circuits permitting operation at overtone or harmonic frequencies.

the two field-effect transistors and operates in the series mode. Capacitor C_2 is normally used for precise adjustment of the frequency of the



Fig. 163—Low-frequency crystal oscillator circuit using MOS transistors.

oscillator; a reduction in the capacitance increases the frequency slightly.

RC Feedback Oscillators

A resistance-capacitance (RC) network is sometimes used in place of an inductance-capacitance network in a transistor oscillator. In the phaseshift oscillator shown in Fig. 164, the RC network consists of three sections (C1R1, C2R2, and C3R3), each of which contributes a phase shift of 60 degrees at the frequency of oscillation. Because the capacitive reactance of the network increases or decreases at other frequencies, the 180-degree phase shift required for the common-emitter oscillator occurs only at one frequency; thus, the output frequency of the oscillator is fixed. Phase-shift oscillators may be



Fig. 164—Transistor RC phase-shift oscillator.

made variable over particular frequency ranges by the use of ganged variable capacitors or resistors in the RC networks. Three or more sections must be used in the phaseshifting networks to reduce feedback losses. The use of more sections contributes to increased stability.

FREQUENCY CONVERSION

Transistors can be used in various types of circuits to change the frequency of an incoming signal. In radio and television receivers, frequency conversion is used to change the frequency of the rf signal to an intermediate frequency. In communications transmitters, frequency multiplication is often used to raise the frequency of the developed rf signal.

In a radio or television receiver, the oscillating and mixing functions are performed by a nonlinear device such as a diode or a transistor. As shown in the diagram of Fig. 165,



Fig. 165—Block diagram of simple frequency-converter circuit.

two voltages of different frequencies, the rf signal voltage and the voltage generated by the oscillator, are applied to the input of the mixer. These voltages "beat," or heterodyne, within the mixer transistor to produce a current having, in addition to the frequencies of the input voltages, numerous sum and difference frequencies.

The output circuit of the mixer stage is provided with a tuned circuit which is adjusted to select only one beat frequency, i.e., the frequency equal to the difference between the signal frequency and the oscillator frequency. The selected output frequency is known as the intermediate frequency, or if. The output frequency of the mixer transistor is kept constant for all values of signal frequency by tuning of the oscillator circuit.

In AM broadcast-band receivers, the oscillator and mixer functions are often accomplished by use of a single transistor called an "autodyne converter". In FM receivers, stable oscillator operation is more readily obtained when a separate transistor is used for the oscillator function. In such a circuit, the oscillator voltage is applied to the mixer by inductive coupling, capacitive coupling, or a combination of the two.

AUTOMATIC FREQUENCY CONTROL

An automatic frequency control (afc) circuit is often used to provide automatic correction of the oscillator frequency of a superheterodyne receiver when, for any reason, it drifts from the frequency which produces the proper if center frequency. This correction is made by adjustment of the frequency of the oscillator. Such a circuit automatically compensates for slight changes in rf carrier or oscillator frequency, as well as for inaccurate manual or push-button tuning.

An afc system requires two sections: a frequency detector and a variable reactance. The detector section may be essentially the same as the FM detector illustrated in Fig. 120. In the afc system, however, the output is a dc control voltage, the magnitude of which is proportional to the amount of frequency shift. This dc control voltage is used to control the bias on a transistor or diode which comprises the variable reactance.

Automatic frequency control is also used in television receivers to keep the horizontal oscillator in step with the horizontal-scanning frequency at the transmitter. A widely used horizontal afc circuit is shown in Fig 166. This circuit, which is often referred to as a balancedphase-detector or phase-discriminator circuit, is usually employed to control the frequency of the horizontal-oscillator circuit. The detector diodes supply a dc control voltage to the horizontal-oscillator circuit which counteracts changes in its operating frequency. The magnitude and polarity of the control voltages are determined by phase relationships in the afc circuit.

The horizontal sync pulses obtained from the sync-separator circuit are fed through a phase-inverter or phase-splitter circuit to the two diode detectors. Because of the action of the phase-inverter circuit. the signals applied to the two diode units are equal in amplitude but 180 degrees out of phase. A reference sawtooth voltage obtained from the horizontal output circuit is also applied simultaneously to both units. The diodes are biased so that conduction takes place only during the tips of the sync pulses. Any change in the oscillator frequency alters the phase relationship betwen the reference sawtooth and the incoming horizontal sync pulses, and thus causes one of the diodes to conduct more heavily than the other so that a correction signal is produced. The system remains unbalanced at all times, therefore, because momentary changes in oscillator frequency are instantaneously corrected by the action of this control voltage. The network between the diodes and the horizontal-oscillator circuit is essentially a low-pass filter which prevents the horizontal sync pulses from affecting the horizontal-oscillator performance.



Fig. 166-Balanced-phase-detector or phase-discriminator circuit for horizontal afc.

Low-Frequency Amplification

THE amplifying action of a transistor can be used in various ways in electronic circuits, depending on the results desired. The four recognized classes of amplifier service can be defined for transistor circuits as follows:

A class A amplifier is an amplifier in which the base bias and alternating signal are such that collector current in a transistor flows continuously during the complete electrical cycle of the signal, and even when no signal is present.

A class AB amplifier is an amplifier in which the base bias and alternating signal are such that collector current in a transistor flows for appreciably more than half but less than the entire electrical cycle.

A class B amplifier is an amplifier in which the base is biased to approximately collector-current cutoff, so that collector current is approximately zero when no signal is applied, and so that collector current in a transistor flows for approximately one-half of each cycle when an alternating signal is applied.

A class C amplifier is an amplifier in which the base is biased to such a degree that the collector current in a transistor is zero when no signal is applied, and so that collector current in a transistor flows for appreciably less than one-half of each cycle when an alternating signal is applied.

For radio-frequency (rf) amplifiers which operate into selective tuned circuits, such as the Tuned Amplifiers discussed in the section on Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications, or for other amplifiers in which distortion is not a prime

factor, any of the above classes of amplification may be used with either a single transistor or a pushvull stage. For audio-frequency (af) amplifiers in which distortion is an important factor, single transistors can be used only in class A amplifiers. For class AB or class B audioamplifier service, a balanced amplifier stage using two transistors is required. A push-pull stage can also be used in class A audio amplifiers to obtain reduced distortion and greater power output. Class C amplifiers cannot be used for audio or AM applications.

AUDIO AMPLIFIERS

Audio amplifier circuits are used in radio and television receivers, public address systems, sound recorders and reproducers, and similar applications to amplify signals in the frequency range from 20 to 20,000 Hz. Each transistor in an audio amplifier can be considered as either a current amplifier or a power amplifier. The type of circuit configuration selected is dictated by the requirements of the given application. The output power to be supplied, the required sensitivity and frequency response, and the maximum distortion limits, together with the capabilities and limitations of available devices, are the main criteria used to determine the circuit that will provide the desired performance most efficiently and economically.

In addition to the consideration that must be given to the achievement of performance objectives and the selection of the optimum circuit configuration, the circuit designer

Low-Frequency Amplification

must also take steps to assure reliable operation of the audio amplifier under varying conditions of signal level, frequency, ambient temperature, load impedance, line voltage, and other factors which may subject the transistors to either transient or steady-state high stress levels. Low-cost, low-power audio svstems (such as those used in mobile and TV output stages), in which high operating efficiency is important consideration. not an usually employ a single-ended, class A, transformer-coupled output stage such as that shown in Fig. 167.



Fig. 167—Typical low-power audio-amplifier circuit.

The input to an audio amplifier is a low-power-level audio signal from the phonograph or magnetictape pickup head or, in a radio receiver, from the detector stage as indicated in Fig. 129. This signal is usually amplified through a preamplifier stage, one or more low-level (pre-driver or driver) audio stages, and an audio power amplifier. The system may also include frequencyselective circuits which act as equalization networks and/or tone controls.

Low-Level Audio Stages

Simple class A amplifier circuits are normally used in low-level audio stages such as preamplifiers and drivers. Preamplifiers usually follow low-level output transducers such as microphones, hearing-aid and phonograph pickup devices, and recorderreproducer heads.

Noise Figure—One of the important characteristics of a lowlevel amplifier circuit is its signalto-noise ratio, or noise figure. The input circuit of an amplifier inherently contains some thermal noise contributed by the resistive elements in the input device. All resistors generate a predictable quantity of noise power as a result of thermal activity. This power is about 160 dB below one watt for a bandwidth of 10 kHz.

When an input signal is amplified, therefore, the thermal noise generated in the input circuit is also amplified. If the ratio of signal power to noise power (S/N) is the same in the output circuit as in the input circuit, the amplifier is considered to be "noiseless" and is said to have a noise figure of unity, or zero dB.

In practical circuits, however, the ratio of signal power to noise power is inevitably impaired during amplification as a result of the generation of additional noise in the circuit elements. A measure of the degree of impairment is called the noise figure (NF) of the amplifier, and is expressed as the ratio of signal power to noise power at the input (S_1/N_1) divided by the ratio of signal power to noise power at the output (S_o/N_o) , as follows:

$$NF = \frac{S_i/N_i}{S_o/N_o}$$

The noise figure in dB is equal to ten times the logarithm of this power ratio. For example, an amplifier with a 1-dB noise figure decreases the signal-to-noise ratio by a factor of 1.26, a 3-dB noise figure by a factor of 2, a 10-dB noise figure by a factor of 10, and a 20-dB noise figure by a factor of 100.

In audio amplifiers, it is desirable that the noise figure be kept low. In general, the lowest value of NF is

obtained by use of an emitter current of less than one milliampere and a collector voltage of less than two volts for a signal-source resistance between 300 and 3000 ohms. If the input impedance of the transistor is matched to the impedance of the signal source, the lowest value of NF that can be attained is 3 dB. Generally, the best noise figure is obtained by use of a transistor input impedance approximately 1.5 times the source impedance. However, this condition is often not realizable in practice because many transducers are reactive rather than resistive. In addition, other requirements such as circuit gain, signal-handling capability, and reliability may not permit optimization for noise.

In the simple low-level amplifier stage shown in Fig. 168, resistor R_1



amplifier. determines the base bias for the tran-

determines the base bias for the transistor. The output signal is developed across the load resistor R_2 . The collector voltage and the emitter current are kept relatively low to reduce the noise figure. If the load impedance across the capacitor C_2 is low compared to R_2 , very little voltage swing results on the collector. Therefore, ac feedback through R_1 does not cause much reduction in gain.

Equalization—In many cases, lowlevel amplifier stages used as preamplifiers include some type of frequency-compensation network to enhance either the low-frequency or the high-frequency components of the input signal. The frequency range and dynamic range* which can be recorded on a phonograph record or on magnetic tape depend several factors, including the on composition, mechanical characteristics, and speed of the record or tape, and the electrical and mechanical characteristics of the recording equipment. To achieve wide frequency and dynamic range, manufacturers of commercial recordings use equipment which introduces a nonuniform relationship between amplitude and frequency. This relationship is known as a "recording characteristic". To assure proper reproduction of a high-fidelity recording, therefore, some part of the reproducing system must have a frequency-response characteristic which is the inverse of the recording characteristic. Most manufacturers of high-fidelity recordings use the RIAA characteristic for discs and the NARTB characteristic for magnetic tape.

The simplest type of equalization network is shown in Fig. 169. Because the capacitor C is effectively an open circuit at low frequencies, the low frequencies must be passed through the resistor R and are attenuated. The capacitor has a lower reactance at high frequencies, however, and bypasses high-frequency components around R so that they



Fig. 169—Simple RC frequency-compensation network.

receive negligible attenuation. Thus the network effectively "boosts" the high frequencies. This type of equalization is called "attenuative."

Some typical preamplifier stages are shown in the Circuits section. The location of the frequency-compensation network or "equalizer" in the reproducing system depends on the types of recordings which are to

^{*} The dynamic range of an amplifier is a measure of its signal-handling capability. The dynamic range expresses in dB the ratio of the maximum usable output signal (generally for a distortion of about 10 per cent) to the minimum usable output signal (generally for a signal-to-noise ratio of about 20 dB). A dynamic range of 40 dB is usually acceptable; a value of 70 dB is exceptional for any audio system.

Low-Frequency Amplification

be reproduced and on the pickup devices used. All commercial pickup devices provide very low power levels to a transistor preamplifier stage.

ceramic high-fidelity phono-Α graph pickup is usually designed to provide proper compensation for the RIAA recording characteristic when the pickup is operated into the load resistance specified by its manufacturer. Usually, a "matching" resistor is inserted in series with the input of the preamplifier transistor. However, this arrangement produces a fairly small signal current which must then be amplified. If the matching resistor is not used, equalization is required, but some improvement can be obtained in dynamic range and gain.

A magnetic high-fidelity phonograph pickup, on the other hand, usually has an essentially flat frequency-response characteristic. Because a pickup of this type merely reproduces the recording characteristic, it must be followed by an equalizer network, as well as by a preamplifier having sufficient gain to satisfy the input requirements of the tone-control amplifier and/or power amplifier. Many designs include both the equalizing and amplifying circuits in a single unit.

A high-fidelity magnetic-tape pickup head, like a magnetic phonograph pickup, reproduces the recording characteristic. This type of pickup device, therefore, must also be followed by an equalizing network and preamplifier to provide equalization for the NARTB characteristic.

Feedback networks may also be used for frequency compensation and for reduction of distortion. Basically, a feedback network returns a portion of the output signal to the input circuit of an amplifier. The feedback signal may be returned in phase with the input signal (positive or regenerative feedback) or 180 degrees out of phase with the input signal (negative, inverse, or degenerative feedback). In either case, the feedback can be made proportional to either the output voltage or the output current, and can be applied to either the input voltage or the input current. A negative feedback signal proportional to the output current raises the output impedance of the amplifier; negative feedback proportional to the output voltage reduces the output impedance. A negative feedback signal applied to the input current decreases the input impedance; negative feedback applied to the input voltage increases the input impedance. Opposite effects are produced by positive feedback.

A simple negative or inverse feedback network which provides highfrequency boost is shown in Fig. 170.



Fig. 170—Negative-feedback frequencycompensation network.

This network provides equalization comparable to that obtained with Fig. 169, but is more suitable for low-level amplifier stages because it does not require the first amplifier stage to provide high-level low frequencies. In addition, the inverse feedback improves the distortion characteristics of the amplifier.

Input Impedance—As mentioned previously, it is undesirable to use a high-resistance signal source for transistor audio amplifier я because the extreme impedance mismatch results in high noise figure. High source resistance cannot be avoided, however, if an input device such as a ceramic pickup is used. In such cases, the use of negative feedback to raise the input impedance of the amplifier circuit (to avoid mismatch loss) is no solution because feedback cannot improve the signal-to-noise ratio of the amplifier. A more practical method is to increase the input impedance somewhat by operating the transistor at the lowest practical current level and by using a transistor which has a high forward current-transfer ratio.

Controls-Volume and Tone low-level preamplifier or Some audio amplifier circuits include variable resistors or potentiometers which function as volume or tone controls. Such circuits should be designed to minimize the flow of dc currents through these controls so that little or no noise will be developed by the movable contact during the life of the circuit. Volume controls and their associated circuits should permit variation of gain from zero to maxishould attenuate all mum, and frequencies equally for all positions of the variable arm of the control. Several examples of volume controls and tone controls are shown in the Circuits section.

A tone control is a variable filter (or one in which at least one element is adjustable) by means of which the user may vary the frequency response of an amplifier to suit his own taste. In radio receivers and home amplifiers, the tone control usually consists of a resistance-capacitance network in which the resistance is the variable element.

The simplest form of tone control is a "treble cut" network such as that shown in Fig. 171. As R_1 is made smaller, the capacitor C_2 bypasses more of the high audio frequencies; therefore, the output of the network is decreased by an amount dependent upon the value of R_1 . The resistance of R_1 should be very large in comparison to the reactance of C_2 at the highest audio frequency.



Fig. 171—Simple tone-control network for fixed tone compensation or equalization.

The tone-control network shown in Fig. 172 has two stages with completely separate bass and treble controls. Fig. 173 shows simplified representations of the bass control when the potentiometer is turned to (labeled extreme variations its BOOST and CUT). At very high frequencies, C_1 and C_2 are effectively short circuits and the network becomes the simple voltage divider R. and R₂. In the bass-boost position, R₃ is inserted in series with R₂ so that there is less attenuation to very low frequencies than to very high frequencies. Therefore, the bass is said to be "boosted". In the bass-cut position, R3 is inserted in series with R, so that there is more attenuation to very low frequencies.



Fig. 172-Two-stage tone-control circuit incorporating separate bass and treble controls.



Fig. 173—Simplified representations of bass-control circuit at extreme ends of potentiometer.

Fig. 174 shows extreme positions of the treble control. R_{i} is generally much larger than R_i or R_b and may be treated as an open circuit in the extreme positions. In both the boost and cut positions, very low frequencies are controlled by the voltage divider R_i and R_b . In the boost position,



Fig. 174 Simplified representations of treble-control circuit at extreme ends of potentiometer.

 R_i is bypassed by the high frequencies and the voltage-divider point **D** is placed closer to C. In the cut position, R_c is bypassed and there is greater attenuation of the high frequencies.

The frequencies at which boost and cut occur in the circuit of Fig. 172 are controlled by the values of C_1 , C_2 , C_1 , and C_5 . Both the output impedance of the driving stage (generally R_{L1}) and the loading of the driven stage affect the response curves and must be considered. This tone-control circuit, like the one in Fig. 171, is attenuative. Feedback tone controls may also be employed.

The location of a tone-control network is of considerable importance. In a typical preamplifier, it may be in the collector circuit of the final low-level stage or in the input circuit of the first stage. If the amplifier incorporates negative feedback, the tone control must be inserted in a part of the amplifier which is external to the feedback loop, or must be made a part of the feedback network. The over-all gain of a well designed tonecontrol network should be approximately unity. The system dynamic range should be adequate for all frequencies anticipated with the tone controls in any position. The highfrequency gain should not be materially affected as the bass control is varied, nor should the low-frequency gain be sensitive to the treble control.

Driver and Output Stages

Driver stages in audio amplifiers are located immediately before the power-output stage. When a singleended class A output stage is used, the driver stage is similar to a preamplifier stage. When a push-pull output stage in which both transistors are the same type (n-p-n or p-n-p) is used, however, the audio driver must provide two output signals, each 180 degrees out of phase with the other. This phase requirement can be met by use of a tappedsecondary transformer between a single-ended driver stage and the output stage, as shown in Fig. 175.



Fig. 175—Driver stage for push-pull output circuit.

The transformer T_1 provides the required out-of-phase input signals for the two transistors Q_1 and Q_2 in the push-pull output stage.

Transistor audio power amplifiers may be class A single-ended stages, or class A, class AB, or class B push-pull stages. A simple class A single-ended power amplifier is shown in Fig. 176. Component values which will provide the desired power output can be calculated from the



Fig. 176-Class A power-amplifier circuit.

transistor characteristics and the supply voltage. For example, an output of four watts may be desired from a circuit operating with a supply voltage of 14.5 volts (this voltage is normally available in automobiles which have a 12-volt ignition system). If losses are assumed to be negligible, the power output (P_o) is equal to the peak collector voltage (e_c) times the peak collector current (i_c), each divided by the square root of two to obtain rms values. The peak collector current can then be determined as follows:

$$P_{\circ} = \frac{e_{e}}{(2)^{\frac{1}{2}}} \times \frac{i_{e}}{(2)^{\frac{1}{2}}}$$

$$i_{e} = P_{\circ} (2)^{\frac{1}{2}} \times \frac{(2)^{\frac{1}{2}}}{e_{e}}$$

$$= 4 (2)^{\frac{1}{2}} \times \frac{(2)^{\frac{1}{2}}}{14.5}$$

$$= 0.55, \text{ or approximately}$$

0.6 ampere'

In class A service, the dc collector current and the peak collector swing are about the same. Thus, the collector voltage and current are 14.5 volts and 0.6 ampere, respectively.

The voltage drop across the resistor R_{κ} in Fig. 176 usually ranges from 0.3 to 1 volt; a typical value of 0.6 volt can be assumed. The value of R_{κ} must equal the 0.6-volt drop divided by the 0.6-ampere emitter current, or one ohm. (The emitter current is assumed to be nearly equal

to the 0.6-ampere collector current.)

The current through resistor R_1 should be about 10 to 20 per cent of the collector current; a typical value is 15 per cent of 0.6, or 90 milliamperes.

The voltage from base to ground is equal to the base-to-emitter voltage (determined from the transistor transfer-characteristics curves for the desired collector or emitter current; normally about 0.4 volt for a germanium power transistor operating at an emitter current of 600 milliamperes) plus the emitter-to-ground voltage (0.6 volt as described above), or one volt. The voltage across R_2 , therefore, is 14.5 minus 1, or 13.5 volts. The value of R_2 must equal 13.5 divided by 90, or about 150 ohms.

Because the voltage drop across the secondary winding of the driver transformer T_1 is negligible, the voltage drop across R₁ is one volt. The current through R1 equals the current through R₂ (90 milliamperes) minus the base current. If the dc forward current-transfer ratio (beta) of the transistor selected has a typical value of 60, the base current equals the collector current of 600 milliamperes divided by 60, or 10 milliamperes. The current through R₁ is then 90 minus 10, or 80 milliamperes, and the value of R, is 1 volt divided by 80 milliamperes, or about 12 ohms.

The transformer requirements are determined from the ac voltages and currents in the circuit. The peak collector voltage swing that can be used before distortion occurs as a result of clipping of the output voltage is about 13 volts. The peak collector current swing available before current cutoff occurs is the dc current of 600 milliamperes. Therefore, the collector load impedance should be 13 volts divided by 600 milliamperes, or about 20 ohms, and the output transformer T: should be designed to match a 20-ohm primary impedance to the desired speaker impedance. If a 3.2-ohm speaker is used, for example, the impedance

values for T_2 should be 20 ohms to 3.2 ohms.

The total input power to the circuit of Fig. 176 is equal to the voltage required across the secondary winding of the driver transformer T, times the current. The driver signal current is equal to the base current (10 milliamperes peak, or 7 milliamperes (rms). The peak ac signal voltage is nearly equal to the sum of the base-to-emitter voltage across the transistor (0.4 volt as determined above), plus the voltage across Rz (0.6 volt), plus the peak ac signal voltage across R₁ (10 milliamperes times 12 ohms, or 0.12 volt). The input voltage, therefore, is about one volt peak, or 0.7 volt rms. Thus, the total ac input power required to produce an output of 4 watts is 0.7 volt times 7 milliamperes, or 5 milliwatts. and the input impedance is 0.7 volt divided by 7 milliamperes, or 100 ohms.

Higher power output can be achieved with less distortion in class A service by the use of a push-pull amplifier. One of the disadvantages of a transistor class A amplifier (single-ended or push-pull), however, is that collector current flows at all times. As a result, transistor dissipation is highest when no ac signal is present. This dissipation can be greatly reduced by use of class B push-pull operation. When two transistors are connected in class B push-pull, one transistor amplifies half of the signal, and the other transistor amplifies the other half. These half-signals are then combined in the output circuit to restore the original waveform in an amplified state.

Ideally, transistors used in class B push-pull service should be biased to collector cutoff so that no power is dissipated under zero-signal conditions. At low signal inputs, however, the resulting signal would be distorted, as shown in Fig. 177, because of the low forward currenttransfer ratio of the transistor at very low currents. This type of distortion, called cross-over distortion, can be suppressed by the use of a bias voltage which permits a small collector current flow at zero signal level. Any residual distortion can be further reduced by the use of negative feedback.



Fig. 177-Waveforms showing cause of cross-over distortion,

A typical class B push-pull audio amplifier is shown in Fig. 178. Resistors R_{B1} and R_{B2} are the emitter stabilizing resistors. Resistors R_1 and R_2 form a voltage-divider network which provides the bias for the transistors. The base-emitter circuit is biased near collector cutoff so that



Fig. 178—Class B push-pull audio-amplifier circuit.

very little collector power is dissipated under no-signal conditions. The characteristics of the bias network must be very carefully chosen so that the bias voltage will be just sufficient to minimize cross-over distortion at low signal levels. Because the collector current, collector dissipation, and dc operating point of a transistor vary with ambient temperature, a temperature-sensitive resistor (such as a thermistor) or a bias-compensating diode may be used in the biasing network to minimize the effect of temperature variations.

The advantages of class B pushpull operation can be obtained without the need for an output transformer by use of a circuit such as that shown in Fig. 179. In this circuit, the secondary windings of the driver transformer T, are phased so that a negative signal from base to emitter of one transistor is accompanied by a positive signal from



Fig. 179-Single-ended class B circuit.

base to emitter of the other transistor. When a negative signal is applied to the base of transistor Q_1 , for example, Q_1 draws current. This current must flow through the load because the accompanying positive signal on the base of transistor Q_2 cuts Q_2 off. When the signal polarity reverses, transistor Q_1 is cut off, while Q_2 conducts current. The resistive dividers R_1R_2 and R_2R_4 provide a dc bias which keeps the transistors slightly above cutoff under no-signal conditions and thus minimizes cross-over distortion. The emitter resistors $R_{\rm E1}$ and $R_{\rm E2}$ help to compensate for differences between transistors and for the effects of ambient-temperature variations.

The secondary windings of any class B driver transformer should be bifilar-wound (i.e., wound together) to obtain tighter coupling and thereby minimize leakage inductance. Otherwise, "ringing" may occur in the cross-over region as a result of the energy stored in the leakage inductance.

Because junction transistors can be made in both p-n-p and n-p-n types, they can be used in complementary-symmetry circuits to obtain all the advantages of conventional push-pull amplifiers plus direct coupling. The arrows in Fig. 180 indicate the direction of electron current flow in the terminal leads of p-n-p and n-p-n transistors. When these



Fig. 180—Electron-current flow in p-n-p and n-p-n transistors.

two transistors are connected in a single stage, as shown in Fig. 181, the steady-state electron current path in the output circuit is completed through the collector-emitter



Fig. 181—Basic complementary-symmetry circuit.

circuits of the transistors. In the circuits of Figs. 179 and 181, essentially no steady-state current flows through the load resistor R_L . Therefore, the voice coil of a loudspeaker can be connected directly in place of R_L without excessive speaker cone distortion.

The true complementary amplifier, shown in Fig. 182, is the simplest of all complementary circuits. Its features include a single



Fig. 182-True-complementary amplifier.

driver transistor, a single diode for bias, and the application of turn-off drive to the output devices. Because it requires a class A driver and both p-n-p and n-p-n output devices and has high standby current, the truecomplementary design is seldom used for power-output levels in excess of 25 watts rms.

The class A driver stage shown in Fig. 182 requires the use of a large heat sink. The p-n-p power device in the complementary output stage is more expensive and has lower safe-area ratings than its n-p-n equivalent. Because control of base diffusion is more difficult in p-n-p devices, these types are generally 25-per-cent costlier than comparable n-p-n types. One way to avoid the high cost of power p-n-p transistors is to employ a quasi-complementary circuit such as that shown in Fig. 183. In this type of circuit, a low-current



Fig. 183-Quasi-complementary amplifier.

p-n-p transistor is directly coupled to a high-current n-p-n transistor to simulate a high-current transistor, as shown in Fig. 184.

The advantages of quasi-complementary amplifiers include improved safe area for the n-p-n output transistor, lower cost, and the use of class B drivers. The major disadvantages are the need for two driver transistors and two bias diodes, and the absence of turn-off drive to the output transistors. Because the advantages far outweigh the disadvantages for high-power amplifiers, quasi-complementary circuits are generally used at power levels above 25 watts rms. The highfrequency response of such circuits can be improved by use of bleeder resistors in the base circuits of the output transistors.

In both true-complementary and quasi-complementary circuits, the output devices do not need to be well matched for beta. These circuits are essentially voltage amplifiers used in an emitter-follower configuration that has a voltage gain of nearly unity which varies only slightly with transistor beta. In the higher-power quasi-complementary amplifier, the effect of beta is even less important because a Darlingtonconnected stage is used. The basic requirement is that a minimum current gain be maintained from minimum to maximum drive.



Fig. 184—Connection of two transistors to simulate a high-current transistor.

Several high-fidelity amplifiers are shown in the Circuits section. The performance capabilities of such amplifiers are usually given in terms of frequency response, total harmonic distortion, maximum power output, and noise level. To provide highfidelity reproduction of audio program material, an amplifier should have a frequency response which does not vary more than 1 dB over the entire audio spectrum. General practice is to design the amplifier so that its frequency response is flat within 1 dB from a frequency well below the lowest to be reproduced to one well above the upper limit of the audible region.

Harmonic distortion and interdistortion produce modulation changes in program material which may have adverse effects on the quality of the reproduced sound. Harmonic distortion causes a change in the character of an individual tone by the introduction of harmonics which were not originally present in the program material. For highfidelity reproduction, total harmonic distortion (expressed as a percentage of the output power) should not be greater than about 0.5 per cent at the desired listening level.

Intermodulation distortion is a change in the waveform of an individual tone as a result of interaction with another tone present at the same time in the program material. This type of distortion not only alters the character of the modulated tone, but may also result in the generation of spurious signals at frequencies equal to the sum and difference of the interacting frequencies. Intermodulation distortion should be less than 2 per cent at the desired listening level. In general, any amplifier which has low intermodulation distortion will have very low harmonic distortion.

The maximum power output which a high-fidelity amplifier should deliver depends upon a complex relation of several factors, including the size and acoustical characteristics of the listening area, the desired listening level, and the efficiency of the loudspeaker system.

The noise level and maximum output power determine the range of volume the amplifier is able to reproduce, i.e., the difference (usually expressed in dB) between the loudest and softest sounds in program material. Because the greatest volume range utilized in electrical program

Low-Frequency Amplification

material at the present time is about 60 dB, the noise level of a highfidelity amplifier should be at least 60 dB below the signal level at the desired listening level.

The design of audio equipment for direct operation from the ac power line normally requires the use of either a power transformer or a large voltage-dropping resistor to reduce the 120-volt ac line voltage to a level that is appropriate for transistors. Both of these techniques have disadvantages. The use of a transformer adds cost to the system. The use of a dropping resistor places restrictions on the final packaging of the instrument because the resistor must dissipate power. In addition, lowvoltage supplies are usually more expensive to filter than high-voltage supplies.

The use of high-voltage silicon transistors eliminates the need for either a power transformer or a highpower voltage-dropping resistor, and permits the use of economical circuits and components in line-operated audio equipment. Several ac/dc circuits using these high-voltage transistors are shown in the Circuits section. The basic class A audio output stage shown in Fig. 185 is essentially of the same design as the class A amplifier discussed previously. Because the supply voltage is much higher, however, the currents are about one-tenth as high and the impedances about 100 times as high.

The use of a voltage-dependent resistor (VDR) as a damping resistor across the primary winding of the output transformer in Fig. 185 protects the output circuit against the destructive effects of transient voltages that can occur under abnormal conditions. If the VDR were not used, the peak collector voltage under transient conditions could be as high as five to ten times the supply voltage, or far in excess of the breakdown-voltage rating for the transistor. Because the resistance of the VDR varies directly with voltage, its use limits the transient voltage to

safe levels but does not degrade overall circuit performance.



Fig. 185—Basic audio-output stage for lineoperated equipment.

Fig. 186 shows another effective method for protection against transient voltages. In this arrangement,



Fig. 186—Alternate method for protection against transient voltages.

the output transformer is replaced by a center-tapped transformer and a silicon rectifier that has a peakreverse-voltage rating of 300 to 400 volts. The peak voltage across the output is thus limited to a value which does not exceed twice the magnitude of the supply voltage. As the collector voltage approaches a value equal to twice the supply voltage, the voltage at the diode end of the transformer becomes sufficiently negative to forward-bias the diode and thus clamp the collector voltage. The required transformer primary impedance is generally about 10,000 ohms center-tapped; in addition, it is recommended that a bifilar winding be used to minimize leakage inductance. Because the arrangement

shown in Fig. 186 provides more reliable protection against transients than that of Fig. 185, a higher supply voltage and a higher transformer impedance can be used.

It should be noted that special precautions are required in the construction of circuits for line-voltage operation. Because these circuits operate at high ac and dc voltages, special care must be exercised to assure that no metallic part of the chassis or output transformer is exposed to touch, accidental or otherwise. The circuits should be installed in non-metallic cabinets, or should be from metallic properly insulated cabinets. Insulated knobs should be used for potentiometer shafts and switches.

A phase inverter is a type of class A amplifier used when two out-ofphase outputs are required. In the split-load phase-inverter stage shown in Fig. 187, the output current of transistor Q_1 flows through both the



Fig. 187—Split-load phase-inverter stage.

collector load resistor R_i and the emitter load resistor R_3 . When the input signal is negative, the decreased output current causes the collector side of resistor R_i to become more positive and the emitter side of resistor R_3 to become more negative with respect to ground.

When the input signal is positive, the output current increases and opposite voltage polarities are established across resistors R_3 and R_4 . Thus, two output signals are produced which are 180 degrees out of phase with each other. This circuit provides the 180-degree phase relationship only when each load is resistive and constant throughout the entire signal swing. It is not suitable as a driver stage for a class B output stage.

DC AMPLIFIERS

amplifiers are Direct-coupled normally used in transistor circuits to amplify small dc or very-lowfrequency ac signals; they can amplify signals having a frequency of zero hertz. The upper frequency limit of such an amplifier may range from a few hundred hertz in general-purpose electrometer applications to several megahertz in other applications. In general, dc amplifiers are used to amplify the output of transducers which produce quantitative information relative to heat, vibration, pressure, speed, and distance. Other applications include the output stages of series-type and shunt-type regulating circuits, chopper-type circuits, differential amplifiers, and pulse amplifiers.

Direct-coupled amplifiers are also used in chopper-type circuits to amplify low-level dc signals, as illustrated by the block diagram in Fig. 188. The dc signal modulates an ac carrier wave, usually a square wave, and the modulated wave is then amplified to a convenient level. The series of amplified pulses can then be detected and integrated into the desired dc output signal.



Fig. 188-Block diagram showing action of "chopper" circuit.

Low-Frequency Amplification

Chopper amplifiers consist of three basic sections. The first section converts the low-level input signal into a modulated ac signal, the second section amplifies this ac signal, and the third section demodulates the amplified signal.

The first section of a chopper amplifier is | fundamentally a continuously operated ON-OFF switch. Ideally, this switch would have zero ON resistance, infinite OFF resistance, zero shunt capacitance, and zero switching time. It would also require no driving power and have infinite life. In actual practice, it is possible to achieve satisfactory performance with a switch that does not have these ideal characteristics.

The two basic circuit configurations for chopping are the series chopper and the shunt chopper. The shunt chopper is the more popular of the two because it can be capacitively coupled to an ac amplifier without the need for either a choke or a transformer. The series chopper has the disadvantage that it requires a dc return path for the input current. This path can be provided by an additional resistor at the expense of over-all circuit efficiency.

The basic series chopper circuit using an MOS transistor is shown in Fig. 189. This circuit has the characteristics of a simple L-pad attenuator in which the transistor is the variable series resistor. In the



Fig. 189—Basic series chopper circuit using an MOS transistor.

ON condition, the value of the dc return resistance R_s must be large compared to the load resistance R_L to minimize resistive losses; R_L , in turn, must be large compared to the intrinsic drain resistance $r_4(ON)$ so that the voltage V_L across the load approaches the value of the dc input voltage V_G . In the OFF condition, the dc return resistance R_s must be small compared to $r_d(OFF)$. Because of these restrictions, the series chopper is seldom used except when the fixed resistance R_s can be made variable by replacing it with a shunt chopper arranged to be OFF when the series chopper is ON, and vice versa.

Fig. 190 shows a shunt chopper circuit using an MOS transistor. In



Fig. 190—Basic shunt copper circuit using an MOS transistor.

this circuit, the intrinsic drain resistance r₄ of the transistor must be small compared to the load resistance R₁, in the ON condition, but must be large compared to the fixed series resistance R_D in the OFF condition. The requirement for rd(ON) to have a very small value is minimized if R_L is the high input impedance of MOS an transistor amplifier stage. Because of their ON-to-OFF resistance ratio, high negligible gate-leakage currents, and low feedthrough capacitance, MOS transistors considerably improve the level of solid-state chopper performance.

Differential amplifiers can be used to provide voltage regulation, or to compensate for fluctuations in current due to signal, component, or temperature variations. Typical differential-amplifier circuits, such as those shown in Fig. 191, may also include an output stage which supplies current to the load resistor R, and the necessary number of directcoupled cascaded stages to provide the required amount of gain for

given condition of line-voltage a or load-current regulation. The VR is reference-voltage source placed in one of the cascaded stages in such a manner that an error or difference signal between VR and some portion of the output voltage Vo is developed and amplified. Some form of temperature compensation is usually included to insure stability of the direct-coupled amplifier.



Fig. 191—Typical differential-amplifier circuits.

MOS-transistor dc amplifiers may take several different forms, including single-ended input to singleended output, differential input to single-ended output, and differential input to differential output. Normally dc amplifiers require direct coupling of all stages (no coupling capacitors). In some versions of dc amplifiers, this requirement is circumvented by conversion of the low- or zero-frequency input signal into a modulated ac signal, amplification of this signal by means of capacitor-coupled stages, and then demodulation of the amplified signal to restore it original de form. The to the necessary modulation may be accomplished by a number of different techniques, including electrically actuated mechanical switches, switches. photo-optical electronic switches, magnetic modulators, and diode bridge modulators. Input devices which function as switches are generally referred to as "choppers" because, as described above, they divide the input signal into segments in the form of square waves or pulses having an amplitude proportional to the amplitude of the input signal.

Single-ended dc amplifiers which do not employ "choppers" have a continuous ohmic current path between the input and the output as the result of direct coupling of all stages (i.e., the omission of all capacitive or inductive forms of coupling). In this configuration, the steady-state voltage at the output of one stage appears at the input of the next stage. In a typical cascade arrangement using MOS field-effect transistors, the signal progresses from the drain of the first unit to the gate of the next and so on to the last stage, as shown in Fig. 192. In this circuit configuration, the source terminal is generally placed at a potential equal to or greater than the drain-to-source voltage of the preceding stage. In the arrangement of Fig. 192, the gate is at a net zero voltage or is reverse-biased relative to the source.

Although MOS transistors are not optimized for direct-coupled applications, they can be used in such circuits because they have low gate leakage current (typically fractions of a picoampere), total input capacitance of about 5 picofarads, and an appreciable value of forward transconductance. In addition, tight production control limits the spread of drain current between individual transistors to a variation of approximately two to one for a high degree of interchangeability.



Fig. 192—DC amplifier circuit in which n-channel depletion-type MOS transistors are direct-coupled by use of dc level shifting.

For a fixed value of supply voltage, there are only three ways to increase the stage voltage gain A in a single-ended amplifier: (1) use of a transistor having a higher ratio of gate-to-drain forward transconductance g_{fs} to drain current I_p; (2) use of a higher value of load resistance R_L (if R_L is less than the commonsource output resistance ros); and (3) use of a transistor having a higher value of ros. The load resistance R_L can only be increased to the point where the product of Ip and R_L is equal to approximately one-half the supply voltage. In general, the ratio of transconductance to drain current increases as drain current is decreased by negative gate bias. As a result, the stage voltage gain may be increased and power consumption decreased at the same time.

The increased voltage gain of an MOS transistor at reduced values of drain current may be accompanied by a relatively large drift in the operating point if there are wide excursions in ambient temperature. Many field-effect transistors have a point on their forward-transfer characteristic which is relatively insensitive to temperature variations. If this point does not coincide with the operating point which provides the desired voltage gain, a design compromise is required. As shown in Fig. 193, the zero-temperaturecoefficient point may be identified by

measurement of the forward-transfer characteristic at different ambient temperatures.



Fig. 193—Forward-transfer characteristics of MOS transistor at 25°C and --30°C.

VOLTAGE-CONTROLLED ATTENUATORS

Because the drain current-voltage characteristic of MOS transistors remains linear at low drain-to-source voltages, these devices can be used as low-distortion voltage-controlled attenuators. The principal advantages of MOS transistors in this application are negligible gate-power requirements and large dynamic range.

Fig. 194 shows drain resistance as a function of gate-to-source voltage for a typical n-channel depletiontype insulated-gate transistor. Transistors having higher pinch-off voltages accept correspondingly greater peak signal-voltage swings before wave-shape distortion occurs. However, the higher-pinch-off-voltage transistors require higher gatevoltage excursions to cover the resistance range from minimum to



Fig. 194—Drain resistance as a function of gate voltage for typical n-channel depletion-type MOS transistor.

maximum. A typical n-channel MOS transistor produces total harmonic distortion of less than two per cent in a 100-millivolt 400-Hz sine wave. Fig. 195 shows an attenuator circuit using an MOS transistor and the output signal of the circuit as a function of gate-to-source voltage.



Fig. 195—Output signal as a function of gate voltage for MOS transistor in circuit shown.

Figs. 196 and 197 show two possible attenuator circuit configurations which use MOS transistors as voltage-variable resistors. The circuit in Fig. 196 is desirable for use at high signal levels because at such levels the thermal noise of the onemegohm series resistor does not degrade the signal-to-noise ratio of the system to an objectionable degree. This circuit is a simple L-pad configuration in which the transistor serves as the variable-resistive element in the low side of the attenuator. The maximum attenuation obtainable is generally between 60 and 70 dB; minimum attenuation is 1 to 2 dB. This circuit must be followed by a high-impedance load such as a common-source amplifier stage.



Fig. 196—Attenuator circuit in which MOS transistor serves as variable-resistive element in low side.

The circuit shown in Fig. 197 is the inverse of that in Fig. 196; i.e., the transistor serves as the variableresistive element in the high side of the attenuator. Maximum attenuation in this circuit is also between 60 and 70 dB; minimum attenuation is between 1 and 6 dB. This circuit is



Fig. 197—Attenuator circuit in which MOS transistor serves as variable-resistive element in high side.

usually followed by a low-impedance load such as a common-emitter bipolar transistor amplifier stage.

The following design considerations are important for effective use of MOS field-effect transistors as linear attenuators:

(a) The gate(s) must be adequately decoupled to prevent the introduction of unwanted signals.

(b) The transistor attenuator must be inserted at a point in the system where the signal level is as high as the transistor can accept without excessive distortion.

(c) In ac systems, the direct-current flow through the transistor must be minimized by the use of suitable blocking capacitors.

(d) In ac systems, proper layout must be used to minimize stray shunt capacitance.

(e) In ac systems, the effects of the capacitive elements of the transistor must be considered.

WIDE-BAND (VIDEO) AMPLIFIERS

In television camera chains as well as in ac voltmeters and vertical amplifiers for oscilloscopes, it is necessary for a transistor circuit to amplify signals ranging from very low frequencies (several hertz) to high frequencies (tens of megahertz) with a minimum of frequency and time-delay distortion. In response to frequency limits of the amplifier are approached.

The need for such compensation is evident when many identical stages of amplification are employed. If ten cascaded stages are used, a variation of 0.3 dB per stage results in a total variation of 3 dB. In an uncompensated amplifier, this total variation occurs two octaves (a frequency ratio of four) prior to the half-power point. Because two octaves are lost from both the high and low frequencies, the bandwidth of ten cascaded uncompensated amplifier stages is only one-sixteenth that of a single amplifier stage. Fig. 198 shows the amplitude response characteristics of various numbers of identical uncompensated amplifiers.

In general, the output of an amplifier may be represented by a current generator i_{out} and a load resistance R_{L} , as shown in Fig. 199(a). Because the signal current is shunted by various capacitances at high frequencies, as shown in Fig. 199(b), there is a loss in gain at these frequencies. If an inductor L is placed in series with the load resistor R_{L} , as shown in Fig. 199(c), a low-Q circuit is formed which somewhat suppresses the ca-



Fig. 198—Amplitude response characteristics of various numbers (N) of identical uncompensated amplifiers.

these demands, circuit compensation techniques have been developed to minimize the amplitude and timedelay variation as the upper or lower pacitive loading. This method of gain compensation, called shunt peaking, can be very effective for improving high-frequency response. Fig. 199



Fig. 199—Equivalent circuits and frequency response of uncompensated and shuntpeaked amplifiers.

shows the frequency response for the circuits shown in Figs. 199(a), (b), and (c). If the inductor L shown in Fig. 199(c) is made self-resonant approximately one octave above the 3-dB frequency of the circuit of Fig. 199(b), the amplifier response is extended by about another 30 per cent.

If the stray capacitance \hat{C} shown in Fig. 199(b) is broken into two parts C' and C" and an inductor L_1 is placed between them, a heavily damped form of series resonance may be employed for further improvement. This form of compensation, called series peaking, is shown in Fig. 200(a). If C' and C" are



Fig. 200—Circuits using (a) series peaking, and (b) both self-resonant shunt peaking and series peaking.

within a factor of two of each other, series peaking produces an appreciable improvement in frequency response as compared to shunt peaking. A more complex form of compensation embodying both self-resonant shunt peaking and series peaking is shown in Fig. 200(b).

The effects of various high-frequency compensation systems can be demonstrated by consideration of an amplifier consisting of three identical stages. If each of the three stages is down 3 dB at 1 MHz, and if a total gain variation of plus 1 dB and minus 3 dB is allowed, the bandwidth of the amplifier is 0.5 MHz without compensation. Shunt peaking raises the bandwidth to 1.3 MHz. Self-resonant shunt peaking raises it to 1.5 MHz. An infinitely complicated system could raise it to 2 MHz. If the distribution of capacitance permits it, series peaking alone can provide a bandwidth of about 2 MHz, while a combination of shunt and series peaking can provide a bandwidth of approximately 2.8 MHz. If the capacitance is perfectly distributed, and if an infinitely complex network of shunt and series peaking is employed, the ultimate capability is about 4 MHz.

The frequency response of a wideband amplifier is influenced greatly by variations in component values due to temperature effects, variation of transistor parameters with voltage and current (normal large-signal excursions), changes of stray capacitance due to relocated lead wires, or other variations. A change of 20 per cent in any of the critical parameters can cause a change of 0.7 dB in gain per stage over the last half-octave of the response for the most simple case of shunt peaking. As the bandwidth is extended by more complex peaking, a circuit becomes substantially more critical. (Measurement probes generally alter circuit performance because of their capacitance; this effect should be considered during frequency-response measurements.)

In the design of wideband amplifiers using many stages of amplification, it is necessary to consider timedelay variations as well as amplitude variation. When feedback capacitance is a major contributor to response limitation, the more complex compensating networks may produce severe ringing or even sustained oscillation. If feedback capacitance is treated as input capacitance produced by the Miller effect, the added input capacitance C_r caused by the feedback capacitor C_r is given by

$$C_{f'} \stackrel{|}{=} C_{f} (1 - VG)$$

1

where VG is the input-to-output voltage gain. The gain VG, however, has a phase angle that varies with frequency. The phase angle is 180 degrees at low frequencies, but may lead or lag this value at high frequencies; the magnitude of VG then also varies. In the design of very wideband amplifiers (20 MHz or more), the phase of the transconductance g_m must be considered.

Fig. 201(a) shows three stages of a multistage wideband amplifier.

The resistors R_3 merely provide a high-impedance bias path for the collectors of the transistors. The ac collector current of each transistor normally flows almost exclusively into the relatively low impedance offered by the base of the next stage through the coupling capacitor C_1 . The resistive network R_1 and R_2 provides a stable dc bias for the transistor base.

The mid-frequency gain of each stage is approximately equal to the common-emitter current-transfer ratio (beta) of the transistor if the component values are properly chosen. The high-frequency response is limited primarily by the transistor gain-bandwidth product f_T , the transistor feedback capacitance, and sometimes the stray capacitance. The low-frequency response is limited primarily by the value of the coupling capacitor C₁.

Fig. 201(b) illustrates the use of high-frequency shunt peaking and low-frequency peaking at the expense of stage gain in the three stages of the wideband amplifier to extend the high- and low-frequency response. The emitter resistors R. are made as small as possible, yet large enough to mask the variation of transconductance, and thus voltage gain, as a function of signalcurrent variation. For very small ratios of peak ac collector current to dc collector current, this variation is not substantial. The resistors Ro also partially mask the effect of the intrinsic base-lead resistance rb'.

The base-bias resistors R_1 of Fig. 201(a) are split into two resistors R_1 and R_2 in Fig. 201(b), with R_4 well bypassed. The mid-frequency gain is then reduced to a value approximating R_3 divided by R_6 . At this point, however, the high-frequency response is increased by the same factor. Shunt peaking is provided by L_1 and C_2 for additional high-frequency improvement.

When the reactance of the bypass capacitor C_3 is large compared to R_5 , the low-frequency gain is increased

because the resistor no longer heavily shunts the transistor input. Selection of the proper value for C_3 exactly offsets the loss of low-frequency gain caused by C_1 . When the reactance of C_3 approaches R_4 , however, the low-frequency peaking is no longer effective.





Fig. 201—(a) Uncompensated and (b) compensated versions of three stages of a multistage wideband amplifier.

RF Power Amplification and Generation

 $R^{\ \rm ECENT}$ significant improvements in the design and technology for high-frequency power transistors have resulted in the increasingly widespread application of transistors in the amplification and generation of rf power. Previously, cost considerations and performance limitations restricted the use of highfrequency power transistors to only a limited number of special circuits in which small size and light weight were the overriding requirements. As a result of the progress that has been made in design and processing. today, high-frequency transistors are often used in place of low- and medium-power tubes in many new equipment designs for operation at frequencies up to 2000 MHz. In addition to small size and light weight, other unique circuit advantages, such as greater reliability and significant increases in over-all circuit efficiency and bandwidth capability, have made possible this penetration of transistors into a very great number of different high-frequency applications.

FEATURES OF RF POWER TRANSISTORS

The performance of an rf power transistor is critically dependent on the structure and geometry of the device. Such factors as the length of the emitter and base peripheries, the emitter-to-collector spacing (i.e., base width), the length of the collector-base junction, and parasitic inductances and resistive losses in the transistor package significantly affect power output, frequency response, thermal resistance, stability, and other important performance characteristics.

Power Output

In early transistors, power outputs were in the milliwatt region. and increased power capability could be achieved only at the expense of frequency response. The power output of a transistor is limited by the current-handling capability and dissipation of the device. The maximum dc input power to a transistor is largely determined by the currenthandling ability because the dc operating voltages of power transistors have been fairly well standardized at either 28 volts for military systems or 12.6 volts for mobile applications.

The current-handling ability of any transistor is proportional to the length of the edge of the emitter, i.e., the emitter periphery. The base current results in a voltage drop that causes the portion of the emitter most remote from the base contact to be least forward-biased. Little or no current, therefore, is injected from this region. This condition results even when the emitter strip is exceedingly narrow. In present transistors, the emitter is only 10,000 angstroms wide, but the emitter current is still limited by the total length of the emitter edge. The current-handling capability is approximately 1 milliampere per mil of emitter length; a transistor required to handle a current of up to 1 ampere, therefore, should have an emitter periphery of 1 inch.

Frequency Response

The frequency response of a transistor is inversely proportional to the square of the emitter-to-collector spacing and to the capacitance of the transistor. For a given base width, therefore, the power-output/ frequency capability is determined by the length of emitter periphery that can be concentrated into a given area. One figure of merit of a power-transistor design is the ratio of emitter periphery to base area. The 2N3375 transistor has a ratio of 0.82 mil of emitter edge per square mil of base area and can produce 4 watts of output power at 400 MHz. The 2N5921 transistor in which the ratio of emitter periphery to base area is increased to 3.1 mils per square mil can produce 6 watts of output power at 2 GHz. The 2N5921 pellet uses 180 emitters only 20,000 angstroms wide, and has a base width of approximately 1200 angstroms and an over-all length of 40 mils.

Thermal Resistance

The thermal resistance of a transistor is proportional to the length of the collector-base junction, i.e., the base periphery. For this reason the base regions (the heat-generation area) of modern power transistors are made in the form of long, narrow rectangles to maximize the spreading of the heat in the silicon, which is a reasonably good conductor of heat (about 20 per cent of the conductivity of copper). In addition, power transistors are usually mounted on beryllium oxide to provide further spreading of the heat and electrical insulation of the devices from the chassis. Use of these techniques allows transistor dissipation of about 10⁵ watts per square centimeter.

RF Power-Transistor Packages

The package is an integral part of an rf power transistor. A transistor package designed for use in rf power applications should have good thermal properties and low parasitic reactance. Parasitic inductances and resistive losses of the package significantly affect circuit performance characteristics, such as power gain, bandwidth, and stability. The most critical parasitics are the emitterand base-lead inductances. Fig. 202 shows several popular commercially available rf power-transistor packages, and Table II indicates the parasitic inductances of each type. The TO-60 and TO-39 packages were first used for devices such as the 2N3375 and the 2N3866. The base and emitter parasitic inductances of these packages are in the order of 3 nanohenries; this value of inductance corresponds to a reactance of 7.5 ohms at 400 MHz. If the emitter is grounded internally to a TO-60 package (as in the 2N5016), the emitter lead inductance can be reduced to 0.6 nanohenry. Hermeticallv sealed, low-inductance radial-lead packages, such as the HF-19 package introduced by RCA, employ ceramicto-metal seals and have good rf performance characteristics. The parasitic inductances can be reduced further by use of a hermetically sealed coaxial package, such as the HF-11, used for the 2N5470. This package has parasitic inductances in order of 0.1 nanohenry.

RF Power Amplification and Generation



HF-19 Hermetic Strip-Line Type Ceramic-to-Metal Package (Isolated Electrodes)

Coaxial Package

Studiess HF-19 Package

Fig. 202-Commercially available rf power-transistor packages.

Table II—Summary of Packaged-T	ransistor Induct	ances
	Inductance	(nH)
Package	Emitter	Base
TO-39 (2N3866)	3	3
TO-60 (isolated emitter) (2N3375)	3	3
TO-60 (ground emitter) (2N5016)	0.6	2
Hermetic Strip-line (2N5919)	0.4	0.6
Coaxial case (2N5470)	0.1	0.0

DESIGN CONSIDERATIONS FOR RF POWER AMPLIFIERS

In the design of silicon-transistor rf power amplifiers for use in transmitting systems, several fundamental factors must be considered. As with any rf power amplifier, the class of operation has an important bearing on the power output, linearity, and operating efficiency. The modulation requirements of transistor rf power amplifiers differ slightly from those for tube amplifiers. The matching characteristics of input and output terminations significantly affect power output and frequency stability and, therefore, are particularly important considerations in the design of either transistor or vacuum-tube power amplifiers. The selection of the proper transistor for a given circuit application is also a major consideration, and the circuit designer must realize the significance of the various transistor parameters to make a valid evaluation of different types.

Class of Operation

The class of operation of an rf amplifier is determined by the circuit performance required in the given applications. Class A power amplifiers are used when extremely good linearity is required. Although power gain in this class of service is considerably higher than that in class B or class C service, the operating efficiency of a class A power amplifier is usually only about 25 per cent. Moreover, the standby drain and thermal dissipation of a class A stage are high, and care must be exercised to assure thermal stability.

In applications, such as single-sideband transmitters, that require good linearity, class B push-pull operation is usually employed because the transistor dissipation and standby drain are usually much smaller and operating efficiency is higher. Class B operation is characterized by a collector conduction angle of 180 degrees. This conduction is obtained

by use of only a slight amount of forward bias in the transistor stage. In this class of service, care must be taken to avoid thermal runaway.

In a class C transistor stage, the collector conduction angle is less than 180 degrees. The gain of the class C stage is less than that of a class A or class B stage, but is entirely usable. In addition, in the class C stage, standby drain is virtually zero, and circuit efficiency is the highest of the three classes. Because of the high efficiency, low collector dissipation, and negligible standby drain, class C operation is the most commonly used mode in rf power transistor applications.

For class C operation, the baseto-emitter junction of the transistor must be reverse-biased so that the collector quiescent current is zero during zero-signal conditions. Fig. 203 shows four methods that may be used to reverse-bias a transistor stage.

Fig. 203(a) shows the use of a dc supply to establish the reverse bias. This method, although effective, requires a separate supply, which may not be available or may be difficult to obtain in many applications. In addition, the bypass elements required for the separate supply increase the circuit complexity.

Figs. 203(b) and 203(c) show methods in which reverse bias is developed by the flow of dc base current through a resistance. In the case shown in Fig. 203(b), bias is developed across the base spreading resistance. The magnitude of this bias is small and uncontrollable because of the variation in rub' among different transistors. A better approach, shown in Fig. 203(c), is to develop the bias across an external resistor R_B. Although the bias level is predictable and repeatable, the size of R_B must be carefully chosen to avoid reduction of the collectorto-emitter breakdown voltage.

The best reverse-bias method is illustrated in Fig. 203(d). In this method, self-bias is developed across an emitter resistor R_E . Because no

RF Power Amplification and Generation



Fig. 203—Methods for obtaining class C reverse bias: (a) by use of fixed dc supply V_{BB} ; (b) by use of dc base current through the base spreading resistance r_{hh} ; (c) by use of dc base current through an external base resistance R_{B} ; (d) by use of self bias developed across an emitter resistor R_{E} .

external base resistance is added, the collector-to-emitter breakdown voltage is not affected. An additional advantage of this approach is that stage current may be monitored by measurement of the voltage drop across R_E. This technique is very helpful in balancing the shared power in paralleled stages. The bias resistor R_E must be bypassed to provide a very-low-impedance rf path to ground at the operating frequency to prevent degeneration of stage gain. In practice, emitter bypassing is difficult and frequently requires the use of a few capacitors in paralel to reduce the series inductance in the capacitor leads and body. Alternatively, the lead-inductance problem may be solved by formation of a self-resonant series circuit between the capacitor and its leads at the operating frequency. This method is extremely effective, but may restrict stage bandwidth.

Modulation (AM, FM, SSB)

Amplitude modulation of the collector supply of a transistor output stage does not result in full modulation. During down-modulation, portion of the rf drive feeds through the transistor. Better modulation characteristics can be obtained by modulation of the supply to at least the last two stages in the transmitter chain. On the downward modulation swing, drive from the preceding modulated stages is reduced, and less feed-through power in the output results. Flattening of the rf output during up-modulation is reduced because of the increased drive from the modulated lower-level stages.

The modulated stages must be operated at half their normal voltage levels to avoid high collector-voltage swings that may exceed transistor collector-to-emitter breakdown ratings. RF stability of the modulated stages should be checked for the entire excursion of the modulating signal.

Amplitude modulation of transistor transmitters may also be obtained by modulation of the lowerlevel stages and operation of the higher-level stages in a linear mode. The lower efficiencies and higher heat dissipation of the linear stages override any advantages that are derived from the reduced audio-drive requirements; as a result, this approach is not economically practical.

Frequency modulation involves a shift of carrier frequency only. Carrier deviations are usually very small and present no problems in amplifier bandwidth. For example, maximum carrier deviations in the 50-MHz and 150-MHz mobile bands are only 5 kHz. Because there is no amplitude variation, class C rf transistor stages have no problems handling frequency modulation.

Single-sideband (SSB) modulation requires that all stages after the modulator operate in a linear mode to avoid intermodulation-distortion products near the carrier frequency. In many SSB applications, channel spacing is close, and excessive distortion results in adjacent-channel interference. Distortion is effectively reduced by class B operation of the rf stages, with close attention to biasing the transistor base-to-emitter junction in a near-linear region.

Characterization of Large-Signal RF Power Transistors

The values of large-signal transistor parameters, such as the S and Y parameters, are different from those of small-signal transistors because (1) the values of transistor parameters change with power levels, and (2) the harmonic-frequency components that exist in a largesignal rf power amplifier must be considered in addition to the fundamental-frequency sinusoidal component in a small-signal amplifier. RF power-transistor characteristics are normally specified for a given circuit in a specific application.

The design of rf power-amplifier circuits involves the determination of dynamic input and load impedances. Before the input circuit is designed, the input impedance at the emitter-to-base terminals of the packaged transistor must be known at the drive-power frequency. Before the output circuit is designed, the load impedance presented to the collector terminal must be known at the fundamental frequency. These dynamic impedances are difficult to calculate at microwave frequencies because transistor parameters such as S₁₁ and S₂₂ vary considerably under large-signal operation and also change with the power level. Smallsignal equations that might serve as useful guides for transistor design cannot be applied rigorously to largesignal circuits. Because large-signal . representation of rf power transistors has not yet been developed. transistor dynamic impedances are best determined experimentally with slotted-line or vector voltmeter measurement techniques.

The system used for determination of transistor impedances under operating conditions is shown in Fig. This system consists of a 204. well-padded power signal generator, a directional coupler (or reflectometer) for monitoring the input reflected power, an input triple-stub tuner, an input low-impedance line section, the transistor holder (or test jig), an output line section, a bias tee, an output triple-stub tuner, another directional coupler for monitoring the output waveform or frequency, and an output power meter. For a given frequency and input power level, the input and output tuners are adjusted for maximum power output and minimum input reflected power. Once the system has been properly tuned, the impedance across terminals 1-1 (with the transistor disconnected) is measured at the same frequency in a slotted-line set-up or with the vector voltmeter. The conjugate of this impedance is



Fig. 204-Set-up for measurement of rf transistor dynamic impedances.

the dynamic input impedance of the transistor. Similarly, the impedance across terminals 2-2 (with the transistor disconnected) is the collectorload impedance presented to the transistor collector. Such measurements are performed at each frequency and power level. It should be noted that the circuit arrangement of Fig. 204 is also useful for testing the performance of the transistor. Thus, power output, power gain, and efficiency are readily determined.

RF Amplifier Circuit Design

When the dynamic input impedance and the load impedance of a packaged transistor have been established, either from direct measurements as described previously, or from the manufacturer's data, the input and output matching circuits can be properly designed.

Output-Circuit Design—When the dc supply voltage and power output are specified, the circuit designer must determine the load for the collector circuit $[R_L = (V_{CE})^2/2P_{\sigma}]$. Because an rf power amplifier is usually designed to amplify a specific frequency or band of frequencies, tuned circuits are normally used as coupling networks. The choice of the output tuned circuit must be made with due regard to proper load

matching and good tuned-circuit efficiency.

As a result of the large dynamic voltage and current swings in a class C rf power amplifier, the collector current contains a large amount of harmonics. This effect is caused primarily by the nonlinearity in the transfer characteristics of the transistor. The tuned coupling networks selected must offer a relatively high impedance to these harmonic currents and a low impedance to the fundamental current.

Class C rf power amplifiers are reverse-biased beyond collector-current cutoff; harmonic currents are generated in the collector which are comparable in amplitude to the fundamental component. However, if the impedance of the tuned circuit is sufficiently high at the harmonic frequencies, the amplitude of the harmonic currents is reduced and the contribution of these harmonic currents to the average current flowing in the collector is minimized. The collector power dissipation is therefore reduced, and the collector-circuit output efficiency is increased.

Figs. 205 and 206 illustrate the use of parallel tuned circuits to couple the load to the collector circuit. The collector electrode of the transistor is tapped down on the output coil. Capacitor C_1 provides tuning

for the fundamental frequency, and capacitor C2 provides load matching of R_L to the tuned circuit. The transformed R_L across the entire tuned circuit is stepped down to match the collector by the proper turns ratio of the coil L_1 . If the value of the inductance L₁ is chosen properly and the portion of the output-coil inductance between the collector and ground is sufficiently high, the harmonic portion of the collector current in the tuned circuit is small. Therefore, the contribution of the harmonic current to the dc component of current in the circuit is minimized. The use of a tapped-down connection of the collector to the coil maintains the loaded Q of the circuit and minimizes variation in the bandwidth of the output circuit with changes in the output capacitance of the transistor.

Although the circuits shown in Figs. 205 and 206 provide coupling of the load to the collector circuit with good harmonic-current suppression, the tuned-circuit networks have a serious limitation at very high frequencies. Because of the poor coefficient of coupling in coils at very



FOR N : I TURN RATIO



Fig. 205—Tuned-circuit output coupling method and design equations in which output is transferred to load by a series coupling capacitor.



Fig. 206—Tuned-circuit output coupling method and design equations in which output to the load is obtained from a capacitive voltage divider.

high frequencies, the tap position is usually established empirically so that proper collector loading is achieved. Fig. 207 shows several suitable output coupling networks that provide the required collector loading and also suppress the circulation of collector harmonic currents. These networks are not dependent upon coupling coefficient for load-impedance transformation.

The collector output capacitance for the networks shown in Fig. 207 is included in the design equations. The collector output capacitance of a transistor varies considerably with the large dynamic swing of the collector-to-emitter voltage and is dependent upon both the collector supply voltage and the power output.

Input-Circuit Design—The input circuit of most transistors can be represented by a resistor r_{10} ' in series with a capacitor C_{10} . The input network must tune out the capacitance C_{10} and provide a purely resistive load to the collector of the driver stage. Fig. 208 shows several networks capable of coupling the base

RF Power Amplification and Generation



Fig. 207—Additional transistor output-coupling networks including transistor output capacitance.



Fig. 208-Transistor input-circuit coupling networks.
RF Power Amplification and Generation

to the output of the driver stage and tuning out the input capacitance C_{in}. In the event that the transistor used has an inductive input, the reactance X_c, is made equal to zero, and the base inductance is included as part of inductor L₁ for networks such as that shown in Fig. 208(a) and is included as part of L₂ for networks of the type shown in Fig. 208(c). In Fig. 208(a), the input circuit is formed by the T network consisting of C1, C2, and L1. If the value of the inductance L₁ is chosen so that its reactance is much greater than that of Cin. series tuning of the baseto-emitter circuit is obtained by L₁ and the parallel combination of C. and $(C_1 + C_0)$. Capacitors C_1 and C_0 provide the impedance matching of the resultant input resistance rbb' to the collector of the driving stage. Fig. 208(b) shows a T network in which the location of L_1 and C_2 is chosen so that the reactance of the capacitor is much greater than that of C_{1n} : C_{21} can then be used to step. up rbb' to an appropriate value across L₁. The resultant parallel resistance across L, is transformed to the required collector load value by capacitors C₁ and C₀. Parallel resonance of the circuit is obtained by L_1 and the parallel combination $(C_1 + C_n)$ and C₂.

The circuits shown in Fig. 208(a) and 208(b) require the collector of the driving transistor to be shuntfed by a high-impedance rf choke. Fig. 208(c) shows a coupling network that eliminates the need for a choke. In this circuit, the collector of the driving transistor is parallel tuned, and the base-to-emitter junction of the output transistor is series tuned. Fig. 209 shows several other forms of coupling networks that can be used in rf power-amplifier designs.

Line-section matching networks— In most microwave circuit applications, either air-line, strip-line, or lumped-element circuit arrangements are used; some useful circuit design techniques are discussed below.

Eighth-wave line sections: One of the properties of an eighth-wave sec-

tion is that it has a real input impedance when it is terminated in a reactive impedance having a magnitude equal to Z_0 . Therefore, for an eighth-wave line section, Z_{in} is real if the following condition is met:

$$Z_{u} = |Z_{L}| = (R_{L}^{2} + X_{L}^{2})^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

where R_L and X_L are the real and imaginary parts of the complex impedance Z_L . The real impedance Z_{in} can be determined from a Smith chart of the following relation:

$$\mathbf{Z}_{\mathrm{In}} = (\mathbf{R}_{\mathrm{L}}) \left/ \left(1 - \frac{\mathbf{X}_{\mathrm{L}}}{|\mathbf{Z}_{\mathrm{L}}|} \right) \right.$$

Eighth-wave transformers are useful for microwave power transistor matching, as shown in Fig. 210, because the small complex impedances of these devices can be matched directly, without the need for tuningout mechanisms. In a typical poweramplifier circuit, the device input impedance \mathbf{R} + jX ohms is the terminating impedance Z₁ of the eighthwave line section. If the characteristic impedance of the line Z_m is made equal to the magnitude of Z_L, then the input impedance Z_s of this line is a real impedance. Matching to the output is accomplished in a similar manner.

The real impedance of an eighthwave section of uniform line is thus predetermined by the complex terminating impedance. Therefore, it is necessary to use additional transformations in cascade to match to a real impedance which is different from this predetermined real impedance.

Quarter-wave line sections: Quarter-wave lines are also useful as impedance transformers between real impedances. If quarter-wave transformers are used to match a real impedance to an active device, as shown in Fig. 211, the reactive component of the complex impedance (the admittance) of the active device must be tuned out. For example, in the input circuit of a power-transistor amplifier circuit, the quarter-



Fig. 209—Other suitable rf-amplifier coupling networks for maximum power transfer.

wave transformer matches the resistive component of the complex admittance of the device. An external capacitance C_{\circ} or a stub provides the necessary susceptance needed to cancel the reactive component of the device. In the output portion of the circuit, a stub or a lumped element at the collector is used to bring the impedance to a real value and then to a quarter-wave line that goes to the actual load.

Direct transformation between the transistor (complex impedance) and a given source or load (real resistance) is also possible. The characteristic impedance Z_{u} and length l of the transmission line required to provide direct transformation from a pure resistance R_{1} to an impedance $Z_{2} = R_{2} + \frac{1}{2}X_{2}$ can be determined by use of the following equations:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{Z}_{o} &= \sqrt{\mathbf{R}_{1}} \ \mathbf{R}_{2} \times \sqrt{\frac{1 - \frac{\mathbf{X}_{2}^{2}}{\mathbf{R}_{2}} (\mathbf{R}_{1} - \mathbf{R}_{2})}}\\ & \tan \ \beta l = \mathbf{Z}_{o} \left(\frac{\mathbf{R}_{1} - \mathbf{R}_{2}}{\mathbf{R}_{1} \mathbf{X}_{2}}\right) \end{aligned}$$

If the impedance Z_2 is a resistance (i.e., $X_2 = 0$),the expression for Z_0 reduces to the quarter-wave transformer equation, and $l = \lambda/4$.



Fig. 210—Éighth-wave transformer in a typical rf power-amplifier circuit.



Fig. 211-Quarter-wave transformers for rf power-transistor amplifiers.

MOBILE RADIO

In the United States, three frequency bands have been assigned to two-way mobile radio communications by the Federal Communications Commission. These frequency bands are 25 to 50 MHz, 148 to 174 MHz, and 450 to 470 MHz. The low-frequency band for overseas mobile communications is 66 to 88 MHz.

Frequency modulation (FM) is practiced in mobile radio communications in the United States and most overseas countries. The modulation is achieved by phase-modulation of the oscillator frequencies (usually the 12th or 18th submultiple of the operating frequency). In vhf bands, the frequency deviation is ± 5 kHz and channel spacing is 25 kHz. In uhf bands, at present, the modulation deviation is ± 15 kHz and channel spacing is 50 kHz. In the United Kingdom, AM as well as FM is used in mobile communications.

Typical mobile-transmitter poweroutput levels in the United States are 50 watts in the 50-MHz band, 30 watts in the 174-MHz band, and 25 watts in the 470-MHz band. Some of the transmitters used in the United States have power-output ratings as high as 100 watts. Overseas, power-output requirements are much more moderate; the most common power-output levels are in the 10-watt range.

All-solid-state mobile transmitters can be divided into two basic types: transmitters that operate from 24to-28-volt collector supply voltages, obtained from dc-to-dc converters, and transmitters that operate directly from the 12-volt electrical system of a vehicle.

Both types have advantages and disadvantages. The advantages of 24- to 28-volt operation include higher power gains per stage, good transient suppression, and fairly simple current and voltage limiting. The disadvantages are the additional cost of dc-to-dc converters and the somewhat higher power consumption and increased size of the radio. Direct operation from a 12-volt system permits savings in cost and size, as well as higher efficiency. Because 12-volt operation produces less gain per stage, however, additional rf stages are often needed. Transient suppression and voltage and current limiting are also somewhat more difficult.

Because of the two discrete voltage ranges used for mobile radios, the transistor must be designed specifically for either 24-to-28-volt operation or 12-volt operation. Devices designed for 24-to-28-volt operation have substantially higher collectorbreakdown voltages. In addition, all elements are usually isolated from the case to permit access to the emitter.

Fig. 212(a) shows a 175-MHz amplifier chain that operates directly from a 12-volt dc supply. An amplifier chain of this type can deliver 12 watts of output power with an input of 125 milliwatts and has an over-all efficiency of 60 per cent. The chain consists of three cascaded stages that provide power outputs of 1, 4, and 12 watts, respectively. For applications such as base stations in which higher output power levels are required, three overlay power transistors can be operated in parallel as shown in Fig. 212(b). In this arrangement, the transistors can supply as much as 35 watts at 175 MHz

when driven from the three-stage amplifier chain shown in Fig. 220(a). Fig. 213 shows a 25-watt, 175-MHz amplifier chain that uses 2N5995 and 2N5996 stripline-package transistors. Fig. 214 shows a 6-watt, 470-MHZ amplifier chain that employs 2N2914 and 2N2915 transistors.

The requirements of rf power transistors operated in mobile-radio applications are extremely severe. The transistors must withstand the load-mismatch conditions created by objects near the transmitting antenna or by a break in the transmission line anywhere between zero and one-half wavelength. Under such the transistors must conditions. handle not only the increased dissipation, but also sudden energy surges that can destroy them in just a few microseconds. The development of transmitters that are immune to these failures is a reeffort between ioint sult of a solid-state-device and mobile-radio manufacturers. To avoid excessive junction temperatures. the equipmust select ment manufacturer transistors of sufficiently low thermal resistance. If a transistor lacks enough dissipation capability, two should be used-even though one could deliver the required rf output power. The use of adequately sized heat sinks is essential to protect devices operated under high-ambienttemperature conditions. Current limiting should also be employed to prevent excessive rise in junction temperature under mismatched load conditions. As an added precaution, a thermostat can be mounted on the heat sink to reduce the transmitter power in the event that the temperature becomes excessive.

The protection of the devices from "instantaneous" failure is more difficult because the time response of current or voltage limiters is not fast enough. Fig. 215 shows a circuit which has a sufficiently fast response time to protect the power transistors from "instantaneous" failures that result from mismatched-load conditions. The circuit operates on the principle of reflected power. Under





Fig. 212—175-MHz transistor power amplifier: (a) 3-stage input amplifier; (b) output stage.



Fig. 213-Three-stage 25-watt, 175-MHz amplifier chain.



Fig. 214-Typical 470-MHz amplifier with 0.4-watt input and 6-watt output.

matched load conditions, there is no output from the VSWR detector. The control amplifier is saturated, and the gain-controlled rf amplifier operates at maximum gain. The power amplifier, therefore, is operated at maximum power output. If a mismatch occurs, a negative voltage from the VSWR bridge brings the control amplifier out of saturation, which, in turn, reduces the gain in the gain-controlled rf amplifier. Gain is reduced because the base of the rf amplifier becomes more negative with respect to the emitter, and because the unsaturated control

Linear System Applications



Fig. 215—Load-mismatch protection circuit.

amplifier has a degenerative effect on the rf amplifier. With the reduction in the gain of the gain-controlled rf amplifier, the drive to the power amplifier is decreased to safe levels. Once the load mismatch is removed, the system returns instantaneously to normal operating conditions.

SINGLE-SIDEBAND TRANSMITTERS

The increase in communication traffic, especially in the hf and vhf ranges, necessitates more effective use of the frequency spectrum so that more channels can be assigned to a given spectrum. It has been shown that one of the more efficient methods of communication is through the use of single-sideband (SSB) techniques. In the past, the poweramplifier stages of an SSB transmitter invariably employed tubes because of the lack of suitable highfrequency power transistors. Recent transistor developments. however. have made it feasible and practical to design and construct all-solidstate single-sideband equipment for both portable and vehicular applications.

Unlike most commercially available rf power transistors, which are normally designed primarily for class C operation, an SSB transistor is designed for linear applications and should have a flat beta curve for low distortion, and emitter ballast resistance for stability and degeneration. In high-power amplifiers, transistor junctions experience wide excursions in temperature and a means must be provided to sense the collector-junction temperature so that an external circuit can be used to provide bias compensation to prevent an excessive shift in operating point and to avoid catastrophic device failure as a result of thermal runaway.

Advantages of SSB Transmission

Single-sideband communication systems have many advantages over AM and FM systems. In areas in which reliability of transmission as well as power conservation are of prime concern, SSB transmitters are usually employed. The main advantages of SSB operation include reduced power consumption for effective transmission, reduced channel width to permit more transmitters to be operated within a given frequency range, and improved signal-to-noise ratio.

In a conventional 100-per-cent modulated AM transmitter. twothirds of the total power delivered by the power amplifier is at the carrier frequency, and contributes nothing to the transmission of intelligence. The remaining third of the total radiated power is distributed equally between the two sidebands. Because both sidebands are identical in intelligence content, the transmission of one sideband would be sufficient. In AM, therefore, only onesixth of the total rf power is fully utilized. In an SSB system, no power is transmitted in the suppressed sideband, and power in the carrier is greatly reduced or eliminated; as a result, the dc power requirement is substantially reduced. In other words, for the same dc input power, the peak useful output power of an SSB transmitter, in which the carrier is completely suppressed is theoretically six times that of a conventional AM transmitter.

Another advantage of SSB transmission is that elimination of one sideband reduces the channel width required for transmission to one-half that required for AM transmission. Theoretically, therefore, two SSB transmitters can be operated within a frequency spectrum that is normally required for one AM transmitter.

In a single-sideband system, the signal-to-noise power ratio is eight times as great as that of a fully modulated double-sideband system for the same peak power.

Linearity Test

For an amplifier to be linear, a relationship must exist such that the output voltage is directly proportional to the input voltage for all signal amplitudes. Because a singlefrequency signal in a perfectly linear single-sideband system remains unchanged at all points in the signal path, the signal cannot be distinguished from a cw signal or from an unmodulated carrier of an AM transmitter. To measure the linearity of an amplifier, it is necessa-ry to use a signal that varies in amplitude. In the method commonly used to measure nonlinear distortion, two sine-wave voltages of different frequencies are applied to the amplifier input simultaneous-ly, and the sum, difference, and various combination frequencies that are produced by nonlinearities of the amplifier are observed. A frequency difference of 1 to 2 kHz is used widely for this purpose. A typicla two-tone signal without distortion, as displayed on a spectrum analyzer, is shown in Fig. 216. The resultant signal envelope varies continuously between zero and maximum at an audio-frequency rate. When the signals are in phase, the peak of the two-frequency envelope is limited by the voltage and current ratings of the transistor to the same power rating as that for the single-frequency case. Because the amplitude of each two-tone frequency is equal to one-half the cw amplitude under peak power condition, the average power of one tone of a twotone signal is one-fourth the singlefrequency power. For two tones, conversely, the PEP rating of a singlesideband system is two times the average power rating.





Intermodulation Distortion

amplifier Nonlinearities in an generate intermodulation (IM) distortion. The important IM products are those close to the desired output frequency, which occur within the pass band and cannot be filtered out by normal tuned circuits. If f. and fa are the two desired output signals, third-order IM products take the form of $2f_1 - f_2$ and $2f_3$ $- f_1$. The matching third-order terms are $2f_1 + f_2$ and $2f_2 + f_1$, but these matching terms correspond to frequencies near the third harmonic output of the amplifier and are greatly attenuated by tuned circuits. It is important to note that only odd-order distortion products appear near the fundamental frequency. The frequency spectrum shown in Fig. 217 illustrates the frequency relationship of some distortion



Fig. 217—Frequency spectrum showing the frequency relationship of some distortion products to two test signals f_1 and f_2 .

products to the test signals f, and f2. All such products are either in the difference-frequency region or the harmonic regions of the in original frequencies. Tuned circuits or filters following the nonlinear elements can effectively remove all products generated by the evenorder components of curvature. Therefore, the second-order component that produces the second harmonic does not produce any distortion in a narrow-band SSB linear amplifier. This factor explains why class AB and class B rf amplifiers can be used as linear amplifiers in SSB equipment even through the collector-current pulses contain large amounts of second-harmonic current. In a wideband linear application, however, it is possible for harmonics of the operating frequency to occur within the pass band of the output circuit. Biasing the output transistor further into class AB can greatly reduce the undesired harmonics. Operation of two transistors in the push-pull configuration can also result in cancellation of even harmnics in the output.



Fig. 218-Typical intermodulation distortion in an RCA-40675 transistor at various output power levels.

The signal-to-distortion ratio (in dB) is the ratio of the amplitude of one test frequency to the amplitude of the strongest distortion product. A signal-to-distortion specification of -30 dB means that no distortion product will exceed this value for a two-tone signal level

up to the PEP rating of the amplifier. A typical presentation of IM distortion for a 40675 transistor at various output-power levels is shown in Fig. 218.

Transistor Requirements

Most high-frequency power transistors are designed for class C operation. Forward biasing of such for class operation devices AB places them in a region where second breakdown may occur. The susceptibility of a transistor to second breakdown is frequency-dependent. Experimental results indicate that the higher the frequency response of a transistor, the more severe the second-breakdown limitation hecomes. For an rf power transistor, the second-breakdown energy level at high voltage (greater than 20 volts) becomes a small fraction of its rated maximum power dissipation. This behavior is one of the reasons that vacuum tubes have traditionally been used in singlesideband applications.

A power transistor designed especially for use as a linear amplifier is required to perform satisfactorily when forward-biased for class AB operation, as well as to exhibit the desired high-frequency response. The ability of the transistor to withstand second breakdown is improved by subdividing the emitter into many small sites and resistively ballasting the individual sites. The RCA 2N5070 and 40675 transistors are designed specifically for linear-amplifier service in SSB applications. Current-limiting resistors are placed in series with each emitter site between the metalizing and the emitter-to-base junction.

Bias Control

Operation of the transistor in a class AB amplifier to improve linearity requires the use of a positive base voltage for an n-p-n silicon transistor. The magnitude of the positive voltage must be large enough to bias the transistor to a point slightly beyond the threshold of collector-current conduction. The class AB bias condition must be maintained over a wide temperature range to prevent an increase in idling current to the level at which the transistor can be destroyed as a result of thermal runaway and to minimize distortion that results from a shift in the quiescent point.

It is particularly difficult to maintain the bias current of a transistor high-power class AB amplifier at a constant level. As the drive increases, the dissipation increases and the junction temperature rises. If the conventional biasing technique is employed (an ac-bypassed emitter resistor and a constant voltage supply to the base), the varying emitter current that results from the varying drive changes the voltage drop across the emitter resistor and causes the bias to shift with drive. If a constant-current base-bias supply is used, the drive power is rectified and the bias point is changed.

The problem of maintaing a stable quiescent current is caused by a reduction in the $V_{\rm BE}$ of the transistor when the temperature rises. The base-to-emitter voltage decreases at a rate of approximately 2 millivolts per °C rise in temperature. Unless this condition is compensated for (i.e., bias voltage made to vary according to the V_{BE} decrease), the transistor is destroyed by the thermal effects.

Bias-point control for the 40675 SSB transistor is accomplished by use of a diode placed next to the transistor pellet in the same package. The cathode of the diode is connected internally to the emitter lead. The anode of the diode is connected to a fourth terminal, as shown in Fig. 219. The diode is forward-biased between 1 to 5 milliamperes to provide a forward-voltage drop that is temperature-sensitive. At such a low current, the diode operates in the low-conductance region where it does not provide the stiff voltage necessary for the transistor bias. In this case, the



Fig. 219—Package outline for the RCA-40675 SSB transistor showing internalpackage diode used for transistor biaspoint control.

diode acts merely as a thermometer; an external amplifier must be used for current amplification. Compensation is achieved because the diode has approximately the same temperature coefficient for its forwardvoltage drop as does the baseemitter junction of the transistor. Good tracking is obtained by mounting the diode and transistor pellets in the same case in very close proximity to minimize any thermal time lag. Temperature coefficient depends, to a large extent, upon the operating current. If the diode current can be adjusted so that it is approximately equal to the base current, good compensation can be achieved. The block diagram of a current amplifier that uses a lowconductance diode is shown in Fig. 220.

The schematic diagram of the current (bias-control) amplifier is shown in Fig. 221. The current amplifier employs a dc differential amplifier. The output voltage is the bias source for the power transistor. The use of a differential amplifier makes the entire amplifier relatively insensitive to temperature variations. Two additional stages are used for current amplification with negative feedback for stability.



Fig. 220—Block diagram of 30-MHz amplifier that uses a low-conductance diode for temperature compensation.



Fig. 221—Bias-control stages for linear 30-MHz amplifier with temperature-compensating circuit.

Transistor collector-bias current can be adjusted by varying the potentiometer connected in series with the temperature-compensating diode. The diode current established by $R_{\rm bias}$ determines the degree of compensation. Overcom-

pensation occurs when diode current is greater than the base current. Fig. 222(a) shows collector quiescent current, intially biased at 10 milliamperes, as a function of case temperature. With compensation, the transistor is thermally stable even for case temperature as high as 150°C. Without compensation, however, the transistor tends toward thermal runaway at a case temperature of approximately 75°C.



Fig. 222—Performance characteristics for the 30-MHz amplifier: (a) collector current as a function of case temperature with and without temperature compensation; (b) output power and intermodulation distortion as a function of case temperature.

Because both input and output are isolated through rf chokes, the external circuit provides compensation without degrading the rf performance of the power amplifier. Fig. 222(b) shows that no appreciable decrease in output power nor much increase in the third-order IM distortion occurs with increasing case temperature up to $T_c = 120^{\circ}C$. The slight decrease in distortion,

together with a decrease in collector efficiency, can be attributed to a rise in rf saturation voltage and a decrease in transistor beta at high temperature.

Despite the extra circuit needed to achieve temperature stabilization, the approach provides a practical solution for achievement of reliable operation of a class AB amplifier over a wide temperature range. The use of a small diode as a temperature-sensing element offers the following advantages:

(a) Diode and transistor pellets need not be matched for forwardvoltage drop.

(b) Transistor quiescent current can be either overcompensated or undercompensated against changes in temperature by variation of the diode current.

(c) A diode idling current as low as 1 to 5 milliamperes can be used.

(d) Current of less than 50 milliamperes at 28 volts is needed to operate the external compensating circuit.

Typical Linear Amplifier

The common-emitter configuration should be used for the power amplifier because of its stability and high power gain. Tuning is less critical, and the amplifier is less sensitive to parameters in among variations transistors. The class AB mode is used to obtain low intermodulation distortion. Neither resistive loading nor neutralization is used to improve linearity because of the resulting drastic reduction in power gain; furthermore, neutralization is difficult for large signals because parameters such as output capacitance and output and input impedances vary nonlinearly over the limits of signal swing.

In low-power linear amplifiers, the use of temperature-compensating circuits is sometimes not necessary provided that the transistor output power is less than 50 per cent of its maximum cw power rating. The RCA-2N5070 transistor is

RF Power Amplification and Generation

useful in such application. This transistor is specified for SSB applications without temperature compensation as follows:



Fig. 223 shows a 2-to-30-MHz wideband linear amplifier that uses other types of RCA rf transistors. At 5 watts (PEP) output, IM distortion products are more than 40 dB below one tone of a two-tone signal. Power gain is greater than 40 dB.

Fig. 224 shows a 150-watt 2-to-30-MHz push-pull amplifier that



Fig. 223-2-to-30-MHz linear power amplifier.



Fig. 224-2-to-30-MHz, 130-watt (PEP) push-pull linear amplifier.

uses a pair of 40675 transistors. Typical performance curves for this amplifier are shown in Fig. 225.



Fig. 225—Typical performance curves for amplifier shown in Fig. 224.

AIRCRAFT RADIO

The aircraft radios discussed in this section are of the type used for communication between the pilot and the airport tower. The transmitter operates in an AM mode on specific channels between 118 and 136 MHz. Radios of this type are regulated by both the FCC and the FAA (Federal Aeronautics Administration). The FCC assigns frequencies to airports and places some requirements on the transmitters, regards spurious particularly as radiation and interference. The FAA sets minimum requirements on radio performance which are based on the maximum authorized altitudes for the plane, whether paying passengers are carried, and on the authorization for instrument flying. The FAA gives a desirable TSO certification to radio equipment that satisfies their standards of airworthiness.

The FCC checks aircraft-radio transmitter designs for interference and other electrical characteristics (as it does all transmitters). Additional requirements are specified for radios intended for use by scheduled airlines by a corporation supported by the airlines themselves.

Fig. 226 shows a broadband amplifier that can supply 15 watts of carrier power for aircraft transmitters.

VHF AND UHF MILITARY RADIO

Military radios, which operate in the vhf and uhf ranges, vary greatly in requirements. Telemetering devices may operate with as little output as 0.25 watt, while communication systems may require outputs of 50 watts and more. Modulation may be AM, FM, PM (pulse modulation), or PCM (pulse-code modulation). Equipment may be designed for fixed, mobile, airborne, or even space applications. Although the circuits described in this section apply



Fig. 226—Amplitude-modulated broadband amplifier for 118-to-136-MHz operation.

RF Power Amplification and Generation

only to specific military applications, they are representative of the general design techniques used in all military vhf and uhf radio equipment.

Sonobuoy Transmitters

A sonobuoy is a floating submarine-detecting device that incorporates an underwater sound detector (hydrophone). The audio signals received are converted to a frequency-modulated rf signal which is transmitted to patrolling aircraft or surface vessels. The buoy is battery-operated and is designed to have a very limited active life.

Typical requirements for the rftransmitter section of the sonobuoy are as follows:

Frequency = 165 MHz Supply Voltage = 8 to 15 volts CW Output = 0.25 to 1.5 watts Over-all Efficiency = 50 per cent Harmonic Output = 40 dB down from carrier

Figure 227 shows the circuit configuration of an experimental sonobuoy transmitter designed to produce a power output of 2 watts at 160 MHz. Only three stages, including the crystal-controlled oscillator section, are required. Efficiency is greater than 50 per cent (overall) with a battery supply of 12 to 15 volts.

The 2N3866 or 2N4427 transistor can be used in a class A oscillatorquadrupler circuit which is capable of delivering 40 milliwatts of rf power at 80 MHz. Narrow-band frequency modulation is accomplished by "pulling" of the crystal oscillator. The crystal is operated in its fundamental mode at 20 MHz. The oscillator is broadly tuned to 20 MHz in the emitter circuit and is sharply tuned to 80 MHz in the collector circuit. The supply voltage to the oscillator section is regulated at 12 volts by means of a zener diode. Spectrum-analyzer tests indicate that this stage is highly stable even though rather high operating levels are used.

The oscillator-quadrupler section is followed by a 2N3553 class C doubler stage. This stage delivers a power output of 250 milliwatts at 160 MHz from a 12- to 15-volt supply. The over-all output of the sonobuoy can be adjusted by varying the emitter resistance of this stage.

The final power output is developed by an RCA-2N2711 transistor which operates as a straight-through class C amplifier at 160 MHz. A pi



Fig. 227-2-watt (rf power output) sonobuoy transmitter.

network matches this output to the 50-ohm line. The spurious output (measured directly at the output port) is more than 35 dB down from the carrier. This suppression is achieved by means of series resonant trap circuits between stages and the use of the pi network in the output.

Many sonobuoy systems require power outputs in the range of only 0.25 to 0.5 watt, preferably with a supply voltage of 8 to 12 volts. The 2N4427 transistor is suitable for use as the doubler and also the final output device in such low-power applications. Fig. 228 shows a diagram of an output stage which uses the 2N4427 as a straight-through 175-MHz class C amplifier. This circuit can deliver output power of more than 500 milliwatts with a supply voltage of 10 volts and a drive power of 60 milliwatts.



Fig. 228—0.5-watt 175-MHz sonohuoy rf power output stage.

For the lower power-output requirement at low supply voltages, the oscillator-quadrupler stage should use lower-power transistors such as the 2N1491 or 2N914. Only 10 to 15 milliwatts of fourth harmonic power is required in this case. The bias-network resistors (R_2 and R_3) should be adjusted for reliable oscillator starting conditions at these lower supply voltages.

Sonobuoy circuits, in general, must be reliable, simple, and low in cost. The three-stage transmitter circuit shown in Fig. 227 is intended to be representative of the general design techniques used in these systems. However, four-stage sonobuoy transmitter systems are also in common use at the present time. Typically, a four-stage arrangement consists of an oscillator-tripler stage, a second tripler stage, a buffer stage, and a final amplifier stage. Most present-day sonobuoy applications require CW power output between 0.25 and 0.5 watt.

Air-Rescue Beacon

The air-rescue beacon is intended to aid rescue teams in locating airplane crew members forced down on land or at sea. The beacons are amplitude-modulated or continuoustone line-of-sight transmitters. They are battery-operated and small enough to be included in survival gear.

Typical requirements for rescue beacons are as follows:

Frequency = 243 MHz (fixed) Power Output = 300 milliwatts (carrier) Efficiency = greater than 50 per cent Supply Voltage = 6 to 12 volts Modulation = AM, up to ±100 per cent

The 2N4427 transistor is especially suited for this service. A general circuit for the driver and output stages is shown in Fig. 229. Collector modulation, as well as some driver modulation, is used to achieve good down-modulation of the final amplifier. Conventional transformercoupled modulation is used; however, a separate power supply and resistor network in the driver circuit are provided to adjust the modulation level of this stage independently of the output stage.

The rf-amplifier design is conventional; pi- and T-matching networks are used; simpler circuits (e.g.,

RF Power Amplification and Generation



Fig. 229-Driver and output stage for a 243-MHz beacon transmitter.

device-resonated tapped coils), however, could be used. The T-matching network at the driver input is used to match the amplifier to a 50-ohm source for test purposes. A 10-to-20milliwatt input signal is needed to develop a 300-to-400-milliwatt carrier output level.

Broadband Power Amplifier

RF power transistors are often used in broadband amplifier circuits for commercial and military applications. Transistor transmitters are superior to tube transmitters with respect to broadband capability, reliability, size, and weight. The aircraft communication bands of 116 to 152 MHz (discussed in previous section) and 225 to 400 MHz are of interest for both military and commercial applications. Another area of interest ECM is (electronic counter-measures equipment) appli-Transistors cations. suitable for broadband applications must be capable of providing both the required

power output within the entire frequency range of interest and constant gain within the pass band. The bandwith of a transistor power amplifier is limited by the following three factors: (1) intrinsic transistor structure, (2) transistor parasitics, and (3) external circuits such as input and output circuits.

Transistor Structure-The parameters which determine the bandwidth of a transistor structure are the emitter-to-collector transit time, the collector depletion-layer capacitance, and the base-spreading resistance. The emitter-to-collector transit time, which represents the sum of the emitter capacitance charging delay, the base transit time, and the collector depletion-layer transit time, affects the over-all time of response to an input signal. The emitter-tocollector transit time is inversely proportional to the gain-bandwidth product f_T of the transistor. A high f_T is essential for broadband operation; in addition, a constant fr with

current level is required for largesignal operation. The ratio of the $f_{\rm T}$ to the product of the base-spreading resistance and the collector depletion-layer capacitance ($r_{\rm b}C_{\rm c}$) comprises the gain function of a transistor.

Under conjugate-matched input and output conditions, the power gain, which is equal to $f_T/8\pi f^2 r_b C_c$. falls off at a rate of 6 dB per octave. In a power amplifier, the power gain is usually decreased by less than 6 dB per octave, as shown in Fig. 230(a), because the load resistance R_L presented to the collector is not equal to the output resistance of the transistor but is dictated by the required power output and the collector voltage swing. The curve in Fig. 230(a) indicates that one approach to achieving a broadband transistor amplifier is to optimize the matching at the higher end of the frequency band and to introduce mismatch in the input or output, or both, at the lower end of the band so that a constant power output is obtained from f_1 to f_2 ; this latter approach is shown in Fig. 230(b). The power output that can be obtained with a transistor broadband amplifier is comparable to that measured at the high end of the band in a narrowband amplifier; efficiency and power gain are slightly lower than in a narrowband amplifier because the load and source impedance cannot be ideally matched to the transistor over a broad frequency band. The disadvantage of this approach to producing a broadband transistor amplifier is the resultant relatively high input VSWR at the low end of the band.

A more sophisticated approach to achieving broadband performance is to consider the transistor structure, the transistor parasitic elements, and the external circuits as part of the over-all band-pass structure, in which the input and output circuits are coupled together by the transistor feedback capacitance. This combined structure reproduces the power-output or power-gain curve

of Fig. 230(a) from f_1 to f_2 . External feedback is then applied to control the input drive and flatten the power output over a broad frequency band.



Fig. 230—(a) Output power as a function of frequency in an amplifier with conjugate-matched input and output conditions; (b) a method of correcting the decrease in power gain.shown in (a).

Parasitic Limitation-Every discrete transistor contains parasitic elements which impose further limion bandwidth. The most tations critical parasitics are the emitterlead inductance L, and the base in-These parasitic inductance L_{b} . to ductances range from 0.1 3 nanohenries in commercially available rf power transistors. In the simple equivalent circuit of a common-emtter transistor input circuit at high frequency shown in Fig. 231, the inductance L_{in} represents the sum of the base parasitic inductance and the reflected emitter parasitic inductance; \mathbf{R}_{in} is the dynamic input resistance. The real part of the impedance, R_{in} , is inversely proportional to the collector area and the power-output capability of the device; i.e., the higher the power output, the lower the value of R_{in} . A low ratio of the reactance of L_{in} to R_{in} is important as the first step in broadband amplifier design. Unless the reactance of L_{in} is appreciably lower than the input resistance R_{in} , the reactance must be tuned out and thus the bandwidth limited.



Fig. 231—Equivalent input circuit of an rf power transistor.

External Circuits—For a broadband amplifier circuit to deliver constant power output over the frequency range of interest, a proper

1

i,

collector load must be maintained to provide the necessary voltage and current swings. In addition, the input matching network must be capable of transforming the low input impedance of the transistor to a relatively high source impedance.

Suitable output circuits for broadband amplifiers includes constant-K low-pass filters, Chebyshev filters (both transmission-line and lumpedconstant types), baluns, and tapered lines. Fig. 232(a) shows a conventional constant-K low-pass filter. The input impedance Z_{11} is substantially constant at frequencies below the cutoff frequency $\omega_{\rm c} = (L_{\rm K}C_{\rm K})^{\frac{1}{2}}$. A constant collector load resistance can be obtained if the shunt arm (1-1) of C_{κ} is split into two capacitances. as shown in Fig. 232(b). Part of the capacitance represents the output capacitance of the transistor, C_o ; the other part has a value which makes the total capacitance equal to C_{κ} . Further improvement of bandwidth can be obtained by the cascading of more sections.



Fig. 232-A conventional constant-K lowpass filter (a), a method of obtaining a constant collector load resistance (b), a short-step microstrip impedance transformer (c), a lumped equivalent Chebyshev impedance transformer (d).

Fig. 232(c) shows a short-step microstrip impedance transformer which consists of short lengths of relatively high-impedance transmission line alternating with short lengths of relatively low-impedance transmission line. The sections of transmission line are all of the same length (i.e., $\lambda/16$). A constant load resistance can be maintained across the collector-emitter terminals over a wide frequency band if the circuit is designed to include a Chebyshev transmission characteristic. Fig. a lumped-element 232(d) shows Chebyshev impedance transformer which consists of a ladder network of series inductances and shunt ca-Transmission-line pacitances. well as strip-line baluns with different stepdown ratios (4 to 1, 9 to 1, and 16 to 1) can also be used in the output to provide the broadband impedance transformation.

difficulty encountered in One transistor-power-amplibroadband fier design involves the attainment of the desired bandwidth in an input circuit which provides the required impedance transformation from the extremely low input impedance of transistor to a relatively high а source impedance. The design of the input circuit depends on the approach chosen: optimization of the match at the high end only, or the use of transistor parasitic elements as part of a low-pass structure. A simple way of optimizing the match at the high end is to introduce a capacitance between the base and the emitter terminals of the transistor to tune out the reactive part of the parallel equivalent input impedance of the transistor. The networks in Fig. 233 show that the lower the inductance Lin or Qin, the less frequency-sensitive is the equivalent parallel resistance Req. The networks shown provide a first step-up transformation for the real part of the input impedance of the transistor. When a capacitor is connected to the network of Fig. 233(a), the circuit has the same form as a half-section of a constant-K lowpass filter. If the cutoff frequency $\omega_c = 1/(L_{1n}C)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ is high compared to the frequency of interest (f₂ in Fig. 230), the total combined input impedance of the transistor input and the capacitance C is approximately $R_{1n}/(1 - \omega^2/\omega_c^2)$ and is constant if $(\omega^2/\omega_c^2) < 1$.

The remaining step in broadband transistor power amplifier design is the design of a network to provide the necessary impedance transformation over the entire frequency band. Circuits suitable for the input include multisection constant-K filters, Chebyshev filters, and tapered lines. A more sophisticated approach to obtaining a broadband transformation in the input is to treat the parasitic inductance Lin of Fig. 233 as part of the transformation network. For example, Lin can be considered as one arm of the Chebyshev low-pass filter of Fig. 232(d). For a given bandpass characteristic, the number of sections increases with the value of Lin. Again, therefore, low package parasitic inductance is important.





Fig. 234 shows a 225-to-400-MHz broadband amplifier that uses



Fig. 234-225-to-400-MHz broadband amplifier using 2N5919.

an RCA 2N5919 transistor in conjunction with a Chebyshev input and output. Fig. 235 shows typical performance curves for this circuit. With an input of 4 watts, the circuit is capable of a minimum power output of 15 watts with a variation of 1.5 dB from 225 to 400 MHz; the collector efficiency is greater than 70 per cent.



Fig. 235—Typical broadband performance of the 225-to-400-MHz amplifier circuit shown in Fig. 234.

MICROWAVE POWER AMPLIFIERS

The power-output and frequency capabilities of rf power transistors have been increased many-fold during recent years so that the frequency spectrum over which these devices can provide useful power output now extends well into the microwave region.

In comparisons of transistor performances, gain and efficiency, as well as power output and frequency, are important considerations. The use of more than one low-gain transistor to obtain the same gain as one high-gain transistor results in reduced collector efficiency. For example, Fig. 236 illustrates the use of two transistors which have the same power output, but different gain and collector efficiency. The high-gain unit shown in Fig. 236(a) is capable of delivering an output of 10 watts at 1 GHz with a gain of 10 dB and a collector efficiency of 50 per cent. The low-gain unit shown in Fig. 236(b) is also capable of 10 watts output at 1 GHz, but with a gain of only 5 dB and a collector efficiency of only 30 per cent.

As shown in Fig. 236, two low-gain transistors are required to provide the same performance as one highgain, high-efficiency unit. Besides using an additional transistor, the system of Fig. 236(b) requires twice as much dc power as that of Fig. 236(a); the additional 5 dB of gain required to match the high-gain transistor can be achieved only at the expense of 24 watts of dc power.



TOTAL $P_0 = P_{IN}(PG_1 \cdot PG_2)$ TOTAL COLLECTOR EFFICIENCY = $\frac{TOTAL P_0}{P_{dc1} + P_{dc2}}$

(b)

Fig. 236—Comparison of one and twotransistor systems with the same power output but different gain and collector efficiencies.

From the practical point of view, the system of Fig. 236(b) is more complex, and the higher dissipation of the output transistor is undesirable.

The 2N5108 transistor can be used in the common-emitter amplifier mode at L-band frequencies. A typical circuit configuration capable of operation in the 1-to-1.5-GHz range is shown in Fig. 237. This circuit can provide an output power of 1 watt at 1 GHz with a 28-volt power supply. The transistor emitter is directly grounded to the ground plane of the strip-line circuit board. The input circuit consists of capacitors C_1 and C_2 and the parasitic lead inductance of the 2N5108 transistor.



Fig. 237—1-GHz power amplifier using 2N5108 transistor.

The output circuit uses a capacitively loaded 50-ohm section of stripline which is resonant at the operating frequency. The amplifier power gain is in the order of 6 dB; collector efficiency is about 35 per cent.

The RCA-2N5921 coaxial transistor is designed for operation at high L-band or low S-band frequencies. Fig. 238(a) shows a coaxial-line amplifier circuit which can provide 6 watts of output power at 2 GHz with a 28-volt power supply. In this circuit, the coaxial transistor is placed in series with the center conductors of the coaxial lines, and the base is properly grounded to separate the input and output cavities. The input line L_i, in conjunction with capacitance C_1 and C_2 , transforms the complex input impedance to 50 ohms of real resistance.

The transistor output load impedance required for a 6-watt output







Fig. 238---A coaxial-line amplifier circuit that can provide 6 watts of output power at 2 GHz with a 28-volt supply: (a) circuit diagram; (b) the hardware required for the circuit in (a); (c) rf power output as a function of frequency for the 2N5921 transistor.

is 2.5 + j2.4 ohms at 2 GHz; the combination of a 7.8-ohm line L_2 (1-inch long) and capacitors C_7 and C_6 provides the transformation from 50 ohms to this value.

The hardware required in the circuit of Fig. 238(a) is shown in Fig. 238(b). A heat sink is provided by pressing the flange of the transistor to the outside conductor of the cavities. Additional heat flow is obtained through the use of a boron nitride cylinder which makes direct contact between the coaxial-line conductors over the entire length of the cavity. This arrangement improves heat conduction and thus is more suitable for high-power microwave transistors. In addition, the boron nitride, which has electrical and thermal properties comparable to aluminum oxide, is readily machineable and nontoxic. As a result of the use of the boron-nitride cylinder, coaxial-line lengths are substantially reduced.

When operated at 28 volts, the circuit of Fig. 238(a) can deliver cw power output of 6 watts at a gain of 7 dB; collector efficiency is greater than 45 per cent. Because of the excellent input and output circuit isolation (within the 2N5921 transistor as well as in this coaxial circuit design), the common-base circuit configuration shown in Fig. 238 is extremely stable. Fig. 238(c) shows the power output as a function of frequency of a 2N5921 transistor at 28 volts.

It has been established that a well-designed coaxial transistor package (such as the 2N5921) generally outperforms other transistor packages (including strip-line packages) microwave at frequencies. This performance can be related to the low values of the parasitic elements and the excellent isolation between the input and output circuits which is possible in the coaxial configuration. Coaxial transistors can also be used in microstrip or strip-line amplifier circuits which have thermal and electrical performance equal to that of the coaxial-line circuits.

shows the circuit Fig. 239(a) mounting arrangement of the 2N5921 coaxial transistor. The transistor is mounted vertically in a hole through a metal block. The cross-sectional view of the metal block can also be seen in Fig. 239(a). The bottom side of the metal block is counterbored so that the base flange of the transistor can be placed flush with the metal block. The hole through the metal block has a somewhat larger diameter than that of the ceramic portion of the transistor which separates the base flange and the collector stud. A cylinder of beryllium oxide or boron nitride is press-fit between the transistor and the metal block to provide an additional heat-conducting path from the

COLLECTOR BERYLLIUM OXIDE OR BORON NITRIDE METAL BAR BASE TERMINAL EMITTER TERMINAL 2N592 (a) OUTPUT (COLLECTOR) LINE (COPPER SHEET) BERYLLIUM OXIDE METAL BAR DIELECTRIC MATERIAL DIELECTRIC 2N5921 INPUT (EMITTER) LINE (COPPER SHEET) (b)

Fig. 239—(a) Circuit mounting arrangement of the RCA-2N5921 coaxial transistor, and (b) a microstrip-line circuit making use of the arrangement in (a).

collector stud to the metal block; the block also serves as both a heat sink and a ground. The diameters of the holes through the metal block and the cylinder of beryllium oxide (or boron nitride) are determined by the desired characteristic impedance of the short coaxial-line section which is formed by this mounting technique. The beryllium oxide and boron nitride have excellent heat conductivity and low electrical losses and thus provide satisfactory heat dissipation from the coaxial transistor without adversely affecting the rf performance.

The arrangement shown in Fig. 239(a) is suitable for use in microstrip, strip-line, and lumped-element circuits. The output circuit can be constructed on the top portion of the metal block and the input circuit on the bottom portion. This arrangement provides excellent isolation between the input and output circuits. For example, Fig. 239(b) shows the construction of the microstrip-line circuit. The output circuit is constructed of standard micro-strip line mounted on the top surface of the metal block. The input circuit is constructed of another microstrip line placed directly over the bottom surface of the metal block. A strip-line circuit can be formed by placing another strip of dielectric material and ground plane above the conductor strips of Fig. 239(b).

In the microstrip amplifier circuit shown in Fig. 240, a 2N5921 transistor is mounted in a 0.350-inch-ID hole in a 0.210-inch-thick aluminum block. The base flange is mounted flush to one surface of this block. The collector section, however, is mounted through the hole in the block; a boron-nitride sleeve in the hole serves as an additional heat sink for the transistor.

The input and output lines are thin (5-mil) copper strips that are taped down on 5-mil Dupont H-Film,*

^{*} Registered trademark, Dupont DeNemours & Co.

which serves as the dielectric medium of the microstrip circuit. The circuits are fixed-tuned at about 2 GHz. The ceramic capacitors C_1 and C_5 (used for dc isolation at the input and output ports) are slightly inductive at 2 GHz. The electrical performance of the circuit is equal to that of the coaxial-cavity circuit shown in Fig. 238.



* SHORT SECTION OF TRANSMISSION LINE FORMED BY COLLECTOR STUD SURROUNDING METAL BAR (CHASSIS)

Fig. 240—Typical 2-GHz grounded-base microstrip-line power amplifier circuit.

Fig. 241(a) shows the configuration for a 2-GHz amplifier that uses the same layout as that shown in Fig. 239. The metal block is aluminum. The input and output circuits are constructed on 1/32-inch Teflon* fiberglass board which is mounted atop the aluminum so that the input and output lines are on opposite sides of the aluminum block.

When operated at 28 volts with a typical 2N5470 transistor in the circuit, the 2-GHz amplifier can deliver a power output of 1.2 watts with a gain of 6 dB. The collector efficiency is 43 per cent, and the 3-dB bandwidth is 12 per cent. The performance of this microstrip-line amplifier is equivalent to that of a cavity or coaxial-line amplifier circuit.

A similar 1.5-GHz amplifier is shown in Fig. 241(b). The output circuit of this amplifier is constructed on 1/32-inch Teflon fiberglass board which is mounted on one surface of an aluminum block. The input line is constructed on the opposite side of the aluminum block; the block serves as the ground plane of the line. The input line is formed by mounting a 5-mil copper sheet over a 5-mil dielectric sheet (DuPont H-film) which is placed directly over





Fig. 241—(a) A 2-GHz, and (b) a 1.5-GHz stripline amplifier using the type 2N5470 transistor.

(b)

^{*} Registered trademark, Dupont DeNemours & Co.

the aluminum block surface. This amplifier circuit, when operated at 28 volts with a typical 2N5470 transistor included, can provide output power of 1.5 watts with a gain of 8.5 dB and a collector efficiency of 50 per cent.

MICROWAVE POWER GENERATION

Microwave power can be generated by operation of a power transistor as a fundamental-frequency oscillator or as an amplifier incorporated with a low-power, crystal-controlled multiplier chain. Both modes of operation are important in microwave applications. Fundamental-frequency oscillators are now widely used in local oscillators and sonde oscillators, and for backward-wave oscillator (BWO) replacement.

Fundamental-Frequency Oscillators

Transistors capable of power amplification are also suitable for power oscillation. The most important part of every oscillator is an element of amplification. It is then necessary only to provide a path that feeds back a part of the power output to the input in the proper phase and a source of dc power. The maximum frequency of oscillation, which is related to fmax in a small-signal transistor, is usually difficult to define in a microwave power transistor because of the added parasitic elements. The circuit-design for an oscillator circuit is similar to that discussed previously for amplifier circuits.

Fig. 242 shows Colpitts, Hartley, and Clapp transistor oscillators suitable for use in microwave applications. The inductances and the capacitances of the oscillator shown in Fig. 242(a) can sometimes be considered as the parasitic elements of the package. Such parasitic elements can be used to form a transistor oscillator capable of operation at microvave frequencies provided the frequency of oscillation can be controlled. Although the transistor configuration is not too well defined in these oscillator circuits, the device can be grounded in high-frequency operation at the collector, the base, or the emitter without affecting its performance.



Fig. 242—Basic transistor oscillator circuits: (a) Colpitts, (b) Hartley, and (c) Clapp.

L-Band Oscillators-Fig. 243 shows the circuit configuration of a 1.68-GHz fundamental-frequency oscillator which uses the 2N5108 transistor. This transistor is packaged in a TO-39 case, and its collector is grounded to the ground plane of a 1/16-inch Teflon-fiberglass microstripline board. Power output is taken from the base through a 0.75-inch section of 50ohm microstripline and the capacitor network composed of C_1 and C_2 . Power output greater than 0.3 watt can be obtained at 1.68 GHz with the 2N5108 transistor. Transistor efficiency is 20 per cent at a supply voltage of 25 volts.

The basic oscillator circuit shown in Fig. 243 is useful over the range of 1 to 2 GHz with only slight modifications in the length of the transmission line L_1 . For example, an increase of line length to 0.80 inch optimizes the circuit for operation at 1.5 GHz. Output power of 400



Fig. 243—1.68-GHz fundamental-frequency oscillation using a 2N5108 transistor.

milliwatts (with a 24-volt supply) can be expected at this frequency. In another interesting modification of the 0.80-inch line, operation is optimized at 1.25 GHz when capacitor C_2 is moved to the dotted position. This modification results in an improved output transformation network which can develop better than 800 milliwatts of output power at 1.25 GHz with the 24-volt supply.

S-Band Oscillators-Although the 2N5470 coaxial transistor is designed for stable operation in the commonbase amplifier mode at 2.3 GHz, it can also deliver a power output of 0.3 watt at 2.3 GHz as an oscillator. In this device, the very low values of the parasitic elements are used to simplify circuit requirements; for example, lumped-constant, S-band circuits can be designed around this unit. However, because of the low feedback capacitances of the unit. external feedback loops are needed for sustained oscillation at S-band frequencies.

Fig. 244 shows a simple lumpedconstant circuit using the 2N5470 transistor. The circuit is tunable over the range of 1.8 to 2.3 GHz. At 2 GHz with a 24-volt supply, the

power output of this circuit is typically 0.3 watt; the efficiency is in the order of 16 per cent. The collector is grounded and power output is taken from the base circuit. All leads in the circuit must be kept as short as possible for highest frequency response. Capacitor C1 forms a part of the feedback loop of the circuit, which is basically a Hartley arrangement because L₁ and the parastic inductances of C, make up a tapped inductor in the feedback loop. Capacitor C6 is used for tuning while capacitor C₆ is used for maintaining output match with tuning.



Fig. 244—A 2-GHz lumped-constant oscillator using a 2N5470 transistor.

Fig. 245 shows another oscillator circuit, a Colpitts type, in which the 2N5470 transistor can be used over the range of 1.8 to 2.2 GHz. The base of the transistor is directly grounded to the ground plane on the strip-line board; collector heat is conducted to this board through a beryllium oxide insulating washer. Feedback is provided by the phaseresonant loop composed of L_i and C_i . The output line makes use of standard microstrip-line techniques: L_2 provides the reactance needed to tune out the output capacitance; L_i , a quarter-wave transformer, transforms the real collector load impedance to about 50 ohms. This circuit can also produce about 0.3 watt output at 2 GHz with a 24-volt supply.



Fig. 245—2-GHz microstrip-line oscillator using a 2N5470 transistor.

Transistor Frequency-Multiplier Circuits

Because the output-current waveform of power transistors can be made to contain both fundamental and harmonic frequency components, power output can be obtained at a desired harmonic frequency by use of a special type of output circuit coupled to the collector of the transistor. Transistors can be connected in either the common-base or the common-emitter configuration for frequency multiplication.

The design of transistor frequency-multiplier circuits consists of selection of a suitable transistor and design of filtering and matching networks for optimum circuit performance. The transistor must be capable of power and gain at the fundamental frequency and capable of converting power from the fundamental to a harmonic frequency. At a given input power level, the output power at a desired harmonic frequency is equal to the product of the power gain of the transistor at the drive frequency and the conversion efficiency of the frequency-multiplier circuit. Conversion gain can be obtained only when the power gain of the transistor at the fundamental frequency is larger than the conversion loss of the circuit.

instabilities Various types of can occur in transistor frequencymultiplier circuits, including lowfrequency resonances, parametric oscillations, hysteresis, and high-frequency resonances. Low-frequency resonances occur because the gain of the transistor is very high at low frequency compared to that at the operating frequency. "Hysteresis" refers to discontinuous mode jumps in output power when the input power or frequency is increased or decreased. A tuned circuit used in the output coupling network has a different resonant frequency under strong drive than under weaker driving conditions. It has been found experimentally that hysteresis effect can be minimized, and sometimes eliminated, by use of the commonemitter configuration.

Perhaps the most troublesome instability in transistor frequencymultiplier circuits is high-frequency resonance. Such instability shows up in the form of oscillations at a frequency very close to the output frequency when the input drive power is removed. This effect suggests that the transistor under this condition behaves as a locked oscillator at the fundamental frequency. Commonemitter circuits have been found to be less critical for high-frequency oscillations than common-base circuits. High-frequency resonance is also strongly related to the input drive frequency, and can be eliminated if the input frequency is kept below a certain value. The input frequency at which stable operation can be obtained depends on the method used to ground the emitter of the transistor, and can be increased by use of the shortest possible path from the emitter to ground.

RF Power Amplification and Generation

Varactor diodes are also used to provide frequency multiplication. Fig. 102 and associated text given previously in the section on Other Solid-State Diodes define the requirements for this type of application.

400-To-800-MHz Doubler—Fig. 246 shows the complete circuit diagram of a 400-to-800-MHz doubler that uses the 2N4012 transistor. This circuit uses lumped-element input and idler circuits and a coaxial-cavity output circuit. The transistor is placed inside the cavity with its emitter properly grounded to the chassis. A pi section $(C_1, C_2, L_1, L_2,$ and C₃) is used in the input to match the impedances, at 400 MHz, of the driving source and the base-emitter junction of the transistor. L₂ and C₃ provide the necessary ground return for the nonlinear capacitance of the transistor, L_3 and C_4 form the idler loop for the collector at 400 MHz. The output circuit consists of an open-ended 1¼-inch-square coaxial cavity. A lumped capacitance C5 is added in series with a 1/4-inch hollowcenter conductor of the cavity near the open end to provide adjustment for the electrical length. Power output at 800 MHz is obtained by direct coupling from a point near the shorted end of the cavity.



Fig. 246—400-to-800-MHz common-emitter transistor frequency multiplier.

Fig. 247 shows the power output at 800 MHz as a function of the power input at 400 MHz for the doubler circuit, which uses a typical 2N4012 operated at a collector supply voltage of 28 volts. The curve is nearly linear at a power output level between 0.9 and 2.7 watts. The power output is 3.3 watts at 800 MHz for an input drive of 1 watt at 400 MHz, and rises to 3.9 watts as the input drive increases to 1.7 watts.



Fig. 247—Output power and collector efficiency as a function of input power for the 400-to-800-MHz frequency doubler.

The collector efficiency, which is defined as the ratio of the rf power output to the dc power input at a supply voltage of 28 volts, is also shown in Fig. 247. The efficiency is 43 per cent measured at an input power of 1 watt. The 3-dB bandwidth of this circuit measured at power output of 3.3 watts is 2.5 per cent. The fundamental-frequency component measured at a poweroutput level of 3.3 watts is 22 dB down from the output carrier. Higher attenuations of spurious components can be achieved if more filtering sections are used.

The variation of power output with collector supply voltage at an input drive level of 1 watt is shown in Fig. 248. This curve is obtained with the circuit tuned at 28 volts. The curves of Figs. 247 and 248 indicate that the transistor amplifiermultiplier circuit is capable of amplitude modulation.



Fig. 248—Power output as a function of supply voltage for the 400-to-800-MHz frequency doubler.

367-To-1100-MHz Tripler—The 367-to-1100-MHz tripler shown in Fig. 249 is essentially the same as



Fig. 249—367-MHz-to-1.1-GHz commonemitter transistor frequency tripler.

the doubler shown in Fig. 246 except that an additional idler loop, (L_{i}, C_{i}) is added in shunt with the collector of the transistor. This idler loop is resonant with the transistor junction capacitance at the second harmonic frequency (734 MHz) of the input drive.

Fig. 250 shows the power output of the tripler at 1.1 GHz as a function of the power input at 367 MHz. This circuit also uses a typical 2N4012 transistor operated at a collector supply voltage of 28 volts. The solid-line curve shows the power output obtained when the circuit is retuned at each power-input level. The dashed-line curve shows the power output obtained with the circuit tuned at the 2.9-watt output level. A power output of 2.9 watts at 1.1 GHz is obtained with drive of 1 watt at 367 MHz. The 3-dB bandwidth measured at this power level is 2.3 per cent. The spuriousfrequency components measured at the output are as follows: -22 dB at 340 MHz, -30 dB at 680 MHz, and -35 dB at 1360 MHz.

The variation of power output with collector supply voltage at an input drive level of 1 watt is shown in Fig. 251. The variation of collector efficiency is also shown. These curves were obtained with the circuit tuned at 28 volts.

A 367-MHz amplifier that used the same circuit configuration and components as those of the tripler circuit shown in Fig. 249 was constructed to compare the performance between amplifier and tripler. The conversion efficiency for a large number of tripler units was then measured. The conversion efficiency of the tripler is defined as the 1.1GHz power obtained from the tripler divided by the 367-MHz power obtained from the amplifier at the same power-input level (1 watt). The efficiency varies between 60 to 75 per cent, and has an average value of 65 per cent; this performance is comparable to that of a good varactor multiplier in this frequency range.



Fig. 250—Power output as a function of power input for the 367-MHz-to-1.1-GHz frequency tripler.



Fig. 251—Power output as a function of collector supply voltage for the 367-MHz-to-1.1-GHz frequency tripler.

A similar tripler circuit that uses a selected 2N3866 and that is operated from 500 MHz to 1.5 GHz can deliver a power output of 0.5 watt at 1.5 GHz with an input drive of 0.25 watt at 500 MHz.

150-To-450-MHz Tripler Circuit-Fig. 252 illustrates the use of the 2N4012 transistor in a 150-to-450-MHz frequency tripler. The input coupling network is designed to match the driving generator to the base-to-emitter circuit of the transistor. The network formed by Ca and L₂ provides a ground return for harmonic output current at 450 MHz. The idler network in the collector circuit (L3, L4, and C1) is designed to circulate fundamental and second-harmonic components of current through the voltage-variable collector-to-base capacitance, Cbc.



Fig. 252—150-to-450-MHz common-emitter transistor frequency tripler.

The network formed by C_5 , C_4 , C_7 , L_5 , and L_6 provides the required collector loading for 450-MHz power output. Fig. 253 shows the 450-MHz power output of the tripler as a function of the 150-MHz power input. For driving power of one watt, power output of 2.8 watts is ob-

tained at 450 MHz. The rejection of fundamental, second, and fourth harmonics was measured as 30 dB below



Fig. 253—Power output as a function of power input for the 150-to-450-MHz frequency tripler.

the 2.8-watt, 450-MHz level. The variation of power output with supply voltage is shown in Fig. 254.



Fig. 254—Power output as a function of collector supply voltage for the 150-to-450-MHz frequency tripler.

For reproduction of a transmitted picture in a television receiver, the face of a cathode-ray tube is scanned with an electron beam while the intensity of the beam is varied to control the emitted light at the phosphor screen. The scanning is synchronized with a scanned image at the TV transmitter, and the black-through-white picture areas of the scanned image are converted into an electrical signal that controls the intensity of the electron beam in the picture tube at the receiver.

SCANNING FUNDAMENTALS

The scanning procedure used in the United States employs horizontal linear scanning in an oddline interlaced pattern. The standard scanning pattern for television systems includes a total of 525 horizontal scanning lines in a rectangular frame having an aspect ratio of 4 to 3. The frames are repeated at a rate of 30 per second, with two fields interlaced in each frame. The first field in each frame consists of all odd-number scanning lines, and the second field in each frame consists of all evennumber scanning lines. The field repetition rate is thus 60 per second, and the vertical scanning rate is 60 Hz. (For color systems, the vertical scanning rate is 59.94 Hz.)

The geometry of the standard oddline interlaced scanning pattern is illustrated in Fig. 255. The scanning beam starts at the upper left corner of the frame at point A, and sweeps across the frame with uniform velocity to cover all the picture elements in one horizontal line. At the end of each trace, the beam is rapidly returned to the left side of the frame. as shown by the dashed line, to begin the next horizontal line. The horizontal lines slope downward in the direction of scanning because the vertical deflecting signal simultaneously produces a vertical scanning motion, which is very slow compared with the horizontal scanning speed. The slope of the horizontal line trace from left to right is greater than the slope of the retrace from right to left because the shorter time of the retrace does not allow as much time for vertical deflection of the beam. Thus, the beam is continuously and slowly deflected downward as it scans



Fig. 255-The odd-line interlaced scanning procedure.

the horizontal lines, and its position is successively lower as the horizontal scanning proceeds.

At the bottom of the field, the vertical retrace begins, and the beam is brought back to the top of the frame to begin the second or even-number field. The vertical "flyback" time is very fast compared to the trace, but is slow compared to the horizontal scanning speed; therefore, some horizontal lines are produced during the vertical flyback.

All odd-number fields begin at point A in Fig. 255 and are the same All even-number fields begin at point C and are the same. Because the beginning of the even-field scanning at C is on the same horizontal level as A, with a separation of one-half line, and the slope of all lines is the same, the even-number lines in the even fields fall exactly between the oddnumber lines in the odd field.

SYNC

In addition to picture information, the composite video signal from the video detector of a television receiver contains timing pulses to assure that the picture is produced on the faceplate of the picture tube at the right instant and in the right location. These pulses, which are called sync pulses, control the horizontal and vertical scanning generators of the receiver.

Fig. 256 shows a portion of the detected video signal. When the picture is bright, the amplitude of the signal is low. Successively deeper grays are represented by higher amplitudes until, at the "blanking level" shown in the diagram, the amplitude represents a complete absence of light. This "black level" is held constant at a value equal to 75 per cent of the maximum amplitude of the signal during transmission. The remaining 25 per cent of the signal amplitude is used for synchronization information. Portions of the signal in this region (above the black level) cannot produce light.

In the transmission of a television picture, the camera becomes inactive at the conclusion of each horizontal line and no picture information is transmitted while the scanning beam is retracing to the beginning of the next line. The scanning beam of the receiver is maintained at the black level during this retrace interval by means of the blanking pulse shown in Fig. 256. Immediately after the beginning of the blanking period, the signal amplitude rises further above the black level to provide a horizontal-synchronization pulse that initiates the action of the horizontal scanning generator. When the bottom line of the picture is reached, a similar vertical-synchronization pulse initiates the action of the vertical scanning generator to move the scanning spot back to the top of the pattern.

The sync pulses in the composite video signal are separated from the picture information in a sync-separator stage, as shown in Figs. 257 and 258. This stage is biased sufficiently beyond cutoff so that current flows and an output signal is produced only at the peak positive swing of the input signal. In the



Fig. 256—Detected video signal.

TV Deflection

diode circuit of Fig. 257, negative bias for the diode is developed by R and C as a result of the flow of diode current on the positive extreme of signal input. The bias automatically adjusts itself so



Fig. 257 Diode sync-separator circuit.

that the beak positive swing of the input signal drives the anode of the diode positive and allows the flow of current only for the sync pulse. In the circuit shown in Fig. 258, the base emitter junction of the transiston functions in the same manner as the diode in Fig. 257, but in addition the pulses are amplified.



Fig. 258—Transistor sync-separator circuit.

After the synchronizing signals are separated from the composite video signal, it is necessary to filter out the horizontal and vertical sync signals so that each can be applied to its respective deflection generator. This filtering is accomplished by RC circuits designed to filter out all but the desired synchronizing signals. Although the horizontal, vertical, and equalizing pulses are all rectangular pulses of the same amplitude, they differ in frequency and pulse width, as shown in Fig. 259. The horizontal

sync pulses have a repetition rate of 15,750 per second (one for each horizontal line) and a pulse width of 5.1 microseconds. (For color system, the repetition rate of the horizontal sync pulses is 15,734 per second.) The equalizing pulses have width approximately half the horizontal pulse width, and a repetition rate of 31,500 per second; they occur at half-line intervals, with six pulses immediately preceding and six following the vertical synchronizing pulse. The vertical pulse is repeated at a rate of 60 per second (one for each field), and has a width of approximately 190 microseconds. The serrations in the vertical pulse occur at half-line intervals, dividing the complete pulse into six individual pulses that provide horizontal synchronization during the vertical retrace. (Although the picture is blanked out during the vertical retrace time, it is necessary to keep the horizontal scanning generator synchronized.)

All the pulses described above are produced at the transmitter by the synchronizing-pulse generator; their waveshapes and spacings are held within very close tolerances to provide the required synchronization of receiver and transmitter scanning.

The horizontal sync signals are separated from the total sync in a differentiating circuit that has a short time constant compared to the width of the horizontal pulses. When the total sync signal is applied to the differentiating circuit shown in Fig. 260, the capacitor charges completely very soon after the leading edge of each pulse, and remains charged for a period of time equal to practically the entire pulse width. When the applied voltage is removed at the time corresponding to the trailing edge of each pulse, the capacitor discharges completely within a very short time. As a result, a positive peak of voltage is obtained for each leading edge and a negative peak for the trailing edge of every pulse. One polarity is produced by the charging current for the leading edge of the applied pulse, and the



Fig. 259—Waveform of TV synchronizing pulses (H = horizontal line period of 1/15,750 seconds, or 63.5 μ s).

opposite polarity is obtained from the discharge current corresponding to the trailing edge of the pulse.

As mentioned above, the serrations in the vertical pulse are inserted to provide the differentiated output needed to synchronize the horizontal scanning generator during the time of vertical synchronization. During the vertical blanking period, many more voltage peaks are available than are necessary for horizontal synchronization (only one pulse is used for each horizontal line period). The check marks above the differentiated output in Fig. 260 indicate the voltage peaks used to synchronize the horizontal deflection generator for one field. Because the sync system is made sensitive only to positive pulses occurring at approximately the right horizontal timing, the negative sync pulses and alternate differentiated positive pulses produced by the equalizing pulses and the serrated vertical information have no effect on horizontal timing. It can be seen that although the total sync signal (including vertical synchronizing information) is applied to the circuit of Fig. 260, only horizontal synchronization information appears at the output.

The vertical sync signal is separated from the total sync in an integrating circuit which has a time constant that is long compared with the duration of the 5-microsecond horizontal pulses, but short compared with the 190-microsecond vertical pulse width. Fig. 261 shows the general circuit configuration used, together with the input and output signals for both odd and even fields. The period between horizontal pulses, when no voltage is applied to the RC circuit, is so much longer than the horizontal pulse width that the capacitor has time to discharge almost down to zero. When the vertical pulse is applied, however, the integrated voltage across the capacitor builds




Fig. 261—Separation of vertical sync signals from the total sync for odd and even fields with no equalizing pulses. (Dashed line indicates triggering level for vertical scanning generator.)

up to the value required for triggering the vertical scanning generator. This integrated voltage across the capacitor reaches its maximum amplitude at the end of the vertical pulse, and then declines practically to zero, producing a pulse of the triangular wave shape shown for the complete vertical synchronizing pulse. Although the total sync signal (including horizontal information) is applied to the circuit of Fig. 258, therefore, only vertical synchronization information appears at the output.

The vertical synchronizing pulses are repeated in the total sync signal at the field frequency of 60 per second (59.94 per second in color systems). Therefore, the integrated output voltage across the capacitor of the RC circuit of Fig. 261 can be coupled to the vertical scanning generator to provide vertical synchronization. The six equalizing pulses immediately preceding and following the vertical pulse improve the accuracy of the vertical synchronization for better interlacing. The equalizing pulses that precede the vertical pulses make the average value of applied voltage more nearly the same for even and odd fields, so that the integrated voltage across the capacitor adjusts to practically equal values for the two fields before

the vertical pulse begins. The equalizing pulses that follow the vertical pulse minimize any difference in the trailing edge of the vertical synchronizing signal for even and odd fields.

VERTICAL DEFLECTION

The vertical-deflection circuit in a television receiver is essentially a class A audio amplifier with a complex load line, severe low-frequency requirements (much lower than 60 Hz), and a need for controlled linearity. The equivalent low-frequency response for a 10-per-cent deviation from linearity is 1 Hz. A simple circuit configuration is shown in Fig. 262.

The required performance can be obtained in a vertical-deflection circuit in any of three ways. The amplifier may be designed to provide a flat response down to 1 Hz. This design, however, requires an extremely large output transformer and immense capacitors. Another arrangement is to design the amplifier for fairly good low-frequency response and predistort the generated signal.

The third method is to provide extra gain so that feedback techniques can be used to provide linearity. If loop feedback of 20 or 30 dB is used, transistor gain variations and nonlinearities become fairly insignificant. The feedback automatically provides the necessary "predistortion" to correct low-frequency limi-



Fig. 262—Simple vertical-deflection circuit. tations. In addition, the coupling of miscellaneous signals (such as powersupply hum or horizontal-deflection signals) in the amplifying loop is suppressed. Fig. 263 shows a vertical-deflection system that employs bipolar and MOS transistors. A positive pulse fed back from the output circuit triggers the oscillator Q₁. The high input impedance of the MOS transistor Q₂, used as a predriver, permits the use of relatively large resistors and small capacitors in the gate-No.1 circuit. Negative sync is injected at gate No. 2. Only 4 to 5 volts of sync at the integrator input provides exceptionally good interlace.

The thermal compensating stage, Q₅, provides thermal tracking during warmup and also prevents thermal runaway. The peak current of the output stage, Q₄, is monitored by connection of the base of Q₅ to the emitter side of the emitter resistor of Q. The output voltage developed at the collector of Q₅ is proportional to the peak current of the vertical output stage and is fed back to gate No.1 of the predriver Q₂ by means of the bias-linearity control. If some condition exists which causes the peak current of the output stage to increase, the thermal-compensating transistor Q_5 conducts more heavily and causes a reduction in the average voltage at its collector. This decreasing voltage changes the bias of the predriver Q_2 . Because the predriver, driver, and output stages are all direct-coupled, the changes in the peak current of the output stage are coupled back to the base of the output stage in such a polarity as to adjust the dc operating conditions of the output stage to compensate for any change in peak current.

There are two linearity potentiometers in the circuit. The first is a bias potentiometer which sets the bias on the predriver and, in turn, on the output unit so that the output unit commences scan from cutoff. The second potentiometer is located in the integrating circuit, which shapes a sawtooth waveform taken from the output and feeds it back to gate No.1 of the predriver to provide the required parabolic correction for good linearity.



Fig. 263-Vertical-deflection ciruit for color TV receiver.

The parabolic sawtooth voltage required for convergence is obtained from the collector of the output transistor Q_4 . This sawtooth voltage is coupled to the base of the convergence amplifier Q_0 and then applied to the convergence board.

For vertical blanking, the negative retrace pulse from the secondary of the vertical output transformer is amplified and inverted by a blanking transistor, and is then applied to the cathodes of the picture tube

HORIZONTAL DEFLECTION

In the horizontal-deflection stages of a television receiver, a current that varies linearly with time and has a sufficient peak-to-peak amplitude must be passed through the horizontal-deflection-yoke winding to develop a magnetic field adequate to deflect the electron beam of the television picture tube. After the beam is deflected completely across the face of the picture tube, it must be returned very quickly to its starting point. (As explained previously, the beam is extinguished during this retrace by the blanking pulse incorporated in the composite video signal, or in some cases by additional external blanking derived from the horizontal-deflection system.)

Basic Circuit Requirements

The simplest form of a deflection circuit is shown in Fig. 264(a). In this circuit, the yoke impedance L is assumed to be a perfect inductor. When the switch is closed, the yoke current starts from zero and increases linearly. At any time t, the current i is equal to Et/L, where E is the applied voltage. When the switch is opened at a later time t_i, the current instantly drops from a value of Et_i/L to zero.

Although the basic circuit shown in Fig. 264(a) crudely approaches the requirements for deflection, it presents some obvious problems and limitations. The voltage across the switch becomes extremely high, theoretically approaching infinity. In addition, if very little of the total time is spent at zero current, the circuit would require a tremendous



Fig. 264—Development of horizontal-deflection circuit.

amount of dc power. Furthermore, the operation of the switch would be rather critical with regard to both its opening and its closing. Finally, because the deflection field would be phased in only one direction, the beam would have to be centered at the extreme left of the screen for zero yoke current.

If a capacitor is placed across the switch, as shown in Fig. 272(b), the yoke current still increases linearly when the switch is closed at time t = 0. However, when the switch is opened at time $t = t_1$, a tuned circuit is formed by the parallel combination of L and C. The resulting yoke currents and switch voltages are then as shown in Fig. 264(c). The current is at a maximum when the voltage equals zero, and the voltage is at a maximum when the current equals zero. If it is assumed that there are no losses, the ringing frequency fore is equal to $1/(2\pi\sqrt{LC})$.

If the switch is closed again at any time the capacitor voltage is not equal to zero, an infinite switch current flows as a result of the capacitive discharge. However, if the switch is closed at the precise moment t₂ that the capacitor voltage equals zero, the capacitor current effortlessly transfers to the switch, and a new transient condition results. Fig. 264(d) shows the yoke-current and switch-voltage waveforms for this new condition.

If the switch is again opened at t₄, closed at t₅, and so on, the desired sweep results, the peak switch voltage is finite, and the average supply current is zero. The deflection system is then lossless and efficient and, because the average yoke current is zero, beam decentering is avoided. The only fault of the circuit of Fig. 264(b) is the critical timing of the switch, particularly at time $t = t_2$. However, if the switch is shunted by a damper diode, as shown in Fig. 264(e), the diode acts as a closed switch as soon as the capacitor voltage reverses slightly. The switch may then be closed at any time between t_2 and t_3 .

Transistor Horizontal-Deflection Circuits

horizontal-deflection circuits. In the switch can be a transistor, as shown in Fig. 265. Although the transistor is forward-biased prior to t_a (shown in Fig. 264), it is not an effective switch for the reverse therefore. the current: collector damper diode carries most of this current. High voltage is generated by use of the step-up transformer T_1 in parallel with the yoke. This step-up transformer is designed so that its leakage inductance. distributed capacitance, and output stray capacitance complement the voke inductance and retrace tuning



Fig. 265-Simple transistor horizontal-deflection circuit.

capacitance in such a manner that the peak voltage across the primary winding is reduced and the peak voltage across the secondary winding is increased, as compared to the values that would be obtained in a perfect transformer. This technique, which is referred to as "third-harmonic tuning", yields a voltage ratio of secondary-to-primary peak voltage of approximately 1.7 times the value expected in a perfect transformer.

To provide linearity correction for wide-angle television picture tubes, it is necessary to retard the sweep rate at the beginning and end of scan. Therefore, a suitable capacitor C_2 is placed in series with the yoke, as shown in Fig. 265, so that the direct current required to replenish circuit losses is fed through the flybacktransformer primary. A parabolic waveform is then developed across C_2 (called the S-shaping capacitor) so that the trace voltage across the yoke is less at the ends of the sweep than in the middle of the sweep. (This capacitor actually provides a series resonant circuit tuned to approximately 5 kHz so that an S-shaped current portion of a sine wave results.) It is desirable to place the S-shaping capacitor and the yoke between the collector and the emitter of the transistor so that the yoke current does not have to flow through the power supply.

The highest anticipated peak voltage across the transistor in Fig. 265 is a function of the dc voltage obtained at high ac line voltage and at the lowest horizontal-oscillator frequency. (At these conditions, of course, the receiver is out of sync.) The tolerance on the inductors and capacitors alters the trace time only slightly and usually may be ignored if a 10-per-cent tolerance is used for the tuning capacitor.

Fig. 266 shows a schematic of a transistor horizontal-deflection circut for a color TV receiver. The horizontal output transistor, Q₄, is a high-voltage silicon transistor.



Fig. 266-Horizontal-deflection circuit and high-voltage and low-voltage power supplies.

The normal collector-emitter pulse voltage across Q, includes an ample safety factor that allows for any increased pulse that may result from out-of-sync operation, line surges, and other abnormal conditions.

A unique feature of the horizontal-deflection circuit is the lowvoltage supply of approximately 23 volts that is derived from it. This features makes it possible to eliminate the power transformer in the power supply. The low-voltage power is used to operate all but the highvoltage receiver stages, such as the video-output stage, the audio-output stage, and the horizontal oscillator and driver. The vertical oscillator is supplied from the same point which supplies the horizontal output in such a way that the actual voltage is a function of beam current; this connection compensates for the tendency for picture height to change with brightness settings.

The transistor deflection circuit commercially achieves acceptable high-voltage regulation without the use of the high-voltage shunt regulator used with tube-type deflection circuits. With a flyback transformer of normal design and a low-voltage power supply with about 3-per-cent regulation, high-voltage regulation from zero beam to full load of 750 microamperes is about 3 kilovolts and is accompanied by a considerable increase in picture width. Improvement of this behavior with brightness changes is achieved utilizing by the accompanying changes of direct current to the deflection circuit in two ways. First, the air gap of the transformer is reduced to permit core saturation to decrease the system inductance as the high-voltage load is increased. When this method is used, regulation is improved to about half that of the normal transformers with no circuit instabilities, but picture-width change is still greater than desired. Second, series resistance is added to the B supply to decrease power input at full load and thereby reduce the change in picture width (at some sacrifice in high-voltage regulation). The net result of both changes is a regulation of about 2.8 kilovolts for the high voltage, with very little variation in picture size.

A secondary benefit of the inherently good regulation of the transistor deflection system is a reduction in the size of the flyback transformer. The size reduction is accomplished by a reduction in the area of the "window" in the flyback core. A reduction in the size of the highvoltage cage required to maintain adequate isolation of the high-voltage winding from ground is possible because of the smaller flyback transformer.

The transformer-coupled driver stage takes advantage of the highvoltage capability and switching speed of the horizontal driver transistor which is designed primarily for video-output use. A sine-wave stabilized multivibrator type of horizontal oscillator is used. This type of oscillator is especially useful in experimental work with deflection systems because it permits on-time and off-time periods to be easily varied.

The afc phase detector operates on the principle of pulse-width variation of combined sync and reference pulses. In the circuit shown in Fig. 266, timing information is related to the leading edges of the sync pulses, and the retrace process is initiated prior to the leading edge of the sync pulse; performance of the circuit is very satisfactory.

SCR Horizontal-Deflection Circuit

A highly reliable horizontal-deflection system that uses silicon controlled rectifiers (SCR's) has been developed for use in color television receivers. This system, shown in Fig. 267, illustrates a new approach to horizontal-circuit design that represents a complete departure from the approaches currently used in com-

TV Deflection

mercial television receivers. The switching action required to generate the scan current in the horizontalyoke windings and the high-voltage pulse used to derive the dc operating voltages for the picture tube is controlled by two SCR's that are used in conjunction with associated fastrecovery diodes to form bipolar switches.

The SCR's used to control the trace current and to provide the

commutating action to initiate traceretrace switching exhibit high voltage- and current-handling capabilities together with the excellent switching characteristics required for reliable operation in deflectionsystem applications. The switching diodes, (trace and commutating diodes), provide fast recovery times. high reverse-voltage blocking capabilities, and low turn-on voltage drops. These features and the fact



Fig. 267-SCR horizontal-deflection circuit.

that, with the exception of one noncritical triggering pulse, all control voltages, timing, and control polarities are supplied by passive elements within the system (rather than by external drive sources) contribute substantially to the excellent reliability of the SCR deflection system.

Fig. 267 shows the circuit configuration of the complete horizontal-deflection system. The system operates directly from a conventional, unregulated dc power supply of +155 volts, and provides fullscreen deflection at angles up to 90 degrees at full beam current. The current and voltage waveforms required for horizontal deflection and for generation of the high voltage are derived essentially from LC resonant circuits. As a result, fast switching transients abrupt and which would impose strains on the solid-state device are advoided.

A regulator stage is included in the SCR horizontal-deflection circuit to maintain the scan and the high voltage within acceptable limits with variations in the ac line voltage or picture-tube beam current. The system also contains circuits that provide full protection against the effects of arcs in the picture tube or the high-voltage rectifier, and linearity and pincushion correction circuits.

The SCR horizontal-deflection system employs two bidirectional switches, each of which consists of an SCR and a diode in an inverse parallel connection. Fig. 268 shows a simplified schematic of the basic deflection circuit. SCR_T and diode D_{T} are used to control the current in the yoke winding L_{y} during the trace interval; SCR_c and diode D_{c} provide the commutating action reouired for retrace.

At the beginning of the trace interval, the trace-switch diode conducts the yoke current established during previous circuit action. The trace-switch diode conducts a linearly decreasing current until the yoke current reaches zero to produce the first half of the scan current. Before the zero-yoke-current point is

reached, the trace-switch SCR is made ready to conduct by application of a positive pulse to its gate electrode. When the voke current crosses the zero point from negative to positive, the current transfers from the trace-switch diode to the trace-switch SCR. Capacitor Cy then begins to discharge through the trace-switch SCR to supply current to yoke winding Ly during the second half of the trace interval. The voltage across capacitor Cy remains essentially constant throughout the trace-retrace cycle. This constant voltage results in a linearly rising current through the yoke winding to complete the trace period.



Fig. 268—Basic circuit for generation of the deflection-current waveform in the horizontal-yoke winding.

Just prior to the end of trace, the commutating-switch SCR is gated on by the horizontal oscillator. Capacitor C_R then discharges a pulse of current through inductor LR and the trace and commutating SCR's. This current pulse, referred to as the commutating pulse, increases until it exceeds the yoke current and thereby causes the trace diode D_T to turn on. The conduction of diode D_T reverse-biases the trace SCR for sufficient time to allow it to turn off. When the commutating pulse declines to a value less than the yoke current, diode DT opens, and the energy in the yoke winding produces a current that charges the retrace capacitors C_R and C_A during the first half of retrace. This current then rings back into the yoke winding during the second half of retrace. The circuit for the ringing oscillation during the second half of retrace is completed through the commutating-switch diode and allows sufficient time for the commutating-switch SCR to turn off. When the yoke current reaches its peak negative value, the traceswitch diode begins to conduct to start the trace interval.

During the time the commutating switch is closed, the input inductor L_{CC} is connected across the B+ supply, and energy is stored in this inductor. This stored energy charges the retrace capacitors C_R and C_A to replenish the energy loss in the circuit.

Fig. 269 shows the current and voltage waveforms applied to the trace and commutating switches as a result of the circuit actions described in the preceding paragraphs.

The SCR horizontal-deflection system offers a number of distinct advantages over the conventional types of systems currently used in commercial television receivers. The following list outlines some of the more significant circuit features of the SCR deflection system and points out the advantage derived from each of them:

1. Critical voltage and current waveforms, and timing cycles are determined by passive components in response to the action of two SCR-diode switches. The stability of the system, therefore, is determined primarily by the passive components. When the passive components are properly adjusted, the system exhibits highly predictable performance characteristics and exceptional operational dependability.

2. The only input drive signal required for the SCR deflection system is a low-power pulse which has no stringent accuracy specification in relation to either amplitude or time duration. The deflection system, therefore, can be driven directly from a pulse developed by the horizontal oscillator.

3. This deflection system is unique in that, although it operates from





a conventional B+ supply of +155 volts, the flyback pulse is less than 500 volts. This level of voltage stress is substantially less than that in conventional line-operated systems, and this factor contributes to improved reliability of the switching devices.

4. Regulation in the SCR deflection system is accomplished by control of the energy stored by a reactive element. This technique avoids the use of resistive-load regulating elements required by many other types of systems and, therefore, makes possible higher over-all system efficiency and reduces inputpower requirements.

5. All switching occurs at the

zero current level through the reverse recovery of high-voltage p-n junctions in the deflection diodes. The diode junctions are not limited in volt-ampere switching capabilities for either normal or abnormal conditions in the circuit.

Power Switching and Control

T RANSISTORS have already established themselves in switching applications in radar, television, telemetering, pulse code communications, and computing equipment. More recently, triacs, diacs, and SCR's have been used in these applications and in arc-lamp ballasting circuits, automobile ignition systems, and heat, light, and motor controls. This section describes the circuits used in these applications and discusses special consideration required for their operation.

NONSINUSOIDAL OSCILLATORS

Oscillator circuits which produce nonsinusoidal output waveforms use a regenerative circuit in conjunction with resistance-capacitance (RC) or resistance-inductance (RL) components to produce a switching action. The charge and discharge times of the reactive elements (which are directly proportional to $R \times C$ or L/R) are used to produce sawtooth, square, or pulse output waveforms.

The switching action in a nonsinusoidal oscillator occurs when an externally applied signal causes an instantaneous change in the operating state of the circuit; when this instantaneous change occurs the circuit is said to be triggered. Triggered circuits may be astable, monostable, or bistable.

Astable triggered circuits have no stable state; they operate in the active linear region and produce relaxation-type oscillations. A monostable circuit has one stable state in either of the stable regions (cutoff or saturation); an external pulse "triggers" the transistor to the other stable region, but the circuit then switches back to its original stable state after a period of time determined by the time constants of the circuit elements. A bistable (flip-flop) circuit has a stable state in each of the two stable regions. The transistor is triggered from one stable state to the other by an external pulse, and a second trigger pulse is required to switch the circuit back to its original stable state.

The multivibrator circuit shown in Fig. 270 is an example of a monostable circuit. The bias network holds transistor Q_1 in saturation and transistor Q_1 at cutoff during the quiescent or steady-state period. When an input signal is applied through the coupling capacitor C_1 , however, transistor Q_1 begins to conduct. The decreasing collector voltage of Q_1 (coupled to the base of Q_2 through capacitor C_2) causes the base current



Fig. 270-Monostable multivibrator.

and collector current of Q_2 to decrease. The increasing collector voltage of Q_2 (coupled to the base of Q_1 through resistor R_4) then increases the forward base current of Q_1 . This regeneration rapidly drives transistor Q_1 into saturation and transistor Q_2 into cutoff. The base of transistor Q_2 at this point is at a negative potential almost equal to the magnitude of the battery voltage V_{ec} .

Capacitor C₂ then discharges through resistor R₂ and the low saturation resistance of transistor Q₁. As the base potential of Q₂ becomes slightly positive, transistor Q2 again conducts. The decreasing collector potential of Q₂ is coupled to the base of Q₁ and transistor Q₁ is driven into cutoff, while transistor Q2 becomes saturated. This stable condition is maintained until another pulse triggers the circuit. The duration of the output pulse is primarily determined by the time constant of capacitor C. and resistor R2 during discharge. In other words, the oscillating frequency of the multivibrator is determined by the values of resistance and capacitance in the circuit.

The Eccles-Jordan type multivibrator circuit shown in Fig. 279 is an example of a bistable circuit. The resistive and bias values of this circuit are chosen so that the initial application of dc power causes one transistor to be cut off and the other to be driven into saturation. Because of the feedback arrangement, each transistor is held in its original state by the condition of the other. The application of a positive trigger pulse to the base of the OFF transistor or a negative pulse to the base of the ON transistor switches the conducting state of the circuit. The new condition is then maintained until a second pulse triggers the circuit back to the original condition.

In Fig. 271, two separate inputs are shown. A trigger pulse at input A will change the state of the circuit. An input of the same polarity at input B or an input of opposite polarity at input A will then return the



Fig. 271—Eccles-Jordan type bistable multivibrator.

circuit to its original state. (Collector triggering can be accomplished in a similar manner.) The capacitors C_s and C, are used to speed up the regenerative switching action. The output of the circuit is a unit step voltage when one trigger is applied, or a square wave when continuous pulsing of the input is used.

A blocking oscillator is a form of nonsinusoidal oscillator which conducts for a short period of time and is cut off (blocked) for a much longer period. A basic circuit for this type of oscillator is shown in Fig. 272.



Fig. 272—Basic circuit of blocking oscillator.

Regenerative feedback through the tickler-coil winding 1-2 of transformer T_i and capacitor C causes current through the transistor to rise rapidly until saturation is reached. The transistor is then cut off until C discharges through resistor R. The output waveform is a pulse, the width of which is primarily determined by winding 1-2. The time between pulses (resting or blocking time) is determined by the time constant of capacitor C and resistor R.

SWITCHING REGULATORS

Fig. 273 shows the basic configuration of a switching type of transistor voltage regulator. In this circuit, the pass transistor is connected in series with the load and is pulse-duration modulated by the signal supplied from the pulse generator or multivibrator. The ON time of the multivibrator is controlled by a dc comparison between a reference voltage and the output. The pulsed output from the series transistor is integrated by the lowpass filter. When the transistor is conducting, current is delivered to the load from the input source. In the OFF condition, the diode conducts and the energy stored in the reactive elements supplies current to the load. If the output voltage tends to decrease below the reference voltage, the duration of the ON-time pulse increases. The pass

transistor then conducts for a longer period of time so that the output voltage increases to the desired level. If the output voltage tends to rise above the reference voltage, the duration of the ON-time pulse decreases. The shorter conduction period of the pass transistor then results in a compensating decrease in output voltage.

When a step-down regulator is required (e.g., 100 volts down to 28 volts), the efficiency of a switching regulator is considerably higher than that of a conventional series regulator. If very precise regulation is required, the switching regulator can be used as a pre-regulator followed by a conventional regulator circuit; this configuration optimizes the advantages of both types of regulators. Over-all efficiency for such a combination circuit is typically about 80 to 85 per cent, as compared to values of 25 to 30 per cent for a conventional series-type step-down regulator. In addition. total power dissipation is reduced from several hundreds of watts to less than 50 watts.

Fig. 274 shows a switching regulator included in the design of a mercury-arc-lamp ballasting system. DC potential is applied to the V_{1N} terminals so that the transistor switch Q_1 (part of the switching regulator) is slightly forward-biased by a small current through R_8 (approximately 3 milliamperes). Through positive feedback, Q_1 is immediately saturated by L_2 , which also powers the control circuit. Cur-



Fig. 273—Basic diagram of switching regulator.



Fig. 274—Switching-regulator design for solid-state mercury-arc-lamp ballasting.

rent rises at a linear rate until the voltage across R₂ causes the control circuit to shunt the base-emitter junction of Q. Q. is shut off and held off by L2 until the current through L_i is zero. The inductive kickback voltage is clamped by the communtating diode and, therefore, is the same as the output voltage on C₂. L₃ charges C₃ to a voltage proportional to Vort. During the circuit the control cycle, next samples a combination of the voltage on C₃ and the current in R₂. The output waveshapes for the circuit are shown in Fig. 275; performance data are shown in Fig. 276.

The unique feature of this circuit



is that only the high-current switching element Q_1 must meet the breakdown-voltage requirement imposed by the high input voltage; with this one exception, all of the controlcircuit transistors are of the lowvoltage, low-dissipation type. The circuit is able to withstand operation under short-circuit conditions.



Fig. 276—Performance curves for circuit of Fig. 274.

A 175-watt switching-regulator ballast circuit utilizing the approach just described is shown in Fig. 277. For three-phase operation, no C_1 filter element is necessary provided that the dc input voltage to the switching regulator never drops below 200 volts. An input voltage drop below this level would extinguish the bulb.

Switching-regulator techniques are also utilized in motor-control systems. A servo motor control is shown in Fig. 278.

Switching-mode servo controls afford an efficient means for amplification of directional information. As an alternative to the use of cascaded linear stages to drive a class R push-pull output stage, this switching mode of control allows the active elements of the amplifier to operate in either saturation or cutoff. Because a relatively small length of time is spent in the active region of the devices, where power dissipation is high, the average power dissipation is lower. The efficiency of the over-all system, therefore, is higher. Switching servos are used in stable platforms for guidance and



Fig. 277-175-watt switching-regulator ballast.

navigational systems, control of memory access devices in computer and data-processing systems, and other applications in which efficiency is a prime factor.

An ever-expanding application for switching systems is in the ac motor-control field. Sometimes this application is necessary because the standby power is dc. More generally, however, high-speed inverters or switching circuits are used because the higher-frequency motors are more efficient and weigh less than their lower-frequency counterparts.



Fig. 278-Pulse-width-modulated servo-motor-driven output stage.

CONVERTERS AND INVERTERS

In many applications, the aptimum value of voltage is not available from the primary power source. In such instances, dc-to-dc converters or dc-to-ac inverters may be used, with or without regulation, to provide the optimum voltage for a given circuit design.

An inverter is a power-conversion device used to transform dc power to ac power. If the ac output is rectified and filtered to provide dc again, the over-all circuit is referred to as a converter. The purpose of the converter is then to change the magnitude of the available dc voltage.



Fig. 279—Simple converter circuits that may be ussed to replace vibrator-type converters in automobile radios: (a) converter circuit that uses separate output and feedback transformers; (b) converter circuit in which the feedback windings are included on the output transformer; (c) typical voltage and current waveforms.

Transistor Converters and Inverters

Fig. 279 shows two simple converter circuits which can be used in place of the conventional vibratortype converter in automobile radios. The switching drive to the two transistors is supplied by a separate. small, saturable transformer in the circuit of Fig. 279(a), and by an additional center-tapped drive winding on a single saturable transformer in Fig. 279(b). The charachvsteresis teristic loop of the auto-transformer used in the circuit of Fig. 279(b) is shown in Fig. 280. Transformer parameters such as frequency, number of turns,



Fig. 280—Characteristic hysteresis loop of auto-transformer used in circuit of Fig. 279(b)

and size and type of core material are determined by the operating requirements for the circuit. Once the transformer has been established, a change in supply voltage results in a change in the operating frequency.

Switching is accomplished as a result of the saturation of the transformer. When the slope of the hysteresis loop shown in Fig. 288 is small, the magnetizing inductance is small and the magnetizing current increases rapidly. This situation exists as the loop is traversed in a counter-clockwise manner from point 1 to point 2. From point 2 to point 3, the magnetizing current increases

very slowly because the magnetizing inductance is high. At point 3, the core is in saturation, and the magnetizing current again increases rapidly. As the current continues to increase (between points 3 and 4). the ON transistor comes out of saturation. When point 4 has been reached, the voltages across the primary windings of the transformer have dropped to zero, and the battery voltage is applied across the collector-to-emitter terminals of each transistor. The magnetizing current then begins to decay, and voltages of opposite polarity are induced across the transformer. At point 5, the magnetizing current has been reduced to zero, the second transistor is in saturation, and the first transistor has twice the battery voltage across its emitter-tocollector junction. This sequence of events is repeated during each halfcycle of the operation of the circuit. except for a reversal of polarity.

The approximate load line of the converter circuit of Fig. 279(b) is shown in Fig. 281. Many of the important transistor ratings can be



Fig. 281—Approximate load line for converter circuit shown in Fig. 287(b).

determined from this curve. For example, the collector-to-emitter sustaining voltage under reverse-bias conditions, $V_{CEV}(sus)$, is given by

$$V_{CEV}(sus) \geq 2V_{CC} + \triangle V_{CC}$$

where V_{cc} is the collector-supply

voltage and $\triangle V_{cc}$ is the magnitude of the supply variations or "spikes." The second-breakdown voltage limit $E_s/_B$ for the transistor is given by

$$E_s/_B \geq \frac{1}{2}(\beta I_B)^2 L$$

where β is the common-emitter forward-current transfer ratio, I_B is the base current, and L₁ is the total series inductance of the transformer and the load reflected to the input. As mentioned previously, the collector-to-emitter saturation voltage V_{CB}(sat) of the transistor should be low.

Fig. 282 shows the basic circuit configuration for a ringing-choke dc-to-dc converter. In this converter,



Fig. 282—Basic circuit configuration of a ringing-choke dc-to-dc converter.

a blocking oscillator (chopper circuit) is transformer-coupled to a half-wave-rectifier type of output circuit. The rectifier converts the pulsating oscillator output into a fixed-value dc output voltage.

When the oscillator transistor Q₁ conducts (as a result of either a forward bias or external drive), energy is transferred to the collector inductance presented by the primary winding of transformer T_1 . The voltage induced across the transformer feedback winding connected to the transistor base through resistor R_B increases the conduction of Q_1 until the transistor is driven into saturation. The rectifier diode CR_1 in series with the secondary winding of transformer T_1 is oriented so that no power is delivered to the load circuit during this portion of the oscillator cycle.

With transistor Q_1 in saturation, the collector current through the primary inductance of transformer T₁ rises linearly with time (-di/dt =E/L) until the base drive supplied by the transformer feedback winding can no longer maintain Q1 in saturation. As the current through Q_1 decreases from the saturation level, the voltage induced into the feedpack winding decreases, and transistor Q₁ is rapidly driven beyond cutoff. The energy stored in the collector inductance (primary of transformer T_1) is relased by the collapsing magnetic field and coupled by the secondary winding of transformer T₁, through rectifier diode CR₁, to the load resistance R₁, and filter capacitor C1. The filter capacitor stores the energy it receives from the collector inductance. When no current is supplied to the load circuit from the oscillator (i.e., during conduction of transistor Q_1). capacitor C₁ supplies current to the load resistance R_L to maintain the output voltage at a relatively constant value. The switching action of rectifier diode CR, prevents any decrease of the energy stored by capacitor C_1 because of the negative pulse coupled from the oscillator during the periods that transistor Q_1 conducts.

The operating efficiency of the ringing-choke converter is low, and the circuit, therefore, is used primarily in low-power applications. In addition, because power is delivered to the output circuit for only a small fraction of the oscillator cycle (i.e., when Q_1 is not conducting), the circuit has a relatively high ripple factor which substantially increases output filtering requirements. This converter, however, provides definite advantages to the system designer in terms of design simplicity and compactness.

In a converter, the change in frequency of operation with supply voltage is not usually important because the output voltage is rectified and filtered. In an inverter circuit, however, the frequency may be very important and is generally controlled by adjustment of the supply voltage. Typically, the dc supply voltage is controlled by means of a voltage regulator inserted ahead of the converter to stabilize the input voltage and a power amplifier following the converter to isolate the converter from the effects of a varying load.

Inverters may be used to drive any equipment which requires an ac supply, such as motors, ac radios, television receivers, or fluorescent lighting. In addition, an inverter can be used to drive electromechanical transducers in ultrasonic equipment, such as ultrasonic cleaners and sonar detection devices.

Fig. 283 shows a block diagram of a typical inverter circuit. The output frequency is directly dependent on the induced voltage of the



Fig. 283—Block diagram of typical = inverter circuit.

converter transformer. The feedback shown samples this induced voltage and adjusts the output of the voltage regulator to maintain a constant induced voltage in the converter and thus a constant output frequency. If a regulated output voltage is not required, the second voltage regulator is omitted.

The push-pull switching inverter is probably the most widely used type of power-conversion circuit. For inverter applications, the circuit provides a square-wave ac output. When the inverter is used to provide dc-to-dc conversion, the squarewave voltage is usually applied to a full-wave bridge rectifier and filter.

Fig. 284 shows the configuration of the push-pull switching converter. The single saturable transformer controls circuit switching and provides the desired voltage transformation for the square-wave output delivered to the bridge rectifier. The rectifier and filter convert the square-wave voltage in a smooth, fixed-amplitude dc output voltage.

When the voltage Vcc is applied to the converter circuit, current tends to flow through both switching transistors Q1 and Q2. It is very unlikely, however, that a perfect balance can be achieved between corresponding active and passive components of the two transistor sections: therefore, the initial flow of current through one of the transistors is slightly larger than that through the other transistor. If transistor Q₁ is assumed to conduct more heavily initially. the rise in current through its collector inductance causes a voltage to be induced in the feedback windings of transformer T_1 which supply the base drive to transistors Q₁ and Q2. The base-drive voltages are in the proper polarity to increase the current through Q₁ and to decrease the current thruogh Q₂. As a result of regenerative action, the conduction of Q₁ is rapidly increased, and Q2 is quickly driven to cutoff.

The increased current through Q_1 causes the core of the collector inductance to saturate. The inductance no longer impedes the rise in current, and the transistor current increases sharply into the saturation region. For this condition. the magnetic field about the collector inductance is constant, and no voltage is induced in the feedback windings of transformer T1. With the cutoff base voltage removed, current is allowed to flow through transistor Q2. The increase in current through the collector inductance of this transistor causes voltages to

be induced in the feedback windings in the polarity that increases the current through Q2 and decreases the current through Q. This effect is aided by the collapsing magnetic field about the collector inductance of Q_1 that results from the decrease in current through this transistor. The feedback voltages produced by this collapsing field quickly drive Q beyond cutoff and further increase the conduction of Q₂ until the core of the collector inductance for this transistor saturates to initiate a new cycle of operation. The square wave of voltage produced by the switching action of transistors Q_1 and Q_2 is coupled by transformer T_1 to the bridge rectifier and filter, which develop a smooth, constantamplitude dc voltage across the load resistance Rt.. The small ripple produced by the square wave greatly simplifies filter requirements.



Fig. 284—Basic circuit configuration of a single-transformer push-pull switching converter.

Push-pull transformer-coupled converters with full-wave rectification provide power to the load continuously and are, therefore, well suited for low-impedance, high-power applications. Although not as economical as the ringing-choke design, the push-pull configuration provides higher efficiency and improved regulation.

In high-power driven inverters, it is not uncommon to use a Darlington connection to increase the current gain. However, this configuration increases the $V_{\rm CE}$ saturation of the output and does not permit a fast turn-off. The boosted Darlington inverter shown in Fig. 285 uses two small additional transformer windings (N₃ and N₄) and eliminates both problems.



Fig. 285—Boosted Darlington inverter with turn-off drive,

The polarity of N_3 and N_4 is shown for Q_1 ON and Q_2 OFF. N_3 and N_4 are wound on core No. 1 which could be a motor or other magnetic structure. The voltage developed across N_3 allows Q_1 to saturate fully while the voltage across N_4 allows Q_2 to have a reverse bias applied, thus helping the device to turn off. The diodes provide a path for reverse bias when the transistor turns off and blocks voltage while the transistor is on; thus, they allow the driver transistors to control the output units.

Three-phase bridge inverters for induction motors are usually used to convert dc, 60-Hz, or 400-Hz input to a much higher frequency, possibly as high as 10 kHz. Increasing frequency reduces the motor size and increases the horsepower-toweight ratio, desirable features in military, aviation, and portable industrial power-tool markets. Fig. 286 shows a typical three-phase bridge circuit with base driving signals and transformer primary currents.





Fig. 287 shows the schematic diagram of a two-transistor, two-transformer inverter circuit. A saturable base-drive transformer T_2 controls the inverter switching operation. A linearly operating output transformer T_1 transfers the output power to the load. The output transformer T_1 is not allowed to saturate; therefore, the peak collector current through the transistor is determined principally by the value of the load impedance.

Because no two transistors are perfectly matched, one of the transistors in the inverter circuit conducts more rapidly than the other when the power is turned on. This transistor. Q_2 for example, tends toward saturation and causes positive voltages to appear at the dotted ends of the transformers. Thus, there is an effective positive feedback that causes Q_1 to switch off and Q_2 to switch on. The voltage from the collector of Q_1 to the collector of Q_2 is then positive and equal to twice the collector supply voltage Vcc. The voltage VRtb across the feedback resistor R_{tb} is essentially the product of the resistance R_{tb} and the base current referred to the primary of T_2 . The voltage across T_2 is equal to 2 V_{CC} – V_{Rfb} .

At the beginning of the next halfcycle, the voltage across R_{rb} increases very slowly with the slowly increasing magnetizing current through T_2 . When T_2 reaches its saturation flux density, the magnetizing current increases very



Fig. 287—-Two-transistor/two-transformer inverter.

rapidly and causes a rapid increase in V_{RO} . As a result, the voltage across T_2 decerases rapidly and Q_2 comes out of saturation. The collector voltage of Q_2 then rises, and regenerative action causes Q_1 and Q_2 to reverse states. As these processes are repeated during succeeding half-cycles, oscillations are sustained.

SCR Inverters

SCR inverters offer an efficient and economical method for conversion of direct current to alternating current. In the design of an SCR inverter, the fact that the SCR is basically a "latching" device must be considered. Anode current can be initiated at any time by application of a signal of the proper polarity to the gate. However, the gate loses control as soon as conduction begins, and current continues to flow, regardless of any gate signal which may be applied, as long as the anode remains positive. Special commutating circuitry is required to turn off the SCR at the proper time. A basic commutation circuit is shown in Fig. 288(a).

When conduction is initiated by application of a positive pulse to the gate, the voltage across the SCR decreases rapidly as current increases through it because of the voltage drop across the inductor L. The capacitor C charges through the resistor R in the polarity indicated. If the switch S is then closed, the capacitor will be connected across the SCR in such a polarity that the anode of the SCR is suddenly driven negative. Conduction of the SCR then ceases as soon as the charge stored in the device has been removed by the reverse recovery current.

The time required for the SCR to recover its forward blocking capability, as shown in Fig. 288(b), limits the maximum operating frequency of the inverter. If the SCR has not recovered its blocking capability by the time the anode swings positive, continuous conduction results, and no ac power is generated. Special fast-turn-off SCR's, which permit operation at frequencies up to 25 KHZ, are currently available.



Fig. 288—Commutation of an SCR: (a) basic commutation circuit; (b) voltage and current waveforms,

Fig. 289(a) shows the basic configuration for an inverter circuit. An ac output can be generated by alternately closing and opening switches S_1 and S_2 . A more practical method of producing an ac output is to replace switches S_1 and S_2 with SCR's, as shown in Fig. 289(b). Capacitor C is used, as previously described, to commutate SCR₁ and SCR₂ alternately.

Inverter circuits may use other methods of commutation. For example, auxiliary SCR's may be used to produce a negative commutating pulse across the inverter SCR at the proper time, or a saturable reactor may be used in series with a capacitor to produce a commutating pulse at the proper time.



Fig. 289—Inverter circuits: (a) basic configuration; (b) SCR inverter.

Fig. 290 shows a typical highfrequency SCR switching inverter: Fig. 291 shows the waveshapes across the SCR and the output of the transformer. For resistive loads. this inverter is capable of delivering 500 watts of output power at an operating frequency of 8 kHz, and is provided with regulation from a no-load condition to full load. With proper output derating, this circuit can also accommodate inductive and capacitive loads. Under a capacitive load, the power dissipation of the SCR's is increased; under an inductive load, the turn-off time is decreased.

The inverter can be operated at any optional frequency up to 8 kHz provided that a suitable output transformer is used and the timing capacitors are changed in the gatetrigger-pulse generator. A change in operating frequency, however, does not require any change in the commutating components C_1 and L_1 . The operation of the SCR inverter is very similar to that of the twotransistor push-pull inverter except that external gate-trigger signals are required to initiate the SCR switching action.

Fig. 290 shows the two thyristors SCR_1 and SCR_2 connected to the output transformer T_1 . These thyristors are alternately triggered into conduction by gate-trigger pulse generator to produce an alternating current in the primary of the power transformer. Fig. 291 shows typical operating wave forms for the SCR inverter.

The thyristors are commutated by capacitor C₁, which is connected between the anodes of SCR1 and SCR₂. The flow of current through the circuit can be traced more easily if it is assumed that initially SCR₁ is conducting and SCR₂ is cut off and that the common cathode connection of the SCR's is the reference point. For this condition, the voltage at the anode of SCR₂ is twice the voltage of the dc power supply, i.e., 2Eoo. The load current flows from the dc power supply through one-half the primary winding of transformer T₁, inductor L₂, SCR₁, and inductor L₁. When the firing current is applied to the gate of SCR2, this SCR turns on and conducts.

During the "ON" period of SCR₂, the capacitor C_1 begins to discharge through L_3 , SCR₂, SCR₁, and L_2 . Inductors L_2 and L_3 function to limit the rate of rise of the discharge current di/dt so that the associated stresses are maintained within the capability of the device during the turn-on of the SCR. The effect of this control is to decrease the turnon dissipation, which becomes a significant portion of the total device dissipation at high repetition rates.

The discharge current through SCR_1 flows in a reverse direction, and after the carriers are swept out (and recombined) the SCR_1 switch opens (i.e., SCR_1 switches to the "OFF" state). At this time, the voltage across the capacitor C_1 , which



Fig. 290—High-frequency SCR push-pull switching inverter.

is approximately equal to $-2E_{corr}$, appears across SCR₁ as reverse voltage. This voltage remains long enough to allow the device to recover for forward blocking. Simultaneously during this interval, the conducting SCR₂ establishes another discharge path for capacitor C₁ through transformer T₁ and inductors L₁ and L₆. The role of inductor L₁ is to control the rate of discharge of the capacitor to allow sufficient time for turn-off.

After capacitor C_1 is discharged from $-2E_{00}$ to zero, it starts to charge in the opposite direction to $+2E_{00}$. When C_1 is charged to $+2E_{00}$, because of the phase shift between voltage and current, the flux in the inductor L_1 at that time is a maximum. This reactive energy stored in the inductor is normally transferred to the capacitor and causes an "overvoltage" or "overcharge," which in this particular case is undesirable. Voltages on the capacitor higher than $2E_{00}$ produce a negative voltage at the anode of SCR₂ with respect to the negative terminal of the dc power supply.



Fig. 291—Typical operating waveforms for SCR inverter shown in Fig. 290.

This condition is prevented by use of a clamping diode CR₂ connected to an extra tap on the transformer oriented close to the anode of SCR2. As a result, the amount of "overcharge" of the capacitor is considerably reduced. The energy stored in inductor L₁ causes current to flow through diode CR2, the N4 transformer winding, inductor L₃, and SCR₂. Transformer windings N₄ and N., act as an autotransformer through which the energy stored in the inductor is fed back to the power supply.

When the firing current is applied to the gate of SCR₁, this device conducts and the process described above is repeated.

Each time the SCR's turn off to interrupt the reverse recovery current, a certain amount of energy remains in the inductor. This energy is transferred to the device capacitance, which is relatively small, and thus a high-voltage transient is generated. This high-voltage transient may exceed the rating of the device, produce undesirable stresses, and increase the switching dissipation. A transient-suppressor network consisting of two 1N547 diodes, resistors R_1 , R_2 , and R_3 , and capacitors C_2 and C_3 prevents this transient voltage from exceeding the maximum rating of the SCR's.

Pulse-Width-Modulated Converters

A technique referred to as pulsewidth modulation can be used to maintain the output voltage of a dc-to-dc converter constant under conditions of varying input voltages and load. A block diagram of a circuit used for this type of function is shown in Fig. 292. The "on" time of the switching transistors is varied to provide varying amounts of energy to the output. The feedback



DC INPUT

Fig. 292—Pulse-width-modulated converter: (a) block diagram; (b) collector-current waveform when circuit is heavily loaded; (c) collector-current waveform when circuit is lightly loaded.

circuit adjusts the pulse width to maintain a fixed-voltage output current. Waveforms are shown for a lightly loaded and a heavily loaded case.

AUTOMOBILE IGNITION SYSTEM

Fig. 293 shows a simple ignition system that uses an n-p-n transistor; performance curves for the circuit



Fig. 293—Solid-state automobile ignition system.

are shown in Fig. 294. The advantages of this circuit include less maintenance of points and spark plugs, better performance at high engine speeds, and easier engine starting.



Fig. 294—Ignition voltage as a function of engine speed.

PULSE MODULATORS

Silicon controlled rectifiers are often used in pulse circuits in which the ratio of peak to average current is large. Typical applications include radar pulse modulators, inverters, and switching regulators. The limiting parameter in such applications often is the time required for forward current to spread over the whole area of the junction. Losses in the SCR are high, and are concentrated in a small region until the entire junction area is in conduction. This concentraton produces undesirable high temperatures.

A typical SCR pulse modulator circuit is shown in Fig. 295; basic waveforms for the circuit are shown in Fig. 296. The capacitors of the energy-storage network are charged by the dc supply. The SCR



Fig. 295-Basic pulse modulator circuit.

is triggered by pulses from the gatetrigger generator No.1, and the energy-storage network discharges through an inductance and the load (transformer). Fig. 296 shows that the discharge of the storage network is oscillatory; the half-sinewave shape is characteristic of a single LC-section energy-storage network.

For turn-off, the load is "mismatched" to the discharge-circuit impedance so that a negative voltage is developed on the capacitor at the end of the pulse.

As an example, the rise-time portion of turn-on is defined as the time interval between the 10-percent and 90-per-cent points on the current wave shape when the SCR is triggered on in a circuit that has rated forward voltage and sufficient



Fig. 296—Turn-on requirements for a pulse-modulator SCR.

resistance to limit the current to rated values. For a 600-volt device, the end of the turn-on interval occurs when the forward voltage drop across the SCR is 60 volts. This value contrasts with the steadystate forward voltage of only 1 or 2 volts under such conditions. An interval many times greater than the turn-on time may be required before the forward voltage drop reduces to the steady-state level.

AC Power Controls

Thyristors have been widely accepted in power-control applications in industrial systems where highperformance requirements justify the economics of the application. Historically, in the commercial high-volume market, economic considerations have precluded the use of the thyristor. However, with the development of several families of thyristors by RCA designed specifically for mass-production economy and rated for 120- and 240-volt line operation, the use of these devices in controls for many types of small electric motors, incandescent lighting, and electric heating elements has been made economically feasible. The controls can be designed to provide good performance, maximum efficiency, and high reliability in compact packaging arrangements.

Basic Requirements

The simplest form of half-wave power control is shown in Fig. 297. This circuit provides a simple, non-regulating half-wave power control that begins at the 90-degree conduction (peak-voltage) point and



Fig. 297—Degree of control over conduction angles when ac resistive network is used to trigger (a) SCR's and (b) triacs.

may be adjusted to within a few degrees of full conduction (180-degree half-cycle).

The half-wave proportional control shown in Fig. 298 is a non-regulating circuit whose function depends upon an RC delay network for gate phaselag control. This circuit is better than simple resistance firing circuits because the phase-shifting characteristics of the RC network permit the firing of the SCR beyond the peak of the impressed voltage, resulting in small conduction angles. On the positive half-cycle of the applied voltage, capacitor C is charged through the network R_a and R_b . When the voltage across capacitor C exceeds the gatefiring voltage of the SCR, the SCR is turned on; during the remaining portion of the half-cycle, ac power is applied to the load.



Fig. 298—SCR half-wave proportional power control circuit.

The delay in firing the SCR depends upon the time-constant network (R_a , R_b , C) which produces a gate-firing voltage that is shifted in phase with respect to the supply voltage. The amount of phase shift is adjusted by R_b . With maximum resistance in the circuit, the RC time constant is longest. This condition results in a large phase shift with a correspondingly small conduction angle. With minimum resistance, the phase shift is small, and essentially the full line voltage is applied to the load.

The control circuit uses the breakdown voltage of a diac as a threshold setting for firing the SCR. The diac is specifically designed for handling the high-current pulses required to trigger SCR's. When the voltage across capacitor C reaches the breakdown voltage of the diac, it fires and C discharges through the diac to its maintaining voltage. At this point, the diac again reverts to its high-impedance state. The discharge of the capacitor from breakdown to maintaining voltage of the diac provides a current pulse of sufficient magnitude to fire the SCR. Once the SCR has fired, the voltage across the phaseshift network reduces to the forward voltage drop of the SCR for the remainder of the half-cycle.

Two SCR's are usually required to provide full-wave power control. Because of the bidirectional switching characteristics of triacs, however, only one of these devices is needed to provide the same type of control. Fig. 299 shows three fullwave power controls that employ thyristors.

In circuits of this type, a rapidly rising off-state voltage can occur across the thyristor when the device changes from a conducting state to a blocking state (commutates). The influence of this dv/dt stress on the operation of the powercontrol element is described below. Consideration is given only to those circuit applications that utilize a triac as the main power-control element.

The dv/dt stress in a circuit with a resistive load (such as those just described) can be illustrated by consideration of a circuit with a 6ampere load that has a power factor close to unity. The load resistance in this circuit is 20 ohms for a source voltage of 120 volts. If the total circuit inductance is assumed to be 500 microhenries and the total triac and stray capacitance is 500 picofarads, the circuit factor for the conducting state is 0.99996. lagging. Thus, the load current lags the line voltage by the small phase delay of approximately 25 microseconds. At the time that the triac commutates current, the line voltage is 1.6 volts. At this time, a transient damped oscillation occurs as a result of the interaction of the triac

Power Switching and Control

junction capacitance and the circuit inductance. For the circuit parameter values given (R = 20 ohms, L =500 microhenries, and C = 500 picofarads), the frequency of oscillation is $3.2 \times 10^{\circ}$ Hz. Calculation of the maximum dv/dt stress across the triac yields a value of 1.97 volts per microsecond. The voltage at the time of commutation is then 1.6 volts. and the maximum commutating dv/dt becomes 3.15 volts per micrcsecond.





Fig. 299—Full-wave thyristor motor control circuits using (a) bridge rectifier and a single SCR; (b) inverse parallel SCR's; (c) a triac.

Thus, it can be seen that a definite dv/dt stress is imposed on the triac even when the load is primarily resistive. Because all resistive circuit configurations have some small inductance associated with them, a

commutating dv/dt stress is produced in all resistive circuits. Fig. 300 shows a commutating dv/dtwaveshape for a resistive load of 6 amperes in a 120-volt triac control circuit.



Fig. 300—Triac principal voltage during commutation of a resistive load.

The use of triacs for full-wave ac power control results in either fixed or adjustable power to the load. Fixed load power is achieved by use of the triac as a static on-off switch which applies effectively all of the available line voltage to the load, or by use of the triac in a fixed-phase firing mode which applies only the desired portion of the line voltage to the load. The latter method of operation is but one point of an infinite number of available points which can be attained by variablephase firing operation.

Fig. 301 shows the current and voltage waveshapes produced when a triac is used to control ac power to a highly inductive load for on-off triac operation; Fig. 302 illustrates the waveshapes for phase-control operation. Because the load is highly inductive ($\omega L >> R$), the load current lags the line voltage by some phase angle θ . When the current through the triac (i.e., the load current) goes to zero (commutates), the triac turns off. In static control operation, the triac is immediately turned on by continuous application, or re-application, of the gate triggering signal; thus, this signal causes the triac to continue conducting for the desired number of successive half-cycles.

As shown in Fig. 301, at time t₁, the gate is opened and the triac continues to conduct for the remainder of that half-cycle of load current. At the end of the halfcycle, commutation occurs and the triac is subjected to an off-state blocking voltage which has a polarity opposite to the conducted current and a magnitude equal to the value of line voltage at that instant. Because the triac goes from a conducting state to a blocking state in a very short period of time, the rate of rise of off-state voltage is very rapid. This rapidly rising off-state voltage produces a dv/dt across the main power terminals of the triac and can result in the triac going into conduction if the triac is incapable of withstanding the dv/dt.



Fig. 301—Principal voltage and current for static-switch triac operation with an inductive load.

Fig. 302 shows the waveshapes produced for phase-control operation with an inductive load. The oscillations which are present on the peaks of the voltage waveform are the result of interaction of the circuit inductance and capacitance. For this type of operation, the stress caused by the commutating dv/dt is produced each time the current crosses the zero-axis and, therefore, occurs at a frequency equal to twice the line-voltage frequency. If the triac is incapable of sustaining the dv/dt which is produced, it goes



Fig. 302—Principal voltage and current for phase-control triac operation with an inductive load.

into a conducting state and remains in continuous conduction, supplying current to the load. This malfunction is illustrated in Fig. 303.



Fig. 303—Principal voltage and current showing malfunction of triac as a result of commutating dv/dt produced by an inductive load.

Fig. 304(a) shows the circuit diagram of a series connection of voltage source, triac, and load. An equivalent circuit for this series connection is shown in Fig. 304(b). When the triac is in conduction, the triac junction capacitance is shunted by a low-value, nonlinear resistance which minimizes the effect of triac capacitance. However, when the triac



Fig. 304—(a) Series-circuit connection of triac, inductive load, and ac power source; and (b) equivalent circuit.

goes out of conduction, the resistive component becomes very large and the equivalent triac shunting capacitance becomes significant. Because the circuit is basically a series RLC circuit, the voltage waveshape and the rate of rise of voltage across the triac at commutation are determined by the magnitude of source voltage and the circuit inductance, capacitance, and resistance. Thus the rising off-state voltage across the triac can be an overdamped, critically damped, or underdamped oscillation.

The increased complexity of aircraft control systems, and the need for greater reliability than electromechanical switching can offer, has led to the use of solid-state power switching in aircraft. Because 400-Hz power is used almost universally in aircraft systems, triacs employed for power switching and control in such systems must have a substantially higher commutating dv/dt capability than are those employed similarly in 60-Hz systems. (The increase in commutating dv/dt stresses on triacs with increases in frequency was explained previously in the section on Thyristors.) RCA offers an extensive line of triacs rated for 400-Hz applications.

Areas of application for 400-Hz triacs on aircraft include:

1. Heater controls for food-warming ovens and for windshield defrosters.

2. Lighting controls for instrument panels and cabin illumination.

3. Motor controls.

4. Solenoid controls.

5. Power supply switches

Fig. 305 shows a low-current triac in use in a simple, common, proportional-control application; the circuit consists of a single RC time constant and a threshold device. The trigger diac is used as a threshold device to remove the dependence of the trigger circuit on



Fig. 305—Simple control circuit using a single time constant.

variations in gate trigger characteristics. The circuit can provide sufficient control for many applications, such as heaters and motor-speed and switching controls. Because of its simplicity, the circuit can be packaged in confined areas where space is at a premium. Electrically, it displays a hysteresis effect and initially turns on for resistive loads with a conduction angle which may be too large; however, it provides maximum power output at the full "on" position of the control potentiometer.

The hysteresis effect produced by a single-time-constant circuit can be reduced by addition of a resistor (R_s) in series with the trigger diac, as shown by the dotted lines in Fig. 305. The series resistor reduces the capacitor discharge time and thus provides reduced time lag because of the diac turn-on-characteristics.

The circuit shown in Fig. 306 uses a double-time-constant control to improve on the performance of the single-time-constant control circuit. This circuit minimizes the hysteresis effect and allows the triac to turn on at small conduction angles. The circuit has the advantages of low hysteresis, bidirectional operation at



Fig. 306—Control circuit using a double time constant.

small conduction angles, and continuous control up to the maximum conduction angle. In addition, the fixed resistor R_r can be replaced by a trimmer potentiometer for minimum control at low conduction angles.

The circuit shown in Fig. 307 uses a neon bulb as a threshold device rather than the solid-state diac. This circuit has the advantages of low hysteresis, bidirectional operation at small conduction angles, and



Fig. 307—Control circuit using a neonbulb threshold device.

continuous control up to the maximum conduction angle. Because the neon-bulb threshold voltage is higher than that of a solid-stage diac, however, full 360-degree control may not be achieved. Fig. 308 shows a circuit in which an SCR controls the triggering and operation of a triac in an integralcycle control circuit which is radiofrequency-interference free. A basic SCR gate-trigger or gate-control



Fig. 308—Integral-cycle control circuit.

circuit can be represented by a voltage source and a series resistance, as shown in Fig. 309. The series resistance should include both the ex-



Fig. 309-Equivalent gate trigger circuit.

ternal circuit resistance and the internal generator resistance. With this type of equivalent circuit, the conventional load-line approach to gate trigger-circuit design can be used. With pulse-type triggering, it is assumed initially that the time required to trigger all SCR's of the same type is known, and that the maximum allowable gate trigger pulse widths for specific peak gate power inputs are to be determined. The magnitude of gate trigger current required to turn on an SCR of given type can be determined а from the turn-on characteristics shown in the section on Thyristors.

Power Switching and Control

The triac in Fig. 308 is not triggered as long as the SCR is on. When the SCR is turned off by removal of the gate signal and application of a negative anode potential, the triac is triggered on at the beginning of the next half-cycle. When the triac conducts, the capacitor charges up to the peak supply voltage and retains its charge to trigger the triac on in the next half-cycle. When the triac conducts in the reverse direction, the negative charge on the capacitor is held to a low value so that it does not trigger the triac when the supply voltage reverses. If the SCR is still off, the triac repeats its conduction angle. If the SCR is conducting, the triac does not trigger on, but remains off until the SCR is again turned off. This circuit provides the unique function of integralcycle switching, i.e., once the triac is triggered on, it completes one full cycle before turning off. This type switching eliminates dc comof ponents present with half-wave control. The circuit also provides synchronous switching, i.e., the triac turns on at the beginning of the cycle and does not generate RFI.

Light Dimmers

simple, inexpensive Α lightdimmer circuit can be constructed with a diac, a triac, and an RC charge-control network. It is important to remember that a triac in this type of circuit dissipates power at the rate of about one watt per ampere. Therefore, some means of removing heat must be provided to keep the device within its safe operating-temperature range. On a small light-control circuit such as one built into a lamp socket, the lead-in wire serves as an effective heat sink. Attachment of the triac case directly to one of the lead-in wires provides sufficient heat dissipation for operating currents up to 2 amperes (rms). On wall-mounted controls operating up to 6 amperes, the combination of faceplate and wallbox serves as an effective heat sink. For higher-power

controls, however, the ordinary faceplate and wallbox do not provide sufficient heat-sink area. In this case, additional area may be obtained by use of a finned face plate that has a cover plate which stands out from the wall so air can circulate freely over the fins.

On wall-mounted controls, it is also important that the triac be electrically isolated from the face plate, but at the same time be in good thermal contact with it. Although the thermal conductivity of most electrical insulators is relatively low when compared with metals, a low-thermal-resistance, electrically isolated bond of triac to faceplate can be obtained if the thickness of the insulator is minimized and the area for heat transfer through the insulator is maximized. Suitable insulating materials are fiberglass tape, ceramic sheet. mica. and polyimide film. Fig. 310 shows two



Fig. 310—Examples of isolated mounting of triacs,

examples of isolated mounting for triacs in a TO-5 package and the new plastic package. Electrical insulating tape is first placed over the inside of the faceplate. The triac is then mounted to the insulated faceplate by use of epoxy-resin cement.

Because the light output of an incandescent lamp depends upon the voltage impressed upon the lamp filament, changes in the lamp voltage vary the brightness of the lamp. When ac source voltages are used, a triac can be used in series with an incandescent lamp to vary the voltage to the lamp by changing its conduction angle; i.e., the portion of each half-cycle of ac line voltage in which the triac conducts to provide voltage to the lamp filament. The triac, therefore, is very attractive as a switching element in light-dimming applications.

To switch incandescent-lamp loads reliably, a triac must be able to withstand the inrush current of the lamp load. The inrush current is a result of the difference between the cold and hot resistance of the tungsten filament. The cold resistance of the tungsten filament is much lower than the hot resistance. The resulting inrush current is approximately 12 times the normal operating current of the lamp.

The simplest circuit that can be used for light-dimming applications is shown in Fig. 311. This circuit uses a diac in series with the gate of a triac to minimize the variations in



Fig. 311—Single-time-constant lightdimmer circuit.

gate trigger characteristics. In applications where space is at a premium, the RCA-40431 or RCA-40432, which combines the functions of both triac and diac, may be used. Changes in the resistance in series with the capacitor change the conduction angle of the triac. Because of its simplicity, this circuit can be packaged in confined areas where space is at a premium.

The capacitor in the circuit of Fig. 311 is charged through the control potentiometer and the series resistance. The series resistance is used to protect the potentiometer by limiting the capacitor charging current when the control potentiometer is at its minimum resistance setting. This resistor may be eliminated if the potentiometer can withstand the peak charging current until the triac turns on. The diac conducts when the voltage on the capacitor reaches its breakover voltage. The capacitor then discharges through the diac to produce a current pulse of sufficient amplitude and width to trigger the triac. Because the triac can be triggered with either polarity of gate signal, the same operation occurs on the opposite half-cycle of the applied voltage. The triac, therefore, is triggered and conducts on each half-cycle of the input supply voltage.

The interaction of the RC network and the trigger diode results in a hysteresis effect when the triac is initially triggered at small conduction angles. The hysteresis effect is characterized by a difference in the control potentiometer setting when the triac is first triggered and when the circuit turns off. Fig. 312 shows the interaction between the RC network and the diac to produce the hysteresis effect. The capacitor voltage and the ac line voltage are shown as solid lines. As the resistance in the circuit is decreased from its maximum value, the capacitor voltage reaches a value which fires the diac. This point is designated A on the capacitor-voltage waveshape. When the diac fires, the capacitor discharges and triggers the triac at an initial conduction angle θ_1 . During the forming of the gate trigger pulse, the capacitor voltage drops suddenly. The charge on the capacitor is smaller than when the diac did not conduct. As a result of the different voltage conditions on the capacitor, the breakover voltage of the diac is reached earlier in the next half-cycle. This point is labeled B on the capacitorvoltage waveform. The conduction angle θ_2 corresponding to point B is greater than θ_1 . All succeeding conduction angles are equal to θ_2 in magnitude. When the circuit resistance is increased by a change



Fig. 312—Waveforms showing interaction of control network and trigger diode.

in the potentiometer setting, the triac is still triggered, but at a smaller conduction angle. Eventually, the resistance in series with the capacitance becomes so great that the voltage on the capacitor does not reach the breakover voltage of the diac. The circuit then turns off and does not turn on until the circuit resistance is again reduced to allow the diac to be fired. The hysteresis effect makes the voltage load appear much greater than would normally be expected when the circuit is initially turned on.

The double-time-constant circuit in Fig. 313 improves on the perform-



Fig. 313-Double-time-constant lightdimmer circuit.

ance of the single-time-constant control circuit. This circuit uses an additional RC network to extend the phase angle so that the triac can be triggered at small conduction angles. The additional RC network also minimizes the hysteresis effect, Fig. 314 shows the voltage waveforms for the ac supply and the trigger capacitor of the circuit of Fig. 313. Because of the voltage drop across R₃. the input capacitor C₂ charges to a higher voltage than the trigger capacitor C_3 . When the voltage on C₃ reaches the breakover voltage of the diac. it conducts and causes the capacitor to discharge and produce the gate-current pulse to trigger the triac. After the diac turns off, the charge on C_3 is partially restored by the charge from the input capacitor C2. The partial restoration of charge on C3 results in better circuit performance with a minimum of hysteresis.



Fig. 314—Voltage waveforms of doubletime-constant control circuit.

Fig. 315 shows a lamp-dimmer circuit in which the use of an RCA-CA3059 integrated-circuit zerovoltage switch in conjunction with a 400-Hz triac results in minimum RFI. (The CA3059 is described briefly in the section on Heater Controls. A detailed description of this integrated circuit is given in the manual on RCA Linear Integrated Circuits. Technical Series IC-42. in RCA Application Notes ICAN-4158 and ICAN-6268, or in the Technical Bulletin on the CA3059, File No. 397.



Fig. 315—Circuit diagram for 400-Hz zero-voltage-switched lamp dimmer.

Lamp dimming is a simple triac application that demonstrates an advantage of 400-Hz power over 60 Hz. Fig. 316 shows the adjustment



Fig. 316—Waveforms for 60-Hz phasecontrolled lamp dimmer.

of lamp intensity by phase control of the 60-Hz line voltage. Because RFI is generated by the step functions of power each half cycle, extensive filtering is required. Fig. 317 shows a means of controlling power to the lamp by the zero-voltageswitching technique. Use of 400-Hz power makes possible the elimination of complete or half cycles within a period (typically 17.5 milliseconds) without noticeable flicker. Fourteen different levels of lamp intensity can be obtained in this manner. In the circuit shown in Fig. 315, a linesynced ramp is set up with the desired period and applied to terminal



Fig. 317—Waveforms for 400-Hz zero-voltage-switched lamp dimmer.
No. 9 of the differential amplifier within the CA3059. The other side of the differential amplifier (terminal No. 13) uses a variable reference level, set by the potentiometer R_2 . A change of the potentiometer setting changes the lamp intensity.

In 400-Hz applications, it may be necessary to widen and shift the CA3059 output pulse (which is typically 12 microseconds wide and centered on zero voltage crossing) to assure that sufficient latching current is available. The resistor R_s (terminal No. 12 to common) and the capacitor C_2 (terminal No. 5 to common) are used for this adjustment.

Heat Controls

There are three general categories of solid-state control circuits for electric heating elements: on-off control, phase control, and proportional control using integral-cycle synchronous switching. Phase-control circuits such as those used for light dimming are very effective and efficient for electric heat control except for the problem of radio-frequency interference (RFI). In higher-power applications, the RFI is of such magnitude that suppression circuits to minimize the interference become quite bulky and expensive.

On-off controls have only two levels of power input to the load. The heating coils are either energized to full power or are at zero power. Because of thermal time constants, on-off controls produce a cyclic action which alternates between thermal overshoots and undershoots with poor resolution.

This disadvantage is overcome and RFI is minimized by use of the concept of integral-cycle proportional control with synchronous switching. In this system, a time base is selected, and the on-time of the triac is varied within the time base. The ratio of the on-to-off time of the triac within this time interval depends upon the power required to the heating elements to maintain the desired temperature. Fig. 318 shows the on-off ratio of the triac. Within the time period, the on-time varies by an integral number of cycles from full ON to a single cycle of input voltage.



One method of achieving integralcycle proportional control is to use a fixed-frequency sawtooth generator signal which is summed with a dc control signal. The sawtooth generator establishes the period or time base of the system. The dc control signal is obtained from the output of the temperature-sensing network. The principle is illustrated in Fig. 319. As the sawtooth voltage increases, a level is reached which turns on power to the heating elements. As the temperature at the sensor changes, the dc level shifts accordingly and changes the length of time that the power is applied to the heating elements within the established time.

When the demand for heat is high, the dc control signal is high and high power is supplied continuously



Fig. 319—Proportional-controller waveshapes.

to the heating elements. When the demand for heat is completely satisfied, the dc control signal is low and low power is supplied to the heating elements. Usually a system using this principle operates continuously somewhere between full ON and full OFF to satisfy the demand for heat.

The RCA-CA3059 integrated-circuit zero-voltage switch is intended primarily as a trigger circuit for the control of thyristors and is particularly suited for use in thyristor temperature-control applications. This multistage circuit employs a diode limiter, a threshold detector, a differential amplifier, and a Darlington output driver to provide the basic switching action. The dc supply voltage for these stages is supplied by internal zener-diode-regulated an power supply that has sufficient current capability to drive external circuit elements, such as transistors

and other integrated circuits. The trigger pulse developed by this circuit can be applied directly to the gate of an SCR or a triac. A builtin fail-safe circuit inhibits the application of these pulses to the thyristor gate circuit in the event that the external sensor for the integrated-circuit switch should be inadvertently opened or shorted. The CA3059 may be employed as either an on-off type of controller or a proportional controller, depending upon the degree of temperature regulation required.

Fig. 320 shows a functional block diagram of the CA3059 integratedcircuit zero-voltage switch. Any triac that is driven directly from the output terminal of this circuit should be characterized for operation in the I(+) or III(+) triggering modes, i.e., with positive gate current (current flows into the gate for



*NTC=NEGATIVE TEMPERATURE COEFFICIENT

Note: Detailed descriptive information and the complete circuit diagram for the CA3059 are given in the RCA Linear Integrated Circuits Manual, Technical Series IC-42, or in RCA Application Notes ICAN-4158 and ICAN-6268 and the RCA Technical Bulletin on the CA3059, File No. 397.

Power Switching and Control

both polarities of the applied ac voltage). The circuit operates directly from a 60-Hz ac line voltage of 120 or 240 volts.

The limiter stage of the CA3059 clips the incoming ac line voltage to approximately plus and minus 8 volts. This signal is then applied to the zero-voltage-crossing detector. which generates an output pulse during each passage of the line voltage through zero. The limiter output is also applied to a rectifying diode and an external capacitor that comprise the dc power supply. The power supply provides approximately 6 volts as the dc supply to the other stages of the CA3059. The on/off sensing amplifier is basically a differential comparator. The triac gating circuit contains a driver for direct triac triggering. The gating circuit is enabled when all the inputs are at a high voltage, i.e., the line voltage must be approximately zero volts, the sensing-amplifier output must be "high," the external voltage to terminal 1 must be a logical "1." and the output of the failsafe circuit must be "high."

Fig. 321 shows the position and width of the pulses supplied to the gate of a thyristor with respect to the incoming ac line voltage. The CA3059 can supply sufficient gate voltage and current to trigger most RCA thyristors at ambient temperatures of 25°C. However, under worstcase conditions (i.e., at ambienttemperature extremes and maximum trigger requirements), selection of the higher-current thyristors may be necessary for particular applications.

As shown in Fig. 320, when terminal 13 is connected to terminal 14, the fail-safe circuit of the CA3059 is operable. If the sensor should then be accidentally opened or shorted, power is removed from the load (i.e., the triac is turned off). The internal fail-safe circuit functions properly, however, only when the ratio of the sensor impedance at 25° C, if a thermistor is the sensor, to the impedance of the potentiometer R_{p} is less than 4 to 1.



Fig. 321—Timing relationship between the output pulses of the CA3059 and the ac line voltage.

On-Off Temperature Controller— Fig. 322 shows a triac and a CA3059 used in an on-off temperature-controller configuration. The triac is turned on at zero voltage whenever the voltage V_s exceeds the reference voltage V_r . The transfer characteristic of this system, shown in Fig. 323, indicates significant thermal overshoots and undershoots, a wellknown characteristic of such a system. The differential or hysteresis of this system, however, can be further increased, if desired, by the addition of positive feedback.

Proportional Temperature Controller—For precise temperaturecontrol applications, the proportional-control technique with synchronous switching is employed. The transfer curve for this type of controller is shown in Fig. 324. In this case, the duty cycle of the power supplied to the load is varied with the demand for heat required and the thermal time constant (inertia) of the system. For example, when temperature setting is the increased in an "on-off" type of controller, full power (100 per cent duty cycle) is supplied to the system. This effect results in significant temperature excursions because there is no anticipatory circuit to reduce the power gradually before the actual set temperature is



Fig. 322-CA3059 on-off temperature controller.



Fig. 323—Transfer characteristics of an on-off temperature-control system.



Fig. 324—Transfer characteristics of a proportional temperature-control system.

achieved. However, in a proportional control technique, less power is supplied to the load (reduced duty cycle) as the error signal is reduced (sensed temperature approaches the set temperature).

Before such a system is implemented, a time base is chosen so that the on-time of the triac is varied within this time base. The ratio of the on-to-off time of the triac within this time interval depends on the thermal time constant of the system and the selected temperature setting. Fig. 325 illustrates the principle of proportional control. For this operation, power is supplied to the load until the ramp voltage reaches a value greater than the dc control signal supplied to the opposite side of the differential amplifier. The triac then remains off for the remainder of the time-base period. As a result, power is "proportioned" to the load in a direct relation to the heat demanded by the system.





Fig. 326-Ramp generator.

For this application, a simple ramp generator can be realized with a minimum number of active and passive components. Exceptional ramp linearity is not necessary for proportional operation because of the nonlinearity of the thermal system and the closed-loop type of control. In the circuit shown in Fig. 326, ramp voltage is generated when the capacitor C₂ charges through resistors R_4 and R_5 . The time base of the ramp is determined by resistors R_1 and R_2 , capacitor C_1 , and the breakover voltage of the 1N5411 diac. When the voltage across C_1 reaches approximately 32 volts, the

diac switches and turns on the 2N3241A transistor. The capacitor C₂ then discharges through the collector-to-emitter iunction of the transistor. This discharge time is the retrace or flyback time of the ramp. The circuit shown can generate ramp times ranging from 0.3 to 2.0 seconds through adjustment of R₂. For precise temperature regulations, the time base of the ramp should be shorter than the thermal time constant of the system, but long with respect to the period of the 60-Hz line voltage. Fig. 327 shows a triac and a CA3059 connected for the proportional mode.



Fig. 327-CA3059 proportional temperature controller.

Integral-Cycle Temperature Controller (No half-cycling)—If a temperature controller which is completely devoid of half-cycling and hysteresis is required, then the circuit shown in Fig. 328 may be used This type of circuit is essential for applications in which half-cycling and the resultant dc component could cause overheating of a power transformer on the utility lines.

In the circuit shown in Fig. 327, the sensor is connected between trolled is low, the resistance of the thermistor is high and an output signal at terminal 4 of zero volts is obtained. The SCR, therefore, is turned off. The triac is then triggered directly from the line on positive cycles of the ac voltage. When the triac is triggered and supplies power to the load R₁, capacitor C is charged to the peak of the input voltage. When the ac line swings through the triac gate to trigger the



Fig. 328—CA3059 integral-cycle temperature controller in which half-cycling effect is eliminated.

terminals 7 and 9 of the CA3059. This arrangement is required because of the phase reversal introduced by the SCR. With this configuration, terminal 12 is connected to terminal 7 for operation of the CA3059 in the dc mode (however, the load is switched at zero voltage). Because the position of the sensor has been changed for this configuration, the internal fail-safe circuit cannot be used (terminals 13 and 14 are not connected).

In the integral-cycle controller, when the temperature being contriac on the negative half-cycle. The diode-resistor-capacitor "slaving network" triggers the triac on negative half-cycles of the ac input voltage after it is triggered on the positive half-cycle to provide only integral cycles of ac power to the load.

When the temperature being controlled reaches the desired value, as determined by the thermistor, then a positive voltage level appears at terminal 4 of the CA3059. The SCR then starts to conduct at the beginning of the positive input cycle to shunt the trigger current away from the gate of the triac. The triac is then turned off. The cycle repeats when the SCR is again turned by a reversal of the polarity of the applied voltage.

The circuit shown in Fig. 329 is similar to the configuration in Fig. 328 except that the fail-safe circuit incorporated in the CA3059 can be motors and perform switching, or any other desired operating condition that can be obtained by a switching action. Because most motors are line-operated, the triac can be used as a direct replacement for electromechanical switches. A very simple triac static switch for



AND CONNECT POSITIVE RAMP VOLTAGE TO TERMINAL 13

Fig. 329—CA3059 integral-cycle temperature controller that features fail-safe operation and no half-cycling effect.

used. In this latter circuit, the NTC sensor is connected between terminals 7 and 13, and a transistor inverts the signal output at terminal 4 to nullify the phase reversal introduced by the SCR. The internal power supply of the CA3059 supplies bias current to the transistor.

The circuit shown in Fig. 329 can readily be converted to a true proportional integral-cycle temperature controller simply by connection of a positive-going ramp voltage to terminal 9 (with terminals 10 and 11 open).

Motor Controls

Triacs and SCR's can be used very effectively to apply power to control of ac motors is shown in Fig. 330. The low-current switch



Fig. 330-Simple triac static switch.

controlling the gate trigger current can be any type of transducer, such as a pressure switch, a thermal switch, a photocell, or a magnetic reed relay. This simple type of circuit allows the motor to be switched directly from the transducer switch without any intermediate power switch or relay.

Triacs can also be used to change the operating characteristics of motors to obtain many different speed and torque curves.

For dc control, the circuit of Fig. 331 can be used. By use of the dc triggering modes, the triac can be directly triggered from transistor



Fig. 331—AC triac switch control from dc input.

circuits by either a pulse or continuous signal. A transistor seriesswitching regulator approach can also be used to control the armature current of a dc motor, as shown in Fig. 332. Usually the transistor is full on or full off and the duration of the pulse (or the duty cycle) determines the motor speed. Its typical high-power application is in the drive motors of electric vehicles or submarines.



Fig. 332-DC motor armature control.

Many fractional-horsepower motors are series-wound "universal" motors, so named because of their ability to operate directly from either ac or dc power sources. Fig. 333 is a schematic of this type of motor operated from an ac supply. Because most domestic applications today 60-Hz power, universal require motors are usually designed to have optimum performance characteristics at this frequency. Most universal motors run faster at a given de voltage than at the same 60-Hz ac voltage.

The field winding of a universal motor, whether distributed or lumped (salient pole), is in series with the armature and external circuit, as shown in Fig. 333. The current



Fig. 333—Series-wound universal motor.

through the field winding produces a magnetic field which cuts across the armature conductors. The action of this field in opposition to the field set up by the armature current subjects the individual conductors to a lateral thrust which results in armature rotation.

AC operation of a universal motor is possible because of the nature of its electrical connections. As the ac source voltage reverses every halfcycle, the magnetic field produced by the field winding reverses its direction simultaneously. Because the armature windings are in series with field windings through the the brushes and commutating segments, the current through the armature winding also reverses. Because both the magnetic field and armature current are reversed, the direction of the lateral thrust on the armature windings remains constant. Typical performance characteristic curves for a universal motor are shown in Fig. 334.



Fig. 334—Typical performance curves for a universal motor.

One of the simplest and most efficient means of varying the impressed voltage to a load on an ac power system is by control of the conduction angle of a thyristor placed in series with the load. Typical curves showing the variation of motor speed with conduction angle for both half-wave and full-wave impressed motor voltages are illustrated in Fig. 335.



Fig. 335—Typical performance curves for a universal motor with phase-angle control.

Half-Wave Control-There are many good circuits available for half-wave control of universal motors. The circuits are divided into two classes: regulating and nonregulating. Regulation in this instance implies load sensing and compensation of the system to prevent changes in motor speed.

The half-wave proportional control circuit shown in Fig. 336 is a non-regulating circuit that depends upon an RC delay network for gate phase-lag control. This circuit is better than simple resistance firing circuits because the phase-shifting characteristics of the RC network permit the firing of the SCR beyond the peak of the impressed voltage, resulting in small conduction angles and very slow speed.



Fig. 336—Half-wave motor control with no regulation.

Fig. 337 shows a fundamental circuit of direct-coupled SCR control with voltage feedback. This circuit is highly effective for speed control of universal motors. The circuit makes use of the counter emf induced in the rotating armature because of the residual magnetism in the motor on the half-cycle when the SCR is blocking.

The counter emf is a function of speed and, therefore, can be used as an indication of speed changes as mechanical load varies. The gatefiring circuit is a resistance network consisting of R1 and R2. During the positive half-cycle of the source voltage, a fraction of the voltage is developed at the center-tap of the potentiometer and is compared with the counter emf developed in the rotating armature of the motor. When the bias developed at the gate of the SCR from the potentiometer exceeds the counter emf of the motor, the SCR fires. AC power is then applied to the motor for the



Fig. 337—Half-wave motor control with regulation.

remaining portion of the positive half-cycle. Speed control is accomplished by adjustment of potentiometer R₁. If the SCR is fired early in the cycle, the motor operates at high speed because essentially the full rated line voltage is applied to the motor. If the SCR is fired later in the cycle, the average value of voltage applied to the motor is reduced, and a corresponding reduction in motor speed occurs. On the negative half-cycle, the SCR blocks voltage to the motor. The voltage applied to the gate of the SCR is a sine wave because it is derived from the sine-wave line voltage, The minimum conduction angle occurs at the peak of the sine wave and is restricted to 90 degrees. Increasing conduction angles occur when the gate bias to the SCR is increased to allow firing at voltage values which are less than the peak value.

At no load and low speed, skip cycling operation occurs. This type of operation results in erratic motor speeds. Because no counter EMF is induced in the armature when the motor is standing still, the SCR will

fire at low bias-potentiometer settings and causes the motor to accelerate to a point at which the counter emf induced in the rotating armature exceeds the gate firing bias of the SCR and prevents the SCR from firing. The SCR is not able to fire again until the speed of the motor has reduced, as a result of friction losses, to a value at which the induced voltage in the rotating armature is less than the gate bias. At this time the SCR fires again. Because the motor deceleration occurs over a number of cycles, there is no voltage applied to the motor; hence, the term skip-cycling.

When a load is applied to the motor, the motor speed decreases and thus reduces the counter emf induced in the rotating armature. With a reduced counter emf, the SCR fires earlier in the cycle and provides increased motor torque to the load. Fig. 337 also shows variations of conduction angle with changes in counter emf. The counter emf appears as a constant voltage at the motor terminals when the SCR is blocking.

Half-Wave Motor Control Limitations—If a universal motor is operated at low speed under a heavy mechanical load, it may stall and cause heavy current flow through the SCR. For this reason, low-speed heavyload conditions should be allowed to exist for only a few seconds to prevent possible circuit damage. In any case, fuse ratings should be carefully determined and observed.

Nameplate data for some universal motors are given in developed horsepower to the load. This mechanical designation can be converted into its electrical current equivalent through the following procedure.

Internal motor losses are taken into consideration by assigning a figure of merit. This figure, 0.5, represents motor operation at 50-percent efficiency, and indicates that the power input to the motor is twice the power delivered to the load. With this figure of merit and the input voltage $V_{\rm ar}$, the rms input current to the motor can be calculated as follows:

rms current =

mechanical horsepower \times 746

0.5 Vac

For an input voltage of 120 volts, the rms input current becomes rms current = horsepower \times 12.4 For an input voltage of 240 volts, the rms input current becomes

rms current = horsepower \times 6.2

The motor-control circuits described above should not be used with universal motors that have calculated rms current exceeding the values given. The circuits will accommodate universal motors with ratings up to $\frac{3}{4}$ horsepower at 120 volts input and up to $\frac{1}{2}$ horsepower at 240 volts input.

Full-Wave Universal and Induction Motor Controls—Fig. 338 shows a single-time-constant full-wave triac circuit which can be used as a satisfactory proportional speed control for universal motors and with cer-



Fig. 338-Induction motor control.

tain types of induction motors, such as shaded pole or permanent splitcapacitor motors when the load is fixed. No regulation is provided with this circuit. This type of circuit is best suited to applications which require speed control in the medium to full-power range. It is specifically useful in applications such as fans or blower-motor controls, where small change in motor speed a produces a large change in air velocity. Caution must be exercised if this type of circuit is used with induction motors because the motor may stall suddenly if the speed of the motor is reduced below the drop-out speed for the specific operating condition determined by the conduction angle of the triac. Because the singletime-constant circuit cannot provide speed control of an induction motor load from maximum power to full OFF, but only down to some fraction of the full-power speed, the effects of hysteresis described previously are not present. Speed ratios as high as 3:1 can be obtained from the single-time-constant circuit used with certain types of induction motors. Care must be taken to avoid continuous low-speed operation of induction motors in which sleeve bearings are used as improper lubrication will result.

Because motors are basically inductive loads and because the triac turns off when the current reduces to zero, the phase difference between the applied voltage and the device current causes the triac to turn off when the source voltage is at a value other than zero. When the triac turns off, the instantaneous value of input voltage is applied directly to the main terminals of the triac. This commutating voltage may have a rate of rise which can retrigger the triac. The commutating dv/dt can be limited to the capability of the triac by use of an RC network across the device, as shown in Fig. 338. The current and voltage waveshapes for the circuit are shown in Fig. 339 to illustrate the principle of commutating dv/dt.

In applications in which the hysteresis effect can be tolerated or which require speed control primarily in the medium to full-power range, a single-time-constant circuit such as that shown in Fig. 338 for induction motors can also be used for universal motors. However, it is usually desirable to extend the range of speed control from fullpower ON to very low conduction angles. The double-time-constant circuit shown in Fig. 340 provides the delay necessary to trigger the triac at very low conduction angles with a minimum of hysteresis, and also provides practically full power



Fig. 339—Waveshapes of commutating dv/dt characteristics.

to the load at the minimum-resistance position of the control potentiometer. When this type of control circuit is used, an infinite range of motor speeds can be obtained from very low to full-power speeds.



Fig. 340—Double-time-constant motor control.

Reversing Motor Control—In many industrial applications, it is necessary to reverse the direction of a motor, either manually or by means of an auxiliary circuit. Fig. 341 shows a circuit which uses two triacs to provide this type of reversing motor control for a split-phase capacitance motor. The reversing switch can be either a manual switch or an electronic switch used with some type of sensor to reverse the direction of the motor. A resistance is added in series with the capacitor to limit capacitor discharge current to a safe value whenever both triacs are conducting simultaneously. If triac No.1 is turned on while triac No.2 is on. a loop current resulting from capacitor discharge will occur and may damage the triacs.

The circuit operates as follows: when triac No.1 is in the off state, motor direction is controlled by triac No.2; when triac No.2 reverts to the off state and triac No.1 turns on, the motor direction is reversed.

The triac motor-reversing circuit can be extended to electronic garagedoor systems which use the principle for garage-door direction



Fig. 341—Reversing motor control.

control. The system contains я transmitter and a receiver and provides remote control of door opening and closing. The block diagram in Fig. 342 shows the functions required for a complete solid-state system. When the garage door is closed, the gate drive to the DOWN triac is disabled by the lower-limit closure and the gate drive to the UP triac is inactive because of the state of the flip-flop. If the transmitter is momentarily keyed. the receiver activates the time-delay monostable multivibrator so that it then changes the flip-flop state and provides continuous gate drive to the UP triac. The door then continues to travel in the UP direction until the upper-limit switch closure disables gate drive to the UP triac. A second keying of the transmitter provides the DOWN triac with gate drive and causes the door to travel in the DOWN direction until the gate drive is disabled by the lower limit closure. The time in which the monostable multivibrator is active should override normal transmitter keying for the purpose of eliminating erroneous firing. A feature of this system is that, during travel, transmitter keying provides motor reversing independent of the upperor lower-limit closures. Additional features, such as obstacle clearance, manual control, or time delay for overhead garage lights can be included very economically.



Fig. 342—Block diagram for remotecontrol solid-state garage-door system.

228

DC Power Supplies

D^C power supplies convert the output of a prime source, such as a generator, to a form useful to the circuit to be powered. The supply of power usually requires rectification to change ac to dc, filtering to smooth out the ac ripple in the output of the rectifier circuit, and regulation to assure a constant output from the power supply in spite of variations in the input voltage and output load.

RECTIFICATION

The most suitable type of rectifier circuit for a particular application depends on the dc voltage and current requirements, the amount of rectifier "ripple" (undesired fluctuation in the dc output caused by an ac component) that can be tolerated in the circuit, and the type of ac power available. Figs. 343 through 349 show seven basic rectifier configurations. These illustrations include the output-voltage waveforms for the various circuits and the current waveforms for each individual rectifier in the circuits. Filtering of the output of the rectifier circuits is discussed later in this section. voltage Ideally. the waveform should be as flat as possible (i.e., approaching almost pure dc). A flat curve indicates a peak-to-average voltage ratio of one.

The single-phase half-wave circuit shown in Fig. 343 delivers only one pulse of current for each cycle of ac input voltage. As shown by the current waveform, the single rectifier conducts the entire current flow. This type of circuit contains



Fig. 343-Single-phase half-wave circuit.

a very high percentage of output ripple.

Fig. 344 shows a single-phase fullwave circuit that operates from a



Fig. 344—Single-phase full-wave circuit with center-tapped power transformer.

center-tapped high-voltage transformer winding. This circuit has a lower peak-to-average voltage ratio than the circuit of Fig. 343 and about 65 per cent less ripple. Only 50 per cent of the total current flows through each rectifier. This type of circuit is widely used in television receivers and large audio amplifiers.

The single-phase full-wave bridge circuit shown in Fig. 345 uses four



Fig. 345—Single-phase full-wave circuit without center-tapped power transformer (i.e., bridge-rectifier circuit).

rectifiers, and does not require the use of a transformer center-tap. It can be used to supply twice as much output voltage as the circuit of Fig. 344 for the same transformer voltage, or to expose the individual rectifiers to only half as much peak reverse voltage for the same output voltage. Only 50 per cent of the total current flows through each rectifier. This type of circuit is popular in amateur transmitter use.

The three-phase circuits shown in Figs. 346 through 349 are usually found in heavy industrial equipment such as high-power transmitters. The three-phase Y half-wave circuit shown in Fig. 346 uses three rectifiers. This circuit has considerably less ripple than the circuits discussed above. In addition, only onethird of the total output current flows through each rectifier.

Fig. 347 shows a three-phase full-wave bridge circuit which uses six rectifiers. This circuit delivers twice as much voltage output as the circuit of Fig. 346 for the same transformer conditions. In addition, this circuit, as well as those shown in Figs. 348 and 349, has an extremely small percentage of ripple.

In the six-phase "star" circuit shown in Fig. 348, which also uses six rectifiers, the least amount of the total output current (one-sixth) flows through each output rectifier. The three-phase double-Y and interphase transformer circuit shown in



Fig. 346-Three-phase "Y" half-wave circuit.



Fig. 347—Three-phase "Y" full-wave circuit.

Fig. 349 uses six half-wave rectifiers in parallel. This arrangement delivers six current pulses per cycle and twice as much output current as the circuit shown in Fig. 346.

Table IV lists voltage and current ratios for the circuits shown in Figs. 343 through 349 for resistive or inductive loads. These ratios apply for sinusoidal ac input voltages. It is generally recommended that inductive loads rather than resistive loads be used for filtering of rectifier current, except for the circuit of Fig. 343. Current ratios given for inductive loads apply only when a filter choke is used between the output of the rectifier and any capacitor in the filter circuit. Values shown do not take into consideration voltage drops



Fig. 348--Six-phase "star" circuit.



Fig. 349-Three-phase "double-Y" and interphase-transformer circuit.

which occur in the power transformer, the silicon rectifiers, or the filter components under load conditions. When a particular rectifier type has been selected for use in a specific circuit, Table IV can be used to determine the parameters and characteristics of the circuit.

In Table IV, all ratios are shown as functions of either the average output voltage E_{av} or the average dc output current I_{av} , both of which are expressed as unity for each circuit. In practical applications, the magnitudes of these average values will, of course, vary for the different circuit configurations.

FILTERING

Filter circuits are used to smooth out the ac ripple in the output of a rectifier circuit. Filters consist of two basic types, inductive "choke" input and capacitive input. Combinations and variations of these types are often used; some typical filter circuits are shown in Fig. 350.

The simplest of these filtering circuits is the capacitive input type. This type of filtering is most often used in low-current circuits in which a fairly large amount of ripple can be tolerated. Such circuits are usually single-phase, half-wave or fullwave. In this type of filter, the capacitor charges up to approximately the peak of the input voltage on each half-cycle that a rectifier conducts. The current into the load is then supplied from the capacitor rather than from the power supply until the point in the next halfcycle when the input voltage again equals the voltage across the capacitor. A rectifier circuit that uses a smoothing capacitor and the voltages involved are shown in Fig. 351. The input and output voltage wavefors for this circuit are shown in Fig. 352.

Higher average dc output voltages and currents can be obtained from this type of circuit by the use of larger capacitors. A larger capacitor also tends to reduce the ripple. However, care must be taken that the capacitor is not so large that excessive peak and rms currents cause overheating of the rectifier.

The next simplest filter is the inductive input filter. This filter performs the same function as a capacitive input filter in that it smooths Table IV—Voltage and Current Ratios for Rectifier Circuits Shown in Figs. 343 Through 349. Fig. 343 Uses a Resistive Load, and Figs. 344 Through 349 an Inductive Load

CIRCUIT RATIOS	Fig. 343	Fig. 344	Fig. 345	Fig. 346	Fig. 347	Fig. 348	Fig. 349
Output Voltage:							
Average	Eav	$\mathbf{E}_{\mathbf{av}}$	\mathbf{E}_{av}	\mathbf{E}_{av}	\mathbf{E}_{av}	$\mathbf{E}_{\mathbf{av}}$	\mathbf{E}_{av}
Peak (x E _{av})	3.14	1.57	1.57	1.21	1.05	1.05	1.05
RMS (x E_{av})	1.57	1.11	1.11	1.02	1.00	1.00	1.00
Ripple (%)	121	48	48	18.3	4.3	4.3	4.3
Input Voltage (RMS):							
Phase (x E_{av})	2.22	1.11*	1.11	0.855•	0.428•	0.74•	0.855•
Line-to-Line $(x E_{av})$	2.22	2.22	1.11	1.48	0.74	1.48†	1.71 ⁺
Average Output (Load)						•	•
Current	Iav	Iav	Iav	Iav	Iav	Iav	Iav
RECTIFIER CELL RATIOS							
Forward Current:							
Average (x I_{av})	1.00	0.5	0.5	0.333	0.333	0.167	0.167
RMS $(x I_{av})$:							
resistive load	1.57	0.785	0.785	0.587	0.579	0.409	0.293
inductive load		0.707	0.707	0.578	0.578	0.408	0.289
Peak (x I_{av}):							
resistive load	3.14	1.57	1.57	1.21	1.05	1.05	0.525
inductive load	—	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.500
Ratio peak to average	:						
resistive load	3.14	3.14	3.14	3.63	3.15	6.30	3.15
inductive load		2.00	2.00	3.00	3.00	6.00	3.00
Peak Reverse Voltage:							
х Еат	3.14	3.14	1.57	2.09	1.05	2.42	2.09
x E _{rms}	1.41	2.82	1.41	2.45	2.45	2.83	2.45
* to center tap • to neu	itral	† maxin	num valu	e ‡	maximu	m value,	no load

the load current by storing energy during one part of the cycle and releasing it to the load during another part of the cycle. However, the inductor acts in a different way by extending the time during which current is drawn from a rectifier. When a smoothing inductor is used



Fig. 350-Typical filter circuits.



Fig. 351—Bridge-rectifier circuit with capacitor input filter.

in series with a full-wave rectifier circuit, the conduction period of each rectifier may be extended so that conduction does not stop in one rectifier until the other rectifier starts conducting. As a result of this spreading action, any increase in inductance to reduce ripple results in a decrease in the average output voltage and current.

The smoothing capabilities of capacitors and inductors can be combined as shown in the other filters of Fig. 350 to take advantage of the best feature of each. Filters which provide maximum output and minimum ripple and use reasonably small components can thus be designed.



Fig. 352—Input (top) and output (bottom) voltage waveforms for bridge rectifier shown in Fig. 351.

REGULATORS

In the operation of a regulator circuit, the difference between a reference input (e.g., the supply voltage) and some portion of the output voltage (e.g., a feedback signal) is used to supply an actuating error signal to the control elements. The amplified error signal is applied in a manner that tends to reduce this difference to zero. Regulators are designed to provide a constant output voltage very nearly equal to the desired value in the presence of varying input voltage and output load.

In series regulator circuits such as that shown in Fig. 353, direct-coupled



Fig. 353-Typical series regulator circuit.

amplifiers are used to amplify an error or difference signal obtained from a comparison between a portion of the output voltage and a reference source. The referencevoltage source V_R is placed in the emitter circuit of the amplifier transistor Q_i so that the error or difference signal between V_R and some portion of the output voltage V_0 is developed and amplified. The amplified error signal forms the input to the regulating element consisting of transistors Q_2 and Q_3 .

In many situations, a device for a high-voltage power supply is available with sufficient voltage capability but insufficient current dissipation or second-breakdown capability. The series-regulator circuit shown in Fig. 354 solves this problem by reducing the dissipation and current requirements in the high-voltage device Q_i .



Fig. 354—Series-regulator circuit using series matching.

In the circuit of Fig. 354, the maximum power dissipated in Q_1 or Q_2 is approximately one-fourth of the power that would be dissipated in a conventional series-pass stage. The balance of the power is dissipated in resistor R.

In many high-current applications including series regulators, a Darlington configuration is utilized to improve the current gain, as shown in Fig. 355. A serious limitation of this method, however, is the high power dissipated in the pass element because this device cannot reach saturation.



A typical automobile voltageregulator circuit for an auto with a 12-volt system is shown in Fig. 856. Transistor Q₂ presents a variable resistance in series with the field. If the battery is fully charged and the electrical loading is small (e.g., only from the ignition circuit), the 10-volt zener diode breaks down, turning Q_1 on and Q_2 off (i.e., high resistance). The consequent reduction in field current reduces the armature voltage E_A so that the



Fig. 356—Typical automobile voltageregulator circuit.

battery supplies the load current. If the battery requires charging, or if the electrical load is heavy, then the lower terminal voltage is not sufficient to break down the zener. For this condition, Q, is off and Q. is on full (i.e., driven into saturation). As a result, field current is high, the armature voltage is high, and the alternator supplies current to the load and also charges the battery. Under normal operation, the transistor may be fully on, fully off, or somewhere in between (i.e., on but in the active region rather than in saturation). The actual transistor operating conditions depend on battery condition and electrical load.

Shunt regulator circuits are not as efficient as series regulator circuits for most applications, but they have the advantage of greater simplicity. In the shunt voltage regulator circuit shown in Fig. 357, the current through the shunt element consisting of transistors Q_1 and Q_2 varies with changes in the load current or the input voltage. This current variation is reflected across the resistance R_1 in series with the load so that the output voltage V_0 is maintained nearly constant.



Fig. 357—Typical shunt-regulator circuit.

A third type of regulator, the switching regulator, was discussed previously in the section on Power Switching and Control. This type of voltage regulator is recommended for dc power-supply applications that require high efficiency, but only moderate regulation and noise immunity.

SCR Regulated Power Supply

Fig. 358 shows the circuit configuration for a regulated dc power supply that uses an SCR as a series pass element. This type of circuit is designed to provide approximately 125 volts, regulated to ± 3 per cent for both line and load. Ripple is less than 0.5 per cent rms.

The power supply is basically a half-wave phase-controlled rectifier. The capacitor C₁ between the cathode and gate of the SCR charges up during half of each cycle and is discharged by the firing of the SCR. The firing angle of the SCR is advanced or retarded by the charging current flowing into the capacitor C₁. Some of the current which would normally charge this capacitor is shunted by the collector of the control transistor Q1. As the current in the control transistor increases. current is shunted around the capacitor, through the ballast lamp I₁, so that the capacitor charging time is increased. As a result, the firing angle of the SCR is retarded. and a lower output voltage results.

The controlling voltage on the control transistor is derived from both the dc output and from the line voltage in such a manner as to provide load and line regulation respectively. The voltage-dependent



Fig. 358—SCR regulated power supply.

resistor (VDR_2) in the base circuit of the control transistor decreases resistance for an increase in line voltage and thus increases base current (and collector current) as line voltage is increased. In addition, the lamp I₁ exhibits an increase in resistance with increasing line voltage, and, thus, tends to retard the firing angle of the SCR. Changes in dc output voltage that result from variations in load current are fed back to the base of the control transistor by a voltage divider at the input to the filter in the proper polarity to adjust collector current in a direction to compensate for changes in dc output voltage.

Testing and Mounting

This section covers the testing and installation suggestions which are generally applicable to all types of solid-state devices. Careful observance of these suggestions will help experimenters and technicians to obtain the best results from solidstate devices and circuits.

TESTING

The ability to determine the condition of solid-state devices is an important requisite for servicemen, experimenters, and others who are required to operate and maintain electrical equipment that employs devices. Although thorough, such comprehensive evaluations of solidstate devices are hindered by the limited amount of commercially available test equipment, simple techniques and circuits can be readily devised to provide go/no-go type of indications or to measure significant characteristics of the devices. The following paragraphs outline various test methods, indicate some of the available test equipment, and describe simple test circuits that may be constructed for use in the test and evaluation of different types of solid-state devices.

Bipolar Transistors

Fig. 359 shows a go/no-go test circuit for bipolar transistors. The connections shown are for an n-p-n transistor. When the base resistor is connected to the negative terminal of the battery, the lamp should go out. For p-n-p transistors, the same results should be obtained with the battery polarities reversed.



Fig. 359—"Go/no-go" test circuit for bipolar transistors.

A quick check of bipolar transistors can also be made prior to their installation in a circuit by resistance measurement with a conventional ohmmeter. The resistance between any two electrodes should be very high (more than 10,000 ohms) in one direction and considerably lower in the other direction (100 ohms or less between emitter and base or collector and base; about 1000 ohms between emitter and collector). It is very important to limit the voltage applied by the ohmmeter in such tests (particularly between emitter and base) so that the breakdown voltages of the transistor will not be exceeded; otherwise, the transistor may be damaged by excessive currents.

In addition to the test to determine open or shorted elements described above, any comprehensive evaluation of bipolar transistors must include measurements of the two most important transistor characteristics, beta and leakage. Commercial transistor testers are available to perform these measurements. Because there is no efficient substitute way to evaluate these characteristics, a transistor tester is a worthwhile instrument for use in the servicing of equipments that employ bipolar transistors.

The beta, or common-emitter forward-current transfer ratio (h_{fe}) , of a bipolar transistor expresses the gain characteristics of the device. This characteristic can be determined by use of ac or dc test voltages.

Collector-to-base leakage (I_{CBO}) , measured with the emitter open, is the critical leakage of both germanium and silicon transistors. However, these two basic transistor types can display wide differences in their leakage values and in levels of acceptability.

A transistor tester should measure leakage directly in milliamperes or microamperes. Transistor Tester Requirements— The value of a transistor tester depends on its design and how it is used. For accurate measurements of a wide range of transistor types, the tester must incorporate several specific design features. The more important considerations are as follows:

1. The capability to measure beta at the collector-current level best suited to the transistor type or its application. This capability should extend to the handling of devices ranging from small-signal rf transistors that have nominal collector currents of a few milliamperes to high-power types that have ratings up to one ampere.

2. The facility to provide beta readings with an accuracy of $\pm 5\%$ both in and out of circuit. (It should be remembered, however, that beta is directly affected by the collector current.)



Fig. 360—Circuit diagram for RCA WT-501A transistor tester.

3. An adjustment which permits leakage currents to be "bucked out" before the beta measurement is made; otherwise, the beta reading may be upset by the leakage current. In the case of high-leakage germanium power transistors, the resultant beta reading may be significantly inaccurate. This rule applies to both in-circuit and out-ofcircuit tests.

4. Means for calibrating the beta test for each transistor tested.

5. A facility for reading leakage current directly in values as low as one microampere.

The considerations listed above define the primary requirements of a good transistor tester. Other features are desirable, of course, to make the tester completely reliable and easy to use.

Transistor Tester-All of the necessarv desirable features and have been included in the RCA WT-501A Transistor Tester, a measurement instrument that combines service speed and simplicity with laboratory-measurement qualities. Fig. 360 shows the overall schematic and Fig. 361 shows a photograph of the WT-501A transistor tester. This tester is designed to measure transistor collector-to-base leakage (I_{CBO}), collector-to-emitter leakage (ICEO), and dc beta. Collector current (Ic) is continuously adjustable up to 1 ampere in four ranges. The WT-501A can also be used for incircuit beta tests of a transistor.

A 100-microampere meter movement is used in the measuring circuits for the various test functions. Precision resistors are used to assure accurate test results.

An N-P-N/P-N-P switch provides the proper bias polarity to the transistor. Two dual potentiometers provide coarse and fine adjustment of collector current (CAL) and incircuit zero.

The instrument has two internal 1.5-volt "D"-size batteries. One battery is used in n-p-n tests and the other is used in p-n-p tests. The batteries are also used during in-circuit tests to provide voltage in reverse polarity to cancel the effect of circuit leakage.



Fig. 361-RCA WT-501A transistor tester.

Beta-measuring circuit: A simplified diagram of the dc-beta test circuit is shown in Fig. 362. Resistors R_b and R_c serve both to establish



Fig. 362—Simplified beta-measuring circuit for 0-to-100-milliampere range.

the collector current, and to shunt the meter to the required sensitivity. Values for R_b and R_c are as follows:

Range			Rb	F	\mathbf{R}_{c}		
1	mA	1000	ohms	110	ohms		
10	mA	110	ohms	10	ohms		
100	mA	10	ohms	1	ohm		
1	Α	1	ohm	0.1	ohm		

When the range switch is set to the CAL function, the meter is in the collector circuit. Collector current is determined by the value of the collector resistor for the particular range, and by the setting of the CAL control.

In the BETA function, the meter is switched to the base circuit. DC beta is defined as the ratio of the steady-state collector current to the base current. Because the collector current is established at a known value by the CAL adjustment, the base-current meter reading can be interpreted in terms of dc beta for the transistor.

 $I_{\rm CBO}$ measuring circuit: $I_{\rm CBO}$ is the current flow, or leakage, from the collector to the base with the emitter open. As shown in Fig. 363 1.5 volts is applied to the collector and base of the transistor, and the



Fig. 363-Simplified Icno test circuit.

meter is connected in the collector circuit. Collector-to-base leakage is indicated directly in microamperes.

 $I_{\rm CEO}$ measuring circuit: $I_{\rm CEO}$ represents the leakage from collector to emitter, with the base open. Fig. 364 shows a simplified diagram of the $I_{\rm CEO}$ test circuit. A voltage of 1.5 volts is applied to the transistor, and the meter is connected in the collector circuit. The resistor shunting the meter reduces the meter sensitivity to 10 milliamperes.

Measurement of $I_{\rm CEO}$ is normally



Fig. 364—Simplified I_{CEO} test circuit for 1-milliampere range.

made on the CAL position of the 1milliampere range. If $I_{\rm CEO}$ exceeds 1 milliampere, however, the range switch can be set to the 10-milliampere or 100-milliampere range as necessary. Collector-to-emitter leakage is indicated in milliamperes, depending on the current range that is used.

In-circuit beta test: The test circuit used to measure in-circuit current gain is similar to that used for out-of-circuit beta measurement. As shown in Fig. 365, the IN-CIRCUIT ZERO ADJUST control applies a voltage of reverse polarity



Fig. 365—Simplified in-circuit beta test circuit for 0-to-100-milliampere range.

to the collector metering circuit. This voltage compensates for the collector-to-emitter leakage through the components in the circuit under test, and permits the meter to be set to zero.

The CAL adjustment and the metering circuit are the same as for out-of-circuit measurement.

The resistance of the measuring circuit is low in value so that no significant loading effect occurs from the circuit being tested.

MOS Transistors

In the servicing of electrical equipment that employs MOS transistors, it is readily determined that the test techniques required to measure the characteristics of these devices are not the same as those used for bipolar transistors. An entirely new set of techniques, aimed specifically at the unique properties of MOS transistors, is required. Simple go/no-go types of test circuits, however, may still be used for detection of open or shorted devices.

The test circuit shown in Fig. 366 can be used to test n-channel depletion or p-channel enhancement MOS transistors for opens or shorts. The substrate and source of the device being tested should be connected to terminal No. 1, the gate should be connected to terminal 2, and the drain should be connected to terminal No. 3. If the MOS transistor is a dual-gate type, the gates are tested separately. For n-channel depletion types, if the lamp lights when the switch is open and does not light when the switch is closed, the transistor is good. If the lamp lights with the switch in either position, the transistor is shorted. If the lamp remains off with the switch in either position, the transistor is open. For p-channel enhancement types, the reverse indications are obtained.

In the section of this Manual on MOS Field-Effect Transistors, the susceptibility of these devices to



Fig. 366—"Go/no-go" test circuit for MOS transistors.

possible damage from the discharge of electrostatic charges was pointed out. Integral gate-protection systems used in certain types of dualgate devices are very effective in guarding against the effects of electrostatic charges. The following special precautions, however, are necessary in handling MOS-transistors which do not contain integral-gate protection systems:

- Prior to assembly into a circuit, all leads should be kept shorted together by either (a) use of metal shorting springs attached to the device by the vendor, as shown in Fig. 367, or (b) use of conductive foam such as "ECCOSORB LS26" or equivalent. (ECCOSORB is a Trade Mark of Emerson & Cuming, Inc.). Note: Polystyrene insulating "SNOW" can acquire high static charges and should not be used.
- 2. When devices are removed by hand from their carriers, the hand being used should be at ground potential. Personnel handling MOS transistors during testing should ground themselves, preferably at the hand or wrist.
- 3. Tips of soldering irons should be grounded.

4. Devices should never be inserted into or removed from circuits with power on.



Fig. 367—Illustration shows shorting spring for RCA MOS field-effect transistors that do not contain the integral gate protection. (Spring should not be removed until after the device is soldered into circuit.)

Silicon Rectifiers

In general, silicon rectifiers and most other types of solid-state diodes can be adequately tested by resistance measurements with а conventional ohmmeter (For procedures used in the testing of tunnel diodes, refer to RCA Tunnel Diodes, Technical Manual TD-30.) Resistance measurements are taken in both the forward and reverse directions. The ratio of the "reverse" resistance reading to the "forward" resistance reading should be greater than 10 to 1. For the forwarddirection measurement, it is imnortant to assure that the forwardvoltage rating of the rectifier is greater than the voltage applied by the ohmmeter (the battery voltage of a conventional ohmmeter is 1.5 volts); otherwise, the rectifier may be damaged by excessive current. The front-to-back ratio of rectifiers can also be checked at various current levels with the RCA WT-501A Transistor Tester described in the paragraph on testing of Bipolar Transistors.

There are a number of easily constructed go/no-go types of test circvits that may be used to detect open or shorted rectifiers. Several of these test circuits are shown in the following paragraphs.

Fig. 368 shows a simple "go/nogo" test circuit for silicon rectifiers operating at 120 volts. With the connection shown, the lamp operates at half-power. When the switch is closed, the lamp should brighten if the diode under test is good. If there is no change in brightness when the switch is closed, the lamp was burning at full power with the switch open; in this case, the diode is shorted. If the lamp is out with the switch is closed, the diode is open.



Fig. 368—"Go/no-go" test circuit for high-voltage silicon rectifiers.

Fig. 369 shows a "go/no-go" tester for all silicon rectifiers in this Manual that operate at low voltages



Fig. 369—"Go/no-go" test circuit for low-voltage silicon rectifiers excluding types 134A and 1N270.

Testing and Mounting

except the 1N34A and 1N270. The test circuit for these two types is shown in Fig. 370.

With a diode connected as shown in Fig. 369 and with the polarity of the battery as shown, the lamp should light; when the polarity of the battery is reversed, the lamp should not light. If the lamp lights regardless of the polarity of the battery, the diode is shorted; if the lamp does not light with either polarity, the diode is open.

When the anode of a 1N34A or 1N270 diode is connected to terminal No. 1 in Fig. 370, the lamp should light if the diode is good; when the anode is connected to terminal No. 3 the light should go off. If the light remains lit regardless of the connection, the diode is shorted; if the light is off regardless of the connection, the diode is open.



Fig. 370—"Go/no-go" test circuit for silicon rectifier types IN34A and IN270.

SCR's and Triacs

Similar test procedures and circuits may be used for testing SCR's and triacs. The triac, however, should be tested for operation in all four operating modes. For convenience of illustration, the test circuits described show only SCR's. Triacs tested in these circuits should be connected in one direction and then reversed for each test. In addition, the triacs should be tested for both negative and positive gate signals for each direction in which they are connected.

Fig. 371 shows a go/no-go type of test circuit that can be used to test thyristors that operate directly from the line voltage. When the



Fig. 371-Simple test circuit for SCR's.

switch is closed, a current of approximately 20 milliamperes flows through the 25-watt lamp, the 5600ohm resistor, and the switch; this amount of current is not enough to light the lamp. When the switch is opened, the light should brighten to approximately half maximum brightness. Under these conditions, the SCR should be triggered into operation (shunting the 5600-ohm resistor) on each positive half-cycle of input by the 20-milliampere current flowing in the gate-cathode circuit. If the lamp lights to full brightness, the SCR is shorted. If the lamp does not brighten regardless of the position of the switch, the SCR is open.

Fig. 372 shows a simple, inexpensive test circuit that may be used to evaluate the OFF-state voltage capabilities of thyristors,



Fig. 372—Test circuit used to determine dc forward- and reverse-voltage-blocking capabilities and leakage current of thyristors.

and for reverse-blocking (SCR's) and leakage tests. Resistor R_1 and capacitor C_1 are included in the test circuit to limit the rate of rise of applied voltage to the thyristor under test. Resistor R_2 limits the discharge of capacitor C_1 through the thyristor in the event that the thyristor is turned on during the test. Resistor R_3 provides a discharge path for capacitor C_1 .

Fig. 373 shows a simple test circuit that may be used to determine the holding and latching currents of thyristors. For the holdingcurrent tests, the value of potentiometer R_1 is adjusted to approximately 50 ohms, and the springloaded push-button switch PB₁ is momentarily depressed to turn on the thyristor. The value of R_1 is



Fig. 373—Test circuit used to determine holding and latching currents of thyristors.

then gradually increased to the point at which the thyristor turns off.

For the latching-current test, the value of potentiometer R_i is initially adjusted so that the main-terminal current is less than the holding level. The value of R_i is then decreased, as push-button switch PB_i is alternately depressed and released, until the thyristor latches on.

Fig. 374(a) shows a simple test circuit that may be used to determine the dv/dt capability of a thyristor. The curves in Fig. 374(b)define the critical values for linear and exponential rates of increase in reapplied forward OFF-state voltage for an SCR. The critical value for the exponential rate of rise of forward voltage is the rating given



Fig. 374—Test circuit and waveforms used to determine dv/dt capability of a thyristor.

in the manufacturer's test specifications. This rating is determined from the following equation:

		rated value of	
dv		thyristor voltage (V_{BO})	V0 632
dt	t =	RC time constant	X 0.032

Fig. 375 shows a simple test circuit used to determine turn-on times of thyristors. The value of resistor R_1 is chosen so that the rated value



Fig. 375—Test circuit and waveforms used to determine turn-on time of thyristors.

of current flows through the thyristor. Turn-on time is specified by the thyristor manufacturer at the rated blocking voltage. It is defined (for resistive loads) as the time interval between 10 per cefit of the gate voltage and the period required for the current to rise to 90 per cent of its maximum value.

Fig. 376 shows a simple test circuit used to measure turn-off time. The circuit subjects the thyristor to current and voltage waveforms similar to those encountered in most typical applications. In the circuit diagram, SCR1 is the device under test. Initially, both SCR's are in the OFF-state; push-button switch SW, is momentarily closed to start the test. This action turns on SCR1 and load current flows through this SCR and resistor $\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{2}}$ Capacitor C₁ charges through resistor R₃ to the voltage developed across R2. If the second push-button switch SW2 is then closed, SCR₂ is turned on.



Fig. 376---Test circuit and voltage waveforms used to determine turn-off times of thyristors.

SCR₁ is then reverse-biased by the voltage across capacitor C_1 . The discharge of this capacitor causes a short pulse of reverse current to flow through SCR₁ until this device recovers its reverse-blocking capability. At some time t_1 , the

anode-to-cathode voltage of SCR1 passes through zero and starts to build up in a forward direction at a rate dependent upon the time constant of C1 and R2. The peak value of the reverse current during the recovery period can be controlled by adjustment of potentiometer $R_{\mathfrak{s}}$. If the turn-off time of SCR, is less than the time t₁, the device will turn off. The turn-off interval t1 can be measured by observation of the anode-to-cathode voltage of SCR, with a high-speed oscilloscope. A typical waveform is shown in Fig. 376.

The gate voltage and current required to switch a thyristor to its low-impedance state at maximum rated forward anode current can be determined from the circuit shown in Fig. 377. The value of



Fig. 377—Test circuit used to determine gate-trigger-pulse requirements of thyristors.

resistor R_2 is chosen so that maximum anode current, as specified in the manufacturer's current rating, flows when the device latches into its low-impedance state. The value of resistor R_1 is gradually decreased until the device under test is switched from its highimpedance state to its low-impedance state. The values of gate current and gate voltage immediately prior to switching are the gate voltage and current required to trigger the thyristor.

HEAT-SINK REQUIREMENTS

All solid-state devices are temperature-sensitive, some to a greater degree than others. As a result, the device temperature or power dissipation must be kept below the maximum specified rating either by limiting the input power requirements to maintain a limited power dissipation or by providing some external means of removing the excess heat generated during normal operation. Generally, lowpower semiconductor devices have sufficient mass and heat-dissipation area to conduct away the detrimental heat energy formed at their semiconductor junctions. For higherpower devices, such as power transistors, thyristors, and silicon rectifiers, however, a heat sink must be used.

Under steady-state conditions, the maximum dissipation capability of solid-state device that has a а heat sink attached depends on the sum of (a) the series thermal resistances from the semiconductor junction to the ambient, (b) the maximum junction temperature, and (c) the ambient temeprature at which the device is operated. The total thermal resistance of the device from junction to ambient Θ_{J-A} can be expressed as follows:

$$\Theta_{J-A} = \Theta_{J-C} + \Theta_{C-S} + \Theta_{S-A}$$

where Θ_{J-C} is the thermal resistance from the semiconductor junction to the case of the device, Θ_{C-S} is the thermal resistance between the device case and the surface of the heat sink, and Θ_{S-A} is the thermal resistance of the heat sink (from its surface to the ambient air).

The maximum dissipation capability of a solid-state device $P_D(max)$ with a heat sink attached is given by

$$P_{D}(\max) = \frac{T_{J}(\max) - T(\max)}{\Theta_{J-C} + \Theta_{C-S} + \Theta_{S-A}}$$

where $T_{J}(\max)$ is the maximum junction temperature obtained from the manufacturer's data and $T(\operatorname{amb})$ is the ambient temperature.

Discrete heat sinks are sold commercially in various size, shapes, colors, and materials. It is also common practice to use the chassis of the unit as a heat sink. In any case, the heat-dissipation capability of the heat sink is based on its thermal resistance Θ_{8-A} . The thermal-resistance value of the heat sink should be small enough to obtain a powerdissipation capability, as expressed in the above equation, that exceeds the power-dissipation rating of the semiconductor device. For highpower devices, the interface thermal resistance Θ_{C-S} between the semiconductor case and the surface of the heat sink can be maintained at a low value (1 to 2°C per watt) by use of epoxy glue or silicone grease.

Fig. 378 shows a useful nomograph for obtaining the physical dimensions of a heat sink as a function of its thermal resistance. The data in this nomograph pertain to a heat sink that cools by convection and radiation and that is of natural bright finish of copper or aluminum. The heat-sink area is selected from the left-hand column and a line is drawn horizontally from this point. The value of thermal resistance Θ_{8-A} is read directly from the graph, depending on the type and thickness of the heat-sink material and the mounting position of the heat sink, either horizontal or vertical, with respect to the mounting board.

TRANSISTOR MOUNTING

The collector, base, and emitter terminals of transistors can be connected to associated circuit elements by means of sockets, clips, or solder connections to the leads or pins. If connections are soldered close to the lead or pin seals, care must be taken to conduct excessive heat away from the seals, otherwise the heat of the soldering operation may crack the glass seals and damage the transistor. When dip soldering is employed in the assembly of printed circuits using transistors, the temperature of the solder should be limited to about 225 to 250°C for a maximum immersion period of 10 seconds. Furthermore, the leads



Fig. 378—Thermal resistance as a function of heat-sink dimensions (Nomograph reprinted from ELECTRONIC DESIGN, Aug. 16, 1961).

should not be dip-soldered too close to the transistor case. Under no circumstances should the mounting flange of a transistor be soldered to a heat sink because the heat of the soldering operation may permanently damage the transistor.

Metal-Package Types

In some transistors, the collector electrode is connected internally to the metal case to improve heat-dissipation capabilities. More efficient cooling of the collector junction in these transistors can be accomplished by connection of the case to a heat sink. Direct connection of the case to a metal surface is practical only when a grounded-collector circuit is used. For other configurations, the collector is electrically isolated from the chassis or heat sink by means of an insulator that has good thermal conductivity. Suggested mounting arrangement for RCA transistors supplied in hermetically sealed metal packages are shown in detail in the section on Mounting Hardware.

For small general-purpose transistors, such as the 2N2102, which use a JEDEC TO-5 package, a good thermal method of isolating the collector from a metal chassis or printed circuit board is by means of a beryllium oxide washer. The use of a zinc-oxide-filled silicone compound between the washer and the chassis, together with a moderate amount of pressure from the top of the transistor, helps to improve thermal dissipation. An alternate method is the use of a fin-type heat sink. Fig. 379 illustrates both types of mounting. Fin-type heat sinks are especially suitable when transistors are mounted in Teflon sockets which



Fig. 379—Suggested mounting arrangements for transistors in JEDEC TO-5 package.

provide no thermal conduction to the chassis or printed circuit board.

For power transistors which use a JEDEC TO-3 package, such as the 2N3055, it is recommended that a 0.002-inch mica insulator or an anodized aluminum insulator having high thermal conductivity be used between the transistor base and the heat sink or chassis. The insulator should extend beyond the mounting clamp, as shown in Fig. 380. It should be drilled or punched to provide both the two mounting holes and the clerance holes for the emitter and base pins. Burrs should be removed from both the insulator and the holes in the chassis so that the insulating layer will not be destroyed during mounting. It is also recommended that an insulating washer be used between the mounting screws and the chassis, as shown in Fig. 380, to prevent a short circuit between them.

For large power transistors, such as the 2N2876, which use a doubleended stud package, connection to the chassis or heat sink should be made at the flat surface of the transistor perpendicular to the threaded stud. A large mating surface should be provided to avoid hot spots and high thermal drop. The hole for the stud should be only as large as necessary for clearance, and should contain no burrs or ridges on its perimeter. As mentioned above, the use of a silicon grease between the heat sink and the transistor improves thermal contact. The transistor can be screwed directly into the heat sink or can be fastened by means of a nut. In either case, care must be taken to avoid the application of too much torque lest the transistor semiconductor junction be damaged. Although the studs are made of relatively soft copper to provide high thermal conductivity, the threads should not be relied upon to provide a mating surface. The actual heat transfer must take place on the



Fig. 380—Suggested mounting arrangement for transistors in JEDEC TO-3 package.

underside of the hexagonal part of the package.

The use of an external resistance in the emitter or collector circuit of a transistor is an effective deterrent to damage which might be caused by thermal runaway. The minimum value of this resistance for low-level stages may be obtained from the following equation:

$$R_{min} = \frac{E^2}{4\left(P_0 + \frac{25}{\Theta_{I-A}}\right)}$$

where E is the dc collector supply voltage in volts, P_0 is the product of the collector-to-emitter voltage and the collector current at the desired operating point in watts, and θ_{J-A} is the thermal resistance of the transistor and heat sink in degrees centigrade per watt ($\theta_{J-C} + \theta_{C-S} + \theta_{S-A}$).

Plastic-Package Types

RCA transistors are also available in two basic types of molded-siliconeplastic packages, which are supplied in a wide range of power-dissipation ratings and a variety of package configurations to assure flexibility of application. These types include the RCA Versawatt packages for medium-power applications and the RCA high-power plastic packages. Each basic type offers several different package options, and the user can select the configuration best suited to his particular application.

Fig. 381 shows the options currently available for RCA Versawatt packages. The JEDEC Type TO-220AB in-line-lead version, shown in Fig. 381(a), represents the basic style. This package features leads that can be formed to meet a variety of specific mounting requirements. Fig. 381(b) shows a modification of the basic type that allows a Versawatt package to be mounted on a printed-circuit board with a 0.100inch grid spacing and a minimum lead spacing of 0.200 inch. Fig. 381(c) shows a JEDEC Type TO-220AA version of the Versawatt package. The dimensions of this type of transistor package are such that it can replace the JEDEC TO-66 transistor package in a commercial socket or printed-circuit board without retooling. The TO-220AA Versawatt package is also supplied with an integral heat sink.

The RCA molded-plastic highpower packages are also supplied in several configurations, as shown



Fig. 381--RCA Versawatt transistor packages: (a) JEDEC No. TO-220AB in-line-lead version; (b) configuration designed for mounting on printed-circuit boards; (c) JEDEC No. TO-220AA version, which may be used as a replacement for JEDEC No. TO-66 metal packages.



Fig. 382—RCA high-power plastic transistor packages: (a) IEDEC No. TO-219AB version, which represents the basic configuration; (b) IEDEC No. TO-219AA version, which may be used as a replacement for IEDEC TO-3 metal packages; (c) configuration designed for mounting on printed-circuit boards.

in Fig. 382. The JEDEC Type TO-219AB, shown in Fig. 382(a), is the basic high-power plastic package. Fig. 382(b) shows a JEDEC Type TO-219AA version of the high-power plastic package. With the addition of an NR193B top clamp, the TO-219AA package can be used as a direct replacement for the hermetically sealed JEDEC TO-3 package. The RCA high-power plastic package is also available with an attached header-case lead, as shown in Fig. 382(c). This three-lead package is designed for mounting on a printed-circuit board.

Recommended mounting arrangements and suggested hardware for the Versawatt transistors are shown in the section on Mounting Hardwasher ware. The rectangular (NR231A) used in the mounting of these devices is designed to minimize distortion of the mounting flange when the transistor is fastened to a heat sink. Excessive distortion of the flange could cause damage to the transistor. The washer is particularly important when the size of the mounting hole exceeds 0.140 inch (6-32 clearance). Larger holes are needed to accommodate insulating bushings; however, the holes should

not be larger than necessary to provide hardware clearance and, in any case, should not exceed a diameter of 0.250 inch. Flange distortion is also possible if excessive torque is used during mounting. A maximum torque of 8 inch-pounds is specified. Care should be exercised to assure that the tool used to drive the mounting screw never comes in contact with the plastic body during the driving operation. Such contact can result in damage to the plastic body and internal device connections. An excellent method of avoiding this problem is to use a spacer or comspacer-isolating bushing bination which raises the screw head or nut above the top surface of the plastic body. The material used for such a spacer or spacer-isolating bushing should, of course, be carefully selected to avoid "cold flow" and consequent reduction in mounting force. Suggested materials for these bushings are diallphthalate, fiberglassfilled nylon, or fiberglass-filled polycarbonate. Unfilled nylon should be avoided.

Modification of the flange can also result in flange distortion and should not be attempted. The transistor should not be soldered to the heat
sink by use of lead-tin solder because the heat required with this type of solder will cause the junction temperature of the transistor to become excessive.

The TO-220AA plastic transistor can be mounted in commercially available TO-66 sockets, such as UID Electronics Corp. Socket No. PTS-4 or equivalent. For testing purposes, the TO-220AB in-line package can be mounted in a Jetron Socket No. CD74-104 or equivalent.

The recommended hardware and mounting arrangements for RCA high-power molded-plastic transistors are also shown in the section on Mounting Hardware. These types can be mounted directly in a socket such as the Industrial Hardware Corporation No. LST-1702-1 (or equivalent) or they can be mounted in a standard TO-3 socket with the NR193B clamp. The precautions given for the Versawatt packages should also be followed in the mounting of the high-power molded-plastic packages.

The maximum allowable power dissipation in a solid-state device is limited by its junction temperature. An important factor to assure that the junction temperature remains below the specified maximum value is the ability of the associated thermal circuit to conduct heat away from the device.

When a solid-state device is operated in free air, without a heat sink. the steady-state thermal circuit is defined by the junction-to-free-air thermal resistance given in the published data on the device. Thermal considerations require that there be a free flow of air around the device and that the power dissipation be maintained below that which would cause the junction temperature to rise above the maximum rating. When the device is mounted on a heat sink, however, care must be taken to assure that all portions of the thermal circuit are considered.

Operation of the transistor with heat-sink temperatures of 100°C or greater results in some shrinkage of the insulating bushing normally used to mount power transistors. The degradation of contact thermal resistance is usually less than 25 per cent if a good thermal compound is used. (A more detailed discussion of thermal resistance can be found in the RCA Power Circuits Manual, Technical Series SP-51.)

During the mounting of RCA molded-plastic solid-state power devices, the following special precautions should be taken to assure efficient heat transfer from case to heat sink:

- 1. Mounting torque should be between 4 and 8 inch-pounds.
- 2. The mounting holes should be kept as small as possible.
- 3. Holes should be drilled or punched clean with no burrs or ridges, and chamfered to a maximum radius of 0.010 inch.
- 4. The mounting surface should be flat within 0.002 inch/inch.
- 5. Thermal grease (Dow Corning 340 or equivalent) should always be used (on both sides of the insulating washer if one is employed).
- 6. Thin insulating washers should be used (thickness of factorysupplied mica washers ranges from 2 to 4 mils).
- 7. A lock washer or torque washer should be used, together with materials that have sufficient creep strength to prevent degradation of heat-sink efficiency during life.

A wide variety of solvents is available for degreasing and flux removal. The usual practice is to submerge components in a solvent bath for a specified time. From a reliability standpoint, however, it is extremely important that the solvent, together with other chemicals in the solder-cleaning system (such as flux and solder covers), not adversely affect the life of the component. This consideration applies to all nonhermetic and molded-plastic components.

It is, of course, impractical to evaluate the effect on long-term transistor life of all cleaning solvents, which are marketed under a variety of brand names with numerous additives. Chlorinated solvents. gasoline, and other hydrocarbons cause the inner encapsulant to swell and damage the transistor. Alcohols are acceptable solvents and are recommended for flux removal whenever possible. Several examples of suitable alcohols are listed below:

- 1. methanol
- 2. ethanol
- isopropanol
- 4. blends of the above

When considerations such as solvent flammability are of concern. selected Freon-alcohol blends are usable when exposure is limited. Solvents such as those listed below should be safe when used for normal flux removal operations, but care should be taken to assure their suitability in the cleaning procedure:

- 1. Freon TE
- 2. Freon TE-35 3. Freon TP-35 (Freon PC)

These solvents may be used for a maximum of 4 hours at 25°C or for a maximum of 1 hour at 50°C.

Care must also be used in the selection of fluxes in the soldering of leads. Rosin or activated-rosin fluxes are recommended: organic fluxes are not.

THYRISTOR MOUNTING

For most efficient heat sinks, intimate contact should exist between the heat sink and at least one-half of the package base. The thyristor package can be mounted on the heat sink mechanically, with glue or epoxy adhesive, or by soldering. The JEDEC TO-48, TO-66, and studmounted packages are mounted mechanically. In these cases, silicone grease should be used between the device and the heat sink to eliminate surface voids, prevent insulation build-up due to oxidation, and help conduct heat across the interface. Although glue or epoxy adhesive provides good bonding, a significant amount of resistance may exist at the interface. To minimize this interface resistance, an adhesive material with low thermal resistance, such as Hysol* Epoxy Patch Material No. 6C or Wakefield* Delta Bond No. 152, or their equivalent. should be used.

Fig. 383 shows the special press-fit package used for some SCR's and triacs. Press-fit mounting dépends upon an interference fit between the



Fig. 383-Press-fit package.

thyristor case and the heat sink. As the thyristor is forced into the heatsink hole, metal from the heat sink flows into the knurl voids of the thyristor case. The resulting close contact between the heat sink and thyristor case assures low thermal resistances.

A recommended mounting method, shown in Fig. 384, shows press-fit knurl and heat-sink hole dimensions. If these dimensions are maintained, "worst-case" condition of 0.0085 а inch interference fit will allow pressfit insertion below the maximum allowable insertion force of 800 pounds. A slight chamfer in the heat-sink hole will help center and guide the press-fit package properly into the heat sink. The insertion tool should be a hollow shaft having an inner diameter of 0.380 ± 0.010 inch and an outer diameter of 0.500 inch. These dimensions provide sufficient clearance for the leads and assure that no direct force is applied to the glass seal of the thyristor.

* Products of Hyson Corporation, Olean, New York, and Wakefield Engineering, Inc., Wakefield, Massachusetts, respectively.

Testing and Mounting

The press-fit package is not restricted to a single mounting arrangement; direct soldering and the use of epoxy adhesives have been successfully employed. The press-fit case is tin-plated to facilitate direct soldering to the heat sink. A 60-40 solder should be used, and heat should only be applied long enough to allow the solder to flow freely.



COPPER OR ALUMINUM HEAT SINK

Fig. 384—Suggested mounting arrangement for press-fit types.

For the JEDEC TO-5, TO-8, and low-profile packages, shown in Fig. 385, soldering of the thyristor to

the heat sink is preferable because it is most efficient. Not only is the bond permanent, but the thermal resistance Θ_{c-s} from the thyristor case to the heat sink is easily kept below 1°C per watt under normal soldering conditions. Oven or hotplate batch-soldering techniques are recommended because of their low cost. The use of a self-jigging arrangement of the thyristor and the heat sink and a 60-40 solder preform is recommended. If each unit is soldered individually with a flame or electric soldering iron, the heat source should be held on the heat sink and the solder on the unit. Heat should be applied only long enough to permit solder to flow freely. Because RCA thyristors are tin-plated. maximum solder wetting is easily obtainable without thyristor overheating.

The special high-conductivity leads on the two-lead TO-5 package permit operation of the thyristor at current levels that would be considered excessive for an ordinary TO-5 package. The special leads can be bent into almost any configuration to fit any monting requirement; however, they are not intended to



253

Fig. 385-JEDEC TO-5, TO-8, and low-profile packages.

take repeated bending and unbending. In particular, repeated bending at the glass should be avoided. The leads are not especially brittle at this point, but the glass has a sharp edge which produces an excessively small radius of curvature in a bend made at the glass. Repeated bending with a small radius of curvature at a fixed point will cause fatigue and breakage in almost any material. For this reason, right-angle bends should be made at least 0.020 inch from the glass. This practice will avoid sharp bends and maintain sufficient electrical isolation between lead connections and header. A safe bend can be assured if the lead is gripped with pliers close to the glass seal and then bent the requisite amount with the fingers, as shown in Fig. 386. When the leads of a number of devices are to



Fig. 386—Method of bending leads on thyristor package.

be bent into a particular configuration, it may be advantageous to use a lead-bending fixture to assure that all leads are bent to the same shape and in the correct place the first time, so that there is no need for repeated bending.

RCA thyristors are also available in plastic packages. The information given previously on the mounting and handling of plastic-package transistors is, in general, applicable to plastic-package thyristors as well.

Typical Heat-Sink Configurations

Fig. 387 shows some typical heatsink configurations that can be used with RCA thyristors in a TO-5 package. The thermal-resistance Θ_{8-A} for each of the easily fabricated sinks is given, together with approximate dimensions. The thyristors in the illustrations are soldered to the heat sink; if epoxy is used, an additional thermal resistance θ_{C-s} of 1 to 2°C per watt must be added to the thermal-resistance values shown. The junction-to-case thermal-resistance value for the particular thyristor being used should be added to the values shown to obtain the over-all junction-to-air thermal resistance of each configuration. In the designs



Fig. 387—Typical heat-sink configurations for use with TO-5 package.

Testing and Mounting

shown, electrical insulation of the heat sink from the chassis or equipment housing may be required.

Chassis-Mounted Heat Sinks

In many applications, it is desirable and practical to use the chassis or equipment housing as the heat sink. In such cases, the thyristor must be electrically insulated from the heat sink, but must still permit heat generated by the device to be efficiently transferred to the chassis or housing. This heat transfer can be achieved by use of the heatspreader mounting method. In this method, the thyristor is attached to a metal bracket (heat spreader) which is attached to, but electrically insulated from, the chassis. The heat-sink configurations shown in Fig. 387 can serve as heat spreaders, as well as the special clip shown in Fig. 388. (Triacs soldered to this heat spreader are available from RCA as type numbers 40638 and 40639; SCR's on this spreader are available as type numbers 40656 and 40657.)

Electrical insulation may consist of material such as alumina ceramic, polyimide film or tape, fiberglass tape, or epoxy. The metal bracket itself has a low thermal resistance. and spreads the heat out over a larger area than could the thyristor case alone. The larger area in contact with the electrical insulation allows heat to transfer from bracket to chassis through the insulation with relatively low thermal resistance. Typical heat sinks, such as those shown in Fig. 387, provide a much lower thermal resistance when used as heat spreaders than when used as heat sinks.

Heat-spreader dimensions can be varied over a wide range to suit particular applications. For example, area or diameter can be increased, or shape changed, as long as the heat-transfer area in contact with the electrical insulation is sufficient. An area of 0.2 square inch or more is usually desirable. The exact thermal resistance of any heat spreader depends on the heattransfer area, type of metal used, type of insulation used, and whether the thyristor is fastened to the heat



Fig. 388-Self-jigging heat spreader.

spreader with solder or epoxy. Soldered construction yields a thermal resistance about 1°C per watt less than that obtained with epoxy. Alumina or polyimide insulation provides a thermal resistance about 1 to 2°C per watt less than that obtained with thermosetting fiberglasstape insulation. The heat spreader can be made of any material with suitable thermal conductivity, such copper, brass, or aluminum. as Solderable plating for aluminum is commercially available.

RECTIFIER MOUNTING

The maximum forward-current ratings for RCA silicon rectifiers apply specifically for operation in free air (natural convection cooling). The average (dc) forward-current and the peak recurrent forwardcurrent capabilities of these rectifiers are substantially higher than those shown in the maximum ratings when the rectifiers are attached to heat sinks.

Rectifiers used for low-power applications normally do not require an external heat sink to dissipate the heat generated at their p-n junctions. Most rectifiers in this category are packaged in the same



Fig. 389—Various package designs for RCA silicon rectifiers.

small case used for the JEDEC TO-1 package. For medium-current (1- to 2-ampere) high-voltage applications, the rectifier is packaged in a flange-case, axial-leal JEDEC DO-1 case. For higher-current applications, the DO-4 and DO-5 packages are used. These package configurations are shown in Fig. 389.

Fig. 390 shows two suggested methods for attaching the flangecase, axial-lead package to a heat sink. The flange of the rectifier may also be soldered directly to the heat sink, provided the flange temperature during soldering does not exceed 253°C for a miximum period of 10 seconds. Permanent damage to the rectifier may result if these limits are exceeded.

The flexible leads of some RCA rectifiers are usually soldered to the circuit elements. It is desirable in all installations to provide some slack or an expansion elbow in each lead to prevent excessive tension Manual soldering the leads. on should be performed carefully and quickly to avoid damage to the recfier by excessive heating. To minimize heating the rectifier junction during manual soldering, it is desirable to grip the flexible lead being soldered between the case and the soldering point with a pair of pliers.



Fig. 390-Suggested methods for attaching rectifier types 1N2858A through 1N2864A to heat sink.

Testing and Mounting

When dip soldering is used in the assembly of printed circuits, the temperature of the solder should not exceed 255°C for a maximum immersion period of 10 seconds. The leads should not be dip-soldered beyond points, "A" and "B" indicated in Fig. 391.



Fig. 391—Diagram showing areas beyond which dip-soldering should not extend.

Fig. 392 shows the suggested mounting of the higher-current-type DO-4 and DO-5 packages. Mounting components of the type shown are furnished with each rectifier. With these mounting components, the increase in thermal resistance Θ_{c-s} from the rectifier case to the heatsink surface is approximately 3°C per watt.



Fig. 392-Suggested mounting arrangements for DO-4 and DO-5 packages.

RCA SK-Series Solid-State Replacement Devices

THE RCA "top-of-the-line" SKseries entertainment and industrial solid-state devices are a group of high-quality types specifically intended for replacement purposes in line-operated and battery-operated electronic equipment. Each transistor, rectifier, or integrated circuit included in the SK-series is designed to provide outstanding performance in a specific application or type of service and can be used to replace a broad variety of solid-state devices used in that application or type of service in original equipment.

SK devices are precisely engineered, manufactured, and tested specifically for use as replacements. Each device has electrical characteristics comparable with, or superior to, those of the devices that it replaces. In some instances, the case of an SK device may be slightly taller or thicker than that of the original device or may have a slightly different shape. These slight mechanical differences will not affect the performance of the equipment in which the replacement is made and normally will not prevent or complicate the installation of the SK device. In most cases, therefore, the recommended SK replacement device can be installed without changes in mechanical mounting arrangements, circuit wiring, or operating conditions. Dimensional outlines for the SK devices are shown in the Outlines Section of this Manual.

Fig. 393 shows the terminal diagrams for the SK devices, and Table V provides an index to the specific diagram for each type.

SK Because RCA devices are intended specifically for replacement purposes, RCA does not publish detailed technical data sheets on them, and no descriptive data on these types are included in the Technical Data Sections of this Manual. However, for the benefit of hobbyists, experimenters, and others who may require some information on the performance capability of these devices, performance data that define safe areas of operation are given in Table VI for entertainment types and in Table VII for industrial types. Operation beyond the limits specified may result in damage to the device.

For more detailed information on the use and capabilities of RCA SK solid-state devices, the reader should refer to the SK-Series Top of the Line Replacement Guide, RCA Publication No. SPG 202K. This Guide lists in numerical-alphabetical sequence more than 17,000 solidstate devices widely used in electronic equipment and the recommended SK replacement device for each type. The Guide also provides detailed instructions and precautionary measures that should be followed to assure successful use of SK types for replacement of original-equipment devices.



Fig. 393—Terminal diagrams for RCA SK solid-state replacement devices. (Table V provides a type-number index to these diagrams.)

Table V—Type-Number Index to Terminal Diagrams of SK Devices Shown in Fig. 393

	Terminal		Terminal		Terminal
Туре	Diagram	Туре	Diagram	Туре	Diagram
SK3003	(b)	SK3029	(h)	SK3055	(v)
SK3004	(b)	SK3030	(1)	SK3056	(v)
SK3005	(b)	SK3031	(i)	SK3057	(v)
SK3006	(f)	SK3032	Ő	SK3058	(v)
SK3007	(f)	SK3033	ä	SK3059	(v)
SK3008	ίĥ	SK3034	(g)	SK3060	(v)
SK3009	(9)	SK3035	(g)	SK3061	(v)
SK3010	íãí	SK3036	(ĥ)	SK3062	(v)
SK3011	(a)	SK3037	(h)	SK3063	(v)
SK3012	(g)	SK3038	(h)	SK3064	Ŵ
SK3013	(a)	SK3039		SK3500	(m)
SK3014	(g)	SK3040	(d)	SK3501	(m)
SK3015	(g)	SK3041	(0)	SK3502	(n)
SK3016	ű	SK3042	(n)	SK3503	(q) (n)
SK3017A	Ж	SK3043	ä	SK3504	
SK3018	(c)	SK3043	(d)	SK3505	iii)
SK3019	(c) (c)	SK3045	(d)	SK3506	(c)
SK3020	(d)	CK3040	(d)	SK3507	(0)
SK3021	(b)	SK2047	(d)	SK3508	(1)
SK3027	*	CK3047	(d)	SK3500	(1)
SK3022	*	CK3040	(d)	SK3510	(1)
CK2023	(d)	CK3043	(0)	SK2511	(1)
CK2024	(0)	SK2051	(N)	CK2512	(II) (d)
243073	(8)	3NJUJ CK2052	(1)	SRJJ12 CK2512	(0)
2K3032	(n)	SK3052	(g)	3N3313	(8)
242050	(n)	242022	(e)		
24/2020	(n)	513054	(1)		

* Terminal diagrams are not shown for integrated-circuit types.

Table VI—Performance Data for RCA SK-Series Entertainment Replacement Types

	Applications	LIMIT CONDITIONS					CHARACT	Device	
RCA Type		PT W	le A	¥сво ¥	VCEO V	V _{EBO} V	ħ₽E	fr MHz	Outline*
NPN Trans	stor Types								
SK3010 Germanium	Class A Voltage Amplifier and Driver Stages for Portable Receivers. Supply Voltages up to 15 volts	0.1	0.1	25	25	12	120	2	A
SK3011 Germanium	RF-Amplifier, Converter, and IF-Amplifier Stages for AM Broadcast-Band Receivers. Supply Voltages up to 18 volts	0.12	0.2	25	15	20	20 Min.	3 Min.	E

LIMIT CONDITIONS CHARACTERISTICS RCA Device Applications Type PT W \mathbf{Ic} Vсво VCEO VEBO fT MHz Outline* hrs A ٧ NPN Transistor Types (cont'd) **RF-Amplifier**, Mixer, Oscillator, and IF-Ampli-SK3018 fier Stages for VHF-TV 0.18 0.05 45 45 4.5 130 120 G Silicon and FM Receivers. Supply Voltages up to 25 volts Oscillator Stages in SK3019 UHF-TV Tuners only. 0.18 0.05 45 45 4.5 130 1200 G Silicon Supply Voltages up to 25 volts Low-Level Driver and AF-Output Stages in SK3020 Auto Radios, Hi-Fi and 0.5 0.3 30 25 7.5 175 175 Н Silicon Communications Equipment. Supply Voltages up to 25 volts AF-Power Output Stages of Line-Operated Radios, Phonographs and TV SK3021 Receivers 35 2 500 300 6 105 20 J Silicon Supply Voltage of 120 volts will provide a Power Output of 1 watt AF-Output and Driver Stages of Hi-Fi and Communications Equipment, SK3024 Supply Voltages up to 5 1 120 90 7 100 150 Ε Silicon 80 volts. NPN Complement of the SK3025 Class A and B Audio Power Amplifier Stages of Hi-Fi and Communications Equipment. Supply Voltages of 40 volts SK3026 will provide Power Outputs 29 4 70 60 7 70 1 J Silicon of 5-watts, Class A, and 15-watts Class B, (Push-Pull Operation) For Matched Pair use SK3028

Table VI—Performance Data for RCA SK-Series Entertainment Replacement Types (cont'd)

			LIMIT	CONDIT	IONS	S CHARACTERISTICS			S - Device	
RCA Type	Applications [—]	PT W	le A	Vсво V	Veeo V	V _{EBO} V	b fe	fT MHz	Outline*	
NPN Tran	sistor Types (cont'd)									
SK3027 Silicon	Class B push-Pull Audio Power Amplifier Stages for Hi-Fi and Communica- tions Equipment. Supply Voltages of 80 volts will provide a power output of 40-watts (Push-Pull Operation) For Matched Pair use SK3029	115	15	90	80	7	60	1	D	
SK3028 Silicon	Matched Pair of SK3026 Transistors			Fo	r Data	See SK3	026			
SK3029 Silicon	Matched Pair of SK3027 Transistors		For Data See SK3027							
SK3036 Silicon	Class B Push-Pull Audio Power Amplifier Stages for Hi-Fi and Communications Equipment. Supply Voltages of 80 volts will Provide a Power Out- put of 100-watts rms with a 4-ohm load, (Push-Pull Operation). For Matched Pair use SK3037	150	30	90	80	5	100	1.5	D	
SK3037 Silicon	Matched Pair of SK3036 Transistors			F	or Data	See SK3	036			
SK3038 Silicon	Small-Signal, Low-Noise AF-Preamplifier Stages For Hi-Fi and Communi- cations Equipment. Supply Voltages up to 18 volts	0.3	0.3	30	25	7.5	175	175	H	
SK3039 Silicon	RF-Amplifier, Mixer, and Converter Stages for UHF-TV Receivers. Supply Voltages up to 15 volts	0.3	0.04	20	12	2.5	60	1200	К	
SK3040 Silicon	Video Output Stages of Black and White TV- Receivers. Supply Voltages up to 140 volts	1	0.05	120	120	5	50	100	L	
SK3041 Silicon	AF-Power Output Stages for Auto Receivers. Supply Voltages up to 18 volts	50	7	35	35	5	100	2	М	

RCA			LIMIT	CONDIT	IONS	CHARACTERISTICS			S Device
Туре	Applications -	Pr W	le A	Vcbo V	VCEO V	Vebo V	hfe	fr MHz	- Device Outline*
NPN Trans	istor Types (cont'd)								
SK3D44 Silicon	Gated AGC, Color Ampli- fiers, and High-Voltage Regulator Circuits in Color TV Receivers. Supply Voltages up to 275 volts	10	1.0	300	300	7	80	15	E
SK3045 Silicon	Video Output, AF-Output, and High Voltage Regula- tor Circuits in Color TV-Receivers. Supply Voltages up to 275 volts	10	1.0	300	300	6	80	15	S
SK3046 Silicon	RF-Oscillator Stages for Citizens Band Transmitters. Supply Voltages up to 12 volts	0.5	0.25	60	30	2	50	300	E
SK3047 Silicon	RF-Driver Stages for Citizens Band Transmitters. Supply Voltages up to 12 volts	2	0.25	60	30	2	50	300	E
SK3048 Silicon	RF-Output Stages for Citizens Band Transmitters. Supply Voltages up to 12 volts	5	1.5	60	30	2.5	60	200	E
SK3049 Silicon	RF-Output Stages for Citizens Band Transmitters. Higher Power Version of SK3048.	10	1.5	60	30	2.5	60	200	S
SK3054 Silicon	AF-Drivers and Output Stages for Hi-Fi and Communications Equipment. Supply Voltages up to 50 volts	50	7	90	70	5	70	2	М
PNP Trans	istor Types								
SK3003 Germanium	AF-Output, Driver and Low-Level Amplifier Stages for Portable Receivers. Supply Voltages up to 9 volts	0.15	—0.07	20	—18	—2.5	90	1	A
SK3004 Germanium	AF-Output, Driver and Low-Level Amplifier Stages for Portable Receivers. Supply Voltages up to 15 volts	0.165	-0.1	—35	—25	—12	90	1	A

			LIMIT	CONDITI	IONS	CHARACTERISTIC			CS — Device
RCA Type	Applications	Pr W	lc A	¥сво ¥	VCEO V	VEBO V	hre	fr MHz	Outline*
PNP Transi	stor Types (cont'd)								
SK3005 Germanium	RF-Amplifier, Converter, and IF-Amplifier Stages for AM-Broadcast Band Receivers. Supply Voltages up to 12 volts	0.2	-0.005	6 —40	—35	—25	165	1	A
SK3006 Germanium	RF-Amplifier, Converter, and IF-Amplifier Stages for FM-Broadcast Band Receivers. Supply Voltages up to 15 volts	0.08	-0.01	—30	15	-0.5	100	118	В
SK3007 Germanium	RF-Amplifier, Converter, and IF-Amplifier Stages for All-Wave Receivers. Supply Voltages up to 15 volts	0.08	0.01	—24	—15	-0.5	120	30	C
SK3008 Germanium	RF-Amplifier, Converter, and IF-Amplifier Stages for AM-Broadcast Band Auto Radios and Portable Receivers. Supply Voltages up to 15 volts	0.08	-0.01	—34	—15	—0.5	150	1	A
SK3009 Germanium	AF-Output Stages of Auto Radios, Hi-Fi Amplifier Equipment and Communi- cations Equipment. Supply Voltages of 14.5 volts will Provide a Power Output of 5 watts in Class A Service. For Matched Pair Use SK3013	30	-10	-60	—50		90	0.4	5 D
SK3012 Germanium	AF-Power Output Stages for Auto Receivers. Supply Voltages up to 18 volts. Typical Power Output of 5 watts in Class A Service	150	-15	—50	—30	—20	50	0.1	F
SK3013 Germanium	Matched Pair of SK3009 Transistors			Fo	or Data S	See SK30)09		

RCA			LIM	AIT CONDI	TIONS	CHARACTERISTIC			S	
Туре	Applications	PT. W	lc A	Vсво V	Vceo V	V _{EBO} V	hre	fr MHz	- Device Outline	
PNP Trans	sistor Types (cont'd)									
SK3014 Germaniun	AF-Output Stages for Auto-Radios, Hi-Fi Amplifier Equipment and Communica- tions Equipment. Supply Voltage of 16.5 volts will Provide a Power Output of 5 watts in Class A Service. For Matched Pair Use SK3015	12.5	—5	—75	—50	—1.5	150	4	D	
SK3015 Germanium	Matched Pair of SK3014 Transistors		For Data See SK3014							
SK3025 Silicon	AF-Drivers and Output Stages for Hi-Fi and Communications Equipment. Supply Voltages up to 80 volts. PNP Complement of the SK3024.	7	-1	— 90	90	_7	100	100	E	
SK3034 Germanium	Vertical Output and Hori- zontal Driver Stages for TV-Receivers. Supply Voltages up to 36 volts	10	—10	-200	_	_2	35	2.5	D	
SK3035 Germanium	Horizontal Output Stages for TV-Receivers using Picture Tubes with De- flection Angles up to 114°, Ultor Voltage Ratings to 18 kV. Supply Voltages up to 36 volts.	5	10		_	-2	25	2.5	D	
K3052 Sermanium	AF-Output Stages of Auto Radios, Hi-Fi Amplifier Equipment and Communi- cations Equipment. Supply Voltages up to 18 volts	6	_2	60	60	—12	110	0.45	J	
K3053 ilicon	AF-Drivers and Output Stages for Hi-Fi and Communications Equipment. Supply Voltages up to 100 volts.	10	_1	200	200	4	90	15	E	

N-Channei	Dual-Insulated-Gate MOS	Depletion	Transistor	Type					
	Applications Pr W	_	LIMIT CONDITIONS				CHARACTEI	Device	
RCA Type		LI) MA	V _{DS} V	V _{G1S} V	V _{G2S} V	gfs umho	los mA	Outline*	
SK3050 Silicon	RF-Amplifier Stages for VHF TV-Receivers. Supply Voltages up to 15 volts	0.33	50	-0.2 to +20	-6 to +3	—6 to +4	12,000	15	ĸ

Silicon Controlled Rectifier Type, Operating Temperature Range (T_c): -40 to +100°C

			LIMIT CONDITIONS							
RCA	Applications		On-S	tate Cui	rent				Device Outline*	
		V _{DROM} V	ITSM A	l T A	di/dt A/µs	- Vgт V	lgr mA	toff μS		
SK3042 Silicon	Trace and Commutating Circuits for Horizontal Deflection Stages in TV Receivers. Supply Voltages up to 129 VAC.	550	80	5	200	4	30	2.5	J	

Silicon Rectifier Types

			Device					
rca Type	Applications	PRV V	VRM V	lr A	IFM A	trr μS	¥⊮M ¥	Outline*
SK3016 Non- insulated Case		500	_	1	_	_	_	0
SK3017A Insulated Case	-	600	_	1	_	_	_	Р
SK3030 Insulated Case	Color and Black-and- White TV Receivers, Radio Receivers, Hi-Fi -Amplifier Equipment, Phonographs, and other Entertainment-Type Electronic Equipment.	200	_	1	_	_	_	P
SK3031 Insulated Case		400	_	1	_		_	P
SK3032 Insulated Case	_	800	_	1	_	_	_	P
SK3033 Non- insulated Case	-	1000	_	1	_	_	_	0
SK3043 Non- insulated Case	Trace, Commutating and Clamp Diode for Horizon- tal Deflection Circuits in TV Receivers	550	700	1	70	1.1	1.3	P

Silicon Rectifier Types (cont'd)

RCA	Applications	LIMIT CONDITIONS							
Туре		PRV	VRM V	ie A	IFM A	trr μS	VPM V	- Device Outline*	
SK3051 Insulated Case	Color and Black-and- White TV Receivers, Radio Receivers, Hi-Fi Amplifier Equipment, Phonographs, and other Entertainment-Type Electronic Equipment.	1000	-	3		_	_	T	

Zener Voltage Regulator Types

RCA Type	Applications	P D W	Vz (±10%) V	1 _Z (Typical) mA	Device Outline*
SK3055 Insulated Case		1	3.6	69	AA
SK3056 Insulated Case	_	1	5.1	49	AA
SK3057 Insulated Case	_	1	5.6	45	AA
SK3058 Insulated Case	_	1	6.2	41	AA
SK3059 Insulated Case	Color and Black-and- White TV Receivers, Radio Receivers, Hi-Fi	1	7.5	34	AA
SK3060 Insulated Case	Amplifier Equipment, Phonographs, and other Entertainment-Type Electronic Equipment.	1	9.1	28	AA
SK3061 Insulated Case	_	1	10	25	AA
SK3062 Insulated Case	_	1	12	21	AA
SK3063 Insulated Case	_	1	15	17	AA
SK3064 Insulated Case	-	1	27	9.5	AA

Integrated	ntegrated Circuits, Linear Types										
			CHARACTE	RISTICS	Test C	Device					
кса Туре	Applications	P⊤ m₩	Vı(Lim) μV	A dB	Vec V	f MHz	Outline*				
SK3022 Silicon 10-Leads	Sound IE Amplifier Stages		_				N				
SK3023 Silicon 10-Formed Leads	Sound IF-Amplifier Stages for TV-Receivers	190	300	67	7.5	4.5	R				

Table VII—Performance Data for RCA SK-Series Industrial Replacement Types

Rectifier	Types, Maxi	mum	Operating	g Tempe	rature	$(I_c) =$	200°C			
			м	AXIMUM	CONDI	TIONS				
RCA Type	Repetitiv V	PRV e T	ransient V	Average A	Surge	IR μA	VF (full-cycle) V	Dev Outi	ice line*	
SK3500	600		700	12	250	5	0.55	I	U	
\$3501	600		700	40	850	5	0.65		٧	
Thyristor	Types									
				MAX	IMUM	CONDITIO	NS			
RCA Type	VFBOM V	RMS	lF Surge A	lgr mA	Vgr V	inoo mA	dv/dt V/µs	Pa W	Ірком ДА	Device Outline*
SCR Typ	es, Maximum	Ope	rating Te	mperatur	e (T _c)	= 100°	°C			
SK3502	600	5	80	15	2	20	10	6	50 0	J
SK3503	600	7	80	15	2	20	10	7.5	50 0	X
SK3504	600	20	200	15	2	20	10	23	50 0	Y
SK3505	600	35	350	40	2	70	10	38	500	Y
Triac Ty	pes, Maximu	m Op	erating 1	emperat	ure (Ta	.) <u>=</u> 10	0°C			
SK3506	400	2.5	25	10	2.2	15	10	4	400	Z
SK3507	400	15	100	80	2.5	60	10	22	500	W
SK3508	400	15	100	80	2.5	75	30	22	5 0 0	Y
SK3509‡	400	40	300	80	2.5	60	20	50	500	Y

 \ddagger Maximum Operating Temperature (Tc) = 110°C.

Table VII-Performance Data for RCA SK-Series Industrial **Replacement Types (cont'd)**

	LIMIT CONDITIONS							CHARACTERISTICS				
RCA Type	Polarity	PT at Tc ≈ 25°C W	lc A	Vebo V	Vceo V	VEBO V	leeo mA or fero4 μA	Vce(sat) V	hee Ic	A	fr MHz	Device Outline*
SK3510	NPN	115	15	100	60	7	0.7	1.1	45	4	0.9	D
SK3511	NPN	150	20	100	60	7	10	1.4	40	4	1	D
SK3512	NPN	10	2	100	75	7	0.5*	0.5	90	0.4	70	E
\$K3513	PNP	10	<u> </u>	-100	—75	_7	—0.5 ▲	-0.7	70	-0.4	70	Ε

Silicon Transistor Types, Maximum Operating Temperature (T $_{\rm C}$) = 200 °C

 \pm Maximum Operating Temperature (Te) = 110°C * Refer to **Outlines** Section

Symbols

A lthough semiconductor-device symbols have not yet been standardized throughout the industry, many symbols have become fairly well established by common usage. The symbols used in this Manual are listed and defined in this section.

GENERA	L SEMICONDUCTOR	Ce	collector-to-case capaci-
	SYMBOLS		tance
	•••••	Ccu	collector-to-base feed-
df	duty factor		back capacitance
η (eta)	efficiency	Cibo	input capacitance, open
NF	noise figure		circuit (common base)
Т	temperature	Cieo	input capacitance, open
TA	ambient temperature		circuit (common emitter)
Tc	case temperature	CM	cross modulation
T	junction temperature	Cobo	output capacitance, open
TME	mounting-flange temper-		circuit (common base)
	ature	Coeo	output capacitance, open
T_{s}	soldering temperature		circuit (common emitter)
TSTO	storage temperature	Е s/ь	second-breakdown energy
θ	thermal resistance	fe	cutoff frequency
θι-γ	thermal resistance, junc-	fhfb	small-signal forward-
	tion-to-ambient		current transfer-ratio
θ,-0	thermal resistance, junc-		cutoff frequency, short-
	tion-to-case		circuit (common base)
θj-hs	thermal resistance, junc-	fute	small-signal forward-
	tion-to-heat sink		current transfer-ratio
Θ_{J-MF}	thermal resistance, junc-		cutoff frequency, short-
	tion-to-mounting-flange	•	circuit (common emitter)
t	time	fr	gain-handwidth product
ta	delay time		(frequency at which
ta + tr	turn-on time		small-signal forward-
tr	fall time		current transfer ratio,
tp	pulse time		common emitter, extra-
t,	rise time		polates to unity)
t.	storage time	Ø	small-signal transcon-
t. + t.	turn-off time	6	ductance (common emit-
τ (tau)	time constant		ter)
τ_{s}	saturation stored-charge	Gua	large-signal average
	time constant	GT ^{PR}	nower gain (common
			hase)
TRAN	SISTOR SYMBOLS	G.	small-signal average
01	collector to have food	Стрь	nower gain (common
Ube	back canacitance		hase)

Symbols

Gpe	large-signal average power gain (common emitter)	I _{CES}	collector-cutoff current, base short-circuited to
Gpe	small-signal average power gain (common emitter)	ICEV	collector-cutoff current, specified voltage be- tween base and emittee
hғв	static forward-current transfer ratio (common base)	ICEX	collector-cutoff current, specified circuit between base and emitter
hrb	small-signal forward- current transfer ratio, short circuit (common base)	I _{Cs}	switching current (at minimum hrs per spe- cification)
hre	static forward-current transfer ratio (common emitter)	IE IEBO	emitter current emitter-cutoff current, collector open second-breakdown collec-
h _f .	small-signal forward- current transfer ratio, short circuit (common	MAG	tor current maximum available am- plifier gain
h _{1b}	emitter) small-signal input im- pedance, short circuit	MAG. MUG	maximum available con- version gain maximum usable ampli-
hie	static input resistance (common emitter)	PBE	total dc or average power
h ₁ .	small-signal input im- pedance, short circuit (common emitter)	рве	emitter) total instantaneous power
hob	small-signal output im- pedance, open circuit	Pus	input to base (common emitter)
h	(common base) small-signal output im- pedance, open circuit	Dep	input to collector (com- mon base)
h _{rb}	(common emitter) small-signal reverse- voltage transfer ratio,	Рсв	input to collector (com- mon base) total dc or average power
h _r ,	base) small-signal reverse-		input to collector (com- mon emitter)
	voltage transfer ratio, open circuit (common emitter)	рсв	total instantaneous power input to collector (com- mon emitter)
IB IB1 IB1	base current turn-on current turn-off current	\mathbf{P}_{EB}	total dc or average power input to emitter (com- mon base)
I _C ic	collector current collector current, instan-	ркв	total instantaneous power input to emitter (com-
Ісв	taneous value collector-cutoff current	P_{1B}	mon base) large-signal input power
Ісво	collector-cutoff current, emitter open	Рњ	(common base) small-signal input power
Iceo	collector-cutoff current, base open	\mathbf{P}_{TE}	(common base) large-signal input power
Icer	collector-cutoff current, specified resistance be- tween base and emitter	Pie	(common emitter) small-signal input power (common emitter)

RCA Transistor, Thyristor, & Diode Manual

Ров	large-signaloutputpower	V _{CB} (fl)	dc open-circuit voltage
D	(common base)		base (floating potential).
Pub	(common hase)		emitter biased with re-
Por	large-signal output power		spect to base
- 0h	(common emitter)	$V_{CE}(fl)$	dc open-circuit voltage
Pue	small-signaloutput power		between collector and
	(common emitter)		emitter (noating poten-
Рт	total nonreactive power		respect to emitter
0	input to all terminals	Vuno	collector-to-base voltage
Q.	stored base charge	V CBO	(emitter open)
Гъь	resistance	VCBV	collector-to-base voltage,
rs C.	collector - to - base time		specified voltage between
20.00	constant		emitter and base
$r_{CE}(sat)$	collector-to-emitter satu-		collector-supply voltage
	ration resistance		collector-to-emitter volt-
Re(h _{1e})	real part of small-signal	V	collector-to-emitter volt-
	input impedance, short	V CEO	age, base open
р	circuit (common emitter)	VCER	collector-to-emitter volt-
R ₀	input resistance (com-		age, specified resistance
1018	mon emitter)		between base and emit-
RL	load resistance		ter
R	output resistance (com-	VCES	collector-to-emitter volt-
	mon emitter)	1	to emitter
Rs	source resistance	Vary	collector-to-emitter volt-
τ (thermal) thermal time constant	• (15.4	age, specified voltage be-
V _{BB}	base-supply voltage		tween base and emitter
V BC	base-to-collector voltage	V _{CE} (sat)	collector-to-emitter satu-
	base-to-emitter voltage		ration voltage
VBE (Sat)	tion voltage		emitter-to-base voltage
V	collector-to-base break-	$V_{EB}(\Pi)$	between emitter and base
A (BR)CRO	down voltage, emitter		(floating notential), col-
	open		lector biased with respect
VABRICEO	collector - to - emitter		to base
	breakdown voltage, base	VEBO	emitter-to-base voltage,
	open		collector open
V _{(BB)CEB}	collector - to - emitter	VEE	emitter-supply voltage
	breakdown voltage, spe-		reach-through voltage
	cified resistance between		real part of short-circuit
37	base and emitter	1/ 1 22(real)	output impedance
V (BR)CES	breakdown voltage, base	Yre	forward transconduct-
	short-circuited to emit-		ance
	ter	Y _{1e}	input admittance
VGRDCEV	collector - to - emitter	Y _{oe}	output admittance
	breakdown voltage, spe-	Yre	reverse transconductance
	cified voltage between	м	S FIFI D-FFFFCT
	base and emitter	TRAN	NSISTOR SYMBOLS
V _{(BR)EBO}	emitter-to-base break-		
	down voltage, collector	A	$(- \mathbf{V}_{1} / \mathbf{V}_{2} + \mathbf{V}_{2})$
17	open and a base weltage	B	$(-1_{15}/1_{05} + 1_{L})$
Vсв	conector-to-base voltage	Dos	Uda

Symbols

Ce	intrinsic channel capaci-	rgs
c.	drain to source concei	
Cds	tanco (includos approxi	L'ian
	motoly 1 pE duoin to	Toss Ty
	matery 1-pr drain-to-	V DB
	nacitanco)	v
C	gate-to-drain consoitones	V DG
⊂ga	(includes 01 nF inter	V DG1
	(includes 0.1-pr inter-	XZ
C	gate-to-source interload	V DG2
Cgs	and case canacitance	V
C	small-signal input ca-	V DS W
OTAB	nacitance short circuit	V G18
Corr	small-signal output ca-	Verto
	pacitance, short circuit	V Gis(U
Cra	small-signal reverse	Vous
	transfer capacitance.	¥ 025
	short circuit	Vanio
en	equivalent input noise	1 028 (0
	voltage	Van
g	forward conversion con-	, up
-	ductance	VGB
g:.	forward transconduct-	
	ance	VGS
$g_{fs}(c)$	forward conversion	
	transductance	VGS
g _{is} (off)	cutoff forward transcon-	
	ductance	V _{Gs} (OI
gı.	input conductance	
g	output conductance	V.
Gps	power gain	Yta
Gpa(e)	conversion power gain	
ID	dc drain current	Yes
$I_{DS}(OFF)$	drain-to-source OFF cur-	
_	rent	YL
IDSS	zero-bias drain current	
IGISS	gate No. 1 leakage cur-	Zθ
	rent	
I _{G2SS}	gate No. 2 leakage cur-	
•	rent	
IGSS	gate leakage current	Critica
NF.	spot noise figure (gen-	dv/d
	erator resistance $R_0 =$	di/dt
	1 megonm)	
ľ e	ellective gate series re-	IDOM
	sistance	_
14 m.'	upmodulated abannal re-	LGT
La	sistenco	1 _{HO}
- (ON)	ducin to governo ON me	-
rds(OIN)	gistaneo	IRROM
\mathbf{D} (- \mathbf{a})		
њ ря (ОП)	arain-to-source cuton re-	lT
	sistance	т
r _{gd}	gate-to-drain leakage re-	LT(AV) T
	sistance	IT(RMS)

r _{g.}	gate-to-source leakage
r	innut resistance
- 188 P	output resistance
Vue	drain-to-substrate volt-
• 178	are voice voice
Ving	drain-to-gate voltage
V.c.	drain-to-gate No. 1 welt
V DOL	aram-to-gate No. 1 Voit-
Vna	drain-to-gate No 2 volt-
1 1/12	age
V_{DS}	drain-to-source voltage
V _{G18}	gate No. 1-to-source volt-
	age
V _{G18} (off)	gate N.o 1-to-source cut-
	off voltage
V _{G2S}	gate No. 2-to-source volt-
	age
$V_{G_{28}}(off)$	gate No. 2-to-source cut-
. ,	off voltage
V _{GB}	dc gate-to-substrate volt-
	age
VGB	peak gate-to-substrate
	voltage
V _{gs}	dc gate-to-source volt-
	age
VGS	peak gate-to-source volt-
	age
V _{Gs} (OFF)	gate-to-source cutoff
	voltage
Vo	offset voltage
Yra	forward transadmit-
	tance $\approx g_{f_{\pi}}$
Yos	output admittance =
	$g_{os} + jB_{os}, B_{os} = \omega c_{ds}$
Y _I ,	load admittance $= g_{L} +$
10	jB _L
20	phase angle of forward
	transadmittance
S	CR SYMBOLS
Critical	critical rate of annlied
dv/dt	forward voltage
li/dt	rate of change of on-
	state current
LOOM	peak off-state current
	(open gate)
[_{GT}	average trigger current
но	instantaneous holding
	current
RRDM	repetitive peak reverse
	current (open gate)
т	instantaneous on-state
	current

average on-state current

rms on-state current

I _{TSM}	surge (non-reptitive) on-
	state current
$[I_{TS(RMS)}]^2t$	rms surge (non-repeti-
	tive) on-state current
P _{G(AV)}	average on-state or off-
	state gate power dissi-
	pation
Рам	peak on-state or off-state
	gate power dissipation
R _t	load resistance
tgt	gate controlled turn-on
	time
t _α	circuit commutated turn-
	off time
VDROM	repetitive peak off-state
	voltage (open gate)
VDSOM	non-repetitive peak for-
	ward voltage (open gate)
VF(B0)0	instantaneous forward
	breakover voltage (open
	gate)
VGT	average trigger voltage
VRROM	repetitive peak reverse
	voltage (open gate)
VRSOM	non-repetitive peak re-
	verse voltage (open gate)
VT	instantaneous on-state
	voltage

TRIAC SYMBOLS

Commuta-	critical rate of applied
ting	commutating voltage
dv/dt	
Critical	critical rate-of-rise of
dv/dt	off-state voltage
di/dt	rate of change of for-
	ward current
IPROM	peak off-state current
IGT	dc gate-trigger current
IGTM	peak gate-trigger cur-
	rent
Ino	dc holding current
ir	instantaneous on-state
	current
I _{T(RMS)}	rms on-state current
ITSM	peak surge (non-repeti-
	tive) on-state current
PG(AV)	average gate power dis-
	sipation
Рам	peak gate power dissi-
	pation
R ₁ .	load resistance
tet	gate-controlled turn-on
- 6 -	time
Vo	instantaneous off-state
	voltage

VDROM	repetitive peak off-state
	voltage
V _{DSOM}	non-repetitive peak for- ward voltage
V_{GT}	dc gate-trigger voltage
V_{RROM}	repetitive peak reverse voltage
$V_{\rm RSOM}$	non-repetitive peak re- verse voltage
VT	instantaneous on-state voltage
$V_{ extsf{T}^{M}}$	maximum on-state volt-

RECTIFIER SYMBOLS

C_1	junction capacitance
C ₈	shunt capacitance
IF	forward current, dc
ir i	forward current, instan-
	taneous total
IF(AV)	average forward current
i _{FM} (rep)	peak recurrent forward
	current
IFM	peak forward current
i _{FM} (surge)	peak surge forward cur-
	rent
IFRM	repetitive peak forward
	current
IF(RMS)	forward current, total
	rms value
IFSM	peak surge forward cur-
	rent
IR	reverse current, dc
i _R	reverse current, instan-
-	taneous value
IR(AV)	average reverse current
I _{RM}	peak reverse current
IR(RMS)	reverse current, total
TT.	forward valtage
V F	forward voltage
VF	tangous total
V	average forward voltage
Ver	maximum de forward
* 7.31	voltage drop
V	forward voltage total
v r (RMS)	rms value
V.BBAR	reverse breakdown volt-
· (Du/A	age
V _M (block)	maximum de blocking
	voltage
V _R	reverse voltage
VR	reverse voltage, instan-
	taneous total
VRM	peak reverse voltage
VRM	non-repetitive (tran-
(non-rep)sient) peak reverse volt-
	age
V _{RM} (rep)	repetitive peak reverse
(I M (I C P)	voltage
1	

V _{RMS} V _{RRM}	rms supply voltage repetitive peak reverse voltage	V _{RSM} V _{RWM}	peak reverse non-repetitive peak reverse working	voltage, voltage,
			"OT MINE	

RCA MILITARY-SPECIFICATION TYPES

TYPE	MIL-S-19500/	TYPE	MIL-S-19500/
Trans	istors	JAN-2N1482	207
IAN-2N384	27	JAN-2N1483	180
IAN_2N388	65	JAN-TX2N1483	180
IAN.398	17/	JAN-2N1484	180
IAN-2N398A	174	JAN-TX2N1484	180
IAN_2N404	20	JAN-2N1485	180
IAN-2N404 A	20	JAN-TX2N1485	180
IAN_2N918	301	JAN-2N1486	180
IAN-2N1183	1/3	JAN-TX2N1486	180
JAN-2N1183A	143	JAN-2N1487	208
IAN.2N1183R	140	JAN-2N1488	208
IAN_2N1184	140	JAN-2N1489	208
IAN_2N1184A	140	JAN-2N1490	208
IAN-2N1184R	140	JAN-2N1493	247
IAN_2N1224	190	JAN-2N2015	248
JAN-2N1224	180	JAN-2N2016	248
JAN 2N1220	105	JAN-2N2857	343
JAN 2N 1902	120	JAN-TX2N2857	343
JAN-2111303	120	JAN-2N3375	341
JAN-2N 1004	120	JAN-TX2N3375	341
JAN-2N 1000	120	JAN-2N3439	368
JAN-2N 1000 JAN 9N 1907	120	JAN-2N3440	368
JAN-2N 1007	120	JAN-2N3441	369
JAN-2N1308	126	JAN-2N3442	370
JAN-2N1309	126	JAN-2N3553	341
JAN-2N1479	207	JAN-TX2N3553	341
JAN-2N1480	207	JAN-2N4440	341
JAN-2N1481	207	JAN-TX2N4440	341

Copies of specification sheets may be obtained by directing requests to Department of the Navy, Naval Publications and Forms Center, 5801 Tabor Avenue, Philadelphia, Pa. 19120

Selection Charts

T he accompanying charts classify RCA semiconductor devices by function, by material, and by performance level. These charts are particularly useful for an initial selection of suitable devices for a specific application. More complete data on these devices, given in the Technical Data section, should then be consulted to determine the most suitable type. Data charts for rectifiers, other semiconductor diodes, and photoconductive devices are given at the end of the Technical Data section.

5 W to 29 W 40349V1*‡ 40349V2‡ 40368 40372* 40373* 40374* 40375* 40389* 40390*

TRANSISTORS

Audio-Fre	auency Ap	plications	Dissipa	tions up to 5 V	V (cont'd)
Li	near Ópera	tions	2N2897	40321	40398
	near epera		2N 3053	40323	40399
			2N3241A	40326	40400
SMALL SIGNAL	CLASS A		2N3242A	40327	40407
Silicon n-p-n			2N4074	40354	40408
Dissipo	itions up to t	5 W	40084	40355	40539
2N697	2N2895	40231	40309	40360	40611
2N699	2N2896	40232	40311	40361	40616
2N033	2N2897	40233	40314	40366 •	40625
2N 7 20 A	2N3053	40234	40315	40367•	40628
2N1613	2N3241 A	40397	40317	40385 •	40635
2N1711	2N3242A	40398	40320	40397	
2N1893	2N4074	40399	Dissingt	iona above 5	W to 29 W
2N2102	2N5183	40400	Dissipui	0005 00000 J	40940V1*-
2N2270	40084	40458	2N1483‡	2N5786T	40349 V 1*4
2N2405			2N1484‡	40250‡	40349VZŢ
2112400			2N1485‡	40250 V 1	40368*
Germanium p-n	1-p		2N1486‡	40310	40372*
Dissinati	ons up to 16	5 mW	2N1701‡	40312	40373*
D1001putt	9NE01	40329	2N 3054‡	40316	40374*
2N 109	2N 391 9N1619	40325	2N 34 39	40324	40375*
ZNZI	2N 1013	40305	2N3440	40346	40389*
2N 405	ZIN 1014 9N9052	40355	2N3441‡	40347‡	40390*
ZN406	ZIN 2900	40450	2N4063	40347V1* *	40392
			2N4064	40347V2‡	40409*
POWER-CLAS	IS A, AB, B		2N5320	40348‡	40412
Silicon n-p-n			2N5321	40348V1*‡	40544
Dissip	ations up to	5 W	2N5784†	40348V2‡	40594
ONC07	2N1482+	2N2102	2N5785†	40349‡	
ZIN 097	2N 1402+	2N2270			
21N099 0N1470+	2N 1015	2N2405			
21N 14774 9 N 1480+	2N1711	2N2895	* For printe	d-circuit-board	applications.
2111400+ 0N1401+	2N1803	2N2896	I Hometaxia	bility type.	
ZIN 14014	714 1020	2112000			

Selection Charts

Dissipation	s above 29	W to 100 W	Dissipa	ation to 30 W	(cont'd)
2N1487±	2N5240±	40328	2N2870/	40051	40462
2N1488±	2N5293*±	40364	2N301A	40254	40612
2N1489t	2N5294t	40369±•	40022	40396	40623
2N1490†	2N5295*†	40513*†	40050	40421	40626
2N1702†	2N5296†	40514+	10000	10121	10020
2N3963	2N5207*+	40549+			
2110200 9N19964	2N5208+	403424	NICH VOLTACE		
211 3204 9N1 95 99	21102504 9NI5400*+	403434	man-rociaat		
21N 3303	2N3490 +	40013	Germanium p-n-	D	
21N 3384	21934914 9N5409*+	40010	2N 2720	9N19799	40490
ZIN 3585	ZIN 3492*1	40621	2193730 9N9791	21N 37 32 9N 494C	40439
2N 3878	ZIN 54931	40622	2113731	2114340	40440
2N3879	ZN5494*‡	40624			
2N4240	2N5495‡	40627	0.11.		
2N4347‡	2N5496*‡	40629	2111cou u-b-u		
2N5034‡	2N5497‡	40630	2N 2016	2N 3773	2N5240‡
2N5035*‡	40313	40631	2N2102	2N3878	40346
2N5036‡	40318	40632	2N2405	2N3879	40349‡
2N5037*‡	40322	40633	2N3263	2N4063	40349V1*‡
2N5239‡			2N3264	2N4064	40349V2±
.		117 I I I I I I I	2N3265	2N4068	40354
Dissipation	above 100	W to 150 W	2N3266	2N4069	40355
2N2015	2N3772‡	2N5579‡	2N3439	2N4240	40366
2N2016	2N3773‡	2N5580	2N3440	2N4347†	40373*
2N2338‡	2N4348‡	40251‡	2N3441†	2N4348†	40374*
2N3055‡	2N5575‡	40325	2N3442+	2N4390	40375*
2N3265	2N5576‡	40363	2N3583	2N5184	103850
2N3266	2N5577‡	40411‡	2N3584	2N5185	40303
2N3442±	2N5578±	40636	2N 2585	2N5220+	40330
2N3771±			211 3303	21492994	
Silicon p-n-p					
Diss	ipation to	10 W			
2N4036	2N5322	40410	Radio-Frei	quency App	lications
2N4037	40319	40537	Linear a	nd Class C C)peration
2N4314	40362	40538			
2N5323	40391*	40595	SMALL SIGNAL		
2N5415	40394*	40634	MOS FET Silicon	N-Channel-Single	
2N5416	40406	10001	Gate		
2110410	40400		2N198	9 NI 1 4 9	404674
Germanium n-p-n	1		2N120	011 140 9 N 159	40407A
Dissinati	on to 300	mW	2N149	311132 9N154	40408A
9NC47	9NG40	10906	31N 142	31N 194	40559A
219 04 /	219049	40390			
Germanium p-n-p			MOS FET Silicon	N.Channel.Dual	
Dissing	tion to 30	w	Gate	It oughter Dust	
0 N 1 7 C	ON1109 4	0311000	2N140	40000	10000
ZIN 170	ZN1103A	ZIN 1906	31N 140 9N141	40600	40603
21N 331 9 N 97C	2111183B	2NZ147	011141 9N150	40001	40004
ZIN 376	ZN1184	ZN 2148	91A 19A	40602	
ZN407	ZN 1184A	ZN 2869/			
ZN408	ZN1184B	2N 301	NOC		
2N1183	2N1905		MUS FEI SHICON	N-Channel Prote	cted Dual Gate
			3N187	40819	40822
For printed-	circuit-board	applications.	3N 200	40820	40823
F Hometavial 1	base type.		40079	44001	

Silicon n-p-n f _T 2N2102	to 700 MHz 2N2897	(Typ.) 2N5189•	SWITCHING AND PULSE APPLICATIONS Computer and Power
2N2270	2N3053	40084	•
2N2405	2N5181	40354	COMPUTER—LOW LEVEL, MEDIUM-SPEED
2N2895	2N5182	40355	LOGIC SWITCHING
2N2896	2N5188•	40637	Silicon n-p-n
			f_{T} to 175 MHz (Min.)
$f_{\rm T}$	to 1200 MHz	(Min.)	2N697 2N2896 2N3879
2N917	2N4935	40242	2N699 2N2897 2N5183
2N918	2N4936	40243	2N718A 2N3053 2N5202
2N2708	2N5109	40244	2N720A 2N3241A 2N5320
2N2857	2N5179	40245	2N1613 2N3242A 2N5321
2N3478	2N5180	40246	2N1711 2N3262 40084
2N3600	40235	40294	2N1893 2N3263 40375*
2N3839	40236	40295 •	2N2102 2N3264 40389*
2N 3932	40237	40405	2N2270 2N3265 40392
2N 3933	40238	40413	2N2405 2N3266 40458
2N4259	40239	40414	2N2895 2N3878 40459
2N4934	40240	40519	
			Silicon p-n-p
Cormanium r	n_n_n		$f_{\rm T}$ to 60 MHz (Min.)
uermanium p	100 MU~	(T_{ijm})	2N4036 2N5322 40391*
/T	10 132 MIIA	(1 9 p.) 9 NI 1697	2N4037 2N5323 40394*
2N370	ZIN 1180	21 1037 9 N 1698	2N4314
2N372	ZIN 1524	2N 1030	HIGH SDEED LOCIC SWITCHING
2N410	ZIN 1525 0N1596	211 1035	nion-SPEED LUGIC SWITCHING
2N412	2N 1920 9N1597	40401	Silicon n-p-n
2N1177	21N1027 9N1691	40480	f_{T} to 600 MHz (Min.)
2N1178	21 1001 9 N 1699	40405	2N706 2N2369A 2N3261
2N1179	214 1652		2N706A 2N2475 2N5186
			2N709 2N3119 2N5187
POWER			2N834
Silicon n-n-r	,		HIGH VOLTAGE SWITCHING
311100 11-p-1	0.015109	10281	Aller and Switching
2N1491	2N0102	10282	Suicon p-n-p
ZN 1492	2N0100 9N5470	40202	$f_{\rm T}$ to 600 MHz (Min.)
ZN 1493	2N0470 9N5019	40290	2N2476 2N3512 2N5189•
2N 2631	2N 3913	40251	2N2477 2N5188• 2N5262
ZN 2876	2N5914 9N5915	40202	2N3261
ZN 3118	2N5916	40306	Germanium p-n-p
ZN 3229	2N5017	40307	2N398 2N398A 2N398B
ZIN 3379	2N5918	40301	211336 211036A 211086A
ZIN 3993	2N5919	40341	LOW- AND MEOIUM-SPEED SWITCHING
2183032 9819792	2N5921	10405	Germanium o-n-o
ZIN 3733	2N5992	10116	$f = f_0 MH_2 (Min)$
21N 3000 9 N 401 9	2N5993	40577	$\int_{\mathbf{T}} t = 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0$
2114012 9N/4497	2N5994	40578	ZIN4U4 ZIN13U1 ZIN13U7 DN1404A DN1909 DN1900
2184427 2814440	2N5995	40581	ZIN4U4A ZIN13U3 ZIN13U3 DN1414 9N1905 9N1409
211444U 9 NJ 4099	2N5996	40582	ZIN 414 ZIN 1303 ZIN 1003
2114702 9N14099	40080	40608	ZIN 1300
2184333 9NE016	40081	40665	
2110U10 9NI5070	40082	40666	
213070 2N5071	40279	40675	and the desired hand continuitions
213 JUT 1 2N 5000	40280	10010	 For printed-circuit-board applications. High-reliability type.
2113030	10400		

Germanium n-p-n

$f_{\mathbf{T}}$	to 15	5 MHz	(Min.)
2N388	2N	1302	2N1308
2N388A	2N	1304	2N1605
2N585	2N	1306	2N1605A

CHOPPER AND MULTIPLEX SERVICE

MOS	FET	Silicon	N-Channel-Single
Ga	te		
3N	138		3N153

POWER-LOW SPEED SWITCHING

Silicon n-p-n

Diss	ipations to 8	3.75 W
2N697	2N 3053	40349‡
2N699	2N 3262	40349V1*‡
2N718A	40250V1*	40360
2N720A	40309	40361
2N1479‡	40311	40366 [•]
2N1480‡	40314	40367•
2N1481‡	40315	40372*
2N1482 [±]	40317	40374*
2N1613	40320	40375*
2N1700‡	40321	40385
2N1711	40323	40389*
2N 1893	40326	40390*
2N2102	40327	40392
2N2270	40346V1*	40407
2N2405	40347*	40408
2N2895	40347V1*‡	40409*
2N2896	40348‡	40412V1*
2N2897	40348V1*‡	
Dissipation	s above 8.75	W to 50 W
2N1483‡	2N5293*‡	40312
2N1484‡	2N5294‡	40313
2N1485‡	2N5295*‡	40316
2N1486‡	2N5296‡	40318
93117011	9NIC907*+	40999

ZIN 1480‡	ZIN 02901	40310
2N1701‡	2N5297*‡	40322
2N3054‡	2N5298‡	40324
2N3439	2N5490*‡	40328
2N3440	2N5491‡	40346
2N3441‡	2N5492*‡	40346V2
2N3583	2N5493‡	40347V2‡
2N3584	2N5494*‡	40348V2‡
2N3585	2N5495‡	40349V2‡
2N3878	2N5496*‡	40364
2N3879	2N5497‡	40368 [•]
2N4063	40250‡	40412
2N4064	40310	40412V2
2N4240		

Dissipations	above 50	W to 150 W
2N1487‡	2N3771±	2N5577±
2N1488±	2N37721	2N5578±
2N1489±	2N3773‡	2N5579±
2N1490†	2N4347†	2N5580†
2N1702†	2N4348†	2N6032
2N2015	2N5034†	2N 6033
2N2016	2N5035*+	40251+
2N2338+	2N5036†	40325
2N3055+	2N5030+	40363
2N3263	2N5038	40369+0
2N3203	2N5020+	403034
2113204 9N19965	2N5940+	40411+
21N 3203	2110240+ 9NEE7E+	4001014
21N 3200	2N00704	403144
21134421	21409101	
Silicon n-n-n		
Dies	inations to	~ 117
Diss	ipations to	7 77
40319	40391*	40406
40362	40394*	40410*
Cormonium n.n.n		
Germanium p-n-p		
Diss	ipation to	30 W
2N1905	2N1183A	2N1184A
2N1906	2N1183B	2N1184B
2N1183	2N1184	
HIGH-VULTAGE ST	WIICHING	
Silicon n-p-n		
Collector-t	o-Emitter	Voltage to
S	850 V (max	.)
2N3439	2N4347+	40346V2
2N3440	2N 4347+	4034072
2N9440	21140404 9N/200	403434
21104414 9N94494	2114330 9N5990+	4034571 4
21104424 9N19589	21132334 9NE940+	40343721
211 3303 9 N 95 9 4	2N 52404 9N 5904	40334
2113304 9119595	211 0004 9 NE 905	40373*
4193303 919779	2110000 9 N = 0 9 0	40374*
2113113 9N14069	4110000 9115990	40303*
21N4003	219 3039 9 NE 0 4 0	40390*
2N4064	21N 284U	40412
ZN4068	40346 40946V1#	40412V1*
ZIN4069	4U346VI*	40412VZ
ZN 4240		
Silicon n.n.n		
	T	a
Collector-te	o-Emitter	Sustaining
v oltage	to -300 V	(max.)
ZIN5415	2195416	

For printed-circuit-board applications.
Hometaxial base type.
High-reliability type.

THYRISTORS

TRIACS			400 Hz Service $V_{\text{DROM}} = 200 V$			
Low-Volta	ge Operatio	on 50 & 60 Hz	40769	40775	40781	
2N5754	40534	40696	40771	40777	40783	
40525	40684	40766	40773	40779	40785	
40525	40693	40767				
40520	40050	10101	400 Hz S	Service VDRO	$_{\rm M} = 400 V$	
40001			40770	40776	40782	
	<u> </u>	*** (AO TI.	40772	40778	40784	
120-V Lu	ne Operatio	n 50 & 60 Hz	40774	40780	40786	
2N5441	40535	40711				
2N5567	40575	40713	SUICON CONTI	ROLLED RECTIFIE	RS	
2N5569	40638	40715	Low Voltar	a Onemation	50 & 60 Hr	
2N5571	40660	40717	Low-young	le Operation	1 30 82 00 112	
2N5573	40662	40719	2N681	2N1845A	40741	
2N5755	40668	40721	2N682	2N 3650	40745	
40429	40685	40725	2N 683	2N 3668	40749	
40431	40688	40727	2N684	2N 3870	40753	
40485	40691	40729	2N 1842A	2N 3897	40707	
40502	40694	40731	2N1843A	40680	40810	
40509	40697	40733	2N 1844A	40737		
40511	40699	40761		~ .·	7.0 C 0.0 TT	
40526	40702	40799	120-V Lin	ie Operation	50 & 60 Hz	
40529	40705	40802	2N685	40378	40738	
40532	40707	40805	2N1846A	40504	40742	
			2N 3228	40507	40746	
210-V Li	ine Operatio	on 50 & 60 Hz	2N 35 28	40553	40750	
ONE449	40576	40712	2N3651	40654	40754	
2IN 3444	40070	40714	2N3669	40656	40758	
2N5569	40000	40716	2N 3871	40658	40811	
2N5570	40001	40718	2N3897	40681		
2N5579	40000	40720				
2N5574	40667	40722	240-V Lin	ie Operation	50 & 60 Hz	
2N5756	40669	40723	2N688	40379	40739	
40430	40686	40724	2N1849A	40505	40743	
40432	40689	40726	2N3525	40508	40747	
40486	40692	40728	2N3529	40554	40751	
40503	40695	40730	2N3653	40655	40755	
40510	40698	40732	2N3670	40657	40759	
40512	40700	40734	2N3872	40659	40812	
40527	40703	40762	2N3898	40682		
40530	40706	40800				
40533	40708	40803	High-Volt	aae Operatie	on 50 & 60 Hz	
40536			DNC9C	9N4101	40735	
			21N 000 9N 697	2114101 9N/4109	40735	
High Volt	ana Onavat	ion 50 & 60 Hz	21N 001	2N4102	40740	
High-Voit	age Operai	107 30 80 00 11~	2IN 009 2N 600	40916	40749	
2N5443	40690	40796	21907U 9N1947A	40410	40759	
2N5446	40701	40797	2111041A	40500	40756	
ZN5757	40704	40790	211 1040A 9N1950 A	40533	40760	
40611	40709	40801	211 10JUA 2N 2659	40641	40813	
40672	40710	40004	2N 3973	40683	10010	
40687	40199	40001	MI10010	10000		

RECTIFIERS

SILICON RECT	IFIERS-LOW PO	WER	HIGH-VOLTA	GE	
	IF(AV) to 2	A	RECTIFIE	R ASSEMBLIES	
1N440B	1N2859A	1N3755	CR101	CR301	CR323
1N441B	1N2860A	1N3756	CR102	CR302	CR324
1N442B	1N2861A	1N5211	CR103	CR303	CR325
1N443B	1N2862A	1N5212	CR104	CR304	CR331
1N444B	1N2863A	1N5213	CR105	CR305	CR332
1N445B	1N2864A	1N5214	CR106	CR306	CR333
1N536	1N3193	1N5215	CR107	CR307	CR334
1N537	1N3194	1N5216	CR108	CR311	CR335
1N538	1N3195	1N5217	CR109	CR312	CR341
1N539	1N3196	1N5218	CR110	CR313	CR342
1N540	1N3253	40265	CR201	CR314	CR343
1N547	1N3254	40266	CR203	CR315	CR344
1N1095	1N3255	40267	CR204	CR316	CR351
1N1763A	1N3256	40642	CR206	CR317	CR352
1N1764A	1N3563	40643	CR208	CR321	CR353
1N2858A	1N3754	40644	CR210	CR322	CR354
			CR212		
SILICON RECTI	FIERS-HIGH PO	VER			
In	w 12 A to	10 A	BRIDGE REG	IIFIERS	
1N948C	1N1902A	40100	Single-phase,	tull-wave	
1N240C	1N1203A	40109	CR401	CR404	CR407
1N2450	1N 1204A	40110	CR402	CR405	CR408
1111924	1N1205A	40111	CR403	CR406	CR409
1N118/A	1N12/1R	40112			
1N1186A	1N12/9R	40110	Three-phase.	full-wave	
1N1187A	1N1344B	40114	CDEAL	CDEAS	CDEAS
1N1107A	1N1945B	40110	CDEAD	CDEAA	CDEAG

DIACS

FOR	TRI	GERI	NG	TRI	ACS
1 N :	541	t	4	40	583

DIODES

DAMPER DIODES

1N1189A

1N1190A

1N1195A

1N1196A

1N1197A

1N1198A

1N1199A

1N1200A

1N1202A

1N1346B

1N1347B

1N1348B

1N1612

1N1613

1N1614

1N1615

1N1616

40108

40209

40210

40211

40212

40213

40214

1N4785 40442

COMPENSATING DIODES 1N2326 40428

Interpretation of Data

THE technical data for RCA solid- $\mathbf{L}_{\text{state}}^{---}$ devices included in the following sections are grouped according to product types. Ratings, characteristics, typical operation values, and characteristic curves for all current RCA signal bipolar transistors, low- and medium-frequency power transistors, rf power transistors. MOS field-effect transistors. thyristors, and certain special diodes are presented in display format. Ratings and characteristics data for RCA silicon rectifiers are presented in easy-to-read quick-reference charts to facilitate comparison and selection of individual types. Tabular data are also provided on discontinued RCA transistors and thyristors for use in the selection of suitable replacement types. Unless otherwise specified, the voltages and currents indicated in these data are dc values, and values are obtained at an ambient temperature of 25°C.

Ratings are established for solidstate devices to help equipment designers use the performance and service capabilities of each type to the best advantage. The ratings are based on careful study and extensive testing; they indicate limits within which the specified characteristic must be maintained to assure satisfactory performance. The maximum ratings given for the solid-state devices listed in this Manual are based on the Absolute Maximum System. This system has been defined by the Joint Electron Device Engineering Council (JEDEC) and standardized by the National Electrical Manufacturers Association (NEMA) and the Electronic Industries Association (EIA).

Absolute-maximum ratings are limiting values of operating and environmental conditions which should not be exceeded by any device of a specified type under any condition of operation. Effective use of these ratings requires close control of supply-voltage variations, component variations, equipment-control adjustment, load variations, signal variations, and environmental conditions.

Voltage and current ratings for solid-state devices, in general, are self-explanatory; a brief explanation of some ratings, however, will aid in the understanding and interpretation of device data.

Voltage ratings are established with reference to a specified electrode (e.g., collector-to-emitter voltage) and indicate the maximum potential that can be placed across the two specified electrodes before crystal breakdown occurs. These ratings are specified for particular conditions (e.g., with the third electrode open, or with specific bias voltages or external resistances for transistors).

Transistor dissipation is the power dissipated in the form of heat by the device. It is the difference between the input power supplied to the device and the power delivered to the load. Because of the sensitivity of semiconductor materials to variations in thermal conditions, maximum dissipation ratings are usually given for specific temperature conditions.

In many cases, dissipation ratings for solid-state devices are specified for ambient, case, or mounting-flange temperatures up to 25°C and must be reduced linearly for operation of the devices at higher temperatures. (A typical derating curve for bipolar transistors and instructions for use of this curve to determine maximum permissible dissipation values for particular temperatures above 25° C are shown on page 300.)

Solid-state devices require close control of thermal variations not only during operation, but also during storage. For this reason, the maximum ratings for such devices usually include a maximum permissible storage temperature, as well as a maximum operating temperature.

Characteristics of solid-state devices are discussed in detail in the sections that provide the basic descriptions of these devices. Such data should be interpreted in accordance with the definitions given in those sections. Characteristic curves represent the characteristics of an average device. Individual solid-state devices, like any manufactured product, may have characteristics that range above or below the values given in the characteristic curves. Although some curves are extended beyond the maximum rating of the device, this extension has been made only for convenience in calculation: no solid-state device should be operated outside of its maximum ratings.

The technical data for RCA solidstate devices are presented in seven major sections. These major sections are listed below, and a location marker is shown in the margin opposite each section heading. Similar markers are shown on the right-hand pages in each technical-data section in the same location as the respective markers on this page.

- Technical Data for Small-Signal Bipolar Transistors
- Technical Data for MOS Transistors
- Technical Data for Low- and Medium-Frequency Power Transistors
- Technical Data for RF Power Transistors
- Technical Data for Thyristors
- Technical Data for Rectifiers and Other Diodes
- · Chart of Discontinued Types

Technical Data for Small-Signal Bipolar Transistors

THIS section contains detailed technical data for all current RCA small-signal bipolar transistors. These data are presented in three major functional groupings to identify types used most frequently in audio-frequency, radio-frequency, and switching applications. Within each grouping, the transistors are listed in order of ascending powerdissipation ratings.

In selection of devices for use in

new electronic equipment, a prospective user should refer to the appropriate section of the Selection Guide included earlier in the Manual. For the reader who requires data on specific types, a complete numericalalphabetical-numerical index to all current RCA solid-state devices is provided immediately following the Circuits Section in the back of the Manual.

Audio-Frequency Types

2N591

0.085W



--7 max

-20 max

μĄ

μA

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction type used in large-signal af driver applications in class A stages of automobile radio receivers. JEDEC TO-1, Outline No.1.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво Vско Іс	32 32 40	V V mA
Transistor Dissipation: T _A up to 55°C	Рт	85	mW
T_C up to 55°C T_A or T_C above 55°C	Рт Рт	200 See curve pa	mW ige 300
Temperature Range: Operating (Ambient) Storage	TA (opr) Tstg	71 65 to 85	°C °C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL	255	°C

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-Cutof	f Current	(Усв	= -10	V. IE	= 0)		Ісво
Emitter-Cutoff	Current ((Veb =	= —1 V	, Ic =	:0)	••••••	Ієво

Small-Signal Bipolar Transistors

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = -0.05 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm E} = 0)$	V(BR)CBO	32 min	v
$(I_c = -0.3 \text{ mA}, I_B = 0)$ Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage	V(BR)CEX	—32 min	v
(IE = 0.05 mA, Ic = 0) Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Date	V(BR)EBO	—12 min	v
$(V_{CE} = -12 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = -2 \text{ V}, \text{ f} = 1 \text{ kHz})$	hre	40 to 120	
Junction-to-Ambient	θJ-A	353 max	°C/W
sunction-to-case	0 -1 0	150 max	°C/W

0.1W

2N647



Ge n-p-n alloy-junction type used in large-signal afamplifier applications in battery-operated portable radio receivers and phonograhs. N-P-N construction permits complementary push-pull operation with a matching p-n-p type, such as the 2N217. JEDEC TO-1, Outline No.1.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	¥7 -		
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage	V CBO	25	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VCEO	25	v
Collector Current	VEBO	12	v
Emitter Current	1c	100	mA
Transistor Dissipation:	1 E	-100	mA
T_A up to 25°C T_A above 25°C	Рт	100	mW
Temperature Range:	Рт	See curve pag	e 300
Operating (Ambient) Storage	TA(opr)	-65 to 71	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 c more)	ISTG	-65 to 85	°C
in s max)	TL	255	ംറ

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 0.05 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm E} = 0)$	V(BR)CBO	25 min	v
(VER = 5 V, Ic = 0.014 mA) Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage	V(BR)CEV	25 min	v
$(I_E = 0.014 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$ Collector-Cutoff Current $(V_{CB} = 25 \text{ V}, I_E = 0)$ Emitter-Cutoff Current $(V_{EB} = 12 \text{ V}, I_C = 0)$ Static Forward-Current Transfer Betic $(V_{CB} = -1) \text{ V}$	V(RR) ERO Icro Iero	12 min 14 max 14 max	ν μΑ μΑ
Ic = 50 mÅ) Gain Bandwidth Product ($VcE = 6 \text{ V}$, $Ic = 2 \text{ mA}$) Intrinsic Base-Spreading Resistance ($VcE = 6 \text{ V}$)	hfe ft	50 to 150 2	MHz
lc = 2 mA)	rbb'	350 max	0

TYPICAL OPERATION IN CLASS B COMPLEMENTARY-SYMMETRY CIRCUIT

DC Collector-Supply Voltage	37	-	
DC Collector-to-Emitter Voltage for driver store	V CC	6	v
Zero-Signal DC Base-to-Emitter Voltage for output	VCE	2.3	v
stage	Vax	0.14	
Peak Collector Current for each transistor in output	• 55	0.14	v
Zero-Signal DC Collector Current for each translater	ic(peak)	70	mA
(driver and output stage)			
Signal Francisco (Ic	1.5	mA
Signal Prequency		1	LU-
input Resistance	Rs	1100	~
Load Resistance	B .	1100	
Power Gain	AVL .	45	Ω
Total Harmonic Distortion		54	dB
Power Output (inside an an anti-		10	%
Cover Calpat (input = 20 mV)	Poe	100	mŴ

2N649

0.1W

Ge n-p-n alloy-junction type used in large-signal afamplifier applications in battery-operated portable radio receivers and phonographs. N-P-N construction permits complementary push-pull operation with a matching p-n-p type, such as the 2N408. JEDEC TO-1, Outline No.1.

MAXIMUM RATINGS			37
Collector-to-Base Voltage	Усво	20	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage	VCEO	10	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	V EBO	100	mÅ
Collector Current		_100	mA
Emitter Current	16		
Transistor Dissipation:	Pm	100	mW
T_A up to $25^{\circ}C$	Pr	See curve r	age 300
T _A above 25°C	* *	Dec curre p	
Temperature Range:	T ₄ (opr)	-65 to 71	. °C
Operating (Amblent)	TSTG	-65 to 85	°C
Storage	TL	255	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 5 mars) and			
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage		00 m in	57
$(I_{\rm C} = 0.05 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm E} = 0)$	V (BR)CBO	20 mm	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage	¥7	18 min	v
$(V_{EB} = 2 V, I_C = 0.05 mA)$	A (BR) CEA	10 11111	•
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage	Var	2.5 min	v
$(I_E = 0.014 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	Leno	14 max	шÀ
Collector-Cutoff Current (VCB = 12 V, $1E = 0$)	IFRO	14 max	μA
Emitter-Cuton Current (VEB $\equiv 2.5$ V, 10 \equiv 0)	1000		
Static Forward-Current Transfer Made (VCE = 1 V)	hre	50 to 150	
$1c \equiv 50 \text{ mA}$	fr	2	MHz
Intrincia Base-Spreading Resistance			
$(V_{ex} - 6 V, I_e = 2 mA)$	rbb	350 max	Ω
	MV2.SVM	AFTRY CIRC	UIT
TYPICAL OPERATION IN CLASS & COMPLEMENT	AIC I-OTIMI	6	v
DC Collector Supply Voltage	VCC	2.3	ý
DC Collector-to-Emitter Voltage for driver stage	VCE	5.0	
Zero-Signal DC Base-to-Emitter voltage for output	Vnr	0.14	v
stage	V DIS		
Peak Collector Current for each transistor in output	ic (peak)	70	mA
stage			
(driven and output stage)	Ic	1.5	mA
Signal Frequency		1	kHz
Input Resistance	$\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{S}}$	1100	្ពុ
Load Resistance	$\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{L}}$	45	<u>.</u>
Power Gain		54	dB
Total Harmonic Distortion (Pee = 100 mW)	_	10 max	%
Power Output (input = 20 mV)	POR	100	mw

2N2614

0.12W

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction type used in small-signal and low-power audio frequency applications. JEDEC TO-1, Outline No.1.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCBO	-40	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage ($R_{BE} = 10 \ k\Omega$)	VCER		v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	-23	
Collector Current	ic		mA
Emitter Current	IE	50	mA
Transistor Dissipation:	-	100	
T _A up to 55°C	Рт	120	III W
Te up to 55°C	Рт	300	III W
TA or Tc above 55°C	Рт	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:	<u> </u>		
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 100	-0
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 100	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL.	255	°C




CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$(Ic = -0.05 \text{ mA}, V_{BE} = 2 \text{ V})$	V(BR)CBV	$-40 \mathrm{mln}$	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage			
$(Ic = -1 \text{ mA}, R_{BE} = 10 \text{ k}\Omega)$	V(BR)CER	—35 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$(I_E = -0.05 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	V(BR)EBO	—25 min	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = -20$ V, $I_E = 0$)	Ісво	$-5 \max$	μÁ
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = -20$ V, $I_C = 0$)	IEBO	-7.5 max	μA
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			•
$(V_{CE} = -6 V, I_C = -1 mA, f = 1 kHz)$	hre	100 to 250	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer-Ratio Cutoff			
Frequency (Vcr = -6 V, Ic = -1 mA)	fhfe	4 min	MHz
Collector-to-Base Feedback Capacitance			
$(V_{CE} = -6 V, I_C = -1 mA)^{-1}$	Cb'e	12 max	pF
Intrinsic Base-Spreading Resistance			•
$(V_{CE} = -6 V, I_C = -1 mA, f = 20 MHz)$	гъб'	300	Ω



0.12W

2N2953

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction type used in af-driver amplifier applications in consumer and industrial equipment. JEDEC TO-1, Outline No.1.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCBO	-30	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage ($R_{BE} = 10 \ k\Omega$)	VCER	-25	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	25	ý
Collector Current	Ic	-0.15	Å
Emitter Current	Īĸ	0.15	Ä
Transistor Dissipation:			
T _A up to 55°C	Pr	120	mW
Tc up to 55°C (in an infinite heat sink)	Pr	300	mW
To up to 55°C (with practical heat sink.			
$\Theta = 50^{\circ}C/W$	Pr	225	mW
TA or Tc (with practical heat sink) above 55°C	Pr	See curve pa	ge 300
Temperature Range:		bee builte pu	BC 000
Operating (Junction)	T ₁ (opr)	-65 to 100	*C
Storage	Tata	-65 to 100	°Č
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL.	255	۰Č

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = -0.05 A.			
$V_{EB} \equiv -2 V$)	VGROCEV	-30 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage ($I_{\rm C} = -1 \text{ mA}$)			•
$R_{BE} = 10 \ k\Omega$)	V(BR)CER	-25 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = -0.05$ mA,			
$I_{\rm C}=0$)	V(BR)EBO		v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = -20$ V, $I_E = 0$)	Ісво	-5 max	щÅ
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = -20$ V, $I_C = 0$)	IEBO	-7.5 max	μA
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = -10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = -10 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 1 \text{ kHz})$	hre	200 min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer-Ratio Cutoff			
Frequency ($V_{CE} = -12$ V, $I_{C} = -1$ mA)	futu	10	MHz
Intrinsic Base-Spreading Resistance			
$(V_{CE} = -10 \text{ V}, I_{C} = -10 \text{ mA}, f = 20 \text{ MHz})$	The	300	Ω
Collector-to-Base Feedback Capacitance			
$(V_{CE} = -12 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = -1 \text{ mA})$	Ch'e	6.5	pF



0.12W

40329

Ge p-n-p alloy type for low-level, intermediate-level, and class A driver stages in consumer and industrial afamplifier equipment such as preamplifiers, tone-control stages, and phonograph amplifiers using crystal pickups. JEDEC TO-1, Outline No.1.

287

MAXIMUM RATINGS

outle de Dese Maliado	Veno	25	v
Collector-to-base voltage ($R_{\rm HE} \leq 4700$ O)	VCER	25	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage (Has = 4100 H) minute	VEBO	-2.5	v
Emilter-to-base voltage	Ic	100	mA
Collector Current	ĪĒ	100	mA
Emitter Current	In	-20	mA
Base Current			
Transistor Dissipation.	Рт	375	m₩
TA UP to 55°C (With proctical heat sink)			
TA UP to 55 C (with practical ficat shint,	Рт	265	mW
$(f) \equiv 50 \text{ C/W}$	PT	125	mW
The up to 55 C (without heat sink above 55°C	Pr	See curve	page 300
TA WITH and WITHOUT HEAT SHIK ABOVE 55 C MANAA			
Temperature Range.	$T_1(opr)$	-65 to 100	°C
Operating (Junction)	Tsrc	-65 to 100	°C
Storage	T _L	255	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10's max)			
-25° C	۱		
CHARACIERISTICS (At case temperature = 23 0	2		
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			**
$(I_{\rm C}0.05 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm E} = 0)$	V (B R) ('BO	-25 min	v

$(10 \Rightarrow -0.00 \text{ min}, 10 = 0)$			
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage	V	_25 min	v
$(R_{BE} = 4700 \ \Omega, I_{C} = -1 \ mA)$	V(BR)(ER	-20	•
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage	Vana	-2.5 min	v
$(I_{\rm E} = -0.05 {\rm mA})$	Luno	-14 max	щA
Collector-Cutoff Current (VCB = -12 V, $1E \equiv 0$)	Leno	-14 max	шA
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VEB = -2 V, $10 = 0$)	LENO		
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio	hun	50 to 200	
$(V_{CE} = -1 V, I_{C} = -25 mA)$	115.85	30 10 200	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:	he.	75 to 300	
$V_{CE} = -10$ V, $I_{C} = -10$ mA, $f = 1$ KHz	ba	50 to 200	
$V_{CE} \equiv -V, I_C \equiv -I \text{ mA}, I \equiv I \text{ KHZ}$	1116		
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio Cutoff	free	1.5	MHz
Frequency (V _{CB} = -6 V, $1c = 1$ mA)	Caba	35	pF
Output Capacitance (VCB = -6 V, I = I KHZ)	Cono	00	P -
Small-Signal Input Impedance	his	400	Ω
$(V_{CE} = -10 V, 1c = -10 mA, 1 = 1 kHz)$	lite	100	t
Small-Signal Output Admittance	has	175	"mhos
$(V_{CE} = -10 \text{ V}, 1_{C} = -10 \text{ mA}, 1 = 1 \text{ km}2)$	1106	110	<i>µ</i>
Small-Signal Reverse Voltage-Transfer Ratio	hee	300 x 10-6	
$(V_{CE} = -10 \text{ V}, 1c = -10 \text{ mA}, 1 = 1 \text{ kHz})$	iire	500 A 10	
Equivalent RMS Noise Input Current		0.02 max	"А
$(V_{\rm CE} = -6 \text{ V}, 1_{\rm C} = -0.5 \text{ mA}, 1 = 20 \text{ Hz} \text{ to } 20 \text{ Hz})$		0.02 max	<i>µ</i>
Intrinsic Base-Spreading Resistance		100	0
$(V_{CE} = -6 V, I_C = -1 mA, I = 20 MHZ)$	1.00	100	**



TYPICAL TRANSFER CHARACTERISTIC



40359

0.12W

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction type used in af-amplifier applications in consumer product and industrial equipment. JEDEC TO-1, Outline No.1.



MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCRO	-20	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage (R _{BE} \leq 10000 Ω)	VCER	-18	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	-2.5	v
Collector Current	Ic	-50	mÅ
Emitter Current	IE	50	mA
Transistor Dissipation:		•••	
T _A up to 55°C	Рт	120	mW
TA above 55°C	Pr	See curve	page 300
Temperature Range:			
Operating	T.	-65 to 100	°C
Storage	TSTO	-65 to 100	۰č
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Tu	255	۰č

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage ($R_{BE} = 10 \text{ k}\Omega$.			
Ic = -1 mA)	VIBROCER	-18 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (IE = -0.05 mA,			•
$Ir \equiv 0$	V(BR)EBO	2.5 min	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = -15 V$, $I_E = 0$)	Ісво	-12 max	иÅ
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 2.5 \text{ V}$, Ic = 0)	IEBO	-12 max	"A
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			<i>µ</i>
$(V_{CE} = -6 V, I_C = -1 mA, f = 1 kHz)$	hre	40 to 165	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer-Ratio Cutoff			
Frequency ($V_{CE} = -6 V$, $I_C = -1 mA$)	fueb	10	MHz
Intrinsic Base-Spreading Resistance (Ver $=$ -6 V.		-•	
Ic = -1 mA, f = 100 MHz	rhh'	200	0
		200	







0.12W

40395

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction type used in high-gain low-level audio stages. JEDEC TO-1, Outline No.1.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vebo	-20	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage (RBE $\leq 4.7 \text{ k}\Omega$)	VCER	18	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	-20	v
Collector Current	Ic	50	mA
Transistor Dissipation:			
T _A up to 55°C	Рт	120	mW
T _A above 55°C	Рт	See curve	page 300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 100	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 100	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T_L	255	°C

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage (Ic = -1 mA, Is = 0, Res = 10 kΩ)	V(BR)CER	-18 min	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = -20$ V, $I_E = 0$)	Ісво	—12 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 20$ V, Ic = 0)	IEBO	—12 max	μA
Noise Current ($V_{CE} = -6$ V, $I_C = -1$ mA,			
f = 0.05 to 15 kHz)		10 max	nA
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio	_		
$(V_{CE} = -6 V, I_C = -1 mA)$	hre	170 min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer-Ratio Cutoff			
Frequency ($V_{CR} = -6 V$, $I_C = -1 mA$)	fhfb	10	MHz



2N405

0.15W

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction type used in low-power class A af-amplifier applications in battery-operated portable radio-receivers. JEDEC TO-40, Outline No.16.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage Collector Current	Vсво Іс	20 35	M mA
Emitter Current	IE	35	mA
Transistor Dissipation: $T_A = 25^{\circ}C$	Рт	150	mW
Temperature Range: Operating (Ambient)	T _A (opr)	-65 to 71	•C
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-Cutoff Current	Ісво	-14 max	μA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio (VCE = -6 V, I _E = 1 mA)	hre	35 min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer-Ratio Cuton Frequency ($V_{CB} = -6 V$, $I_C = -1 mA$)	fhfb	650	kHz
Output Capacitance	Сово	40	and
Power Gain	Gpe	10	<u>u</u> 2

2N406

0.15W

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction type used in low-power class A af-amplifier applications in battery-operated portable radio receivers. JEDEC TO-1, Outline No.1. This type is electrically identical with type 2N405.







Ge p-n-p alloy-junction type used in class A amplifiers and class B push-pull output stages of battery-operated radio receivers and af amplifiers. JEDEC TO-40, Outline No.16.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво Іс	20	M MA
Emitter Current	Īr	70	mA
Transistor Dissipation: $T_A = 25^{\circ}C$	Рт	150	mW
Operating (Ambient)	T₄(opr)	65 to 71	•C
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = -12$ V, $I_E = 0$) Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = -2.5$ V, $I_C = 0$)	ICBO IEBO	-14 max -14 max	μΑ μΑ
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio ($V_{CE} = -1 V$, Ic = $-50 mA$)	hrm	65	
Power Gain ($f = 0.001$ MHz)	Gp.	33	dB
Total Harmonic Distortion			~
$(P_{0e} = 0.16 \text{ W})$	THD	10 max	%

0.15W



0.15W

2N408

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction type used in class A amplifiers and class B push-pull output stages of battery-operated radio receivers and af amplifiers. JEDEC TO-1, Outline No.1. This type is electrically identical with type 2N407.



0.165W

2N109

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction type used in low-power, smallsignal and large-signal audio applications in consumerproduct equipment. JEDEC TO-40, Outline No.16.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCBO	35	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage	VCEO	25	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	Vebo	12	v
Collector Current	Ic	-150	mA
Transistor Dissipation:			
$T_{4} = 25^{\circ}C$	Pr	165	mW
$T_{\rm A}$ above 25°C	Pr	See curve i	age 300
Temperature Range:	- ·	occ curve j	age out
Operating (Junction)	T ₁ (opr)	_65 to 71	•C
Storogo	Tamo	-65 to 85	٠č
Storage	1 STO T.	-03 10 00	
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	IL	200	C
CHARACTERISTICS			
on And Tenton too			
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = $-50 \mu A$,			
$I_{R} = 0$	V(BR)(BO	—35 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage (Ic = -1 mA.			
$I_{\rm R} = 0$	V(BR)CEO	— 25 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage $(I_F = -7 \mu A)$			
$I_{ii} = 0$	V(BR)EBO	-12 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (In50 mA			
$L_{\rm m} = 5 \mathrm{mA}$	Ver (sat)	-015 max	v
$P_{\text{Base to Emitter Voltage }}(V_{\text{cu}} - 1) V_{\text{Lu}} - 50 \text{ mA})$	Var	0 2 to 0.4	ý
Dase-to-Emitter voltage (v($E = -1$ v, $I = -0$ mA)	Iano	_14 may	"Å
Confector-Cuton Current (Vrs $=$ -30 V, 15 $=$ 0)	Impo	-7 max	
Emitter-Cuton Current (VER = -12 V, $10 = 0$)	TEBO	-1 max	μ
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio (VCE = -1 V,	h	75 min	
1c = -50 mA	LIFE	13 11111	40
Power Gain (f = 0.001 MHz)	Cape	33	dD

2N407

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Total Harmonic Distortion▲			
$(P_{oe} = 0.16 \text{ W})$	THD	10 max	%
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = -6 V, I_E = -1 mA, f = 1 kHz)$	hre	50 to 150	
Small-Signal Input Impedance ($V_{CE} = -6 V$,			
$I_E = -1 mA, f = 1 kHz$)	hie	1000 to 4000	Ω
Output Capacitance (VcB = -6 V, Ic = -1 mA,	~	00 4 - 00	- 13
f = 0.5 MHz)	Coho	20 to 60	pr
▲ This characteristic does not apply to type 2N217.			
•••••			

0.165W

- This characteristic does not apply to type and

2N217

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction type used in low-power, smallsignal and large-signal audio applications in consumerproduct equipment. JEDEC TO-1, Outline No.1. This type is electrically identical with type 2N109 except for the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-Cutoff Current	
$(V_{CB} = -30 V, I_E = 0)$	Ісво
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio	
$(V_{CE} = -1 V, I_C = -50 mA)$	hrø



—7 65 to 120 μA

3



(2) B

n-p-n

 (\mathbf{I})

E

p-n-p

40396

0.3W (Matched Pair)

Ge p-n-p and Ge n-p-n types, in separate packages, with matched characteristics for use in complementary symmetry af output-amplifier stages. JEDEC TO-1, Outline No.1.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage Collector-to-Emitter Voltage ($R_{BE} \leq 4.7 \ k\Omega$) Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VCBO VCER VEBO	-18 -18 -2.5 n-n-n	18 18 2.5	V V V
Collector Current	Ic	-500	500	mA
Transistor Dissipation: Tc up to 55°C	Рт Рт	300 See	300 curve	mW page 300
Temperature Range: Operating (Junction) Storage	Tı (opr) Tsta T _L	—65 —65 255	to 85 to 85 255	ດ. ດີດີ

Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage:				
$I_{C} = -1 \text{ mA}, R_{BE} = 4.7 \text{ k}\Omega$	V(BR)CER	—18 min		v.
$I_{\rm C} = 1 \text{mA}, R_{\rm BE} = 4.7 \text{k}\Omega$	V(BR)CER		18 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage:				37
$I_{C} = -250 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = -25 \text{ mA}$	VcE(sat)	$-0.5 \max$	0.5	v v
$I_{C} = 250 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = 25 \text{ mA}$	Vce(sat)		0.5 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:	_			
$V_{\rm CB} = -12 V, I_{\rm E} = 0$	ICBO	—14 max		μA
$V_{CB} = 12 V, I_E = 0$	Ісво		14 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current:	_			
$V_{EB} = -2.5 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 0$	IEBO	—14 max		$\mu \mathbf{A}$
$V_{EB} = 2.5 V, I_{C} = 0$	Іево		14 max	μA

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:				
$V_{CE} = -1$ V, Ic = -50 mA	hre	50 min	50 min	
$V_{CE} = 1 V, I_{C} = 50 mA$	hre	00 11111	50 11111	
$V_{CE} = -1$ V, Ic = -250 mA	hre	30 min		
$V_{CE} = 1 V, I_C = 250 mA$	hre	•• ••	30 min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer-Ratio			00	
Cutoff Frequency:				
$V_{CE} = -6 V$, $I_C = -1 mA$	fats	1.5		MHz
$V_{CE} = 6 V, I_C = 1 mA$	fhfb	1.0	2	MH7
			-	





0.5W

2N3241A

Si n-p-n epitaxial planar type used in high-voltage, high-current audio and video amplifier and switching service in commercial, industrial, and computer equipment. JEDEC TO-104, Outline No.32.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	30 V
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:	50 ¥
$V_{BE} = -1 V$	25 V
Base open	25 V
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	75 V
Collector Current	Limited by dissination
Transistor Dissipation:	Emilied by dissipation
Tc up to 75°C Pr	2 W
Tc above 75°C	See curve nage 300
T_A up to 25°C P_T	
T _A above 25°C	See curve page 300
Temperature Range:	Dec cuive page 500
Operating (Junction)	-) -65 to 175 °C
Storage	-65 to 175 °C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	265 °C
	203 C

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_c = 0.05 \text{ mA}$,			
IE = 0	V(BR)CBO	30 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage:		÷	•
$I_{\rm C} = 10 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 0$	V(RR)CRO	25 min	v
$V_{BE} = -1 V, I_{C} = 0.01 mA$	VIERICEV	25 min	Ť
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (IE = 0.05 mA	* (BR/CE)	25 11111	v
Ic = 0)	Vanso	7 5 min	37
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage	* (BR)EBO	7. J IIIII	•
$(I_{\rm C} = 200 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 10 \text{ mA})$	Von (not)	0.22 +	37
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic - 200 m A	VCE(Sat)	0.22 typ; 0.25 max	v
$I_B = 10 \text{ mA}$	X7- (4)	0.00 +	
2b = 10 meV,	VBE(SAL)	0.88 LVD: 1.25 max	v

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Collector-Cutoff Current:	Icro	100 max	nA
$V_{CB} = 25 V, I_E = 0$	Ісво	10 max	μA
$V_{CB} = 25 V, IE = 0, IA = 150 C$	IEBO	100 max	'nA
Emitter-Cuton Current (VBE $= 2.3$ V, $10 = 0$)			
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio (VCE = 10 V)	hrs	100 to 200	
$1_{\rm C} \equiv 10$ mA)			
Small-Signal Forward-Current Hansler Hause $(V_{res} - 12) V_{res} = 10 \text{ mA} \text{ f} = 1 \text{ kHz}$	hre	100 to 250	
$V_{CE} = 12$ V, $T_{C} = 10$ mm, $T = 1$ mm, T_{CU} mathematical mathematical strain T_{CU}			
Ratio (Van $-$ 12 V Ic $-$ 1 mA, f = 100 MHz)	hre	0.5 min; 1 typ	
Gain-Bandwidth Product (VCE = 10 V, Ic = 10 mA,			
f = 50 MHz	fr	175	MHZ
Collector-to-Base Feedback Capacitance*			
$(V_{CR} - 6 V, I_E = 0, f = 1 MHz)$	Ссь	20 max	pr.
Intrinsic Base-Spreading Resistance ($V_{CE} = 6 V$,		90	0
$I_{c} = 1 \text{ mA}, f = 100 \text{ MHz}$	Гьь'	20	24
Noise Figure:			
$V_{CE} = 6 V, I_C = 0.1 mA, f = 10 kHz,$	NE	25	dB
$R_0 = 1000 \Omega$, circuit bandwidth = 1 Hz	10 1	2.5	ub
$V_{CE} = 6 V, I_C = 0.5 mA, f = 1 kHz,$	NE	8 typ. 10 max	dB
$R_G = 1000 \Omega$, circuit bandwidth = 1 Hz	TAL	a typ, io max	42
Small-Signal Input Impedance ($Vcz = 12 V$,	his	200 to 1000	Ω
$I_{c} = 10 \text{ mA}, f = 1 \text{ kHz}$	1110	200 10 1000	
Small-Signal Output Admittance ($VCE = 12 V$,	hee	30 to 350	μmhos
$I_{\rm C} = 10$ mA, $f = 1$ KHZ)	Q1-C	50 max	C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	0J-A	300 max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Amblent	- 5 11		

* Emitter terminal guarded.

TYPICAL COLLECTOR CHARACTERISTICS



TYPICAL TRANSFER CHARACTERISTIC



Ver

2N3242A

0.5W

Si n-p-n epitaxial planar type used in high-voltage, high-current audio and video amplifier and switching service in commercial, industrial, and computer equipment. JEDEC TO-104, Outline No.32. For collectorcharacteristics and transfer-characteristics curves, refer to type 2N3241A.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector to Base Voltage
Confector-to-Dase totale
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage.
$\mathbf{V}_{\mathrm{BE}} \equiv -1 \mathbf{V}$
Base open
Emitter-to-Base Voltage
Collector Current
Transistor Dissipation:
Te up to 75°C
Tr above 75°C
T ₄ up to 25°C
T ₄ above 25°C
Temperature Range:
Operating (Junction)
Storage
Lend-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)



Veno	40	v
VCEV VCEO VEBO IC	40 40 8 Limited by dissipa	V V tion
Рт	2	W
Рт	See curve page	300
Рт	0.5	W
Рт	See curve page	300
T _J (opr)	-65 to 175	°C
T _{STG}	-65 to 175	°C
T _L	265	°C

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = 0.1 mA,			
$I_{\rm E}=0$)	V (BR)CBO	40 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage:	V	40 min	37
1C = 10 mA, 1R = 0	V (BR)CEO	40 min	v
$v_{BE} \equiv -1$ V, $IC \equiv 0.01$ IIIA	A (BROCE)	40 11111	•
$L_{1} = 0$	Vantero	8 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic - 300 mA	V (DR)EBO	0	•
$I_{\rm P} = 15 \text{ mA}$	Ver(sat)	0.24 typ: 0.3	max V
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage ($Ic = 300 \text{ mA}$.	* ((
$I_B = 15 \text{ mA}$	V _{BE} (sat)	0.93 typ; 1.5	max V
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CB} = 25 V, I_E = 0$	Ісво	10 max	nA
$V_{CB} = 25 V, I_E = 0, T_A = 150 °C$	Ісво	1 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{BE} = 2.5 \text{ V}$, Ic = 0)	IEBO	10 max	nA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio ($V_{CE} = 10$ V,			
$I_{c} = 10 \text{ mA}$)	hfe	125 to 300	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio		105 4 . 055	
$(V_{CE} = 12 V, I_C = 10 mA, f = 1 kHz)$	hfe	125 to 375	
Magnitude of Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer	15- 1		
Ratio ($V_{CE} = 6 V$, $I_C = 1 MA$, $I = 100 MHZ$)	fifei	0.5 mm; 1 typ	
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_C = 10$ mA,		175	MUZ
f = 50 MHz	It	113	WINZ
Collector-to-Base Feedback Capacitance	C .	20 max	nF
$(V_{CB} \equiv 6 V, 1E \equiv 0, I \equiv 1 MHZ)$	CCB	20 max	pr
Intrinsic Base-Spreading Resistance (V(E = 0 V)	*****	20	0
$1C \equiv 1 \text{ IIIA}, 1 \equiv 100 \text{ WIA2}$	100	20	
Noise Figure. $V_{cr} = 6 V I_c = 0.1 mA f = 10 kHz$			
VCR = 0 V, $IC = 0.1$ mA, $I = 10$ km2, $R_{a} = 1000$ O circuit bandwidth = 1 Hz	NF	2	dB
$N_{cm} = 6 V I_c = 0.5 m \Lambda f = 1 kHz$		-	
$B_{c} = 1000 \Omega$ circuit bandwidth = 1 Hz	NF	4 typ: 6 max	dB
Small-Signal Input Impedance (Vcn = 12 V.			
$I_c = 10 \text{ mA}, f = 1 \text{ kHz}$	hie	250 to 1500	Ω
Small-Signal Output Admittance ($V_{CE} = 12 V_{c}$			
$I_{c} = 10 \text{ mA}, f = 1 \text{ kHz}$	hee	30 to 350	μmhos
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θ1-C	50 max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	⊖J-A	300 max	°C/₩

* Emitter terminal guarded.



0.5W

2N4074

Si n-p-n epitaxial planar type used in high-voltage, high-current audio and video amplifier service in commercal and industrial equipment. JEDEC TO-104, Outline No.32.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:		40	
$V_{BE} = -1 V$	VCEV	40	
Base open	VCEO	40	
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	8	. Y
Collector Current	Ic	300	mĄ
Emitter Current	IB		mA
Transistor Dissipation:	_	-	
Tc up to 75°C	Рт	2	W
Tc above 75°C	Рт	See curve page	300
T ₄ up to 25°C	Рт	0.5	W
T ₄ above 25°C	Рт	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	Tı(opr)	-65 to 175	TC.
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 175	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T_L	255	ъС.

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Emi	tter Breakdown Voltage IB = 0)
Emitter-to-Base	Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = 0.05$ mA,
$I_{C} = 0$	$A_{1} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}$
Collector-to-Emi	tter Saturation voltage ($1c = 300 \text{ mA}$,
$I_B = 15 \text{ mA}$	
Base-to-Emitter	Saturation Voltage (Ic = 300 mA ,
$I_B = 15 mA$	***************************************

V(BR)CEO	40 min	v
V(BR)EBO	8 min	v
Vce(sat)	0.22 typ; 0.3 max	v
VBE(sat)	1 typ; 1.5 max	v

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CB} = 25 \text{ V}, \text{ I}_{E} = 0$	Ісво	10 max	nA
$V_{CR} = 25 V$, $I_E = 0$, $T_C = 85^{\circ}C$	Ісво	1 max	μA
$V_{CE} = 40$ V, $V_{RE} = 1$ V	ICEV	10 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VRE = -2.5 V, Ic = 0)	IEBO	10 max	'nA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{GE} = 6 V I_C = 0.5 mA$	hff	35 min; 75 typ	
$V_{CE} = 10$ V Ic $= 10$ mA	hre	75 to 300	
$V_{CR} = 1 V I_C = 100 mA$	hre	50 min; 140 typ	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} - 12 V I_C - 10 mA, f = 1 kHz)$	hre	75 min; 175 typ	
Coin-Bandwidth Product (Vcr = 6 V. Ic = 1 mA.			
f = 100 MHz	fr	50 min; 80 typ	MHz
Intrinsic Base-Spreading Resistance (VCE $= 6$ V.		- , •••	
$I_0 = 1 \text{ mA} \text{ f} = 100 \text{ MHz}$	rbb'	20 typ: 40 max	Ω
Output Capacitance (V($R = 6$ V, I $R = 0$, $f = 1$ MHz)	Cobo	12 typ: 20 max	pF
Small-Signal Input Impedance (Vor -12 V			-
$I_0 = 10 \text{ mA} \text{ f} = 1 \text{ kHz}$	hie	600	Ω
Small-Signal Output Admittance (Vcc - 12 V			
$I_a = 10 \text{ mA} f = 1 \text{ kHz}$	hee	75	μmhos
Small Signal Boyarca-Voltage Transfer Batio			•
$(V_{m} - 12) V I_{a} - 10 m A f - 1 kH_{2})$	hre	125 x 10-6	
V(E = 12 V, 10 = 10 mA, 1 = 1 Km2)	A1-0	50 max	°C/W
Thermal Basistance, Junction to Ambient	A	300 max	°C/W
renermal resistance annenonenceAnnuent	V/4-A	000 11167	U / ••





2N4390

0.5W

Si n-p-n type used for direct "on-off" control of highvoltage, low-power devices such as numerical display tubes and relays, and for other control applications in industrial equipment. JEDEC TO-104, Outline No.32.

 $(I_{C} = 1 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = 0)$



MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector-to-Emitter Voltage	VCBO VEBO VCEO	120 6 120 Limited by dissi	V V V
Collector Current Transistor Dissipation: T _A up to 25°C	IС Рт Рт	500 See curve pa	mW ge 300
Temperature Range: Operating (T _A) and Storage (T _{STG}) Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	$\mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{L}}$	-65 to 175 265	•C •C
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage $(I_C = 0.1 \text{ mA}, I_E = 0)$	V(BR)CBO	120 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage $(I_0 - 1, m_A, I_B - 0)$	V(BR)CEO	120 min	v

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$(I_E = 0.1 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	V(BR)EBO	6 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage:	(011)200	•	•
$Ic = 20 \text{ mA}, I_B = 2 \text{ mA}$	Vce(sat)	0.3 max	v
Ic = 2 mA, IB = 0.2 mA	Vce(sat)	0.2 max	ý
Base-to-Emitter_Voltage:			
$Ic = 20 \text{ mA}, I_B = 2 \text{ mA}$	VBE	0.85 max	v
$I_{C} = 2 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = 0.2 \text{ mA}$	VBE	0.75 max	Ý
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CE} = 70$ V, $V_{EB} = 1$ V)	ICEV	1 max	μA
Base-Cutoff Current ($V_{CE} = 70$ V, $V_{EB} = 1$ V)	IBEV	1 max	μA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{CE} = 1 V, 1c = 2 mA$	hff	20 min	
$V_{CE} = 1 V, 1c = 20 mA$	hrs	20 min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, 1c = 20 \text{ mA}, f = 4 \text{ MHz})$	hre	12.5 min	
Feedback Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 10 \text{ V}, I_E = 0, f = 1 \text{ MHz}$)	Ссь	6 max	pF
Input Capacitance ($V_{EB} = 0.5 V$, $I_E = 0$, $f = 1 MHz$)	Cibo	40 max	pF
Delay Time ($V_{CC} = 3.4 \text{ V}, V_{BE}(\text{off}) = 1.5 \text{ V},$			
$I_{R1} \equiv 2 \text{ mA}, I_{CS} \equiv 20 \text{ mA})$	ta	150 max	ns
Rise Time ($V_{CC} = 3.4 \text{ V}, V_{BE}(\text{off}) = 1.5 \text{ V},$			
$1B_1 = 2 \text{ mA}, 1(s = 20 \text{ mA})$	tr	500 max	ns
Storage line ($v_{CC} = 3.4 v$, $I_{B1} = 2 mA$, $I_{CS} = 20 mA$,			
$1B_2 = -2 \text{ IIIA}$	ts	800 max	ns
fair fair fair (vcc = 3.4 v, fai = 2 mA, fcs = 20 mA, for the second s			
183 = -2 mA	L.	500 max	ns





TYPICAL COLLECTOR CHARACTERISTICS



0.5W

2N5183

Si n-p-n double-diffused epitaxial planar type used for general-purpose applications in amplifier and computer equipment. JEDEC TO-104, Outline No.32.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Voltage Collector-to-Base Voltage Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VCEO VCBO VEBO	18 18 7	v v v
Collector Current	I t*	1	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
T _A up to 25°C	PT	0.5	w
TA above 25°C	Pr	Derate at 3.3	mW/°C
Te up to 75°C	Рт	2	Ŵ
Tc above 75°C	Pr	Derate at 20	mW/°C
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	—65 to 175	°C
Storage	TSTG	—65 to 175	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL	265	°C

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage	VORDEBO	18 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Votlage			
$(I_E = 0.05 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	VGRDEBO	7 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage	Vana (sus)	18 min	v
(1c = 10 mA, 1B = 0)	VIEG(SUS)	10	•
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation voltage $(I_C = 300 \text{ mA}, I_B = 15 \text{ mA})$	VCE(sat)	0.35 typ; 0.5 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 300 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 15 \text{ mA})$	VRE(sat)	0.05 typ; 1.5 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current (VCB = 12 V, IE = 0)	Ісво	500 max	nA
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VEB = 2.5 V. Ic = 0)	IEBO	500 max	nA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{CR} = 10 V I_C = 10 mA$	hfe	75 to 400	
$V_{cm} = 10 V, I_c = 150 mA$	hre	120	
$V_{cr} = 1 V I_c = 300 mA$	hre	40 min: 75 typ	
Magnitude of Small-Signal Forward-Current			
Transfer Batio (Ver - 12 V Je - 10 mA.			
$f = 1 \ F H_2$	[hre]	70 min: 175 typ	
Cmall Signal Input Impedance	1		
$(V_{m} - 12) V_{m} = 10 m A_{m} f - 1 kHz)$	hie	600	Ω
(VCE = 12 V, 1C = 10 mR, 1 = 1 R12)		+	
Small-Signal Output Admittance $(V = 12 V L = 10 mA f = 1 kHz)$	has	75	mmho
(VCE = 12 V, 1C = 10 mA, 1 = 1 M12)	*****		
Small-Signal Reverse-voltage Hansler Ratio $(1 - 1)$	h.	125×10^{-6}	
(VCE = 12 V, 1C = 10 mA, 1 = 1 M12)			
(Multice C Multice Capacitance Capacitance (Multice C Multice C Multice C Multice C Multice Capacitance Capacitanc	Cab	20 max	pF
$(VCB \equiv 0 V, IE \equiv 0, I \equiv I MII2)$	0.00		t.
Gain-Bandwidth Froduct	fre	125 min: 200 typ	MHz
$(V_{\rm E} \equiv 1 V, 1_{\rm C} \equiv 30 \text{ MHz}, 1 \equiv 30 \text{ MHz})$	**		-
Intrinsic Base-Spreading Resistance	T1.5	20	Ω
(VCE = 0 V, 1C = 1 IIIA, 1 = 100 MI12)	AL-0	50 max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	Al-A	300 max	°Č/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	()		orminal
* Three-terminal measurement: Lead No. 1	(emitter) co	nnected to guard	terminal.





2N5184

0.5W

Si n-p-n type used in video-output-amplifier applications in black-and-white television receivers, and control applications in industrial equipment. JEDEC TO-104, Outline No.32.



MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Voltage	Vero	190	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	120	v
Collector Current	Ic.	50	mÅ
Transistor Dissipation:	-0	30	IIIA
T _A up to 25°C	Рт	0.5	w
T _A above 25°C	Рт	See curve nag	7e 300
Temperature Range:		wee curve pag	50 000
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 175	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 175	٠č
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL	255	۰č
			•

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage			
$(I_{c} = 1 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = 0)$	V(BR)CEO	120 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$(I_E = -10 \ \mu A, I_C = 0)$	V(BR)EBO	5 min: 7 typ	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(Ic = 30 \text{ mA}, I_B = 1 \text{ mA})$	Vce (sat)	1 typ; 5 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = 120 V$, $I_E = 0$)	Ісво	100 max	nA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 50 \text{ mA})$	hfe 1	10 min; 55 max	
Collector-to-Base Feedback Capacitance			
$(V_{CE} = 10 V, I_C = 30 mA, f = 1 MHz)$	Ccb 2	8 typ; 3.5 max	pF
Gain-Bandwidth Product:			-
$V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 45 \text{ mA}$	fr S	30 min; 100 typ	MHz
$V_{CE} = 120 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 2 \text{ mA}$	fr 5	50 min; 100 typ	MHz
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	Өл-с	45 typ; 60 max	°C/W
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			•





0.5W

2N5185



Si n-p-n type used in video-output-amplifier applications in black-and-white television receivers, and control applications in industrial equipment. JEDEC TO-104 (with radiator), Outline No.33. This type is identical with type 2N5184 except for the following item:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Transistor Dissipation: TA up to 25°C

1



For many transistors, the maximum value of dissipation is specified for ambient, case, or mountingflange temperatures up to 25°C, and must be reduced linearly for temperatures. For such higher types, the chart above can be used to determine maximum permissible particular dissipation values at temperature conditions above 25°C. (This chart cannot be assumed to apply to types other than those for which it is specified in the data section.) The curves show the permissible percentage of the maximum dissipation ratings as я function of ambient or case tem-Individual curves are perature. operating plotted for maximum temperatures of 50, 55, 71, 80, 85, 100, 125, 150, 175, and 200°C. If the maximum operating temperature of a transistor is some other value, a new curve can be drawn from point A in the figure to the desired temperature value on the abscissa.

To use the chart, it is necessary to know the maximum dissipation rating and the maximum operating temperature for a given transistor. The calculation involves only two steps:

1. A vertical line is drawn at the desired operating temperature value on the abscissa to intersect the curve representing the maximum operating temperature for the transistor.

2. A horizontal line drawn from this intersection point to the ordinate establishes the permissible percentage of the maximum dissipation at the given temperature.

The following example illustrates the calculation of the maximum permissible dissipation for transistor type 2N1487 at a case temperature of 100°C. This type has a maximum dissipation rating of 75 watts at a case temperature of 25°C, and a maximum permissible case-temperature rating of 200°C.

1. A perpendicular line is drawn from the 100-degree point on the abscissa to the 200-degree curve.

2. Projection of this point to the ordinate shows a percentage of 57.5.

Therefore, the maximum permissible dissipation for the 2N1487 at a case temperature of 100°C is 0.575 times 75, or approximately 43 watts.



40231

Si n-p-n planar type used in low-to-intermediate-signallevel af amplifier circuits, such as preamplifiers, "voltage amplifiers", and driver stages in consumer and industrial equipment. JEDEC TO-104, Outline No.32.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Veno	10	
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage	Vano	10	
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	Veno	18	
Collector Current	VEBO	5	v
Emitter Current	16	100	mA
Base Current	16	-100	mA
Transistan Dissignation	IR	25	mA
Tansistor Dissipation:			
The up to 25°C	Рт	0.5	w
T _A above 25°C	Pr	See curve page	300
Te up to 125°C	Pr	1	317
Te above 125°C	Pro	See during ward	200
Temperature Range:	• •	bee curve page	300
Operating (Junction)	T. (CE 4 - 175	
Storage	Tr(opr)	-65 to 175	°C
Load Coldering Temperature (10	TSTG	-65 to 175	°C
Leau-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL	255	°C

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = 50 μ A,			
IE = 0	V (BR) CBO	18 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage ($I_{\rm C} = 10 \text{ mA}$)			•
$I_B = 0$	VIRBUCEO	18 min	37
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_{\rm E} = 50 \mu A$)	· (DR)(E()	10 11111	v
Ic = 0	Vannaka	Emin	37
Collector-Cutoff Current:	V (BR)EBO	Jinn	v
$V_{CR} = 12 V I_{R} = 0 T_{1} = 25^{\circ}C$	T	0.5	
$V_{\rm eff} = 12$ V $I_{\rm eff} = 0$ T $= 25\%$	10.100	0.5 max	μA
$VCB = 12$ V, $IE = 0$, $T_A = 85^{\circ}C$	ICBO	10 max	μA
Emitter-Culoff Current ($V_{EB} = 2.5 V$, $I_{C} = 0$)	IEBO	0.5 max	"A
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			<i>p~11</i>
$(I_{C} = 2 \text{ mA}, V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, f = 1 \text{ kHz})$	hee	55 to 190	
Gain-Bandwidth Product (Van - 6 W L 1 m A)	111e	33 10 180	
$\frac{1}{10000000000000000000000000000000000$	IT	60	MHz
intrinsic base-Spreading Resistance (VCE = 6 V,			
1c = 1 mA, f = 100 MHz)	Грв	20	0
Output Capacitance (VCB = 6 V, $IE = 0$,			
$f = 1 MH_2$	Chi		- F
Noise Figure ($\mathbf{R}_{2} = 1000 \text{ O}$ $\mathbf{V}_{22} = 6 \text{ V}$ $\mathbf{I}_{2} = 0.1 \text{ meA}$	Cono	22	pr
Noise Figure ($M_0 = 1000$ M, $V(E = 6 V, 1C = 0.1 \text{ mA})$			
effcult bandwidth = 1 Hz, I = 10 kHz	NF	2.8	dB
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case			
$(T_{J} = 175^{\circ}C)$	Q 1=C	50 max	°C /W
Thermal Resistance Junction to Ambient	0.1	JU IIIAX	C/ W
	0		
$(11 \equiv 175 \text{ C})$	() J-A	300 max	°C/W



0.5W

40232

Si n-p-n planar type used in low-to-intermediate-signallevel af amplifier circuits, such as preamplifiers, "voltage amplifiers", and driver stages in consumer and industrial equipment. JEDEC TO-104, Outline No.32. This type is identical with type 40231 except for the following item:

hre

40233

Si n-p-n planar type used in low-to-intermediate-signallevel af amplifier circuits, such as preamplifiers, "voltage amplifiers", and driver stages in consumer and industrial equipment. JEDEC TO-104, Outline No.32. This type is identical with type 40231 except for the

following items: CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-Cutoff Current (VcB = 12 V, IE = 0, $T_A = 25^{\circ}C$) Emitter-Cutoff Current (VEB = 2.5 V, Ic = 0) Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio (Ic = 2 mA, VcE = 10 V, f = 1 kHz)	ICBO IEBO hre	0.25 max 0.25 max 90 to 300	μΑ μΑ
Noise Figure: $R_{G} = 1000 \Omega$, $V_{CE} = 6 V$, $I_{C} = 0.1 mA$, circuit bandwidth = 1 Hz, $f = 10 \text{ kHz}$ $R_{G} = 1000 \Omega$, $V_{CE} = 6 V$, $I_{C} = 0.5 mA$, circuit bandwidth = 1 Hz, $f = 1 \text{ kHz}$	NF NF	2 6 max	dB dB

0.5W

40234

0.5W

Si n-p-n planar type used in low-to-intermediate-signallevel af amplifier circuits, such as preamplifiers, "voltage amplifiers", and driver stages in consumer and industrial equipment. JEDEC TO-104, Outline No.32. This type is identical with type 40231 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Transistor Dissipation: P_T T _A up to 55°C P_T T _A up to 125°C P_T T _c above 125°C P_T	0.4 W See curve page 300 1 W See curve page 300
---	--

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage $(I_{c} = 50 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = 5 \text{ mA})$	Ver (sat)	0.2	v
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio $(L_{\rm C} = 2 \text{ mA}, V_{\rm CE} = 10 \text{ V}, f = 1 \text{ kHz})$	hre	35 to 180	

40397

0.5W





Si n-p	-n epit	axial 1	planar	type	used	in	high-	vol	tage
high-c	arrent :	audio a	nd vid	eo am	plifie	r se	rvice	in	com
mercia	l and	indust	rial e	quipm	ent.	JEI	DEC	то	-104
Outlin	e No.32								

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:	77	95	v
Base open	VCEO	25	w w
$V_{BE} = -1 V$	VCEV	23	v.
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	7.5	Ý
Collector Current	Ic	200	mA
Emitter Current	IB	-200	mA
Base Current	1B	25	mA
Transistor Dissipation:	-	0 F	317
TA UD to 25°C	PT	0.5	w
To up to 75°C	Рт	2	W
T ₄ or T _C above 25°C	Рт	See curve	page 300
Temperature Range:	- / .	05.4 . 185	•
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 175	-0
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 175	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T_L	255	°C







CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25° C)

Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage ($I_c = 10 \text{ mA}$)			
$I_B = 0$)	V(BR)C	E0 25 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = 0$			
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic = 200 mA.	V(BR)E	BO 7.5 min	v
$I_B = 10 \text{ mA}$	VCE (SE	t) 0.15 typ; 0.25;	max V
$I_{\rm B} = 10 \text{ mA}$	/		•
Collector-Cutoff Current:	VBE (SE	it) 0.8 typ; 1.3 r	nax V
$V_{CB} = 25 V, I_E = 0$	Ісво	100 max	-
$V_{CB} = 25 V, I_E = 0, T_C = 85^{\circ}C$	Ісво	5 max	"A
$V_{CE} = 25 V, V_{BE} = -1 V$	ICEV	10 max	μA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:	IEBO	100 max	'nA
$V_{CE} = 6 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 0.5 \text{ mA}$	hee	20 min · 175 tum	
$V_{CE} = 10 V, I_C = 10 mA$	hrs	165 to 600	
$V_{CE} = 1$ V, Ic = 100 mA	hre	100 min; 245 typ	
$V_{CE} = 12$ V $I_C = 10$ mA $f = 1$ kHz)		100	
Gain-Bandwidth Product (Vcc = 6 V. $Ic = 1 mA$	n _{fe}	165 min; 375 typ	
f = 100 MHz	fт	50 min: 80 typ	MH7
Intrinsic Base-Spreading Resistance ($V_{CE} = 6 V$,		,, p	
10 = 1 mA, f = 100 MHz	гьь'	20 typ; 40 max	Ω
Small-Signal Input Impedance (VCr $= 12$ V	Cobo	12 typ; 20 max	pF
Ic = 10 mA, f = 1 kHz	h.	1200	0
Small-Signal Output Admittance ($V_{CE} = 12 V$,		1000	••
1c = 10 mA, f = 1 kHz	hoe	120	µmhos
$(V_{CE} = 12 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 10 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 1 \text{ kHz})$	h	250 1/ 10-4	
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	01-C	50 max	°C /W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	OJ-A	300 max	°Č⁄w
			,



0.5W

Si n-p-n epitaxial planar type used in high-voltage, high-current audio and video amplifier service in commercial and industrial equipment. JEDEC TO-104, Outline No.32. This type is identical with type 40397 except for the following items:

40398

303

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:	hre	20 min; 75 typ	
$V_{CE} = 10 V, I_C = 10 mA$	hre	75 to 300	
$V_{CE} = 1 V, I_C = 100 mA$	IIFE	50 mm, 140 (9 p	
$(V_{CE} = 12 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 10 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 1 \text{ kHz})$	hre	75 min; 200 typ ·	
Small-Signal Input Impedance (VCE = 12 v , $L_{c} = 10 \text{ mA}$, $f = 1 \text{ kHz}$)	hie	600	Ω
Small-Signal Output Admittance ($V_{CE} = 12 V$,	h.,	75	umhos
$I_{\rm C} = 10$ mA, $f = 1$ kHz) Small-Signal Reverse-Voltage Transfer Ratio	1100		<i>µ</i>
$(V_{CE} = 12 V, I_C = 10 mA, f = 1 kHz)$	hre	125×10^{-9}	





VCEO

VCEV

VEBO \mathbf{Ic}

ΙE

Iв

PT

PT PT

T_J(opr)

TSTG TL

40399

0.5W

Si n-p-n epitaxial planar type used in high-voltage, high-current audio and video amplifier service in commercial and industrial equipment. JEDEC TO-104, Outline No.32.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:
Base open
$V_{BE} = -1 V$
Emitter-to-Base Voltage
Collector Current
Emitter Current
Base Current
Transistor Dissipation:
T _A up to 25°C
Tc up to 75°C
TA or Tc above 25°C
Temperature Range:
Operating (Junction)
Storage
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

$G_{\rm eff}$ and $E_{\rm eff}$ it as Prophysical Voltage (Ic = 10 mA)
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage (10 = 10 million
$I_{B} = 0$
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($1E = 0.05$ mA,
$I_{\rm C} = 0$
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage ($Ic = 100$ mA,
$I_{B} = 5 \text{ mA}$
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic = 100 mA,
$I_{B} = 5 \text{ mA}$)
Collector-Cutoff Current:
$V_{CB} = 12 V. I_E = 0$
$V_{c2} = 12 V I_{2} = 0 T_{c} = 85^{\circ}C$
YUB _ 12 Y, 15 _ 0, 10 _ 00 0 mmmmmm

V(BR)CEO	18 min	v
V(BR)EBO	7 min	v
V _{CE} (sat)	0.1 typ; 0.2 max	v
VBE (sat)	0.75 typ; 1.3 max	v
Ісво Ісво	500 max 10 max	nA μA



0-17	<u>√</u> -3
E X	` \

18

18

200

200

25

0.5

See curve page

-65 to 175

-65 to 175 255

2

V V mA

mA

mA

w

Ŵ

300

°C 2°: 0°

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{BE} = -2.5$ V, Ic = 0) Static Forward-Current Transfer Batio:	IEBO	500 max	nA
$V_{CE} = 6 V$, $I_C = 0.5 mA$	hre	175	
$V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 10 \text{ mA}$	hre	165 to 600	
$V_{CE} = 1 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 100 \text{ mA}$	hre	100 min: 245 typ	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 12 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 10 \text{ mA}, f = 1 \text{ kHz})$	hre	165 min: 375 typ	
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 6V$,		100 mm, 010 typ	
Ic = 1 mA, f = 100 MHz)	fr	50 typ: 80 max	MHz
Intrinsic Base-Spreading Resistance (VCE $= 6$ V.			
$I_{\rm C} = 1 \text{mA}, f = 100 \text{MHz}$	Thb'	20 typ: 40 max	0
Output Capacitance (VCB = 6 V, IE = 0, f = 1 MHz)	Caba	12 typ: 20 may	nF
Small-Signal Input Impedance ($V_{CE} = 12$ V.	0000	it typ, to max	pr
Ic = 10 mA, f = 1 kHz	hie	1200	0
Small-Signal Output Admittance ($V_{CE} = 12 V$)		1200	**
$I_{c} = 10 \text{ mA}, f = 1 \text{ kHz}$	han	120	umbos
Small-Signal Reverse-Voltage Transfer Ratio	1100	120	μπποs
$(V_{CE} = 12 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 10 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 1 \text{ kHz})$	hre	250 x 10-9	
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	AL-C	50 max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	AT-A	300 max	°Č/W
		000 1110 1	~/ VI





0.5W

40400



Si n-p-n epitaxial planar type used in high-voltage, high-current audio and video amplifier service in commercial and industrial equipment. JEDEC TO-104, Outline No.32. This type is identical with type 40399 except for the following items:



CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

~
- 11
nos
r

40458

0.5W

Si n-p-n double-diffused epitaxial planar type used in high-peak-current audio and video amplifier applications in commercial and industrial equipment and highcurrent switching and driver service in computer equipment. JEDEC TO-104, Outline No.32.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	V
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage	<u>v</u>
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	V1
Collector Current	Ic
Transistor Dissipation:	_
T _A up to 25°C	_ <u>P</u>
T _A above 25°C	- P
Tc up to 75°C	_ <u>P</u>
Tc above 75°C	P
Temperature Range:	
Operating (Junction)	T
Storage	T
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	т

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = 0.1 mA ,	
$I_{\rm E} = 0$)	••
$I_{c} = 0$	
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage ($1c = 100 \text{ m}$)	Э.
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic = 300 m	A
$I_B = 15 \text{ mA}$	•••
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage ($10 = 300 \text{ mA}$, Is = 15 mA)	



TYPICAL TRANSFER CHARACTERISTIC

V(BR)CBO

V(BR)EBO

Vce(sat)

VBE(sat)

V(BR)CEO (SUS)





60

ν

v

v

v

v

v

VCBO VCEO VEBO IC	40 8 1	V V A
PT	0.5	₩
PT Dera	te linearly 3.3	mW/°C
PT	2	₩
PT Dera	te linearly 20	mW/°C
Tı(opr)	65 to 175	0°
Tstg	65 to 175	0°
Tl	265	0°

60 min

8 min

40 min

0.24 typ; 0.3 max

0.93 typ; 1.5 max

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CB} = 25 V, I_{B} = 0$	Ісво	10 may	n A
$V_{CB} = 25 V, I_{E} = 0, T_{A} = 85^{\circ}C$	ICBO	1 max	
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VER $= 2.5$ V, Ic $= 0$)	1 mmo	10 max	
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:	1580	10 max	IIA
$V_{CB} = 10 V, I_{C} = 10 mA$	hrm	100 to 300	
$V_{CB} = 10 V. Ic = 150 mA$	hen	150	
$V_{CB} = 1 V. Ic = 300 mA$	hee	50 min · 75 two	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio	116 1	50 mm, 75 typ	
$V_{CE} = 12$ V, Ic = 10 mA, f = 1 kHz)	hre	75 min · 175 typ	
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 1 V$, $I_C = 50 mA$.		10 mm, 110 typ	
f = 50 MHz)	fr	150 min · 200 typ	MH7
Feedback Capacitance [*] ($V_{CB} = 6 V$, $I_E = 0$,		100 mm, 200 typ	101112
f = 1 MHz)	Cch	20 max	nF
Small-Signal Input Impedance ($V_{CB} = 12$ V.		no mun	P
$I_{c} = 10 \text{ mA}, f = 1 \text{ kHz}$	hie	600	0
Small-Signal Output Impedance ($V_{CE} = 12 V$.		000	
Ic = 10 mA, f = 1 kHz	hee	75	mmhos
Small-Signal Reverse-Voltage Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 12 V, I_C = 10 mA, f = 1 kHz)$	hre	125 ¥ 10-9	
Intrinsic Base-Spreading Resistance ($V_{CE} = 6 V_{c}$		120 / 10	
Ic = 1 mA, f = 100 MHz	Thb'	20	0
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	AL-C	50 may	°C AV
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	A	300 max	°C AV
	01-4	Jou max	C/ W

* Three-terminal measurement with lead No. 1 (emitter) guarded.

Radio-Frequency Types



0.08W

2N370

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction drift-field type used in rf-amplifier service in AM broadcast-band portable radio receivers and short-wave receivers. JEDEC TO-7, Outline No.9.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector Current Transistor Dissipation:	V сво Vево Ic	24 0.5 10	V V mA
$T_A = 25^{\circ}C$ Temperature Range:	Рт	80	mW
Operating (Ambient)	T₄(opr)	65 to 71	°C
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-Cutoff Current	Ісво	20 max	μA
Gain-Bandwidth Product Output Capacitance* Power Gain* (f = 1.5 MHz)	hfe ft Cobo Gpo	60 min 30 1.7 31	MHz pF dB



0.08W

2N372

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction drift-field type for use as an rf mixer in AM broadcast-band portable radio receivers and short-wave receivers. JEDEC TO-7, Outline No.9. This type is identical with type 2N370.

2N410

0.08W

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction type used in 455-kHz if-amplifier service in battery-operated portable radio receivers and automobile radio receivers. JEDEC TO-1, Outline No.1.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво Іс	13 15	M MA
Transistor Dissipation: $T_A = 25^{\circ}C$	Рт	80	mW
Temperature Range: Operating (Ambient)	T _A (opr)	-65 to 71	•C

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = $-10 \ \mu$ A, I _E = 0) Collector-Cutoff Current (Vc _B = $-13 \ V$, I _E = 0)	V (BR) CBO Icbo	—13 min —10 max	۷ µA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio $(V_{CE} = -9 V, I_C = -1 mA)$	hfe	48	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer-Ratio Cutoff Frequency	fhib	6.7	MHz
Output Capacitance Power Gain $(f = 0.455 \text{ MHz})$	Gpe	38.8	dB

0.08W

2N412

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction type used in converter and mixer-oscillator applications in battery-operated portable radio receivers. JEDEC TO-1, Outline No.1.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage Collector Current	Vсво Іс	13 15
Transistor Dissipation: $T_A = 25^{\circ}C$	Рт	80
Temperature Range: Operating (Ambient)	T₄(opr)	—65 to 71

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = $-10 \mu A$,	
$I_E = 0$	V (BR) CBO
Collector-Cutoff Current (VCB = -13 V, IE = 0)	ICBO
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio (VCE = -5 V,	her
$1_{\rm C} = -0.6$ mA)	
Frequency ($V_{CB} = -9$ V, $I_E = 0.6$ mA)	fhrb
Oscillator Injection Voltage (f = 1 MHz)	a .
Output Capacitance	Copo
Power Gain ($f = 1$ MHz)	Grpe

2N1177

0.08W

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction drift-field type used in radiofrequency amplifier applications in FM and AM/FMradio receivers. JEDEC TO-45, Outline No.18.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво Іс	30 10	m A
Transistor Dissipation: $T_A = 25^{\circ}C$	Рт	80	mW
Temperature Range: Operating (Ambient)	T _A (opr)	—65 to 71	۰C



MA mA mW °C

μÅ

MHz

m

pF

2

-13 min

75

10

100

9.5

-10 max

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($V_{BE} = 0.5 V$,			
$I_{\rm C} = -50 \ \mu {\rm A}$)	V(BR)CBO	-30 min	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = -12$ V, $I_E = 0$)	Ісво	-12 max	μÀ
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = -12 V, I_C = -1 mA, f = 1 kHz)$	hre	100 min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer-Ratio			
Cutoff Frequency	fhfh	140	MHz
Output Capacitance	Coho	2	nF
Power Gain $(f = 100 \text{ MHz})$	Gne	14	áĥ
	Cabo.	13	u D

0.08W



CHARACTERISTICS

Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio $(V_{CE} = -12 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = -1 \text{ mA}, f = 1 \text{ kHz})$ hre

0.08W

2N1179

40 min



Ge p-n-p alloy-junction drift-field type used in radiofrequency mixer applications in FM and AM/FM radio receivers. JEDEC TO-45, Outline No.18. This type is identical with type 2N1177 except for the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS

Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = -12 V, I_C = -1 mA, f = 1 kHz)$	hre	80 min	
Oscillator Injection Voltage (f = 100 MHz)		125 max	mV
Power Gain $(f = 100 \text{ MHz})$	Gpo	17	dB

0.08W



Ge p-n-p alloy-junction drift-field type used in intermediate-frequency amplifier applications in FM and AM/FM radio receivers. JEDEC TO-45, Outline No.18. This type is identical with type 2N1177 except for the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS

Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = -12 V, I_C = -1 mA, f = 1 kHz)$	hre	80 min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
Cutoff Frequency ($V_{CB} = -12$ V, $I_C = -1$ mA)	fhfb	100	MHz
Power Gain $(f - 10.7 \text{ MHz})$	Gne	35	dB



0.08W

2N1524

Ge p-n-p drift-field type used in 455-kHz if-amplifier service in battery-operated portable radio receivers and automobile radio receivers operating from either a 6-volt or a 12-volt supply. JEDEC TO-1, Outline No.1.

2N1178

2N1180

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage Emitter-to-Base Voltage	Vcbo Vebo	-24 -0.5	v
Collector Current		10 10	mA mA
Transistor Dissipation: $T_A = 25^{\circ}C$	Рт	80	mW
$ \begin{array}{rcl} T_{A} & = & 55^{\circ}C \\ T_{A} & = & 71^{\circ}C \end{array} \end{array} $	Ρτ Ρτ	50 35	mW mW
Temperature Range: Operating (Ambient) Storage	T _A (opr) TsTg	65 to 71 65 to 85	•C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL	255	°Ċ
CHARACTERISTICS			

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (VEB = -0.5 V,			
$Ic = -50 \ \mu A$)	V(BR)CBV	-24 min	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = -12$ V, $I_E = 0$)	Ісво	—16 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VEB = -0.5 V, Ic = 0)	IEBO	—16 max	μA
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = -12 \text{ V}, I_E = -1 \text{ mA}, f = 1 \text{ kHz})$	hre	60	
Collector-to-Base Feedback Capacitance			
$(V_{CE} = -8.5 \text{ V}, I_E = 1 \text{ mA})$	Ceb	2.1	pF
Maximum Ayailable Amplifier Gain▲			
$(V_{CE} = -8.5 \text{ V}, I_E = 1 \text{ mA}, f = 455 \text{ kHz})$	MAG*	52.4	dB
Maximum Usable Amplifier Gain, Unneutralized			
$(V_{CE} = -8.5 V, I_E = 1 mA, f = 455 kHz)$	MUG	30	dB
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	A-LA	0.4	°C/mW





This characteristic does not apply to type 2N1526.
 Measured in a single-tuned unilateralized circuit matched to the generator and load impedances for maximum transfer of power (transformer insertion losses not included).

2N1526

W80.0

Ge p-n-p drift-field type used in mixer and oscillator applications in battery-operated portable radio receivers and automobile radio receivers operating from either a 6-volt or a 12-volt supply. JEDEC TO-1, Outline No.1. This type is identical with type 2N1524 except for the following items:

Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio $(V_{CE} = -12 \text{ V}, I_E = 1 \text{ mA}, f = 1 \text{ kHz})$	hre	130	
Maximum Available Conversion Power Gain $(V_{CE} = -8 V, I_E = 0.65 mA, f = 1.5 MHz)$	MAGe	46.1	dB
Maximum Usable Conversion Power Gain $(V_{CE} = -8 \text{ V}, I_E = 0.65 \text{ mA}, f = 1.5 \text{ MHz})$	MUGe	34.5	dB
Base-to-Emitter Oscillator-Injection Voltage $(V_{CE} := -8 \text{ V}, I_E = 0.65 \text{ mA})$		100	nıV (rms)







Ge p-n-p drift-field type used in rf-amplifier applications in battery-operated AM radio receivers. JEDEC TO-40, Outline No.16.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage Collector Current	Vсво Іс	34 10	V mA
$T_A = 25^{\circ}C$ Temperature Range:	Рт	80	mW
Operating (Ambient)	TA (opr)	-65 to 71	°C

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = $-50 \mu A$.			
$I_E = 0$) Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = -12$ V, $I_E = 0$) Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio	V(вк)сво Ісво	—34 min —16 max	$\mathbf{V}_{\mu \mathbf{A}}$
$(V_{CE} = -12 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = -1 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 1 \text{ kHz})$ Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer-Batio Cutoff	hre	80 min	
Frequency ($V_{CB} = -12 V$, $I_E = 1 mA$) Output Capacitance	fufb Cobo	45 2	MHz
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	Gp₀ ⊖j-a	47.7 0.4 max	∂B °C/W



0.08W

2N1632

Ge p-n-p drift-field type used in rf-amplifier applications in battery-operated AM radio receivers. JEDEC TO-1, Outline No.1.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage Vcr Emitter-to-Base Voltage Vsr Collector Current Ic Emitter-to-Base Voltage Vsr Collector Current Ic Transistor Dissipation: Is TA = 25°C Pr TA = 55°C Pr Temperature Range: Operating (Ambient) Operating (Ambient) Ta($\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	V W MA MW MW MW C °C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	255	۰č

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
(Ic = -0.05 mA, IE = 0)	VORDERO	_34 min	37
Collector-Cutoff Current (V _{CB} = -12 V, I _E = 0)	Icno	16 max	
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VEB = -0.5 V, Ic = 0.05 mA)	IEBO	-10 max	μΑ
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio	A DB()	-10 max	μΑ
$(V_{CE} = -12V, I_E = 1 \text{ mA}, f = 1 \text{ kHz})$	hee	40 to 170	
Collector-to-Base Feedback Capacitance	1110	40 10 170	
$(V_{CE} = -8.5 \text{ V}, I_E = 1 \text{ mA})$	Cali	9.1	- F
Maximum Available Amplifier Gain*	Cen	2.1	րե
$(V_{CE} = -8.5 V, I_E = 1 mA, f = 1 kHz)$	MAG	44.2	dD
Maximum Usable Amplifier Gain, Unneutralized	MAG	44.0	uр
$(V_{CE} = -8.5 V, I_E = 1 mA, f = 1.5 kHz)$	MUC	95 E	-170
(1) = 0 = 0, 0 = 1	MOG	23.3	aв

* Measured in a single-tuned unilateralized circuit matched to the generator and load impedances for maximum transfer of power (transformer insertion losses not included).



0.08W

2N1637

Ge p-n-p drift-field type used in rf-amplifier applications in AM automobile radio receivers. JEDEC TO-1, Outline No.1.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво		v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	1.5	v
Collector Current	Ic	10	mA
Emitter Current	IE	10	$\mathbf{m}\mathbf{A}$
Transistor Dissipation:			
$T_{\rm A} = 25^{\circ} \rm C$	Рт	80	mW
$\hat{\mathbf{T}}_{\mathbf{A}} = 55^{\circ}\hat{\mathbf{C}}$	Рт	50	mW
$T_{A} = 71^{\circ}C$	Рт	35	mW
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Ambient)	$T_{A}(opr)$	-65 to 71	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 85	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T_L	255	°C

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = $-50 \ \mu$ A, IE = 0)	V(BR)CBO		v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = -12$ V, $I_E = 0$)	Ісво	-12 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VEB $\equiv -1.5$ V, Ic $\equiv 0$)	IEBO	—15 max	μΑ
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = -12 V, I_C = -1 mA, f = 1 kHz)$	hre	80	
Collector-to-Base Feedback Capacitance		_	_
$(V_{CE} = -12 V, I_C = -1 mA)$	Ccb	2	pF
Maximum Available Amplifier Gain*			
$(V_{CE} = -11 \text{ V}, \text{ IE} = 1 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 1.5 \text{ MHz})$	MAG	47.7	dB
Maximum Usable Amplifier Gain, Unneutralized			
$(V_{CE} = -11 \text{ V}, \text{ IE} = 1 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 1.5 \text{ MHz})$	MUG	25.6	dB
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	θj-a	0.4 max	°C/mW

 Measured in a single-tuned unilateralized circuit matched to the generator and load impedances for maximum transfer of power (transformer insertion losses not included).



2N1638

0.08W

Ge p-n-p drift-field type used in if-amplifier applications in AM automobile radio receivers. JEDEC TO-1, Outline No.1. This type is identical with type 2N1637 except for the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = -12$ V, $I_C = 0$) Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = -0.5$ V, $I_C = 0$)	Ісво Ієво	—12 max —12 max	μΑ μΑ
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio $(V_{CE} = -12 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = -1 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 1 \text{ kHz})$	hfe	75	
Maximum Available Amplifier Gain 4° (V _{CE} = -11 V, I _E = 2 mA, f = 262.5 kHz)	MAG	61.5	dB
Maximum Usable Amplifier Gain, Unneutralized $(V_{CE} = -11 V, I_E = 2 mA, f = 262.5 kHz)$ Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	MUG _{OJ-A}	36.6 0.4 max	dB °C/mW

▲ This characteristic does not apply to type 2N1639.

 Measured in a single-tuned unilateralized circuit matched to the generator and load impedances for maximum transfer of power (transformer insertion losses not included).



Ge p-n-p drift-field type used in converter, mixer, and oscillator applications in AM automobile radio receivers. JEDEC TO-1, Outline No.1. This type is identical with type 2N1637 except for the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS

Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = -12 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = -1 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 1 \text{ kHz})$ Maximum Usable Conversion Power Gain	hre	75	
$(V_{CE} = -11 V, I_E = 0.25 mA, f = 1.5 MHz)$ Base-to-Emitter Oscillator-Injection Voltage (RMS)	MUGc	37	dB
$(V_{CE} = -11 \text{ V}, I_E = 0.25 \text{ mA})$		100 mV	(rms)



0.175W

2N4259

2N1639

Si n-p-n epitaxial planar type used in vhf and uhf applications in industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-104, Outline No.31. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vone	40	
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage	VCBO	40	v.
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VUED	30	v.
Collector Current	V EBO	Limited by dia	V
Transistor Dissipation:	10	Limited by dis	sipation
TA up to 25°C	Den	175	
TA above 25°C	D.	5	mw
Temperature Range:	I T	see curve p	age 300
Operating (Junction)	Ty (app)	CE to 175	10
Storage	The T	-65 10 175	
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	I STO	-65 to 175	°C
(IV 3 Max)	16	265	۰C
CHARACTERISTICS			
of Man de l'Elafor 100			

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$(Ic = 0.001 \text{ mA}, I_E = 0)$	VARDORD	40 min	37
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage $(I_{c} - 1_{mA})$	Vano	20 min	, v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage	* (BR)CEO	30 mm	v
$(I_E = 0.001 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	V(Pp) PPO	25 min	37
Collector-Cutoff Current (VCB = 15 V IE = 0)	V (BR)EBU	2.5 11111	, v
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio (Von - 9 V	TCBO	0.01 max	μA
$I_{\rm C} = 2 \text{ mA}$	h	CO 4- 050	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio	IIFB	60 to 250	
$V_{CE} = 8 V$, $I_C = 2 mA$, $f = 0.001 MH_7$	he	70 to 200	
$V_{CR} = 8 V I_C = 2 mA f = 100 MHz$	life	70 to 280	
$v_{CB} = 0 v_1 v_1 c_1 = 2 m_{A_1} v_1 = 100 m_{A_2} v_{A_3}$	nfe -	7.5 to 16	

TYPICAL SMALL-SIGNAL FORWARD-CURRENT TRANSFER-RATIO CHARACTERISTICS 16 TYPE 2N4259 MAGNITUDE OF SMALL-SIGNAL, SHORT-CIRCUIT, FORWARD CURRENT-TRANSFER RATIO- h+6 P 9 0 0 0 0 7 4 COMMON-EMITTER CIRCUIT, BASE INPUT; OUTPUT SHORT-CIRCUITED. FREQUENCY (f) = 100 MHz AMBIENT TEMPERATURE (TA) = 25°C TO-EMITTER (OR-VOLTS (VCE) = 15 ð 2L 0 10 14 2 4 6 R 12 COLLECTOR MILLIAMPERES (IC) 92CS-12756T2

TYPICAL FORWARD TRANSFER CONDUCTANCE AND SUSCEPTANCE CHARACTERISTICS



CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Collector-to-Base Feedback Capacitance * ($V_{CB} = 8 V$, $I_E = 0, f = 0.1 \text{ to } 1 \text{ MHz}$)	Crb	0.35 typ; 0.55 max	\mathbf{pF}
Collector-to-Base Time Constant ⁴ (V _{CB} = 8 V, $I_E = 2 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 31.9 \text{ MHz}$)	rb'Ce	1 to 8	ps
Small-Signal Power Gain ^A ($V_{CE} = 8 V, I_C = 1.5 mA$, f = 450 MHz)	Gpe	11.5 to 16.5	dB
Noise Figure ^A ($V_{CE} = 8$ V, Ic = 1.5 mA, Be and $B_L = 50$ O, f = 450 MHz)	NF	5 max	dB

Lead 4 (case) grounded.
* Three-terminal capacitance measurement with lead No. 1 (emitter) and lead No. 4 (case) connected to guard terminal.

2N5180

0.18W

Si n-p-n epitaxial planar type used as a general-purpose amplifier at vhf frequencies. JEDEC TO-72. Outline No.28.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	V сво	30	V
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage	Vсво	15	V
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	Vево	2	V
Collector Current	Ic	Limited by dissipati	on
Transistor Dissipation:	Рт	180 m	1W
TA up to 25°C	Рт	See curve page 3	300
Temperature Range: Operating (Junction) Storage Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Tı (opr) Tstg Tı.	65 to 175 65 to 175 265	းင ပို့င

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage $(I_{11} = 0.001 \text{ mA} \text{ Jr} = 0)$	V(BB)(BO	30 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage	V(BR)CEO	15 min	v
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	V(BB)EBO	2 min	, V "A
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = 1 V$, $I_E = 0$)	TCBO	0.020 11121	<i>,</i>
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio	hre	20 to 200	
$(V_{CE} = 8 V, 1_{C} = 2 mA)$			







CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Magnitude of Small-Signal Forward-Current			
Transfer Ratio*			
$(V_{CE} = 8 V, I_C = 2 mA, f = 100 MHz)$	her	6.5 to 16	
Collector-to-Base Feedback Capacitancet			
$(V_{CB} = 8 V, I_E = 0, f = 0.1 \text{ to } 1 \text{ MHz})$	Ceb	1 max	pF
Maximum Usable Amplifier Gain, Neutralized*			-
$(V_{CE} = 8 V, I_C = 2 mA, f = 200 MHz)$	MUG	12 to 19	dB
Noise Figure*:			
$V_{CE} = 8$ V, Ic = 2 mA, f = 200 MHz	NF	4.5 max	dB
$V_{CE} = 8 V$, $I_{C} = 1 mA$, $R_{S} = 400 \Omega f = 60 MHz$	NF	2.5	dB
* Foundh load (reac) guarded			

Fourth lead (case) grounded. Three-terminal measurement of the collector-to-base capacitance: Lead No. 1 (emitŝ. ter and lead No. 4 (case) connected to guard terminal.



0.18W

2N5181

Si n-p-n type used in rf and if amplifier circuits at frequencies up to 250 MHz. The terminal arrangement permits shielding between input and output terminals for superior high-frequency performance and greater circuit stability, particularly on printed-circuit boards. JEDEC TO-104. Outline No.31.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage VCB0	45 V
Emitter-to-Base Voltage VEBO	3 V
Collector Current Ic	50 mW
Transistor Dissipation:	
T_A up to 25°C P_T	180 mA
TA above 25°C PT	Derate at 1.2 mW/°C
Temperature Range:	
Operating (Junction) T _J (op	or) —65 to 175 °C
Storage Tstg	65 to 175 °C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max) TL	255 °C

Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CB} = 1 V, I_E = 0$	Ісво	0.02 max	μA
$V_{\rm CB} = 45 V, I_{\rm E} = 0$	ICBO	1 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 3 V$, $I_{C} = 0$)	IEBO	1 max	μA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{\rm CE} = 6 {\rm V}, {\rm I_E} = -1 {\rm mA})$	hre	27 to 275	
Gain Bandwidth Product			
$(V_{CE} = 6 V, I_E = -2 mA, f = 100 MHz)$	fт	700	MHz
Collector-to-Base Feedback Capacitance			
$(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, I_E = -3 \text{ mA}, f = 0.1 \text{ to } 1 \text{ MHz})$	Ccb	0.22 typ; 0.34 max	pF
• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •			





CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Maximum Available Amplifier Gain ($V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_E = -2$ mA, $f = 200$ MHz)	MAG	29.9	dB
Maximum Usable Amplifier Gain, Unneutralized ($V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_E = -2$ mA, $f = 200$ MHz)	MUG	20.4	dB
Maximum Usable Amplifier Gain, Neutralized $(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ IE} = -2 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 200 \text{ MHz})$	MUG	24.2	dB

0.18W

2N5182

Si n-p-n type used in rf and if amplifier circuits at frequencies up to 250 MHz. The terminal arrangement permits shielding between input and output terminals for superior high-frequency performance and greater circuit stability, particularly on printed-circuit boards. JEDEC TO-104, Outline No.31. Type 2N5182 is identical to type 2N5181 except for the following items:



Collector Current	Ic	4	mA
CHARACTERISTICS			
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	ICBO ICBO MAG	0.03 max 1 29.5	μA μA dB



MAXIMUM RATINGS

0.18W

Si n-p-n type used as rf amplifier in television tuners covering channels 2 through 13. JEDEC TO-104, Outline No.31.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage:	VCBO	45	v
VEB = 1 V	VCBO	45	V.
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEB0 LC	4.5 50	mÅ
Collector Current	10	•••	
Transistor Dissipation:	Рт	180	mW
T_{A} up to 25 C	Рт	See curve page	: 300
Temperature Range:		-65 to 175	°C
Operating (TA) and Storage (Tsta)	Tr.	255	°C
Lead Soldering Temperature (10 S max)			

Collector-Cutoff Current:	Icro	0.02 max	μA
$\mathbf{V}_{\mathrm{CB}} = 1 \ \mathbf{V}_{\underline{\mathbf{r}}} \ \mathbf{I}_{\underline{\mathbf{E}}} = 0$	Ісво	1 max	μA
$V_{CB} = 35 V, I_E = 0$	IFRO	1 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VEB = 4.5 V, $1C = 0$)	ADDO		
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio	hee	40 to 170	
$(V_{CE} = 6 V, I_E = -1 mA)$	119 19		
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 6 V$, $I_E = -2 mA$,	f	1000	MHz
f = 100 MHz	1.1.		
Collector-to-Base Feedback Capacitance	C .	0.65 max	рF
$(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, I_E = -2 \text{ mA}, f = 216 \text{ MHz})$	Ccb	0.00 111411	F-
Input Resistance ($V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_E = -2$ mA,		190	0
f = 216 MHz	Rie	150	
Output Resistance ($V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_E = -2$ mA,	-		k O
f = 216 MHz	Ree	8.9	K11



CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Extrinsic Transconductance (VCE = 10 V, IE = -2 mA,			
f = 216 MHz	gm	43.7	mmhos
House Figure (VCE = 10 V, $IE = -2 \text{ mA}$,			
Maximum Available Amplifier Cain	NF	3.3	dB
$(V_{CE} = 10 V, I_E = -2 mA, f = 216 MHz)$ Maximum Usable Amplifier Gain, Neutralized	MAG	29.1	dB
$(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ I}_E = -2 \text{ mA}, \text{ R}_G \text{ and } \text{R}_L = 50 \Omega,$ f = 216 MHz)	MUG	18.1	dB





0.18W

40236

Si n-p-n type used as rf mixer in television tuners covering channels 2 through 13. JEDEC TO -104, Outline No.31. The maximum ratings for this type are identical with type 40235.

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CB} = 1 V, I_E = 0$	ICRO	0.02 max	A
$V_{CB} = 35 V, I_E = 0$	ICRO	1 max	μΑ
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VEB = 1 V, Ic = 0)	Luno	1 max	μΑ
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio	ACBO	1 max	μA
$(V_{CE} = 6 V, I_{E} = -1 mA)$	h	10.1	
Gain-Bandwidth Product (Ver - 6 V In - 1 m A	11FB	40 to 275	
f = 100 MHz			
Collector-to-Base Foodback Canaditan	ÎT	1000	MHz
(Win = 19 V I = 11 First A capacitance			
(V CE = 12 V, 1E = 1.5 mA, f = 216 MHz)	Ссь	0.65 max	nF
Input Resistance ($V_{CE} = 12$ V, $I_E = -1.5$ mA,			P-
f = 216 MHz	Ria	320	0
Output Resistance ($V_{CE} = 12$ V, $I_E = -1.5$ mA		230	11
f = 45 MHz	p	05	1.0
Maximum Available Conversion Gain	1106	65	KΩ
$(V_{CE} = 12 V, I_E = -15 \text{ mA}, f = 216 \text{ to } 45 \text{ MU}_{-})$	1110		
1 = 10 (0.45 MHZ)	MAGe	19	dB



0.18W

40237

Si n-p-n type used as rf local oscillator in television tuners covering channels 2 through 13. JEDEC TO-104, Outline No.31. The maximum ratings for this type are identical with type 40235.

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CB} = 1 V, I_E = 0$	Ісво	0.02 max	μA
$V_{CB} = 35$ V, $I_E = 0$	Ісво	1 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 1$ V, Ic = 0)	IEBO	1 max	μA
Collector-to-Base Feedback Capacitance	_		_
$(V_{CE} = 12 \text{ V}, I_E = 1.5 \text{ mA}, f = 216 \text{ MHz})$	Ccb	0.8 max	pr
Output Capacitance (V _{CB} = 12 V, I _C = -2.5 mA,			_
f = 257 MHz)	Сово	0.6 max	pF
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 6 V, I_E = -1 mA)$	hfß	27 to 275	
Gain-Bandwidth Product (Vcr = 6 V, $Ir = -1$ mA,			
f = 100 MHz	fт	1000	MHz
1 - 100 masses, monotonic monoton			

40238

0.18W

Si n-p-n type used as 45-MHz if amplifier in television receivers. JEDEC TO-104, Outline No.31.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage:		45 37
$V_{BE} = -1 V$	VCBV	40 V
Emitter open	V CBO	45 V
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	4.5 V
Collector Current	Ic	50 mA
Transistor Dissipation:	_	100
T_{A} up to $25^{\circ}C$	Рт	180 m.w
T _A above 25°C	Рт	See curve page 300
Temperature Range:		
Operating (T _A) and Storage (Tstg)		-65 to 175 °C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T_L	255 °C
Dead Dordering Temperature (It & man) and		

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-Cutoff Current:	_	0.00	
$V_{CB} = 1 V, I_E = 0$	ICBO	0.02 max	μΑ
$V_{CB} = 35 V. I_E = 0$	Ісво	1 max	μΑ
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 1 V$, $I_C = 0$)	Іево	1 max	μA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio		40 to 170	
$(V_{CE} = 6 V, I_E = -1 mA)$	nfb	40 10 170	
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 6 V$, $I_E = -2 mA$,		000	MH ₇
f = 100 MHz)	IT	800	141112
Collector-to-Base Feedback Capacitance	a .	0.65 max	nF
$(V_{CE} = 12 \text{ V}, \text{ IE} = -3 \text{ mA}, f = 216 \text{ MHz})$	Ceb	0.05 max	pr
Input. Resistance (VCE = 12 V, IE = -3 mA,		490	0
f = 45 MHz)	IL IO	400	



TYPICAL EXTRINSIC TRANSCONOUCTANCE





CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Output Resistance ($V_{CE} = 12$ V, $I_E = -3$ mA.		
f = 45 MHz	35	kO
Extrinsic Transconductance ($V_{CE} = 12 \text{ V}, I_E = -3 \text{ mA},$		
f = 45 MHz	90	mmhos
Maximum Available Amplifier Gain For 1, 2, or		
3 Stages (Vce = 12 V, $I_{\rm E} = -3$ mA, f = 45 MHz) MAG	45.3	dB
Maximum Usable Amplifier Gain, Unneutralized		
$(V_{CE} = 12 V, I_E = -3 mA, f = 45 MHz)$:		
For 1 stage	22 9	dB
For 2 stages	20.7	dB
For 3 stages	10	45
Maximum Usable Amplifier Gain, Neutralized	15	UD
$(V_{CE} = 12 V, I_E = -3 mA, f = 45 MHz);$		
For 1 stage MUG	28	dB
For 2 stages	25 8	dB
For 3 stages	24 1	dB



0.18W

40239

Si n-p-n type used as 45-MHz if amplifier in television receivers. JEDEC TO-104, Outline No.31. This type is identical with type 40238 except for the following item:

hre

CHARACTERISTICS

Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio $(V_{CE} = 6 V, I_E = -1 mA)$



0.18W

Si n-p-n type used as 45-MHz if amplifier in television receivers. JEDEC TO-104, Outline No.31. This type is identical uith type 40238 except for the following item:

CHARACTERISTICS

Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio $(V_{CE} = 6 V, I_E = -1 mA)$ hre



0.18W

Si n-p-n planar type used in rf-amplifier applications in conjunction with types 40243 (mixer), 40244 (rf oscillator), and 40245 and 40246 (if amplifiers) to make up a "front-end" and if complement for FM and AM/ FM receivers. JEDEC TO-104, Outline No.31.

MAXIMUM RATINGS Collector to Bass Walter

Conector-to-base voltage:			
Emitter open	37		
$V_{EB} = -i V$	V CBO	45	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage	VCEO	45	<u>v</u>
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VCBV	45	V
Collector Current	VEBO	4.5	v
Transistor Dissipation:	10	50	mA
TA UP to 25°C	D		
T _A above 25°C	FT	180	mW
Temperature Range:	PT	See curve pag	(e 300
Operating (T _A) and Storage (Terro)			
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 c max)	-	-65 to 175	•C
and bordering remperature (iv S max)	19°1	955	00

40240

27 to 100

40242

27 to 275

CHARACTERISTICS

Gallaster to Rosa Brackdown Voltage			
Conector-to-Dase Dreakdown votage.	Vana	45 min	v
$I_{\rm C} \equiv 0.001$ mA, $I_{\rm E} \equiv 0$	V(BR)(BU	45 min	v
$V_{\rm EB} = -1$ V, Ic = 0.001 mA	V (BR)CBV	40 11111	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage ($IE = 0.5 \text{ mA}$,		400 112	
$I_{\rm B} = 0$	V (BR) ('EO	45 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$(I_{12} - 0.001 \text{ mA} I_{12} - 0)$	V(BR)EBO	4.5 min	v
$(12 \pm 0.001 \text{ mm}) = (2000 \text{ mm}) = (2000 \text{ mm})$	Ісво	0.02 max	μA
Confector-Cutoff Cutrent $(V = 1 + V, T = 0)$	IEBO	1 max	'u A
Emitter-Cuton Current ($v_{CE} = 1.5$, v_{c} , $1c = 0$)	1000		<i>µ</i>
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio	haa	40 to 170	
$(V_{CE} = 6 V, I_E = -1 mA)$	IIFE	40 10 170	
Extrinsic Transconductance ($V_{CE} = 7.5 V$,			
$I_{\rm E} = -1.5 {\rm mA}, f = 100 {\rm MHz}$	gm	45	mmnos
Maximum Available Amplifier Gain*			
$(V_{\rm HIR} - 75 V_{\rm HIR}15 mA_{\rm H}f - 100 MHz)$	MAG	38.3	dB
Wassimum Happle Amplifiar Cain*:			
Maximum Usable Ampinel Gam .			
Neutralized $-V_{CE} = 7.5$ V, $IE = -1.5$ IIA,	MILC	01 E	dD
f = 100 MHz	MUG	21.3	d D
Unneutralized—Vcc = 15 V, $f = 100$ MHz	MUG	16.4	aв
Input Capacitance ($V_{CE} = 7.5$ V, $I_E = -1.5$ mA,			_
f = 100 MHz	Cie	5.2	pF
Feedback Canacitance (V:F = 8 V, IF = 0,			
f = 1 MU ₂)	Ceb	0.65 max	pF
1 = 1 Mil2			F -
Input Resistance (VCE $= 1.3$ V, IE $= -1.3$ mm,	Ria	450	0
f = 100 MHz	1216	430	
Output Resistance (VCE $\equiv 7.5$ V, IE $\equiv -1.5$ IIIA,	D	20	1-0
$f \equiv 100 \text{ MHz}$)	Roe	20	K11
Output Capacitance ($V_{CE} = 7.5 \text{ V}$. IE = -1.5 mA ,			-
f = 100 MHz	Coe	1.35	pF.
Noise Figure* (Vec = 15 V, Rg = 50 Ω , f = 100 MHz)	NF	2.5	dB

* This characteristic applies only to type 40242.





Si n-p-n planar type used in mixer applications in conjunction with types 40242 (rf amplifier), 40244 (rf oscillator), and 40245 and 40246 (if amplifiers) to make up a "front-end" and if complement for FM and AM/FM receivers. JEDEC TO-104, Outline No.31. This type is identical with type 40242 except for the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS

Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 3 V$, $I_C = 0$)	IEBO	1 max	μA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CH} = 6 V, I_E = -1 mA)$	hfe	40 to 170	
Extrinsic Transconductance ($V_{CE} = 7.5 V$,			
$I_E = -1 mA$, f = 100 MHz)	gm	32	mmhos
Maximum Available Conversion Gain			
$(V_{CE} = 7.5 \text{ V}, I_E = -1 \text{ mA}, f = 10.7 \text{ to } 100 \text{ MHz}) \dots$	MAGe	37.64	dB
Input Capacitance ($V_{CE} = 7.5$ V, $I_E = -1$ mA,			
f = 100 MHz)	Cie	4.5	pF
Input Resistance (VCE = 7.5 V, IE = -1 mA,			-
$\tilde{f} = 100 \text{ MHz}$	Rie	650	Ω
Output Resistance (VCE = 7.5 V. IE = -1 mA.			
f = 100 MHz	Ros	30	kΩ
Output Capacitance (VCE = 7.5 V, IE = -1 mA.			
f = 100 MHz	Cas	1.35	pF
$\mathbf{r} = \mathbf{r} \mathbf{v} \mathbf{v} \mathbf{n} \mathbf{n} \mathbf{r} \mathbf{v}$			

0.18W



0.18W

40244

Si n-p-n planar type used in rf-oscillator applications in conjunction with types 40242 (rf amplifier), 40243 (mixer), and 40245 and 40246 (if amplifiers) to make up a "front-end" and if complement for FM and AM/ FM receivers. JEDEC TO-104, Outline No.31.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage:			
Emitter open	V сво	45	v
$V_{EB} = -1 V$	VCBV	45	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage	VCEO	45	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	4.5	v
Collector Current	Ic	50	mÁ
Transistor Dissination:			
T ₄ up to 25°C	Pr	180	mW
$T_{\rm A}$ above 25°C	Pr.	See curve p	age 300
Temperature Range:		Dee carre p	
Operating (T ₄) and Storage (Terre)		-65 to 175	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Tr.	255	۰č
Dead-Doldering Temperature (10 5 max) minimum			Ŭ
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-to-Bose Breakdown Voltage:			
$I_{\rm m} = 0.001 \text{ m/s}$ $I_{\rm m} = 0$	Vannono	45 min	v
$10 \equiv 0.001 \text{ mA}, 18 \equiv 0 \dots \dots$	Vanch	45 min	v
$v_{BE} \equiv -1 v$, $ic \equiv 0.001 \text{ mA}$	V (BA)(B)	40 11114	•
Liniter-to-base breakdown voltage	Vanana	3 min	v
$(16 \pm -0.001 \text{ mA}, 10 \pm 0)$	Lano	0.02 max	Å
Conjector-Cuton Current (VCE = $1 \vee 1 \equiv 0$)	ICBO	1 max	
Emitter-Cuton Current (VEB $= 3$ V, 1c $= 0$)	TERO	1 max	μΑ
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio	h	97 to 170	
$(V_{CE} = 6 V, I_E = -1 mA)$	IIFE	21 10 110	mV
Oscillator Output Voltage, Common Base Circuit	37		111 V
$V_{\rm CC} = 6 V, R_{\rm L} = 50 \Omega, f = 120 \text{ MHz}$	Vob	22	
Feedback Capacitance ($V_{CE} = 8 V$, $I_E = 0$,	0	0.0	~F
f = 1 MHz	Ueb	v.8 max	рг

40243

RCA Transistor, Thyristor, & Diode Manual

40245

0.18W

Si n-p-n planar type used in if-amplifier applications in conjunction with types 40242 (rf amplifier), 40243 (mixer), 40244 (rf oscillator), and 40246 (if amplifier) to make up a "front-end" and if complement for FM and AM/FM receivers. JEDEC TO-104, Outline No.31.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage:	••	45	17
Emitter open	V CBO	40	v
$V_{EB} = -1 V$	VCBV	45	Ť
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage	VCEO	40	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	4.0	mÅ
Collector Current	IC	20	IIIA
Transistor Dissipation:		100	TN 187
TA up to 25°C	PT	100 5 a a 100	200
T _A above 25°C	PT	See curve p	age Juo
Temperature Range:		CE to 175	°C
Operating (T _A) and Storage (T _{STG})	_	-03 10 173	
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL	200	C
CHARACTERISTICS			
CHARACTERIOTIOO			
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage:		AE min	37
$I_{\rm C} = 0.001 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm E} = 0$	V (BR) ('BO	45 min	v
$V_{BE} = -1$ V. Ic = 0.001 mA	V (BR) CBV	45 mm	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage		0in	37
$(I_{\rm E} = -0.001 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm C} = 0)$	V (BR)EBO	3 11111	
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CE} = 1 V, I_E = 0$)	Ісво	0.02 max	μΑ
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 3 V$, $I_C = 0$)	1ebo	1 max	μΑ
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 6 V, I_E = -1 mA)$	hrg	70 to 275	
Feedback Capacitance ($V_{CE} = 8 V$, $I_E = 0$,	_		- 1
f = 1 MHz	Ceb	0.65 max	pr
Extrinsic Transconductance ($V_{CE} = 7.5 V$,			
$I_E = -2 \text{ mA}, f = 10.7 \text{ MHz}$	gm	10	minnos
Maximum Available Amplifier Gain			dTh
$(V_{CE} = 7.5 \text{ V}, I_E = -2 \text{ mA}, f = 10.7 \text{ MHz})$	MAG	51.4	ab
Maximum Usable Amplifier Gain:		00.0	dD
Neutralized—Vcc = 12 V , f = 10.7 MHz	MUG	33.2	ub
Unneutralized—VCE = 7.5 V, $IE = -2$ mA,		00.1	dD
f = 10.7 MHz	MUG	28.1	ub
Input Capacitance ($V_{CE} = 7.5 \text{ V}$, $I_E = -2 \text{ mA}$,	~	0.0	~F
f = 10.7 MHz	Cie	8.4	րե
Input Resistance (VCE = 7.5 V, IE = -2 mA,	-	1500	0
f = 10.7 MHz	Rie	1200	7.
Output Resistance (VCE = 7.5 V, $IE = -2$ mA,	-	00	100
f = 10.7 MHz	Roe	80	KI.
Output Capacitance (V($E = 7.5$ V, IE = -2 mA,		1.6	~ E
f = 10.7 MHz	Coe	1.5	pr

TYPICAL EXTRINSIC TRANSCONDUCTANCE AT 10.7 MHz






40246 Si n-p-n planar type used in if-amplifier applications in conjunction with types 40242 (rf amplifier), 40243 (mixer), 40244 (if oscillator), and 40245 (if amplifier) to make up a "front-end" and if complement for FM and AM/FM receivers. JEDEC TO-104, Outline No.31. This type is identical with type 40245 except for the

following items:

CHARACTERISTICS

Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 6 V, I_E = -1 mA)$	hfe	27 to 90	
Maximum Available Amplifier Gain			
$(V_{CE} = 7.5 \text{ V}, I_E = -2 \text{ mA}, f = 10.7 \text{ MHz})$	MAG	51.2	dB
Input Resistance (VcE = 7.5 V, IE = -2 mA,			
f = 10.7 MHz)	Rie	1200	Ω
Output Resistance ($V_{CE} = 7.5$ V, $I_E = -2$ mA.			
f = 10.7 MHz	Ran	90	kO
		••	

0.18W



0.2W

2N918

Si n-p-n epitaxial planar type used in low-noise amplifier, oscillator, and converter applications at vhf frequencies. JEDEC TO-72, Outline No.28. This type is identical with type 2N3600 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector Current	Ic	50	mA
CHARACTERISTICS			
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio* ($f = 100 \text{ MHz}, \text{ Vc}_{\text{B}} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 4 \text{ mA}$)	hre	6 min	
$f_c = 0$	Cibo	2 max	\mathbf{pF}
Use $10 V_{\rm CB} = 0$, $f = 0.1$ to 1 MHz $V_{\rm CB} = 0$, $I_{\rm E} = 0$, $f = 0.1$ to 1 MHz $V_{\rm CB} = 0$, $I_{\rm E} = 0$, $f = 0.1$ to 1 MHz	Cabo Cabo	1.7 max 3 max	pF pF
$V_{CB} = 6 V, I_C = 2 mA)$	rb'Cc	15	ps
Small-Signal Power Gain:* Unneutralized Amplifier Circuit ($V_{CE} = 10 V$, $I_C = 5 mA$, $f = 200 MHz$) Neutralized Amplifier Circuit ($V_{CE} = 12 V$)	Gpe	13	dB
Ic = 6 mA, f = 200 MHz) Power Output, Oscillator Circuit (VcB = 10 V,	Gpe	15 min 18 typ	dB dB
IE = 12 mA, $I = 500$ MHz) Noise Figure [*] ($VCE = 6$ V, $Ic = 1$ mA,	Poe	30 min	mw
$\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{G}} = 400 \ \Omega, \ \mathbf{f} = 60 \ \mathbf{M}\mathbf{H}\mathbf{z} $	NF	6 max	dB
* Fourth lead (case) grounded.			

Three-terminal measurement of the collector-to-base capacitance with the case and emitter leads connected to the guard terminal. † Fourth lead (case) floating.



0.2W

2N3478

Si n-p-n epitaxial planar type for vhf-uhf applications at frequencies up to 470 MHz in industrial and commercial equipment. JEDEC TO-104, Outline No.31,

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage Collector-to-Emitter Voltage Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector Current	Vcbo Vceo Vebo Ic	30 15 2 Limited by dissi	V V power ipation
Transistor Dissipation: TA up to 25°C TA above 25°C	PT PT	200 See curve pa	mW ige 300
Temperature Range: Operating (Junction) Storage Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T1 (opr) Tsta TL	65 to 200 65 to 200 265	°C °C °C
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage $(I_c = 0.001 \text{ mA}, I_E = 0)$	V(BR)CBO	30 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage $(I_{C} = 0.001 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = 0)$	V(BR)CEO	15 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = 0.001$ mA, $I_C = 0$) Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = 1$ V, $I_E = 0$)	V(BR)EBO Icbo	2 min 0.02 max	۷ µA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio $(V_{CE} = 8 V, I_C = 2 mA)$	hfB	25 to 150	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio* ($V_{CE} = 8 V$, $I_C = 2 mA$, $f = 100 MHz$)	hre	7.5 to 16	
Collector-to-Base Feedback Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 8$, $V_{IE} = 0$, $f = 0.1$ to 1 MHz)	Ceb	0.7 ma x	pF
Small-Signal Power Gam: Unneutralized Amplifier Circuit* Vcc = 8 V, Ic = 2 mA, f = 200 MHz Noutralized Amplifier Circuit*	Gpe	11.5 to 17	dB
$\begin{array}{rcl} R_{\rm B} = 50 & \Omega, & I_{\rm C} = 1.5 & mA, & V_{\rm CE} = 6 & V, \\ f = 470 & MHz & \dots \end{array}$	Gp•	12	dB
$\begin{array}{l} \text{Noise right:}\\ \text{UHF} = \text{Hs} = 50 \ \Omega, \ \text{Vce} = 6 \ \text{V}, \ \text{Ic} = 1.5 \ \text{mA}, \\ f = 470 \ \text{MHz} \\ \text{VHF} = V_{\text{CF}} = 8 \ \text{V}, \ \text{Ic} = 2 \ \text{mA}, \ f = 200 \ \text{MHz} \end{array}$	NF NF	5 4.5 max	dB dB

* Lead 4 (case) grounded.





TYPICAL FORWARD TRANSFER CONDUCTANCE AND SUSCEPTANCE CHARACTERISTICS



2N3600

0.2W

Si n-p-n epitaxial planar type used in low-noise amplifier, oscillator, and converter applications at vhf frequencies in military, communications, and industrial equipment. JEDEC TO-72, Outline No.28.



MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCRO	30	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage	Vero	15	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	Veno	12	
Collector Current	A EBO	. .	v
conector current	10	Limited by	power
		diss	ipation
Transistor Dissipation:			
T _A up to 25°C	Pr	200	mW
To up to 25° C (with heat sink)	Đ.	200	111 VV
To ap To (with base sink)	E.t.		mw
In or ic (with heat sink) above 25°C	PT	See curve pa	ge 300
Temperature Range:		-	•
Operating (Junction)	Tr (opr)	65 to 200	
Storage	T1(obt)	-65 10 200	
Storage	TSTG	—65 to 200	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (60 s max)	T_L	300	°C
	-		-

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic - 0.001 mA			
$I_{\rm E} = 0$	V(BR)CBO	30 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = 0.01$ mA, $I_C = 0$)	**	.	
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage (Ic = 3 mA	V (BR)EBO	3 min	v
$I_B = 0$	V(BR)CEO (SUS)	15 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage ($Ic = 10 \text{ mA}$, $I_B = 1 \text{ mA}$)	Vom (cat)	0.4 max	37
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage ($Ic = 10$ mA.	VCE (Sal)	V.4 IIIAA	v
$I_B = 1 MA$	VBE(sat)	1 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:	_		
$V_{CB} = 15 V, I_E = 0, T_A = 25^{\circ}C$	Ісво	0.01 max	μA
$V_{CB} \equiv 15 V, I_E \equiv 0, T_A \equiv 150^{\circ}C$	Ісво	1 max	μA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
(VCE = 1, V, 1c = 3, mA)	hfe	20 to 150▲	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:*			
$V_{CE} = 6 V, I_C = 5 mA, f = 100 MHz$	hfe	8.5 to 15▲	
$V_{CE} = 6 V, I_{C} = 2 mA, f = 1 kHz$	hre	40 to 200▲	
Input Capacitance [†] ($V_{EB} = 0.5 V$, $I_C = 0$,			
f = 0.1 to 1 MHz)	Cibo	1.4	pF
Output Capacitance [†] ($V_{CB} = 10 V$, $I_E = 0$,			-
f = 0.1 to 1 MHz)	Cobo	1.7 max	nF
Collector-to-Base Feedback Capacitance			P-
$(V_{CB} = 10 V, I_E = 0, f = 0.1 \text{ to } 1 \text{ MHz})$	Ссь	1 max≜	pF
Collector-to-Base Time Constant* (VcB - 6 V			P*
$I_{c} = 5 \text{ mA}, f = 31.9 \text{ MHz}$	Th'Co	4 to 15	ne
Small-Signal Power Gain, Amplifier Circuit	1000	1 10 10	pa
Neutralized* (VCE = 6 V. Ic = 5 mA f = 200 MHz)	Gra	17 to 244	dB
Power Output Oscillator Circuitt (Vcs - 10 V	ape	11 10 24-	ub
$I_{\rm E} = 12$ mA, $f = 500$ MHz)	P.,	20 min	m 117
Noise Figure *	1 06	20 11111	111 44
$V_{CE} = 6 V_{c} I_{c} = 15 mA_{c} f = 200 MH_{7}$	NE	AEmand	d D
$V_{CE} = 6 V$, $I_C = 1 mA$, $f = 60 MH_7$	NE	a.a maxa	dB
$\bullet T = d + (a = a) + a = a + a + a + a + a + a + a + a + a$	141	చ	dВ
Lead 4 (case) grounded.			

† Lead 4 (case) floating.

Thead * (Case) noting.
 This value does not apply to type 2N918.
 Three-terminal measurement of the collector-to-base capacitance with the case and emitter leads connected to the guard terminal.



TYPICAL FORWARD TRANSFER CONDUCTANCE AND SUSCEPTANCE CHARACTERISTICS



2N3932



Si n-p-n epitaxial planar type for general purpose vhfuhf applications in rf amplifiers. JEDEC TO-104, Outline No.31.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage Collector-to-Emitter Voltage Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector Current	VCBO VCEO VEBO IC	30 20 2.5 Limited by dis	V V V power sipation
Transistor Dissipation: T₄ up to 25°C T₄ above 25°C	PT PT	200 See curve p	mW bage 300
Temperature Range: Operating (Junction) Storage Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Tı (opr) T _{STG} Tı,	-65 to 200 -65 to 200 265	ວ: ວີ:
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = 0.001 mA , IE = 0)	V(BR)(BO	30 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage $(1c = 1 \text{ mA}, I_B = 0)$	V(BR)CEO	20 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = 0.001$ mA, I ₍ = 0) Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = 15$ V, $I_E = 0$) Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio	$\begin{array}{c} V_{(BR)EBO}\\ I_{CBO} \end{array}$	2.5 min 0.01 max	ν μA
$(V_{CB} = 8 V, I_C = 2 mA, f = 100 MHz, lead No. 4 grounded) Gain-Bandwidth Product$	hte fr	7.5 to 16 750 min	MHz
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Th'Ce	1 to 8	ps
$I_E = 0$, $f = 0.1$ to 1 MHz, lead Nos. 1 and 4 connected to guard terminal)	Ccb	0.55 max	pF
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio ($V_{CE} = 8 V$, $I_C = 2 mA$) Small-Signal Power Gain, Unneutralized Amplifier	hrm	40 to 150	
$(V_{CB} \stackrel{\sim}{=} 8 V, I_C = 2 mA, f = 200 MHz,$ lead No. 4 grounded)	Gre	11.5 to 17	dB
Noise Figure: $V_{CE} = 8 V, I_C = 2 \text{ mA}, \text{ Rs} = 200 \Omega, f = 200 \text{ MHz} \dots$ $V_{CE} = 8 V, I_C = 15 \text{ mA}, \text{ Rs} = 200 \Omega, f = 450 \text{ MHz}$	NF NF	4.5 max 5	dB dB



TYPICAL FORWARD TRANSFER CONDUCTANCE AND SUSCEPTANCE CHARACTERISTICS





0.2W

2N3933

Si n-p-n epitaxial planar type for general purpose vhf and uhf applications in rf amplifiers. JEDEC TO-104, Outline No.31. This type is identical with type 2N3932 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vcbo Vceo	40 30	V V
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = 0.001 mA, IE = 0) Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage (Ic = 1 mA)	V(BR)CBO	40 min	v
$I_B = 0$) Static Forward Current Transfor Patie	V(BR)CEO	30 min	v
Voc = 8 V, Ic = 2 mÅ) Small-Signal Power Gain, Unneutralized Amplifier (Voc = 9 V, Ic = 2 mÅ) $= 0.00$ MHz	hfe	60 to 200	
lead No. 4 grounded)	G _P •	14 to 18	
Contector-to-Base Time Constant (VCB = 8 V, $I_E = 2 \text{ mA}, f = 31.9 \text{ MHz})$	rb'Ce	1 to 6	ps
Roise Figure (VCE = 8 V. $10 = 2 \text{ mA}$, Rs = 200 Ω , f = 200 MHz)	NF	4 max	dB



0.3W

2N917

Si n-p-n epitaxial planar type used in low-noise amplifier, oscillator, and converter applications at vhf frequencies. JEDEC TO-72, Outline No.28.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage Collector-to-Emitter Voltage Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector Current	Vcbo Vceo Vebo Ic	30 15 3 Limi power dissi	V C V ted by
Transistor Dissipation: TA up to 25°C Tc up to 25°C TA or Tc above 25°C TA or Tc above 25°C	Рт Рт Рт	200 300 See curve pag	mW mW ge 300
Temperature Hange: Operating (Junction) Storage Lead-Soldering Temperature (60 s max)	Tj Tstg Tl	65 to 200 65 to 200 300	•C •C •C

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = 0.001 mA,			
$I_E = 0$)	V(BR)CBO	30 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = 0.01$ mA, $I_C = 0$)	V(BR)EBO	3 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage ($I_c = 3$ mA, $I_B = 0$, $t_p = 300 \ \mu$ s, $df = 1\%$)	Vceo(sus)	15 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage ($Ic = 3 \text{ mA}$, $I_B = 0.15 \text{ mA}$)	Vcr (sat)	0.5 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic = 3 mA, I _B = 0.15 mA)	VBE(sat)	0.87 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current: $V_{CB} = 15 \text{ V}, \text{ I}_E = 0, \text{ T}_A = 25^{\circ}\text{C}$	Ісво	0.001 max	μA
$V_{CB} = 15 \text{ V}$. $I_E = 0$, $T_A = 150^{\circ}\text{C}$ Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio (VCE = 1 V.	ICBO	0.1 max	
Ic = 3 mA)	hre	20 to 200	μA

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio* ($V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_{C} = 4$ mA, $f_{c} = 100$ MHz)	hre	5 min	
Input Capacitance [†] ($V_{EB} = 0.5$ V, $I_C = 0$, f = 0.1 to 1 MHz)	Cibo	1.6 max	pF
Output Capacitance [†] (V _{CB} = 10 V, I _E = 0, f = 0.1 to 1 MHz)	Cobo	1.7 max	pF
Collector-to-Base Time Constant* $(V_{c}) = 10 V_{c} I_{c} = 4 mA_{c} f = 40 MHz)$	rh'Ca	75 max	ps
Small-Signal Power Gain, Unneutralized Amplifier	In Ce	io anax	þó
$V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_C = 5$ mA, $f = 200$ MHz)	Gpe	9 min	dB
Power Output in Oscillator Circuit (VeB = 15 V, Ic = 8 mA, f = 500 MHz)	Poe	10 min	mW
Noise Figuret ($V_{CE} = 6 V$, $I_C = 1 mA$, $R_G = 400 \Omega$, f = 60 MHz)	NF	6 max	dB

* Fourth lead (case) grounded.

† Fourth lead (case) floating.



2N2708

0.3W

Si n-p-n double-diffused epitaxial planar type used in rf amplifiers, mixers, and oscillator circuits for vhf and uhf applications (200 to 500 MHz). JEDEC TO-72, Outline No.28.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage Collector-to-Emitter Voltage Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector Current	VCBO VCEO VERO IC	35 20 3 Limited by p dissip	V V ower ation
Transistor Dissipation: TA up to 25°C Tt up to 25°C TA or Tt above 25°C	Рт Рт Рт	0.2 0.3 See curve pag	W W e 300
Coperating (Junction) Storage	Tı(opr) Tstg TL	65 to 200 65 to 200 265	°C °C °C
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage $(I_{c} = 1 \ \mu A, I_{E} = 0)$	V(BR)CBO	35 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage $(I_{c} = 3 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = 0, t_{p} = 300 \ \mu\text{s}, \text{df} = 1\%)$	V (BR) CEO (SU	s) 20 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = 10 \ \mu A$, $I_C = 0$)	V(BR)EBO	3 min	v
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Ісво Ісво	0.01 max 1 max	μΑ μΑ

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio ($V_{CE} = 2 V$,			
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Bation	hfe	30 to 200	-
$V_{CE} = 15$ V, $I_C = 2$ mA, $f = 1$ kHz	hre	30 to 180	
$V_{CE} = 15$ V, $I_{C} = 2$ mA, $f = 100$ MHz	hre	7 to 12	
f = 0.14 MHz)	C	1.4	
Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 15 \text{ V}$, $I_E = 0$,	C100	1.4	pr.
f = 0.14 MHz)	Cobo	1.5 max	nF
Conector-to-Base Time Constant ($V_{CB} = 1.5 V$,			P-
Small-Signal Common-Emitter Power Coin.	rb'Cc	9 to 33	ps
(In neutralized amplifier)			
$V_{CE} = 15$ V, Ic = 2 mA, f = 200 MHz	Gne	15 to 22	dD
(In unneutralized amplifier)	C pe	13 10 22	GP
$V_{CE} = 15$ V, $I_C = 2$ mA, $f = 200$ MHz	Gpe	12	dB
$I_{c} = 2 \text{ mA} f = 200 \text{ MHz}$		_	
Noise Figure:	gme	25	mmhos
$V_{CE} = 15 V, I_C = 2 mA, R_S = 50 O$			
f = 200 MHz	NF	75 mar	d D
$V_{CE} = 6 V, I_C = 1 mA, R_S = 400 \Omega,$		1.5 max	dB
I = 60 MHz	NF	25	ct to

TYPICAL SMALL-SIGNAL FORWARD-CURRENT TRANSFER-RATIO CHARACTERISTIC TYPE 2N270B COMMON-EMITTER CIRCUIT, BASE INPUT; SHORT-CIRCUITED OUTPUT. FRECUENCY = 100 MHz (VCE) = 4 FREE-AIR TEMPERATURE (TFA) = 25° C COLLECTOR MILLIAMPERES (IC) SCULLECTOR MILLIAMPERES (IC) SCULLECTOR MILLIAMPERES (IC)



0.3W

2N2857



Si n-p-n double-diffused epitaxial planar type used in low-noise amplifier, oscillator, and converter applications at frequencies up to 500 MHz in a commonemitter circuit, and up to 1200 MHz in a common-base circuit. JEDEC TO-72, Outline No.28.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage		
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage	30	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	15	v
Collector Current VERO	2.5	v
Transistor Dissipation	40	mA
TA UD to 25°C		
To up to 25°C	200	mW
$\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{T}}$	300	mW
Temperature Range:	See curve pag	e 300
Operating (Junction)		
Storage TI(opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Lead-Soldering Tomportune (10	65 to 200	۰č
TI.	265	്

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_{\rm C} = 0.001$ mA,			
$I_E \equiv 0$	V(BR)(BO	30 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage (Ic = 3 mA, I _B = 0)	V(BR)CEO	15 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = 0.01$ mA, $I_C = 0$)	V(BR)EBO	2.5 min	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = 15 V$, $I_E = 0$)	Ісво	0.01 max	μA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio ($V_{CE} = 1 V$, Ic = 3 mA)	hfe	30 to 150	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio: $V_{CR} = 6 V I_C = 5 mA$, $f = 100 MHz$	hre	10 to 19	
$V_{CE} = 6 V$, $I_C = 2 mA$, $f = 1 kHz$	hre	50 to 220	
Collector-to-Base Feedback Capacitance $(V_{CB} = 10 \text{ V}, I_E = 0, f = 0.1 \text{ to } 1 \text{ MHz})$	Ссь	1 max	pF
Input Capacitance* (VEB = 0.5 V, Ic = 0, f = 0.1 to 1 MHz)	Cibo	1.4	pF
Output Capacitance:	C .	1 2+ 10 21	- F
$V_{CB} = 10 V, I_E = 0, f = 0.14 MHZ$	Cobo	1.0/ max	pr
$V_{CB} \equiv 10$ V, $I_E = 0$, $I \equiv 0.14$ MHZ	C 080	1.0 max	þr
$(V_{CB} = 6 V, I_C = 2, f = 31.9 MHz)$	rb'Ce	4 to 15	ps
Small-Signal Power Gain, Neutralized Amplifier (Num $= 6$ V Ly $= 15$ mA f $= 450$ MHz)	Gne	12.5 to 19	dB
Power Output Oscillator Circuit*	-1.0	12.0 10 10	
$V_{CB} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ I}_{E} = -12 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 500 \text{ MHz})$	P	30 min	mW
Noise Figure:	2177	4 10	10
$V_{CE} = 6$ V, $I_C = 1.5$ mA, $R_0 = 50$ Ω, $f = 450$ MHz $V_{CE} = 6$ V, $I_C = 1$ mA, $R_G = 400$ Ω, $f = 60$ MHz.	NF	4.5 max 2.2	dB dB

Three-terminal measurement: Lead No. 1 (emitter) and lead No. 4 (case) connected to guard terminal.



TYPICAL SMALL-SIGNAL FORWARD TRANSFER CONDUCTANCE AND SUSCEPTANCE CHARACTERISTICS



2N3839

0.3W

Si n-p-n double-diffused epitaxial planar type used in low-noise amplifier, oscillator, and converter applications at frequencies up to 500 MHz in a common-emitter circuit and 1200 MHz in a common-base circuit. JEDEC TO-72, Outline No.28. For maximum ratings, refer to type 2N2857.

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = 0.001 mA , IE = 0)	V(BR)CBO	30 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage ($lc = 3$ mA, $I_B = 0$)	V(BR)CEO	15 min	v

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = -0.01 \text{ mA}$,			
$IC \equiv 0$	V(BR)EBC	o 2.5 min	v
$V_{CB} = 15 V T_{E} = 0$	-		
$V_{CB} = 15 V$ $T_{E} = 0$ $T_{1} = 150^{\circ}C$	1CBO	10 max	μA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio ($V_{CE} = 1 V$,	ICBO	1 max	μA
1c = 3 mA	hrm	30 to 150	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio*:	_		
$V_{CE} = 6 V, I_C = 2 MA, I = 0.001 MHz$	hfe	50 to 220	
VCE = 6 V, 1C = 5 mA, I = 100 MHz	hfe	10 to 20	
Freedback Capacitance ($V_{CB} \equiv 10$ V, $I_E \equiv 0$,	_		
I = 0.1 to I MHz	Ceb	0.6 typ; 1 max	pF
input Capacitance (VEB $\equiv 0.5$ V, $1c \equiv 0$,	-		
$\Gamma = 0.1$ to Γ MHZ)	Cibo	1.4	pF
$I_{\rm T} = 2$ mA f = 21.0 M(I=)			
$1E = -2 \text{ InA}, 1 \equiv 31.9 \text{ MHZ}$	Tb'Cc	1 to 15	ps
f = 450 MHz	~		
I = 430 WHZ	Gpe	12.5 to 19	dB
$f \ge 500 \text{ MHz}$	-		
1 - JOU MIIZ)	Pee	30 min	mW
Noise Figures:			
URF Measured (VCE = 6 V, IC = 1.5 mA,			
$1 = 430$ MHZ, $KG = 50 \Omega$	NF	3.9 max	dB
$f = 450 \text{ MHz} \text{ B}_{-} = 50 \text{ O}$			
1 = 450 MHZ, $RG = 50$ M)	NF	3.4 max	dB
$R_{c} = 400$ O)			
150 = 400 12	NF.	2	dB

* Lead No. 4 (case) not connected.

• Three-terminal measurement with emitter and case connected to guard terminal.

Lead No. 4 (case) grounded.









0.3W

2N5186

Si n-p-n epitaxial planar type used for switching applications in data-processing equipment and other critical military and industrial equipment. JEDEC TO-52, Outline No.21.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	У сво	10 V
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	3 V
Collector Current	Ic	300 mÅ
Transistor Dissipation:		
T _A up to 25°C	PT	300 mW
T _A above 25°C	Pr	See curve page 300
Tc up to 100°C	Рт	500 mW
Tc above 100°C	Рт	See curve page 300
Temperature Range:		
Operating (Junction)	Tı (opr)	-65 to 200 °C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200 °C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Tr.	265 °C

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage
$(I_{\rm C} = 0.01 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm E} = 0)$
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage
$(I_E = -0.01 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage
$(I_{C} = 10 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = 0)$
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage
$(I_{C} = 10 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = 1 \text{ mA})$
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage
$(I_{C} = 10 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = 1 \text{ mA})$
Collector-Cutoff Current:
$V_{CB} = 5 V, I_E = 0$
$V_{CB} \equiv 5 V, I_E \equiv 0, T_A \equiv 150^{\circ} C$
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio
$(V_{CE} = 1 V, 1c = 10 \text{ mA})$
Magnitude of Small-Signal Forward-Current
Transfer Ratio (V(E = 4 V, IC = 10 mR, $f = 100$ MHz)
I = 100 MHz
f = 0.140 MHz)
Input Conscitance (VER $= 0.5$ V Ic $= 0.5$
f = 0.140 MHz)
Storage Time $(I_{C} = 5 \text{ mA}, I_{B1} = -I_{B2} = 5 \text{ mA})$
Turn-On Time $(I_{C} = 10 \text{ mA}, I_{B1} = -I_{B2} = 1 \text{ mA})$
Turn-Off Time $(I_{C} - 10 \text{ mA}, I_{B1} = -I_{B2} = 1 \text{ mA})$

V(BR)(BO	10 min	v
V(BR)EBO	3 min	v
VCEO (sus)	6 min; 10 typ	v
VCE(sat)	0.3 max	v
VRE(sat)	1 max	v
Ісво Ісво	0.002 typ; 0.05 max 0.9 typ; 5 max	$_{\mu \mathbf{A}}^{\mu \mathbf{A}}$
hfe	25 min	
hre	4 min; 6 typ	
Cobo	3 max	\mathbf{pF}
Cibo ts td + tr	3 max 10 max 25 max	pF ns ns
ts + tr	25 max	ns



40294

0.3W

Si n-p-n double-diffused epitaxial planar type used in uhf amplifier, mixer, and oscillator applications. This type is electrically and mechanically identical with type 2N2857, but is specially controlled, processed, and tested for critical aerospace and military applications. JEDEC TO-72, Outline No.28.

40295

0.3W

Si n-p-n double-diffused epitaxial planar type used in uhf amplifier, mixer, and oscillator applications. This type is specially controlled, processed, and tested for critical aerospace and military applications. JEDEC TO-72, Outline No.28. This type is identical to type 2N2708 except for the following item:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector Current

Ic



(4) CASE

40

mA

ιòο

92CS-14727T



Si n-p-n double-diffused epitaxial planar type used in rf amplifier and mixer applications up to 200 MHz, and in oscillator applications up to 500 MHz. JEDEC TO-72, Outline No.28. This type is electrically and mechanically similar to type 2N2708, but each shipment of type 40413 is accompanied by a certified sum-

mary of electrical and environmental tests. For typical characteristics curves, refer to type 2N2857.

0.3W

Si n-p-n double-diffused epitaxial planar type used in low-noise amplifier, oscillator, and converter applications at frequencies up to 500 MHz in a common-emitter circuit and 1200 MHz in a common-base circuit. JEDEC TO-72, Outline No.28. This type is electrically and mechanically similar to type 2N2857, but each shipment

of type 40414 is accompanied by a certified summary of electrical and environmental tests. For typical characteristics curves, refer to type 2N2857.

0.5W



Si n-p-n type used in wide-band-amplifier and relaydriver applications in critical industrial equipment such as video amplifiers, television cameras, camera chains, monitors, oscilloscopes, and neon-indicator drivers. JEDEC TO-104, Outline No.32.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Voltage	VCEO	150	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	5	v
Collector-Current	Ic	200	mÅ
Transistor Dissipation:		200	
T _A up to 25°C	Рт	0.5	w
TA above 25°C	PT	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:		and the page	
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 175	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 175	۰č
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL	255	۰Č
Transistor Dissipation: TA up to 25°C TA above 25°C Temperature Range: Operating (Junction) Storage Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	PT PT TJ(opr) TSTG TL	0.5 See curve page 65 to 175 65 to 175 255	W 300 °C °C

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage ($I_c = 1 \text{ mA}$, $I_B = 0$)	V(BR)	cro 150 min 180	tvn
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = -10 \ \mu A$,			Υp
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage	V(BR)	ево 5 min; 7 typ	
$(Ic = 30 \text{ mA}, I_B = 1 \text{ mA})$	Vce (s	at) 1 typ; 3 max.	
$I_B = 1 \text{ mA}$	VBE (S	at) 0.68	
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio ($V_{CE} = 10$ V,	ТСВО	5 typ; 50 max	
Ic = 30 mA) Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Batio	hfE	30 min; 70 typ	
$(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 30 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 1 \text{ kHz})$	hre	80	
$V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 30 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 100 \text{ MHz}$	fT	50 min; 100 typ	N
$V_{CE} = 140$ V, $I_C = 2$ mA, $f = 100$ MHz	fT	50 min; 100 typ	N
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θ1-C	45 typ; 60 max	°C
inermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	⊖1-v	300 max	°C

Three-terminal measurement with lead No. 1 (emitter) and lead No. 3 (case) connected to guard terminal.

40414

40413

2N4068

v v

v

nÅ

MHz

MHz

ŵ









40354

0.5W

Si n-p-n type used in video-output amplifier stages of black-and-white television receivers. JEDEC TO-104, Outline No.32.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Voltage Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector Current	VCEO VEBO Ic	150 5 50	v MA
Transistor Dissipation: TA up to $25^{\circ}C$ TA above $25^{\circ}C$	Рт Рт	0.5 See curve pa	W 1 ge 300
Temperature Range: Operating (Junction) Storage Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Tı (opr) Tstg TL	65 to 175 65 to 175 255	ာင် သင့် သင့်
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage $(I_{C} = 1 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = 0)$	V (BR) CEO	150 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage $(I_E = -10 \ \mu A, I_C = 0)$	V(BR)EBO	5 min	v
$(I_C = 30 \text{ mA}, I_B = 1 \text{ mA})$ Collector-Cutoff Current (V _{CB} = 120 V, I _E = 0)	Vсе(sat) Ісво	5 max 100 max	v v
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio $(V_{CE} = 10 V, I_C = 10 mA)$	hre	55	
Collector-to-Base Feedback Capacitance $(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 30 \text{ mA})$	Ceb	3.5 max	\mathbf{pF}
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	fт fт Өл-с	50 min 50 min 60 max	MHz MHz °C/W

2N4069

1W

Si n-p-n type used in wide-band-amplifier and relaydriver applications in critical industrial equipment such as video amplifiers, television cameras, camera chains, monitors, oscilloscopes, and neon-indicator drivers. JEDEC TO-104 (with heat radiator), Outline No.33. This type is electrically identical with type 2N4068 except for the following items:





MAXIMUM RATINGS

Transistor Dissipation: TA up to 25°C TA above 25°C	Рт Рт	1 W See curve page 300
CHARACTERISTICS		
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	OJ-A	150 max °C/W

1W



2N5187 Si n-p-n epitaxial planar type used for switching applications in data-processing equipment and other criti-cal applications in military and industrial equipment. JEDEC TO-52, Outline No.21.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage Collector-to-Emitter Voltage Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector Current Transistor Dissipation	VCBO VCEO VEBO IC	25 10 5 500	V V mA
Tc up to $25^{\circ}C$ Tc above $25^{\circ}C$ TA up to $25^{\circ}C$ TA above $25^{\circ}C$ TA above $25^{\circ}C$ TA above $25^{\circ}C$ TC remperature Range:	PT PT PT PT	1 Derate at 5.72 0.3 Derate at 1.71	W mW/°C W mW/°C
Operating Storage Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	${f T}({ m opr}) \ {f T}_{ m STG} \ {f T}_{ m L}$	65 to 200 65 to 200 265	ာင် သင့်

CHARACTERISTICS - --

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 0.01 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm E} = 0)$	V(RR)(RD)	25 min	
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage	• (1)(1)(1))	25 11111	v
$(I_{\rm C} = 10 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 0, t_{\rm P} \le 100 \ \mu \text{s}, df \le 0.02)$	V(BR)CEO	10 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	10 mm	v
$(I_E = -0.01 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	V(BR)ERO	5 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage:		0 11111	v
$I_{\rm C} = 100$ mA, $I_{\rm B} = 10$ mA, $t_{\rm P} \le 100$ $\mu_{\rm S}$.			
df ≤ 0.02	VCE(sat)	0.3 typ: 0.5 max	v
$I_{\rm C} = 10 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 1 \text{ mA}$	VCE(sat)	0.2 typ: 0.25 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage:		one to provide max	v
$I_{\rm C} = 100$ mA, $I_{\rm B} = 10$ mA, $t_{\rm P} \ge 100 \ \mu {\rm s}$,			
$df \leq 0.02$	VBE(sat)	0.98 typ: 1.2 max	v
IC = I0 mA, IB = 1 mA	VBE (sat)	0.8 typ: 0.85 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CE} = 20 \text{ V}, V_{EB} = 0$)	Ісво	450 max	nÅ
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:		100 Hildre	
$V_{CE} = 1$ V, $I_{C} = 10$ mA	hfe	30 min	
VCE = 0.4 V, Ic = 30 mA	hfe	25 min	
Magintude of Small-Signal Forward-Current			
f = 100 MHz $VCE = 10$ V, Ic = 10 mA,			
Output Conscitones (W	hre	4 min; 6 typ	
$f = 0.140$ MHz) $V_{CB} = 5$ V, $I_E = 0$,	-		
Input Capacitance (Var - 0.5. M. J.	Cobo	2.8 typ; 3.5 max	pF
$f = 0.140$ MHz) $V EB \equiv 0.5$ V, $IC \equiv 0$,	-		•
Delay Time $(V_{00} - 6 V V_{00} (60))$	Cibo	3 typ; 4 max	pF
$I_{B1} = 10 \text{ mA}$ $I_{C2} = 100 \text{ mA}$ $I_{C1} = -4 \text{ V},$			-
Rise Time (Vcc = 6 V Van (α f) = 4 V	ta	6 typ; 8 max	ns
$I_{B1} = 10 \text{ mA}$ $I_{C2} = 100 \text{ mA}$ $I_{D2} = -4 \text{ V}$			
Storage Time: $100 \text{ mA}, 182 \equiv -10 \text{ mA}$	t,	6 typ; 10 max	ns
$V_{CC} = 6 V_{c} I_{B1} - 10 V_{c} I_{CC} - 100 mA$			
$I_{B2} = -10 \text{ mA}$			
$V_{CC} = 10$ V, $I_{B1} = 10$ mA $I_{CS} = 10$ mA	ls	9 typ; 13 max	ns
$I_{B2} = -10 \text{ mA}$		0.4	
Fall Time (Vcc = 6 V, $I_{B1} = 10 \text{ mA}$	La l	9 typ; 13 max	ns
$I_{CS} = 100 \text{ mA}$, $I_{B} = -10 \text{ mA}$	t .	E tam . 9 mars	
		o typ; s max	ns

335

Рт



40355

336

1W

Si n-p-n type used in video-output amplifier stages of black-and-white television receivers. JEDEC TO-104 (with heat radiator), Outline No.33. This type is identical with type 40354 except for the following item:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Trans	isto	r D	Dissipat	tion:
T.	un	to	25°C	

40405

1W

Si n-p-n epitaxial planar type used in class C rf power amplifiers, drivers, and frequency multipliers at frequencies to 400 MHz in battery-operated communications equipment. JEDEC TO-52, Outline No.21.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Voltage: Base open	VCEO	16	v
$V_{BF} = 0$	VCES	40	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	6	v
Collector Current	Ic	0.5	A
Transistor Dissipation: TA up to 25°C	PT	0.3	w
T_A and T_C above 25°C	PT	See curve page	300
Temperature Range: Operating (TA-Tc) Storage Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Tstg Tl	65 to 175 65 to 200 300	°0°°
Loud bout in D (10 D)			

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage:	V	16 min	37
$I_{C} = 10 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = 0, t_{P} = 100 \ \mu\text{s}, dt = 2\%$	V (BR)CEO	40 min	v
$I_{c} = 5 \text{ mA}, R_{BE} = 0$	V (BR)CES	40 11111	•
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage	77	6 min	v
$(I_E = 0.01 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	V (BR)EBO	0 11111	
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CE} = 15 V, R_{BE} = 0$)	ICES	0.4 max	$\mu \mathbf{A}$
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio		00 1	
$(V_{CE} = 1 V, I_C = 100 mA)$	h f e	20 min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio		0	
$(V_{CE} \equiv 1 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 100 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 100 \text{ MHz})$	n fe	3 mm	3477-
Gain Bandwidth Product (Ic = 100 mA, $V_{CE} = 1 V$)	fr	300 min	WINZ
Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 5 V$, $I_E = 0$,	~	0.5	- F
f = 0.1 to 1 MHz)	Cobo	3.5 max	pr
RF Power Output, Frequency-Doubler			
$(V_{CC} = 15 V, P_{1c} = 30 mW, f(in) = 86 MHz,$	_		
f(out) = 172 MHz	Poe	200+ min	mw
* East conditions given minimum efficiency - 35 per	cent.		
* For conditions given, infinitum cherency – of po-			





1

w





1W

40519

Si n-p-n epitaxial planar type used for class C rfamplifier, driver, and frequency-multiplier service in battery-operated communications equipment. JEDEC TO-52, Outline No.21.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Voltage: RBE = 0 Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector Current Transistor Dissipation: Tc up to 25°C Tc above 25°C TA up to 25°C TA above 25°C TA above 25°C Temperature Range: Operating Storage Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	VCES VCEO VEBO IC PT PT PT T T (opr) TSTG TL	40 16 500 1 See curve pag 0.3 See curve pag -65 to 200 -65 to 175 265	V V mA (e 300 W (e 300 C °C °C
UNARAUTERISTIUS			
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage: Ic = 10 mA, I _B = 0, tp = 100 μ s, df \leq 0.02 Ic = 5 mA, V _B = 0 Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Jp = 0.01 mA Jp = 0.0	V(BR)CEO V(BR)CES	16 min 40 min	V V
Collector-Cutoff Current (VCB = 20 V, VBE = 0.	V (BR)EBO	5 min	v
$I_E = 0$	Ісво	25 max	nA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio (Ic = 50 mA, Vcc = 1 V)	hre	20 min	
Ratio (Ic = 50 mA, $V_{CE} = 1 V$, f = 100 MHz)	hre	3 min	
Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 5$ V, $I_E = 0$, f = 0.1 to 1 MHz)	Cobo	3.5 max	pF



40637

70 min

20 min

mW

%

Si n-p-n epitaxial planar type used for frequency multiplier service to 175 MHz for low-level stages in mobile, marine and sonobouy vhf transmitters. JEDEC TO-52, Outline No.21.

Pee

η

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Voltage Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector Current	$egin{array}{c \in \mathbf{S} \\ \mathbf{V} \in \mathbf{B} \mathbf{O} \\ \mathbf{I} \mathbf{C} \end{array}$	30 5 100	V MA
Transistor Dissipation:	D.a	1	w
Tc up to 25°C	PT Pr	See curve page	300
Tc above 25°C	P _T	0.3	Ŵ
T_{A} above 25°C	PT	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:	_ / \	05 4 - 000	• •
Operating	T(opr)	-65 to 200	2.
Storage	TSTG	-03 10 173	° Č
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	-T1,	203	C

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage		90 min	37
$(I_{\rm C} = 0.01 \text{ mA}, V_{\rm BE} = 0)$	V (BR) CES	30 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage	VORDERO	5 min	v
$(1E \equiv -0.01 \text{ mA}, 1C \equiv 0)$	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• • • • • • • • •	
$(I_B = 1 \text{ mA}, I_C = 10 \text{ mA})$	VCE(sat)	0.6 max	v
Magnitude of Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio (VcE = 1 V, Ic = 50 mA, f = 100 MHz)	hre	3	
Collector-to-Base Capacitance (VCB = 12 V. IE = 0, f = 0.1 to 1 MHz)	Cobo	3	pF
Power Output, Frequency Doubler ($P_{1e} = 37 \text{ mW}$, fig = 78 MHz, feut = 156 MHz)	Por	100 min	mW
Efficiency, Frequency Doubler (fin = 78 MHz. fout = 156 MHz)	n	18 min	%
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	0-tH	0.15 max	°C/mW



TPYICAL INPUT REACTANCE CHARACTERISTICS



Switching Types

2N398 2N398A 2N398B

0.5W

0.15W

_ __...

0.25W

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction types used for direct "on-off" control of high-voltage, low-power devices such as neon indicators, relays, incandescent-lamp indicators, indicator counters of electronic computers, and similar applications in critical industrial and military equipment. Designed to meet MIL specifications, including mechanical, environmental, and life tests. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.



MAXIMUM RATINGS					
Collector-to-Base Voltage	T7	2N398	2N 398 A	2N398B	
Collector-to-Emitter (Ban - 0)	V CBO	-105	-105	-105	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VCES	-105	-105	-105	v
Collector Current	VEBO	-50	-50	75	v
Emitter Current	IC Im	-100	-200	-200	mA
Transistor Dissipation:	1 HJ	100	200	200	mA
TA up to 25°C	Pm	E0	150	050	
T _A above 25°C	P _T	30	150	250	w
Temperature Range:	* 1		See	curve pag	e 300
Operating (Ambient)	T ₄ (opr)	-65 to 55	-65	to 100	•0
Storage	Тато	-65 to 85	-65	to 100	
Lead-Soldering Temperature:	-010	00 10 00	-05	10 100	C
10 seconds max	T_L	230	_	250	ംപ
3 seconds max	T_L^-		250		•č
CHADACTEDICTICC					Ŭ
CHARACTERISTICS					
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage:					
IC = -0.025 mA, IE = 0	V(BR)CBO	_	—	—105 min	v
1C = -0.05 mA, 1R = 0	V (BR)CBO		-105	$-\min$	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage					
$(1E \equiv -0.05 \text{ mA}, 1C \equiv 0)$	V(BR)ERO	—50	50	—75 min	v
Voltage					
Boso to Emitten Cotunation Maltan	VRT	-105	-105	—105 min	v
Jase-10-Emitter Saturation Voltage	TT /				
$Collector_to_Emitter Setunction Voltage$	VBE (Sat)	-0.4	-0.4	—0.3 max	v
$(I_c - 5 \text{ mA} I_p - 0.25 \text{ mA})$	V (m-+)	0.25	0.05	0.05	
Collector-Cutoff Current:	VCE(Sat)	0.35	-0.35	-0.25 max	v
$V_{CE} = -105 V_{CE} = 0 T_{A} - 25^{\circ}C$	Long	- 600	600	200	
$V_{CN} = -55 V_{cN} R_{RR} = 10 kO T_{A} = 25^{\circ}C$	Lonn	-000	-600	-300 max	μA
$V_{CB} = -2.5 V. I_E = 0. T_A = 25^{\circ}C$	ICER		-14	-300 max	μA
$V_{CB} = -105 V. I_{E} = 0. T_{A} = 25^{\circ}C$	Icro	_50	50	0 max	μA
$V_{CB} = -105 V$, $I_{E} = 0$, $T_{A} = 71^{\circ}C$	Icro		-30	-200 max	
Emitter-Cutoff Current:	AC BO			-Joo max	μΑ
$V_{EB} = -2.5 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 0$	IEBO			-6 max	 A
$V_{EB} = -50 V, I_{C} = 0$	IEBO	-50	-50	- max	
$V_{EB} = -75 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 0$	IEBO	_	_	-50 max	"A
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:				00a.A	<i>p</i>
$V_{CE} = -0.25 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = -5 \text{ mA}$	hre	_		20 min	
$V_{CE} = -0.35 V, I_{C} = -5 mA$	hrg	20	20	— min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer					
Ratio (VCE = -6 V, IC = -1 mA,					
f = 1 kHz	hfe	-	20	40 min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer-					
Ratio Cutoff Frequency ($V_{CB} = -6 V$,					
IE = 1 mA	furb	-		1 max	MHz
Inermal Resistance, Junction-to-					
Ampient	⊕ı~a	-	0.5	0.3 max °	C/W



0.12W

2N585

Ge n-p-n alloy-junction type used in switching applications in data-processing equipment. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCBO	25	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			•
$V_{BE} = -1 V$	VCEV	24	v
Base open	VCEO	15	ý
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	20	Ý
Collector Current	Ic	200	mÁ
Emitter Current	IE	-200	mA
Transistor Dissipation:			
TA up to 25°C	Рт	120	mW
T _A above 25°C	PT	See curve	oage 300
Temperature Range:	- •	,	
Operating (Ambient)	T ₄ (opr)	71	°C
Storage	TSTC	-65 to 85	٠č
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Τr.	255	۰č
		-00	Ŭ

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Base Breakdow	n Voltage (Ic = 25 μ A,			
$I_{12} = 0$)		V(BR)CBO	25 min	v

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Collector to Emitter Breakdown Voltage (Ic - 600 #A.			
$I_{\rm B} = 0$	V(BR)CEO	15 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (IE = $-25 \mu A$,			
Ic = 0)	V(BR)EBO	20 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage ($Ic = 20$ mA,	Vac (act)	0.2	77
$I_B \equiv 1 \text{ mA}$	VCE(Sal)	0.2 max	•
$Aase-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (I_a - 20 mA I_B - 1 mA)$	VRE(sat)	0.45 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CB} = 0.25 V, I_E = 0$	Ісво	6 max	μA
$V_{CB} = 12 V, I_{E} = 0$	Ісво	8 max	μΑ
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VBE = 5 V, $1c = 0$)	IEBO	5 max	μA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio (VCE = 0.2 V,	her	20 min	
$10 \equiv 20 \text{ mA}$	ILF E		
Frequency ($V_{CB} = 6$ V, $I_E = -1$ mA)	fatb	3 min	MHz
Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 6 V$, $I_E = 0$)	Сово	25 max	pF
Stored Base Charge (Ic = 20 mA , IB = 2 mA)	Qs	3000 max	pC

2N388 2N388A

0.15W



2N388 2N388A

Ge n-p-n alloy-junction types used in switching applications in data-processing equipment. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	25	40	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			4.0	
$V_{BE} = -0.5$ V	VCEV	—	40	v
$B_{BE} = 10000$ O	VCER	20	20	V
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	15	15	v
Collector Current	Ic	200	200	mA
Conector Current	**			
Transistor Dissipation:	Den	150	150	mW
T_A up to $25^{\circ}C$	1 I I	Soo	CUTVA Dag	e 300
T_{A} above 25°C	гт	Dee	curve pag	,c 000
Temperature Range:	m (4- 100	
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65	10 100	
Storage	TSTG	-65	to 100	
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T_L	235	235	-0
CHADACTEDISTICS		937209	2012094	
CHARACTERISTICS		214300	2113001	
Base-to-Emitter Voltage:			1 5	37
$I_B = 10 \text{ mA}, I_C = 200 \text{ mA}$	VBE	1.5	1.5 max	
$I_B = 4 \text{ mA}, I_C = 100 \text{ mA}$	VBE	0.8	0.8 max	• V
Collector-Cutoff Current:				
$V_{CE} = 20 \text{ V}, \text{ R}_{BE} = 10000 \Omega$	ICER	50	50 max	μA
$V_{CE} = 40 \text{ V}, \text{ V}_{BE} = -0.5 \text{ V}$	ICEV	—	50 max	μA
$V_{CR} - 40 V$, $I_R = 0$	Ісво	_	40 max	μA
$V_{CB} = 25$ V $I_{E} = 0$	Ісво	10	10 max	μA
$V_{CB} = 1 V T_{T} = 0$	Ісво	5	5 max	μA
Fraitter Cutoff Current:				
$M_{-} \rightarrow 15 V J_{0} = 0$	IEBO	10	10 max	μA
$\mathbf{V} \mathbf{E} \mathbf{B} = 1 \mathbf{J} \mathbf{V}, 1 \mathbf{U} = \mathbf{U}$	Impo	5	5 max	μA
$VEB \equiv I V, IC = 0$	*BD0	-		•
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio.	h	30	30 min	
$V_{CE} = 0.75 \text{ V}, 1c = 200 \text{ mA}$	here been	61) to 180	
$V_{CR} = 0.5 V, 1c = 30 mA$	IIFE		/ 10 100	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer-Ratio	A	5	5 min	MH7
Cutoff Frequency ($V_{CB} = 6 V$, $I_C = 1 MA$)	Ihfb		20 mov	nF
Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 6 V$, $I_C = 1 mA$)	Cobo	20	20 max	pr.
Turn-On Time ($Vcc = 20$ V, $I_{B1} = 10$ mA,				
$I_{B2} = -10$ mA, $I_C = 0.2$ A, $R_C = 100 \Omega$)	ta 🕂 tr	1	1 max	c μs
Storage Time ($V_{CC} = 20$ V, $I_{B1} = 10$ mA,				
$I_{R2} = -10$ mA. Ic = 0.2 A. Rc = 100 Ω)	t.	0.7	0.7 mai	¢ μs
Fall Time (Vcc = 20 V, $I_{B1} = 10 \text{ mA}$.				
$I_{Re} = -10 \text{ mA}$, $I_C = 0.2 \text{ A}$, $R_C = 100 \Omega$)	tr	0.7	0.7 ma:	κ μs

Ì

0.15W

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction types used in switching applications in data-processing equipment. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

C

2B

				-
Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCBO	25	40	
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage (Vpr - 1 V)	Venu	-23		<u>.</u>
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VCEV		35	v
Collector Current	VEBO	-12	-25	v
Emitter Current	fc	-100	-150	mA
Transistor Dissipation	IE	100	150	mA
TA up to 25°C	Pr	150	150	
T _A above 25°C	D.	130	190	mw
Temperature Range:	T.L.	See	curve]	page 300
Operating (Ambient)	T. (opr)	SE to PE	CE As 1	
Storage	Tama	-03 10 83	-65 10 1	
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 c more)	I STG	-65 to 100	-65 to J	100 °C
and boldering remperature (10 5 mar)	I L	255	255	°C
CHARACTERISTICS				

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage				
$(I_c = -0.02 \text{ mA}, I_R = 0)$	W.n.n. and	05	40.1	
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage	V (BR)CBO	-25	-40 min	v
$(I_E = -0.02 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	Vanana	10	0 5 main	
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage:	* (BR)EBU	-12	-25 min	v
$Ic = -12 \text{ mA}, I_B = -0.4 \text{ mA}$	Var(sat)	_0.35	_0 35 mov	37
$I_{\rm C} = -24$ mA, $I_{\rm B} = -1$ mA	VBE (sat)	-0.4	_04 max	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage:			-0.4 max	•
$Ic = -12$ mA, $I_B = -0.4$ mA	VCE(sat)	-0.15	-0.15 max	v
1c = -24 mA, 1B = -1 mA	Vcr (sat)	-0.2	-0.2 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:				•
$V_{CB} = -12$ V, $I_E = 0$, $T_A = 25^{\circ}C$	Ісво	-5	-5 max	щA
$VCB = -12 V, IE = 0, TA = 80^{\circ}C$	Ісво	-90*	-90 max	μA
Van Do Ward-Current Transfer Ratio:				
$V_{CB} = -0.2$ V, $I_C = -24$ mA	hfe	24	24 min	
Small-Signal Forward Connect Theorem \mathbf{P}	hfe	30	30 min	
Cutoff Frequency (Ver - 6 V Jan 1 auto)				
Output Capacitance: $(VCB = -6 V, 1C = -1 MA)$	Ihfb	4	4 min	MHz
$V_{CR} = -6 V_{LC} = 0$	C .			_
$V_{CB} = -6 V I_{F} - 1 mA f - 2 MH_{T}$	Cobo	20	- max	pF
Stored Base Charge (Ic10 mA	Cobo	-	20 max	pF
$I_{B} = -1 mA$	0.	1400	1400	-0
For higher dissipation values in switching approximation	lications see	RCA	nulication	pc.
AN-181.		ACA A	ppncation ;	note
* This value does not apply to type 2N581.				



0.15W

2N414

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction type used in switching applications in data-processing equipment. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vano	20	* 7
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:	ACBO		v
$V_{BE} = 1 V$	Von	20	* 7
Base open	VCEN	-20	Y.
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VCEO	-15	š
Peak Collector Current	VEBO		Ą,
Collector Current	IC T-	-400 m.	Ą,
Transistor Dissipation:	10	-200 m/	A
TA UD to 25°C	D.,,	150	
TA above 25°C	L'T	150 my	N
$\mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{r}} = \mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{r}}^{\mathbf{r}}$	PT	See curve page 30	0
11 — 33 C	Рт	75 mV	V

2N404

2N404A

2N404A

2N404

28

MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

Ambient-Temperature Range: Operating (T _A) and Storage (Tstg) Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T_L	65 to 85 240	•C •C
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-Cutoff Current (VCB = -12 V, IE = 0)	Ісво	—5 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VEB = -12 V, Ic = 0)	IEBO	—5 max	μA
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio $(V_{CE} = -6 V, I_E = 1 mA, f = 1 kHz)$	hre	80	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer-Ratio Cuton	free	8	MHz
Frequency (VCB = -6 V, IE = 1 IIA)	Cabo	11	pF
Output Capacitance ($v_{CB} = -6 v$, $10 = -1 mR$)	0000		
Small-Signal Short-Circuit input impedance $(V_{m} - 6V_{m} - 1mA_{m} f - 1kHz)$	hib	30	Ω
Small-Signal Open-Circuit Reverse-Voltage			
Transfer Batio (VCB = -6 V, IE = 0, f = 1 kHz)	hrb	0.5 x 10 ⁻⁴	
Noise Figure (VCE = -6 V, IE = 1 mA, f = 1.5 MHz)	NF	6	qR
Power Gain ($V_{CE} = -6 V$, $I_E = 1 mA$, $f = 1.5 MHz$)	Gp•	16	dВ

2N1300	0.15W				
Ge p-n-p diffused-junction cations in commercial a equipment. JEDEC TO-5,	type used in computer nd military data-pro Outline No.5.	r appli- cessing	OF T)
MAXIMUM RATINGS					
Collector-to-Base Voltage Collector-to-Emitter Voltage . Emitter-to-Base Voltage* Collector Current		Vcbo Vceo Vebo Ic Ie	-	-13 -12 -1 100 100	V V mA mA

$ \begin{array}{l} \text{Entrice Constraints for Dissipation:} \\ \text{T}_{A} = 25^{\circ}\text{C} \\ \text{T}_{A} = 55^{\circ}\text{C} \\ \text{T}_{A} = 51^{\circ}\text{C} \end{array} $	Рт	150	mW
	Рт	75	mW
	Рт	35	mW
TA = 11 C Ambient-Temperature Range: Operating (T_A) and Storage (T_{STG}) Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Tı.	-65 to 85 225	°C °C

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_{\rm C} = -0.02$ mA,	V(BR)(BO	—13 min	v
IE = 0 Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($IE = 0.1$ mA,	V(BR)EBO	—1 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage	V(BR)CEBL	-12	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($1c = -10$ mA, $I_B = -0.33$ mA)	VBE	-0.4 max	v



CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = -6 V$, $I_E = 0$) Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio ($V_{CE} = -0.3 V$, $I_C = -10 mA$) Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = -3 V$, $I_C = -10 mA$) Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = -6 V$, $I_E = 0$) Thermal Time Constant Total Stored Charge ($I_C = -10 mA$, $I_B = -1 mA$) Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient Ісво -3 max μA 30 min hfe MHz fт 25 min 12 max Cobo pF τ (thermal) Qs 10 ms 400 max °C/W ØJ-A 400 max

* This rating may be exceeded and the emitter-to-base junction operated in the breakdown condition provided the emitter dissipation is limited to 30 milliwatts at 25°C. For ambient temperatures above 25°C, the dissipation must be reduced by 0.5 milliwatts per °C.



0.15W

2N1301

Ge p-n-p diffused-junction type used in computer applications in data-processing equipment. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. This type is identical with type 2N1300 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Emitter-to-Base Voltage*	Vebo	4	v
CHARACTERISTICS			
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$(I_E = 0.1 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	V(BR)EBO	-4 min	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (Ic = -40 mA, I _B = -1 mA)	VBE	0.6 max	v
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{CE} = -0.3 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = -10 \text{ mA}$	hfe	30 min	
$V_{CE} = -0.5 V$, $I_C = -40 mA$	hfe	40 min	
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = -3 V$, $I_C = -10 mA$)	fr	35 min	MHz
Total Stored Charge:			
$I_{\rm C} = -10$ mA, $I_{\rm B} = -1$ mA	Qs	325 max	pC
$I_{\rm C} = -40$ mA, $I_{\rm B} = -2$ mA	Qs	800 max	pC
	-		-

 This rating may be exceeded and the emitter-to-base junction operated in the breakdown condition provided the emitter dissipation is limited to 30 millivolts at 25°C. For ambient temperatures above 25°C, reduce the dissipation by 0.5 millivolts per °C.



0.15W

2N1302

Ge n-p-n alloy-junction type used in medium-speed switching applicatons in commercial and military dataprocessing equipment. The n-p-n construction permits complementary operation with a matching p-n-p type, such as the 2N1303. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво Vлас	25	V
Collector Current	IC	0.3	Å
Transistor Dissipation:			
T _A up to 25°C	$\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{T}}$	150	mW
T _A above 25°C	Рт	See curve	page 300
Temperature Range:			• •
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 85	°C
Storage	TSTG	65 to 100	٩Č
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL	230	°C
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (In - 0.5 mA			
$L_a = 10 \text{ mA}$	Ver(sat)	0.2 max	v
$R_{res} = 10 \text{ mA}$	Ver (Sat)	0 15 to 0 4	v
Collector-to-Emitter Reach-Through Voltage	Vnr	25 min	v
Collector Cutoff Current (Van - 25 V In - 0)	Igno	6 may	
Emitter Cutoff Current (Ver $= 25$ V Ic $= 0$)	Impo	6 max	μ <u>η</u>
Entitler-Cuton Current (VEB - 25 V, 10 - V)	1EBU	Umax	μΑ
Manu Forward-Current Induster Ratio:	h	20 min	
$\mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{CE}} = \mathbf{I} \mathbf{V}, \mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{C}} = \mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{V}} \mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{I}} \mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{C}} = \mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{V}} \mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{I}} \mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{C}} = \mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{V}} \mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{C}} \mathbf{I}_{$	LIFE	20 min	
$V_{CE} = 0.33 V, 1C = 200 MA$	IIFE	10 min	

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Small-Signal	Forward-Current	Transfer-Rat	io Cutoff		
Frequency	$(V_{CB} = 5 V, I_E =$	—1 mA)		furb	3 min
Output Canad	itance (Vcs = 5 V	$I_{\rm LE} = 0$		Cobo	20 max

2N1303

0.15W

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction type used in medium-speed switching applications in data-processing equipment. The 2N1303 is the p-n-p complement of the n-p-n type 2N1302. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	30	<u>v</u>
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	25	v.
Collector Current	Ic	-0.3	A
Transistor Dissipation			
Thansistor Dissipation:	Рт	150	mW
T, above 25°C	Рт	See curve page	2 300
Tamparature Rande'			
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 85	°C
Cherado	TSTG	-65 to 100	°C
Land Coldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL	230	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 3 max) maintent			
ALL DA ATERICTIOS			
CHARACTERISTIUS			

Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage $(I_B = -0.5 \text{ mA}, I_C = -10 \text{ mA})$	Vcr(sat)	-0.2 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($I_B = -0.5 \text{ mA}$,	VBE	-0.15 to -0.4	v
1c = -10 mA) Collector-to-Emitter Reach-Through Voltage	VRT ICBO	-25 min -6 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VEB = -25 V, Ic = 0)	Іево	6 max	μA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio: $V_{CE} = -1$ V, Ic = -10 mA	hfe hfe	20 min 10 min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer-Ratio Cutoff Frequency (V:B = -5 V, IE = 1 mA)	fhfb Cobo	3 min 20 max	MHz pF

2N1304

0.15W

Ge n-p-n alloy-junction type used in medium-speed switching applications in data-processing equipment. The n-p-n construction permits complementary operation with a matching p-n-p type, such as the 2N1305. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. This type is identical with type 2N1302 except for the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS

$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Vce(sat) Vbe Vrt	0.2 max 0.15 to 0.35 20 min	v v v
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio: $V_{CE} = 1 V, I_C = 10 \text{ mA}$ $V_{CE} = 0.35 V, I_C = 200 \text{ mA}$	hfe hfe	40 to 200 15 min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer-Ratio Cutoff Frequency ($V_{CB} = 5 V$, $I_E = -1 mA$)	furb	5 min	MHz

2N1305

0.15W

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction type used in medium-speed switching applications in data-processing equipment. The 2N1305 is the p-n-p complement of the n-p-n type 2N1304. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. This type is identical with type 2N1303 except for the following items:







MHz pF

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage ($I_B = -25 \text{ mA}$.			
Ic = -10 mA)	Vcr(sat)	-0.2 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($I_B = -0.5 \text{ mA}$,	· • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	Vid MidA	v
1c = -10 mA	VBE	-0.15 to -0.35	v
Collector-to-Emitter Reach-Through Voltage	VRT	-20 min	ý
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			•
$V_{CE} = -1$ V, $1_{C} = -10$ mA	hre	40 to 200	
VCK = -0.35 V, $IC = -200$ mA	hfe	15 min	
Frequency (Von E V In A A	-		
$requerey (veb = -3 v, ie = 1 mA) \dots$	fhfb	5 min	MHz

0.15W



Ge n-p-n alloy-junction type used in medium-speed switching applications in data processing equipment. The 2N1306 is the n-p-n complement of the p-n-p type 2N1307. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. This type is identical with type 2N1302 except for the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage ($I_B = 0.17$ mA,			
Ic = 10 mA	VCE(sat)	0.2 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($I_B = 0.5 \text{ mA}$, $I_C = 10 \text{ mA}$)	VBE	0.15 to 0.35	ý
Collector-to-Emitter Reach-Through Voltage	VRT	15 min	ý
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			•
$V_{\rm CE}$ = 1 V, Ic = 10 mA	hre	60 to 300	
$V_{\rm CE} = 0.35$ V, $I_{\rm C} = 200$ mA	hre	20 min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer-Ratio Cutoff			
Frequency (V _{CB} = 5 V, $I_E = -1$ mA)	fhfb	10 min	MHz



Ge p-n-p alloy-junction type used in medium-speed switching applications in data-processing equipment. The 2N1307 is the p-n-p complement of the n-p-n type 2N1306. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. This type is identical with type 2N1303 except for the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_B = -0.17 \text{ mA}, I_C = -10 \text{ mA})$	Vcc(sat)	-0 2 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (IB $= -0.5$ mA.		• =	•
Ic = -10 mA	VRE	-0.15 to0.35	v
Collector-to-Emitter Reach-Through Voltage	VRT	15 min	v
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			•
$V_{\rm CE} = -1$ V, Ic = -10 mA	hre	60 10 300	
$V_{CE} = -0.35 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = -200 \text{ mA}$	hre	20 min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer-Ratio Cutoff			
Frequency (V _{CB} = -5 V, I _E = 1 mA)	face	10 min	MH ₇
	*****		111111

(8	2)8
	-3 c

0.15W

Ge n-p-n alloy-junction type used in medium-speed switching applications in data processing equipment. The 2N1308 is the n-p-n complement of the p-n-p type 2N1309. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. This type is identical with type 2N1302 except for the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (In = 0.13 mA, Ir = 10 mA) Base-to-Emitter Voltage (In = 0.5 mA, Ic = 10 mA) Collector-to-Emitter Reach-Through Voltage	. VCE (sat) VBE VRT	0.2 max 0.15 to 0.35 15 min	v v v
$V_{CE} = 1$ V, $I_C = 10$ mA	hre	80 min	
$V_{CE} = 0.35$ V, $I_C = 200$ mA	hre	20 min	

2N1306

0.15W

2N1307

A L L L A A

2N1308

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer-Ratio Cutoff Frequency ($V_{CB} = 5 V$, $I_E = -1 mA$) fatb

2N1309

0.15W

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction type used in medium-speed switching applicatons in data-processing equipment. The 2N1309 is the p-n-p complement of the n-p-n type 2N1308. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. This type is identical with type 2N1303 except for the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage $(I_R = -0.13 \text{ mA}, I_C = -10 \text{ mA})$	Vce(sat)	-0.2 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($I_B = -0.5$ mA, $I_C = -10$ mA) Collector-to-Emitter Reach-Through Voltage	VBE VRT	—0.15 to —0.35 —15 min	v
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio: $V_{CE} = -1$ V, $I_C = -10$ mA $V_{CE} = -0.35$ V, $I_C = -200$ mA	hre hre	80 min 20 min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer-Ratio Cuton Frequency ($V_{CB} = -5 V$, $I_E = 1 mA$)	fhfb	15 min	MHz

2N1605 2N1605A

0.15W

0.2W

Ge n-p-n alloy-junction types used in medium-speed switching applications in data-processing equipment.

The n-p-n construction permits complementary operation with a matching p-n-p type such as the 2N404. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAX	IM	UM	RAT	'IN	IGS
-----	----	----	-----	-----	-----

MAXIMUM RATINGS		05	40	v
Collector-to-Base Voltage $(V_{RE} = -1 V)$	VCBO VCEV	25	40	v.
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	12	100	mÅ
Collector Current	Ic	100	_100	mA
Emitter Current	lE	-100	-100	
Transistor Dissipation:		150	200	mW
T _A up to 25°C	PT	See	curve page	300
TA above 25°C	Рт	500	curre p-8-	
Temperature Range:	T ₁ (opr)	100	100	°C
Operating (Junction)	Tere		55 to 100	°C
Storage	Tr.	235	235	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	10			
CHARACTERISTICS				
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage:		25	— min	v
$I_{c} = 0.02 \text{ mA}, I_{E} = 0$	V (BR)CBO	20	40 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = 0.01$ mA, $I_{\rm E} = 0$	V (BR)CBO			
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage	V.nn. ERO	12	12 min	v
$(I_E = 0.02 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	A (BR) PRO			
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage:	Vor(sat)	0.15	0.15 max	v
$I_{\rm C} = 12$ mA, $I_{\rm B} = 0.4$ mA	VCE (sat)	0.2	0.2 max	v
$I_{\rm C} = 24$ mA, $I_{\rm B} = 1$ mA	*****			
Base-to-Emitter Voltage:	VBE	0.35	0.35 max	V.
$I_C = I_Z \text{ mA}, I_B = 0.4 \text{ mA}$	VBE	0.4	0.4 max	v
$I_C = 24 \text{ mA}, I_B = 1 \text{ min}$ (11-MO min volt-				
Emitter Floating Potential (12 see):				37
$V_{cn} - 24$ V	VEB(fl)	1	- max	v
$\mathbf{V}_{CR} = 40 \ \mathbf{V}$	VEB(II)		I max	•
Collector-Cutoff Current:	•	5	- max	"A
$V_{CB} = 12 V, I_E = 0, T_A = 25^{\circ}C$	LCBO	125	125 max	μA
$V_{CB} = 12$ V, $I_E = 0$, $T_A = 80^{\circ}C$	LCBO		10 max	μA
$V_{CB} = 40 V, I_E = 0, T_A = 25^{\circ}C$	TCBO	2.5	2.5 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 2.5 V$, $I_C = 0$)	TERO	2.0		

15

(2)8
ଡ଼ୄୄୗ୵	Z}-9
· 2	<u> </u>

2N1605

2N1605A

MHz

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:				
$V_{CE} = 0.15 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 12 \text{ mA}$	hfe	30	30 min	
$V_{CE} = 0.2 V, 1C = 24 mA$	hfE	24	24 min	
$v_{12} = 0.23$ V, $10 = 20$ MA	hfe	40	40 min	
Cutoff Fragueney (Ver - A Wasser-Ratio				
Total Stored Charge (Voc = 5 V, $I_E = 1 \text{ mA}$)	Íhfb	4	4 min	MHz
$I_{c} = 10 \text{ mA}, I_{b} = 1 \text{ mA}$	0.	1400	1 400	-
Output Capacitance (Vcr = 6 V $I_{T} = 1 m \Lambda$	w/s	1400	1400 max	pC
f = 2 MHz	Case	20	20	
	CODO	20	20 max	pr.

0.15W

(2)B 3

Ge p-n-p diffused-junction type used in computer applications in data-processing equipment. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. This type is identical with type 2N1300 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Emitter-to-Base Voltage*	Vebo	-4	v
CHARACTERISTICS			
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = -0.1 \text{ mA}$, $I_C = 0$) Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($I_C = -40 \text{ mA}$, $I_B = -1 \text{ mA}$) Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio: $V_{CE} = -0.3 \text{ V}$, $I_C = -10 \text{ mA}$.	V(BR)EBO VBE hfe	4 min 0.6 max 50 min; 75 typ	v
$V_{CE} = -0.5$ V, $I_C = -40$ mA Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = -3$ V, $I_C = -10$ mA) Total Stored Charge:	hfE ft	50 min; 85 typ 50 min	MHz
$Ic = -10 \text{ mA}, I_B = -0.4 \text{ mA}$ $Ic = -40 \text{ mA}, I_B = -1.6 \text{ mA}$	Qs Qs	160 max 410 max	pC pC

* This rating may be exceeded and the emitter-to-base junction operated in the breakdown condition provided the emitter dissipation is limited to 30 milliwatts at 25°C. For ambient temperatures above 25° C, reduce the dissipation by 0.5 milliwatts per °C.



0.3W

2N706 2N706A

2N706 2N706A

2N1683

Si n-p-n epitaxial planar types used in high-speed switching applications in data-processing equipment. JEDEC TO-18, Outline No.12,

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage $(R_{BE} = 10 \ \Omega)$ Emitter-to-Base Voltage $(R_{BE} = 10 \ \Omega)$ Collector Current Transistor Dissipation	VCBO VCER VEBO IC	25 20 3	25 20 5 50	V V V A
TA up to 25°C Tc (with heat sink) up to 25°C Ta or Tc (with heat sink) above 25°C Temperature Range:	$\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{T}}$ $\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{T}}$ $\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{T}}$	0.3 1 See	0.3 1 curve page	W W 300
Operating (Junction) Storage Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T _J (opr) T _{STG} T _L	175 65 255	175 to 175	•C •C •C
CHARACTERISTICS				
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage: $(Ic = 10 \text{ mA}, I_B = 1 \text{ mA})$	Vce(sat)	0.6	0.6 max	v
$(Ic = 10 \text{ mA}, I_B = 1 \text{ mA})$	VBE(sat)	0.9	0.9 max	v
$(1c = 10 \text{ mA}, I_B = 1 \text{ mA})$ Collector-Cutoff Current: $V_{CB} = 15 \text{ V}, I_E = 0, T_A = 25^{\circ}\text{C}$ $V_{CB} = 15 \text{ V}, I_E = 0, T_A = 150^{\circ}\text{C}$ Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:	Vве(sat) Ісво Ісво	0.9 0.5 30	0.9 max 0.5 max 30 max	۷ 4 مر 4 م

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio: Von - 15 V. Ic = 10 mA, f = 100 MHz	hre	2	— min	
$V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_{C} = 10$ mA, $f = 100$ MHz	hre	6	2 min — max	pF
Output Capacitance (VCB = 10 V, $1E = 0$) Turn-On Time (VCC = 3 V, IC = 10 mA,	C000	Ū	mux	p-
$I_{B1} = 3 \text{ mA}, I_{B2} = -1 \text{ mA}, R_L = 270 \Omega$	ta + tr		40 max	ns
Turn-Off Time (Vcc = 3 V, 1c = 10 mA, $I_{B1} = 3 \text{ mA}, I_{B2} = -1 \text{ mA}, R_L = 270 \Omega$)	ts + tr	—	75 max	ns
Storage Time (V _{CC} = 10 V, I _{B1} = 10 mA, I _{B2} = -10 mA, R _L = 1000 Ω)	ta	60	25 max	ns

2N709

0.3W

Si n-p-n epitaxial planar type used in switching applications in data-processing equipment. JEDEC TO-18, Outline No.12. This type is identical with type 2N2475 except for the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage ($Ic = 3 \text{ mA}$,			
$I_B = 0.15 \text{ mA}$	Vce(sat)	0.3 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage ($Ic = 3 \text{ mA}$,	V _{BE} (sat)	0.7 to 0.85	v
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$L_{0} = 10 \text{ mA}$ $V_{CE} = 0.5 \text{ V}$ $T_{A} = 25^{\circ}\text{C}$	hfg	20 to 120	
$I_{\rm C} = 10 \text{ mA}, \text{ Ver} = 1 \text{ V}, \text{ T}_{\rm A} = 25^{\circ}\text{C}$	hre	15 min	
$I_{C} = 30 \text{ mA}, \text{ VCE} = 1 \text{ V}, \text{ IA} = 20 \text{ C}$	hfE	10 min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$J_{\rm Lo} = 5 \text{ mA} \text{ Vcr} = 4 \text{ V} \text{ f} = 100 \text{ MHz}$	hfe	6 min	_
$I_{\rm max} = 0.5 \text{ V}$ Ic $-0.5 \text{ f} = 140 \text{ kHz}$	Cibo	2 max	\mathbf{pF}
input capacitance $(\sqrt{n_B} = 0.5 \text{ V}, 10 = 0.6 \text{ f} = 140 \text{ kHz})$	Cobe	3 max	\mathbf{pF}
Output Capacitance (VCB $=$ 5 V, 1E $=$ 0, 1 $=$ 110 mA			•
Turn-On Time ($10 \equiv 10 \text{ mA}, 181 \equiv 2 \text{ mA}, 182 \equiv -1 \text{ max},$	++ +-	15 max	ns
$V_{CC} = 1 V$	tu T tr	10 1110.0	
Turn-Off Time ($I_{C} = 10 \text{ mA}$, $I_{B1} = 2 \text{ mA}$, $I_{B2} = -1 \text{ mA}$,	A 1 A.	15 max	ne
$V_{cc} = 1 V$	$\iota_s + \iota_r$	15 max	113

2N2475

0.3W

Si n-p-n epitaxial planar type used in very-high-speed switching applications in logic circuits in military and commercial data-processing equipment. Similar to JEDEC TO-18, Outline No.12, except has minimum case height of 0.100 inch.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage

Collector-to-Emitter Voltage Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector Current	Vсео Vево Ic
Transistor Dissipation: TA up to 25°C Tc up to 100°C TA above 25°C or Tc above 100°C Temperature Range: Operating (Junction) Storage Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	PT PT PT TJ(opr) TSTG TL
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	V(BR)CB(V(BR)EB VCEO (SU VCE (Sat
$(I_{\rm C} = 20 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 0.66 \text{ mA})$	V RE (Sa



15

6

Limited by power dissipation 0.3 0.5

See curve page 300

Vebo

v

w w

č

V(BR)CBO	15 min	v
V(BR)EBO	4 min	v
Vceo(sus)	6 min	v
Ver (sat)	0.4 max	v
VBE(sat)	0.8 to 1	v

--65 to 200 -65 to 200 300



CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CB} = 5 V, I_E = 0, T_A = 25^{\circ}C$	Ісво	0.05 max	
$V_{CB} = 5 V, I_E = 0, T_A = 150^{\circ}C$	Icno	5 max	μA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio	1080	Jinax	μA
$V_{CE} = 0.5 V$, $I_C = 50 mA$, $T_A = 25^{\circ}C$	hon	20	
$V_{CE} = 0.4 V_{CE} - 20 mA_{CE} - 55^{\circ}C$	LIF IS	20 min	
$V_{\rm eff} = 0.4$ V $L_{\rm e} = 20$ m/s, $T_{\rm A} = -550$ C	nfe	15 min	
$V_{12} = 0.4$ V, $10 = 20$ mA, $11 = 25^{\circ}C$	hre	30 to 150	
$v_{CE} \equiv 0.3 v, 1_{C} \equiv 1 \text{ mA}, T_{A} \equiv 25^{\circ}\text{C}$	hfr	20 min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 2 V, I_C = 20 mA, f = 100 MH_{7})$	he	C	
Input Capacitance (Van - 05 V La - 0	IIIê	6 11111	
f = 0.14 MHz) (VEB = 0.5 V, $10 = 0$,	-		
	Cibo	3 max	pF
Output Capacitance (V(B = 5 V, IE = 0,			• -
f = 0.14 MHz	Caba	25 max	- F
Storage Time (Ic = 5 mA, In = 5 mA, In = 5 mA)	0000	2.5 max	pr
$V_{CC} = 3 V_{1}$			
Turn On Time $/I_{\rm T} = 20 \pm 4$	τ _a	6 max	ns
$10111-011 \text{ Inne} (10 \pm 20 \text{ mA}, 1B1 \pm 1 \text{ mA},$			
$_{1B_2} = -1$ mA, Vcc = 1.8 V)	ta 🕂 te	20 max	ne
Turn-Off Time (Ic = 20 mA, $I_{B1} = 1 mA$		eo mux	
$I_{B_2} = -1 \text{ mA}$, $V_{CC} = 18 \text{ V}$	4 1 4 -	15	
	is + if	15 max	ns



0.3W

2N3261

v v v



Si n-p-n epitaxial planar type used in high-speed switching applications in military and commercial dataprocessing equipment such as digital-logic circuits, terminated-line-driver service, and as a high-speedmemory driver. JEDEC TO-52, Outline No.21.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vano	10	
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage	VCBO	40	V
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VCEO	15	<u>v</u>
Collector Current	V EBO	6	. v
Transistor Dissipation:	16	500	mA
TA up to 25°C	Pr	0.2	337
To up to 25°C	P.	V.0	
TA or Tc above 25°C	D.	See and I	w
Temperature Range:	L.1.	See curve page	300
Operating (TA-Tc)			
Storage	-	-65 to 175	°C
Lead-Soldering Tomporations (10	TSTG	-65 to 200	°C
Ecu-boldering remperature (10 s max)	T_L	230	°Ċ
CHARACTERISTICS			•
UNANAULCHISTICS			

Confector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($Ic = 0.01 \text{ mA}$.		
$I_E = 0$	V(BR)CBO	40 min
Is = 0, $t_p = 100 \ \mu s$, $df \leq 2\%$ Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_c = 10 \ \text{mA}$, $I_b = 100 \ \mu s$, $df \leq 2\%$)	V(BR)CEO	15 min
Ic = 0	VORBERO	6 min

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Base to Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic = 100 mA)			
$I_{\rm T} = 10 \text{ mA}$	VBE(sat)	0.8 to 1.1	v
Collectorato-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic = 100 mA,			
$I_{\rm b} = 10 \text{ mA} t_{\rm c} = 100 \text{ ms} \text{ df} \le 2\%$	VCE(sat)	0.35 max	v
$P_{\text{Resc}} Cutoff Current (Vcr = 15 V, V_{\text{RE}} = 0)$	IBEV	—25 max	nA
Gallanton Cutoff Current:			
$V_{m} = 15 V V_{m} = 0 T_{h} = 15^{\circ}C$	ICEV	25 max	nA
$V_{CE} = 15 V, V_{EB} = 0, 11 = 1000$	ICEY	25 max	μA
Chatia Easting Current Transfer Batio			
Static Forward-Current Transfer Tudo.	hre	40 to 150	
$V_{CE} = 1$ V, $I_C = 10$ mA, $I_A = 200$	hre	20 min	
$V_{CE} \equiv 1$ V, $1C \equiv 10$ mA, $1A \equiv -50$ C manual C_{10}	••••		
Pulsed Static Forward-Cultent Hanster Ratio.	hee (nulsed)	30 min	
$V_{CE} = 1$ V, $I_C = 100$ mA, $I_P = 300 \ \mu s$, $dI = 2.0 \$	her (nulsed)	20 min	
$V_{CE} \equiv 1$ V, $I_C \equiv 200$ mA, $I_P \equiv 300 \ \mu$ s, $G_{12} \equiv 2.76 \ \dots$	men (painea)		
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio.	hee	3 min	
$V_{CE} = 1$ V, $I_C = 100$ mA, $I = 100$ MHz	hre	6 min	
$V_{CE} = 10 V, 1C = 10 mA, 1 = 100 MHZ$	Cure	4 max	pF
Input Capacitance (VEB = 0.5 V, $1C = 0, 1 = 1$ MHZ)	Cabo	3.5 max	pF
Output Capacitance $(V_{CB} \equiv 5 V, IE \equiv 0, I \equiv 1 MII2)$	C000	0.0 11	r -
Delay Time $(Vcc = 6 V, VBE(01) = -4 V,$			
$I_{B_1} = 10 \text{ mA}, I_{CS} = 100 \text{ mA}, I_{B_2} = -10 \text{ mA}$	ta	6 max	ns
Rise Time ($V_{CC} = 6 V$, $V_{BE}(off) = -4 V$, $I_{B1} = 10 mA$,			
$I_{CS} = 100 \text{ mA}, I_{B2} = -10 \text{ mA}$)	tr	7 max	115
Fall Time (Vcc = 6 V, IB, = 10 mA,			
$T_{m} = 100 \text{ mA}$ $T_{m} = -10 \text{ mA}$	tr	6 max	ns
$1Cs \equiv 100 \text{ mHz}, 1s_2 \equiv -10 \text{ mHz}$			
Storage Time (Vcc = 6 V, $IB_1 = 10$ mA,		10	
$I_{CS} = 100 \text{ mA}, I_{B_0} = -10 \text{ mA}$)	La	10 max	115



TYPICAL TRANSFER CHARACTERISTICS









0.3W

2N5179

Si n-p-n double-diffused epitaxial planar type used in low-noise tuned-amplifier and converter applications at vhf frequencies, and as an oscillator up to 500 MHz. JEDEC TO-72, Outline No.28.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vano		20	
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage	VCBU		20	, v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VCEO		12	v.
Collector Current	VEBU		2.5	v
Transistor Dissipation:	TC .		50	mA
Tc up to 25°C	D.		200	The TRE
To above 25°C	1	Denet	300	III W
T _A up to 25°C	5T	Derate	at 2	mw/°C
T _A above 25°C	D_	Denete	200	mw
Temperature Range:	гт	Derate	at 1.33	mw/°C
Operating (Junction)	T. (amm)	05	4. 185	
Storage	Ti(obt)	-03	to 175	°C
Lead-Soldering Tomporations (10 - march)	ISTG	-65	to 175	°C
beau-boldering remperature (10 s max)	.1.1		265	°C

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
(Ic = 0.001 mA, IE = 0)	V(BR)(BO	20 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage	1.000/000	20 11111	v
$(I_E = -0.01 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	V(BR)ERO	25 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage		2.0 11111	v
$(Ic = 3 \text{ mA}, I_B = 0)$	VCEO(SUS	s) 12 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			•
$(1c = 10 \text{ mA}, I_B = 1 \text{ mA})$	VCE(sat)	0.4 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage		0.1 110010	•
$(Ic = 10 \text{ mA}, I_B = 1 \text{ mA})$	VBE(sat)	1 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:	,		•
$I_{\rm C} = 15$ mA, $I_{\rm E} = 0$	Ісво	0.02 max	"A
$I_{\rm C} = 15$ mA, $I_{\rm E} = 0$, $T_{\rm A} = 150^{\circ}{\rm C}$	Ісво	1 max	"A
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			μ
$(V_{CE} = 1 V, I_{C} = 3 mA)$	hre	25 to 250	
Magnitude_of Small-Signal Forward			
Current-Transfer Ratio*:			
$V_{CE} = 6 V$, $I_{C} = 5 mA$, $f = 100 MHz$	hre	9 to 20	
$V_{CE} = 6 V, 1c = 2 mA, f = 1 kHz$	hre	25 to 300	
Collector-to-Base Feedback Capacitancet			
$(V_{CB} = 10 V, I_E = 0, f = 0.1 \text{ to } 1 \text{ MHz})$	Ceb	0.7 typ; 1 max	pF
Common-Base Input Capacitance			
(VEB = 0.5 V, Ic = 0, f = 0.1 to 1 MHz)	Cibo	2 max	pF





.....

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Collector-to-Base Time Constant* $(V_{CB} = 6 V, I_C = 2 mA, f = 31.9 MHz)$	r_b C_c	3 to 14	ps
Small-Signal Power Gain, Neutralized Amplifier* (VCE = 12 V, IC = 5 mA, RG = 125 Ω , f = 200 MHz)	Gpe	15 min; 21 typ	dB
Power Output, Oscillator Circuit $(V_{CR} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ir} = -12 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} > 500 \text{ MHz})$	Po	20 min	mW
Noise Figure* ($V_{CE} = 6 V$, Ic = 1.5 mA, f = 200 MHz)	NF	3 typ; 4.5 max	dB

* Lead No. 4 (case) grounded. Three-terminal measurement of the collector-to-base capacitance: Lead No. 1 (emit-ter) and lead No. 4 (case) connected to guard terminal. ŝ

· Lead No. 4 (case) floating.



TYPICAL OUTPUT CONDUCTANCE AND SUSCEPTANCE CHARACTERISTICS TYPE 2N5179 COMMON~EMITTER CIRCUIT; INPUT SHORT-CIRCUITED. AMBIENT TEMPERATURE (T_A) = 25° C COLLECTOR-TO-EMITTER VOLTS (V_{CE})=6 OUTPUT CONDUCTANCE (90e) OR SUSCEPTANCE (90e)-MILLIMHOS (VCE)=6 boe (V_{CE})=6 90e 15 20 o 5 COLLECTOR MILLIAMPERES (IC)

92CS-14733T

2N718A Si n-p-n planar triple-diffused-junction type used primarily for small-signal and switching applications in data-processing equipment. JEDEC TO-18, Outline

MAXIMUM RATINGS

No.12.

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	75	V
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage: Base open Rage ≤ 10 Ω	VCE0 VCER	32 50	vv
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	Vebo	7	v
Transistor Dissipation: Ta up to 25°C Tc up to 25°C Ta or Tc above 25°C	Рт Рт Рт	0.5 1.8 See curve page	W W 300
Temperature Range: Operating (Junction) Storage Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T _J (opr) Tstg TL	65 to 200 65 to 200 300	•° •°

0.5W

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_{\rm C} = 0.1$ mA,
$I_E = 0$
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown voltage $(1) = 0.1 \text{ mA}$,
$I_{\rm C} = 0$
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining voltage $(10 \pm 100 \text{ mA})$
$I_B = 0, R_{RE} = 10 \Omega, t_P \ge 300 \mu S, 01 \ge 2707$
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (10 = 150 mint,
$l_B = 15 \text{ mA}, t_p \ge 300 \ \mu\text{s}, \text{ ur} \ge 2\%$

J-3 c

28

	v
75 min	•
7 min	v
50 min	v
1.5 max	v
	75 min 7 min 50 min 1.5 max



CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage ($Ic = 150$ mA.			
$I_B = 15 \text{ mA}, t_P \leq 300 \ \mu\text{s}, \text{ df} \leq 2\%$)	VBE(sat)	1.3 max	v
$V_{CB} = 60 V$, $I_E = 0$, $T_A = 25^{\circ}C$	Icro	0.01 max	A
$V_{CB} = 60 V, I_E = 0, T_A = 150^{\circ}C$	ICBO	10 max	
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 5 V$, $I_C = 0$)	IEBO	0.01 max	μA
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			<i>µ</i>
$V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 150 \text{ mA}, t_p \leq 300 \ \mu\text{s}, \text{ df} \leq 2\% \dots$	hre (pulsed	1) 40 to 120	
$V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_{C} = 10$ mA, $t_{p} \leq 300 \ \mu s$, $df \leq 2\%$	hre (pulsed	l) 35 min	
$V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_{C} = 10$ mA, $T_{A} = -55$ °C, $t_{p} \leq 300 \ \mu s$,			
$dI \ge 2\%$	hrg(pulsed	l) 20 min	
$(V_{cr} - 10 V L_{r} - 0.1 mA)$	L		
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Daties	NFE	20 min	
$V_{CE} = 5 V_{cE} = 1 \text{ mA} f - 1 \text{ kHz}$	he	20 to 100	
$V_{CE} = 10 V. I_C = 5 mA. f - 1 kHz$	hee	35 to 150	
$V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 50 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 20 \text{ MHz}$	hr.	3 min	
Input Capacitance ($V_{EB} = 0.5 \text{ V}$, Ic = 0)	Cibo	80 max	nF
Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 10$ V, $I_E = 0$)	Cobo	25 max	pF
Input Resistance:			
$V_{CE} = 5 V, I_C = 1 mA, f = 1 kHz$	hıъ	24 to 34	Ω
$V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_{C} = 5$ mA, $f = 1$ kHz	hıъ	4 to 8	Ω
voltage-Feedback Ratio:			
$V_{CE} \equiv 5 V, I_C \equiv I \text{ mA}, I \equiv I \text{ kHz}$	hrb	3 x 10-4 max	
VCE = 10 V, $IC = 5$ mA, $I = 1$ KHZ	hrb	3 x 10-4 max	
$V_{CE} = 5 V I_C = 1 mA f = 1 kHz$	h .	0.5	
$V_{CE} = 10 V$, $I_C = 5 mA$, $f = 1 kHz$	11ob	0.5 max	μmnos
Noise Figure (Vcr = 10 V, Ic = 0.3 mA $f = 1$ kHz)	NE	1 max	μmnos
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	Q ₁₋₀	12 max	aB C (W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	AI-A	350 max	°C/W
	U* *	000 max	C/ W





BASE MILLIAMPERES (IB) O

COLLECTOR-TO-EMITTER VOLTS (VCE)

4 6 8 10

0.5W

100

o

2N720A

12

Si n-p-n planar triple-diffused-junction type used primarily in small-signal and switching applications in data-processing equipment. JEDEC TO-18, Outline No.12. For collector and transfer curves, refer to type 2N718A.

2

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:	V _{CBO}	120	v
$\begin{array}{l} R_{BE} \leqq 10 \ \Omega \\ Base \ open \\ Emitter-to-Base \ Voltage \end{array}$	Vcer	100	v
	Vceo	80	v
	Vebo	7	v

MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

Transistor Dissipation: T _A up to 25°C T _C up to 25°C	Рт Рт Рт	0.5 1.8 See curve pa	W W Ige 300
TA or TC above 25 C Temperature Range: Operating (Junction) Storage Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TJ(opr) Tsto TL	65 to 200 65 to 200 300	°C °C °C
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = 0.1 mA , I _E = 0)	V (BR) CRO	120 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage $(1_E = 0.1 \text{ mA}, 1_C = 0)$	V(BR)EBO	7 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage: $I_c = 100 \text{ mA}, I_B = 0, t_p \leq 300 \ \mu\text{s}, df \leq 2\%$	Vceo(sus)	80 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = 100 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 0, R_{\rm BE} = 10 \text{ fl}, t_{\rm P} \ge 300 \ \mu\text{s},$ $df \le 2\%$	VCER(sus)	100 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage: $I_c = 150 \text{ mA}, I_B = 15 \text{ mA}, t_p \leq 300 \ \mu\text{s}, df \leq 2\% \dots$ $I_c = 50 \text{ mA}, I_H = 5 \text{ mA} \dots$	Vce(sat) Vce(sat)	5 max 1.2 max	vv
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage: $I_C = 150 \text{ mA}, I_B = 15 \text{ mA}, I_F \leq 300 \ \mu\text{s}, \text{ df} \leq 2\% \dots$ $I_C = 50 \text{ mA}, I_B = 15 \text{ mA}$	V _{BE} (sat) V _{BE} (sat)	1.3 max 0.9 max	vv
Collector-Cutoff Current: $V_{CB} = 90 V$, $I_E = 0$, $T_A = 25^{\circ}C$	Ісво	0.01 max	$\mu \mathbf{A}$ $\mu \mathbf{A}$
$V_{CB} = 90$ V, $I_E = 0$, $T_A = 150^{\circ}C$ Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 5$ V, $I_C = 0$)	Ієво	0.01 max	μA
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio: $V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 150 \text{ mA}, \text{ tp} \leq 300 \text{ \mus}, \text{ df} \leq 2\% \dots$	hfe (pulsed hfe (pulsed) 40 to 120) 35 min	
$ \begin{array}{l} V_{\rm CE} = 10 \ \text{V}, \ \text{Ic} = 10 \ \text{mA}, \ \text{T}_{\rm A} = -55^{\circ}\text{C}, \ \text{t}_{\rm P} \leq 300 \ \mu\text{s}, \\ \text{df} \leq 2\% \end{array} $	hff (pulsed) 20 min	
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio $(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 0.1 \text{ mA})$	hfe	20 min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current transfer ratio. $V_{CE} = 5$ V, $I_C = 1$ mA, $f = 1$ kHz.	hre hre	30 to 100 45 min	
$V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_C = 5$ mA, $I = 1$ KH2 $V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_C = 50$ mA, $f = 20$ MHz	hre	2.5 min	nF
Input Capacitance ($V_{EB} = 0.5 \text{ V}$, $I_C = 0$) Output Capacitance ($V_{CBO} = 10 \text{ V}$, $I_E = 0$)	Cobo	15 max	\mathbf{pF}
Input Resistance: $V_{CE} = 5 V, I_C = 1 mA, f = 1 kHz$	hıs hıs	20 to 30 4 to 8	Ω Ω
VCE = 10 V, 1C = 5 mA, 1 = 1 kHz Voltage-Feedback Ratio: VCE = 5 V, IC = 1 mA, f = 1 kHz	hrb 1.2	5 x 10-4 max	
$V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_C = 5$ mA, $f = 1$ kHz	hrb 1.	5 x 10-• max	
$V_{CE} = 5 V, I_C = 1 mA, f = 1 kHz$	իսե իսե	0.5 max 0.5 max	µmhos µmhos
Thermal Resistance. Junction-to-Case	G1-C	97 max 350 max	°C/W °C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Amblent	01-1	000 max	5/ 11

2N697

0.6W

Si n-p-n planar triple-diffused-base type used in switching applications in data-processing equipment. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vcb0	60	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage: $R_{BE} \leq 10 \Omega$	VCER	40	y
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	5	¥
Collector Current	Ic.	500	mA
Transistor Dissipation: TA up to 25°C	Рт	0.6	W
T_{A} or T_{C} above 25°C	ΡT	See curve page	300
Temperature Range: Operating (T _A and T _C)	Т (opr) Tsтg	-65 to 175 -65 to 200	°C °C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL	300	°C



CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_{\rm C} = 0.1$ mA,			
$I_{\rm E}=0$)	V(BR)CBO	60 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = 0.1 \text{ mA}$,			
Ic = 0	V(BR)ERO	5 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage (Ic = 100 mA,			
$t_p \leq 12 \text{ ms, } df \leq 2\%, R_{BE} = 10 \Omega$	VCER (SUS)	40 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage ($I_c = 150 \text{ mA}$,	. ,		-
$I_{B} = 15 \text{ mA}$)	VCE(sat)	1.5 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage ($Ic = 150$ mA,			
$I_{\rm B} = 15 {\rm mA}$)	VRE(sat)	1.3 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CB} = 30 V, I_E = 0, T_A = 25^{\circ}C$	ICBO	1 max	uА
$V_{CB} = 30 V, I_E = 0, T_A = 150^{\circ}C$	ICBO	100 max	μA
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio (Ver =			
10 V, Ic = 150 mA, tp \leq 12 ms, df \leq 2%)	hre	40 to 120	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(f = 20 \text{ MHz}, \text{ V}_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ I}_{C} = 50 \text{ mA})$	hre	2.5 min	
Gain-Bandwidth Product	fr	100	MH ₂
Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 10 \text{ V}, I_E = 0$)	Cohe	35 max	nF
=		00 max	P*

1W



Si n-p-n epitaxial planar type used in high-speed switching applications in equipment requiring high reliablity and hgh packing densities. JEDEC TO-18, Outline No.12.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво Vора	40	V.
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VCES	30	
Collector Current	V EBO	5	v
Conector Current	IC	200	mA
Transistor Dissipation:			
T _A up to 25°C	Pr	0.3	w
Te up to 25°C	P.	0.5	317
The or Tu above 25°C	h 1		
	PT	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	Tr(opr)	175	°C
Storage	Tunu	CE to 17E	
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 c max)	1 STG	-63 10 173	
Beau-Boldering Temperature (10 S max)	TL	240	- °C

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = 0.1 mA, $I_{\rm B} = 0$)			
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (In - 0.1 mA	V (BR) (BO	40 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = 0$	Van	Emin	17
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage:	A (BR)EBO	5 11111	v
Ie = 10 mA, IB = 1 mA	Ver(sat)	0.25 max	v
$lc = 50$ mA, $I_B = 5$ mA	VCE(sat)	0.4 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage ($I_c = 10 \text{ mA}$,		0.1 max	•
$I_B = 1 mA$)	VBE(sat)	0.9 max	
Collector-Cutoff Current:	. ,		
$V_{CB} = 20$ V, $I_E = 0$, $T_A = 25^{\circ}C$	Ісво	0.5 max	μA
$V_{CB} = 20$ V, $I_E = 0$, $T_A = 150^{\circ}C$	ICBO	30 max	μA
$V_{CE} \equiv 30 \text{ V}, \text{ R}_{BE} \equiv 0, \text{ T}_{A} \equiv 25^{\circ}\text{C}$	ICES	10 max	μA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio ($V_{CE} = 1$ V,			
$10 \equiv 10 \text{ mA}$	hfe	25 min	
Vul 15 V L 10 m 10 m 10 m 10			
Output Capacitance (Vor $= 10$ MA, $I = 100$ MHZ)	hfe	3.5 min	
f = 100 kHz	~		
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{cm} = 15$ V $L_{c} = 10$ mA	Coho	4 max	pF
f = 100 MHz MHz	£	050 !	
Storage Time (Vcc = 10 V Im - 10 mA)	11	350 min	WHZ
$I_{B2} = -10 \text{ mA}, I_{C} = 10 \text{ mA}$	t.	25 max	-
Turn-On Time (Vec = 0 to 3.5 V. $L_{c} = 10 \text{ mA}$)	ta I t-	25 max	ns
Turn-off Time (Vcc = 0 to 3.5 V, $Ic = 10$ mA)	to 1 te	75 max	ns
	Ca CI	15 max	115



1.2W

2N2369A

Si n-p-n planar epitaxial type used for high-speed saturated switching in logic applications. JEDEC TO-18, Outline No.12.

2N834

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage Collector-to-Emitter Voltage Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector Current	Vcbo Vceo Vebo Ic	40 15 4.5 0.2	V V V A
Transistor Dissipation: TA up to 25°C TC up to 25°C TA or TC above 25°C TA or TC above 25°C	Рт Рт Рт	0.36 1.2 See curve j	W W page 300
Operating (Junction) Storage Lead-Soldering Temperature (60 s max)	Tı(opr) Tstg TL	-65 to 200 -65 to 200 300	သို့ သို့
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = 0.01 mA, IE = 0)	Vависво	40 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown voltage $(I_c = 0.01 \text{ mA}, \text{VeB} = 0)$	VEBROCES	40 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($IE = 0.01$ mA, IC = 0)	V(BR)ERO	4.5 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage $(I_c = 10 \text{ mA}, I_B = 0, t_P = 300 \mu\text{s}, \text{df} = 2\%)$	$V_{\rm CEO}(sus)$	15 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation voltage. Ic = 10 mA, Ik = 1 mA, TA = 25°C Ic = 10 mA, Ik = 1 mA, TA = 125°C	VcE(sat) VcE(sat) VcE(sat)	0.2 max 0.3 max 0.25 max	v v v
$I_C = 30$ mA, $I_B = 3$ mA $I_C = 100$ mA, $I_B = 10$ mA, $T_A = 25^{\circ}C$	VCE(sat)	0.5 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Saturation voltage: Ic = 10 mA, Is = 1 mA, TA = 25° C Ic = 10 mA, Is = 1 mA, TA = 125° C Ic = 10 mA, Is = 1 mA, TA = -55° C Ic = 30 mA, Is = 3 mA Ic = 30 mA, Is = 2 mA, TA = -25° C	VBE(sat) VBE(sat) VBE(sat) VBE(sat) VBE(sat) VBE(sat)	0.7 to 0.85 0.59 min 1.02 max 1.15 max 1.6 max	V V V V V V
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Icro Ices	30 max 0.4 max	μΑ μΑ
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio. $V_{CE} = 1 V, I_C = 10 \text{ mA}, T_A = 25^{\circ}C, t_p = 300 \ \mu\text{s},$ df = 2%	hff (pulsed) 120 max	
$V_{CE} = 0.35 V, I_{C} = 10 mA, t_{p} = 300 \mu s,$ df = 2%	hre (pulsed) 40 min	
$V_{CE} = 0.4 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 30 \text{ mA}, \text{ t}_{P} = 300 \mu\text{s},$ df = 2%	hff (pulsed	l) 30 min	
$V_{CE} = 0.35 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 10 \text{ mA}, T_A = -55 \text{ C}, t_P = 300 \mu\text{s}, $	h _{FE} (pulsed	l) 20 min	
$V_{CE} = 1 V, I_{C} = 100 mA, T_A = 25^{\circ}C, t_P = 300 \mu s,$ df = 2%	hff (pulsed	1) 20 min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio $(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 10 \text{ mA}, f = 100 \text{ MHz})$	hre Cobo	5 min 4 max	pF
Storage Time ($V_{CC} = 10 \text{ V}$, $I_{C} = 10 \text{ mA}$, $I_{B1} = 10 \text{ mA}$, $I_{B2} = -10 \text{ mA}$)	ts	13 max	ns ns
Turn-On Time (Vec = 3 V, $I_c = 10$ mA, $I_{B1} = 3$ mA, $V_{BE}(off) = -3$ V)	ta + tr	12 max	: ns
Turn-Off Time (Vec = 3 V, Ic = 10 mA, I _{B1} = 3 mA, I _{B2} = -1.5 mA)	ts + tr	18 max	ns ns

2N2476

2W

Si n-p-n double-diffused epitaxial planar type used in core-driving and line-driving applications where high switching speeds at high current are primary design requirements. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage Collector-to-Emitter Voltage Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector Current	Vсво Vсео Vево Ic	60 V 20 V 5 V Limited by power dissipation
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Рт Рт Рт	0.6 W 2 W See curve page 300



356

MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

Temperature Range: Operating (Junction) Storage	Tı (opr) Tstg	-65 to 200 -65 to 200	°C °C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Т1.	200	°C
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = 10 μ A, I _E = 0)	V(BR)CBO	6 0 min	v
Conjector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage $(I_C = 50 \text{ mA}, I_B = 0, t_p \leq 400 \text{ µs}, df = 3\%)$	V(BR)CEO	20 min	v
Emitter-to-base breakdown voltage ($IE = 0.1$ mA, IC = 0)	V(BR)EBO	5 min	v
$I_{C} = 150 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = 7.5 \text{ mA}$	VcE(sat) VcE(sat)	0.4 max 0.75 max	vv
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($Ic = 150$ mA, $I_B = 7.5$ mA) Collector-Cutoff Current:	VBE	1 max	v
$V_{CB} = 30 V, I_E = 0, T_A = 25^{\circ}C$ $V_{CB} = 30 V, I_E = 0, T_A = 150^{\circ}C$	Ісво Ісво	0.2 max 200 max	$\mu \mathbf{A}$ $\mu \mathbf{A}$
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 5 V$, $I_C = 0$) Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio	IEBO	100 max	$\mu \mathbf{A}$
$(V_{CE} = 0.4 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 150 \text{ mA})$ Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio	hre	20 min	
$(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 50 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 100 \text{ MHz})$	hre	2.5 min	
f = 0.14 MHz) f = 0.4 MHz) f = 0.4 MHz)	Cobo	10 max	pF
$I_{B1} = 15 \text{ mA}, I_{B2} = -15 \text{ mA}, I_C = 150 \text{ mA})$	ts	25 max	ns
$I_{B2} = -15 \text{ mA}, I_{C} = 150 \text{ mA}$	ta + tr	25 max	ns
$I_{B2} = -15 \text{ mA}, I_C = 150 \text{ mA}$	ts + tr	45 max	ns







TYPICAL TRANSFER CHARACTERISTICS



TYPICAL STORAGE-TIME CHARACTERISTICS



2N2477

2W

Si n-p-n double-diffused epitaxial planar type used in core-driving and line-driving applications where high switching speeds at high current are primary design requirements. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. This type is identical with type 2N2476 except for its switching characteristics and the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage:	
$I_{\rm C} = 150$ mA, $I_{\rm B} = 3.75$ mA	
$I_{\rm C} = 500 {\rm mA}, I_{\rm R} = 50 {\rm mA}$	
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($I_{\rm C} = 150$ mA, $I_{\rm R} = 3.75$ mA)	1
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio	
$(V_{CE} = 0.4 V, I_{C} = 150 mA)$	1



Vce(sat)	0.4 max	v
Vce(sat)	0.65 max	v
Vbe	0.95 max	v
hfe	40 min	

(1)

(2)⁸

3)



2N3512

4W

Si n-p-n double-diffused epitaxial planar type used for core-driver and line-driver service in high-performance computers and in other critical applications requiring considerable output power. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage Collector-to-Emitter Voltage Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector Current	V сво V сео V ево I с	60 35 5 Limited by po dissipa	V V V wer tion
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	PT PT TJ (opr) TSTG TL	0.8 4 See curve page 65 to 200 65 to 200 230	W 300 °C °C
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage $(I_{12} = 0.01 \text{ mA}, I_{12} = 0)$	VIBROCBO	60 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage	VARACEO	35 min	v

$(I_{\rm C} = 0.01 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm E} = 0)$	A URBOURD
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage	V
$(I_{\rm C} = 50 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 0)$	A (BROCRO
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($1E = 0.1$ mA,	17
$I_{\rm C} = 0$)	VIBRIEBO



5 min

v
Small-Signal Bipolar Transistors

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage:			
$Ic = 150 \text{ mA}, I_B = 7.5 \text{ mA}$	Vcr(sat)	0.4 max	v
$I_{c} = 500 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = 50 \text{ mA}, t_{p} = 400 \text{ ms}, df \leq 3\%$	Vcc (sat) (pul	sed)1 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (Ic = 150 mA.	*CE(Sut) (pu)	iscu /i max	•
$I_B = 7.5 \text{ mA}$)	VBE	1 max	v
Base-Cutoff Current ($V_{CE} = 30$ V, $V_{BE} = -0.3$ V)	IREV	0.5 max	"Á
Collector-Cutoff. Current:	-241		,
$V_{CE} = 30 \text{ V}, \text{ V}_{BE} = -0.3 \text{ V}, \text{ T}_{A} = 25^{\circ}\text{C}$	ICEV	0.5 max	"A
$V_{CE} = 30 \text{ V}, V_{BE} = -0.3 \text{ V}, T_{A} = 100^{\circ}\text{C}$	ICEV	100 max	
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio	1(1)	100 max	μΛ
$(V_{CE} = 1 V, I_C = 0.5 A, t_p = 400 \mu s, df \le 3\%)$	hrr(pulsed)	10 min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 50 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 100 \text{ MHz})$	hee	2.5 min	
Output Capacitance (VcB = 10 V, IE = 0.			
f = 0.14 MHz)	Coho	10 max	nF
Storage Time (Vcc = 6.4 V, V _{BB} = 15.9 V.	0000	iv man	P.
$Ic = 150 \text{ mA}, I_B = 15 \text{ mA}$)	t.	30 max	ns
Turn-On Time (Vcc = 6.4 V, Ic = 150 mA.	••	ov man	
$I_{B_1} = 15 \text{ mA}, I_{B_2} = -15 \text{ mA}$	ta 🕂 te	30 max	ns
Turn-Off Time (Vec - 64 V Vec - 150 V			
$T_{a} = 150 \text{ mA}$ $T_{a} = 15 \text{ mA}$ $T_{a} = 15 \text{ mA}$	4 1 4	45	
10 - 100 mA $18 = -10 mA$ $18 = 10 mA$	I I.	45 may	202







4W

2N5188

25 min

Si n-p-n double-diffused epitaxial planar type used for core-driver and line-driver service in data-processing equipment and other critical applications in military and industrial equipment. JEDEC TO-39, Outline No.15.

V(BR)CEO

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage Collector-to-Emitter Voltage Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector Current Transistor Dissipation:	$egin{array}{cl} V_{\mathrm{CBO}} & V_{\mathrm{CEO}} & V_{\mathrm{CEO}} & V_{\mathrm{CBO}} & V_{\mathrm{CBO}} & V_{\mathrm{CBO}} & I_{\mathrm{C}} & V_{\mathrm{CBO}} & V$	60 25 5 Limited by dis	V V V ssipation
Tc up to 25°C Tc above 25°C TA up to 25°C TA above 25°C TA above 25°C Ta above 25°C Ta above 25°C	Рт Рт Рт Рт	4 Derate at 22.8 0.8 Derate at 4.6	W mW/°C W mW/°C
Operating (Junction) Storage Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T.I (opr T _{STG} TI.)65 to 200 65 to 200 265	ວໍວູ ບໍ່

1AKAU | EKISI ||

Collector-to-Emitter	Breakdown	Voltage
$(Ic = 30 mA, I_E)$	= 0)	

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 0.01 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm E} = 0)$	V(BR)CBO	60 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage		- •	
$(I_E = -0.01 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	V(BR)EBO	5 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage:			
$I_{\rm C} = 150 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 7.5 \text{ mA}$	Vce(sat)	0.5 max	<u>v</u>
$I_{C} = 500 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = 50 \text{ mA}, t_{P} < 400 \mu \text{s}, df < 0.03 \dots$	Ve∈(sat)	1 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage:			
$I_{\rm C} = 150 \text{ mA}$, $I_{\rm B} = 7.5 \text{ mA}$	VBE	1.1 max	<u>v</u>
$I_{\rm C} = 500 \text{ mA}$, $I_{\rm B} = 50 \text{ mA}$, $t_{\rm P} < 400 \mu \text{s}$, $df < 0.03 \dots$	\mathbf{V}_{BE}	1.5 max	v.
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = 30 \text{ V}, I_E = 0$)	ICBO	0.5 max	μA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{CE} = 1 V L_{C} = 500 mA$, $t_{E} < 400 \mu s$, $df < 0.03$	hre (pulsed	.) 20 min	
$V_{CR} = 0.5 V I_C = 150 mA$	hre	25 min	
Magnitude of Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer			
Potio (Ver -10 V Ic -50 mA, f $=100$ MHz)	hre	2.5 min	
Output Canacitance (VCB = 10 V, $IE = 0$, $f = 140$ kHz)	Cobo 8	typ; 10 max	pF
Storage Time (Vcc = 6.4 V, Ic = 150 mA,			
$I_{\rm Pl} = I_{\rm Pl} = 15 \text{ mA}$	ts	35 max	ns
$T_{\rm urn} = 0$ Time (Vcc = 6.4 V. Ic = 150 mA.			
$I_{m} = I_{pq} = 15 \text{ mA}$	ta 🕂 tr	35 max	ns
The Off Time (Vec -64 V Lc -150 mA.			
10111-011 $11111e$ (V(C = 0.2 V) $1C = 100$ 11113	$t_s + t_f$	50 max	ns
$1B1 \equiv 1B2 \equiv 10 111A$			



2N5189

5W

(2)⁸

Ē

3

Si n-p-n double-diffused epitaxial planar type used for core-driver and line-driver service in data-processing equipment and other critical applications in military and industrial equipment. Outline No.58.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage Collector-to-Emitter Voltage Emitter-to-Base Voltage	Vebo Veeo Vebo Ic	60 35 5 Limited by dis	V V V sipation
Transistor Dissipation: Tc up to 25°C	PT PT	5 Derate at 28.5	W mW/°C
TA up to 25°C	PT PT	Derate at 5.7	₩ mW/°C
Operating (Junction) Storage	TJ(opr) Tstg T	-65 to 200 -65 to 200 265	°C °C °C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 S max)	10	200	_

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = 0.1 mA)	V(BR)CBO	60 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage (Ic = 10 mA)	V(BR)CEO	35 min	v

Small-Signal Bipolar Transistors

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

_			
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$(I_E = -0.1 \text{ mA})$	V(BR)EBO	5 max	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_{C} = 1000 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = 100 \text{ mA})$	VCE(sat)	1 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage	,		•
(Ic = 1000 mA, IB = 100 mA)	VBE (sat)	1.5 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CE} = 30 V$)	Ісво	0.5 max	иÅ
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			<i>µ</i> -1
$V_{CE} = 1 V, I_C = 100 mA$	hre	30 max	
$V_{CE} = 1 V, I_{C} = 500 mA$	hre	35 max	
$V_{CE} = 1$ V, Ic = 500 mA, t _P \leq 400 µs, df \leq 0.03	hre(pulsed)	15 max	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 50 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 100 \text{ MHz})$	hre	2.5 min	
Output Capacitance (V _{CB} = 10 V, I _E = 0, f = 0.1 MHz)	Cabo	12 max	nF
Turn-On Time (Ic = 1000 mA, $I_{B1} = 100 \text{ mA}$)	ta + te	40 max	ne
Turn-Off Time (Ic = 1000 mA, In = 100 mA)	20 1 41	iv max	113
$I_{B2} = -100 \text{ mA}$	to to to	70 may su	

TYPICAL SATURATION CHARACTERISTIC TYPE 2N5189 COMMON-EMITTER CIRCUIT BASE INPUT. 51AMBIENT TEMPERATURE (TA)=25°C.





()---(3) E

5W

2N5262

Si n-p-n epitaxial planar type used for high-speed, highvoltage, high-current switching applications for memory driver service in data-processing equpiment and other critical industrial applications. Outline No.58.

Collector-to-Base Voltage Collector-to-Emitter Voltage Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector Current Peak Collector Current Transistor Dissipation: Tc up to 25°C	Vсво Vсео Vево Ic ic Рт	75 50 5 2 3	V V A A W
Tc above 25°C TA up to 25°C TA above 25°C Temperature Range:	Рт Рт Рт	Derate at 28.5 1 Derate at 5.7	mW/°C W mW/°C
Operating (Junction) Storage Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Tj(opr) Tstg TL	65 to 200 65 to 200 265	ာင် သင်္သ
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage $(I_c = 0.1 \text{ mA})$	V(BR)CBO	75 min; 110 typ	v
(Ic = 10 mA) Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage	V(BR)CEO	50 min; 56 typ	v
$(I_E = -0.1 \text{ mA})$ Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage	V(BR)EBO	5 min; 8 typ	v
$(I_{\rm C} = 1000 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 100 \text{ mA})$	Vce (sat)	0.5 typ; 0.8 max	v

Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage ($I_{C} = 1000$ mA, $I_{B} = 100$ mA)	VBE
Confector-Cuton Current.	LORG
$V_{CE} = 60 V$	Tuna
$V_{CR} = 30 V$	ICES
$V_{CE} = 30 \text{ V}, \text{T}_{A} = 100^{\circ}\text{C}$	ICES
Static Forward Current Transfer Ratio:	
$W_{cp} = 1 V I_c = 100 mA$	hfe
$V_{CE} = 1$ V, $10 = 100$ mA	hre
$V_{CE} = 1$ V, $10 = 300$ mA	
$V_{CE} = 1$ V, $I_C = 1000$ mA, $I_P = 400 \ \mu s$,	b
df ≤ 0.03	IIFE
Small-Signal Forward Current Transfer Ratio	
$(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 50 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 100 \text{ MHz}) \dots$	hre
Output Canacitance (Vcn = 10 V, IE = 0,	
C_{1} C_{2} C_{2	Cabe
$I = 0.1 (0 1 MHZ) \dots (100 mA)$	+ + +
Turn-On Time $(1c = 1000 \text{ mA}, 1B1 = 100 \text{ mA})$	ra T
Turn-Off Time (Ic = 1000 mA, $I_{B1} = 100$ mA,	
$I_{B2} = -100 \text{ mA}$)	τs +

VBE(sat)	1 typ; 1.4 max	v
ICES ICES ICES	10 max 0.4 typ; 1 max 100 max	μΑ μΑ μΑ
hfe hfe	35 min; 55 typ 40 min; 65 typ	
hfe (pulsed)	25 min; 45 typ	
hre	2.5 min; 3.5 typ	
Cobo ta + tr	9 typ; 12 max 18 min; 30 max	pF ns
ts + tr	35 typ; 60 max	ns



Technical Data for MOS Field-Effect Transistors

THIS section contains detailed technical data for all current RCA MOS field-effect transistors. The data for MOS transistors are grouped separately for single gate, dual-gate, and dual-gate-protected types. Within each grouping, the transistors are listed according to the numerical-alphabetical-numerical sequence of type designations.

In selection of devices for use in new electronic equipment, a prospective user should refer to the appropriate section of the Selection Guide included earlier in the Manual.

Single Gate Types

bottom view,



FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTOR 3N128

Si insulated-gate field-effect (MOS) n-channel depletion type used in vhf amplifier service in military and industrial applications at frequencies up to 250 MHz. JEDEC TO-72, Outline No.28.

Drain-to-Source Voltage Gate-to-Source Voltage:	VDS	20	v
Continuous (dc)	Vgs		v
Peak (ac)	VGS	±15	ý
Drain Current ($t_{P} \leq 20$ ms, $df \leq 0.15$)	In (pulsed)	50	mÅ
Transistor Dissipation:			
T _A up to 25°C	\mathbf{P}_{T}	330	mW
T _A above 25°C	Pr	Derate at 2.2	mW/°C
Temperature Range:			, -
Operating	T(opr)	-65 to 175	°C
Storage	Tsra	-65 to 175	°Č
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL	265	°Ĉ

CHARACTERISTICS

Gate Leakage Current:	_
$V_{GS} = -8 V, V_{DS} = 0$	IGSS
$V_{GS} = -8 V, V_{DS} = 0, T_A = 125^{\circ}C$	Igss
Zero-Bias Drain Current ($V_{DS} = 15 V, V_{GS} = 0$)	IDS
Drain-to-Source Cutoff Current	
$(V_{\rm DS}~=~20~V,~V_{\rm GS}~=~-8~V)$	10(
Small-Signal Input Capacitance	
$(V_{108} = 15 \text{ V}, I_0 = 5 \text{ mA}, f = 0.1 \text{ to } 1 \text{ MHz}) \dots$	Cis
Small-Signal Reverse Transfer Capacitance	~
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, \text{ ID} = 5 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 0.1 \text{ to } 1 \text{ MHz}) \dots$	C_{TN}
Drain-to-Source Channel Resistance	
$(V_{DS} = 0, V_{GS} = 0, f = 1 \text{ kHz})$	ros
Gate-to-Source Cutoff Voltage	
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, \text{ In} = 50 \ \mu\text{A})$	VG
Forward Transconductance	
$V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, \text{ ID} = 5 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 1 \text{ kH} \text{ z}$	grs
Maximum Available Power Gain	
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, I_D = 5 \text{ mA}, f = 200 \text{ MHz})$	IVI F
Insertion Power Gain, Neutralized	0
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, I_D = 5 \text{ mA}, f = 200 \text{ MHz})$	GP
Noise Figure ($V_{DS} = 15$ V, $I_D = 5$ mA,	ALL
f = 200 MHz)	IN B.
and the transmission and with course returned	to

IGSS IGSS IDSS	0.1 typ; 50 max 5 max 5 to 25	pA nA mA
In(off)	50 max	μA
Ciss	5.5 typ; 7 max	\mathbf{pF}
Crss	0.16 typ; 0.28 max	\mathbf{pF}
ros(on)	200	Ω
V _{GS} (off) $-3 \text{ to } -8$	v
gr.	5000 to 12000	μmhos
MAG	21▲	dB
Grs	13.5 min; 16 typ≜	dB
NF to guar	3.5 typ; 5 max▲ d_terminal.	dB

Three terminal measurement with source returne This characteristic does not apply to type 3N143.





3N138 FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTOR

Si insulated-gate field-effect (MOS) n-channel depletion type used in critical chopper applications and multiplex service up to 60 MHz. The terminal arrangement permits shielding between input and output terminals for superior high-frequency performance and greater circuit stability, particularly on printed-circuit boards. JEDEC TO-72, Outline No.28.

C C C C C C C S SuB

Drain-to-Source Voltage	$V_{DB} V_{DB} V_{SB}$	35	v
Drain-to-Substrate Voltage		0.3 to 35	V
Source-to-Substrate Voltage		0.3 to 35	V
Gate-to-Source Voltage: Continuous Peak	V_{GS} VGS	$\pm 10 \pm 14$	vv

MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

Peak Voltage, Gate-to-All Other Terminals,			
VGS, VGD, VGB, non-repetitive Drain Current ($t_{12} \leq 20$ ms, $df \leq 0.10$) Transistor Dissipation:	Ip	$\pm 45 \\ 50$	MA W
T_A up to 25°C	\mathbf{P}_{T} \mathbf{P}_{T}	330 Derate at 2.2	mW mW/°C
Operating	T(opr)	-65 to 175	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T _{STG} TL	-65 to 175 265	°Č
CHARACTERISTICS			
Gate-Leakage Current:			I
$V_{GS} = \pm 10 V, V_{DS} = 0$	IGSS	0.1 typ; 10 max	pА
$V_{0S} = \pm 10^{\circ} V$, $V_{0S} = 0$, $T_A = 125^{\circ} C$	IGSS	20 typ; 200 max	рA
$V_{GS} = 0, V_{DS} = 0, f = 1 \text{ kHz}$	rps(on)	240 typ: 300 max	0
$V_{GS} = 10 V, V_{DS} = 0, f = 1 kHz$	rbs(on)	135	ö
$V_{GS} = 0$, $V_{DS} = 0$, $f = 1$ kHz, $T_A = 125^{\circ}C$	rps(on)	350	Ω
$(V_{GS} = -10 V, V_{DS} = 1 V)$	Pun (off)	2 × 105 m m 1011 4	-
Drain-to-Source Cutoff Current:	mos (on)	2 X 10. min; 10. typ	12
$V_{GS} = -10 V, V_{DS} = 1 V$	In(off)	0.01 typ: 0.5 max	n A
$V_{GS} = -10$ V, $V_{DS} = 1$ V, $T_A = 125^{\circ}C$	In (off)	0.01 typ; 0.5 max	шA
Small-Signal, Reverse Transfer Capacitance	-		<i>p</i>
$V_{13} = -10$ V, $V_{13} = 0$, $I = 1$ MHz)	Crss	0.2 typ; 0.25 max	\mathbf{pF}
$(V_{GS} = -10 \text{ V}, V_{DS} = 0, f = 1 \text{ MHz})$	CINN	3 typ; 5 max	pF
$(V_{GS} = 0, V_{DS} = 12 \text{ V})$	21s	6000	with the
Offset Voltage (V _{GS} = ± 10 V, V _{DS} = 0)	V.	00	V





FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTOR 3N139



Si insulated-gate field-effect (MOS) n-channel depletion type used in audio, video, and rf amplifier applications. The terminal arrangement permits shielding between input and output terminals for superior highfrequency performance and greater circuit stability, particularly on printed-circuit boards. JEDEC TO-72, Outline No.28.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Drain-to-Source Vo	oltage	 Vos
Drain-to-Substrate	Voltage	 VOP

365

MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

Source-to-Substrate Voltage	VsB	-0.3 to 35	v
Gate-to-Source Voltage: Continuous Peak	V _{GS} V _{GS}	土10 土14	v v
Peak Voltage, Gate-to-All Other Terminals; V _{G8} , V _{G9} , V _{G4} , non-repetitive Drain Current ($t_1 \le 20$ ms, df ≤ 0.10)	In (pulsed)	±42 50	W mA
Transistor Dissipation: T _A up to 25°C T _A above 25°C	Рт Рт	330 Derate at 2.2	$\substack{mW\\mW/^{\circ}C}$
Temperature Range: Operating Storage Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T(opr) Tsrg TL	-65 to 175 -65 to 175 265	°C °C

CHARACTERISTICS

$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Iass Iass	0.1 typ; 1 max 4 max	nA nA
Forward Transconductance: $V_{108} = 15 V, R_8 = 0, f = 1 \text{ kHz}$ $V_{101} = 15 V, R_8 = 360 \Omega, f = 1 \text{ kHz}$ $V_{101} = 15 V, R_8 = 360 \Omega, f = 1 \text{ kHz}, T_{\Delta} = 125^{\circ}C$	g (x g (x g (x	3000 min; 6000 typ 3000 to 7500 3300	μmhos μmhos μmhos
Zero-Bias Drain Current ($V_{108} = 15$ V, $R_8 = 0$, tp = 300 μ s, df ≤ 0.10)	Inssipul	sed v 5 to 25	mA
Drain Current: $V_{DD} = 15 V, R_S = 360 \Omega$	I1) I ()	3 to 7 3.3	mA mA
Output Resistance: $V_{DS} = 15 V, R_S = 0, f = 1 \text{ kHz}$ $V_{DD} = 15 V, R_S = 360 \Omega, f = 1 \text{ kHz}$ $V_{DD} = 15 V, R_S = 360 \Omega, f = 1 \text{ kHz}, T_A = 125^{\circ}\text{C}$	ra ra ra	5 20 23	kΩ kΩ kΩ
$\begin{array}{l} \text{Drain-to-Source Cutoff Current:} \\ \text{V}_{\text{DS}} = 15 \ \text{V}, \ \text{V}_{\text{CS}} = -6 \ \text{V}, \\ \text{V}_{\text{DS}} = 15 \ \text{V}, \ \text{V}_{\text{CS}} = -6 \ \text{V}, \\ \text{V}_{\text{DS}} = 15 \ \text{V}, \ \text{V}_{\text{CS}} = -6 \ \text{V}, \\ \text{V}_{\text{DS}} = 25 \ \text{V}, \ \text{V}_{\text{CS}} = -6 \ \text{V}. \end{array}$	Instoff) Instoff) Instoff)	1 typ; 50 max 2 75 max	μΑ μΑ μΑ
Equivalent Input Noise Voltage: $V_{D8} = 15 V, R_8 = 0, R_g = 0, f = 1 \text{ kHz}$	en en	0.06 0.06	μV√Hz μV√Hz
Audio Spot Noise Figure: $(V_{DD} = 15 \text{ V}, R_s = 360 \Omega, R_r = 1 M\Omega, f = 1 \text{ kHz})$	NF	0.86	dB
Small-Signal Input Capacitance: $V_{DS} = 15 V, R_S = 0, f = 1 MHz$ $V_{DD} = 15 V, R_S = 360 \Omega, f = 1 MHz$	Ciss Ciss	3.3 3 typ; 7 max	pF pF
Small-Signal Reverse Transfer Capacitance: $V_{DS} = 15$ V, $R_S = 0$, $f = 1$ MHz $V_{DD} = 15$ V, $R_S = 360$ Q, $f = 1$ MHz $V_{DD} = 15$ V, $R_S = 360$ Q, $f = 200$ MHz)	Crss Crss Gus	0.2 0.19 typ; 0.30 max 15 min; 17 typ	pF pF dB
Noise Figure ($V_{DD} = 15 V$, $R_s = 360 \Omega$, f = 200 MHz)	NF	4 typ; 6 max	dB



TYPICAL FORWARD TRANSCONDUCTANCE CHARACTERISTICS



[‡] Noise Figure = 10 $\log_{10} \left[1 + \frac{e_{\pi^2}}{4 \text{ KT BW Rg}} \right]$

where: K = 1.38 \times 10-23, T = Temperature in °Kelvin, BW = Bandwidth in Hz, $R_{\rm g}$ = Generator Resistance

FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTOR 3N142



Si insulated-gate field-effect (MOS) n-channel depletion type used in rf-amplifier applications in FM receivers covering the 88-to-108-MHz band, and in gencral amplifier applications at frequencies up to 175 MHz. JEDEC TO-72, Outline No.28. For typical drain characteristics curve, refer to type 3N128.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Drain-to-Source Voltage	VDS	20	v
Continuous	VGS	1 to -8	v
Peak	VGS	+15	v
Drain-to-Gate Voltage	VDG	20	v
Drain Current ($t_P = 20$ ms, $df \le 0.1$)	In (pulsed)	50	mÅ
Transistor Dissipation:			
T _A up to 25°C	PT	330	mW
T _A above 25°C	PT	Derate at 2.2	mW/°C
Temperature Range:			, 0
Operating	T(opr)	-65 to 175	°C
Storage	Tsrc	-65 to 175	٠Č
Lead-Soldering Temperature	Т1.	265	۰č

Drain-to-Source Cutoff Current			
$(V_{DS} = 20 \text{ V}, V_{GS} = -8 \text{ V})$	In(off)	50	" A
Zero-Bias Drain Current ($V_{DS} = 15 V$, $V_{GS} = 0$)	Inss	5 to 25	mA
Gate Leakage Current:		0 (0 00	
$V_{GS} = -\tilde{8} V$, $V_{DS} = 0$	Icss	1 max	nA
$V_{GS} = -8 V_1 V_{DS} = 0, T_A = 125^{\circ}C$	Ioss	200 max	nA
Gate-to-Source Cutoff Voltage			
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, I_D = 50 \mu \text{Å})$	Ves(off)	-0.5 to -8	v
Small-Signal Reverse Transfer Capacitance.	• (,	0.0 10 -0	•
Drain to Gate (Vps = 15 V, $Ip = 5$ mA.			
f = 1 MHz)	C	0.16 typ: 0.29 mov	
Input Capacitance ($V_{DS} = 15 V$, $I_D = 5 mA$.	Cras	0.10 typ, 0.28 max	pr
f = 1 MHz	Chan	55 typ: 7 max	۳F
,	0188	o.o.yp, i max	pr



RCA Transistor, Thyristor, & Diode Manual

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Forward Transconductance ($V_{DS} = 15 V$,			
$I_{\rm D} = 5 \text{ mA}, f = 1 \text{ kHz}$	grs	5000 min; 7500 typ	μmno
Maximum Available Power Gain ($V_{DS} = 15 V$, $I_D = 5 mA$, $f = 100 MHz$)	MAG	26	dB
Maximum Usable Power Gain, Unneutralized ($V_{DS} = 15 V, I_D = 5 mA, f = 100 MHz$)	MUG	17	dB
Maximum Usable Power Gain, Neutralized $(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, I_D = 5 \text{ mA}, f = 100 \text{ MHz})$	MUG	16 min	dB
Noise Figure ($V_{DS} = 15$ V, $I_D = 5$ mA, f = 100 MHz)	NF	2.5 typ; 4 max	dB

3N143 FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTOR

Si insulated-gate field-effect (MOS) n-channel depletion type used in vhf mixer and oscillator applications in military and industrial applications. JEDEC TO-72, Outline No.28. This type is identical with type 3N128 except for the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS

Gate Leakage Current: $V_{GS} = -8 V, V_{DS} = 0$ $V_{GS} = -8 V, V_{DS} = 0, T_A = 125^{\circ}C$ $V_{GS} = -8 V, V_{DS} = 0, T_A = 125^{\circ}V$	Igss Igss Ipss	0.1 typ; 1000 max 200 max 5 to 30	pA nA mA
Conversion Power Gain (Vps = 15 V, $Vps = 1 \text{ mA}$.	A 171-11	• • • • •	
$f_{1n} = 200$ MHz, $f_{out} = 30$ MHz)	Grs(c)	10 min; 13.5 typ	dB

3N152 FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTOR

Si insulated-gate field-effect (MOS) n-channel depletion type used in low-noise rf applications in military and industrial vhf communications equipment up to 250 MHz. JEDEC TO-72, Outline No.28. For typical forward transconductance curve, refer to type 3N128.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Drain-to-Source Voltage	VDS	20	v
Gate-to-Source Voltage: Continuous (dc) Peak (ac)	VGS VGS In (pulsed)	$-8 to 1 \pm 15 50$	V V mA
Drain Current ($t_P = 20$ ms, $dt = 0.13$) Transistor Dissipation: T _A up to 25°C T _A above 25°C	Рт Рт	330 Derate at 2.67	mW mW/°C
Temperature Range: Operating Storage Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T(opr) T _{STG} TL	-65 to 175 -65 to 175 265	င် ကို

Drain-to-Source Cutoff Current (Vis = 20 V, Vis = -8 V)	ID(off)	50 max	μA
Gate Leakage Current: $V_{DS} = 0$, $V_{GS} = -8$ V $V_{DS} = 0$, $V_{GS} = -8$ V, $T_A = 125^{\circ}C$	Igss Igss	0.0001 to 1 200 max	nA nA
Zero-Bias Drain Current ($V_{DS} = 15 V$, $V_{GS} = 0$)	IDSS	5 to 30	mA
Drain-to-Source Channel Resistance ($V_{DS} = 0$, $V_{GS} = 0$, $f = 1$ kHz)	rps(on)	200	Ω
Maximum Available Power Gain ($V_{DS} = 15 V, I_D = 5 mA, f = 200 MHz$)	MAG	21	dB
Insertion Power Gain, Neutralized ($V_{108} = 15 \text{ V}, \text{ Ip} = 5 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 200 \text{ MHz}$)	GPS	14.5 min; 16 typ	dB
Small-Signal Input Capacitance $(V_{DS} = 15 V, I_D = 5 mA, f = 0.1 to 1 MHz)$	Ciss	5.5 typ; 7 max	pF
Small-Signal Reverse Transfer Capacitance: ($V_{IB} = 15 V$, $I_{ID} = 5 mA$, $f = 0.1$ to 1 MHz)	Crss	0.16 typ; 0.28 max	pF
Forward Transconductance $(V_{DN} - 15 V, I_D = 5 mA, f = 1 kHz)$	gis	5000 to 12000	μmhos





CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Input Admittance ($V_{DS} = 15 V$, $I_D = 5 mA$.			
f = 200 MHz)	Yis	$0.4 \pm i.7.3$	mmho
Output Admittance ($V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}$, $I_D = 5 \text{ mA}$.		0.1 1 1 10	
f = 200 MHz)	Yes	$0.28 \pm i 1.8$	mmho
Noise Figure ($V_{DS} = 15$ V, $I_D = 5$ mA,		0.20 110	
f = 200 MHz)	NF	2.5 typ: 3.5 min	dB
t Three-terminal measurement with source returned	to guand	townin-1	uD
+ inter terminar measurement with source retained	to guard	terminal.	



FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTOR 3N153



Si dual-insulated gate field-effect (MOS) n-channel depletion type used in critical chopper and multiplex applications up to 60 MHz. The terminal arrangement permits shielding between input and output terminals for superior high-frequency performance and greater circuit stability, particularly on printed-circuit boards.

JEDEC TC-72, Outline No.28.

Drain-to-Source Voltage	Vds Vdb Vsb Vgs Vgs Id	$\begin{array}{c} 20 \\ -0.3 \text{ to } 20 \\ -0.3 \text{ to } 20 \\ -8 \text{ to } 6 \\ \pm 14 \\ 50 \end{array}$	V V V V mA
TA up to 25°C TA above 25°C TA above 25°C	Рт Рт D	330 erate linearly at 2.2	mW mW/°C
Operating Storage Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T(opr) T _{STG} TL	65 to 175 65 to 175 265	ວ: ວ:
CHARACTERISTICS			
Drain-to-Source Cutoff Current: $V_{GS} = -8 V, V_{DS} = 1 V$	In (off) In (off)	0.1 typ; 1 max 0.1 typ; 1 max	nA µA
$V_{GS} = -8$ to 6 V, $V_{DS} = 0$ $V_{GS} = -8$ to 6 V, $V_{DS} = 0$, $T_A = 125^{\circ}C$ Static Drain-to-Source "ON" Resistance	Igss Igss	0.1 typ; 50 max 1 max	pA nA
$(V_{GS} = 0, V_{DS} = 0)$	ros(on)	200 typ; 300 max	Ω
$(V_{GS} = -8 V, V_{DS} = 1 V)$	RDs (off) 10 ⁹ min; 10 ¹⁰ typ	Ω
$V_{GS} = -8 V, V_{DS} = 0, f = 1 MHz$ $V_{DS} = 15 V, ID = 5 mA, f = 1 MHz$	Crss Crss	0.34 typ; 0.5 max 0.12 typ; 0.2 max	pF pF

Small-Signal Input Capacitance			_
$(V_{GS} = -8 V, V_{DS} = 0, f = 1 MHz)$	Ciss	6 typ; 8 max	pF
Small-Signal, Drain-to-Source Capacitance			
$(V_{GS} = -8 V, V_{DS} = 0, f = 1 MHz)$	Cits	3 max	μmhos
Zero-Gate-Bias Forward Transconductance			
$(V_{GS} = 0, V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V})$	g(s	10000	pF
Offset Voltage (V _{Gs} = -8 to 6 V, V _{Ds} = 0)	Ŭο	0‡	`v

[‡] In measurements of Offset Voltage, thermocouple effects and contact potentials in the measurement setup may cause erroneous readings of 1 microvolt or more. These errors may be minimized by the use of solder having a low thermal e.m.f., such as Leeds & Northrup No. 107-1.0.1., or equivalent.





3N154 FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTOR

Si insulated-gate field-effect (MOS) n-channel depletion type used in vhf amplifier service in military and industrial applications up to 250 MHz. JEDEC TO-72, Outline No.28. For typical drain characteristics and typical forward transconductance curves, refer to type 3N128.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Drain-to-Source Voltage	VDS	20	v
Gate-to-Source Voltage:	Ves	-8 to 1	v
Peak (ac)	VGS	±15	v
Drain-to-Gate Voltage	VDG	20	v
Drain Current (tr ≤ 20 ms, df ≤ 0.15)	In (pulsed)	50	mA
Transistor Dissipation:	P _	220	mW
T_A up to 25°C	Рт	Derate at 2.2	mW/°C
Temperature Range: Operating	T(opr)	-65 to 175	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 175	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Τι.	265	°C

Gate-to-Source Cutoff Voltage			
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, \text{ ID} = 50 \ \mu \text{A})$	Vos(off)	-0.5 to -8	v
Drain-to-Source Cutoff Current			
$(V_{DS} = 20 V, V_{GS} = -8 V)$	In (off)	50 max	μA
Zero-Bias Drain Current ($V_{DS} = 15 V$, $V_{GS} = 0$)	IDSS	10 to 25	mA
Gate Leakage Current:			
$V_{GS} = -8 V, V_{DS} = 0$	IGSS 0.0	001 typ; 0.05 max	nA
$V_{GS} = -8 V, V_{DS} = 0, T_A = 125^{\circ}C$	IGSS	5 max	nA
$V_{GS} = 1 V, V_{DS} = 0$	IGSS 0.0	001 typ; 0.05 max	nA
$V_{GS} = 1 V, V_{DS} = 0, T_A = 125^{\circ}C$	IGSS	5 max	nA



CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Forward Transadmittance			
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, I_P = 5 \text{ mA}, f = 200 \text{ MHz})$	Yfs	7 — j 2	mmho
Forward Transconductance		_	
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, I_D = 5 \text{ mA}, f = 1 \text{ kHz})$	grs	5000 to 12000	μmho
Small-Signal Input Capacitance	-		_
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, I_D = 5 \text{ mA}, f = 0.1 \text{ to } 1 \text{ MHz}) \dots$	Ciss	5.5 typ; 7 max	\mathbf{pF}
Small-Signal Reverse Transfer Capacitance			_
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, \text{ ID} = 5 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 0.1 \text{ to } 1 \text{ MHz}) \dots$	Crss	0.03 to 0.2	\mathbf{pF}
Drain-to-Source Channel Resistance			- 1
$(V_{DS} = 0, V_{GS} = 0, f = 1 \text{ kHz})$	rps(on)	200	Ω
Input Conductance			
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, I_D = 5 \text{ mA}, f = 200 \text{ MHz})$	Yis	0.4 + j 7.3	mmho
Output Conductance			
$(\hat{V}_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, \text{ ID} = 5 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 200 \text{ MHz})$	$\mathbf{Y}_{0:\mathbf{x}}$	0.28 + j 1.8	mmho
Maximum Available Power Gain		_	
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, \text{ ID} = 5 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 200 \text{ MHz})$	MAG	21	dB
Insertion Power Gain, Neutralized			
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, \text{ ID} = 5 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 200 \text{ MHz})$	GPS	13.5 min; 16 typ	dB
Noise Figure ($V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}$, $I_D = 5 \text{ mA}$,		_	
f = 200 MHz)	NF	3.5 typ; 5 max	dB
Three-terminal measurement with source returned	to guard	terminal.	



FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTOR

40467A

Si insulated-gate field-effect (MOS) n-channel depletion type used in vhf tuners and other vhf amplifier applications in industrial and commercial electronic equipment. JEDEC TO-72, Outline No.28.

Drain-to-Source Voltage	$V_{\rm DS}$	20	v
Continuous (dc)	Ves	-8 to 1	v
Peak (ac)	VGS	±15	ý
Drain-to-Gate Voltage	VDG	20	v
Drain Current	In	50	mA
Transistor Dissipation:	_		
T _A up to 25°C	Pr	330	mW
T _A above 25°C	Pr	Derate at 2.2	mW/°C
Temperature Range:			
Operating	Topr)	-65 to 175	°C
Storage	TSTG	—65 to 175	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Τ ι.	265	°C



CHARACTERISTICS

Gate-to-Source Cutoff Voltage			
$(V_{DS} = 12 \text{ V}, \text{ I}_{D} = 0.1 \text{ m}\overline{\text{A}})$	Vcs(off)	-5 typ; -8 max	v
Gate Leakage Current:	_		
$V_{GS} = 1 V, V_{DS} = 0$	IGSS	1 max	nA
$V_{GS} = -8 V, V_{DS} = 0$	IGSS	1 max	nA
Zero-Bias Drain Current	_		
$(V_{DS} = 15 V, V_{GS} = 0)$	IDSS	10 to 50	mA
Small-Signal, Forward Transconductance			
$(V_{D8} = 15 V, I_D = 5 mA, f = 1 kHz)$	gis	4000 min; 7500 typ	μmho
Small-Signal Reverse Transfer Capacitance	-		_
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, \text{ ID} = 5 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 1 \text{ MHz})$	Crss	0.03 to 0.28	pF
Maximum Available Power Gain			
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, I_D = 5 \text{ mA}, f = 200 \text{ MHz})$	MAG	21	dB
Maximum Usable Power Gain, Unneutralized			
$(V_{CE} = 15 \text{ V}, \text{ Id} = 5 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 200 \text{ MHz})$	MUG	12	aB
Maximum Usable Power Gain, Neutralized			
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, I_D = 5 \text{ mA}, f = 200 \text{ MHz})$	MUG	12 min; 16 typ	aв
Noise Figure ($V_{DS} = 15 V$, $I_D = 5 mA$,			15
f = 200 MHz	NF.	3.5 typ; 5 max	dB

40468A FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTOR

Si insulated-gate field-effect (MOS) n-channel depletion type used in rf-amplifier applications in FM receivers covering the 88-to-108-MHz band, and in general amplifier applications at frequencies up to 125 MHz. JEDEC TO-72, Outline No.28.



MAXIMUM RATINGS

VDS	20	v
VGS	8 to 1	v
VGS	±15	v
$\mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{DG}}$	20	v
In	25	mÁ
Рт	375	mW
Рт	Derate at 2.5	mW/°C
T(opr)	-65 to 175	°C
Tsto	-65 to 175	°Ċ
T _L	265	۰Č
	V D8 VG8 VG8 V D03 ID PT PT T(opr) TST6 TL	VD8 20 VG8 -8 to 1 VG8 ±15 VD0 20 ID 25 PT 375 PT Derate at 2.5 T(opr) -65 to 175 TL 265

Diam-to-Source Cuton Current			
$(V_{DS} = 12 \text{ V}, V_{GS} = -8 \text{ V})$	In(off)	100 max	$\mu \mathbf{A}$
Gate Leakage Current:			
$V_{GS} = -8 V, V_{DS} = 0$	IGSS	1 max	nA
$V_{GS} = 1 V, V_{DS} = 0$	Igss	1 max	nA
Zero-Bias Drain Current ($V_{08} = 15 V, V_{68} = 0$)	Inss	5 to 30	mA
Small-Signal Forward Transconductance			
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, \text{ ID} = 5 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 1 \text{ kHz})$	gis	7500▲	μmhos
Small-Signal Reverse-Transfer Capacitance,			
Drain-to-Gate ($V_{DS} = 15$ V, $I_D = 5$ mA,			
f = 1 MHz)	Crss	0.16 typ; 0.28 max	pF
Input Capacitance ($V_{DS} = 15 V$, $I_D = 5 mA$,			
f = 1 MHz	Ciss	5.5	\mathbf{pF}
Maximum Available Power Gain			
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, I_D = 5 \text{ mA}, f = 100 \text{ MHz})$	MAG	26▲	dB
Maximum Usable Power Gain, Unneutralized			
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, \text{ I}_D = 5 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 100 \text{ MHz})$	MUG	14▲	dB
Maximum Usable Power Gain, Neutralized			
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, I_D = 5 \text{ mA}, f = 100 \text{ MHz})$	MUG	14 min; 17 typ▲	dB
Noise Figure ($V_{DS} = 15$ V, $I_D = 5$ mA,			
f = 100 MHz)	NF	3.5 typ; 5 max▲	dB

▲ This characteristic does not apply to type 40559A.



FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTOR 40559A

Si insulated-gate field-effect (MOS) n-channel depletion type used in mixer applications in FM receivers covering the 88-to-108-MHz band, and in general amplifier applications at frequencies up to 125 MHz. JEDEC TO-72, Outline No.28. For typical forward transconductance characteristics curves, refer to type 3N140. This type

is identical with 40468A except for the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS

Drain-to-Source Cutoff Current $(V_{DS} = 12 \text{ V}, V_{CS} = -8 \text{ V})$	In (off)	500 max	µА
Small-Signal Reverse-Transfer Capacitance,			1
Drain-to-Gate ($V_{DS} = 15$ V, $I_D = 5$ mA, f = 1 MHz)	Crss	0.17 typ; 0.3 max	\mathbf{pF}
Forward Conversion Transconductance			
$(v_{DS} = 15 v, 1b = 3 mA, v_{BS} = -3 v, f = 1 kHz)$	gfs(C)	2800	μmhos
Maximum Available Conversion Gain			
$(V_{DS} = 15 V, 1D = 3 MA, t_{1n} = 100 MHz, f_{out} = 10.7 MHz)$	MAGe	22	dB

Dual-Gate Types



FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTOR 3N140

Si dual insulated-gate field-effect (MOS) n-channel depletion type used in rf amplifier applications at freguencies up to 300 MHz. JEDEC TO-72, Outline No.28.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Drain-to-Source Voltage	VDS	0 to 20	v
Gate-No.1-to-Source Voltage:			_
Continuous (dc)	VG1S	-8 to 1	v
Peak (ac)	VGIS	-8 to 20	v
Gate-No.2-to-Source Voltage:			
Continuous (dc)	\mathbf{V}_{G2S}	-8 to (0.4 of V _{DS})	v
Peak (ac)	VG2S	-8 to 20	v
Drain-to-Gate-No.1 Voltage	VDG1	20	v
Drain-to-Gate-No.2 Voltage	$\mathbf{V}_{\mathrm{DG2}}$	20	v
Drain Current	ID	50	mA
Transistor Dissipation;			
T _A up to 25°C	Рт	330	mW
T _A above 25°C	Рт	Derate linearly at 2.2	mW/°C
Temperature Range:			
Operating	T (op:	r) —65 to 175	°C
Storage	TSTG	65 to 175	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Τι.	265	°C

Gate-No.1-to-Source Cutoff Voltage			
$(V_{DS} = 16 \text{ V}, V_{G2} \text{ s} = 4 \text{ V}, I_{D} = 200 \ \mu\text{A})$	VG1S(Off) -2	typ; -4 max	v
Gate-No.2-to-Source Cutoff Voltage			
$(V_{DS} = 16 \text{ V}, V_{G1S} = 0, I_D = 200 \ \mu\text{A})$	$V_{G_{2}S}(off) = 2$	2 typ; -4 max	v
Gate-No.1 Leakage Current:			
$V_{G1S} = -20 V_{0} V_{02S} = 0, V_{DS} = 0$	Igiss	1 max	nA
$V_{G1S} = 1 V, V_{G2S} = 0, V_{DS} = 0$	IGISS	1 max	nA
$V_{G1S} = -20 V$, $V_{G2S} = 0$, $V_{DS} = 0$, $T_A = 125^{\circ}C$	IG188	0.2 max	μA
Gate-No.2 Leakage Current:			
$V_{G2S} = -20 V_{0} V_{G1S} = 0, V_{DS} = 0$	IG2SS	1 max	nA
$V_{628} = 1 V$, $V_{618} = 0$, $V_{D8} = 0$	Ig288	1 max	nA
$V_{G2S} = -20 V$, $V_{G1S} = 0$, $V_{DS} = 0$, $T_A = 125^{\circ}C$	IG288	0.2 max	μA
Zero-Bias Drain Current $(V_{PD} = 14 V,$			
$V_{G18} = 0, V_{G28} = 4 V, t_P \le 20 m_s, df \le 0.15) \dots$	Ibss (pulsed)	5 to 30	mA
Forward Transconductance, Gate-No.1 to Drain			
$(V_{DD} = 14 \text{ V}, V_{G2S} = 4 \text{ V}, I_D = 10 \text{ mA},$			
f = 1 kHz	gra	6000 to 18000	μmhos

Cutoff Forward Transconductance,			
Gate-No.1 to Drain (VDD = 14 V, VGB = 0.5 V,			
$V_{G28} = -2 V, f = 1 kHz$	grs(off) ‡	100 max	μmhos
Small-Signal Input Capacitance •	• • • •		
$(V_{DS} = 13 \text{ V}, V_{G2S} = 4 \text{ V}, I_D = 10 \text{ mA}, f = 1 \text{ MHz})$	Ciss	3 to 7	pF
Small-Signal Reverse Transfer Capacitance,			
Drain to Gate-No.1 ^A ($V_{DS} = 13^{\circ}V$, $V_{G2S} = 4^{\circ}V$,			
$I_{\rm D} = 10 \text{mA}, f = 1 \text{MHz}$	Cras	0.01 to 0.03	pF
Small-Signal Output Capacitance			-
$(V_{DS} = 13 V, V_{G2S} = 4 V, I_D = 10 mA, f = 1 MHz)$	Coss	2.2	pF
Power Gain (V _{DD} = 15 V, $R_8 = 270 \Omega$,			-
$R_G = 50 \ \Omega, \ f = 200 \ MHz$	Gpst	16 min; 18 typ	dB
Noise Figure (V ₁₀) = 15 V, $R_s = 270 \Omega$.	• •		
$R_G = 50 \Omega, f = 200 MHz$	NFt	3.5 typ: 4.5 max	dB
- Generation as between mate Mail and all other terms	mala		

• Capacitance between gate No.1 and all other terminals. • Three-terminal measurement with gate No.2 and source returned to guard terminal. ‡ This value does not apply to type 3N141.





3N141 FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTOR

Si dual insulated-gate field-effect (MOS) n-channel depletion type used in mixer applications at frequencies up to 300 MHz. JEDEC TO-72, Outline No.28. This type is identical with type 3N140 except for the following item:



CHARACTERISTICS

Conversion Power Gain (V_{PD} = 15 V, R₈ = 120 Ω , f_{1n} = 200 MHz, f_{out} = 30 MHz, oscillator injection voltage from gate No.2 to source = 2.5 V (rms))

G_{P3}(c) 13 min; 17 typ

dB

FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTOR 3N159

Si insulated-gate field-effect (MOS) n-channel depletion type used in rf amplifier applications at frequencies up to 300 MHz. JEDEC TO-72, Outline No.28.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Drain-to-Source Voltage	Vos	0 to 20	v
Gate-No.1-to-Source Voltage:			
Continuous (dc)	VG1S	-8 to 1	v
Cate No 2 to Source Veltage	VG1S	-8 to 20	v
Continuous (da)			
Posk (ac)	VG2S	-8 10 (0.4 Vhs)	V.
Drain-to-Gate-No.1 Voltage	VG28	-8 10 20	v
Drain-to-Gate-No.2 Voltage	Viici	20	v
Drain Current	To	50	mÅ
Transistor Dissipation:	-17	30	iiiA
T _A up to 25°C	Рт	330	mW
T _A above 25°C	PT De	erate linearly at 2.2	mW/°C
Temperature Range:		•	,
Operating	T(opr)	-65 to 175	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 175	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL.	265	°C
CHARACTERISTICS			
Gate-No.1-to-Source Cutoff Voltage			
$(V_{DS} = 16 V, V_{G2S} = 4 V, I_D = 200 \mu A)$	VG1S(Off) —2 typ; —4 max	v
Gate-No.2-to-Source Cutoff Voltage	TT (
$(VDS = 16 V, VGIS = 0, 10 = 200 \mu A)$	V G2S (OII)	-2 typ; -4 max	v
$V_{0,0} = -20 V V_{0,0} = 0$	Turne	1	4
$V_{G1S} = -20$ V, $V_{G2S} = 0$, $V_{DS} = 0$	Lange	1 max	nA
$V_{015} = -20 V V_{025} = 0 V_{105} = 0 T_1 - 125^{\circ}C$	Lores	0.2 max	A
Gate-No.2-Leakage Current:	10155	0.2 max	μΑ
$V_{G2S} = -20 V$, $V_{G1S} = 0$, $V_{DS} = 0$	Icess	1 max	nA
$V_{G2S} = 1 V$, $V_{G1S} = 0$, $V_{DS} = 0$	Iggss	1 max	nA
$V_{G2S} = -20 V$, $V_{G1S} = 0$, $V_{DS} = 0$, $T_A = 125 C$	IG288	0.2 max	μA
Zero-Bias Drain Current ($V_{DD} = 14$ V, $V_{G1S} = 0$,			•
$V_{G2S} = 4 V$, tr ≤ 20 ms, df ≤ 0.15)	Inss (puls	sed) 5 to 30	mA
Forward Transconductance, Gate-No.1 to Drain			
$(V_{DD} = 14 V, V_{G2S} = 4 V, I_D = 10 mA,$			
f = 1 kHz	grs	7000 to 18000	μmhos
Durin (Var 14 V Var 65 V V			
D_{1an1} (VDD = 14 V, VGIS = -0.5 V, VG2S = -2 V,			
Small-Signal Input Connect	grs(011)	100 max	μmhos
$(V_{DS} - 12) V V_{COS} - 4 V I_{D} - 10 m A$			
f = 1 MHz)	C.	24-7	
Small-Signal Reverse Transfer Canacitance	Clas	3 10 7	pr
Drain to Gate-No.1 ^{\wedge} (V _{DS} = 13 V, V _{G2S} = 4 V.			
$I_D = 10 \text{ mA}, f = 1 \text{ MHz}$	Cree	0.01 to 0.03	nF
Small-Signal Output Capacitance		0.01 10 0.05	pr
$(V_{DS} = 13 \text{ V}, V_{G2S} = 4 \text{ V}, I_D = 10 \text{ mA},$			
f = 1 MHz)	Cuss	2.2	pF
			2



375

MUG

Noise Figure (V_{DD} = 15 V, $R_s = 270 \Omega$, $R_G = 50 \Omega$, f = 200 MHz

NF ‡ Capacitance between gate No.1 and all other terminals.

Three-terminal measurement with gate No.2 and source returned to guard terminal.

40600 FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTOR

Si dual insulated-gate field-effect (MOS) n-channel depletion type used in rf-amplifier applications in vhf television receivers and other types of commercial equipment operating at frequencies up to approximately 250 MHz. JEDEC TO-72, Outline No.28. For typical drain characteristics and typical forward transconductance curves, refer to type 3N140.



16 to 22

2.5 typ; 3.5 max

dB

dB

v v nA nA mA μmhos pF pF pF kΩ kΩ μmhos degrees dB dB dB

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Drain-to-Source Voltage	VDS	0 to 20	v
Gate No.1-to-Source Voltage:			
Continuous (dc)	VG1S	—8 to 1	v
Peak (ac)	VG1S	—8 to 20	v
Gate No.2-to-Source Voltage:			
Continuous (dc)	V_{G2S}	-8 to (0.4 V _{DS})	v
Peak (ac)	VG28	-8 to 20	v
Drain-to-Gate No. 1 Voltage	Vpg1	20	v
Drain-to-Gate No. 2 Voltage	V_{DG2}	20	v
Drain Current ($t_P \leq 20$ ms, $df \leq 0.15$)	Ip(pu	lsed) 50	mA
Transistor Dissipation:			
T _A up to 25°C	Рт	330	mW
T _A above 25°C	Рт	Derate linearly at 2.2	mW/°C
Temperature Range:		•	
Operating	T(opr) -65 to 175	°C
Storage	TSTO	-65 to 175	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T_L	265	°C

Gate-No.1-to-Source Voltage		
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, V_{G2S} = 4 \text{ V}, I_D = 200 \ \mu\text{A})$	VGIS(Off)	-3
Gate-No.2-to-Source Cutoff Voltage		_
$(V_{DS} = 15 V, V_{G1S} = 0, I_D = 200 \mu A)$	VG28 (Off)) —3
Gate-No.1 Leakage Current		
$(V_{G1S} = -20, V, V_{G2S} = 0, V_{DS} = 0)$	IGISS	1 max
Gate-No.2 Leakage Current	_	
$(V_{G2S} = -20 V, V_{G1S} = 0, V_{DS} = 0)$	IG2SS	1 max
Drain Current ($V_{DS} = 13$ V, $V_{G2S} = 4$ V,		
$V_{G1S} = 0$	IDSS	18
Forward Transconductance ($V_{DS} = 13 V$,		
$V_{G2S} = 4 V, I_D = 10 mA, f = 1 kHz$)	gfs	10000
Small-Signal Reverse Transfer Capacitance,	0	
Drain to Gate No.1 ($V_{DS} = 13$ V, $V_{G2S} = 4$ V,		
$I_{D} = 10 \text{ mA}, f = 1 \text{ MHz}$	Cras	0.02 typ: 0.03 max
Output Capacitance ($V_{DS} = 13$ V, $V_{G2S} = 4$ V.		
$I_{\rm D} = 10 \text{ mA}, f = 200 \text{ MHz}$	Coss	2.2
Input Capacitance (Vus = 13 V. Vos = 4 V.		
$I_{\rm D} = 10 \text{ mA} \text{ f} = 200 \text{ MHz}$	Circ	5 5
Input Resistance (Vps -13 V Vcms -4 V	0138	0.0
$I_{\rm D} = 10 \text{ mA} \text{ f} = 200 \text{ MHz}$	÷.	1 9
Output Resistance (Vie -12 V Vie -4 V	1158	1.2
$J_{\rm p} = 10 \text{ mA} f = 200 \text{ MHz}$	<u></u>	9.0
$10 \equiv 10 \text{ IIIA}, 1 \equiv 200 \text{ WHZ}$	ross	2.8
Magnitude of Forward Transadinitiance		
$(V_{DS} = 13 V, V_{G2S} = 4 V, 1D = 10 MA,$		
f = 200 MHz	Yfs	11000
Phase Angle of Forward Transadmittance		
$(V_{DS} = 13 V, V_{G2S} = 4 V, I_D = 10 mA,$		
f = 200 MHz)	/0	-46
Maximum Available Power Gain ($V_{DS} = 13 V$,		
$V_{G2S} = 4 V, I_D = 10 mA, f = 200 MHz)$	MAG	20
Maximum Usable Power Gain, Unneutralized		
$(V_{DS} = 13 V, V_{G2S} = 4 V, I_D = 10 mA.$		
f = 200 MHz	MUG	204
Power Gain ($V_{DS} = 13 V$, $V_{G2S} = 4 V$, $I_D = 10 mA$,		
f = 200 MHz	GPS	17.51
		11.04

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

(3)GI

Noise Figure (V $_{\rm DS}=13$ V, V $_{\rm G2S}=4$ V, I $_{\rm D}=10$ mA, f = 200 MHz) NF Limited by practical design considerations.
 This characteristic does not apply to ty 40602.

40601 FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTOR

Si dual insulated-gate field-effect (MOS) n-channel depletion type used in mixer applications in vhf television receivers and other types of commercial equipment operating at frequencies up to approximately 250 MHz. JEDEC TO-72, Outline No.28. The maximum ratings a) s. sub for this type are identical with type 40600.

CHARACTERISTICS

6

Gate-No.1-to-Source Cutoff Voltage			
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, V_{G2S} = 4 \text{ V}, I_D = 200 \ \mu\text{A})$	V _{G18} (of	f) —3	v
Gate-No.2-to-Source Cutoff Voltage		, u	•
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, V_{G2S} = 4 \text{ V}, I_D = 200 \ \mu\text{A})$	V _{G28} (of	f) —3	v
Gate-No.1 Leakage Current		-	-
$(V_{G1S} = -20 V, V_{G2S} = 0, V_{DS} = 0)$	IGISS	1 max	nA
Gate-No.2 Leakage Current			
$(V_{G28} = -20 V, V_{G18} = 0, V_{D8} = 0)$	IG2SS	1 max	nA
Drain Current ($V_{DS} = 13 V$, $V_{G2S} = 4 V$, $V_{G1S} = 0$)	IDSS	18	mA
Forward Transconductance ($V_{DS} = 13 V$,			
$V_{G28} = 4 V, I_D = 10 mA, f = 1 kHz)$	grs	10000	μmhos
The following test conditions apply to all remain-			•
ing characteristics, unless otherwise specified:			
Local-oscillator injection voltage on gate			
$No.2 = 750 \text{ mV}, V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, V_{G2S} = 0.6 \text{ V},$			
$V_{G1S} = 0.75 V, f = 200 MHz.$			
Small-Signal Reverse Transfer Capacitance,			
Drain-to-Gate No.1 ($f = 1$ MHz)	Сган	0.02 typ; 0.03 max	pF
Output Capacitance (f = 44 MHz)	Coss	2.2	pF
Input Capacitance	Ciss	5.5	pF
Input Resistance	riss	1.2	kΩ
Output Resistance ($f = 44$ MHz)	ross	12	kΩ
Magnitude of Forward Conversion Transadmittance	Yfa(c)	2700	μmhos
Maximum Available Conversion Gain	MAGe	14	dB

FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTOR

4060

40603



Si dual insulated-gate field-effect (MOS) n-channel depletion type used in first-if amplifier applications in vhf television receivers and other types of commercial equipment operating at frequencies up to approximately 250 MHz. JEDEC TO-72, Outline No.28. This type is identical with type 40600 except for the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS

Input Resistance	Tiss	10	kO
Output Resistance	Toss	12	kÖ
Phase Angle of Forward Transadmittance	10	-11	degrees
Maximum Available Power Gain	́МАС	35	dB
Maximum Usable Power Gain, Unneutralized:			
For 1 stage	MUG	28	dB
For 2 stages	MUG	26	dB
For 3 stages	MUG	24	dB



FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTOR

Si dual insulated-gate field-effect (MOS) n-channel depletion type used in rf amplifier applications in FM tuners and other commercial equipment operating at frequencies up to approximately 150 MHz. JEDEC TO-72, Outline No.28. For typical forward transconductance

curves, refer to type 3N140.

51 max dB

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Drain-to-Source Voltage	Vos	0 to 20	v
Gate-No.1-to-Source Voltage:	Mara	9 to 1	37
Peak (ac)	VG18		v
Gate-No.2-to-Source Voltage:	• • • • •	0 10 20	
Continuous (dc)	V_{G28}	-8 to $(0.4V_{DS})$	v
Peak (ac)	VG28	-8 to 20	v
Drain-to-Gate-No.1 Voltage	VG18	20	v
Drain-to-Gate-No.2 Voltage	V G2S	20	V
Drain Current ($t_P \leq 20$ ms, $df \leq 0.15$)	In(pu	(Ised) 50	mA
Transistor Dissipation:	D _m	330	mW
$T_{\rm A}$ above 25° C	Pr.	Derate linearly at 2.2	mW/°C
Temperature Range		201210 11102119 21 212	, •
Operating	T(op)	-65 to 175	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 175	۰C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T 1.	265	°C
CHARACTERISTICS			
C t No.1 to Course Guite & Moltage			
Gate-No.1-to-Source Cuton Voltage	Vara	off) 2	v
$(V_{DS} = 15 V, V_{G2S} = 4 V, 10 = 200 \mu A)$	V 618 (511) —3	v
$(V_{\text{trac}} = 15 \text{ V} \text{ V}_{\text{trac}} = 0 \text{ I}_{\text{trac}} = 200 _{\text{trac}} \text{ A})$	Versi	off) -3	v
Gate-No 1 Leakage Current (Vois = -20 V.	1 1201	011)	•
$V_{G2S} \equiv 0, V_{DS} \equiv 0)$	IG188	1 max	nA
Gate-No.2 Leakage Current (V ₆₂₈ $= -20$ V,			
$V_{G1S} = 0, V_{DS} = 0)$	IG288	1 max	nA
Zero-Bias-Voltage Drain Current	-	10	4
$(V_{G2S} = 4 V, V_{G1S} = 0, V_{DS} = 13 V)$	IDSS	18	mA
Small-Signal Reverse Transfer Capacitance,			
Drain-to-Gate-No.1 (V bs \equiv 13 V, 16 \equiv 10 mA,	C.	0.02 typ: 0.03 max	nF
$V_{G28} \equiv 4 V, 1 \equiv 1 W(12)$	CIN	0.02 typ, 0.00 max	p-
$T_{\rm D} = 10 \text{ mA} \text{ f} = 1 \text{ MHz}$	Ciss	5.5	pF
Output Capacitance ($V_{DS} = 13$ V, $V_{G2S} = 4$ V,			-
$I_D = 10 \text{ mA}, f = 100 \text{ MHz}$	Coss	21	pF
Input Resistance ($V_{DS} = 13$ V, $V_{G2S} = 4$ V,			
$\hat{I}_{\rm D} = 10$ mA, f = 100 MHz)	r iss	3.5	kΩ
Output Resistance ($V_{DS} = 13$ V, $V_{G2S} = 4$ V,			k-O
$I_D = 10 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 100 \text{ MHz})$	ross	4	K12
Forward Transconductance ($V_{DS} = 13 V$.	tte-	10000	"mbos
$V_{G2S} \equiv 4 V$, $I_D \equiv I_U MA$, $I \equiv I KHZ$)	g1s	10000-	μπποσ
Maximum Available Power Gali (Vis $= 15$ V,	MAG	26	dB
$V_{G2S} \equiv 4 V, 10 \equiv 10 \text{ mA}, 1 \equiv 100 \text{ mHz}$			
$(V_{08} - 13 V, V_{098} = 4 V, I_{D} = 10 mA,$			
f = 100 MHz	MUG	25▲●	dB
Noise Figure ($V_{DS} = 13$ V, $V_{G2S} = 4$ V, $I_D = 10$ mA,		0.4	ap
f = 100 MHz)	NF.	3 typ; 4 max	db

* Limited by practical design considerations.

• This characteristic does not apply to type 40604.

40604 FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTOR

Si dual insulated-gate field-effect (MOS) n-channel depletion type used in mixer applications in FM tuners and other commercial equipment operating at frequencies up to approximately 150 MHz. JEDEC TO-72, Outline No.28. This type is identical with type 40603 except for the following items:

2 62 3 61

$I_D \equiv I_0 \text{ mA}, I \equiv I_0 \text{ mm2}$		-
Output Resistance ($V_{DS} = 13$ V, $V_{G2S} = 4$ V, I _D = 10 mA, f = 10.7 MHz)	20	kΩ
Conversion Transconductance ($V_{DS} = 13$ V, $V_{G2S} = 4$ V, $I_D = 10$ mA, $f = 1$ kHz)	2800	μmhos
Conversion Power Gain ($V_{DS} = 13$ V, $V_{G2S} = 4$ V, $I_D = 10$ mA, $f = 100$ MHz, MAG:	23	dB

Dual-Gate Protected Types



FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTOR 3N187

Si insulated-gate field-effect (mos) n-channel depletion type with integrated gate-protection circuits for military and industrial applications up to 300 MHz. JEDEC TO-72. Outline No.28.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Drain-to-Source Voltage	$v_{\rm DS}$	-0.2 to 20	v
Gate-No. 1-to-Source Voltage:	37	6 4 - 2	
Continuous (dc)	VGIS	-0 10 3	v
Peak (ac)	VGIS	-6 to 6	v
Gate-No. 2-to-Source Voltage:			
Continuous (dc)	Vogs	-6 to (0.3 V _{DS})	v
Peak (ac)	V _{G28}	—6 to 6	v
Drain-to-Gate-No. 1 Voltage	VDG1	20	
Drain-to-Gate-No. 2 Voltage	$\mathbf{V}_{\mathrm{DG2}}$	20	
Drain Current	Ib	50	mA
Transistor Dissipation:			
T _A up to 25°C	Pr	330	mW
T _A above 25°C	$\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{T}}$	Derate linearly at 2.2	mW/°C
Temperature Range:			
Operating	T _J (opr)	-65 to 175	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 175	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T1.	265	°C

Gate-No 1-to-Source Cutoff Voltage			
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, \text{ ID} = 50 \ \mu\text{A}, \text{ V}_{GS} = 4 \text{ V})$	Vans (off)	-0.5 to -4	v
Gate-No. 2-to-Source Cutoff Voltage			
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, I_D = 50 \ \mu\text{A}, V_{G1S} = 0) \dots$	V _{G2S} (off)	-0.5 to -4	v
Gate-No. 1-Terminal Forward Current:	_		
$V_{G1S} = 1 V$, $V_{G2S} = V_{DS} = 0$	IGISSF	50 max	nA
$V_{G1S} = 1 V, V_{G2S} = V_{DS} = 0, T_A = 100^{\circ}C$	IGISSF	5 max	μA
Gate-No. 1-Terminal Reverse Current:	-		
$V_{GIS} = -6 V_0 V_{G2S} = V_{DS} = 0$	Laissr	50 max	nA
$V_{G1S} = -6 V, V_{G2S} = V_{DS} = 0, T_A = 100^{\circ}C$	IGISSR	5 max	μA
Gate-No. 2-Terminal Forward Current:	.	50	
$V_{G2S} = 6 V, V_{G1S} = V_{DS} = 0$	16288F	50 max	nA
$V_{G28} = 6 V, V_{G18} = V_{D8} = 0, T_A = 100^{\circ}C$	1G2SSF	5 max	μA
Gate-No. 2-Terminal Reverse Current:	τ	50	
$V_{G2S} = -6 V, V_{G1S} = V_{DS} = 0$	IG288R	50 max	nA
$V_{G2S} \equiv -6 V$, $V_{G1S} \equiv V_{DS} \equiv 0$, $T_A \equiv 100^{\circ}C$	IG288R	əmax	μAL
Vero-Blas Drain Current	Tuu	E to 20	
$(V_{DS} = 15 V, V_{GIS} = 0, V_{G2S} = 4 V)$	108	5 10 30	mA
Forward Transconductance, Gate No.1-10-			
$V_{\rm theorem } = A V f = 1 kH_2$	Ø	7000 to 18000	umbo
Small Signal Input Capacitance	517	1000 10 18000	μππο
$V_{\rm Im} = 15$ V In $= 10$ mA V _{Im} $= 4$ V			
f = 1 MH ₂) MH ₂	Con	4 to 8 5	nF
Small-Signal Reverse Transfer Canacitance	0134	4100.0	pr
Drain-to-Gate No. 1 (Vis $=$ 15 V			
$I_D = 10 \text{ mA}$, $V_{GSS} = 4 \text{ V}$, $f = 1 \text{ MHz}$)	Crss	0.005 to 0.03	nF
Small-Signal Output Capacitance			P1
$(V_{DS} = 15 V, I_D = 10 mA, V_{GS} = 4 V,$			
f = 1 MHz	Coss	2	pF
Power Gain ($V_{DS} = 15$ V, $I_D = 10$ mA.			1
$V_{G2S} = 4 V, f = 200 MHz$	Grs	16 to 22	dB
Maximum Available Power Gain			
$(V_{DS} = 15 V, I_D = 10 mA, V_{G2S} = 4 V,$			
f = 200 MHz)	MAG	20	dB
Maximum Usable Power Gain, Unneutral-			
ized (VDs = 15 V, ID = 10 mA, VGs = 4 V,			
f = 200 MHz	MUG	20	dB
Noise Figure (VDs $=$ 15 V, ID $=$ 10 mA,			
$V_{G2S} = 4 V, f = 200 MHz)$	NF.	3.5 typ; 4.5 max	dB
Magnitude of Forward Transadmittance			
(VDS = 15 V, 10 = 10 mA, VG2S = 4 V,	137	10000	
I = 200 MHz	Yfs	12000	μmho

(3)

2

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Phase Angle of Forward Transadmittance $(V_{DS} = 15 V, I_D = 10 mA, V_{G2S} = 4 V, f = 200 MHz)$ Θ -35	degrees
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	μmho
$ \begin{array}{c} \text{(V}_{\text{DS}} = 15 \text{ V}, \text{ ID} = 10 \text{ mA}, \text{ V}_{\text{Q2S}} = 4 \text{ V}, \\ \text{f} = 200 \text{ MHz} \end{array} $	degrees
Input Resistance ($V_{DS} = 15$ V, $I_D = 10$ mA, $V_{G2S} = 4$ V, $f = 200$ MHz) r_{155} 1	kΩ
Output Resistance ($V_{DS} = 15$ V, $I_D = 10$ mA, $V_{G2S} = 4$ V, $f = 200$ MHz) T_{USS} 2.8	kΩ
Gate-to-Source Forward Breakdown Volt-	
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	V
Gate-to-Source Reverse Breakdown Volt-	
age: Gate No. 1 (IGISSR = $I_{G2SSR} = -100 \ \mu A$) V(BR)GISSR -6.5 min; -10 typ Gate No. 2 (IGISSR = $I_{G2SSR} = -100 \ \mu A$) V(BR)G2SSR -6.5 min; -10 typ	v

• Capacitance between gate No. 1 and all other terminals.

Three-terminal measurement with gate No. 2 and source returned to guard terminal.



3N200 FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTOR

Si insulated-gate field-effect (mos) n-channel depletion type with integrated gate-protection circuits for military and industrial applications up to 500 MHz. JEDEC TO-72. Outline No.28.

Drain-to-Source Voltage	VDS	-0.2 to 20	v
Gate-No. 1-to-Source Voltage:			
Continuous (dc)	Vois	-6 to 3	v
Deals (ac)	Vers	-6 to 6	v
Peak (ac)	• (****	0.000	
Gate-No. 2-to-Source voltage.	37	$E \neq 0$ (0.2 Mum)	v
Continuous (dc)	V G28	-0 (0 (0.3 VI)S)	, v
Peak (ac)	V G28	6106	v
Drain-to-Gate-No. 1 Voltage	VDG1	20	
Durin to Cate No. 2 Voltage	Vnce	20	
Drain-to-Gate-No. 2 Voltage	L.	50	mA
Drain Current	10	50	
Transistor Dissipation:	_	000	
T _A up to 25°C	Рт	330	mw
T. above 25°C	Pr	Derate linearly at 2.2	mW/°C
Temperature Range.	$\mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{r}}(\mathbf{onn})$	_65 to 175	°C
Operating	Ti(obi)	CE 40 17E	۰č
Storage	TSTG	-65 10 175	ä
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Тι.	265	-0

CHARACTERISTICS

Gate-No. 1-to-Source Cutoff Voltage			
$(V_{DS} = 15 V, I_D = 50 \mu A, V_{G2S} = 4 V) \dots$	VG1S(off)	-0.1 to -3	v
Gate-No. 2-to-Source Cutoff Voltage			
$(VDS = 15 V, ID = 50 \mu A, VGIS = 0)$	V G2S (OII)	-0.1 to -3	v
$V_{G18} \equiv 1 V$, $V_{G28} \equiv V_{D8} \equiv 0$	LOISSE	50 max	πA
$V_{G18} = 1$ V, $V_{G28} = V_{D8} = 0$, $T_A = 100^{\circ}C$	IGISSF	5 max	μA
Gate-No. 1-Terminal Reverse Current:			•
$V_{G1S} = -6 V, V_{G2S} = V_{DS} = 0$	IGISSR	50 max	ηA
$V_{G1S} = -6 V$, $V_{G2S} = V_{DS} = 0$, $T_A = 100^{\circ}C$	IGISSR	5 max	μA
Gate-No. 2-Terminal Forward Current:	_		
$V_{G2S} \equiv 0 V, V_{G1S} \equiv V_{DS} \equiv 0$	IG288F	50 max	ηA
$V_{G2S} = 0$ V, $V_{G1S} = V_{DS} \equiv 0$, $T_A \equiv 100^{\circ}C$	IG28SF	5 max	μP
$V_{GPS} = -6 V_{P} V_{GPS} = V_{PS} = 0$	Laura	50 max	π Δ
$V_{G2S} = -6 V$, $V_{G1S} = V_{DS} = 0$, $T_A = 100^{\circ}C$	Lossp	5 max	"A
Zero-Bias Drain Current	102881	omax	<i>p</i>
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, V_{G1S} = 0, V_{G2S} = 4 \text{ V})$	Ins	0.5 to 12	mA
Forward Transconductance, Gate No. 1-to-			
Drain $(V_{DS} = 15 V, I_D = 10 mA)$			
$V_{G2S} = 4 V, f = 1 kHz$	grs	10000 to 20000	μmho
Small-Signal Input Capacitance			
(VDS = 15 V, 1D = 10 mA, VG2S = 4 V, f = 1 MHz)	~		_
Small-Signal Powerce Transfor Conseitance	Ciss	4 to 8.5	pF
Drain-to-Gate No 1t (Vps - 15 V			
$I_D = 10 \text{ mA}, V_{COS} = 4 \text{ V f} = 1 \text{ MHz}$	C	0.005 to 0.03	- F
Small-Signal Output Capacitance	Crss	0.003 10 0.03	pr
$(V_{DS} = 15 V, I_D = 10 mA, V_{G2S} = 4 V,$			
f = 1 MHz)	Coss	2	nF
Power Gain ($V_{DS} = 15$ V, $I_D = 10$ mA,		-	P-
$V_{G2S} = 4 V, f = 400 MHz)$	Grs	10 min; 12.5 typ	dB
Noise Figure (Vis = 15 V, ID = 10 mA,	NTE		
$V_{G28} = 4 V, T = 400 MHZ$	IN P	4.5 typ; 6 max	dB
$V_{G28} = 4 V_c f = 400 \text{ MHz}$	BW	00 / 00	
Gate-to-Source Forward Breakdown Volt-	D W	28 to 38	MHz
age:			
Gate No. 1 (IG188F = IG288F = 100 μ A,			
$V_{G2S} = V_{DS} = 0$	VOBRIGISSF	6.5 to 13	v
Gate No. 2 (IGISSF = IG2SSF = 100 μ A,		0.0 10 10	v
$V_{G18} \equiv V_{D8} \equiv 0)$	V _{(BR)G2SSF}	6.5 to 13	v
Gale-to-Source Reverse Breakdown Volt-			•
Gate No. 1 (Lawar — Lawar — 100 » A			
$V_{G2S} = V_{DS} = 0$	Varbaner	6 E to 10	
Gate No. 2 (IGISSR \equiv IGESSR \equiv 100 μ A	• (AR)(188R	-6.5 10 -13	v
$V_{G1S} = V_{DS} = 0$	VGROGSSR	-65 to -12	v
Capacitance between gate No. 1 and all oth	er terminals	-0.0 (0 -13	v
a dia an oti			

Three-terminal measurement with gate No. 2 and source returned to guard terminal.





40673

FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTOR

Si dual-insulated gate field-effect (MOS) n-channel depletion type with integrated gate-protection circuits for rf-amplifier applications up to 400 MHz. JEDEC TO-72. Outline No.28.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Drain-to-Source Voltage	V_{DS}	-0.2 to 20	v
Gate-No. 1-to-Source Voltage: Continuous (dc) Peak (ac)	VG18 VG18	-6 to 1 -6 to 6	v v
Gate-No. 2-to-Source Voltage: Continuous Peak (ac) Drain-to-Gate-No. 1 Voltage Drain-to-Gate-No. 2 Voltage	$\begin{array}{c} V_{628} \\ V_{628} \\ V_{1061} \\ V_{1062} \\ I_D \end{array}$	-6 to (0.3 V _{DS}) -6 to 6 20 20 50	V V V mA
Transistor Dissipation: T _A up to 25°C T _A above 25°C	Рт Рт	330 Derate linearly at 2.2 r	mW mW/°C
Temperature Range: Operating Storage Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Т (орг Тята Ті.	-65 to 175 -65 to 175 265	°0° °0°

CHARACTERISTICS

Gate-No. 1-to-Source Cutoff Voltage
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, V_{G2S} = 4 \text{ V}, I_D = 200 \ \mu\text{A})$
Gate-No. 2-to-Source Cutoff Voltage
$(V_{DS} \equiv 15 \text{ V}, V_{G1S} \equiv 0, I_D \equiv 200 \ \mu\text{A})$
Gate-No. 1 Leakage Current
$(V_{G1S} \equiv 1 \text{ or } -6 \text{ V}, V_{G2S} \equiv 0, V_{DS} \equiv 0)$
Gate-No. 2 Leakage Current
$(V_{G2S} = \pm 6 V, V_{G1S} = 0, V_{DS} = 0)$
Zero-Bias Drain Current
$(V_{DS} = 15 V, V_{GIS} = 0, V_{G2S} = 4 V)$
Forward Transconductance, Gate No. 1-to-Drain
$(V_{DS} \equiv 15 \text{ V}, V_{G2S} \equiv 4 \text{ V}, I_D \equiv 10 \text{ mA}, f \equiv 1 \text{ kHz})$
Small-Signal Input Capacitance*
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, V_{G2S} = 4 \text{ V}, I_D = 10 \text{ mA}, f = 1 \text{ MHz})$
Small-Signal Reverse Transfer Capacitance,
Drain-to-Gate No. 1 \ddagger (Vos = 15 V, Vos = 4 V,
$I_{\rm P} = 10$ mA, $f = 1$ MHz)
Small-Signal Output Capacitance
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, V_{G2S} = 4 \text{ V}, \text{ ID} = 10 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 1 \text{ MHz})$
Power Gain ($V_{DS} = 15 V$, $V_{G2S} = 4 V$.
$I_{\rm D} = 10 \text{mA}, f = 200 \text{MHz}$
Maximum Available Power Gain ($V_{DS} = 15 V$,
$V_{G2S} = 4 V, I_D = 10 mA, f = 200 MHz)$





TYPICAL FORWARD TRANSCONDUCTANCE CHARACTERISTICS





CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Maximum Usable Power Gain (Unneutralized				
f = 200 MHz	MUG	20=	dB	
Noise Figure ($V_{DS} = 15 V$, $V_{G2S} = 4 V$, $I_D = 10 mA$, f = 200 MHz)	NF	3.5 typ: 6 max	dB	
Magnitude of Forward Transadmittance		olo typ, o man	12	
$(v_{DS} = 15 v, v_{G2S} = 4 v, 10 = 10 mA, f = 200 MHz)$	Y _{fs}	12000	#mbo	
Phase Angle of Forward Transadmittance			,	
f = 200 MHz	θ	-35	degrees	
Input Resistance ($V_{DS} = 15$ V, $V_{G2S} = 4$ V, $I_D = 10$ mA f = 200 MHz)	r 1	1	1-0	
Output Resistance ($V_{DS} = 15$ V, $V_{G2S} = 4$ V,	1 1 8 8	1	K11	
$I_D = 10 \text{ mA}, f = 200 \text{ MHz}$	russ	2.8	kΩ	
$(IDIODE(REVERSE) = \pm 100 \ \mu A)$	Vance	±10	v	
* Capacitance between gate No. 1 and all other termi	inals.		•	

Three-terminal measurement with gate No. 2 and all other terminals. Limited only by practical design considerations.



FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTOR 40819

Si dual insulated-gate field-effect (mos) n-channel depletion type with integrated gate-protection circuits used in rf-amplifier applications up to 250 MHz. JEDEC TO-72. Outline No.28. For typical drain characteristics and typical forward transconductance curves, refer to type 3N187.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Drain-to-Source Voltage	Vos	-0.2 to 25	V
Cale-No. 1 Terminal Current	LG1S Long	+100	μ
Durin to Cate No. 1 Voltage	1628	21	μ <u>μ</u>
Drain-to-Gate-No. 1 Voltage	V DG1	16	
Drain-to-Gate-No. 2 Voltage	V DG2	31	v
Drain Current	ID	50	mA
Transistor Dissipation:			
T _A up to 25°C	Pт	330	mW
Ty above 25°C	Pr	Derate linearly 2.2	mW/°C
Temperature Range:	• •		, .
Operating	T(opr)	_65 to 175	•0
Operating	T(obi)	-05 to 175	
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 175	
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T_{I_*}	265	°C
Continuous Working Voltage, at $T_A = 25^{\circ}C$:			
Gate No. 1-to-Source Voltage	VG18	-6 to 3	v
Gate No. 2-to-Source Voltage	Vites	-6 to 6 or 0.4 Vus*	v
Durin to Cato No. 1 Voltage	Vin	25	, i
Drain-to-Gate No. 1 Voltage	V DOI	20	
Drain-to-Gate No. 2 Voltage	V D432	20	v
* Whichever value is less.			

Gate-No. 1-to-Source Cutoff Voltage			
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, \text{ ID} = 200 \ \mu\text{A}, \text{ V}_{G2S} = 4 \text{ V})$	Vgis(off)	—2 typ; —4 max	v
Gate-No. 2-to-Source Cutoff Voltage			
$V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, \text{ ID} = 200 \ \mu\text{A}, \text{ VGIS} = 0) \dots$	V 628 (off)	—2 typ; —4 max	v
Gate-No. 1-Leakage Current	-		
$(V_{G18} \pm \pm 6 V, V_{D8} \equiv 0, V_{G28} \equiv 0)$	IGISS	50 max	ηA
Gate-No. 2-Leakage Current	_		
$(V_{G2S} = \pm 6 V, V_{DS} = 0, V_{G1S} = 0)$	Igass	50 max	ηA
Zero-Bias Drain Current	_		
$(V_{DS} = 15 V, V_{G2S} = 4 V, V_{G1S} = 0)$	IDSS	5 to 35	mA
Forward Transconductance, Gate-No. 1 to			
Drain $(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, \text{ Ib} = 10 \text{ mA},$		40000	
$V_{G2S} = 4 V, f = 1 kHz$	gis	12000	μmno
Small-Signal Input Capacitance [‡]			
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, \text{ ID} = 10 \text{ mA}, \text{ V}_{G2S} = 4 \text{ V},$	-	0	- 17
f = 1 MHz	Ciss	6	pr

Small-Signal Reverse Transfer Capacitance,			
$I_{\rm D} = 10$ mA, $V_{\rm GS} = 4$ V, $f = 1$ MHz)	Crss	0.005 to 0.03	\mathbf{pF}
Small-Signal Output Capacitance			
$(V_{DS} = 15 V, I_D = 10 mA, V_{G2S} = 4 V,$	0		- 17
$f \equiv 1 \text{ MHZ}$	Coss	2	pr
Power Gam ($V_{DS} = 15$ V, $I_D = 10$ mA, V _{cov} = 4 V f = 200 MH ₇)	Ges	14 min: 18 typ	dB
Maximum Available Power Gain	GIN .		
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, I_D = 10 \text{ mA}, V_{G2S} = 4 \text{ V},$			
f = 200 MHz)	MAG	20	dB
Maximum Usable Power Gain, Unneutral-			
ized $(V_{DS} = 15 V, 10 = 10 mA)$	MUC	90	- UL
$V_{628} = 4 V, 1 = 200 MHZ$	MOG	20	dD
$V_{des} = 4 V_{f} f = 200 \text{ MHz}$	NF	3.5 typ: 6 max	dB
Magnitude of Forward Transadmittance		0.0 (jp, 0 mun	ub
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, \text{ ID} = 10 \text{ mA}, \text{ V}_{G2S} = 4 \text{ V},$			
f = 200 MHz	Yfs	12000	μmho
Phase Angle of Forward Transadmittance			
$(V_{DS} = 15 V, 10 = 10 mA, V_{G2S} = 4 V,$	0	95	1
Input Resistance (Vps $= 15$ V Jp $= 10$ mA			degrees
$V_{G28} = 4 V. f = 200 MHz$	Linn	1	kΩ
Output Resistance ($V_{DS} = 15 V$, $I_D = 10 mA$,		-	
$V_{G28} = 4 V, f = 200 MHz$	ross	2.8	kΩ
Protective Diode Knee Voltage	v	+10	
$(1d_{1}d_{2}d_{3}(1everse)) = \pm 100 \ \mu A)$	Vknee	± 10	v

Capacitance between gate No. 1 and all other terminals. Three-terminal measurement with gate No. 2 and source returned to guard terminal.





40820

FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTOR

Si dual insulated-gate field-effect (mos) n-channel depletion type with integrated gate-protection circuits used for rf-amplifier applications in vhf television receivers and other commercial equipment operating at frequencies up to 250 MHz. JEDEC TO-72. Outline No.28.

(2) 4)

Drain-to-Source Voltage	VDS	0.2 to 20	v
Gate-No. 1 Terminal Current	Igis	±100	μÀ
Gate-No. 2 Terminal Current	IG28	±100	μA

MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

Drain-to-Gate-No. 1 Voltage Drain-to-Gate-No. 2 Voltage Drain Current Transistor Dissingation	$\begin{array}{c} V_{\rm DG1} \\ V_{\rm DG2} \\ I_{\rm D} \end{array}$	26 26 50	V V mA
T _A up to 25° C T _A above 25° C Temperature Range:	Рт Рт	330 Derate linearly 2.2	m₩ mW/°C
Coperating Storage	T(opr) T _{STG} TL	65 to 175 65 to 175 265	သံံ့ သံုံ
Gate No. 1-to-Source Voltage Gate No. 2-to-Source Voltage Drain-to-Gate No. 1 Voltage Whichever value is less.	$\begin{array}{c} V_{\rm G18} \\ V_{\rm G28} \\ V_{\rm DG1} \\ V_{\rm DG2} \end{array}$	6 to 3 6 to 6 or 0.4 V _{D8} * 20 20	V V V V
CHARACTERISTICS			
Gate-No. 1-to-Source Cutoff Voltage $(V_{DS} = 15 V, I_D = 50 \mu A, V_{G2S} = 4 V) \dots$ Gate-No. 2-to-Source Cutoff Voltage	$V_{G1S}(off)$	—1 typ; —3 max	v
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, \text{ ID} = 50 \ \mu\text{A}, V_{GIS} = 0)$ Gate-to-Source Forward Breakdown Voltage:	$V_{\rm G2S}({ m off})$	-1 typ; -3 max	v
Gate No. 1 (IG188F = IG288F = 100 μ A, VG28 = VD8 = 0) Gate No. 2 (IG188F = IG288F = 100 μ A.	VIBIOGISSF	9	v
$V_{G18} = V_{D8} = 0$ Gate-to-Source Reverse Breakdown Voltage:	$v_{\rm (BR)G1SSF}$	9	v
Gate No. 1 ($I_{GISSR} = I_{G2SSR} = 100 \ \mu A$, $V_{G2S} = V_{DS} = 0$) Gate No. 2 ($I_{GISSR} = I_{G2SSR} = 100 \ \mu A$	Verrogissi	9	v
$V_{G18} = V_{D8} = 0$	V(BR)GISSR	9	v
$(V_{DS} = V_{G2S} = 0, V_{G1S} = 6 V)$ Gate No. 1-Terminal Reverse Current	IGISSF	50 max	ηA
$(V_{DS} = V_{G2S} = 0, V_{G1S} = -6 V)$ Gate No. 2-Terminal Forward Current	IGISSR	50 max	ηA
$(V_{DS} = V_{G1S} = 0, V_{G2S} = 6 V)$ Gate No. 2-Terminal Reverse Current	Igessf	50 max	$\eta \mathbf{A}$
$(V_{DS} = V_{G1S} = 0, V_{G2S} = -6 V)$	IG288R	50 max	ηA





Zero-Bias Drain Current			
$(V_{DS} = 15 V, V_{G1S} = 0, V_{G2S} = 4 V)$	IDS	0.5 to 15	mA
Forward Transconductance, Gate No. 1-to-			
Drain $(V_{DS} = 15 V, I_D = 10 mA)$			
$V_{G28} = 4 V, f = 1 kHz$)	grs	12000	μmno
Small-Signal Input Capacitance			
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, I_D = 10 \text{ mA}, V_{G2S} = 4 \text{ V},$	a	0 Auro 0 E	
f = 1 MHz)	Ciss	6 typ; 8.5 max	pr
Small-Signal Reverse Transfer Capacitance,			
Drain-to-Gate-No. 1 \ddagger (V _{DS} = 15 V,	a	0.0054.000	
$I_D = 10 \text{ mA}, V_{G2S} = 4 \text{ V}, f = 1 \text{ MHz}) \dots$	Crss	0.005 to 0.03	pr
Small-Signal Output Capacitance			
$(V_{DS} = 15 V, I_D = 10 mA, V_{G2S} = 4 V,$	â		
f = 1 MHz)	Coss	2	pr
Power Gain ($V_{DS} = 15$ V, $I_D = 10$ mA,	~		10
$V_{G_{2S}} = 4 V, f = 200 MHz)$	GPS	14 min; 17 typ	dB
Noise Figure ($V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}$, $I_D = 10 \text{ mA}$,			
$V_{G_{28}} = 4 V, f = 200 MHz$)	NF	4.5 typ; 6 max	dB
a Class alternation in the state of the stat	han Assuration 1 a		

Capacitance between gate No. 1 and all other terminals.
 Three-terminal measurement with gate No. 2 and source returned to guard terminal.

40821 FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTOR

Si dual insulated-gate field-effect (mos) n-channel depletion type with integrated gate-protection circuits used for mixer applications in vhf television receivers and other commercial equipment operating at frequencies up to 250 MHz. JEDEC TO-72. Outline No.28. For typical drain characteristics and typical forward transconductance curves, refer to type 40820.



Drain-to-Source Voltage Gate-No. 1 Terminal Current Gate-No. 2 Terminal Current Drain-to-Gate-No. 1 Voltage Drain-to-Gate-No. 2 Voltage Drain Current	VDS IG18 IG28 VDG1 VDG2 ID	$\begin{array}{r} -0.2 \text{ to } 20 \\ \pm 100 \\ \pm 100 \\ 24.5 \\ 24.5 \\ 50 \end{array}$	μΑ μΑ V W mA
Transistor Dissipation: T_A up to 25°C T_A above 25°C	Рт Рт	330 Derate linearly 2.2	m₩ mW/°C
Temperature Range: Operating Storage Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max) Continuous Working Voltage at T. = 25°C:	T(opr) Tstg TL	65 to 175 65 to 175 265	ຳ ວຳ ບໍ
Gate No. 1-to-Source Voltage	VG18 VG28	-4.5 to 3 -4.5 to 4.5 or -4.5 to 0.4 Vps*	v v
Drain-to-Gate No. 1 Voltage Drain-to-Gate No. 2 Voltage * Whichever value is less.	$V_{DG1} V_{DG2}$	20 20	v v
CHARACTERISTICS			
Gate No. 1-to-Source Cutoff Voltage $(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, \text{ ID} = 50 \ \mu\text{A}, \text{ V}_{G2S} = 4 \text{ V}) \dots$	V _{G18} (off)	—1 typ; —3 max	v
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, I_D = 50 \ \mu\text{A}, V_{GIS} = 0)$ Gate-to-Source Forward Breakdown Volt-	$V_{G28}(off)$	-1 typ; -3 max	v
Gate No. 1 (IG1SSF = IG2SSF = 100 μ A, VG2S = VDS = 0)	V(BR)G155F	11	v
$V_{G1S} = V_{DS} = 0$ Gate-to-Source Reverse Breakdown Volt-	V(RR)G188F	11	v
G_{abc} G_{abc} No. 1 (IG1SSR = IG2SSR = 100 μ A, $V_{G2S} = V_{DS} = 0$)	V(BR)G188R	11	v
$V_{G18} = V_{D8} = 0$	V(BR)G1SSR	11	v

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Gate No. 1-Terminal Forward Current			
$(V_{DS} = V_{G2S} = 0, V_{G1S} = 4.5 V)$	IGISSF	50 max	ηA
Gate No. 1-Terminal Reverse Current			
$(V_{DS} = V_{G2S} = 0, V_{G1S} = -4.5 V)$	IGISSR	50 max	nA
Gate No. 2-Terminal Forward Current			
$(V_{DS} = V_{GIS} = 0, V_{G2S} = 4.5 V)$	IG288F	50 max	nA
Gate No. 2-Terminal Reverse Current			
$(V_{DS} = V_{G1S} = 0, V_{G2S} = -4.5 V)$	Igessr	50 max	nA
Zero-Bias Drain Current			
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, V_{G1S} = 0, V_{G2S} = 4 \text{ V})$	Ins	0.5 to 20	mA
Forward Transconductance, Gate No. 1-to-			
Drain ($V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}$, $I_D = 10 \text{ mA}$,			
$V_{G28} = 4 V, f = 1 kHz$	grs	12000	umho
Small-Signal Input Capacitance			
$(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, \text{ ID} = 10 \text{ mA}, V_{G2S} = 4 \text{ V},$			
$f \equiv 1 MHz$)	CINN	6 tvp: 9 max	nF
Small-Signal Reverse Transfer Capacitance,		o typ, o mun	P*
Drain-to-Gate-No. 1 \ddagger (V _{D8} = 15 V,			
$I_D = 10 \text{ mA}, V_{G2S} = 4 \text{ V}, f = 1 \text{ MHz}) \dots$	Crss	0.005 to 0.04	nF
Small-Signal, Output Capacitance			P*
$(V_{DS} = 15 V, I_D = 10 mA, V_{G2S} = 4 V,$			
f = 1 MHz)	Coss	2	nF
Conversion Gain ($V_{DS} = 15$ V, $I_D = 10$ mA,			pr
$V_{G2S} = 4 V, f = 200/44 MHz)$	Grsco	11 min	dB
Capacitance between gate No. 1 and all oth	or terminals		up

Three-terminal measurement with gate No. 2 and source returned to guard terminal.

FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTOR 40822

Si dual insulated-gate field-effect (mos) n-channel depletion type with integrated gate-protection circuits used for rf-amplifier applications in vhf television receivers and other commercial equipment operating at frequencies up to 250 MHz. JEDEC TO-72. Outline No.28. This type is identical with type 40820 except

for the following items. For typical forward transconductance characteristics curves, refer to type 3N187.



MAXIMUM RATINGS

Drain-to-Source Voltage Drain-to-Gate No. 1 Voltage Drain-to-Gate No. 2 Voltage	VDS VDG1 VDG2	0.2 to 18 24 24	V V V
CHARACTERISTICS			
Gate No. 1-to-Source Cutoff Voltage ($V_{DS} = 15 V, I_D = 50 \mu A, V_{G2S} = 4 V$)	V _{G18} (off)	-2 typ; -4 max	v
Gate No. 2-to-Source Cutoff Voltage $(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, \text{ In} = 50 \ \mu\text{A}, V_{G1S} = 0)$	V _{G28} (off)	-2 typ; -4 max	v
Zero-Bias Drain Current $(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, V_{G1S} = 0, V_{G2S} = 4 \text{ V})$	Ins	5 to 30	mA
Small-Signal Input Capacitance: $(V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, 1_D = 10 \text{ mA}, V_{G2S} = 4 \text{ V},$	C.	65 tun: 95 max	nF
I = 1 MHZ) Power Gain (Vps = 15 V, Ip = 10 mA, V = -4 V ($f = 200$ MHZ)	Give	19 min: 24 typ	dB dB
$V_{628} = 4 V, 1 = 200 \text{ MHz}$ Noise Figure ($V_{D8} = 15 V, I_D = 10 \text{ mA},$ $V_{52} = 4 V (5 = 200 \text{ MHz})$	NF	2 tun: 35 may	dB
V (28 - 4 V, 1 - 200 MIRZ)		2 (JP, 0.0 max	ub

‡ Capacitance between gate No. 1 and all other terminals.

40823 FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTOR

Si dual insulated-gate field-effect (mos) n-channel depletion type with integrated gate-protection circuits used for mixer applications in vhf television receivers and other commercial equipment operating at frequencies up to 250 MHz. JEDEC TO-72. Outline No.28. This type is identical with type 40821 except for the



following items. For typical drain characteristics and typical forward transconductance curves, refer to type 40822.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Drain-to-Source Voltage Drain-to-Gate No. 1 Voltage Drain-to-Gate No. 2 Voltage	$\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{V}_{\mathrm{DS}} \\ \mathbf{V}_{\mathrm{DG1}} \\ \mathbf{V}_{\mathrm{DG2}} \end{array}$	-0.2 to 18 22.5 22.5	v v v
CHARACTERISTICS			
Gate No. 1-to-Source Cutoff Voltage $(V_{DS} = 15 V, I_D = 50 \mu A, V_{G2S} = 4 V) \dots$	Vas(off)	-2 typ; -4 max	v
Gate No. 2-to-Source Cutoff Voltage ($V_{DS} = 15 \text{ V}, I_D = 50 \ \mu\text{A}, V_{G1S} = 0$)	V _{G2S} (off)	-2 typ; -4 max	v
Zero-Bias Drain Current $(V_{10S} = 15 V, V_{01S} = 0, V_{G2S} = 4 V)$	Ips	5 to 35	mA
Small-Signal input Capacitantet ($V_{DS} = 15 V, I_D = 10 mA, V_{G2S} = 4 V, f = 1 MHz$)	Ciss	6.5 typ; 10 max	pF
Small-Signal Reverse Transfer Capacitance, Drain-to-Gate-No. 1° (VDs = 15 V, $1_{\rm D} = 10$ mA V _{CDS} = 4 V, f = 1 MHz)	Cras	0.005 to 0.045	pF
	Grsco	14 min; 18 typ	dB

Capacitance between gate No. 1 and all other terminals.
 Three-terminal measurement with gate No. 2 and source returned to guard terminal.

Technical Data for Low- and Medium-Frequency Power Transistors

THIS section contains detailed technical data for all current RCA low- and medium-frequency power transistors intended for both linear and switching applications. Separate groupings of data are provided for low-voltage n-p-n (hometaxial-base) types, p-n-p power types, high voltage n-p-n types, high-speed n-p-n (switching) types, diffused-junction n-p-n types, germanium power types, and special audio silicon types. Within each group, transistors are listed in order of ascending power ratings.

In selection of devices for use in new electronic equipment, a prospective user should refer to the appropriate section of the Selection Guide included earlier in the Manual. For the reader who requires data on specific types, a complete numericalalphabetical-numerical index to all current RCA solid-state devices is provided immediately following the Circuits Section in the back of the Manual.

Low-Voltage N-P-N (Hometaxial-Base) Types



1.5A, 8.75W

40347

Si n-p-n single-diffused type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material. This type is used in a wide variety of low- and medium-power applications where medium- and high-voltage power transistors are required, such as switching regulators, converters, inverters, relay controls, oscillators, and

pulse and audio amplifiers. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCB0	60	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			·
$V_{BE} \simeq -1.5 V$	VCEV	60	v
Base open	VCEO	40	Ż
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	7	ý
Collector Current	İc	1.5	À
Peak Collector Current	ic	- 3	A
Base Current	Ĭĸ	0.5	Ä
Transistor Dissipation:			
TA up to 25°C	Pr	1	w
Tc up to 25°C	Pr	8 75	ŵ
T _A and T _c above 25°C	Pr	See curve nage	300
Temperature Range:		bee curve page	000
Operating (Junction)	T ₁ (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	Tato	-65 to 200	•č
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Tr.	230	۰č

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Vcev(sus)	60 min	v
VCEO(SUS)	40 min	v
Vce(sat)	1 max	v
VBE	1.5 max	v
ICER	1 max	μA
ICER	1 max	mA
IEBO	10 max	μA
hfe	25 to 100	
θ1-c	20 max	°C/W
	VCEV (SUS) VCEO (SUS) VCE (Sat) VBE ICER ICER ICER ICER ICER ICER ICER ICE	VCEV (SUS) 60 min 40 min VCE0 (SUS) 40 min VCE (sat) 1 max 1.5 max ICER 1 max 1 max 1 max 1 max 1 max ICER 1 max 1 max 1 max ICER 1 max 1 max 1 0 max hFE 25 to 100 $\Theta J - C$ 20 max

TYPICAL COLLECTOR CHARACTERISTICS TYPE 40347 CASE TEMPERATURE (Tc)=25°C COLLECTOR MILLIAMPERES (IC) 500 BASE MILLIAMPERES (IB)=11 ٩ 400 7 300 5 200 3 100 n in 20 30 40 50 60 COLLECTOR-TO-EMITTER VOLTS (VCF) 9255-2322CT

TYPICAL DC FORWARD-CURRENT TRANSFER-RATIO CHARACTERISTICS



40347V1

1.5A, 8.75W

Si n-p-n single-diffused type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material. This type has an attached heat radiator for printed-circuit-board use in a wide variety of low- and medium-power applications requiring medium- and high-voltage power transistors for switching regulators, converters, inverters,

relay controls, oscillators, and pulse and audio amplifiers. JEDEC TO-5 (with heat radiator), Outline No.8. This type is identical with type 40347 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Transistor TA up TA abo	Dissipati to 25°C ve 25°C	ion:			Рт Рт	See	4.4 curve	page	W 300
CHARAC	TERISTI	CS (At	case temperatu	re = 25°C)					
Thermal	Resistanc	e. Juno	tion-to-Ambient	,	₽ -₽		40 max	°C	:/W

40347V2

1.5A, 8.75W

Si n-p-n single-diffused type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material. This type is used in a wide variety of low- and medium-power applications requiring medium- and high-voltage power transistors for switching regulators, converters, inverters, relay controls, oscillators, and pulse and audio





Low- and Medium-Frequency Power Transistors

amplifiers. JEDEC TO-5 (with flange), Outline No.6. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 40347 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Transisto: Te up Te abo	r Dissipation to 25°C ve 25°C			PT PT	See o	11.7 curve	page	W 300
CHARAC	TERISTICS	(At case tempe	rature = 25°C)					
Thermal	Resistance,	Junction-to-Case	•••••••	θ ₁– α	1	.5 max	°C	2/W

1.5A, 8.75W

40348



Si n-p-n single-diffused type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material. This type is used in a wide variety of low- and medium-power applications where medium- and high-voltage power transistors are required, such as switching regulators. converters, inverters, relay controls, oscillators, and pulse and audio amplifiers. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCBO	90	Ϋ́ν.
$V_{RE} = -1.5 V$	Very	00	v
Base open	VCEO	65	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	7	v
Peak Collector Current	ic	3	À
Collector Current	Ic	1.5	Ã
Base Current	IB	0.5	Ā
Transistor Dissipation:			
T _A up to 25°C	Рт	1	w
Te up to 25°C	PT	8.75	ŵ
TA and Te above 25°C	PT	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	۰Č
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL	230	۰Č

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25° C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$V_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 50 \text{ mA}$	VCEV(SUS)	90 min	v
$I_{\rm C}$ = 50 mA, $I_{\rm B}$ = 0	VCEO (SUS)	65 min	ý.
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			••
$(Ic = 300 \text{ mA}, I_B = 30 \text{ mA})$	VCE(sat)	0.75 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 300 mA$)	VBE	1.3 max	ý
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CE} = 60 \text{ V}, \text{ R}_{BE} = 1 \text{ k}\Omega, \text{ T}_{C} = 25^{\circ}\text{C}$	ICER	1 max	μA
$V_{CE} = 60 \text{ V}, \text{ R}_{BE} = 1 \text{ k}\Omega, \text{ T}_{C} = 150^{\circ}\text{C}$	ICER	1 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 7 V$, $I_C = 0$)	IEBO	10 max	μA
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,			



Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{CE} = 4 V, Ic = 300 mA$	hfe	30 to 100	
$V_{CE} = 4 V, I_{C} = 1 A$	hre	10 min	
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	Ө1-с	20 max	°C/₩

40348V1

392

1.5A, 8.75W

Si n-p-n single-diffused type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material. This type has an attached heat radiator for printed-ricuit-board use in a wide variety of low- and medium-power applications requiring medium- and high-voltage power transistors for switching regulators, converters, inverters,

relay controls, oscillators, and pulse and audio amplifiers. JEDEC TO-5 (with heat radiator), Outline No.8. This type is identical with type 40348 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Transistor Dissipation: T₄ up to 25°C T₄ above 25°C	Рт Рт	4.4 W See curve page 300
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25 °C)		
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	θ յ− ₄	40 max °C/W

40348V2 POWER TRANSISTOR

Si n-p-n single-diffused type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material. This type is used in a wide variety of low -and medium-power applications requiring medium- and high-voltage power transistors for switching regulators, converters, inverters, relay controls, oscillators, and pulse and audio

amplifiers. JEDEC TO-5 (with flange), Outline No.6. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 40348 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Transistor Dissipa Tc up to 25°C Tc above 25°C	tion :		P _T P _T		See	11.7 curve page	W 300
CHARACTERIST	ICS (At	mounting-flange	temperature	=	25°C)		

40349

1.5A, 8.75W

Si n-p-n single-diffused type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material. This type is used in a wide variety of low- and medium-power applications where medium- and high-voltage power transistors are required, such as switching regulators, converters, inverters, relay controls, oscillators, and pulse and audio amplifiers. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	160	v
$ Collector-to-Emitter Voltage: \\ V_{BE} = -1.5 V \\ Base open $	Vcev Vceo	160 140	v





2)

15 max °C/W

Low- and Medium-Frequency Power Transistors

MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	7	v
Collector Current	Ic	1.5	Á
Peak Collector Current	ic		Δ
Base Current	ÎB	0.5	Â
Transistor Dissipation:	-5	0.5	••
T _A up to 25°C	Рт	1	w
Tc up to 25°C	Pr	8.75	ŵ
T _A and T _C above 25°C	Pr	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:	- •		
Operating (Junction)	T ₁ (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	۰č
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL	230	۰č

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = $25 \circ C$)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$V_{BE} = -1.5$ V, Ic = 50 mA, tp = 300 μ s, df = 1.8%	VCEV(SUS)	160 min	v
$I_{C} = 50 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = 0, t_{P} = 300 \ \mu s, df = 1.8\%$	VCEO (SUS)	140 min	ý
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			-
$(Ic = 150 \text{ mA}, I_B = 15 \text{ mA})$	VCE(sat)	0.5 max	v.
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, Ic = 150 mA)	VBE	1.1 max	ý
Collector-Cutoff Current:			•
$V_{CE} = 90 V, R_{BE} = 1 k\Omega, T_{C} = 25^{\circ}C$	ICER	1 max	uА
$V_{CE} = 90 V, R_{BE} = 1 k\Omega, T_{C} = 150^{\circ}C$	ICEO	1 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 7 V$, Ic = 0)	IEBO	10 max	"A
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{CE} = 4 V. I_C = 150 mA$	hre	25 to 100	
$V_{CE} = 4 V I_C = 450 mA$	her	10 min	
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	Al-C	20 max	°C/W
	0.0	DO IIIGH	0/ 11

TYPICAL COLLECTOR CHARACTERISTICS TYPE 40349 CASE TEMPERATURE (T_C)=25°C BASE MILLIAMPERES(18)=4 COLLECTOR MILLIAMPERES (IC) 200 3.5 3.0 160 2 5 2.0 120 1.5 80 0.1 0.5 40 2.0 3.0 4.0 I.C 50 COLLECTOR-TO-EMITTER VOLTS (VCE) 9255-2324CT

TYPICAL DC FORWARD-CURRENT TRANSFER-RATIO CHARACTERISTICS



POWER TRANSISTOR

40349V1



Si n-p-n single-diffused type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material. This type has an attached heat radiator for printed-circuit-board use in a wide variety of low- and medium-power applications requiring medium- and high-voltage power transistors for switching regulators, converters, inverters,

relay controls, oscillators, and pulse and audio amplifiers. JEDEC TO-5 (with heat radiator), Outline No.8. This type is identical with type 40439 except for the following items:

Transistor Dissipation: T _A up to 25°C T _A above 25°C 	Рт Рт	4.4 W See curve page 300
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°	C)	
Thermal Resistance Junction-to-Ambient	A	40 max °C/W

40349V2

POWER TRANSISTOR

Si n-p-n single-diffused type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material. This type is used in a wide variety of low- and medium-power applications requiring medium- and high-voltage power transistors for switching regulators, converters, inverters, relay controls, oscillators, and pulse and audio

amplifiers. JEDEC TO-5 (with flange), Outline No.6. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 40349 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Transistor Dissipation: Tc up to 25°C Tc above 25°C	Рт Рт	See	11.7 curve page	W 300
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25 °C)				

Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case O-LO

2N5784

3.5A. 10W

Si n-p-n type features a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material. This type is used medium-power switching and complementaryfor symmetry audio amplifier applications. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. This type and type 2N5781 form a complementary pair and is identical with type 2N5781 except for reversal of polarity signs and the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature \pm 25°C)

Magnitude of Small-Signal	Forward-Curre	nt Transfer	lba l	5 to 20	
Ratio (VCE = 2 V, IC = 0 Turn-On Time (VCC = 30 V)	$0.1 \text{ A}, 1 \equiv 200$	= 0.1 A)	$t_{d} + t_{r}$	5 max	μs
Turn-Off Tme (Vcc = 30 V,	$I_{\rm C} = 1$ A, $I_{\rm B2}$	= 0.1 A)	ts + tr	15 max	μs
				a 173	

▲ Measured at a frequency where $|h_{fe}|$ is decreasing at approximately 6 dB per octave.

2N5785

3.5A. 10W

Si n-p-n type features a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material. This type is used for medium-power switching and complementarysymmetry audio amplifier applications. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. This type and type 2N5782 form a complementary pair and is identical with type 2N5782 except for reversal of polarity signs and the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Magnitude of Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio ($Vcc = 2 V$, $Ic = 0.1 A$, $f = 200 kHz$) Turn-On Time ($Vcc = 30 V$, $Ic = 1 A$, $Im = 0.1 A$) Turn-Off Time ($Vcc = 30 V$, $Ic = 1 A$, $Im_2 = 0.1 A$)	$\begin{array}{l} \mathbf{h}_{*}\mathbf{r} \\ \mathbf{t}_{4} + \mathbf{t}\mathbf{r} \\ \mathbf{t}_{8} + \mathbf{t}\mathbf{r} \end{array}$	5 to 20 5 max 15 max	μs μs
▲ Measured at a frequency where hre is decreasing at	approximately	6 dB per	octave.







15 max

3

°C/W

3.5A, 10W

Si n-p-n type features a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material. This type is used for medium-power switching and complementarysymmetry audio amplifier applications. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. This type and type 2N5783 form a complementary pair and is identical with type 2N5783

except for reversal of polarity signs and the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Magnitude of Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer			
Ratio (VCE = 2 V, IC = 0.1 A, f = 200 kHz)	hre	5 to 20)
Turn-On Time (Vcc = 30 V, $1c = 1$ A, $1_{B1} = 0.1$ A)	$t_{d} + t_{r}$	5 max	: μs
Turn-Off Time (Vec $\equiv 30$ V, Ic $\equiv 1$ A, I _{R2} $\equiv 0.1$ A)	$t_s + t_f$	15 max	: μs
▲ Measured at a frequency where hre is decreasing at	approximately	6 dB	oer octave.

4A, 25W

2N3441

2N5786



Si n-p-n diffused type for high-voltage applications in power-switching circuits, series- and shunt-regulator driver and output stages, and in dc-to-dc converters in military, industrial, and commercial equipment. This type features a base comprised of a homogeneousresistivity silicon material. JEDEC TO-66, Outline

No.25. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage VCB0	160	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:		
$V_{\mathrm{RE}}~=~-1.5~V$	160	ν
Base open (sustaining voltage) VCEO(sus)	140	v
Envitter-to-Base Voltage	7	ý
Collector Current Ic	3	Å
Peak Collector Current ic	4	Ä
Base Current	2	Ä
Transistor Dissipation:	_	
$T_{\rm C}$ up to 25°C $P_{\rm T}$	25	w
T _A up to 25°C PT	5.8	ŵ
TA OF TC above 25°C	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:	See carre page	000
Operating (Junction) Tr(opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	-65 to 200	۰č
Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max) T_{ν}	255	۰č





CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$I_{\rm C} = 0.1$ to 2 A. $I_{\rm B} = 0$	VCEO(SUS)	140 min	v
$L_{\rm c} = 0.1$ to 1 A Var $= -1.5$ V	VCEV(SUS)	160 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = 0.1$ to 1 A, $R_{\rm BE} = 100 \ \Omega$	VCER (SUS)	150* min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 0.5 \text{ A}, I_{\rm B} = 50 \text{ mA})$	Ver (sat)	1 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 0.5 A$)	VBE	1.7 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CE} = 140$ V, $V_{RE} = -1.5$ V, $T_{C} = 25^{\circ}C$	ICEV	1 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 140$ V, $V_{BE} = -1.5$ V, $T_{C} = 150^{\circ}C$	ICEV	5 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VEB = 7 V, $Ic = 0$)	IEBO	1 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 0.5 A)$	hre	20 to 80	
Power Rating Test:			
$V_{\rm CE} = 32.5$ V, Ic = 0.9 A, t = 1 s		29	W
$V_{CE} = 120$ V I = 0.24 A, t = 1 s		29	W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	ΘJ-C	7● max	°C/W
* This value does not apply to type 2N3442.			

This value does not apply to type 40373.

2N3054

4A, 25W

Si n-p-n diffused-junction type used in power-switching circuits, series- and shunt-regulator driver and output stages, and high-fidelity amplifiers in commercial and industrial equipment. JEDEC TO-66, Outline No.25. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

		C,F	
$\left(\right)$		\sum	
(1	\prec	Ϊ
	2 _E		_

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vebo	90	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:	VCET (SUS)	90	v
$V_{\rm BE} \equiv -1.3$ V	VCER (SUS)	60	v
$R_{BE} \equiv 100 \Omega$	VCEO(SUS)	55	V
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VERO	1	, v
Collector Current	1 c	4	A
Base Current	18	2	A
Transistor Dissipation:	Pr	25	w
Te up to 25°C	Pr	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:		-65 to 200	°C
Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Тр	235	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:	VCER(SUS)	60 min	V
Ic = 100 mA, Ref = 100 Ω	VCEO(SUS)	55 min	V
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage:	VCE(sat)	1 max	V
$I_{C} = 500 \text{ mA}, I_{R} = 50 \text{ mA}$	VCE(sat)	6 max	





Low- and Medium-Frequency Power Transistors

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 4$ V, Ic = 500 mA)	VBE	1.7 max	v
$V_{\rm eff} = 30$ V $I_{\rm H} = 0$	τ	0.5	
$\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{k}} = \mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{k}} + \mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{k}} = \mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{k}}$	TCRO	0.5 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 90 V, V_{RE} = -1.5 V$	ICEX	1 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 90 V_{e} V_{BE} = -1.5 V_{e} T_{C} = 150^{\circ}C$	ICEX	5 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 7 \text{ V}$, $I_C = 0$)	IEBO	1 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 500 mA)$	hre	25 to 100	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 0.1 A, f = 1 kHz)$	hre	25 min	
Gain-Bandwidth Product $(I_{\rm C} = 0.2 \text{ A})$	fr	800 min	kHz
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio Cutoff			
Frequency (VCE = 4 V, Ic = 0.1 A)	fute	30 min	kHz
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	(+) I = (*	7• max	°C/W
		1 max	0/ 11
 This value applies only to type 2N3054. 			

4A. 25W

Si n-p-n diffused-junction type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material. This type has an attached heat radiator for printedcircuit-board use in power-switching circuits, seriesand shunt-regulator driver and output stages, and high-fidelity amplifiers in commercial and industrial

equipment. JEDEC TO-66 (with heat radiators), Outline No.26. This type is identical with type 2N3054 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Transistor Dissipation: Рт P.r

CHARACTERISTICS	(At c	ase temnerature	— 25°C)
UNARADIERISIIUS	IALL	ase temperature	= 23 0

Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient A1-1



Si n-p-n diffused type features a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material. This type has an attached radiator for printed-circuit-board used in high-voltage applications in power-switching circuits, series- and shunt-regulator driver and output stages, and dc-to-dc converters in military, commercial, and

industrial equipment. JEDEC TO-66 (with heat radiator), Outline No.26. This type is identical with type 2N3441 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Trans	sisto	r D)issipa	tion:			
T_A	up	to	25°C		Рт	5.8	W
T_A	abo	ve	25°C		Pr	See curve page	300

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient 0.1-A

4A, 29W

30 max 40250



Si n-p-n diffused-junction type used in audio and inverter circuits in 12-volt mobile radio and portable communications equipment and in a wide variety of intermediate- and high-power applications. JEDEC TO-66, Outline No.25. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

4A, 25W





5.8

See curve page 300

w

°C/W

°C/W

40372

397

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	50	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage: VBB = -1.5 V Base Open Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector Current Base Current	VCEV VCEO VEBO IC IB	50 40 5 4 2	V V A A
Transistor Dissipation: Tc up to 25°C Tc above 25°C	Рт Рт	29* See curve pag	W e 300
Temperature Range: Operating (Junction) Storage Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Tı(opr) Tstg Tp	65 to 200 65 to 200 235	°C °C
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C))		
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage $(I_{C} = 0.05 \text{ A}, I_{E} = 0)$	V (B R) ('BO	50 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage (Ic = 0.05 A, V _{BE} = -1.5 V)	V(BR)CEV	50 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage $(I_{C} = 0.1 \text{ A})$	VCEO(sus)	40 min	v

$I_{\rm E} = 0.005$ A, $I_{\rm C} = 0$)	V (BR) EBO	5 min	17
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic = 1.5 A, In = 0.15 A) Base-to-Emitter Voltage (Vcs = 4 V, Ic = 1.5 A)	V _{CE} (sat) V _{BE}	1.5 max 2.2 max	mA V V
Collector-Cutoff Current: $V_{CB} = 30 V$, $I_E = 0$, $T_C = 25^{\circ}C$ $V_{CB} = 30 V$, $I_E = 0$, $T_C = 150^{\circ}C$ Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 5 V$, $I_C = 0$)	ICBO ICBO IEBO	1 max 5 max 5 max	mA mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio ($V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 1.5 A$) Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	һғе Өл−о	25 to 100 6* max	•C/W

* This value does not apply to type 40250V1.

40250V1

4A, 29W

Si n-p-n diffused-junction type used in audio and inverter circuits in 12-volt mobile radio and portable communications equipment and in a wide variety of intermediate- and high-power applications. This type has an attached heat radiator for mounting on printedcircuit-board applications. JEDEC TO-66 (with heat

radiator), Outline No.26. This type is identical with type 40250 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Transistor Dissipation: TA up to 25°C	Рт	5.8	w
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient) (}.∟_&	30 max	°C/W

2N5293

4A, 36W

Si n-p-n type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material and molded silicone plastic package with vertical leads. This type fits a standard TO-66 socket. It is used in a wide variety of medium-power switching and amplifier applications such as series and shunt regulators, and in driver and

output stages of high-fidelity amplifiers. Outline No.52. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.





Low- and Medium-Frequency Power Transistors

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	80	v
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	VCEV (SUS)	80	v
$R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$	Vcer (sus)	75	ý
Base open	VCEO (SUS)	70	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VERO	7	v
Collector Current	Ic	4	Å
Base Current	ĪB	2	Δ
Transistor Dissipation:		2	~
T _c up to 25°C	Рт	36	w
TA up to 25°C	PT	1 8	w
Tc above 25°C	Pr. Derate lir	early at 0.288	w/°C
T _A above 25°C	Pr Derate lin	carly at 0.0144	ww
Temperature Range:	I i Delate III.	ically at 0.0144	w/c
Operating (Junction)	$T_1(opr)$	-65 to 150	°C
Storage	TSTO	-65 to 150	•č
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Tr.		്
	* 11	200	C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$I_{\rm C} = 0.1$ A, $I_{\rm B} = 0$, $t_{\rm P} = 300 \ \mu s$, $df = 0.018$	VCEO(SUS)	70 min	v
$I_{C} = 0.1 \text{ A}, t_{P} = 300 \ \mu \text{s}, df = 0.018 \dots$	VCER (SUS)	75 min	ý
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$, Ic = 0.1 A, tr = 300 μ s, df = 0.018	VCEV (sus)	80 min	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 0.5 A$,			
$t_{\rm P} = 300 \ \mu s, \ df = 0.018)$	VBE	1.1 max	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(1c = 0.5 \text{ A}, I_B = 0.05 \text{ A}, t_P = 300 \ \mu\text{s}, df = 0.018)$	Vce(sat)	1 max	v
Collector-Cutoff_Current:			
$V_{\rm CE} = 65 \text{ V}, \text{ V}_{\rm BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}$	ICEV	0.5 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 65 V, V_{BE} = -1.5 V, T_{C} = 150^{\circ}C$	ICEV	3 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 50 V, R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$	ICER	0.5 max	mA
$V_{CE} \equiv 50 V, R_{RE} \equiv 100 \Omega, T_{C} \equiv 150^{\circ}C$	İ CER	2 max	mA
Emitter-Cuton Current ($V_{EB} = 7 V$)	1EBO	1 max	mA
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(VCE \equiv 4 V, 1C \equiv 0.5 A, LP \equiv 300 \mu s, dI \equiv 0.018)$	hff(pulsed)	30 to 120	
Gain-Bandwidth Product (VCE = 4 V, $1c = 0.2$ A)	ÎT	0.8 min	MHZ
10rn-On 11me (Vcc = 30 V, 1c = 0.5 A, 1c = 0.5 A)		_	
$IB1 \equiv 0.05 \text{ A}$	ta + tr	5 max	μs
1 urn-On Time (vcc = 30 v, 10 = 0.5 A, 10 J =		1.5	_
$1\beta_1 \simeq -0.05 \text{ A}$	$l_s + l_f$	15 max	μS
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	641-C	J.S max	C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	C9 J - A	iu max	C/W

4A, 36W

2N5294



Si n-p-n type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material and molded silicone plastic package having horizontal leads for mounting on printed-circuit boards. It is used in a wide variety of medium-power switching and amplifier applications such as series and shunt regulators, and in driver and

output stages of high-fidelity amplifiers. Outline No.53. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is electrically identical to type 2N5293.

4A, 36W

2N5295

Si n-p-n type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material and molded silicone plastic package with vertical leads. This type fits a standard TO-66 socket. It is used in a wide variety of medium-power switching and amplifier applications such as series and shunt regulators, and in driver and

output stages of high-fidelity amplifiers. Outline No.52. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCBO	60	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:	/ 、		
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	VCEV(SUS)	60	v
$B_{BE} = 100 O$	VCER(SUS)	50	v
Base open	VCEO (SUS)	40	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	5	v
Collector Current	Ie	4	A
Base Current	IB	2	Α
Transistor Dissipation:			
Te up to 25°C	Рт	36	w
T _A up to 25°C	PT	1.8	w
Tc above 25°C	PT Derate linea:	rly at 0.288	W/°C
T _A above 25°C	P _T Derate linea:	rly at 0.0144	W/°C
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T ₂ (opr) -	65 to 150	°C
Storage	Tstg -	65 to 150	°C
Long Coldering Temperature (10 s max)	T	235	°C
Deau-Bolucinie Temperature (IV S max)			

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature \pm 25°C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage: Ic = 0.1 A, In = 0, tr = 300 μ s, df = 0.018 Ic = 0.1 A, tr = 300 μ s, df = 0.018 Ic = 0.1 A, tr = 300 μ s, df = 0.018	VCE0 VCER
$V_{BE} \equiv -1.5$ V, $I_C \equiv 0.1$ A, $I_P \equiv 500$ µs, $u_1 \equiv 0.018$ Base-to-Emitter Voltage (Ver = 4 V Ir = 1 A.	41.124
$t_{\mu} = 300 \ \mu s \ df = 0.018$	VRE
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage	
$(I_{\rm C} \equiv 1 \text{ A}, I_{\rm R} \equiv 0.1 \text{ A}, t_{\rm P} \equiv 300 \ \mu\text{s}, df \equiv 0.018) \dots$	VCE (
Collector-Cutoff Current:	_
$V_{\rm CE} = 35 V, V_{\rm RE} = -1.5 V$	ICEV
$V_{CE} = 35$ V, $V_{BE} = -1.5$ V, $T_{C} = 150^{\circ}C$	TCEA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 5 V$)	1EBO
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio	
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 1 A, t_P = 300 \ \mu s, df = 0.018)$	hfr(
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 0.2A$)	İT .
Turn-On Time (Vec = 30 V, Ic = 1 A, I _{B1} = 0.1 A)	ta +
Turn-Off Time (Vec = 30 V, Ic = 1 A, Is ₂ = -0.1 A)	ts +
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	⊖J-C
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	()J−A

VCER(SUS) VCER(SUS) VCEV(SUS)	50 min 60 min	v v
VRE	1.3 max	v
VCE (sat)	1 max	v
ICEV ICEV IEBO	2 max 5 max 1 max	mA mA mA
$h_{FE} (pulsed)$ fr td + tr ts + tr Θ_{J-C} Θ_{J-A}	30 to 120 0.8 max 5 max 15 max 3.5 max 70 max	MHz µS °C/W °C/W



2N5296

4A. 36W

Si n-p-n type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material and molded silicone plastic package having horizontal leads for mounting on printed-circuit boards. It is used in a wide variety of medium-power switching and amplifier applications such as series and shunt regulators, and in driver and



Low- and Medium-Frequency Power Transistors

output stages of high-fidelity amplifiers. Outline No.53. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is electrically identical to type 2N5295.

4A. 36W

2N5297



Si n-p-n type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material and molded silicone plastic package with vertical leads. This type fits a standard TO-66 socket. It is used in a wide variety of medium-power switching and amplifier applications such as series and shunt regulators, and in driver and

output stages of high-fidelity amplifiers. Outline No.52. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	80	v
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	VCEV (SUS)	80	v
$R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$	VCER(SUS)	70	v
Base open	VCEO (SUS)	60	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	5	v
Collector Current	Ic	4	Α
Base Current	IB	2	Α
Transistor Dissipation:			
Te up to 25°C	Рт	36	w
T _A up to 25°C	Рт	1.8	w
Te above 25°C	Рт Derate linearl	y at 0.228	W/°C
T _A above 25°C	PT Derate linearl	y at 0.0144	W/°C
Temperature Range:		-	
Operating (Junction)	T ₁ (opr) -6	5 to 150	°C
Storage	TSTG -6	5 to 150	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL	235	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage: $I_C = 0.1 A, I_B = 0, t_P = 300 \ \mu s, df = 0.018 \dots I_C$ $I_C = 0.1 A, t_P = 300 \ \mu s, df = 0.018 \dots I_C$ $V_{BE} = -1.5 V, I_C = 0.1 A, t_P = 300 \ \mu s, df = 0.018$	VCEO(SUS) VCER(SUS) VCEY(SUS)	60 min 70 min 80 min	V V V
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (VCE = 4 V, IC = 1.5 A, $t_P = 300 \ \mu s$, df = 0.018)	VBE	1.5 max	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage $(Ic = 1.5 \text{ A}, IB = 0.15 \text{ A}, tP = 300 \ \mu\text{s}, df = 0.018)$	Ver (sat)	1 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current: $V_{CE} = 65 \text{ V}, \text{ V}_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}$	ICEY	0.5 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 65$ V, $V_{BE} = -1.5$ V, $T_{C} = 150^{\circ}C$ $V_{CE} = 50$ V, $R_{BE} = 100$ Ω	ICER	0.5 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 50$ V, $R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$, $T_C = 150^{\circ}C$ Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 5$ V)	IEBO	1 max	mA
(V _{CE} = 4 V, I _C = 1.5 A, t _P = 300 μ s, df = 0.018) (C _{in} Bradwidth Bradwidt (V _W = 4 V, I _C = 0.2 A)	hrห (pulsed) fm	20 to 80	MH7
Turn-On Time (Vcc = 30 V, Ic = 1.5 A, Image: 1.5 A)	$t_{i} + t_{r}$	5 max	шS
Turn-Off Time (Vec = 30 V, Ic = 1.5 A, $I_{rre} = -0.15$ A)	ts + tr	15 max	μs
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	$\Theta_{J=0}$ $\Theta_{J=\Lambda}$	3.5 max 70 max	°C/W °C/W

4A, 36W



Si n-p-n type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material and molded silicone plastic package having horizontal leads for mounting on printed-circuit boards. It is used in a wide variety of medium-power switching and amplifier applications such as series and shunt regulators, and in driver and

2N5298

output stages of high-fidelity amplifiers. Outline No.53. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is electrically identical to type 2N5297.

401

2N5490

402

7A. 50W

Si n-p-n type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material and molded silicone plastic package having horizontal leads for mounting on printed-circuit boards. It is used in a wide variety of medium-power switching and amplifier applications in military, industrial, and commercial equipment.



Outline No.53. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage Vo	во	60 V
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:		
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	'EV (SUS)	50 V
$R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$	'ER(SUS)	50
Base open Vo	·EO (SUS)	40 V
Emitter-to-Base Voltage VI	SBO	5 V
Collector Current Ic		7 A
Base Current In		3 A
Transistor Dissipation:		
Tr: up to 25°C		50 W
Tr: above 25°C Pr	 Derate linearly at 0 	.4 W/°C
TA UD to 25°C Pr	. 1	.8 W
T _A above 25°C PT	 Derate linearly at 0 	.0144 W/°C
Temperature Range:		
Operating (Junction)	(opr) -65 to 1	50 °C
Storage		50 °C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max) Tr	. 2:	35 °C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage: $L_{\mu} = 0.1 \text{ A}$ $L_{\mu} = 0$ has open $t_{\mu} = 300 \text{ ms}$			
df = 0.018	VCEO(SUS)	40 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = 0.1$ A, $R_{\rm BE} = 100 \Omega$, $t_{\rm P} = 300 \mu s$, $df = 0.018 \dots$	VCER(SUS)	50 min	v
$V_{BE} = -1.5$ V, Ic = 0.1 A, base-emitter junction			
reverse biased, tr = 300 μ s, df = 0.018	VCEV	60 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage	/		
$(I_{\rm C} = 2 \text{ A}, I_{\rm B} = 0.2 \text{ A}, t_{\rm P} = 300 \mu\text{s}, df = 0.018) \dots$	VCE(sat)	1 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (VCE = 4 V, IC = 2 A,			
$t_{\rm P} = 300 \ \mu {\rm s}, \ {\rm df} = 0.018)$	VRE	1.1 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:	_		
$V_{\rm CE} = 40$ V, $R_{\rm BE} = 100$ Ω	ICER	2 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 40 \text{ V}, \text{ R}_{BE} = 100 \Omega, \text{ T}_{C} = 150^{\circ}\text{C}$	ICER	5 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 5 V$)	IEBO	1 max	mA
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio $(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 2 A, t_P = 300 \mu s, df = 0.018) \dots$	hFE (pulsed)	20 to 100	MH-
Gain-Bandwidth Product (Vec = 4 V, $10 = 0.5 R$)	1T	0.0 11111	141117.



Turn-On Time (Vec = 30 V, Ic = 2 A, I _B = 0.2 A) Turn-Off Time (Vec = 30 V, Ic = 2 A, I _B = 0.2 A) Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	$t_{a} + t_{r}$ $t_{s} + t_{r}$ Θ_{J-A}	5 max 15 max 2.5 max 70 max	μs μs °C/W °C/W
---	--	--------------------------------------	--------------------------

7A. 50W

Si n-p-n type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material and molded silicone plastic package with vertical leads. This type fits a standard TO-66 socket. It is used in a wide variety of medium-power switching and amplifier applications in military, industrial, and commercial equipment.

Outline No.52. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is electrically identical to type 2N5490.

7A. 50W

2N5492

2N5491

Si n-p-n type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material and molded silicone plastic package having horizontal leads for mounting on printed-circuit boards. It is used in a wide variety of medium-power switching and amplifier applications in military, industrial, and commercial equipment.

Outline No.53. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. For maximum operating area curves, refer to type 2N5490.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vero	75	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$V_{\rm BE} = -1.5 \ V$	VCEV(sus)	75	v
$R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$	VCER(SUS)	65	v
Base open	VCEO (sus)	55	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	5	v
Collector Current	Ie	7	A
Base Current	In	3	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
Te up to 25°C	Pr	50	W
Te above 25°C	PT Derate li	nearly at 0.4	W/°C
Ty up to 25°C	Pr	1.8	ŚW
T _A above 25°C	Pr Derate li	nearly at 0.0144	W/°C
Temperature Range:		•	,
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 150	°C
Storage	Tstg	-65 to 150	°Ċ
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL.	235	°Ċ
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature - 25°)	C)		
UNANAULINIUTUU (At case temperature - 20 t	.,		
Callester to Englisher. Containing Walterney			

Concetor-to-Emitter Sustaming Voltage.			
$I_{\rm C} = 0.1$ A, $I_{\rm B} = 0$, base open, $t_{\rm P} = 300 \ \mu s$,			
df = 0.018	VCEO(SUS)	55 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = 0.1$ A, $R_{\rm BE} = 100 \Omega$, $t_{\rm P} = 300 \mu s$, $df = 0.018 \dots$	VCER(SUS)	65 min	v
$V_{\rm RE} = -1.5$ V. Ic = 0.1 A. base-emitter junction			
reverse biased, t _P = 300 μ s, df = 0.018	VCEV (SUS)	75 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 2.5 \text{ A}, I_{\rm R} = 0.25 \text{ A}, t_{\rm R} = 300 \mu\text{s}, df = 0.018)$	VCE(sat)	1 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (Ver = 4 V. Ic = 2.5 A.			•
$t_{\rm P} = 300 \ \mu s. \ df = 0.018$	VRE	1.3 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CE} = 70$ V, $V_{BE} = -1.5$ V, base-emitter			
reverse biased	ICEY	1 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 70$ V. $V_{RE} = -1.5$ V. $T_{C} = 150^{\circ}$ C.			
hase-emitter reverse biased	ICEY	5 max	mA
$V_{CR} = 55 V R_{RR} = 100 O$	LIND	0.5 max	mA
$V_{\rm em} = 55 V$, $R_{\rm BH} = 100 \Omega$, $T_{\rm et} = 150^{\circ}C$	Lenan	35 max	mA
V(E = 33 V, RBE = 100 M, R = 100 M	Tana	1 mox	mA
Emitter-Cuton Current (VER $\equiv 5$ V)	1EBO	1 max	mA
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 2.5 A, I_P = 300 \ \mu s, df = 0.018)$	hfe(pulsed)	20 to 100	
Gain-Bandwidth Product (VCE = 4 V, IC = 0.5 A)	fT	0.8 min	MHz



Turn-On Time (Vcc = 30 V, Ic = 2.5 A, I _{B1} = (0.25 A)	ta + tr	5 max	μs
Turn-Off Time ($V_{CC} = 30$ V, $I_C = 2.5$ A, $I_{B_C} = 0.25$ A) Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	$t_s + t_f \\ \Theta_{J-C} \\ \Theta_{J-A}$	15 max 2.5 max 70 max	°C/W °C/W

2N5493

7A, 50W

Si n-p-n type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material and molded silicone plastic package with vertical leads. This type fits a standard TO-66 socket. It is used in a wide variety of medium-power switching and amplifier applications in military, industrial, and commercial equipment.

Outline No.52. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is electrically identical to type 2N5492.

7A. 50W

2N5494

Si n-p-n type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material and molded silicone plastic package having horizontal leads for mounting on printed-circuit boards. It is used in a wide variety of medium-power switching and amplifier applications in military, industrial, and commercial equipment.

Outline No.53. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. For maximum ratings and maximum operating area curves, refer to type 2N5490.

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:		
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	40 min 50 min	v v
$V_{BE} = -1.5$ V, Ic = 0.1 A, base-emitter junction reverse biased	60 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage $(I_{C} = 3 \text{ A}, I_{B} = 0.3 \text{ A}, t_{P} = 300 \ \mu\text{s}, \text{ df} = 0.018) \dots V_{CE}(\text{sat})$	1 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (Ver = 4 V, Ie = 3A, tu = 300 us. df = 0.018) VBE	1.5 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:	1 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 55 \text{ V}, \text{ V}_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ T}_{C} = 150^{\circ}\text{C}$	5 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 40 \text{ V}, \text{R}_{BE} = 100 \Omega$	3.5 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VEB = 5 V) IEBO	1 max	mA
Pulsed static Forward Current Transfer Ratio $(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 3 A, t_P = 300 \mu s, df = 0.018)$ h _{FE} (pulsed	l) 20 to 100	MH
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 4$ V, $I_C = 0.3$ A) IT Turn-On Time ($V_{CC} = 30$ V, $I_C = 3$ A, $I_{B1} = 0.3$ A) $t_0 + t_r$	5 max	μ:
Turn-Off Time (Vcc = 30 V, Ic = 3 A, I _{B2} = 0.3 A) $t_s + t_f$ Thermal Besistance Junction-to-Case θ_{J-C}	15 max 2.5 max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	70 max	°C/W

2N5495

7A, 50W

Si n-p-n type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material and molded silicone plastic package with vertical leads. This type fits a standard TO-66 socket. It is used in a wide variety of medium-power switching and amplifier applications in military, industrial, and commercial equipment.



Outline No.52. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is electrically identical to type 2N5494.





7A, 50W

Si n-p-n type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material and molded silicone plastic package having horizontal leads for mounting on printed-circuit boards. It is used in a wide variety of medium-power switching and amplifier applications in military, industrial, and commercial equipment.

Outline No.53. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. For maximum operating area curves, refer to type 2N5490.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vebo	90	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$V_{\rm BE} = -1.5 ~\rm V$	VCEV (SUS)	90	v
$R_{\rm BE}~=~100~\Omega$	VCER(SUS)	80	v
Base open	VCEO (SUS)	70	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	5	v
Colector Current	Ic	7	A
Base Current	Iв	3	Α
Transistor Dissipation:			
Te up to 25 ^{-C}	Рт	50	w
Te above 25°C	PT Derate line	arly at 0.4	W/°C
TA up to 25°C	Рт	1.8	Ŵ
TA above 25°C	PT Derate line	arly at 0.014	4 W/°C
Temperature Range:		-	-
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 150	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 150	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T	235	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage: $I_{C} = 0.1 \text{ A}, I_{B} = 0$, base open, $I_{P} = 300 \mu\text{s},$			
df = 0.018	VCEO(SUS)	70 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = 0.1 \text{ A}, R_{\rm BE} = 100 \Omega, t_{\rm F} = 300 \mu \text{s}, df = 0.018 \dots$	VCER(SUS)	80 min	v
$V_{BE} = -1.5$ V. Ic = 0.1 A. base-emitter junction			
reverse biased	VCEV (SUS)	90 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 3.5 \text{ A}, I_{\rm B} = 0.35 \text{ A}, t_{\rm P} = 300 \text{ \mu}s, df = 0.018)$	VCE(sat)	1 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (Ver = 4 V. Ic = 3.5 A.			-
$t_{\rm P} = 300 \ \mu s. \ df = 0.018$	VBE	1.7 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CE} = 85 V, V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	ICEY	1 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 85 V, V_{BE} = -1.5 V, T_{C} = 150^{\circ}C$	ICEY	5 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 70$ V, $R_{RE} = 100$ O	ICER	0.5 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 70$ V, $R_{RE} = 100$ O, $T_{C} = 150^{\circ}C$	ICER	3.5 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VER = 5 V)	IERO	1 max	mA
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 3.5 A, t_P = 300 \mu s, df = 0.018)$	hre(pulsed)	20 to 100	
Gain-Bandwidth Product (Ver = 4 V, Ic = 0.5 A)	fr	0.8 min	MH ₂
Turn-On Time (Vcc = 30 V, $Ic = 3.5$ A)		0.0	
$I_{B1} = 0.35 A$	ta 🕂 tr	5 max	""
Turn-Off Time (Vcc = 30 V, Ic = 3.5 A,		0	μο
$I_{B_2} = 0.35 A$	ta 🕂 te	15 max	<i>u</i> S
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	HI_C	2.5 max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	HI-A	70 max	°Č/W
include inconstance, vanetion to innorthe management	0.0-0	10 man	0,

7A, 50W

2N5497

Si n-p-n type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material and molded silicone plastic package with vertical leads. This type fits a standard TO-66 socket. It is used in a wide variety of medium-power switching and amplifier applications in military, industrial, and commercial equipment.

Outline No.52. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is electrically identical to type 2N5496.

405

2N5496

2N4347

15A, 117W

Si n-p-n type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material. This type is used in high-voltage applications in power-switching circuits, audio amplifiers, series and shunt regulators, drivers, and output stages, dc-to-dc converters, inverters, and solenoid (hammer)/relay driver service



in military, industrial, and commercial equipment. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	140	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	VCEV	140	v
Base open	VCEO	120	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	Vebo	7	v
Collector Current	Ic	5	A
Peak Collector Current	ic	10	A
Base Current	In	3	Α
Transistor Dissipation:			
Te up to 25°C	Рт	100	w
Te above 25°C	Рт	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	°C
Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TP	255	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$I_{C} = 0.2 A \text{ to } 3 A, I_{B} = 0$	VCEO(SUS)	120 min	v
$V_{\rm BE} = -1.5$ V, Ic = 0.1 A to 1.5 A	Vcev(sus)	140 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic $\equiv 2$ A,			
$I_{\rm B} = 0.2 {\rm A}$	Vce(sat)	1 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (VCE = 4 V, IC = 2 A)	VBE	2 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{\rm CE} = 120 \text{ V}, \text{ V}_{\rm BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}$	ICEV	2 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 120 \text{ V}, \text{ V}_{RE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ T}_{C} = 150^{\circ}\text{C}$	ICEV	10 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VEB = 7 V, $Ic = 0$)	Iebo	5 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio ($V_{CE} = 4 V$.			
$I_{\rm C} = 2$ A)	hfe	20 to 70	
Power Bating Test (Vcr = 67 V, Ic = 1.5 A, t = 1 s)		100	w
Thermal Resistance Junction-to-Case	Θ_{J-C}	1.75 max	°C/W
THEIMAI ILEMANCE. CANCENDA IC CASE			





Si n-p-n type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material and molded silicone plastic pacgage with vertical leads. This type fits a standard TO-3 socket. It is used in a wide variety of high-power switching and amplifier applications such as series and shunt regulators, drivers, and output

stages for high-fidelity amplifiers. Outline No.50. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

1

2

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	55	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			•
$V_{\rm BE} = -1.5 ~ m V$	VCEV (SUS)	55	v
$R_{BE} = 100 \ \Omega$	VCER (SUS)	45	v
Base open	VCEO (SUS)	40	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	5	v
Collector Current	Ic	ē	À
Peak Collector Current	ic	12	Â
Base Current	Ĭĸ	-6	Ā
Transistor Dissipation:	-0	0	
$T_{\rm C}$ up to $25^{\circ}{ m C}$	Рт	83	w
Tc above 25°C	Pr	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 150	°C
Storage	Taro	65 to 150	۰Č
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL	235	۰č

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25° C)

Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($IE = 5 \text{ mA}$, $I_C = 0$)	VARANERO	5 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:	(BR)EBU	Juni	v
$I_{\rm C} = 0.2$ A, $I_{\rm B} = 0$, $t_{\rm P} = 300 \ \mu \text{s}$, $df = 1.8\%$	VCEO(SUS)	40 min	v
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$, $I_{C} = 0.1 A$, $t_{P} = 300 \mu s$, $df = 1.8\%$	VCEV (SUS)	55 min	ý
$R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$, $I_{C} = 0.2 A$, $t_{\mu} = 300 \mu s$, $df = 1.8\%$,	VCER(SUS)	45 min	ý
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 4$ V, $I_C = 2.5$ Å,			•
$t_p = 300 \ \mu s, df = 1.8\%$	VRE	1.7 max	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic = 2.5 A.			•
$I_B = 0.25 A$, $t_P = 300 \mu s$, $df = 1.8\%$)	Vcr (sat)	1 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:	102 (541)	1	•
$V_{\rm CE} = 35 V, R_{\rm BE} = 100 \Omega$	ICER	1 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 35 \text{ V}, \text{ R}_{BE} = 100 \Omega, \text{ T}_{C} = 150^{\circ}\text{C}$	ICER	5 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 50 \text{ V}, \text{ V}_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}$	ICEV	1 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 50 V$, $V_{BE} = -1.5 V$, $T_{C} = 150^{\circ}C$	ICEV	5 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VEB = 5 V. Ic = 0)	IEBO	5 max	mA
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio		e man	
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_{C} = 2.5 A, t_{II} = 300 \mu s, df = 1.8\%)$	hff(pulsed)	20 to 70	
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 0.5 A$)	fr	0.8 to 2.8	MHz
Thermal Resistance Junction-to-Case	θı-c	1.5 max	°C/W

o

0.5





1.0

BASE-TO-EMITTER VOLTS (VBE)

1.5

2.0

9255-3603T

2N5034

2N5035

12A, 100W

Si n-p-n type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material and molded silicone plastic package having horizontal leads for mounting on printed-circuit boards. It is used in a wide variety of high-power switching and amplifier applications such as series and shunt regulators, drivers, and output

stages for high-fidelity amplifiers. Outline No.51. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is electrically identical to type 2N5034.

2N5036

12A, 100W

Si n-p-n type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material and molded silicone plastic package with vertical leads. This type fits a standard TO-3 socket. It is used in a wide variety of high-power switching and amplifier applications such as series and shunt regulators, drivers, and output

stages for high-fidelity amplifiers. Outline No.50. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	70	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	Vcev(sus)	70	v
$R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$	VCER (SUS)	60	v
Base open	Vceo (sus)	50	- V
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	5	v
Collector Current	Ic	8	A
Peak Collector Current	ic	12	A
Base Current	IB	6	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
To up to 25°C	Рт	83	w
Tc above 25°C	PT	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 150	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 150	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL	235	°C
beau boracing achiperators (it is interior)			

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = 5 \text{ mA}$, $I_C = 0$)	V(BR)EBO	5 min	
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:	X7 ()	Fomin	
$I_{C} = 0.2 \text{ A}, I_{B} = 0, t_{p} = 300 \ \mu\text{s}, dt = 1.8\%$	VCEO(SUS)	20 11111	
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$, $I_{C} = 0.1 A$, $t_{P} = 300 \mu s$, $df = 1.8\%$	VCEV(SUS)	70 min	
$R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$, $I_{C} = 0.2 A$, $t_{p} = 300 \mu s$, $df = 1.8\%$	VCER (SUS)	60 min	
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 3 A$,			
$t_p = 300 \ \mu s, df = 1.8\%$)	VBE	1.7 max	







v v v v v

2

(2

Low- and Medium-Frequency Power Transistors

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic = 3 A, t_ = 300 us df = 1.8% Jp = 0.3 A)	Vcr(sat)	1 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:	V CE (But)	1	•
$V_{CE} = 50 \text{ V}, \text{ R}_{BE} = 100 \Omega$	ICER	1 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 50 \text{ V}, \text{ R}_{BE} = 100 \Omega, \text{ T}_{C} = 150^{\circ}\text{C}$	ICER	5 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 65 \text{ V}, \text{ V}_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}$	ICEV	1 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 65 V_{1} V_{BE} = -1.5 V_{2} T_{C} = 150^{\circ}C$	ICEV	5 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 5 V$, Ic = 0)	IEBO	5 max	mA
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 3 A, t_p = 300 \ \mu s, df = 1.8\%)$	hff(pulsed)	20 to 70	
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 0.5 A$)	fT	0.8 to 2.8	MHZ
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θ1-c	1.5 max	°C/W

12A, 100W

2N5037



Si n-p-n type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material and molded silicone plastic package having horizontal leads for mounting on printed-circuit boards. It is used in a wide variety of high-power switching and amplifier applications such as series and shunt regulators, drivers, and output

stages for high-fidelity amplifiers. Outline No.51. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is electrically identical to type 2N5036.

12A, 100W

40513



Si n-p-n type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material and molded silicone plastic package having horizontal leads for mounting on printed-circuit boards. It is used in a wide variety of high-power switching and amplifier applications such as series and shunt regulators, drivers, and output

stages for high-fidelity amplifiers. Outline No.51. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is electrically identical with type 40514.

12A, 100W

40514



Si n-p-n type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material and molded silicone plastic package with vertical leads. This type fits a standard TO-3 socket. It is used in a wide variety of high-power switching and amplifier applications such as series and shunt regulators, drivers, and output

stages for high-fidelity amplifiers. Outline No.50. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. For collector-characteristics and transfercharacteristics curves, refer to type 2N5034.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage (RBE = 100 Ω)	VCER(SUS)	45	V
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	Vebo	5	V
Collector Current	Ic	6	A
Peak Collector Current	ic	12	Α
Base Current	IB	6	Α
Transistor Dissipation:			
To up to 25°C	Pr	_ 83	W
Tc above 25°C	Pr	See curve page	300

MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

Temperature Hange: Operating (Junction) Storage Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Tj(opr) Tsrc TL	-65 to 150 -65 to 150 235	ာင် သင့်
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25° C)			
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = 5 \text{ mA}$)	V(BR)EBO	5 min	v
$Ic = 0.2 \text{ A}, \text{ tp} = 300 \ \mu\text{s}, \text{ df} = 1.8\%$	VCER(SUS)	45 min	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{BE} = 4 \text{ V}$, $I_C = 2.5 \text{ A}$, tp = 300 μ s, df = 1.8%)	VBE	1.7 max	v
Collector-to-Emitter-to-Saturation Voltage (Ic = 2.5 A, $t_p = 300 \ \mu$ s, df = 1.8%, IB = 0.25 A)	Vcr(sat)	1 max	v
$V_{CE} = 20 \text{ V}, \text{R}_{BE} = 100 \Omega$	ICER	2.5 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 20 \text{ V}, \text{ R}_{BE} = 100 \Omega, \text{ T}_{C} = 150^{\circ}\text{C}$ Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 5 \text{ V}, \text{ I}_{C} = 0$)	Icer Iebo	5 max 5 max	mA mA
(Ver = 4 V, Ic = 2.5 A, tp = 300 μ s, df = 1.8%) Gain-Bandwidth Product (Ver = 4 V, Ic = 0.5 A) Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	hғе (pulsed) fr Өл-с	20 to 70 0.8 to 2.8 1.5 max	MHz °C/W

2N3055

15A, 117W

Si n-p-n diffused-junction type used in power-switching circuits, series- and shunt-regulator driver and output stages, and high-fidelity amplifiers in commercial and industrial equipment. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.



MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	V _{CBO}	100	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$	VCER(SUS)	70	v
Base open	VCEO (SUS)	60	v
$V_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}$	VCEV (SUS)	90	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	7	v
Collector Current	Ic	15	A
Base Current	IB	7	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
Te up to 25°C	Рт	115	w
Tr above 25°C	Рт	See curve pa	ige 300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	°C
Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Te	235	°Č
A MI-DOIGCIMB A COOPCIACION (10 0 Marc) Management			

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$I_{\rm C} = 0.2$ A, $t_{\rm p} = 300 \ \mu s$, $df = 1.8\%$	VCEO(SUS)	60 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = 0.2$ A, $t_{\rm p} = 300 \ \mu s$, $df = 1.8\%$, $R_{\rm BE} = 100 \ \Omega$	VCER (SUS)	70 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = 0.1$ A, $V_{\rm BE} = -1.5$ V, $t_{\rm B} = 300 \ \mu s$, $df = 1.8\%$	VCEV (SUS)	90 min	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (VCE = 4 V, IC = 4 A,			
$t_{\rm p} = 300 \ \mu {\rm s}, \ {\rm df} = 1.8\%$	VBE	1.8	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage:			
$I_{C} = 4 A, I_{B} = 0.4 A$	Vce(sat)	1.1 max	v
$I_{\rm C} = 10$ A, $I_{\rm B} = 3.3$ A	VCE(sat)	8 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CE} = 30 \text{ V}, \text{ I}_{B} = 0$	ICEO	0.7 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 100 V, V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	ICEX	5 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 100 \text{ V}, \text{ V}_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ T}_{C} = 150^{\circ}\text{C}$	ICEX	30 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 7 V$)	IEBO	5 max	mA
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{CE} = 4 V$, Ic = 10 A, $t_P = 300 \mu s$, df = 1.8%	hfe	5 min	
$V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 4 A$, $t_p = 300 \mu s$, $df = 1.8\%$	hfe	20 to 70	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Ratio			
$(V_{CE} \stackrel{\sim}{=} 4 V, I_C = 1 A)$	hre	15 to 120	
Gain-Bandwidth Product $(Ic = 1 A)$	fT	800 min	kHz
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio Cutoff			
Frequency ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 1 A$)	fure	10 min	kHz
Second-Breakdown Collector Current			
$(V_{CE} = 60 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 1.95 \text{ A})$	Is/b	1 min	S
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	OJ-C	1.5 max	°C/W



15A, 117W

2N3442



Si n-p-n diffused type for high-voltage applications in power-switching circuits, series- and shunt-regulator driver and output stages, and in dc-to-dc converters in military, industrial, and commercial equipment. This type features a base comprised of a homogeneousresistivity silicon material. JEDEC TO-3, Outline

No.2. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 2N3441 except for the following items: MAXIMUM RATINGS

MAX	IMUN	A KAI	IINC	iS .												
Colle	ctor C	Curren	t			• • • • • • • • • •					Ic				10	4
Base	Curre	ent									IB				7	Ā
Trans	sistor	Dissip	atior	1:											-	-
Tc	up to	o 25°C									Рт				117	v
Tc	up to	o 25°C				•••••					Рт		Se	e cu	rve p	age 300
CHA	RACT	ERIS	TICS	5 (A	t ca	ase	temp	eratur	e = 2	5°C)					-	0
Colle	ctor-to	o-Emit	ter	Sust	aini	ng N	Voltae	e:								
Ic	= 0.2	to 3	A, I	в =	0.						VCE	o(sus)	140	min	1
IC :	= 0.1	to 1.5	Â,	Vве	=	-1.5	v				VCE	v (sus	í –	160	min	ĩ
Colle	ctor-to	o-Emit	ter	Satu	irati	on 1	Voltag	e				-				
_ (1c	= 3	A, IB	= 3	00 n	1A)	•••••				••••	VCE	(sat)		11	max	v
Base-	to-En	utter	Volu	age	(Vci	= =	4 V,	1c = 3	A)	••••	VBE			1.71	max	v
Cone	ctor-C	uton	Curi	ent:		1 7 m		FARC			-					
- VCI	<u> </u>	40 V,	V BE	= -	1.3	v, 1	c = 1		•••••	••••	ICEV			101	max	mA
Emitt	ler-Cu	toff C	11FFO	nt č	VED	7	V T	α — 0)	•••••	••••	TCEV			Ε.	1	mA
Static	Forv	vard-C	urre	ont C	Fran	sfer	Batic	<u> </u>	••••••	••••	TEBU	,		3.	пах	11(2
(V)	c = 4	4 V. I		3 A)			•			hre			20.1	0.70	
Powe	r Rati	ng Te	st	,												
(V)	св = '	78 V,	Ic =	: 1.5	Α,	t =	1 s)								117	W
Ther	mal R	lesista	nce,	Jun	ctio	n-to-	Case				θ ι-(7		1.5	max	°C/W
	TYPI	CAL CO	LLEC	TOR	CHAR	ACTE	RISTICS	3		TYPE	CAL 1	RANS	FER CH	ARAC	TERIS	STICS
	TYPE	21344	2					-		TYPE	21134	42				
	CASE	TEMPER	ATUR	E (Tc)	= 25*	c			12	COLLE	CTOR	-T0-E	MITTER	VOL	TS (Vc	F)=4
_ 15	1		1		-			-				1			۰ ۲	ī
ц.									010			·~				
in 2.5			-			-		-	1	1		₩/	.6/			
ä						1 1	- 1		ES		-	"/ j	2/			
뷥이	1000-					-		-	<u>~ 8</u>		,c	/;	\sim			
N N	1800						- 1		Ā		41					
œ 7,5	F600-							-	- ₹ 6		_\$4	1				
6	400								<u>ج</u>		2/	V				
ພ 5	E.	-	-	-		-	-		Ĕ		$\varphi/$	ſ	1		1	
Ξ.	20	2							<u> </u>						-	
8 25	10	9	40			S			Ľ.	~)	1 1
2.0	DASE	AULIAMPE	RESUL	01+10	. 1				ပိ 2	_ %/	/				-	
	CHASE .	and the second P L	-cent	للخسة		5 1				3/]	/				1	
0)	50	10	00	15	0	200					1			1	1

0 1 2 3 4 5

BASE -TO-EMITTER VOLTS (VBE)

9268-128391

COLLECTOR-TO-EMITTER VOLTS (VCE)

40251

15A, 117W

Si n-p-n diffused-junction type used in audio and inverter circuits in 12-volt mobile radio and portable communications equipment and in a wide variety of intermediate- and high-power applications. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.



MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCBO	50	- V
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	VCEV	50	v
Base open	VCEO	40	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	5	v
Collector Current	Ic	15	A
Base Current	IB	7	Α
Transistor Dissipation:			
Te up to 25°C	Рт	117	w
Tc above 25°C	Рт	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTC	-65 to 200	°C
Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TP	235	°C
I III-DOIGCITIK ICIIIPCIALAIC (ID D HAAN) AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA			

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature \pm 25°C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = 0.1 A,		50 1	.,
$I_E = 0$)	V (BR)('BO	50 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage ($1c = 0.1$ A,			
$V_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}$	V (BR) CEV	50 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = 0.01$ A,			
$I_{\rm C}=0$)	V(BR)ERO	5 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
(Ic = 0.2 A)	VCEO(SUS)	40 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 8 \text{ A}, I_{\rm B} = 0.8 \text{ A})$	VCE(sat)	1.5 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (VCE = 4 V, IC = 8 A)	VBE	2.2 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CE} = 40$ V, $V_{BE} = -1.5$ V, $T_{C} = 25^{\circ}C$	ICEV	2 max	mA
$V_{\rm CE} = 40$ V, $V_{\rm RE} = -1.5$ V, $T_{\rm C} = 150^{\circ}{\rm C}$	ICEV	10 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VEB = 5 V, Ic = 0)	IEBO	10 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Batio			
$(V_{cv} - 4 V I_c - 8 A)$	hee	15 to 60	
Power Boting Test (Ven $= 39$ V Ic $= 3$ mA)		1	s
Thermal Basistones, Junction to Case	0.0	15 may	$^{\circ}C/\tilde{W}$
Therman Resistance, sunction-to-Case	())-C	III0.A	J/ 11





30A, 150W

Si n-p-n type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material. This type is used in high-voltage applications in power-switching circuits, audio amplifiers, series and shunt regulators, drivers, and output stages, dc-to-dc converters, inverters, and solenoid (hammer)/relay driver service

in military, industrial, and commercial equipment. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage VCBO	140	v
Vice - 1 E V		
$V_{\text{DE}} \equiv -1.5 \text{ V}$ V_{CEV}	140	v
Base open Vceo	120	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	7	ý
Collector Current	10	Á
Peak Collector Currentic	<u>30</u>	Ä
Base Current	4	Ā
Peak Base Current	15	Ä
Transistor Dissipation:	10	••
Tc up to 25°C P_T	120	w
T _c above 25°C	See curve nage	300
Temperature Range:	bee carre page	000
Operating (Junction)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	-65 to 200	۰č
Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	230	۰č

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = 5 \text{ mA}$,			
1c = 0	V(BB)EBO	7 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$V_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 0.1 \text{ A to } 1.5 \text{ A}$	VCEX (SUS)	140 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = 0.2$ A to 3 A, $I_{\rm B} = 0$	VCEO (SUS)	120 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage ($Ic = 5 A$,			•
$I_{B} = 0.5 \text{ A}$)	Vce(sat)	1 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, Ic = 5 A)	VBE	2 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CE} = 120 V, V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	ICEV	2 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 120 V, I_B = 0, T_C = 150^{\circ}C$	ICEV	10 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 7 V$, $I_C = 0$)	IEBO	5 max	mA
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio	×1313(7	0 max	
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 5 A, t_p = 300 \mu s, f = 60 Hz)$	hre(pulsed)	15 to 60	
Power Rating Test (VCE = 80 V, IC = 1.5 A, $t = 1.5$)		120	w
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	A1-0	1 46 max	°C/W
	0.0-0	a	U / II





2N4348

2N3771

30A, 150W

Si n-p-n type with high collector-current rating (30 A max) for intermediate- and high-power applications such as public-address amplifiers, power supplies, and low-speed switching regulators and inverters. This type features a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.



MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	50	v
$V_{-n} = 15 V P_{-n} = 100 O$	Vanu	FO	37
$v_{BE} = -1.5$ V, $\kappa_{BE} = 100$ W	VCEV	30	<u>v</u>
Base open	VCEO	40	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	Vebo	5	v
Collector Current	Ic	30	A
Peak Collector Current	ic	30	v
Base Current	IB	7.5	ý
Transistor Dissipation:			•
Te up to 25°C	Рт	150	w
Te above 25°C	Рт	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	°C
Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TP	230	°Č

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$R_{BE} = 100 \Omega, Ic = 0.2 A$	VCER (SUS)	45	v
$V_{EB} = -1.5 V, I_{C} = 0.2 A$	Vcev (sus)	50	v
$V_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 0.3 \text{ A}, \text{ R}_{BE} = 100 \Omega$	VCEV (sus)	50 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = 0.2$ A, $I_{\rm B} = 0$	VCEO (SUS)	40 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_B = 1.5 A, I_C = 15 A, t_P = 300 \mu s,$			
f = 60 Hz)	Vce(sat)	2 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 15 A$,		_	
$t_P = 300 \ \mu s, f = 60 \ Hz$)	VBE	2.7 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CB} = 50 V, I_E = 0, T_C = 25^{\circ}C$	Ісво	2 max	mA
$V_{CB} = 30 V, I_E = 0, T_C = 150^{\circ}C$	Ісво	10 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 50 \text{ V}, V_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, T_{C} = 25^{\circ}C$	ICEV	2 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 30 V, V_{BE} = -1.5 V, T_{C} = 150^{\circ}C$	ICEV	10 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 30 \text{ V}, I_B = 0, T_C = 25^{\circ}C$	ICEO	10 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 5 V$, $I_C = 0$)	Iebo	5 max	mA
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 15 A, t_p = 300 \mu s,$			
f = 60 Hz	hrs(pulsed)	15 to 60	
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 1 A$)	fr	800	kHz
Power Rating Test (VCE = 33.5 V, Ic = 4.5 A, t = 1 s)		150	w
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	o1-c	1.17 max	°C/W





30A, 150W

Si n-p-n type with high collector-current rating (30 A max) for intermediate- and high-power applications such as public-address amplifiers, power supplies, and low-speed switching regulators and inverters. This type features a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. See Mountdesired mounting arrangement

ing Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	100	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	VCEV	90	v
Base open	VCEO	60	ý
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	7	Ý
Collector Current	Ic	20	Á
Peak Collector Current	ic	30	A
Base Current	IB	5	Ā
Transistor Dissipation:		-	
T _C up to 25°C	Рт	150	w
Tc above 25°C	ΡT	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T ₁ (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	Тята	-65 to 200	۰č
Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T _P	230	۰Č

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V, I_{C} = 0.3 A, R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$	Vcev (sus)	90 min	v
$V_{EB} = -1.5 V, I_{C} = 0.2 A$	VCEV (SUS)	80	v
$R_{BE} = 100 \Omega, I_{C} = 0.2 A$	Vcer (sus)	45	v
$I_{\rm C} = 0.2 \text{ A}, I_{\rm B} = 0$	Vceo (sus)	60 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_B = 1 A, I_C = 10 A, t_p = 300 \mu s,$			
f = 60 Hz)	Vcr(sat)	1.4 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 10 A$,			
$t_p = 300 \ \mu s, f = 60 \ Hz$)	VBE	2.2 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CB} = 100 V, I_E = 0, T_C = 25^{\circ}C$	Ісво	5 max	mA
$V_{CB} = 30 V, I_E = 0, T_C = 150^{\circ}C$	Ісво	10 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 100 \text{ V}, \text{ V}_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ T}_{C} = 25^{\circ}\text{C}$	ICEV	5 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 30 V, V_{BE} = -1.5 V, T_{C} = 150^{\circ}C$	ICEV	10 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 50 \text{ V}, I_B = 0, T_C = 25^{\circ}C$	ICEO	10 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 7 V$, $I_C = 0$)	IEBO	5 max	mA
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 10 A, t_P = 300 \mu s,$			
f = 60 Hz)	hrm (pulsed)	15 to 60	
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 1 A$)	fT	800	kHz
Power Rating Test ($V_{CE} = 33.5$ V, $I_C = 4.5$ A, $t = 1$ s)		150	w
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θ1-C	1.17 max	°C/W





415

2N3772

2N3773

30A, 150W

Si n-p-n type with high collector-current rating (30 A max) for intermediate- and high-power applications such as public-address amplifiers, power supplies, and low-speed switching regulators and inverters. This type features a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.



MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	160	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	VCEV	160	v
Base open	VCEO	140	Ý
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	7	Ý
Collector Current	Ic	16	A
Peak Collector Current	ic	30	Α
Base Current	Ів	4	Α
Transistor Dissipation:			
To up to 25°C	Рт	150	w
Tc above 25°C	PT	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	°C
Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TP	230	°Č

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Emitter	-to-Base	Breakdown	Voltage	(IE	=	5	mA,	
-								

$I_{\rm C} = 0$	V(BR)EBO	7 max	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$V_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}$, Ic = 0.1 to 1.5 A	VCEV (sus)	160 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = 0.2$ to 3 A, $I_{\rm B} = 0$	VCEO (SUS)	140 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_B = 0.8 \text{ A}, I_C = 8 \text{ A}, t_P = 300 \ \mu \text{s},$			
f = 60 Hz)	Vce(sat)	1.4 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 8 A$,			
$t_{\rm P} = 300 \ \mu {\rm s}, {\rm f} = 60 \ {\rm Hz}$	VBE	2.2 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CE} = 140 \text{ V}, \text{ V}_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ T}_{C} = 25^{\circ}\text{C}$	ICEV	2 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 140 \text{ V}, I_B = 0, T_C = 150^{\circ}C$	ICEV	10 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 120 \text{ V}, I_B = 0, T_C = 25^{\circ}C$	ICEO	2 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 7 V$, $I_C = 0$)	IEBO	5 max	mA
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 8 A, t_p = 300 \mu s,$			
f = 60 Hz)	hre(pulsed)	15 to 60	
Power Rating Test ($V_{CE} = 100$ V, $I_C = 1.5$ A, $t = 1$ s)		150	W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θı-c	1.17 max	°C/W





100A, 300W

2N5578



Si n-p-n type features a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material. It is used in highpower linear and switching applications in military, industrial, and commercial equipment. Outline No.55. For maximum operating area curves, refer to type 2N5575.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCBO	90	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:		20	•
$R_{BE} = 10 \Omega, V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	VCEX (SUS)	90	v
Base open	VCEO (SUS)	žŏ	- v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	8	- v
Collector Current	Ic	60	À
Peak Collector Current	ic	80	Ā
Base Current	In	15	Ā
Transistor Dissipation:			
Tc up to 25°C, Vce up to 25 V	Pт	300	w
To up to 25°C, Vor above 25 V	PT	See curve page	300
Tc above 25°C, VcE above 25 V	PT	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:	- •		
Operating (Junction)	T ₁ (opr)	-65 to 175	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	°Č
Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TP	230	°Č

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
Ic = 0.2 A	VCEO (SUS)	70 min	v
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$, $I_C = 0.2 A$, $R_{BE} = 10 \Omega$, base-emitter	. ,		
junction reverse biased	VCEX(sus)	90 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic= 40 A,			
$I_B = 4 V, t_F \le 350 \mu s, df = 0.02)$	VCE (sat)	1.5 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic \pm 40 A, I _B \pm			
$4 \text{ V}, \text{ t}_{P} \leq 350 \ \mu\text{s}, \text{ df} = 0.02)$	VBE(sat)	2.5 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 40 V$,			
$t_{\rm P} \leq 350 \ \mu {\rm s}, \ {\rm df} = 0.02)$	VBE	2.5 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CE} = 80$ V, $V_{BE} = -1.5$ V, base-emitter junction			
reverse biased	ICEV	10 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 70 \text{ V}, \text{ R}_{BE} = 10 \Omega$	ICER	5 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 80 \text{ V}, \text{ V}_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ T}_{C} = 150^{\circ}\text{C}, \text{ base-emitter}$			
junction reverse biased	ICEV	20 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 8 V$)	IEBO	10 max	mA
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 40 A, t_P \le 350 \mu s, df = 0.02)$	hff(pulsed)	10 to 40	
Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 10 \text{ V}$, $I_E = 0$)	Cobo	2000max	pF
Input Capacitance ($V_{EB} = 0.5 \text{ V}$, Ic = 0)	Cibo	4000 max	pF
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 10 A$)	fr	400 to 2000	kĤz

TYPICAL DC FORWARD-CURRENT TRANSFER- RATIO CHARACTERISTICS



Second-Breakdown Collector Current ($V_{CE} = 25 V$.			
non-repetitive pulse = 1 s, base forward biased)	Is/b	12 min	Α
Second Breakdown Energy (VBE = -1.5 V, Ic = 7 A,			_
$R_{BB} = 10 \Omega$, $L = 33 mH$, base reverse biased)	Es/b	0.8 min	J
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	01-C	0.5 max	°C/W

2N5579

100A, 300W

Si n-p-n type features a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material. It is used in highpower linear and switching applications in military, industrial, and commercial equipment. Outline No.56. This type is electrically identical to type 2N5578.

2N5580

100A, 300W

Si n-p-n type features a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material. It is used in highpower linear and switching applications in military, industrial, and commercial equipment. Outline No.57. This type is electrically identical to type 2N5578.

2N5575

100A, 300W

Si n-p-n type features a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material. It is used in highpower linear and switching applications in military, industrial, and commercial equipment. Outline No.55.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCBO	70	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$R_{BE} = 10 \ \Omega, \ V_{BE} = -1.5 \ V$	VCEX (SUS)	70	v
Base open	VCEO(SUS)	50	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	8	v
Collector Current	Ic	80	Α
Peak Collector Current	ic	100	Α
Base Current	IB	20	Α
Transistor Dissipation:			
Tc up to 25°C. Vce up to 25 V	Рт	300	w
Tc up to 25°C. Vcr above 25 V	Рт	See curve page	300
Tc above 25°C. Vcr above 25 V	PT	See curve page	300









Low- and Medium-Frequency Power Transistors

MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

Temperature Range: Operating (Junction) Storage Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Tı(opr) Tstg Tp	-65 to 175 -65 to 200 230	ာင္ သင့္
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $=$ 25°C)		
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage: Ic = 0.2 A	Vceo(sus)	50 min	v
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$, $I_C = 0.2 A$, $R_{BE} = 10 \Omega$, base-emitter junction reverse biased	VCEX (SUS)	70 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic = 60 A, $IB = 6$ A, $IF = 350 \ \mu$ S, df = 0.02)	VCE(sat)	2 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (I _c = 60 A, I _B = $_{6}$ 6 A, t _P = $_{350}$ µs, df = 0.02)	VBE(sat)	3 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (V _{CE} = 4 V, 1_C = 60 A, $t_P \leq 350 \ \mu s, df = 0.02$)	VBE	3 max	v
Collector-Curon Current: $V_{CE} = 60 V, V_{BE} = -1.5 V,$ base-emitter junction reverse biased	ICEV	10 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 50$ V, $V_{EE} = -10$ V, $T_{C} = 150^{\circ}$ C, base-emitter junction reverse biased Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 8$ V)	ICEV IEBO	20 max 10 max	mA mA
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio ($V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 60 A, I_P \leq 350 \mu_S, df = 0.02$) Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 10 V, I_E = 0$) Input Capacitance ($V_{EB} = 0.5 V, I_C = 0$)	hre (pulsed Cobo Cibo) 10 to 40 2000 max 4000 max	pF pF
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 10 A$) Second-Breakdown Collector Current ($V_{CE} = 25 V$,	fr	400 to 2000	kHz
non-repetitive pulse = 1 s, base forward biased) Second Breakdown Energy ($V_{BE} = -1.5$ V, $I_C = 7$ A,	Is/b	12 min	A
$R_{BE} = 10 \Omega$, L = 33 mH, base reverse biased) Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	Es/ь Өл-с	0.8 min 0.5 max	°C/W
MAXIMUM OPERATING AREAS			
TYPE 2N5575 CASE TEMPERATURE (T _C)=25°C			
)µ\$)µ\$ 23 18.2	PLIER	



100A, 300W

2N5576



Si n-p-n type features a base comprised of a homogeneous silicon material. It is used in high-power linear and switching applications in military, industrial, and commercial equipment. Outline No.56. This type is electrically identical with type 2N5575.

2N5577

100A, 300W

Si n-p-n type features a base comprised of a homogeneous silicon material. It is used in high-power linear and switching applications in military, industrial, and commercial equipment. Outline No.57. This type is electrically identical with type 2N5575.

P-N-P Power Types

2N4036

-1A, 7W

Si p-n-p double-diffused epitaxial planar type used in a wide variety of small-signal, medium-power, and high-speed saturated switching applications in military, industrial, and commercial equipment. The p-n-p construction permits complementary operation with a matching n-p-n type such as the 2N2102. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	90	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$V_{\rm BE} = 1.5 \ V$	VCEV (SUS)		v
$R_{BE} \leq 200 \Omega$	VCER(SUS)	85	Ý
Base open	VCEO (SUS)	65	Ý
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	-7	v
Collector Current	Ic	-1	Á
Base Current	IB	0.5	A
Transistor Dissipation:*			
T _A up to 25°C	Рт	1	w
Te up to 25°C	PT	7	Ŵ
TA or Tc above 25°C	PT	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T _I (opr)	65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	°Ĉ
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL	230	°Ĉ
* See curve for maximum pulse operating areas.	_		

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = 0.1 mA.			
$I_E = 0$)	V (BR) CBO	—90 min	V
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = -0.1 \text{ mA}$,			
Ic = 0)	V(BR)EBO	—7 min	V
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$V_{BE} = 1.5 V, I_{C} = -100 mA$	Vcev(sus)	—85 min	v
$R_{BE} \leq 200 \ \Omega, \ I_{C} = -100 \ mA$	VCER (SUS)	85 min	v
$Ic = -100 \text{ mA}, I_B = 0$	Vceo(sus)	—65 min	V
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = -150 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = -15 \text{ mA})$	Vcr(sat)	—0.65 max	V
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = -10$ V, Ic = -150 mA)	Vbe	1.1	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CB} = -60 V, I_E = 0$	Ісво	—0.02 max	μA
$V_{CE} = -30$ V, $I_B = 0$	ICEO	0.5 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = -5 V$, $I_C = 0$)	IEBO	0.02 max	μA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = -10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = -0.1 \text{ mA})$	hfE	20 min	
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{CE} = -10$ V, Ic = -150 mA, t _p = 300 μ s, df $\leq 2\%$	hre (pulsed)	40 to 140	
$V_{CE} = -10$ V, Ic = -500 mA, t _p = 300 μ s, df $\leq 2\%$	hrg(pulsed)	20 min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = -10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = -50 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 20 \text{ MHz})$	hre	3 min	_
Input Capacitance ($V_{EB} = -0.5 V$, Ic = 0)	Ciho	90 max	ph
Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = -10$ V, $I_E = 0$)	Cobo	30 max	pł
Saturated Switching Turn-On Time ($V_{CE} = -30$ V,			
$I_{\rm C} = -150$ mA, $I_{\rm B_1} = -15$ mA, $V_{\rm BB} \approx 4$ V)	ta 🕂 tr	110* max	n



Saturated Ic = -	Switching -150 mA, Ig.	Turn-Off Time ($V_{CE} = -30$ V, = 15 mA, VBB ≈ 4 V)	ta + te	700* max	ns
Thermal	Resistance,	Junction-to-Case	H1-C	25 max	°C/W
Thermal	Resistance,	Junction-to-Ambient	D1-C	165 max	°C/W

* This value does not apply to type 2N4314.



-1A. 7W

2N4037



Si p-n-p double-diffused epitaxial planar type used in a wide variety of small-signal, medium-power applications in military, industrial, and commercial equipment. The p-n-p construction permits complementary operation with a matching n-p-n type such as the 2N3053. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. For maximum operating and trans-

fer-ratio characteristics curves, refer to type 2N4036.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:	Vсво	60	v
$V_{BE} = 1.5 V$	VCEV (SUS)	60	v
$R_{BE} \leq 200 \ \Omega$	VCER (SUS)	60	v
Base open	VCEO (SUS)	40	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	7	v
Collector Current	Ic	1	A
Base Current	IB	-0.5	A
Transistor Dissipation:*			
T _A up to 25°C	Рт	1	w
Te up to 25°C	Рт	7	w
TA or Tc above 25°C	Рт	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	Tı(opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T_L	230	°C

* See curve for maximum pulse operating areas.

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = -0.1 mA.			
$I_E = 0$	V(BR)CBO	60 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (IE = -0.1 mA,			
Ic = 0	V(BR)EBO	7 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			v
$V_{BE} = 1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = -100 \text{ mA}$	VCEV (SUS)	—60 min	
$R_{BE} \leq 200 \Omega, Ic = -100 mA$	VCER(SUS)	—60 min	v
$I_{C} = -100 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = 0$	VCEO (SUS)	-40 min	v

Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = -150 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = -15 \text{ mA})$	Vce (sat)	—1.4 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CB} = -60 V_1 I_E = 0$	Ісво	-0.25 max	μA
$V_{\rm CE} = -30$ V, $I_{\rm B} = 0$	ICEO	$-5 \max$	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VEB $= -5$ V, Ic $= 0$)	IEBO	—1 max	μA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = -10 V, I_{C} = -1 mA)$	hfe	15 min	
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = -10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = -150 \text{ mA}, t_P = 300 \mu \text{s},$			
df $\leq 2\%$)	hff (pulsed)	50 to 250	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = -10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = -50 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 20 \text{ MHz})$	hre	3 min	-
Input Capacitance ($V_{EB} = -0.5 V$, Ic = 0)	Cibo	90 max	pr
Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = -10 V$, $I_E = 0$)	Cobo	30 max	pr
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	(9)-(*	25 max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	θì-v	165 max	°C/W
* This value does not apply to type 40391.			

2N4314

-1A, 7W

Si p-n-p double-diffused epitaxial planar type used in a wide variety of small-signal, medium-power applications in industrial and commercial applications. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. This type is identical to type 2N4036 except for the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
(Ic = -150 mA, IB = 15 mA)	Vce(sat)	—1.4 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage			
$(V_{CE} = -10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = -150 \text{ mA})$	VBE	—1.5 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:	_		
$V_{CB} = -60 V, I_E = 0$	ICBO	—0.25 max	μA
$V_{CE} = -30 V_1 I_B = 0$	ICEO	—5 max	μΑ
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = -5$ V, Ic = 0)	IEBO	—1 max	μA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = -10 V_1 I_C = -1 mA)$	hfe	15 min	
Pulsed Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = -10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = -150 \text{ mA}, \text{ tr} = 300 \mu \text{s}, \text{ df} < 2\%)$	hff(pulsed)	50 to 250	
•			

40391

-1A, 7W

Si p-n-p double-diffused epitaxial planar type with an attached heat radiator for printed-circuit-board use in a wide variety of small-signal, medium-power applications in military, industrial, and commercial equipment. JEDEC TO-5 (with heat radiator), Outline No.8. This type is identical with type 2N4037 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Transistor Dissipation : TA up to 25°C TA above 25°C	Pr Pr	3.5 W See curve page 300
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)		
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	θı−⊾	50 max °C/W



2 8

3

с.ня

£

Si p-n-p double-diffused epitaxial planar type used in a wide variety of small-signal, medium-power applications in military, industrial, and commercial equipment. JEDEC TO-5 (with flange), Outline No.6. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 2N4037 except for the fol-

Рт Рт

ing and linear-amplifier applications in military, industrial, and commercial equipment. P-N-P structure

lowing items:

MAX

Trans	sisto	r I	Dissipa	ition :
TA	up	to	25°Č	
TA	abo	ve	25°C	••

-1A. 10W

2N5415 Si p-n-p triple-diffused type used for high-speed switch-

1 See curve page 300

40394

permits complementary operation with a matching n-p-n type such as the 2N3440. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector Current	VCEO(SUS) VEBO IC IB	-200 -4 -1 -0.5	V V A A
Tc up to 25°C Tc Tc	Рт Рт Рт	10 See curve j 1 Derate at 6.7	W page 300 linearly mW/°C
Temperature Range: Operating (Junction) Storage Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Tı (opr) Tstg TL	-65 to 200 -65 to 200 255	2° 2° 2°



9255-371911

імим	RAT	INGS
sistor I)issipa	ation :
up to	25°C	



CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(Ic = -50 \text{ mA}, I_B = 0)$	Vceo(sus)	—200 min	v
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(V_{CE} = -10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = -50 \text{ V})$	VBE (sat)	—1.5 max	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(Ic = -50 \text{ mA}, I_B = 5 \text{ mA})$	Vcs(sat)	2.5 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:	_		
$V_{CE} = -150 \text{ V}, \text{ I}_{B} = 0$	ICEO	—50 max	μA
$V_{CE} = -200 \text{ V}, \text{ V}_{BE} = 1.5 \text{ V}$	ICEV	—50 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = -4 V$, $I_C = 0$)	Ієво	—20 max	μA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = -10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = -50 \text{ mA})$	hre	30 to 150	
Small-Signal, Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = -10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = -10 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = \text{MHz})$	hre	3 min	
Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = -10$ V, $I_E = 0$, $f = 1$ MHz)	Cobo	15 max	pF
Second-Breakdown Collector Current			
$(V_{CE} = -100 \text{ V}, \text{ base forward-biased})$	Is/b	—100 min	mA
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θı-c	17.5 max	°C/W



2N5416

-1A. 10W

Si p-n-p triple-diffused type used for high-speed switching linear-amplifier applications in military, industrial, and commercial equipment. P-N-P structure permits complementary operation with a matching n-p-n type such as the 2N3439. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.



Low- and Medium-Frequency Power Transistors

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:	Vсво	-350	v
Base open	VCEO (SUS) VCER (SUS) VRBO	300 350 6	V V A
Base Current		-1 -0.5	A W
Tc up to 25°C Tc above 25°C TA up to 50°C TA above 50°C	Рт Рт Рт Рт	10 See curve	W page 300 °C linearly
Temperature Range: Operating (Junction) Storage Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TJ (OPR) TSTG TL	at 6.7 -65 to 200 -65 to 200 255	mW/°C °C °C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
Base open	VCEO (SUS)	-300 min	v
$R_{BE} = 50 \Omega$	VCER (SUS)	-350 min	ý
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			-
$(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 50 \text{ mA})$	VBE(sat)	-1.5 max	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			•
$(Ic = -50 \text{ mA}, I_B = 5 \text{ mA})$	Vcr(sat)	-2 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:	(•
$V_{CE} = -250 \text{ V}, I_{B} = 0$	ICRO	-50 max	иA
$V_{CE} = -300 V, V_{BE} = 1.5 V$	ICEV	-50 max	"A
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VEB = -6 V, Ic = 0)	IEBO	-20 max	"A
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			,
$(V_{CB} = -10 V, I_{C} = 50 mA)$	hre	30 to 120	
Small-Signal, Forward-Current Transfer Ratio		00 10 100	
$(V_{CE} = -10 V, I_C = -10 mA, f = 5 MHz)$	hre	3 min	
Output Capacitance (V _{CB} = -10 V, I _E = 0, f = 1 MHz)	Coho	15 max	nF
Second-Breakdown Collector Current		20 111411	P-
$(V_{CE} = -100 \text{ V}, \text{ base forward-biased})$	Is/h	-100 min	mΔ
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	ALC	17 5	°C/30
	03-0	11.0	C/ W



Si p-n-p double-diffused epitaxial-planar type used for small-signal medium-power applications in military, industrial, and commercial equipment. The p-n-p construction permits complementary operation with a matching n-p-n type such as the 2N5320. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	-100	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			•
$V_{BE} = 1.5 V$	VCEV (SUS)	-100	v
$R_{BE} = 100 V$	VCER (SUS)	-90	v
Base open	VCEO (SUS)	-75	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VERO	-7	ý
Collector Current	Ic	-2	Å
Base Current	ĪB	1	Ä
Transistor Dissipation:		-	••
To up to 25°C	Рт	10	w
Tc above 25°C	PT	Derate 1	inearly
	- •	at 0.057	W/°Ć
Temperature Range:			, -
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	۰Ċ
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T_{l}	230	۰Ċ
			-
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)		
Emilian de Deve Developeres XV-14 e			

$(I_E = -0.1 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	VGRDEBO	-7 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage			•
$(V_{BE} = 1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = -0.1 \text{ mA}, \text{ Base-emitter})$			
reversed biased)	V(BR)CEV	—100 min	v

—2A, 10W

2N5322

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$I_{\rm C} = -100$ mA, $R_{\rm BE} = 100$ Ω	VCER (SUS)	—90 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = -100$ mA, $I_{\rm B} = 0$, base open	VCEO (SUS)	—75 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage	· ·		
$(I_{\rm C} = -500 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = -50 \text{ mA})$	VCE (sat)	—0.7 min	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (Ver = -4 V, Ie = -500 mA)	VBE	—1.1 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = -80$ V, $I_E = 0$)	ICRO	—0.5 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VEB $= -5$ V, Ic $= 0$)	IEBO	—0.1 max	μA
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{CE} = -4$ V, $I_C = -500$ mA, $I_P \le 300 \ \mu s$, $df \le 0.02$	hff(pulsed)	30 to 130	
$V_{CE} = -2 V$, $I_C = -1000 mA$, $t_P \le 300 \mu s$, $df \le 0.02$	hre(pulsed)	10 min	
Gain-Bandwidth Product (Ver = -4 V, Ie = -50 mA)	fT	50	MHz
Second-Breakdown Collector Current			
$(V_{CE} = -35 V, base forward-biased)$	Is/b	-285	mA
Turn-On Time (Vce = -30 V, Ic = -500 mA,			
$I_{\rm B} = -50 {\rm mA}$)	ta 🕂 tr	100 max	ns
Turn-Off Time (VCE = -30 V, VBE = -500 mA,			
$I_E = -50 \text{ mA}$)	ts + tr	1000 max	ns
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θJ-C	17.5 max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	HJ-A	150 max	°C/W

2N5323

-2A, 10W

Si p-n-p double-diffused epitaxial-planar type used for small-signal medium-power applications in military, industrial, and commercial equipment. The p-n-p construction permits complementary operation with a matching n-p-n type such as the 2N5321. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.



MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vebo	-75	v
	VCEV (SUS) VCER (SUS)	-75 -65	v v
Base open	VCEO (SUS)	-50	<u>v</u>
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	-5	v
Collector Current	Ic	-2	A
Base Current			
Transistor Dissipation:	IB	-1	A
Te up to 25°C	Рт	10	w
T _c above 25°C	PT	Derate lin at 0.057	early W/°C
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTO	-65 to 200	۰Ĉ
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Tr.	230	°Č

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$(I_E = -0.1 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	V(BR)EBO	—5 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage			
$(V_{BE} = 1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = -0.1 \text{ mA}, \text{ Base-emitter}$			
reverse biased)	V (BR) CEV	—75 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$Ic = -100 \text{ mA}, R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$	VCER(SUS)	—65 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = -100$ mÅ, base open	Vceo (sus)	—50 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = -500 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = -50 \text{ mA})$	VCE(sat)	—1.2 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{EB} = -4 V$, Ic = -500 mA)	VBE	—1.4 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current (VCB = -60 V, IE = 0)	Ісво	—5 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = -4 V$, Ic = 0)	IEBO	—0.5 max	μA
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = -4 V, I_C = -500 mA)$	hfe(pulsed)	40 to 250	
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = -4 V$, $I_C = -50 mA$)	fr	50 min	MHz
Second-Breakdown Collector Current			
$(V_{CE} = -35 \text{ V}, \text{ base forward-biased, non-repetitive})$			
pulse $= 1$ s)	Is/u	—285 min	mA
Turn-On Time ($V_{CE} = -30$ V, $I_{C} = -500$ mA,			
$I_B = -50 \text{ mA}$	ta 🕂 tr	100 max	ns
Turn-Off Time (Vcr = -30 V. Ic = -500 mA.			
$I_B = -50 \text{ mA}$	ts + tr	1000 max	ns
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	OJ-C	17.5 max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	θJ-A	150 max	°C/W
Incinial incoloration, Calibricity to			



-3.5A, 10W

2N5781

Si p-n-p diffused epitaxial-base type used in medium power switching and complementary-symmetry audio amplifier applications. This type and type 2N5784 form a complementary pair. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво		v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			•
$R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$	VCER (SUS)		v
Base open	VCEO (SUS)	-65	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	_5	v
Collector Current	Ic	-35	Å
Base Current	IB	1	Ä
Transistor Dissipation:		•	
Tc up to 25°C	PT	10	w
Tc above 25°C	PT Derate line	arly at 0.057	W/°C
T _A up to 25°C	Рт	1	"w
T _A above 25°C	PT Derate line	arlv at 0.0057	W/°C
Temperature Range:			, 0
Operating (Junction)	T ₁ (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TI.	230	•č
o i i i i i i i i i i		-00	0

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$I_{\rm C} = -0.1 ~\rm{A}$	VCEO (SUS)	-65 min	v
$R_{BE} = 100 \ \Omega, \ I_{C} = 0.1 \ A$	VCER (SUS)	-80 min	ý
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (VCE = -2 V,			•
Ic = -1 A	VRE	-1.5 max	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage.			•
Measured 0.25 in. from caset:			
$I_{\rm C} = -1$ A, $I_{\rm B} = -0.1$ A	VCE(sat)	$-0.5 \mathrm{max}$	v
$Ic = -3.2 A$, $I_B = -0.8 A$	VCE(sat)	$-2 \max$	ý
Collector-Cutoff Current:	,		•
$V_{CE} = -50 V$	ICEO	-100 max	μA
$R_{BE} = 100 \Omega, V_{CE} = -65 V$	ICER	-10 max	^µ A
$R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$, $V_{CE} = -65 V$, $T_{C} = 150^{\circ}C$	ICER	$-1 \max$	mA
$R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$, $V_{CE} = -75 V$, $V_{BE} = -1.5 V$.			
base-emitter junction reverse biased	ICEX	$-10 \max$	"А
$R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$, $V_{CE} = -75 V$, $V_{BE} = -1.5 V$,			
base-emitter junction biased, $Tc = 150$ °C	ICEX	-1 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = -5$)	IEBO	-10 max	"A
		20 man	p



Pulsed Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{CE} = -2 V$, $I_{C} = -1 A$, $t_{p} = 300 \mu s$,	h (90.4+ 100	
df = 0.018	nfr(puisea)	20 to 100	
$V_{CE} = -2$ V, $I_C = -3.2$ A, $I_P = 300$ µs, df = 0.018	hre(pulsed)	4 min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio (VCE = -2 V, IC = -0.1 A)	hre	25 min	
Magnitude of Small-Signal Forward-Current			
f = 4 MHz)	hre	2 to 15	
Turn-On Time (Vcc = -30 V, Ic = -1 A, I _{B1} = -0.1 A)	ta + tr	0.5 max	μS
Turn-Off Time (Vcc = -30 V, Ic = -1 A,	4 1 4 a	25 max	
$T_{B2} = -0.1 \text{ A}$ Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	ls + lr θj-c	17.5 max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	θj-A	175 max	°C/W

† Lead resistance is critical in this test.

▲ Measured at a frequency where |hfe| is decreasing at approximately 6 dB per octave.

2N5782

-3.5A, 10W

Si p-n-p diffused epitaxial-base type used in medium power switching and complementary-symmetry audio amplifier applications. This type and type 2N5785 form a complementary pair. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. For Maximum Operating Area curves, refer to type 2N5781.



MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collctor-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	-65	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining voltage:	VCER (SUS)	-65	v
Base open	VCEO(SUS)	50	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	-5	v
Collector Current	Ic		A
Base Current	Ів	1	A
Transistor Dissipation:	-	10	
Tc up to 25°C	Рт	10	W
T _C above 25°C	PT Derate I	inearly at 0.057	w/~C
T _A up to 25°C	PT		W N
T _A above 25°C	PT Derate in	nearly at 0.0057	w/*C
Temperature Range:	— / .	05 4 . 000	
Operating (Junction)	$\underline{\mathbf{T}}_{J}(\mathbf{opr})$	-65 to 200	-0
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	
Land Soldering Temperature (10 c max)	Tr	230	

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$I_{\rm C} = -0.1$ A	VCEO(SUS)	—50 min	v
$R_{RE} = 100 \text{ O}$ Ic = -0.1 A	VCER (SUS)		v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (VCE = -2 V.	(
$I_c = -12$ A)	VRE	—1.5 max	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
Moncured 0.25 in from caset:			
T_{-} 12 Λ T_{-} 012 Λ	Ver (sat)	-0.75 max	v
10 = -1.2 A, 18 = -0.12 A	Von(sat)	_2 max	v
$1C \equiv -3.2$ A, $1B \equiv -0.0$ A	VCE(Sat)	-L max	•
Conector-Cuton Current:	Tana	-100 max	<i></i> Δ
$V_{CE} = -35$ V	ICEO	-100 max	
$R_{BE} = 100 \Omega, V_{CE} = -50 V$	ICER	-10 max	μ Α
$R_{BE} = 100 \Omega, V_{CE} = -50 V, T_{C} = 150^{\circ}C$	ICER	$-1 \max$	mA
$R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$, $V_{BE} = -1.5 V$, $V_{CE} = -60 V$,	_		
base-emitter junction reverse-biased	ICEX	-10 max	μΑ
$R_{BE} = 100 \Omega, V_{BE} = -1.5 V, V_{CE} = -60 V,$			
$T_{\rm C} = 15^{\circ}$ C, base-emitter junction			
reverse-biased	ICEX	—1 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VEB = -5 V)	IEBO	—10 max	μΑ
Pulsed Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{CT} = -2 V$, $I_C = -1.2 A$	hee (pulsed)	20 to 100	
$V_{CE} = -2$ V. Ic = -3.2 A	hff(pulsed)	4 min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer	····		
Batio (Vcr $= -2$ V Jc $= -0.1$ A)	hre	25 min	
Magnitude of Small-Signal Forward-Current			
Transfer Potica (Ver2 V Ic01 A			
$f = A M H_{\alpha}$	lb eal	2 to 15	
I = 4 WITZ J	littel	21010	

Low- and Medium-Frequency Power Transistors

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Turn-On Time (Vcc = -30 V, Ic = -1 A,			
$I_{B1} = -0.1 A$	ta + tr	0.5 max	μs
Turn-Off Time (Vcc = -30 V, Ic = -1 A,			
$I_{B2} = -0.1 A$	ts + tr	2.5 max	μs
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	O1-C	17.5 max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	A-LO	175 max	°C/W

† Lead resistance is critical in this test.

A Measured at a frequency where $|h_{fe}|$ is decreasing at approximately 6 dB per octave.





-3.5A, 10W

2N5783

Si p-n-p diffused epitaxial-base type used in medium power switching and complementary-symmetry audio amplifier applications. This type and type 2N5786 form a complementary pair. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. For Maximum Operating Area curves, refer to type 2N5781.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	-45	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage: RBE = 100 Ω Base open Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector Current	VCER (SUS) VCEO (SUS) VEBO IC	-45 -40 -3.5 -3.5	V V V A
Transistor Dissingtion:	IB	-1	A
Tc up to 25°C Tc above 25°C Ta up to 25°C Ta above 25°C Ta above 25°C Ta above 25°C Temperature Range: Operating (Junction)	PT PT Derate linearly PT Derate linearly T ₁ (opr)	10 at 0.057 1 at 0.0057 	₩ ₩/℃ ₩/℃
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T _{STG}	-65 to 200	č
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperatur Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:	re = 25°C)	230	

Ic = -0.1 A R _{BE} = 100 Ω , Ic = -0.1 A Base-to-Emitter Voltage (Vce = -2 V	Vceo (sus) Vcer (sus)	—40 min —45 min	v v
$I_{\rm C} = -1.6$ A) Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage,	VBE	1.5 max	v
Ic = -1.6 A, IB = -0.16 A Ic = -3.2 A, IB = -0.8 A	Vce(sat) Vce(sat)	-1 max -2 max	v

Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{\rm CE} = -25 \ V$	ICEO	—100 max	μA
$R_{BE} = 100 \ \Omega, \ V_{CE} = -40 \ V$	ICEB	—10 max	μA
$R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$, $V_{CE} = -40 V$, $T_{C} = 150^{\circ}C$	ICER	—1 max	mA
$R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$, $V_{CE} = -45 V$, $V_{BE} = -1.5 V$,			
base-emitter junction reverse-biased	ICEX	—10 max	μA
$R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$, $V_{CE} = -45 V$, $V_{BE} = -1.5 V$,			
base-emitter junction reverse-biased,	_		
$Tc = 150^{\circ}C$	ICEX	$-1 \max$	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = -3.5 V$)	1EBO	-10 max	μA
Pulsed Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{CE} = -2 V$, $I_{C} = -1.6 A$	nFE (pulsed)	20 to 100	
$V_{CE} = -2$ V, $I_C = -3.2$ A	hre(pulsed)	4 min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer			
Ratio ($V_{CE} = -2 V$, $1_{C} = -0.1 A$)	n fe	25 min	
Magnitude of Small-Signal Forward-Current			
Transfer Ratio (VCE = -2 V, $1c = -0.1$ A,	line I	9 to 15	
$I = 4 \text{MHZ} \qquad \dots \qquad \dots \qquad \dots \qquad \dots \qquad \dots \qquad \dots \qquad \dots \qquad \dots \qquad \dots \qquad $	[[] fe]	2 10 15	
Turn-On Time (vcc = -30 v, $1c = -1$ A,	4.14	0.5 max	
$IB_1 \equiv -0.1 \text{ A}$	la 🕂 ir	0.5 max	μ5
Turn-On Time (vec = -30 v, $1c = -1$ A,	+ 1 +-	25 max	""
$IB_2 = -0.1 \text{ A}$		17.5 max	r/w
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	0	175 max	•č/w
merman Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	OJ-A	110 1110.	0/11

† Lead resistance is critical in this test.

• Measured at a frequency where $|h_{fe}|$ is decreasing at approximately 6 dB per octave.

2N5954 – 6A, 40W

Si p-n-p multiple-epitaxial, multiple diffused type used for switching applications in military, industrial and commercial equipment. JEDEC TO-66, Outline No.25. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.



MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво		v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:	Van	85	v
$V_{BE} \equiv 1.5 V, R_{BE} \equiv 100 M$	VCER	-80	v
Base open	VCEO	-75	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	-5	v
Collector Current	Ic	-6	v
Base Current	IB	-2	v


MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

Transistor Dissipation: Tc up to 25°C Tc above 25°C Рт P_T Derate linearly at 0.232 w∕°Ċ Temperature Range: T_J(opr) -65 to 200 -65 to 200 °C 2° Operating (Junction) TSTG Storage Pin-Soldering Temperature 235 Tr CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C) Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage: $I_C = -0.1 \ A \\ I_C = -0.1 \ A, \ R_{BE} = 100 \ \Omega \\ V_{BE} = 1.5 \ V, \ I_C = -0.1 \ A, \ R_{BE} = 100 \ \Omega,$ VCEO(SUS) -75 min VCER(SUS) -80 min v VCEX (SUS) -85 min v v VBE $-2 \max$ VCE(sat) $-1 \max$ v VCE(sat) $-2 \max$ v -100 max ICER шA ICER $-2 \max$ 'nΑ ICEX -100 max μA $\begin{array}{l} T_{C} = 150^{\circ}C \\ Collector-Cutoff Current (V_{CE} = -60 V) \\ mitter-Cutoff Current (V_{EB} = -5 V) \\ Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer \end{array}$ $-2 \max$ щA ICEX ICEO -1 maxmA -0.1 maxIEBO mA Ratio: $\begin{array}{l} \text{Ratto:} \\ \text{Vcc} = -4 \text{ V, Ic} = -2 \text{ A, t}_{p} = 300 \ \mu\text{s,} \\ \text{df} = 0.018 \\ \text{Vcc} = -4 \text{ V, Ic} = 6 \text{ A, t}_{p} = 300 \ \mu\text{s,} \\ \text{df} = 0.018 \\ \text{Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ra-} \\ \text{Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ra-} \\ \text{df} = -4 \text{ V, Ic} = -6 \text{ Corrent Transfer Ra-} \\ \text{df} = -4 \text{ V, Ic} = -6 \text{ Corrent Transfer Ra-} \\ \text{df} = -4 \text{ V, Ic} = -6 \text{ Corrent Transfer Ra-} \\ \text{df} = -6 \text{ Corrent Transfer Ra$ hff(pulsed) 20 to 100 5 min hff(pulsed) $(V_{CE} = -4 V, I_C = -0.5 A, f = 1)$ tio kHz) hre 25 min Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = -4 V$, Ic = -1 A 5 min MHz fт Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case 4.3 max °C/W A1-0

-6A, 40W

2N5955



Si p-n-p multiple-epitaxial, multiple diffused type used for switching applications in military, industrial and commercial equipment. JEDEC TO-66, Outline No.25. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. For Maximum Operating Area and Typical Saturation Characteristics curves, refer to type 2N5954.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	-70	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			
$V_{BE} = 1.5 V, R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$	VCEX	-70	v
$R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$	VCER	65	v
Base open	VCEO	-60	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	5	v
Collector Current	Ic	-6	v
Base Current	IB	-2	v
Transistor Dissipation:			
Tc up to 25°C	Рт	40	w
Tc above 25°C	PT Derate	linearly at 0.232	W/°C
Temperature Range:		-	•
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	°C
Pin-Soldering Temperature	TP	235	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
Ic = -0.1 A	VCEO (SUS)	—60 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = -0.1$ A, $R_{\rm BE} = 100 \ \Omega$	VCER (SUS)	-65 min	v

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

$V_{BE} = 1.5 V$, Ic = -0.1 A, Ref = 100 Ω .			
base-emitter junction reverse biased	VCEX (SUS)	~70 min	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (VCE = -4 V.			•
$I_{\rm C} = -2.5$ A, $t_{\rm P} = 300$ µs, df = 0.018)	VBE	-2 max	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage:			
$I_{\rm C} = -2.5$ A, $I_{\rm B} = -0.25$ A, $t_{\rm B} = 300$ µs,			
df = 0.018	VCE(sat)	$-1 \max$	v
$I_{C} = -6 A$, $I_{B} = -1.2 A$, $t_{P} = 300 \mu s$.			
df = 0.018	VCE(sat)	—2 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CE} = -55 \text{ V}, \text{ R}_{BE} = 100 \Omega$	ICER		μA
$V_{CE} = -55 \text{ V}, \text{ R}_{BE} = 100 \Omega, \text{ T}_{C} = 150^{\circ}\text{C} \dots$	ICER	—2 max	mA
$V_{CE} = -65 \text{ V}, \text{ V}_{BE} = 1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ R}_{BE} = 100 \Omega,$			
base-emitter junction reverse biased	ICEX	—100 max	$\mu \mathbf{A}$
$V_{CE} = -65 \text{ V}, \text{ V}_{BE} = 1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ R}_{BE} = 100 \Omega,$			
base-emitter junction reverse biased,		_	
$T_{\rm C} = 150^{\circ}C$	ICEX	-2 max	μA
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CE} = -45 V$)	ICEO	-1 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = -5 V$)	IEBO	0.1 max	mA
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer			
Ratio:			
$V_{CE} = -4$ V, Ic = -2.5 A, $t_p = 300 \ \mu s$,			
df = 0.018	hre(pulsed)	20 to 100	
$V_{CE} = -4 V$, $I_C = 6 A$, $t_p = 300 \mu s$,		F	
df = 0.018	hffe (pulsed)	5 min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer			
Ratio (VCE = -4 V, 1c = -0.5 A,	(N. 1	05	
f = 1 KHz	nfe	25 min	
Gain-Bandwidth Product (VCE = -4 V,	6	E main	MIT-
1C = -1 A	IT	5 min	WHZ
inermai Resistance, Junction-to-Case	647-6.	4.5 max	C/W

2N5956

-6A, 40W

Si p-n-p multiple-epitaxial, multiple diffused type used for switching applications in military, industrial and commercial equipment. JEDEC TO-66, Outline No.25. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. For Maximum Operating Area and Typical Saturation Characteristics curves, refer to type 2N5954.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCBO	-50	v
Van - 15 V Ray - 100 O	Veny	50	v
$R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$	VCER	-45	v
Base open	VCEO	-40	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	-5	v
Collector Current	Ic	-6	v
Base Current	IB	-2	v
Transistor Dissipation:			
Te up to 25°C	Рт	40	W
Tc above 25°C	Рт	Derate linearly at 0.232	W/°C
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	°C
Pin-Soldering Temperature	TP	235	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$I_{\rm C} = -0.1 ~\rm{A}$	VCEO(SUS)	-40 min	V
$I_{\rm C} = -0.1$ A, $R_{\rm BE} = 100 \ \Omega$	VCER(SUS)	—45 min	v
$V_{BE} = 1.5 V$, Ic = -0.1 A, R _{BE} = 100 Ω ,			
base-emitter junction reverse biased	VCEX(SUS)	—50 min	V
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (VCE = -4 V,			
$I_C = -3$ A, $I_P = 300$ µs, $df = 0.018$)	VBE	-2 max	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage:			
$I_{C} = -3$ A, $I_{B} = -0.3$ A, $t_{P} = 300$ μ s,			
df = 0.018	Vce(sat)	—1 max	v
$I_{\rm C} = -6$ A, $I_{\rm B} = -1.2$ A, $t_{\rm p} = 300$ μ s,			
df = 0.018	Vce(sat)	—2 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CE} = -35 V, R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$	ICER	-100 max	μA
$V_{CE} = -35 \text{ V}$, $R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$, $T_{C} = 150^{\circ} \text{C}$	ICER	—2 max	mA

	C.#	
	1	
(1	7	
2	<u> </u>	
ΞE	e	

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

$ \begin{array}{l} V_{\rm CE}=-45~V,~V_{\rm BE}=1.5~V,~R_{\rm BE}=100~\Omega,\\ {\rm base-emitter}~junction~reverse~biased~\\ V_{\rm CE}=-45~V,~V_{\rm BE}=1.5~V,~R_{\rm BE}=100~\Omega, \end{array} $	ICEX	—100 max	μA
base-emitter junction reverse biased, $T_{C} = 150^{\circ}C$ Collector-Cutoff Current (V _{CE} = -25 V) Emitter-Cutoff Current (V _{EB} = -5 V) Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer	ICEX ICEO IEBO	-2 max -1 max -0.1 max	μA mA mA
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	hff(pulsed)	20 to 100	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio ($V_{CE} = -4 V$, $I_C = -0.5 A$, f = 1 kHz) Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = -4 V$, $I_C = -1 A$)	hFE fr	25 min 5 min	MHz
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θJ-C	4.3 max	°C/W

High-Voltage N-P-N Power Types

1A, 10W

2N3439



Si n-p-n triple-diffused type used in high-speedswitching and linear-amplifier applications, such as high-voltage differential and operational amplifiers, high-voltage inverters, and series regulators for industrial and military applications. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

Collector-to-Base Voltage	450	v
Collector-to-Emitier Sustaining Voltage VCEO (sus	350	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage VEBO	7	v
Collector Current Ic	1	A
Base Current IB	0.5	Α
Transistor Dissipation:		
T_A up to 50°C P_T	1•	w
Tc up to 25° C P _T	10	w
T _A above 25°C P _T	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:		
Operating (Junction)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage Tstg	-65 to 200	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max) TL	255	°C





CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 50 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 0)$	VCEO(SUS)	350 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 50 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 4 \text{ mA})$	Vce(sat)	0.5 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_{C} = 50 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = 4 \text{ mA})$	Vbe(sat)	1.3 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CE} = 300 V, I_B = 0$	ICEO	20 max	μA
$V_{\rm CE} = 450 {\rm V}, {\rm V}_{\rm BE} = -1.5 {\rm V}$	ICEV	500 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 6$ V, Ic = 0)	IEBO	20 max	μA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{\rm CE} = 10 {\rm V}, {\rm Ic} = 20 {\rm mA}$	hfe	40 to 160	
$V_{\rm CE} = 10$ V, $I_{\rm C} = 2$ mA	hfe	30* min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 10 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 5 \text{ MHz})$	hre	3 min	
Second-Breakdown Current, Safe Operating			
Region ($V_{CE} = 200 \text{ V}$)	Is/b	50 min	mA
Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 10 V$, $I_E = 0$,			_
f = 1 MHz)	Cobo	10 max	pF
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θ 1-c	17.5 max	°C/W
* This value does not apply to type 2N2440			

This value does not apply to type 2N3440.
 This value does not apply to types 2N4063 and 2N4064.





2N3440

1A, 10W

Si n-p-n triple-diffused type used in high-speedswitching and linear-amplifier applications such as high-voltage differential and operational amplifiers, high-voltage inverters, and series regulators for industrial and military applications. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. This type is identical with type 2N3439 except for the following items:



Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	300	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:	Very	300	v
Base open (sustaining voltage)	VCEO(SUS)	250	Ý
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C))		
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage (Ic = 50 mA , Is = 0)	Vceo(sus)	250	v
Collector-Cutoff Current: $V_{CE} = 200 \text{ V}, \text{ I}_{B} = 0$	ICEO	50 max	μA
$V_{CE} = 300 \text{ V}, \text{ V}_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}$	ICEV	ou max	μA

1A. 10W

Si n-p-n triple-diffused type used in high-speedswitching and linear-amplifier applications, such as high-voltage differential and operational amplifiers, high-voltage inverters, and series regulators for industrial and military applications. JEDEC TO-5 (with flange), Outline No.6. See Mounting Hardware for de-

sired mounting arrangement. This type is electrically identical with type 2N3439.

1A. 10W

Si n-p-n triple diffused type used in high-speedswitching and linear-amplifier applications, such as high-voltage differential and operational amplifiers, high-voltage inverters, and series regulators for industrial and military applications. JEDEC TO-5 (with flange), Outline No.6. See Mounting Hardware for de-

sired mounting arrangement. This type is electrically identical with type 2N3440.

1A. 10W

Si n-p-n triple-diffused planar type used in low-power. high-voltage, general-purpose applications in military. industrial, and commercial equipment. This type is particularly useful in neon-indicator driver circuits and in high-voltage differential and high-voltage operational amplifiers. JEDEC TO-5. Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Voltage (RBE = 1000 Ω)	VCER(SUS)	175	v
Collector Current	Ic	1	A
Base Current	IB	0.5	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
T _A up to 50°C	Рт	1*	w
To up to 25°C	Рт	10*	w
TA and Tc above 50°C	Рт	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (TA-Tc)		-65 to 200	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage $(R_{BE} = 1000 \ \Omega, I_{C} = 50 \ mA)$



VCER(SUS) 175 min



v



2N4063

2N4064

40346





(2)⁸



(2)⁸

(T

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage $(I_{R} = 1 \text{ mA} I_{C} = 10 \text{ mA})$	Vcr(sat)	0.5 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_C = 10$ mA)	VBE	1 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{\rm CE} = 100 {\rm V}, {\rm I}_{\rm B} = 0$	ICEO	5 max	μA
$V_{CE} = 200 \text{ V}, \text{ V}_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ Tc} = 25^{\circ}\text{C}$	ICEV	10 max	μA
$V_{CE} = 200 V$, $V_{BE} = -1.5 V$, $T_{C} = 150^{\circ}C$	ICEV	1 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 4 V$, $I_C = 0$)	IEBO	5 max	μA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 10 \text{ mA})$	hfe	25 min	
Small-Signal, Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 10 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 5 \text{ MHz})$	hre	2 min	
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θJ-C	15* max	°C/W

* This value does not apply to type 40346V1.

40346V1 1A, 10W

Si n-p-n triple-diffused type used in high-voltage switching and linear-amplifier applications in military and commercial applications. This type is particularly useful in neon-indicator driver circuits and in differential and operational amplifiers. JEDEC TO-5 (with heat radiator), Outline No.8. This type is identical to type 40346 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Transist	or Dissip	ation:	_
T₄ up	to 25°C		Рт

CHARACTERISTICS

Thermal Resistance,	Junction-to-Ambient		θj-a	
---------------------	---------------------	--	------	--

40346V2

1A, 10W

Si n-p-n triple-diffused type used in high-voltage switching and linear-amplifier applications in military and commercial applications. This type is particularly useful in neon-indicator driver circuits and in differential and operational amplifiers. JEDEC TO-5 (with flange), Outline No.6. See Mounting Hardware for desired

mounting arrangement. This type is electrically identical with type 40346.

40385

1A, 10W

Si n-p-n triple-diffused type subjected to special preconditioning and reliability tests for high-reliability operation in high-power switching and amplifier applications in military and industrial equipment. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. This type is a high-reliability version of type 2N3439.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCBO	450
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage	VCEO	350
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	7
Collector Current	Ic	1
Transistor Dissipation:		
TA up to 25°C	Рт	1
Tc up to 25°C	Рт	5
TA or Tc above 25°C	Рт	See curve
Temperature Range:		
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 200
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL	255



w

V V A W page 300

°C/W



45 max





CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25° C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage (Ic = 50 mA .			
$\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{B}} = 0 $	Vcro(sus)	350 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage ($I_c = 50 \text{ mA}$,			•
$I_{B} = 4 \text{ mA}$	Vcr(sat)	0.5 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage ($I_c = 50 \text{ mA}$,			
$I_B = 4 \text{ mA}$	Vвв(sat)	1.3 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:	_		
VCE = 300 V, IB = 0	ICEO	20 max	μA
VCE = 450 V, VBE = -1.5 V	ICEV	500 max	μΑ
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VEB = 6 V, $Ic = 0$)	IEBO	20 max	μΑ.
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{CE} = 10 V, 1c = 20 mA$	hfe	40 to 160	
$v_{CE} = 10 v, 1c = 2 mA$	hfe	30 min	



1A, 10W

Si n-p-n triple-diffused type with an attached heat radiator for printed-circuit-board use in high-speed switching and linear amplifier applications such as high-voltage differential and operational amplifiers, high-voltage inverters, and series regulators for industrial and military applications. JEDEC TO-5 (with

heat radiator), Outline No.8. This type is identical with type 2N3440 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Trans	sistor D	issipa	tion:
TA	up to	25°C	•••••
T▲	above	25°C	

9		



1A, 10W

......

Si n-p-n triple-diffused type used in high-voltage switching and linear-amplifier applications in military and commercial applications. This type is particularly useful in neon-indicator driver circuits and in differential and operational amplifiers. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

Рт Рт

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(R_{BE} = 10000 \Omega)$	VCER (SUS)	250	v
Collector Current	Ic	1	Å
Base Current	Īn	0.5	Ä
Transistor Dissipation:		0.0	
Tc up to 25°C	PT	10 •	w
T _A up to 50°C	Pr	1.	ŵ
Temperature Range:		• ·	
Operating (Junction)	Tr (opr)	-65 to 200	•0
obergere (egrector)	T1(obi)	-00 10 200	v

COLLECTOR MILLIAMPERES (IC)

0.01 <u>0.2</u>

0.3

0.4



TYPICAL TRANSFER CHARACTERISTICS												
10 ²	Τ α Ε	PE	404 ECTO ER	NR-T	ν TS		Þ	25		دی دی	2	
10 g		CE			Z				₹. •}			
2 1.0 a			7	/			4		É			
2			Ł				~/					

0.5

BASE-TO-EMITTER VOLTS (VBE)

0.6 0.7 O.A

92CS-126/9T

3.5

See curve page 300

40412

40390

437

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25° C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(R_{BE} = 10000 \ \Omega, I_C = 50 \ mA)$	VCER (SUS)	250 min	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$R_{BE} = 10000 \Omega, V_{CE} = 100 V$	ICER	1 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 150 \text{ V}, \text{ V}_{EB} = 1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ T}_{C} = 150^{\circ}\text{C}$	ICEV	2 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 3 V$, $I_C = 0$)	IEBO	100 max	μA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio ($V_{CE} = 20$ V,			
$I_{\rm C} = 30 \text{mA}$)	hre	40 min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 10 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 5 \text{ MHz})$	hre	2 min	
Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 10 V_{c}$			
$I_{\rm E} = 0, f = 1 \text{MHz}$	Cobo	10 max	pF
Second-Breakdown Collector Current ($V_{CE} = 200 \text{ V}$)	Is/b	50 min	mA
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θ1-C	15 * max	°C/W
+ This walks door not apply to turns (0/1937)			

This value does not apply to type 4041;
 This value applies only for type 40412.

40412V1 1A. 10W

Si n-p-n triple-diffused type used in high-voltage switching and linear-amplifier applications in military and commercial applications. This type is particularly useful in neon-indicator driver circuits and in differential and operational amplifiers. JEDEC TO-5 (with heat radiator), Outline No.8. This type is electrically identical with type 40412 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Transistor	Dissipation	(T ▲	up	to	25°C)	·····	Рт
CHARACI	FERISTICS						

Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient OJ-A

40412V2 Si n-p-n triple-diffused type used in high-voltage switching and linear-amplifier applications in military and commercial applcations. This type is particularly useful in neon-indicator driver circuits and in differential and operational amplifiers. JEDEC TO-5 (with flange),

Outline No.6. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is electrically identical with type 40412.

2A. 35W

2N3583

Si n-p-n triple-diffused type used in high-speedswitching and linear-amplifier applications such as highvoltage operational amplifiers, high-voltage switches, switching regulators, converters, inverters, deflection and high-fidelity amplifiers in military, industrial and commercial equipment. JEDEC TO-66, Outline No.25.

See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	250 V
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage	VCEO (SUS)) 175 V
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	6 V
Collector Current	Ic	2 A
Peak Collector Current	ic	5 A
Base Current	IB	1 A
Transistor Dissipation	Рт	See Chart, Maximum
•		DC Operating Areas
Operating Temperature Range	Tc(opr)	-65 to 200 °C
Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TP	255 °C

1A. 10W



45 max





°C/W

w



CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$I_{\rm C} = 200 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 0$	VCEO(SUS)	175 min	v
$R_{BE} = 50 \Omega, I_{C} = 200 mA$	VCER (SUS)	250 min	ý
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (Ic = 1 A, $V_{CE} = 10$ V)	VRE	1.4 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			•
$V_{CE} = 150 \text{ V}, I_B = 0, T_C = 25^{\circ}C$	ICEO	10 max	mA
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V, V_{CE} = 225 V, T_{C} = 25^{\circ}C$	ICEY	1 max	mA
$V_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ Vce} = 225 \text{ V}, \text{ Tc} = 150^{\circ}\text{C}$	ICEY	3 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 6 V$, Ic = 0)	IEBO	5 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:		•	
$V_{CE} = 10$ V, Ic = 100 mA	hre	40 min	
$V_{CE} = 10 V, I_C = 1 A$	hre	10 min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 10 V, I_C = 200 mA, f = 5 MHz)$	hre	3 min	
Second-Breakdown Collector Current (Base forward-			
biased from zero up, $V_{CE} = 100 \text{ V}$	Is/b	350 min	mA
Second-Breakdown Energy (Base reverse-biased,			
$R_{BE} = 20 \Omega, L = 100 \mu H, V_{BE} = -4 V$	Es/b	50 min	μJ
Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 10$ V, $I_E = 0$,			• -
f = 1 MHz	Cobo	120 max	pF
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case $(I_c = 500 \text{ mA})$	θı-c	5* max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	θj-a	70 max	°C/W
# White mathematical states in the second			

* This value does not apply to type 40374.





2A, 35W

2N3584



Si n-p-n triple-diffused type used in high-speedswitching and linear-amplifier applications such as highvoltage operational amplifiers, high-voltage switches, switching regulators, converters, inverters, deflection and high-fidelity amplifiers in military, industrial and commercial equipment. JEDEC TO-66, Outline No.25. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. For Maximum DC Operating Areas Chart, refer to type 2N3583.

Collector-to-Base Voltage Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector Current Peak Collector Current Base Current Transistor Dissipation	VCBO VCEO (SUS) VEBO IC ic IB PT	375 250 6 2 5 1 See Chart, Ma DC Operation	V V A A A ximum g Areas
Operating Temperature Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Tc(opr) Tp	65 to 200 255	°C °C
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25$ °C))		
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Vceo (sus) Vcer (sus)	250 min 300 min	v
$(I_C = 1 A, V_{CE} = 10 V)$ Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (I _C = 1 A, I _B = 125 mA)	VBE Vce(sat)	1.4 max 0.75 max	v V V
	ICEO ICEV ICEV IEBO	5 max 1 max 3 max 0.5 max	mA mA mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio: $V_{CE} = 10 V, I_C = 1 A$ $V_{CE} = 10 V, I_C = 100 mA$ Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio	hfe hfe	25 to 100 40 min	
$(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 200 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 5 \text{ MHz})$ Second-Breakdown Collector Current (Base forward- biased from zero up, VcE = 100 V)	hre Is/e	3 min 350 min	mA
Second-Breakdown Energy (Base reverse-blased, $R_{BE} = 20 \Omega, L = 100 \mu H, V_{BE} = -4 V$)	Es/b	200 min	μJ
$(V_{CB} = 10 V, I_E = 0, f = 1 MHz)$ Turn-On Time, Saturated Switch (Vcc = 30 V,	Сово	120 max	pF
$I_C = 1$ A, $I_B = 100$ mA) Storage Time ($V_{CC} = 30$ V, $I_C = 1$ A, $I_B = 100$ mA) Fall Time ($V_{CC} = 30$ V, $I_C = 1$ A $I_B = 100$ mA)	ta + tr ts tr	3 max 4 max 3 max	μS μS μS
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case $(Ic = 500 \text{ mA})$	Өл-с	5 max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient $(Ic = 500 \text{ mA})$	A -tθ	70 max	°C/W



TYPICAL TURN-ON TIME AND FALL-TIME CHARACTERISTICS



2A, 35W

2N3585



Si n-p-n triple-diffused type used in high-speedswitching and linear-amplifier applications such as highvoltage operational amplifiers, high-voltage switches, switching regulators, converters, inverters, deflection and high-fidelity amplifiers in military, industrial and commercial equipment. JEDEC TO-66, Outline No.25.

See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 2N3584 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vcb0 Vceo (sus)	500 300	vv
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)		
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage: $I_C = 200 \text{ mA}, I_B = 0$ $R_{BE} = 50 \Omega, I_C = 200 \text{ mA}$	Vceo (sus) Vcer (sus)	300 min 400 min	v
$(V_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, V_{CE} = 400 \text{ V}, T_{C} = 25^{\circ}\text{C})$	ICEV	1 max	mA
The function find, saturated Switch ($v_{CC} = 30$ V, Ic = 1 A, IB = 100 mA)	ta + tr	2* max	μs

2A, 35W

2N4240



Si n-p-n triple-diffused type used in high voltage, highspeed-switching and linear-amplifier applications such as operational amplifiers, switching regulators, converters, inverters, deflection and high-fidelity amplifiers. JEDEC TO-66, Outline No.25. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type

is identical with type 2N3585 except for the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 750 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 75 \text{ mA})$	VBE(sat)	1 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{\rm CE} = 150 V, I_{\rm B} = 0 $	ICEO	5 max	mA
$V_{\rm CE} = 400 {\rm V}, {\rm V}_{\rm BE} = -1.5 {\rm V}$	ICEV	2 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 300 \text{ V}, V_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, T_{C} = 150^{\circ}C$	ICEV	5 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio ($V_{CE} = 10 V$.		-	
Ic = 750 mA)	hrs	30 to 150	
Second Breakdown Energy (RBE = 20 O, L = 100 μ H.			
$V_{BE} = -4 V$	Es/h	50 min	uJ
			24



2A. 35W

40374

Si n-p-n triple-diffused type with an attached radiator for printed-circuit-board use in high-speed switching and linear amplifier applications such as high-voltage operational amplifiers, high-voltage switches, switching regulators, converters, inverters, deflection and highfidelity amplifiers in military, industrial, and commer-

cial equipment. JEDEC TO-66 (with heat radiator), Outline No.26. This type is identical with type 2N3583 except for the following item:

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature \pm 25°C)

2N5239

5A, 100W

Si n-p-n multiple epitaxial type used for high-voltage, high-power in linear applications in industrial and commercial service. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCBO	330	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:	Verse (SUS)	250	v
$RBE \simeq 50\Omega$	VCEO (SUS)	225	ý
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	6	v
Collector Current	Te.	ə	A
Transistor Dissipation:	Pr	100	w
Tc and T _A up to 25° C and VrE above 150 V	Pr	See curve pag See Rating	e 300 Chart
To and TA above 25 C and Vie above 150 V	• •		
Operating (Junction)	T.I (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	°C
Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	$\mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{P}}$	230	¢

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:	77 . (005 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = 0.1 \text{ A}, I_{\rm B} = 0$	VCEO(SUS)	225 min	v
$I_C = 0.1 \text{ A}, I_B = 0, R_{BE} = 50 \Omega$	VERCSUS/	6 min	v
Emiller-to-base voltage (IB = 0.02 II)			





30 max

°C/W

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Base-to-Emitter Voltage		
$(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 2 \text{ A}, \text{ tr} \leq 350 \text{ \mu}\text{s}, \text{ df} = 2^{\circ}\text{/})$	3 max	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage	0 max	•
$(I_{\rm C} = 2 \text{ A}, I_{\rm B} = 0.25 \text{ A}, t_{\rm P} \leq 350 \mu\text{s}, df = 2\%)$ V(E (sat) 2.5 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:	,	
$V_{CE} = 200 V, I_B = 0$	5 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 300 \text{ V}, V_{RE} = -1.5 \text{ V}$	4 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 300 \text{ V}, V_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, T_{C} = 150^{\circ}C$ I_{CEV}	5 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 5 V$, $I_{C} = 0$) I_{EBO}	5 max	mA
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:		
$V_{CE} = 10 V_{1} I_{C} = 0.4 A_{2} t_{P} \leq 350 \mu s_{1} df = 2\% \dots h_{FE}(pull)$	sed) 20 to 80	
$V_{CE} = 10 V$, $I_{C} = 2 A$, $t_{P} \leq 350 \mu s$, $df = 2\%$	sed) 20 min	
Output Capacitance (V _{CB} = 10 V, $I_C = 0$, $f = 1$ MHz) C _{obo}	150 max	pF
Second-Breakdown Collector Current ($V_{CE} = 150 V$,		•
non-repetitive pulse = 1 s, base forward-biased) $I_{s/b}$	0.67 min	A
Second-Breakdown Energy ($V_{EB} = 4 V$, $I_{C} = 4 A$,		
$R_B = 50 \Omega, L = 0.5 mH$, base reverse-biased) $E_{s/b}$	4 min	mJ
Gain-Bandwidth Product (Ver. = 10 V, $Ie = 0.2$ A,		
$f = 1$ MHz) f_T	5 min	MHz
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	1.75 max	°C/W

5A, 100W





Si n-p-n multiple epitaxial type used for high-voltage, h gh-power in linear applications in industrial and commercial service. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 2N5239 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vebo	375	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:	Vana (cuc)	350	v
$R_{BE} \approx 50 \ \Omega$	VCER(SUS)	300	v

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$I_{\rm C} = 0.1$ A, $I_{\rm B} = 0$	VCEO (SUS)	300	V.
$I_{\rm C}$ = 0.1 A, $I_{\rm B}$ = 0, $R_{\rm BE}$ = 50 Ω	VCER(SUS)	350	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CE} = 200 \text{ V}, \text{ I}_{B} = 0$	ICEO	2 max	mA
$V_{\rm CE} = 375 {\rm V}, {\rm V}_{\rm BE} = -1.5 {\rm V}$	ICEV	2 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 300 \text{ V}, V_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, T_{C} = 150^{\circ}\text{C}$	ICEV	3 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VEB = 5 V, $Ic = 0$)	IEBO	1 max	mA



5A, 100W

2N5838

Si n-p-n multiple epitaxial type used in inverters, deflection circuits, switching regulators, high-voltage bridge amplifiers, ignition circuits, and other high voltage switching applications. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCBO	275	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:	V(E)(SUS)	250	v
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	VCEV(SUS)	275	V
$R_{BE} \leq 50 \Omega$	VCER(SUS)	275	v
Collector Current	Ic	3	Á
Peak Collector Current	ic	5	A
Base Current	IB	1.0	A

MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	PT 1 PT See Rating Cha PT See Rating Cha and curve page 3	00 W irt irt 00
Temperature Range: Operating (Junction) Storage Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	$\begin{array}{ccc} T_{\rm J}({\rm opr}) & -65\ {\rm to}\ 2\\ T_{\rm STG} & -65\ {\rm to}\ 2\\ T_{\rm P} & 2\end{array}$	00 °C 00 °C 30 °C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage: $I_C = 0.2 A$, $t_p \leq 350 \mu s$, $df = 2\%$ $I_c = 0.2 A$, $t_p = 0.1 A$, here without investigation	VCEO (SUS)	250 min	v
$v_{BE} \equiv -1.5 v$, $10 = 0.1 A$, base-emitter junction reverse-biased $t_{\rm e} \leq 350 \ \mu s$ df $= 2\%$	VCEY (SUS)	275 min	v
$L_{c} = 0.2 \text{ A } B_{RE} = 50 \text{ O} \text{ tr} \leq 350 \text{ us} \text{ df} = 2\%$	VCER (SUS)	275 min	ý
Emitter-to-Base Voltage $(I_c = 0.02 \text{ A})$	VEBO	6 min	ý
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage		_	
$(I_{\rm C} = 3 \text{ A}, I_{\rm B} = 0.375 \text{ A})$	VBE(sat)	2 max	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(Ic = 3 A, I_B = 0.375 A)$	Vce(sat)	1 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CE} = 200 V$	ICEO	2 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 265 \text{ V}, \text{ V}_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ base-emitter junction}$	-	-	
reverse biased	ICEV	5 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 265 \text{ V}, \text{ V}_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ base-emitter junction}$	-	0	
reverse blased, $Tc = 100^{\circ}C$	ICEV	8 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 6 V$)	1EBO	1 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:	1	0 0 i	
$V_{CE} = 5 V, 1c = 0.5 A$	NFE	20 min	
$V_{CE} = 2 V, 1c = 3 A$	NFE	8 to 40	
Magnitude of Small-Signal Forward-Current			
Transfer Ratio (VCE = 10 V, $1C = 0.2$ A,	De la t	F main	
I = I MHZ	[llfe]	5 mm	
Output Capacitance ($V_{EB} = 10$ V, $I_E = 0$,	0	150	
I = I MHZ	Cobo	150 max	pr
Second-Breakdown Conector Current ($VCE = 40$ V,	* /	0.5	
non-repetitive pulse $= 1$ s, base forward blased)	18/6	2.5 min	A
Second-Breakdown Energy ($v_{BE} = -4 v$,	E (0.45	
$R_B = 50 \Omega$, $L = 100 \mu$ H, base reverse blased)	ES/b	0.45 min	mJ
Delay Time (VCC = 200 V, $1C = 3$ A, $1B_1 = 1B_2$		0.00	-
$\equiv 0.375 \text{ A}$	id.	0.06	μs
Also time ($VCC = 200 V$, $IC = 3 A$, $IB1 = IB2$	•	0.9 trou 1 E more	_
= 0.373 A	lr	0.8 typ; 1.5 max	μs
Storage line (VCC = 200 V, $1C = 3$ A, $1B1 = 1B2$	•	1 tom 2 more	
= 0.575 A Fall Time (Vac = 200 V La = 2 A La = La	la	T typ; 5 max	μs
-0.375 (v(c) -200 v, 10 -3 A, 181 -182	+.	0.4 turn : 1.5 may	
Thermal Resistance Junction-to-Case	e1	o.a typ, 1.5 max	μs
$(V_{CE} - 10 \text{ V} \text{ Ic} - 5 \text{ A})$	A1 (1 75 max	°C /W
$(\mathbf{reg} = \mathbf{re} \mathbf{r}, \mathbf{re} = \mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r})$	04-0	1.15 max	C/ W





Si n-p-n multiple epitaxial type used in inverters, deflection circuits, switching regulators, high-voltage bridge amplifiers, ignition circuits and other high-voltage switching applications. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 2N5838 except

for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Vсво	300	v
		•
VCEO (SUS) 275	v
VCEV (SUS) 300	v
VCER (SUS) 300	v
25°C)		
-•		
Vano (sue	075	
A GEO (SUS	$275 \mathrm{min}$	v
\$7		
VCEX(SUS) 300 min	v
V ('ER (SUS) 300 min	v
VBE(Sat)	2 max	v
-		
Vce(sat)	1.5	v
		•
ICEO	2 max	mA
ICEV	2 max	mΑ
	5 max	IIIA
ICEV	5 max	A
-001	Jinax	mA
hee	20 min	
hee	10 to 50	
14F E4	10 10 30	
+.	0.07	
La	0.07	μs
lr.	0.6 typ; 1.5 max	μs
τ. 1	75 typ; 3.75 max	μS
lr.	0.35 typ; 1.5 max	μS
	VCB0 VCE0 (SUS VCEV (SUS VCER (SUS 25°C) VCE0 (SUS VCER (SUS VCER (SUS VCER (SUS VCER (SUS VCER (SUS VCE (SUS V	VCBO 300 VCEO (SUS) VCER (SUS) 275 300 25°C) 300 25°C) 275 min VCEO (SUS) 275 min VCEO (SUS) 300 min VCEX (SUS) 300 min VCEX (SUS) 300 min VCEX (SUS) 2 max VCE (sat) 1.5 ICEO 2 max ICEV 2 max ICEV 2 max ICEV 5 max hFE 20 min 10 to 50 0.07 ta 0.65 typ; 1.5 max ts 1.75 typ; 3.75 max tr 0.35 typ; 1.5 max

5A. 100W



5A, 100W

2N5840

Si n-p-n multiple epitaxial type used in inverters, deflection circuits, switching regulators, high-voltage bridge amplifiers, ignition circuits, and other high-voltage switching applications. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 2N5838 except

for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	375	v
Base open $V_{BE} = -1.5 V$ $R_{BE} \le 50 \Omega$	Vceo (sus) Vcev (sus) Vcer (sus)	350 375 375	v v v
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature =	25°C)		
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage: Ic = 0.2 A, tp \leq 350 μ s, df = 2% V _{BE} = -1.5 V, Ic = 0.1 A, base-emitter junction	Vceo (sus)	350 min	v
reverse biased, tp $\leq 350 \ \mu s$, df $= 2\%$ Ic = 0.2 A. Res = 50 Ω , tp $\leq 350 \ \mu s$, df $= 2\%$	Vcex (sus) Vcer (sus)	375 min 375 min	v v

2N5839

.

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage	/ /	0	77
$(I_{\rm C} = 2 \text{ A}, I_{\rm B} = 0.2 \text{ A})$	VBE(Sat)	2 max	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage	/ /		
$(Ic = 2 A, I_B = 0.2 A)$	VCE(Sat)	1.5	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:	-	0	4
$V_{\rm CE} = 250 \ {\rm V}$	ICE0	2 max	mA
$V_{CE} \equiv 360 \text{ V}, \text{ V}_{BE} \equiv -1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ base-emitter junction}$	•	0	4
reverse biased	TGEA	2 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 360 \text{ V}, V_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ base-emitter junction}$	-	F	
reverse biased, $T_{\rm C} = 100^{\circ} C$	TGEA	5 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:		<u>.</u>	
$V_{\rm CE} = 5 V, I_{\rm C} = 0.5 A$	hfe	20 min	
$V_{CE} = 3 V, I_C = 2 A$	hfe	10 to 50	
Delay Time (Vcc = 200 V, Ic = 2 A, $I_{B1} = I_{B2}$		0.05	_
= 0.2 A	ta	0.07	μs
Rise Time (Vcc = 200 V, $Ic = 2$ A, $I_{B1} = I_{B2}$			_
= 0.2 A	tr	0.6 typ; 1.75 max	μs
Storage Time (Vec = 200 V, $Ic = 2$ A, $IB_1 = IB_2$			_
= 0.2 A	ts	1.75 typ; 3 max	μs
Fall Time (Vcc = 200 V, Ic = 2 A, I _{B1} = I _{B2})			_
= 0.2 A	tr	0.35 typ; 1.5 max	μs

2N5804

8A, 110W

Si n-p-n triple-diffused type used for power-switching circuits, switching regulators, converters, inverters, and power amplifiers. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	300	v
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	VCEX(SUS) VCEO(SUS) VEBO IC IB	300 225 6 5 2	V V A A
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Рт Рт Рт	110 See Rating Chart See Rating Chart and curve page 300	w
Temperature Range: Operating (Junction) Storage	T.1 (opr) T _{STG} TP	65 to 200 65 to 200 230	°C °C °C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$I_{C} = 0.2 A, I_{B} = 0$	Vceo (sus)	225 min	v
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$, Ie = 0.2 A, R _{BE} = 50 Ω ,			
$t_{\rm p} = 8.33$ ms, $df = 50\%$	VCEX (SUS)	300 min	<u>v</u>
Emitter-to-Base Voltage (IB = 0.03 A)	V ЕВО	6 min	v
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (VCE = 10 V ,		_	
$I_{C} = 5$ A, $I_{B} = 0.5$ A, $t_{P} \leq 350$ µs, $df = 2\%$)	VBE (sat)	2 max	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage		-	-
$(I_{\rm C} = 5 \text{ A}, I_{\rm B} = 0.5 \text{ A}, t_{\rm p} \leq 350 \ \mu\text{s}, df = 2\%)$	Vce(sat)	2 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CE} = 150 \text{ V}, \text{ I}_{B} = 0$	ICEO	15 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 270$ V, $V_{BE} = -1.5$ V, base-emitter		_	
junction reverse biased	ICEV	5 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 270$ V, $V_{BE} = -1.5$ V, base-emitter	_		
junction reverse biased, $Tc = 100^{\circ}C$	ICEV	15 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 300 \text{ V}, \text{ R}_{BE} = 50 \Omega$	ICEB	15 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{EB} = 6 V, I_{C} = 0$	IEBO	30 max	mA
$V_{EB} = 5 V, I_{C} = 0$	IEBO	5 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 0.5, \text{ t}_{p} \leq 350 \mu\text{s}, \text{ df} = 2\% \dots$	hff(pulsed)	25 to 250	
$V_{CE} = 4 V, I_{C} = 5 A$	hfe	10 to 100	
Output Capacitance (VCB = 10 V, IE = 0,			_
f = 1 MHz	Cobo	450	pF



CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Second-Breakdown Collector Current			
$(V_{CE} = 50 \text{ V}, \text{ base forward-biased, non-})$			
repetitive pulse $= 1$ s)	Is/ь	2.2 min	А
Second-Breakdown Energy ($V_{EB} = -4 V$.			
$I_{C} = 5 A, R_{B} = 20 \Omega, L = 50 \mu H, base$			
reverse-biased)	Es/h	0.62 min	m T
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio	20/0	0.02 11111	1115
$(V_{CE} = 10 V, I_C = 1 A, f = 5 MHz)$	hee	2 min	
Turn-On Time (VCE = 200 V. Ic = 5 A.		5 11111	
$I_{\rm B} = 0.5 \rm A$	+ + + _	0.5 mox	
Storage Time (VCE = 200 V, IC - 5 A	eu - er	0.5 max	μs
$I_B = 0.5 A$	+ _	95 200	_
Fall Time $(V_{cm} - 200 V I_{a} - E A I_{b} - 0 E A)$	LB	3.5 max	μs
The model $P_{\text{resistance}} = 200 \text{ V}, 10 = 3 \text{ A}, 18 = 0.3 \text{ A}$	tf.	2 max	μs
Inermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case			
(V CE = 10 V, 1C = 5 A)	θı-c	1.6 max	°C/W



8A, 110W

2N5805



Si n-p-n triple-diffused type used for power-switching circuits, switching regulators, converters, inverters, and power amplifiers. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 2N5804 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	375	v
$V_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, R_{BE} = 50 \Omega$ Base open	Vcex (sus) Vceo (sus)	375 300	v
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 2	25°C)		-
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:	•		
$I_{C} = 0.2 \text{ A}, I_{B} = 0$ $V_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, I_{C} = 0.2 \text{ A}, I_{B} = 0, R_{BE} = 50.0$	VCEO (SUS)	300 min	v
$t_p = 8.33$ ms, $df = 2\%$	Vcex (sus)	375 min	v
$\begin{array}{l} V_{\rm CB} = 150 \ V. \ I_{\rm B} = 0 \\ V_{\rm CE} = 340 \ V. \ V_{\rm BE} = -1.5 \ V \\ V_{\rm CE} = 340 \ V. \ V_{\rm BE} = -1.5 \ V. \ T_{\rm C} = 100^{\circ} {\rm C} \\ V_{\rm CE} = 375 \ V, \ R_{\rm BE} = 50 \ \Omega \end{array}$	ICEO ICEV ICEV ICER	5 max 5 max 15 max 15 max	mA mA mA mA

447

High-Speed N-P-N (Switching) Types

40389

1A, 3.5W

Si n-p-n triple-diffused planar type with an attached heat radiator for printed-circuit-board use in a wide variety of small-signal, medium-power applications (up to 20 MHz) in commercial and industrial equipment. JEDEC TO-5 (with heat radiator), Outline No.8. This type is identical with type 2N3053 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Transistor Dissipation: T _A up to 25°C T _A above 25°C	Рт Рт	3.5 See curve p	W age 300
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $=$ 25°C)			
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	A-r⊖	50 max	°C/W

2N699

1A, 5W

Si n-p-n planar triple-diffused-base type used in smallsignal and medium-power applications in rf amplifier, mixer, oscillator and converter service and in power applications in small-signal af amplifiers and switching circuits in industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage $(R_{BE} \leq 10 \ \Omega)$ Emitter-to-Base Voltage $(R_{BE} \leq 10 \ \Omega)$	Vcbo Vcer Vebo
$\begin{array}{c} \text{Transitor Dissipation.} \\ \text{T}_{A} \text{ up to } 25^{\circ}\text{C} \\ \text{T}_{C} \text{ up to } 25^{\circ}\text{C} \\ \text{T}_{A} \text{ or } \text{T}_{C} \\ \text{ above } 25^{\circ}\text{C} \\ \end{array}$	Рт Рт Рт
Temperature Range: Operating (Junction) Storage Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T」(opr Tstg TL
CHARACTERISTICS	
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($Ic = 0.1 \text{ mA}$, IE = 0)	V(BR)(I
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage (Ref = 10 1), $I_C = 100 \text{ mA}, \text{ tp} \leq 300 \mu\text{s}, \text{ df} \leq 2\%$)	VCER (S
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage ($1c = 150$ mA, $I_B = 15$ mA, $tp \leq 300$ μ s, $df \leq 2\%$).	Vce (sa
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage ($1c = 150$ mR, I _B = 15 mA, tp $\leq 300 \ \mu$ s, df $\leq 2\%$)	VBE (S
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = 60$ V, $IE = 0$) Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 2$ V, $IC = 0$) Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio ($V_{CE} = 10$ V,	Ієво
$I_{\rm fc} = 150$ mA, tp $\leq 300 \ \mu s$, df $\leq 2\%$)	hre
$ \begin{array}{l} \text{W}_{CE} = 5 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 1 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 1 \text{ kHz} \\ \text{W}_{CE} = 5 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 5 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 1 \text{ kHz} \end{array} $	hre hre
$V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_C = 50$ mA, $f = 20$ MHz Gain-Bandwidth Product	hre fr
Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 10$ V, $I_E = 0$)	Cobo



120

80 5

0.6

See curve page

-65 to 175

-65 to 200

)

v v v

w

°C °C

300

120 min	v
80 min	v
5 max	v
1.3 max 2 max 100 max	ν μΑ μΑ
40 to 120	
35 to 100 45 min 2.5 min 50 min 20 max	MHz pF
	120 min 80 min 5 max 1.3 max 2 max 100 max 40 to 120 35 to 100 45 min 2.5 min 50 min 20 max



448

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Small-Signal Short-Circuit Impedance:			-
$V_{CE} = 5$ V, Ie = 1 mA, f = 1 kHz	hıъ	30 max	Ω
$V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_{C} = 5$ mA, $f = 1$ kHz	hıь	10 max	Ω
Voltage-Feedback Ratio:			
$V_{CE} = 5 V$, Ic = 1 mA, f = 1 kHz	hrb	2.5 x 10-4 max	
$V_{CE} = 10 V$, $I_{C} = 5 mA$, $f = 1 kHz$	hrb	3 x 10-4 max	
Output Conductance:			
$V_{CE} = 5 V$, Ic = 1 mA, f = 1 kHz	hob	0.5 max	μmho
$V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_{C} = 5$ mA, $f = 1$ kHz	hob	1 max	μmho
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	Өл-с	75 max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient		250 max	°C/W



1A, 5W

2N1613

Si **n-p-n planar** type used in small-signal and mediumpower applications in industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. This type is identical with type 2N2102 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage Collector-to-Emitter Voltage ($R_{BE} \leq 10 \Omega$)	VCBO VCER	75 50	v v
Transistor Dissipation: TA up to 25°C Tc up to 25°C Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	$\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{T}}$ $\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{T}}$ $\mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{L}}$	0.8 3 265	W ₩ °C
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)		
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = 0.1 mA, $I_E = 0$).	V(BR)('BO	75 min	v
$R_{\rm RE} = 10 \ \Omega, t_{\rm p} = 300 \ \mu s, df = 1.8\%$	VCER(SUS)	50 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic = 150 mA, In = 15 mA, $t_p = 300 \ \mu s$, $df = 1.8\%$)	Vce(sat)	1.5 max	v
$Base-to-Emitter Saturation voltage (1c = 150 mA, In = 15 mA, t_0 = 300 \ \mu s, df = 1.8\%)$	VBE(sat)	1.3 max	v
	Ісво Ісво Ієво	0.01 max 10 max 0.01 max	μΑ μΑ μΑ
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio: $V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_C = 0.1$ mA, $T_A = 25^{\circ}C$	hfe	20 min	
$V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 150 \text{ mA}, \text{ T}_{A} = 25^{\circ}\text{C}, \text{ t}_{P} = 300 \mu\text{s},$ df = 1.8%	hfe	40 to 120	
$V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_C = 10$ mA, $T_A = -55$ C, $t_P = 300 \ \mu s$, df = 1.8%	hfe	20 min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio: $V_{CF} = 5 V$, $I_C = 1 mA$, $f = 1 kHz$	hre	30 to 100	
$V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_C = 50$ mA, $f = 20$ MHz Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 10$ V, $I_E = 0$)	hfe Cobo	3 min 25 max	pF
Noise Figure ($v_{CE} = 10$ v, $1c = 0.3$ mA, $t = 1$ kHz, R _G = 510 Ω, circuit bandwidth = 1 Hz) Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	NF Hj-c Hj-a	12 max 58.3 max 219 max	dB ℃/W ℃/W



1A, 5W

2N1711

Si n-p-n triple-diffused planar type used in a wide variety of small-signal and medium-power applications in military and industrial equipment. It features exceptionally low noise characteristics. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCBO	75	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage (RBE $\leq 10 \Omega$)	VCER	50	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	V ЕВО	7	v

MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

Collector Current	Ic	1	A
Transistor Dissipation:	-		
T_{A} up to 25°C	Рт	0.8	W
T _c up to 25°C	PT	3	w
T₄ or Tc above 25°C	Рт	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL	300	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

····· · · · · · · · · ·			
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($Ic = 0.1 \text{ mA}$,			
$I_{\mathbf{B}} = 0$	V (BR)CBO	75 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = 0.1$ mA, $I_C = 0$)	V (BR) EBO	7 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Reach-Through Voltage			
$(V_{BE} (fl) = -1.5 V, Ic = 0.1 mA)$	VRT	75 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage $(B_{22}, \dots, D_{2n}) = 100 \text{ mA} \text{ t}_{2n} = 300 \text{ us} \text{ df} = 1.8\%$	Vorn (sug)	50 min	v
Collector to Emitter Seturation Voltage	VCER(SUS)	00 111111	•
$(I_{\rm C} = 150 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 15 \text{ mA})$	Vcs(sat)	1.5 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage Saturation Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 150 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 15 \text{ mA})$	VBE(sat)	1.3 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CB} = 60 \text{ V}, I_{E} = 0, T_{A} = 25^{\circ}\text{C}$	Ісво	0.01 max	μA
$V_{CB} = 60 V, I_E = 0, T_A = 150^{\circ}C$	Ісво	10 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 5 V$, $I_0 = 0$)	Ієво	0.005 max	μA
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{CE} = 10 V, I_C = 10 mA, t_P = 300 \mu s, df = 1.8\%$)	hrm(pulsed)) 75min	
$V_{CE} = 10 V$, $I_C = 150 mA$, $t_P = 300 \mu s$, $df = 1.8\%$	hrs(pulsed)) 100 to 300	
$V_{CE} = 10 V$, $I_C = 500 mA$, $t_P = 300 \mu s$, $df = 1.8\%$)	hrs (pulsed)) 40 min	
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{CE} = 10 V$, $I_C = 0.01 mA$, $T_C = 25^{\circ}C$	hfe	20 min	
$V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 0.1 \text{ mA}, \text{ Tc} = 25^{\circ}\text{C}$	hfe	35 min	
$V_{CB} = 10$ V, Ic = 10 mA, Tc = -55°C	hfe	35 min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{CR} = 5 V. Ic = 1 mA. f = 1 kHz$	hre	50 to 200	
$V_{CR} = 10$ V. Ic = 5 mA, f = 1 kHz	hre	70 to 300	
$V_{CR} = 10 V, I_C = 50 mA, f = 20 MHz$	hre	3.5 min	
Input Capacitance (VEB $= 0.5$ V. Ic $= 0$)	Cibo	80 max	pF
Output Capacitance (VcB = 10 V, IE = 0)	Cobo	25 max	pF
Noise Figure (VCE = 10 V. Ic = 0.3 mA, Ro = 500.			-
f = 1 kHz circuit bandwidth $= 1 Hz$	NF	8 max	dB
Input Resistance (Vcr = 10 V Ic = 5 mA, f = 1 kHz)	hus	4 to 8	Ω
Voltage-Feedback Ratio (Von - 10 V. Ic - 5 mA.			
f = 1 kHz	heb 5	5 x 10-4 max	
Output Conductance (Vor $= 10$ V Jc $= 5$ mA			
f = 1 kHz	hab	0.1 to 1	μmho
Thermal Resistance Junction-to-Case	Au-c	58.3 max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	Ă-LĂ	219 max	°Č/Ŵ







1A, 5W

2N1893

Si n-p-n triple-diffused planar type used in small-signal and medium-power applications in industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. This type is identical with type 2N2405 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	120	v
$R_{BB} \leq 10.0$	Vorn (ene)	100	37
Rase open	Vono (cuc)	100	v.
Collector to Base Voltage	VCEO (SUS)	8 <u>0</u>	
Collector Current	V EBO		Ý
Transistor Dissipation:	10	0.5	A
T₄ up to 25°C	Рт	0.8	w
Tc up to 25°C	Рт	3	Ŵ
TA or Te above 25°C	Pr	See curve no	age 300
Temperature Range:	••	bee curve p	-BC 000
Operating (Junction)	Tr(opr)	_65 to 200	°C
Storage	TJ(Opi)	-05 10 200	
Land Coldening Temperature (10 - march)	1 STG	-65 10 200	
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL	255	-0
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
Le 20 m L = 20 to 100	T7 ()	00 m in	
$10 = 30 \text{ mA}, 18 = 0, 19 = 300 \ \mu\text{s}, 01 = 1.8\%$	VCEO(SUS)	80 min	<u>v</u>
$1C = 100 \text{ mA}, \text{ RBE} = 10 \Omega, \text{ tp} = 300 \ \mu\text{s}, \text{ dI} = 1.8\% \dots$	VCER(SUS)	100 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage:			
$I_{\rm C} = 150$ mA, $I_{\rm B} = 15$ mA	Vcr(sat)	5 max	v
$I_{\rm C} = 50 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 5 \text{ mA}$	Vcr(sat)	1.2 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage ($I_{\rm C} = 150$ mA.			
$I_{B} = 15 \text{ mA}$)	VBE(sat)	1.3 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current (V _{CB} = 90 V, $I_{B} = 0$.			
$T_{\rm C} = 150^{\circ}{\rm C}$	Icao	15 max	"A
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Batio:	1000	To mus	<i>µ</i> 11
$V_{cr} = 5 V I_c = 1 mA f = 1 kHz$	he	20 to 100	
$V_{CB} = 0$ V, $I_{C} = 1$ mA, $I = 1$ KHZ	lire b.	30 10 100	
$V_{CE} = 10$ V, $1C = 5$ mA, $1 = 1$ KHZ	life	20 min	
$V_{CB} = 10 V, 1C = 50 mA, 1 = 20 WHz$	n _{fe}	2.5 min	
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{CE} = 10 V, 1c = 0.1 mA$	hrm	20 min	
$V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_C = 10$ mA, $T_C = -55^{\circ}C$	hfe	45 min	
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CB} = 10 V, I_C = 150 mA, t_p = 300 \mu s, df = 1.8\%)$	hrs (pulse	d) 40 to 120	
Gain-Bandwidth Product	fr	50 min	MHz
Input Capacitance $(V_{RR} - 0.5 V I_0 - 0)$	Ĉ.	85 max	nF
Input Posiciance (Var $= 5$ V Ia $= 1$ m/ $(= 1)$	hu	20 to 20	°.
$\frac{1}{10} \frac{1}{10} \frac$	1110	20 10 30	24
Voltage-recuback hallo:	L	F 10 4 mm	
$v_{CB} = 5 v, 10 = 1 \text{ mA}, 1 = 1 \text{ kHz}$	пть 1.2	5 x 10-* max	
$v_{CB} = 10 v, 1c = 5 mA, f = 1 kHz$	hrb 1.	5 x 10-4 max	
Inermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	Өл-с	58.3 max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	A−tθ	219 max	°C/W



1A, 5W

2N2102

Si n-p-n triple-diffused planar type used in small-signal and medium-power applications in industrial and military equipment. This type features exceptionally lownoise low-leakage characteristics, high switching speed, and high pulse h_{FE} . JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	120	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			•
$R_{BE} \leq 10 \Omega$	VCER	80	v
Base open	VCEO	65*	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	7	v
Collector Current	Ic	i	Å
Transistor Dissipation:		-	•••
TA UD to 25°C	Рт	1	w
Tc up to 25°C	Рт	5	Ŵ
TA or Tc above 25°C	Рт	See curve page	300

MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

Temperature Range: Operating (Junction)	TJ (opr)	65 to 200	•C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL	300	۰Č
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)			
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_c = 0.1 \text{ mA}$,		100 min	v
$I_E = 0$	V (BR)CBO	120 mm	v
Ic = 0	V(BR)EBO	7 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage: $I_{0} = 100 \text{ mA}$ $R_{2} = 10 \text{ O}$ $I_{2} = 300 \text{ us}$ $df = 1.8\%$	VCRR(SUS)	80 min	v
$I_{C} = 100 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = 0, I_{p} = 300 \ \mu\text{s}, df = 1.8\%$	VCEO (SUS)	65* min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic = 150 mA, $I_{c} = 15$ mA, $f_{c} = 18\%$)	VCE(sat)	0.5 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage ($Ic = 150 \text{ mA}$,			
$I_B = 15 \text{ mA}, t_p = 300 \ \mu s, df = 1.8\%$)	VBE(sat)	1.1 max	v
$V_{CB} = 60 \text{ V}, \text{ I}_E = 0, \text{ T}_A = 25^{\circ}\text{C}$	Ісво	0.002 max	μA
$V_{CB} = 60$ V, $I_E = 0$, $T_A = 150^{\circ}C$	Ісво	2 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 5 V$, $Ic = 0$)	Ієво	0.005 max	μA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio (Vcm = 10 V,	hem	10* min	
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio	110 10	10	
$V_{CE} = 10$ V, Ic = 150 mA, Tc = 25°C,			
$t_p = 300 \ \mu s, \ df = 1.8\%$	hrm(pulsed)	40 to 120	
$V_{CB} = 10$ V, $I_C = 1$ A, $T_C = 25^{\circ}C$, $t_p = 300 \ \mu s$,	hrm (pulsed)	10* min	
$V_{CR} = 10 V I_C = 10 mA T_C = -55^{\circ}C$			
$t_p = 300 \ \mu s, \ df = 1.8\%$	hfe(pulsed)	20 min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:		40.4- 195	
$V_{CE} = 5 V, I_C = 1 mA, f = 1 kHz$	nfe b	40 to 125	
$V_{CE} = 10 V, I_C = 5 mA, f = 1 kHz$	Dfe .	45 to 190	
$V_{CR} = 10 V, I_C = 50 mA, f = 20 MHz$	nr.	6 11111	- 17
Input Capacitance ($V_{EB} = 0.5 V$, $I_c = 0$)	Cibo	80 max	PF
Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 10 V$, $I_C = 0$)	Cobo	15 max	pr
Input Resistance:		04 44 24	~
$V_{CB} = 5 V, I_C = 1 mA, f = 1 kHz$	<u>n</u>	24 10 34	
$V_{CB} = 10 V, I_C = 5 mA, f = 1 kHz$	UIP	4 10 8	
Small-Signal Reverse-Voltage (Feedback)			
Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{CB} = 5 V, I_C = 1 MA, f = 1 KHZ$	Infb 3	x 10 max	
$V_{CB} = 10 V, I_C = 5 mA, f = 1 \text{ KHz}$	Пгв З	x 10-• max	
$V_{\rm ep} = 5 V I_{\rm f} = 1 m \Lambda f = 1 k Hz$	h.,	0 1 to 0 5	"mbo
$V_{cn} \rightarrow 10 \text{ V}$ Ic -5 mA f -1 kHz	hab	0 1 to 1	umbo
Noise Figure (Ver $\rightarrow 10$ V Ic -0.3 mA f -1 kHz	1100	0.1 10 1	μιμιο
$P_{a} = 510 \cap aircuit bandwidth = 1 Hz$	NF	6 may	dB
Thermal Resistance Junction to Case	01-0	25 may	- C /00
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case		175 may	•C/W
member resistance, sunction-to-ministent	()J=A	TIDINGY	C/ W

* This value applies only to type 2N2102.







2N2270

Si n-p-n triple-diffused planar type used in rf-amplifiers, mixers, oscillators, and converters, and in af smallsignal and power amplifiers. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	60	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			
$R_{BE} \leq 10 \Omega$	VCER	60	v
Base open	VCEO	45	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	7	v
Collector Current	Ic	1	Α
Transistor Dissipation:			
TA up to 25°C	PT	1	w
Tc up to 25°C	PT	5	w
TA or Tc above 25°C	PT	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	65 to 200	°C
Storage	Taro	-65 to 200	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL	255	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic $= 0.1$ mA.			
$I_{\mathbf{E}} = 0$)	V(BR)CBO	60 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (In = 0.1 mA,			
Ic = 0	V(BR)BBO	7 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$I_{\rm C} = 100 \text{ mA}, t_{\rm p} = 300 \ \mu s, df = 1.8\%$	Vcro(sus)	45 min	v
$I_{C} = 100 \text{ mA}, R_{BE} = 10 \Omega, t_{p} = 300 \mu s, df = 1.8\% \dots$	VCER (SUS)	60 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage ($Ic = 150$ mA.			
$I_{B} = 15 \text{ mA}$)	Vcr(sat)	0.9 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic = 150 mA.		•••	•
$I_B = 15 \text{ mA}$)	VBE(sat)	1.2 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			•
$V_{CB} = 60 \text{ V}$, $I_E = 0$, $T_C = 25^{\circ}C$	Ісво	0.1 max	uА
$V_{CB} = 60 \text{ V}, I_E = 0, T_C = 150^{\circ}C$	Ісво	50 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 5 V$, $I_C = 0$)	IEBO	0.1 max	μA
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 150 \text{ mA}, t_{P} = 300 \mu\text{s}, \text{ df} = 1.8\%)$	hrm (pulsed)	50 to 200	
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 1 \text{ mA})$	hre	35 min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{CE} = 10 V. Ic = 5 mA. f = 1 kHz$	hre	30 to 180	
$V_{CE} = 10 V$, $I_C = 50 mA$, $f = 20 MHz$	hre	3 min	
Input Capacitance ($V_{BB} = 0.5 \text{ V}$, Ic = 0)	Cibo	80 max	pF
Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 10$ V, $I_E = 0$)	Cobo	15 max	pF
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θ1-c	35 max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	ĀJ−A	175 max	°C/W
	-		

TYPICAL DC FORWARD-CURRENT TRANSFER-RATIO CHARACTERISTICS TYPE 2N2270 COLLECTOR-TO-EMITTER VOLTS (V_{CF})=10



RCA Transistor, Thyristor, & Diode Manual

2N2405

1A, 5W

Si n-p-n triple-diffused planar type used in small-signal and medium power applications in industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Conector-to-base voltage:			
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	Vсвv*	120	v
Emitter open	VCBO	120	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			•
$R_{BE} \leq 500$	VCER*(SUS)	120	v
$R_{BE} \leq 10$	VCER(SUS)	140	v
Base open	VCEO (SUS)	90	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	7	v
Collector Current	Ic	i	Á
Transistor Dissipation:		-	
TA up to 25°C	Рт	1	w
Te up to 25°C	Pr	5	ŵ
TA or Tc above 25°C	Pr	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:		and the bage	
Operating (T ₁) and Storage (TsTa)		-65 to 200	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T_L	255	۰č

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = 0.1 mA,			
$I_{\rm E}=0$)	V(BR)(BO	120 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = 0.01 \text{ mA}$,			
Ic = 0	VGRDEBO	7 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$I_{\rm C} = 100 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 0, t_{\rm P} = 300 \ \mu \text{s}, df = 1.8\% \dots$	VCEO (SUS)	90 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = 30$ mA, $I_{\rm B} = 0$, $t_{\rm P} = 300 \ \mu s$, $df = 1.8\%$	VCEO (SUS)	90 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = 100$ mA, $R_{\rm BE} = 10 \Omega$, $t_{\rm p} = 300 \mu s$, $df = 1.8\%$	VCER (SUS)	140 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = 100$ mA, $R_{\rm BE} = 500 \Omega$, $t_{\rm P} = 300 \mu s$, $df = 1.8\%$	VCER (SUS)	120 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage:	. ,		
$I_{\rm C} = 150$ mA, $I_{\rm B} = 15$ mA	Vce(sat)	0.5 max	v
$I_{\rm C} = 50$ mA, $I_{\rm B} = 5$ mA	VCE (sat)	0.2 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage:			•
$I_{\rm C} = 150$ mA, $I_{\rm B} = 15$ mA	VBE(sat)	1.1 max	v
$I_{\rm C} = 50$ mA, $I_{\rm B} = 5$ mA	VBE (sat)	0.9 max	ů
Collector-Cutoff Current:			•
$V_{\rm CB} = 90$ V, $I_{\rm E} = 0$, $T_{\rm C} = 25^{\circ}{\rm C}$	Ісво	0.01 max	μA
$V_{CB} = 90 V, I_E = 0, T_C = 150^{\circ}C$	Ісво	10 max	"A
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 5 V$, $I_C = 0$)	IEBO	0.01 max	"A
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			,
$V_{CE} = 5 V$, $I_{C} = 5 mA$, $f = 1 kHz$	hre	50 to 275	
$V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_{C} = 50$ mA, $f = 20$ MHz	hre	6 min	
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{CE} = 10 V$, $I_C = 500 mA$, $T_A = 25^{\circ}C$, $t_P = 300 \mu s$,			
df = 1.8%	hfe(pulsed)	25 min	
$V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_C = 150$ mA, $T_A = 25^{\circ}C$, $t_p = 300 \ \mu s$,	/		
df = 1.8%	hfr (pulsed)	60 to 200	



TYPICAL DC FORWARD-CURRENT TRANSFER-RATIO CHARACTERISTICS





CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_{C} = 10$ mA, $T_{A} = 25^{\circ}C$	hee	25 min	
$V_{CE} = 10 V, I_C = 10 mA, T_A = -55^{\circ}C$	hee	20 min	
Input Resistance:	115.62	20 min	
$V_{CB} = 5 V$, $I_C = 1 mA$, $f = 1 kHz$	hu	94.4- 94	~
$V_{CB} = 10$ V, $I_C = 5$ mA, $f = 1$ kHz	1116	24 10 34	Ω
Voltage-Feedback Ratio:	nth	4 to 8	Ω
$V_{CB} = 5 V$, $I_{C} = 1 mA$, $f = 1 kHz$	h.	0 10-4	
$V_{CB} = 10 V_{LC} = 5 mA_{C} f - 1 kHz$	11rb	3 X 10-1	
Output Conductance:	nrh	3 x 10-4	
$V_{CE} = 5 V$, $I_{C} = 1 mA$, $f = 1 kHz$	L.		
$V_{CE} = 10 V I_{C} = 5 mA f = 1 kH_{-}$	noh	0.5 max	μmho
Noise Figure (Ver $= 10$ V Ly $= 0.2$ mA Ry $= 500.0$	ոսե	0.5 max	μmho
$BW = 15 \text{ kHz}$ reference signal frame, $Mi = 300 \Omega$,			
Input Capacitance A_{Biller} inequelicy $\equiv 1 \text{ KHz}$	NF.*	6 max	dB
$\frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}$	Cibo	80 max	nF
Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} \equiv 10 V$, $I_E \equiv 0$)	Cobo	15 max	nF
Inermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	Ou-c	35 max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	A-LO	175 max	°Č/W
* This value does not apply to type 2N1893		110 max	C/ W

1A, 5W

2N2895

Si n-p-n triple-diffused planar type used in a wide variety of small-signal and low-to-medium-power applications in military and industrial equipment. JEDEC TO-18, Outline No.12. For transfer-characteristics curves, refer to type 2N2102.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	120	v
$R_{BE} \leq 10 \Omega$	Vum	80	
Base open	V CR	80	<u> </u>
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	A CEO	65	V
Collector Current	VEBO	7	- V
Transistor Dissipation:	10	1	Α
TA up to 25°C	Pr	0.5	337
Tc up to 25°C	Pr	1.0	127
TA or Te above 25°C	P.	500 00000 0000	2000
Temperature Range:	11	See curve page	300
Operating (Junction)	T ₁ (opr)	-65 to 200	•
Storage	Tomo	-05 to 200	
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T.	-03 10 200	
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Tr	255	• ~

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = 0.1 mA ,			
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (I = 0.1 = 4	V (BR) CBO	120 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = 0$	37	7	
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:	V (BR)EBO	7 min	v
$I_{c} = 100 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = 0, t_{p} = 300 \ \mu\text{s}, df = 1.8\%$ Ic = 100 mA, IB = 0, RBE = 10 0, t_{p} = 300 \ \mu\text{s}	$V_{CEO}(sus)$	65 min	v
df = 1.8%	VCER(sus)	80 min	v
(Ic = 150 mA, I _B = 15 mA, t_p = 300 μ s, df = 1.8%) Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage	VCE(sat)	0.6 max	v
$(I_c = 150 \text{ mA}, I_B = 15 \text{ mA}, t_p = 300 \ \mu\text{s}, df = 1.8\%)$ Collector-Cutoff Current	VBE(sat)	1.2 max	v
$V_{CB} = 60 V, I_E = 0, T_C = 25^{\circ}C$ $V_{CB} = 60 V, I_E = 0, T_C = 150^{\circ}C$	Ісво	0.002 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 5 V$, $I_C = 0$) Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Batio:	Ієво Ієво	2 max 0.002 max	μΑ μΑ
$V_{CE} = 10 V$, Ic = 150 mA, $t_p = 300 \mu s$, df = 1.8% $V_{CE} = 10 V$, Ic = 500 mA, $t_p = 300 \mu s$, df = 1.8%	hrg(pulsed)	40 to 120	
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio: $V_{CR} = 10$ V. Ic = 0.01 mA	hise (puised)	25 min	
$V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 10 \text{ mA}$	nfe b	20 min	
$V_{CE} = 10$ V, Ic = 10 mA, Tc = -55°C	nfe b	35 min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:	nfe	20 min	
$V_{CR} = 10 V I_{C} = 50 mA$, $f = 1 \text{ KHz}$	hre	50 to 200	
Input Capacitance ($V_{PP} = 0.5 \text{ V}$ $T_{P} = 0.6 \text{ MHz}$	hre	6 min	
1000000000000000000000000000000000000	Cibo	80 max	nF

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 10 V$, $I_E = 0$,			
f = 0.14 MHz)	Cubo	15 max	pF
Noise Figure (Vcc = 10 V, Ic = 0.3 mA, $f = 1$ kHz,			P =
$R_G = 510 \Omega$, circuit bandwidth = 1 Hz)	NF	8 max	dB
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	OJ-C	97 max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	Qu-A	350 max	°Č/W

2N2896

1A. 5W

Si n-p-n triple-diffused planar type used in a wide variety of small-signal and low-to-medium-power applications in military and industrial equipment. JEDEC TO-18. Outline No. 12. For transfer-characteristics curves, refer to type 2N2102.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCBO	140	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			•
$R_{BE} = 10 \Omega$	VCER	140	v
Base open	Vero	90	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VERO	7	v
Collector Current	Ic	i	Å
Transistor Dissipation:	-0	-	
T _A up to 25°C	Рт	0.5	w
Te up to 25°C	Pr	1.8	ŵ
TA OF TE above 25°C	Pr.	See curve hage	300
Temperature Range:		bee curve page	000
Operating (Junction)	T ₁ (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	Tste	-65 to 200	°č
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL.	255	°č

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($Ic = 0.1 \text{ mA}$)			
IE = 0	V(BR)CBO	140 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = 0.1 \text{ mA}$,			
1c = 0	VGRDEBO	7 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:	T7 . ()	00	
$I_{1} = 100 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = 0, t_{p} = 300 \ \mu\text{s}, dI = 1.8\% \dots$	V ('EO (SUS)	90 min	v
$df = 100 \text{ mA}, 18 \equiv 0, \text{ RBE} \equiv 10 \text{ M}, t_p \equiv 300 \ \mu\text{s},$	Marine (arres)	140	
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (L 150 mA	VCER(SUS)	140 mm	v
$I_{\rm R} = 15 \text{ mA}, t_{\rm R} = 300 \text{ µs}, df = 1.8\%$	Ver (sat)	0.6 may	v
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage $(I_{c} = 150 \text{ mA})$	V(B(Sat)	v.o max	v
$I_B = 15 \text{ mA}, t_P = 300 \ \mu s, df = 1.8\%$	VBE (sat)	1.2 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:	(v
$V_{CB} = 90 V$, $I_E = 0$, $T_C = 25^{\circ}C$	Ісво	0.01 max	uА
$V_{CB} = 90 \text{ V}, I_E = 0, T_C = 150^{\circ}\text{C}$	Ісво	10 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 5 V$, $I_C = 0$)	IEBO	0.01 max	μA
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			,
$(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, 1c = 150 \text{ mA}, t_p = 300 \ \mu\text{s}, df = 1.8\%)$	hre(pulsed)	60 to 200	
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{\rm CE} \equiv 10$ V, $1c \equiv 1$ mA	hfe	35 min	
$VE \equiv 10$ V, $IC \equiv 10$ mA, $IC \equiv 55^{\circ}C$	hfe.	20 min	
$(V_{\rm ev} = 10 \text{ V} \text{ L}_{\rm e} = 50 \text{ mA} \text{ f} = 20 \text{ MHz})$	L.	. .	
Output Capacitance (Ver -10 V In -0	fife	6 min	
f = 0.14 MHz	0		_
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	Coho	15 max	pF
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	0	9/ max	°C/W
	(J)J-A	sou max	•°C/W

2N2897

1A, 5W

Si n-p-n triple-diffused planar type used in a wide variety of small-signal and low-to-medium-power applications in military and industrial equipment. JEDEC TO-18, Outline No.12.





MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vano	60	
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:	VCBO	60	v
$R_{BE} \equiv 10 \ \Omega$	Vann	60	37
Base open	Vano	00	
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VCEO	45	<u>v</u>
Collector Current	V EBO	1	Ý
Transistor Dissipation:	TC	1	A
TA UD to 25°C			
Te up to 25°C	PT	0.5	w
To or To above 25°C	PT	1.8	w
Temperature Paper	Pr	See curve page	300
Operating (Jupation)			
Sterado	TJ(opr)	-65 to 200	°C
	TsTG	-65 to 200	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T_L	255	°Ċ
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)			
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (In - 0.1 mA			
$I_E = 0$	17	<u>.</u>	
Emitter to Page Presidence Walter (X.	V (BR)CBO	60 min	v

Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = 0.1 \text{ mA}$.	V (BR)CBO	00 11111	v
$1c \equiv 0$	VIBRIEBO	7 min	v
Le = 100 mA, IB = 0, tp = 300 μ s, df = 1.8% Le = 100 mA, IB = 0, RBE = 10 O, tp = 300 μ s	VCEO (SUS)	45 min	v
df = 1.8%	Verr(sus)	60 min	v
$I_B = 15 \text{ mA}, t_P = 300 \ \mu\text{s}, df = 1.8\%$ Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic = 150 mÅ)	VCE(sat)	1 max	v
$I_B = 15 \text{ mA}, t_p = 300 \ \mu\text{s}, \text{ df} = 1.8\%$ Collector-Cutoff Current:	VBE(sat)	1.3 max	v
$V_{CB} = 60 V, I_E = 0, T_A = 25^{\circ}C$ $V_{CB} = 60 V, I_E = 0, T_A = 150^{\circ}C$	Ісво	0.05 max	$\mu \mathbf{A}$
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 5 V$, $I_C = 0$) Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Batio	Ієво	0.05 max	$\mu \mathbf{A}$ $\mu \mathbf{A}$
$(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 150 \text{ mA}, t_p = 300 \ \mu\text{s}, \text{ df} = 1.8\%)$ Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio $(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V})$	hre (pulsed)	50 to 200	
$I_{c} = 0.1 \text{ mA}$)	hre	35 min	
$(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 50 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 20 \text{ MHz})$ Output Capacitance $(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 0)$	hre	5 min	°C/W
f = 0.14 MHz) Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	Coho	15 max	pF
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	01-v	97 max 350 max	°C/W



1A, 5W

2N3053

Si n-p-n triple-diffused planar type used in a wide variety of small signal, medium-power applications (up to 20 MHz) in commercial and industrial equipment. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

Collector-to-Base Voltage	37		
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage	A CBO	60	v
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	Vana		
$R_{BE} = 10 \Omega$	VCEV(SUS)	60	v
Base open	VCER(SUS)	50	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	V(EO(SUS)	40	v
Collector Current	VEBO	5	v
Transistor Dissipation:	10	0.7	A
T _A up to 25°C	7		
Te up to 25°C	PT	1	w
The or Te above 25°C	PT	5	w
Temperature Bange	\mathbf{P}_{T}	See curve page	e 300
Operating (Tt-Tc) and Stornge (Tt)			
Lead-Soldering Tomporations (10 - 1576)	_	-65 to 200	°C
Beau-Boldering Temperature (10 s max)	Tt.	235	°Ċ
CHARACTERISTICS (At any townshing of a			
Chanacteristics (At case temperature = 25°C	;)		
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = 0.1 mA .			

$I_E = 0$) Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = 0.1 \text{ mA}$.	V(BR)CBO	60 min	v
Ic = 0)	V(BR)EBO	5 min	v

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage: Ic = 100 mA, $R_{BE} = 10 \Omega$, $t_p = 300 \mu s$, $df = 1.8\%$	VCER(SUS)	50 min	v
$I_{C} = 100 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = 0, t_{p} = 300 \ \mu\text{s}, df = 1.8\%$	VCEO (SUS)	40 min	v
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage ($1c = 150$ mA, $I_B = 15$ mA)	VBE(sat)	1.7 max	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic = 150 mA,			
$I_{B} = 15 \text{ mA}$)	Vce(sat)	1.4 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = 30 V$, $I_E = 0$)	Ісво	0.25 max	μΑ
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 4 V$, $I_C = 0$)	IEBO	0.25 max	μA
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 150 \text{ mA}, t_P = 300 \mu\text{s}, \text{ df} = 1.8\%)$	hre(pulsed)	50 to 250	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 50 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 20 \text{ MHz})$	hfe	5 min	
Input Capacitance (VEB = 0.5 V, Ic = 0)	Cibo	80 max	pF
Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 10 \text{ V}$, $I_E = 0$)	Cobo	15 max	pF
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θ1-c	35* max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	θJ-A	175• max	°C/W
* This value does not apply to type 40389.			

This value does not apply to type 40392.

2N3119

1A, 5W

Si n-p-n triple-diffused planar type used in high-voltage, high-frequency pulse-amplifier and high-voltage saturated-switching applications in industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	100	v
Collector-to-Emitter voltage: $V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	VCEV	100	V.
Base open	V CEO	80	v v
Collector Current	IC REPO	0.5	Ă
Transistor Dissipation:	D -	•	317
To up to 25°C	PT PT	4	ŵ
TA or Tc above 25°C	Pτ	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:	Tr (opp)	65 to 200	•0
Storage	TsTo	-65 to 200	٠č
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	$\mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{L}}$	255	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = 0.1 mA, $I_{m} = 0$)	V(BR)CBO	100 min	v
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	V(BR)CEV	100 min	V
	V(BR)CEO (SUS)	80 min	V



TYPICAL COLLECTOR-CURRENT CHARACTERISTICS







458

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (In = 0.1 mA,			
Ic = 0	V (B B) EBO	4 min	v
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage ($Ic = 100$ mA,	TT (4)	1 1	
$I_B = 10 \text{ mA}$	VBE(Sat)	$1.1 \max$	v
Conector-to-Emitter Saturation voltage ($1c = 100 \text{ mA}$,	Man (ant)	05 mor	37
$IB \equiv IV MA$	VCE(Sat)	0.5 max	v
$V_{cn} = 60 V I_n = 0 T_n = 25^{\circ}C$	Icno	50 may	nA
$V_{CB} = 60 V$, $I_E = 0$, $I_A = 25 C$	Icno	50 max	"A
$V_{CB} = 00$ V, $IE = 0$, $IA = 150$ C	1CBO	Jo max	μ
$T_{\rm T} = 25^{\circ}{\rm C}$	Impo	100 max	nA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio	IEBO	100 max	
$(V_{CR} - 10 \text{ V} \text{ Ic} - 10 \text{ mA})$	hre	40 min	
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:	116.13		
$V_{CE} = 10 V L_{C} = 100 mA$, $t_{R} = 300 \mu s$, $df = 1.8\%$	hre(pulsed)	50 to 200	
$V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_C = 250$ mA, $t_P = 300$ µs, $df = 1.8\%$	hff (pulsed)	20 min	
Gain-Bandwidth Product (Vcn = 28 V, Ic = 25 mÅ.			
f = 50 MHz	fr	250 min	MHz
Collector-to-Base Feedback Capacitance			
$(V_{CB} = 28 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 0, \text{ f} = 1 \text{ MHz})$	Cb'e	6 max	pF
Pulsed-Amplifier Rise Time ($Vcc = 80$ V,			- 1
$I_{\rm C} = 10 \text{ mA}$		20 max	ns
Saturated Switch Turn-On Time ($Vcc = 28 V$,			
$I_{C} = 100 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = 10 \text{ mA}$	ta 🕂 tr	40 max	ns
Saturated Switch Turn-Off Time (Vcc - 28 V			
$I_{\alpha} = 100 \text{ mA}$ $I_{\mu} = -10 \text{ mA}$	to it to	700 max	ns
$10 = 100 \text{ mm}, 18_{g} = -10 \text{ mm}, 10 \text{ mm}$	•••		



1A, 5W

40366



Si n-p-n triple-diffused planar type subjected to special preconditioning tests for high-reliability operation in medium- and high-power switching and amplifier applications in military and industrial equipment. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			
$R_{BE} \leq 10 \ \Omega$	VCER	80	- V
Base open	VCEO	65	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	7	v
Collector Current	Ic	1	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
Tc up to 25°C	Рт	5	A
T _A above 25°C	Рт	1	A
Tc and T _A above 25°C	Рт	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T₁(opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTO	65 to 200	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T_L	255	°C
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)			
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			

Concellor-Dase Dicardown Vollage			
$(V_{EB} = 1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 0.1 \text{ mA})$	V(BB)CBV	120 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (In = 0.1 mA)	V(BR)EBO	7 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$R_{BE} = 10 \Omega$, Ic = 100 mA, tp = 300 µs, df = 1.8%	VCEB (SUS)	80 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = 100$ mA, $I_{\rm B} = 0$, $I_{\rm D} = 300 \ \mu s$, $df = 1.8\%$	VCEO (SUS)	65 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_0 = 150 \text{ mA}, I_B = 15 \text{ mA}, tp = 300 \ \mu\text{s}, df = 1.8\%)$	Vcr(sat)	0.5 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_0 = 150 \text{ mA}, I_B = 15 \text{ mA}, t_P = 300 \ \mu s, df = 1.8\%)$	VBE(sat)	1.1 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current (VCB $= 60$ V, IE $= 0$)	Ісво	2 max	nA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 5 V$, Ic = 0)	IEBO	5 max	nA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{CE} = 10$ V. Ic = 0.01 mA	hfe	10 min	
$V_{CE} = 10$ V. Ic = 0.1 mA	hfe	20 min	
Pulsed Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{CE} = 10$ V, Ic = 150 mA, tp = 300 μ s, df = 1.8%	hff (pulsed)	40 to 120	
$V_{CE} = 10$ V. Ic = 500 mA, tp = 300 μ s, df = 1.8%	hrr(pulsed)	25 min	
$V_{CE} = 10$ V. Ic = 1000 mA, tp = 300 µs, df = 1.8%	hre (pulsed)	10 min	

40392

1A, 5W

Si n-p-n triple-diffused planar type features a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material. This type is used in a wide variety of small-signal, medium-power applications at frequencies up to 20 MHz. JEDEC TO-5 (with flange), Outline No.6. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

This type is identical with type 2N3053 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Transistor Dissipation: Tc up to 25°C Tc above 25°C	Рт Рт	7 See curve page	W e 300
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)			
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θJ-C	25 max 🧐	'C/W

40375

7A. 35W

Si n-p-n epitaxial type with an attached heat radiator for printed-circuit-board use in audio, ultrasonic, and rf circuits and in low-distortion power amplifiers, oscillators, switching regulators, series regulators, converters, and inverters. JEDEC TO-66 (with heat radiator), Outline No.26. This type is identical with type 2N3878 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Trans	sistor D	issipat	ion:				
TA	up to	25°C					Рт
TA	above	25°C		•••••			Рт
СНА	RACTE	RIST	ICS (At	case	temperature	= 25	°C)

Thermal	Resistance,	Junction-to-Ambient		0 1-
---------	-------------	---------------------	--	-----------------

2N3262

2A, 10W

Si n-p-n triple-diffused planar type used in high-voltage, high-frequency pulse-amplifier and high-voltage saturated-switching applications in industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-39, Outline No.15.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	$-\mathbf{v}_{ci}$
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:	
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	Ve
Base open (sustaining voltage)	– Vei
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VE
Collector Current	Ic
Transistor Dissipation:	
T _A up to 25°C	Рт
Tc up to 25°C	Рт
TA or Tc above 25°C	Рт
Temperature Range:	
Operating (T _A -T _C) and Storage (T _{STG})	
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T_L

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage
$(V_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 0.25 \text{ mA})$
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = 0.1 \text{ mA}$,
$I_{C} = 0$)



	5.8	3	W
See	curve	page	300

30 max °C/W



30	100	•
SV AD (SUS)	100	V
10 (303)	4	v
	1.5	Å
	1 8 75	W
	See curve page	300
	-65 to 200 230	°C °C

100 min

4 min

v

v

V(BR)CEV

V(BR)EBO

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$Ic = 500 \text{ mA}, R_{BE} = 10 \Omega, t_{P} = 15 \mu s, df = 1.5\%$	VCER (SUS)	90 min	v
$I_{C} = 500 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = 0, t_{P} = 15 \ \mu\text{s}, df = 1.5\%$	VCRO (SUS)	80 min	ý
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic = 1 A.		~~	•
$I_B = 100 \text{ mA}$)	Vcr(sat)	0.6 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic = 1 A.	• •= (,	0.0	•
$I_B = 100 \text{ mA}$)	VBE (sat)	1.4 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = 30$ V. IE = 0.			•
$T_{A} = 25^{\circ}C)$	I _{CB0}	0.1 max	uА
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 3 V$, $I_C = 0$)	IEBO	100 max	"A
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			<i>p</i>
$(V_{CB} = 4 V, I_C = 500 mA)$	hfe	40 min	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 28 V, I_C = 100 mA, f = 50 MHz)$	hfe	3 min	
Collector-to-Base Feedback Capacitance			
$(V_{CB} = 28 V, I_C = 0, f = 1 MHz)$	Cb'c	20 max	pF
Pulse-Amplifier Rise Time ($V_{CC} = 80$ V,			
Ic = 25 mA)	tr	20 max	ns
Turn-On Time, Saturated Switch ($V_{CE} = 28 V$.			-
$Ic = 1 A$, $I_{B1} = 100 mA$, $I_{B2} = -100 mA$)	ta 🕂 tr	40 max	ns
Turn-On Time, Saturated Swith ($V_{CE} = 28$ V)			
$I_0 = 1 A$, $I_{B1} = 100 mA$, $I_{B2} = -100 mA$	t= + te	750 max	ne
·		100 1	4 4 4 3



2A, 10W

2N5320

Si n-p-n triple-diffused planar type used for smallsignal medium-power applications in military, industrial, and commercial equipment. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vana	100	
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage	A CRO	100	v
$V_{BE} = 1.5 V$	Vana (aug)	100	
$R_{BE} = 100 V$	V(EV(SUS)	100	v
Base open	VCER(SUS)	90	v
Emitte to Dear Well an	VCEO(SUS)	75	v
Calification	VEBO	7	ý
Collector Current	Ic -	2	Å
Base Current	Tp.	ĩ	2
Transistor Dissipation:	±0	*	A
T _c up to 25°C	D _		
To above 25°C	FT	10	w
	PT	Derate li	nearly
Tompore tune Device		at 0.057	W/°C
Temperature Range:			-
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	Тято	-65 to 200	•č
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Ť,	220	
G	× 1.	230	.0

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (In = 0.1 mA, Ic = 0)



V(BR)EBO 7 min TYPICAL DC FORWARD-CURRENT

ν



CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage			
(VBE = -1.5 V, 10 = 0.1 mA, Dasc-childer	V(BR)CEV	100 min	v
Collector to Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
Conector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:	VCER(SUS)	90 min	v
$10 = 100 \text{ V}, \text{ RBE} = 100 \Omega$	Vero (SUS)	75 min	v
$1_{\rm C} = 100$ V, $1_{\rm B} = 0$, base open	V(EO(SOS)	10 11111	•
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation voltage	Mun (cot)	0.5 may	v
$(I_c = 500 \text{ mA}, I_B = 50 \text{ mA})$	V(E(Sat)	1.1 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 500 mA$)	VBE	1.1 max	Ŷ
Collector-Cutoff Current (VCB = 80 V, IE = 0)	Ісво	0.5 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VER = 5 V, Ic = 0)	Ієво	0.1 max	$\mu \mathbf{A}$
Bulced Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
Vor $= 4$ V to $= 500$ mA ty ≤ 300 µs df ≤ 0.02	hrr(pulsed)	30 to 130	
$VCE = 4$ V, $IC = 1000$ mM, $t_{11} < 300$ us $df < 0.02$	hvr (nulsed)	10 min	
$VCE \equiv 2$ V, $IC \equiv 1000$ m/A, $IP = 400$ µs, $GI = 0.05$ m/A	fm	50 min	MHz
Gain-Bandwidth Product (Vee = 4 V, 10 = 50 mR)	11	00	
Second-Breakdown Collector Current			
$(V_{CE} = 50 \text{ V}, \text{ base forward-biased, non-repetitive})$			4
pulse = 1 s	Is/b	200 min	mA
Turn-On Time (VCE = 30 V, IC = 500 mA, IB = 50 mA)	ta + tr	80 max	ns
Turn Off Time (V:r = 30 V $I_c = 500 \text{ mA}$, $I_B = 50 \text{ mA}$)	ts + tr	800 max	ns
The main and the second s	Θ_{J-C}	17.5 max	°C/W
merinal Resistance, Junction-to-Case annihilation	Q1-A	150 max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Amblent	0		

2N5321

2A, 10W

Si n-p-n triple-diffused planar type used for smallsignal medium-power applications in military, industrial, and commercial equipment. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	75	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:	TT ()	75	v
$V_{BE} = 1.5 V$	VCEV(SUS)	10	w.
$R_{BE} = 100 V$	VCER(SUS)	60	v
Base open	VCEO(SUS)	50	, v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	5	Ý.
Collector Current	Ic	2	A
Base Current	IB	1	A
Transistor Dissipation:		10	
Tc up to 25°C	PT	D1	
T _c above 25°C	\mathbf{P}_{T}	at 0.057	W/°C
Temperature Range:	T. (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Operating (Junction)	T)(opr)	-65 to 200	۰č
Storage	I STG	-03 10 200	•č
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	11.	200	Ŭ

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage	17	5 min	v
$(I_{\rm IE} = 0.1 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm C} = 0)$	V (BR)EBO	J	•
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage			
$(V_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 0.1 \text{ mA}, \text{ Base-emitter}$	V(BR)CEV	75 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$L_{\rm m} = 100 \text{ mA} \text{ Rm} = 100 \text{ O}$	VCER(sus)	65 min	v
$10 \equiv 100 \text{ mA}$, $100 = 100 \text{ M}$	VCEO (SUS)	50 min	v
1c = 100 mA, base open			
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage	Vcr(sat)	0.8 max	v
$(I_{\rm C} = 500 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 50 \text{ mA})$	Versioner	14 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 500 \text{ mA}$)	V D D	5 may	"À
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = 60$ V, $I_E = 0$)	TCBO	05 may	"A
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 4 V$, $I_C = 0$)	1EBO	0.5 max	μ
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio		40.40 050	
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 500 mA, t_F \le 300 \mu s, df \le 0.02) \dots$	hre (puisea)	40 10 250	BALLA
Cain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 50 mA$)	fī	50 min	WITZ
Second-Breakdown Collector Current			
(Wm = 50 V base forward-biased, non-repetitive			
$(v_{0k} = 30^{\circ} v_{0k})$ base for ward started, new equivalence $(v_{0k} = 1^{\circ} c_{0k})$	Is/b	200 min	mA
$puise = 1$ s) $qui = 20 \text{ V}$ $L_0 = 500 \text{ mA}$ $L_R = 50 \text{ mA}$	$t_a + t_r$	80 max	ns
Turn-On Time (VCE = 30 V, 10 = 500 mA, 18 = 50 mA)	$t_s + t_r$	800 max	ns
Turn-On Time (VCE = 30 V, 10 = 300 mA, 18 = 30 mM	θı-c	17.5 max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	Ar-A	150 max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	01-4		



2N3878



MAXIMUM RATINGS

Si n-p-n epitaxial type used in af, rf, and ultrasonic applications such as low-distortion power amplifiers, oscillators, switching regulators, series regulators, converters, and inverters. JEDEC TO-66, Outline No.25. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	120	v
Daw = 50 O	VCEP (SUS)	65	v
Kere open (sustaining voltage)	Vero (sus)	50	v
Dase open (sustaining voltage)	Veno	50	v
Collector Current	Ic	ż	
Deak Callester Current	ic	10	7
Peak Collector Current	In	10	?
Base Current	1B	3	~
Transistor Dissipation.	Pr	25	w
$T_{\rm C}$ up to 25 C	Pr	See curve	nage 300
10 above 25 C	11	See curve	page ovo
Temperature Range:	T ₁ (opr)	_65 to 200	۰ ۲
Operating (Junction)	Tomo Tomo	-65 to 200	۰č
Storage	Tait .	-03 10 200	÷
Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 S max)	1 F	200	Ŭ
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$	C)		
Gallesten to Emitten Systeming Voltage:	•		
Conector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:	Vana (aug)	50 min	37
1C = 0.2 A, 1B = 0	VCEO(SUS)	CE min	v
1C = 0.2 A, RBE = 30 M	VCER(SUS)	65 mm	v
Conector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage	M (ant)	2	37
(1C = 4 A, 1B = 0.5 A)	VCE(Sat)	2 max	v
Base-to-Emitter voltage (VCE $\equiv 2$ V, IC $\equiv 4$ A)	VBE	2.5 max	v
Conector-Cuton Current:	Tana	5 mov	mA
$V_{CE} = 40$ V, $IB = 0$, $IC = 20$ C	ICEO I	Jillax	A
$V_{CE} = 100 \text{ V}, \text{ VBE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ TC} = 25^{\circ}\text{C}$	LCEV	4 max	III A
$V_{CE} = 100 V, V_{BE} = -1.5 V, T_{C} = 150 C$	LCEV	4 max	IIIA m A
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VEB = 4 V, $1c = 0$)	1EBO	4 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:	h	E0 to 200	
$V_{CE} = 5 V, 1C = 0.5 A$	IIFR b	30 10 200	
$V_{CE} = 5 V, 1C = 4 A$	L	20 min	
$V_{CE} = 2 V, 1C = 4 A$	nfis	0 11111	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio	ъ.	6 min	
$(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, 1_{C} = 0.5 \text{ A}, 1 = 10 \text{ MHz})$	fife	0 11111	
Second-Breakdown Collector Current (VCR = 40 V,	T - /-	750 min	
base forward-blased)	IS/b	190 11111	IIIA
Second-Breakdown Energy (RBE = 50 fl, L = 125 μ H,	E-1	1 min	mI
$V_{BE} = -4$ V, base reverse-blased)	LS/b	1 mm	1113
Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 10 V$, $I_E = 0$,	C .	175	r F
f = 1 MHz)	Cobo	115 max	ec /uv
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	A1-c	5 max	·C/W



MAXIMUM DC OPERATING AREAS



2500

5

25

2.0

92CS 13228T

^R



Si n-p-n epitaxial type used in af, rf, and ultrasonic applications such as low-distortion power amplifiers, oscillators, switching regulators, series regulators, con-verters and inverters. JEDEC TO-66, Outline No.25. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 2N3878 except for collector-to-emitter voltages of $V_{CER}(sus) = 90$ V and $V_{CEO}(sus) = 75$ V,

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

and the following items:

Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 4 \text{ A}, I_{\rm B} = 0.4 \text{ A})$	VCE(sat)	1.2 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (VCE = 2 V. IC = 4 A)	VBE	1.8 max	v
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VEB = 4 V, Ic = 0)	IEBO	2 max	mÁ
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{\rm CE} = 5$ V, Ic = 0.5 A	hfe	40 min	
$V_{CE} = 5 V$, $I_C = 4 A$	hre	20 to 80	
$\dot{V}_{CE} = 2$ \dot{V} , $I_C = 4$ A	hre	12 min	
Second-Breakdown Collector Current (VCE = 40 V.			
base forward-biased)	Is/b	500 min	mA
Delay Time (Vcc = 30 V, $Ic = 4$ A,			
$I_{B_1} = 0.4 A, I_{B_2} = -0.4 A$	ta	40 max	ns
Disc Time $(V_{\rm m} - 20) V_{\rm m} = 4 A$			
$\frac{1}{1} = \frac{1}{1} = \frac{1}$	t-	400 max	ns
$1B_1 = 0.4 A, 1B_2 = -0.4 A$	Cr Cr	TOO MICA	113



MAXIMUM PULSE OPERATING AREAS

2

ŕF



CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Storage Time (Vcc = 30 V, Ic = 4 A,			
$I_{B_1} = 0.4$ A, $I_{B_2} = -0.4$ A)	ts	800 max	ns
Fall Time ($Vcc = 30$ V, $Ic = 4$ A,			
$I_{B_1} = 0.4 \text{ A}, I_{B_2} = -0.4 \text{ A}$	tr	400 max	ns



7A, 35W

2N5202

Si n-p-n epitaxial type used in high-current, high-speed switching circuits. JEDEC TO-66, Outline No.25.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCBO	120	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage: $R_{BE} = 50 \Omega$	VCER (SUS)	75	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VERO	10	v
Collector Current	Ie	4	Å
Peak Collector Current	ic	5	Ā
Base Current	IB	2	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
To up to 25°C	Рт	35	w
To above 25°C	Рт	See curve p	age 300
Temperature Range:		•	
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	°Č
Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Tr	255	۰Č

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$(Ic = 0.2 \text{ A}, R_{BE} = 50 \Omega)$	VCER(sus)	75 min	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage			
$(V_{CE} = 1.2 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 4 \text{ V})$	VBE	1.9 max	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 4 \text{ A}, I_{\rm B} = 0.4 \text{ A})$	Ver (sat)	1.2 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{\rm CE} = 100$ V, $V_{\rm BE} = -1.5$ V	ICEV	10 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 100 \text{ V}, \text{ V}_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ T}_{C} = 150^{\circ}\text{C}$	ICEV	10 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 6 V$, $I_{C} = 0$)	IEBO	10 max	mA
Output Capacitance (V _{CB} = 10 V, I _E = 0, f = 1 MHz)	Coho	175 max	nF



465

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Second-Breakdown Collector Current ($V_{CE} = 40$ V,	Is/b	400 min	mA
Second-Breakdown Energy (VBB = -4 V, RB = 50 Ω .	20,7 5		
$L = 50 \ \mu H$	Es/b	0.4 min	mJ
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 1.2 V, I_C = 4 A)$	hre	10 to 100	ns
Small-Signal, Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 10 V, I_C = 0.5 A, f = 10 MHz)$	hre	6 min	
Delay Time (Vcc = 30 V, $Ic = 4 A$, $I_{B1} = 0.4 A$)	ta	40 max	ns
Rise Time (Vcc = 30 V, $Ic = 4 A$, $I_{B1} = 0.4 A$)	tr	400 max	ns
Storage Time (Vec = 30 V, Ic = 4 A, I _{B2} = -0.4 A)	ts	800 max	ns
Fall Time (Vec = 30 V, Ic = 4 A, I _{B2} = -0.4 A)	tr	400 max	ns
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θı-c	5 max	°C/W

2N5038

20A, 140W

Si n-p-n epitaxial type used for high-current, highpower, high-speed applications in switching and amplifier circuits in industrial and commercial equipment. JEDEC TO-3, Outlne No.2. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCBO	150	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V, R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$	VCEX(sus)	150	v
$R_{BE} \leq 50 \Omega$	VCER (SUS)	110	v
Base open	VCEO (SUS)	90	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	7	v
Peak Collector Current	ic	30	A
Collector Current	Ic	20	A
Base Current	IB	5	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
Tc up to 25°C. Vcc up to 28 V	Pr	140	w
Te up to 25°C. Ver above 28 V	Рт	See curve p	age 300
Tc above 25°C. Vcc above 28 V	Рт	See curve p	age 300
Temperature Range:	- •		
Operating (Junction)	$T_{J}(opr)$	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	°Č
Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Tu	230	•č

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$I_{\rm C} = 0.2$ A, $I_{\rm B} = 0$, base open	VCEO(SUS)	90 min	v
$V_{BE} = -1.5$ V, Ic = 0.2 A, IB = 0, RBE = 100 Ω ,	. ,		
base-emitter junction reverse biased	VCEX (sus)	150 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = 0.2$ A, $I_{\rm B} = 0$, $R_{\rm BE} \leq 50 \ \Omega$	VCER(SUS)	110 min	ý
Emitter-to-Base Voltage (Ic = 0, IE = 0.05 A)	VEBO	7 min	Ý
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage:			
$I_{\rm C} = 12$ A, $I_{\rm B} = 1.2$ A, $t_{\rm P} \leq 350 \ \mu s$, $df = 2\%$	VCE (sat)	1 max	v
$Ic = 20 A, I_B = 5 A$	Vcr(sat)	2.5 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage ($V_{CE} = 5 V$, $I_C =$			
20 A, IB = 5 A)	VBE(sat)	3.3 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 5 V$, Ic = 12 A,			
$t_{\rm P} \leq 350 \ \mu {\rm s}, \ {\rm df} = 2\%$)	VBE	1.8 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:	_		
$V_{CE} = 70 V_1 I_B = 0$	ICEO	20 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 140 V, V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	ICEV	50 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 100 V, V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	ICEV	10 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 100 \text{ V}, \text{ V}_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ Tc} = 150^{\circ}\text{C}$	ICEV	10 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current:	-		
$V_{EB} = 5 V, 1c = 0$	1EBO	5 max	mA
$V_{EB} = 7 V, I_{C} = 0$	1EBO	50 max	mA
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{CE} = 5 V$, $I_C = 2 A$, $I_P = 350 \mu s$, $df = 2\%$	hff(pulsed)	50 to 200	
$V_{CE} = 5 V, I_C = 12 A, t_P \leq 350 \mu s, df = 2\%$	hre(pulsed)	20 to 100	
Magnitude of Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer			
Ratio ($V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_C = 2$ A, $f = 5$ MHz)	hre	12 min	
Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 10 V$, $I_E = 0$, $f = 1 MHz$)	Cobo	500 max	pF
Second-Breakdown Collector Current:			_
$V_{CE} = 28 V$, base forward-biased,			
non-repetitive pulse $= 1$ s	Is/b	5 min	A
$V_{CE} = 45 V$, base forward-biased,			
non-repetitive pulse $= 1$ s	Is/b	0.9 min	Α
Second-Breakdown Energy ($V_{BE} = -4 V$, $I_C = 12 A$,			
$R_B = 20 \Omega$, $L = 180 \mu$ H, base reverse biased)	Es/b	13 min	m.I


CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_{C} = 2$ A,			
f = 5 MHz)	fr	60 min	MHz
Turn-On-Time ($Vcc = 30$ V, $Ic = 12$ A,			
$I_{B1} = I_{B2} = 1.2 A$	ta 🕂 tr	0.5 max	us
Storage Time ($Vcc = 30$ V, $Ic = 12$ A,	,		μο
$I_{B1} = I_{R2} = 1.2 A$	ts	1.5 max	uS.
Fall Time (Vcc = 30 V, Ic = 12 A,			<i>µ</i>
$I_{B1} = I_{B2} = 1.2 A$	tr	0.5 max	""
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case (Ver - 40 V			<i>µ</i>
$I_{\rm C} = 0.5 \text{ A}$	ALC	1 25 max	°C /W
	03-0	1.40 max	C/ W

20A, 140W

Si n-p-n epitaxial type used for high-current, highpower, high-speed applications in switching and amplifier circuits in industrial and commercial equipment. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 2N5038 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage;	Vсво	120	v
$V_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ R}_{BE} = 100 \Omega$	VCEX (SUS)	120	v
$R_{BE} \leq 50 \ \Omega$	VCER(SUS)	95	ý
Base open	VCEO (SUS)	75	ý
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $=$ 25°C)		
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$I_{C} = 0.2 \text{ A}, I_{B} = 0, \text{ base open}$	Vereo (sus)	75 min	v
base-emitter junction reverse biased	Vanna (cure)	120 min	17
$I_{\rm C} = 0.2$ A, $I_{\rm B} \equiv 0$, $R_{\rm BE} \leq 50$ O	V(EX(SUS)	05 min	v.
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage	VCER(SUS)	55 mm	v
$I_{C} = 10 A$, $I_{R} = 1 A$, $I_{P} = 350 \mu s$, $df = 2\%$	Ver (sat)	1 may	v
$I_{\rm C} = 20$ A, $I_{\rm B} = 5$ A	Vcr(sat)	2.5 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 5 V$, $I_C = 10 A$,	(Sut)	4.0 max	•
$t_{\rm P} \leq 350 \ \mu {\rm s}, \ {\rm df} = 2\%$)	VRE	1.8 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:		1.0 max	•
$V_{CE} = 55 V, I_B = 0$	ICEO	20 max	mA
$V_{\rm CE} = 110$ V, $V_{\rm BE} = -1.5$ V	ICEV	50 max	mA
$V_{\rm CE} = 85 V, V_{\rm BE} = -1.5 V$	ICEV	10 max	mA
VCE = 85 V, VBE = -1.5 V	ICEV	10 max	mA
Emitter-Cuton Current:			
$\mathbf{v}_{\mathrm{EB}} \equiv 5 \mathbf{v}, \mathbf{1c} \equiv 0$	IEBO	15 max	mA
VEB = I V, IC = 0	IEBO	50 max	mA
V is 5 V Li 2 A to 200 a de Ratio			
$V_{CE} = 5$ V, $10 \equiv 2$ A, $10 \approx 350$ µs, $df = 2\%$	hre(pulsed)	30 to 150	
Turn-On-Time (V(μ = 20 V L = 10 A)	hre(pulsed)	20 to 100	
$I_{R1} = I_{R2} = 1$ (V(C = 50 V, 1C = 10 Å,			
Storage Time (Vec $= 30$ V La $= 10$ A	ta + tr	0.5 max	μs
$I_{B1} = I_{B2} - I_A$			
Fall Time (Vec = 30 V, $L_c = 10$ A	L.	1.5 max	μs
$I_{B1} = I_{B2} = 1$ A)	•.	0.5	
,		0.5 max	μs



25A, 125W

2N3263

Si n-p-n epitaxial type used in high-power, high-speed, and high-current applications such as switching circuits, amplifiers, and power oscillators in aerospace, military, and industrial applications. Outline No.29.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vcao	150	v
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	VCEV	150	V
	VCER (SUS)	110	V
	VCEO (SUS)	90	V
	VEBO	7	V
	IC	25	A

2N5039

MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

Base Current	IB Pt	10 See Rating	A g Chart
Temperature Range: Operating (Junction) Storage	Tı (opr) Tsta	-65 to 200 -65 to 200	•C •C
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $=$ 25°C)			
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage: $I_C = 0.2 \text{ A}, I_B = 0$ $I_C = 0.2 \text{ A}, R_{BE} \leq 50 \Omega$	Vceo(sus) Vcer(sus)	90 min 110 min	v v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage $(I_{\rm C} = 15 \text{ A}, I_{\rm B} = 1.2 \text{ A}, t_{\rm P} \leq 350 \ \mu\text{s}, \text{ df} \leq 2\%)$	VCE(sat)	0.75 max	v
(Ic = 15 A, Is = 1.5 A, Is $\leq 350 \ \mu$ s, df $\leq 2\%$) Emitter-to-Base Voltage (IE = 0.02 A, Ic = 0)	V _{BE} (sat) V _{EBO}	1.6 max 7 min	v v
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	ICEV ICBO	20 max 4 max	mA mA
$V_{CB} = 80$ V, $I_E = 0$, $T_C = 125^{\circ}C$ Emitter-Cutoff Current: $V_{CB} = 5$ V $I_C = 0$, $T_C = 25^{\circ}C$	Ісво	4 max 5 max	mA
$V_{EB} = 5$ V, $Ic = 0$, $Tc = 125$ °C Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:	Іево	5 max	mA
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	hre(pulsed) hre(pulsed) hre(pulsed)	40 min 25 to 75 20 min	
Collector-to-Base Feedback Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 10 V$, $I_E = 0$, $f = 1 MHz$)	Съ'с	900 max	p F
I_{III} In the saturated Switch (Vici = 30 V, Ic = 15 A, $I_{B_1} = 1.2$ A, $I_{B_2} = -1.2$ A)	ta + tr	0.5 max	μs
Fair Time, Saturated Switch (Vcc = 30 V, $I_c = 15 \text{ A}, I_{B_1} = 1.2 \text{ A}, I_{B_2} = -1.2 \text{ A})$	tr	0.5 max	μ s
Storage Time, Saturated Switch (Vcc = 30 V, Ic = 15 A, $I_{B_1} = 1.2$ A, $I_{B_2} = -1.2$ A)	t.	1.5 max	μs



SAFE OPERATING REGION





CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Gain-Bandwidth Product (Vc $E = 10$ V, Ic = 3 A, f = 5 MHz)	fт	20 min	MHz
Second-Breakdown Current, Safe Operating Region (VCE = 75 V)	Is/b	350 min	mA
Second-Breakdown Energy, Safe Operating Region ($V_{BE} = -6 V$, $I_C = 10 A$, $R_{BE} = 20 \Omega$, $L = 40_{-}\mu H$)	Es/b	2 min	mJ
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	01-0	1.5 Illax	0/11

25A, 125W

Si n-p-n epitaxial type used in high-power, high-speed, and high-current applications, such as switching circuits, amplifiers, and power oscillators in aerospace, military, and industrial applications. Outline No.29. For curves of safe operating region, transfer characteristics, and static forward-current transfer ratio, refer

to type 2N3263.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCB0	120	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage: $V_{BE} = -1.5 V$ $R_{BE} = 50 \Omega$ $R_{Collector} = 50 \Omega$	Vcev Vcer (sus) Vceo (sus)	120 80 60	v v v
Base open (sustaining voltage) Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector Current	VEBO IC	7 25 10	V A A
Base Current	Rating Chart	for type	2N3263
Temperature Range: Operating (Junction) Storage	TJ(opr) - TSTG -	-65 to 200 -65 to 200	•C •C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:		aa !	37
$I_{\rm C} = 0.2$ A. $I_{\rm B} = 0$	VCEO (SUS)	60 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = 0.2$ A, $R_{\rm BE} \leq 50 \Omega$	VCER(SUS)	80 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic = 15 A,	/ //		37
$I_{\rm B} = 1.2 \text{ A}, t_{\rm p} \leq 350 \ \mu\text{s}, df \leq 2\%$	Vce(sat)	1.2 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic = 15 Å,			
$I_{\rm B} = 1.5 \text{ A}, t_{\rm B} \leq 350 \ \mu\text{s}, df \leq 2\%$	VBE (sat)	1.8 max	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage ($I_E = 0.02$ A, $I_C = 0$)	VEBO	7 min	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CE} = 120 V$, $V_{BE} = -1.5 V$, $T_{C} = 25^{\circ}C$	ICEV	20 max	mA
$V_{CP} = 60 V$, $I_F = 0$, $T_C = 25^{\circ}C$	Ісво	10 max	mA
$V_{CR} = 60 V$, $I_R = 0$, $T_C = 125^{\circ}C$	Ісво	10 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{FB} = 5 V, I_C = 0, T_C = 25^{\circ}C$	IEBO	15 max	mA
$V_{FB} = 5 V$, $I_{C} = 0$, $T_{C} = 125^{\circ}C$	IEBO	15 max	mA
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{CR} = 3 V$, Ic = 5 A, $t_{P} = 350 \mu s$, df $= 2\%$	hre(pulsed)	35 min	
$V_{CE} = 3 V$, $I_C = 15 A$, $t_p = 350 \mu s$, $df = 2\%$	hre(pulsed)	20 to 80	
$V_{CR} = 4 V$, $I_C = 20 A$, $t_p = 350 \mu s$, $df = 2\%$	hfe (pulsed)	15 min	
Collector-to-Base Feedback Capacitance			
$(V_{CB} = 10 V, I_E = 0, f = 1 MHz)$	Chie	900 max	pF
Turn-On Time, Saturated Switch (Vcc = 30 V,			-
$I_{C} = 15 \text{ A}, I_{B_{1}} = 1.2 \text{ A}, I_{B_{2}} = -1.2 \text{ A}$	ta + tr	0.5 max	μS
Fall Time Saturated Switch (Vcc - 30 V			-
$I_{\alpha} = 15 \text{ A}$ In $= 12 \text{ A}$ In $= -12 \text{ A}$	t.	0.5 max	115
$10 = 13 \text{ A}, 18_1 = 1.2 \text{ A}, 18_2 = -1.2 \text{ A}, 10 \text{ A}$	•1	0.0	وير
Storage Time, Saturated Switch ($Vcc = 30$ V,		1.5	
$IC = 15 A, IB_1 = 1.2 A, IB_2 = -1.2 A$	La	1.5 max	μs
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 10 V$,			
$I_{c} = 3 A, f = 5 MHz$)	fr	20 min	MHz
Second-Breakdown Current, Safe Operating			
Region (VCE = 75 V) \dots	Is/b	700 min	mA
Second-Breakdown Energy, Safe Operating			
Region (V _{BE} = 6 V, Ic = 10 A, R _{BE} = 20 Ω ,			-
$L = 40 \ \mu H$)	Es/b	2 min	mJ
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	Ol-c	1.5 max	°C/W

469

2N3264

2N3265

25A. 125W

Si n-p-n epitaxial type used in high-power, high-speed, and high-current applications such as switching circuits, amplifiers, and power oscillators in aerospace, military, and industrial applications. JEDEC TO-63, Outline No.24. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 2N3263 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Transistor Dissipation Рт See Rating Chart

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25° C) Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case θı-c

RATING CHART

ю 100 75 125 2N3266 50 150 2! CASE TEMPERATURE (TC)= 175°C 20 30 40 50 70

2N3266

25A, 125W

Si n-p-n epitaxial type used in high-power, high-speed, and high-current applications such as switching circuits, amplifiers, and power oscillators in aerospace, military, and industrial applications. JEDEC TO-63, Outline No.24. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. For curves of safe operating

region, transfer characteristics, and static forward-current transfer ratio, refer to type 2N3263. This type is identical with type 2N3264 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25° C) Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case O-LA

2N5671

30A, 140W

Si n-p-n epitaxial type used in switching control amplifiers, power gates, switching regulators, power-switching circuits, converters, inverters and control circuits. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.











1 max °C/W

°C/W 1 max

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vebo	120	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage: Base open $R_{BE} \leq 50 \Omega$ $V_{BE} = -1.5 V, R_{BE} \leq 50 \Omega$ Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector Current Base Current	VCEO (SUS) VCER (SUS) VCER (SUS) VEBO IC IR	90 110 120 7 30 10	V V V A A
Tc up to 25°C, Vrs up to 24 V Tc up to 25°C, Vrs up to 24 V Tc above 25°C, Vrs up to 24 V Tc above 25°C, Vrs up to 24 V	Рт Рт Рт	140 See Rati See Rati and curve	W ng Chart ng Chart page 300
Temperature Kange: Operating (Junction) Storage Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T _J (opr) T _{STG} T _P	-65 to 200 -65 to 200 230	ိင ၁၁ ၁
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°	C)		
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage: Ic = 0.2 A, IB = 0 Ic = 0.2 A, I_B = 0, IC = 50 Ω	Vceo(sus) Vcer(sus)	90 min 110 min	v
$V_{BE} = -1.5$ V, $I_{E} = 0.2$ A, $R_{BE} = 50$ II, base-emitter junction reverse biased	Vcex (sus)	120 min	v
$I_B = 1.2 A$) Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{EC} = 5 V$, $I_C = 15 A$) Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage		1.5 max 1.6 max	vv
(Ic = 15 A, I _B = 1.2 A) Collector-Cutoff Current:	Vce(sat)	0.75 max	v
$\begin{array}{l} V_{CE} = 80 \ V, \ I_{B} = 0 \\ V_{CE} = 110 \ V, \ V_{BE} = -1.5 \ V \\ V_{CE} = 100 \ V, \ V_{BE} = -1.5 \ V, \ T_{C} = 150^{\circ}C \\ \text{Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:} \end{array}$	ICEO ICEV ICEV	10 max 12 max 15 max	mA mA mA
$V_{CE} = 2V$, $I_C = 15 A$ $V_{CE} = 5 V$, $I_C = 20 A$ Second-Breakdown Collector Current (base forward biased, non-repetitive pulse = 1 s);	hfe hfe	20 to 100 20 min	
$\begin{array}{l} V_{\rm CE} = 24 \ V \\ V_{\rm CE} = 45 \ V \\ {\rm Second-Breakdown \ Energy} \ (V_{\rm BE} = -4 \ V, \ {\rm Ic} = 15 \ {\rm A}, \end{array}$	Is/b Is/b	5.8 min 0.9 min	A A
$R_{BE} = 20 \ \Omega_{1} \ L = 180 \ \mu H$, base forward biased) Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 10 \ V$, $I_{C} = 2A$) Output Capacitance ($V_{CE} = 10 \ V$, $I_{E} = 0$, $f = 1 \ MHz$) Turn-On Time ($V_{CC} = 30 \ V$, $I_{C} = 15 \ A$, $I_{B1} = I_{B2}$	Ек/ь fт Саво	20 min 50 min 900 max	mJ MHz pF
= 1.2 A) Storage Time (Vcc = 30 V, Ic = 15 A, IB1 = IB2 = 1.2 A) Fall Time (Vcc = 30 V, Ic = 15 A, IB1 = IB2 = 1.2 A) Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case (Vcc = 40 V.	ta + tr ts tr	0.5 max 1.5 max 0.5 max	μs μs μs
1c = 0.5 A)	θJ-C	1.25 max	°C/W



TYPICAL SATURATION CHARACTERISTICS CONDUCTION RATING CHART



2N5672

30A, 140W

Si n-p-n epitaxial type used in switching control amplifiers, power gates, switching regulators, power-switching circuits, converters, inverters and control circuits. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 2N561 except for the following items.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage VCBO	150	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage: $V_{CEO}(s)$ Base open $V_{CEO}(s)$ RBE \leq 50 Ω $V_{CER}(s)$ Vue = 1.5 V. Rue \leq 50 Ω $V_{CER}(s)$	us) 120 us) 140	v v
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)	100	·
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage: Ic = 0.2 A, In = 0 Ic = 0.2 A, In = 0, Reg $\leq 50 \Omega$ Version Version us) 120	v	

$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$, Ic = 0.2 A, $R_{BE} \leq 50 O$, base-emitter	· · /// (DGD)	110	•
junction reverse biased	VCEX (SUS)	150	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			•
$V_{CE} = 80 V, I_B = 0$	ICEO	10 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 135 \text{ V}, \text{ V}_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}$	ICEN	10 max	mA
$V_{\rm CE}$ = 100 V, $V_{\rm BE}$ = -1.5 V, $T_{\rm C}$ = 150 °C	ICEV	10 max	mA

2N6032

50A, 140W

Si n-p-n epitaxial type used for switching and amplifier applications in military, industrial, and commercial equipment. JEDEC TO-3 (modified), Outline No. 73.

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vebo	120	v
Base open	VCEO(SUS) VCER(SUS) VCEX(SUS) VEBO IC IB	90 110 120 7 50 10	V V V A A
Tre up to 25°C and Ver up to 24 V Tre up to 25°C and Ver above 24 V Te above 25°C and Ver above 24 V	Pr Pr Pr	140 See curve See Maximum (Curve and curve	e page 300 Operating e page 300
Temperature Range: Operating (Junction) Storage Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TJ (OPT) TSTG TP	-65 to 200 -65 to 200 230	°C °C °C
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature =	= 25°C)		
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage: Ic = 0.2 A, IB = 0 Ic = 0.2 A, IB = 0, RBE \leq 50 Ω VBE = -1.5 V, Ic = 0.2 A, IB = 0 VBE = -1.5 V, Ic = 0.2 A, IB = 0	E 25°C) VCEO(SUS) VCER(SUS) VCEX(SUS)	90 min 110 min 120 min	v v v
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage: Ic = 0.2 A, IB = 0 $Ir = 0.2 A, IB = 0, RBE \leq 50 \Omega$ VBE = -1.5 V, Ic = 0.2 A, IB = 0 Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic = 50 A, IB = 5 A) Base-to-Emitter Voltage (VcE = 2 V, Ic = 50 A) Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage	= 25°С) Vсео (sus) Vсек (sus) Vсех (sus) Vве (sat) Vве	90 min 110 min 120 min 2 max 2 max	V V V V V
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage: Ic = 0.2 A, I _B = 0 Ic = 0.2 A, I _B = 0, R _{BE} \leq 50 Ω V _{BE} = -1.5 V, Ic = 0.2 A, I _B = 0 Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic = 50 A, I _B = 5 A) Base-to-Emitter Voltage (Vc _E = 2 V, Ic = 50 A) Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic = 50 A, I _B = 5 A)	= 25°C) VCER(SUS) VCER(SUS) VCEX(SUS) VCEX(SUS) VRE(Sat) VCE(Sat)	90 min 110 min 120 min 2 max 2 max 1.3 max	v v v v v v
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage: $I_{\rm C} = 0.2 \text{ A}, I_{\rm B} = 0$ $I_{\rm C} = 0.2 \text{ A}, I_{\rm B} = 0$ $R_{\rm E} = 50 \Omega \Omega$ $V_{\rm BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, I_{\rm C} = 0.2 \text{ A}, I_{\rm B} = 0$ Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage ($I_{\rm C} = 50 \text{ A}, I_{\rm B} = 5 \text{ A}$) Collector-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{\rm CE} = 2 \text{ V}, I_{\rm C} = 50 \text{ A}$) Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage ($I_{\rm C} = 50 \text{ A}, I_{\rm B} = 5 \text{ A}$) Collector-Cutoff Current: $V_{\rm CE} = 80 \text{ V}, I_{\rm B} = 0$ $V_{\rm CE} = -110 \text{ V} V_{\rm BE} = -15 \text{ V}$ base emitter	= 25°C) VCEO(SUS) VCER(SUS) VCEX(SUS) VBE(Sat) VBE VCE(Sat) ICEO	90 min 110 min 120 min 2 max 2 max 1.3 max 10 max	V V V V V mA
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage: Ic = 0.2 A, In = 0 Ic = 0.2 A, In = 0, Rnc $\leq 50 \Omega$ Vnc = -1.5 V, Ic = 0.2 A, In = 0 Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic = 50 A, In = 5 A) Base-to-Emitter Voltage (Vcc = 2 V, Ic = 50 A) Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic = 50 A, In = 5 A) Collector-Cutoff Current: Vcc = 80 V, In = 0 Vcc = 110 V, Vnc = -1.5 V, base-emitter junction reverse biased Var = -15 V, base emitter	= 25°C) VCEO(SUS) VCER(SUS) VCEX(SUS) VRE(Sat) VRE(Sat) ICEO ICEO ICEV	90 min 110 min 120 min 2 max 2 max 1.3 max 10 max 12 max	V V V V MA mA





CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 7$ V, $I_{C} = 0$) I_{E} Static Forward-Current Transfer Potio	(BO) 10 max	mA
$(V_{CE} = 2.6 V, I_C = 50 A)$	PE 10 to 50	
$V_{CE} = 24$ V, base forward blased,		
non-repetitive pulse $= 1$ s Is VCE = 40 V, base forward biased,	/h 5.8 min	Α
non-repetitive pulse = 1 s Is Second-Breakdown Energy ($V_{\rm BE} = -4$ V,	/b 0.9 min	А
Ic = 20 A, L = 310 μH , R _{BE} = 5 Ω , base reverse biased)	ch 69 min	
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 2 \text{ A}$) fr Output Capacitance ($V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 2 \text{ A}$)	50 min	mJ MHz
f = 1 MHz)	900 max	\mathbf{pF}
$I_{B1} = I_{B2} = 4 V$	+ tr 1 max	μs
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1.5 max	μs
$I_{B1} = I_{B2} = 4 \text{ V}$ $Thermal Besistance Invation to Construct tr$	0.5 max	μS
$(V_{CE} = 20 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 2.5 \text{ A})$ Θ_J	1.25 max	°c/w

MAXIMUM OPERATING AREAS TYPE 2N6032 CASE TEMPERATURE (TC)=25°C 100 (FOR TC ABOVE 25°C DERATE LINEARLY) COLLECTOR AMPERES (IC) SO IC MAX 40 IC MAX (CONT) 2 (CONT) 2N6032 2N6033 LINA 10 -8 6 4 MITE 2 1 a 6 4 VCEO MAX 2 VCEO MAX.= 90 -=120 V (2N6032) 0.1 (2N6033) я 1 10 100 1000 COLLECTOR-TO-EMITTER VOLTS (VCE) 9205-1602011

50A, 140W

2N6033

Si n-p-n epitaxial type used for switching and amplifier applications in military, industrial, and commercial equipment. JEDEC TO-3 (modified), Outline No. 73.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Verm	150	
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:	• • • • • •	150	v
Base open	Vana		
$R_{BE} \leq 50 \ \Omega$	VCEO(SUS)	120	v
$R_{BE} \leq 50 \Omega, V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	V(ER(SUS)	140	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VCEX (SUS)	150	v
Collector Current	VEBO	7	v
Base Current	Î.c	40	Å
Transistor Dissipation:	11:	10	A
To up to 25°C and Von up to be W	_		
Te up to 25°C and Von about 24 V	Pr	140	
Tr above 25°C and V above 24 V	PT	See during no	
and ver above 24 V	Pr See Max	cimum Onesting	ge 300
	· OCC MIN/	unum Operating	Curve

473

MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

Temperature Range: Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr) Tstg	-65 to 200 -65 to 200	°C °C
Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Tr	230	°C
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature =	= 25°C)		
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage: $I_{C} = 0.2 \text{ A}, I_{B} = 0$ $I_{C} = 0.2 \text{ A}, I_{B} = 0, R_{BE} \leq 50 \Omega$ $I_{C} = 0.2 \text{ A}, I_{B} = 0, R_{BE} \leq 50 \Omega$	VCEO (SUS) VCER (SUS) VCEX (SUS)	120 min 140 min 150 min	v v v
$ \begin{array}{l} V_{IIE} = -I_{II} V_{I} V_{I} = 0 \text{ If } I_{II} V_{I} = 0 \text{ If } I_{II} = 0 $	VBE (sat) VBE	2 max 2 max	v v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage $(I_{\rm C} = 40 \text{ A}, I_{\rm B} = 4 \text{ A})$	VCE(sat)	1 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current: $V_{CE} = 80$ V, $I_{B} = 0$	Iceo	10 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 135$ V, $V_{BE} = -1.5$ V, base-emitter junction reverse biased	ICEV	10 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 100 V$, $V_{BE} = -1.5 V$, base-emitter junction reverse biased, $T_{C} = 150^{\circ}C$ Emitter-Cutoff Current (VEB = 7 V, I _C = 0)	ICEV IEBO	10 max 10 max	mA mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio ($Vcc = 2 V$, $Ic = 40 A$) Second-Breakdown Collector Current:	hre	10 to 50	
V _{CE} = 24 V, base forward biased, non-repetitive pulse = 1 s	Is/b	5.8 min	А
$V_{CE} = 40$ V, base forward blased, non-repetitive pulse = 1 s	Is/b	0.9 min	Α
Ic = 20 A, L = 310 μ H, R _{BE} = 5 Ω, base reverse biased) Gain-Bandwidth Product (Ve _E = 10 V, Ic = 2 A)	Es/b fr	62 min 50 min	mJ MHz
Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 10$ V, $I_E = 0$, f = 1 MHz)	Cobo	800 max	pF
Turn-On Time (Vcc = 30 V, Ic = 50 A, IB1 = IB2 = 5 V)	ta + tr	1 max	μs
Storage Time (vec = 30 v, $1c = 50$ A, $I_{B1} = I_{B2} = 5$ V)	ta	1.5 max	μs
Fall Time (Vec = 30 V, Ic = 50 A, $I_{B1} = I_{B2} = 5$ V)	tr	0.5 max	μs
$(V_{CE} = 20 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 2.5 \text{ A})$	өл-с	1.25 max	°C/W

Diffused-Junction N-P-N Types

40084

1A, 1.8W

(S)8

Œ

3

Si n-p-n triple-diffused planar type used in a wide variety of small and medium-power applications (up to 20 MHz) in industrial equipment. JEDEC TO-18, Outline No.12.

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	60	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			
$R_{BE} \equiv 10$ G	VCER	50	v
Base open	VCEO	40	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	5	v
Collector Current	Ic	1	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
Te up to 25°C	Рт	1.8	w
T _A up to 25°C	PT	0.5	w
TA or Tc above 25°C	PT	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 200	•C
Storage	Тята	-65 to 200	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL	225	•C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($Ic = 0.1 \text{ mA}$.			
$I_{\rm E} = 0$)	V(BR)('BO	60 min	v
$L_{\rm Ic} = 0$			
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:	V (BR)EBO	5 min	v
$I_c = 100 \text{ mA}, R_{BE} = 10 \Omega, t_p = 300 \mu s, df = 1.8\% \dots$	VCER(SUS)	50 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = 100$ mA, $I_{\rm B} = 0$, $t_{\rm P} = 300 \ \mu \text{s}$, $df = 1.8\%$	VCEO (SUS)	40 min	v
$I_{\rm R} = 15 \text{ mA}$	¥7(+)	1 7	37
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic = 150 mA.	VBE(Sat)	1.7 max	v
$I_B = 15 \text{ mA}$)	VCE(sat)	1.4 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = 30$ V, $I_E = 0$)	Ісво	0.25 max	μÀ
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 4 V$, Ic = 0)	IEBO	0.25 max	μÂ
Input Capacitance ($V_{EB} = 0.5 V$, $I_C = 0$)	Cibo	80 max	pF
Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 10$ V, $I_E = 0$)	Cobe	15 max	pF
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			-
$(V_{CE} = 10 V, I_C = 150 mA, t_p = 300 \mu s,$			
df = 1.8%)	hre	50 to 250	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 50 \text{ mA}, f = 20 \text{ MHz})$	hre	5 min	14
Noise Figure (R ₆ = 500 Ω , circuit bandwidth = 15 kHz.		0	
$V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 0.3 \text{ mA}, f = 1 \text{ kHz}$	NF	8 max	dB
Thermal Resistance:		0 max	-
Junction-to-Case	Ar-c	97 max	°C/W
Junction-to-Ambient	Å.	350 max	°C/W
		ooo max	C/ W

1A, 5W

2N1479



Si n-p-n diffused-junction type used in power switching circuits such as dc-to-dc converters, inverters, choppers, solenoid and relay controls; in oscillators, regulators, and pulse amplifier circuits; and as class A and class B push-pull audio and servo amplifiers in industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCBO	60	1
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:	1020		
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	VCEV	60	v
Base open (sustaining voltage)	VCEO(SUS)	40	τů
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VERO	12	τů
Collector Current	Ic	15	Å
Emitter Current	Îm	-175	2
Base Current	Îp	-1.15	
Transistor Dissipation:	*0	1	
Tc up to 25°C	Pr	F	332
Tc above 25°C	Pr	See aurve nade	200
Temperature Range:	- 1	bee cuive page	300
Operating (Tc) and Storage (Tarc)		65 to 200	•
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Π.	-03 10 200	

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage (Ic $= 50$ mA)			
$I_B = 0$	VCEO(SUS)	40 min	37
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{BE} = -1.5$.	(10(505)	40 11111	v
Ic = 0.25 mA)	Very	60 min	37
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (Von - 4 V Lo - 200 mA)	W	do min	
Collector-Cutoff Current:	VBE	3 max	v
$V_{CB} = 30 V, I_E = 0, T_C = 25^{\circ}C$	Ісво	10 max	A
$V_{CB} = 30 V_{.} I_{E} = 0 T_{C} - 150^{\circ}C$	Luno	F00 max	μη.
Emitter Cutoff Current (M-	10.80	out max	<i>μ</i> Α.
$\frac{1}{12} = \frac{1}{12} $	1EBO	10 max	μA
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Resistance			
(Ic = 200 mA, IB = 20 mA)	rcr(sat)	7 max	~
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio (Vor - A V	(Sut)	1 max	
$I_{c} = 200 \text{ mA}$	hee	20 to 60	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Patio	ALF D	20 10 00	
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 5 mA f = 1 kW_7)$	L .		
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfor Patie Cutoff	fife	50	
Frequency (View - 20 View - 1 ansier-Ratio Cuton			
$requerey (vers = 28 v, 1c = 5 mA) \dots$	fhfb	50 max	kH7

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Gain-Bandwidth Product	fr	1.5	MHz
Output Capacitance (VCB = 40 V, Ic = 0, f = 1 kHz)	Cobo	150	pF
Thermal Time Constant	τ (thermal)	10	ms
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θi-c	35 max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	⊖1-v	200 max	°C/W

TYPICAL OPERATION IN POWER-SWITCHING CIRCUIT (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

DC Supply Voltage	Vec	12	v
DC Base-Bias Voltage		-8.5	v
Generator Resistance	$\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{G}}$	50	Ω
"On" DC Collector Current	Ic	200	mA
"Turn-On" Base Current	I _{B1}	20	mA
"Turn-Off" Base Current	IB:	-8.5	mA
Delay Time	ta	0.2	μs
Rise Time	tr	1	μs
Storage Time	t.	0.6	μs
Fall Time	tr	1	μS

2N1480

1A. 5W

Si n-p-n diffused-junction type used in power switching circuits such as dc-to-dc converters, inverters, choppers, solenoid and relay controls; in oscillators, regulators, and pulse amplifier circuits; and as class A and class B push-pull audio and servo amplifiers in industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. This type is identical with type 2N1479 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	100	v
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	$V_{CEV} = V_{CEO}(sus)$	100 55	v v
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)			
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage (Ic = 50 mA, $I_B = 0$)	Vceo(sus)	55 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage (VBE = -1.5 V,			

2N	14	181	

1A, 5W

Si n-p-n diffused-junction type used in power switching circuits such as dc-to-dc converters, inverters, choppers, solenoid and relay controls; in oscillators, regulators, and pulse amplifier circuits; and as class A and class B push-pull audio and servo amplifiers in industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. This type is identical with type 2N1479 except for the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

 $I_{\rm C} = 0.25 ~{\rm mA}$)

Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 200 \text{ mA}$)	hrs	35 to 100	
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Resistance		-	~
$(I_{\rm C} = 200 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 10 \text{ mA})$	rce(sat)	7 max	- 11



100 min

VCEV

2N1482



Si n-p-n diffused-junction type used in power switching circuits such as dc-to-dc converters, inverters, choppers, solenoid and relay controls; in oscillators, regulators, and pulse amplifier circuits; and as class A and class B push-pull audio and servo amplifiers in industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. This

type is identical with type 2N1479 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	100	v
VBE = -1.5 V Base open (sustaining voltage)	VCEV VCEO (sus)	100 55	v v
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)			
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage (Ic = 50 mA, IB = 0)	VCEO (sus)	55 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}$, Ic = 0.25 mA)	VCEV	100 min	v
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, I: = 200 mA)	hfe	35 to 100	
$(I_{\rm C} = 200 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 10 \text{ mA})$	rce(sat)	7 max	Ω

1A, 5W

2N1700



Si n-p-n diffused-junction type used in power-switching circuits such as dc-to-dc converters, inverters, choppers, solenoid and relay controls; in oscillators, regulators, and pulse-amplifier circuits; and as class A and class B push-pull audio and servo amplifiers in industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. For

typical operation in a power-switching circuit, refer to type 2N1479.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	60	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	VCEV	60	v
Base open (sustaining voltage)	VCEO(SUS)	40	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	6	v
Collector Current	Ic	1	A
Base Current	IB	0.75	A
Transistor Dissination			
T _c up to 25° ()	Рт	5	w
Tr above 25°C	Pr	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T ₁ (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storade	Tera	-65 to 200	°Č
Lood-Soldering Temperature (10 c max)	$\hat{\mathbf{T}}_{i}$	255	°Č
LEAU-OVIDEITHE LEMPERATORY IV 3 MAAT MANNAMINING	A 1/	=00	-

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage (Ic = 50 mA, $I_{R} = 0$)	VCEO (SUS)	40 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{BB} = -1.5$ V,	•••		
$I_{\rm C} = 0.5 {\rm mA}$	VCEV	60 min	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (VCE = 4 V, Ic = 100 mA)	VBE	2 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CB} = 30 V_{C} I_{E} = 0$, $T_{C} = 25^{\circ}C$	Ісво	75 max	μA
$V_{cm} = 30 \text{ V}$ $I_{m} = 0$ $T_{c} = 150^{\circ}\text{C}$	ICRO	1000 max	'u A
$T_{1} = 0, T_{2} = 0, T_{1} = 0, T_{2} = 0$	Tana	25 max	
Emitter-Cuton Current (VEB $\equiv 6$ V, $10 \equiv 0$)	TERO	25 max	μΑ
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Resistance			
$(I_{\rm C} = 100 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 10 \text{ mA})$	rce(sat)	10 max	Ω
Static Forward-Current Transfer Batio			
State Forward-Current Transfer Transfer	have	20 to 20	
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 100 \text{ mA})$	IIFE	20 10 80	
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θ1-c	35 max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance Junction-to-Ambient	A1-4	200 max	°C/W
Incimal Accidance, Cancelon-to-Innotent management	0.		27 11

40367

1A, 5W

Si n-p-n single-diffused type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material. This type is subjected to special preconditioning tests for highreliability operation in medium- and high-power switching and amplifier applications in military and industrial equipment. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. This type is a high-reliability version of type 2N1482.



MAXIMUM RATINGS

. _ ...

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	100	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			
$V_{\rm BE} = -1.5 V$	VCEV	100	v
Base open	VCEO	55	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	12	v
Collector Current	Ic	1.5	А
Base Current	IB	1	А
Transistor Dissipation:			
T _A up to 25°C	Рт	1	w
Te up to 25°C	Рт	5	w
TA or Tc above 25°C	Рт	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	°C
Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Тр	255	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature \pm 25°C)

Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage			
$(V_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 0.25 \text{ mA})$	V(BR)CEV	100 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 50 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 0)$	VCEO(SUS)	55 m in	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 200 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 10 \text{ mA})$	VCE(sat)	1.4 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 200 mA$)	VBE	3 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current (VCB = 30 V, IE = 0)	Ісво	4 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 12$ V, Ic = 0)	IEBO	2 max	μÂ
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 200 mA)$	hfe	35 to 100	
······································			

2N1701

2.5A, 25W

Si n-p-n diffused-junction type used in power-switching applications such as dc-to-dc converter, inverter, chopper, solenoid and relay control circuits; in oscillator, regulator, and pulse-amplifier circuits; and as class A and class B push-pull audio and servo amplifiers in industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-8, Outline



No.10. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	60	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage: $V_{BE} = -1.5$ V	VCEV	60	v
Base open (sustaining voltage)	VCEO (SUS)	40	Ū.
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	Vebo	6	v
Collector Current	Ic	2.5	Α
Base Current	IB	1	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
T _C up to 25°C	Рт	25	w
Tc above 25°C	Рт	See curve page	300

MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	Тато	-65 to 200	•Č
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T_L	235	•C

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage (Ic = 100 mA, $I_{\rm R} = 0$)	N	10	
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{BE} = -1.5$.	VCEO(SUS)	40 min	v
Ic = 0.75 mA)	VCEV	60 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage:			
(1C = 2.5 A, 1B = 1 A)	Vce(sat)	12.5 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, Ic = 300 mA)	VBE	3 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CB} = 30 \text{ V}, I_E = 0, T_C = 25^{\circ}C$	Ісво	100 max	иA
$V_{CB} = 30 V, I_E = 0, T_C = 150^{\circ}C$	ICRO	1500 max	
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VER = -6 V, Ic = -6)	Impo	50 max	
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Resistance	ILBU	JUINAX	μΑ
$(Ic = 300 \text{ mA}, I_B = 30 \text{ mA})$	rep (sat)	5 max	0
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:	ICE (Set)	Jinax	14
$V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 300 mA$	hem	20 to 80	
$V_{CE} = 20 V, I_C = 2.5 A$	hee	5 min	
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	0	7 max	*C/37
Thermal Resistance, Junction to Ambient			
mermar nesistance, sunction-to-Ampleint	Q1-Y	100 max	*C/W

3A, 25W

2N1483



Si n-p-n diffused-junction type used in dc-to-dc converters, inverters, choppers, dc and servo amplifiers, relay- and solenoid-actuating circuits in industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-8, Outline No.10. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCBO	60	37
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:	100	00	•
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	VCEV	60	v
Base open (sustaining voltage)	VCEO (SUS)	40	- ÷
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VERO (SUS)	10	- v
Collector Current	To To	12	X
Emitter Current	10	ູ	
Base Current	T n	-3.5	Ą
Transistor Dissipation:	IB	1.5	A
Tc up to 25°C	PT	25	337
Tc above 25°C	D.	20 20	200
Temperature Range:	L L	See curve page	300
Operating (Tc) and Storage (Terre)		65 to 200	
Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T -	-03 10 200	
	IP	235	- °C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

(us) 40 min	
40 11111	v
60 min	37
25	, v
3.5 max	v
15 max	
15 max	μΑ
750 max	μA
15 max	μA
) 9.67 maara	~
) 2.07 max	
20 to 60	
1.25	MH ₇
175	
113	pr
nai) 10	ms
7 max	°C/W
100 max	°C/W
	us) 40 min 60 min 3.5 max 15 max 750 max 15 max 15 max 20 to 60 1.25 175 nal) 10 7 max 100 max

2N1484

3A, 25W

Si n-p-n diffused-junction type used in dc-to-dc converters, inverters, choppers, dc and servo amplifiers, relay- and solenoid-actuating circuits in industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-8, Outline No.10. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 2N1483 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	100	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:	Vcev	100	v
VHE = -1.5 V	Vceo(sus)	55	v
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature \pm 25°C)			
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Vceo(sus)	55 min	v
	Vcev	100 min	v

2N1485

3A, 25W

Si n-p-n diffused-junction type used in dc-to-dc converters, inverters, choppers, dc and servo amplifiers, relay- and solenoid-actuating circuits in industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-8, Outline No.10. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 2N1483 except for the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS (/	At case	temperature	— 25°C)	
Base-to-Emitter Voltage Static Forward-Current	$(V_{CE} = T_{Transfer})$	4 V, Ic $= 750$ Ratio (Vce	$ \begin{array}{c} mA) & \dots \\ = 4 & V, \end{array} $	VBR

Ie = 750 mA)	******	hfe	35
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation	Resistance	<i>i</i> 15	
$(I_{\rm C} = 750 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 40 \text{ mA})$	•••••••••••••••••••	rce (sat)	

2N1486

3A, 25W

Si n-p-n diffused-junction type used in dc-to-dc converters, inverters, choppers, dc and servo amplifiers, relay- and solenoid-actuating circuits in industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-8, Outline No.10. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 2N1483 except for the following items:

Collector-to-Base Voltage	V СВО	100	v
Confector-to-Emitter voltage: $V_{RE} = -1.5 V$ Base open (sustaining voltage)	Vcev Vceo (sus)	100 55	vv
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)			
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage (Ie = 100 mA, IB = 0) $(I_{\rm B} = 0)$	Vceo(sus)	55 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage (VBE = -1.5 V, Ic = 0.25 mA) Base-to-Emitter Voltage (VcE = 4 V, Ic = 750 mA)	VCEV VBE	100 min 2.5 max	vv
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 750 mA$)	hfe	35 to 100	



2.5 max	v
35 to 100	
1 max	Ω



CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Collector-to-Emitter	Saturation	Resistance	
$(Ic = 750 \text{ mA}, I_B)$	= 40 mA		rce(sat)

1 max

40368

Ω

481

Si n-p-n single-diffused type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material. This type is subjected to special preconditioning tests for highreliability operation in medium- and high-power switching and amplifier applications in military and industrial equipment. JEDEC TO-8, Outline No.10. See Mounting

Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is a high-reliability version of type 2N1486.

3A. 25W

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	100	v
$V_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}$	VCEV	100	v
Base open	VCEO	55	Ý
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	12	v
Collector Current	Ic	3	A
Base Current	IB	1.5	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
Te up to 25°C	Рт	25	W
Te above 25°C	Рт	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T. (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	°C
Pin-Soldering Temperature	T_P	235	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage			
$(V_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 0.25 \text{ mA})$	V(BR)CEV	100 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(Ic = 100 \text{ mA}, I_B = 0)$	VCEO(SUS)	55 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 750 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 10 \text{ mA})$	VCE(sat)	0.75 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (VCE = 4 V, Ic = 750 mA)	VBE	2.5 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current (V($B = 30$ V, IE = 0)	Ісво	9 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 12$ V, Ic = 0)	IEBO	5 max	μA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 750 mA)$	hre	35 to 100	
· · - · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			

5A, 75W

2N1702



Si n-p-n diffused-junction type used in power-switching applications such as dc-to-dc converter, inverter, chopper, and relay control circuits; in voltage and current regulator circuits; and in dc and servo amplifier circuits. Similar to JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.3. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

Collector-to-Base Voltage	\mathbf{v}_{cbo}	60	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	VCEV	60	v
Base open (sustaining voltage)	VCEO (SUS)	40	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	6	v
Collector Current	Ic	5	A
Base Current	IB	2.5	Α
Transistor Dissipation:			-
Tc up to 25°C	Рт	75	w
T _C above 25°C	\mathbf{P}_{T}	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T. (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	°C

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage ($Ic = 100 \text{ mA}$,			
$I_B = 0$)	VCEO (SUS)	40 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{BE} = -1.5$ V,			
Ic = 1 mA)	VCEV	60 min	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 800 mA$)	VBE	4 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CB} = 30 V, I_E = 0, T_C = 25^{\circ}C$	Ісво	200	μA
$V_{CB} = 30 V, I_E = 0, T_C = 150^{\circ}C$	Ісво	2000	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 6 V$, Ic = 0)	IEBO	100	μA
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Resistance			-
$(I_{\rm C} = 800 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 80 \text{ mA})$	rce(sat)	4 max	Ω
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio ($V_{CE} = 4 V$,			
$I_{\rm C} = 800 {\rm mA}$)	hre	15 to 60	
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θ1-c	2.33 max	°C/W

2N1487 6A, 75W

Si n-p-n diffused-junction type used in dc-to-dc converters, inverters, choppers, voltage and current regulators, dc and servo amplifiers, relay- and solenoidactuating circuits. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	60	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	VCEV	60	v
Base open (sustaining voltage)	VCEO (SUS)	40	Ý
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	10	Ý
Collector Current	Ic	6	Á
Emitter Current	IE	8	A
Base Current	In	3	Ā
Transistor Dissipation:			
TWF at 25°C	Pr	75	w
TMF above 25°C	PT	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:		. 0-	
Operating (Tyr) and Storage (Tsrg)		-65 to 200	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At mounting-flange temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Conector-to-Emitter Sustaining voltage ($1C \equiv 100$ mA,	Vano (cuc)	10 min	37
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{PE}15$ V	V(K)(Sus)	40 11111	v
$I_{\rm C} = 0.5 \text{ mA}$	VCEV	60 min	v
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage ($V_{CE} = 4 V$,		•• ••••	•
$I_{\rm C} = 1.5 \rm A$)	VBE	3.5 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CB} = 30 \text{ V}, I_E = 0, T_A = 25^{\circ}C$	Ісво	25 max	μA
$V_{CB} = 30 V, I_E = 0, T_A = 150^{\circ}C$	Ісво	1000 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 10$ V, $I_C = 0$)	IEBO	25 max	μA
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Resistance			
$(I_{\rm C} = 1.5 \text{ A}, I_{\rm B} = 300 \text{ mA})$	rcs(sat)	2 max	Ω
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio ($V_{CE} = 4 V$,			
Ic = 1.5 A	hfe	15 to 45	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer-Ratio Cutoff			
Frequency ($V_{CB} = 12$ V, $I_C = 100$ mA)	fhfb	1	MHz
Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 40$ V, $I_E = 0$)	Cobo	200	\mathbf{pF}
Thermal Time Constant	τ (thermal)	12	ms
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Mounting Flange	Ө л-мғ	2.33 max	°C/W

2N1488

6A, 75W

Si n-p-n diffused-junction type used in dc-to-dc converters, inverters, choppers, voltage and current regulators, dc and servo amplifiers, relay- and solenoid-actuating circuits. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 2N1487 except for the following items:





MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	100	v
$V_{\text{RE}} = -1.5 \text{ V}$ Base open (sustaining voltage)	Vcev Vceo(sus)	100 55	v v
CHARACTERISTICS (At mounting-flange temperatu	ure <u>=</u> 25°C)		
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage ($lc = 100 \text{ mA}$, $I_B = 0$)	VCEO (SUS)	55 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{BE} = -1.5$ V, Ic = 0.5 mA)	VCEV	100 min	v

6A, 75W

2N1489



Si n-p-n diffused-junction type used in dc-to-dc converters, inverters, choppers, voltage and current regulators, dc and servo amplifiers, relay- and solenoid-actuating circuits. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 2N1487 except for the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS (At mounting-flange temperatu	re 😑 25°C	;)	
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 1.5 A$)	VBE	2.5 max	v
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio (Vce = 4 V,			
$I_{\rm C} = 1.5 ~\rm{A}$)	hfe	25 to 75	
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Resistance			_
$(Ic = 1.5 \text{ A}, I_B = 100 \text{ mA})$	rce(sat)	0.67 max	Ω

6A, 75W

Si n-p-n diffused-junction type used in dc-to-dc converters, inverters, choppers, voltage and current regulators, dc and servo amplifiers, relay- and solenoid-actuating circuits. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 2N1487 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS			
Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	100	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage: $V_{\rm HE} = -1.5$ V Base open (sustaining voltage)	Vcev Vceo(sus)	100 55	v v
CHARACTERISTICS (At mounting-flange temperatu	$re = 25^{\circ}C$)		
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(V_{\rm C} = 100 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 0)$	VCEO (SUS)	55 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage	17	100 min	37
$(V_{BE} = -1.5 V, 1c = 0.5 mA)$	VCEV	100 min	v.
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 1.5 A$)	VBE	2.5 max	v
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio ($v_{CE} = 4 v$, $I_C = 1.5 A$)	hfe	25 to 75	
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Resistance		0.05	~
(1c = 1.5 A, 1B = 100 mA)	rce(sat)	0.67 max	Ω

6A, 75W

40369



Si n-p-n single-diffused type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material. This type is subjected to special preconditioning tests for highreliability operation in medium- and high-power switching and amplifier applications in military and industrial equipment. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. See Mounting

2N1490

Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is a high-reliability version of type 2N1490.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	100	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			
$V_{\rm BE} = -1.5 ~\rm V$	VCEV	100	v
Base open	VCEO	55	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	10	v
Collector Current	Ic	6	A
Base Current	IB	3	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
T _C up to 25°C	Рт	75	w
Tc above 25°C	PT	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:		10	
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	°C
Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TP	235	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage			
$(V_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 0.25 \text{ mA})$	V(BR)CEV	100 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 100 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 0)$	VCEO(SUS)	55 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 1300 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 100 \text{ mA})$	Vce(sat)	1 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 1500 mA$)	VBE	2.5 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = 30$ V, $I_E = 0$)	Ісво	10 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 10$ V, Ic = 0)	IEB0	6 max	μA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			•
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 1500 mA)$	hre	25 to 75	
$(\cdot \cdot $			

2N2338

7.5A, 150W

Si n-p-n diffused-junction type used in dc-to-dc converters, inverters, choppers, and relay-control circuits; in oscillators and voltage- and current-regulator circuits; and in dc and servo-amplifier circuits. JEDEC TO-36, Outline No.14. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	60	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			
$V_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}$	VCEV	60	v
Base open	VCEO	40	V
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	6	v
Collector Current	Ic	7.5	A
Base Current	IB	5	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
Te up to 25°C	Рт	150	w
Te above 25°C	Рт	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:		F=8-	
Operating (Junction)	T ₁ (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	65 to 200	°Č
Lug-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T(lug)	235	°Č

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{BE} = -1.5 V$,			
Ic = 2 mA)	VCEV	60 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(Ic = 200 \text{ mA}, I_B = 0)$	Vceo (sus)	40 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage:			
$I_{\rm C} = 6$ A, $I_{\rm B} = 1$ A	Vce(sat)	3.5 max	v
$I_{\rm C} = 3$ A, $I_{\rm B} = 0.3$ A	VCE(sat)	1.5 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage ($V_{CE} = 4 V$,			
Ic = 3 A	VBE	3 max	v

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Ісво	0.2 max	mA
Ісво	3 max	mA
ICEO	5 max	mA
ICEV	2 max	mA
ICEV	50 max	mA
IEBO	0.1 max	mA
hfe	15 to 60	
hre	12 to 72	
Cobo	600 max	pF
Íhfe	0.015 min	MHz
rce(sat)	0.5 max	Ω
τ (thermal)	30	ms
() 1-0	1.17 max	°C/W
	ICBO ICBO ICEO ICEV ICEV IEBO hFE hfe fbfe rce(sat) τ (thermal) Θ -c	ICBO 0.2 max ICBO 3 max ICEO 5 max ICEV 2 max ICEV 2 max ICEV 2 max ICEV 50 max IEBO 0.1 max hFE 15 to 60 hre 12 to 72 Cobo 600 max fhre 0.015 min rce(sat) 0.5 max r(thermal) 0.5 max $\theta + c$ 1.17 max

TYPICAL OPERATION IN PULSE-RESPONSE TEST CIRCUIT

DC Collector Supply Voltage DC Base-Bias Voltage On DC Collector Current Turn-On DC Base Current Base-Circuit Resistance Collector-Circuit Resistance Turn-On Time	Vcc Ic IR1 RR1, RB3 Rc ta + tr	24 6 10 2 10 2 4	V A A C C H
Turn-Off Time	$t_{a} + t_{f}$	7	μs





10A, 150W

2N2015



Si n-p-n diffused-junction type used in dc-to-dc converter, inverter, chopper, relay-control, oscillator, regulator, pulse-amplifier circuits; and class A and class B push-pull amplifiers for af and servo amplifier applications. JEDEC TO-36, Outline No.14. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	100	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage	VCEO	50	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	10	v
Collector Current	\mathbf{Ic}	10	A
Emitter Current	I_E	13	- A
Base Current	IB	6	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
Te up to 25°C	Рт	150	w
Tr above 25°C	Pr	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			°C
Operating (Tc) and Storage (Tstg)		-65 to 200	
Lug-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T(lug)	235	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{BE} = -1.5 V$, $I_C = 2 mA$)	VCEV	100 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage (Ic = 200 mA, $I_{m} = 0$)	Maria (mara)	50 m in	••
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage $(I_c = 5 A, I_b = 0.5 A)$	V(EO(SUS)	1 25 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (Vcc = 4 V, Ic = 5 A)	VRE	2.2 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			•
$V_{\rm CE}$ = 40 V, $I_{\rm B}$ = 0	Iceo	0.2 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 100 V, V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	ICEV	2 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 30 \text{ V}, \text{ V}_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ T}_{C} = 150^{\circ}\text{C}$	ICEV	2 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VEB = 10 V, $1c = 0$)	lebo	0.05 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 5 A \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$	пгн	15 to 50	
VCE = 4 V, $IC = 10$ A	nfe	7.5 min	
$(V_{uv} - AV_{uv} - 1Af - 1kH_{vv})$	h.,	10 4 - 00	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfor-Ratio Cutoff	nre	12 to 60	
Frequency $(V_{cr} - 4 V I_c - 5 A)$	£	19 min	1-11-
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Resistance	THLE	12 mm	кпг
$(I_{\rm C} = 5 \text{ A}, I_{\rm B} = 0.5 \text{ A})$	rere (sat)	0.25 max	0
Output Capacitance (V _{CB} = 40 V, I _C = 50 μ A,		0.00 1110.4	
f = 1 MHz	Coho	400 max	pF
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	Ou-c	1.17 max	°C∕Ŵ

2N2016

10A, 150W

Si n-p-n diffused-junction type used in dc-to-dc converter, inverter, chopper, relay-control, oscillator, regulator, and pulse-amplifier circuits; and class A and class B push-pull amplifiers for af and servo amplifier applications. JEDEC TO-36, Outline No.14. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 2N2015 except for the following items:



MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage Collector-to-Emitter Voltage	Vcbo Vceo	130 65	v v
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25° C)			
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}$, $I_{C} = 2 \text{ mA}$) Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage ($I_{C} = 200 \text{ mA}$)	VCEV	130 min	v
$I_B = 0$	VCEO (SUS)	65 min	v
$V_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}$	ICEV	2 max	mA

Germanium Power Types

2N274

-0.01A, 0.24W

Ge p-n-p alloy drift-field type used in rf and if amplifier, oscillator, mixer, and converter circuits, and in low-level video-amplifier circuits in industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-44, Outline No.17.

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCB0	-40	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage (VBB = 0.5 V)	VCEV	-40	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	Vebo	-0.5	mA
Collector Current	Ic	10	mA

MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

Emitter Current	IE	10	mA
Transistor Dissipation: TA up to $25^{\circ}C$ TA above $25^{\circ}C$ TA = $25^{\circ}C$ (with heat sink) TA = $25^{\circ}C$ (with heat sink)	Рт Рт Рт Рт	120 See curve p 240 See curve p	mW page 300 mW page 300
Temperature Range: Operating (Junction) Storage	TJ (opr) TSTG	-65 to 100 -65 to 100	°C °C
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage $(1c = -50 \ \mu A, I_E = 0)$	V(BR)CBO	-40 min	v
$(V_{\rm FR} = -0.5 \text{ V})$	VRT	-40 min	v
Collector-Cutoff Current (VcB = -12 V, IE = 0)	Ісво	-12 max	иÅ
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = -0.5$ V, $I_C = 0$)	IEBO	-12 max	μA
$(f = 1 \text{ kHz}, V_{CE} = -12 \text{ V}, I_E = 1.5 \text{ mA})$	hfe	20 to 175	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer-Ratio Cutoff Frequency (Van -12 V In -15 mA)	fr. er	30	MHZ
Output Capacitance (Ver $= -12$ V, $1E = 1.5$ mR)	Cabo	3 max	nF
Input Resistance $(V(B) = -iL V, iE = 0)$	0000	0 max	P*
$V_{CE} = -12$ V, $I_E = 1.5$ mA, $f = 12.5$ MHz	Rie	150	Ω
$V_{CE} = -12$ V, $I_E = 1.5$ mA, $f = 1.5$ MHz	Rie	1350	Ω
Output Resistance:			
$V_{CE} = -12$ V, $I_E = 1.5$ mA, $f = 12.5$ MHz	Roe	4000	Ω
$V_{\rm CE} = -12$ V, $I_{\rm E} = 1.5$ mA, $f = 1.5$ MHz	Roe	70000	Ω
Power Gain:	~		10
$V_{CE} = -12$ V, $I_E = 1.5$ mA, $f = 12.5$ MHz	Gpe	17 to 27	dB
$V_{CE} \equiv -12$ V, $IE \equiv 1.5$ mA, $I \equiv 1.5$ MHz	Gpe	40 10 50	°C/mW
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	01-C	0.62 max	°C/mW
Inernal nesistance, sunction-to-Amplent	()J-A	0.06 IIIAA	<i>€</i> /11144



-0.01A, 0.24W

2N384

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction drift-field type used in rf and if amplifier, oscillator, mixer, and converter circuits, and low-level video-amplifier circuits in industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-44, Outline No.17.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage Voltage VCBO	-40	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{BE} = 0.5 V$) VCEV	-40	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage VEBO	-0.5	v
Collector Current Ic	10	mA
Emitter Current In	10	mA
Transistor Dissipation:		
TA UD to 25°C	120	mW
TA above 25°C Pr See	curve p	bage 300
$T_{\rm C} = 25^{\circ} {\rm C}$ (with heat sink) ${\rm P}_{\rm T}$	240	_ mW
$T_{\rm f}$ above 25°C (with heat sink)	e curve p	bage 300
Temperature Range:	-	-
Gerating (Junction) T ₁ (opr) -	65 to 100	°C
Storage TsTG -	5 to 100	°C

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_{c} = -50 \ \mu A$, $I_{E} = 0$)	V(BR)CBO	-40 min	V
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = -12 V$, $I_E = 0$) Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = -12 V$, $I_E = 0$)	икт Ісво Ікво	-12 max	μĂ
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio (12 - 12) = 12 $(12 - 12) = 12$ $(12 - 12) = 12$	he	-12 max	μη
(VCB = -12 V, E = 1.5 InA, I = 1 KR2) Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio Cutoff Frequency (Van = -12 V, L = 1.5 mÅ)	lise fuer	2010113	MH7
Input Resistance: X = 15 mA	D.	200	
$V_{CE} \equiv -12$ V, $IE \equiv 1.5$ mA, $I \equiv 50$ MHz V _{CE} = -12 V, $IE = 1.5$ mA, $f = 12.5$ MHz	Rie	250	ñ

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Output Resistance:			
$V_{CE} = -12$ V, $I_E = 1.5$ mA, $f = 50$ MHz VCE = -12 V, $I_E = 1.5$ mA, $f = 12.5$ MHz	Ree	5000	Ω
Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = -12 \cdot V$, $I_E = 0$)	Cobo	3 max	pF
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Gре Gре HJ-C HJ-A	15 to 21 24 to 32 0.31 max 0.62 max	dB dB °C/mW °C/mW

TYPICAL OPERATION IN VIDEO-AMPLIFIER CIRCUIT

DC Collector-to-Emitter Voltage	VCE
Source Impedance	110
Conceiting Land	$\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{S}}$
Frequency Response	
Pulse-Rise Time	+ -
Voltage Gain	ur.
Maximum Peak-to-Peak Output Voltage	

2N1023

-0.01A, 0.24W

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction drift-field type used in rf and if amplifier, oscillator, mixer, and converter circuits, military equipment. JEDEC TO-44, Outline No.17.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCB0	-40	v
Conector-to-Emitter voltage ($V_{BE} = 0.5 V$)	VCEV	-40	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	-0.5	ý
Collector Current	Ic	10	mÅ
Emitter Current	Tin	-10	- IIIA
Transistor Dissingtion .	¥ 19	10	mA
TA UD to 25°C	D		
	PT	120	mW
TA ADOVE 25 C	PT	See curve pag	ze 300
Te up to 25°C (with heat sink)	Pr	240	mW
Tc above 25°C (with heat sink)	Pr	See curve par	ge 300
Temperature Range:		····· • • • • •	30 000
Operating (T_A) and Storage (T_{STG})		-65 to 100	•0
- O (-03 10 100	· · ·

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = $-50 \mu A$.			
$I_{\rm E} = 0$)	V(BR)CRO	-40 min	v
Collector-to-Base Reach-Through Voltage	1 (011/010		•
$(V_{EB} = -0.5)$	Vur	-40 min	37
Collector-Cutoff Current (Ver -12 V Ir -0)	Lano	-40 mm	
Emitter-Cutoff Current (Vvn - 05 V L - 0)	Tennu	~12 max	μΑ
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Datis	TEBO	-12 max	μA
$(V_{cm} - 12) V_{cm} - 15 m \Lambda_{cm} = 1 \text{ Line}$	1	004 4	
$(V_{1E} = -12 V, 1E = 1.3 \text{ IIA}, 1 = 1 \text{ KHz})$	n te	20 to 175	
Sinal-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio Cutoff			
Frequency (VCB $\equiv -12$ V, IE $\equiv 1.5$ mA)	fhfb	120	MHz
Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} \equiv -12$ V, $I_E \equiv 0$)	Cobo	3 max	pF
Input Resistance (ac output circuit shorted):			P
$V_{CB} = -12 V$, $I_E = 1.5 mA$, $f = 50 MHz$	Ria	25	0
$V_{CE} = -12$ V, $I_E = 1.5$ mA, $f = 30$ MHz	Ru	100	
Output Resistance (ac input circuit shorted):	1410	100	71
$V_{CB} = -12$ V, $I_E = 1.5$ mA, $f = 50$ MHz	D	0000	~
$V_{CE} = -12$ V, $I_E = 1.5$ mA, $f = 30$ MHz	D	8000	<u> </u>
Power Gain Single-Tuned Unilatoral Circuit)	Noe.	8000	Ω
$V_{\rm CR} = -12$ V In = 15 mA f = 50 MHz	0		
$V_{\rm CB} = -12$ V, $I_{\rm E} = 1.5$ mA, $I = 50$ MHz	Gpe	18 to 24	dB
$T_{\rm hommal} = -12$ v, $T_{\rm h} = 1.3$ m/A, $T_{\rm hommal} = 30$ M/Hz	Gpe	20 to 26	dB
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	H1-C	0.31 max	*C/mW
Inermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	Al-A	0.62 max	°C/mW

TYPICAL OPERATION IN POWER-SWITCHING CIRCUIT

DC Collector-to-Emitter Voltage	10	37
DC Emitter Current	-12	¥.
Source Impedance	5.8	mA
Connecting Load Rs	150	Ω
Capacitive Load	16	pF
Frequency Response	20 Hz to 11 MHz	F
Pulse Rise Time	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	
Voltage Gain	0.032	μs
Marinim Bash to Bash Order A M. H	26	dB
maximum reak-to-reak Output Voltage	20	v



-12 5.8

150

16

26

20

20 Hz to 10 MĤz 0.035

mΑ

Ω

οF

ШS

dВ



-0.01A. 0.24W

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction drift-field type used in rf and if amplifier, oscillator, mixer, and converter circuits, and low-level video-amplifier circuits in industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-33, Outline No.13. This type is electrically identical with type 2N1023.

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction drift-field type used in rf and if amplifier, oscillator, mixer, and converter circuits. and low-level video-amplifier circuits in industrial and

4





-0.01A. 0.24W

-0.01A. 0.24W

2N1225

2N1224

2N1066

Ge p-n-p alloy-juncton drift-field type used in rf and if amplifier, oscillator, mixer, and converter circuits, and low-level video-amplifier circuits in industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-33, Outline No.13. This type is electrically identical with type 2N384. For collector-characteristics curves and video-amplifier circuit. refer to type 2N274.



2N1226

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction drift-field type used in rf and if amplifier, oscillator, mixer, and converter circuits. and low-level video-amplifier circuits in industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-33, Outline No.13, This type is identical with type 2N274 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage $(V_{BE} = 0.5 V)$	Vcbo Vcev	60 60	v v
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = $-50 \ \mu$ A, Iz = 0)	Van	-60 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Reach-Through Voltage (VEB = -0.5 V)	VRT	-60 min	v



0.01A, 0.24W

lowing item:

2N1395 Ge p-n-p alloy-junction drift-field type used in rf and if amplifier, oscillator, mixer, and converter circuits, and low-level video-amplifier circuits in industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-33, Outline No.13. This type is identical with type 2N274 except for the fol-

CHARACTERISTICS

Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio $(V_{CE} = -12 \text{ V}, I_E = 1.5 \text{ mA}, f = 1 \text{ kHz})$ hr.

2N1396

-0.01A. 0.24W

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction drift-field type used in if amplifier, oscillator, mixer, and converter circuits, and low-level video-amplifier circuits in industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-33, Outline No.13. This type is identical with type 2N384 except for the following item:

CHARACTER:STICS

Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio (VCE = -12 V, IE = 1.5 mA, f = 1 kHz) hr.

2N1397

-0.01A. 0.24W

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction drift-field type used in rf and if amplifier, oscillator, mixer, and converter circuits, and low-level video-amplifier circuits in industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-33, Outline No.13. This type is identical with type 2N1023 except for the following item:

CHARACTERISTICS

Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio $(V_{\rm CE}=-12~V,~I_{\rm E}=1.5~mA,~f=1~kHz)$ hea

2N3732

-3A. 3W

Ge p-n-p diffused-collector graded-base type used in 114-degree 18-kV TV deflection systems as a horizontal driver. This type, together with types 2N3730 (vertical output), 2N3731 (horizontal output), and 1N4785 (damper) make up a complete transistor/damper-diode complement. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2.

MAXIMUM RATINGS Collector-to-Base Voltage:

Peak Continuous Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector Current Base Current Transistor Dissination:	VCBO VCBO VEBO IC IB	$-100 \\ -60 \\ -0.5 \\ -3 \\ \pm 0.5$	V V A A
TMF up to 55°C TMF above 55°C Temperature Range	Рт Рт	3 See curve page	W 300
Operating (Junction) Storage Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TJ(opr) TSTG TP	65 to 85 65 to 85 230	
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage (Ic = 5 A, VEB = 0) Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage	V(BR)CES	—100 min	v
$(I_E = -100 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	V(BR)EBO	-0.5 min	v
$(Ic = -0.7 \text{ A}, I_B = -0.02 \text{ A})$	Vce(sat)	-2 max	v

\mathbf{rf}	and	
•	**	



50 to 175

50 to 175



50 to 175



CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Base-to-Emitter Voltage (Ic = -0.7 A,			
$I_B = -0.02 \text{ A}$ Collector-Cutoff Current (V(p = -10 V Ip = 0)	VBE		
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	01-c	1.5 max	°C/W
			-

TYPICAL OPERATION IN HORIZONTAL-DEFLECTION AND HIGH-VOLTAGE CIRCUIT

DC Supply Voltage Average Supply Current	45 0.55	V A
Oscillator and driver circuits	1.5	w
At beam current = 0 At beam current = $200 \ \mu A$ DC High-Voltage Output:	18 22	w w
At beam current = 0	18 17	kV kV
Yoke Current (peak-to-peak) Peak Yoke Energy Retrace Time	10 2.5 11.5	Α mJ μs

-3A, 7.5W

2N1183 2N1183A 2N1183B



Ge p-n-p alloy-junction types intended for use in intermediate-power switching and low-frequency amplifier applications in industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-8, Outline No.10. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

MAAINOW RATINGS		2N1183	2N1183A	2N1183B	
Collector-to-Base Voltage Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:	Vсво	45	-60	-80	v
$V_{B10} = 1.2 V$ $R_{B10} = 0$	VCEV VCES		60 50	80 60	vv
Base open	VCEO	-20	-30	-40	ý
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	-20	-20	-20	A
Collector Current	Ic	-3	-3	-3	A
Emitter Current	IE	3.5	3.5	3.5	A
Base Current	IB	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5	
Transistor Dissipation:					v
TA up to 25°C	Рт	1	1	1	Ŵ
TA above 25°C	PT	See	curve page	300	
Te up to 25°C	P				
(with heat sink)	Рт	1.5	7.5	7.5	w
Tc above 25°C	-				
(with heat sink)	Рт	See	curve page	300	
Temperature Range:					
Operating (Ambient)	T₄(opr)		-65 to 100		•C
Storage	TSTG		—65 to 100		•C

CHARACTERISTICS (At mounting-flange temperature = 25°C.)

Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:					
$I_{\rm C} = -50$ mA, $R_{\rm BE} = 0$	VCES	—35 min	—50 min	—60 min	v
$V_{BR} = 1.2 V, I_{C} = -250 mA$	VCEV	—45 min	—60 min	—80 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = -50$ mA, $I_{\rm B} = 0$	VCEO	—20 min	—30 min	—40 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage:					
$(V_{CE} = -2 V, I_C = -400 mA)$	VEB	1.5 max	1.5 max	1.5 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:					
$V_{CB} = -1.5 V, I_E = 0$	Ісво	—30 max	—30 max	—30 max	μA
$V_{CB} = -45 V, I_E = 0 \dots$	Ісво	-250 max	_	—	μA
$V_{CB} = -60 V, I_{E} = 0$	Ісво	_	—250 max	_	μA
$V_{CB} = -80 V_1 I_E = 0$	Ісво	—	_	—250 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current					
$(V_{EB} = -20 V, I_{C} = 0)$	IEBO	—100 max	—100 max	—100 max	μA
Static Forward-Current					
Transfer Ratio ($V_{CR} = -2 V$.					
$I_{\rm C} = -400 \text{ mA}$	hre	20 to 60	20 to 60	20 to 60	

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer-Ratio Cutoff		2141163	214116JA	21411038	
Frequency ($V_{CB} = -6 V$, $I_{E} = 1 mA$) Collector Saturation	furb	0.5 min	0.5 min	0.5 min	MHz
Resistance (Ic = -400 mA, I _B = -40 mA)		1.25 max	1.25 max	1.25 max	Ω
Junction-to-Case	θ1-c	10 max	10 max	10 max	°C/W
Junction-to-Ambient	A−L⊖	75 max	75 max	75 max	°C/W

2N1184 2N1184A -3A. 7.5W 2N1184B

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction type intended for use in intermediate-power switching and low-frequency amplifier applications in industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-8, Outline No.10. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. These types are identical with types 2N1183, 2N1183A and 2N1183B, respectively, except for the following item:

CHARACTERISTICS (At mounting-flange temperature \pm 25°C)

		2N1184	2N1184A	2N1184B
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio $(V_{CE} = -2 V, I_C = -400 \text{ mA})$	hrs	40 to 120	40 to 120	40 to 120

2N176

-3A, 10W

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction type used in large-signal af amplifiers in class A power-output stages and class B push-pull amplifier stages in automobile radio receivers. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage Collector Current	V сво Іс	40 3	V A
Transistor Dissipation: $T_{MF} = 80^{\circ}C$	Рт	10	w
Temperature Range: Operating (Mounting Flange)	TMF(opr)	-65 to 90	۰C

CHARACTERISTICS (At mounting-flange tempera	ture 😑	25°0)
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = -30$ V, $I_E = 0$)	Ісво	—3 max
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio $(V_{CE} = -2 V, I_C = -0.5 A)$	hre	63 min
Power Gain $(f = 0.001 \text{ MHz})$	Gpe	35.5 2 max
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	A−rθ	1 max

2N351

-3A, 10W

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction type used in large-signal af amplifiers in class A power-output stages and class B push-pull amplifier stages in automobile radio receivers. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. This type is identical with type 2N176 except for the following items:



mA

dB

CHARACTERISTICS

Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio ($V_{CE} = -2$ V.	hum	65	
$I_C = -0.7 \text{ A}$ Power Gain (f = 0.001 MHz) Total Harmonic Distortion (Pag = 4 W)	Gpe THD	33.5 5 max	dB %

-3A. 10W

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction type used in large-signal af amplifiers in class A power-output stages and class B push-pull amplifier stages in automobile radio receivers. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. This type is identical with type 2N176 except for the following items:

114-degree 18-kV TV deflection systems as a vertical-deflection output amplifier. This type, together with types 2N3731 (horizontal output), 2N3732 (horizontal driver), and 1N4785 (damper) make up a complete transistor/damper-diode complement. JEDEC TO-3,

CHARACTERISTICS

Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio (VCE = -2 V, Ic = -0.7 A)	78 min 35 dB D 5 max %
--	------------------------------

Outline No.2.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage: Peak	Vсво Vсво	200 60	v v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	Vево	-0.5	V
Collector Current	Le T	+05	Â
Base Current	IB	-0.5	
Transistor Dissipation:	Рт	10	w
TMF up to 55°C	Pr	See curve pag	e 300
TMF above 35 C Temperature Range: Cperating (Junction) Storage Din-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T1 (opr) Tsta Tr	65 to 85 65 to 85 230	
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage $(I_{C} = 5 \text{ mA}, \text{Ver} = 0)$	V(BR)CES	-200 mln	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage $(I_E = -100 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	V(BR)EBO	-0.5 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage: Ic = -0.7 A , In = -0.02 A	Vce(sat) Vce(sat)	—2 max —1 max	v v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (Ic = -0.7 A, I _B = -0.02 A) Collector-Cutoff Current (V(B = -10 V, IE = 0) Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	Vве Ісво Өл≁с	0.5 typ 200 max 1.5 max	۷ ¢C/₩ µA



-6A, 30W

2N1905

Ge p-n-p drift-field type intended for use in powerswitching circuits, dc-to-dc converters, inverters, ultrasonic oscillators, and large-signal wide-band linear amplifiers. Similar to JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.4.

-10A, 30W

2N3730 Ge p-n-p diffused-collector graded-base type used in

2N376

493

35	dB
5 max	%



MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCBO VCEO VDEO	100 50 1 5*	V V V
Collector Current	Ic		Å
Emitter Current	IE	6	Α
Base Current	IB	—1	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
Тмг up to 55°C	Рт	30	w
Тиг above 55°C	Рт	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 100	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 100	°Ĉ
Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TP	255	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At mounting-flange temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = -10 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm E} = 0)$	V(BR)CBO	—100 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage			•
$(I_{\rm C} = -100 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 0)$	V(BR)CEO	—50 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			•
$(I_E = 5 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	V(BR)EBO	—1.5 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = -5 \text{ A}, I_{\rm B} = 0.25 \text{ A})$	Vce(sat)	-1 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (VcE = -2 V, Ic = -1 A)	$V_{BE} - 0.38$	typ: -0.5 mag	x Ý
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = 40 V$, $I_E = 0$)	Ісво	-1 max	mÁ
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = -0.5$ V, $I_C = 0$)	IEBO	-1 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{CR} = -2 V, I_C = -5 A$	hre	30 min	
$V_{CB} = -2 V, I_{C} = -1 A$	hre	50 to 150	
Collector-Cutoff Saturation Current			
$(V_{CB} = -0.5 V, I_E = 0)$	Iсво(sat)	-100	μA
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = -5 V$, $I_C = -0.5 A$)	fr	2 min	MHz
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θ1-C	1.5 max	°C/W
* This value may be exceeded provided that the power	dissipated in	n the emitter	under
healed and a secold in the line is the state of the second s	-		

breakdown conditions is limited to 5 watts.

2N1906

-6A, 30W

Ge p-n-p drift-field type used in power-switching circuits, dc-to-dc converters, inverters, ultrasonic oscillators, and large-signal wide-band linear amplifiers. Similar to JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.4. This type is identical with type 2N1905 except for the following items.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Vo	oltage		Vсво
Collector-to-Emitter	Voltag	e	VCEO

CHARACTERISTICS (At mounting-flange temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = -5 \text{ A}, I_{\rm B} = -0.25 \text{ A})$	Vcc(sat)	-0.5 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage:			•
$V_{\rm CE} = -2$ V, $I_{\rm C} = -1$ A	VBE	-0.5 max	v
$V_{CE} = -2 V, I_C = -5 A$	VBE	-0.9 max	Ý
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{\rm CE} = -2$ V, $I_{\rm C} = -5$ A	hrm	75 max	
$V_{CE} = -2 V$, $I_C = -1 A$	hrm	75 to 250	
Gain Bandwidth Product ($V_{CM} = -5 V$, $I_C = -0.5 A$)	fr	3 min	MHz
		0 11111	

2N2147

-5A, 12.5W

Ge p-n-p drift-field type used in high-fidelity amplifiers where wide frequency range and low distortion are required. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2.





-130

-60

v

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	75	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage	VCEO	-50	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage*	VEBO	-1.5	ý
Collector Current	Ic	-5	À
Emitter Current	IE	5	A
Base Current	IB	-1	Ä
Transistor Dissipation:			
TMF up to 81°C	Рт	12.5	w
TMF above 81°C	PT Derate	linearly 0.66	W/°C
Temperature Range:			, -
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 100	°C
Storage	TSTO	-65 to 100	۰č
Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T P	255	۰Č

 This rating may be exceeded provided the combined dissipation in the emitter and collector does not exceed the maximum dissipation rating for the device.

CHARACTERISTICS (At mounting-flange temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = -10 mA.			
$I_{\rm H} = 0, t_{\rm P} = 300 \ \mu {\rm s}, df = 0.01\%$	V(BR)CBO	-75 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			•
$(I_{\rm C} = -100 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 0)$	VCEO (SUS)	-50 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage		••••••	
$(I_B = -250 \text{ mA}, I_C = -5 \text{ A})$	VCE (sat)	-0.6 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage:			•
$V_{CB} = -10 V$, Ic = -50 mA	VBE	-0.2 to -0.27	v
$V_{CB} = -2 V, I_{C} = 1 A$	VBE	-0.5 max	ý
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = -40$ V, $I_E = 0$)	Ісво	$-1 \max$	mÀ
Collector-Cutoff Saturation Current ($V_{CB} = -0.5 V$,			
$I_{E} = 0$	ICBO (sat)	-70 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VEB = -1.5 V, Ic = 0)	IEBO	-2.5 max	ḿΑ
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$V_{CB} = -2 V, I_C = -1 A$	hrs	100 to 300	
$V_{CD} = -2 V, I_C = -4 A$	hrm	75 min	
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = -5 V$,			
Ic = -500 mA)	fT	3 min; 4 typ	MHz
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	Θι-α	1.5 max	°C/W

TYPICAL OPERATION IN "SINGLE-ENDED PUSH-PULL" CLASS B AF-AMPLIFIER CIRCUIT (At mounting-flange temperature = 25°C)

DC Collector Supply Voltage	Vcc	-22	v
Zero-Signal DC Collector Current	Ic	-0.035	Å
Zero-Signal Base-Bias Voltage	-0	-0.24	îv
Peak Collector Current	ic(peak)	-3.5	À
Maximum-Signal DC Collector Current	Ic(max)	-1.1	A
Input Impedance of Stage (per base)		75	C
Load Impedance (speaker voice-coil)	Rr.	4	ŝ
Maximum Collector Dissipation (per transistor)		-	
under worst-case conditions		12.5	W
EIA Music Power Output Rating		45	W
Power Gain		33	dE
Maximum-Signal Power Output	Pos	25	w
Total Harmonic Distortion at Maximum-Signal			
Power Output		5	%



-5A, 12.5W

2N2148

Ge p-n-p drift-field type used in high-fidelity amplifiers where wide frequency range and low distortion are required. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. This type is identical with type 2N2147 except for the following items:

Collector-to-Base Voltage Collector-to-Emitter Voltage	Vсво Vсео	60 40	v v
CHARACTERISTICS (At mounting-flange temperatur	e = 25°C)		
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = -10 mA, Im = 0)	V(BR)CBO	-60 mln	v

RCA Transistor, Thyristor, & Diode Manual

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = -100 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 0)$	VCEO (SUS) —40 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = -5 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = -250 \text{ mA})$	Vcr(sat)	-0.75 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = -10$ V,			
Ic = -50 mA)	VBB	-0.21 to -0.28	v
Collector-Cutoff Saturation Current (VCB = -0.5 V,			
$I_{E} \equiv 0$	IcBO(sat)	—100 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = -1.5 V$, $I_C = 0$)	IEBO	—10 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio ($V_{CE} = -2 V_{c}$			
Ie = -1 A	hff	60 min	
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = -5 V$,			
$I_{\rm C} = -500 \text{ mA}$)	fT	3 min; 4 typ	MHz

40022

-5A, 12.5W

Ge p-n-p alloy type used in class A and push-pull class B service in high-fidelity af power-amplifier applications. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	-32	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage ($R_{BE} = 30 \Omega$)	VCER	-32	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	Vebo	-5	v
Collector Current	Ic	5	A
Base Current	IB	-1	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
Тмғ up to 81°C	Рт	12.5	w
Тығ above 81°C	PT Derate	linearly 0.66	W/°C
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 100	°C
Storage	TSTG	65 to 100	°C
Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TP	255	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At mounting-flange temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = -0.005 A,			
$I_E = 0$	V(BR)('RO	—32 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage		00 i	
$(1c = -0.2 \text{ A}, \text{ KBE} = 33 \Omega)$	V(BR)CER	-32 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown voltage	17	Emin	v
(1E = -0.002 A, 1C = 0)	V(BR)EBO	-5 mm	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage* (VCB $\equiv -10$ V,		0.10	37
$1_{\rm C} = -0.05$ A)	VBE	-0.18	
Collector-Cutoff Current (VCB = -30 , IE = 0)	Ісво	—1 max	mA
Collector-Cutoff Saturation Current			
$(V_{CB} = -0.5 V, I_E = 0)$	Iсво (sat)	-0.1 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = -2 V, I_C = -1 A)$	hre	38 min; 70 typ	
Gain-Bandwidth Product (V _E = -5 V, Ic = -0.5 A)	fT	300	KHZ
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θ1-c	1.5 max	°C/W

TYPICAL OPERATION IN CLASS B AF-AMPLIFIER CIRCUIT

Unless otherwise specified, values are for 2 transistors.

• • •			
DC Collector-Supply Voltage	Vcc	-14	v
Zero-Signal Base-Blas Voltage		-0.18	v
Zero-Signal DC Collector Current	Ic	-0.05	A
Maximum-Signal DC Collector Current	Ic	-0.716	A
Peak Collector Current	ic(peak)	-2.25	A
Input Impedance of Stage (Per base)	Rs	43	Ω
Load Impedance (Speaker voice-coil)	Rr.	4	Ω
Maximum Collector Dissipation (Per transistor			
under worst-case conditions)		5	w
Music Power Output		18	W
Power Cain	GPB	24	dB
Total Vermonia Distortion	GIB	-5	%
Total Halillonic Distortion	Don	10	ŵ
Maximum-Signal Power Output	108	10	

* This characteristic does not apply to type 40254.





-5A, 12.5W

Ge p-n-p alloy type for high-fidelity amplifiers and other commercial af amplifier applications. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	-40	v
Collector-to-Emitter voltage	VCEO	-40	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	-5	v
Collector Current	Ic	-5	Á
Base Current	IB	-1	Ā
Transistor Dissipation:		-	••
Тмг up to 81°C	Рт	12.5	w
TMF above 81°C	Рт	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:	- •	bee curve puge	000
Operating (Junction)	T ₁ (opr)	-65 to 100	°C
Storage	Tere	-65 to 100	്റ്
Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Ť.	-03 10 100	- ŭ
In bondering remperature (10 5 mdx)	1 P	235	U

CHARACTERISTICS (At mounting-flange temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = -5 mA.			
$I_E = 0$)	V(BR)(BO	-40 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage (Ic = -0.6 A,			•
$R_{BE} = 68 \Omega$	V(BR)(ER	-40 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = -2 \text{ mA}$,			
Ic = 0	V(BR)EBO	—5 m in	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = -10$ V,			
$I_{\rm C} = -0.5 {\rm A}$	VBE	-0.17	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = -30$ V, $I_E = 0$)	Icbo	-0.5 max	mA







497

40050

RCA Transistor, Thyristor, & Diode Manual

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Collector-Cutoff Saturation Current (Vcb = -0.5 V,			
$I_{B} = 0$	IcBo(sat)	-0.1 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio		FO mala	
$(V_{CE} = -2 V, I_C = -1 A)$	nrø	50 mm	
Gain-Bandwidth Product (Ver $= 5$ V,		F 00	1-77-
$I_{\rm C} = -0.5$ (A)	IT	500	K TZ
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	HI-C	1.5 max	- U/W

TYPICAL OPERATION IN CLASS B AF-AMPLIFIER CIRCUIT

Unless otherwise specified, values are for 2 transistors.

DC Collector-Supply Voltage	Vcc	18	v
Zero-Signal Base-Bias Voltage		0.17	v
Zero-Signal DC Collector Current	Ic	0.05	A
Maximum-Signal DC Collector Current	Ic	0.8	A
Peak Collector Current	ic (peak)	-2.8	A
Input Impedance of Stage (Per base)	Rs	32	Ω
Load Impedance (Speaker voice-coil)	R_L	4	Ω
Maximum Collector Dissipation (Per transistor			
under worst-case conditions)		7.5	W
Power Gain	Grm	28	dB
Total Harmonic Distortion		5	%
Music Power Output		25	W
Maximum-Signal Power Output	Pos	15	w

401	JDI		
p-n-p	alloy	type	1

-5A, 12.5W

Ge p-n-p alloy type for high-fidelity amplifiers and other commercial af amplifier applications. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. This type is identical with type 40050 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

44451

Collector-to-Base Voltage Collector-to-Emitter Voltage	VCBO VCEO	50 50	V V
CHARACTERISTICS (At mounting-flange temperatu	$re = 25^{\circ}C$)		
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = -5 mA, IE = 0)	V(BR)CBO	50 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage $(I_{\rm C} = -0.6 \text{ A}, R_{\rm RE} = 68 \Omega)$	V(BR)CER	—50 min	v

TYPICAL OPERATION IN CLASS B AF-AMPLIFIER CIRCUIT

Unless otherwise specified, values are for 2 transistors.

DC Collector-Supply Voltage	Vcc	-22	v
Zero-Signal Base-Bias Voltage		0.17	. y
Zero-Signal DC Collector Current	Ic	0.05	A
Maximum-Signal DC Collector Current	Ic	-1.1	A
Peak Collector Current	ic(peak)	3.5	A
Input Impedance of Stage (Per base)	Rs	31	Ω
Load Impedance (Speaker voice-coil)	RL	4	Ω
Maximum Collector Dissipation (Per transistor			
under worst-case conditions)		12.5	W
Power Gain	GPB	28	dB
Total Harmonic Distortion		5	%
Music Power Output		45	W
Maximum-Signal Power Output	Ров	25	w

40254

-5A, 12.5W

Ge p-n-p alloy type for class A af power-amplifier service in driver- and output-stage applications. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 40022 except for the following items:



--50 1

CHARACTERISTICS (At mounting-flange temperature \pm 25°C)

Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = -30$ V, $I_E = 0$)	Ісво	-3 max	mA
Collector-Cutoff Saturation Current			
$(V_{\rm CB} = -0.5 \ V, \ I_{\rm E} = 0)$	Iсво(sat)	-0.16 max	mA

TYPICAL OPERATION IN CLASS A AF-AMPLIFIER CIRCUIT

DC Collector-Supply Voltage	Vec	-16	v
DC Collector-to-Emitter Voltage	VCE	-13.2	Ý
DC Collector Current	Ic	-0.9	A
Peak Collector Current	ic(peak)	-1.8	A
Input Impedance	Rs	15	Ω
Collector Load Impedance	R ₁ .	15	Ω
Maximum Collector Dissipation		12	W
Power Gain	GPE	36	dB
Total Harmonic Distortion ($P_{OE} = 5 \text{ W}$)		5	%
Maximum-Signal Power Output	Poe	5	Ŵ



-5A, 12.5W

40421

Ge p-n-p drift-field type used in high-fidelity af amplifier applications. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage Collector-to-Emitter Voltage Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector Current Base Current Emitter Current Transistor Dissipation:	3e		VCF VCF	30 20 80	75 50 1.5 5 1 5	V V A A A
TMF up to 81°C			PT	6	12.5	W
Tur above 81°C				500	curve p	page 300
COLLECTOR AMPERES (IC)	TYPE TOTAL CC	DLLECTOR CHAR. INTER CIRCUIT, BA LANGE TEMPERAT 40 -35 -30 -35 -30 -25 -10 -15 -10 -15 -20 -25 -15 -10 -15 -15 -15 -15 -15 -15 -15 -15	ACTENISTIC ISE INPUT, URE(TMF)+25' 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 -	s • c • 50		
			92CM-139	317		
TYPICAL INPUT CHAR	ACTERISTIC	1	TYPICAL	TRANSFER CH	IARACTER	ISTIC
COMMON-EMITTER CIRCUI MOUNTING-FLANGE TEMPE	T, BASE INPUT.	С) Г	MOUNTING -I	TTER CIRCUIT, FLANGE TEMPE TO-EMITTER V	BASE INPUT RATURE (T	T. MF)≈25°C −2
	/	s5			7 +	
SE -40		<u> </u>			/	
		A A				
		TOF				
S -20		2-2 F				
Sa -10	-	8-1				
0 -0.2 -0.4	-0.6 -0	0.8 0	-0.2	-0.4	-0.6	-0.8
BASE-TO-EMITTER VOLTS	6 (VCE) 92CS-11329TZ	:	BASE-	TO~EMITTER V	OLTS (VBE)) 5-11324T2

499

MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 100	°C
Storage	TSTO	-65 to 100	°Č
Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TP	255	°Č

CHARACTERISTICS (At mounting-flange temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_c = -10 \text{ mA}$,			
$I_E = 0, t_P \ge 300 \ \mu s, df = 0.01\%$	V(br)CBO	75	v
(La - 100 m A La - 0)	Vana (aug)	F0	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage:	VCEO(SUS)	50	v
$V_{CE} = -10$ V. Ic = -50 mA	VRE	0.21 to 0.28	v
$V_{CE} = -2 V. I_{C} = -1 mA$	VBE	0.5 max	ý
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = -40$ V, $I_E = 0$)	Ісво	—1 max	mA
Collector-Cutoff Saturation Current ($V_{CB} = -0.5 V$,			
IE = 0	Iсво(sat)	-70 max	μΑ
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{BE} = 1.5 \text{ V}, 1_{C} = 0$)	lebo	—2.5 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{CE} = -2 V, 1_{C} = -1000 V$	NFE	62 to 175	
VCE = -2 V, $IC = -4000 V$	NFE	40 min	
$J_{\rm a} = 500 \text{ m/s}$		0 mains 4 4mm	3617.0
10 = -300 mA	IT	2 min; 4 typ	WINZ
inermal Resistance, Juncuon-to-Mounting Flange	77.J - M P	1.5 max	- U/W

-5A. 12.5W

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction type used in high-fidelity class B af amplifier service in push-pull and "single-ended push-pull" circuits. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCBO	-40	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage	VCEO	-40	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	-5	ý
Collector Current	Ic	5	Á
Base Current	IB	—ī	Ā
Transistor Dissipation:		-	
Тмғ up to 81°C	Рт	12.5	w
TMF above 81°C	PT	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	65 to 100	°C
Storage	Тато	-65 to 100	۰č
Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TP	255	۰č

CHARACTERISTICS (At mounting-flange temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage $(I_{\rm C} = -0.005 \text{ A}, I_{\rm E} = 0)$

Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage ($I_c = -0.6 \text{ A}$, $R_{BE} = 68 \Omega$) Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = -2 \text{ mA}$.	V(BR)CER	—40 min	
$I_{\rm C} = 0$	V(BR)EBO	—5 min	





V(BR)CBO





-40 min

v

v v

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage ($I_{\rm C} = 5$ A.			
$I_B = -0.5 A$	Vcr(sat)	1 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = -10 V$.			•
Ic = -0.05 A)	VBR	-0.19	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:		0.20	•
$V_{CB} = -30 V, I_E = 0$	Ісво	-0.5 max	mA
$V_{CB} = -0.5 V, I_E = 0$	ICBO (sat)	-0.1 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = -2 V, I_C = -1 A)$	hre	50 min • 90 tvn	
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 5 V$, $I_C = -0.5 A$)	fr	600	kH7
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	ALC.	15 may	°C/W
	0	1.0 1110.4	C/ 11

TYPICAL OPERATION IN "SINGLE-ENDED PUSH-PULL" CLASS B AF-AMPLIFIER CIRCUIT (At mounting-flange temperature = 25°C)

DC Collector Supply Voltage	Vcc	19	v
Zero-Signal DC Collector Current	Ic	-12	mÅ
Zero-Signal Base-Bias Voltage	*0	0 15	Ŵ
Peak Collector Current	Icw		Å
Maximum-Signal DC Collector Current	Ĩ.		2
Input Impedance of Stage (per base)	-0	32	6
Load Impedance (speaker voice-coil)	Πr.	Å	ň
Maximum Collector Dissipation (per transistor)		7	
under worst-case conditions		75	w
EIA Music Power-Output Rating		25	ŵ
Power Gain	Gpm	25	dB
Maximum-Signal Power Output	Por	15	w
Total Harmonic Distortion at Maximum-Signal	* 015	10	**
Power Output		5	01.
			10



-5A, 12.5W

40612

Ge p-n-p type used for output stages in high-fidelity amplifier circuits suitable for complementary-symmetry circuits. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$R_{BE} = 68 \Omega$	VCER (SUS)	-25	v
Collector Courses	VEBO	5	Ý
Base Current	Ic	5	A
Transistor Dissinction	Ic	-1	A
$T_{c} = 25^{\circ}C$	-		
Temperature Pange:	Рт	12.5	w
Gnerating	(T) (
Storage	T(opr)	-65 to 100	°C
=B2	ISTG	-65 to 100	-°C
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = -200 \text{ mA}, R_{\rm BE} = 68 \text{ O})$	Mana (aug)	05	
Collector-Cutoff Current (Vcr = -30 V)	VCER(SUS)	$-25 \mathrm{min}$	v v
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = -5 V$)	TCB0	-3 max	μΑ
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio	46617	-2 max	mA
$(V_{CE} = -2 V, I_C = -1000 mA)$	hre	30 to 150	
		00 00 100	



-5A, 12.5W



Ge p-n-p type used for output stages in high-fidelity amplifier circuits suitable for complementary-symmetry circuits. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.3.

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$R_{BE} = 68 \Omega$	Vous (sus)	4.5	
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VCER(SUS)	-45	<u>v</u>
Collector Current	V EBO	-5	v
Base Current	1C	-5	A
Transistor Dissingtion $(T_{c} - 25^{\circ}C)$	18	1	A
Temperature Range:	PT	12.5	w
Operating	T(opp)	CE 4+ 100	
Storage	T(0pr)		<u>"C</u>
0	A STG	-65 10 100	°C

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = -200 \text{ mA}, R_{\rm BE} = 68 \Omega)$	VCER(SUS)	-45 min	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = -30 V$)	Ісво	-500 max	щÁ
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($\dot{V}_{EB} = -5 V$)	IEBO	-2 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = -2 V, I_C = -1000 mA)$	hre	50 to 170	

40626

-5A. 12.5W

Ge p-n-p type used for output stages in high-fidelity amplifier circuits suitable for complementary-symmetry circuits. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(R_{BE} = 68 \Omega)$	VCER(SUS)	-55	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VERO	-5	v
Collector Current	Ic	-5	Å
Base Current	In	-1	Ä
Transistor Dissipation $(T_c = 25^{\circ}C)$	Pr	12.5	ŵ
Temperature Range:			
Operating	T(opr)	-65 to 100	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 100	۰č
-			Ŭ

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(1c = -200 \text{ mA}, \text{R}_{BE} = 68 \Omega)$	VCER(SUS)	-55 min	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = -30$ V)	ICBO	-500 max	щÅ
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = -5 V$)	IEBO	-2 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{\rm FE} = -2 V, { m Ie} = -1000 { m mA})$	hrs	50 to 170	

2N3731

-10A. 5W

Ge p-n-p diffused-collector graded-base type used in 114-degree 18-kV TV deflection systems as a horizontal output amplifier. This type, together with types 2N3730 (vertical output), 2N3732 (horizontal driver), and 1N4785 (damper) make up a complete transistor/ damper-diode complement. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2.



MAXIMUM RATINGS . _

- --

Collector-to-Base Voltage:			
Peak	A(.BO	-320	v
Continuous	Vсво	-60	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	Vebo	-2	v
Collector Current	Ic	-10	A
Base Current	IB	+4, -1	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
TMF up to 55°C	Рт	5	w
TMF above 55°C	Рт	See curve p	age 300
Temperature Range:			-
Operating (Junction)	Tı(opr)	-65 to 85	°C
Storage	TSTG	65 to 85	°C
Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	$\mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{P}}$	230	°C
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = -0.025 \text{ A}, V_{\rm EB} = 0)$	VARIACES	-320 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_{\rm E} = 100$ mA.	V (BR/CEA	020 11111	•
$I_{\rm C} = 0$	VABRIERO	-2 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage:	V (DR)ENO		v
$I_{\rm C} = -6$ A. $I_{\rm B} = -0.4$ A	Ver(sat)	-15 max	v
$I_{\rm C} = -3$ A, $I_{\rm B} = -0.2$ A	Vcr (sat)	—1.54 max	ý
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (Ic = -6 A.		2.0an	ý
$I_B = -0.4 A$	VBE	-0.8	иÅ
Collector-Cutoff Current (Vca = -10 V, I _E = 0)	ICBO	-200 max	<i></i>
Turn-off Time	$t_s + t_f$	1.2 max	<i>u</i> S
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	HJ-C	1.5 max	°C/W
			-,


— 10A, 5W

2N4346

503

Ge p-n-p diffused-collector graded-base type used as a horizontal-output amplifier in conjunction with types 2N3730 (vertical output), 2N3732 (horizontal driver), and 1N4785 (damper) to provide a complete transistor/ damper-diode complement. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage:	••		
Continuous	V CBO Voro	-320	V.
Collector Current	IC		V A
Base Current	Îв	+41	Â
Transistor Dissipation:	_		
TMF up to 55°C	PT	5	W
Temperature Range:	Рт	See curve p	bage 300
Operating (Junction)	T ₁ (opr)	-65 to 85	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 85	۰č
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T_L	230	٩Č
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = -0.025 \text{ A}, V_{\rm EB} = 0)$	V(BR)CES		v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = -100 \text{ mA}$,			
10 = 0	V(BR)EBO	-2 min	v
$I_B = -0.4 \text{ A}$	Ver (rat)	_0.75 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (Ic = 6 A, IB = -0.4 A)	VBE	-0.13 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = -10 V$, $I_E = 0$)	Ісво	-200 max	μÅ
Turn-Off Time	ta + te	0.75 max	μs
Inermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θ1-C	1.5 max	°C/W

-10A, 5W

40439



Ge p-n-p diffused-collector, graded-base type used in 114-degree 18-kV TV deflection systems as a horizontaloutput amplifier. This type, together with types 2N3730 (vertical output), 2N3731 and 40440 (horizontal output), 2N3732 (horizontal driver), and 1N4785 and 40442 (damper), make up a complete transistor/damper-diode

complement. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. This type is identical with type 2N3731 except for the following item:

CHARACTERISTICS

Turn-Off Time t_s + t_f

0.75 max

40440

u\$

-10A, 5W

Ge p-n-p diffused-collector, graded-base type used in 114-degree 18kV TV deflection systems as a horizontaloutput amplifier. This type, together with types 2N3730 (vertical output), 2N3731 and 40439 (horizontal output), 2N3732 (horizonal driver), and 1N4785 and 40442 (damper), make up a complete transistor/damper-diode

complement. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. This type is identical with type 2N3731 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage: Peak

Vсво

v

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = -0.025 \text{ mA}, V_{\rm EB} = 0)$	V(BR)CES	200	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage:			
$I_{\rm C} = -6$ A, $I_{\rm B} = -0.4$ A	Vce(sat)	—0.75 max	v
Ic = -3 A, $Ib = -0.2 A$	VCE(sat)	-0.75 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (Ic = -6 A , I _B = -0.4 A)	VBB	1	v

-10A, 30W

2N2869/ 2N301

Ge p-n-p alloy-junction type used in class A and class B af output-amplifier stages of automobile radio receivers and mobile communications equipment. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	60	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage	VCEO	50	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	Vebo	10	v
Collector Current	Ic	—10	A
Emitter Current	Ip	10	A
Base Current	IB	3	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
TMF UD to 55°C	Рт	30	W
TMP above 55°C	Рт	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 100	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 100	°C
Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Tr	255	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At mounting-flange temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = 0.005 A,		60	
$I_E \equiv 0$)	V (BR) (BO	-60 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage ($Ic = -0.6$ A,	37	E0 min	7.
$I_{\rm B} = 0)$	A (BB) CEO	-30 mm	•
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = -2 \text{ mA}$, $I_C = 0$)	V(BR)EBO	—10 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic = -5 A,	Wer (sat)	-0 75 max	v
$I_B = -0.5 \text{ A}$ Base-to-Emitter Voltage (V _{CE} = -2 V, I _C = -1 A)	VBE	-0.5 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:	_		
$V_{CB} = -30$ V, $I_E = 0$	Ісво	-0.5 max	mA
$V_{CB} = -0.5 V, I_E = 0$	Iсво(sat)	—0.1 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = -2 V, I_C = -1 A)$	hfe	50 to 165	
Gain-Bandwidth Product (Vcc = -2 V, Ic = -1 A)	fт	200 min	kH2

TYPICAL OPERATION IN CLASS A POWER-AMPLIFIER CIRCUIT

DC Collector-Supply Voltage	Vcc	-14.4	- V
DC Collector-to-Emitter Voltage	VCE	-12.2	v
DC Base to Fmitter Voltage	VDE	-0.35	v
DC Base-to-Enlitter Voltage	To	_0.9	Á
Zero-Signal Collector Current	10	15	
Load Impedance	Ri,	13	
Signal Frequency	f	400	Hz
Signal Source Impedance	Rs	10	<u>Ω</u>
Signal-Source Impedance		38	dF
Power Gain			~
Total Harmonic Distortion (at a power output of 5 W)		5	10
Zero-Signal Collector Dissipation		11	w
Maximum Signal Power Output	Por	5	w
Maximum-Signal Fower Output		45	01
Circuit Efficiency (at a power output of 5 w)	1	40	/0

TYPICAL OPERATION IN "SINGLE-ENDED PUSH-PULL" CLASS B AF-AMPLIFIER CIRCUIT

DC Collector Supply Voltage	Vcc	-14.4	v
Zero-Signal DC Collector Current (per transistor)	Ic	-0.05	A
Zero-Signal Base-Bias Voltage		-0.13	v
Peak Collector Current (per transistor)	ic(peak)	-2	A



TYPICAL OPERATION (cont'd)

Maximum-Signal DC Collector Current (per transistor) Signal Frequency	Ic(max) f	-0.64	A Hz
Input Impedance of Stage (per base)	$\mathbf{\hat{R}}_{\mathbf{S}}$	10	Ω
Load Impedance (per collector)	$\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{L}}$	6	Ω
Power Gain		30	dB
Circuit Efficiency (at a power output of 12 W)	η	67	%
Maximum-Signal Power Output	POE	12	w
Total Harmonic Distortion (at maximum-signal			
power output of 12 W)		5	%
Maximum Collector Dissipation (per transistor		-	
at a power output of 12 W)		3	w

-10A, 30W

2N2870/ 2N301A



Ge p-n-p alloy-junction type used in class A and class B af output-amplifier stages of automobile radio receivers and mobile communications equipment. JEDEC TO-3, Outsine No.2. This type is identical with type 2N2869/2N301 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	80	v
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage $(Ic = -0.005 \text{ A}, IE = 0)$	Vавосво		v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage $(I_{C} = -5 A, I_{B} = -0.5 A)$	VCE(sat)	-0.5 max	v

Special Audio Silicon Types



0.15A, 3.8W

40491

Si n-p-n type used in class A af output-amplifier service in conjunction with types 40487 (mixer), 40488 (oscillator) 40489 (if amplifier), 40490 (af amplifier), and 40495 (line rectifier) to provide a complement for AM broadcast-band radio receivers. JEDEC TO-66 (with heat radiator), Outline No.27.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCB0	300	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage ($I_c = 5 \text{ mA}, I_B = 0$)	VCEO	300	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	2	v
Collector Current	Ia	150	mA
Emitter Current	In		mA
Transistor Dissipation:			
T _A up to 55°C	Рт	3.8	w
T _A above 55°C	Pr	See curve p	age 300
Temperature Range:			
Operating	TA	-65 to 150	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 150	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Тι,	255	۰C

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_{\rm C} = 0.1$ mA.			
$I_E = 0$)	VGROCBO	300 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage ($Ic = 5 \text{ mA}$,			
$I_B = 0$)	V(BR)CEO	300 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_B = 0.1 \text{ mA}$,			
Ic = 0)	V(BR)EBO	2 min	v

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

μA
mΑ
ſΗz
Ω
\mathbf{pF}
/W
:/W





40406

-0.7A, 1W

Si p-n-p type used in the input stages in af-amplifier applications in industrial and commercial equipment. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. For collector-characteristics and input-characteristics curves, refer to type 40319.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector Current	VCEO(SUS) VEBO IC IB	50 4 0.7 0.2	V V A A
Transistor Dissipation: T_A up to $25^{\circ}C$ T_A above $25^{\circ}C$	\mathbf{P}_{T} \mathbf{P}_{T}	1 See curve page	W 300
Temperature Range: Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25° C)			

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature - 25 0)
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage $(I_{C} = -100 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = 0)$
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($Ic = -0.1 \text{ mA}$)
Collector-Cutoff Current:
$V_{CE} = -40 \text{ V}, \text{ I}_B = 0, \text{ T}_C = 25^{\circ}\text{C}$
$V_{\rm CE} = -40$ V, $I_{\rm B} = 0$, $T_{\rm C} = 150^{\circ}{\rm C}$
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VEB = -4 V, Ic = 0)
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio
$(V_{CE} = -10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = -0.1 \text{ mA})$
Gain-Bandwidth Product (Ver = -4 V. Ic = -50 mA)
Thormal Resistance Junction-to-Case

Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case

40309

0.7A, 5W

Si n-p-n type used in audio-amplifier driver stages for economical high-quality performance. Designed to assure freedom from second breakdown in the operating region. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.



Vceo(sus)	—50 min	v
Vbe	—0.8 max	v
Iceo	—1 max	μA
Iceo	—10 max	μA
Iebo	—1 max	mA
hfe ft Hj-c Hj-a	30 to 200 100 35 max 175 max	MHz °C/W °C/W



MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage	VCEO (SUS)	18	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	2.5	ý
Collector Current	Ic	0.7	À
Base Current	IB	0.2	Ā
Transistor Dissipation:		•	
TA up to 25°C	Pr	1	w
Tc up to 25°C	Pr	5	ŵ
TA and Tc above 25°C	Pr	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:		P-8-	
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 200	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage			
$(Ic = 100 \text{ mA}, I_B = 0, t_P = 300 \ \mu\text{s}, \text{df} \le 2\%)$	V(BR)CEO	18 min	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 50 mA$)	VBE	1 max	ý
Collector-Cutoff Current:			-
$V_{CB} = 15 V, I_E = 0, T_C = 25^{\circ}C$	Ісво	0.25 max	uА
$V_{CB} = 15 V, I_E = 0, T_C = 150^{\circ}C$	Ісво	1 max	mA_
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 2.5 V$, $I_C = 0$)	IEBO	1 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 50 mA)$	hrm	70 to 350	
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_C = 50$ mA)	fr	100	MHz
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	Äi-c	35 max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	ĤJ-A	175 max	°C/W
	0. 4	are must	0/ 11

TYPICAL COLLECTOR CHARACTERISTICS 600 TYPE 40309 COLLECTOR MILLIAMPERES (IC) FREE-AIR TEMPERATURE (TFA) + 25°¢ 500 400 300 BASE MILLIAMPERES (IB)=2 200 o 6 8 10 12 COLLECTOR-TO-EMMITER VOLTS (VCF) 92C5-12327T

TYPICAL TRANSFER CHARACTERISTICS



-0.7A, 5W

40319



Si p-n-p type used in audio-amplifier driver stages for economical high-quality performance. Designed to assure freedom from second breakdown in the operating region. P-N-P construction permits complementary driver operating with a matching n-p-n type, such as 40314. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage	VCEO (SUS)	-40	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	-25	v
Collector Current	Ic	_0.7	Å
Base Current	ĪB	-0.2	
Transistor Dissipation:	***	-0.2	
T _A up to 25°C	PT	1	337
To up to 25°C	P _T	Ę	337
TA and Tc above 25°C	Pr	See curve page	200
Temperature Range:		bee curve page	300
Operating (Junction)	T ₁ (opr)	-65 to 200	•
	TA (OD1)	-03 10 200	<u> </u>

RCA Transistor, Thyristor, & Diode Manual

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage $(1e^{-1} - 100 \text{ mA}, 1a = 0, t_{R} = 300 \text{ \mu}\text{s}, df \leq 2\%)$	o(sus) —40 min V
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage	
$(I_{\rm C} = -150 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = -15 \text{ mA})$	(sat) -1.4 max V
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (Ver = -4 V, Ie = -50 mA) Vr	—1 max V
Collector-Cutoff Current:	
$V_{1,R} = -15 V$, $I_E = 0$, $T_C = 25^{\circ}C$	ο —0.25 max μA
$V_{CB} = -15$ V, $I_E = 0$, $T_C = 150^{\circ}C$	n −1 max mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = -2.5 \text{ V}$, Ic = 0) IEI) —1 max mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio	
$(V_{CE} = -4 V, I_C = -50 mA)$	35 to 200
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = -4 V$, $I_{C} = -50 mA$) fr	100 MHz
Thermal Resistance Junction-to-Case	· 35 max °C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	۸ 175 max °C/W







61

۶

(2) B

(3)

č

40362

-0.7A, 5W

Si p-n-p used in audio-amplifier drive stages for economical high-quality performance. Designed to assure freedom from second breakdown in the operating region. P-N-P structure permits complementary driver operation with a matching n-p-n type such as 40361. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. For collector-characteristics and input-characteristics curves, refer to type 40319.

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage (R _{μE} = 200 Ω) Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector Current	Vcer(sus) Vebo Ic	-70 -4 -0.7	V V A
Base Current	IB	-0.2	A
$\begin{array}{c} \text{Transistor Dissipation:} \\ T_A \ up \ to \ 25^\circ\text{C} \\ T_C \ up \ to \ 25^\circ\text{C} \\ T_A \ and \ T_C \ above \ 25^\circ\text{C} \\ \hline \end{array}$	PT PT PT	1 5 See curve p	W W age 300
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 200	۳C
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C	;)		
$(R_{BE} = 200 \Omega, I_{C} = 100 mA)$	VCER(SUS)	—70 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (In = 15 mA, Ic = -150 mA) Base-to-Emitter Vol age (VcE = -4 V, Ic = -50 mA)	Vce(sat) Vee	—1.4 max —1 max	v v
Conjector-current: $V_{CE} = -60$ V, $R_{BE} = 200$ Ω, $T_C = 25^{\circ}C$ $V_{CE} = -60$ V, $R_{BE} = 200$ Ω, $T_C = 150^{\circ}C$ Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = -4$ V, $I_C = 0$)	ICER ICER IEBO	—1 max —100 max —1 max	μΑ μΑ mA



CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = -4 V, I_{C} = -50 mA)$	hre	35 to 200	
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = -4 V$, $I_C = -50 mA$)	fT	100	MHz
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θı-c	35 max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	A −L	175 max	°Č/W



-0.7A, 5W 40537 Si p-n-p double-diffused epitaxial planar type used as a driver in audio-amplifier circuits. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage ($R_{BE} = 500 \Omega$) Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector Current Base Current	$V_{\text{CER}}(sus) \ V_{\text{EBO}} \ I_{\text{C}} \ I_{\text{B}}$	-55 V -5 V -0.7 A -0.2 A
Transistor Dissipation:		
Te up to 25°C	Рт	5 W
Te above 25°C	PT	Derate linearly
		to 0 W at 200 °C
T _A up to 25°C	Pr	
T _A above 25°C	Pr	Derste linearly
	• •	to 0 W at 200 °C
Temperature Range:		10 0 W at 200 C
Operating (Junction)	T((opr)	_65 to 200 °C
Storage	Turning (Opr)	-03 to 200 °C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 c max)	I STG	-03 10 200 -0
beau-boldering remperature (10 s max)	T I.	230 °C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(Ic = -100 \text{ mA}, R_{BE} = 500 \Omega)$	VCER(SUS)	-55 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			•
$(I_{\rm C} = -50 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = -5 \text{ mA})$	VCE(sat)	-1.1 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage			-
$(V_{CE} = -4 V, I_{C} = -50 mA)$	VBE	1.8	v
Collector-Cutoff Current (V _{CE} = -45 V, R _{BE} = 500Ω)	ICER	-10 max	иÀ
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = -5 V$, $I_C = 0$)	IEBO	$-1 \max$	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = -4 V, I_C = -50 mA)$	hre	50 to 300	
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = -4 V$, $I_C = -50 mA$)	fr	100	MHz
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	Θ_{I-A}	175	°C/W

TYPICAL DC FORWARD-CURRENT TRANSFER-RATIO CHARACTERISTICS





40538

-0.7A. 5W

Si p-n-p double-diffused epitaxial planar type used in complementry-symmetry output stages. P-N-P structure permits complementary operation with a matching n-p-n type such as the 40539. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. This type is identical to type 40537 except for the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage $(I_{\rm C} = -50 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = -50 \text{ mA})$	Vce (sat)	—2 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage $(V_{CE} = -4 V, I_{C} = -500 mA)$	VBE	—2.7 max	v
Pulsed Forward-Current Transfer Ratio $(V_{CE} = -4 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = -500 \text{ mA}, \text{ t}_{P} = 300 \ \mu\text{s}, \text{ df} < 2\%)$	hre(pulsed)	15 to 90	

40634

_0.7A. 5W

Si p-n-p type used for driver applications in highfidelity amplifier circuits. This type and type 40635 form a complementary pair of driver transistors suitable for quasi-complementary-symmetry circuits. JEDEC TO-5. Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage	VCER (SUS)		v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO IC	-0.7	V A
Base Current	Ів	-0.2	A
Transistor Dissipation: $Tc = 25^{\circ}C$	Pr Pr	5 1	w
Temperature Range: Operating Storage	T(opr) T _{STG}	-65 to 200 -65 to 200	°C °C

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage (Ic = -100 mA , R _{BE} = 100Ω),	VCER (SUS)	—75 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage $(I_C = -150 \text{ mA}, I_B = -15 \text{ mA})$	Vcr(sat)	-0.8 min	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage $(V_{CE} = -4 V, I_C = -150 mA)$	VBE	—1.4 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current $(Vcc = -65 V, R_{BE} = 100 \Omega)$ Emitter-Cutoff Current (VER = -4 V)	ICER IEBO	—10 max —0.1 max	μA mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio $(V_{CE} = -4 V, I_C = -150 mA)$	hfE	50 to 250	

40409

0.7A, 3W

Si n-p-n type used in driver stages in af-amplifier applications in industrial and commercial equipment. This type and type 40410 together form a complementary pair of drivers. In a typical class AB circuit a complementary pair can drive two series-connected 40411 transistors to provide an audio output of 70 watts with

a total harmonic distortion of less than 0.25 per cent at 1000 Hz. JEDEC TO-5 (with heat radiator), Outline No.8. For collector-characteristics and transfer-characteristics curves, refer to type 40309.





MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(R_{BE} \leq 10 \Omega)$	VCER(SUS)	90	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	- 4	Ý
Collector Current	Ic	0.7	Å
Base Current	Ĩn	0.2	Ā
Transistor Dissipation:	*0	0.2	
TA up to 50°C	Pr	3	w
T ₁ above 50°C	Pr	See curve nade	300
Temperature Range:		Dec curre puge	000
Operating (Junction)	Tı(opr)	65 to 200	*C
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(R_{BE} = 100 \ \Omega, I_{C} = 100 \ mA)$	VCER (SUS)	90 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		•
$(I_{\rm C} = 150 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 15 \text{ mA})$	Vcr(sat)	1.4 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (Ver = 4 V. Ic = 150 mA)	Var	1 max	v

Base-to-Emitter Voltage (VCE = 4 V. Ic = 150 mA)	VBE	1 max
Collector-Cutoff Current:		
$V_{CE} = 80 V, R_{BE} = 100 \Omega, T_{C} = 25^{\circ}C$	ICER	1 max
$V_{CE} = 80 \text{ V}, \text{ R}_{BE} = 100 \Omega, \text{ T}_{C} = 150^{\circ}\text{C}$	ICER	100 max
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 4 V$, $I_C = 0$)	IEBO	1 max
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio		
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 150 mA)$	hre	50 to 250
Gain-Bandwidth Product (Ver = 4 V, Ic = 50 mA)	fr	100

Gain-Bandwidth Pro	Doduct (VCE = 4 V, $Ic = 50 \text{ mA}$)	. Іт
Thermal Resistance,	Junction-to-Ambient	. Ө л -

_0.7A, 3W

40410

40407

40408

50 max



Si p-n-p type used in driver stages in af-amplifier applications in industrial and commercial equipment. This type and type 40409 form a complementary pair of drivers. In a typical class AB circuit a complementary pair can drive two series-connected 40411 transistors to provide an audio output of 70 watts with a total

harmonic distortion of less than 0.25 per cent at 1000 Hz. JEDEC TO-5 (with heat radiator), Outline No.8. This type is electrically identical with type 40409 except for the reversal of all polarity signs. For collector-characteristics and input-characteristics curves, refer to type 40319.

0.7A, 1W

Si n-p-n type used in predriver stages in af-amplifier applications in industrial and commercial equipment. This type is recommended for use in a Darlington circuit with a type such as the 40408. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. For collector-characteristics and transfercharacteristics curves, refer to type 40309. This type

is identical with type 40406 except for reversal of all polarity signs and the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_C = 1$ mA)	VBE	0.8 max	v
$(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 1 \text{ mA})$	hre	40 to 200	



0.7A, 1W

Si n-p-n type used in predriver stages in af-amplifier applications in industrial and commercial equipment. This type is recommended for use in a Darlington circuit with a type such as the 40407. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. For collector-characteristics and transfercharacteristics curves, refer to type 40309.

шA

MH,

°C/W

MAXIMUM RATINGS

512

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage	VCEO (SUS)	90	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	4	v
Collector Current	Ic	0.7	A
Base Current	IB	0.2	A
Tranistor Dissination			
The lip to 25° C	Рт	1	w
TA above 25°C	Pr	See curve p	age 300
Temperature Range			
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
operating (editorion) minimum			
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)			
Collector to Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(I_{\rm m} - 100 \text{ mA} I_{\rm m} - 0)$	Vero (sus)	90 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage	*(h0(bub)		•
$(I_0 - 150 \text{ mA} I_0 - 15 \text{ mA})$	Vcr(sat)	1.4 max	v
(10 = 150 mA, 18 = 15 mA)	Vum	1 max	ý
Collector-Cutoff Current:	• 15 12	1 1114.00	•
$V_{CR} = 80 \text{ V}$ $I_P = 0 \text{ T}_C = 25^{\circ}\text{C}$	Icro	1 max	иA
$V_{CR} = 80 V$, $I_R = 0$, $I_C = 150^{\circ}C$	Icro	250 max	"A
Emitter-Cutoff Current (Vrg = 4 V, $I_c = 0$)	IEBO	1 max	μA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 10 mA)$	hre	40 to 200	
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 50 mA$)	fr	100	MHz
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θi-c	35 max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	θj-a	175 max	°C/W

40311

0.7A, 5W

Si n-p-n type used in audio-amplifier driver stages for economical high-quality performance. Designed to assure freedom from second breakdown in the operating region. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage	VCEO (SUS)	30	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	2.5	v
Collector Current	Ic	0.7	A
Base Current	IB	0.2	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
TA up to 25°C	PT	1	W
Te up to 25°C	PT	5	W
TA and Te above 25°C	Pr	See curve page	116
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	Tı(opr)	-65 to 200	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25° C)

$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	VCEO(SUS) VBE	30 min 1 max	v v
Collector-Cutoff Current:	•	0.05	
$V_{CB} \equiv 15 V, T_{E} \equiv 0, T_{C} \equiv 25^{\circ}C$	10.80	0.25 max	μΑ
$V_{\rm CB} = 15 V, I_{\rm E} = 0, { m Tc} = 150 { m ^{\circ}C}$	ICBO	1 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 2.5 V$, $I_C = 0$)	Iebo	1 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 50 mA)$	hre	70 to 350	
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_C = 50$ mA)	fT	100	MHz
Thermal Resistance Junction-to-Case	Quer	35 max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	OJ-▲	175 max	°Č/Ŵ

40314

0.7A. 5W

Si n-p-n type used in audio-amplifier driver stages for economical high-quality performance. Designed to assure freedom from second breakdown in the operating region. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emit	ter S	ustaining	Voltage	
Emitter-to-Base	Volta	ge		

VCEO(SUS) VEBO



40

2.5

ଚ



MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

Collector Current	Ic Ib	0.7 0.2	A A
T _A up to 25°C	Рт	1	W
Te up to 25°C	Рт	5	w
TA and Tc above 25°C	Рт	See curve pa	ge 300
Temperature Range:		•	
Operating (Junction)	Tı (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)			
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 100 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 0, t_{\rm P} = 300 \mu\text{s}, df = 2\%)$	Vceo(sus)	40 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_{C} = 150 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = 15 \text{ mA})$	VCE(sat)	1.4 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (VCE = 4 V, Ic = 50 mA)	VBE	1 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CR} = 15 V$, $I_{E} = 0$, $T_{C} = 25^{\circ}C$	ICBO	0.25 max	μA
$V_{CB} = 15 V I_E = 0, T_C = 150^{\circ}C$	Ісво	1 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VEB = 2.5 V, Ic = 0)	IEBO	1 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio	-200		
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 50 mA)$	hre	35 to 150	MHz
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 50 mA$)	fr	100	°C/W
Thermal Resistance Junction-to-Case	Au-c	35 max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	AI-A	175 max	-/
	() 4	110 1114/1	



0.7A, 5W

40315

Si n-p-n type used in audio-amplifier inverter and driver stages for economical high-quality performance. Designed to assure freedom from second breakdown in the operating region. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage	Vceo(sus)	35	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	2.5	v
Collector Current	Ic	0.7	Α
Base Current	IB	0.2	Α
Transistor Dissipation:			
T _A up to 25°C	PT	1	w
T _c up to 25°C	PT	5	w
T _A and T _C above 25°C	PT	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	Tı (opr)	-65 to 200	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage			
$(Ic = 100 \text{ mA}, IB = 0, t_P = 300 \ \mu s, df = 2\%)$	V(BR)CEO	35 min	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 50 mA$)	VBE	1 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CB} = 15 V, I_{E} = 0, T_{C} = 25^{\circ}C$	Ісво	0.25 max	μA
$V_{CB} = 15 V, I_E = 0, T_C = 150^{\circ}C$	Ісво	1 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 2.5 V$, $I_C = 0$)	IEBO	1 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 50 mA)$	hrg	70 to 350	
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CB} = 10 V$, $I_C = 50 mA$)	fr	100	MHz
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θı-c	35 max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	θı−∎	175 max	°C/W



0.7A, 5W

40317

Si n-p-n type used in audio-amplifier inverter and driver stages for economical high-quality performance. Designed to assure freedom from second breakdown in the operating region. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage	Vceo (sus)	40	V
Einitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBU	2.3	¥.
Collector Current	10	0.7	A
Base Current	IB	0.2	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
T_A up to $25^{\circ}C$	Рт	1	w
To up to 25°C	Рт	5	Ŵ
TA and Tc above 25°C	Рт	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	Tı (opr)	-65 to 200	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(I_{c} = 100 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = 0, t_{p} = 300 \mu s, df \leq 2\%)$	VCEO (SUS)	40 min	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 10 mA$)	VRE	1 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CB} = 15 V, I_E = 0, T_C = 25^{\circ}C$	Ісво	0.25 max	μA
$V_{CB} = 15 V, I_E = 0, T_C = 150^{\circ}C$	Ісво	1 max	ḿΑ
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 2.5 V$, $I_C = 0$)	Іево	1 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_{C} = 10 mA)$	hre	40 to 200	
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θı-c	35 max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	ĞJ−A	175 max	°C/W

0.7A. 5W

Si n-p-n type used in audio-amplifier and driver stages for economical high-quality performance. Designed to assure freedom from second breakdown in the operating region. JEDEC TO-5. Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

40320

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage	VCEO(SUS)	40	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	2.5	v
Collector Current	Ic	0.7	Á
Base Current	Ів	0.2	Ā
Transistor Dissipation:			
T _A up to 25 ^e C	Рт	1	w
Te up to 25°C	PT	5	Ŵ
TA and Te above 25°C	Рт	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	Tı(opr)	-65 to 200	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25° C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 100 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 0, t_{\rm P} = 300 \ \mu \text{s}, df \leq 2\%)$	Vcko(sus)	40 min	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, Ic = 10 mA)	VBE	1 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CB} = 15 V, I_E = 0, T_C = 25^{\circ}C$	Ісво	0.25 max	μA
$V_{CB} = 15 \text{ V}, I_E = 0, T_C = 150^{\circ}C$	Ісво	1 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 2.5 V$, Ic = 0)	IEBO	1 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 10 mA)$	hre	40 to 200	
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θi-c	35 max	°C/W
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			

40323

0.7A. 5W

Si n-p-n type used in audio-amplifier inverter and driver stages for economical high-quality performance. Designed to assure freedom from second breakdown in the operating region. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. For collector-characteristics and transfer-characteristics curves, refer to type 40309.





MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector Current	Vceo (sus) Vebo Ic Ib	18 2.5 0.7 0.2	V V A A
TA up to 25°C Tc up to 25°C Ta and Tc above 25°C Temperature Range:	Рт Рт Рт	1 5 See curve pa	W W age 300
Operating (Junction)	Tı(opr)	-65 to 200	°C
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)			
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage (Ic = 100 mA, I _B = 0, t _P = 300 μ s, df $\leq 2\%$) Base-to-Emitter Voltage (VcE = 4 V, Ic = 50 mA) Collector. Cutoff Current:	V (br) ceo V be	18 min 1 max	v v
VcB = 15 V, $I_E = 0$, $T_C = 25^{\circ}C$ VcB = 15 V, $I_E = 0$, $T_C = 150^{\circ}C$ Emitter-Cutoff Current (VEB = 2.5 V, $I_C = 0$) Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio	Ісво Ісво Іево	0.25 max 1 max 1 max	μA mA mA
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 50 mA)$ Gain-Bandwidth Product $(V_{CE} = 10 V, I_C = 50 mA)$ Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	hfe ft ⊖j-c ⊖j-a	70 to 350 100 35 max 175 max	MHz °C/W °C/W



0.7A, 5W

40326

Si n-p-n type used in audio-amplifier inverter and driver stages for economical high-quality performance. Designed to assure freedom from second breakdown in the operating region. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. For collector-characteristics curves, refer to type 40309.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage	VCEO (SUS)	40	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	2.5	Ý
Collector Current	Ic	0.7	A
Base Current	IB	0.2	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
T _A up to 25°C	Рт	1	w
To up to 25°C	Pr	5	Ŵ
TA and Tc above 25°C	Рт	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	Tı(opr)	-65 to 200	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 100 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 0, t_{\rm P} = 300 \ \mu\text{s}, df \leq 2\%)$	VCEQ (SUS)	40 min	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CB} = 4 V$, $I_C = 10 mA$)	VBE	1 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CB} = 15 V, I_E = 0, T_C = 25^{\circ}C$	ICBO	0.25 max	μA
$V_{CB} = 15 \text{ V}, \text{ I}_{E} = 0, \text{ T}_{C} = 150^{\circ}\text{C}$	ICBO	1 max	m A
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 2.5 \text{ V}$, Ic = 0)	IEBO	1 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 10 mA)$	hfe	40 to 200	
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θı-c	30 max	°C/W



0.7A, 5W

Si n-p-n type used in audio-amplifier inverter and driver stages for economical high-quality performance. Designed to assure freedom from second breakdown in the operating region. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. For collector-characteristics and transfer-characteristics curves, refer to type 40309.

40360

515

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collec.or Current	Vceo(sus) Vebo lc	70 4 0.7	V V A
Base Current	18	0.2	A
Transistor Dissipation:	Рт	1	w
Te up to 25°C	Pr	5	ŵ
T _A and T _C above 25°C	PT	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T」(opr)	65 to 200	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature \pm 25°C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 100 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 0)$	VCEO (SUS)	70 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_B = 15 \text{ mA}, I_C = 150 \text{ mA})$	Veg (sat)	1.4 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (V $cE = 4$ V, I $c = 10$ mA)	VBE	1 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{\rm CE} = 60 {\rm V}, {\rm I}_{\rm B} = 0, {\rm T}_{\rm C} = 25^{\circ}{\rm C}$	ICEO	1 max	μA
$V_{\rm CE} = 60 {\rm V}, {\rm I}_{\rm B} = 0, {\rm Tc} = 150^{\circ} {\rm C}$	ICEO	250 max	μÂ
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 4 V$, $I_C = 0$)	IEBO	1 max	m A
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 10 mA)$	hrs	40 to 200	
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 50 mA$)	fr	100	MH2
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θJ-c	35 max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	θJ-A	175 max	°C/W

40361

0.7A, 5W

Si n-p-n type used in audio-amplifier inverter and driver stages for economical high-quality performance. Designed to assure freedom from second breakdown in the operating region. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. For collector-characteristics and transfer-characteristics curves, refer to type 40309.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage	
$(R_{BE} = 200 \ \Omega)$ $V_{CER}(SU)$	s) 70 V
Emitter-to-Base Voltage VEBO	4 V
Collector Current	0.7 A
Base Current IB	0.2 A
Transistor Dissipation:	
TA UD to 25°C PT	1 W
Tc up to 25°C	5 W
TA and Te above 25°C PT	See curve page 300
Temperature Range:	
Operating (Junction) T ₁ (opr)	65 to 200 °C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature \pm 25°C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage $(R_{W}) = 200 \text{ O} \text{ J}_{C} = 100 \text{ mA}$	VORB (SUS)	70 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage	(bub)		•
$(I_{\rm B} = 15 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm C} = 150 \text{ mA})$	VCE(sat)	1.4 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (V $c = 4$ V, Ic = 50 mA)	VBE	1 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CE} = 60 V, R_{BE} = 200 \Omega, T_{C} = 25^{\circ}C$	ICER	1 max	μA
$V_{\rm CE} = 60 \ V, \ R_{\rm BE} = 200 \ \Omega, \ T_{\rm C} = 150^{\circ}{\rm C}$	ICER	100 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 4 V$, $I_C = 0$)	IEBO	1 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 50 mA)$	hre	70 to 350	
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, Ic = 50 mA)	fr	100	MHz
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θJ-C	35 max	°C/W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	A-LO	175 max	°C/W





Si n-p-n triple-diffused planar type used in complementary-symmetry output stages. N-P-N structure permits complementary operation with a matching p-n-p type such as the 40538. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage $B_{BE} = 500 \Omega$	VCER(SUS)	55	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	5	ý
Collector Current	Ic	0.7	Á
Transistor Dissipation:			
Te up to 25°C	PT	5	W
Te above 25°C	Pr	Derate lir	nearly
		to 0 W at 20	00 °Č
T _A up to 25°C	Pт	1	W
Tc above 25°C	Рт	Derate lin	learly
		to 0 W at 2	00 °C
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL	255	°C

0.7A, 5W

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 100 \text{ mA}, R_{\rm BE} = 500 \Omega)$	VCER(SUS)	55 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 500 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 50 \text{ mA})$	Vce(sat)	2 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (VCE = 4 V, IC = 500 mA)	VBE	2.7 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current (VCE = 45 V, RBE = 500 Ω)	ICER	10 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 5 V$, Ic = 0)	IEBO	1 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{EB} = 4 V, I_{C} = 500 mA)$	hre	15 to 90	
Gain-Bandwidth Product (Vcc = 4 V, Ic = 50 mA)	fr	100	MHz
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θı-c	35	°C/W

TYPICAL TRANSFER CHARACTERISTICS







0.7A, 5W

40611

25

v

Si n-p-n type used for driver applications in highfidelity amplifier circuits suitable for complementarysymmetry circuits. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter	Sustaining	Voltage	 VCEO (SUS)
Emitter-to-Base Vol	tage		 VEBO

40539

MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

Collector Current	Ie	0.7	A
	IB	0.2	A
$\begin{array}{rcl} \text{Transitor} & \text{Dissipation:} \\ \text{Te} &= 25^{\circ}\text{C} \\ \text{Ta} &= 25^{\circ}\text{C} \end{array}$	Pr	5	w
	Pr	1	w
Temperature Range: Operating Storage	T(opr) T _{STG}	65 to 200 65 to 200	°C °C
CHARACTERISTICS			

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage $(I_{\rm C} = 100 \text{ mA})$	VCEO (sus)	25 min	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = 15 V$)	ICBO	0.5 max	μA
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 2.5 V$)	1EBO	1 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_{C} = 59 mA)$	DFE	70 to 500	

40616

0.7A, 5W

Si n-p-n type used for driver applications in highfidelity amplifier circuits suitable for complementarysymmetry circuits. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage	VCEO(SUS)	32	N.
Collector Current	VEBO IC	2.5	Ă
Base Current	IB	0.2	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
$T_{\rm C} = 25^{\circ} {\rm C}$	Рт	5	w
$T_A = 25^{\circ}C$	Рт	1	Ŵ
Temperature Range:			
Operating	T(opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TETC	-65 to 200	۰Č
otorage	1010	00 10 200	Ŭ

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage	Vero (sus)	32 min	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = 15 V$)	ICBO	0.5 max	μÅ
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio $(V_{CE} = 4 \text{ V}, I_C = 50 \text{ mA})$	hfe	70 to 500	

40635

0.7A, 5W

Si n-p-n type used for driver applications in highfidelity amplifier circuits. This type and type 40634 form a complementary pair of driver transistors suitable for quasi-complementary-symmetry circuits. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. This type is electrically identical with type 40634 except for the reversal of all polarity signs.

40544

0.7A, 7W

Si n-p-n triple-diffused planar type used specifically as a driver in audio-amplifier circuits. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.6.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage $R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$

VCER(SUS)



50



MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	5	V
Collector Current	IC	0.7	A
Tre up to $25^{\circ}C$	Рт	7	W
	Рт	Derate 1	inearly
Temperature Range: Operating (Junction) Storage Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TJ(OPT) TSTG TL	-65 to 200 -65 to 200 255	200 (°C °C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(Ic = 100 \text{ mA}, R_{BE} = 100 \Omega)$	VCER(SUS)	50 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 150 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 15 \text{ mA})$	VCE(sat)	1 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 50 mA$)	VBE	1.7 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current (VCE = 40 V, RBE = 100 Ω)	ICER	10 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 5 V$, Ic = 0)	IEBO	1 max	mA_
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{EB} = 4 V, I_{C} = 50 mA)$	hfe	35 to 200	
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 50 mA$)	fr	100	MHz
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	OJ-C	25 max	°C/W



1A, 3.5W

40625

Si n-p-n type used for driver applications in highfidelity amplifier circuits suitable for complementarysymmetry circuits. JEDEC TO-5 (with heat-radiator), Outline No.8.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector Current	VCEO(SUS) VEBO IC PT	45 7 1 3.5	V V A W
Operating Storage	T(opr) T _{STG}	-65 to 200 -65 to 200	°C °C
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage $(I_{\rm C} = 100 \text{ mA})$ Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage	VCEO (SUS)	45 min	v
$(I_{C} = 150 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = 15 \text{ mA})$ Base-to-Emitter Voltage $(I_{C} = 150 \text{ mA}, V_{CE} = 4 \text{ V})$	Vce(sat) Vbe	0.5 max 1 max	vv
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = 60$ V) Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 5$ V)	Ісво Ієво	0.25 max 1 max	μΑ μΑ
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio $(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ I}_{C} = 150 \text{ mA})$	hre	100 to 300	



1A, 3.5W

40628

Si n-p-n type used for driver applications in highfidelity amplifier circuits suitable in complementarysymmetry circuits. JEDEC TO-5 (with heat-radiator), Outline No.8.

3.5	w
-65 to 200	°C
	-65 to 200 -65 to 200

RCA Transistor, Thyristor, & Diode Manual

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
(Ic = 100 mA)	Vceo(sus)	55 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(Ic = 150 \text{ mA}, I_B = 15 \text{ mA})$	Vce(sat)	0.5 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 150 mA$)	VBE	1 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = 60 V$)	Ісво	0.25 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 5 V$)	IEBO	1 max	μÂ
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			•
$(I_{\rm C} = 150 \text{ mA}, V_{\rm CE} = 10 \text{ V})$	hre	100 to 300	

40321

1A, 5W

Si n-p-n high-voltage type for direct 117-volt line operation in audio-amplifier driver stages for economical high-quality performance. Designed to assure freedom from second breakdown in the operating region. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

v
v
Å
<u>ک</u>
w
ŵ
300
°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 50 \text{ mA}, R_{\rm BE} = 1000 \Omega)$	VCER (SUS)	300 min	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}$, $I_C = 50 \text{ mA}$)	VBE	2 max	ý
Collector-Cutoff Current;			
$V_{CB} = 150 \text{ V}, \text{ Im} = 0, \text{ Tc} = 150^{\circ}\text{C}$	Ісво	100 max	"А
$V_{\rm CE} = 150 \ V, \ R_{\rm BE} = 1000 \ \Omega$	ICER	5 max	"A
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 5 V$, $I_C = 0$)	IEBO	100 max	"A
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			, <u> </u>
$(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 20 \text{ mA})$	hre	25 to 200	°C.W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θı-c	30 max	0/ 11
	0.0	00 man	



TYPICAL INPUT CHARACTERISTICS







1A. 5W

40327

40613

3

Si n-p-n high-voltage type used for direct operation from a line source in audio-amplifier driver stages for economical high-quality performance. Designed to assure freedom from second breakdown in the operating region. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. For collector-characteristics and input-characteristics curves, refer to type 40321.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(R_{BE} = 1000 \Omega)$	VCER(SUS)	300	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	5	v
Collector Current	Ic	1	A
Base Current	IB	0.5	Α
Transistor Dissipation:			
T _A up to 50°C	Рт	1	w
To up to 50°C	Рт	5	w
TA and Tr above 50°C	Рт	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	Tı(opr)	-65 to 200	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 50 \text{ mA}, R_{\rm BE} = 1000 \Omega)$	VCER (SUS)	300 min	V
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_C = 50$ mA)	VBE	2 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CB} = 150 \text{ V}, \text{ T}_{C} = 150^{\circ}\text{C}, \text{ I}_{E} = 0$	Ісво	100 max	μA
$V_{CE} = 150 \text{ V}, \text{ R}_{BE} = 1000 \Omega$	ICER	5 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 5 V$, $I_C = 0$)	Іево	100 max	μA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 20 \text{ mA})$	hfe	40 to 250	
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θì-c	30 max	•C/W

4A. 36W

Si n-p-n type used for output stages in high-fidelity amplifier circuits suitable for complementary-symmetry circuits. This type features a base comprised of a homegeneous-resistivity and molded silicone plastic package with vertical leads. This type fits a standard TO-66 socket. Outline No.52.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector Current	VCEO(SUS) VEBO IC	25 5 4	V V A
Base Current	IB	2	A
$\begin{array}{l} \mbox{Transistor Dissipation:} \\ T_C &= 25^{\circ}C \\ T_A &= 25^{\circ}C \end{array}$	Рт Рт	36 1.8	w
Temperature Range: Operating Storage	T(opr) T _{STG}	—65 to 150 —65 to 150	°C °C

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 100 \text{ mA})$	VCEO(SUS)	25 min	V
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 1000 mA$)	VRE	1.3 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current (VCB = 25 V)	ICBO	2 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{BB} = 5 V$)	IEBO	1 ma x	m A
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 1000 mA)$	hre	30 to 120	



40618

4A, 36W

Si n-p-n type used for output stages in high-fidelity amplifier circuits suitable for complementary-symmetry circuits. This type features a base comprised of a homegeneous-resistivity and molded silicone plastic package with vertical leads. This type fits a standard TO-66 socket. Outline No.52.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage	VCEO(SUS)	30	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	5	v
Collector Current	Ic	4	Α
Base Current	IB	2	Α
Transistor Dissipation:			
$T_{c} = 25^{\circ}C$	Рт	36	w
$T_A = 25^{\circ}C$	$\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{T}}$	1.8	w
Temperature Range:			
Operating	T(opr)	-65 to 150	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 150	°C
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage $(I_{C} = 100 \text{ mA})$	Vero (SUS)	30 min	v

$(I_{C} = 100 \text{ mA})$	Vceo (sus)	30 min	۷
Collector-Cutoff Current $(V_{CB} = 30 \text{ V})$	Icbo	2 max	µA
Emitter-Cutoff Current $(V_{EB} = 5 \text{ V})$	Iebo	1 max	mA
$(V_{CE} = 4 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 1000 \text{ mA})$	hfE	30 to 120	

40621

4A, 36W

Si n-p-n type used for output stages in high-fidelity circuits suitable for complementary-symmetry circuits. This type features a base comprised of a homegeneousresistivity and molded silicone plastic package with vertical leads. This type fits a standard TO-66 socket. Outline No.52.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage	VCEO(SUS)	32	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	5	v
Collector Current	Ic	4	Á
Base Current	IB	2	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
$T_{\rm C} = 25^{\circ}{\rm C}$	Рт	36	W
$\overline{T}_{A} = 25^{\circ}C$	Pr	1.8	Ŵ
Temperature Range:	- •		
Operating	T(opr)	-65 to 150	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 150	۰Č

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
(Ic = 100 mA)	VCEO (SUS)	32 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 1500 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 150 \text{ mA})$	Vce(sat)	1 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage			
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 1500 mA)$	VBE	1.5 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = 30 V$)	Ісво	0.5 max	µА
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 5 V$)	IEBO	1 max	ḿA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 1500 mA)$	hre	25 to 100	





Si n-p-n type used for output stages in high-fidelity amplifier circuits suitable for complementary-symmetry circuits. This type features a base comprised of a homegeneous-resistivity and molded silicone plastic package with vertical leads. This type fits a standard TO-66 socket. Outline No.52.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage	VCEO (sus)	40	V
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	5	V
Collector Current	Ic	4	Á
Base Current	IB	Ź	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
$T_{\rm C} = 25^{\circ} C$	Рт	36	v
$T_A = 25^{\circ}C$	PT	1.8	Ŵ
Temperature Range:			
Operating	T(opr)	-65 to 150	°C
Storage	TSTO	-65 to 150	٩Č
			-

4A, 36W

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage $(L) = 100 \text{ mA}$	Vana (ene)	40 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage	V(EO(SUS)	40 11111	v
$(I_{\rm C} = 1500 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 150 \text{ mA})$	VCE(sat)	1 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage			•
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 1500 mA)$	VBE	1.5 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current	ICER	500 max	щÀ
$(V_{CE} = 40 \text{ V}, R_{BE} = 100 \Omega)$			
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 5 V$)	IEBO	1 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 1500 mA)$	hff	25 to 100	



4A, 36W

40629

Si n-p-n type used for output stages in high-fidelity amplifier circuits. This type features a base comprised of a homegeneous-resistivity and molded silicone plastic package with vertical leads. This type fits a standard TO-66 socket. Outline No.52.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$	VCER (SUS)	35	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VERO	5	v
Collector Current	Ic	4	Ă
Base Current	Īn	3	1
Transistor Dissipation:	*10	-	-
$T_{\rm C} = 25^{\circ} \rm C$	Pr	36	387
$T_A = 25^{\circ}C$	P.	1 9	347
Temperature Bange	1	1.0	vv
Operating	T(opr)	CE to 1EO	•0
Storage	Tama	-63 10 130	
Storage	ISTG	-65 to 150	°C

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 100 \text{ mA}, R_{\rm BE} = 100 \Omega)$	VCER (SUS)	35 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage		00	•
$(Ic = 1000 \text{ mA}, I_B = 100 \text{ mA})$	Vcr(sat)	1 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	I max	•
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 1000 mA)$	VRE	13 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current	• 54	I.D MAX	v
$(V_{CE} = 30 \text{ V}, \text{ R}_{BE} = 100 \Omega)$	ICER	05 max	mΑ
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 5 V$)	IFRO	1 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio	A1310(7	I max	mA
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 1000 mA)$	hun	20 40 70	
	11F F.	201070	

40622

40630

4A, 36W

Si n-p-n type used for output stages in high-fidelity amplifier circuits. This type features a base comprised of a homegeneous-resistivity and molded silicone package with vertical leads. This type fits a standard TO-66 socket. Outline No.52.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage	/ \	40	••
$R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$	VCER (SUS)	40	<u>v</u>
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	5	v.
Collector Current	lc	4	A
Base Current	IB	2	A
Transistor Dissipation:	_		
$T_c = 25^{\circ}C$	Рт	36	W
$T_A = 25^{\circ}C$	Рт	1.8	w
Temperature Range:			
Operating	T(opr)	-65 to 150	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 150	°C
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 100 \text{ mA}, R_{\rm BE} = 100 \text{ O})$	VCER (SUS)	40 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		•
$(I_0 - 1500 \text{ mA} \text{ I}_P - 150 \text{ mA})$	Ver (sat)	1 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage	* Ch (bu v)	1	•
$(V_{CE} - 4 V I_C = 1500 mA)$	VRE	1.4 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current			•
$(V_{CP} - 35 V R_{PP} - 100 O)$	ICER	0.5 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VER $= 5$ V)	IERO	1 max	mA
Statio Forward-Current Transfer Batio	1000	- 1110.7	
$(V_{cn} - A V I_c - 1500 mA)$	hee	20 to 70	
(VCE - V, IC - IDVO IIIA)	117.65	20 10 10	

40631

4A. 36W

Si n-p-n type used for output stages in high-fidelity amplifier circuits suitable for quasi-complementary-symmetry circuits. This type features a base comprised of a homegeneous-resistivity and molded silicone plastic package with vertical leads. This type fits a standard TO-66 socket. Outline No.52.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage	VCER (SUS)	45	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	Vево Іс	54	Ý
Base Current	IB	2	A
Transistor Dissipation: $T_C = 25^{\circ}C$ $T_A = 25^{\circ}C$	Рт Рт	36 1.8	W W
Temperature Range: Operating Storage	T(opr) Tstg	—65 to 150 —65 to 150	°0 °0

CHARACTERISTICS

v
v
v
nA
nA







2A, 10W

40594

525

Si n-p-n type used for driver applications in highfidelity amplifier circuits. This type and type 40495 form a complementary pair of driver transistors suitable for quasi-complementary-symmetry circuits. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage	** (-)	0	
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VCER (SUS)	95	V.
Collector Current	V EBO	4 9	X
Base Current	Î.	1	2
Transistor Dissipation:	10	-	А
$T_{\rm C} = 25^{\circ}C$	Рт	10	w
$T_{A} = 25^{\circ}C_{\perp}$	PT	1.2	Ŵ
Temperature Range:			
Operating	T(opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	°C
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage $(Ic = 100 \text{ mA}, R_{BE} = 100 \Omega)$	Ver (sus)	95 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
(1c = 300 mA, 1B = 30 mA)	Vce(sat)	0.8 max	v
$V_{on} = 4 V L_{o} = 200 m A$	**		**
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{cr} = 95 V P_{cr} = 100 O$)	VBE	1.4 max	
Emitter-Cutoff Current $(V_{RR} - 4 V)$	ICER	01 max	μ <u>η</u>
Static Forward Current Transfer Ratio	1400	v.i max	μA
$(V_{CB} = 4 V, I_C = 300 mA)$	hfe	70 to 350	



all polarity signs.

2A, 10W

40595

Si p-n-p type used for driver applications in highfidelity amplifier circuits. This type and type 40495 form a complementary pair of driver transistors suitable for quasi-complementary-symmetry circuits. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5. This type is electrically identical with type 40594 except for the reversal of



2A, 35W

40328

Si n-p-n high-voltage type used for direct operation from a line source in audio-amplifier output stages for economical high-quality performance. Designed to assure freedom from second breakdown in the operating region. JEDEC TO-66, Outline No.25. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. For rat-

ing chart and collector-characteristics curves, refer to to type 40318.

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{B}\mathbf{E}} \equiv 500 \ \Omega)$	VCBR(SUS)	300	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VERO	6	v
Collector Current	La	0	×
Base Current	T.	2	Ä
Transistor Dissipation:	IB	1	A
Tc up to 25°C	Pr	25	337
T _C above 25°C	p.	See Deting	Chart
$T_{\rm C} = 175^{\circ} {\rm C}$	Pm	See naung	Chart
Temperature Range:	I T	Э	w
Operating (Junction)	Tr(opr)	65 to 200	•0
	r (opr)	-03 10 200	· · ·

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 200 \text{ mA}, R_{\rm BE} = 500 \Omega)$	VCER(SUS)	300 min	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (VCE = 10 V, IC = 1 A)	VBE	1.5 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{\rm CE} = 150$ V, $I_{\rm B} = 0$	ICEO	5 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 150$ V, $V_{BE} = -1.5$ V, $T_{C} = 25^{\circ}C$	ICEV	10 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 150$ V, $V_{BE} = -1.5$ V, $T_{C} = 150^{\circ}C$	ICEV	10 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VEB = 6 V, Ic = 0)	IEBO	5 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{CE} = 10 V$, $I_{C} = 1 A$	hfe	20 min	
$V_{CE} = 10$ V. Ic = 20 mA	hrs	40 min	
Second-Breakdown Collector Current ($V_{CE} = 150 \text{ V}$)	Is/b	100 min	mA
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	Ai-c	5 max	°C/W

40313

2A, 35W

Si n-p-n high-voltage type for direct 117-volt line operation in audio-amplifier output stages for economical high-quality performance. Designed to assure freedom from second breakdown in the operating region. JEDEC TO-66, Outline No.25. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage				
$(R_{BE} = 500 \ \Omega)$	Vcer(sus)		300	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO		2.5	v
Collector Current	Ic		2	A
Base Current	IB		1	A
Transistor Dissipation:				
Te up to 25°C	PT		35	W
Tc above 25°C	Pr	See	Rating	Chart
$\overline{T}_{C} = 175^{\circ}\overline{C}$	Pr		5	W
Temperature Range:			-	
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	65	to 200	°C
				-

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(Ic = 200 \text{ mA}, R_{BE} = 500 \Omega)$	VCER(SUS)	300 min	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_C = 0.1$ A)	VBE	1.5 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CE} = 150 V, I_B = 0$	ICEO	5 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 300 V$, $V_{BE} = -1.5 V$, $T_{C} = 25^{\circ}C$	ICEV	10 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 300 V, V_{BE} = -1.5 V, T_{C} = 150^{\circ}C$	ICEV	10 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 2.5$ V, Ic = 0)	IEBO	5 max	mA





CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{CE} = 10 V, I_{C} = 100 mA$	hff	40 to 250	
$V_{CE} = 10 V. I_{C} = 500 mA$	hre	40 min	
Second-Breakdown Collector Current (Vcm - 150 V)	Te/h	150 min	mA
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	Q ₁₋₀	5 max	°C /W
Another Aconomical Content of Case and and and and and and and and and and	01-0	0 max	C/ W

2A, 35W



Si n-p-n high-voltage type for direct 117-volt line operation in audio-amplifier output stages for economical high-quality performance. Designed to assure freedom from second breakdown in the operating region. JEDEC TO-66, Outline No.25. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(\mathbf{R}_{BE} = 500 \ \Omega)$	VCER (SUS)	300	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	6	v
Collector Current	Ic	2	A
Base Current	IB	1	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
Te up to 25°C	Рт	35	w
Tc above 25°C	PT	See Rating	Chart
$T_{C} = 175^{\circ}C$	PT	5	Ŵ
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	Tı(opr)	-65 to 200	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25° C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 200 \text{ mA}, R_{\rm BE} = 500 \Omega)$	Vcgr(sus)	300 min	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 10$ V, Ic = 0.5 A)	VBE	1.5 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CE} = 150$ V, $I_B = 0$	ICEO	5 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 150 \text{ V}, \text{ V}_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ Tc} = 25^{\circ}\text{C}$	ICEV	5 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 150$ V, $V_{BE} = -1.5$ V, $T_{C} = 150^{\circ}C$	ICEV	10 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 6 V$, $I_C = 0$)	IEBO	5 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{CE} = 10 \ V. \ Ic = 20 \ mA$	hfE	40 min	
$V_{CE} = 10$ V. Ic = 500 mA	hre	50 min	
Second-Breakdown Collector Current ($V_{CE} = 150 V$)	Is/b	100 min	mA
Second-Breakdown Energy (VRB = 4 V. RBB = 20 Ω .			
$L = 100 \ \mu H$	Es/b	50 min	μJ
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θı-c	5 max	°C/W



TYPICAL COLLECTOR CHARACTERISTICS



527

40318

40322

2A, 35W

Si n-p-n high-voltage type for direct 117-volt line operation in audio-amplifier output stages for economical high-quality performance. Designed to assure freedom from second breakdown in the operating region. JEDEC TO-66, Outline No.25. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. For rating chart and collector-characteristics curves, refer to type 40318.



MAXIMUM RATINGS

VCER(SUS) VEBO IC IB	300 6 2 1	V V A A
Рт Рт Рт	35 See Rating 5	W Chart W
T _J (opr)	-65 to 200	*C
Vcer (sus)	300 min	v
ICEO ICEV	5 max 10 max	mA mA
ICEV IEBO	5 max	mA
hfe hfe	40 min 75 min	
Is/b	100 min	mA
Ез/ь Өз-о	50 min 5 max	•c∕₩
	VCER(SUS) VEBO IC IB PT PT PT TJ(OPT) VCER(SUS) ICEO ICEV ICEV ICEV IEBO hFE hFE IS/b GJ-G	VCER (SUS) Ic 300 6 2 PT PT PT See Rating PT See Rating TJ (OPT) -65 to 200 0 VCER (SUS) 300 min 10 ICE0 5 max 10 max ICEV 10 max 10 max ICEV 10 max 5 max ISP 75 min 75 min Is/b 100 min 75 min GJ-C 50 min 5 max

40310

4A, 29W

Si n-p-n type used in audio amplifier driver stages for economical high-quality performance. Designed to assure freedom from second breakdown in the operating region. JEDEC TO-66, Outline No.25. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

 $(V_{CB} = 2 V, I_0 = 1 A)$

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector Current	VCEO(SUS) VEBO IC IB	35 2.5 4 2	V V A A
Transistor Dissipation: Tc up to 25°C Tc above 25°C	PT PT	29 See curve page	W 300
Temperature Range: Operating (Junction)	Tı (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)			
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage (Ic = 100 mA, I _B = 0) Base-to-Emitter Voltage (Vcm = 2 V, Ic = 1 A) Collector-Cutoff Current:	V(BR)CEO VBB	35 min 1.4 max	v v
Vcs = 15 V, Is = 0, Tc = 25° C Vcs = 15 V, Is = 0, Tc = 150° C Emitter-Cutoff Current (Vss = 2.5 V, Ic = 0)	Ісво Ісво Ієво	10 max 5 max 5 max	μA mA mA

hrs

20 to 120

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)





4A, 29W

40312



Si n-p-n type used in audio-amplifier output stages for economical high-quality performance. Designed to assure freedom from second breakdown in the operating region. JEDEC TO-66, Outline No.25 See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage		
$(R_{BE} = 500 \Omega)$	60	
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	00	<u>.</u>
Collector Current	2.5	· Y
Base Current	4	Ą
Transistor Dissipation:	Z	A
Te up to 25°C		
Tc above 25°C	29	w
Temperature Range:	See curve page	300
Operating (Junction)		
operating (sufferior) Tj (opr)	—65 to 200	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage (Ic = 100 mA, $R_{BE} = 500 \Omega$, tp = 300 μ s, df = 2%) Base-to-Emitter Voltage (Vcs = 2 V, Ic = 1 A)







kHz °C/W

750

6 max

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CB} = 15$, V , $I_E = 0$, $T_C = 25^{\circ}C$	Ісво	10 max	μA
$V_{CB} = 15 V, I_E = 0, T_C = 150 C$	Ісво	5 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VEB = 2.5 V, Ic = 0)	IEBO	5 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 2 V, I_C = 1 A)$	hrg	20 to 120	
Gain-Bandwidth Product (Ver = 4 V, Ic = 500 mA)	fт	750	kHz
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	ԴեՅ	6 max	°C/W
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio ($V_{CE} = 2 V, I_C = 1 A$) Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 500 \text{ mA}$) Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	hr≊ fr ⊖ı∹	20 to 120 750 6 max	kF °C/

40316

4A, 29W

Si n-p-n type used in audio-amplifier output stages for economical high-quality performance. Designed to assure freedom from second breakdown in the operating region. JEDEC TO-66, Outline No.25. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage	40	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	5	- v
Collector Current Ic	4	A
Base Current In	2	Α
Transistor Dissipation:		
$T_{\rm C}$ up to 25°C	29	w
T _C above 25°C P _T	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:		
Operating (Junction) Tr(opr)	-65 to 200	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

	$V_{CER}(sus)$ V_{BE}	40 min 1.4 max	v v
$V_{cp} = 15 V I_{r} = 0 T_{c} = 25^{\circ}C$	ICRO	10 max	<i>"</i> A
$V_{CB} = 15 V$, $I_E = 0$, $T_C = 150^{\circ}C$	Ісво	5 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 5 V$, $I_C = 0$)	Ієво	5 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio		00.4- 100	
$(V_{CE} = 2 V, I_C = 1 A)$	nre fm	20 to 120	ьu.
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	-r 0	6 max	°C/W

40324

4A, 29W

Si n-p-n type used in audio-amplifier inverter and driver stages for economical high-quality performance. Designed to assure freedom from second breakdown in the operating region. JEDEC TO-66, Outline No.25. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. For collector-characteristics and transfer-characteristics curves, refer to type 40310.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VCEO(SUS) VEBO IC	35 2.5 4	V V A
Base Current	Ĩв	2	Ā
Transistor Dissipation:	Рт	29	w
Tc above 25°C	PT	See curve page	300
Temperature Range: Operating (Junction)	TJ(opr)	-65 to 200	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage			
$(Ic = 100 \text{ mA}, R_{BE} = 500 \Omega)$		35 min	<u>v</u>
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (Ver = 2 V, Ic =	= 1 А) Vвы	1.4 max	v



CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CB} = 15 V, I_E = 0, T_C = 25^{\circ}C$	Ісво	10 max	μA
$V_{CB} = 15 V, I_E = 0, T_C = 150^{\circ}C$	Ісво	5 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 2.5 V$, $I_C = 0$)	IEBO	5 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 2 V, I_{C} = 1 A)$	hre	20 to 120	
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 500 mA$)	fт	750	kHz
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θı-c	6 max	°C/W



6A, 50W 40624 Si n-p-n type used for output stages in high-fidelity amplifier circuits suitable for complementary-symmetry circuits. This type features a base comprised of a homegeneous-resistivity and molded silicone plastic package with vertical leads. This type fits a standard TO-66 socekt. Outline No.52.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector Current Base Current	$f{V}_{ ext{EBO}}(sus) \ f{V}_{ ext{EBO}} \ f{I}_{ ext{C}} \ f{I}_{ ext{B}} \ f{I}_{ ext{B}}$	45 5 6 3	V V A A
Transition Dissipation: $Tc = 25^{\circ}C$ $TA = 25^{\circ}C$	Рт Рт	50 1.8	w w
Operating Storage	T(opr) T _{STG}	-65 to 150 -65 to 150	°C °C
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage (I ¹ = 100 mA)	VCEO (SUS)	45 min	v
$(I_{\rm C} = 2500 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 250 \text{ mA})$	$V_{\rm CE}(sat)$	1 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage $(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 2500 \text{ mA})$ Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CE} = 45 V, R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$) Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 5 V$)	VBE ICER IEBO	1.7 max 500 max 1 max	ν μA mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio $(V_{CR} - 4 V_{CR} - 2500 \text{ mA})$	hee	20 to 100	



6A, 50W

40627

Si n-p-n type used for output stages in high-fidelity amplifier circuits suitable for complementary-symmetry circuits. This type features a base comprised of a homegeneous-resistivity and molded silicone plastic package with vertical leads. This type fits a standard TO-66 socket. Outline No.52.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage	VCEO(SUS)	55	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	5	v
Collector Current	Ic	6	A
Base Current	IB	3	Α
Transistor Dissipation:			
$T_c = 25^{\circ}C$	Рт	50	w
$T_{A} = 25^{\circ}C$	Рт	1.8	w
Temperature Range:			
Operating	T(opr)	-65 to 150	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 150	°C

531

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
(Ic = 100 mA)	VCEO (SUS)	55 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(Ic = 2500 \text{ mA}, I_B = 250 \text{ mA})$	VCE(sat)	1 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage			
$(V_{\rm CE} = 4 V, {\rm Ic} = 2500 {\rm mA})$	VBE	1.7 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current			
$(V_{\rm CE} = 55 \text{ V}, \text{R}_{\rm BE} = 100 \Omega)$	ICER	500 max	uА
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 5 V$)	IEBO	1 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 2500 mA)$	hfe	20 to 100	

40632

6A, 50W

Si n-p-n type used for output stages in high-fidelity amplifier circuits suitable for quasi-complementarysymmetry circuits. This type features a base comprised of a homegeneous-resistivity and molded silicone plastic package with vertical leads. This type fits a standard TO-66 socket. Outline No.52.



MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$	VCER(sus)	60	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	5	ý
Collector Current	Ic	Ğ	Á
Base Current	Īв	3	A
Transistor Dissipation:		-	
$T_{\rm C} = 25^{\circ} C$	PT	50	w
$T_{A} = 25^{\circ} \tilde{C}$	Pr	1.8	ŵ
Temperature Range:			
Operating	T(opr)	-65 to 150	°C
Storage	Type	-65 to 150	۰Č
Divinge	# 51 G	00 10 100	~

CHARACTERISTICS

•
v
v
IA.
A

40542

6A. 83W

Si n-p-n type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material and molded silicon plastic package with vertical leads. This type fits a standard TO-3 socket. It is used in complementarysymmetry output stages of audio-amplifier circuits. It permits complementary operation with a matching p-n-p type such as 40051. Outline No.50. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.



Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage ($R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$) Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VCER(SUS) VEBO IC	50 5 6	V V A
--	-------------------------	--------------	-------------

MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

Transistor Dissipation: Tc up to 25°C Tc above 25°C	Рт Рт	83 Derate line 0 W at 15(W arly
Temperature Range: Operating (Junction) Storage Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TJ (OPR) TSTG TL	-65 to 150 -65 to 150 235	°C O°

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage		
$(Ic = 0.2 \text{ A}, R_{BE} = 100 \Omega, t_{P} = 300 \mu s, df = 1.8\%)$ Ver	ск (sus) 50 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage		
$(I_{\rm C} = 2.5 \text{ A}, I_{\rm B} = 0.25 \text{ A}, I_{\rm P} = 300 \ \mu \text{s}, df = 1.8\%)$ V(1)	(sat) 1 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage (VCE = 4 V. Ic = 2.5 A.		•
$t_P = 300 \ \mu s. \ df = 1.8\%$	a 1.7 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current (VCE = 40 V, RBE = 100 Ω) ICE	R 1 max m	١Å
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 5 V$, $I_C = 0$)	o 5 max m	ıA
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Batio		
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 2.5 A, t_P = 300 \mu s, df = 1.8\%)$ here	(pulsed) 20 to 70	
Gain-Bandwidth Product (Ver = 4 V. Ic = 0.5 A) f_T	0.8 to 2.8 MI	H7
Thermal Resistance Junction-to-Case		ŵ
	1.0 max - C/	



7A. 35W

40364



Si n-p-n type used in audio-amplifier output stages for economical high-quality performance. Designed to assure freedom from second breakdown in the operating region. JEDEC TO-66, Outline No.25. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(R_{BE} = 150 \ \Omega)$	VCER(SUS)	60	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	4	v
Collector Current	Ic	7	Α
Base Current	IB	5	Α
Transistor Dissipation:			
Te up to 25°C	Рт	35	w
To above 25°C	Рт	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	Tı(opr)	-65 to 200	°C
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature - 25°C	3		

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(R_{BB} \equiv 150 \ \Omega, I_{C} \equiv 200 \ mA)$	VCER(SUS)	60 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 2.5 \text{ A}, I_{\rm R} = 0.25 \text{ A})$	Vce(sat)	2 max	v

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Base-to-Emitter Voltage (VcE = 5 V, Ic = 2.5 A)	VBE	1.8 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:	_		
$V_{CE} = 50 \text{ V}, \text{ R}_{BE} = 150 \Omega, \text{ T}_{C} = 25^{\circ}\text{C}$	ICER	0.5 max	mA
$V_{\rm CE} = 50 \text{ V}, \text{ R}_{\rm BE} = 150 \Omega, \text{ T}_{\rm C} = 150^{\circ}\text{C}$	ICER	2 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 4 V$, $I_C = 0$)	IEBO	5 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{\rm CE} = 5 V. {\rm Ic} = 0.5 {\rm A}$	hfe	35 to 175	
$V_{\rm CE} = 5 V, {\rm Ic} = 2.5 {\rm A}$	hre	20 min	
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 10$ V, $I_C = 2.5$ A)	fr	15	MHz
Second-Breakdown Collector Current ($V_{CE} = 40 \text{ V}$)	Is/b	750 min	mA
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	01-c	5 max	°C/W





40543

8A, 83W

Si n-p-n type featuring a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material and molded silicone plastic package with vertical leads. This type fits a standard TO-3 socket. It is designed specifically for amplifier applications. Outline No.50. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 40542 except for the following items:



MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-	to-Emitte	er Sustaining Voltage ($R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$)	VCER (SUS)	60	v
Collector	Current		Ic	8	A

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 0.2 \text{ A}, R_{\rm BE} = 100 \Omega, t_{\rm P} = 300 \mu_{\rm S}, df = 1.8\%)$	VCER(SUS)	60	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_{C} = 3 \text{ A}, I_{B} = 0.3 \text{ A}, t_{P} = 300 \ \mu \text{s}, df = 1.8\%) \dots$	VCE(sat)	1	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 3 A$,			
$t_P = 300 \ \mu s. \ df = 1.8\%$	VBE	1.7	v
Collector-Cutoff Current (VCE = 50 V, RBE = 100 Ω)	ICER	1	mÁ
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CR} = 4 V, I_C = 3 A, t_P = 300 \mu s, df = 1.8\%)$	hre(pulsed)	20 to 70	

40633

8A. 83W

Si n-p-n type used for output stages in high-fidelity amplifier circuits suitable for quasi-complementarysymmetry circuits. This type features a base comprised of a homegeneous-resistivity and molded silicone plastic package with vertical leads. This type fits a standard TO-3 socket. Outline No.50.



MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage		_	_
$\mathbf{KBE} = 100 \ \Omega$	VCER (SUS)	75	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	5	v
Collector Current	Ic	8	A
Base Current	In	ě	Ā
Transistor Dissipation:		•	
$T_{\rm C} = 25^{\circ} {\rm C}$	Рт	83	w
$T_A = 25^{\circ}C$	PT	- 2	ŵ
Temperature Range:		-	
Operating	T(opr)	-65 to 150	ംറ
Storage	Tero	-65 to 150	•č
	1010	-03 10 130	C
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(I_{\alpha} - 200 \text{ mA} \text{ Rm} - 100 \text{ O})$	T 7(RE main	
Collector to Emitter Seturation Valtage	VCER(SUS)	15 min	v
(In	/		
(1C = 4000 mA, 1B = 400 mA)	VCE(sat)	1 max	v

Base-to-Emitter Voltage			
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 4000 mA)$	VRE	1.4 max	7
Collector-Cutoff Current	120		
$(V_{CE} = 65 \text{ V}, \text{ R}_{BE} = 100 \Omega)$	ICER	0.5 max	m
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 5 V$)	IEBO	1 max	m
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 4000 mA)$	hre	20 to 70	



15A, 117W

40325

Si n-p-n type used in audio-amplifier output stages for economical high-quality performance. Designed to assure freedom from second breakdown in the operating region. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCBO	35	v
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	VCEV	35	v
_ Base open (sustaining voltage)	VCEO(SUS)	35	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	5	Ý
Collector Current	Ic	15	Å
Base Current	ÎB	1.9	^
Transistor Dissipation:		•	-
Tc up to 25°C	PT	117	w
Tc above 25°C	P _T	See curve nade	200
Temperature Range:	••	bee curve page	300
Operating (Junction)	T _I (opr)	-65 to 200	°C



TYPICAL TRANSFER CHARACTERISTIC



CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature \pm 25°C)

Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage			v
(Ic = 200 mA, IB = 0)	V(BR)CEO(SUS)	35 min	
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			v
(Ic = 100 mA, IE = 0)	V (BR) CBO	35 min	
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			v.
(Ic = 8 A, Ib = 0.8 A)	VCE(sat)	1.5 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 8 A$)	VBB	2 max	
Collector-Cutoff Current:	•		
$V_{CB} = 30 V, I_E = 0, T_C = 25^{\circ}C$	TCBO	5 max	
$V_{CB} = 30$ V, $I_E = 0$, $T_C = 150^{\circ}C$	1CBO	10 max	100 /000
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VEB = 5 V, $1c = 0$)	1EBO	10 max	-C/w
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio	b	12 40 60	mA
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, 1c = 8 A)$	NFE O. a	12 10 60	mA
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	A1~C	1.5 max	mA

40363

15A, 115W

Si n-p-n type used in audio-amplifier output stages for economical high-quality performance. Designed to assure freedom from second breakdown in the operating region. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. For collectorcharacteristics and transfer-characteristics cuves, refer to type 40325.



MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage	Vorn (sue)	70	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	4	v
Collector Current	10	15	A
Base Current	IB	7	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
To up to 25°C	Рт	115	w
Tc above 25°C	Рт	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	Tı(opr)	—65 to 200	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(R_{BE} = 200 \ \Omega, I_{C} = 200 \ mA)$	VCER(SUS)	70 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 4 {\rm A}, I_{\rm B} = 0.4 {\rm A})$	Vce(sat)	1.1 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 4 A$)	VBE	1.8 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CE} = 60 \text{ V}, \text{ R}_{BE} = 200 \Omega, \text{ T}_{C} = 25^{\circ}\text{C}$	ICER	0.5 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 60 \text{ V}, \text{ R}_{BE} = 200 \Omega, \text{ T}_{C} = 150^{\circ}\text{C}$	ICER	2 max	mA
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VEB = 4 V, $Ic = 0$)	IEBO	5 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 4 A)$	hfe	20 to 70	
Gain-Bandwidth Product (Vcr = 4 V Ic = 3 A)	fr	700	kHz
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	01-c	1.5 max	°C/W

40636

15A, 115W

Si n-p-n type used for output stages in high-fidelity amplifier circuits suitable for quasi-complementarysymmetry circuits. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2.



Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$	VCER(SUS)	95	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	7	v
Collector Current	Ic	15	A
Base Current	Ів	7	A
Transistor Dissipation			
$T_{C} = 25^{\circ}C$	Рт	115	w
Temperature Range:			
Operating	T(opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTO	-65 to 200	°C

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 200 \text{ mA}, R_{\rm BE} = 100 \Omega)$	VCER (SUS)	95 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			•
$(I_{\rm C} = 4000 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 400 \text{ mA})$	Vce(sat)	1 max	v
Base-to-Emitter Voltage			•
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 4000 mA)$	VBE	1.4 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CE} = 85 V$, $R_{BE} = 100 \Omega$)	ICER	0.5 max	mÁ
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 4 V$)	IEBO	1 max	mA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 4000 mA)$	hre	20 to 70	

30A, 150W

40411

90 min

0.8 max 1.2 max

0.5 max

35 to 100 800

1.17 max

2 max 5 max

200



Si n-p-n type features a base comprised of a homogeneous-resistivity silicon material. This type is used in output stages in af-amplifier applications in industrial and commercial equipment. In a typical class AB circuit, two series-connected 40411 transistors driven by a complementary pair of transisters (40400 and

by a complementary pair of transistors (40409 and 40410) can provide an audio output of 70 watts with a total harmonic distortion of less than 0.25 per cent at 1000 Hz. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage		
$(R_{BE} \leq 100 \Omega)$	VCER(SUS)	90
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	4
Collector Current	Ic	30
Base Current	Ів	15
Transistor Dissipation:		
Tc up to 25°C	Рт	150
Tc above 25°C	PT	See curve page
Temperature Range:	- •	page
Operating (Junction)	Tı(opr)	-65 to 200

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage
$(R_{BE} = 100 \ \Omega, I_{C} = 200 \ mA)$
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage
$(I_{\rm C} = 4 \text{ A}, I_{\rm B} = 400 \text{ mA})$
Base-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{CE} = 4 V$, $I_C = 4 A$)
Collector-Cutoff Current:
$V_{CE} = 80 V, R_{BE} = 100 \Omega, T_{C} = 25^{\circ}C$
$V_{CE} = 80$ V, $R_{BE} = 100$ Ω T _C = 150°C
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 4 V$, Ic = 0)
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio
$(V_{CE} = 4 V, I_C = 4 A)$
Gain-Bandwidth Product (Ver = 4 V, Ic - 4 A)



TYPICAL TRANSFER CHARACTERISTICS

VCER (SUS)

Vcr (sat)

VBE

ICER

IEBO

hre

θ1-0

fт



V V A A

W 300 •C

v

ν

mA

mA

mA

kHz

•C/Ŵ

W

Technical Data for RF Power Transistors

THIS section contains detailed technical data for all current RCA rf power transistors. The transistors are listed according to the numerical-alphabetical-numerical sequence of their type designations. In selection of devices for use in new electronic equipment, a prospective user should refer to the appropriate section of the Selection Guide included earlier in the Manual.

2N1491 RF POWER TRANSISTOR

Si n-p-n triple-diffused type used in vhf applications for rf-amplifier, video-amplifier, oscillator, and mixer circuits in industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-39, Outline No.15.

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	30	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage (VBB = -0.5 V)	VCEV	30	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	Vebo	1	v
Collector Current	Ic	100	mA
Base Current	IB	20	mA
Emitter Current	Iю	⊷100	mA
Transistor Dissipation:			
Tc up to 25°C	Рт	3	W
Tc above 25°C	Рт	See curve	page 300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (T _c) and Storage (T _{STG})		-65 to 175	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T_L	255	•C
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_{\rm C} = 0.1$ mA.			
$I_{\rm R} = 0$	V(BR)CBO	30 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Floating Potential (Vcs = 30 V.			
$I_{\rm H} = 0$	VEB(fl)	0.5 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current (Vcn = 12 V, In = 0)	Ісво	10 max	μA
Emitter-Cutoff Current (VER = 1 V. Ic = 0)	IEBO	100 max	μA
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 20 V, I_C = 15 mA, f = 1 kHz)$	he.	15 to 200	
Gain-Bandwidth Product (Vca = 30 V, Ic = 15 mA)	fT	300	MHz
Output Capacitance (Vcs = 30 V, Is = 0 .			
f = 0.15 MHz	Cobo	5 max	pF
Small-Signal Power Gain (VCB = 15 V. IE = -15 mA.			
$P_{00} = 10 \text{ mW}, f = 70 \text{ MHz}$	Gp.	13 min	dB
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	01-c	50	°C/W


RF POWER TRANSISTOR 2N1492

Si n-p-n triple-diffused type used in vhf applications for rf-amplifier, video-amplifier, oscillator, and mixer circuits in industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-39, Outline No.15. This type is identical with type 2N1491 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage Collector-to-Emitter Voltage (VBE = -0.5 V) Emitter-to-Base Voltage	Vcbo Vcev Vebo	60 60 2	V V V
CHARACTERISTICS			
Confector-to-Base Breakdown voltage ($I_C = 0.1 \text{ mA}$, $I_E = 0$)	V(BR)CBO	60 min	v
$I_{\rm B} = 0$	VEB (fl)	0.5 max	v
Emitter-Cutoff Current ($V_{EB} = 2 V$, $I_C = 0$)	IEBO	100 max	μÀ
Small-Signal Power Gain ($V_{CB} = 30$ V, $I_E = -15$ mA, $P_{00} = 100$ mW, f = 70 MHz)	Gp.	13 min	dB

RF POWER TRANSISTOR

2N1493



Si n-p-n triple-diffused type used in vhf applications, for rf-amplifier, video-amplifier, oscillator, and mixer circuits in industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-39, Outline No.15. This type is identical with type 2N1491 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Vcbo Vcbv Vebo	100 100 4.5	v v v
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = 0.1 mA. $I_{\rm B} = 0$) Emitter to Base Floating Potential (Ver = 100 V	V(BR)CBO	100 min	v
In the observe of the second	Veb(fl) Iebo	0.5 max 100 max	۷ µA
$P_{oe} = 500 \text{ mW}, \text{ f} = 70 \text{ MHz}$	Gp.	10 min	dB

RF POWER TRANSISTOR 2N2631



Si n-p-n triple-diffused planar type used in large-signal whf applications such as AM, FM, and cw service at frequencies up to 150 MHz in industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-39, Outline No.15. This type is identical with type 2N2876 except for the following items:

Collector Current	Ic	1.5	Α
Transistor Dissipation:			
Tc up to 25°C	Рт	8.75	w
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T_L	230	°C
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25° C)			
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_{C} = 1.5 \text{ A}, I_{B} = 0.3 \text{ A})$	Vce(sat)	1 max	v
RF Power Output, Unneutralized			
$(V_{CB} = 28 V, I_C = 0.375 A, P_{IB} = 1 W,$			
f = 50 MHz)	Poe	7.5 min	w



2N2876 RF POWER TRANSISTOR

Si n-p-n triple-diffused planer type used in large-signal vhf applications such as AM, FM, and cw service at frequencies up to 150 MHz in industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-60, Outline No.23. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.



MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:	Vсво	80	v
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	VCEV	80	v
Base open	VCEO	60	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	Vebo	4	v
Collector Current	Ie	2.5	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
Te up to 25°C	Рт	17.5	w
Te above 25°C	Рт	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTO	-65 to 200	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T_L	230	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = 0.5 mA, IE = 0)

V(BR)(BO

80 min

v







RF Power Transistors

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage:			
$I_{\rm C} = 0.5 \text{ A}, I_{\rm B} = 0, t_{\rm P} \leq 5 \ \mu \text{s}, df \leq 1\%$	VORDICEO (SUS)	60 min	v
$V_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 0.1 \text{ mA}$	VORDER	80 min	ý
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = 0.1 \text{ mA}$,			-
$I_{\rm c} = 0$)	V(BR)EBO	4 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			•
$(I_{\rm C} = 2.5 \text{ A}, I_{\rm B} = 0.5 \text{ A})$	Vcc(sat)	1 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = 30$ V, $I_E = 0$)	Ісво	0.1 max	иÅ
Intrinsic Base-Spreading Resistance ($V_{CE} = 28$ V.			<i></i>
$I_{\rm C} = 0.25 \text{ A}, f = 400 \text{ MHz}$	ГЬЬ'	6	0
RF Power Output, Unneutralized:			
$V_{CE} = 28 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 0.5 \text{ A}, P_{1E} = 2 \text{ W}, \text{ f} = 50 \text{ MHz} \dots$	Por	10 min	w
$V_{CE} = 28$ V, Ic = 0.275 A, P_{IE} = 1 W, f = 150 MHz	POE	3 min	Ŵ
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 28 V$, $I_C = 250 mA$)	fT	200	MHz
Collector-to-Case Capacitance	C _e	6 max	pF
Output Capacitance (V $_{CB} = 30$ V, $I_{E} = 0$,			- -
f = 0.14 MHz)	Cobo	20 max*	nF
			P.4

* This value applies only to type 2N2876.



RF POWER TRANSISTOR

2N3118

Si n-p-n triple-diffused planar type for large-signal vhf class C and small-signal vhf class A amplifier applications in industrial and military communications equipment JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	VCEV	85	v
Base open	VCEO	60	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VERO	4	v
Collector Current	Ic	0.5	Å
Transistor Dissipation:		0.5	-
T _A up to 25°C	PT	1	w
Tc up to 25°C	PT	Å	w
TA or Tc above 25°C	PT	See curve nage	200
Temperature Range:		Dee curve page	300
Operating (Junction)	T ₁ (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	Tara	-65 to 200	്റ്
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T .	255	~č

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

rev 85 min	v
reo (sus) 60 min	v
	•
во 4 min	v
	•
0.1 max (uА
100 max	"A
) 25 to 75	0
	85 min Feo (sus) 60 min 880 4 min 0.1 max 100 max /



TYPICAL CLASS A RF POWER-OUTPUT CHARACTERISTIC



Small-Signal Short-Circuit Output Impedance, Real Part (Vor = 28 V Ic = 25 mA f = 50 MHz)	1(real)	500 to 1000	Ω
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio	Y ₂₂		
$(V_{CE} = 28 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 25 \text{ mA}, \text{ t}_n = 300 \mu\text{s}, \text{ df} \leq 1.8\%)$	hre(pulsed)	50 to 275	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 28 \text{ V}, I_C = 25 \text{ mA}, f = 50 \text{ MHz})$	hre	5 min	
$c_{b'c}$ Product (VcB = 28 V, Ic = 25 mA,			
f = 50 MHz)	Гьь' Сb'e	60 max	ps
Power Gain, Class A Service (with heat sink)			
$(V_{CE} = 28 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 25 \text{ mA}, P_{ve} = 0.2 \text{ W}, f = 50 \text{ MHz})$	Gpe	18 min	dB
Collector-to-Base Feedback Capacitance			_
$(V_{CB} = 28 V, I_C = 0, f = 1 MHz)$	Cb'e	6 max	pF
Power Output, Class C Oscillator Service			
(with heat sink):	_		
$V_{CE} = 28 V, P_{i0} = 0.1 W, f = 50 MHz$	Poe	1 min	W
$V_{CE} = 28 V_{CE} = 0.1 W_{CE} = 150 MHz$	Poe	0.4 min	w

2N3229 RF POWER TRANSISTOR

Si n-p-n triple-diffused planar type used in largesignal, high-power AM, FM, and cw applications at vhf frequencies in industrial and military, communications equipment. JEDEC TO-60, Outline No.23. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	105	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:	-		
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	VCEV	105	v
Base open	VCEO	60	Ý
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	-4	Ý
Collector Current	Ic	2.5	Á
Transistor Dissipation:			
To up to 25°C	Pr	17.5	w
Tc above 25°C	Pr	See curve nage	300
Temperature Range:		Dee curve puge	000
Operating (Junction)	Tr(opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	Terro	-65 to 200	ംറ്
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Ť.	230	۰č
		200	~

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage $(1c = 0.5 \text{ mA})$
$I_{E} = 0$)
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage:
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V. I_{C} = 0.1 mA$
$I_{c} = 500 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = 0, t_{p} \leq 5 \ \mu s, df \leq 1\%$
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = 0.1$ mA.
Ic = 0
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic = 2.5 A)
$I_{B} = 500 \text{ mA}$



FG

ഹ







RF Power Transistors

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = 30 V$, $I_E = 0$)	Icro	01 max	
Intrinsic Base-Spreading Resistance ($V_{CR} = 28$ V.	2080	V.I max	μη
$I_{c} = 250 \text{ mA}, f = 400 \text{ MHz}$	Thb [*]	6	0
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 28 V$, $I_C = 250 mA$)	fr	200	MH-
Collector-to-Base Feedback Capacitance		200	141112
$(V_{CB} = 30 \text{ V}, I_E = 0, f = 140 \text{ kHz})$	Cobo	20 may	nF
Collector-to-Case Capacitance	Čc	6 max	
RF Power Output, Unneutralized:	•••	omax	րե
$Vcc = 50 V$, $Ic = 500 mA$, $P_{18} = 2 W$, $f = 50 MHz$	Por	15 min	317
$V_{CC} = 50 V. I_{C} = 250 mA. P_{IR} = 1 W. f = 150 MHz$	Don	13 11111	
	FOR	5 min	w

RF POWER TRANSISTOR

2N3375



Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type used in vhfuhf applications in class A, B, or C amplifier, frequencymultiplier, or oscillator operations. JEDEC TO-60, Outline No.23. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATING

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	65	v
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	VCEV	65	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VCEO Vebo	40	V
Base Current	Ic	1.5	Ă
Transistor Dissipation:	18	0.2	A
T _c above 25°C	PT PT Dev	11.6	w
Temperature Range:	Li Del	to 0 at 200	°C
Storage	T _J (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)		65 to 200 230	°C C
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature - 25°C	3		-
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage	·/		
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage:	V(BR)EBO	65 min	v
L = 25 mH, df = 50%	V(BR)CEO	404 min	v
inductor $L = 25$ mH, df = 50%	Van	CEA main	•
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage $(I_E = 0.1 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	V (BR)CEV	65≜ min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage	V(BR)EBO	4 min	v
Collector-Cutoff Current	Vcc(sat)	1 max	v
(v c = 30 v, 1 = 0)	ICEO	01 max	m A



TYPICAL SMALL-SIGNAL OPERATION CHARACTERISTIC

0.1 max

mA



RF Power Output:			
Unneutralized Amplifier $V_{1E} = 28$ V, $P_{1E} = 1$ W, $f = 100$ MHz	POE	7.5● min 3* min	W
$V_{CE} \equiv 28$ V, $P_{1E} \equiv 1$ W, $I \equiv 400$ MHz	C.	6 max	pF
Collector-to-Base Feedback Capacitance (Vrs = 30 V, $I_E = 0$, $f = 1$ MHz)	C _{cb}	10 max 500	pF MHz
Intrinsic Base-Spreading Resistance (Ver = 28 V Ic = 250 mA, f = 400 MHz)	reb'	10	Ω

▲ Measured at a current where the breakdown voltage is a minimum. ● For conditions given, minimum efficiency = 65 per cent. * For conditions given, minimum efficiency = 40 per cent.

2N3553 **RF POWER TRANSISTOR**

Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type used in class A, B, and C amplifiers, frequency multipliers, or oscillators in vhf-uhf applications. JEDEC 10-39, Outline No.15.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	65	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	VCEV	65	V
Base open	VCEO	40	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	Vebo	4	v
Collector Current	Ic	0.33	A
Peak Collector Current	ic	1	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
To up to 25°C	Рт	7	w
To above 25°C	PT D	erate linearly	
10 above 20 C animatication and and an	to	0 watts at 200	°C
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Slorage	TSTG	65 to 200	°C
Lord-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL	230	°C
Leau-Dolucing remperature (10 b mar) marin	- ••		

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_{\rm C} = 0.3$ mA,	••	05	37
$I_E = 0$)	VGBRDEBO	65 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage:			
$I_c = 0$ to 0.2 A, $I_B = 0$, pulsed through an inductor L = 25 mH, df = 50%	Vebioceo	40 ≜ min	v
$I_C = 0$ to 0.2 A, $V_{BE} = -1.5$ V, pulsed through an inductor $L = 25$ mH, df = 50%	VORDEEV	65 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (IE = 0.1 mA, IC = 0)	V(BR)EBO	4 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage $(I_{c} = 250 \text{ mA} \text{ J}_{B} = 50 \text{ mA})$	VCE(sat)	1 max	v



TYPICAL SMALL-SIGNAL OPERATION CHARACTERISTIC

(2)⁸

3 c



Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CE} = 30$ V, $I_B = 0$)	ICEO	0.1 max	mA
For the set of the se	гьь' fт	12 500	Ω MHz
Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 30$ V, $I_E = 0$, f = 1 MHz) BF Prover Output:	Cobo	10 max	pF
Unneutralized Amplifier—Vcc = 28 V, $P_{1B} = 0.25$ W, R _g and R _L = 50 Ω , f = 175 MHz	POE	2.5* min	w

▲ Measured at a current where the breakdown voltage is a minimum. * For conditions given, minimum efficiency = 50 per cent.

2N3632 **RF POWER TRANSISTOR**



Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type used in class A. B. and C amplifiers, frequency multipliers, or oscillators in vhf applications. JEDEC TO-60, Outline No.23. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vebo	65	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			
$V_{BN} = -1.5 V$	VCEV	65	v
Base open	VCEO	40	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VERO	-4	ý
Collector Current	LC	2	Å
Conector Current	10	ບ 1	<u>,</u>
Peak Collector Current	IC	1	А
Transistor Dissipation:	_		
T _C up to 25°C	Рт	23	w
Tc above 25°C	Pr 2	Derate linearly	
	t	o 0 watts at 200	°C
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	Tu(opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Sterrage	Turn	65 to 200	٠č
Storage	I STG	-03 10 200	ž
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	ть	230	ι.
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature - 25°C	3		
	•,		
Collector-to-Base Breakdown voltage ($1c = 0.5$ mA,			
$I_{BC} = 0$	V (BR) EBG) 65 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage:			
$I_{C} = 0$ to 0.2 A. $I_{B} = 0$, pulsed through an inductor			
L = 25 mH df = 50%	VORBACE	. 40≜ min	v
$1 \rightarrow 20$ mm, $1 \rightarrow 0/0$ mm and $1 \rightarrow 0/0$,	
10 - 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 +			
$IC \equiv 0$ to 0.2 A, $VBE \equiv -1.5$ V, pulsed	37	6E min	37
$I_{\rm C} = 0$ to 0.2 A, $V_{\rm RE} = -1.5$ V, pulsed through an inductor L = 25 mH, df = 50%	V(BR)CEV	65 min	v
$10^{\circ} = 0$ to 0.2 Å, VBE = -1.5 V, pused through an inductor L = 25 mH, df = 50\% Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage	V(BR)CEV	65 min	v
Ic = 0 to 0.2 Å, VBE = -1.3 V, pused through an inductor L = 25 mH, df = 50\% Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (IE = 0.25 mA, Ic = 0)	V(BR)CEV V(BR)EBO	65 min 4 min	v v
The set to 0.2 Å, VBE $=$ -1.3 V, pulsed through an inductor L = 25 mH, df = 50% Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = 0.25$ mÅ, $I_C = 0$) Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage	V(BR)CEV V(BR)EBO	65 min 4 min	v v
Ic = 0 to 0.2 Å, $\forall BE = -1.3 \forall$, $\beta DBEd$ through an inductor L = 25 mH, df = 50% Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (IE = 0.25 mA, Ic = 0) Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic = 0.5 Å, IB = 0.1 Å)	V(BR)CEV V(BR)EBO V(E (sat	65 min 4 min 1 max	v v v
Ic = 0 to 0.2 Å, $V_{BE} = -1.5$ V, pused through an inductor L = 25 mH, df = 50% Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (IE = 0.25 mÅ, Ic = 0) Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic = 0.5 Å, IB = 0.1 Å) Collector-Cutoff Current (Vcg = 30 V, IB = 0)	V(BR)CEV V(BR)EBO VCE (sat ICEO	65 min 4 min 1 max 0.25 max	v v mA
Ic = 0 to 0.2 Å, $V_{BE} = -1.3$ V, pulsed through an inductor L = 25 mH, df = 50% Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (IE = 0.25 mA, Ic = 0) Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic = 0.5 Å, IB = 0.1 Å) Collector-Cutoff Current (VcB = 30 V, IB = 0) Caip Bachwidth Product (VcB = 28 V, Ic = 150 mÅ)	V(BR)CEV V(BR)EBO VCE (sat ICEO fm	65 min 4 min 1 max 0.25 max 400	V V MH7





Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 30$ V, $I_E = 0$, $\underline{f} \equiv 1$ MHz)	Cobo	20 max	pF
RF Power Output, Unneutralized:			
$V_{CC} = 28 V, P_{IE} = 3.5 W, R_0 \text{ and } R_L = 50 \Omega,$ f = 175 MHz	Ров	13.5° min	w
$V_{\rm CC} = 28$ V, $P_{\rm IE} = 3$ W, R _G and R _L = 50 Ω, f = 260 MHz	Por	10†	w
Intrinsic Base-Spreading Resistance ($V_{CE} = 28$ V, Ic = 250 mA, f = 200 MHz)	гьь'	6.5	Ω

Measured at a current where the breakdown voltage is a minimum.
 For conditions given, minimum efficiency = 70 per cent.
 For conditions given, minimum efficiency = 60 per cent.

2N3733 RF POWER TRANSISTOR

Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type used in largesignal, high-power vhf-uhf applications in military and industrial communications equipment. Intended for class A, B, C amplifier, frequency-multiplier, or oscillator service. JEDEC TO-60, Outline No.23. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.



MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	65	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	VCEV	65	v
Base open	VCEO	40	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	Vebo	4	v
Peak Collector Current	ic	3	- A
Transistor Dissipation:			
Te up to 25°C	Рт	23	w
Te above 25°C	Рт	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	Tı(opr)	65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTO	-65 to 200	°C
Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TP	230	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = 0.5 mA , IE = 0)	V(BR)CBO	65 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage:			
$I_C = 0$ to 200 mA, $V_{BK} = -1.5$ V, pulsed through an inductor $L = 25$ mH, df = 50%	V(BR)('EV	65 min	v
$I_{C} = 0$ to 200 mA, $I_{B} = 0$, pulsed through an inductor $L = 25$ mH, $df = 50\%$	V(BR)CEO	40 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($1E = 0.25$ mA, $I_C = 0$)	V(BR)EBO	4 min	v





Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(Ic = 0.5 A, I_B = 100 mA)$	Ver(sat)	1 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CE} = 30 V$, $I_B = 0$)	ICEO	0.25 max	mÅ
Intrinsic Base-Spreading Resistance ($V_{CE} = 28$ V)		oneo max	
$I_{\rm C} = 250 \text{ mA}, f = 200 \text{ MHz}$	Thb*	65	0
Gain-Bandwidth Product (V($x = 28$ V L _c = 150 mA)	fm	400	MU
Collector-to-Case Capacitance	<u>.</u>	5	mnz sF
Output Capacitance (Ver -30 V Ir -0	C.	omax	pr
f = 1 MHz)	C	20 may	- 12
RF Power Output Amplifier Uppeutralized	C000	20 max	pr
$V_{\rm eff} = 28$ V $P_{\rm eff} = 4$ W $P_{\rm eff}$ and $P_{\rm eff} = 50$ O			
f = 20 MHz)	D		
1 = 200 MHZ	POE	14.5*	w
$V_{1E} = 28 V$, $F_{1E} = 4 W$, R_{0} and $R_{1} = 50 \Omega$,	-		
I = 400 WHz	Por	10† min	w
* For conditions given minimum efficiency - 60 ner	cent		
t For conditions given, minimum efficiency - 45 per	cent		



RF POWER TRANSISTOR 2N3866

Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type for vhf-uhf applications in class A, B, and C amplifiers, frequency multipliers, and oscillators in military and industrial communications equipment. JEDEC TO-39, Outline No.15.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	55	37
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:	55	v
$R_{BE} = 10 \Omega$	55	37
Base open	20	- v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	20	- v
Collector Current	3.3	X
Transistor Dissipation:	0.4	_ A
Te up to 25°C	F	3 8 7
Te above 25°C	500 00000 0000	200
Temperature Range:	See curve page	300
Operating (Junction) Tr(op	(r) _ 65 to 200	•0
Storage	- 65 to 200	స
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	-03 10 200	- ř





CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Conector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($1c = 0.1 \text{ mA}$.			
$I_E = 0$)	VIBRICHO	55 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = 0.1 \text{ mA}$.	1 (04)(100	00 11111	•
Ic = 0	VORDERO	35 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:	* (06/500	0.0 11111	v
$Ic = 5 \text{ mA}, R_{BE} = 10 \Omega$	VCEN (SUE)	55 min	37
$I_{\rm C} = 5 {\rm mA}, I_{\rm B} = 0$	VCEO (SUS)	20 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage	VCEO (SUS)	30 11111	v
$(I_{c} = 100 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = 20 \text{ mA})$	Man (not)	1	
(-0) = 100 million $= 10$ million (-0)	V(E(Sal)	1 max	v

Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = 28$ V, $I_B = 0$)	Iceo	20 max	μA
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CB} = 15$ V, $I_C = 25$ mA)	ft	800	MHz
output capacitance ($V_{CB} = 50$ V, $T_E = 0$, f = 1 MHz)	Cobo	3 max	pF
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Poe	1.8*	W
	Poe	1.5●	W
	Poe	1† min	W
• For conditions given, minimum efficiency $= 60$ per of the formula of the form	cent.		

• For conditions given, minimum efficiency = 50 per cent. † For conditions given, minimum efficiency = 45 per cent.

2N4012 RF POWER TRANSISTOR

Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type designed to provide high power as a frequency multiplier into the uhf or L-band frequency region in military and industrial communications equipment. JEDEC TO-60, Outline No.23. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.



V V V V mA MHz

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	65	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	VCEV	65	v
Base open	VCEO	40	- V
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	Vebo	4	v
Collector Current	Ic	1.5	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
To up to 25°C	Рт	11.6	w
Tc above 25°C	Рт	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T」(opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL	230	°C

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (Ic = 0.1 mA, $I_E = 0$)	V(BR)CBO	65 min
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage:		
$I_c = 0$ to 200 mA, pulsed through an inductor L = 25 mH, df = 50%	V(BR)CEO	40 min
$V_{BE} = -1.5$ V, $I_C = 0$ to 200 mA, pulsed through an inductor $L = 25$ mH, df = 50%	V(BR)CEV	65 min
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = 0.1$ mA, $I_C = 0$)	V(BR)EBO	4 min
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage $(I_{C} = 500 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = 100 \text{ mA})$	Vcr(sat)	1 max
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CE} = 30$ V, $I_B = 0$)	ICEO	0.1 max
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 28 V$, $I_C = 150 mA$)	ÍT	200



TYPICAL SMALL-SIGNAL OPERATION CHARACTERISTIC



Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 30$ V, $I_E = 0$, f = 1 MHz)	Cobo	10 max	рF
Collector-to-Base Cutoff Frequency*			
$(V_{CE} = 28 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 0)$	fc	25	GHz
RF Power Output, Multiplier:			
Tripler-VCE = 28 V, $f = 1002$ MHz,			
$P_{IE} = 1 W \text{ at } 334 \text{ MHz}$	POR	2.5† min	w
Doubler-VCE = 28 V, $f = 800$ MHz,			
$P_{1E} = 1 \text{ W at 400 MHz}$	POR	3=	w

* Cutoff frequency is determined from Q measurement at 210 MHz. The cutoff frequency of the collector-to-base junction of the transistor, $f_c = Q \times 210$ MHz. + For conditions given, minimum efficiency = 25 per cent. = For conditions given, minimum efficiency = 35 per cent.

RF POWER TRANSISTOR 2N4427



Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type used in class A, B, or C amplifier, frequency-multiplier, or oscillator circuits; it is used in output. driver, or pre-driver stages in vhf and uhf equipment. JEDEC TO-39, Outline No.15.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage Collector-to-Emitter Voltage Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector Current Transistor Dissination:	VCBO VCEO VEBO Ic	40 20 2 0.4	V V V A
Tc up to 25°C Tc above 25°C Tc above 25°C	Рт Рт	3.5 See curve p	W age 300
Operating (Junction) Storage Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Tı(opr) Tstg Tl	65 to 200 65 to 200 230	•C •C •C
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)			
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage $(I_C = 0.1 \text{ mA}, I_E = 0)$ Fruitter to Base Breakdown Voltage	V(BR)CBO	4 0 min	v
$I_{IE} = 0.1 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0$	V(BR)EBO	2 min	v
$(1c = 100 \text{ mA}, I_B = 20 \text{ mA})$ Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage: $I_C = 5 \text{ mA} R_{BF} = 10.0$	Vcm (sat)	0.5 max	V V
$I_C = 5 \text{ mA}, I_B = 0$ Collector-Cutoff Current (Vos = 12 V, I _B = 0) Output Capacitance (Vos = 12 V, I _B = 0, f = 1 MHz) RF Power Output, Amplifier, Unneutralized	VCER (SUS) VCEO (SUS) ICEO Cobo	20 min 20 max 4 max	$\mathbf{V}_{\boldsymbol{\mu}\mathbf{A}}$ pF
(Vec = 12 V, P _{IE} = 0.1 W, f = 175 MHz, R _g and R _L = 50 Ω)	Pom	1* min	w

• For conditions given, minimum efficiency = 70 per cent.





2N4440 RF POWER TRANSISTOR

Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type used in class A, B, and C amplifiers, frequency multipliers, or oscillators, for military and industrial communications. JEDEC TO-60, Outline No.23. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.



MAXIMUM RATINGS

Conector-to-Emitter voltage:			
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	VCEV	65	v
Base open	VCEO	40	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	-4	v
Collector Current	Ic	1.5	Á
Transistor Dissipation:			
Te up to 25°C	Рт	11.6	W
To above 25°C	PT	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:		1.6	
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	٥Č
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL	230	٠Č

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

-- --

. .

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$(Ic = 0.1 \text{ mA}, I_E = 0)$	V(BR)(BO	65 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage:			
Is \pm 0, Ic \pm 0 to 200 mA, pulsed through			
inductor $L = 25$ mH, df $= 50\%$	V(BR)('EO	40 min	v
$V_{BE} = -1.5$ V, I = 0 to 200 mA, pulsed through			
inductor $L = 25$ mH, df $= 50\%$	V(BR)(EV	65 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$(I_E = 0.1 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	V(BR)EBO	4 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 500 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 100 \text{ mA})$	Vce(sat)	1 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CE} = 30 V$, $I_B = 0$)	ICEO	0.1 max	Ý
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 28 V$, $I_C = 150 mA$)	fT	500	MHz
Output Capacitance (Ves = 30 V, Is = 0, $f = 1$ MHz)	Cobo	10 max	pF
Collector-to-Case Capacitance	Cc	6 max	pF
Intrinsic Base-Spreading Resistance			
$(V_{CE} = 28 \text{ V}, I_C = 250 \text{ mA})$	rbb'	10	Ω
RF Power Output, Amplifier, Unneutralized:			
$V_{CE} = 28 V$, $P_{IE} = 1.7 W$, R_G and $R_L = 50 \Omega$,			
f = 225 MHz	POR	6.5*	W
$V_{CE} = 28 V$, $P_{IE} = 1.7 W$, R_{G} and $R_{L} = 50 \Omega$,			
f = 400 MHz	Pom	5 min•	W

For conditions given, minimum efficiency = 55 per cent.
For conditions given, minimum efficiency = 45 per cent.









RF POWER TRANSISTOR 2N4932

Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type used in highpower class C rf amplifiers for international vhf mobile and portable communications service. JEDEC TO-60, Outline No.23. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAX	IMU	M	RAI	INGS
MAX	IMU	M	KAI	INGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	V _{CB0}	50	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	VCEV	50	v
Base open	VCEO	25	ý
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	-4	ý
Collector Current	Ic	33	Á
Peak Collector Current	ic	10	
Transistor Dissination:		10	A
Taus to 25°C	D.a	70	337
To up to 25 C	D-	See aurior	
	PT	See curve p	lage sou
RF Input Power:	-		
At 88 MHZ	FIE	3.5	w
Below 88 MHz	PIE	Derate line	arly by
		0.022 W/MH	z to 3 W
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	Tı(opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTO	-65 to 200	•C
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25° C)			
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage:			
L = 200 mA nulsed through on industor I = 25 mH			
10 = 200 mA, pulsed through an inductor $L = 25 mH$,	37		
dI = 50%, $IB = 0$	V (BR) CEO (S	us) 25 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = 200$ mA, pulsed through an inductor $L = 25$ mH,	/		••
$df = 50\%, V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	V (BR)CEV (S	us) 50 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = 10$ mA,			
$I_{\rm C} = 0$	V(BR)EBO	4 min	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{\rm CE} = 15 {\rm V}, {\rm I}_{\rm B} = 0$	ICEO	1 max	mA
$V_{CB} = 40 V, I_E = 0$	Ісво	10 max	mA
Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 15 V$, $I_E = 0$)	Cobe	120 max	pF
RF Power Output (Vcc = 13.5 V, PiE = 3.5 W.			•
$f = 88$ MHz, R_G and $R_L = 50 \Omega$)	Pon	12 • min	w

• For conditions given, minimum efficiency = 70 per cent.

TYPICAL RF POWER-OUTPUT CHARACTERISTICS



RF POWER TRANSISTOR





Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type used in highpower class C rf amplifiers for international vhf mobile and portable communications service. JEDEC TO-60, Outline No.23. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 2N4932 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	V сво	70	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage: $V_{RE} = -1.5 V$ Base oven	VCEV VCEO	70 35	v
•			

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage: $L_{\rm r} = 200 \text{ mA}$ pulsed through inductor $L_{\rm r} = 25 \text{ mA}$			
$df = 50\%$, $I_{\rm b} = 0$	V(BR)CEO(SUS)	35 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = 200$ mA, pulsed through inductor $L = 25$ mA,			
$df = 50\%, V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	V(BR)CEV (SUS)	70 min	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:	T	1	A
$V_{\rm CE} = 30$ V, $I_{\rm R} = 0$	ICEO Lono	10 mox	mA
Output Capacitance (Ver -30 V Ir -0)	Cuba	85 max	nF
RF Power Output (Vcc = 24 V, $P_{1E} = 3.5$ W,	01100	00a.A	P-
$f = 88$ MHz, R ₄ and R ₁ = 50 Ω)	Pom	20 • min	w

• For conditions given, minimum efficency = 70 per cent



2N5016 RF POWER TRANSISTOR

Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type used in largesignal high-power class B and C rf amplifiers for military and industrial communications service (200 to 700 MHz). JEDEC TO-60, Outline No.23. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			
$V_{\rm RE} = -1.5 \text{ V}$	VCEV	65	v
$R_{\rm BE} = 30 \ \Omega$	VCER	40	Ý
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	4	v
Collector Current	Ic	4.5	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
Tc up to 50°C	Рт	30	W
Te above 50°C	Pr	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	Tı(opr)	65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTO	-65 to 200	°C
Case-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	$\mathbf{T}\mathbf{e}$	230	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25° C)

Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage:
$R_{BE} = 30 \Omega, I_B = 0, I_C = 200 mA$
pulsed through an inductor $L = 25$ mH, df = 50%
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$, Ic = 200 mA,
pulsed through an inductor $L = 25$ mH, df = 50%
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage (IE = 5 mA,
$I_{\rm C} = 0$

V(BR)CER	40 min	V
$V_{(BR)CEV}(sus)$	65 min	v
V(BR)EBO	4 min	v



Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_B = 40 \text{ mA}, I_C = 2000 \text{ mA})$	VCE(sat)	1 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CE} = 30 V$, $I_B = 0$)	ICEO	10 max	mÅ
Collector-to-Base Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 30$ V, $I_E = 0$,			
f = 1 MHz)	Ceb	25	nF
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 15 V$, $I_C = 500 mA$)	fa	600	MH ₇
RF Power Output, Unneutralized:		000	141112
$V_{\rm CE} = 28$ V, $P_{\rm 1E} = 5$ W, R ₆ and R ₁ = 50 Ω .			
f = 225 MHz	Post	23 *	w
$V_{CE} = 28$ V, $P_{1E} = 5$ W, Rg and $R_L = 50$ Ω.		-0	
f = 400 MHz	Pom	15 •	w
Dynamic Input Impedance ($V_{CE} = 28$ V, $P_{IE} = 5$ W,			
R_{0} and $R_{1} = 50 \Omega$, $f = 400 MHz$		25 ± 15	0
······································			

* For conditions given, minimum efficiency = 60 per cent. For conditions given, minimum efficiency = 50 per cent.



RF POWER TRANSISTOR

2N5070



Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type used in highpower class A or B service in a 2-to-30-MHz singlesideband power amplifier operating from a 28-volt power supply. JEDEC TO-60, Outline No.23. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

Collector-to-Emitter Voltage.			
$V_{\rm BE} = -1.5 \ V$	VCET	65	v
$R_{BE} = 5 \Omega$	VCER	40	ý
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	4	Ý
Collector Current	Ic	3.3	Á
Peak Collector Current	ic	10	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
Te up to 25°C	Рr	70	w
_ Tr above 25°C	Рт	See curve p	age 300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T ₁ (opr)	65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	°Č
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T1,	230	٠Č
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25° C)			
Emitten to Deer Deerladeen Witten (V. 10.			
Emitter-to-base breakdown voltage ($IE \equiv 10$ mA,			
$R^{c} = 0$	V(BR)EBO	4 min	v
Conector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$v_{\rm RE} = -1.5 v, {\rm Ic} \equiv 200 {\rm mA}$	VCEV(SUS)	65 min	v
$R_{BE} \equiv 5 \Omega, Ic \equiv 200 \text{ mA}$	VCER(SUS)	40 mi n	v
Collector-Cuton Current:			
$V_{CE} = 30 V, I_{B} = 0$	ICEO	5 max	mA
$VCB \equiv 30 V, TE \equiv 0$	Ісво	10 max	mA
Output Capacitance ($v_{CB} = 1$ V, $I_E = 0$, $f = 1$ MHz)	Cobo	85 max	pF
inermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	-cθ	2.5 max	°C/W

TYPICAL OPERATION IN RF-AMPLIFIER CIRCUIT

Collector Supply Voltage Collector Base Current	28 20	mA
RF Power Output: Average Peak Envelope Intermodulation Distortion Collector Efficiency	12.5 min 25 min 30 max 40 min	W W dE %
- TYPICAL RE POWER-OUTPUT CHARACTERISTICS		



2N5071

RF POWER TRANSISTOR

Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type used in highpower class A and C rf amplifiers for FM communications with a 24-volt power supply. It is used for narrowband and wideband applications in the 30-to-76-MHz frequency range. JEDEC TO-60, Outline No.23. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. For maximum ratings, refer to type 2N5070.



CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25° C)

Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage ($I_E = 10 \text{ mA}$,			
$I_{\rm C}=0$)	V (BR) EBO	4 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V, I_{C} = 200 mA$	VCEV (SUS)	65 min	v
$R_{BE} = 5 \Omega. I_{C} = 200 mA$	VCER	40 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Cutoff Current ($V_{CE} = 30 V$,			
$I_{B} = 0$	ICEO	5 max	mA
Collector-to-Base Cutoff Current ($V_{CE} = 60 \text{ V}$, $I_E = 0$)	ICBO	10 max	mA
Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 30$ V, $I_E = 0$, $f = 1$ MHz)	Сово	85 max	pF
Power Output:			
Narrowband Amplifier ($V_{CE} = 24$ V, $P_{1E} = 3$ W.			
R_G and $R_L = 50 \Omega$, $f = 76 MHz$)	POB	24 0 min	w
Wideband Amplifier ($V_{CE} = 24 V$, $P_{1E} = 3 W$,			
B_{c} and $B_{t} = 50.0$ f = 30 to 76 MHz)	Port	15* min	w



554

Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	0-10	2.5	•C/W
• For conditions given, minimum efficiency $= 60$ per cent. • For conditions given minimum efficiency $= 25$ per cent			

ditions given, minimum efficiency = 35 per cent.

2N5090 **RF POWER TRANSISTOR**



Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type used in class A, B, or C amplifier frequency-multiplier, or oscillator circuits; it is used in output, driver, or pre-driver, stages in vhf and uhf equipment. JEDEC TO-60, Outline No.23. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	55	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:		•••	•
$R_{BE} = 10 \ \Omega$	VCER	55	v
Base open	VCEO	30	ý
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	3.5	ý
Collector Current	Ic	0.4	Å
Transistor Dissipation:			
To up to 75°C	Рт	5	w
Tc above 75°C	PT Derate	linearly at 0.04	w/°C
Temperature Range:		<i>y</i> ======	, 🗸
Operating (Junction)	T ₁ (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	۰č
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL	230	۰č

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 0.1 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm E} = 0)$	V(BR)CBO	55 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			•
$(I_{\rm E} = 0.1 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm C} = 0)$	V(BR)EBO	3.5 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			•
$Ic = 5 \text{ mA}, R_{BE} = 10 \Omega$, pulsed through inductor			
L = 25 mH, df = 50%	VCER(SUS)	55 min	v
$Ic = 5 mA, I_B = 0$	VCEO (SUS)	30 min	ý
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			-
$(Ic = 100 \text{ mA}, I_B = 20 \text{ mA})$	VCE (sat)	1 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CE} = 28 \text{ V}, I_B = 0$)	ICEO	20 max	μÀ
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 15 V$, $I_C = 50 mA$)	fr	500 min	MHz
Collector-to-Base Capacitance			
$(V_{CB} = 30 \text{ V}, I_E = 0, f = 1 \text{ MHz})$	Cobo	3.5 max	pF
RF Power Output, Amplifier, Unneutralized			-
$(V_{CE} = 28 \text{ V}, P_{1E} = 0.2 \text{ W}, f = 400 \text{ MHz},$			
R_{G} and $R_{L} = 50 \Omega$	POR	1.2* min	w

* For conditions given, minimum efficiency = 45 per cent.



555

2N5102 RF POWER TRANSISTOR

Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type designed to provide high power as a class C rf amplifier for vhf aircraft communications service (108 to 150 MHz) with amplitude modulation and 24-volt power supply. JEDEC TO-60, Outline No.23. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	VCEV	100	v
$R_{BE} = 5 \Omega$	VCER	50	- V
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	4	v
Collector Current:			
Peak	ic	10	Α
Continuous	Ic	3.3	Α
Transistor Dissipation:			
Tc up to 25°C	$\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{T}}$	70	w
Tr above 25°C	PT	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T_L	230	°C



CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage $(I_F - 10 V, I_C = 0)$	V(BR)EBO	4 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$, Ic = 600 mÅ, pulsed through	/ \	100	
an inductor $L = 9$ mH, df = 50%	VCEV(SUS)	100 min	v
$R_{BE} = 5 \Omega$, $I_{C} = 200 \text{ mA}$, pulsed through		50	
an inductor $L = 9$ mH, df = 50%	VCER(SUS)	50 min	, v
Collector-Cutoff Current (VCE = 50 V, RBB = 5 Ω)	ICER	10 max	mA
Collector-to-Base Capacitance (VCB = 30 V, Ic = 0)	Ccb	85 max	pF
BE Power Output (Vcc = 24 V, Pir = 6 W)			-
$R_{f} = 136 \text{ MHz}$	POB	15* min	W
Modulation $(V_{cm} - 24)V f - 118$ MHz)		80 min	%
Modulation V(E = 24, 7 = 10 Mill)		will not be	,0
Load Mismatch (V/ $c = 24$ V, $1 = 116$ MHz)		domaged	
		uamageu	
Dynamic Input Impedance ($V_{CE} = 24$ V, $I_C = 1100$ mA, $P_{OE} = 6$ W, $f = 150$ MHz)		1.7 + j2.6	Ω
Inmodulated carrier.			

• Carrier Power, $P_{CAR} = 15$ W; Vcc modulation = 100%; $M = \sqrt{2(P_{AM} - P_{CAR})} \times 100\%$.

Under conditions of footnote (•), the transistor is subjected to all conditions of load mismatch from short circuit to open circuit.

RF POWER TRANSISTOR 2N5108 Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type used as a highpower amplifiers, fundamental-frequency oscillator, and frequency multiplier. It may be used in final, driver, and pre-driver amplifier stages in uhf equipment and as a fundamental-frequency oscillator at 1.68 GHz. JEDEC TO-39, Outline No.15.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCBO	55	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:		•	•
$R_{BE} = 10 \Omega$	VCER	55	v
Base open	VCEO	30	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	3	v
Collector Current	Ic	0.4	Å
Transistor Dissipation:		0.1	
To up to 25°C	Pr	3.5	w
To above 25°C	Pr	See curve nage	300
Temperature Range:	- •	See curve page	000
Operating (Junction)	$T_{I}(opr)$	65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	65 to 200	്റ്
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL	230	۰č



CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$(Ic = 0.1 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm E} = 0)$	V(BR)(BO	55 min	ν
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			•
$(I_{\rm E} = 0.1 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm C} = 0)$	V(BR)EBO	3 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage		+	•
$(R_{BE} = 10 \Omega, I_{C} = 5 mA, pulsed through an$			
inductor $L = 2.5$ mH, df = 50%)	VCER(SUS)	55 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(Ic = 100 \text{ mA}, I_B = 10 \text{ mA})$	Vce(sat)	0.5 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			•
$V_{CE} = 15 \text{ V}, \text{ I}_{B} = 0$	ICEO	20 max	uА
$V_{\rm CE} = 50$ V	ICES	1 max	μA
Collector-to-Base Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 30 V$, $I_E = 0$,			
f = 1 MHz	Cobo	3 max	pF
Magnitude of Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer			• -
Ratio ($V_{CE} = 15$ V, $I_C = 50$ mA, $f = 200$ MHz)	hre	6 min	
RF Power Output, Common Emitter Amplifier			
$V_{CE} = 28$ V, $P_{IE} = 0.316$ W, $f = 1$ GHz)	POE	1* min	w
RF Power Output, Fundamental Frequency Oscillator			
$(V_{CE} = 20 \text{ V}, V_{EB} = 1.5 \text{ V}, f = 1.68 \text{ GHz})$	Pom	0.3†	w
• For conditions given minimum officionay - 25 non -			

 \dagger For conditions given, minimum efficiency = 35 per cent. \dagger For conditions given, minimum efficiency = 15 per cent.

2N5109

RF POWER TRANSISTOR

Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type designed to provide large dynamic range, low distortion, and low noise as a wide-band amplifier into the vhf range. JEDEC TO-39, Outline No.15.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCB0	40	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage (RBE = 10 Ω)	VCER	40	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	Vebo	3	v
Collector Current	Ic	0.4	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
To up to 25°C	PT	3.5	w
Tc above 25°C	Рт	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T₂(opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	65 to 200	°C
Land Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Τι.	230	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage		10	
$(I_{\rm C} = 0.1 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm E} = 0)$	V (BR)CBO	40 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage		0 i	
$(I_E = 0.1 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	V (BR)EBO	3 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$R_{BE} = 10 \Omega$, $I_{C} = 5 mA$, pulsed through an			
inductor L = 2.5 mH, df = 50%	VCER (SUS)	40 min	v
$I_{\rm C}$ = 5 mA, $I_{\rm B}$ = 0	VCEO (SUS)	20 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 100 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 10 \text{ mA})$	Vce(sat)	0.5 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current (Ic $= 0.1$ mA, Iz $= 0$)	ICEO	20 max	μA
Collector-to-Base Capacitance (VCB = 15 V, IE = 0,			
f = 1 MHz	Cobo	3.5 max	pF
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			-
$(V_{cn} = 15 V, I_c = 50 mA)$	hrs 70 m	in: 210 typ	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$V_{cm} - 15 V L_c - 25 mA$	hee	4.8 min	
$V_{\rm cm} = 15 V, I_{\rm c} = 50 \text{ mA}$	hre	6 min	
$V_{ch} = 15 V, 10 = 00 \text{ mA}$	hee	4.8 min	
Voltage Cain, Wideband, $(V_{CR} - 15 V, I_C = 50 \text{ mA})$		1.0	
f = 50 to 216 MHz)		11 min	dB
Crees Modulation at 54 dBmVe Output			
$(V_{m} - 15 V I_{m} - 50 mA)$		-57	dB
$V_{CR} \equiv 15$ V, $R \simeq 50$ mA)			
Power Gain, Nariowband (V(8 \pm 15 V, 10 \pm 10 mm,		11 min	dB
$P_{1E} = -10 \text{ dB}, I = 200 \text{ MHz}$	NF	21	ab
Noise Figure (VCB = 15 V, $10 = 10$ mA, $1 = 200$ MHZ/	111		42

0 dBmV = 1 millivolt.

2N5470 RF POWER TRANSISTOR

Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type used for vhf/ microwave power amplifiers, microwave fundamentalfrequency oscillators, and frequency multipliers. Out- *e*, line No.54.



MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCBO	55	v
Collector to Emitter Voltage ($Buv = 10.0$)	VCER	55	v
Confector-co-Emitter voltage (itsk = 10 12)	Vunn	35	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	0.4	Å
Peak Collector Current	10	0.4	, 'n
Collector Current	Ic	0.2	A
Transistor Dissination:			
	Pr	3.5	w
1e up to 25 C	n -	See aurue nade	300
Tc above 25°C	PT	See curve page	900
Temperature Range:			~ ~
Operating (Junction)	T _i (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Operating (Bunction)	Tere	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	1910	00 10 200	Ŭ

()⁸

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$(Ic = 0.1 \text{ mA}, I_E = 0)$	V(BR)(BO	55 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(Ic = 5 \text{ mA}, R_{BE} = 10 \Omega)$	VCER(SUS)	55 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
(IE = 0.1 mA, Ic = 0)	V(BR)EBO	3.5 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_B = 10 \text{ mA}, I_C = 100 \text{ mA})$	VCE(sat)	1 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CE} = 50$ V, $I_B = 0$)	ICES	1 max	mA
Collector-to-Base Capacitance			
$(V_{CB} = 30 V, I_E = 0, f = 1 MHz)$	Ceb	3 max	pF
RF Power Output:			-
Common-Base Amplifier:			
$V_{CB} = 28 \text{ V}, P_{1B} = 0.316 \text{ W}, f = 2 \text{ GHz}$	P_{0B}^*	1 min	w
$V_{CB} = 28 V, P_{1B} = 0.2 W, f = 1 GHz$	Pos ^a	2	w
Common-Base Oscillator			
$(V_{CB} = 24 V, I_C = 80 mA)$	POR	0.3	w
* For conditions given, minimum efficiency $= 30$ per	cent.		
• For conditions given, typical efficiency = 50 per	cent.		



(2)E 3

RF POWER TRANSISTOR

2N5913

Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type used for vhf/uhf mobile, portable, and vhf marine transmitters, as well as uhf, cb, sonobuoy, beacon, and other applications where intermediate power output is required at low supply voltage. JEDEC TO-39, Outline No.15.

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vero	36	v
Base shorted to emitter	V(RR)CES	36	v
Base open	VGROCEO	14	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	3.5	v
Collector Current	Ic	0.33	Å
Transistor Dissipation:		0.00	
Tc up to 75°C [*]	Pт	3.5	w
Tc above 75°C	P _T	Derate at 0.0028	w/°c
Temperature Range:		= crute ut 0.0020	
Operating (Junction)	T ₁ (opr)	65 to 200	°C
Storage	Ture	-65 to 200	•č
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Ť .		
Deud Dordering Temperature (10 5 max)	16	230	C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature \pm 25°C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 0.5 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm E} = 0)$	VGRICBO	36 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage:			
$I_{\rm C} = 25$ mA, $I_{\rm B} = 0$, pulsed through an inductor			
L = 25 mH, df = 50%	VGROCEO	14 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = 25$ mA, $V_{\rm EB} = 0$, pulsed through an inductor			
L = 25 mH, $df = 50%$	V (BR) CES	36 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$I_E = 0.5 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0$	VGRDEBO	3.5 min	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:		-	
$V_{CE} = 12.5 \text{ V}, I_B = 0, T_C = 100^{\circ}C$	ICES	1 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 10 V, I_B = 0$	ICEO	0.3 max	mA
Power Output (Vcc = 12.5 V, PiE = 0.1 W,	_		
f = 175 MHz)	POE	1.75 min	w
Large-Signal Common-Emitter Power Gain	0	10.4	- CIL
$(Vec = 12.5 V, P_{IE} = 0.1 W, f = 175 MHz$	GPE	12.4 min	ав
Collector Efficiency (Vec = 12.5 V, PiE = 0.1 W,		50 min	01
f = 175 MHz	ηc	50 min	°/o
Common-Base Output Capacitance	<i>a</i>		
$(V_{CB} = 12 V, f = 1 MHz)$	Cebo	15 max	pr
Gain-Bandwidth Product (Ver = 12 V,		000	BALL-
Ic = 200 mA)	fr	800	WIHZ NO (N
Thermal Resistance (Junction-to-Case)	(H)_(*	35.7	C/W



2N5914 RF POWER TRANSISTOR

Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type featuring a hermetic, ceramic-metal package having leads isolated from the mounting stud, used for high-power types for class-C amplifiers in vhf/uhf communications equipment. Outline No.68.

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage	Vebrocho	36	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage:			
Base connected to emitter	V(BR)CES	36	v
Base open	V (BR) CEO	14	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	3.5	v
Collector Current	Ic	0.5	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
Te up to 75°C	Рт	5.7	W
Tc above 75°C	Рт	See curve pa	age 300
Temperature Range:		-	
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	°C
Case-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Te	230	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage		<u>.</u>	
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage:	V (BR) ('RO	36 min	v
Ic = 25 mA, IE = 0, pulsed through an inductor $L = 25$ mH, df = 50%	V(BR)CEO	14 min	v
$Ic = 25$ mA, $V_{RE} = 0$, pulsed through an inductor L = 25 mH, $df = 50%$	V(RR)CES	36 min	v
$(I_E = 0.5 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$ Collector-Cutoff Current (V _{CE} = 10 V, I _B = 0)	V(BR)EBO ICEO	3.5 min 0.3 max	V m A
Power Output (Vcc = 12.5 V, $P_{1E} = 0.4$ W, f = 470 MHz) - 12.5 V, $P_{1E} = 0.4$ W, f	POE	2 min	w
Power Gain (Vec = 12.5 V, $P_{1E} = 0.4$ W, $f = 470$ MHz) Collector Efficiency (Vec = 12.5 V, $P_{1E} = 0.4$ W)	GPE	7 min	dB
f = 470 MHz Load Mismatch (Vcc = 12.5 V, P _{1E} = 0.4 W,	ηα	65 min	%
f = 470 MHz	LM	GO/NO GO	
Ic = 0, $f = 1$ MHz) Gain-Bandwidth Product (Vcc = 12 V, Lc = 200	Cobo	15 max	pF
mA)	fT	900	MHz





RF POWER TRANSISTOR

2N5915

Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type featuring a hermetic ceramic-metal package having leads isolated from the mounting stud, used for high-power types for class-C amplifiers in vhf/uhf communications equipment. Outline No.68.

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage	VORDORD	36	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage:	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	50	v
Base connected to emitter	V(BR)CES	36	v
Base open	VORDCEO	14	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	3.5	v
Collector Current	Ic	15	
Transistor Dissipation:		1.0	~
To up to 75°C ⁻	Рт	10.7	w
Tc above 75°C	PT	See curve no	an 200
Temperature Range:		bee curve pa	BC 000
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	65 to 200	°C
Storage	Tsra	65 to 200	۰č
Case-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Te	230	۰č

RCA Transistor, Thyristor, & Diode Manual

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 1 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm E} = 0)$	V(BR)('BO	36 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage:			
$I_{\rm C} = 75$ mA, $I_{\rm E} = 0$, pulsed through an inductor			
L = 25 mH, df = 50%	VGBIOCEO	14 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = 75$ mA, $V_{\rm BE} = 0$, pulsed through an inductor			
L = 25 mH, df = 50%	VORDEES	36 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$(I_E = 1 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	V(BR)EBO	3.5 min	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, I_B = 0$)	ICEO	1 max	mA
Power Output (Vec = 12.5 V, Pie = 2 W, f = 470			
MHz)	POE	6 min	w
Power Gain (Vec = 12.5 V, Pie = 2 W, f = 470			
MHz)	Gpe	4.8 min	qR
Collector Efficiency (Vec = 12.5 V, Pie = 2 W,			
f = 470 MHz)	$\eta_{\rm C}$	65 min	%
Load Mismatch (Vec = 12.5 V, Pie = 2 W, f = 470	~		
MHz)	LM	GO/NO GO	
Collector-to-Base Capacitance (Vec = 12 V, $Ic = 0$,			_
f = 1 MHz	Cobo	30 max	pF
Gain-Bandwidth Product (Vec = 12 V, Ic = 300			
mA)	fт	800	MHZ



2N5916 RF POWER TRANSISTOR

Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type featuring a hermetic, ceramic-metal package having leads isolated from the mounting stud, used for large-signal and small-signal high-gain rf amplifiers and driver applications for vhf/uhf communications equipment. Outline No.68.

в
E (7
$-/\epsilon$
c

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво 55	V
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage	VCEO 24 VERO 3.5	, v
Collector Current	Ic 0.2	A
Transistor Dissipation:	Рт 4	w
T _C above 100°C	PT Derate linearly at 0.04	W/°C
Temperature Range:	T: (opr) -65 to 200	°C
Operating (Junction)	TsTG -65 to 200	°Č
Case-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Tc 230	°C

RF Power Transistors

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage:			
$I_{\rm C} = 5 \text{ mA}$, $V_{\rm BE} = 0$, pulsed through an inductor			
L = 25 mH, df = 50%	V(BR)CES	55 min	v
$I_{\rm C}$ = 5 mA, pulsed through an inductor			
L = 25 mH, df = 50%	V(BR)CEO	24 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$(I_E = 0.1 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	VGROEBO	3.5 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_B = 10 \text{ mA}, I_C = 100 \text{ mA})$	VCE(sat)	0.5 max	v
Power Output (Vec = 28 V, Pie = 0.2 W, $f = 400$			
MHz)	Poe	2 min	w
Power Gain (Vec = 28 V, $P_{OE} = 2$ W, $f = 400$			
MHz)	Gre	10 min	dB
Collector Efficiency (Vcc = 28 V, PiE = 0.2 W,			
f = 400 MHz	ηc	50 min	%
Collector-Base Capacitance (Ver = 30 V, f = 1			_
MHz)	Ccb	4.5 max	pF
Thermal Resistance (Junction-to-Case)	θJ-C	25 max	°C/W



RF POWER TRANSISTOR

Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type used for largesignal and small-signal high-gain rf amplifiers and driver applications for vhf/uhf communications equipment. Outline No.69. This type is electrically identical with type 2N5918.



2 8

0

RF POWER TRANSISTOR

2N5918

2N5917

Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type featuring a hermetic, ceramic-metal package having leads isolated from the mounting stud, used in large-signal, highpower, broadband and narrow-band amplifiers in vhf/ uhf communications equipment. Outline No.68.

Collector-to-Emitter Voltage Collector-to-Base Voltage Emitter-to-Base Voltage Collector Current	VCEO VCBO VEBO IC	$\begin{array}{c} 30\\ 60\\ 4\\ 0.75\end{array}$	V V V
---	----------------------------	--	-------------

MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

Transistor Dissipation:			
To up to 75°C	Рт	10	w
Tc above 75°C	P _T	Derate linearly at 0.08	W/°C
Temperature Range:			, 0
Operating (Junction)	Trio	pr) -65 to 200	°C
Storage	Tere	65 to 200	-č
Case-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Ťe	230	۰č
			-
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature \pm	25°C)		
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage:			
$V_{BE} = 0$, Ic = 100 mA, pulsed through an inductor			
L = 25 mH, df = 50%	VOR	CES 60 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = 100$ mA, pulsed through an inductor $L = 25$			•
mH, df = 50%	V(BR	CEO 30 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$(I_E = 1 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	VORR	DEBO 4 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Cutoff Current ($V_{CE} = 30$ V,			
$V_{BE} = 0$, base-emitter junction shorted)	ICES	5 max	mA
Power Output (Vec = 28 V, $P_{1E} = 1.59$ W, f = 400			
MHz)	POE	10 min	w
Power Gain (Vcc = 28 V, PoE = 10 W, f = 400			
MHz)	Gpf	8 min	dB
Collector Efficiency (Vec = 28 V, Pos = 10 W,			
f = 400 MHz)	$\eta_{\rm C}$	60 min	%
Collector-to-Base Output Capacitance			_
$(V_{CB} = 30 V, f = 1 MHz)$	Cobo	13 max	pF
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	01-C	12.5 max	°C/W



2N5919 **RF POWER TRANSISTOR**

Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type featuring a hermetic, ceramic-metal package having terminals isolated from the mounting stud, used for class C service in vhf/uhf communications equipment. Outline No.68.



>

Collector-to-Emitter Voltage	VCEO	30	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO		v
Collector Current	Ic	4.5	Å
Transistor Dissipation:		1.0	••
To up to 75°C	$\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{T}}$	25	w
Te above 75°C	Рт	Derate linearly at 0.2	w∕°ċ
Temperature Range:			, -
Operating (Junction)	T J (0	opr)65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTO	-65 to 200	°C
Case-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	$\mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{C}}$	230	°Č

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage:			
$I_{C} = 200 \text{ mA}, V_{BE} = 0$, pulsed through an inductor			
L = 25 mH, df = 50%	V(BR)('ES	65 min	v
10 = 200 mA, pulsed through an inductor L = 25			
$\lim_{n \to \infty} dI = 50\%$	V(BR)CEO	30 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			•
(1E = 5 mA, 1c = 0)	V(BR)ERO	4 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			v
$(I_B = 400 \text{ mA}, I_C = 2000 \text{ mA})$	Ver (cat)	1	37
Power Output (Vec = 28 V Prp = 4 W f = 400)	V(E(Sat)	1 max	v
MHz)	n		
Power Coin (Van -29 V D -10 W f	POE	16 min	w
MU_{m} (vec = 20 v, $POE = 10$ w, $I = 400$			
	GPE	6 min	dB
Collector Efficiency (Vec = 28 V, $P_{IE} = 4$ W,			
f = 400 MHz)	nc	60 min	01
Collector-to-Base Output Capacitance	40	oo mm	70
$(V_{CB} = 30 V, f = 1 MHz)$	C .		_
Thermal Resistance Junction to Core	Cobo	22 max	pF
	01-C	5 max	°C/W





RF POWER TRANSISTOR 2N5920



Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type used for uhf/ microwave power amplifiers, microwave fundamentalfrequency oscillators and frequency-multipliers. Outline No.54. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

Collector-to-Base Voltage	37			
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:	V CBO		50	v
$R_{BE} = 10 \Omega$	37			
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VCER		50	v
Collector Current	VEBO		3.5	v
Transistor Dissipation:	16		0.275	А
Te up to 75°C	D			
Tc above 75°C	PT D	D	4.15	w
Temperature Range:	PT	Derate	linearly at 0.	033 W/°C
Operating (Junction)	m			•
Storage	Ti(op	r)	-65 to 200	°C
Case-Soldering Temperature (10 a max)	TSTG		-65 to 200	°C
(10 S max)	Te		230	°C
CHARACTERISTICS (At some terminentium				
erininger Enterios (At case temperature =	25°C)			
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage				
$(I_E = 0, I_C = 1 \text{ mA})$	V		F0	
/	VIRENT.	843	50 70 10	17

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage			
$(I_{C} = 5 \text{ mA}, R_{BE} = 10 \Omega)$	VCER (SUS)	50 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$(I_E = 0.1 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	V(BR)EBO	3.5 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_B = 10 \text{ mA}, I_C = 100 \text{ mA})$	VCE(sat)	1 max	v
Power Output ($P_{1B} = 0.2$ W, $V_{CC} = 28$ V, $f = 2$	_	.	
GHz)	PoB	2 min	w
Power Gain $(P_{1B} = 0.2 \text{ W}, P_{OB} = 2 \text{ W}, V_{CC} = 28 \text{ V},$	<i>a</i>		417
f = 2 GHz	GPB	10 min	aв
Collector Efficiency ($P_{1B} = 0.2$ W, $P_{0B} = 2$ W,		40 1	~
$V_{CC} = 28 V, f = 2 GHz$	ηc	40 min	10
Collector-to-Base Capacitance (VCB = 30 V, f = 1	~	0	
MHz)	Cabo	3 max	pr
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Collector Terminal			00/31
$(V_{CE} = 10 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 100 \text{ mA})$	⊖J≁C.L	30 max	*C/W



2N5921 RF POWER TRANSISTOR

Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type used for uhf/ microwave power amplifiers, microwave fundamentalfrequency oscillators and frequency oscillators and frequency multipliers. Outline No.70. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.



MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vebo	50	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			
$R_{BE} = 10 \ \Omega$	VCER	50	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	3.5	v
Collector Current	Ic	0.7	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
Tc up to 100°C	Pτ	8.3	w
Tc above 100°C	Pт	Derate linearly at 0.083	W/°C
Temperature Range:		-	
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	°C
Case-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Te	230	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			_
$(I_E = 0, I_C = 1 mA)$	VORDERD	50 min	• V
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 10 \text{ mA}, R_{\rm BE} = 10 \Omega)$	VORDCER	50 min	v

RF Power Transistors

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$(I_E = 0.1 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	VGRDEBO	3.5 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_B = 20 \text{ mA}, I_C = 100 \text{ mA})$	VCE(sat)	1 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CE} = 45 \text{ V}, I_{R} = 0$	ICES	1 max	mA
$V_{\rm CE} = 45 \ V_{\rm r} \ T_{\rm C} = 100^{\circ} \rm C$	ICES	5 max	mA
Output Power (Vcc = 28 V, $P_{1B} = 1$ W,			
f = 2 GHz	Pog	5 min	w
Power Gain (Vec = 28 V, $P_{OB} = 5$ W,		_	
f = 2 GHz	GPB	7 min	dB
Collector Efficiency (Vcc = 28 V , Por = 5 W ,			
f = 2 GHz	2241	40 min	e%
Collector-to-Base Capacitance (Vine = 30 V.)		10 11111	70
f = 1 MHz	Caba	85 max	ьF
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Flange	(H) - K	12 max	*C/W
interior interior to runge	(f, f) = F	ie mux	C/ 11



9205-1566871



RF POWER TRANSISTOR

2N5992

Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type featuring a hermetic, metal package having leads isolated from the mounting stud, used for 12.5-volt amplifiers in vhf communications equipment. Outline No.68.

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vebo	65	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			
Base shorted-to-emitter	VERDEES	65	v
Base open	VCBROCEO	30	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	3.5	v
Collector Current	Ic	5	A
Transistor Dissipation:	_		
Te up to 75°C	Pr	35.7	W
Tc above 75°C	Pr	See curve p	age 300
Temperature Range:	-		
Operating (Junction)	TJ(opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T1.	230	-0
	25.00		
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $=$)	25-0)		
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage:			
$I_B = 0$, $I_C = 200$ mA, pulsed through an inductor			
L = 25 mH, df = 50%	Vebroteo	30 min	v
$V_{BE} = 0$, Ic = 200 mA, pulsed through an in-			
ductor $L = 25$ mH, df = 50%	VORDCES	65 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$(I_E = 10 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	VORDEBO	3.5 min	v

Collector-to-Emitter Cutoff Current			
$(V_{CE} = 60 \text{ V}, V_{BE} = 0, \text{ base-to-emitter shorted},$			
$T_{\rm C} = 25$ to 100°C)	ICES	10 max	mA
Power Input:			
$V_{CC} = 12.5 V, P_{OE} = 7 W, f = 66 MHz$	\mathbf{P}_{1E}	0.35 typ; 0.5 max	w
$V_{CC} = 12.5 V, P_{OE} = 7 W, f = 88 MHz$	Pie	0.5 typ; 0.7 max	w
Power Gain:			
$V_{CC} = 12.5 V, P_{OE} = 7 W, f = 66 MHz$	GIE	11.5 min; 13 max	dB
$V_{CC} = 12.5 \text{ V}, P_{OE} = 7 \text{ W}, f = 88 \text{ MHz}$	GPE	10 min; 11.5 max	dB
Collector Efficiency:			
$V_{CC} = 12.5 \text{ V}, P_{OE} = 7 \text{ W}, f = 66 \text{ MHz}$	ηι.	55 min; 60 typ	%
$V_{CC} = 12.5 V, P_{OE} = 7 W, f = 88 MHz$	ηι	60 min; 70 typ	%
Modulation:			
Vcc = 12.5 V, Poc = 7 W, f = 66 MHz	m	90 min; 97 typ	%
$V_{CC} = 12.5 \text{ V}, P_{OE} = 7 \text{ W}, f = 88 \text{ MHz}$	m	90 min; 95 typ	%
Load Mismatch [†] (Vec = 12.5 V, PoE = 7 W,			
f = 66 MHz)	LM	GO/NO GO	
Collector-to-Base Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 12.5 V$,			_
f = 66 MHz)	Cobo	60 typ; 70 max	pF
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	Θı-c	3.5 max	°C/W
‡ Input power and collector supply voltage are mod	ulated.		

2N5993 RF POWER TRANSISTOR

Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type featuring a hermetic, metal package having leads isolated from the mounting stud, used for 12.5-volt amplifiers in vhf communications equipment. Outline No.68.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	36	v
Base shorted to emitter	17	20	37
Base shorted-to-emitter	V(RR)CES	30	v
Base open	V(BR)CEO	18	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	3.5	v
Collector Current	Ic	5	Á
Transistor Dissipation:			
Te up to 75°C	Рт	35.7	w
To above 75°C	Рт	See curve pa	ge 300
Temperature Range:			0
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	65 to 200	°Č
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T_L	230	°Č

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage:			
$I_B = 0$, $I_C = 200$ mA, pulsed through an induc-			
tor $L = 25$ mH, df = 50%	V(BR)CEO	18 min	v
$V_{BE} = 0$, Ic = 200 mA, pulsed through an induc-			
tor $L = 25$ mH, df = 50%	V(BR)CES	36 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			•
$(I_F = 10 \text{ mA})$	V(BR)ERO	3.5 min	v
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage	• (00,000)	0.0	•
$(I_F = 0 I_F = 15 \text{ mA})$	VARACRO	36 min	v
Collector-Cutoff Current (Vcr = 10 V $I_{\rm P} = 0$)	Icro	5 max	mÅ
Power Output:	4010	omax	
$V_{CC} = 125 P_{1F} = 1 W f = 66 MH_7$	POR	18 min · 20 typ	w
$V_{\rm eff} = 12.5$, $P_{\rm He} = 1.75$ W f = 88 MHz	Por	18 min; 20 typ	ŵ
Power Gain:	* ()h	10 mm, 20 typ	••
$V_{CV} = 125 V P_{VP} = 1 W f = 66 MHz$	Gur	12.5 min - 13.tvn	dB
$V_{00} = 125 V, 116 = 1.00, 112 \dots$	Chr	10.1 min: 10.6 twp	48
Collector Efficiency:	Grs	10.1 mm, 10.0 typ	uD
$V_{au} = 125 V D_{au} = 1 W f = 66 M W_{au}$		CE min , 90 turn	67
V(T) = 12.5 V, F1E = 1 W, T = 00 MITZ	ηe	65 min, 80 typ	10
VCC = 12.3 V, PIE = 1.73 W, I = 88 MITZ	ηc	65 mm; 80 typ	70
Load Mismatch ($vcc = 12.5 v$, $Pie = 1 w$,	7.35		
I = 66 MHz	L'INI	GU/NU GU	
Conector-to-base Capacitance ($Vcc = 12 V$, $1c = 0$,	0	100	10
$\mathbf{f} = \mathbf{I} \mathbf{M} \mathbf{H} \mathbf{z}$	Сово	100 max	pr.





RF POWER TRANSISTOR 2N5994

Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type featuring a hermetic, metal ceramic-metal package having leads isolated from the mounting stud, used for 12.5-volt and 28-volt fm amplifiers in vhf communications equipment. Outline No.68.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			
Base shorted-to-emitter	V (BR) CES	65	А
Base open	VCEO	30	v
Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCBO	65	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	3.5	v
Collector Current	Ic	5	v
Transistor Dissipation:	_		
Te up to 75°C	Рт	35.7	w
TC above 75°C	Рт	See curve	page 300
Temperature Range			
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	°C
Case-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TC	230	°C
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature =	25°C)		
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage:			
$I_{\rm C} = 200 \text{ mA}$, pulsed through an inductor			
= 25 mH df $= 50%$	Vanna	20 min	37
$I_{\rm C} = 200 \text{ mA}$, pulsed through an inductor	A (BR)(E0)	30 11111	v
= 25 mH, df = 50%	Vances	65 min	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CE} = 60$ V, $V_{BE} = 0$	* (BRICES	05 11111	v
$T_{\rm C} = 25$ to 100°C)	Ices	5 may	mΑ
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage $(I_F = 5 \text{ mA})$	VIRENERO	25 min	W
Power Input (Vcc = 12.5 V, Poe = 15 W.	• (1111)1111)	0.0 11111	•
f = 118 MHz	PIE	3 max	w
Power Gain (Vcc = 12.5 V, PoE = 15 W.		0 man	
f = 118 MHz)	GPE	7 min	dB
Collector Efficiency (Vcc = 12.5 V, PoE = 15 W,			425
f = 118 MHz	nc	70 min	0/2
Modulation $(V_{CC} = 12.5 \text{ V}, P_{OE} = 15 \text{ W})$			70
f = 118 MHz)	m	90 min	%
Lead Mismatch [‡] (Vec = 12.5 V, $P_{OE} = 15$ W,			70
f = 118 MHz	LM	GO/NO GO	
Collector-to-Base Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 12.5 V$,		,	



RF POWER TRANSISTOR 2N

2N5995

70 max

3.5 max

°C/W

Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type featuring a hermetic, ceramic-metal package having leads isolated from the mounting stud, used for 12.5-volt applications in vhf communications equipment. Outline No.68.

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	36	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage:			
Base connected to emitter	V(BR)CES	36	v
Base open	V(BR)CEO	14	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	3.5	v
Collector Current	Ic	1.5	Å
Transistor Dissipation:			
Te up to 75°C	Рт	10.7	w
Tc above 75°C	Рт	See curve pa	re 300
Temperature Range:		bee carre pag	50 000
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTO	-65 to 200	۰č
Case-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Tc	230	۰č

RCA Transistor, Thyristor, & Diode Manual

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 5 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm E} = 0)$	Vanciso	36 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage:			
$I_E = 0$, $I_C = 75$ mA, pulsed through an			
inductor = 25 mH, $df = 50\%$	VORDEEO	14 min	v
$V_{RE} = 0$, Ic = 75 mA, pulsed through an			
inductor = 25 mH, $df = 50\%$	Veroces	36 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$I_F = 2 \text{ mA}$, $I_C = 0$	VIBROERO	3.5 min	v
Collector-Cutoff Current			-
$V_{CE} = 12.5 \text{ V}$ $V_{RE} = 0$, $T_{C} = 100^{\circ}\text{C}$	Letes	5 max	mA
$V_{\rm CE} = 10$ V $I_{\rm R} = 0$	ICEO	2.5 max	mA
Power Output (Vec = 125 V, Puc = 0.75 W.			
f = 175 MHz	POE	7 min	w
Power Gain (Ver $= 125$ V Pr $= 0.75$ W	L 1747		
f = 175 MHz	Gui	97 min	dB
Collector Efficiency (V = 125 V P = 0.75 W	Cit II	0.1	4.5
f = 175 MHz)	n c	65 min	C1
I = I(J M H Z)	<i>//</i> C	00 11111	10
Load Wismatch (V($c = 12.5 \text{ V}, Fir = 0.75 \text{ W},$	1 3/	CO/NO CO	
I = 1(5 MHz)	LINI	G0/N0 G0	
Conector-to-base Capacitance (Vec = 12 V ,	C .	00	-
I = I MHZ	Coho	au max	pr

2N5996

RF POWER TRANSISTOR

Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type featuring a hermetic, ceramiz-metal package having leads isolated from the mounting stud, used for 12.5-volt applications in vhf communications equipment. Outline No.68.



MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCBO	36	v
Base connected to emitter	VORCES	36	v
Base open	VIBROCEO	18	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	3.5	v
Collector Current	Ie	5	Α
Transistor Dissipation:			
Tr up to 75°C	Рт	35.7	w
Te above 75°C	Рт	See curve pa	ge 300
Temperature Range:		-	-
Operating (Junction)	T _i (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	65 to 200	°C
Case-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Te	230	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 15 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm E} = 0)$	VGBOCBO	36 min	v
Collector-to Emitter Breakdown Voltage:			
$I_{\rm E}$ = 0, $I_{\rm C}$ = 200 mA, pulsed through an			
inductor = 25 mH, df = 50%	VGROCED	18 min	v
$V_{BE} = 0$, Ic = 200 mA, pulsed through an			
inductor = 25 mH, df = 50%	Vernces	36 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$(I_E = 10 V, I_C = 0)$	VGRDEBO	3.5 min	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:			
$V_{\rm CE} = 12.5 \text{V}, V_{\rm BE} = 0$	ICES	10 max	mA
$V_{\rm CE} = 10$ V, $I_{\rm B} = 0$	ICEO	5 max	mA
Power Output (Vec = 12.5 V , $P_{1E} = 5.3 \text{ W}$,	_		
f = 175 MHz)	\mathbf{P}_{CE}	15 min	W
Power Gain (Vcc = 12.5 V, $P_{1E} = 5.3$ W,			
$f = 175_MHz$)	Gre	4.5 min	dB
Collector Efficiency (Vec = 12.5 V, PiE = 5.3 W,			
f = 175 MHz)	771	75 min	%
Load Mismatch (Vcc = 12.5 V, PiE = 5.3 W,			
f = 175 MHz)	LM	GO/NO GO	
Collector-to-Base Capacitance (Vec = $12 V$,			
f = 1 MHz)	Caba	100 max	pF



RF POWER TRANSISTOR 40080

Si n-p-n triple-diffused planar type designed for oscillator applications, in conjunction with transistor types 40081 (driver) and 40082 (power amplifier) in a 5watt input, 27-MHz citizens-band transmitter. JEDEC TO-39, Outline No.15.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Voltage Peak Collector Current	Vско ic	30 0.25	V A
Transis or Dissipation: Transis 0 to 25°C Transis 0 to 25°C Transis 0 to 25°C Transis 0 to 25°C	Рт Рт	0.5 See curve	W page 300
Coperating (Junction) Storage Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Tı (opr) Tsto Tı	65 to 200 65 to 200 230	າດ ເດື
CHARACTERISTICS			e
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage ($1c = 10 \text{ mA}, 1B = 0$) Collector-Cutoff Current ($Vcn = 15 V, IE = 0$) BE Power Outbut ($Vwr = 12 V, IE = 0$)	Vсво Ісво	30 min 10 max	۷ 4 م
f = 27 MHz) Collector-to-Base Capacitance (Ver = 30 V.	Pee	100 min	mW
f = 1 MHz) Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Ambient	Coho HJ-A	6 max 350	°C∕W
TYPICAL OPERATION IN A CITIZENS-BAND TRAI	SMITTER		
DC Collector-Supply Voltage	Vec	13.8	v
No modulation 100% modulation	Ic Ic	15 15	mA mA

RF POWER TRANSISTOR

40081



Si n-p-n triple-diffused planar type designed for driver applications, in conjunction with transistor types 40080 (oscillator) and 40082 (power amplifier), in a 5-watt input, 27-MHz citizens-band transmitter, JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{BE} = -0.5 V$)	VCEV	60	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	2	v
Peak Collector Current	ic	0.25	Å
Transistor Dissipation:	•••	0.20	••
T _c up to 25°C	Pr	2	w
Te above 25°C	Pr	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:		bet eurre page	000
Overating (Junction)	$T_1(our)$	65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTO	65 to 200	ംറ്
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Ť.	230	°C

CHARACTERISTICS

Collector-to-Emitter Voltage			
$(V_{\rm RE} = -0.5 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 100 \ \mu\text{A})$	VCEN	60 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage (IE = 500 μ A, Ic = 0)	VERO	2 min	ý
Collector-Cutoff Current (Veb = 15 V, $I_E = 0$)	ICBO	10 max	μÅ
RF Power Output (Vec = 12 V, Ic = 85 mA max.			,
$P_{10} = 75 \text{ mW}, f = 27 \text{ MHz})$	Pue	400 min	mW
Collector-to-Base Capacitance ($V_{CE} = 30$ V,			
f = 1 MHz)	Cobo	6 max	pF
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	$(-)_{-1}$	87.5	°C/₩

TYPICAL OPERATION IN A CITIZENS-BAND TRANSMITTER

DC Collector-Supply Voltage DC Collector Current:	Vce	13.8	v
No modulation	Ie	55	mA
100% modulation	Ie	50	mA

40082

RF POWER TRANSISTOR

Si n-p-n triple-diffused planar type designed for poweramplifier applications, in conjunction with transistor types 40080 (oscillator) and 40081 (driver), in a 5-watt, 27-MHz citizens-band transmitter. JEDEC TO-39, Outline No.15.



MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Voltage ($V_{BE} = -0.5 \text{ V}$) Emitter-to-Base Voltage	Vcev Vebo	60 2.5	vv
Peak Collector Current	ic	1.5	A
Transistor Dissipation:	_	_	
Te up to 25°C	Рт	5	W
Tr above 25°C	Рт	See curve	page 300
Temperature Range:		05 4 . 000	
Operating (Junction)	Ti(opr)	-65 to 200	-0
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL	230	-0
CHARACTERISTICS			
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage			
$(V_{BE} = -0.5 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 500 \ \mu\text{A})$	VCEV	60 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage (IE = 500 μ A, Ic = 0)			
Ic = 0	У ЕВО	2.5 min	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = 15 V$, $I_E = 0$)	Ісво	10 max	μΑ
RF Power Output (Vcc = 12 V, Ic = 415 mA max,	_	. .	
$P_{1E} = 350 \text{ mW}, f = 27 \text{ MHz})$	Ров	3 min	w
Collector-to-Base Capacitance (Ver = 30 V;	0	00	- F
f = 1 MHz	Coho	20 max	o pr
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	641-C	35	C/ W
TYPICAL OPERATION IN A CITIZENS-BAND TRAN	SMITTER		

DC Collector-Supply Voltage	Vec	13.8	v
DC Collector Current:		330	mA
No modulation		330	mA
Power Output:	L ()	000	
power output)	Pos	3.5	W
100% modulation	Pos	4.8	W

40279 RF POWER TRANSISTOR

Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type used in ultrahigh-reliability vhf-uhf applications in space, military, and industrial communitations equipment. Used in class A, B, and C amplifiers, frequency multipliers, or oscillators. This device is subjected to special preconditioning tests for selection in high-reliability, large-signal, and



high-power applications. JEDEC TO-60, Outline No 23. See Meaning Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCBO	65	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	VCEY	65	v
Base open	VCEO	40	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	4	v
Collector Current	Ic	1.5	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
Tc up to 25°C	Pr	11.6	W
Te above 25°C	PT	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	$T_1(opr)$	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T 1.	230	°C

RF Power Transistors

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
(Ic = 0.1 mA, IE = 0)	VGRDCRO	65 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage;			•
$I_{\rm C} = 0$ to 200 mA, $I_{\rm B} = 0$, pulsed through inductor			
L = 25 mH, df = 50%	VIBRICEO	40 min	v
$V_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 0 \text{ to } 200 \text{ mA}, \text{ pulsed}$			•
through inductor $L = 25$ mH, df = 50%	Venner	65 min	37
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage	• (1)(1)(1)	03 11111	v
$(I_E = 0.1 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	Vanuera	4	
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage	• (0.0/1500)	- 11111	v
$(I_{\rm C} = 0.5 \text{ A}, I_{\rm B} = 0.1 \text{ A})$	Ven (sat)	1	
Collector-Cutoff Current (Ver -30 V In -0)	Lun	1 max	v v
Static Forward-Current Transfer Batio	TOFO	0.1 max	$\mu \mathbf{A}$
$(V_{CE} = 5 V, I_{C} = 150 mA)$	h	10	
Output Capacitance $(V_{CR} - 30 V_{LR} - 0)$	nfr C	10 min	_
BF Power Output Unneutrolized Ampliform	Cabo	$10 \mathrm{max}$	pF
$V_{\rm CE} = 28$ V $P_{\rm CE} = 1$ W $P_{\rm a}$ and $P_{\rm c} = 50.0$			
f = 100 MHz MHz			
$V_{CE} = 28 V P_{CE} = 1 W P_{a}$ and $P_{b} = 50.0$	POE	7.5* min	w
$f = 400 \text{ MHz} = 1 \text{ W}, \text{ AG and } \text{ R}, \pm 50 \Omega,$	-		
	POE	3† min	w
* For conditions given, minimum efficiency = 65 per	cent		
f For conditions given, minimum efficiency - 40 per	cent		
o i i indiana chierchey = 40 per	cent		



RF POWER TRANSISTOR

40280

Si n-p-n "overlay" cpitaxial planar type used in vhf class C amplifier service requiring low supply voltages and high power output in industrial and military communications equipment. JEDEC TO-39, Outline No.15.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vand	00	
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:	ACRO	30	v
$V_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}$	Vere	26	
Base open	V	30	<u>.</u>
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VCEO V	18	v
Collector Current	VEBO	4	- V
conector current	Ie	0.5	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
Te up to 25°C	p.	7	337
Tc above 25°C	D.	6	vv
Temperature Range	PT	See curve page	300
Operating (Junction)	m / .		
Storogo	Ti(opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	°Ċ
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T	220+	ംറ്
	- 17	200	U.

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage	VGBRCBO	36 min	v
$(I_{\rm C} = 200 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 0, \text{ pulsed through})$			
inductor $L = 25$ mH, $df = 50\%$)	VCBROCEV	36 min	v
$(I_E = 0.1 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	V	4	.,
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage	A (BR)ERO	4 min	v
$(I_{\rm C} = 200 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 0, \text{ pulsed through})$			
Inductor $L = 25$ mH, df = 50%)	VCEO(SUS)	18 min	v
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{cE} = 15 V$, $I_B = 0$)	ICEO	100 max	μA
Output Capacitance (Ver = 13.5 V, $Ie = 100 \text{ mA}$)	fr	550	MHz
f = 1 MHz	Cabo	15 may	- F
Input Resistance, Real Part	0000	15 max	pr
$(V_{CE} = 13.5 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 100 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 175 \text{ MHz})$	Re(hie)	10	0
(Ver = 135 V Bin = 0.125 W & Unneutralized			
$R_{\rm H}$ and $R_{\rm H} = 50$ O)	_		
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	Pos	1† min	W
	t∃i−e	25 max	°C/W
* For types 40281 and 40282 this value is maximum	Pin-Soldering	Temperatur	·e.
, for conditions given, minimum enciency $= 60$ per	cent.	-	





40281 RF POWER TRANSISTOR

Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type used in vhf class C amplifier service requiring low supply voltages and high power output in industrial and military communications equipment. JEDEC TO-60, Outline No.23. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 40280 except for the following items:



MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector Current	Ic	1	A
Te up to 25°C	Рт	11.6	w
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C	;)		
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 13.5$ V, $I_{C} = 400$ mA) Output Capacitance ($V_{CE} = 13.5$ V, $I_{E} = 0$	fr	400	MHz
f = 1 MHz) Collector-to-Case Capacitance	Coho Cc	22 max 5 max	pF pF
The table the state of the sta	Re(hie)	7	Ω
$(V(R) = 10.5 \text{ V}, F(R) = 1 \text{ W}, T = 175 \text{ MH2}, R_{G} \text{ and } R_{L} = 50 \Omega)$ Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	Рое Өл-с	4† min 15 max	℃/W
\dagger For conditions given, minimum efficiency = 70 pe	r cent.		
	TYPICAL RF CHARAC	POWER-OUTPUT	
SU TYPE 40281	40281 MON-EMITTER CI	RCUIT, BASE INPUT	





92C5-12889T
RF POWER TRANSISTOR 40282



Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type used in vhf class C amplifier service requiring low supply voltages and high power output in industrial and military communications equipment. JEDEC TO-60, Outline No.23. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 40280 except for

the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector Current	Ic	2	А
To up to 25°C	Рт	23.2	w
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)	1		
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	V(BR)CBO	36 min	v
(1E = 0.25 mA, 1C = 0) Collector-Cutoff Current $(V_{CE} = 15 \text{ V}, 1B = 0)$ Gain-Bandwidth Product $(V_{CE} = 13.5 \text{ V}, 1C = 800 \text{ mA})$ Output Capacitance $(V_{CE} = 13.5 \text{ V}, 1E = 0)$	V(вк) ево Ісео ft	4 min 250 max 350	V µA MHz
$f = 1 MH_2$ Collector-to-Case Capacitance Input Resistance, Real Part (VCE = 13.5 V,	Cobo Cc	45 max 5 max	pF pF
1c = 800 mA, f = 175 MHz) Power Output, Class C Amplifier, Unneutralized (Vcc = 13.5 V, Pic = 4 W, f = 175 MHz,	Re(hie)	5	D
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case † For conditions given, minimum efficiency = 80 per	Pon Ou-c cent.	12† min 7.5 max	℃/W

RF POWER TRANSISTOR

40290



Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type used in vhf class C amplifier service requiring low supply voltages and high power output in aircraft, military, and industrial communications equipment. JEDEC TO-39, Outline No.15.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	Very	50	**
f = 100 MHz	Vana (DE)	50	
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VES(RF)	90	. <u>v</u>
Collector Current	V EBO		v.
Transistor Dissipation:	10	0.5	A
Te up to 25°C	P	_	
Tc above 25°C	PT	7	w
Temperature Range:	PT	See curve page	300
Operating (Junction)	—		
Storage	T _J (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 - march)	TSTG	65 to 200	°C
Deud-boldering Temperature (10 s max)	T_L	230*	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage: $I_C = 200 \text{ mA}, V_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, R_{BE} = 39 \Omega,$			
df = 50%	**		
$I_{c} = 50 \text{ mA}, V_{BE} = -2 \text{ V}, f \le 100 \text{ MHz}$	V(BR)CEV	50 min	<u>v</u>
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage	V(BR)(ES(RF)	90 min	v
$(I_{\rm E} = 0.1 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm C} = 0)$	V(BR)EBO	4 min	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CB} = 15 \text{ V}, I_B = 0$)	ICEO	100 max	
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 12.5$ V, $I_C = 100$ mA)	fT	500	MHz
$f = 1$ MHz) $f = 12.5$ V, $I_E = 0$,	~		
Input Resistance, Real Part	Сово	17 max	pF
$(V_{CE} = 12.5 \text{ V}, I_C = 100 \text{ mA}, f = 135 \text{ MHz})$	P (b.)		-
100 mm, 1 = 100 mm, 1 = 100 mm	Ac(Die)	12	Ω

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Power Output, Class C Amplifier,	Unneutralized		
$VCE = 12.5 V, FIE = 0.5 W, I = R_0 and R_L = 50 \Omega$	- 155 M112, 	e 2† min 	°C∕W

* For type 40291 this value is maximum Pin-Soldering Temperature. \dagger For conditions given, minimum efficiency = 70 per cent.

40291 **RF POWER TRANSISTOR**

Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type used in vhf class C amplifier service requiring low supply voltages and high power output in aircraft, military, and industrial communications equipment. JEDEC TO-60, Outline No.23. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 40290 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Transistor Dissipation (Tc up to 25°C)	Рт	11.6	w
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)			
Collector-to-Case Capacitance	⊖i-c Ce	6 max 15 max	°C/W

40292	

RF POWER TRANSISTOR

Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type used in vhf class C amplifier service requiring low supply voltages and high power output in aircraft, military, and industrial communications equipment. JEDEC TO-60, Out-line No.23. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:		50	
$V_{\rm BE}~\equiv~-1.5~V$	VCEV	50	. <u>.</u>
\mathbf{f} = 100 MHz	VCES(RF)	90	<u>v</u> .
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	4	V.
Collector Current	Ic	1.25	A
Transistor Dissipation:	_		
Te up to 25°C	PT	23.2	W
Tc above 25°C	PT	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	Tı(opr)	-65 to 200	- 0
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	°C
Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Tr	230	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature \pm 25°C)

Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			
$I_{\rm C} = 200 \text{ mA}, \text{ V}_{\rm BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ R}_{\rm BE} = 39 \Omega,$			
pulsed through inductor $L = 25$ mH,			
df = 50%	V (BR)CEV	50 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = 50$ mA, $V_{\rm BE} = 0$, f ≤ 100 MHz	V(BR)CES(RF)	90 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$(I_E = 0.25 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	V(BR)EBO	4 min	v
Collector-Cutoff Current (VCE = 15 V, IB = 0)	ICEO	250 max	μA
Gain-Bandwidth Product (Ver = 12.5 V, $I_c = 400 \text{ mA}$)	fT	300	MHz
Collector-to-Case Capacitance	Ce	6 max	pF
Output Capacitance (Ver $= 125$ V Ir $= 0$			-
f = 1 MHz	Cabo	30 max	pF
Input Resistance Real Part (Vcr - 12.5 V			• -
$I_{ij} = 400 \text{ m} \text{ s} f = 125 \text{ MHz}$	Ra(hia)	6.5	0
Power Output Class C Amplifier Unneutralized	100 (1110)		•
Power Output Class C Amplinet, Omerutanzed			
$(VCE \equiv 12.5 V, PIE \equiv 2 W, I \equiv 155 MHz,$	D –	Ch min	317
R_{G} and $R_{L} = 50 \Omega$	POB	of mm	NO UN
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θ1-c	7.5 max	*C/W
\dagger For conditions given, minimum efficiency = 70 per	cent.		





40305 **RF POWER TRANSISTOR**



Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type subjected to special preconditioning tests for high-reliability, largesignal, high-power vhf-uhf applications in class A, B, and C amplifier, frequency-multiplier, and oscillator circuits in aerospace, industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-39, Outline No.15.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	65	v
$V_{\text{RE}} = -1.5 \text{ V}$	VCEV	65	v
Base open	VCEO	40	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	4	Ý
Collector Current	Ic	1	A
Transistor Dissipation:			
Te up to 25°C	Рт	7	w
Te above 25°C	Рт	See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T_L	230*	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 0.3 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm E} = 0)$	V(BR)(BO	65 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage:			
$I_{\rm C} = 0$ to 200 mA, $I_{\rm B} = 0$, pulsed through			
inductor $L = 25$ mH, $df = 50\%$	V(BR)CEO	40 min	V
$Ic = 0$ to 200 mA, $V_{BE} = -1.5$ V, pulsed			
through inductor $L = 25$ mH, df = 50%	V(BR)CEV	65 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$(I_E = 0.1 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	V(BR)ERO	4 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 250 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 50 \text{ mA})$	VCE(sat)	1 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CE} = 30 \text{ V}$, $I_B = 0$)	ICEO	0.1 max	μA
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			•
$(V_{CE} = 5 V, I_C = 150 mA)$	hff	10 min	
Output Capacitance (VCB = 30 V, IE = 0.			
f = 1 MHz	Cabo	10 max	pF
RF Power Output, Amplifier Unneutralized:			•
$(V_{CE} = 28 \text{ V}, P_{1E} = 0.25 \text{ W}, f = 175 \text{ MHz}.$			
$R_{c} and R_{t} = 50.0$	Por	2.5t min	w
$\mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{M}}$ and $\mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{M}}$ — $\mathbf{D}\mathbf{O}$ \mathbf{M} ,			••

* For type 40306 this value is maximum Pin-Soldering Temperature. \dagger For conditions given, minimum efficiency = 50 per cent.

40306 **RF POWER TRANSISTOR**



Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type subjected to special preconditioning tests for high-reliability, largesignal, high-power vhf-uhf applications in class A, B, and C amplifier, frequency-multiplier, and oscillator circuits in aerospace, industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-60, Outline No.23. See Mounting Hardware

for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 40305 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector Current	Ic	1.5	Α
Transistor Dissipation: Tc up to 25°C	$\mathbf{P_{T}}$	11.6	W
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C))		
Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			

$(I_c = 0.1 \text{ mA}, I_E = 0)$	V(BR)(BO	65 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage (Ic = 500 mA, I _B = 100 mA)	Vcm(sat)	1 max	v

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

RF PO	$= 28 V. P_1$	it, Amp E = 1	lifier, Unn N. f — 100	eutralized : MHz						
Van	Ro and R	L = 50	Ω $f = 400$, MU-			••••	Pom	7.5* min	w
V C L	R ₆ and R	$\ddot{L} = 50$	Ω	<i>w</i> ,			••••	POE	3† min	w
* For † For	conditions conditions	given, given,	minimum minimum	efficiency efficiency	=	65 40	per	cent.		

40307 RF POWER TRANSISTOR

Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type subjected to special preconditioning tests for high-reliability, largesignal, high-power vhf-uhf applications in class A, B, and C amplifier, frequency-multiplier, and oscillator circuits in aerospace, industrial and military equipment. JEDEC TO-60, Outline No.23. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.



MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector to Deer Duriled

Collector-to-Base Voltage	VCBO	65	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			•
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	VCEV	65	v
Base open	VCEO	40	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	4	v
Collector Current	Ic	3	Å
Transistor Dissipation:	-0	0	
Te up to 25°C	Рт	23	w
Te above 25°C	Pr	See curve nage	300
Temperature Range:		bee curve puge	000
Operating (Junction)	T ₁ (onr)	-65 to 200	ംറ
Storage	Tara	-65 to 200	ംറ്
Pin-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	ŤP	230	۰č

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Conector-to-base breakdown voltage			
$(I_{\rm C} = 0.5 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm E} = 0)$	V(BR)CRO	65 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage:			
$I_{\rm C} = 0$ to 200 mA, $I_{\rm B} = 0$, pulsed through			
inductor $L = 25$ mH, df = 50%	V(BB)CEO	40 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = 0$ to 200 mA, $V_{\rm BE} = -1.5$ V, pulsed			
through inductor $L = 25$ mH. df = 50%	V(BR)CEV	65 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage	= = .		
$(I_E = 0.25 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	V(BR)EBO	4 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			•
$(I_{\rm C} = 500 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 100 \text{ mA})$	VCE(sat)	1 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CE} = 30 \text{ V}$, $I_B = 0$)	ICEO	0.25 max	иÅ
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 5 V, I_C = 300 mA)$	hre	10 min	
Output Capacitance (VCB = 30 V, $IE = 0$,			
f = 1 MHz)	Cobe	20 max	nF
RF Power Output, Amplifier, Unneutralized:			p -
$(V_{CE} = 28 \text{ V}, P_{1E} = 3.5 \text{ W}, f = 175 \text{ MHz},$			
R_G and $R_L = 50 \Omega$	POE	13.5† min	w

† For conditions given, minimum efficiency = 70 per cent.

40340 RF POWER TRANSISTOR

Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type used in highpower class C amplifier applications at frequencies to 100 MHz. JEDEC TO-60, Outline No.23. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.



RF Power Transistors

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	60	v
$V_{\rm HE} = -15$ V	Verv	60	v
Base open	VCEO	25	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	4	v
Peak Collector Current	ic(peak)	10	A
Continuous Collector Current	Ic	3.3	A
Transistor Dissipation $(T_c = 25^{\circ}C)$	Рт	70	w
Temperature Range:	— / .		
Operating (Junction)	TJ(opr)	200	-0

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage:			
L = 200 mA, VBE = -1.3 V, pulsed through an inductor $L = 25 \text{ mH}, \text{ df} = 50\%$	V(BR)CEV	60 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = 200 \text{ mA}, I_{\rm B} = 0$, pulsed through an inductor $I_{\rm C} = 25 \text{ mH} df = 50\%$	Van	25 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage	V (BR)(EO	25 11111	v
$(I_E = 10 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	V(BR)EBO	4 min	v
$V_{CE} = 15 \text{ V}$, $I_B = 0$	ICEO	1 max	mA
$V_{CB} = 40$ V, $I_E = 0$	Ісво	10 max	mA
Output Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 15$ V, $I_E = 0$) BF Power Output ($V_{CE} = 135$ V Pr = 5 W	Сово	120 max	pŀ.
$f = 50$ MHz, R _G and R _L = 50 Ω)	POE	25* min	W
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	Ө1-с	2.5 max	•C/W

• For conditions given, minimum efficiency = 65 per cent.



RF POWER TRANSISTOR

40341



Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type used in highpower class C amplifier applications at frequencies to 100 MHz. JEDEC TO-60, Outline No.23. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 40340 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво	70	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage: $V_{BE} = -1.5 V$ Base open	VCEV VCE0	70 35	v

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage:			
$I_{C} = 200 \text{ mA}, V_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ pulsed through}$			
an inductor $L = 25$ mH, $df = 50\%$	V(BR)('EV	70 min	v
$I_{C} = 200 \text{ mA}, I_{B} = 0$, pulsed through an			
inductor $L = 25$ mH, df $= 50\%$	V(BR)CEO	35 min	v

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Collector-Cutoff Curi	rent:			
$V_{CE} = 30$ V, $I_B = V_{CB} = 50$ V, $I_E = 100$	= 0	Iceo Iceo	1 max 10 max	mA mA



85 max pF 30* min w

* For conditions given, minimum efficiency = 60 per cent.

40446 **RF POWER TRANSISTOR**

Si n-p-n triple diffused planar type used in power-amplifier applications, in conjunction with types 40080 (oscililator), 40081 (driver), and 40082 (power amplifier), in a 5-watt-input, 27 - MHz citizens-band transmitter. JEDEC TO-5 (with flange), Outline No.6. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 40082 except for the following items:



(2)E

3

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Transistor Dissipation: To up to 25°C	Рт	10	w
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)		
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	θJ-C	17.5	°C/W

40577 **RF POWER TRANSISTOR**

Si n-p-n "overlay" triple-diffused type is subjected to special preconditioning tests for high-reliability operation in high-power vhf applications in military and industrial equipment. JEDEC TO-5, Outline No.5, This type is a high-reliability version of type 2N3118.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:			
$V_{BE} = -1.5 V$	VCEV	85	v
Base open	VCEO	60	ý
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	4	Ý
Collector Current	Ic	0.5	Á
Transistor Dissipation:			
Te up to 25°C	Рт	3	w
T _A up to 25°C	Pr	5	Ŵ
Te above 25°C		See curve page	300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	$T_{J}(opr)$	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T_L	230	°Č

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
$(I_E = 0.1 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	V(BR)EBO	4 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Sustaining Voltage			
$(Ic = 10 \text{ mA}, IB = 0, tP = 300 \ \mu s, df < 1.8\%)$	V(BR)CEO (SUS)) 60 min	v
Reverse Collector-to-Emitter Breakdown Voltage			
$(V_{BE} = 1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 0.1 \text{ mA})$	V(BR)CEX	85 min	v
Collector-Cutoff Current:		10	
$V_{CB} = 30 V, I_E = 0, T_A = 25 °C$	TCBO	10 max	nA
$V_{CB} = 30 V, I_E = 0, T_A = 150^{\circ}C$	Ісво	5 max	μA
Output Capacitance	-	_	
$(V_{CB} = 28 V, I_C = 0, f = 1 MHz)$	Cobo	6 max	pŀ.
$r_{bb'}$ C _{b'c} Product (V _{CE} = 28 V, Ic = 25 mA,			
f = 50 MHz)	rbb' Cb'e	60 max	ps
Pulsed Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio:			
$(V_{CE} = 5 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 100 \text{ mA}, \text{ tr} = 300 \mu \text{s}, \text{ df} < 1.8\%)$	hre(pulsed)	50 to 275	
Small-Signal Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 28 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 25 \text{ mA}, \text{ f} = 50 \text{ MHz})$	hre	5 min	
Small-Signal Short-Circuit Input Impedance	_		_
Real Part (VCE = 28 V, IC = 25 mA, $f = 50$ MHz)	R _e (hie)	25 to 75	Ω
Small-Signal Short-Circuit Output Impedance	1 (mag1)	F00 to 1000	
Real Part (VCE = 28 V. Ic = 25 mA, $f = 50$ MHz)	Var (real)	200 10 1000	
Power Output, Class C Service (with heat sink):	A 20		
$V_{CE} = 28$ V, $P_{ID} = 0.1$ W, $f = 50$ MHz	Per	1 min	w
$V_{CR} = 28 V_{CR} = 0.1 W_{f} f = 150 MHz$	P	0 4 min	ŵ
Power Cain Class A Service (with heat sink)	1 06	0.4 11111	
$(V_{\rm eff} - 28 V I_{\rm eff} - 25 m A P_{\rm eff} - 0.2 W f - 50 MHz)$	C	19 min	dB
$(v_{12} - 20, v_{11} - 20, m_{11}, r_{001} - 0.2, w_{11} - 30, m_{112})$	Ope	10 11111	uв



RF POWER TRANSISTOR

40578



Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type subjected to special preconditioning tests for high-reliability, class A, B, and C amplifier, frequency multiplier, or oscillator operation, driver or pre-driver stages, vhf-uhf applications in space, military, and industrial communications equipment. JEDEC TO-39, Outline No.15. This type is identical to type 2N3866 except for the following item:

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-Cutoff Current ($V_{CE} = 28 V$, $I_B = 0$) ICEO

100 max

nA

40581 RF POWER TRANSISTOR

Si n-p-n triple-diffused planar type used for poweramplifier applications in conjunction with transistor types 40080 (oscillator), and 40081 (driver), in a 5watt, 27-MHz citizens-band transmitter. JEDEC TO-39, Outline No.15. This type is identical to type 40082 except for the following item:



CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

RF Power Output (Vcc = 12 V, Ic = 415 mA, $P_{1E} = 350$ mW, f = 27 MHz) P_{OE}

40582 RF POWER TRANSISTOR

Si n-p-n triple-diffused planar type used for poweramplifier applications in conjunction with transistor types 40080 (oscillator), and 40081 (driver), in a 5watt, 27-MHz citizens-band transmitter. JEDEC TO-39, Outline No.6. See Mounting Hardware for desired arrangement. This type is identical with type 40082 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Transistor Dissipation Te up to 25°C PT

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

RF Power Output (Vec = 12 V, $Ic = 415$ mA,			
$f = 27 \text{ MHz}, P_{1E} = 350 \text{ mW}$)	POE	3.5 min	w
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	HJ-C	17.5	°C/W

40605 RF POWER TRANSISTOR

Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type used in class A, B, or C amplifier, frequency multiplier, and oscillator service in vhf-uhf equipment. This type is subjected to special preconditioning tests for highreliability operation in critical aerospace and industrial equipment. JEDEC TO-39. Outline No.15.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Vсво				65	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage:						
$V_{BE} = -1.5 \text{ V}, \text{ R}_{BE} = 33 \Omega$	VCEX				65	v
Base open	VCEO				40	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO				4	v
Collector Current	Ic				0.33	A
Peak Collector Current	Icpk				1	A
Transistor Dissipation:						
Te up to 25°C	Рт				7	w
Tr above 25°C	PT	Derate	linearly	at	0.04	W/°C
T _A up to 25°C	Рт		•		1	Ŵ
T _A above 25°C	PT	Derate	linearly	at	5.71	mW/°C
Temperature Range:						
Operating (Junction)	T _i (opr)		_	65 te	o 200	°C
Storage	TSTG		_	65 te	o 200	°C
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL.				230	°C

3.5 min W



10

w

RF Power Transistors

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

V(BR)CBO	65 min	v
Variation	40▲ min	v
VCBROCEX	65 ▲ min	v
V(BR)EBO	4 min	v
Vcc (sat)	1 max	v
ICEO	0.1 max	μA
Por	2 5† min	w
1 ()).	2.0.p 11111	**
Cobo	10	pF
fT	350 min	MHz
	V(BR)CBO V(BROCEO V(BROCEX V(BROEBO VCE (Sat) ICEO POE Cobo fT	VOBROCEO 65 min VOBROCEO 404 min VOBROCEN 654 min VOBROCEN 654 min VOBROCEN 4 min VCE (sat) 1 max ICEO 0.1 max POE 2.5‡ min Cobo 10 fT 350 min

▲ Measured at a current where the breakdown voltage is a minimum.

 \ddagger For conditions given, minimum efficiency = 50%.





RF POWER TRANSISTOR

40608

Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial type used for operation as a class A wide-band power amplifier in vhf circuits. JEDEC TO-39, Outline No.15.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Base Voltage	Veno	40	v
Collector-to-Emitter Voltage (V _{BE} = 100Ω)	VCER	40	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VERO	2	v
Collector Current	Ic	0.4	Å
Transistor Dissipation:		0.1	
To up to 25°C	Рт	3.5	w
Te above 25°C	PT	See curve nage	300
Temperature Range:		and there page	000
Operating (Junction)	T _J (opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	-65 to 200	۰č
Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	T _L	230	۰č

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Collector-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			
(Ic = 0.1 mA, IE = 0)	VORDERO	40 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage	• (0.070 0.00		•
$(I_E = 0.1 \text{ mA}, I_C = 0)$	VIREARD	2 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		•
$(I_{\rm C} = 50 \text{ mA}, R_{\rm BE} = 100 \Omega \text{ pulsed through inductor})$			
L = 20 mH, df = 50%)	VCER(SUS)	40 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Saturation Voltage			•
$(I_B = 10 \text{ mA}, I_C = 50 \text{ mA})$	Ver(sat)	1 max	v
Collector-Cutoff Current (VCE = 20 V, $I_B = 0$)	ICEO	100 max	иÅ
Collector-to-Base Capacitance ($V_{CB} = 30$ V,			<i>(,</i>
$I_E = 0, f = 1 MHz$)	Cobo	3 max	pF
Gain-Bandwidth Product ($V_{CE} = 15 V$, $I_C = 50 mA$)	fr	700 min	MHz
Static Forward-Current Transfer Ratio			
$(V_{CE} = 15 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 50 \text{ mA})$	hre	35 to 120	
Voltage Gain (Vce = 15 V, Ic = 50 mA)	VG	11 min	dB
Cross Modulation at 46 dB mV			
$(V_{CE} = 15 \text{ V}, \text{ Ic} = 50 \text{ mA}, \text{ Rg and } \text{R}_{L} = 75 \Omega)$	CM	-57	dB



40675 RF POWER TRANSISTOR

Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial planar type used in linear applications to provide high power in class A or B rf amplifier service. It is intended for 2 to 30 MHz singlesideband power amplifiers operating from a 28-volt power supply. Outline No.49.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
Reverse bias $= -1.5$ V	VCEV	65	v
Base open	VCEO	35	v
Emitter-to-Base Voltage	VEBO	3.5	Ý
Collector Current	Ic	10	A
Peak Collector Current	ic	30	A
Diode Current (DC max)	Ir	100	mA
Transistor Dissipation:			
To up to 50°C	Рт	100	w
Tc above 50°C	Рт	See curve pag	(e 300
Temperature Range:			
Operating (Junction)	T」(opr)	-65 to 200	°C
Storage	TSTG	65 to 200	°C
Case-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	Tc	230	۰C

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C)

Collector-to-Emitter Sustaining Voltage:			
$V_{BE} = -1.5$ V, Ic = 200 mÅ, pulsed through			
inductor $L = 25$ mH, df = 50%	VCEV (SUS)	65 min	v
$I_{\rm C} = 200$ mA, pulsed through inductor	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,		
L = 25 mH, df = 50%	VCEO(SUS)	35 min	v
Emitter-to-Base Breakdown Voltage			-
$(I_E = 20 \text{ mA})$	V(BR)EBO	3.5 min	v
Collector-to-Emitter Cutoff Current:			
$V_{CE} = 60 V$	ICES	30 max	mA
$V_{CE} = 30 V$	ICEO	30 max	mA
Compensating Diode Forward Voltage Drop			
$(I_D = 10 \text{ mA})$	Vr	0.8 max	v
Collector-to-Base ($V_{CB} = 30$ V, $f = 1$ MHz)	Ceb	250 max	pF
RF Power Output:			•
Average ($V_{CE} = 28$ V, Quiescent Ic = 20 mA)	Poe	37.5 min	w
Peak (Vcz = 28 V, Quiescent Ic = 20 mA)	POE	75 min	w
Collector Efficiency ($V_{CE} = 28$ V, Quiescent			
Ic = 20 mA)	ηc	40 min	%
Intermodulation Distortion ($V_{CE} = 28 V$,	-		
Quiescent $I_C = 20 \text{ mA}$)	IMD	30 max	dB
Power Gain ($V_{CE} = 28$ V, Quiescent			
1c = 20 mA	Gpe	13 min	dB
Thermal Resistance, Junction-to-Case	AI-C	1.5 max	°C/W



RF POWER TRANSISTOR

40665



Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial type used in class A, B, and C amplifiers, frequency multipliers and oscillators designed for use in vhf applications. JEDEC TO-60, Outline No.23. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 2N3632.

RF POWER TRANSISTOR

40666



Si n-p-n "overlay" epitaxial type used in class A, B, and C amplifiers, frequency multipliers and oscillators designed for use in vhf applications. JEDEC TO-60, Outline No.23. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 2N3375.

Technical Data for Thyristors

 T_{data} for all current RCA triacs, silicon controlled rectifiers (SCR's), and diacs. These devices are listed in order of ascending current (and voltage) ratings.

In selection of devices for use in new electronic equipment, a prospective user should refer to the appropriate section of the Selection Guide included earlier in the Manual. For the reader who requires data on specific types, a complete numericalalphabetical-numerical index to all current RCA solid-state devices is provided immediately following the Circuits Section in the back of the Manual.

Triacs

40769 40770

0.5A, 200V 0.5A, 400V

Si gate-controlled full-wave types used for controlsystem application in airborne and ground-support type equipment. JEDEC TO-5 (modified), Outline No.7. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.



MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal supply voltage up to 400 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

V_{DROM}^* (T _J = -50 to 100°)	40769 200	40770 400	v
$T_{C} = 90^{\circ}C$ $T_{A} = 25^{\circ}C$ without heat sink $T_{A} = 25^{\circ}C$ without heat sink $T_{C} = 0^{\circ}C$	0 0	5	A A
$\begin{array}{l} 400 \text{ Hz} \\ 60 \text{ Hz} \\ 60 \text{ Hz} \\ 61/dt (\text{Yuw} - \text{Yuway, Lap} - 60 \text{ mA, t} - 0.1 \text{ us}) \end{array}$	50 25		A A
I_{4} r_{1} μ_{5} r_{2}	p	A W W	
$ \begin{array}{l} F_{G(AY)}^{G(AY)} (T_{A} = 25^{\circ} \text{C without heat sink}) \\ T_{STG}^{STG} \end{array} $	0.0	5 5 150	w °C
T_L (10 s max)	22	5	۰ç
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical	ratings at 1	$= 25^{\circ}$	
I_{DROM}^* (T _J = 100°C, V _{DROM} = max rated value V_{TM}^* (ir = 30 A peak)	0.2 typ; 0 1.7 typ;	.75 max 2.2 max	mA V
$v_{\rm D} = 12 \ {\rm V}$	7 typ; 1	5 max	mA

Thyristors

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Commutating dv/dt^* (vp = Vprom, IT(RMS) = 0.5 Å commutating $di/dt = 1.8$ Å/ms gate		
unenergized, $T_c = 90^{\circ}C$	1 min; 4 typ	V/µs
Critical dv/dt^* ($v_D = V_{DROM}$, exponential volt-		
age rise, $T_{c} = 100^{\circ}C$)	10 min; 100 typ	V/μs
I_{GT}^{*} (v _D = 12 Vdc, R_L = 30 Ω :		
I* mode, VMT2 positive, VG positive	3.5 typ; 10 max	mA
I- mode, VMT2 positive, VG negative	7 typ; 10 max	mA
III+ mode, VMT2 negative, VG positive	7 typ; 10 max	mA
III- mode, VMT2 negative, VG negative	3.5 typ; 10 max	mA
$V_{GT}^{*\ddagger}$ (VD = 12 Vdc, $R_L = 30 \Omega$)	1 typ; 2.2 max	v
V_{GT}^{*+} (VD = VDROM, RL = 125 Ω , Tc = 100°C	0.15 min	v
tg_t (v _D = V _{DROM} , $I_{GT} = 60$ mA, $t_r = 0.1$ µs,		
$i\tau = 10 \text{ A peak}$	1.8 typ; 2.5 max	μs
θμ-α	8.5 max	°C/Ŵ

* For either polarity of main terminal 2 voltage (V_{MT2}) with reference to main terminal 1.

‡ For either polarity of gate voltage (VG) with reference to main terminal 1.





0.5A, 200V

0.5A, 400V

40771 40772



Si gate-controlled full-wave types used for controlsystem application in airborne and ground-support type equipment. JEDEC TO-5 (modified), Outline No.7. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. Types 40771 and 40772 are identical with types 40769 and 40770, respectively, except for the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_c = 25^{\circ}C$)

I_{100}^* (initial principal current = 150 mAdc	40771		40772	
$v_D = 12 V$ $I_G T^*$ ($v_D = 12 V dc, R_L = 30 \Omega$:		15 typ; 30	max	mА
I* mode, VMT2 positive, V6 positive I* mode, VMT2 positive, V6 negative II* mode, VMT2 negative, V6 positive III* mode, VMT2 negative, V6 negative		5 typ; 25 10 typ; 40 10 typ; 40 5 typ; 25	max max max max	mA mA mA

* For either polarity of main terminal 2 voltage (VMT2) with reference to main terminal 1.

40531– 40536

2.5A, 100V----400V

Si gated bidirectional types used for power-control and power-switching applications. JEDEC TO-5 (with heat radiator), Outline No.8. Types 40531, 40532, 40533, 40534, 40535, and 40536 are electrically identical with types 40525, 40526, 40527, 40528, 40529, and 40530, respectively.

40767

1.6A, 100V

Si gate-controlled full-wave type used for switching from an off-state to an on-state for either polarity of applied voltage with positive or negative gate triggering voltages. This type can be controlled with economical transistor circuits for use in low-power phase control and load-switching applications. JEDEC TO-5

(with heat radiator), Outline No.8. This type is identical with type 40525 except for the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_e = 25^{\circ}$ C)

I_{GT} (vp = 12 Vdc, R_{L} = 30 Ω):		
I mode, VMr2 positive, Va positive	1 typ: 4 max	mA
I ⁻ mode, V _{MT2} positive, V _G negative	2 typ: 4 max	mA
III mode, VMT2 negative, VG positive	2 typ: 4 max	mA
III- mode, VMT2 negative, VG negative	1 typ; 4 max	mA
	r opp, i max	

40761

1.6A, 400V

Si gate-controlled full-wave type used for switching from an off-state to an on-state for either polarity of applied voltage with positive or negative gate triggering voltages. This type can be controlled with economical transistor circuits for use in low-power phase control and load-switching applications. JEDEC TO-5

(with heat radiator), Outline No.8. This type is identical with type 40526 except for the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_c = 25$ °C)

lor $(v_D = 12 \text{ Vdc}, R_L = 30 \Omega)$:		
It mode, VMT2 positive, VG positive	1 typ; 4 max	mA
I- mode, VMT2 positive, VG negative	2 typ: 4 max	mA
III mode, VMT2 negative, VG positive	2 typ: 4 max	mA
III- mode, VMT2 negative, VG negative	1 typ; 4 max	mA

40762

1.6A, 400V

Si gate-controlled full-wave type used for switching from an off-state to an on-state for either polarity of applied voltage with positive or negative gate triggering voltages. This type can be controlled with economical transistor circuits for use in low-power phase control and load-switching applications. JEDEC TO-5







() MTI

2

MT2.HR



Thyristors

(with heat radiator), Outline No.8. This type is identical with type 40527 except for the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_c = 25$ °C)

Let $(v_D = 12 \text{ Vdc}, R_L = 30 \Omega)$:		
I' mode, VMT2 positive, VG positive	1 typ: 4 max	mA
I mode, VMTz positive, VG negative	2 typ: 4 max	mA
III+ mode, VMT2 negative, VG positive	2 typ: 4 max	mA
III- mode, VMT2 negative, VG negative	1 typ: 4 max	mA



$100V_{-}$ 1.9A, 600V

Si gate-controlled full-wave types used for low-power phase-control and load-switching applications. Outline No.8. Types 40684, 40685, 40686, and 40687 are electrically identical with types 2N5754, 2N5755, 2N5756, and 2N5757, respectively.

2.2A, 200V

2.2A, 400V

Si gate-controlled full-wave types used for the control of ac loads in applications such as heating controls, motor controls, light dimmers, and power switching systems. Outline No.8. Types 40509 and 40510 are identical with types 40485 and 40486, respectively, except for the following items:

MAXIMUM (For sinusoidal supply voltage at 50/60 RATINGS Hz with resistive or inductive load)

40509

(TA up to 100°C, conduction angle IT(RMS) = 360°)

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_c = 25$ °C)

Commutating dv/dt^* (V_D = V_{DR0M}, com-mutating di/dt = 3.2 A/ms): ITO(MS) and T_A specified by curve A in Rating Chart (Ambient Temperature) ITO(MS) and T_A specified by curve B in Rating Chart (Ambient Temperature) HJ-A

_ 3 min; 10 typ _ V/µs V/µs

<u>4 min; 12 typ</u> $V/\mu s$ See Rating Chart (Ambient Temperature)

* For either polarity of main terminal 2 voltage (VMT2) with reference to main terminal 1.

MT2,HR 2 (т) мт,

2.2A, 200V

40511 40512

2.2A, 400V

Si gated bidirectional integral-trigger types used for power-control and power-switching applications. Outline No.8. Types 40511 and 40512 are electrically identical with types 40431 and 40432, respectively.



40509

40510

40510

40684-

40687



See Rating Chart (Ambient Temperature)

40731	2.3, 200V
40732	2.3, 400V

Si gate-controlled full-wave ac-switching types with the RCA-CA3059 integrated-circuit zero-voltage switch as a triggering circuit. Outline No. 8. Types 40731 and 40732 are identical with types 40729 and 40730, respectively, except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal supply voltage at f = 50/60 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

$I_{\rm T(RMS)}$ (T_{\Lambda} = 100°C, conduction angle = 360°)	40731 2.3	A
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electric	al ratings = 25°C)	
V _{TM} (i _T = 30 A)	1.6 typ; 2.25 max	



2.5A, ^{100V}– 600V

Si gate-controlled full-wave types used for low-power phase-control and load-switching applications. Outline No.60.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinuspidal supply voltage at f \pm 50/60 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

V_{DROM}^{*} (T _J = 65°C to 100°C)	2N5754 100	2N5755 200	2N5756 400	2N5757 600	v
angle = 360°)		2.5			Α
1 cycle of principal voltage at 60 Hz		25			А
1 cycle of principal voltage at 50 Hz		21			A
P_{GM} (1 μ s max)		10			ŵ
$P_{G}(AV)$:					
$T_{\Lambda} = 25^{\circ}C$		0.05	i		W
Tstg			150		°C C
T_{L} (10 s max)		225	100		۰č
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum	electrica	l ratings	= 25°C)		
IDROM $(T_J = 100^{\circ}C, V_{DROM} = max)$		0.2 turns 0	75 max		mA
VTN ·		0.2 typ, 0	ij max _		шд
$i_{T} = 10 A$		2.2 typ; 2	.6 max		V
$i_T = 3.5 A$		1.8 m	ax		v
mA (dc) $V_D = 12$ V):					
$T_{\rm C} = 25^{\circ}C$		_ 6 typ; 3	5 max		mA
$T_{\rm C} = -65^{\circ} C$		_ 20 typ; 8	2 max		mA
voltage rise $T_C = 100^{\circ}C$)		10 min;	100 typ _		V/µs
IGT $(V_D = 12 \text{ Vdc}, R_L = 30 \Omega)$:					
$I + mode, V_{MT2}$ positive, V _G positive		-5 typ; 2	5 max		mA mA
$I = mode, VMT_2 positive, Vic negative, Vic negative, Vic negative, Vic$		_ 10 typ, 4			11175
positive		_ 10 typ; 4	0 max		mA
III — mode, VMT2 negative, VG		E turne 2	5 may		mΔ
negative		ə typ; 2	J max		шд

06

ന

MŤ

Thyristors

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

$I_{GT} (V_D = 12 \text{ Vdc}, R_L = 30 \Omega, T_C = -65 ^{\circ}C);$		
I + mode, VMT2 positive, VG positive	30 typ; 60 max m	nA.
III + mode, VMT2 negative, VG	40 typ, 100 max m	IA
positive	40 typ; 100 max m	۱A
positive	30 typ; 60 max m	۱A
$T_{C} = 25^{\circ}C$	0.9 typ; 2.2 max	V
$V_{\text{GT}} (V_{\text{D}} = V_{\text{DROM}}, R_{\text{L}} = 125 \Omega,$	1.5 typ, 5 max	۲
Tc = 100°C) θι (steady-state)	0.2 min °C/	w
• For either polarity of main terminal 2 terminal 1.	voltage (V_{MT2}) with reference to ma	in

‡ For either polarity of gate voltage (V_G) with reference to main terminal 1.





40525-

40530

2.5A, 100V— 400V



Si gate-controlled full-wave types used for switching from a blocking state to a conducting state for either polarity of applied voltage with positive or negative gate triggering. These types can be controlled with economical transistor circuits for use in low-power phase-control and load-switching applications. JEDEC TO-5 (modified), Outline No.5.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal ac supply voltage at f = 50 and 60 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

	40323	40020	40527	40528	40529	40530	
V_{DROM} (gate open):	<u>100</u>	200	400	100	200	400	v v
$\begin{array}{rcl} T_{\rm C} &= 60^{\circ}{\rm C} & & \\ T_{\rm C} &= 70^{\circ}{\rm C} & & \\ T_{\rm A} &= 25^{\circ}{\rm C} & & \\ I_{\rm TSM} & (1 \ {\rm cycle} \ {\rm of} \ {\rm principal} \ {\rm voltage}) & & \\ \end{array}$		2.5 0.35		25	2.5 0.4		A A A

	40525	40526	40527	40528	40529	40530	
I_{GTM} (1 μ s max)				_ 0.5			- A W
$P_{G(AV)}$:				_ 10			
$\mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{A}} = 25^{\circ}\mathbf{C}$				_ 0.05			W
$T_{\rm C} = 60^{\circ} C$	•••••			0.15			w w
	••••••			-40 to 100			۰č
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximu	um elec	trical	ratings a	at T $_{\rm c}=2$	5°C)		
	40525	40526	40527	40528	40529	40530	
IDROM (gate open, VDROM = max rated value):							
$T_J = 100^{\circ}C$	_	-	_	0.2 t	yp; 0.75	max	mA
$T_J = 90^{\circ}C$	0.2 ty	p; 0.75	max	_	_		mA
$v_T \bullet (i_T = 10 \text{ A peak})$			1.7 typ;	2.2 max		V (p	eak)
= 150 mAdc	2 typ	: 5 ma:	ĸ	6.5 typ:	: 15 ma	x mA	(dc)
Critical dv/dt (vp = VpRom,	U	,		010 tj p	,		()
exponential voltage rise,							
gate open):					10		37 /
$T_{c} = 90^{\circ}C$	_	5	-				$V/\mu s$
$I_{GT} \bullet \bullet (v_D = 6 Vdc, R_L = 39 \Omega)$:		_ • _					.,
I ⁺ mode. V _{MT2} positive,							
V _G positive	1 ty	/p; 3 m	ax	3.5 typ	; 10 ma	IXMA	(ac)
Va negative	2 tv	vp: 3 m	ax _	7 typ:	10 ma:	xmA	(dc)
III+ mode, VMT2 negative.		,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,					
V _G positive	2 ty	/p;3 m	ax	7 typ;	10 ma:	x mA	(dc)
III- mode, VMT2 negative,	1.11	vn · 3 m	a Y	35 typ	• 10 ma	w mA	(de)
		, r. r. ii	4 4 4 7	UUUUUUU			

MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)



CONDUCTION RATING CHART (AMBIENT TEMPERATURE)



CONDUCTION RATING CHART (AMBIENT TEMPERATURE)



CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Vgre=:			
$v_{\rm D} = 6 \rm V dc, R_L = 39 \Omega$	1 typ: 2.2	max	v
$v_D = V_{DROM}, R_L = 125 \Omega$			-
$T_{\rm C} = 100^{\circ} C$		0.15 min	v
$\mathbf{v}_{\mathrm{D}} = \mathbf{V}_{\mathrm{DROM}}, \mathbf{R}_{\mathrm{L}} = 125 \ \Omega,$			
$T_{\rm C} = 90^{\circ}{\rm C}$	0.15 min		v

• For either polarity of main-terminal 2 voltage (V_{MT2}) with reference to main terminal 1 • For either polarity of gate voltage (V₆) with reference to main terminal 1.



2 5 1	1008-
Z.JA,	400V

1001/

Si gate-controlled full-wave ac-switching types used with the RCA-CA3059 integrated-circuit zero-voltage switch as a triggering circuit. Outline No. 8.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal supply voltage at f = 50/60 Hz with resistive pr inductive load)

$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	40693 100	40694 200 2.5 25 21 1 10 0.15	40695 400 V A A A A A A A W W W W
Тято		65 to 150	°C
Tc(opr)			Š
T _L (10 s max.)		225	°č
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrica I_{DROM} (T _J = 100°C)	I ratings	= 25°C) 0.2 typ; 0.75 may	م mA
$i_T = 10 A$ $i_T = 3.5 A$ I_{100} (Gate open, initial principal current = 150 mA, Vp = 12 V):		2.2 typ; 2.6 max 1.8 max	V
$T_{\rm C} = 25^{\circ}C$		6 typ: 25 max	mA
$T_{\rm C} = -65^{\circ} \text{C}$ dv/dt (V _D = V _{DROM} , exponential voltage rise		20 typ; 82 max	mA
gate open, $T_{C} = 100^{\circ}C$) IGT ($V_{D} = 12 V$, $R_{L} = 30 \Omega$):		10 min; 100 typ	V/μs
1* mode, VMT2 positive, Vo positive		45 max	mA
III+ mode, VMT2 negative, VG positive		45 max	mA
v_{GT} ($v_D = 12 v$, $\kappa_L = 30 \Omega$)		1.5 max	V
HI-C (Sleady-state)		8.5 max	°C/W

* For either polarity of main terminal 2 voltage (VMT2) with reference to main terminal 1.

100V-

400V

‡ For either polarity of gate voltage (VG) with reference to main terminal 1.

2.5,



Si gate-controlled full-wave ac-switching types used with the RCA-CA3059 integrated-circuit zero-voltage switch as a triggering circuit. Outline No. 5. Types 40696, 40697, and 40698 are electrically identical with types 40693, 40694, and 40695, respectively.

40693-

40695

40696-

40766

40773

40774

2.5A, 100V

Si gate-controlled full-wave type used for switching from an off-state to an on-state for either polarity of applied voltage with positive or negative gate triggering voltages. This type can be controlled with economical transistor circuits for use in low-power phase control and load-switching applications. JEDEC TO-5

20 $\widehat{}$ MŤi

(modified). Outline No.5. This type is identical with type 40525 except for the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_c = 25^{\circ}$ C)

I_{GT} (v _D = 12 Vdc, $R_L = 30 \Omega$):		
I ⁺ mode, V _{MT2} positive, V _G positive	1 typ; 4 max	mA
I ⁻ mode, V _{MT2} positive, V _G negative	2 typ; 4 max	mA
III ⁺ mode, V _{MT2} negative, V _G positive	2 typ; 4 max	mA
III- mode, VMT2 negative, VG negative	1 typ; 4 max	mA

40691 2.5A. 200V

Si gate-controlled full-wave type used for switching from an off-state to an on-state for either polarity of applied voltage with positive or negative gate triggering voltages. This type can be controlled with economical transistor circuits for use in low-power phase control and load-switching applications. JEDEC TO-5

(modified), Outline No.5. This type is identical with type 40526 except for the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_c = 25^{\circ}$ C)

I_{GT} (v _D = 12 Vdc, R_L = 30 Ω):		
I + mode, Vит2 positive, Vg positive	1 typ; 4 max	mA
I — mode, V _{MT2} positive, V _G negative	2 typ; 4 max	mA
III + mode, VMT2 negative, VG positive	2 typ; 4 max	mA
III — mode, VMT2 negative, VG negative	1 typ; 4 max	mA

2.5A, 200V

2.5A, 400V

Si gate-controlled full-wave types used for controlsystems application in airborne and ground-support type equipment. JEDEC TO-5 (modified), Outline No.7. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal supply voltage up to 400 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

V_{DROM}^* (T _J = -50 to 100°C)	40773 200	40774 400	v
$T_C = 90^{\circ}C$ $T_A = 25^{\circ}C$ without heat sink $T_{A} = (c_{A}c_{A}c_{A}c_{A}c_{A}c_{A}c_{A}c_{A}$		2.5 0.5	A A
$\begin{array}{c} 400 & Hz \\ 60 & Hz \\ 61/dt & (V_{DM} = V_{DR0M}, I_{GT} = 80 \text{ mA, } t_{7} = 0.1 \mu\text{s}) \end{array}$		200 100 150	A A A/us
Iсты‡ (1 µs max)		4	A





MT

Thyristors

MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

P_{GM} (1 µs max, I _{GTM} < 4 A)	16	w
PG(AV)	0.2	Ŵ
Тята	50 to 150	°C
r e	50 to 100	°Č
T _L (10 s max)	225	°Č

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_{\rm c}$ = 25°C)

I_{DROM}^* (T _J = 100°C, V _{DROM} = max rated value)	 0.2 typ; 4 max	 mA
V_{TM}^* (ir = 30 A peak)	 1.6 typ: 2.25 max	 v
I_{IIO}^* (initial principal current = 150 mAdc,		
$v_{\rm P}=12~{\rm V}$	 15 typ; 30 max	 mA
Commutating dv/dt^* (v _D = V _{DROM} , I _{T(RMS)} =		
2.5 A, commutating $di/dt = 8.9$ A/ms, gate		
unenergized, $T_{\rm C} = 90^{\circ} \rm C$	 3 min; 10 typ	 V/us
Critical dv/dt^* (vp = Vprom, exponential		.,,
voltage rise, $T_{\rm C} = 100^{\circ}{\rm C}$)	 30 min: 150 typ	 $V/\mu s$
$I_{GT}^{*\ddagger}$ (v _D = 12 Vdc, R _L = 30 Ω):	,	. , ,
I+ mode, VMT2 positive, Vi positive	 15 typ: 25 max	 mA
I- mode, VMT: positive, Vc negative	 25 typ: 40 max	 mÄ
III+ mode, VMT: negative, VG positive	 25 typ: 40 max	 mA
III- mode, VMT: negative, VG negative	 15 typ: 25 max	 mA
$V_{GT}^{*\pm}$ (VD = 12 Vdc, $R_L = 30 \Omega$)	1 typ: 2.2 max	 v
V_{GT}^{*1} (VD = VDROM, RL = 125 Ω , Tc = 100°C)	0.2 min	 ý
t_{gt} (VD = VDROM, IGT = 80 mA, $t_r = 0.1 \ \mu s$.		•
$i_T = 10$ A peak)	 1.8 typ: 2.5 max	""
Ou-c (steady-state)	 4 max	 °C/Ŵ

* For either polarity of main terminal 2 voltage $(V_{\rm MT2})$ with reference to main terminal 1. For either polarity of gate voltage $(V_{\rm G})$ with reference to main terminal 1.



FORWARD GATE CHARACTERISTICS



2.5A, 400V

40692



Si gate-controlled full-wave type used for switching from an off-state to an on-state for either polarity of applied voltage with positive or negative gate triggering voltages. This type can be controlled with economical transistor circuits for use in low-power phase

control and load-switching applications. JEDEC TO-5 (modified), Outline No.5. This type is identical with type 40527 except for the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_{ m c}$ = 25°C)

$(v_{\rm D} = 12 \text{ Vdc}, R_{\rm L} = 30 \Omega)$:		
$I + mode, V_{MT_2}$ positive, V_G positive	1 typ: 4 max	mA
I — mode, VMT: positive, VG negative	2 typ: 4 max	mA
III + mode, VMT2 negative, VG positive	2 typ: 4 max	mA
III - mode, VMT: negative, VG negative	1 typ: 4 max	mA

40502 40503

3.3A, 200V

3.3A, 400V

Si gate-controlled full-wave types for the control of ac loads in applications such as heating controls, motor controls, light dimmers, and power switching systems. JEDEC TO-66 (with heat radiator), Outline No.26. Types 40502 and 40503 are identical with types 40429 and 40430, respectively, except for the following items:



CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electri	cal ratings at	Te = 25°C)	
	40502	40503	
$ I_{DROM}^* (T_J = 100^\circ C, V_{DROM} = max rated $	0.1 typ; 1.2 max	0.2 typ; 1.2 max	mA
Rating Chart (Ambient Temperature)	3 min;	10 typ	V∕µs
IT(RMS) and TA specified by curve B in Rating Chart (Ambient Temperature)	4 min;	12 typ	V/µs
* For either polarity of main terminal 2 voltage	(V_{MT2}) with refe	rence to main term	inal 1.

40733 4.2, 200V 40734 4.2, 200V



Si gate-controlled full-wave ac-switching types used with the RCA-CA3059 integrated-circuit zero-voltage switch as a triggering circuit. Outline No. 59.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal supply voltage at f = 50/60 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

Variant (Gate open $T_1 = -65^{\circ}C$ to $100^{\circ}C$)	40733 200	40734 400	v
$I_{T(RMS)}$ (Tc = 75°C, conduction angle = 360°)	4.2		A
ITSM (1 cycle of principal voltage)	100		Â
P_{GM} (1 μ s max.)	16		W
PG(AV)	65 to 1	50	ċċ
Te(opr)	65 to 1	.00	°C C°
T _L (10 s max.)	22.1		C

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings = 25° C)

I_{DROM} (T _J = 100°C)	0.1 typ 4 max	0.2 typ 4 max	mA
V_{TM} (ir = 30 A)	1.6 typ; 2.3	25 max	v
Ino (Gate open, initial principal current = 150 mA)	15 typ; 3	0 max	mA
dv/dt (V _D = V _{DROM} , exponential voltage rise, gate open, T _C = 100°C)	30 min 150 typ	20 min 100 typ	V/µs
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	45 ma 45 ma 45 ma 1.5 ma	ax ax	mA mA V °C/W
 # For either polarity of main terminal 2 vo terminal 1. * For either polarity of gate voltage (VG) with 	ltage (VMT2) wi	ith reference to in terminal 1.	o main

Thyristors

6A, 400V

Si gate-controlled full-wave types used for the control of ac loads in applications such as heating controls, motor controls, light dimmers, and power switching systems, JEDEC TO-66, Outline No.25, See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinuspidal ac supply voltage at f = 50/60 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

	40429	40430	
V_{DROM}^* (T _J = -65°C to 100°C)	200	400	v
ITCRMS) (Tc = 75° C, conduction angle = 360°)	6		Α
IT(RMS) (TA up to 100°C, conduction angle			
$= 360^{\circ}$)	See Rating Chart	(Ambient Tempe	rature)
ITSM (1 cycle of principal voltage)	100		A
IGTM (1 μs max)	4		Α
PGM (1 μ s max, IGTM \leq 4 A peak)	16		w
PG(AV)	0.2		w
Тятс	65 to	150	°C
Tc	65 to	100	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_c = 25$ °C)

I_{DROM}^* (T _J = 100°C, V _{DROM} = max rated value)	0.1 f
утм* (ir = 30 A peak)	
l_{10}^* (initial principal = 150 mA dc)	
= 6 A, commutating di/dt $= 3.2$ A/ms,	
gate unenergized at $T_{C} = 75^{\circ}C$)	
Critical dv/dt* ($V_D = V_{DROM}$, exponential	20
$I_{\text{or}}^{*\pm}$ (V _D = 12 Vdc, R _L = 12 O):	30 11
I+ niode, VMT2 positive, VG positive	
I ⁻ mode, VMT2 positive, VG negative	
III* mode, VMT2 negative, V(; positive	
$V_{GT}^{*\ddagger}$ (V _D = 12 Vdc, R _L = 12 Ω)	
$V_{GT}^{*\ddagger}$ ($V_D \equiv V_{DROM}$, $R_L = 125 \Omega$,	
$T_{\rm C} = 100^{\circ}{\rm C}$	
$i_{T} = 10$ A)	
θJ-c (steady-state)	
θ」-Α	See 1

0.1 typ; 4 max 0.2 typ; 4 max 1.8 typ; 2.25 15 typ; 30 max	mA V mA
3 min; 10 typ	V∕µs
30 min; 150 typ 20 min; 100 max	V∕µs
15 typ; 25 max 25 typ; 40 max 25 typ; 40 max 15 typ; 40 max 15 typ; 22 max	mA mA mA V
0.2 min	v
2.2 4 max See Rating Chart (Ambient Temper	µs °C∕W rature)

For either polarity of main terminal 2 voltage (VMT2) with reference to main terminal 1.
 For either polarity of gate voltage (VG) with reference to main terminal 1.
 This characteristic does not apply to types 40502 and 40503.



597

40429

40430



MT2,F



40431 6A, 200V 40432 6A, 400V

Si gate-controlled full-wave types used for phase control of ac loads in applications such as light dimming, universal and induction motor control, and heater control. These devices have integral triggers. JEDEC TO-5 (modified), Outline No.7. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.



MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal ac supply voltage at f = 50 and 60 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

	40431	40434	
V_{DROM} (gate open, $T_J = -40^{\circ}C$ to $100^{\circ}C$)	200	400	v
IT(RMS) (Tc = 75° C, conduction angle = 360°)		、———	A
Itsm (1 cycle of principal voltage)	100	J	Ă
IGTM (2 µs max)	1		A
P_{GM} (2 µs max, $I_{GTM} \leq 1$ A peak)	20		W
PG(AY)	0.2		W
T		o 150	°C
Tc*A	40 to	o 100	°C
even a company of the second sec		25401	
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical	rating at 1 _c =	23-0)	
	0.1.4	0.0 turn	

IDROM [•] (gate open, $T_J = 100^{\circ}C$,	0.1 typ 0.2 typ	mĄ
VDROM = max rated value)	2 max 4 max	mA
$v_{T} \bullet (i_{T} = 30 \text{ A})$	1.6 typ; 2.25 max V (pe	ear (
Ino (initial principal current = 150 mAdc)	10 typ; 30 max mA	(ac)
Commutating $dv/dt \bullet$ (v) = V)ROM		
$I_{T(RMS)} = 6$ A, commutating di/dt = 4 A/ms,		
gate open):	-	V /
$T_{\rm C} \doteq 75^{\circ}{\rm C}$	2 ,	$V/\mu S$
$Tc = 50^{\circ}C$	8 <u></u>	v / µ 5
Critical $dv/dt \bullet$ (v _D = V _{DROM} , exponential	20 20	V/us
voltage rise, gate open, $Tc = 100$ °C)	30 min 25 tam 40 max	V V
VGTM	20 mm, 35 typ, 40 max	v
$ V_{GM}^{+} - V_{GM}^{-} $	±1 typ, ±5 max	_ "Ă
Істи‡	40 typ, 200 max	<i>µ</i>
Gate Trigger Capacitance $(V_{1}) = 6$ Vdc,	0.1.40.2	иE
$R_{L} = 12 \Omega, T_{C} = 100 ^{\circ}C)$	0.1 to 2	~~
t_{gt} (v _D = V _{DROM} , I _{GT} = 80 mA, t _r = 0.1 μ S, i _T = 10 A peak)	2.2	μS
• For either polarity of main-terminal 2 voltage	(V_{MTZ}) with reference to main	ter-

minal 1. For either polarity of gate voltage (V₆) with reference to main terminal 1.

* For information on the reference point of temperature measurement, see section on Outlines.

▲ When these devices are soldered directly to the heat sink, a 60-90 solder should be used. Exposure time should be just sufficient to cause the solder to flow freely.





6A, 200V 6A, 400V

40485 40486

Si gate-controlled full-wave types used for the control of ac loads in applications such as heating controls, motor controls, light dimmers, and power switching systems. Outline No.7.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinuspidal ac supply voltage at 50/60 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

40485 200	40486 400	v
6		. A
See Rating Chart (Ambient Temr	perature)
100		Á
16		ŵ
0.2	150	. ₩ °C
65 to	100	Ö,
	40485 200 6 See Rating Chart (10 	40485 40486 200 400 6 6 16 6 65 to 150 6 65 to 150 6 225 65

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_c = 25$ °C)

IDROM ($T_J = 100^{\circ}C$, $V_{DROM} = max$ rated value) v_{TM} ($i_T = 30$ A peak) Into (initial principal current = 150 mAdc) Commutating dv/dt ($V_D = V_{DROM}$, $T_{T(RMS)}$	0.1 typ; 4 max 0.2 typ; 4 max m. 1.6 typ; 2.25 max 15 typ; 30 max15 typ; 30 max
= 6 A, commutating di/dt = 3.2 A/ms, gate unenergized at $T_C = 75^{\circ}C$) Critical dv/dt ($V_D = V_{DROM}$, exponential voltage rise $T_C = 100^{\circ}C$)	$ 3 \min; 10 typ V/\mu$
$I_{GT}^{*\ddagger}$ (V _D = 12 Vdc, R _L = 12 Ω):	30 mm, 130 typ 20 mm, 100 typ 4/µ
I* mode, VMT2 positive, VG positive	15 typ; 25 max m/
I- mode, VMT2 positive, V6 negative	25 typ; 40 max m/
III+ mode, VMT2 negative, Vo positive	25 typ; 40 max m/
III- mode, VMT2 negative, VG negative	15 typ; 25 max m/
$V_{GT}^{*\ddagger}$ ($V_D = 12 V dc, R_L = 12 \Omega$)	1 typ; 2.2 max
$V_{GT}^{*\ddagger}$ (V _D = V _{DROM} , R _L = 125 Ω,	
$T_{\rm C} = 100^{\circ}{\rm C}$	0.2 min
t_{gt} (VD = VDROM, IGT = 80 mA, $t_r = 0.1 \ \mu s$,	
$i_T = 10 A$	2.2
θJ-c▲● (steady-state)	4 max °C/V
 For either polarity of main terminal 2 voltage For either polarity of gate voltage (V_i) wir A This characteristic does not apply to types 4 	(V_{MT2}) with reference to main terminal 1 th reference to main terminal 1.

This characteristic does not apply to types 40638 and 40639.
 When soldered directly to heat sink, a 60/40 solder should be used. Case heating time should be a minimum . . . sufficient to allow the solder to flow freely.



40638 40639

6A, 200V 6A, 400V

Si gate-controlled full-wave types used for the control of ac loads in applications such as heating controls, motor controls, light dimmers, and power switching systems. These types have integral heat spreaders. Outline No.59. Types 40638 and 40639 are identical with types 40485 and 40486, respectively, except for the following items:



40629

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal ac supply voltage at 50/60 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

40629

$I_{\rm Tel(MS)}$ (Te = 75°C, conduction angle = 360°)	4	A
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical	ratings at T $_{ m c}~\pm$ 25°C)	
I_{DROM}^* (T _J = 100°C, V_{DROM} = max rated value) Commutating dv/dt* (V_{D} = V_{DROM} , commutat-	0.2 typ; 4 max	mA
ing $dv/dt = 3.2$ A/ms, $transpire and The specified in Rating Chart (Heat Sink Temperature)$	3 min; 10 typ	V/µs °C/W

* For either polarity of main terminal 2 voltage (VMT2) with reference to main terminal 1.







v

Si gate-controlled full-wave ac-switching types used with the RCA-CA3059 integrated-circuit zero-voltage switch as a triggering circuit. Outline No. 7.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal supply voltage at f = 50/60 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

				40725	40726	
VDROM*	(Gate open,	$T_J = -65^{\circ}C$ to	100°C)	200	400	

MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

T_{TRUMS} (Te = 75°C, conduction angle = 360°)6	
Image (1 eveloped primainal valiants)	A
ITSM (I Cycle of principal voltage)	Δ
IGTM1 (1 µS max.)	
Post (1 us max.)	- ú
	<u></u>
——————————————————————————————————————	°C
1L (10's max.)	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings = 25° C)

IDROM $(T_J = 100^{\circ}C)$ V _{TM} $(i_T = 30 A)$ Ho (Gate open, initial principal current	0.1 typ 4 max 1.6 typ; 2.2	0.2 typ 4 max 25 max	mA V
= 150 mÅ dv/dt ($V_D = V_{DROM}$, exponential voltage rise, gate open, $T_C = 100^{\circ}C$) I_{0T} ($V_D = 12$ V, $R_L = 30$ Q):	15 typ; 30 30 min 150 typ	20 min 100 typ	mA V/μs
I* mode. V_{MT2} positive. V_{i1} positive III* mode. V_{MT2} negative. V_{i2} positive $V_{i1}T$ ($V_{11} = 12$ V, $R_{12} = 30$ Ω) $H_{2} = c$ (steady-state) For either polarity of main terminal 2 and	45 ma 45 ma 45 ma 1.5 ma 4 ma	x x x x	mA mA °C/W
* For either polarity of main terminal 2 vol	tage (VMT2) wit	h reference to	o mair

For either polarity of gate voltage (VG) with reference to main terminal 1.

6A, 200V

6A, 400V

Si gate-controlled full-wave ac-switching types used with the RCA-CA3059 integrated-circuit zero-voltage switch as a triggering circuit. Outline No. 25. Types 40727 and 40728 are identical with types 40725 and 40726, respectively, except for the following item:

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings = 25°C)

\$7	(i		40727		40728	
•тм	$(1T \equiv 30 \text{ A})$)		1.8 typ; 2.25 max	·	`

6A, 200V

6A, 400V

Si gate-controlled full-wave ac-switching types used with the RCA-CA3059 integrated-circuit zero-voltage switch as a triggering circuit. Outline No. 26.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal supply voltage at f = 50/60 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

	40729	40730	
V_{DROM}^* (Gate open, $T_J = -65^{\circ}C$ to 100°C)	200	400	v
IT(RMS) (Tc = 75° C, conduction angle = 360°)	6		Á
ITSM (1 cycle of principal voltage)	100		Ā
IGTM [‡] (1 μs max.)	4		Ā
$P_{GM}t$ (1 μs max.)	16		ŵ
PG(AV)	0.2		ŵ
Tsro	-65 to	150	
Tc(onr)		100	~~
	05 10	100	





40729

40730

v

MT2

(2) MT

(ī

C.

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings = 25° C)

I_{DROM} (T _J = 100°C)	0.1 typ 1.2 max	0.2 typ 1.2 max	mA
V_{TM} (ir = 30 A)	1.8 typ; 2.25	max	v
I_{HO} (Gate open, initial principal current -150 mA)		nax	mA
dv/dt (V _D = V _{DROM} , exponential voltage rise, gate open, T _C = 100°C)	30 min 150 typ	20 min 100 typ	V/μs
Int $(V_D = 12 V, R_L = 30 \Omega)$: I mode, V_{MT2} positive, V_G positive III mode, V_{MT2} negative, V_G positive $V_{TT} (V_D = 12 V, R_L = 30 \Omega)$	45 max 45 max 1.5 max		mA mA V
* For either polarity of main terminal 2 vo terminal 1.	oltage (VMT2) with	reference to) main

For either polarity of gate voltage (VG) with reference to main terminal 1.

40775	6A, 200V
40776	6A, 400V

Si gate-controlled full-wave types used for controlsystems application in airborne and ground-support type equipment. Outline No.36. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal supply voltage up to 400 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

V_{DROM}^{*} (T _J = 50 to 100°C) IT(RMS) (T _C = 90°C, conduction angle = 360°C)	40775 200 6	40776 400	V A
ITSM: 1 cycle sinusoidal principal voltage at 400 Hz 1 cycle sinusoidal principal voltage at 60 Hz di/dt ($V_{DM} = V_{DROM}$, IrT = 160 mA, tr = 0.1 μ s)	200 100 150		Α Α Α/μs
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	4 16 0.2 50 to 1	50	A W W °C
Tsti; Tr(opr) Tτ (10 s max)	50 to 1	.00	°Č °C



Thyristors

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_c = 25$ °C)

	-		
IDROM ($T_J = 100^{\circ}$ C, VDROM = max rated value) VTM ($i_T = 21$ A peak)	 0.1 typ; 2 max 1.4 typ; 1.8 max		mA V
$\frac{1}{V_D} = \frac{12}{V_1}$ V	00 t. EF		
Commutating dy/dt (vp = Vprov Ireas) =	 20 typ; 75 max		mA
rated value, gate unenergized, commutating			
di/dt = 21.4 A/ms, Tc = 90°C)	 5 min; 10 typ		V/us
Critical dv/dt ($v_D = V_{DROM}$, exponential voltage			• , , ,
rise, $T_{C} = 100^{\circ}C$	 30 min; 150 typ	<u> </u>	V∕µs
I^{+} mode. Vyra positive Va positive	20 tarns 50 mass		
I- mode, Vura positive, Va positive	 20 typ, 50 max		mA
IIIt mode, Van pogative, Ve positive	 35 typ; 80 max		mA
III- mode, Var negative, VG positive	 35 typ; 80 max		mA
War (W = 12 Md = D	 20 typ; 50 max		mA
v_{GT} ($v_D = 12 v_{dC}$, $R_L = 30 \Omega$)	 1 typ; 2.5 max		
$V GT (VD = V DROM, RL = 125 \Omega, Tc = 100^{\circ}C)$	 0.2 min		v
t_{gt} (VD = VDROM, $I_{GT} = 160$ mA, $t_r = 0.1 \ \mu s$,			
1T = 25 A peak)	 1.6 typ: 2.5 max		#S
HJ-C(steady-state)	 1 max		°C/W
HJ-A (steady-state)	33 max		°C/W
			0/

• For either polarity of main terminal 2 voltage (VMT2) with reference to main terminal 1.

‡ For either polarity of gate voltage (VG) with reference to main terminal 1.

6A, 200V

6A, 400V

40777 40778

40667





Si gate-controlled full-wave types used for controlsystems application in airborne and ground-support type equipment. Outline No.37. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. Types 40777 and 40778 are electrically identical with types 40775 and 40776, respectively.

6A, 450V

Si gate-controlled full wave type used for 240-volt line light-dimmer and resistive load-control applications. It employs an integral heat spreader to provide efficient heat transfer to an external heat sink. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. Outline No.59. This type is identical with type 40664 except

for the following item:

CHARACTERISTICS

Өл-ня, Steady-State



6A, 450V

Si gate-controlled full-wave ac-switching type used with the RCA-CA3059 integrated-circuit zero-voltage switch as a triggering circuit. Outline No. 7.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal supply voltage at f = 50/60 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

VDROM* (Gate open, $T_J = -65^{\circ}C$ to 100°C) IT(RMS) (Tc = 75°C, conduction angle = 360°) ITSM:	450 6	V A
1 cycle of principal voltage at 60 Hz	100	A
1 cycle of principal voltage at 50 Hz	84	A
Icruf (1 μs max.)	4	A
Pomf (1 μs max.)	16	W
PG(AY)	0.2	W

603



MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

Tstg	-65 to 150	°C
T _C (opr)	-65 to 100	
T _L (10 s max.)	225	-C

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings = 25°C)

	0.2 typ; 4 max 1.1 typ; 2.25 max	mA V
dv/dt (V _D = V _{DROM} , exponential voltage rise, gate open, $T_{C} = 100^{\circ}C$)	10 min; 100 typ	V/µs
It rode, V_{MT2} positive, V_G positive It mode, V_{MT2} positive, V_G positive III+ mode, V_{MT2} negative, V_G positive V_{GT} (V_D = 12 V, R_L = 30 \Omega) O_{J-C} (steady-state)	45 max 45 max 1.5 max 4 max	mA mA °C/W
		As master

* For either polarity of main terminal 2 voltage (VMT2) with reference to main terminal 1.

t For either polarity of gate voltage (VG) with reference to main terminal 1.

40724

6A, 450V

Si gate-controlled full-wave ac-switching type used with the RCA-CA3059 integrated-circuit zero-voltage switch as a triggering circuit. Outline No. 59. This type is electrically identical with type 40723.



T MTi

(2

ST2 HR

40664

6A, 450V

Si gate-controlled full wave type used for 240-volt line light-dimmer and resistive load-control applications. Outline No.7.

MAXIMUM	RATINGS	(For res	sinusoidal sistive or in	supply ductive l	voltage oad)	at	50/60	HZ	with
VDROM* (TJ	= -65°C to	100°C)						450	v

$I_{T(RMS)}$ (T _c = 75°C, conduction angle = 360°C)	v	
ITSM: 1 cycle of principal voltage at 60 Hz 1 cycle of principal voltage at 50 Hz IGTM \ddagger (1 μ s max) PGM \ddagger (1 μ s max, IGTM \leq 4 A peak) PG(AY)	100 84 4 16 0.2	A A W W
Tstc▲ TcA(opr) TcA(soldering)	-65 to 150 -65 to 100 225	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_{\rm c}$ = 25°C)

I_{DROM}^* (T _J = 100°C, V _{DROM} = max. rated value) vTM [*] (ir = 10 A peak)	0.2 typ; 4 max 1.1 typ; 2.25	mA V
Critical dv/dt* ($V_D = V_{DROM}$, exponential voltage rise, gate open, $T_C = 100^{\circ}C$)	10 min; 100 typ	V∕µs
Ior* $(V_D = 12 \text{ Vdc}, \text{R}_L = 30 \Omega)$: I* mode, V_{MT2} positive II- mode, V_{MT2} negative. Vo negative Vor* $(V_D = 12 \text{ Vdc}, \text{R}_L = 30 \Omega)$ $\Theta_{I-1} \odot (\text{steady-state})$	15 typ; 50 max 15 typ; 50 max 1 typ; 4 max 4 max	mA mA V °C/W

For either polarity of main terminal 2 voltage (Vsr2) with reference to main terminal 1.
For either polarity of gate voltage (Va) with reference to main terminal 1.
This characteristic does not apply to type 40667.
When soldered directly to the heat sink, a 60/40 solder should be used. Case heating time should be a minimum . . . sufficient to allow the solder to flow freely.



8A, 200V

8A, 400V



Si gate-controlled full-wave types used for the control of ac loads in such applications as motor controls, light dimmers, heating controls, and power-switching systems. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. Outline No.53.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal ac supply voltage at f = 50/60 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

V_{DROM}^* (T _J = -65°C to 100°C) Ir(RMS) (T _C = 80°C, conduction angle = 360°)	40668 200 8	40669 400	V A
1 cycle of principal voltage at 60 Hz 1 cycle of principal voltage at 50 Hz Ior $_{MT}$ (10 μ s max) Po $_{MT}$ (10 μ s max, Ior $_{MT} \leq 4$ A peak) Po(Av) Tsro Tc(opr)	100 85 4 16 0.2 	50	AAAW00
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electr IDROM* (TJ = 100°C, VDROM = max rated	ical ratings at T_c	= 25°C)	Ũ

value)	0.1 typ: 2 max	A
$V_{m} = (i_m - 20 A)$	0.1 typ, 2 max	IIIA
$\mathbf{VTM}^{-} (\mathbf{IT} - \mathbf{JO} \mathbf{A}) = \mathbf{I}$	1.1 typ; 2 max	v
$1H0^{-1}$ (minual principal current = 150 mA dc)	15 typ; 30 max	mA
Commutating dv/dt^* ($v_D = V_{DROM}$, $I_{T(RMS)}$		
= 8 A, commutating di/dt $=$ 4.3 A/ms,		
gate unenergized at $T_{\rm C} = 80^{\circ}{\rm C}$	4 min: 10 typ	V/us
Critical dv/dt^* (vp = Vprom. exponential		•/ μο
voltage rise, gate open, $T_{\rm C} = 100^{\circ}{\rm C}$)	100 min: 300 typ 75 min 250 typ	V/us
$I_{GT}^{*\ddagger}$ (VD = 12 V, R _L = 12 O):		•/#3
I* mode, VMT2 positive, Vg positive	10 typ: 25 max	mΑ
I- mode Vyra positive Vc negative	20 typ: 60 max	mA
Illt mode Vum pegative Va positive	20 typ, 00 max	IIIA
III- mode, Vars negative, Ve positive	30 typ; 60 max	mA
The mode, v MT2 negative, vo negative	15 typ; 25 max	mA
$V_{0T} = 12 V, R_L = 12 \Omega$	1.25 typ; 2.5 max	v
Vot^*I (VD = VDROM, RL = 125 Ω , Tc = 100°C)	0.2 min	v
t_{gt} (VD = VDROM, IGT = 80 mA, $t_r = 0.1 \ \mu s$,		•
$i_T = 10 A peak)$	2.2	""
θJ-C	2.2 max	°C/W
θJ-A	60 max	°C/W
	00 max	C/ W

• For either polarity of main terminal 2 voltage (VMT2) with reference to main terminal 1. ‡ For either polarity of gate voltage (VG) with reference to main terminal 1.

40668



40721 40722

8A, 200V 8A, 400V



Si gate-controlled full-wave ac-switching types used with the RCA-CA3059 integrated-circuit zero-voltage switch as a triggering circuit. Outline No. 53.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal supply voltage at f = 50/60 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

$V_{\rm DR0M}^{*}$ (Gate open, $T_{\rm J} = -65^{\circ}$ C to 100°C)	40721 200	40722 400	v
IT (IT (T) $T_{\rm C} = 80^{\circ}$ C, conduction angle = 360°)	8		A
ITSM:			
1 cycle of principal voltage at 60 Hz	100		A
1 cycle of principal voltage at 50 Hz	85		A
IGTM ⁽⁾ (10 μs max.)	4		A
PGM [†] (10 μs max.)	16		W
PG(AV)	0.2		w
Тята	65 to	150	°C
T _C (opr)	65 to	100	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings = 25°C)

$ I_{DROM} (T_J = 100^{\circ}C) $	0.1 typ; 2 m 1.7 typ; 2 m	ax ax	mA V
I_{H0} (Gate open, initial principal current = 150 mA, $V_P = 12 V$)	15 typ; 30 m	ax	mA
dv/dt (V _D = V _{DROM} , exponential voltage rise, gate open, T _C = 100°C)	100 min 300 typ	75 min 250 typ	V/μs
IGT $(V_D = 12 \text{ V}, \text{ R}_L = 30 \Omega)$:	45 max		mA
III+ mode, VMT2 positive, Vi, positive	45 max		mA
V_{GT} (V _D = 12 V, R _L = 30 Ω)	1.5 max		°C/W
* The state of marine formational O and	altago (Vum) with	reference	to main

* For either polarity of main terminal 2 voltage (V_{MT2}) with reference to terminal 1. δ For either polarity of gate voltage (V_i) with reference to main terminal 1.

2N5567 2N5568

10A, 200V

10A, 400V

Si gate-controlled full-wave types used for control of ac loads in applications such as heating controls, motor controls, arc-welding equipment, light dimmers, and power switching systems. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. Outline No.36.



Thyristors

MAXIMUM	RATINGS	(For	sinusoidal	supply	voltage	at	50/60	Hz	with
		re	sistive or in	ductive	load)				

VDROM* (TJ = -65° C to 100° C) IT(RMS) (Tc = 85° C, conduction angle = 360°)	2N5567 2N5568 200 400 10	V A
1 cycle of principal voltage at 60 Hz 1 cycle of principal voltage at 50 Hz IGTM \ddagger (1 μ s max) d/dt (VDM = VDHOM, IGT = 160 mA.	100 85 4	A A A
$t_r = 0.1 \ \mu s)$ $P_{GMT} (1 \ \mu s \ max, I_{GTM} \le 4 \ A \ peak)$ $P_{G(AV)}$ T_{STG} $T_{C}(Opr)$ $T_T (10 \ s \ max)$	150 16 0.5	A/µs ₩ ₩ °C °C

CHARACTERISTICS

I_{DROM}^* (T _J = 100°C, V _{DROM} = max rated		
value	0.1 typ; 2 max	mA
VTM^* (1T = 14 A peak, Tc = 25°C)	1.35 typ; 1.65 max	v
THO* (initial principal current = 500 mAdc) :		
$Te = 25^{\circ}C$	15 typ; 30 max	mA
$T_{C} = -65^{\circ}C$	75 typ; 200 max	mA
Commutating dv/dt^* (v _D = V _{DROM} , I _{T(RMS)}		
= 10 A, commutating di/dt $= 5.4$ A/ms.		
gate unenergized at $T_{\rm C} = 85^{\circ}{\rm C}$	2 min: 5 typ	V/us
Critical dv/dt^* (v) = VDROM, exponential		• / µ3
voltage rise, $T_{\rm C} = 100^{\circ}{\rm C}$)	30 min: 150 typ: 20 min: 100 typ	V/us
Iet^{*1} (vp = 12 Vdc $B_1 = 30$ O $T_2 = 25^{\circ}C$)	50 mm, 100 typ, 20 mm, 100 typ	ν /μS
It mode Vyra positive Vo positive	10 fam: 25 mos	
I mode, Vyra positive, Vo positive	10 typ, 25 max	mA
IIIt mode Vym negative Ve positive	20 typ, 40 max	mA
III- mode, Vary negative, Vg positive	20 typ; 40 max	mA
$I_{im} = 12 \text{ Mds} P_{im} = 20 \text{ C} P_{im} = 6590 \text{ C}$	10 typ; 25 max	mA
$101 + (VD = 12 VUC, RL = 30 \Omega, 10 = -03 C)$	45	_
I mode, VMT2 positive, VG positive	45 typ; 100 max	mA
I mode, Vare positive, VG negative	80 typ; 150 max	mA
The mode, VMT2 negative, vo positive	80 typ; 150 max	mA
What is the second seco	45 typ; 100 max	mA
$v_{0T} + (v_{0} \equiv 12 \text{ vac}, R_{1} \equiv 30\Omega)$:		
$10 = 25^{\circ} C$	1 typ; 2.5 max	v
$Tc = -65^{\circ}C$	2 typ; 4 max	v
$V_{GT}^{*}I$ ($V_D = V_{DROM}$, $R_L = 125 \Omega$,	•••	
$T_{\rm C} = 100^{\circ}{\rm C}$	0.2 min	v
t_{gt} (VD = VDROM, IGT = 160 mA, 0.1 μ s, tr,		•
$iT = 15$ A peak, $Tc = 25^{\circ}C$)	1.6 tvp: 2.5 max	#S
$\Theta_{J-C}(steady-state)$	1 max	°C/W
		U/ 11

* For either polarity of main terminal 2 voltage (V_{MT2}) with reference to main terminal 1. ‡ For either polarity of gate voltage (V_0) with reference to main terminal 1.





2N5569 2N5570

10A, 200V

10A. 400V

Si gate-controlled full-wave types used for control of ac loads in applications such as heating controls, motor controls, arc-welding equipment, light dimmers, and power switching systems. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. Outline No.37. Types 2N5569 and 2N5570 are identical with types 2N5567 and 2N5568, respectively.

40717 40718

10A, 200V

10A, 400V

Si gate-controlled full-wave ac-switching types used with the RCA-CA3059 integrated-circuit zero-voltage switch as a triggering circuit. Outline No. 36.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal supply voltage at f = 50/60 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

V_{DROM}^* (Gate open, $T_I = -65^{\circ}C$ to 100°C)	40717 200	40718	v
$I_{T(RMS)}$ (T _C = 85°C, conduction angle = 360°)	10		A
ITSM:	100		
1 cycle of principal voltage at 50 Hz	100		1
Icryf (1 us max.)	4		Ā
P_{GM} (1 μ s max.)	16		V
PG(AV)	0.5	150	N N
TSTG	65 to	150	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
T_{L} (10 s max.)	225		°Č

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings = 25° C)

I_{DROM} (T _J = 100°C)	0.1 typ; 2 max 1.35 typ; 1.65 max	mA V
Into (Gate open, initial principal current		
= 500 mA, VD = 12 V. $T_{C} = 25^{\circ}\text{C}$ $T_{a} = -65^{\circ}\text{C}$	15 typ; 30 max 75 typ: 200 max	mA mA
dv/dt (V _D = V _{DROM} , exponential voltage rise, gate open, T _C = 100°C)	300 min 150 typ 100 typ	V/μs
$ I_{GT} (V_D = 12 V, R_L = 30 \Omega) : $ $ I^+ \text{ mode, } V_{MT2} \text{ positive, } V_G \text{ positive } \dots \dots \dots $	45 max	mA
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	45 max 1.5 max 1 max	v °C/W

40719 40720

10A, 200V 10A, 400V

Si gate-controlled full-wave ac-switching types used with the RCA-CA3059 integrated-circuit zero-voltage switch as a triggering circuit. Outline No. 37. Types 40719 and 40720 are electrically identical with types 40717 and 40718, respectively.





MT



10A, 400V

Si gate-controlled full-wave types used for controlsystems application in airborne and ground-support type equipment. Outline No.36. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. Types 40779 and 40780 are identical with types 40775 and 40776, respectively, except for the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_c = 25$ °C) 40779 40780 Commutating dv/dt ($v_D = V_{DROM}$, $I_{TGRMS} = rated$ value, gate unenergized commutating di/dt = 36 A/ms, $T_C = 85^{\circ}C$) _ 5 min; 10 typ V/µs 40781 10A, 200V 40782 10A, 400V MT₂ Si gate-controlled full-wave types used for controlsystems application in airborne and ground-support type equipment. Outline No.37. See Mounting Hardware 0 for desired mounting arrangement. Types 40781 and 40782 are identical with types 40775 and 40776, re-MT spectively, except for the following items: CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_{c} = 25^{\circ}$ C) 40781 40782 Commutating dv/dt ($v_D = V_{DROM}$, $I_{T(RMS)} =$ rated value, gate unenergized, commutating di/dt = 36 A/ms, $T_C = 85^{\circ}C$) 5 min; 10 typ V/µs 40799 200V-10A, 600V 40801 MT₂ Si gate-controlled full-wave types used for control of ac loads in applications such as heating controls, motor controls, arc-welding equipment, light dimmers, and power switching systems. Outline No.71. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. 12 MT Types 40799, 40780, and 40801, are identical with types 2N5567, 2N5568, and 40795, respectively, except for the following item: CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_c = 25$ °C) 40799 40800 40801 OJ-III (steady-state) 1.1 max °C/W 40795 10A, 600V MT₂ Si gate-controlled full-wave type used for control of ac loads in applications such as heating controls, motor

controls, arc-welding equipment, light dimmers, and power switching systems. Outline No.36. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 2N5567 except for the following items:

40779

40780



2 MT

MT₂

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal supply voltage at 50/60 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

 V_{DROM} (T_J = -65 to 100°C)

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_c = 25^{\circ}C$)

Critical dv/dtt (vD = VDROM, exponential voltage rise, $T_{C} = 100^{\circ}C$) 10 min; 75 typ V/µs

f For either polarity of main terminal 2 voltage (VMT2) with reference to main terminal 1.

40796

10A. 600V

Si gate-controlled full-wave type used for control of ac loads in applications such as heating controls, motor controls, arc-welding equipment, light dimmers, and power switching systems. Outline No.37. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 2N5567 except for the following items:

resistive or inductive load) V_{DROM} (T_J = -65 to 100°C) CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_c = 25$ °C)

Critical dv/dt (vp = Vprom, exponential voltage rise, $T_{C} = 100^{\circ}C$

10 min: 75 typ V/µs ‡ For either polarity of main terminal 2 voltage (VMT2) with reference to main terminal 1.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal supply voltage at 50/60 Hz with

2N5571 2N5572

15A, 200V

15A. 400V

Si gate-controlled full-wave types used for control of ac loads in applications such as heating controls, motor controls, arc-welding equipment, light dimmers, and power switching systems. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. Outline No.36. For gate characteristics curves, refer to types 2N5567 and 2N5568.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal supply voltage at 50/60 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	2N5571 200 15 85 150 4 0.5	2N5572 400	VA AA A/μs ₩₩°°°°°
CHARACTERISTICS			Ũ



ν

600

MT2

2

MT₁

600

(2

MT

v
CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

I_{HO}^* (initial principal current = 500 mAdc): Tc = 25°C	20 typ; 75 max	mA
$T_{\rm C} = -65^{\circ} {\rm C}$	75 typ; 300 max	mA
Commutating dv/dt* (vp = Vprom, IT (RMS) =	•••	
gate unenergized at $T_c = 80^{\circ}C$)	2 min; 10 typ	V/µs
Critical dv/dt^* (vb = Vbrow, exponential voltage, gate open, Tc = 100°C)	30 min; 150 typ 20 min; 100 typ	V/µs
Iar^{*1} (vp = 12 Vdc, R _L = 30 O, Tc = 25°C):		
It mode, Vwrs positive, Vc positive	20 typ; 50 max	mA
I- mode, VMT2 positive, Vg negative	35 typ; 80 max	mA
III+ mode, VMT2 negative, Vg positive	35 typ; 80 max	mA
III- mode, VMT2 negative, VG negative	20 typ; 50 max	mA
$I_{GT}^{*}t$ (vp = 12 Vdc, $R_L = 30 \Omega$, $T_C = -65^{\circ}C$):	• • •	
I ⁺ mode, V _{MT2} positive, V _G positive	75 typ; 150 max	mA
I- mode, VMT2 positive, Vo negative	100 typ; 200 max	mA
III+ mode, VMT2 negative, Vg positive	100 typ; 200 max	mA
III- mode, VMT2 negative, VG negative	75 typ; 150 max	mA
VgT*1:	•••	
$v_D = 12$ Vdc, $R_L = 30$ Ω , $Tc = 25^{\circ}C$	1 typ; 2.5 max	v
$v_D = 12 \text{ Vdc}, R_L = 30 \Omega, T_C = -65^{\circ}C \dots$	2 typ; 4 max	v
$v_D = V_{DROM}, R_L = 125 \Omega, T_C = 100^{\circ}C$	0.2 min	v
t_{gt} (vd = Vdrom, Igt = 160 mA, $t_r = 0.1 \ \mu s$,		
ir = 25 A peak, $Tc = 25$ °C)	1.6 typ; 2.5 max	μs
θ _J -c(steady-state)	1 max	°C/W

* For either polarity of main terminal 2 voltage (V_{MT2}) with reference to main terminal 1. ‡ For either polarity of gate voltage (V_G) with reference to main terminal 1.



15A, 200V 15A, 400V

2N5573 2N5574



Si gate-controlled full-wave types used for control of ac loads in applications such as heating controls, motor controls, arc-welding equipment, light dimmers, and power switching systems. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. Outline No.37. Types 2N5573 and 2N5574 are identical with types 2N5571 and 2N5572, respectively.

40575 40576

15A, 200V

15A, 400V

Si gate-controlled full-wave types used for the control of ac loads in applications such as space heater, oven, and furnace controls. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. JEDEC TO-66, Outline No.25.



MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal supply voltage at 50/60 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

	40575	40576	
V_{DROM}^* (T _J = -40°C to 100°C)	200	400	v
IT(RMS) (Tc = 70° C, conduction angle of 360°)	15		A
ITSM (1 cycle sinusoidal principal voltage)	100		A
IGTM [‡] (2 μs max.)	1		A
PGM (2 μ s max, IGTM \leq 1 A peak)	20		W
PG(AV)	0.45		w
Тята	40 to 1	150	°C
Tc(opr)	40 to 2	100	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_c = 25$ °C)

IDROM [*] (T _J = 100°C, V _{DROM} = max rated value) v_{TM}^* (i _T = 30 A peak) u_{10}° (initial principal current = 150 mAdc)	0.2 typ; 4 max mA 1.6 typ; 2 maxV(peak) 15 typ; 60 max mA(dc)
Commutating dv/dt^* (vp = Vprom,	
$I_{T(RMS)} = 15$ A, commutating di/dt = 8A/ms,	•
gate unenergized at $T_{\rm C} = 70^{\circ}$ C)	10 V/µs
Critical dv/dt^* (vp = Vprom, exponential	
voltage rise, $T_{\rm C} = 100^{\circ}{\rm C}$)	40 V/μs
$I_{GT} = 12 \Omega$;	
It mode, VMT2 positive, Vg positive	15 typ; 30 max mA (dc)
I mode, VMT2 positive, VG negative	35 typ; 80 max mA (dc)
III- mode, VMT2 negative, VG positive	35 typ; 80 max mA(dc)
Var* \dagger (vp = 6 Vdc B ₁ = 12 O)	15 typ; 30 max mA(dc)
V_{0T}^{*1} (V) = V Roy R ₁ = 125 O To - 100°C)	- 1 typ; 2.5 max $-$ V(dc)
t_{et} (VD = VDBOM, IGT = 160 mA, t_{r} = 0.1 µs	V(dc)
$i\tau = 25 \text{ A peak}$	3
θι-с	13 max °C/W
	V.V mus C/W

* For either polarity of main terminal 2 voltage (V_{MT2}) with reference to main terminal 1. ‡ For either polarity of gate voltage (V_G) with reference to main terminal 1.



92LM-1349T1



92LS-2138T



MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal supply voltage at f = 50/60 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

$V_{\rm DROM}*$ (Gate open, $T_{\rm J}=-65^{\circ}C$ to $100^{\circ}C)$ $I_{\rm T(RM8)}$ (Tc = 80°C, conduction angle = 360°)	40711 200 15	40712 400 V A
ITSN: 1 cycle of principal voltage at 60 Hz 1 cycle of principal voltage at 50 Hz	$\begin{array}{c c} & 100 \\ \hline & 85 \\ \hline & 4 \\ \hline & 16 \\ \hline & 0.5 \\ \hline & -65 to 150 \\ \hline & -65 to 100 \\ \hline & 205 \\ \hline \end{array}$	A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrica	I ratings = 25° C)	
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	0.2 typ; 2 max 1.4 typ; 1.8 max	mA V
$T_{C} = 25^{\circ}C$ $T_{C} = -65^{\circ}C$	20 typ; 75 max	mA
dv/dt (V _D = V _{DROM} , exponential voltage rise, gate open, T _C = 100°C)	30 min 150 typ 1	20 min 00 typ V/μs
I* mode, V_{MT2} positive, VG positive III* mode, V_{MT2} negative, VG positive	45 max 45 max 1 5 max	mA mA
Θ_{J-C} (steady-state)	1 max	°C/W
* For either polarity of main terminal 2 vol terminal 1. I For either polarity of gate voltage (Vg) with	ltage (VMT2) with ref reference to main terr	erence to main ninal 1.

40713 40714

15A, 200V

15A. 400V

Si gate-controlled full-wave ac-switching types used with the RCA-CA3059 integrated-circuit zero-voltage switch as a triggering circuit. Outline No. 37. Types 40713 and 40714 are electrically identical with types 40711 and 40712, respectively.

40715 40716

15A, 200V

15A. 400V

Si gate-controlled full-wave ac-switching types used with the RCA-CA3059 integrated-circuit zero-voltage switch as a triggering circuit. Outline No. 25.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinuspidal supply voltage at f = 50/60 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

V_{DROM}^{*} (Gate open, $T_J = -40^{\circ}C$ to $100^{\circ}C$) $T_{T(RMS)}$ ($T_C = 70^{\circ}C$, conduction angle = 360^{\circ})	40715 200 15	40716 400 V A
ITSM: 1 cycle of principal voltage at 60 Hz 1 cycle of principal voltage at 50 Hz LGTM‡ (1 μs max.)	100 85 4	A A A
PGMI (1 μs max.) PG(AV)	16 0.45 40 to 150 40 to 100	vo ****
TL`(10' s max.) CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrica	1 ratings = 25°C)	°C
$ \begin{array}{l} I_{\text{DROM}} (T_J = 100^{\circ}\text{C}) \\ V_{\text{TM}} (i_T = 30 \text{ A}) \end{array} $	0.2 typ; 4 max 1.6 typ; 2 max	mA

Ino (Gate open, initial principal current = 150 mA)	15 typ; 60 max	mA
dv/dt (V _D = V _{DROM} , exponential voltage rise,	30 min 20 min	V/μs
gate open, $T_{\rm C} \equiv 100^{\circ}{\rm C}$	150 typ 100 typ	
$1GT (VD = 12 V, RL = 30 \Omega)$	45 max	mA
It mode, VMT2 positive, VG positive	45 max	mA
V_{cm} (Vp = 12 V B_r = 30 O)	15 max	v
θ_{1-0}	1.3 max	°C/Ŵ
	14 (77) 141 - 6	A

* For either polarity of main terminal 2 voltage (VMT2) with reference to main terminal 1. \ddagger For either polarity of gate voltage (V_G) with reference to main terminal 1.



15A, 200V

15A, 400V

Si gate-controlled full-wave types used for controlsystems application in airborne and ground-support type equipment. Outline No.36. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. Types 40783 and 40784 are identical with types 40775 and 40776, respectively, except for the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_c = 25$ °C) 40783 40784





мτ.

V/µs

15A, 200V

15A, 400V

Si gate-controlled full-wave types used for controlsystems application in airborne and ground-support type equipment. Outline No.37. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. Types 40785 and 40786 are identical with types 40775 and 40776, respectively, except for the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_c = 25$ °C) 40786 40785

Commutating dv/dt ($v_D = V_{DROM}$, IT(RMS) = rated value, gate unenergized, commutating di/dt = 53.3 A/ms, $Tc = 80^{\circ}C$) ____ 5 min; 10 typ .

> 15A, 200V-40804 Si gate-controlled full-wave types used for control of ac loads in applications such as heating controls, motor controls, arc-welding equipment, light dimmers, and power switching systems. Outline No.71. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

Types 40802, 40803, and 40804 are identical with types 2N5571, 2N5572, and 40797, respectively, except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinuspidal supply voltage at 50/60 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

40802 40803 40804 $I_{T(RMS)}$ (conduction angle = 360°, $T_{C} = 75^{\circ}C$) 15 А CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_c = 25$ °C) Commutating dv/dt[‡] (v_D = V_{DROM}, I_{T(RMS}) = 15 A, commutating di/dt = ·8 A/ms, gate unenergized, T_C = 75°C) _ 2 min; 10 typ _

 $\Theta_{J-IH}(steady-state)$ ‡ For either polarity of main terminal 2 voltage (VMT2) with reference to main terminal 1.

15A, 600V

Si gate-controlled full-wave type used for control of ac loads in applications such as heating controls, motor controls, arc-welding equipment, light dimmers, and power switching systems. Outline No.36. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 2N5571 except for the following items:

1.1 max

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinuspidal supply voltage at 50/60 Hz with resistive pr inductive load)

 V_{DROM} (T_J = -65 to 100°C) 600

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_c = 25$ °C) Critical dv/dtt ($v_D = V_{DROM}$, exponential voltage rise, T_C = 100°C) 10 min; 75 typ

‡ For either polarity of main terminal 2 voltage (VMT2) with reference to main terminal 1.



MT2









40802-

40797

v

V/µs

V/µs

40798

15A, 600V

Si gate-controlled full-wave type used for control of ac loads in applications such as heating controls, motor controls, arc-welding equipment, light dimmers, and power switching systems. Outline No.37. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 2N5571 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal supply voltage at 50/60 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

 V_{DROM} (T_J = -65 to 100°C)

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_c = 25$ °C)

Critical dv/dtt (v_D = V_{DROM}, exponential voltage rise, T_C = 100°C)

10 min; 75 typ V/µs \ddagger For either polarity of main terminal 2 voltage (V_{MT2}) with reference to main terminal 1.

40660 40661

30A, 200V

30A, 400V

Si gate-controlled full-wave types used for the control of ac loads in applications such as heating controls. motor controls, arc welding equipment, light dimmers, power switching systems, air-conditioning and photocopying equipment. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. Outline No.36.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal supply voltage at 50/60 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

V_{DROM^*} (T _J = -65°C to 100°C) IT(RMS) (T _C = 65°C, conduction angle = 360°)	40660 200 	40661 400	VA
ITSM:			
1 cycle of principal voltage at 60 Hz 1 cycle of principal voltage at 50 Hz di/dt (vyy = Vprow, Icr = 200 mA.	300 265		A A
$t_r = 0.1 \ \mu s$ $I_{crw} = 0.1 \ \mu s$ I	100 12 40 0.75		A/µs A W W





600

v

MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

Tsrg	40660	-65 to 150	40661 °C
10(0pr)	·	-03 10 100	U
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electri	cal ratings	at $T_c = 2$	5°C)
IDROM [*] (T _J = 100°С, VDROM = max rated value) vrM [*] (ir = 100 A peak) Ho [*] (initial principal current = 150 mAdc) Commutating dv(dt [*] (wp — Vngow, Jrgws)	0.2 2.1 25	typ; 4 max typ; 2.5 max typ; 60 max	mA mA
= 30 A, commutating di/dt = 16 A/ms, gate unenergized at $T_c = 65^{\circ}C$) Critical dv/dt* ($v_D = V_{DROM}$, exponential voltage rise, $T_c = 100^{\circ}C$)	3 40 min; 200 f	min; 20 typ _ typ 25 min;	V/μs 150 typ V/μs
Igr i (vp = 12 Vdc, R _L = 12 Ω): I* mode, V _{MT2} positive, V _G positive I- mode, V _{MT2} positive, V _G positive III* mode, V _{MT2} negative, V _G positive III- mode, V _{MT2} negative, V _G positive Vgr i (vp = 12 Vdc, R _L = 12 Ω)	15 30 40 20	typ; 50 max _ typ; 80 max _ typ; 80 max _ typ; 80 max _ typ; 50 max _	mA mA mA
$ \begin{array}{l} V_{\text{OT}}^{*\ddagger} (v_{\text{D}} = V_{\text{DROM}}, R_{\text{L}} = 125 \ \Omega, \\ T_{\text{C}} = 100^{\circ}\text{C}) \\ t_{\text{gt}} (v_{\text{D}} = V_{\text{DROM}}, I_{\text{GT}} = 120 \ \text{mA}, t_{\text{r}} = \\ \end{array} $		0.2 min	v
0.1 μ s, i π = 43 A peak) θ_{J-C} (steady-state)		0.8 max	°C/₩
* For either polarity of main terminal 2 voltage	(Vwra) with	reference to	main terminal 1.

* For either polarity of main terminal 2 voltage (V_{MT2}) with reference to main terminal 1. ‡ For either polarity of gate voltage (V_0) with reference to main terminal 1.

30A, 200V

30A, 400V

40662 40663



Si gate-controlled full wave types used for the control of ac loads in applications such as heating controls, motor controls, arc-welding equipment, light dimmers, and power switching system. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. Outline No.37. Types 40662 and 40663 are identical with types 40660 and 40661 respectively, except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal supply voltage at 50/60 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

					40662		40663	
IT(RMS)	$(T_{C} = 60^{\circ}C)$	conduction	angle =	360°)		30		A

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_c = 25$ °C)

 Commutating dv/dt*
 (vD = VDROM, IT(RMS)

 = 30 A, commutating di/dt = 16 A/ms, gate
 3 min; 20 typ ____

 θJ-c(steady-state)
 0.9 max _____

• For either polarity of main terminal 2 voltage (VMT2) with reference to main terminal 1.



30A, 200V

30A, 400V

40705 40706

Si gate-controlled full-wave ac-switching types used with the RCA-CA3059 integrated-circuit zero-voltage switch as a triggering circuit. Outline No. 36.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal supply voltage at f = 50/60 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

V_{DROM}^* (Gate open, $T_I = -50^{\circ}C$ to $100^{\circ}C$)	40705 200	40706 400	v
$I_{T(RMS)}$ (Tc = 65°C, conduction angle = 360°)	30		Α
ITSM:			
1 cycle of principal voltage at 60 Hz	300		A
1 cycle of principal voltage at 50 Hz	265		A
IGTMT (1 µs max.)	12		A
PGMI (1 µs max.)	40		w
Parky	0.75		w
Тята	65 to 15	0	°C
Tc(opr)	-65 to 10	0	°C
T_L (10 s max.)	225		°Č

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings = 25° C)

$ I_{DROM} (T_J = 100^{\circ}C) V_{TM} (i_T = 100 A) $	0.2 typ; 4 max 2.1 typ; 2.5 max	mA V
I_{HO} (Gate open, initial principal current = 150 mA, $V_D = 12$ V)	25 typ; 60 max	mA
dv/dt ($V_D = V_{DROM}$, exponential voltage rise, gate open, $T_C = 100^{\circ}C$)	40 min 25 min 200 typ 150 typ	V∕µs
IGT ($V_D = 12$ V, R _L = 30 Ω): I ⁺ mode, V_{MT2} positive, V _G positive	45 max	mA
III+ mode, V_{MT2} negative, V_G positive	45 max	W NA
* For either polarity of main terminal 2 vo	Itage (V_{MT2}) with reference	to main

For either polarity of gate voltage (Vo) with reference to main terminal 1.

40707 40708

30A, 200V

30A, 400V

Si gate-controlled full-wave ac-switching types used with the RCA-CA3059 integrated-circuit zero-voltage switch as a triggering circuit. Outline No. 37. Types 40707 and 40708 are identical with types 40705 and 40706, respectively, except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal supply voltage at f = 50/60 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

40805-40807

Si gate-controlled full-wave types used for the control of ac loads in applications such as heating controls, motor controls, arc-welding equipment, light dimmers, power switching systems, air-conditioning and photocopying equipment. Outline No.71. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. Types 40805, 40601



618

40806 and 40807 are identical with types 40660, 40661, and 40671, respectively, except for the following items:



MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal supp resistive or inductiv	ly voltage re load)	at f =	50/60 Hz	with
$I_{T(RMS)}$ (Tc = 55°C)	40805	40806 30	40807	A
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical Commutating dv/dt (vD = VDROM, IT(RMS) = 30 A, commutating di/dt = 16 A/ms, gate unenergized, Tc = 55°C)	ratings a	t T _c $=$ 25	i°C) 	V/µs
MI2 30A, 600	v		40671	

MT 2

MT.

Si gate-controlled full-wave type used for the control of ac loads in applications such as heating controls, motor controls, arc welding equipment, industrial lighting control, power switching systems, air-conditioning and photocopying equipment. Outline No.36. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This

type is identical with type 40660 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal supply voltage at f = 50/60 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

VDROM (T1 ==	—65 to	100	°C)		600
---------	-------	--------	-----	-----	--	-----

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_{\rm c}$ = 25°C)

Critical dv/dt ($v_D = V_{DROM}$, exponential voltage rise, T_C = 100°C)

30A, 600V

Si gate-controlled full-wave type used for control of ac loads in applications such as heating controls, motor controls, arc welding equipment, industrial lighting control, power switching systems, air-conditioning and photocopying equipment. Outline No.37. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type

is identical with type 40662 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM	RATINGS	(For sinusoidal	supply voltage	at	f =	50/60	Hz	with
		resistive or ind	uctive load)					
VDDAW (Tr	65 to 1	00°C)				600	1	v

CHARACTERISTICS

 $\begin{array}{l} \text{Critical } dv/dt \ (v_D = V_{DROM}, \text{ exponential voltage rise}, \\ T_C = 100^\circ C) \end{array}$

20 min; 100 typ

40709

20 min; 100 typ

40672





30A, 600V

Si gate-controlled full-wave ac-switching type used with the RCA-CA3059 integrated-circuit zero-voltage switch as a triggering circuit. Outline No. 36.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal supply voltage at f = 50/60 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

 $V_{DROM}*$ (Gate open, $T_J=-50^\circ C$ to $100^\circ C)$ $I_{T(RMS)}$ (T_C = 65°C, conduction angle = 360°)

v

V/us

MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

ITSM: 1 cycle of principal voltage at 60 Hz 1 cycle of principal voltage at 50 Hz IoTM‡ (1 µs max.) PGM\$ (1 µs max.) PG(AY) TST0 Tc(Opr) TL (10 s max.)	$\begin{array}{r} 300\\ 265\\ 12\\ 40\\ 0.75\\ -65\ to\ 150\\ -65\ to\ 100\\ 225\end{array}$	A A A W W V C C C
--	--	---

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings = 25°C)

$\begin{array}{l} \text{Idrom} & (T_J = 100^{\circ}\text{C}) \\ \text{VTM} & (iT = 100^{\circ}\text{A}) \end{array}$	0.2 typ; 4 max	mA		
Ino (Gate open, initial principal current	2.1 typ, 2.5 max	v		
$= 150 \text{ mA}, \text{ V}_{\text{P}} = 12 \text{ V}$	25 typ; 60 max	mA		
dv/dt ($V_D = V_{DROM}$, exponential voltage rise,				
gate open, $T_C = 100^{\circ}C$	20 min; 100 typ	V/µs		
$1GT (VD = 12 V, RL = 30 \Omega)$:				
1 ⁺ mode, VMT2 positive, V _G positive	45 max	mA		
III+ mode, VMT2 negative. Vg positive	45 max	mA		
VGT $(V_D = 12 V, R_L = 30 \Omega)$	1.5 max	w v		
* For either polarity of main terminal 2 voltage	(Vurs) with reference	to main		

terminal 1. For either polarity of gate voltage (V_0) with reference to main terminal 1.

40710

TRIAC

Si gate-controlled full-wave ac-switching type used with the RCA-CA3059 integrated-circuit zero-voltage switch as a triggering circuit. Outline No. 37. This type is identical with type 40709 except for the following item:

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal supply voltage at f = 50/60 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

 $I_{T(RMS)}$ (Tc = 60°C, conduction angle = 360°)

2N5441-2N5443

40A, 200V---600V

Si gate-controlled full-wave types used for the control of ac loads in applications such as heating controls, motor controls, arc welding equipment, light dimmers, power switching systems, air-conditioning, and photocopying equipment. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. Outline No.36.

MAXIMUM	RATINGS	(For	sinusoidal	supply	voltage	at	50/60	Ηz	with
		res	sistive or in	ductive	load)				

VDROM [•] ($T_J = -50$ to 110° C)	2N5441 200	2N5442 400	2N5443 600	v
= 360°C) ITSM (1 cycle of sinusoidal principal		40		Α
60 Hz 50 Hz di/dt (Vpv = Vprov for = 200 mA		300		A A
$\begin{array}{l} \text{tr} = 0.1 \ \mu\text{s} \\ \text{fr} = 0.1 \ \mu\text{s} \ \text{fr} = 0.1 \ \mu\text{s} \ \text{fr} = 0.1 \ \mu\text{s} \ \text{fr} = 0.1 \ \mu\text{s} \ \text{fr} = 0.1 \ \mu\text{s} \ \text{fr} = 0.1 \ \mu\text{s} \ \text{fr} = 0.1 \ \mu\text{s} \ \text{fr} = 0.1 \ \mu\text{s} \ \text{fr} = 0.1 \ \mu\text{s} \ \text{fr} = 0.1 \ \mu\text{s} \ \text{fr} = 0.1 \ \mu$		-100 -12 -12 -12		A/µs A
PG(AV)		-65 to 150 -65 to 110 -65 to 110 -65 to 110 -65 to 110 -275		ာင် သိုင်



А

30

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_c = 25$ °C)

IDROM• (T _J = 110°C, V _{DROM} = max rated value) V_{TM} • (ir = 100 A peak) V_{TM} • (ir = 56 A peak) H_{10} • (initial principal current = 500 mAdc, v_{D} = 12 V):	0.2 typ; 4 max 1.7 typ; 2 max 1.5 typ; 1.85 max	mA V V
$T_{C} = 25^{\circ}C$ $T_{C} = -65^{\circ}C$ Commutating dv/dt• (vp = VpRom. IT(RMS)	25 typ; 60 max 100 max	mA mA
= 40 A, commutating di/dt = 22 A/ms, gate unenergized, $T_C = 70^{\circ}C$) Critical dv/dt ($v_D = V_{DROM}$, exponential	5 min; 30 typ	V∕µs
voltage rise, $T_c = 110^{\circ}C$) Igr Φ ‡ ($v_D = 12$ Vdc, $R_L = 30 \Omega$):	50 min; 30 min; 20 min; 200 typ 150 typ 100 typ	V∕µs
I + mode, VMT2 positive, Va positive I - mode, VMT2 positive, Va negative III + mode, VMT2 negative, Va positive III - mode, VMT2 negative, Va negative	15 typ; 50 max 30 typ; 80 max 40 typ; 80 max 20 typ; 50 max	mA mA mA
Iar \mathbf{f} ($\mathbf{v}_{D} = 12$ Vdc, $\mathbf{R}_{L} = 30$ Ω, $\mathbf{T}_{C} = -65^{\circ}$ C): I + mode, \mathbf{V}_{MT2} positive, \mathbf{V}_{G} positive I - mode, \mathbf{V}_{MT2} positive, \mathbf{V}_{G} negative III + mode, \mathbf{V}_{MT2} negative, \mathbf{V}_{G} positive III - mode, \mathbf{V}_{MT2} negative, \mathbf{V}_{G} positive	125 max 240 max 240 max	mA mA mA
$V_{dr} \Phi_{t}^{-}$ (vD = 12 Vdc, RL = 30Ω): $T_{c} = 25^{\circ}C$ $T_{c} = -65^{\circ}C$ $v_{D} = V_{DROM}$, RL = 125 Ω, $T_{c} = 110^{\circ}C$	1.35 typ; 2.5 max 1.8 typ; 3.4 max 0.2 min	MA V V V
t_{gt} (VD = VDROM, IGT = 200 mA, $t_r = 0.1 \ \mu$ s, $i_T = 60 \ A \ peak$) $\Theta_J - c(steady-state)$	1.7 typ; 3 max 0.8 max	°C∕W

• For either polarity of main terminal 2 voltage (VMT2) with reference to main terminal 1. ‡ For either polarity of gate voltage (V0) with reference to main terminal 1.





Si gate-controlled full-wave types used for the control of ac loads in applications such as heating controls, motor controls, arc welding equipment, light dimmers, power switching systems, air-conditioning and photocopying equipment. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. Outline No.37. Types

2N5444-

2N5446

2N5444, 2N5445, and 2N5446 are identical with types 2N5441, 2N5442, and 2N5443 respectively, except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal supply voltage at 50/60 Hz with resistive or inductive load) 2N5445 2N5446 2N5444 IT(RMS) (Tc = 65° C, conduction angle = 360°) 40 _ А CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_0 = 25$ °C) _____ 5 min; 30 typ ____ ____ 0.9 max ____ θJ-0 • For either polarity of main terminal 2 voltage (VMT2) with reference to main terminal 1.

40688-40690

200V 600V

Si gate-controlled full-wave types used for the control of ac loads in applications such as heating controls. motor controls, arc welding equipment, light dimmers, power switching systems, air conditioning and photocopying equipment. Outline No.71. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. Types 40688,

MT 40689, and 40690 are identical with types 2N5441, 2N5542, and 2N5443, respectively, except for the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_0 = 25$ °C)

	40688	40689	40690
Commutating dv/dt [‡] (v _D = V _{DROM} , I _{T(RMS)} =			
40 A, commutating di/dt = 22 A/ms, gate			
unenergized. $T_{\rm C} = 60^{\circ}{\rm C}$		5 min: 30 typ	
OJ-IN (steady-state)		1 max 🛄	

t For either polarity of main terminal 2 voltage (VMT2) with reference to main terminal 1.

40699-40701

40A,

Si gate-controlled full-wave ac-switching types used with the RCA-CA3059 integrated-circuit zero-voltage switch as a triggering circuit. Outline No. 36.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal supply voltage at f = 50/60 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

V_{DROM}^* (Gate open, $T_J = -50^{\circ}C$ to $110^{\circ}C$) Ir(RMS) (Tc = 70°C, conduction angle = 360°)	40699 200	40700 400 40	40701 600	V A
ITSM: 1 cycle of principal voltage at 60 Hz				A
I ormit (1 μs max.)				A W
Ро(АУ) Тято		_ 0.75 65 to 150 _		w °C
T_{L} (10 s max.)		_ 225		۰c
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrica	I ratings	= 25°C)		

Iрвом (T_J = 110°C) 0.2 typ; 4 max _____ mA VTM: ir = 100 A 1.7 typ: 2 max . v 56 A 1.5 typ; 1.85 max _____ іт 💳



CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

Into (Gate open, initial principal current $=$		
$= 500 \text{ mA}, \text{ V}_{\text{D}} = 12 \text{ V}$:		
$T_{c} = 25^{\circ}C$	25 typ; 60 max	mA
$T_0 = -65^{\circ}C$	100 max	mA
dv/dt ($V_D = V_{DROM}$, exponential voltage rise,	50 min 30 min 20 min	V/us
gate open, $Tc = 110^{\circ}C$)	200 typ 150 typ 100 typ	.,,
I_{OT} (V _D = 12 V, R _L = 30 Ω):		-
It mode, VMT2 positive, VG positive	45 max	mA
III+ mode, V _{MT2} negative, V _G positive	45 max	mA
Vor $(V_D = 12 V, R_L = 30 \Omega)$	1.5 max	<u>v</u>
Θ_{J-C} (steady-state)	0.8 max	°C/W
• For either polarity of main terminal 2 vol	tage (VMT2) with reference to	main

terminal 1. \pm For either polarity of gate voltage (V_G) with reference to main terminal 1.

40A, 200V---600V

40702-40704



Si gate-controlled full-wave ac-switching types used with the RCA-CA3059 integrated-circuit zero-voltage switch as a triggering circuit. Outline No. 37. Types 40702, 40703, and 40704 are identical with types 40699, 40700, and 40701 respectively, except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal supply voltage at f = 50/60 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

$I_{T(RMS)}$ (Tc = 65°C, conduction angle = 360°)	40702	40703 40	40704	Α
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrica	l ratings	= 25°C)		
θJ-c (steady-state)		0.9 max		°C/W

Silicon Controlled Rectifiers



5A. 700V

2N4101 2N4102

2A, 700V 2N4102 Si all-diffused three-junction types for use in powercontrol and power-switching applications. 2N4101:

control and power-switching applications. 2N4101: JEDEC TO-66, Outline No.25. 2N4102: JEDEC TO-8, Outline No.10. For type 2N4101, see Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. For rating chart for type 2N4102, refer to type 2N3528. These

RCA Transistor, Thyristor, & Diode Manual

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinuspidal ac sup with resistive or indu	ply voltage (ctive load)	at f	= 50 to 4	400 Hz
VRSOM	2N4101	700 600	2N4102	V V
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	<u>3.2</u> 5	100	1.3 2	A A A A
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	ratings at 0.4 ty 0.2 ty	T _C = 00 min /p;4 n /p;2 n	= 25°C)	V mA mA °C/W

40810-40813

2.5A, 100V-600V

Si all-diffused types used in capacitor-discharge ignition circuits, high-voltage generators, and power switching and control applications. JEDEC TO-5 (modified), Outline No. 60.

M	AX	IM	UM	RA	TIN	GS

			LOOID	10010	
V RSOM	150 150 100	250 250 200 200	500 500 400	700 700 600	
ITSN (1 cycle of principal voltage)	100	200	400	000	•
17xx (1 cycle of pintpar voltage): 60 Hz, sinusoidal			50 40 2.5 1.5 10 2		A A A W W
		40 t	0 150		°C
TL (10 s max)		40 t 2	o 100 25		°C °C

40810

40811

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_c = 25^{\circ}C$)

f_{DOM} (VDO = VDROM, Tc = 100°C)	0.2 typ: 1.5 max	mA
IRROM (VRO = VRROM, $Tc = 100^{\circ}C$)	0.1 typ: 1.5 max	mA
VT (iT = 30 A)	2.6 typ: 3.5 max	v
IGT $(V_D = 12 \text{ Vdc}, R_L = 30 \Omega)$	5 typ: 15 max	mÅ
Ver $(V_P = 12 \text{ Vdc}, R_L = 30 \Omega)$	0.9 typ: 2 max	v
іпо	9 typ: 20 max	mÅ
dv/dt	10 min: 200 typ 10 min: 100 typ	V/us
t_{et} (Vp = Vprov. Icr = 200 mA t_{e} = 0.1 ms	10 mm, 200 typ 10 mm, 100 typ	*/μ3
$i_{T} = 4.5 \text{ A}$	0.5 typ: 2 may	
to $(V_{DX} = V_{DROY}, I_{CT} = 200 \text{ mA at t. if } - 2 \text{ A})$	0.0 typ, 2 max	μs
at $t_a = 50 \ \mu s = -di/dt = -30 \ A/\mu s = dx/dt =$		
$20 V/uc T_0 = 75^{\circ}C$	15 tarms 50 magaz	_
$20 \text{v/}\mu\text{s}, 10 = 13 \text{C}$	15 typ; 50 max	μS
	8 max	C/W
ØJ−A	150 max	°C/W

40658 40659

3.3A, 200V

3.3A, 400V

Si all-diffused three-junction types for use in capacitordischarge igniton systems, high-voltage generators, and power-switching and control applications. Outline No.8. Types 40658 and 40659 are identical with types 40654 and 40655, respectively, except for the following items:



3) A

40813

(2)

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinuspidal ac supply voltage at f = 50 to 400 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

$I_{T(RMS)}$ (T _A up to 100°C, conduction angle = 180°)	40658 40659 See Conduction Rating Chart (Ambient Temperature)	
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum elect	rical ratings at T $_{ m c}$ $=$ 25°C)	
IDOM (VDO = VDROM)	0.1 typ; 1.5 max 0.2 typ; 1.5 max	mA
	0.05 typ; 1.5 max 0.1 typ; 1.5 max 35 max	mA ℃/W





5A, 200V

2N3228

Si all-diffused three-junction types for use in powercontrol and power-switching applications. JEDEC TO-66, Outline No.25. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinuspidal ac supply voltage at f = 50 to 400 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

VRSOM VRROM VDROM IT(AV) (conduction angle = 180'	, Tc = 75°C)	330 200 600 3.2	V V A
IT(RMS)		5	Α





MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

ITSM (1 cycle of principal voltage)	60	Α
$[I_{TS(RMS)}]^2$ t (1 to 8.3 ms)	15	A ² s
dit/dt (VD = VF(BO)O, IGT = 200 mA, tr = 0.5 μ S)	200	A/us
PG(AV)	0.5	Ŵ
P _{GM} (peak, forward, or reverse for 10 μ s)	13	Ŵ
Тята	-40 to 125	. °C
Tc	-40 to 125	۰Ċ

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_c = 25$ °C)

$VF(BO)O$ ($T_C = 100^{\circ}C$) I_{DOM} ($V_{DO} = VF(BO)O$ min value, $T_C = 100^{\circ}C$) $IRROM$ ($V_{NO} = VF(BO)M$, $T_C = 100^{\circ}C$)	200 min 0.1 typ; 1.5 max 0.05 typ: 0.75 max	V mA mA
VT (on-state current = 30 A)	2.15 typ: 2.8 max	v
IGT	8 typ: 15 max	mA(dc)
VGT	1.2 typ; 2 max	V(dc)
іно	10 typ; 20 max	mÁ
Critical dv/dt (V _D = v(FBO)0 min value, exponential rise,	•••	
$T_{\rm C} = 100^{\circ}{\rm C}$	10 min; 200 typ	V/µs
t_{gt} (VD = VF(BO)O min value, iT = 4.5, IGT = 200 mA,		
$t_r = 0.1 \ \mu s$)	0.75 min; 1.5 typ	μs
t_q (ir = 2 A, pulse width = 50 μ s, $dv_D/dt = 20 V/\mu$ s,		-
$dir/dt = 30 A/\mu s, I_{GT} = 200 mA, T_C = 75^{\circ}C)$	15 typ; 50 max	μs
θ _J -C _*	4 max	°C/W
•		

* This characteristic does not apply to types 2N3528, 2N3529, and 2N4102.



2N3525

5A, 400V

Si all-diffused three-junction type for use in powercontrol and power-switching applications. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. JEDEC TO-66, Outline No.25. This type is identical with type 2N3228 except for the following items:



MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinuspidal ac supply voltage at f = 50 to 400 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

VRSOM		660	v
VRROM	***************************************	400	v
VDROM		600	v

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_c = 25$ °C)

$V_{F(BO)O}$ (T _C = 100°C)	400 min	v
$I_{DOM} (V_{DO} = V_{F(BO)O})$	0.2 typ; 3 max	mA
IRROM (VRO = VRROM, TC = 100° C)	0.1 typ; 1.5 max	mA

5A, 600V

40640



Si type used for horizontal deflection circuits of largescreen color-TV receivers. This type and type 40642 (silicon rectifier), are the trace circuit components. They provide bipolar switching action for controlling the horizontal yoke current during the picture tube beam-trace interval, JEDEC TO-66, Outline No.25.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

	600	v
VRROM	5	v.
$I_T(Av)$ (60 Hz dc at conduction angle = 180, $Tc = 60^{\circ}C$)	3.2	A
IT(RMS)	80	Â
ITSM	00	••
$I_{\text{cr}} = 50 \text{ mA}$, $I_{\text{r}} = 0.1 \text{ \mu}\text{s}$	200	A/µs
Pow (peak (forward or reservse) 10 s max)	25	w
Тято —	-40 to 150	••
Тс –	-40 to 100	· · C

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical rating at $T_c = 25$ °C)

$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	550 min ; 1.5 max ; 30 max ; 4 max 4 max	V mA W MA(dc) V(dc) °C/W
V_{GK} (bias) = -30 V (68 Ω source), f = 15.75 kHz, Tc = 70°C	2.5	μS

5A, 600V

40641



Si type used for horizontal deflection circuits of largescreen color-TV receivers. This type and type 40643 (silicon rectifier), are the commutating (retrace) circuit components. They control the yoke current during the retrace interval. JEDEC TO-66, Outline No.25. This type is identical with type 40640 except for the following items:

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical rating at $T_{\rm c}$ = 25°C)

$ \begin{array}{l} V_{F(B0)0} \ (Tc = 100^{\circ}C) \\ \text{Inow} \ (Tc = 100^{\circ}C) \\ t_q \ (Tm = 13 \ A, \ (\frac{1}{2} \ \text{sine wave}, 7 \ \mu \text{s base}, \\ \text{initial di/dt} = 20 \ A/\mu \text{s to } 3 \ A), \\ V_D = 350 \ V \ (\text{prior to turn on}), \\ dV/dt = 400 \ V/\mu \text{s (to 100 V)}, \\ V_R = 0.8 \ V \ (\text{min}), \\ I_{0T} = 100 \ \text{mA} \ (t_p = 3 \ \mu \text{s}, \ t_r = 0.2 \ \mu \text{s}), \\ V_{0K} \ (\text{biss}) = -2.5 \ V \ (47 \ \Omega \ \text{source-during} \end{array} $	400 min 0.5 typ; 1.5 max	V mA
turn off), $f = 15.75$ kHz, $Tc = 70^{\circ}C$	4.5 max	μs



5A, 700V

Si all-diffused three-junction types for use in inverter applications such as ultrasonics and fluorescent lighting. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. JEDEC TO-66, Outline No.25.



MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal ac supply voltage at low to ultrasonic frequencies with resistive or inductive load)

VRSOM	40553 330 200	40554 660 400 700	40555 700 600	v v
IT(AV) (Tc = 60°C, 60 Hz at conduction angle = 180°) IT(BMS)		3.2 5		A
ITSEM (1 cycle of voltage) [ITSEMS] ² t (at 8.3 ms) Critical di/dt ($V_D = V_{F(BODO)}$, IGT = 50 mA,		80 <u>25</u>		A A²s
$\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{r}} = 0.1 \ \mu \mathrm{s}) \\ \mathbf{P}_{\mathrm{GM}} \left(10 \ \mu \mathrm{s} \right) \\ \mathbf{P}_{\mathrm{GAV}} \\ \mathbf{P}_{\mathrm{GAV}} \end{array}$		$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		A/μs W W
		= 40 to 130 = 40 to 100		°C
$V_{F(BO)0}$ (Tc = 100°C)	200 min	s at $l_c =$	25°C) 600 min	v
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$		0.5 typ; 3 m 0.3 typ; 1.5 m	lax	mA mA
Via (11 – 50 A) Iot VGT		15 typ; 40 m 1.8 typ; 3.5 m	lax lax	mA(dc) V(dc)
Ino		20 typ; 50 m 100 min; 250	lax typ	mA V/μs
t_{gt} (VD = VF(B0)0, 1_{TM} = 2 A, 1_{GT} = 300 mA, t_r = 0.1)		0.7		μs
$V_R = 80$ V min, $t_r = 0.1 \ \mu s$, $dv/dt = 100$ V/ μs , $dir/dt = 100$ A/ μs , $I_{GT} = 100$ mA		A two i 6 mg	v	





7A, 200V 7A, 400V

40378 40379



Si all-diffused three-junction types for use in powerand power-switching applications. Outline control No.35.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal ac supply voltage at f = 50 to 400 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

	40378	40379	
Vrsom Ургом	330 200	660 400	vv
VDROM IT(AV) (conduction angle = 180° , Tc = 60° C) IT(RMS)		600 4.5	V A A
ITSM (1 cycle of principle voltage)			A W
FG(ΔV)		-40 to 150 -40 to 100	°° °C

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical rating at $T_c = 25$ °C)

$v_{F(BO)O}$ (T _C = 100°C)
IDOM (Tc = 100°C, $V_D = v_{F(BO)O}$ min value)
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$

40378	40379	
200 min	400 min	v
0.1 typ	0.2 typ	mA
1 max	2 max	mA
0.05 typ	0.1 typ	mA
0.5 max	1 max	mA
1.9 typ; 2.	5 max	v
8 typ; 15	max i	mA(dc)
1.2 typ; 2	max	V(dc)
12		mA
10 min	20 min	V/µs
200 typ	200 typ	V/µs
5 ma:	×	°C/W



40507 40508

7A, 200V

7A, 400V

Si all-diffused three-junction types used in powercontrol and power-switching applications. Outline No.8. Types 40507 and 40508 are electrically identical with types 40378 and 40379, respectively.



Ć2

(J)A

Œ

7A,	200V
7A,	400V

Si all-diffused three-junction types for use in capacitordischarge ignition systems, high-voltage generators, and power-switching and control applications. Outline No.60.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinuspidal ac supply voltage at f = 50 to 400 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

VRSOM VDSOM VRROM VRROM UDROM LTSM (1 cycle of principal voltage at	40654 200 250 200 200	40655 400 V 500 400 400
60 Hz)	80 .	A
ITRM: $df = 0.1\%$, Tc = 75°C, $t_p = 2.5 \ \mu s \ min \$ $t_p = 5 \ \mu s \ min \$	100	A
$T_{C} = 60^{\circ}C$, conduction angle = 180° A	See Conduc	tion Rating A
$P_{OM} \bullet$	40 0.5	W W
TsTo [■] Tc(opr) [■] Ts [■] (10 s max)	65 to 1 65 to 1 225	50 °C 00 °C °C

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_c = 25$ °C)

$V_{F(BO)O}$ (T _C = 100°C)
I_{DOM} (V _{D0} = V _{DR0M} , T _C = 100°C)
IRROM (VRO = VRROM, $Tc = 100^{\circ}C$)
$v_T (i_T = 30 A)$
Igr $(V_{\rm D} = 12 \text{ Vdc}, R_{\rm L} = 30 \Omega)$
V_{QT} ($V_{D} = 12$ Vdc, $R_{L} = 30 \Omega$)
іно
Critical dv/dt (Vpo = VF(BO)O)
t_{gt} (Vp = VF(B0)0, it = 4.5 Å,
$I_{0T} = 200 \text{ mA}, t_r = 0.1 \ \mu s$
t_{0} (Vp = Vr(BO)0, ir = 2 Å, $t_{p} = 50 \ \mu s$.
$dv/dt = -20 V/\mu s$, $dit/dt = -30 A/\mu s$.
$I_{GT} = 200 \text{ mA at } t_{op}, T_C = 75^{\circ}C$
θι-ς
θı- A *

250 min 500 min 0.1 typ; 0.5 max 0.2 typ; 0.5 max 0.05 typ; 0.5 max 0.1 typ; 0.5 max	V mA mA V MA V/µs
15 typ; 50 max 5 max 75 max	°C/W °C/W





40654

[‡] This value does not apply if there is a positive gate signal. Gate must be open, termi-

- t This value does not apply it there is a positive gate signal. Gate must be open, terminated, or have negative bias.
 Any values of peak gate current or peak gate voltage to give the maximum gate power are permissible.
 When this device is soldered directly to the heat sink, a 60/40 solder should be used. Case heating time should be minimum . . . sufficient to allow the solder to flow freely.
 A This characteristic does not apply to types 40658 and 40659.
 This characteristic does not apply to types 40656 and 40657.



7A. 200V 7A. 400V

Si all-diffused three-junction types for use in capacitordischarge ignition systems, high-voltage generators, and power-switching and control applications. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. Outline No.59. Types 40656 and 40657 are identical with types 40654 and 40655, respectively, except for the following items:



40657

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal ac supply voltage at f \pm 50 to 400 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

40656 See Conduction Rating

IT(RMS) (Tc = 60° C, conduction angle = 180°)

	ov) onant (neat-opreader remperature)
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum e	electrical ratings at T $_{ m c}$ $=$ 25°C)
IDOM ($V_{DO} = V_{DROM}$)	

01-HS		7 max	°C/W
IRROM	(VRO = VRROM)	0.05 typ; 1.5 max 0.1 typ; 1.5 max	mA
Innow			



40737

10A. 100V

Si all-diffused type used for power switching and voltage regulator applications and for heating, lighting and motor speed-control circuits. Outline No.36.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

VRSOM	
V DSOM VRROM	
VDROM	



MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

ITSM (1 cycle of sinusoidal principal voltage):	
50 Hz	Α
_ 60 Hz	A
$I_{T(AV)}$ (T _c = 85°C, conduction angle = 180°)	A
$I_{T(RMS)}$ (Tc = 85°C, conduction angle = 180°)	A
$di/dt (V_{DM} = v_{B(0)0}, I_{GT} = 200 \text{ mA}, t_r = 0.5 \ \mu s)$	A/µs
PGM (10 μs max)	w
$P_{G(AV)}$ (10 ms max)	Ŵ
<u>T</u> STQ	°C
Tc(opr)	°C
Ts (10 s max)	۰Č
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at T $_{ m c}$ $=$ 25°C)	

$v_{(BO)O}$ (1C = 100°C)	100	v
IDOM ($V_{DO} = V_{DROM}$, $T_C = 100^{\circ}C$)	0.2 typ: 3 may	mÅ
I_{RROM} (VRO = VRROM)	0.1 typ, 0 max	IIIA
V_{T} (ig = 100 Å T_{T} = 25°C)	our typ; smax	mA
$V_1 (11 = 100 \text{ Å}, 10 = 23 \text{ C})$	1.7 typ; 2.5 max	v
let $(V_D = 12 \text{ Vdc}, \text{R}_L = 30 \Omega)$	6 typ: 15 max	mÁ
V_{GT} ($V_{D} = 12$ Vdc, $R_{L} = 30 \Omega$)	09 typ: 2 may	
ino	0.5 (yp, 2 max	. Y
dy/dt (Vp = Verse, $T_{r} = 100$ °C)	9 typ; 20 max	mA
dv/dt (vb = vbkom, 10 = 100 C)	10 min; 200 max	V/µs
t_{gt} (VD = VDROM, $t_T = 30$ A, $t_{GT} = 200$ mA, $t_r = 0.1 \ \mu s$)	1.6	118
t_{a} (VDX = VDROM, iT = 18 A, $t_{b} = 50 \ \mu s$, $I_{GT} = 200 \ mA$		دم
$-di/dt = -30 A/us dv/dt - 20 V/us T_{12} - 75^{\circ}C$	15 4 50	
-2.5 cm^{-1}	15 typ; 50 max	μs
0J-C	1.5 max	°C/W
UJ-18	1.7 max	°C/W
		~/ **



10A, 100V

40741

Si all-diffused type used for power switching and voltage regulator applications and for heating, lighting, and motor speed-control circuits. Outline No.37. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is electrically identical with type 40737.



10A, 100V

40745

Si all-diffused type used for power switching and voltage regulator applications and for heating, lighting and motor speed-control circuits. Outline No.71. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is electrically identical with type 40737.



40738

10A, 200V

Si all-diffused type used for power switching and voltage regulator applications and for heating, lighting and motor speed-control circuits. Outline No.36. For Conduction Rating Chart and Forward Gate Characteristics curves, refer to type 40737.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

VEROX	200	v
	250	v
V DSOM	200	ý
V RROM	200	ý
VDROM	200	v
Itsm (1 cycle of sinusoidal principal voltage):	9 F	•
50 Hz	85	Å
60 Hz	100	A
$I_{T(AY)}$ (T _c = 85°C, conduction angle = 180°)	6.3	A
$T_{T(RMS)}$ (T _c = 85°C, conduction angle = 180°)	10	A
di/dt (Vpy = y(g(y)) $I_{GT} = 200 \text{ mA}$, $t_r = 0.5 \text{ µs}$)	200	A/µs
u_{ij} u_{ij} $(10 \mu_{e} max)$	40	Ŵ
FGM (10 μ s max)	0.5	Ŵ
FG(AV) (10 HIS HIAX)	-65 to 150	°Ċ
	-65 to 100	۰č
1c(opr)	-00 10 100	•č
Ts (10 s max)	223	C
ALLER ANTERIOR (ALL	T 2500)	
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at	$T_{\rm c}~=~25^{\circ}$ C)	
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at	$T_{c} = 25^{\circ}C)$	v
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $y_{(B0)0}$ (T ^c = 100° C)	$T_c = 25°C)$	v mÅ
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $V_{1D0M}^{(B0)0}$ (T _C = 100°C)	$T_c = 25^{\circ}C)$ 200 0.2 typ; 3 max	V mA
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $V_{(B0)0}$ (T _C = 100°C) I_{DOM} (V _{D0} = V _{DBOM} , T _C = 100°C) I_{RBOM} (V _{B0} = V _{RBOM})	$T_{c} = 25^{\circ}C)$ 200 0.2 typ; 3 max 0.1 typ; 3 max 17 typ; 3 max	V mA mA
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	$\begin{array}{l} T_{\rm c} \; = \; 25^{\circ}\text{C}) \\ & \begin{array}{c} 200 \\ 0.2 \; {\rm typ; \; 3 \; max} \\ 0.1 \; {\rm typ; \; 2.5 \; max} \\ 1.7 \; {\rm typ; \; 2.5 \; max} \end{array} \end{array}$	V mA mA V
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	$\begin{array}{l} T_{\rm c} = 25^{\circ} {\rm C}) \\ 200 \\ 0.2 \ {\rm typ}; \ 3 \ {\rm max} \\ 0.1 \ {\rm typ}; \ 2.5 \ {\rm max} \\ 1.7 \ {\rm typ}; \ 15 \ {\rm max} \end{array}$	V mA mA V mA
$\begin{array}{c} \textbf{CHARACTERISTICS} (At maximum electrical ratings at \\ \textbf{V}_{(BO)O} (Tc = 100^{\circ}\text{C}) \\ \textbf{I}_{DOM} (V_{DO} = V_{DROM}, Tc = 100^{\circ}\text{C}) \\ \textbf{I}_{RROM} (V_{RO} = V_{RROM}) \\ \textbf{v}_{T} (1r = 100 \text{ A}, Tc = 25^{\circ}\text{C}) \\ \textbf{I}_{GT} (V_{D} = 12 \text{ Vdc}, R_{L} = 30 \Omega) \\ \textbf{V}_{GT} (Y_{D} = 12 \text{ Vdc}, R_{L} = 30 \Omega) \\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{rl} T_c \;=\; 25^{\circ}C) \\ & 200 \\ 0.2 \; typ; 3 \; max \\ 0.1 \; typ; 3 \; max \\ 1.7 \; typ; 2.5 \; max \\ 6 \; typ; 15 \; max \\ 0.9 \; typ; 2 \; max \end{array}$	V mA mA V mA V
$\begin{array}{c} \textbf{CHARACTERISTICS} \ (At \ maximum \ electrical \ ratings \ at \\ \textbf{V}_{(BO)O} \ \ (Tc \ = \ 100^{\circ}C) \ \\ \textbf{Indow} \ \ (Vbo \ = \ V_{DBOM}, \ Tc \ = \ 100^{\circ}C) \ \\ \textbf{Irrow} \ \ (Vac \ = \ Vrrom) \ \\ \textbf{V}_{(1} \ \ = \ 100 \ A, \ Tc \ = \ 25^{\circ}C) \ \\ \textbf{Igt} \ \ (Vb \ = \ 12 \ Vdc, \ RL \ = \ 30 \ \Omega) \ \\ \textbf{V}_{OT} \ \ (Vb \ = \ 12 \ Vdc, \ RL \ = \ 30 \ \Omega) \ \\ \textbf{V}_{OT} \ \ (Vb \ = \ 12 \ Vdc, \ RL \ = \ 30 \ \Omega) \ \\ \textbf{V}_{OT} \ \ (Vb \ = \ 12 \ Vdc, \ RL \ = \ 30 \ \Omega) \ \\ \textbf{V}_{OT} \ \ (Vb \ = \ 12 \ Vdc, \ RL \ = \ 30 \ \Omega) \ \\ \textbf{V}_{OT} \ \ (Vb \ = \ 12 \ Vdc, \ RL \ = \ 30 \ \Omega) \ \\ \textbf{V}_{OT} \ \ (Vb \ = \ 12 \ Vdc, \ RL \ = \ 30 \ \Omega) \ \\ \textbf{V}_{OT} \ \ (Vb \ = \ 12 \ Vdc, \ RL \ = \ 30 \ \Omega) \ \\ \textbf{V}_{OT} \ \ (Vb \ = \ 12 \ Vdc, \ RL \ = \ 30 \ \Omega) \ \\ \textbf{V}_{OT} \ \ (Vb \ = \ 12 \ Vdc, \ RL \ = \ 30 \ \Omega) \ \\ \textbf{V}_{OT} \ \ (Vb \ = \ 12 \ Vdc, \ RL \ = \ 30 \ \Omega) \ \\ \textbf{V}_{OT} \ \ (Vb \ = \ 12 \ Vdc, \ RL \ = \ 30 \ \Omega) \ \\ \textbf{V}_{OT} \ \ \ (Vb \ = \ 12 \ Vdc, \ RL \ = \ 30 \ \Omega) \ \\ \textbf{V}_{OT} \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \$	$\begin{array}{l} T_c \;=\; 25^\circ C) \\ & 200 \\ 0.2 \; typ; 3 \; max \\ 0.1 \; typ; 3 \; max \\ 1.7 \; typ; 2.5 \; max \\ 6 \; typ; 15 \; max \\ 0.9 \; typ; 2 \; max \\ 9 \; typ; 20 \; max \end{array}$	V mA MA V mA V mA
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $v_{(B0)0}$ (T _C = 100°C) I_{D0M} (V _{D0} = V _{DR0M} , T _C = 100°C) I_{RR0M} (V _{R0} = V _{RR0M}) v_{T} (i _T = 100 A, T _C = 25°C) I_{GT} (V _D = 12 Vdc, R _L = 30 Ω) V_{GT} (V _D = 12 Vdc, R _L = 30 Ω) v_{GT} (V _D = 12 Vdc, R _L = 30 Ω) v_{H0}	$\begin{array}{rl} T_{c} = 25^{\circ}C) \\ & 200 \\ 0.2 \ typ; \ 3 \ max \\ 0.1 \ typ; \ 3 \ max \\ 1.7 \ typ; \ 2.5 \ max \\ 6 \ typ; \ 15 \ max \\ 0.9 \ typ; \ 20 \ max \\ 9 \ typ; \ 200 \ max \\ 10 \ typ; \ 200 \ max \end{array}$	V mA MA V mA V/µS
$\begin{array}{c} \textbf{CHARACTERISTICS} (At maximum electrical ratings at \\ \textbf{v}_{(BO)O} (Tc = 100°C) \\ \textbf{IDOM} (VDO = VDROM, Tc = 100°C) \\ \textbf{IRROM} (VRO = VRROM) \\ \textbf{VT} (it = 100 A, Tc = 25°C) \\ \textbf{IGT} (VD = 12 Vdc, RL = 30 \Omega) \\ \textbf{VGT} (VD = 12 Vdc, RL = 30 \Omega) \\ \textbf{WGT} (T = VDROM, Tc = 100°C) \\ \textbf{IHO} \\ \textbf{UT} (TC = VDROM, TC = 100°C) \\ \textbf{IT} (TC = VDROM, TC = 200 mA, Tc = 0.1 (S) \\ \textbf{V} (TC = VDROM, TC = 200 mA, Tc = 0.1 (S) \\ \textbf{V} (TC = VDROM, TC = 200 mA, Tc = 0.1 (S) \\ \textbf{V} (TC = VDROM, TC = 200 mA, Tc = 0.1 (S) \\ \textbf{V} (TC = VDROM, TC = 0.1 (S) \\ \textbf{V} (TC = VDROM, TC = 0.1 (S) \\ \textbf{V} (TC = VDROM, TC = 0.1 (S) \\ \textbf{V} (TC = VDROM, TC = 0.1 (S) \\ \textbf{V} (TC = VDROM, TC = 0.1 (S) \\ \textbf{V} (TC = VDROM, TC = 0.1 (S) \\ \textbf{V} (TC = VDROM, TC = 0.1 (S) \\ \textbf{V} (TC = 0.1 (S) \\ $	$\begin{array}{l} T_{c} = 25^{\circ}C) \\ 200 \\ 0.2 \ typ; 3 \ max \\ 0.1 \ typ; 3 \ max \\ 1.7 \ typ; 2.5 \ max \\ 6 \ typ; 15 \ max \\ 0.9 \ typ; 20 \ max \\ 10 \ typ; 200 \ max \\ 1.6 \end{array}$	V mA mA V mA V/µs µs
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $V_{(BO)O}$ (T _C = 100°C) I_{DOM} (VD _O = V _{DROM} , T _C = 100°C) I_{RROM} (VR _O = V _{RROM}) V_T (i _T = 100 A, T _C = 25°C) I_{GT} (V _D = 12 Vdc, R _L = 30 Ω) V_{OT} (V _D = 12 Vdc, R _L = 30 Ω) I_{OT} I_{VOT} (V _D = 12 Vdc, R _L = 30 Ω) I_{OT} I_{VOT} (V _D = 12 Vdc, R _L = 30 Ω) I_{OT} I_{VOT} (V _D = 12 Vdc, R _L = 30 Ω) I_{OT} I_{VOT} (V _D = V _{DROM} , T _C = 100°C) I_{S} (V _D = V _{DROM} , I_{T} = 30 A, I_{OT} = 200 mA, I_{T} = 0.1 µS) I_{VOT} (V _D = V _{DROM} , I_{T} = 30 A, I_{T} = 200 mA, I_{T} = 0.1 µS)	$\begin{array}{l} T_{c} = 25^{\circ}C) \\ 200 \\ 0.2 \ typ; \ 3 \ max \\ 0.1 \ typ; \ 3 \ max \\ 1.7 \ typ; \ 2.5 \ max \\ 6 \ typ; \ 15 \ max \\ 0.9 \ typ; \ 20 \ max \\ 10 \ typ; \ 200 \ max \\ 1.6 \end{array}$	V mA mA V mA V/µs µs
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	$T_{c} = 25^{\circ}C)$ 200 0.2 typ; 3 max 0.1 typ; 3 max 1.7 typ; 2.5 max 6 typ; 15 max 0.9 typ; 20 max 10 typ; 200 max 1.6 15 typ: 50 max	V mA mA V mA V/µs µs
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	$\begin{array}{l} T_{c} = 25^{\circ}C) \\ 200 \\ 0.2 typ; 3 max \\ 0.1 typ; 3 max \\ 1.7 typ; 2.5 max \\ 6 typ; 15 max \\ 0.9 typ; 20 max \\ 10 typ; 200 max \\ 1.6 \\ 15 typ; 50 max \\ 15 max \\ \end{array}$	V mA MA V mA V/µs µs
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	$\begin{array}{l} T_{c} = 25^{\circ}C) \\ 200 \\ 0.2 typ; 3 max \\ 0.1 typ; 3 max \\ 1.7 typ; 2.5 max \\ 6 typ; 15 max \\ 0.9 typ; 2 max \\ 9 typ; 20 max \\ 1.6 \\ 15 typ; 50 max \\ 1.7 max \\ 1.7 max \\ 1.7 max \\ \end{array}$	V MA MA V MA V/μs μs °C/W

θյ-18

10A, 200V

Si all-diffused type use for power switching and voltage regulator applications and for heating, lighting, and motor speed-control circuits. Outline No.37. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is electrically identical with type 40738.

40746

40742

10A, 200V

Si all-diffused type used for power switching and voltage regulator applications and for heating, lighting and motor speed-control circuits. Outline No.71. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is electrically identical with type 40738.

40739

10A, 400V

Si all-diffused type used for power switching and voltage regulator applications and for heating, lighting and motor speed-control circuits. Outline No.36. For Conduction Rating Chart and Forward Gate Characteristics curves, refer to type 40737.



3 A

(2)K



MAXIMUM RATINGS

VRSOM	400	v
	500	Ý
VRROM	400	ý
VDROM	400	ý
ITSM (1 cycle of sinusoidal principal voltage):		•
50 Hz	85	А
60 Hz	100	Ā
$I_{T(AV)}$ (Tc = 85°C, conduction angle = 180°)	6.3	Ä
$I_{T(RMS)}$ (Tc = 85°C, conduction angle = 180°)	10	Ä
di/dt (VpM = V(B0)0, IGT = 200 mÅ, $t_r = 0.5 \mu s$)	200	A /
P_{GM} (10 μ s max)	40	
$P_{G(AV)}$ (10 ms max)	0.5	w
TSTG	-65 to 150	
Tc(opr)	-65 to 100	٠č
T_{s} (10 s max)	-00 10 100	
	223	U U

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_{\rm c}$ = 25°C)

$V(BO)O (Tc = 100^{\circ})$	400	v
IDOM (\dot{V} DO = V DROM, TC = 100°C)	0.2 typ: 3 max	mÅ
IRROM (VRO = VRROM)	0.1 typ: 3 max	mA
v_{T} (i _T = 100 A, T _C = 25°C)	1.7 typ: 2.5 max	Ŵ
Igr ($V_D = 12 \text{ Vdc}, R_L = 30 \Omega$)	6 typ: 15 max	mÅ
V_{GT} ($V_D = 12$ Vdc, $R_L = 30$ $\dot{\Omega}$)	0.9 typ: 2 max	v
іно	9 typ: 20 max	mÅ
dv/dt (V _D = V _{DROM} , T _C = 100°)	10 typ: 150 max	V/us
tgt (VD = VDROM, $iT = 30$ A, $I_{GT} = 200$ mA, $t_r = 0.1 \ \mu s$)	1.6	47 μ5
tq ($V_{DX} = V_{DROM}$, it = 18 A, tp = 50 μ s, Igt = 200 mA.		μο
$-di/dt = -30 \text{ A}/\mu \text{s}, dv/dt = 20 \text{ V}/\mu \text{s}, T_{\text{C}} = 75^{\circ}\text{C}$	15 typ: 50 max	""
θι-α	1.5 max	°C/₩
θJ-18	1.7 max	°C/W



(3) A

3 K

10A, 400V

Si all-diffused type used for power switching and voltage regulator applications and for heating, lighting and motor speed-control circuits. Outline No.37. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is electrically identical with type 40739.

10A, 400V

Si all-diffused type used for power switching and voltage regulator applications and for heating, lighting and motor speed-control circuits. Outline No.71. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is electrically identical with type 40739.



10A, 600V

40740

40743

40747

Si all-diffused type used for power switching and voltage regulator applications and for heating, lighting and motor speed-control circuits. Outline No.36. For Conduction Rating Chart and Forward Gate Characteristics curves, refer to type 40737.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

VRSOM VDSOM VDSOM VDROM UDROM (1 cycle of sinusoidal principal voltage):	600 700 600 600	v v v
60 Hz	85 100	A A

MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	$\begin{array}{c} 6.3\\ 10\\ 200\\ 40\\ 0.5\\ -65\ {\rm to}\ 150\\ -65\ {\rm to}\ 150\\ 225\end{array}$	A A∕µs ₩ ℃ ℃ ℃
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at	: T _c = 25°C)	
$w_{2} = (T_{2} - 100^{\circ} C)$	600	v
V(B0)0 (10 = 100 C)	0.2 typ: 3 max	mÅ
IDOM (VDO = VDROM) IC = 100 C)	0.1 typ: 3 max	mA
$T_{\rm R}$ (in -100 Å $T_{\rm C}$ -25° C)	1.7 typ: 2.5 max	v
V_1 (H_2 = 12 V_2 = H_2 = 30 (0)	6 typ: 15 max	mÅ
$V_{\rm eff} = (V_{\rm p} - 12) V_{\rm eff} (R_{\rm f} - 30)$	0.9 typ: 2 max	v
$V_{01} (V_{D} = 12 V_{01}, 112 = 30 M)$	9 typ: 20 max	mÅ
dy/dt (Vp $-$ Vprov Tc $-$ 100°C)	10 typ: 75 max	V/us
$V_{\rm T} = V_{\rm D} V_{\rm CM}$ is $t = 30$ A Let $t = 200$ mA $t_{\rm T} = 0.1$ µs)	1.6	μS
$t_{\rm rec} (V_{\rm DV} - V_{\rm DR})_{\rm rec}$ is -18 A to -50 (s $L_{\rm rec} - 200$ mA)		
$-di/dt = -30 \text{ A/us. } dv/dt = 20 \text{ V/us. } \text{Tc} = 75^{\circ}\text{C}$	15 typ: 50 max	μs
$A_{1,\alpha} = 0011,\mu_0,\alpha_1,\alpha_2 = 1007,\mu_0,10 = 1007$	1.5 max	°c/W
A1-18	1.7 max	°c/W

40744

10A. 600V

Si all-diffused type used for power switching and voltage regulator applications and for heating, lighting and motor speed-control circuits. Outline No.37. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is electrically identical with type 40740.

40748

10A. 600V

Si all-diffused type used for power switching and voltage regulator applications and for heating, lighting and motor speed-control circuits. Outline No.71. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is electrically identical with type 40740.

2N3668-2N3670

12.5A, 400V 100V-

Si all-diffused three-junction types for use in powercontrol and power-switching applications. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM	RATINGS	(For sinusoidal	ac	supply	voltage	at	f	=	50	to	400	Hz
		with resistive	or	inductiv	e load)							

	2140000	2140000	2110010	
Vrsom	150	330	660	v
Vrrom	100	200	400	v
Vdrom	600	600	600	v





MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

$I_{T(AV)}$ (conduction angle = 180°,		
$T_{\rm C} = 80^{\circ}{\rm C}$)		Α
IT(RMS)	12.5	Ā
ITSM (1 cycle of principle voltage)	200	Ā
Critical di/dt	200	A/us
[ITS(RMS)] ² t (1 to 8.3 ms)	165	A ² s



FORWARD GATE CHARACTERISTICS



2N3670

MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)			
P_{GM} (peak, forward, or reverse for 10 μ s) $P_{G(\Delta V)}$	2N3668	40 0.5 2N3669	9 2N36
Tetg	=	-40 to 1 -40 to 1	25
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electri	cal rating a	tTc =	25°C)
$v_{F(BO)O}$ (Tc = 100°C)	100 min 2 0.2 typ 0 2N3668	00 min).25 typ 2N3669	400 mir 0.3 typ 2N367
IDOM (TO = 100° C. VDO = VE(BODO min value	2 max	2.5 max	3 max

VF(BO)O (Tc = 100°C)	100 min 200 min 400 min V 0.2 typ 0.25 typ 0.3 typ mA 2N3668 2N3669 2N3670
IDOM (To = 100°C, $V_{DO} = v_{F(BO)O}$ min value	2 max 2.5 max 3 max mA 0.05 typ 0.1 typ 0.2 typ mA
I_{BROM} (VRO = VRBOM)	1 max 1.25 max 1.5 max mA
v_{T} (on-state current = 25 A)	1.5 typ; 1.8 max V
Ict	1 min, 20 typ, 40 maxmA(dc)
Var	1.5 typ; 2 max V(dc)
ino	0.5 to 50 mA
critical dv/dt ($V_D = v_{F(BO)0}$ min value, exponential rise, $T_C = 100^{\circ}C_1$	10 min; 100 typ V/µs
t_{gt} (V _D = V _{F(BO)O} min value, $iT = 8$ A, I _{GT} = 200 mA, $t_r = 0.1 \ \mu s$)	0.75 min; 1.25 typ μs
t_q (ir = 8 A, 50 μ s pulse width, $dv_D/dt = 20 V/\mu s$, $di_R/dt = 30 A/\mu s$, $I_{GT} = 200 mA$, $T_C = 80^{\circ}C$)	20 typ; 50 max %
itto Critical dv/dt ($V_D = v_{F(BO)O}$ min value, exponential rise, $T_C = 100^{\circ}C$) t_z ($V_D = v_{F(BO)O}$ min value, ir = 8 A, IGT = 200 mA, tr = 0.1 μ s) t_z (ir = 8 A, 50 μ s pulse width, $dv_D/dt = 20 V/\mu$ s, $dis/dt = 30 A/\mu$ s, IGT = 200 mA, $T_C = 80^{\circ}C$) H_{1C}	10 min; 100 typ N 0.75 min; 1.25 typ N 20 typ; 50 max °(

2N4103

12.5A, 700V

Si all-diffused three-junction type for use in powercontrol and power-switching applications. See Mount-ing Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. This type is identical with type 2N3668 except for the following items:



WW

°C

μS

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal ac supply voltage at f = 50 to 400 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

V BSOM	600 V 700 V
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_{\rm c}~=~25^\circ$	C)
VF(B0)0 (Tc = 100°C) 600 IDOM (VD0 = VF(B0)0 min value, Tc = 100°C) 0.35 typ; 4 LEROM (VR0 = VRROM) 0.30 typ; 3 0.3 typ; 3) min V max mA max mA

2N1842A-2N1850A

16A, 600V

Si all-diffused three-junction types for use in powercontrol and power-switching applications. JEDEC TO-48. Outline No.20. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.



MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal ac supply voltage at f = 50 to 400 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

	2N18	42A	2N1843A	2N1844A	2N1845A	2N1846A	2N1847A	2N1848A	2N1849A	2N1850A	
VRSOM		35	75	150	225	300	350	400	500	600	<u>v</u>
VRROM		25	50	100	150	200	250	300	400	500	v
VDROM	•••••			10 (con	duction	000 angle	180° To	- 80°C	3		v
IT(AV) ·	•••••			10 (0011	duction	16 .	100, 10		/		À
ITSM					125 (1	1 cycle_o	f voltage)			A
Рам	•••••					5.					w
PG(∆ ⊽)	•••••					0.3					

MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

	2N184	2A 2N1843A 2N1844A 2N1845A	2N184	6A 2	2N184	47A 2N1848A 2N1849A 2N1850A	
IGTM				_ 2 ຼ.			- A
VOTM	•••••			1, 5	125		°C
To	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	-65	to	125		۰č

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical rating at $T_c = 125$ °C) 2N1842A 2N1843A 2N1844A 2N1845A 2N1846A 2N1847A 2N1848A 2N1849A 2N1850A

VF(BO)O (min) 25	50	100	150	200	250	300	400	500	V.
IDOM (max)	22.5	19	12.5	6.5	6	5.5	5	4	3	mA
IRROW (max)	22.5	19	12.5	6.5	6	5.5	5	4	3	mA
Vm				1.2	$(T_{C} = $	80°C)				v
Iom					45					mA
Var(max)				3.5	$\overline{(T_C)} = -$	-40°C)				v
Ver(max)				37	<i>እ</i> ፹፩ ፲ -	-65°C)				v
Ver (max)					\^~ 0.25	00 0/ -				ý
VOT (min)		_		02/	$\frac{0.20}{T_{c}} - 100$	(D)				v
VGT(min)				0.3 (10 = 100					
1но					<u> </u>					
0J-C					2 .					C/W





20A, 100V

40749

Si all-diffused type used for power switching and voltage regulator applications and for heating, lighting and motor speed-control circuits. Outline No.36.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

V RSOM	100	v
VDSOX	150	v
Verow	100	Ý
VDROM	100	Ý
The (1 cycle of sinusoidal principal voltage):		•
50 Hz	170	А
	200	A
$12 \dots (T_2 - 75^\circ C \text{ conduction angle} - 180^\circ)$	12.5	
$T_{\rm L}(AV)$ (10 = 13 C, Conduction angle = 100 γ	20	A
$T_{(RMS)}$ (10 = 15 C, conduction angle = 100)	- 200	A /
$di/dt (V DM = V(B))0, IGT = 200 InA, tr = 0.5 \mu s)$	- 200	A/ #3
P_{GM} (10 μ s max)	40	VV XX7
$\underline{P}_{G(AV)}$ (10 ms max)	0.5	w.
<u>Tsto</u>	-65 to 150	-0
T _c (opr)	-65 to 100	°C
Ts (10 s max)	225	۰C
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at	Tc = 25°C)	
$v_{(BO)O}$ (Tc = 100°C)	100 min	v

$v_{(BO)0}$ (Tc = 100°C)	100 min	v
IDOM ($V_{DO} = V_{DROM}$, $T_C = 100^{\circ}C$)	0.2 typ; 3 max	mA
IRROM (VRO = VRROM)	0.1 typ; 2 max	mA
v_T (i _T = 100 A, T _c = 25°C)	1.9 typ; 2.4 max	v
$L_{GT} (V_D = 12 \text{ Vdc}, R_L = 30 \Omega)$	8 typ; 15 max	mA

RCA Transistor, Thyristor, & Diode Manual

	1.1 typ; 2 max 9 typ; 20 max	_mA
dv/dt	10 min; 100 max	V/µs
tg: $(V_D = v_{GDDD} \text{ min value, ir} = 30 \text{ A, } I_{GT} = 200 \text{ mA,}$		
$t_r = 0.1 \ \mu s$	2	μS
to $(V_{FGOOD} min value, it = 18 A, tp = 50 \mu s, I_{GT} = 200 mA.$		
$-di/dt = -30 \text{ A}/us, dv/dt = 20 \text{ V}/us, Tv = 75^{\circ}\text{C}$	20 typ: 40 max	μS
	1.2 max	°C/W
θμ-18	1.4 max	°Č/W
$\begin{array}{l} \mbox{tr} = 0 \ \mbox{(VD} = V(B0)0 \ \mbox{min value, ir} = 30 \ \mbox{A, Icr = 200 \ mA,} \\ \mbox{tr} = 0.1 \ \mbox{\mus}, \\ \mbox{tq} \ \mbox{(VF(B0)0 \ min value, ir} = 18 \ \mbox{A, tp} = 50 \ \mbox{\mus, Icr = 200 \ mA,} \\ \mbox{-di/dt} = -30 \ \mbox{A/\mus, dv/dt} = 20 \ \mbox{V/\mus, Tc} = 75^{\circ}\mbox{C} \\ \mbox{Hole} \ Hol$	2 20 typ; 40 max 1.2 max 1.4 max	µ °C/۷ °C/۷



40752

20A, 100V

٦

(2)K

Si all-diffused type used for power switching and voltage regulator applications and for heating, lighting and motor speed-control circuits. Outline No.36. For Conduction Rating Chart and Forward Gate Characteristics curves, refer to type 40749.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

VRSOM	100	v
VDSOM	150	v
V PROM	100	v
Voway	100	v
ITAN (1 cycle of sinusoidal principal voltage):		
50 Hz	170	Α
50 HZ	200	A
$T_{\rm max} = 75^{\circ} C_{\rm conduction angle} = 180^{\circ}$	12.5	A
$T_{\rm rel}(T) = 75^{\circ}{\rm C}$ conduction angle = 180°	20	Ā
$T(r(x)) = 10^{\circ}$ C, $r(r(x)) = 10^{\circ}$ C, $r(r(x)) = 10^{\circ}$	200	A/us
df/dt ($f/dt = f(R)(0)$, $RT = 200$ mR, $r = 0.0 \mu 3$,	40	Ŵ
FGM (10 μ S max)	0.5	ŵ
FG(AV) (10 Ins max)	-65 to 150	÷.
ISTG	-05 to 150	<u>ج</u>
Tc(opr)	-03 10 100	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
Ts (10 s max)	223	C
ette page provide the second standard and the second	T 2500)	
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at	$le = 25^{\circ}$ C)	
$v_{\rm ROO}$ (T _C = 100°C)	600	v
$T_{DOM} (V_{DO} = V_{DROM}, T_{C} = 100^{\circ}C)$	0.2 typ: 3 max	mA
$[\mathbf{R}_{ROM}] (\mathbf{V}_{RO} = \mathbf{V}_{RROM})$	0.1 typ: 2 max	mA
$T_{\rm c}$ (ir = 100 A $T_{\rm c}$ = 25°C)	1.9 typ: 2.4 max	v
$V_{\rm m} = 12 \text{Vdc} \text{Br} = 30 \text{O}$	8 typ: 15 max	mA
$M_{11} (V_1) = 12 V dc, M_1 = 30 \Omega$	1.1 typ: 2 max	v
$v_{01} (v_D - 12 v_{00}, x_L - 0, x_l)$	9 typ: 20 max	mÅ
1117	10 min: 75 max	V/us
A & V / E # E	AV	1 / 100

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

tg_t (V _D = V(BO)O min value, iT = 30 A, IGT = 200 mA,		
$t_r = 0.1 \ \mu s$)	2	μs
to $(V_{F(BO)O} \text{ min value, ir} = 18 \text{ A, tp} = 50 \ \mu\text{s, Icr} = 200 \text{ mA},$		
-di/dt = -30 A/us, $dv/dt = 20$ V/us, Tc = 75°C)	20 typ: 40 max	μS
	1.2 max	°C/W
	14 max	°C/W
OJ-18	A / A 24104/6	0,



20A, 100V

40753

40756

Si all-diffused type used for power switching and voltage regulator applications and for heating, lighting and motor speed-control circuits. Outline No.37. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is electrically identical with type 40749.



20A. 100V

Si all-diffused type used for power switching and voltage regulator applications and for heating, lighting and motor speed-control circuits. Outline No.37. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is electrically identical with type 40752

(3) A

20A. 100V

Si all-diffused type used for power switching and voltage regulator applications and for heating, lighting and motor speed-control circuits. Outline No.71. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is electrically identical with type 40749.



20A. 100V

40760

40757

Si all-diffused type used for power switching and voltage regulator applications and for heating, lighting and motor speed-control circuits. Outline No.71. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is electrically identical with type 40752.



20A, 200V

40750

Si all-diffused type used for power switching and voltage regulator applications and for heating, lighting and motor speed-control circuits. Outline No.36. For Conduction Rating Chart and Forward Gate Characteristics curves, refer to type 40749.



3 K

MAXIMUM RATINGS

VRSOM	100	v
VDSOM	150	v
VRROM	100	v
VDBOM	100	v
ITSM (1 cycle of sinusoidal principal voltage);		•
50 Hz	170	A
60 Hz	200	A
$I_{T(AV)}$ (T _c = 75°C, conduction angle = 180°)	12.5	A
$T_{\rm T(BWS)}$ (Tc - 75°C conduction angle - 180°)	20	Ä
di/dt (Vpw = v/roo) $I_{CT} = 200 \text{ mA} (t_{c} = 0.5 \text{ //s})$	200	A /
$a_{j}a_{k}$ (10 a_{k} max)	40	··/ w
$P_{0,1}$ (10 μ s max)	10	337
Toma	65 to 150	
$T_{\rm c}$ (op)	-65 10 100	
1s (10 s max)	225	-0
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at	$T_c = 25$ °C)	
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $v_{(B0)0}$ (Tc = 100°C)	$T_{c} = 25^{\circ}C)$	v
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $V(BO)O$ (Tc = 100°C) DOM (VDO = $VDBOM$, Tc = 100°C)	$T_c = 25°C)$ 0.2 typ: 3 max	V mA
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $v_{(B0)0}$ (Tc = 100°C) I_{DOM} (VD0 = VDR0M, Tc = 100°C) LRNM (VB0 = VBR0W)	$T_c = 25^{\circ}C)$ 200 0.2 typ; 3 max 0.1 typ; 2 max	V mA
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $v_{(B0)0}$ (Tc = 100°C) IDOM (VD0 = VDROM, Tc = 100°C) IRROM (VR0 = VROM) VT (ir = 100 A, Tc = 25°C)	$T_{c} = 25^{\circ}C)$ 200 0.2 typ; 3 max 0.1 typ; 2 max 1.9 typ; 2 4 max	V mA mA V
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $v_{(BO)O}$ (Tc = 100°C) I_{DOM} ($V_{DO} = V_{DROM}$, Tc = 100°C) IRROM ($V_{RO} = V_{RROM}$) v_{T} (ir = 100 A, Tc = 25°C) v_{T} ($v_{D} = 12$ Vdc Br = 30 Q)	$\begin{array}{l} T_{\rm c} = 25^{\circ} \text{C}) \\ & \begin{array}{c} 200 \\ 0.2 \ \rm typ; 3 \ max \\ 0.1 \ \rm typ; 2 \ max \\ 1.9 \ \rm typ; 2.4 \ max \\ 8 \ \rm typ: 15 \ max \end{array}$	V mA mA V
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	$T_{c} = 25^{\circ}C)$ $\begin{array}{c} 200\\ 0.2 \ typ; \ 3 \ max\\ 0.1 \ typ; \ 2 \ max\\ 1.9 \ typ; \ 2.4 \ max\\ 8 \ typ; \ 15 \ max\\ 1.1 \ typ; \ 2 \ max\\ \end{array}$	V mA mA V mA
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	$\begin{array}{l} \textbf{T}_{c} = \textbf{25^{\circ}C} \\ \hline 200 \\ 0.2 \ typ; \ 3 \ max \\ 0.1 \ typ; \ 2 \ max \\ 1.9 \ typ; \ 2.4 \ max \\ 8 \ typ; \ 15 \ max \\ 1.1 \ typ; \ 2 \ max \\ \theta \ typ; \ 20 \ max \end{array}$	V MA MA MA
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	$\begin{array}{l} T_{\rm c} = 25^{\circ} \text{C}) \\ & \begin{array}{c} 200 \\ 0.2 \ typ; 3 \ max \\ 0.1 \ typ; 2 \ max \\ 1.9 \ typ; 2.4 \ max \\ 8 \ typ; 15 \ max \\ 1.1 \ typ; 2 \ max \\ 9 \ typ; 20 \ max \\ 9 \ typ; 20 \ max \\ 9 \ typ; 150 \ max \\ \end{array}$	V mA mA V mA V MA
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $v_{(BO)0}$ (Tc = 100°C) I_{DOM} (V _{D0} = V _{DROM} , Tc = 100°C) I_{RROM} (V _{R0} = V _{RROM}) v_{T} (ir = 100 A, Tc = 25°C) I_{GT} (V _D = 12 Vdc, R _L = 30 Ω) V_{GT} (V _D = 12 Vdc, R _L = 30 Ω) i_{T0} dv/dt dv/dt dv_{CT} = v _{ROM} min value in = 30 A for = 200 mA	$\begin{array}{l} \textbf{T}_{c} \; = \; \textbf{25^{\circ}C}) \\ 200 \\ 0.2 \; typ; \; 3 \; max \\ 0.1 \; typ; \; 2 \; max \\ 1.9 \; typ; \; 2.4 \; max \\ 8 \; typ; \; 15 \; max \\ 1.1 \; typ; \; 2 \; max \\ 9 \; typ; \; 20 \; max \\ 10 \; min; \; 150 \; max \end{array}$	V MA MA V MA V/µS
$\begin{array}{c} \mbox{CHARACTERISTICS} \ (At \ maximum \ electrical \ ratings \ at \ v(BO)0 \ (TC = 100^{\circ}C) \$	$\begin{array}{l} T_{c} = 25^{\circ}C) \\ 200 \\ 0.2 typ; 3 max \\ 0.1 typ; 2 max \\ 1.9 typ; 2.4 max \\ 8 typ; 15 max \\ 1.1 typ; 2 max \\ 9 typ; 20 max \\ 10 min; 150 max \end{array}$	V mA mA Μ Μ Μ Δ V/μs
CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at v(BO)0 (Tc = 100°C) IDOM (VD0 = VDROM, Tc = 100°C) IRROM (VR0 = VRROM) vT (ir = 100 A, Tc = 25°C) IGT (VD = 12 Vdc, RL = 30 Ω) VGT (VD = 12 Vdc, RL = 30 Ω) in dv/dt tgt (VD = v(B0)0 min value, ir = 30 A, IGT = 200 mA, tr = 0.1 μ s) tg (VD = 0.1 μ s)	$\begin{array}{l} \textbf{T}_{c} = \textbf{25^{\circ}C} \\ 200 \\ 0.2 \ typ; 3 \ max \\ 0.1 \ typ; 2 \ max \\ 1.9 \ typ; 2.4 \ max \\ 8 \ typ; 15 \ max \\ 1.1 \ typ; 2 \ max \\ 9 \ typ; 20 \ max \\ 10 \ min; 150 \ max \end{array}$	۷ mA MA ۷ mA ۷/μs
$\begin{array}{c} \mbox{CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at} \\ $v_{(BO)O}$ (Tc = 100°C) $$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$	$\begin{array}{l} T_{\rm c} = 25^{\circ} \text{C}) \\ & \begin{array}{c} 200 \\ 0.2 \ typ; 3 \ max \\ 0.1 \ typ; 2 \ max \\ 1.9 \ typ; 2.4 \ max \\ 8 \ typ; 15 \ max \\ 1.1 \ typ; 2 \ max \\ 9 \ typ; 20 \ max \\ 10 \ min; 150 \ max \end{array}$	V mA MA V mA V/μs
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	$\begin{array}{l} T_{\rm c} = 25^{\circ} \text{C}) \\ & 200 \\ 0.2 \rm typ; 3 max \\ 0.1 \rm typ; 2.4 max \\ 8 \rm typ; 15 max \\ 1.1 \rm typ; 2.4 max \\ 1.1 \rm typ; 20 max \\ 1.1 \rm typ; 20 max \\ 10 \rm min; 150 max \\ 2 \\ 20 \rm typ; 40 max \\ \end{array}$	ν mA w MA V/μs μs
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	$\begin{array}{l} \textbf{T}_{c} = \textbf{25^{\circ}C} \\ 200 \\ 0.2 \ typ; \ 3 \ max \\ 0.1 \ typ; \ 2 \ max \\ 1.9 \ typ; \ 2.4 \ max \\ 8 \ typ; \ 15 \ max \\ 1.1 \ typ; \ 2 \ max \\ 9 \ typ; \ 20 \ max \\ 10 \ min; \ 150 \ max \\ 2 \\ 20 \ typ; \ 40 \ max \\ 1.2 \ max \\ 1.2 \ max \\ \end{array}$	V mA MA W MA V/μs μs °C/W

40754

20A, 200V

Si all-diffused type used for power switching and voltage regulator applications and for heating, lighting and motor speed-control circuits. Outline No.37. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is electrically identical with type 40750.

40758

20A, 200V

Si all-diffused type used for power switching and voltage regulator applications and for heating, lighting and motor speed-control circuits. Outline No.71. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is electrically identical with type 40750.

40751

20A, 400V

Si all-diffused type used for power switching and voltage regulator applications and for heating, lighting and motor speed-control circuits. Outline No.36. For Conduction Rating Chart and Forward Gate Characteristics curves, refer to type 40749.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Vrsom Vdsom Vrrom Vdrom	
----------------------------------	--







MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

ITSM (1 cycle of sinusoidal principal voltage):		
50 Hz	170	A
60 Hz	200	A
$I_{T(AV)}$ (T _c = 75°C, conduction angle = 180°)	12.5	A
$I_{T(BMS)}$ (T _c = 75°C, conduction angle = 180°)	20	A
di/dt (V _{DM} = V(BO)0, I _{GT} = 200 mA, tr = 0.5 μ s)	200	A/μs
P_{GM} (10 µs max)	40	w
$P_{G(AV)}$ (10 ms max)	0.5	w
	65 to 150	°C
Tc(opr)	-65 to 100	°C
Ts (10 s max)	225	°C

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_{\rm c}$ = 25°C)

$V(R_{0}) \circ (T_{C} = 100^{\circ}C)$	400	v
$V_{\rm LDOM}$ (VDO = VDROM, Tc = 100°C)	0.2 typ; 3 max	mA
$I_{RROM} (V_{RO} = V_{RROM})$	0.1 typ; 2 max	mA
v_T (ir = 100 A, Tc = 25°C)	1.9 typ; 2.4 max	v
I_{GT} (V _D = 12 Vdc, R _L = 30 Ω)	8 typ; 15 max	mA
V_{GT} ($V_D = 12 \text{ Vdc}, R_L = 30 \Omega$)	1.1 typ; 2 max	v
іно	9 typ; 20 max	MA
dv/dt	10 min; 100 max	v/µs
tg_t (V _D = v _{(B0)0} min value, ir = 30 Å, $1Gr = 200$ mÅ,	2	""
$t_r = 0.1 \ \mu s$	2	μο
tq (V F(BO)O min value, $IT = 18$ A, $IP = 50 \ \mu$ S, $IGT = 200 \ IIIA$,	20 typ: 40 max	иS
$-di/dt = -30 \text{ A}/\mu\text{s}, dv/dt = 20 \text{ v}/\mu\text{s}, 10 = 13 \text{ C}$	1.2 max	°C/Ŵ
	1.4 max	°Č/W
()2-13		•



20A, 400V

40755

Si all-diffused type used for power switching and voltage regulator applications and for heating, lighting and motor speed-control circuits. Outline No.37. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is electrically identical with type 40751.



20A, 400V

40759

Si all-diffused type used for power switching and voltage regulator applications and for heating, lighting and motor speed-control circuits. Outline No.71. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is electrically identical with type 40751.



25A, 600V

2N681-2N690

Si all-diffused three-junction types for use in powercontrol and power-switching applications. JEDEC TO-48, Outline No.20. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal ac supply voltage at f = 50 to 400 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

	2N681	2N682	2N683	2N684	2N685	2N686	2N687	2N688	2N689	2N690	
VRSOM	35	75	150	225	300	350	400	500	600	720	v
VRROM	25	50	100	150	200	250	300	400	500	600	v



MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

Si all-diffused types used for high-speed switching applications such as power inverters, switching regulators, and high-current pulse applications. JEDEC TO-48, Outline No.20. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.



MAXIMUM RATINGS

VRSOM VDSOM VRROM VDROM ITSM (1 cycle of principal voltage at	2N3650 150 150 100 100	2N3651 300 200 200	2N3652 400 400 300 300	2N3653 500 500 400 400	v v v v
$\begin{array}{l} 60 Hz) \\ IT(AV) (conduction \ angle = 180^\circ) \\ IT(RMS) \\ di/dt (VDM = V(BO)O, \ IGT = 200 \ MA. \end{array}$			180 25 35		A A A
$ \begin{array}{c} t_r = 0.1 \ \mu s \\ P_{GM} \ (10 \ \mu s \ max) \end{array} $			400		$M/\mu s$ W

MAXIMUM RATINGS (cont'd)

Pg(AV) (10 ms max)	1	w
Тата	65 to 150	°C
Tc(opr)	—65 to 120	°C
Ts (10 s max)	225	-0

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_{\rm c}$ = 25°C)

$ \begin{array}{l} v_{\rm (BO)0} \ ({\rm Tc} = 120^{\circ}{\rm C}) & \\ {\rm Idom} \ ({\rm Vdo} = {\rm Vdrom}, \ {\rm Tc} = 120^{\circ}{\rm C}) & \\ {\rm Irrow} \ ({\rm Vro} = {\rm Vdrom}, \ {\rm Tc} = 120^{\circ}{\rm C}) \\ {\rm yr}_{-} \ ({\rm ir} = 25 \ {\rm A}) & \end{array} $	100 min 200 min 300 min 400 min 6 max 6 max 5.5 max 4 max 6 max 6 max 5.5 max 4 max 2.05 max 2.05 max	V mA mA V
	80 typ; 180 max 150 typ; 500 max	mA mA
$V_{\text{GT}}: V_{\text{D}} = 6 \text{ Vdc}, R_{\text{L}} = 4 \Omega \dots$	1.5 typ; 3 max	v
$V_D = V_{DROM}, R_L = 200 \ \Omega,$ $T_C = 120^{\circ}C$ $V_D = 6 \ Vdc, R_L = 2 \ \Omega, T_C = -65^{\circ}C$	0.25 min 2 typ; 4.5 max	v v
ino: $T_c = 25^{\circ}C$ $T_c = -65^{\circ}C$	75 typ; 150 max	mA mA
Critical dv/dt (VDO = VDROM, expo- nential rise, T _C = 120°C)	200 min	V∕µs
tq. Rectangular Pulse (Vbx = Vbnom, ir = 10 Å, tp = 50 μ s, Icr = 200 mÅ at turn-on, - di/dt = 5 Å/ μ s, dv/dt = 200 V/ μ s, Vrx = 15 min, Vcx = 0 at turn-off, Tc = 120°C) tq. Half-Sinosoidal Waveform (Vbx	11 typ; 15 max	μs
$=$ VDROM, it = 100 A, tp = 1.5 μ s, IGT = 200 mA, dv/dt = 200 V/ μ s, VRX = 30 Vmin, VGK = 0 at turn- off, TC = 115°C)	12 typ; 15 max	°C/W





2N3870-2N3873

Si all-diffused three-junction types for use in powercontrol and power-switching applications. Outline No.36. For curve of forward gate characteristics, refer to type 2N3668.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal ac supply voltage at f = 50 to 400 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

	2N3870	2N3871	2N3872	2N3873	
VRSOM VRBOM VDROM Ir(AY) (conduction angle = 180°	150 100 100	330 200 200	660 400 400	700 600 600	v v v
$\begin{array}{l} T_{C} = 65^{\circ}C) \\ \hline T_{TSM} (1 \ cycle \ of \ principle \ voltage) \\ T_{TSM} (1 \ cycle \ of \ principle \ voltage) \\ \hline P_{0M} (peak, \ forward, \ or \ reverse \ for \ 10 \ \mu s) \\ P_{GAV} \\ \hline T_{stg} \\ \hline T_{c} \\ \hline T_{c} \\ \hline \end{array}$		3 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	22 35 50 00 10 10 10 125 to 125		Α Α Α/μs ₩ ₩ ℃ ℃

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical rating at $T_c = 25$ °C)

	2N3870	2N3871	2N3872	2N3873	
$v_{F(BO)0}$ (Tc = 100°C) I_{DOM} (V _D = $v_{F(BO)0}$ min value, Tc = 100°C)	100 min 0.2 typ 2 max	200 min 0.25 typ 2.5 max	400 min 0.3 typ 3 max	600 min 0.35 typ 4 max	V mA mA
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$		3 1 1.7 typ;	max 2.1 max .		mA V
	2N3870	2N3871	2N3872	2N3873	
vr (initial) (ir = 300 A, t = 2 μ s, Vp = vr(so)o min value, Igr = 200 mA) Ior Vgr	1	_ 15 typ; min, 25 _ 1.1 typ 0.5	25 max . typ, 40 m ; 2 max . to 70	ax	V mA(dc) V(dc) mA
Critical dv/dt ($V_D = v_{F(BO)O}$ min value, exponential rise, $T_C = 100^{\circ}C$)		_ 10 min;	100 typ .		V(dc)
t_{gt} (V _D = VF(BO)0 min value, ir = 30 A, IGT = 200 mA, tr = 0.1 μ s) t_q (ir = 18 A, 50 μ s pulse width,		1.25 typ	; 2 max		μs
$dv_D/dt = 20 V/\mu s$, $di_R/dt = 30 A/\mu s$, $I_{GT} = 200 mA$, $T_C = 80^{\circ}C$)		_ 20 typ;	40 max .		μs

RATING CHART (CASE TEMPERATURE)


3 A

(3) K

Si all-diffused types used for power switching applications and for use in heating, lighting and motor speedcontrol circuits. Outline No.71. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinusoidal ac supply voltage at f = 50 - 400 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

VRSOM [®] VDSOM [®] VRROM [®] UDROM [®] UTSW (1 cycle principal voltage	40680 100 150 100 100	40681 200 250 200 200	40682 400 500 400 400	40683 600 700 600 600	V V V V
at 50 Hz) ITSM (1 cycle principal voltage at 60 Hz)		3 3	00 50		A A
IT(RMS) (Tc = 60°C, conduction angle = 180°) PGMA (10 μ S max)		3	35 10		A W W
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$		2 	00 to 150 to 100 25		A/μs °C °C °C

• These values do not apply if there is a positive gate signal. Gate must be open, terminated, or negatively biased.

▲ Any values of peak gate current or peak gate voltage which give the maximum gate power are permissible.

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_c = 25$ °C)

			-		
$V_{F(BO)O}$ (Tc = 100°C)	100 min	200 min	400 min	600 min	v
I_{DOM} (VDO \equiv VDROM,	0.2 typ;	0.25 typ;	0.3 typ;	0.35 typ;	
$T_C = 100^{\circ}C$	2 max	2.5 max	3 max	4 max	mA
IRROM (VRO = VRROM,	0.3 typ;	0.4 typ;	0.4 typ;	0.5 typ;	
$T_{c} = 100^{\circ}C$)	3 max	3 max	3 max	3 max	mA ⁻
v_{T} (i _T = 100 Å)		1.7 typ:	2.1 max		v
IGT $(V_D = 12 \text{ Vdc}, R_L = 30 \Omega)$		î te	o 40		mÅ
V_{GT} (Vp = 12 Vdc, R _L = 30 Ω)		1.1 typ: 2 max		1 typ: 2 max	v
іно		20 typ;	70 max		mÅ
dv/dt (V _{D0} = V _F (B0)0,		10	100 4		37/ -
$10 = 100^{\circ} \text{C}$		10 mm;	TOO LYD		v/µs





40680-

CHARACTERISTICS (cont'd)

t_{gt} (V _D = V _{F(BO)0} , iT = 30 A, I _{GT} = 200 mA, t _r = 0.1 μ s) t_{a} (V _D = V _{F(BO)0} , iT = 18 A.	 2	 μs
$t_p = 50 \ \mu s, \ dv/dt = -20 \ V/\mu s, \ di/dt = -30 \ A/\mu s, \ I_{GT} = 200$		
mA, $T_{\rm C} = 75^{\circ}{\rm C}$	 20 typ; 40 max	μs
VF Initial (IF = 300 A, $t = 2 \mu s$, VFB = VF(B0)0, IGT = 200 mA) Thermal Resistance Junctions	 15 typ; 25 max	 v
to-Isolated Stud	 1 max	 °C/W

2N3896-2N3899

Si all-diffused three-junction types for use in powercontrol and power-switching applications. Outline No.32. Types 2N3896, 2N3897, 2N3898, and 2N3899 are electrically identical with types 2N3870, 2N3871, 2N3872, and 2N3873, respectively.

TERMINALI TERMINALI

40216

35A, 600V

Si all-diffused three-junction type for use in radar pulse modulators, inverters, switching regulators, and other applications requiring a large ratio of peak to average current. JEDEC TO-48, Outline No.20. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

VRSOM		
VEROM		
VDROM		
IT (RMS)	$(T_{\rm C} = 65^{\circ}{\rm C})$	
ÎTRM		
Pw (To	- 65°C)	•••••
Pow in	eak forward or reverse for 10 us)	
Perrey	car, forward of feverse, for to ps, manufacturents	•••••
T-1-		•••••
Talg		
** *** ***	› * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	*****



v
- .
V.
v
A
A
w
w
w
°C
°C



Thyristors

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical rating at $T_c = 25$ °C)

$VF(BO)O$ ($T_C = 125^{\circ}C$) $IDOM$ ($T_C = 125^{\circ}C$) $IPON$ ($T_C = 125^{\circ}C$)	600 min 10 max 10 max	V mA mA
	1 min, 25 typ,	m A (da)
	1.1 typ; 2 max	$\mathbf{V}(dc)$
Critical dv/dt (Vn — vrgano min value, exponential rise,	0.5 to 70	mA
$T_c = 125^{\circ}C$	20 min; 50 typ	μS
t_{gt} (V _D = v _{F(BO)O} min value, i _T = 30 A, I_{GT} = 200 mA, t_r = 0.1 μ s)	1.25	μS
t_q (ir = 18 Å, 50 μ s pulse width, $dv_D/dt = 20 V/\mu s$, dir/dt = 30 Å/ μ s for = 200 mÅ Tc = 80°C)	15 to 40	μs
θ_{J-C}	2 max	°C/W



35A, 600V

40735



Si all-diffused type used for high-speed switching applications such as power inverters, switching, regulators, and high-current pulse applications. JEDEC TO-48, Outline No.20. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement. This type is identical with type 2N3650 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Vrsom Vdsom Vrrom Vdrom		700 700 600 600	V V V V
CHAF	ACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at T $_{ m c}$ =	25°C)	
V(во)о Ідом	(Tc = 120°C)	600 min 3 max	mA W

40504-40506

1.7A—5A

200V---700V

Si all-diffused three-junction types used in powercontrol and power-switching applications. JEDEC TO-66 (with heat radiator), Outline No.26. Types 40504, 40505, and 40506 are electrically identical with types 2N3228, 2N3525, and 2N4101, respectively.

2N3528 2N3529

2A, 200V

2A, 400V

Si all-diffused three-junction types for use in powercontrol and power-switching applications. JEDEC TO-8, Outline No.10. These types are identical with type 2N3228 except for the following items:



mA

(2

MT2,HR

MAXIMUM RATINGS (For sinuspidal ac supply voltage at f = 50 to 400 Hz with resistive or inductive load)

	2N3528	2N3529	
VRSOM VRROM VDROM IT(AV) (conduction angle = 180°, T _A = 25°C)		21N3529 660 400 600 - 1.3	V V V A
$TT(RMS)$ ($TA = 25^{\circ}C$)		_ 2	A

CHARACTERISTICS (At maximum electrical ratings at $T_c = 25$ °C)

$V_{F(BO)O}$ (Tc = 100°C)	 400 min
I_{DOM} (V _{DO} = VF(BO)O, Tc = 100°C)	 0.2 typ; 3 max
IRROM (VRO = VRSOM, $Tc = 100^{\circ}C$)	 0.1 typ; 1.5 max
A-LG	 40 max



Diacs

1N5411

DIAC

Si all-diffused three-layer trigger diode type used for triac phase-control circuits for lamp dimming, universalmotor speed, and heat controls. JEDEC DO-26, Outline No.66.



Thyristors

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Peak Pulse Current, Forward or Reverse ($t_p = 30 \ \mu s$, $df = 0.004$) Device Dissipation (Tc up to 75°C)		2 0.5	A W
Operating (Junction) Storage	Tı (opr) T _{STG} T _L	-40 to 100 -40 to 150 255	ວໍາ ວໍາ
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature = 25°C	;)		
Breakover Voltage, Forward or Reverse Breakover-Voltage Symmetry	V(во) *V(во) —	29 to 35 ∼V(во) ±3	vv
(Iso (forward or reverse) = 10 mA)	∆V І(во)	5 min 50 max	$^{V}_{\mu A}$

DIAC

40583



Si all-diffused three-layer trigger diode type used for triac phase-control circuits for lamp dimming, universalmotor speed, and heat controls. JEDEC DO-26, Outline No.66. This type is identical with type 1N5411 except for the following item:

CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $= 25^{\circ}$ C)

Breakover Voltage, Forward or Reverse V(BO) 27 to 37 A

Technical Data for Rectifiers and Other Diodes

THIS section contains detailed technical data for all current RCA silicon rectifiers and other solid-state diodes. The data on the rectifiers is presented in an easy-toread quick-reference chart to facilitate comparison and selection of individual types. The rectifiers are listed in the chart in order of ascending current ratings. The data on the diodes are presented in display format. In selection of devices for use in new electronic equipment, a prospective user should refer to the appropriate section of the Selection Guide included earlier in the Manual. For the reader who requires data on specific types, a complete numericalalphabetical-numerical index to all current RCA solid-state devices is provided immediately following the Circuits Section in the back of the Manual.

Silicon Diffused-Junction Rectifiers

			MAXIMUM RATINGS CH						CHA	ARAC-	
RCA Type	OUTLII JEDEC	NE No.	lfav at To A	° •C	(rep) A	(surge) A	VRMS V	V _{RM} and V <u>м</u> (block) V	V _{FM} V	law (dynamic) mA	
1N3754 1N3755 1N3756 40265 1N3563	TO-1** TO-1** TO-1** TO-1** TO-1*	41 41 41 41 40	0.125 0.125 0.125 0.125 0.3*	65 65 65 75	1.3 1.3 1.3 1.3 4*	30 30 30 30 35*	35 70 140 140 700	100 200 400 400 1000	1 1 1 1.2	0.3 0.3 0.4 0.2	
1 N3196 1 N3256 1 N3193 1 N3194 1 N3195	T0-1‡ T0-1° T0-1‡ T0-1‡ T0-1‡	39 41 39 39 39	0.4* Insulate 0.5* 0.5* 0.5*	75 d ver: 75 75 75	5* sion of 6* 6*	35* 1N3196 35* 35* 35*	560 140 280 420	800 200 400 600	1.2 1.2 1.2 1.2	0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2	
1N3253 1N3254 1N3255 40808 40809	TO-1° TO-1° TO-1° DO-26 DO-26	40 40 40 40 40	Insulate Insulate Insulate 0.5 0.5	d vers d vers d vers 25 25	sion of sion of sion of 	1N3193 1N3194 1N3195 32 32 32	420 560	600 800	1 1	0.005 0.005	
1N444B 1N445B 1N440B 1N441B 1N442B	DO-1 DO-1 DO-1 DO-1 DO-1	38 38 38 38 38 38	0.65 0.65 0.75 0.75 0.75	50 50 50 50 50	3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5	15 15 15 15 15	350 420 70 140 210	500 600 100 200 300	1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5	1.75• 2• 0.3• 0.75• 1•	

** Similar to TO-1 package with lead 3 omitted.
O Similar to TO-1 package with axial leads and insulated plastic sleeve over metal case.
‡ Similar to TO-1 package with axial leads.
* With capacitive load.
• Static value in μA.

Rectifiers and Other Diodes

					MAXIMU	M RATIN	IGS		CHA TERI	RAC-
RCA Type	OUTL Jedec	.INE No.	lf. at A	• ° C	(rep) A	(surge) A	V _{RMS} V	VRM and VM (block) V	V _{FM} V	l _{RM} (dynamic) mÅ
1N443B 1N536 1N537 1N538 1N539	DO-1 DO-1 DO-1 DO-1 DO-1 DO-1	38 38 38 38 38	0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75	50 50 50 50 50	3.5 	15 15 15 15 15	280 35 70 140 210	400 50 100 200 300	1.5 1.1 1.1 1.1 1.1	1.5● 5● 5● 5● 5●
1N540 1N547 1N1095 1N1763A 1N1764A	D0-1 D0-1 D0-1 D0-1 D0-1	38 38 38 38 38 38	0.75 0.75 0.75 1 1	50 50 75 75 75		15 15 35 35	280 420 350 280 350	400 600 500 400 500	1.1 1.2 1.2 1.2 1.2	5● 5● 0.1 0.1
1 N2858Å 1 N2859Å 1 N2860Å 1 N2861Å 1 N2861Å 1 N2862Å	DO-1 DO-1 DO-1 DO-1 DO-1	38 38 38 38 38 38	1 1 1 1	75 75 75 75 75	5 5 5 5 5	35 35 35 35 35	35 70 140 210 280	50 100 200 300 400	1.2 1.2 1.2 1.2 1.2	0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1
1N2863Å 1N2864Å 40642 4 0643 4 0644	DO-1 DO-1 DO-26 DO-26 DO-26	38 38 40 40 40	1 1 1 1	75 75 	5 5 6.5 6 0.3	35 35 70 10 20	350 420 	500 600 700▲ 800‡ 700▲	1.2 1.2 2 1.3 1.3	0.1 0.1 10© 10© 10©
40266 40267 1N1612= 1N1613= 1N1614=	DO-1 DO-1 DO-4 DO-4 DO-4	38 38 42 42 42	2* 2* 5 5 5	105 105 135 135 135	10 10 15 15 15	35 35 	35 70 35 70 140	100 200 50 100 200	3 3 1.5 1.5 1.5	10† 10† 1 1 1
1N1615" 1N1616" 1N1341B" 1N1342B" 1N1344B"	DO-4 DO-4 DO-4 DO-4 DO-4	42 42 42 42 42	5 5 6 6	135 135 150 150 150	15 15 25 25 25	 160 160 160	280 420 35 70 140	400 600 50 100 200	1.5 1.5 0.65 0.65 0.65	1 0.45 0.45 0.45
1N1345B" 1N1346B" 1N1347B" 1N1348B" 40108"	DO-4 DO-4 DO-4 DO-4 DO-4	42 42 42 42 42	6 6 6 10	150 150 150 150 150	25 25 25 25 40	160 160 160 160 140	212 284 355 424	300 400 500 600 50	0.65 0.65 0.65 0.65 0.65	0.45 0.45 0.45 0.45 2
40109= 40110= 40111= 40112= 40113=	DO-4 DO-4 DO-4 DO-4 DO-4	42 42 42 42 42	10 10 10 10 10	150 150 150 150 150	40 40 40 40 40	140 140 140 140 140		100 200 300 400 500	0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6	2 1.5 1.5 1 0.85
40114" 40115" 1N1199A" 1N1200A" 1N1202A"	DO-4 DO-4 DO-4 DO-4 DO-4	42 42 42 42 42	10 10 12 12 12	150 150 150 150 150	40 40 50 50 50	140 140 240 240 240	35 70 140	600 800 50 100 200	0.6 0.6 0.55 0.55 0.55	0.75 0.65 3 2.5 2

• Static value in μ A. • Static condition. • With capacitive load. • Reverse-polarity version available. • V_{RM} (block) = 550V. • V_{RM} (block) = 450V. Static value in μ A. • Value in μ A.

Silicon Diffused-Junction Rectifiers

					MAXIM	JM RATIN	a S		CHAI	AC-
RCA Type	OUTLI JEDEC	NE No.	at A	TC TC	i (rep) A	гм (surge) A	V _{RMS} V	V _{RM} and V _M (block) V	VFM V	les (dynamic) mÅ
1 N1203A= 1 N1204A= 1 N1205A= 1 N1206A= 4 0208=	D0-4 D0-4 D0-4 D0-4 D0-5	42 42 42 42 43	12 12 12 12 12	150 150 150 150 150	50 50 50 50 72	240 240 240 240 250	212 284 355 424	300 400 500 600 50	0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.65	1.75 1.5 1.25 1 3
40209= 40210= 40211= 40212= 40213=	D0-5 D0-5 D0-5 D0-5 D0-5	43 43 43 43 43	18 18 18 18 18	150 150 150 150 150	72 72 72 72 72 72	250 250 250 250 250		100 200 300 400 500	0.65 0.65 0.65 0.65 0.65	3 2.5 2.5 2 1.75
40214" 1 N248C" 1 N249C" 1 N250C" 1 N1195A"	D0-5 D0-5 D0-5 D0-5 D0-5	43 43 43 43 43	18 20 20 20 20	150 150 150 150 150	72 90 90 90 90	250 350 350 350 350	39 77 154 212	600 55▲ 110▲ 220▲ 300	0.65 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6	1.5 3.8 3.6 3.4 3.2
1N1196A= 1N1197A= 1N1198A= 1N1183A= 1N1183A= 1N1184A=	D0-5 D0-5 D0-5 D0-5 D0-5	43 43 43 43 43	20 20 20 40 40	150 150 150 150 150	90 90 90 195 195	350 350 350 800 800	284 355 424 35 70	400 500 600 50 100	0.6 0.6 0.65 0.65	2.5 2.2 1.5 2.5 2.5
1N1186A" 1N1187A= 1N1188A" 1N1189A" 1N1189A" 1N1190A"	D0-5 D0-5 D0-5 D0-5 D0-5	43 43 43 43 43	40 40 40 40 40	150 150 150 150 150	195 195 195 195 195 195	800 800 800 800 800 800	140 212 284 355 424	200 300 400 500 600	0.65 0.65 0.65 0.65 0.65	2.5 2.5 2.2 2 1.8

Reverse-polarity version available.
A V_M (block) is 10% less.

Silicon Diffused-Junction Stack Rectifiers

			MAXI	MUM R	ATINGS			CHARA	CTERISTI	CS
RCA Type	OUTLINE NO.	at 100°C	(rep)	ifm (surge)	V Vrms	VRM (rep) and VM (block)	VRM‡ (non- rep)	¥ F № ■ (l RM■ dynamic)	Cs (max)
		A	A	A		v	V	V	A	pF
CR201	45a	0.155	3	10	1345	1900	2280	1.8	0.1	_
CR203	45b	0.155	3	ĪŎ	2240	3165	3800	3	0.1	_
CR204	45c	0.155	3	10	3395	4800	5760	3.6	0.1	_
CR206	45d	0.155	3	10	4475	6330	7600	6	0.1	_
CR208	45e	0.155	3	ĪŎ	5655	8000	9600	Ğ	0.Î	-
CR210	45f	0.155	3	10	7070	10000	12000	7.2	0.1	_
CR212	45g	0.155	3	10	8485	12000	14400	9	0.1	_
CR107	44g	0.230	5	20	5370	7595	9115	7.2	0.3	105
CR108	44h	0.230	5	20	5820	8230	9875	7.8	0.3	100
CR109	44i	0.230	5	20	6710	9495	11395	9	0.3	90
CR110	44i	0.230	5	20	7160	10130	12155	9.6	0.3	80
CR106	44f	0.250	5	20	4475	6330	7600	6	0.3	125
CR104	44d	0.270	5	20	3130	4430	5315	4.2	0.3	175
CR105	44e	0.270	5	20	3580	5065	6080	4.8	0.3	160
CR103	44c	0.315	5	20	2240	3165	3800	3	0.3	250
							-			

• At maximum rated operating conditions. \ddagger For duration of 5 ms max; T_c = 60 to 125°C.

Silicon Diffused-Junction Stack Rectifiers (cont'd)

			MAXI	MUM R	ATINGS	Mana (Fem)	w	CHAR	ACTERISTI	cs
RCĂ TYPE	OUTLINE NO.	at 100°C	(rep)	(surge)	V Vrms	and Vm (block)	(non- rep)	¥гм≡	(dynamic)	(max)
CR102 CR101 CR301 CR302 CR303	44b 44a 46a 46b 46c	0.355 0.385 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5	• 5 5 1	20 20 250 250 250 250	1790 895 1695 2545 3395	2530 1265 2400 3600 4800	3035 1520 2880 4320 5760	2.4 1.2 	0.3 0.3 1.5 1.5 1.5	pF 320 600 **
CR304 CR305 CR306 CR307 CR311	46d 46e 46f 46g 46h	2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 4.5		250 250 250 250 250	4240 5090 5935 6785 1695	6000 7200 8400 9600 2400	7200 8640 10080 11520 2880		1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5	** ** ** **
CR312 CR313 CR314 CR315 CR316	46i 46j 46k 46l 46m	4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5		250 250 250 250 250	2545 3395 4240 5090 5935	3600 4800 6000 7200 8400	4320 5760 7200 8640 10080		1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5	** ** **
CR317 CR321 CR322 CR323 CR324	46n 46o 46p 46q 46r	4.5 6 6 6 6		250 400 400 400 400	6785 1695 2545 3395 4240	9600 2400 3600 4800 6000	11520 2880 4320 5760 7200	1 1 1 1	1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5	** **
CR325 CR331 CR332 CR333 CR333 CR334	46s 46t 46u 46v 46w	6 8.5 8.5 8.5 8.5	1111	400 400 400 400 400	5090 1695 2545 3395 4240	7200 2400 3600 4800 6000	8640 2880 4320 5760 7200		1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5	** **
CR335 CR341 CR342 CR343 CR344	46x 46y 46z 46aa 46bb	8.5 11.5 11.5 11.5 11.5 11.5		400 850 850 850 850	5090 1695 2545 3395 4240	7200 2400 3600 4800 6000	8640 2880 4320 5760 7200		1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5	** ** **
CR351 CR352 CR353 CR354	46cc 46dd 46ee 46ff	17.5 17.5 17.5 17.5		850 850 850 850	1695 2545 3395 4240	2400 3600 4800 6000	2880 4320 5760 7200		1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5	** **

** Cs typically 0.01 µF per cell.

Silicon Plug-in Rectifiers

RCA Type	OUTLINE NO.	AVERA OU A	GE DC TPUT V	RMS SUPPLY V	RCA TYPE	OUTLINE NO.	AVER/ OUT A	NGE DC IPUT V	RMS SUPPLY V
CR401† CR402† CR403† CR501‡ CR502‡ CR404† CR405† CR405†	46a 46c 46b 46b 46b 46o 46o 46o	18 18 24 24 34 34 34	200 400 800 300 600 200 400 800	222 444 888 222 444 222 444 888	CR503‡ CR504‡ CR407† CR408† CR409† CR505‡ CR505‡	46p 46y 46y 46y 46aa 46z 46z	46 46 70 70 92 92	300 600 200 400 800 300 600	222 444 222 444 888 222 441

† Single-phase, full-wave types.

‡ Three-phase, full-wave types.

Transistor, Thyristor & Diode Manual

Silicon Bridge Rectifiers

These high-voltage diffusedjunction types are direct re-placements for the mercuryvapor and gas rectifier tubes indicated. Data for the tubetype rectifiers are given in the RCA Transmitting Tube Manual TT-5.

RCA TYPE CR273/8008

CR274/872A CR275/866A/3B28

8008 872, 872A 866, 866A, 3B28

CASE

40598A

EMITTING DIODE

GaAs high-frequency type used for continuous or pulse applications in military, industrial, and commercial equipment. Outline No.67.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Peak Forward Current	IFM	1	Α
Tc from -73 to 50°C	IF(AV)	50 See Bating Chart	mA
Peak Reverse Voltage Tc from -73 to 50°C Tc from 50 to 75°C	VRM PIN(AV) PIN(AV)	2 90 See Rating Chart	v
Temperature:	* (11(47)	Det Huming Onur	
Operating Storage During Soldering (5 s)	Гс Тятс	-73 to 75 -72 to 100 130	ວ: ວ: ບ
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature $=$ 2	7°C)		
DC Forward Voltage Drop ($I_F = 10 \text{ mA}$) DC Forward Voltage Drop ($I_F = 50 \text{ mA}$) Peak Reverse Current ($V_F = 2 \text{ V}$)	VF VF IEM	1.2 typ; 1.5 max 1.4 typ; 1.8 max 10 max	V V
Continuous Service (IF = 50 mA): DC Forward Voltage Radiant Power Output*	VF Po	1.4 1 min; 1.6 typ	V mW
Power Efficiency (Po/VFIF)	Р0/ А η	1.1 min; 2.3 typ	mw/A %
Peak Radiant Power Output (IF = 1 A, $t_p = 2 \ \mu s$, $df = 1\%$, pulse rep. rate = 500 p/s)	Ром	24	mW
Radiation Characteristics, Continuous or			
Wavelength at Peak of Emitted Spectrum Line Width at Half-Power Points	λ	9100 to 9500 500	°A °A
Half-Angle Beam Spread: At Half-Power Point	α	15	degrees

Half-Angle Beam Spread: At Half-Power Point At 20% Power Point a α

Radiant Power Output is derived by measuring the short-circuit current in a cali-brated silicon photovoltaic cell positioned close to the emitter to collect the total infrared emission.

40736R

EMITTING DIODE

Ge arsenide high-efficiency type used for continuous or pulse applications in a wide range of optical applica-tions. Outline No. 72. See Mounting Hardware for desired mounting arrangement.



30 degrees

REPLACES TYPE(S)

PIN

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Peak Forward Current	IFM IF(AV) IF(AV) VRM	1.5 50 See Ra 2	A mA ting Chart V
Operating Storage Case and Stem-Soldering Temperature (5 s)	Te Tstg	-65 to 75 -65 to 100 130	ပံ ပံ
CHARACTERISTICS (At case temperature =	= 27°C)		
DC Forward Voltage Drop $(I_F = 10 \text{ mA})$ DC Forward Voltage Drop $(I_F = 50 \text{ mA})$ Peak Reverse Current $(V_R = 2 V)$ Continuous Service $(I_F = 50 \text{ mA})$: DC Forward Voltage Drop Radiant Power Output Radiant Power Output per Ampere Pouror Freigenergy (PaC(VI))	VF VP IRM VF PO PO/A	1.2 typ; 1.5 max 1.4 typ; 1.8 max 10 max 1.4 1 min; 1.6 typ 20 min; 32 typ 1 min; 23 typ	Υ ΨΑ W MW/A mW/A
Pulse Service: Peak Radiant Power Output (IF = 1 A, $t_p = 2 \mu_s$, $df = 1\%$, pulse repetitive rate = 5000 p/s)	Ром	24	mW
Radiation Characteristics (Continuous or Pulse Service): Wavelength at Peak of Emitted Spectrum	λ	9100 to 9500	Å
Line Width at Half-Power Points		500	Â
At half-power point	α α the chert circu	15 30 uit current in 2	degrees degrees

silicon photovoltaic cell positioned close to the emitter to collect the infrared emission.



COMPENSATING DIODE

1**N2326**

Ge alloy-junction type used in temperature- and voltagecompensation applications. Similar to JEDEC TO-1 (2-lead), Outline No.41.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Reverse Voltage Peak Recurrent Current DC Forward Current	V вм і вм (гер) І вм	1 200 100	MA MA
Temperature Range: Operating (TA) and Storage (Tsro) Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL	65 to 85 255	•C •C
CHARACTERISTICS			4
DC Forward Voltage Drop: IFAV = 2 mA IFAV = 100 mA	V fav V fav	min typ max 120 135 150 240 260 280	mV mV



COMPENSATING DIODE 40428

Ge alloy-junction type used in temperature- and voltage-compensation applications. Similar to JEDEC TO-1 (2-lead), Outline No.41.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Reverse Voltage	Vrm	0.5	V
DC Forward Current	Ifm	100	mA
Peak Forward Current	if(max)	200	mA
Temperature Range: Operating (T _A) and Storage (Tsrg) Lead-Soldering Temperature (10 s max)	TL	65 to 85 255	°C O'

CHARACTERISTICS

DC Forward Voltage Drop:		min	typ	max	
$T_0 = 25^{\circ}C$	VFAV	235	260	285	mV
$T_{A} = 25^{\circ}C$	VFAV	225	250	275	mV

1N4785

DAMPER DIODE

Ge diffused-junction type used in transistorized 114degree, 18-kilovolt horizontal-deflection systems in television receivers with types 2N3730, 2N3731, and 2N3732. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2.

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Peak Reverse Voltage Continuous Reverse Voltage	VRM Vrm ifm	320 60 10	V V A
Average Forward Current	IFM	7	Ä
Temperature Range: Operating (T _J) and Storage (T _{STO}) Pin-Soldering Temperature	Тр	65 to 85 230	•C
CHARACTERISTICS			
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Vem Ir Vf	320 min 150 max 0.77 max	μA V V

40442

DAMPER DIODE

Ge diffused-junction type used in transistorized 114degree, 18-kilovolt horizontal-deflection systems in television receivers with types 2N3730, 2N3731, 2N3732, 40439, and 40440 to make up a complete transistor/ damper-diode complement. JEDEC TO-3, Outline No.2. This type is identical to type 1N4785 except for the following items:

MAXIMUM RATINGS

Peak Reverse Voltage Continuous Reverse Voltage	VRM VRM	200 40	\ \
CHARACTERISTICS			
Peak Reverse Voltage (I _R = 1 mA)	VRM	200 min	٦



CHART OF DISCONTINUED TRANSISTORS

(Shown for reference only; see page 270 for symbol identification.)

BIPOLAR TYPES

				P	MAXIMUM	RATINGS		CHARA Isti	CTER- CS	Maximum Operating	
RCA Type	Bas-‡ ing	Mate- riai	Out- line	Vсв (volts)	VEB (volts)	lc (amperes)	PT (watts)	Mia. hrs	Ісв (μА)	Tempera- ture (°C)	Can be replaced by RCA type
2N104 2N105 2N139 2N140 2N173	12 1 12 12 2	Ge Ge Ge Ge	16 16 16 14	30 25 16 16 60		0.050 0.015 0.015 0.015 15	0.150 0.035 0.035 0.080 150	44 55 48 75 35	10 5 6 100	70 55 70 71 100	2N408
2N174 2N175 2N206 2N215 2N218	2 12 1 12 12	Ge Ge Ge Ge	14 2 1 16 1	80 10 30 16	60 	15 0.002 0.050 0.050 0.015	150 0.050 0.075 0.150 0.035	25 33 44 48	100 12 10 10 6	100 50 85 70 70	 2N408
2N219 2N220 2N247 2N269 2N270	1 12 3 1 12	Ge Ge Ge Ge	1 2 9 1 9	16 10 35 25 25	 12 12	0.015 0.002 0.010 0.100 0.150	0.08 0.050 0.080 0.120 0.250	75 60 24 50	6 12 10 5 16	71 50 71 85 85	 2N1180 2N404
2N277 2N278 2N301 2N301 A 2N307	2 2 4 4 4	Ge Ge Ge Ge	14 14 2 2 2	40 50 40 60 35	20 30 10 10	15 15 3 1	150 150 11 11 11 10	35 35- 70 70 20	-4000 -15000 -100 -100 -1500	100 100 91 91 75	 2N2869/2N301 2N2870/2N301A 2N2869
2N331 2N356 2N357 2N358 2N358 2N371	1 5 5 3	Ge Ge Ge Ge	11 * * 9	30 20 20 24	12 20 20 20 0.5	0.200 0.5 0.5 0.5 -0.010	0.200 0.100 0.100 0.100 0.100 0.08	50 30 30 30 80	-16 5 5 -20	71 85 85 85 71	2N1638 2N647 2N647 2N647 2N647
2N373 2N374 2N395 2N396 2N396 2N396A	3 3 17 17 17	Ge Ge Ge Ge	9 9 5 5 5	25 25 30 30	0.5 0.5 20 20	0.010 0.010 0.2 0.2	0.080 0.080 0.15 0.20	60 60 10 15 15	8 6 6 6	71 71 85 85	2N1638 2N1631
2N397 2N409 2N411 2N441 2N441 2N442	17 12 12 2 2	Ge Ge Ge Ge	5 16 16 14 14	30 13 13 40 50	20 	0.2 0.015 0.015 15 15	0.20 0.080 0.080 150 150	20 48 75 20 20	6 10 10 -4000 4000	85 71 71 100 100	
2N443 2N456 2N457 2N497 2N544	2 4 6 3	Ge Ge Si Ge	14 25 25 5 9	60 40 60 18	40 20 20 8 1	15 5 5 0.010	150 50 50 4 0.080	20 - 52 52 12 60	-4000 10 4	100 95 95 200 71	2N2869 2N2869 2N217

* 1 - emitter, 2 - base, 3 - collector. ‡ For terminal connections diagrams, see page 665.

					MAXIMUM	RATINGS		CHARA ISTI	CTER- CS	Maximum Operating	
RCA Type	Bas-‡ ing	Mate- rial	Out- line	Vcb (volts)	VEB (volts)	lc (amperes)	PT (watts)	Min. hrø	Ісв (µА)	Tempera- ture (°C)	Can be replaced by RCA type
2N561 2N578 2N579 2N580 2N581	4 1 1 1	Ge Ge Ge Ge	25 11 11 11 5	80 20 20 18	60 12 12 12 10	10 0.400 0.400 0.100	50 0.120 0.120 0.120 0.120 0.150	75 10 20 30 20	5 5 10	100 71 71 71 71 100	2N2869 2N412 2N412 2N412 2N412
2N582 2N583 2N584 2N586 2N586 2N640	10 1 1 12 3	Ge Ge Ge Ge	5 1 9 9	25 18 25 45 34	12 10 12 12 1	0.100 0.100 0.100 0.250 0.010	0.150 0.120 0.120 0.250 0.080	20 20 40 35 50	5 10 5 16 5	100 85 85 85 71	2N412 2N408 2N1637
2N641 2N642 2N643 2N644 2N644 2N645	3 3 1 1 1	Ge Ge Ge Ge	9 9 11 11 11	34 30 30 30	1 2 2 2	0.010 0.010 0.100 0.100 0.100	0.080 0.080 0.120 0.100 0.120	50 50 20 20 20	-7 -7 -10 -10 -10	71 71 71 71 71 71	2N1638 2N1639
2N656 2N696 2N705 2N708 2N708 2N710	6 6 7 6 7	Si Si Ge Si Ge	5 5 12 12 12 12	60 60 —15 40 —15	8 3.5 2	0.500 0.05 0.05	4 2 0.15 0.36 0.15	30 20 25 15 25	10 1 3 0.02 3	200 175 100 5 200 100	
2N711 2N794 2N795 2N796 2N828	7 7 7 7 7 7	Ge Ge Ge Ge	12 12 12 12 12 12	12 13 13 13 15	-1 -1 -4 -4 -2.5	0.1 0.100 0.100 0.100 0.2	0.15 0.150 0.150 0.150 0.3	20 30 30 50 25	3 3 3 3 3	100 85 85 85 100	2N1300 2N1301 2N1683
2N914 2N955 2N955A 2N960 2N961	6 6 7 7	Si Ge Ge Ge	12 12 12 12 12 12	40 12 12 15 12	 2 2.5 2	0.1 0.15 0.1 0.1	0.36 0.15 0.15 0.3 0.3	10 30 30 20 20	0.02 5 3 3	5 200 100 100 100 100	
2N962 2N963 2N964 2N965	7 7 7 7	Ge Ge Ge	12 12 12 12	12 12 15 12	1.25 1.25 2.5 2	$\begin{array}{c}0.1 \\0.1 \\0.1 \\0.1 \end{array}$	0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3	20 20 40 40	3 5 3 3	100 100 100 100	
2N966 2N967 2N1010 2N1014 2N1067	7 7 5 4 8	Ge Ge Ge Si	12 12 1 25 10	12 12 10 100 60	-1.25 -1.25 	0.1 0.1 0.002 10 0.5	0.3 0.3 0.020 50 5	40 40 75 35	3 5 10 15	100 100 55 100 175	2N2869 2N3053

BIPOLAR TYPES (cont'd)

					MAXIMU	M RATINGS		CHAR	ACTER- ICS	Maximum Operating	
RCA Type	Bas-‡ ing	Mate- riai	Out- line	V _{CB} (volts)	V _{EB} (volts)	lc (amperes)	PT (watts)	Min. hrs	Ісв (µА)	ture (°C)	Can be replaced by RCA type
2N1068 2N1069 2N1070 2N1090 2N1091	8 9 9 26 26	Si Si Ge Ge	10 2 5 5	60 60 25 25	12 1.7 9 20 20	1.5 4 0.400 0.400	10 50 50 0.120 0.120	38 20 20 20 30	15 25 25 8 8	175 175 175 85 85	2N3262 2N1489 2N1702
2N1092 2N1099 2N1100 2N1165 2N1165 2N1170	6 2 2 2 10	Si Ge Ge Ge	5 14 14 5 5	60 80 100 25 40	12 40 80 25 40	0.5 15 15 0.4 0.4	2 150 150 0.12 0.12	35 35 25 20 20	15 4000 4000 10 8	175 100 100 71 71	
2N1213 2N1214 2N1215 2N1215 2N1216 2N1319	7 10 10 10 10	Ge Ge Ge Ge	5 5 5 5 5	25 25 25 25 20	1 1 1 20	0.100 0.100 0.100 0.100 0.4	0.075 0.075 0.075 0.075 0.075 0.12	 15	-3 -3 -3 -6	85 85 85 85 71	
2N1358 2N1384 2N1412 2N1425 2N1425 2N1426	2 10 2 3 3	Ge 14 Ge Ge	14 Ge 14 9 9	80 30 100 24 24	60 1 80 0.5 0.5	15 0.5 15 0.010 0.010	150 0.24 150 0.080 0.080	25 20 25 50 130	200 	100 85 100 71 71	 2N1638 2N1638
2N1450 2N1511 2N1512 2N1512 2N1513 2N1514	1 11 11 11 11	Ge Si Si Si	11 14 14 14 14	30 60 100 60 100	1 60 100 60 100	0.100 6 6 6 6	0.120 75 75 75 75 75	20 15 15 15 15	10 25 25 25 25	85 200 200 200 200	2N217 2N1487 2N1488 2N1489 2N1490
2N1525 2N1527 2N1633 2N1634 2N1635	12 12 12 1 12	Ge Ge Ge Ge	16 16 16 1 16	24 24 34 34 34	0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5	0.010 0.010 0.010 0.010 0.010	0.080 0.080 0.080 0.080 0.080 0.080	 75 75 75	16 16 16 16	71 71 85 85 85	 2N1638 2N1638 2N1638
2N1636 2N1708 2N1768 2N1769 2N1853	1 6 23 23 10	Ge Si Si Ge	1 12 22 22 5	34 25 60 100 18	0.5 3 12 12 2	0.010 0.2 3 0.100	0.080 0.3 40 40 0.150	75 20 35 35 30	16 0.02 15 15 4.2	85 25 175 200 200 85	2N1638 2N1485 2N1486
2N1854 2N2205 2N2206 2N2273 2N2339	10 6 7 23	Ge Si Si Ge Si	5 12 19 12 22	18 25 25 60	2 1 1	0.100 0.2 0.2 0.1 2.5	0.150 0.3 1 0.1 40	25 20 40 20 20	40 0.025 0.025 10 3000	85 175 175 100 200	 2N1179 2N1701

					MAXIMUM	RATINGS		CHAR/ IST	ACTER-	Maximum	
RCA Type	Bas-‡ ing	Mate- rial	Out- line	Vсв (volts)	VEB (vaits)	lc (amperes)	Pr (watts)	Min. hre	Iсв (µА)	Operating Tempera- (°C)	Can be replace by RCA type
2N2482 2N2873 2N2898 2N2899 2N2899 2N2900	6 13 6 6	Ge Ge Si Si Si	12 1 19 19 19	20 —35 120 140 60	3 0.1 7 7 7	0.1 0.010 1 1' 1	0.15 0.115 1.8 1.8 1.8	25 40 40 60 50	5 12 0.002 0.01 0.05	100 100 200 200 200	_ _ _ _
2N2938 2N3011 2N3230 2N3231 2N3241	6 25 25 8	Si Si Si Si	21 12 30 30 32	25 30 80 100 30	5 10 10 5	0.5 0.0002 7 7 0.1	0.3 0.36 25 25 25 2	25 12 1000 1000 50	0.02 	5 175 200 200 200 175	 2N3241A
2N3242 2N3435 2N4081 2N4296 2N4297	8 6 18 9 9	Si Si Si Si	32 5 31 25 25	30 80 40 350 350	5 4 3 4 4	0.2 0.25 1 1	2 1 0.2 0.020 0.020	75 50 40 35 50	0.0 0.0 100 100	1 175 5 200 2 200 175 175	2N3242A
2N4298 2N4299 2N4395 2N4396 2N4397	9 9 9 18	Si Si Si Si	25 25 2 2 31	500 500 60 80 40	4 4 4 3	1 5 5	0.020 0.020 62.5 62.5 0.2	20 35 20 20 40	100 100 100 100 0.02	175 175 150 150 200	
2N4934 2N4935 2N4936 2N5017 3746	27 27 27 	Si Si Si Ge	31 31 31 49 17	40 50 50 34	3 3 4 0.5	4.5 —0.20	0.200 0.200 0.200 30 0.080	40 60 60	0.010 0.010 0.010 	200 200 200 200 200 85	
3907/ 2N404 40217 40218 40219	10 6 6	Ge Si Si Si	5 21 21 21 21	25 25 25 40	—12 3 5	0.2 50	0.15 0.3 0.3 0.36	30 20 20 15	5 0.5 0.5 0.02	85 175 175 5 200	
40220 40221 40222 40253 40255	6 6 1 14	Si Si Ge Si	21 21 21 1 5	40 40 25 25 450	5 _2.5 _7	0.2 0.2 0.500 1	0.3 0.36 0.3 0.125 10	25 10 20 50 30	0.5 0.02 0.02 —14 —	175 5 200 5 175 90 200	
40256 40261 40262 40263 40263	14 1 1 24	Si Ge Ge Si	5 1 1 34	300 50 - 50 - 20 - 300	7 0.5 0.5 2.5 3	1 0.010 0.010 0.050 0.1	10 0.125 0.125 0.120 4	30 — — 30	12 12 12 100	200 85 85 100 150	

BIPOLAR TYPES (cont'd)

‡ For terminal connections diagrams, see page 665.

BIPOLAR TYPES (cont'd)

								CHARA	CTER-	Maximum		
DC A	Ras.t	Mate-	Nut-		MAXIM	UM RATINGS	P	Min.		Operating Tempera- ture	Can	be replaced
Туре	ing	rial	line	(volts)	(volts)	(amperes)	(watts)	hfe	(μÅ)	(°C)	by	RCA type
40269 40283 40296 40350 40351	10 6 15 15 15	Ge Si Si Si	5 19 28 31 31	—25 60 30 35 35	-12 5 2.5 	0.1 0.040 0.025 0.025	0.15 0.4 0.200 0.18 0.18	50 10 30 40 40	5 0.0 1 1	85 200)1 200 175 175		
40352 40403 40404 40422 40423	15 19 6 9 9	Si Ge Si Si Si	31 5 21 25 27	35 —30 40 300 300	-20 5 2 2	0.025 0.2 0.5 0.15 0.15	0.18 0.2 1 8 3.8	27 15 25 50 50	1 -6 0.025 100 100	175 85 175 150 150		
40424 40425 40426 40427 40444	9 9 9 9	Si Si Si Si	25 27 25 27 27 2	300 300 300 300 120	2 2 2 2 7	0.15 0.15 0.15 0.15 20	8 3.8 8 3.8 140	30 30 20 20 20	100 100 100 100	150 150 150 150 200		
40450 40451 40452 40453 40453 40454	20 20 20 20 20	Si Si Si Si	33 33 33 31 33	30 40 40 	7.5 8 7.5 7.5	0.300 0.200 0.200	1 1 1 1	100 125 35 20 20	10 1 5 5	175 175 175 175 175		
40455 40456 40457 40459 40464	20 20 6 20 9	Si Si Si Si	33 33 32 33 2		7 7 7 8 4	0.200 0.200 1 5	1 0.5 1 40	100 50 30 50 30	10 10 0.5 1 250	175 175 175 175 150		
40465 40466 40469 40470 40471	9 9 18 18 18	Si Si Si Si	2 2 31 31 31	40 50 45 45	4 4 3 3 3	5 5 0.05 0.05 0.05	40 40 0.18 0.18 0.18	70 50 40 40 27	0.1 100 0.02 0.02 0.02	150 150 175 175 175 175		
40472 40473 40474 40475 40475	27 27 27 27 27 27	Si Si Si Si	33 31 31 31 31 31	45 45 45 45 45	3 3 3 3 3	0.050 0.050 0.050 0.050 0.050	0.180 0.180 0.180 0.180 0.180	40 40 27 40 27	1 1 1 1 1	175 175 175 175 175		

‡ For terminal connections diagrams, see page 665.

				MAXIMUM RATINGS				CHARACTER- ISTICS		Maximum Operating		
RCA Type	Bas-‡ ing	Mate- rial	Out- line	V _{CB} (volts)	V _{EB} (voits)	lc (amperes)	PT (watts)	Min. hee	Ісв (µА)	Tempera- ture (°C)	Can be replaced by RCA type	
40477 40478 40479 40480 40481	27 27 27 27 27 27	Si Si Si Si Si	31 31 31 31 31 31	45 45 45 45 45	3 3 3 3 3	0.050 0.050 0.050 0.050 0.050 0.050	0.180 0.180 0.180 0.180 0.180 0.180	27 40 40 27 70	1 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02	175 175 175 175 175 175		
40482 40487 40488 40489 40489	27 1 1 1 1	Si Ge Ge Ge	31 1 1 1 1	45 50 12 50 20	3 1.5 0.5 0.5 2.5	0.050 0.010 0.010 0.010 0.020	0.180 0.080 0.080 0.080 0.080 0.12	27 	0.02 12 12 12 12 12	175 85 85 85 100	 	
40500 40501 40517 40518 40546 40546	6 20 15 15 9	Si Si Si Si Si	31 33 28 28 25 25	7.5 7.5 30 	7.5 7.5 2.5 2.5	0.2 0.2 0.040 0.040 0.15 0.15	2 1 0.200 0.200 8 8	50 50 30 30 50 20	0.1 0.1 1 100 100	175 175 200 200 150		

BIPOLAR TYPES (cont'd)

MOS FIELD-EFFECT TYPES

	Bas-‡ ing			MAXIMUM RATINGS			CHARACTERISTICS			Maximum Operating	Can be
Type RCA		Mate- rial	Out- line	lı (mA)	VDS (volts)	PT (Watts)	ture (µmhos)	los(off) (pA)	rds(on) (ohms)	ture (°C)	replaced by RCA type
3N99	16	Si	28	15	32	0.15	1500	50	900	85	
40460	16	Si	28	15	32	0.15	2000	50	800	85	
40461	21	Si	28		±25	0.15	3500		90	125	
3N98	21	Si	28		25	0.15	3500		_	125	
40467	21	Si	31		0-20	0.1	7400		_	125	_
40468	22	Si	31	20	20	0.10	7500	-	_	125	_
40559	22	Si	31	50	0-20	0.40		_	_	175	_

‡ For terminal connections diagrams, see page 665.



































































Outline No.	"A" "B" (Inches)						
45a	3/4	2					
45b	3%	31/2					
45c	3%	41/2					
45d	3/4	31/2					
45e	3/4	31/2					
45 f	3/4	41/2					
45g	34	41/2					

		Outline No.	" A"	"B" Inches)	"C"	Outline No.	· 'A'' ("B" Inches)	"C"
		46a	21/4	51/4	2	41a	3	113%	33%
		46b	21/4	7	2	41 r	3	141/4	3%
		46c	21/4	8%	2	41s	3	16%	3:1%
	Co N	46d	21/4	101/2	2	41t	3	71/4	3:54
		46e	21/4	121/4	2	41 u	3	91/2	3%
		46f	21/4	14	2	41 v	3	111/	3:34
		46g	21/4	1534	2	41 w	3	141/4	3%
		46h	21/4	51/4	2	41 x	3	16%	3:34
	SID /	46i	21/4	7	2	41 y	51/2	711/16	5 %
	B / B	46 j	21/4	8:1/1	2	41z	51/2	101/4	5%
с		46k	21/4	101/2	2	41aa	51/2	1213/16	5%
-		461	21/4	121/4	2	41bb	51/2	15%	5 %
۲	°///	46 m	21/4	14	2	41cc	51%	711/16	5%
		46 n	21/4	15 %	2	41 dd	51/2	101/4	5%
	•	460	3	71/4	3:1%	41ee	51/2	1213/16	5%
	А	46p	3	91/.	3%	41ff	51/2	15%	5%
	<u>` 46</u>								



NOTE: ARROW INDICATES DIRECTION OF FORWARD CURRENT AS INDICATED BY DC AMMETER







ę

060 MAX









1450 1550

GLASS WINDOW

3 FLEXIBLE LEADS

.020

.315

IDO MAX

45

ŧ

65

ŝ

350 DIA.

225 MIN DIA

030

188

030 050

SENSITIVE SURFACE METAL CASE



080

GLASS INSULATION .135 OIA. 139





















.230 +

000

ÍÓÓ

Κ

GATE No.2

DRAIN Ž

+.342 +

ā

.2i0 +

.5 MIN.

ŧ

GATE No.I

CASE, SOURCE AND SUBSTRATE

RADIATOR

641

.5 MIN.

÷

.zīo

1

.5 MIN.

Ŧ











L

















+.370 -+|

+











ANODE 437








Outlines











Mounting Hardware

HERMETIC PACKAGES





^C Part is not supplied with device but is available from RCA (Part No. NR184A) and from Kester Solder Co., Newark, N.J. 07105, (Part No. KSFD-375005) or equivalent.

^dPart is not supplied with device but is available from RCA (Part No. NR166B) and from General Stamping Co., Inc., Deriville, N.J. 07834 (Part No. 14-110)., or equivalent.

*An epoxy such as Hysol-Epoxy Patch Kitl 6C, Hysol Corp., Olean, N.Y. 14761 or equivalent.





DO-4



TO-63 TO-48 1/4-28 THREAD 5/16-24 THREAD DF6B MICA INSULATOR DF6D C MICA INSULATOR HEAT SINK HEAT SINK 0 \bigcirc DF3H TEFLON" INSULATING BUSHING 0 0.D. = 0.315 (8.00) MAX. THICKNESS = 0.062 (1.53) MAX. 495334-6 TEFLON® INSULATING BUSHING O 0 DF6B 1.D. = 0.325 (8.36) MICA INSULATOR SHOULDER DIA. 0,415 (10.54) MAX. 1 NR68A CONNECTOR SHOULDER THICKNESS = 0.055 (1.27) MAX. 0 METAL WASHER NR110A Ć LOCK WASHER LOCK WASHER NOT SUPPLIED WITH DEVICE NA38B HEX. NUT HEX. NUT *REGISTERED TRADEMARK OF E.I. DUPONT *REGISTERED TRADEMARK OF E.I. DUPONT DE NEMOURS & CO. DE NEMOURS & CO. DO-5 **TO-36** 1/4-28 THREAD DF6B MICA INSULATOR 10-32 THREAD DF7A MICA INSULATOR 000 HEAT SINK 0 HEAT SINK DF3H DF3H TEFLON" INSULATING BUSHING 0.D. - 0.315 (8.00) MAX THICKNESS - 0.062(1.53) MAX. 0 0 0.0 495334-5 DELRIN* INSULATING BUSHING e 1.D. = 0.240 (6.09) 0 DF68 SHOULDER DIA. MICA INSULATOR 0 0.235 (5.97) MAX. Fi SHOULDER THICKNESS = NR6 8A CONNECTOR 0 0 0.057 (1.45) MAX. Q NR66B METAL WASHER NR110A LOCK WASHER NA48A CONNECTOR LOCKWASHER HA388 NA38 C HEX. NUT HEX. NUT *REGISTERED TRADEWARK *REGISTERED TRADEMARK OF E.I. DUPONT OF E.I. DUPONT DE NEMOURS & CO. OE NEMOURS & CO.





FOR MOUNTING HARDWARE INSTRUCTIONS SEE DO-5





HIGH-POWER PLASTIC PACKAGES

CHASSIS MOUNTING



SOCKET MOUNTING

PRINTED-CIRCUIT BOARD MOUNTING



Dimensions in parentheses are in millimeters and are derived from the basic inch dimensions as indicated.

VERSAWATT PACKAGES

PRINTED-CIRCUIT BOARD MOUNTING







Dimensions in parentheses are in millimeters and are derived from the basic inch dimensions as indicated

CHASSIS MOUNTING



Circuits

THE circuits in this section illus-L trate some of the more important applications of RCA solid-state devices; they are not necessarily examples of commercial practice. The brief description provided with each circuit explains the functional relationships of the various stages and points out the intended applications, the major performance characteristics, and significant design features of the over-all circuit. Detailed descriptive information on individual circuit stages (such as detectors, amplifiers, or oscillators) is given earlier in this Manual, as well as in many textbooks on semiconductor circuits.

Electrical specifications are given for circuit components to assist those interested in home construction. Layouts and mechanical details are omitted because they vary widely with the requirements of individual set builders and with the sizes and shapes of the components employed.

Performance of these circuits depends as much on the quality of the components selected and the care employed in layout and construction as on the circuits themselves. Good signal reproduction from receivers and amplifiers requires the use of goodquality speakers, transformers, chokes and input sources (microphones, phonograph pickups, etc.).

Coils for the receiver circuits can frequently be purchased at local parts dealers by specifying the characteristics required: for rf coils, the circuit position (antenna or interstage), tuning range desired, and tuning capacitances employed; for if coils or transformers, the intermediate frequency, circuit position (1st if, 2nd if, etc.), and, in some cases, the associated transistor types; for oscillator coils, the receiver tuning range, intermediate frequency, type of converter transistor, and type of winding (tapped or transformer-coupled).

The voltage ratings specified for capacitors are the minimum dc working voltages required. Paper, mica, or ceramic capacitors having higher voltage ratings than those specified may be used except insofar as the physical sizes of such capacitors may affect equipment layout. However, if electrolytic capacitors having substantially higher voltage ratings than those specified are used, they may not "form" completely at the operating voltage, with the result that the effective capacitances of such units may be below their rated value. The wattage ratings specified for resistors assume methods of construction that provide adequate ventilation; compact installations having poor ventilation may require resistors of higher wattage ratings.

Circuits which work at very high frequencies or which are required to handle very wide bandwidths demand more than ordinary skill and experience in construction. Placement of component parts is quite critical and may require considerable experimentation. All rf leads to components including bypass capacitors must be kept short and must be properly dressed to minimize undesirable coupling and capacitance effects. Correct circuit alignment and oscillator tracking may require the use of a cathoderay oscilloscope, a high-impedance vacuum-tube voltmeter, and a signal generator capable of supplying a properly modulated signal at the appropriate frequencies. Unless the builder has had considerable experience with broad-band, high-frequency circuits, he should not undertake the construction of such circuits.

List of Circuits

15-1	12-Volt Automobile Radio Receiver	694
15-2	High-Quality FM Tuner for Multiplex Receiver	696
15-3	FM Tuner Using MOS-Transistor RF Amplifier and Mixer	700
15-4	FM Stereo Multiplex Demodulator	703
15-5	Preamplifier for 6-, 10-, or 15-Meter Amateur-Band Receiver	705
15-6	Two-Meter Converter	707
15-7	Stable Variable-Frequency Oscillator	709
15-8	Regenerative Detector	712
15-9	Microphone Preamplifier with High Dynamic Range	714
15-10	High-Fidelity Preamplifier for Phono, FM, or Tape Pickup	715
15-11	General-Purpose Audio Amplifier	717
15-12	12-Watt Complementary-Symmetry Audio Power Amplifier	718
15-13	High-Fidelity 25-Watt Quasi-Complementary-Symmetry	
	Audio Power Amplifier	720
15-14	High-Fidelity 40-Watt Quasi-Complementary-Symmetry	
	Audio Power Amplifier	723
15-15	High-Fidelity 70-Watt Quasi-Complementary-Symmetry	
	Audio Power Amplifier	725
15-16	Servo Amplifier	726
15-17	27-MHz, 5-Watt Citizens-Band Transmitter	727
15-18	50-MHz, 40-Watt CW Transmitter	729
15-19	175-MHz, 35-Watt Amplifier	731
15-20	40-Watt-Peak-Envelope-Power Aircraft-Band Amplifier	
	for AM Transmitters	733
15-21	16-Watt 225-to-400-MHz Power Amplifier	735
15-22	"Grid-Dip" Meter	736
15-23	Code-Practice Oscillator	737
15-24	Audio Oscillator	738
15-25	Electronic Keyer	739
15-26	Power Supply for Amateur Transmitter	741
15-27	Voltage Regulator, Series Type	743
15-28	Voltage Regulator, Shunt Type	745
15-29	Light Minder for Automobiles	746
15-30	Battery Chargers	747
15-31	Integral-Cycle Temperature Controller	749
15-32	Shift Register or Ring Counter	750
15-33	Astable Multivibrator	753
15-34	Light Flasher	754
15-35	Light Dimmers	755

MANUFACTURERS OF SPECIAL COMPONENTS AND MATERIALS REFERRED TO IN PARTS LISTS

AirDux, trade name of Icore Electro-Plastics, Inc. Subsidiary of Icore Industries 1050 Kifer Road Sunnyvale, Calif.

Allen-Bradley Co. 1201 S. 2nd Street Milwaukee, Wis.

Alpha Wire Corporation 180 Varick Street New York, N. Y.

American Technical Ceramics (ATC) Norden Lane Huntington Station, N. Y.

Amphenol Connector Division Amphenol-Borg Electronics Corp. 1830 South 54th Street Chicago, Ill.

Arco Electronics, Inc. Community Drive Great Neck, N. Y.

Automatic Winding Division General Instrument Co. 65 Governeur Street Newark, N. J.

B and W, Inc. Canal and Beaver Dam Road Bristol, Pa.

Bud Radio, Inc. 4605 E. 355th Street Willoughby, Ohio

Cambion, trade name of Cambridge Thermionic Corp.

Cambridge Thermionic Corp. (CTC) 445 Concord Avenue Cambridge, Mass.

Centralab Division of Globe Union, Inc. P.O. Box 591 Milwaukee, Wisc.

Cutler-Hammer, Inc. 4201 North 27th Street Milwaukee, Wisc.

Erie Technological Products, Inc. 644 West 12th Street Erie, Pa.

Ferroxcube Corp. of America Old Kings Highway Saugerties, N. Y. Freed Transformer Co. 1718 Weirfield Street Brooklyn, N. Y. General Ceramics Corp. Crows Mill Road Keasby, N. J. Hammarlund Manufacturing Co. Hammarlund Drive Mars Hill, N. C. International Resistor Corp. 401 N. Broad Street Philadelphia, Pa. Johanson Mfg. Corp. P.O. Box 329 Boonton, N. J. Litz, trade name of Alpha Wire Corp. 180 Varick Street New York, N. Y. Magnetic Metals Corp. Hayes Avenue at 21st Street Camden, N. J. P. R. Mallory and Co., Inc. 3029 E. Washington Street Indianapolis, Ind. Mallory Controls Co. Div. P. R. Mallory and Co., Inc. Box 231 Frankfort, Ind. Micro Switch Division of Honeywell, Inc. Freeport, Ill. Microtran Co., Inc. 145 East Mineola Avenue Valley Stream, N. Y. Mid-West Coil and Transformer Co. 1642 North Halstead Chicago, Ill. James Millen Manufacturing Co. 150 Exchange Street Malden, Mass. J. W. Miller Co. 5917 South Main Street Los Angeles, Calif.

MANUFACTURERS (cont'd)

Nytronics, Inc. 550 Springfield Avenue Berkeley Heights, N. J.

Potter and Brumfield Division of American Machine and Foundry Co. 1200 East Broadway Princeton, Ind.

Quality Components Bridge and Railroad Streets Saint Marys, Pa.

Radio Condenser Corp. Division of TRW, Inc. Davin and Copewood Street Camden, N. J.

Simpson Electric Co. 5200 West Kinzie Street Chicago, Ill.

F. W. Sickles Division General Instrument Corp. 165 Front Street Chicopee, Mass. Sprague Electric Co. 481 Marshall St. North Adams, Mass.

Stancor (Chicago-Stancor) 3501 West Addison Street Chicago, Ill.

Thordarson-Meissner 7th and Bellmont Mt. Carmel, Ill. Triad 305 North Briant Street Huntington, Ind.

Triwec Transformer Co. 3261 Milwaukee Avenue Chicago, Ill.

Vibroplex Co., Inc. 833 Broadway New York, N. Y.

Vitramon, Inc. Box 544 Bridgeport, Conn.

Wakefield Engineering, Inc. 139 Foundry Street Wakefield, Mass.

NOTES: Components and materials identified by RCA stock numbers may be obtained through authorized RCA distributors. In general, all components specified in the circuit parts lists can be purchased from local radio and electronic supply stores or mail-order houses. If the parts are not available from these sources, they may be obtained from the pertinent manufacturers listed above.

15-1 12-VOLT AUTOMOBILE RADIO RECEIVER

Circuit Description

This 5-transistor superheterodyne radio receiver operates from the storage battery in automobiles that employ a 12-volt ignition system. The rf amplifier uses a high-gain 2N1637 transistor to provide the increased sensitivity and higher signal-to-noise ratio required in automobile radio receivers. The tuned rf amplifier selects and amplifies the amplitudemodulated rf signals from the desired broadcast station picked up by the automobile whip antenna. In the 2N1639 converter stage, the amplitude-modulated rf signal from the rf amplifier is mixed with a localoscillator signal developed by the tuned circuit consisting of oscillator coil L₁ and capacitors C₁₁ and C₁₂ to provide a signal at the receiver intermediate frequency of 262.5 kHz (this value, rather than 455 kHz, is used in auto radios because the if amplifier provides greater gain and selectivity at the lower frequency).

The antenna circuit, rf amplifier, and converter are tuned together by means of mechanically ganged variable inductors L_2 , L_3 , and L_4 so that the local-oscillator frequency is always 262.5 kHz above the frequency to which the other circuits are tuned. Trimmer capacitors C_4 , C_5 , and C_{12} are adjusted to provide the proper tracking relationship.

The 262.5-kHz signal from the converter stage is amplified by a single 2N1638 if amplifier and is then demodulated in the 1N295 second-detector circuit. The audio signal from

12-VOLT AUTOMOBILE RADIO RECEIVER (cont'd) 1.5 - 1



NOTE: This circuit uses coils and transformers that are not available as stock items from any manufacturer. Home construction of this circuit should not be attempted unless the builder has had considerable experience in the winding of inductive components and has access to the special equipment required. The builder should also refer to the general considerations for construction of high-frequency and broadband circuits given on page 691.

Parts List

- C₁ = trimmer capacitor, 5 to 80 pF, Arco No. 462 or equiv. C₂ = 2 pF, silver mica C₃ = 2.2 μ F, electrolytic,
- 3 V
- C4 $\begin{array}{c} C_{4} \equiv \\ 6 V \\ C_{5} C_{12} \end{array}$ 25 μ F, electrolytic,
- C₅, C₁₂ = trimmer capaci-tor, 110 to 580 pF, Arco No. 467 or equiv. C₅, C₉, C₁₃, C₁₄, C₁₅, C₁₉ = $0.05 \ \mu\text{F}$ ceramic disc C₇ = 200 pF, silver mica C₈ = 0.005 \ \mu\text{F}, ceramic disc

- C10 = 0.0075 μ F, ceramic C₁₁ = 330 pF, silver mica C₁₆ = 180 pF, silver mica C₁₇ = 0.02 μ F, ceramic disc C₁₈ = 100 μ F, electrolytic, C₁₅ V disc C₂₀ = 3 V 500 μ F, electrolytic, C21 50 μ F, electrolytic, 6 V C₂₂ = 3 V 100 µF, electrolytic,
- $L_1 = rf$ choke, $5\mu H$
- L_2 , L_3 , L_4 = ganged tuning-

coil assembly; manufac-tured by F. W. Sickles Co. and Radio Condenser Corp.

- $L_2 = antenna coil; primary = variable inductor,$
- = variable inductor, tunes with 110-pF capaci-tance from 535 to 1610 kHz, Q = 65 at 1610 kHz; secondary = 3½ turns a = rf coil, variable in-ductor, tunes with 600-pF capacitance from 535 to 1610 kHz, Q = 65 at 1610 kHz La kHz

15-1 12-VOLT AUTOMOBILE RADIO RECEIVER (cont'd)

Parts List (cont'd)

$L_4 = $ oscillator coil; pri-
mary = variable induc-
tor, tunes with 470-pF
capacitance from 797.5 to
1872.5 kHz, Q = 65 at
1872.5 kHz; secondary =
30 turns
$R_1 \equiv 82000$ onms, 0.5 watt
$R_2 = 360$ ohms, 0.5 watt
$R_{i} = 56000 \text{ obms} 0.5 \text{ watt}$
$R_s = 5700 \text{ ohms}, 0.5 \text{ watt}$
$R_s = 8200$ ohms. 0.5 watt
$R_7 = 1500$ ohms, 0.5 watt
$R_8 = 5600 \text{ ohms}, 0.5 \text{ watt}$
$R_9 = 0.1$ megohm, 0.5 watt
$R_{10} = 470$ ohms, 0.5 watt
$R_{11} = 100$ ohms, 0.5 watt
$R_{12} = volume control, po-$
tentiometer, 2500 onms,
0.5 watt, audio taper
$\pi_{13} \equiv tone control, potent$

tiometer, 1000 ohms, 0.5 watt, audio taper R₁₁ = 3.3 ohms, 1 watt R₁₅ = 82 ohms, 0.5 watt R₁₆ = 68 ohms, 0.5 watt R₁₇ = 120 ohms, 0.5 watt R₁₈ = 220 ohms, 0.5 watt R₂₉ = 4700 ohms, 0.5 watt R₂₁ = 240 ohms, 0.5 watt R₂₂, R₂₄ = 3300 ohms, 0.5 watt T₁ = first if (262.5kHz) transformer (includes 220-pF capacitor across each winding); primary unloaded Q = 47, primary loaded Q = 40.56; secondary unloaded Q = 47; secondary unloaded Q = 39.4; input imped-

ance = 68200 ohms; turns ratio of tapped secondary, N₃/N₄ = 18.25 = second if (262.5kHz) transformer (in-

- T₂ = second if (262.5kHz) transformer (includes 110-pF capacitor across each winding); primary unloaded Q = 47, primary loaded Q = 33.8; secondary unloaded Q = 47, secondary loaded Q = 23.5; turns ratio of tapped primary, N₁/N₂ = 4.28; turns ratio of tapped secondary N₃/N₄ = 10.2; input imcoupling = 0.85
- T₃ = output transformer; transforms 22 ohms at 425 mA dc to 3.5 ohms; Thordarson-Meissner No. TR-168, or equiv.

Circuit Description (cont'd)

the detector, which is developed across the volume-control potentiometer R_{12} , is coupled through the tone-control potentiometer R_{13} to the audio-amplifier section of the receiver. In this section, the audio signal is amplified by two 2N408 voltage amplifiers (audio predriver and driver stages) and applied to the base circuit of the 40022 power amplifier stage which drives the speaker. Transformer T₃ matches the output impedance of the amplifier to the speaker voice coil.

A portion of the audio-frequency signal from the detector is coupled from the wiper arm of the tone control through a frequency-selective network to the audio amplifiers. The tone-control network by de-emphasis of low frequencies tends to equalize the amplitudes of low- and high-frequency audio signals.

15-2 HIGH-QUALITY FM TUNER FOR MULTIPLEX RECEIVER

Circuit Description

This high-quality FM tuner uses silicon n-p-n transistors that provide good receiver quieting and limiting performance because of their high usable gains and low noise levels (typical device noise is 3 dB at 100 MHz for a 300-ohm source impedance). These transistors provide excellent amplification in the FM band and are capable of sustained oscillation at frequencies up to 1100 MHz.

RF section—The rf-amplifier stage

uses a 40242 transistor in a commonemitter circuit configuration to obtain the highest stable gain over the entire FM broadcast frequency range. This stage can provide an unneutralized gain of 15.4 dB. The operating point of the stage is chosen so that agc can be applied effectively.

The 40243 mixer transistor is also operated in a common-emitter configuration. An oscillator-signal injection voltage of approximately 90 millivolts is coupled across capacitor



HIGH-QUALITY FM TUNER (cont'd)



NOTE: This circuit uses coils and transformers that are not available as stock items from any manufacturer. Home construction of this circuit should not be attempted unless the builder has had considerable experience in the winding of inductive components and has access to the special equipment required. The builder should also refer to the general considerations for construction of high-frequency and broadband circuits given on page 691.

Parts List for RF Section

- C₁, C₇, C₁₇ = ganged tuning capacitors, C₁, C₇ = 7.25 to 19 pF; C₁₇ = 6 to 21 pF C₂, C₈ = trimmer capacitor (part of ganged tuning capacitor assembly), approximately 17 pF maximum.
- C_3 , $C_9 = 5.6$ pF, miniature ceramic
- $C_4 = 27$ pF, ceramic disc C₅, C₆, C₁₁, C₁₄, C₁₉ = feed-through capacitor, 1000 pF
- $C_{10} = 2000 \text{ pF}$, ceramic disc, 1000 V
- $C_{12} = 0.01 \ \mu$ F, ceramic disc C_{13} , $C_{16} = 1000 \ p$ F, ceramic
- $C_{15} = 1000 \text{ pr}$, ceramic disc, 1000 V $C_{15} = 3.3 \text{ pF}$, NPO ceramic $C_{18} = 0.22 \text{ pF}$ to 3.3 pF (value determines oscil-lator injection voltage and is dependent upon factors such as circuit layout and placement of components)

- $C_{20} =$ tubular trimmer ca-
- pacitor, 1.5 to 10 pF Cm = 12 pF, ceramic disc R_1 , R_4 = 3300 ohms, 0.5 watt
- R_2 , $R_5 = 18000$ ohms, 0.5 watt
- R₃, R₆ = 330 ohms, 0.5 watt
- $R_7 = 100 \text{ ohms, } 0.5 \text{ watt}$ $R_8 = 8200 \text{ ohms, } 0.5 \text{ watt}$ $R_9 = 4700 \text{ ohms, } 0.5 \text{ watt}$

- $R_{10} = 1500$ ohms, 0.5 watt $T_1 = FM$ antenna trans-former; slug-tuned; slug, 0.250 inch long, 0.181 inch in diameter, Arnold Type 1RN9 or equiv.; second-ary, 4 turns of No. 22 bare-tinned copper wire wound with 1 wire-diameter spacing between ad-jacent turns or 7/32-inch outer-diameter coil form, resonates with 27-pF capacitance at 100 MHz, impedance = 6100 ohms; primary, 2 turns of No.

30 Gripeze wire close wound below cold end of secondary and in same direction, impedance (in-cludes shunting effect of rf amplifier biasing net-work) = 460 ohms. $a_2 = rf$ interstage coil; 4 turns of No. 18 bare-

 T_2 tinned copper wire wound with approximately 1/8-inch spacing between inch spacing between turns on 5/16-inch diam-eter coil form (coil form is removed after coil is wound); resonates with 27-pF capacitance at 100 MHz; impedance of full winding, 6100 ohms; in-put tap located so that impedance at tap = 590 ohms; output tap located so that impedance at input tap is 540 ohms with the transformer properly loaded.



HIGH-QUALITY FM TUNER (cont'd)



Parts List for RF Section (cont'd)

- s =oscillator coil; $3\frac{1}{2}$ turns of No. 18 bare-tinned copper wire wound with 3/32-inch spacing Тз between turns on 7/32-inch-diameter coil form (coil form is removed after coil is wound), center tapped. = first if (10.7-MHz)
- T. transformer, primary un-loaded Q = 60, primary loaded Q = 60, ratio of

full secondary to section below tap $(N_1/N_2) = 7.27$, secondary unloaded Q = 62.3, secondary loaded Q = 60, ratio of full second-= ov, ratio or rull second-ary to section that corre-sponds to lower tuning capacitor (Ns/Ns, as de-termined by tapped ca-pacitors) = 26.65, output impedance = 6070 ohms, ner cent of article court per cent of critical cou-pling = 90

NOTE: Type 1N542 diodes are a matched pair.

Parts List for IF Section ramic disc C₃, C₆ = 1000 pF, ceramic disc, 1000 V C₇ = 5 pF, ceramic disc C₆ = 1.0 pF, ceramic disc C₁₀, C₁₁, C₁₂ = 330 pF, ce-ramic C₁₃ = 0.05 μ F, ceramic disc C₁₄ = 0.02 μ F, ceramic disc

HIGH-QUALITY FM TUNER (cont'd)

Parts List for IF Section (cont'd)

- watt $T_1 =$ second if (10.7-MHz) transformer, primary unloaded Q = 72.4, primary loaded Q = 60, ratio of full primary to section below tap (N₁/N₂) =
- 7.27, secondary unloaded Q = 62.3, secondary loaded Q = 60, ratio of full secondary to section that corresponds to lower tuning capacitor (N₃/N₄, as determined by tapped capacitors) = 26.65, output impedance = 6070 ohms, per cent of critical coupling = 90 C₂ = third if (10.7-MHz)
- T₂ = third if (10.7-MHz) transformer, primary unloaded Q = 49.7, primary loaded Q = 41.2, ratio of full primary to section below tap (N₁/N₂) = 7.27, secondary unloaded Q = 64.2, secondary loaded Q = 61.85, ratio of full secondary to section that corresponds to

lower tuning capacitor $(N_3/N_4, as determined by tapped capacitors) = 27.5 output impedance$ 27.5 output impedance = 6070 ohms, per cent of critical coupling = 90 s = ratio-detector transoutput Тз former, primary unloaded Q (with tertiary winding N₂ returned to ground through a 68-ohm resistance) = 65, primary loaded Q = 28.5, primaryto-tertiary turns ratio $(N_1/N_2) = 2.5$, secondary unloaded Q = 65, secondary loaded Q = 24.75, output impedance = 6070ohms, per cent of critical coupling = 90

Circuit Description (cont'd)

 C_{10} to the base of the mixer transistor from the oscillator resonant circuit C_{17} , C_{20} , C_{21} and T_4 . The 40244 oscillator stage is adjusted to provide a uniform injection voltage to the base of the mixer transistor over the entire FM oscillator-frequency range.

IF section—The three stage ifamplifier strip uses three 40245 or 40246 transistors in a common-emitter circuit configuration to provide 23.4 dB of stable gain per stage. The three double-tuned if transformers T_1 , T_2 , and T_3 provide a 6-dB bandwidth of 300 kHz, which is adequate for reproduction of stereo signals.

The 1N295 diode and associated components in the collector circuit of the third if amplifier develops a negative voltage proportional to the rf input signal. This voltage is used to drive a schmitt trigger stage associated with the noise immunity circuit of the FM stereo demodulator (refer to discussion of the demodulator, circuit 15-4). If desired, the negative voltage may also be applied to the base of the 40242 transistor in the rf amplifier as agc bias. As a result, the final 40246 if-amplifier transistor can go into full limiting before appreciable agc is developed. This arrangement provides a relatively wide agc bandwidth which is helpful in tuning to strong signals.

FM detection is accomplished by the ratio-detector circuit, which includes a matched pair of IN542 diodes and associated components. The detector transformer T_s is designed to provide the wide peak-to-peak separation (450 kHz) required for good stereo multiplex operation. R_{10} and C_{14} in the detector output circuit form a standard FM de-emphasis network for high audio frequencies.



FM TUNER USING MOS-TRANSISTOR RF AMPLIFIER AND MIXER



NOTE: Type 1N542 diodes are a matched pair.

NOTE: This circuit uses coils and transformers that are not available as stock items from any manufacturer. Home construction of this circuit should not be attempted unless the builder has had considerable experience in the winding of inductive components and has access to the special equipment required. The builder should also refer to the general considerations for construction of high-frequency and broadband circuits given on page 691.

15-3

FM TUNER USING MOS-TRANSISTOR **RF AMPLIFIER AND MIXER (cont'd)**

Parts List for RF Section

- C1, C0, C15 = Trimmer capa-citor, 2 to 14 pF C2, C7, C15 = Ganged tuning
- capacitors, each section = 6 to 19.5 pF C3, C6. C14, C17, C22 = 2000
- pF, ceramic C₄, C₅ = 1000 pF, ceramic
- disc
- $C_{6}, C_{19} = 0.01 \ \mu F$, ceramic disc

- disc $C_{10} = 3.3 \text{ pF}, \text{ NPO ceramic}$ $C_{11} = 270 \text{ pF}, \text{ ceramic disc}$ $C_{12} = 500 \text{ pF}, \text{ ceramic}$ $C_{13} = 3 \text{ pF}, \text{ NPO ceramic}$ $C_{13} = 68 \text{ pF}, \text{ ceramic}$ $C_{20} = 50 \text{ pF}, \text{ ceramic}$ $C_{21} = 1200 \text{ pF}, \text{ ceramic}$ $C_{21} = 1200 \text{ pF}, \text{ ceramic}$ $C_{21} = 1200 \text{ pF}, \text{ ceramic}$ $L_1 = \text{ antenna coil}; 4 \text{ turns}$ of No. 18 bare copper whre; inner diameter, 9/32 inch; winding length, 3/8 inch; winding length, 3/8 inch; nominal inductance,
- Q, 0.86 μH; unloaded 120; 120; tapped approxi-mately 1¼ turns from ground end; antenna link approximately 1 turn
- approximately 1 turn from ground end $L_2 = rf$ interstage coil; same as L_1 without an-tenna link $L_3 = rf$ choke, 1 μ H $L_4 = \text{oscillator coil}$; 3¹/₄ turns of No. 18 bare cop-per wire: inner diameter per wire; inner diameter, 9/32 inch; winding length, 5/16 inch; nominal in-ductance, 0.062μ H, un-loaded Q, 120; tapped approximately 1 turn
- from low end R_1 , $R_{10} = 0.56$ megohm, 0.5 watt
- $R_2 = 0.75$ megohm, 0.5 watt $R_3 = 0.27$ megohm, 0.5 watt

 $\begin{array}{l} R_4, R_{13} = 270 \mbox{ ohms, } 0.5 \mbox{ watt} \\ R_5 = 22000 \mbox{ ohms, } 0.5 \mbox{ watt} \\ R_4 = 56000 \mbox{ ohms, } 0.5 \mbox{ watt} \\ R_7 = 330 \mbox{ ohms, } 0.5 \mbox{ watt} \\ R_{8}, R_{12} = 0.1 \mbox{ megohm, } 0.5 \end{array}$ watt

- $R_0 = 4700$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_1 = 1.6$ megohms, 0.5 watt $T_1 = first$ if (10.7-MHz) transformer; double-control of the second s
 - transformer; d o u b l e-tuned with 90 per cent of critical coupling; pri-mary: 15 turns of No. 32 enamel wire, space wound at 60 turns per inch on 0.25-by-0.5-inch slug; secondary: 18 turns slug; secondary: 18 turns of No. 36 enamel wire, 0 25-byclose wound on 0.25-by-0.25 inch slug; both coils wound on 9/32-inch coil form.

Parts List for IF Section

- C1, C4, C8, C9, C13 = 0.02 μ F, ceramic disc C2, C4 = 4.7 pF, silver mica C3, C7, C12 = 0.01 μ F,
- ceramic disc s, C₁₀, C₁₄ = 0.001 μ F,
- C5, C10, ceramic
- $C_{11} = 1$ pF, silver mica C15, C16 = 330 pF, miniature
- ceramic
- $C_{17} = 10 \ \mu F$, electrolytic, 6VR1, R_0 , $R_{10} = 12000$ ohms,
- $\begin{array}{l} \text{R}_{1}, \ \text{R}_{2}, \ \text{R}_{2} \\ \text{R}_{2} \\ \text{R}_{3}, \ \text{R}_{7}, \ \text{R}_{11} \\ \text{R}_{1} \\ \text{R}_{2} \\ \text{R}_{7}, \ \text{R}_{11} \\ \text{R}_{11} \\ \text{R}_{2} \\ \text{R}_{10} \\ \text{R$

- R_{17} , $R_{18} = 6800$ ohms, 0.5 watt
- **T**1, if (10.7-MHz) her, double- T_2 '1. T₂ = if (10.7-MHz) transformer, d ou bl e-tuned with 90 per cent of critical coupling, pri-mary unloaded Q = 72.4, primary loaded Q = 60, ratio of full primary to section below tap (N₁/N₂) = 7.27, secondary un-loaded Q = 62, second-ary loaded Q = 60, ratio of full secondary to sec = of full secondary to section that corresponds to lower tuning capacitor

(N₃/N₄, as determined by tapped capacitors) 26.65, output imped output impédance = 6070 ohms

 $T_3 = ratio-detector trans$ former, double-tuned with 90 per cent of critical coupling, primary un-loaded Q (with tertiary winding N₂ returned to ground through a 68-ohm resistance) = 65, pri-mary loaded Q = 28.5 primary-to-tertiary turns ratio (N₁/N₂) 2.5, second-ary unloaded Q = 65, secondary loaded Q = 24.75. output impedance former, double-tuned with 24.75, output impedance = 6070 ohms

Circuit Description

This FM tuner uses dual-gateprotected MOS field-effect transistors in the rf amplifier and mixer stages and a bipolar transistor in the local oscillator stage. The tuner operates from a dc supply of 15 volts.

The rf amplifier uses a 40822 dualgate MOS transistor. This stage is designed to minimize the spurious 15-3

FM TUNER USING MOS-TRANSISTOR RF AMPLIFIER AND MIXER (cont'd)

Circuit Description (cont'd)

responses that occur in FM tuners when harmonics of unwanted incoming signals are mixed with harmonics of the local-oscillator signal to produce difference frequencies within the if pass band. Achievement of minimum spurious response requires that the signal input to the 40822 rf-amplifier transistor, applied to gate No. 1, be obtained from a tap as far down on the antenna coil L₁ as gain and noise considerations permit. This arrangement assures the smallest practical input voltage swing to the gate and, therefore, makes possible optimum use of the available dynamic range of the MOS transistor. In addition, the objective for low spurious response requires that the entire rf interstage coil L₂ be used as the load impedance for the 40822 MOS transistor. This coil, selected on the basis of the optimum compromise between gain and bandwidth requirements, presents a slight mismatch to the output of the 40822 transistor. Although the compromises in the input and output circuits of the rf amplifier result in a slight loading of the interstage coil L₂ and cause some degradation in the selectivity of the front end, these undesirable effects can be tolerated because the antenna coil L₁ is not loaded by the gate of the MOS transistor.

A dual-gate MOS transistor, such as the 40822, is ideally suited for use as an rf amplifier with automatic gain control. For maximum gain, the transistor is operated with a gate-No. 1 bias of -0.5 to 1 volt and a gate-No. 2 bias of 2 to 4 volts. In this tuner, the initial bias conditions required for the rf amplifier are established by a combination of the fixed bias developed across resistors R_2 and R_3 and the source bias developed across the source resistor R_4 . Gain control is achieved by application of a negative-going agc voltage (i.e. reverse agc) to gate No. 2.

The output of the rf amplifier is applied to gate No. 1 of the 40823 dual-gate MOS transistor used in the mixer stage. The local-oscillator signal is injected at gate No. 2. The 1-microhenry inductor L_3 and the 270-picofarad capacitor C_{11} form a series-resonant trap that bypasses any 10.7-MHz component that may appear at the local-oscillator input to the mixer.

The biasing arrangement for the mixer stage is particularly important. Both source (self) bias and fixed bias are used to establish the operating conditions required for the optimum combination of mixing and spurious-response rejection. On the basis of an empirical determination of the bias conditions necessary for this requirement, the 40823 mixer transistor operates with a gate-No. 2-to-source voltage of 0.6 volt and a gate-No. 1-to-source voltage of -0.75 volt.

The local-oscillator stage employs a 40244 bipolar transistor. This stage generates an extremely clean output waveform. The absence of harmonics in the oscillator signal is an important factor in good tuner design. The oscillator signal is coupled to gate No. 2 of the mixer transistor by means of the 3-picofarad capacitor C₀. This capacitor isolates the tuned circuit of the oscillator from the input circuit of the mixer and, in this way, minimizes the possibility of oscillator instabilities as a result of "pulling."

The 10.7-MHz if output from the mixer is coupled to the first ifamplifier stage by means of a double-tuned transformer T_1 . The if amplifier employs two 40245 and one 40246 bipolar transistors, each operating in a neutralized common-

15-3 FM TUNER USING MOS-TRANSISTOR RF AMPLIFIER AND MIXER (cont'd)

Circuit Description (cont'd)

emitter configuration at a collector current of 3.5 milliamperes. The over-all gain of the if amplifier is 88 dB. The frequency-modulated output of the if strip is demodulated by a ratio-detector circuit that uses a matched pair of 1N542 diodes. The operation of this if strip and ratio-detector circuit is very similar to the corresponding sections of the High-Quality FM Tuner shown in circuit 15-2.

15-4 FM STEREO MULTIPLEX DEMODULATOR

Circuit Description

This FM stereo multiplex demodulator separates complex signals supplied by an FM tuner into right- and left-channel inputs for stereo audio output stages. The demodulator features a high input impedance, a noise immunity circuit, and automatic switching for stereophonic or monaural reception.

Operation of an FM tuner in the stereo mode may be unsatisfactory under weak-signal conditions because the signal-to-noise ratio is poorer for stereo reception than for monaural reception. In addition, if switching is permitted on weak signals the 19kHz component of noise which is present between stations may cause undesired operation.

The demodulator incorporates circuits that sense the presence of adequately strong FM signals and provide automatic switching in the presence of 19-kHz pilot signal. It has a separation at 1 kHz of 36.5 dB, S.C.A. rejection of 59.4 dB, residual 38-kHz subcarrier rejection of 60 dB, insertion loss at 1 kHz of 2.5 dB, and total harmonic distortion at 1 kHz of 0.4 per cent. Six RCA-40359 transistors and one 2N408 transistor are used to provide the automatic switching and noise immunity. The demodulator is designed for operation with tuners, such as circuit 15-2, which provide an audio

output of approximately 400 millivolts with 75-kHz deviation under strong signal conditions. If a tuner that provides less audio output is used, the gain in the sub-carrier amplifier can be increased by bypassing \mathbb{R}_{*} . If a tuner of higher output is used, it may be necessary to use a voltage divider at the input.

The composite multiplex signal from the ratio detector of the FM tuner is applied to the base of transistor Q₁. Transistor Q₁ is an isolation stage which provides a highimpedance load for the ratio detector and a low-impedance source for the S.C.A. filter. The parallel resonant circuit L_1C_2 is tuned to 72 kHz to provide maximum S.C.A. rejection at low beat frequencies.

Transistor Q_2 is a 19-kHz amplifier which also serves to separate the pilot from the composite signal. L₂, L₃, and C₄ constitute a top-coupled double-tuned circuit which resonates at 19 kHz and thus passes only the 19-kHz portion of the composite signal to transistor Q₅. The remainder of the signal is taken from the emitter resistor R, and fed into the balanced demodulator at the secondary winding of L₆. Capacitor C₃ compensates for the degradation of the composite signal as it passes through the S.C.A. filter.

Transistors Q_5 and Q_6 comprise a

15-4

FM STEREO MULTIPLEX DEMODULATOR (cont'd)



NOTE: This circuit uses coils and transformers that are not available as stock items from any manufacturer. Home construction of this circuit should not be attempted unless the builder has had considerable experience in the winding of inductive components and has access to the special equipment required. The builder should also refer to the general considerations for construction of high-frequency and broadband circuits given on page 691.

Parts List

$C_1 = 0.33 \ \mu F$ $C_2 = 560 \ \mu F$	kHz $L_{2} = 69 mH$, $Q = 93 at 19$	$R_3 = 6800 \text{ ohms}, 0.5 \text{ watt}$
$C_3 = 300 \text{ pF}$ (adjust for	$kHz; N_1/N_2 = 5.66;$	$R_5 = 18,000$ ohms, 0.5 watt
$C_1 = 1000 \text{ pF}$, part of L ₂	$L_3 = 69 \text{ mH}, Q = 93 \text{ at}$	R6, R13, R16, R21 = 3300 ohms, 0.5 watt
$C_5 = 10 \text{ pF}$	19 kHz, $N_1/N_2 = 40.2$;	R7, R9, R14, R15, R23, R24, R25
$C_6 = 1000 \text{ pr}, \text{ part of } L_3$ $C_7, C_9, = 0.47 \mu \text{F}$	$L_1 = 69 \text{ mH}, Q = 88 \text{ at } 19$	= 10,000 ohms, 0.5 watt R ₈ = 510 ohms, 0.5 watt
$C_8 = 1000 \text{ pF}$, part of L ₄	kHz, $N_1/N_2 = 5.24$, N_1/N_3	$R_{10} = 220$ ohms, 0.5 watt
$C_{10} = 350 \text{ pr}, \text{ part of } L_5$ $C_{11}, C_{12}, C_{13}, C_{14} = 7500 \text{ pF},$	\equiv 5.21, N ₃ /N ₄ \equiv 2; (includes C ₈)	$R_{11} = 1500$ onms, 0.5 watt R_{12} , $R_{17} = $ potentiometer.
$\pm 5\%$	$L_5 = 41 \text{ mH}, \mathbf{Q} = 108 \text{ at}$	5000 ohms, 0.5 watt
$C_{16}, C_{17} \equiv 1.0 \ \mu F$ $C_{16}, C_{18} \equiv 0.02 \ \mu F$	$N_1/N_3 = 19.8, N_3/N_4 =$	$A_{13} \equiv potentiometer, 10,000$ ohms, 0.5 watt
$I_1 = stereo \ lamp, 14 \ mA \ at$	2; (includes C_{10})	$R_{19} = 8200 \text{ ohms}, 0.5 \text{ watt}$
$L_1 = 10 \text{ mH}, Q = 46 \text{ at } 67$	$R_2 = 120,000$ ohms, 0.5 watt	$R_{22} = 820 \text{ ohms, } 0.5 \text{ watt}$
•		• •

Circuit Description (cont'd)

Schmitt trigger used as a noise-immunity circuit. A negative agc voltage obtained from the if amplifier of the tuner is applied to the base

of Q_5 . When no agc voltage is present, Q_5 is turned off, and Q_6 is turned on. In this state, which occurs under weak signal conditions, resistor R_5 is

15-4 FM STEREO MULTIPLEX DEMODULATOR (cont'd)

Circuit Description (cont'd)

returned to a low-voltage point, and, therefore, transistor Q_3 is turned off. When a preset agc voltage is reached, Q_5 is turned off, R_5 is returned to the supply voltage through R_{23} , and Q_3 is turned on.

The multiplex output from the FM tuner drives the Schmitt trigger. The "on" trigger level can be adjusted by variation of R_{18} . The "off" trigger level is then determined by the hysteresis of the Schmitt-trigger circuit. Hysteresis is desirable because it prevents intermittent switching caused by slight signal variations in the vicinity of the trigger point. The hysteresis can be changed by adjustment of R_{10} .

Transistor Q_3 serves as a 19-kHz pilot amplifier and limiter when it is turned on by Q_0 . When Q_3 is turned off, it acts as an open switch which stops the pilot signal. The emitter of Q_3 is reverse-biased by the current through R₁. Because this reverse bias exceeds the 19-kHz level at the base of Q_3 , it prevents the 19-kHz pilot signal of a weak station from turning on Q_3 and thereby over-riding the noise-immunity circuit.

The output of the pilot amplifier Q_3 is fed to a balanced full-wave rectifier which consists of D_1 , D_2 , and the secondary winding of L₄. The output of the rectifier is unfiltered and develops both a dc component and a 38-kHz component. The dc

component is used to bias transistor Q_i on. The 38-kHz component is amplified by limiter-amplifier Q_i and appears at the secondary winding of L_{5} . In the absence of a pilot signal, Q_i is turned off because there is no 19-kHz output from Q_3 to be rectified.

The composite signal taken from the emitter resistor R_i is added to the 38-kHz subcarrier in the secondary winding of L_6 . When the subcarrier has the proper phase with respect to the composite signal, a 38kHz amplitude-modulated signal is formed in which one side of the envelope contains right-channel information and the other side contains left-channel information.

Diodes D_3 and D_4 form a balanced detector which permits one side of the envelope to pass. Resistor R₁₂ is adjusted for minimum 38-kHz residual signal at the output. When Q. is off and no subcarrier is present in the secondary winding of L₅, the left-plus-right portion of the composite signal is passed by the detector circuit, and the left-minus-right portion is filtered out. Diodes D₅ and D₀ form the balanced detector for the other channel. R₁₈, C₁₆, R₁₆, and C₁₈ form de-emphasis networks. Q_7 acts as a switch which lights a stereo indicator lamp when Q₄ is turned on.

15-5 PREAMPLIFIER FOR 6-, 10-, OR 15-METER AMATEUR-BAND RECEIVER

Circuit Description

This inexpensive, easily constructed preamplifier circuit uses a 3N187 dual-gate-protected MOS transistor to provide more than 26 dB of gain ahead of a receiver operated in the 6-, 10-, or 15-meter amateur band. This additional gain, together with the low noise figure of

PREAMPLIFIER FOR 6-, 10-, OR 15-METER 15-5 AMATEUR-BAND RECEIVER (cont'd)



NOTE: See general considerations for construction of high-frequency and broadband cir-cuits on page 691.

Parts List

- B = Two RCA type VS323 batteries for transistor service; and one case, service; one case, Bud-CU2103A or equiva-
- lent. $C_1 = 8 \text{ pF}$, mica or ceramic tubular C_2 , C_3 , C_4 , C_5 , $C_7 = 0.01$ μF , ceramic $C_6 = 10 \text{ pF}$, mica or ceramic tubular

- J₁, J₂ = Coaxial receptacle, Amphenol BNC type UG-1094 or equiv. L₁, L₂ = 1.6 to 3.1 μ H, ad-justable, Miller 4404 or equiv. $L_3 = 22 \mu H$, Miller 74F-225A1 or equiv. $R_1 = 27,000 \text{ ohms}, 0.25 \text{ watt},$ 10%
- $R_2 = 150,000$ ohms, 0.25
- watt. 10%, carbon $R_1 = 1,800$ ohms, 0.25 watt, 10%, carbon $R_1 = 100,000$ ohms, 0.25 watt, 10%, carbon $R_1 = 33,000$ ohms, 0.25 watt, 10%, carbon $R_n = 270$ ohms, 0.25 watt, 10%, carbon $S_1 = toggle switch, single-$ pole, single-throwpole, single-throw

Tuned-Circuit Components for 21 and 50 MHz

Component	Value			
Component	21 MHz	50 MHz		
Cı	22 pF	8 pF		
C ² , C ³ , C ¹ , C ⁵ C ₇	No Change	1,000 pF, ceramic		
Cu	22 pF	10 pF		
Lı	No Change	8 turns, No. 30 E wire on ¼- inch - diameter core (Miller 4500 or equiv.) Link: 2 turns, No. 30 E wire on ground end.		
L_2	No Change	Same as L ₁		
La	No Change	6.8 μH (Miller 74F686AP or equiv.)		

PREAMPLIFIER FOR 6-, 10-, OR 15-METER AMATEUR-BAND RECEIVER (cont'd)

Circuit Description (cont'd)

the preamplifier (less than 2.5 dB), substantially increases both the sensitivity and signal-to-noise ratio of the receiver. The circuit as shown is intended for use in the 10-meter (28-MHz) frequency band: the 3N187 MOS transistor, however, has excellent performance characteristics at frequencies well below the 10-meter band and up to 200 MHz. The preamplifier, therefore, can be readily adapted for use in other frequency bands with only a few changes in tuned-circuit components. A chart is provided to show the changes in tuned-circuit components required for operation in the 15meter (21-MHz) and 6-meter (50-MHz) bands. The dc operating voltage for the preamplifier may be obtained from a battery supply, as shown in the circuit diagram. or from any other reasonably wellfiltered dc supply voltage of 15 to 18 volts.

The dual-gate MOS transistor in the preamplifier is operated so that essentially it is electrically equivalent to two single-gate MOS transistors connected in cascode and enclosed in the same package. The advantage of the dual gate transistor is that it provides an inexpensive cascode circuit that offers maximum resistance to cross-modulation from nearby transmitters.

The rf input is link coupled from

the antenna to the input tuned circuit formed by L1 and C1 and applied to gate No. 1 (pin 3) of the 3N187 transistor. This gate, which is equivalent to the gate (or base) of the grounded-source (or -emitter) section of a two-transistor cascode circuit, is forward-biased by the dc voltage at the junction of the voltage-divider resistors R1 and R2. The source resistor R2 is large enough to assure that gate No. 1 is always negative with respect to the source. Gate No. 2 (pin 2), in accordance with cascode-circuit requirements, is returned to ac ground through capacitor C. The dc bias level for this gate, established by the voltage divider R, and R, represents a compromise between optimum gain and optimum cross-modulation resistance. The amplified rf signals developed in the drain circuit of the 3N187 transistor are link coupled from the tuned-circuit drain load impedance formed by L₂ and C₆, through coaxial connector J₂ to the input of the receiver.

Tuning of the preamplifier is simplified because no special neutralization is required, even at frequencies as high as 155 MHz. Rough adjustments of coils L_1 and L_2 can be made by use of a grid-dip oscillator. The finishing adjustments are then made while listening to a weak station.

15-6

TWO-METER CONVERTER

Circuit Description

This converter circuit can be used ahead of a 10-meter amateur-band radio receiver to provide amplification and the frequency conversion required to enable reception of signals in the 2-meter (144-to-148-MHz) amateur band. With minor circuit modification, the converter can also be used to adapt a 20meter amateur-band receiver to receive 2-meter signals. The converter uses RCA 40235, 40236, and 40237 vhf transistors in common-emitter circuit configurations to provide the



TWO-METER CONVERTER (cont'd)



NOTES: (1) See general considerations for the construction of high-frequency and broad-band circuits on page 691. (2) This circuit uses coils that are not standard commercial items; such coils must be wound by the circuit builder.

Parts List

- $C_1 = 0.5$ to 5 pF, tubular trimmer, Erie 532-3R or equiv.
- $C_2 = 10$ pF, ceramic tubu-lar, Centralab TCZ-10 or equiv.
- $C_{0}, C_{0}, C_{11} = 500 \text{ pF}, \text{ silver}$ button, Erie 662-003-501K C3, or equiv
- $C_4 = 4.7 \text{ pF}$, ceramic tubu lar, Centralab TCZ-4R7
- or equiv. 5, C_{12} , $C_{14} = 3.3$ pF, ceramic tubular Centralab -3.3 pF ceramic tubular Centralab TCZ-3R3 or equiv. C₆ = 2.2 pF, ceramic tubu-lar, Centralab Cs.
- TCZ-2R2
- C7
- require the formula of the formula Ся, or equiv.

- $C_{13} = 30$ pF, ceramic C10.
- Cin, Cia = 30 pF, ceramic tubular, Centralab TCZ-30 or equiv.
 Ji, J₂ = BNC-type coaxial jack
 Li = 5 turns of No. 16 bare wire, ¼-inch diameter (spaced wire diameter), tap one turn up from bottom from bottom
- L₂, $L_3 = 4$ turns of No. 26 enamelled wire, close wound on ¹/₄-inch diam-eter ceramic slug-tuned Miller 4500 form. or equiv
- $L_i = 11$ turns of No. 26 enamelled wire, close wound on ³/₈-inch diameter phenolic slug-tuned form, Miller 21A000RBI form, or equiv. $L_5 = 3$ turns of insulated
- wire, close-wound link

- $L_0 = 5$ turns of No. 26 enamelled wire, close wound on %-inch diamclose eter phenolic slug-tuned form, Miller 21A000RBI or equiv. $\tau = 7$ tu
- enamelled wire, close wound on $\frac{1}{4}$ -inch diam-eter ceramic slug-tuned form Miller 4500 or $L_7 =$
- equiv. $R_1 = 27,000$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_2 = 3,900$ ohms, 0.5 watt
- R_3 , $R_7 = 470$ ohms, 0.5 watt R_4 , $R_9 = 820$ ohms, 0.5 watt 18 000 ohms, 0.5 watt
- $R_5 = 18,000$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_6 = 2,700$ ohms, 0.5 watt
- $R_s = 5,100$ ohms, 0.5 watt
- $R_{10} = 3,100$ onms, 0.5 watt $R_{10} = 0.1$ megohm, 0.5 watt $R_{11} = 8,200$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_{12} = 1,000$ ohms, 0.5 watt XTAL = 39.33 MHz, over
 - tone crystal

Circuit Description (cont'd)

required amplification and frequencyconversion functions with a noise figure (at 144 MHz) of less than

3 dB. The circuit operates from a 12.6-volt, 10-milliampere dc supply and, therefore, is ideally suited for Circuits

Circuit Description (cont'd)

mobile, as well as fixed-station, operations.

The 40235 transistor is used in a neutralized low-noise rf-amplifier stage. Capacitor C, couples the neutralizing feedback from collector circuit to base circuit required to ensure stable operation of this stage. Signals in the two-meter band are coupled from the antenna through the coaxial connector J, and the tuned input circuit formed by L₁, C_1 and C_2 to the base of the 40235 transistor. The variable capacitor C_1 is adjusted to tune the input circuit to select any desired signal in the 144-to-148-MHz frequency band. The selected signals are amplified by the 40235 transistor and coupled from the collector circuit of this transistor by tuning coils L2 and L3 and capacitor Co to the base of the 40236 transistor used in the mixer stage.

The 40237 transistor is operated an overtone-crystal oscillatorin multiplier stage to develop the localoscillator signal for the converter. The crystal used in the base-toemitter circuit of the oscillatormultiplier has a fundamental frequency of 39.33 MHz; the collector load circuit, formed by oscillator tuning coil L7 and capacitor C11, however, is tuned to select the third harmonic of the crystal fundamental. The oscillator-multiplier stage, therefore, develops a fixed-frequency 118-MHz local-oscillator signal that is coupled by capacitor C₁₂ to the emitter circuit of the 40236 mixer transistor.

In the mixer stage, the rf input signal from the antenna and the local-oscillator signal are heterodyned to derive the difference frequency used as the input to the 10-meter-band receiver. Output tuning coil L_1 , capacitor C_{10} , and resistor R_* forms a collector load circuit that is broadly tuned to select the difference-frequency signal developed in the mixer stage. This signal is transferred by the coupling link L_6 and the coaxial connector J. to the input of the 10-meter-band receiver.

The 118-MHz local-oscillator frequency was selected so that the heterodyning action in the mixer provides a converter output of 26 to 30 MHz, depending upon the frequency of the selected rf input signal from the antenna. For example, a 144-MHz rf input signal results in a difference-frequency output of 144 MHz-118 MHz (or 26 MHz; a 148-MHz input frequency results in an output frequency of 148 MHz-118 MHz, or 30 MHz. The converter circuit, however, can be readily modified to provide a lower-frequency output. If it is desired to adapt a 20-meter-band receiver to receive 2-meter-band signals, it is necessary merely to use a crystal that has a fundamental frequency of 43.33 MHz and to double the number of turns in the output tuning coil L₁. No other changes are required.

15-7 STABLE VARIABLE-FREQUENCY OSCILLATOR

Circuit Description

This VFO circuit uses a 40823 dual-gate-protected MOS transistor in a highly stable variable-frequency oscillator stage and 40245 and 2N-3241A bipolar transistors in a twostage isolation (output) amplifier to achieve exceptional frequency stability at low dc operating potentials. The MOS-transistor oscillator circuit is useful at any frequency up to and including the 144-MHz band. Tuned-circuit data are provided for the standard 3.5-to-4-MHz band, for the 5-to-5.5-MHz band for single-

STABLE VARIABLE-FREQUENCY OSCILLATOR (cont'd) 15-7



NOTES: (1) See general considerations for the construction of high-frequency and broadband circuits on page 691. (2) The coil L_2 is not a standard commercial item and, therefore, must be wound by the circuit builder.

Parts List

- C₁ = Double-bearing vari-able capacitor, Millen able capacitor, Millen 23100 or 23050 (or equiv.) depending upon fre-quency range (see Tuned-Circuit Data)
- C2 = Air-type trimmer ca-pacitor, 25 pF maximum, Hammarlund APC-25 or equiv. C₃, C₄, C₅, C₆ = silver-mica
- capacitors (see Tuned-circuit Data for values)
 cr = 2200 pF, silver mica
 cs = 0.05 pF, ceramic disc,
 50 V.
- $C_{9} = 0.1$ pF, ceramic disc, 50 V.
- $C_{11} = 1500$ pF, feed-C10, through $C_{12} = 0.025 \ \mu F$, ceraric disc, 50 V. $C_{13} = 500 \ \mu F$, electrolytic, 12 V.
- $C_{11} = 500 \ \mu F$, electrolytic, 12 V.
- $\begin{array}{ccc} C_{15}^{12} & V \\ 12 & V \\ 12 & V \\ CR_1 = Zener \ diode, \ 12-volt, \end{array}$
- 1-watt
- $C\bar{R}_2 = ener$ diode, 6.8 volt, 1-watt
- $J_1 = Coaxial connector$ $L_1 = Variable inductor (see Tuned-Circuit Data for$ details)

- 0.5 watt; select value for 2-volt peak output level at input to transmitter $R_3 = 12000$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_4 = 820$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_5 = 47000$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_7 = 2200$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_7 = 2200$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_8 = 180$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_9 = 180$ ohms, 0.5 watt $T_1 = 6.3$ -volt. 1.2-ampere

- $T_1 = 6.3$ -von, T_1 filament transformer 1.2-ampere

τ.	MHz	3.5-4.0 MHz	5.0-5.5 MHz	8.0-9.0
No of	fturns	17*	1436 *	1116**
Wire	size	20	20	18 /
Turns	i/inch	16	16	8
Diam	. inches	1	1	1
C ₁ , p.		100	50	50
C ₂ , pf.		25	25	25
C ₃ , pf.		100	None	None
C., pf.		390	390	270
C ₅ , pf.		680	680	560
C ₆ , pf.		680	680	560
* B ** B	& W 30 & W 30	15, AirDı 14, AirDı	1x 816T, 1x 808T,	or equiv. or equiv.

Tuned-Circuit Data

Circuit Description (cont'd)

sideband transmitters, and for the 8-to-9-MHz band for 50- and 144-MHz transmitters. (See chart on page 607.)

The oscillator stage is a Colpitts type. The variable capacitor C₁ is the tuning control for the circuit. With a Millen 10037 (or equivalent) "no sting" dial coupled to the shaft of this capacitor, the oscillator tuning range encompasses essentially the full dial area. Capacitor C_2 is the trimmer adjustment for the circuit. The effect of changes in transistor-element capacitances is reduced to a minimum by use of a three-capacitor (C₄, C₅, and C₆) voltage divider. The relatively large values of the capacitors C_5 and C_6 , which are connected across the gateto-source circuit of the MOS transistor, almost completely obviate the effect of the transistor capacitances. The rf choke L₁ provides the required low voltage (IR) drop for the source current of the MOS transistor.

The 1N914 silicon rectifier in the gate circuit of the oscillator stage is used to provide the rectified gate current for the MOS transistor. This rectifier makes possible a degree of automatic bias comparable to that obtainable with an electron tube and, in this way, contributes substantially to the frequency stability of the VFO circuit. The use of silver-mica types for all fixed-value capacitors in the oscillator stage assures a stable frequency-temperature characteristic.

The output of the oscillator stage is coupled from the source of the MOS transistor, through capacitor C_7 and resistor R_1 , to the base of the 40245 bipolar transistor used in the input stage of the isolation amplifier. The output of the 40245 transistor. in turn. drives the emitter-follower 2N3241A output stage. The isolation amplifier is essentially a two-stage, direct-coupled, negative-feedback output circuit that greatly reduces the effect of a change in output conditions on oscillator performances and provides a convenient means (by a change in the value of resistor R_1) to vary the output voltage of the VFO circuit.

The dc operating potentials for the VFO circuit can be obtained directly from a 12-volt source. For operation from a 117-volt, 60-Hz ac source, a low-voltage dc supply, such as that shown in the circuit diagram, may be used to supply the required voltage. The 117-volt ac source voltage is stepped down to 6.3 volts ac by the power transformer T₁ and then converted to a dc voltage of 12 volts by the voltage-doubler circuit formed by the 1N3193 rectifier diodes and filter capacitors C13 and C14. The two 2N3241A bipolar transistors and the Zener diodes CR₁ and CR₂ connected between points A and B of the voltage-doubler circuit form an elec-

15-7 STABLE VARIABLE-FREQUENCY OSCILLATOR (cont'd)

Circuit Description (cont'd)

tronic voltage regulator that maintains constant dc output voltages with changes in the input ac voltage.

The voltage-regulator circuit is also used when the VFO is operated in a mobile system. For this type of operation, the power transformer T_1 and the voltage doubler are disconnected from the remainder of the circuit, and points A and B are connected to the positive and negative tertminals, respectively, of a 12-volt battery. The VFO circuit is characterized by its exceptional frequency stability. A unit designed to operate in the 3.5-to-4-MHz frequency range exhibits a frequency drift of less than 30 Hz in 2 hours after a 30second warm-up. A 5-to-5.5-MHz unit has a frequency drift of less than 50 Hz for the same period, and a 8-to-9-Mz unit has a frequency drift of only slightly more than 200 Hz.

15-8

REGENERATIVE DETECTOR



NOTES: (1) See general considerations for construction of high-frequency and broadband circuits on page 691. (2) This circuit uses coils that may not be available as standard commercial items; such coils must be wound by the circuit builder.

Parts List

C₁ = tuning capacitor, 0 to 100 pF, E.F. Johnson No. R-149-5 or equiv. C₂ = 47 pF, ceramic C₃ = $0.05 \ \mu$ F, ceramic C₁, C₅ = 0.01 μ F, ceramic C₆ = 0.001 μ F, ceramic

 $C_7 = 0.1 \ \mu F$, electrolytic, 15 V

- $L_1 =$ refer to coil-data chart
- $L_2 =$ refer to coil-data chart
- $L_3 = rf$ choke, 25 mH $R_1 = feedback$ control, po-
- tentiometer, 0.1 megohm,
- 0.5 watt $R_2, R_3 = 0.1$ megohm, 0.5 watt $R_1 = 1800$ ohms, 0.5 watt
- $R_5 = 150$ ohms, 0.5 watt
- $R_6 = 4700$ ohms, 0.5 watt

15-8

REGENERATIVE DETECTOR (cont'd)

Coil Data for Different Frequency Bands

	Inductance (µH)	Freq. Band (MHz)
L2	110	1.5 to 4.0
	2.6 0.4	10 to 25 25 to 60
Lı	Number of y per cent of t windings use each frequen	vindings is 25 he number of d for L_2 for ex band.

The coils are wound closely coupled on a common core. L_1 is wound near ground end of L_2 . L_2 is tapped at approximately 25 per cent of total number of turns from the ground end.

Circuit Description

This detector stage can be interconnected with the general-purpose audio amplifier, circuit 15-11, to form a simple CW or AM regenerative receiver. This receiver can extract the audio-signal information from an amplitude-modulated rf input signal as small as 0.5 microvolt. By selection of the proper values for the tuned-circuit components, the detector circuit can be adapted for operation over a wide range of frequencies A chart shows the recommended values of tuning inductance for various frequency bands in the range from 1.5 to 60 MHz. The detector stage employs a 3N187 dual-gateprotected MOS field-effect transistor and operates from a dc supply voltage of 9 volts.

An incoming amplitude-modulated rf signal developed across the antenna coil L_1 is inductively coupled into the detector input tuned circuit formed by the inductor L_2 and the variable capacitor C_1 . The capacitor is adjusted to tune the detector to the desired signal frequency. The rf signal developed across the tuned circuit is applied to gate No. 1 of the 3N187 MOS transistor. The gate-No. 1-to-source circuit of the MOS transistor operates essentially as a gateleak detector (analagous to an electron-tube grid-leak detector). The negative clamper formed by the IN914 diode, the capacitor C2, and the gate-leak resistor R2 bias the circuit so that only the positive peaks of the rf input signal result in current flow through the MOS transistor. The magnitude of these current pulses vary according to the audio modulating signal superimposed on the input rf carrier wave. These audio-signal variations are amplified in the source-to-drain circuit of the MOS transistor. The source-to-drain current of the transistor flows through a portion of the tunedcircuit inductor L2. The rf components of this current are inductively coupled back to the tuned circuit by the autotransformer action of inductor L₂ in the proper phase to reinforce the signal developed at gate No. 1 of the transistor. This regenerative feedback permits repeated amplification of the incoming signal and, therefore, substantially increases the sensitivity of the detector circuit.

The amount of regenerative feedback coupled back to the input tuned circuit must be controllable because maximum regenerative amplification for AM operation occurs at a critical point just prior to that at which the detector oscillates and for CW operation occurs at a point just beyond that at which oscillation starts. The desired amount of feedback is obtained by adjustment of potentiometer R_i. This adjustment varies the bias applied to gate No. 2 to control the gain (i.e., transconductance) of the 3N187 transistor.

The rf choke L_a and the bypass capacitors C_4 and C_5 form a low-pass network that filters out the rf components in the drain-circuit current so that the current through the detector load resistor R_6 consists almost entirely of audio-frequency components. The audio-signal voltage developed by this current is coupled by capacitor C_7 to the input of the audio amplifier.

15-9

MICROPHONE PREAMPLIFIER With High Dynamic Range

Circuit Description

This three-stage preamplifier is designed for use with high-level microphones. It has an over-all voltage gain of 1500 to 2000 and can provide a maximum undistorted output voltage of 5 volts rms to a load impedance of 500 ohms or greater for a maximum undistorted input of 0.4 volt rms. The frequency response of the preamplifier is flat from 20 Hz to 30 kHz. The dc power requirements of the circuit are 20 volts at 30 milliamperes. This operating power can usually be obtained from the dc supply for the over-all audio-amplifier system.

The preamplifier uses a low-noise 40233 in a class A input stage and two 2N3242A transistors in directcoupled class A driver and emitterfollower output stages. The circuit operates equally well with either low-impedance or high-impedance microphones provided that the value of the input resistor R₁ is selected to match the microphone line impedance up to a maximum of 10,000 ohms.



Parts List

- $C_1, C_6 = 15 \ \mu F$, electrolytic, 6 V C_2 , $C_7 = 300 \ \mu$ F, electrolytic, $6 \ V$ $C_3 = 10 \ \mu$ F, electrolytic, $15 \ V$ $\begin{array}{c} C_4, C_8 = 0.05 \ \mu F, \ \text{paper} \\ C_5 = 250 \ \mu F, \ \text{electrolytic}, \\ 25 \ V \end{array}$ Čs = 25 $C_{0} = 50 \ \mu F$, electrolytic, 15 V

- R4, R11 = 10000 ohms, 10%, 0.5 watt
- R6, R13 = 4/0 0... 0.5 watt R7 = 820 ohms, 10%, 0.5 watt potentiometer, 10000 taper $R_{14} = 1000$ ohms, 0.5 watt

Circuits



HIGH-FIDELITY PREAMPLIFIER FOR PHONO, FM, OR TAPE PICKUP



Parts List

- C₁ = 2 μ F, electrolytic, **6** V C₂, C₁₇, C₁₈ = 25 μ F, elec-trolytic, 25 V C₃ = 0.0027 μ F, paper, 200 V C₄ = 0.01 μ F, paper, 200 V C₅ = 100 μ F, electrolytic, **3** V C₄ = 0.0 μ F, electrolytic, $C_{5} = 10 \ \mu F$, electrolytic, 25 V $C_7 = 180 \text{ pF}, \text{ mica, } 500 \text{ V}$ $C_8 = 0.033 \mu\text{F}, \text{ paper, } 200 \text{ V}$ $C_9 = 1 \mu\text{F}, \text{ electrolytic,}$ 12 V $C_{\theta} = 0.053 \ \mu F, \ \text{paper}, \ 200 \ \text{v}, \ C_{\theta} = 1 \ \mu F, \ \text{electrolytic}, \ 12 \ V$ $C_{10}, \ C_{10} = 10 \ \mu F, \ \text{electrolytic}, \ C_{11} = 10 \ \mu F, \ \text{electrolytic}, \ 25 \ V$
- $C_{12}, C_{13} = 0.022 \ \mu$ F, paper, 200 V $\begin{array}{c} C_{14} = & 0.0039 \\ 200 & V \\ C_{15} = & 0.0047 \\ 200 & V \end{array}$ μF, paper, μF, paper, C₁₀ = 100 μ F, electrolytic, 6 V R₁, R₃ = 68000 ohms, 10%, 0.5 watt R2 = 0.18 megohm, 10%, 0.5 watt $R_4 = 470$ ohms, 10%, 0.5 watt R₅ = 27000 ohms, 10%, 0.5 watt
- ₀ = 0.47 0.5 watt Rø megohm, 10%,

- R7, R19, R21, R24 = 10000 ohms, 10%, 0.5 watt R8 = 82 ohms, 10%, 0.5 watt R9 = 1800 ohms, 10%, 0.5 watt
- R10 = potentiometer, 0.1 megohm, 0.5 watt, audio taper
- $R_{11} = 8200$ ohms, 10%, 0.5 watt
- Determined and the second s $R_{12} =$ potentiometer, 0.25
- R14, R28 = 18000 ohms, 10%, 0.5 watt

15-10

HIGH-FIDELITY PREAMPLIFIER (cont'd)

Parts List (cont'd)

 R_{15} , $R_{31} = 4700$ ohms, 10%, 0.5 watt R₁₆ = 6800 ohms, 10%, 0.5 watt $R_{17} = 68$ ohms, 10%, 0.5 watt $R_{18}, R_{22}, R_{25}, R_{29} = 1000$

ohms, 10%, 0.5 watt R₂₀, R₂₃ = potentiometer, 0.1 megohm, 0.5 watt, linear taper $R_{20} = 47000$ ohms, 10%, 0.5 watt

R27 = 56000 ohms, 10%, 0.5 watt

 $R_{30} = 2700$ ohms, 10%, 0.5watt

- Sı switch, single-pole, =
- S:
- a switch, single-pole,
 3-position, wafer
 a switch, single-pole,
 double-throw, toggle
 a switch, single-pole,
 single-throw, toggle S3

Circuit Description

This phonograph preamplifier can be used with an audio power amplifier, such as circuits 15-12 through 15-15, to provide an excellent highfidelity system. The circuit is designed for use with a magnetic pickup that can supply an input signal of at least 5 millivolts. Provisions are also included in the preamplifier for tape and tuner inputs. For a 5-millivolt input signal, the preamplifier delivers an output of at least 1 volt. An input of 300 millivolts from a tuner or tape recorder is required to produce an output of 1 volt. The preamplifier requires a dc supply of 20 volts at 7.5 milliamperes.

The preamplifier uses a low-noise 40233 transistor Q1 and a 2N3242A transistor Q₂ in a two-stage directcoupled input circuit. A frequencyshaping network in the feedback circuit of transistor Q2 provides frequency compensation when the preamplifier is used with a magnetic phonograph pickup. The output circuit of transistor Q2 contains a level control R₁₀ that feeds the loudness control R₁₂ through the selector switch S₁. The loudness control, in turn, drives the tone-control circuits of the preamplifier. Tape. tuner, or phono inputs can be se-

lected by means of the selector switch; an output connector in the arm of the selector switch permits tape recordings to be made without affecting volume or loudness.

The treble and bass tone controls provide boost of 10 dB and cut of 15 dB for deep bass and high treble frequencies. Each control operates independently so that precise tone shaping is possible. When both controls are in the center position, the response is flat; the bass and treble frequencies are equally mixed.

Output distortion is low at all frequencies for any setting of either the bass or the treble tone control. The collector-to-base feedback in the 2N3242A transistors Q₃ and Q₁ works with the tone controls to provide the over-all tonal response of the preamplifier.

Included in the preamplifier is a loudness/volume control switch S₂. With the loudness control in, lower tones are enhanced at low output levels, and a more pleasing sound is produced. When the loudness control is switched out, the volume control attenuates all tones equally.

The scratch filter attenuates somewhat the frequencies at which scratch noise from scratched records is most prevalent.

Circuits

GENERAL-PURPOSE AUDIO AMPLIFIER



Parts List

$C_1 = 10$ microfarads,	6	$R_1 = 1000 \text{ ohms}, 0.5 \text{ watt}$	$R_i = See chart, 0.5 watt$
volts, electrolytic C ₂ = 50 microfarads, volts, electrolytic	25	$\mathrm{R}_2=1200$ ohms, 0.5 watt $\mathrm{R}_3=$ See chart, 0.5 watt	$R_3 = 270$ ohms, 0.5 watt

All resistors have a tolerance of 10 per cent.

Resistance Data for Different Voltage Gains and Input Impedances*

Voltage Gain	Input Impedance (ohms)	Ra (ohms)	Rı (kilohms)
166	2700	0	680
22 17	9000	39 68	430
10	15000	100	390
3 1	55000 100000	390 1200	360
• Data	obtained for	an output	of 1 vol

rms into a 250-ohm line.

Circuit Description

This two-stage amplifier is useful as a line driver for audio systems in which the power amplifier is located at a considerable distance from the signal source, as a driver for the line inputs of tape recorders, as an output stage for inexpensive radio receivers, and in many other general-purpose audio-amplifier applications. The amplifier has a frequency response that is flat from 20 to 20,000 Hz and can be used to drive any line that has an impedance of 250 ohms or greater. It operates from a dc supply of 12 volts and can supply a maximum undistorted output of 3-volts rms into a 250-ohm line.

The voltage gain and input impedance of the amplifier are determined by the values chosen for the emitter resistor (\mathbf{R}_{*}) and feedback resistor (\mathbf{R}_{*}) for the input stage. A chart shows values of these resistors for various voltage gains from unity to 166 and for input impedances from 2700 ohms to 55,000 ohms.

15-11 GENERAL-PURPOSE AUDIO AMPLIFIER (cont'd)

Circuit Description (cont'd)

The amplifier employs a 2N3242A transistor Q_1 in a common-emitter input stage and a 2N2102 transistor Q_2 in an emitter-follower output stage. These stages are interconnected in a self-adjusting configuration that maintains the amplifier in a stable operating state regardless of variations in dc supply voltage and ambient temperature. This stability is achieved by use of a dc feedback applied from the output (emitter) of transistor Q_2 to the input (base) of transistor Q_3 through R_1 .

If the emitter current of transistor Q_1 should increase, the base voltage of transistor Q_2 would also

decrease because of the rise in the voltage drop across resistor R₂. This decrease in the base voltage of transistor Q₂ results in a corresponding reduction in the emitter current of this transistor. Consequently, the amount of positive dc voltage fed back from the emitter of transistor Q₃ to the base of transistor Q₁ is reduced. This reduction in voltage at the base of Q₁ causes a decrease in current through this transistor that compensates for the original increase, and the amplifier is stabilized. Use of an emitter-follower output stage makes possible the low output impedance of the amplifier.

15-12 AUDIO POWER AMPLIFIER IHFM Music Power Rating, 15 W

Circuit Description

This three-stage audio power amplifier delivers 12 watts of rms power output to an 8-ohm load impedance for an input of 0.6 volt rms. Two such amplifiers can be used in a dual-channel (stereo) system to provide IHFM music power of 15 watts per channel or 30 watts total. The amplifier uses a direct-coupled complementary-symmetry output stage with conventional "bootstrap" drive to achieve excellent frequency-response characteristics and large amounts of negative feedback to assure low distortion. The amplifier operates from a dc power supply of 36 volts.

The input stage employs two 2N3053 n-p-n transistors in a differential-amplifier circuit configuration. This arrangement assures that the voltage at the mid-point of the output stage (i.e., positive side of capacitor C_7) is always one-half the power-supply voltage. As a result, the maximum range of output-voltage swing is allowed for all conditions of supply voltage. The feedback loop causes any voltage difference that develops between output and input to be amplified negatively (i.e., in opposite phase) and, in this way, assures that the output voltage closely tracks the input voltage.

The driver stage uses a 2N4037silicon p-n-p transistor in a commonemitter circuit configuration. A 1N3193 compensating diode is used in this stage to provide thermal stability. This diode, which is thermally connected to the heat sink of the output transistors, is required to assure reliable operation of the output stage at ambient temperatures up to 55° C.
Circuits



NOTES: (1) Output transistors Q_1 and Q_5 and diode D_1 should be mounted on a common heat sink (Wakefield Type NC-403K or equiv.). Diode D_1 should be attached to the under side of the heat sink by use of small metal cable clamps. (2) Transistors Q_1 and Q_2 should be matched for base-to-emitter voltage within 0.04 volt and should be selected for a beta between 100 and 300 at 1 milliampere and 5 volts.

Parts List

Circuit Description (cont'd)

The output stage employs a 2N5497 silicon n-p-n transistor and a 2N5956 silicon p-n-p transistor connected in complementary symmetry. The 470-picofarad capacitor $C_{\rm s}$ connected from collector to base

of the 2N5956 transistor reduces the high-frequency response of this type to approximately that of the 2N5497 plastic-package transistor. Both sections of the output stage, therefore, have essentially the same frequency-

15-12

12-WATT COMPLEMENTARY-SYMMETRY AUDIO POWER AMPLIFIER (cont'd)

Circuit Description (cont'd)

response characteristics—a feature which simplifies the addition of negative feedback.

The resistor voltage divider (R_{τ} and R_{ν}) connected across the speaker provides the proper amount of voltage for the loop feedback (from the amplifier output (speaker terminal) back to the base of transistor Q_2 in the differential-amplifier input stage).

The dc supply voltage required for the amplifier is supplied by a fullwave transformer-coupled bridge power supply that uses four RCA-40267 silicon rectifiers. A single supply can provide the dc operating power for both amplifiers in a dualchannel system. The 117-volt ac line voltage is stepped down to 25.5 volts by the power transformer T_1 . The 40267 rectifier bridge and capacitor C_0 rectify and filter the voltage across the secondary of T_1 to provide a smooth dc output voltage approximately equal to the peak value of the stepped-down ac input voltage (i.e., $E_{dr} = 1.414 \times 25.5 = 36$ volts).

Performance Characteristics

(Measured at a line voltage of 120 V, $T_{A} = 25$ °C, and a frequency of 1 kHz, unless otherwise specified.)

Power Output	
(8-ohm load):	
Music (at 5% THD, regu-	
lated supply)	15 W
Dynamic (at 1% THD,	
regulated supply)	13 W
Continuous (at 1% THD.	
unregulated supply)	12 W
Sensitivity:	
For continuous power	
output rating	600 mV
Hum and Noise:	
Below continuous power	
output:	
Input shorted	90 dB
Input open	70 dB
Input Resistance	23 kO
Intermodulation Distortion	20 111
10 dB below continuous	
power output at 60 Hz	
and 7 kHz (4:1)	0.6%
,=,	0.0 /0

15-13 HIGH-FIDELITY 25-WATT QUASI-COMPLEMENTARY-SYMMETRY AUDIO POWER AMPLIFIER IHFM Music Power Rating, 38 W

Circuit Description

This high-fidelity amplifier provides 25 watts of rms power output (38 watts of IHFM music power output) for an input of 0.6 volt rms. The amplifier has a frequency response that it flat within 1 dB from 10 to 50,000 Hz. Total harmonic distortion at the full rated output of 25 watts is less than 1 per cent at 1000 Hz. The amplifier requires no driver or output transformer and has built-in safe-area limiting protection that prevents damage to the driver and output stages from high currents and excessive power dissipation.

The input stage uses two 2N4037 p-n-p transistors (Q_1 and Q_2) in a differential amplifier circuit. These transistors are matched for V_{BE} characteristics to give a minimum offset voltage between their bases and, therefore, between input and output. The action of the feedback loop is to amplify negatively (i.e., in opposite phase) any voltage difference that develops between input and output, and, in this way, to cause the output voltage.

The predriver stage employs a 40408 n-p-n transistor (Q₃) in a

HIGH-FIDELITY 25-WATT QUASI-COMPLEMENTARY-15 - 13SYMMETRY AUDIO POWER AMPLIFIER (cont'd)



NOTES: (1) Output transistors Q_8 and Q_7 and diodes D_2 through D_4 should be mounted on a common heat sink (Wakefield Type NC-403K or equiv.). Diodes should be attached to under side of heat sink by use of small metal cable clamps. (2) Transisotrs Q_1 and Q_2 should be matched for base-to-emitter voltage within 0.04 volt and should be selected for a beta between 100 and 300 at 1 milliampere and 5 volts.

Parts List

- C₁ = 5 μ F, electrolytic, 12 V C₂ = 180 pF, ceramic, 50 V C₃ = 39 pF, ceramic, 50 V C₄, C₆, C₇ = 50 μ F, electro-lytic, 50 V C₅ = 50 μ F, electrolytic, 12 V C₄, C₇ = C 12 V Cs, Ce, C₁₅ = 0.02 μ F, ceramic, 50 V C10, C11, C12, C13, C14, C16 = 0.05 μ F, ceramic, 50 V C17, C18 = 2100 μ F, electro-lytic, 35 V F1 = fuse, 1.5-ampere, slow-blow F1
- $L_1 = 10 \mu H$, Miller 4622 or equiv. or equiv. Alternative results and the equiv. R1, Rs = 1800 ohms, 0.5 watt R3 = 12000 ohms, 0.5 watt R4, R7 = 680 ohms, 0.5 watt R5 = 180 ohms, 0.5 watt R6, R12 = 270 ohms, 0.5 watt R10 = 2200 ohms, 0.5 watt R10 = 2200 ohms, 0.5 watt R11 = 47 ohms, 0.5 watt R12, R16, R20, R21 = 100 ohms, 0.5 watt R14, R16 = 1000 ohms, R14, R16 = 1000 ohms, R14, R16 = 1000 ohms, 0.5 watt
- $R_{15} = 4700$ ohms, 0.5 watt R₁₅ = 4700 onms, 0.5 watt R₁₇, R₁₈ = 68 ohms, 0.5 watt R₂₅, R₂₃ = 0.43 ohms, 5 watts R₂₄, R₂₅ = 22 ohms, 0.5 watt S₁ = ON-OFF switch,

- single-pole, single-throw $r_1 = power transformer;$ primary 117 volts; sec-Tι ondary, center-tapped, 37 volts at 1.5 amperes; Triwec Transformer Co. No. RCA-120 or equiv.

15-13 HIGH-FIDELITY 25-WATT QUASI-COMPLEMENTARY-SYMMETRY AUDIO POWER AMPLIFIER (cont'd)

Circuit Description (cont'd)

common-emitter circuit. This circuit has a minimum loading effect on the input stage and provides the necessary voltage amplification for the entire amplifier. The subsequent stages provide the required current gain.

The driver stage uses a 40635 n-p-n transistor (Q₄) and a 40634p-n-p transistor (Q_5) connected in complementary symmetry to develop push-pull drive for the output stage. Two 40632 silicon power transistors (Q_0 and Q_7) used in the output stage are connected in series with separate positive and negative supply voltages. The output is directly coupled to an 8-ohm speaker from the common point between the two transistors. Negative feedback of 35 dB is provided by R_0 , R_7 and Cs. Feedback stabilization and proper frequency response are provided by the reactive elements C₅, C_{15} and L_1 .

Bias voltage for the complementary driver stages is provided by the forward voltage drop across the three 1N3754 diodes (D₂, D₃, and D₄) and resistor R_n. This voltage is necessary to maintain the output stages in class AB operation to avoid cross-over distortion. The 1N3754 diodes are connected thermally to the heat sink of the output transistors to provide the necessary thermal feedback to stabilize the quiescent current at its preset value at all case temperatures up to 100°C. Because of the high-temperature compensation provided by this thermal feedback network, the required stability in the output stages can be provided by small emitter resistors $(R_{22} \text{ and } R_{23})$ and losses are held to a minimum. (The Q5-Q7 pair operates like a large p-n-p transistor whose "emitter" is the collector of Q_7 . Resistor R₂₂, therefore, is in the "effective emitter" of the pair.)

Safe-area limiting is provided by a current-limiting circuit whose prin-

cipal components are the emitter resistors R22 and R23 and the 2N4037 p-n-p transistor Qo and 40611 n-p-n transistor Q₈ connected to them, respectively. If any condition exists which causes an excessive current to flow through either resistor, the resultant voltage developed across the resistor will turn on its corresponding protection transistor, removing the excessive base drive current from the appropriate driver transistor $(Q_4 \text{ or } Q_5)$. The value of current that is "excessive" depends on the output voltage. At an output voltage near ground (such as would be encountered with a short circuit) essentially the full voltage across the emitter resistor is applied across the base-emitter terminals of the protection transistor, which then turns on at a particular value of output current. When the output voltage is well above from ground, however, (as in the peaks in a normal operating situation) the emitter-to-ground voltage is applied to the network in the protection circuit and a voltage drop is developed across resistor R₁₇ or R_{18} . As a result, the full voltage across the emitter resistor is not applied to the protection transistor, and a larger output current that produces a larger voltage drop must occur before limiting takes place. Because the power dissipation of a transistor is the product of the voltage across it and the current through it, high currents may be tolerated at low values of voltage across the transistor (i.e., high values of output voltage, because the sum of output voltage and transistor voltage is equal to the supply voltage). Both the driver and output transistors, therefore, are protected from any excessive power dissipation, whether by a short circuit or with a normal load.

Further safe-area limiting is provided by the 1N3193 diodes D_{13} and D_{13} placed across the output transis-

15-13 HIGH-FIDELITY 25-WATT QUASI-COMPLEMENTARY-SYMMETRY AUDIO POWER AMPLIFIER (cont'd)

Circuit Description (cont'd)

tors. These diodes guard against damage due to a highly inductive load by providing a path to return the energy from the inductor to the power supply when the load voltage and load current differ in sign. This energy must find a return path in any case. If the diodes are not present, the energy will flow through the output transistor in the reverse direction from normal current flow, and possibly cause breakdown.

The amplifier operates from a full-wave bridge power supply which provides symmetrical positive and negative dc outputs of 26 volts. This power supply may be used for both channels of a stereo system.

Performance Characteristics

(Measured at a line voltage of 120V, an ambient temperature of 25° C, and a frequency of 1 kHz, unless otherwise specified.)

Power Output (8-ohm load)	
Music (at 5% THD, regu-	
lated supply)	38W
Dynamic (at 1% THD,	
regulated supply)	33W
Continuous (at 1% THD,	
unregulated supply)	25W
Sensitivity (For continuous	
power output rating);	600 mV
Hum and Noise (below con-	
tinuous nower output):	
Input shorted	90 AB
Input shorted	75 40
Input open	15 0.5
Input Resistance	20,000 ohms
Intermodulation Distortion	
[10 dB below continuous	
power output at 60 Hz and	
$7 kH_7 (4.1)$	01%
·	0.1 /0

15-14 HIGH-FIDELITY 40-WATT QUASI-COMPLEMENTARY-SYMMETRY AUDIO POWER AMPLIFIER IHFM Music Power Rating, 55 W

Circuit Description

This high-fidelity audio power amplifier can deliver 40 watts of rms power output (55 watts of IHFM music power output) for an input of 0.6 volt rms. The frequency response of the amplifier is flat within 1 dB from 10 to 50,000 Hz. Total harmonic distortion at the full rated output of 40 watts is less than 1 per cent at 1000 Hz. Although component values, the transistor complement, and supply voltages differ, the circuit configuration of this amplifier is the same as that of the 25-watt amplifier in circuit 15-13, and the operation of the two amplifiers is identical. The 40-watt amplioperates from symmetrical fier positive and negative dc voltages of 32 volts.

Performance Characteristics

(Measured at a line voltage of 120V, an ambient temperature of 25° C, and a frequency of 1 kHz, unless otherwise specified.)

Power Output (8-ohm load)	
Music (at 5% THD, regu-	
lated supply)	55W
Dynamic (at 1% THD,	
regulated supply)	50W
Continuous (at 1% THD,	
unregulated supply)	40W
Sensitivity for continuous	
power output rating	600 mV
Hum and Noise:	
Below continuous power	
output:	
Input shorted	80 dB
Input open	75 dB
Input Resistance	20,000 ohms
Intermodulation Distortion	
[10 dB below continuous	
power output at 60 Hz	
and 7 kHz (4:1)]	0.1%

15-14 HIGH-FIDELITY 40-WATT QUASI-COMPLEMENTARY-SYMMETRY AUDIO POWER AMPLIFIER (cont'd)



NOTE: (1) Output transistors Q_1 and Q_7 and diodes D_2 through D_1 should be mounted on a common heat sink (Wakefield Type NC403K or equiv.). Diodes should be attached to under side of heat sink by use of small metal cable clamps. (2) Transistors Q_1 and Q_2 should be matched for base-to-emitter voltage within 0.04 volt and should be selected for a beta between 100 and 300 at 1 millampere and 5 volts.

Parts List

 $L_1 = 10 \ \mu H$, Miller 4622 or equiv. $R_1 = 1800 \ ohms, 0.5 \ watt R_2, R_6 = 18000 \ ohms,$ $C_1 = 5 \mu F$, electrolytic, 12 V $C_2 = 180 \text{ pF}$, ceramic, 50 V $C_3 = 39 \text{ pF}$, ceramic, 50 V $C_4, C_5, C_7 = 50 \mu\text{F}$, electro-lytic, 50 V $R_2, R_6 = 1$ 0.5 watt 0.5 watt $R_{1} = 15000$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_{1} = 680$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_{2} = 180$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_{7} = 560$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_{8} = 2200$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_{8} = 270$ ohms, 0.5 watt $C_5 = 50 \ \mu F$, electrolytic, 12 V $R_{10} = 2700$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_{11} = 47$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_{12} = 390$ ohms, 0.5 watt R_{13} , R_{19} , R_{20} , $R_{21} = 100$ ohms, 0.5 watt slow-blow

- $R_{14}, R_{16} = 1000$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_{15} = 4700$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_{17}, R_{18} = 68$ ohms, 0.5 watt R_{22} , $R_{23} = 0.39$ ohm, 5 watts

- single-pole, singlethrow
- power transformer; primary 117 volts; sec-ondary, center-tapped, 46 volts at 2 amperes; Triwec Transformer Co. T₁ No. RCA-119 or equiv.

Circuits

HIGH-FIDELITY 70-WATT QUASI-COMPLEMENTARY-15-15 SYMMETRY AUDIO POWER AMPLIFIER IHFM Music Power Rating, 100 W



NOTES: (1) Output transistors Q_{i} and Q_{7} and diodes D_{2} through D_{1} should be mounted on a common heat sink (Wakefield Type NC-403K or equiv.). Diodes should be attached to under side of heat sink by use of small metal cable clamps. (2) Transistors Q_{1} and Q_{2} should be matched for base-to-emitter voltage within 0.04 volt and should be selected for a beta between 100 and 300 at 1 milliampere and 5 volts.

Parts List

- $C_1 = 5 \ \mu F$, electrolytic 12 V
- $C_2 = 180 \text{ pF}$, ceramic, 50 V $C_a = 39$ pF, ceramic, 50 V $C_a = 23$ pF, everamic, 50 V $C_1, C_2, C_7 = 50 \mu$ F, electro-lytic, 50 V $C_a = 50 \mu$ F, electrolytic, $C_2 = 50 \mu$ F, electrolytic,

- $F_1 =$ fuse, 3 ampere, slow-
- blow type $L_1 = 10 \ \mu$ H, Miller 4622 or
- equiv.= 1800 ohms, 0.5 watt = 18000 ohms $R_1 =$ $R_{\odot},\ R_{\odot}\,=\,18000$ ohms, R2. 0.5 watt
- $R_1 = 680$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_2 = 180$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_7, R_{11} = 470$ ohms, 0.5 watt
- $R_{s} = 2700$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_{\theta} = 270$ ohms, 0.5 watt
- $R_{10} = 3300$ ohms, 0.5 watt
- $R_{12} = 47$ ohms, 0.5 watt R_{15} , R_{10} , R_{20} , $R_{23} = 100$ ohms,
- 0.5 watt

 R_{13} , $R_{15} = 1000$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_{11} = 4700$ ohms, 0.5 watt

- R_{10} , $R_{17} = 68$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_{21}, R_{22} = 0.33$ ohm, 5 watts $R_{23}, R_{24} = 22$ ohms, 0.5 watt ON-OFF switch, sin-Sı gle-pole, single-throw
- $\mathbf{T}_1 = power$ primary 117 volts; secondary, center-tapped, 60 volts at 2.5 amperes; Tri-wec Transformer Co. No. RCA 113 or equiv.

15-15 HIGH-FIDELITY 70-WATT QUASI-COMPLEMENTARY-SYMMETRY AUDIO POWER AMPLIFIER (cont'd)

Circuit Description

This high-fidelity audio power amplifier provides 70 watts of rms power output (100 watts of IHFM music power output) for an input of 1 volt rms. The frequency response of the amplifier is flat within 1 dB from 5 to 25000 Hz. Total harmonic distortion at the full rated power output of 70 watts is less than 0.25 per cent at 1000 Hz. Although component values, the transistor complement, and supply voltages differ, the basic configuration and the operation of this amplifier are essentially identical to the 25watt amplifier in circuit 15-13. The 70-watt amplifier operates from symmetrical positive and negative dc supply voltages of 42 volts.

Performance Characteristics

(Measured at a line voltge of 120V, ambient temperature of 25 °C, and a frequency of 1 kHz, unless otherwise specified)

Power Output:	
Music (at 5% THD, regu-	
lated supply, 8-ohm load)	100W
Dynamic (at 1% THD.	
regulated supply, 8-ohm	
load)	88W
Continuous (at 1% THD.	
unregulated supply, 8-	
ohm load)	70W
Sensitivity for continuous	
power output rating	
Hum and Noise (below con-	
tinuous power output):	85 dB
Input shorted	80 dB
Input open	20,000 ohms
Input Resistance	
Intermodulation Distortion	
[10 dB below continuous	700 mV
power output at 60 Hz	
and 7 kHz (4:1)]	0.1%

15-16

SERVO AMPLIFIER

Circuit Description

This servo amplifier can supply up to 6 watts of power to the drive motor of a servo system. The amplifier is driven by a 400-Hz ac signal and is operated from a dc supply voltage of 56 volts. A pair of 2N3054 silicon power transistors are used in a class AB, push-pull, singleended output stage to develop the required output power.

A 2N1481 common-emitter input stage amplifies the 400-Hz input to the level required to drive the 2N3054 output transistors. The amplified 400-Hz signal at the collector of the 2N1481 transistor is coupled to the base of each 2N3054 output transistor by the transformer T_1 . The secondary of T_1 is split to form two identical windings which are oriented so that the inputs to the output transistors are equal in amplitude and 180 degrees out of phase, as required for push-pull drive.

If the input to the upper output transistor were applied between the base and ground, this transistor would be operated as an emitter follower and could not provide voltage gain. The input, however, is applied between the base and the emitter so that, in effect, the upper transistor is operated as a commonemitter amplifier except that there is no phase reversal between input and output. Its gain, therefore, is equal to that of the lower output transistor, which is operated in a conventional common-emitter amplifier configuration. The positive half-cycle of the output signal developed by the upper transistor and the negative half-cycle developed by the lower transistor then have equal voltage swings. This output is coupled to the control-phase winding of the drive motor by the series output capacitor C.

Circuits





SERVO AMPLIFIER (cont'd)

Parts List

$C_1 = 10$	μF,	electrolytic,	$R_1 = 68000 \text{ ohms}, 0.5 \text{ watt}$	$T_1 = driver transformer;$
15 V	_		$R_2 = 5600 \text{ ohms}, 0.5 \text{ watt}$	core material 0.014-inch
$C_2 = 47$	μF,	electrolytic,	$R_3 = 56$ ohms, 0.5 watt	Magnetic Metals Corp.
15 V			$R_{4} = 560$ ohms, 0.5 watt	"Crystalligned" or equiv.;
$C_3 = 20$	μF,	electrolytic,	$R_5 = 3300$ ohms, 0.5 watt	primary 1500 turns; sec-
50 V			$R_{6}, R_{7} = 18000 \text{ ohms}, 0.5 \text{ watt}$	ondary 450 turns, bifilar
$C_1 = 500$	μF.	electrolytic,	$R_8, R_9 = 400$ ohms, 0.5 watt	wound (each section 225
50 V	• •	-	$R_{10} R_{11} = 4$ ohms, 1 watt	turns)

15-17 27-MHz, 5-WATT CITIZENS-BAND TRANSMITTER

Circuit Description

This transmitter operates directly from a 12-volt supply without the need for dc-to-dc converters, and is thus adaptable to mobile operations employing 12-volt systems. Its low power drain also makes it adaptable to portable use with small storage batteries.

The rf section of the transmitter, which consists of a 40080 crystalcontrolled oscillator, a 40081 driver, and a 40082 power amplifier, develops 3.5 watts of rf power output at 27 MHz. Both the driver and the power amplifier are modulated to achieve 100-per-cent amplitude modulation.

The 40080 crystal-controlled oscillator stage is a Colpitts type of circuit that provides excellent frequency stability with respect to collector supply voltage and temperature (well within the 0.005-percent tolerance permitted by F.C.C. 27-MHz, 5-WATT CITIZENS-BAND TRANSMITTER (cont'd)



NOTES: (1) See general considerations for construction of high-frequency and broadband circuits on page 691. (2) The 40082 transistor used in the rf power amplifier should be mounted on a good heat sink. (3) This circuit uses coils that are not standard commercial items; such coils must be wound by the circuit builder.

Parts List

- C₁ = 75 pF, ceramic C₂ = 30 pF, ceramic C₃ = 0.01 μ F, ceramic C₄ = 0.01 μ F, ceramic C₅ = 47 pF, ceramic C₆ = 51 pF, mica C₇ = 0.002 μ F, ceramic C₈ = 24 pF, mica C₁₀ = variable capacitor, 90 to 400 pF (ARCO 429, or equiv.)

- $C_{11} = 100 \text{ pF}$, ceramic $C_{12} = 220 \text{ pF}$, ceramic $C_{13} = 5 \mu\text{F}$, electrolytic C_{14} , $C_{17} = 50 \mu\text{F}$, electro-lytic, 25 V $C_{15} = C_{17} = 12$

- C₁₅, C₁₆, C₁₈ = 10 μ F, electrolytic, 15 V C₁₉, C₂₀ = 0.2 μ F, electroly-
- $C_{10}, C_{20} = tic. 15 V$
- $C_{21} = 0.1 \ \mu F$, ceramic

 $R_8 = 2000$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_{\theta} = potentiometer, 10000$ ohms

 $R_{10} = 3600$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_{11} = 15000 \text{ ohms}, 0.5 \text{ watt}$ $R_{11} = 15000$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_{13} = 1000$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_{14} = 1200$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_{15} = 240$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_{16}, R_{17} = 2700$ ohms, 0.5 watt

- Ris, Ris = 1.5 ohms, 0.5 watt
 T₁ = rf transformer; primary 14 turns, secondary 3 turns of No. 22 wire wound on ¼-inch CTC coil form having a "green dot" core (CTC No. 1542-3 or equiv.); slug-tuned (0.75 to 1.2 μ H); Q = 100 = rf transformer; pri- T_2 mary 14 turns, secondary

15-17

15-17 27-MHz, 5-WATT CITIZENS-BAND TRANSMITTER (cont'd)

Parts List (cont'd)

2-34 turns of No. 22 wire wound on $\frac{1}{4}$ -inch CTC coil form having a "green dot" core; slug-tuned (0.75 to 1.2 μ H); Q = 100Ts = transformer; primary:

2500 ohms; secondary 200 ohms center-tapped; Microtran SMT 17-SB or equiv.

 $T_4 =$ transformer; primary: 100 ohms center-tapped; secondary: 30 ohms; Stancor TA-12 or equiv. XTAL = 27-MHz transmitting crystal, standard third-overtone type.

Circuit Description (cont'd)

regulations) and delivers a minimum rf power of 100 milliwatts to the input of the driver stage.

The 40081 driver stage uses a class C common-emitter configuration. The modulation input is applied to the collector circuit. This stage delivers a minimum of 400 milliwatts of modulated rf power to the power amplifier. A heat dissipator should be mounted on the case of the 40081. The 40082 power-amplifier stage also uses a class C commonemitter configuration and is modulated through the collector circuit. The double- π network used as the output resonant circuit provides harmonic rejection of 50 dB, as required by F.C.C. regulations. The minimum rf power output supplied to the antenna from the power amplifier is 3 watts.

In the audio (modulator) section of the transmitter, two 2N591 class A amplifier stages are used to drive a class AB push-pull output stage using two 2N2869/2N301 transistors. This design provides maximum efficiency with low distortion. A 1N2326 compensating diode is used in the biasing network to provide thermal stability. The modulation transformer T, matches the collectorto-collector impedance of the modulator to that of the rf driver and power amplifier.

15-18

50-MHz, 40-WATT CW TRANSMITTER With Load-Mismatch Protection

Circuit Description

This cw transmitter uses a VSWR bridge circuit to maintain a steadystate dissipation in the output stage under all conditions of antenna mismatch. This technique makes it possible to realize the full power potential of the 40341 overlay transistor used in the output stage.

The 50-MHz crystal-controlled 2N3118 oscillator stage develops the low-level excitation signal for the transmitter. The 50-MHz output signal from the collector of the oscillator transistor is coupled by L_s to the base of a second 2N3118 used in a predriver stage (low-level amplifier). This step-down transformer matches the collector impedance of the oscillator transistor to the lowimpedance base circuit of the predriver transistor. The collector circuit of the predriver is tuned to provide maximum signal output at 50 MHz. This signal is coupled from a tap on inductor L_s to the input (base) circuit of the driver stage.



NOTES: (1) See general considerations for construction of high-frequency and broadband circuits on page 691. (2) This circuit uses coils that are not standard commercial items; such coils must be wound by the circuit builder.

Parts List

- 1000 pF
- Constraints to 20 pF, Arco No. 402 or equiv. $C_7 = 36$ pF, mica

- C_{16} , $C_{22} = 0.02 \ \mu F$, C8, ceramic
- ceramic Cs, Cto = variable capacitor, 8 to 60 pF, Arco No. 404 or equiv. Cto = 91 pF, mica Cto = 91 pF, mica Cto = variable capacitor, 400 or equiv. Cto = variable capacitor.

- C₁₅ = variable capacitor, 14 to 150 pF, Arco No. 426 or equiv.

50-MHz, 40-WATT CW TRANSMITTER (cont'd) 15-18

Parts List (cont'd)

No. 22 wire on CTC coil form having "white dot" core

- $L_4 = 5$ turns of No. 16 wire; inner diameter, $\frac{5}{16}$ inch:
- length, $\frac{1}{2}$ inch L5, L7, L9, L10, L11 = rf choke, 7 μ H L6 = 4 turns of B & W No.
- 3006 coil stock
- L₈ = 6 turns of No. 16 wire; inner diameter, ³/₈ inch; inner diameter, ¾ inch; length, ¾ inch Ri, R₀ = 510 ohms, 0.5 watt R₂ = 3900 ohms, 0.5 watt R₃, R₈ = 2.2 ohms, wire-wound, 0.5 watt; Inter-national Resistor Corp. BWH type, or equiv. $R_1 = 51$ ohms, 0.5 watt

 $R_5 = 24000$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_7 = 2400$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_7 = 240$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_9 = agc$ control, poten-tiometer, 50000 ohms $R_{10} = 5.6$ ohms, 1 watt $T_1 = current$ transformer $T_1 = current$ transformer

- (toroid), Arnold No. A4-437-125-SF, or equiv. XTAL = 50-MHz trans-mitting crystal

Circuit Description (cont'd)

which uses a 2N3375 silicon power transistor to develop the power required to drive the output stage.

The 40341 overlay transistor used in the output stage develops 40 watts of power output at the transmitting frequency of 50 MHz. The driving power for the output stage is coupled from the collector of the driver transistor through a bandpass filter to the base of the output transistor. The filter networks in the collector circuit of the 40341 provide the required harmonic and spurious-frequency rejection. The 50-MHz output from these filter sections is coupled through a length of 50-ohm coaxial line to the antenna. Capacitors Co, Co, and C13 are adjusted to provide optimum impedance match between the transmitter and the antenna.

The output of the transmitter is sampled by a current transformer (toroid) T_1 loosely coupled about the output transmission line. This transformer is the sensor for a VSWR bridge detector used to prevent excessive dissipation in the output stage under conditions of antenna

mismatch. If the antenna is disconnected or poorly matched to the transmitter, large standing waves of voltage and current occur on the output transmission line. A portion of this standing-wave energy is applied by T_1 to the 1N3067 diode in the bridge circuit. The rectified current from this diode charges capacitor C₁₈ to a dc voltage proportional to the amplitude of the standing waves. This voltage, which is essentially an agc bias, is applied to the base of the 2N3053 agc amplifier stage. The output of the agc stage biases the 2N3118 predriver stage so that its gain changes in inverse proportion to the amplitude of the standing wave on the output transmission line. Therefore, as the amplitude of the standing waves increases (tending to cause higher heat dissipation in the output transistor), the input drive to the output stage is reduced. This compensating effect maintains a steady-state dissipation in the output transistor regardless of mismatch conditions between the transmitter output circuit and the antenna.

15-19

175-MHz, 35-WATT AMPLIFIER

Circuit Description

This four-stage rf power amplifier operates from a dc supply of 13.5 volts and delivers 35 watts of power output at 175 MHz for an input of 125 milliwatts. The silicon overlay transistors used in the amplifier

731

DRIVER



175-MHz, 35-WATT AMPLIFIER (cont'd)



Parts List

- C₁ = variable capacitor, 3 to 35 pF, Arco No. 403, or equiv. C₂, C₅, C₁₅, C₁₇, C₁₈, C₁₉, C₃₇ = variable capacitor, 8 to 60 pF, Arco No. 404, or equiv. C₃, C₇, C₁₁ = 0.1 μ F, ceramic disc
- disc
- C_4 , C_8 , C_{12} , C_{21} , C_{23} , $C_{25} = feedthrough capacitor,$
- feedinious. 1500 pF C6, C10, C13, C14, C26 = vari-able capacitor, 7 to 100 Arco No. 423, or equiv.
- $C_{0} =$ variable capacitor, 14 to 150 pF, Arco No. 424 or equiv.
- $C_{15} = variable capacitor, 1.5 to 20 pF. Arco No. 402$
- or equiv. C20, C22, C24 = 0.2 μ F. ceramic disc
- $L_1 = 2$ turns of No. 16 wire; inner diameter, $\frac{3}{16}$ inch;
- length, ¼ inch L₂, L₅, L₈ = 450-ohm ferrite rf_choke
- $L_{3}, L_{6}, L_{11} = rf$ choke, 1.0 $^{\mu H}_{L_4, L_7} = 3$ turns of No. 16
- wire; inner diameter, $\frac{3}{16}$ inch; length, $\frac{1}{4}$ inch $L_{\theta} = 1 \frac{1}{2}$ turns of No. 16
- 14
- Ly = 1-22 turns of No. 10 wire; inner diameter, ¹/₄ inch; length, ³/₂ inch L₁₀ = 2 turns of No. 16 wire; inner diameter, ¹/₄ inch; length 5(*i*) inch
- inner diameter, ¼ inch; length, 5½6 inch Liz, Li3, Li4 = 5 turns of No. 16 wire; inner diameter, 14 inch; length, ½ inch Li5, Lia, Li7 = 2 turns of No. 18 wire; inner diameter, ½ inch; length, ½ inch Li8, Lia, Li2 = 2 turns of No. 16 wire; inner diameter. ¼ inch; length, ¼ inch

NOTES: (1) See general considerations for construction of high-frequency and broadband circuits on page 691. (2) This circuit uses coils that are not standard commercial items; such coils must be wound by the circuit builder.



15-19 175-MHz, 35-WATT AMPLIFIER (cont'd)

Circuit Description (cont'd)

supply maximum output power at this level of dc voltage for use in mobile systems.

The low-level portion of the amplifier consists of three unneutralized, class C, common-emitter rf amplifier stages interconnected by band-pass filters tuned to provide maximum transfer of energy at 175 MHz. The 40280 input stage develops 1 watt of power output when a 125milliwatt 175-MHz signal is applied to the amplifier input terminal. This output is increased to 4 watts by the 40281 transistor used in the second stage. The 40282 driver transistor then develops 12 watts of driving power for the output stage.

When the low-level stages and the output stage are mounted on separate chassis, the output from the

driver stage is coupled to the output stage through a low-loss coaxial line. The line is terminated by variable capacitors C13 and C16 and inductor L_n. The capacitors are adjusted to assure a good impedance match between the output of the driver and the input of the output stage at 175 MHz. The driving signal developed across inductor L₁₁ is applied to the tuned input networks of three parallel-connected 40282 transistors in the single-ended output stage. For an input of 12 watts. the three 40282 transistors deliver 35 watts of 175-MHz power to the output terminal of the amplifier. Capacitors C20 and C27 are adjusted to match the amplifier output to the load impedance at the operating frequency.

15-20 40-WATT PEAK-ENVELOPE-POWER AIRCRAFT-BAND AMPLIFIER FOR AM TRANSMITTERS

Circuit Description

This broadband rf power amplifier is intended for use in amplitudemodulated (AM) transmitters operating in the aircraft communication band (118 to 136 MHz). The circuit is simple and easy to duplicate and requires a minimum of adjustments. The amplifier uses 2N3866 and 40290 transistors in a two-stage predriver, a 40291 in the driver stage, and two 40292 transistors in a pushpull output stage. These transistors, which are epitaxial silicon planar types of the "overlay" emitterelectrode construction, are intended for low-voltage, high-power operation in amplitude-modulated class C amplifiers.

In addition to standard breakdown-voltage ratings, the 40290, 40291, and 40292 transistors have rf breakdown-voltage characteristics which assure safe operation with high rf voltage on the collector. The 40292 transistors used in the final amplifier stage are 100-per-cent tested for load mismatch at a VSWR of 3:1. During this test, the transistor is fully modulated to simulate actual operation for added reliability.

The amplifier is capable of delivering peak envelope power of 40 watts at a modulation of 95 per cent with a collector voltage of 12.5 volts dc. Unmodulated drive of 5 milliwatts is required at the input. The over-all efficiency of the amplifier is 48 to 53 per cent, and the envelope distortion is less than 5 per cent for amplitude modulation of 95 per cent.

15-20 40-WATT PEAK-ENVELOPE-POWER AIRCRAFT-BAND AMPLIFIER FOR AM TRANSMITTERS (cont'd)



NOTES: (1) See general considerations for construction of high-frequency and broadband circuits on page 691. (2) This circuit uses coils that are not standard commercial items; such coils must be wound by the circuit builder.

Parts List

- $C_1 = 300 \text{ pF}$, silver mica $C_2 = 0.005 \mu$ F, ceramic $C_3, C_4, C_5, C_9, C_{11}, C_{17} =$ C₃, C₄, C₆, C₆, Feedthrough
- capacitor. 1000 pF $C_3 = 50$ pF, silver mica C_7 , C_{10} , C_{13} , $C_{15} = 0.5 \mu$ F,
- ceramic
- C_{8} , C_{12} , $C_{11} = 82$ pF, silver mica C_{13} , C_{16} , $C_{19} = 150$ pF, silver
- mica mica Lariable capacitor, magnetic capacitor, mica Large No. 404
- $C_{20} = Variable Capacity$ 8 to 60 pF, Arco No. 404or equiv. $L_1 = 7$ turns of No. 22 wire,

13/64 inch in diameter, 9/16 inch long, tapped at 1.5 turns

- $L_2 = 5.5$ turns of No. 22 wire, 13/64 inch in diameter, closely wound on Cambion IRN-9 (or equiv.) core material. tapped at 2 turns
- = 6 turns of No. 22 \mathbf{L}_{3} wire, inch 13/64 in diameter, interwind with L₄ on Cambion IRN-9 (or equiv.) core material
- = 4 turns of No. 22 L inch wire. 13/64 in diameter, interwind with

L₃ on common core

- $L_5 = 5$ turns of No. 22 wire, 13/64 inch in diameter, center-t interwind with Lo center-tapped;
- $L_6 = Same as L_5$; interwind with Ls
- FC = 1 turn of No. 28 wire, ferrite bead Ferrox-cube No. 56-590-65/4B, RFC cube 140. $36^{+}35^{+}50^{+}50^{+}47^{+}$ or equiv. $R_1 = 470$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_2 = 1500$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_3 = 47$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_5 = 33$ ohms, 0.5 watt

Performance Characteristics

12.5	v
40	w
95	%
48-53	%
<5	%
>10	dB down
	$12.5409548-53\leq 5\geq 10$

Circuits

15-21



NOTES: (1) See general considerations for construction of high-frequency and broadband circuits on page 691. (2) This circuit uses coils that are not standard commercial items; such coils must be wound by the circuit builder.

 $C_7 = 51$ pF, ATC-100 type

 $C_8 = 68$ pF, ATC-100 type

 $C_{\theta} = 00 \text{ pr}$, ATC-100 type or equiv. $C_{\theta} = 47 \text{ pF}$, ATC-100 type or equiv.

 $C_{10} = 1 \ \mu F$, electrolytic, 50 V

 $C_{11} = 12$ pF, silver mica

 $C_{12} =$ Feedthrough capaci-

ley No. FA5C or equiv.

 $C_{13} = Variable capacitor,$ 0.8 to 20 pF, Johanson

No. 4802 or equiv.

tor, 1000 pF, Allen-Brad-

or equiv.

or equiv.

Parts List

- 1 = Gimmick capacitor, 2.2 pF, Quality Components type 10% QC orequiv.
- $C_2 = 10$ pF, silver mica $C_3 = Variable capacitor, 0.8$ to 10 pF, Johanson No.
- 3957 or equiv. = Gimmick C, = Gimmick Capacity 1.0 pF, Quality Com-ponents type 10% QC or
- 5 = Gimmick capacitor, 1.5 pF, Quality Com-ponents type 10% QC or C^2 equiv.
- $C_6 = 36 \text{ pF}$, ATC-100 type

- L₁, L₃, L₄ = RF choke, 0.18 μ H, Nytronics type P. #DD-0.18 or equiv. L₂ = 1.5 turns*
- L₂ = 1.5 turns⁻
 L₃ = Copper strip, 5/8 inch long, 5/32 inch wide
 L₄ = RF choke, 0.1 μH, Nytronics type P. #DD-0.10
- 7 = Transistor base lead, 0.5 inch long L_7
- Ls, $L_{10} = 3$ turns*
- $L_{\theta} = 2 \text{ turns}^*$
- $R_1 = 100$ ohms, 1 watt R_2 , $R_3 = 100$ ohms, 0.5 watt
- $R_4 = 5.1$ ohms, carbon, 0.5 watt
- * All coils are wound from No. 18 wire with an inner diameter of 5/32 inch and a pitch of 12 turns per inch.

Circuit Description

This broadband power amplifier provides a constant power output of 16 watts with a gain variation of less than 1 dB over a bandwidth of 225 to 400 MHz for an input driving power of 3 to 4 watts. Two of these amplifiers can be connected in parallel to provide a constant power output of 25 watts over this frequency range. In a 225-to-400-MHz highpower transistor amplifier, a good transistor package is of particular

15-21 16-WATT 225-TO-400-MHz POWER AMPLIFIER (cont'd)

Circuit Description (cont'd)

importance. Low parasitic inductances are essential because the real part of the transistor input impedance is inherently low.

The RCA-2N5919 transistor used in the broadband amplifier features a stripline package specifically designed for use in the 225-to-400-MHz frequency range. This transistor is operated in the Class C mode, as is usually the case in high-power rf amplifiers. If the amplifier is to be used in an amplitude-modulated system, the linearity requirements can be met by use of envelope correction, a slight forward bias, or both. The amplifier operates from a dc supply of 28 volts.

The broad flat response of the amplifier results from the fact that the circuit is designed for the best possible match across the band and that some of the power at the low end of the band is dissipated through dissipative RLC networks. The low input VSWR of the amplifier (maximum of 2 to 1 across the frequency band) verifies the effectiveness of this technique. A low input VSWR is necessary for protection of the driving stage in a cascade connection. A flat response reduces the dynamic range required in the output leveling system.

The collector efficiency of the amplifier has a minimum value of 63 per cent across the frequency band. The second harmonic of a 225-MHz signal is 12 dB down and that of a 400-MHz signal is 30 dB down from the fundamental. This harmonic rejection is excellent for an amplifier that is required to have a bandwidth that covers almost an octave.

15-22

"GRID-DIP" METER

For Measuring Resonant Frequencies from 3.5 to 100 MHz

Circuit Description

This circuit, which is essentially a transistor version of the electrontube grip-dip meter, determines the frequency of resonant circuits quickly and accurately. Basically, it consists of a 2N1178 common-base ff oscillator stage that can be tuned over a wide frequency range. A 1N34A diode and a dc microammeter are used to show when rf power is being absorbed from the oscillator. The dc power for the oscillator is obtained from a 13.5-volt battery such as the RCA VS304.

Inductor L and capacitor C_8 form the oscillator resonant circuit. Feedback to sustain oscillations in the resonant circuit is coupled by capacitor C_3 from the collector to the emitter of the 2N1178. RF voltage in the emitter-to-base circuit is coupled by C_1 to the 1N34A diode, and the rectified output appears on the dc microammeter. When power is absorbed from the oscillator resonant circuit, rf feedback is reduced, and the reading on the microammeter decreases.

The coil used for inductor L is selected for the operating frequency desired. A frequency-tuning dial mounted on the same shaft with the variable capacitor C_s indicates the operating frequency of the meter. For measurement of the frequency of a resonant circuit, a coil having

Circuits

15-22



Parts List

$\begin{array}{l} B = 13.5 \ \text{volts, RCA VS304} \\ C_1 = 33 \ \text{pF, mica, 50 V} \\ C_2 = 0.01 \ \mu\text{F, paper, 50 V} \\ C_3 = 5 \ \text{pF, mica, 50 V} \\ C_4 = 0.01 \ \mu\text{F, paper, 50 V} \\ C_6 = \text{variable capacitor, 50} \\ V_{C6} = \text{variable capacitor, 50 V} \\ P_F, Hammarlund type \\ HF-50 \ \text{or equivalent} \end{array}$	$J = \text{phone jack, normally} \\ closed \\ L = plug-in coil \\ M = microammeter, 0 to 50 \\ \mu A, Simpson model 1227 \\ or equivalent \\ R_1 = variable resistor, 0-0.25$	megohm, 0.5 watt $R_2 = 220$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_3 = 3,000$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_4 = 3,900$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_5 = 39,000$ ohms, 0.5 watt X = jumper, omit for meas- urements below 45 MHz
---	---	--

Coil-Winding Data

Coil Freq. Range	Wire Size	No. of Turns
1 3.4-6.9 MHz	#28, enamel	48¼, close wound
2 6.7-13.5 MHz	#24, enamel	22, close wound
3 13-27 MHz	#24, enamel	9½, close wound
4 25-47 MHz	#24, enamel	4¼%, close wound
5 46-78 MHz	#24, enamel	1½, close wound
6 74-97 MHz	#16, tinned	hairpin formed, 1½ inches
Coil forms are Amy	ohenol	long including pins, and ¼
type 24-5H or equiv	ralent.	inch wide

a suitable frequency range is inserted in the grid-dip meter, and the meter control knob is adjusted for a reading of about half-scale. The grid-dip meter is then tightly coupled to the unknown tuned circuit, and the tuning dial is rotated until a dip in the meter reading occurs. When transmitter tank circuits are measured, the transmitter plate supply must be turned off to eliminate danger of shock.

15-23

CODE-PRACTICE OSCILLATOR

Circuit Description

This simple audio oscillator operates from a dc supply of 1.5 to 4.5 volts, depending on the amount of output desired. Magnetic headphones provide an audible indication of keying. When the key is closed, the 2N408 transistor supplies energy to the resonant circuit formed by capacitors C_1 and C_2 and the inductance of the headphones, and this circuit resonates to produce an audio tone in the headphones. Positive feedback to sustain oscillation is coupled from the resonant circuit through C_1 and C_2 to the emitter of the 2N408. R₄ is adjusted to obtain the desired level of sound from the headphones. 15-23

CODE-PRACTICE OSCILLATOR (cont'd)



Parts List

B = 1.5-4.5 V (One to three series-connected RCA VS036 dry cells may be used, depending upon the volume level desired.)

$C_{1, C}$	$2_{1} =$	0.1	μF,	paper,
H = 1	Headr	hone	e, 200	0-ohm,
$mag R_1 = 2$	netic 2200 o	hms,	0.5 w	vatt

 $\begin{array}{l} R_{2}=27000 \text{ ohms, } 0.5 \text{ watt} \\ R_{3}=3000 \text{ ohms, } 0.5 \text{ watt} \\ R_{4}=\text{ volume control potentiometer, } 50000 \text{ ohms, } 0.5 \\ \text{ watt} \end{array}$

15-24

AUDIO OSCILLATOR

Circuit Description

This basic audio-oscillator circuit may be used to provide a single-tone sine-wave output at any frequency to well above 100 kHz. (A chart of capacitance values is shown for different frequencies of operation.) The circuit is excellently suited for use in the testing of high-fidelity audio equipment and amateur radio transmitters; it can also be adapted for use as a code-practice oscillator. (A keyer can be inserted between points A and B.) The oscillator operates from a dc supply of 12 volts and supplies a relatively distortion-free output waveform to any circuit that has an input impedance of 3000 ohms or more.

The 2N3242A amplifier transistor Q_1 , capacitors C_1 , C_2 , C_3 , and C_4 , and resistors R_1 , R_2 , and R_3 form a basic twin-T oscillator circuit. A portion

of the signal developed at the collector of transistor Q_1 is applied to the twin-T network formed by C₁, C_2 , C_3 , R_1 , R_2 , R_3 , and R_4 . Potentiometer R₂ provides an adjustment of approximately ± 10 per cent in the oscillator frequency. The output of this network is then coupled to the base of transistor Q_1 through capacitor C₄ to supply the positive feedback required to sustain oscillation. The oscillator-stage output from the collector of transistor Q₁ is applied to the base of the 2N3242A output transistor Q2, which is operated in an emitter-follower circuit configuration. This stage amplifies the oscillator output to provide the sine-wave output signal. Potentiometer R7 in the emitter circuit of transistor Q, is adjusted to obtain the desired output waveform.

```
AUDIO OSCILLATOR (cont'd)
```



Parts List

 C_1 , C_2 = see chart for value, mica or paper 3 = twice the C3 value of C1, mica or paper $\begin{array}{ccc} \mathbf{C}_{4} &=& 1 & \mu \mathbf{F}, \\ 12 & \mathbf{V} & \end{array}$ electrolytic, $C_{5} = 300 \ \mu F$ for frequencies to μF for frequencies

above 2000 Hz, electro-lytic, 6 V $s_{\pm} \equiv 20 \ \mu$ F, electrolytic, C6 6 V R₁ = 2700 ohms, 0.5 watt R₂ = Frequency control, potentiometer, 5000 ohms, 0.5 watt

 R_{3} , $R_{4} = 51000$ ohms, 0.5 watt walt $R_5 = 22000$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_4 = 4700$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_7 = Wave-shape control,$ potentiometer, 250 ohms, 0.5 watt

 $R_8 = 820$ ohms, 0.5 watt

Capacitor Selection Chart for Different Operating Frequencies

Approx. Freq. (Hz)	Value of C ₁ and C ₂
100,000	50 pF
50,000	100 pF
10,000	500 pF
5,000	1000 pF
1,000	0.005 MF
500	0.01 μF
100	$0.05 \ \mu F$
50	$0.1 \ \mu F$
10	0.5 μF
5	$1 \mu F$

15-25

ELECTRONIC KEYER

Circuit Description

This compact electronic keyer can be used for automatic keying of a cw transmitter at speeds up to 60 words per minute. Two multivibrator trigger circuits using 2N404 transistors automatically control the dot and dash transmissions. А "Vibro-Keyer", which is springloaded to the OFF position, selects the type of transmission desired. Unless the "Vibro-Keyer" is moved to either the DOT or the DASH position, both multivibrators are held inoperative by the biasing action of 2N1302 clamping circuits.

When the "Vibro-Keyer" S₁ is deflected to the DOT position, the first 2N1302 clamp transistor becomes inoperative, and the dot multivibrator is allowed to operate as a freerunning circuit. Feedback circuits in the multivibrator assure continued operation, regardless of whether S₁ remains in the DOT position, long enough to develop the square-wave output that controls both the dura-



ELECTRONIC KEYER (cont'd)



Parts List

- C₁, C₃ = 1 μ F, paper (or Mylar), 200 V C₂ = 0.47 μ F, ceramic, 25 V C₄, C₈ = 560 pF, ceramic, 600 V $C_5, C_9 = 330$ pF, ceramic, 600 V $C_7 = 0.01 \ \mu F$, ceramic, 50 V C8, $C_{10}, C_{11} = 0.02 \ \mu F$, ceramic, 50 V $C_{12} = 0.1 \ \mu$ F, ceramic, 50 V C₁₃, C₁₄ = 2000 \ \muF, electro-lytic, 15 V $\mu_{15} = 16 \ \mu F$, electrolytic, 150 V C15 $\mathbf{F} = \mathbf{fuse}, \mathbf{1}$ ampere I = indicator lamp No. 47 K = dc relay; coil resistance =1350 ohms; Potter & Brumfield RS5D-V or equiv $R_1 = 39000$ ohms, 0.5 watt R_2 , R_9 , R_{12} , $R_{20} = 3900$ ohms,

- 0.5 watt R₃, R₁₆ = 18000 ohms, 0.5 watt
- $R_4, R_6 = 51000$ ohms,
 - 0.5 watt
- $R_{3}, R_{29} = potentiometer,$ 10000 ohms
- $R_{7}, R_{10} = 22000$ ohms, 0.5 watt
- Rs, R22 = 180 ohms, 0.5 watt $R_{11}, R_{21} = 15000$ ohms,
- 0.5 watt R₁₃, R₁₉ =
- 33000 ohms. R₁₃, R₁₉ = 33000 ohms, 0.5 watt R₁₄, R₁₆, R₃₀, R₃₂ = 27000 ohms, 0.5 watt R₁₅, R₂₃ = 270 ohms, 0.5 watt R₁₇ = 68000 ohms, 0.5 watt R₂₅ = 68 ohms, 0.5 watt R₂₆ = 560 ohms, 0.5 watt R₂₇ = 500 ohms, 0.5 watt

- R27 = 620 ohms, 0.5 watt
- $R_{28} = volume-control$

- potentiometer, 50000 ohms R_{31} , $R_{33} = 10000$ ohms, 0.5 watt
- $R_{34} = 6800$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_{35} = 8200$ ohms, 0.5 watt
- R_{36} , R_{39} , $R_{40} = 15000$ ohms,
- 0.5 watt R37, R38 = = 47000 ohms,
- 0.5 watt
- $R_{i1} = 10000$ ohms, 1 watt $S_1 = Vibroplex$ keyer,
- or equiv. $S_2 = \text{toggle switch, double-pole, double-throw}$ $S_3 = \text{toggle switch; single <math>S_3 = \text{toggle switch; single-throw}$
- pole, single-throw
- pole, single-throw $T_1 = push-pull output transformer (14000 ohm to V.C.), Stancor No. A3496,$ or equiv.
- $T_2 = power transformer$ Stancor PS8415, PS8421, or equiv.

Circuit Description (cont'd)

tion of the dot and the space that follows it. When S_1 is set to the DASH position, both clamp transistors become inoperative. The dot multivibrator and the dash flip-flop then operate simultaneously. The dash flip-flop is triggered by the positive pulses from the dot multivibrator. The 1N34A steering diodes prevent triggering of the flip-flop by negative pulses. Because two positive pulses are required to produce

ELECTRONIC KEYER (cont'd)

Circuit Description (cont'd)

one complete cycle of output from the flip-flop, the frequency of this circuit is one-half that of the dot multivibrator.

The square-wave outputs from the dot multivibrator and the dash flipflop are coupled to two more 2N404 transistors used in an OR gate circuit. During the positive half-cycle of the square-wave inputs, the OR gate conducts to remove the cutoff bias from the 2N647 relay amplifier, which controls the operation of keying relay K₁. The relay is then energized, and its contacts close for the period required to key the transmitter for the selected type of transmission. One section of K₁ may be used to mute the receiver during key-down periods. Because the OR gate circuit is keyed successively by signals from the dot multivibrator and the dash flip-flop in the formation of a dash, the duration of a dash is three times that of a dot.

The keying speed of this electronic keyer is determined by the frequency of the dot multivibrator. This frequency is adjustable by means of potentiometer R_{20} , which varies the amplitude of the negative dc voltage. As the negative voltage at the armature of potentiometer R_s is increased to a maximum value of 60 volts, the keying speed is increased to a maximum of 60 words per minute. Potentiometer R_s controls the ratio of "on time" to "off time" of the dot multivibrator transistors, and thus determines the duration of both dot and dash transmissions and the minimum spacing between successive transmissions. The over-all keying speed is not affected by this adjustment.

The electronic keyer may also be operated as a semiautomatic key ("bug") when selecter switch S₂ is placed in the SEMIAUTO position. Dots are still produced automatically, but the automatic keying circuits are bypassed when S₁ is moved to the DASH position. The formation of dashes is then controlled manually. When S₂ is in the MAN position, a hand key (connected across the terminals marked HAND KEY) may be used for manual control of the keyer; the automatic keying circuits are then bypassed during the formation of both dots and dashes.

The keyer operates from a 117volt, 60-Hz ac power input applied through a step-down power transformer T₂. The ac input voltage is converted to the negative dc voltage used to control keying speed by a 1N2861 half-wave rectifier circuit. Two other 2N2861 diodes are used in a voltage-doubler circuit that onerates from the 6.3-volt secondary winding of transformer T2 to produce the dc supply voltage for the various circuits in the keyer. A 2N404 tone oscillator, which is gated on by the relay-amplifier circuit. provides an audible indication of keying.

15-26 POWER SUPPLY FOR AMATEUR TRANSMITTER 600 Volts; 300 Volts; Total Current 330 Milliamperes (Intermittent Duty)

Circuit Description

This power supply uses eight 1N2864 silicon diodes in series-connected pairs in a bridge-rectifier circuit to supply a 600-volt dc out-

put from a 117-volt ac input. The second set of diode pairs (CR_s through CR_s) is also used in a conventional full-wave rectifier circuit





Parts List

- $\begin{array}{ccccccccc} C_1 & C_2 & C_3 & C_4 & C_5 & C_6 & C_7 & C_8 = \\ 0.001 & \mu F, & ceramic & disc, \\ 1000 & V & & & \end{array}$
- C₉, C₁₀, C₁₁, C₁₂ = 40 μ F, electrolytic, 450 V CR₁ CR₂ CR₃ CR₄ CR₅ CR₅ CR₇ CR₈ = RCA-1N2864 F = fuse, 5 amperes
- I= indicator lamp
- K₁ = relay; Potter and Brumfield KA11AY or equiv.
- $L_1 = 2.8$ henries, 300 mA; Stancor C-2334 or equiv. $L_2 = 4$ henries, 175 mA; Stancor C-1410 or equiv. R₁ R₂ R₃ R₄ R₅ R₆ R₇ R₈ =

0.47 megohm, 0.5 watt

 $R_{\theta} = 47$ ohms, 1 watt $R_{10} R_{11} = 15000$ ohms, 10 watts

- $R_{12} = 47000$ ohms, 2 watts $S_1 S_2 = toggle switch, single-$
- pole single-throw T = power transformer;
- Stancor P-8166 or equiv.

Circuit Description (cont'd)

to supply a 300-volt dc output. Series-connected pairs of diodes are used to provide the rectification in this circuit because the peak-inversevoltage rating of such combinations is twice that of a single diode.

The operation of the power supply is controlled by two switches. When the ON-OFF switch S_1 is closed, the 117-volt 60-c/s ac input power is applied across the primary of the step-up power transformer T_1 . The power supply does not become operative, however, until switch S_2 is also closed. Relay K_1 is then energized, and the closed contacts of the relay complete the ground return paths for the powersupply circuits. Switch S_2 can be used as a STANDBY switch for the transmitter, or another switch may be connected in parallel with S_2 so that the standby-to-on function can be controlled from a remote location.

During the half-cycle of ac input for which the voltage across the secondary winding of T_1 is positive at the top end and negative at the bottom end, current flows from the bottom of the secondary through diodes CR_7 and CR_8 (which are oriented in the proper direction), out the K_{1A} section of the relay contacts to ground, and then up through

15-26 POWER SUPPLY FOR AMATEUR TRANSMITTER (cont'd)

Circuit Description (cont'd)

bleeder resistors R₁₀ and R₁₁ and the external load connected in shunt with the resistors to develop the 600volt output. The return flow is completed through filter choke L₁, diodes CR1 and CR2, and the entire secondary winding. During the next halfcycle of the ac input, the polarity of the voltage across the secondary reverses, and the current flows through diodes CR₅ and CR₅, through the bleeder resistors and the external load circuit in the same direction as before, and then through diodes CR₃ and CR₄. Capacitors C₉ and C₁₀ and choke L₁ provide the filtering to smooth out the pulsations in the 600-volt de output.

For the 300-volt dc output, only one-half the voltage across the secondary winding of T_1 is required. The CR₅-CR₅ and CR₇-CR₅ diode pairs are operated in a full-wave rectifier configuration to provide this output (diodes CR1 through CR4 are not included in the 300-volt circuit.) The current flow through the diode pairs is the same as described before, but the current is directed from the relay contacts up through bleeder resistor R₁₂ and the external load circuit. The return flow is through choke L₂ and the transformer center tap. Capacitors C₁₁ and C₁₂ and choke L_2 provide the filtering for the 300volt de output.

15-27 VOLTAGE REGULATOR, SERIES TYPE With Adjustable Output Line Regulation within 1.0% Load Regulation within 0.5%

Circuit Description

In this series-type voltage regulator, regulation is accomplished by varying the current through three paralleled 2N3055 transistors connected in series with the load circuit. A reverse-bias-connected Zener diode provides the reference voltage for the circuit. The voltage drop across this diode remains constant at the reference potential of 12 volts over a wide range of current through the diode.

If the output voltage tends to rise for any reason, the total increase in voltage is distributed across bleeder resistors R_8 , R_9 , and R_{10} . If potentiometer R_9 , the output-voltage adjustment, is set to the mid-point of its range, one-half the increase in output voltage is applied to the base of the 2N3053 transistor Q. This increased voltage is coupled (through the emitter-to-base junction of transistor Q₀) to the base of the 2N3053 transistor Q_4 by R_5 , the common emitter resistor for the two transistors. The reference diode CR and its series resistor Rs are connected in parallel with the bleeder resistors, and the increase in output voltage is also reflected across the diode-resistor network. However, because the voltage drop across CR remains constant, the full increase in voltage is developed across Ra and thus is applied directly to the base of Q. Because the increase in voltage at the base is higher than that at the emitter, the collector current of the transistor Q, increases.

15-27





Parts List

 $\begin{array}{l} C_1 = 1 \ \mu F, \ paper, \ 25 \ V \\ C_2 = 100 \ \mu F, \ electrolytic, \\ 50 \ V \end{array}$ CR = reference diode, 12 V, 1 watt



 $R_7 = 270$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_8 R_{10} = 1000 \text{ ohms}, 0.5 \text{ watt}$ $R_9 = potentiometer, 1000$ ohms, 0.5 watt

Circuit Description (cont'd)

As the collector current of Q. increases, the base voltage of the 2N1479 transistor Q1 decreases by the amount of the increased drop across R_1 . The resultant decrease in current through the 2N1479 transistor Q₁ causes a decrease in the emitter voltage of this transistor. The resultant decrease in current through transistor Q1 causes a decrease in the emitter voltage and thus in the base voltage of the 2N3055 transistor Q2. Similar action by Q₂ results in a negative-going voltage at the bases of transistors Q₃, Q₅, and Q₇. As a result, the current through these transistors, and through the load impedance in series with them, decreases. The decrease in load current tends to reduce the voltage developed across the load circuit to cancel the original tendency for an increase in the ouput voltage. Similarly, if the output voltage tends to decrease, the current through the three paralleled 2N3055 transistors and through the load circuit increases, so that the output voltage remains constant.

15-28

VOLTAGE REGULATOR, SHUNT TYPE Regulation 0.5%

Circuit Description

This simple two-transistor shunttype voltage regulator can provide a constant (within 0.5 per cent) dc output of 28 volts for load currents up to 0.5 ampere and dc inputs from 45 to 55 volts. The two transistors operate as variable resistors to provide the output regulation. A 27-volt zener reference diode is used as the control, or sensing, element.

With a 28-volt output, the reversebias-connected reference diode, CR, operates in the breakdown-voltage region. In this region, the voltage drop across the diode remains constant (at the reference potential of 27 volts) over a wide range of reverse currents through the diode.

The output voltage tends to rise with an increase in either the applied voltage or the load-circuit impedance. The current through resistor R_2 and reference diode CR then increases. However, the voltage drop across CR remains constant at 27 volts, and the full increase in the output voltage is developed across R_2 . This increased voltage across R_2 is directly coupled to the base of the 2N1481 transistor and increases the forward bias so that the 2N1481 conducts more heavily. The rise in the emitter current of the 2N1481 increases the forward bias on the 2N3054, and the current through this transistor also increases.

As the increased currents of the transistors flow through resistor R_1 , which is in series with the load impedance, the voltage drop across R_1 becomes a larger proportion of the total applied voltage. In this way, any tendency for an increase in the output voltage is immediately reflected as an increased voltage drop across R_1 so that the output voltage delivered to the load circuit remains constant.

If the output voltage tends to decrease slightly, the voltage drop across reference diode CR still remains constant, and the full decrease occurs across R_2 . As a result, the forward bias of both transistors decreases so that less current flows through R_1 . The resultant decrease in the proportional amount of the applied voltage dropped across this resistor immediately cancels any tendency for a decrease in the output voltage, and the voltage applied to the load circuit again remains constant.



Parts List

CR = reference diode, 27V, 0.5 watt $R_1 = 28$ ohms, 50 watts (in-

cludes source resistance of transformers, rectifiers,

etc.) $R_2 = 1000$ ohms, 0.5 watt

15-29 LIGHT MINDER FOR AUTOMOBILES

Circuit Description

This light-minder circuit sounds an alarm if the lights of a car are left on when the ignition is turned off. The alarm stops when the lights are turned off. When the lights are intentionally left on, the alarm can be "defeated" so that no warning sounds. The alarm then sounds when the ignition switch is turned on as a reminder that the system has been "defeated" and the switch should be returned to its "normal" position.

The circuit is essentially an oscillator that obtains its supply voltage from two possible sources, the ignition system or the light system of the car. In the "normal" mode of operation, the ignition system is connected to the collector circuit of

the 2N217 (or 2N647) transistor, and the light system is connected through the 1N34 diode to the 2N217 (or 2N647) emitter. When the ignition switch is on, the collector of the transistor is at the supply voltage. If, at the same time, the lights are on, the emitter of the transistor is also at the supply voltage. Because both the emitter and the collector are at the same voltage, the circuit does not oscillate and no alarm sounds. When the ignition is turned off, the collector is returned to ground through R₁ and C₁, but the emitter remains at the supply voltage and provides the necessary bias for the circuit to oscillate. Turning the lights out removes the supply voltage and stops the oscillation.



Parts List

- $\begin{array}{rcl} C_1 &=& 30 \quad \mu F, \mbox{ electrolytic,} \\ 25 \mbox{ volts } \\ C_2 &=& 0.22 \quad \mu F, \mbox{ 25 volts } \\ R_1 &=& 680 \mbox{ ohms, } 0.5 \mbox{ watt } \\ R_2 &=& 15000 \mbox{ ohms, } 1 \mbox{ watt } \end{array}$
- $S_1 =$ switch, double-pole, double-throw
- Speaker = 1½-inch permanent-magnet type; voicecoil impedance, 3.2 ohms
- T₁ = audio-output transformer; 400-ohm primary, 3.2-ohm secondary; Stancor No. TA-42 or equiv.

15-29 LIGHT MINDER FOR AUTOMOBILES (cont'd)

Circuit Description (cont'd)

In the "defeat" mode of operation, the ignition system is connected through the 1N34 diode to the emitter of the transistor, and the light system is completely disconnected. The lights can then be turned on without the alarm sounding. When the ignition is turned on, it supplies the necessary voltage to the emitter of the transistor so that the circuit oscillates and causes the alarm to sound.

15-30 BATTERY CHARGERS For 6- and 12-Volt Automobile Batteries

Circuit Description

These battery chargers can be used to recharge run-down batteries in automobiles and other vehicles without removing them from their original mounting and without the need for constant attention. When the battery is fully charged, the charger circuits automatically switch from charging current to "trickle" charge, and an indicator lamp lights to provide a visual indication of this condition.

12-Volt Battery Charger-This circuit can be used to charge 6-cell. 12-volt lead storage batteries at a maximum charging rate of 2 amperes. When switch S₁ is closed, the rectified current produced by the four 1N2860 silicon diodes in the full-wave bridge rectifier charges capacitor C₁ through resistors R₁ and R_2 and the No. 1488 indicator lamp, I_1 . As C_1 charges, the anode of the 1N3754 diode is rapidly raised to a positive voltage high enough so that the diode is allowed to conduct. Gate current is then supplied to the 2N3228 SCR to trigger it into conduction. The SCR and the battery under charge then form essentially the full load on the bridge rectifier. and a charging current flows through the battery that is proportional to the difference in potential between the battery voltage and the rectifier output. Resistor R1 limits the current to a safe value to protect the

1N2860 rectifier diodes in the event that the load is a "dead" battery. The energy stored in C_1 assures that the SCR conducts and, thereby, that the charging current flows for practically the full 180 degrees of each successive half-cycle of input until the battery is fully charged. (The SCR is actually cut off near the end of each half-cycle but is retriggered shortly after the beginning of each succeeding half-cycle by the gate current applied through the 1N3754 diode as a result of the steady potential on $C_{1.}$)

When the battery is fully charged, the two-transistor regenerative switch is triggered into conduction (the triggering point is preset by means of potentiometer R_0). As a result of the regenerative action, the 2N2614 and 2N3241 transistors in the switch are rapidly driven to saturation and thus provide a lowimpedance discharge path for C1. The capacitor then discharges through these transistors and resistor R_2 to about 1 volt (the voltage drop across the transistors). This value is too low to sustain conduction of the 1N3754 diode, and the 2N3228 SCR is not triggered on the succeeding half-cycle of the input. The saturated transistor switch also provides a low-resistance path for the current to the No. 1488 indicator lamp, which glows to signal the



BATTERY CHARGERS (cont'd)



NOTE: Heat sinks are required for the 1N2860 rectifiers. A simple, effective method is to mount the rectifiers in fuse clips.

Parts List

 $C_1 = 50 \ \mu F$, electrolytic, _15 V ¹⁵ v F₁ = fuse, 1-ampere, 3 AG I₁ = pilot lamp, No. 1488 (14 V, 150 mA) for 12-volt system or No. 47 (6.3 V, 150 mA) for 6-volt system $R_1 = 5$ ohms, 20 watts for

12-volt system or 2 ohms, 25 watts for 6-volt system

- $R_2 = 33$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_3 = 470$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_4 = 150$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_5 = 1800$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_5 = 1800$ ohms, 0.5 watt

- Re = potentiometer, cutoff

adjustment, 10000 ohms, 2 watts

- $S_1 = toggle switch, single$ pole, single-throw, 3-am-pere, 125-volt = power transformer, Stancor No. RT-202, or
- T1 equiv.

15 - 30

BATTERY CHARGERS (cont'd)

Circuit Description (cont'd)

fully charged condition of the battery. The current in the lamp circuit (R_1 , lamp, and transistor switch) provides a "trickle" charge of approximately 150 milliamperes to the battery.

6-Volt Battery Charger—This circuit can be used to charge 3-cell, 6volt lead storage batteries at a maximum charging rate of 3.2 amperes. It is very similar to the 12volt battery charger except for the rectifier configuration. In the 6-volt circuit, the four 1N2860 diodes are connected in a full-wave centertapped rectifier circuit that provides the higher charging current of 3.2 amperes to the 6-volt battery. With the exception of the rectifier circuit, the indicator lamp, and the value used for R_1 , the 6-volt charger is identical to the 12-volt charger and operates in the same way.

15-31 INTEGRAL-CYCLE TEMPERATURE CONTROLLER

Circuit Description

This temperature controller employs a CA3059 integrated-circuit zero-voltage switch, a 2N3241A transistor, a 40654 SCR, and a 2N5444 triac to control the ac power applied to an electric heating element. This circuit is completely devoid of half-cycling and hysteresis effects and includes a fail-safe feature (integral feature of the CA-3059) that causes power to be removed from the load (i.e., the triac is turned off) if the temperature sensor should be accidentally opened or shorted.

The sensor used with the controller is a negative-temperaturecoefficient (NTC) thermistor, which is connected between terminals 7 and 13 of the CA3059. When the temperature being controlled is low, the resistance of the thermistor is high. For this condition, the CA3059 produces a positive-voltage output at terminal 4. The 2N3241A transistor inverts this voltage, and the 40654 SCR is not turned on. The 2N5444 triac is then triggered directly from the line on positive alternations of the ac voltage. When the triac is triggered, power is applied to the heating element $(R_{\rm L})$,

and capacitor C_2 is charged to the peak of the input ac voltage. When the ac line voltage swings negative, the capacitor discharges through the triac gate to trigger the triac. The diode-resistor-capacitor "slaving" network triggers the triac on negative alternations of the ac input after it has been triggered on positive alternations to provide only integral cycles of ac power to the load.

When the temperature being controlled rises to the desired level, the resistance of the thermistor decreases significantly, and a zerovoltage output is obtained at terminal 4 of the CA3059. The positive voltage that then appears at the collector of the 2N3241A transistor is applied to the gate of the 40654 SCR. The SCR then starts to conduct at the beginning of the positive alternation of the ac input voltage so that the trigger current is shunted away from the gate of the triac. The triac is then turned off. The cycle is repeated when the SCR is again turned off by the reversal of the polarity of the ac input voltage.

This circuit can be converted into



15-31 INTEGRAL-CYCLE TEMPERATURE CONTROLLER (cont'd)

Parts List

$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	R ₂ = Negative-temperature- coefficient thermistor R ₃ = 5000 ohms, 5 watts R ₄ = 1500 ohms, 0.5 watt	$\begin{array}{l} R_{5} = 10000 \ \text{ohms}, \ 0.5 \ \text{watt} \\ R_{6} = 2200 \ \text{ohms}, \ 5 \ \text{watts} \\ R_{7} = 1000 \ \text{ohms}, \ 0.5 \ \text{watt} \\ R_{8} = 1000 \ \text{ohms}, \ 2 \ \text{watts} \end{array}$
potentiometer		

Circuit Description (cont'd)

a proportional integral-cycle temperature controller by application of a positive-going ramp voltage to terminal 9 of the CA3059 (with terminals 10 and 11 open). Detailed information on the operation and applications of the RCA-CA3059 integrated circuit is given in the RCA Linear Integrated Circuits Manual, Technical Series IC-42 or in the RCA Application Notes AN-4158 and AN-6268.

15-32 SHIFT REGISTER OR RING COUNTER

Circuit Description

In this basic shift register, the successive outputs from the various stages are delayed (or shifted) from those of the preceding stages by a controlled time interval (i.e., the duration between input trigger pulses). These outputs are coupled through OR gates (not shown on circuit schematic) and may be used to program the timing sequence for

15-32 SHIFT REGISTER OR RING COUNTER (cont'd)

Circuit Description (cont'd)

various digital switching operations. If point A' on the circuit is connected to point A, the register becomes regenerative and may be used as a ring counter.

The dc supply voltages E_1 and E_2 are obtained from separate taps on a resistive voltage divider. With these voltages applied, the 2N1302 switching transistor is immediately triggered into conduction by the positive voltage applied to its base through R₃. One of the register stages must be triggered simultaneously to provide a complete path for the current through the switching transistor.

Each register stage is basically a two-transistor regenerative switch that employs an n-p-n triggering transistor and a p-n-p output transistor. For the E_1 and E_2 voltages used (see notes below circuit schematic), the n-p-n transistor is a 2N1302, and the p-n-p transistor is a 2N404 or a 2N2869/2N301 depending upon the level of output current desired. If either of the transistors in a register stage starts to conduct, both of them are quickly driven into saturation by the regenerative action of the stage. The relatively high current from the p-n-p transistor in the stage flows through the resistance that exists between the E_1 and E₂ taps on the power-supply voltage divider. The increased voltage drop across this resistance reduces the E_2 voltage to a value less than that required to trigger the other register stages, and these stages are held inoperative.

When power is initially applied to the circuit, C_3 and R_4 assure that the first register stage is triggered into conduction before current flows through any of the other register stages. When the power is first applied, the initial surge of current through C_3 and R_4 immediately triggers the 2N1302 transistor in the first stage into conduction. This

transistor and the p-n-p output transistor are then quickly driven into saturation by the regenerative action of the stage. No other register stage is then allowed to conduct, and the lamp I_1 in the collector of the p-n-p transistor in the first stage lights to indicate that the output is being supplied by this stage. This condition is maintained until an input trigger pulse is applied. During this period, C. charges through diode CR₁, the 2N1302 transistor, and resistors R_4 and R_5 to the E_1 voltage less the sum of the voltages dropped across the other components in the charging path.

A negative trigger pulse is applied to the base of the 2N1302 switching transistor to initiate a register shift. A sufficiently large negative pulse will drive the switching transistor to cut off. All the register stages are then held inoperative for the duration of the trigger pulse. When the trigger pulse is removed. the switching transistor again conducts through one of the register stages. This time, however, no quick surge of current can flow through C₃ and R₄ to trigger the first register stage, because C₃ has fully charged to the E_1 voltage. Moreover, the charge on C_4 tends to reverse-bias diode CR₁, and thus impedes the flow of current through the first register stage. The charge on C₄, however, is series-aiding with the dc supply voltage in the second register stage. This series-aiding effect causes the second stage to be triggered into conduction before current can flow through any of the other stages. The biasing action of this stage then holds the other stages inoperative. The lamp I2 then lights to indicate that the output is being supplied by the second stage.

When the next register shift is initiated by a negative trigger pulse, the charge on C_{δ} assures that the third register stage will be triggered



SHIFT REGISTER OR RING COUNTER (cont'd)



NOTES:

The shift register may use as many stages as desired and may be made regenerative by connecting points A and A'. In addition, the basic circuit can be adapted for operation at many different output-current levels. The circuit as shown is designed for an output-current level of 40 mA ($E_r = 12$)

V; $E_2 = 9$ V). Transistor types and component values shown in parentheses indicate the changes necessary for operation at an output-current level of 3 amperes ($E_1 = 27$ V; $E_2 = 24$ V). The voltages E_1 and E_2 should be obtained from a wellregulated dc power supply.

Parts List

	$\begin{array}{l} C_1 = 100 \ \mu F, \ electrolytic, \ 6 \ V\\ C_2, \ C_4, \ C_5, \ C_8 = 0.05 \ \mu F \ (or \\ 0.1 \ \mu F), \ ecramic, \ 50 \ V\\ C_3 = 1 \ \mu F, \ (or \ 25 \ \mu F), \ electrolytic, \ 25 \ V\\ CRi, \ CR_2, \ CR_8 = crystal \\ diode \ 1N270 \ or \ equiv. \\ I_1, \ I_2, \ I_N = \ indicator \ lamp \end{array}$	No. 49; 2-volt, 60-mA (or No. 1488; 14-volt, 150-mA) $R_t = 1000$ ohms, 0.5 watt (or 680 ohms, 1 watt) $R_2 = 27$ ohms, 0.5 watt (or 12 ohms, 1 watt) $R_3 = 1000$ ohms, 0.5 watt $R_t = 1000$ ohms, 0.5 watt (or	330 ohms. 0.5 watt) R ₅ , R ₈ , R _N = 2200 ohms, 0.5 watt (or 680 ohms, 0.5 watt) R ₆ , R ₈ , R _N ' = 560 ohms, 0.5 watt (or 180 ohms, 1 watt) R ₇ , R ₁₀ , R _N " = 150 ohms, 1 watt (or 82 ohms, 2 watts)
--	--	--	--

Circuit Description (cont'd)

to supply the output. In this way, the operation of the register is shifted from one stage to the next each time a negative trigger pulse is applied. The register can be reset so that the operation starts with the first stage at any time by discharging capacitor C_{3} .







Parts List

 $\begin{array}{l} C_{1,} \ C_{2} = 0.1 \ \mu F, \ paper, \ 25 \ V \\ R_{1,} \ R_{1} = 60 \ ohms, \ 5 \ watts \\ R_{2,} \ R_{3} = 1000 \ ohms, \ 0.5 \ watt \end{array}$

Circuit Description

This astable (free-running) multivibrator develops a square-wave output that has a peak value equal to the dc supply voltage (V_{cc} = 12volts) and a minimum value equal to the collector saturation voltage of the transistors. The circuit is basically a two-stage nonsinusoidal oscillator in which one stage conducts at saturation while the other is cut off until a point is reached at which the stages reverse their conditions. The circuit employs two 2N1481 identical transistors operated in amplifier stages common-emitter with regenerative feedback resistance-capacitance coupled from the collector of each transistor to the base of the other transistor.

When power is initially applied to the circuit, the same amount of current tends to flow through each transistor. It is unlikely, however, that a perfect balance will be maintained, and if the current through transistor Q_1 , for example, should increase slightly without an attendant increase in that through transistor Q_2 , the multivibrator will oscillate to generate a square-wave output.

As the current through transistor Q_1 increases, the resultant decrease in collector voltage is immediately coupled to the base of transistor Q_2 by the discharge of capacitor C_1 through resistor R_2 . This negative voltage at the base reduces the current through transistor Q_2 , and its



collector voltage rises. The charge of capacitor C_2 through resistor R_3 couples the increase in voltage at the collector of transistor Q₂ to the base of transistor Q₁, and further increases the flow of current through Q₁. The collector voltage of Q₁ decreases even more, and the base of Q₂ is driven more negative. As a result of this regenerative action. transistor Q_1 is driven to saturation almost instantaneously, and, just as quickly, transistor Q₂ is cut off. This condition is maintained as long as the discharge current of C₁ develops sufficient voltage across R2 to hold Q_{ii} cut off. The time constant of C_{1i} and R_2 , therefore, determines the time that Q2 remains cut off (i.e., the duration of the positive halfcycle of the square-wave output). During this period, the voltage at the output terminal is the dc supply voltage (12 volts).

The discharge current from C_1 exponentially, as dedecreases termined by the time constant of the discharge path, and eventually becomes so small that the voltage developed across R₂ is insufficient to hold Q₂ cut off. The decrease in collector voltage that results when Q_2 conducts is coupled by C_2 and R_3 to the base of Q_1 . The current through Q, then decreases, and the collector voltage of this transistor rises. The positive swing of the voltage at the collector of Q₁ is coupled

15-33 ASTABLE MULTIVIBRATOR (cont'd)

Circuit Description (cont'd)

by C_1 and R_2 to the base of Q_2 to increase further the conduction of Q_2 . The regenerative action of the multivibrator then quickly drives Q_2 to saturation and Q_1 to cutoff. The length of time that this condition is maintained is determined by the time constant of C_2 and R_3 . During this period, which represents the negative half-cycle of the squarewave output, the voltage at the output terminal is the collector saturation potential of Q_2 .

If desired, a square-wave output may also be obtained from the collector of transistor Q_1 . This output will be equal in magnitude to that at the collector of transistor Q_2 , but will be opposite in phase.

15-34 LIGHT FLASHER 100 Flashes Per Minute

Circuit Description

In this circuit, a free-running, asymmetrical multivibrator is used to gate the operation of a two-stage amplifier. An incandescent lamp or other load may be connected in series with the collector of the output transistor, and each time the transistor conducts, voltage is applied across the bulb or alternate load. The input power may be any dc voltage from 6 to 24 volts.

The multivibrator uses a pair of 2N3053 transistors. The rectangular wave output developed at the col-



NOTES: 1. Values of capacitors C_1 and C_2 may be changed to alter the flashing rate. 2. Bubs and resistive loads up to 2.0 amperes may be used; however, if the flasher circuit is used to switch loads that have inductive components, diode protection must be provided for the 2N5034 output transistor.

Parts List

$C_1 = 25 \ \mu F$,	electrolytic,	$R_1 = 2000 \text{ ohms}, 0.5 \text{ watt}$	$R_i = 510$ ohms, 2 watts
25 V		$\mathbf{R}_2 = 0.1$ megohm, 0.5 watt	$R_5 = 50$ ohms, 10 watts
$C_z = 1 \mu F$	electrolytic,	$R_3 = 24000$ ohms, 0.5 watt	$R_0 = 100 \text{ ohms}, 0.5 \text{ watt}$
25 V			
15-34

LIGHT FLASHER (cont'd) 100 Flashes Per Minute

Circuit Description (cont'd)

lector of the second transistor is resistively coupled to the base of the 2N4036 p-n-p transistor operated in a common-emitter amplifier stage.

The 2N4036 transistor is gated on and off by the rectangular-wave signal from the multivibrator. This stage in turn gates the operation of the 2N5034 n-p-n transistor used in the output stage. A lamp bulb or alternate load is connected from the positive side of the power supply to the collector of the output-stage transistor. The lamp, therefore, flashes at the frequency of the multivibrator. The frequency of the multivibrator. The frequency of the equation given for circuit 15-33, is approximately 100 flashes per minute. The repetition rate may be changed by altering the values of capacitors C_1 and C_2 . The ON time changes proportionally with the value of C_2 , and the OFF time changes proportionally with the value of C_1 .

For operaton at dc supply voltages less than 24 volts, capacitor working voltages and resistor dissipation ratings may be reduced. Capacitor ratings may be reduced to the maximum supply voltage. The dissipation requirements of the resistors are proportional to the square of the supply voltage, e.g., for 12-volt operation, the dissipation rating for R_5 is required to be only 2.5 watts.

15-35

LIGHT DIMMERS

Circuit Description

These triac light-dimmer circuits are designed to provide full-wave control of the light intensity of incandescent lamps. Component values and triac types are shown for operation of the circuits from a 60-Hz ac source of 120 or 240 volts. For 120volt operation, the 40485 triac is recommended; for 240-volt operation, the higher-power 40486 triac should be used. A 40583 trigger diode (diac), together with associated resistance-capacitance timeconstant networks, is used to develop the gate current pulses that trigger the selected triac into coduction. In applications where space is premium. the triac and associated trigger diode may be replaced by the 40431 for 120-volt operation or the 40432 for 240-volt operation, because these devices combine the functions of both

the triac and the diac in the same package.

In each light-dimmer circuit, the triac is connected in series with the lamp load. During the beginning of each half cycle of the input ac voltage, the triac is in the OFF state. As a result, the entire line voltage appears across the triac, and the lamp is not lighted. The entire line voltage, however, is also impressed across the resistance capacitance network connected in parallel with the triac, and this voltage charges the capacitor(s) in this network. When the voltage across the trigger capacitor, C2 in circuit (a) or C3 in circuit (b), rises to the breakover voltage V_{B0} of the diac, and the diac conducts. The capacitor then discharges through the diac and the triac gate to trigger the triac. At

15-35

LIGHT DIMMERS (cont'd)



(a) Single-time-constant light-dimmer circuit.

Parts List



(b) Double-time-constant light-dimmer circuit.

Parts List

120-Volt, 60-Hz Operation	tiometer, 0.1 megohm,	$C_3 = 0.1 \ \mu F$, 100 V
$C_1, C_2 = 0.1 \ \mu F, 200 \ V$	0.5 Wall	$R_1 = 7500$ ohms, 2 watts
$L_1 = 100 \ \mu H$ $R_1 = 100 \ \mu H$	240-Volt, 60-Hz Operation	$\mathbf{R}_2 = $ light control, poten- tiometer, 0.2 megohm.
$R_2 = $ light control, poten-	$C_1 = 0.1 \ \mu F, \ 400 \ V$ $C_2 = 0.05 \ \mu F, \ 400 \ V$	1 watt $B_2 = 7500$ ohms 2 watts

Circuit Description (cont'd)

this point, the line voltage is transferred from the triac to the lamp load for the remainder of that half cycle of the input ac power. This sequence of events is repeated for each half cycle of either polarity. The potentiometer R_2 is adjusted

to control the brightness of the incandescent lamp. If the resistance of the potentiometer is decreased, the trigger capacitor charges more rapidly, and the breakover voltage of the diac is reached earlier in the cycle so that the power applied to

LIGHT DIMMERS (cont'd)

Circuit Description (cont'd)

the lamp and thus the intensity of the light is increased. Conversely, if the resistance of the potentiometer is increased, triggering occurs later in the cycle, and the light intensity is decreased. The resistor R_i in series with the potentiometer protects the potentiometer by limiting the current when he potentiometer is at the low-resistance end of its range.

Capacitor C_1 and inductor L_1 form an rfi suppression network. This network suppresses the high-frequency transients generated by the rapid ON-and-OFF switching of the triac so that these transients do not produce noise interference in nearby electrical equipment.

The two lamp-dimmer circuits differ in that circuit (a) employs a single-time-constant trigger network and circuit (b) uses a double-timeconstant trigger circuit. As pointed out earlier in the section on Power Switching and Control, the use of the second time constant network reduces hysteresis effects and thereby extends the effective range of the light-control potentiometer. As applied to light dimmers, the term hysteresis refers to a difference in the control-notentiometer setting at which the lamp turns on and the setting at which the light is extinguished. The additional capacitor C₂ in circuit (b) reduces hysteresis by charging to a higher voltage than canacitor Cs. During gate triggering, C3 discharges to form the gate current pulse. Capacitor C2, however, has a longer discharge time constant and this capacitor restores some of the charge removed from C₃ by the gate current pulse.

It is important to realize that a triac in these circuits dissipates power at the rate of about one watt per ampere. Therefore, some means of heat removal must be provided to keep the device within its safe operating-temperature range. On a small light-control circuit such as one built into a lamp socket, the lead-in wire serves as an effective heat sink. Attachment of the triac case directly to one of the lead-in wires provides sufficient heat dissipation for operating currents up to 2 amperes (rms). On wall mounted controls operating up to 6 amperes. the combination of face plate and wall box serves as an effective heat sink. For higher-power controls, however, the ordinary face plate and wallbox do not provide sufficient heat-sink area. In this case, additional area may be obtained by use of a finned face plate that has a cover plate which stands out from the wall so air can circulate freely over the fins.

On wall-mounted controls, it is also important that the triac be electrically isolated from the face plate. but at the same time be in good thermal contact with it. Although the termal conductivity of most electrical insulators is relatively low when compared with metals, a lowthermal-resistance, electrically isolated bond of triac to face plate can be obtained if the thickness of the insulator is minimized, and the area for heat transfer through the insulator is maximized. Suitable insulating materials are fiber-glass tape, ceramic sheet, mica, and polvimide film.

OTHER RCA TECHNICAL MANUALS

Price*†

RCA Linear Integrated Circuits (IC-42)	\$2.50
RCA COS/MOS Integrated Circuit Manual (CMS-270)	\$2.50
RCA Receiving-Tube Manual (RC-27)	\$2.00
RCA Electro-Optics Handbook (EOH-10)	\$2.50
RCA Photomultiplier Manual (PT-61)	\$2.50
RCA High-Speed, High-Voltage, High-Current Power	
Transistors (PM-81)	\$2.00
RCA Transmitting Tubes (TT-5)	\$1.00
RCA Transistor Servicing Guide (TSG-1673)	\$3.50
RCA Silicon Controlled Rectifier Experimenter's	
Manual (KM-71)	\$0.95
RCA Solid-State Hobby Circuits Manual (HM-91)	\$1.95

† Suggested Price.

Copies of these publications may be obtained from your RCA distributor or from RCA Commercial Engineering, Harrison, N. J. 07029.

^{*} Prices shown apply in U.S.A. and are subject to change without notice.

Index to RCA Solid-State Devices

1N248C	654 1	IN1616	653	2N301	659
1N249C	654 1	IN1763A	653	2N301A	659
1N250C	654	N1764A	653	2N307	659
104400	(50		655	abi334	(50
11N44UB	002	IN2320	037	219331	039
1N441B	652 1	IN2858A	653	2N351	492
1N442B	652 1	N2859A	653	2N356	659
1N/43P	652 1	N7850A	653	2N357	659
1814448	653 1		657	111269	650
11N444B	032 1	11N200UA	033	214330	0.07
1N445B	652 1	IN2861A	653	2N370	307
1N536	653 1	IN2862A	653	2N371	659
1N537	653 1	N2863A	653	2N372	307
1N538	653 1	N7864A	653	2N373	659
111000	(5)	N13103	653	351374	660
118339	022	113193	032	219374	039
1N540	653 1	N3194	652	2N376	493
1N547	653 1	N3195	652	2N384 A.F.	487 D
1N1095	653 1	N3196	652	2N388	340
1311103 4	653	N2152	652	1N1200 A	240
11N1183A	022	119233	032	21N380A	340
1N1184A	653 1	N3254	652	2N395	639
1N1186A	653 1	N3255	652	2N396	659
1N1187A	652 1	N3256	652	2N396A	659
	002		002		007
1NJ1199A	654 1	N3543	652	2NI207	650
	0.04 1	N3864	052		AND
IN1189A	604 I	N3754	652	2N398 - 7	338 901
1N1190A	654 1	N3755	652	2N398A	338
1N1195A	654 1	N3756	652	2N398R	338
1N1106A	654 1	N4785	658	2N404 / 5	3AT DALP
	0.74		030	214404 67	3411-101
15111074	(5)	NEATS	(50		244
IN119/A	034 1		020	ZIN4U4A	341
1N1198A	654 2	IN104	659 A	2N405	290 290
1N1199A	653 2	N105	659	2N406	290
1N1200A	653 AT2	N109	29100	2N407	291
1N1202A	653 2	N130	650011	2N408	201
	000		039777	214400	271
1NJ1202 A	654 0.1	DIL 40 AF	CEO OILA	351400	(50
1111203/1	034 2	NIGO	039~~~1	41 440 9	VLO VLO
11N1204A	004 2	IN173	659	ZIN410	308
1N1205A	654 2	N174	659	2N411	659
1N1206A	654 2	N175	659 PNP	2N412 4	308 PVP
1N1341B	653 7	N176	492	2N414	341
	555 A				341
1N1347B	652 1	NO17 (1: 10 0 7 11 00	2020.00	35/441	660
11713744D	0.1.5 4	1741/L.G. (S. C. 4819)	2920 11 1	21 9 491	929
IN1344B	653 2	IN218	659FNN	2N442	659
1N1345B	653 2	N219	659	2N443	659
1N1346B	653 2	N220	659	2N456	659
1N1347R	653 1	N247	650	2N457	650
	000 4		0.59	41337	0,,,
1N11249D	652	NIACO (1:1 - Y HUMAN	con 110	351405	~~~
11113488	003 2	INZOY 45:15 5. 5. 4924	VOJY WY	ZIN497	639
1N1012	653 A F2	N270	659 F N P	2N544	659
1N1613	653 2	N274	486	2N561	660
1N1614	653 2	N277	659	2N578	660
1N1615	652	N1179	650	ANE70	660
TIATOTO	000 4	474/0	672	ZIND/Y	000

RCA Transistor, Thyristor, & Diode Manual

2N580 2N581 2N582 2N582 2N583 2N584		660 660 660 660 660	2N1066 2N1067 2N1068 2N1069 2N1070		489 660 661 661 661	2N1490 2N1491 2N1492 2N1493 2N1511	483 538 539 539 309
2N585 2N586 2N591 2N640 2N641		339 660 284 660 660	2N1090 2N1091 2N1092 2N1099 2N1099 2N1100		661 ур) 661 Мри 661 661 661	2N1512 2N1513 2N1514 2N1514 2N1524 2N1525	661 661 661 309 661
2N642 . 2N643 . 2N644 . 2N645 . 2N647 A	4. 7.	660 660 660 285 いのり	2N1169 2N1170 2N1177 2N1178 2N1178 2N1179	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	661 661 308 309 309	2N1526 2N1527 2N1605 2N1605A 2N1605A 2N1613	310 661 346 346 449
2N649 . 2N656 . 2N681 . 2N682 . 2N683 .		286 660 643 643 643	2N1180 2N1183 2N1183 2N11834 2N11834 2N1184	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	309 491 491 491 492	2N1631 2N1632 2N1633 2N1633 2N1634 2N1635	311 311 661 661 661
2N684 . 2N685 . 2N686 . 2N687 . 2N687 .		643 643 643 643 643	2N1184A 2N1184H 2N1213 2N1214 2N1215	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	492 492 661 661 661	2N1635 2N1636 2N1637 2N1637 2N1638 2N1639	661 661 311 312 313
2N689 2N690 2N696 2N697 2N697 2N699		643 643 660 354 NPN 448	2N1216 2N1224 2N1225 2N1226 2N1300		661 489 489 489 342 er se	2N1683 2N1700 LF 2N1701 2N1702 2N1708	347 لاہم کر 477 478 478 481 661
2N705 2N706 2N706A 2N708 2N708 2N709	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	660 347 347 660 348	2N1301 2N1302 2N1303 2N1304 2N1305	2F	343 343 344PNP 344 344	2N1711 2N1768 2N1769 2N1842A 2N1843A	449 661 661 638 638
2N710 2N711 2N718A 2N720A 2N794	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	660 660 352 353 660	2N1306/ 2N1307 2N1308 2N1309 2N1319	<u>۲</u>	345 µP N 345 345 346 661	2N1844A 2N1845A 2N1845A 2N1846A 2N1847A 2N1848A	638 638 638 638 638 638
2N795 2N796 2N828 2N834 V 2N834 V	HF, TW	660 660 660 3550 850 860	2N1358 2N1384 2N1395 2N1396 2N1397	rf	661 661 489 490 PJP 490	2N1849A 2N1850A 2N1853 2N1853 2N1854 2N1893	638 638 661 661 451
2N917 . 2N918 . 2N955 . 2N955A 2N960 .	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	327 323 660 660 660	2N1412 2N1425 2N1426 2N1450 2N1479	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	661 661 661 661 475	2N1905 2N1906 2N2015 2N2016 2N2102 &	493 494 485 486 451 NPN
2N961 . 2N962 . 2N963 . 2N964 . 2N965 .	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	660 660 660 660 660	2N1480 2N1481 2N1482 2N1483 2N1483 2N1484	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	476 476 477 479 480	2N2147 2N2148 2N2205 2N2206 2N2270 (C. F	494 495 661 661 453 NPN
2N966 2N967 2N1010 2N1014 2N1023		660 660 660 L'PN 660 488	2N1485 2N1486 2N1487 2N1488 2N1488 2N1489		480 480 482 482 483	2N2273 2N2338 2N2339 2N2369A 2N2405	661 484 661 355 454

F - 2

,

Index to RCA Solid-State Devices

2N2475 2N2476 2N2477 2N2482 2N2614	VHF, 2 .00	348 356 JPJ 358 662 286	2N3653 2N3668 2N3669 2N3670 2N3730	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	644 636 636 636 493	2N5034 2N5035 2N5036 2N5037 2N5038	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	407 408 408 409 466
2N2631 2N2708 2N2857 2N2869/ 2N2870/	2N301 2N301A	539 328 329 504 505	2N3731 2N3732 2N3733 2N3771 2N3772	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	502 490 546 414 415	2N5039 2N5070 2N5071 2N5090 2N5102	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	467 553 554 555 556
2N2873 2N2876 2N2895 2N2896 2N2897		662 540 455 456 456	2N3773 2N3839 2N3866 2N3870 2N3871	uH€,5.W.	416 330 547 NPA 645 645	2N5108 2N5109 2N5179 2N5180 2N5181	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	557 558 351 314 315
2N2898 2N2899 2N2900 2N2938 2N2953		662 662 662 662 287	2N3872 2N3873 2N3878 2N3879 2N3896		645 645 463 464 648	2N5182 2N5183 2N5184 2N5185 2N5185		316 297 298 299 331
2N3011 2N3053 2N3054 2N3055 2N3118	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	662 457 396 410 541	2N3897 2N3898 2N3899 2N3932 2N3933		648 648 648 326 327	2N5187 2N5188 2N5189 2N5202 2N5239		335 359 360 465 442
2N3119 2N3228 2N3229 2N3230 2N3231	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	458 625 542 662 662	2N4012 2N4036 2N4037 2N4063 2N4064	R.F.	548 420000 421 000 435 435	2N5240 2N5262 2N5293 2N5294 2N5295	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	443 361 398 399 399
2N3241 2N3241 2N3242 2N3242 2N3242 2N3261	× · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	662 293 662 294 349	2N4068 2N4069 2N4074 2N4081 2N4101	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	333 334 295 662 623	2N5296 2N5297 2N5298 2N5320 2N5321	RF, 1001	400 401 401 461 N/PN 462
2N3262 2N3263 2N3264 2N3265 2N3266	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	460 467 469 470 470	2N4102 2N4103 2N4240 2N4259 2N4296	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	623 638 441 313 662	2N5322 2N5323 2N5414 2N5416 2N5441	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	425 426 423 424 620
2N3375 2N3435 2N3439 2N3440 2N3441	£≓,300V.	543 662 433 434 // OU 395	2N4297 2N4298 2N4299 2N4314 2N4346	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	662 662 662 422 503	2N5442 2N5443 2N5444 2N5445 2N5446		620 620 .621 621 621
2N3442 2N3478 2N3512 2N3525 2N3528	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	411 328 358 626 650	2N4347 2N4348 2N4390 2N4395 2N4396	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	406 413 296 662 662	2N5470 2N5490 2N5491 2N5492 2N5493		558 402 403 403 404
2N3529 2N3553 2N3583 2N3584 2N3585	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	650 544 438 439 441	2N4397 2N4427 2N4440 2N4932 2N4933	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	662 549 550 551 551	2N5494 2N5495 2N5496 2N5497 2N5567	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	404 404 405 405 606
2N3600 2N3632 2N3650 2N3651 2N3652	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	324 545 644 644 644	2N4934 2N4935 2N4936 2N5016 2N5017		662 662 662 552 662	2N5568 2N5569 2N5570 2N5571 2N5572		606 608 608 610 610

RCA Transistor, Thyristor, & Diode Manual

ABIE573		611	3007/2NA04 60	62 6	40280 5	573
21333/3		011	3507/211404			
2N5574		611	40022 4	90 4	40281	074
INIES75		418	40050 4	97 6	40282 5	575
2193375		410	40054	. óo	40700 5	75
2N5576		419	40051 4	20 4	40290	15
2NI5577		420	40080	71 4	40291	526
2113377						
		_				
2N5578		417	40081	71 4	40292	0/0
15570		419	40082 5	72 4	40294 3	132
21933/9		410	40002			
2N5580		418	40084	4 4	40305	<i>,,,</i>
1NE471		470	40108 6	53 /	40306	577
2143071		170	40100	£1 .	40307 4	79
2N5672		4/2	40109		40307	010
ANICAEA		500	40110 6	53 /	40300 4	506
2193/34		590	40110	53	40310	100
2N5755		590	40111	105 1	40310	28
ANTEREC		500	40112 6	53	40311 5	512
2143730		500	40113	6 1	40313	200
2N5757		390	40113	55 1	40312	2.9
2N5781		427	40114	53 (40313	526
21.07.01						
			10115 (E 1	40314	110
2N5782		428	40115	133 1	40314	512
1N5782		429	40208 6	54	40315	513
2143703		764	40200	5.4	40316	20
2N5784		394	40209	154 1	40310	530
2N5785		394	40210 6	i54 i	40317	513
ANE 703	•••••	205	40211	54	40318	527
2193786		373	40411			
2N5804		446	40212 6	54	40319	507
a)15004	• • • • • • • • • • • •	447	40113	54	40320	514
2IN5805		44 /	40213	54	40320	214
2N5838		443	40214	554	40321	520
abis030		445	40716 6	48	40322	528
2132933		443	40210	140	40322	514
2N5840		445	40217 6	062	40323	514
4312013		660	40119 6	62	40374	530
213913		222	40210	102	40324	
2N5914		560	40219 6	62	40325	> 3 >
1N5015	••••	561	40220 6	62	40326	515
2143713	• • • • • • • • • • • •	501	40331	67	40337	\$21
2N5916		202	40221	002	40327	221
2N5917		563	40222	62	40328	525
			••••••			
			10000 1	A1	40300	107
2N5918		563	40231	501	40329	287
2N5010		564	40232 3	301	40340	578
2113717	• • • • • • • • • • • •	565	40733	102	40341	570
2N5920		202	40233	02	40341	
2N5921		566	40234 3	302	40346	430
3515054		420	40235 3	116	40346VI 4	436
2143734	• • • • • • • • • • •	430	40233		40040 T	150
ANICOFF			40124 2	317	40346V2	436
11111111		431	4474.30			
2173933		431	40230	117	40347	180
2N5955 2N5956		431 432	40237 3	317	40347	389
2N5955 2N5956 2N5992		431 432 567	40236	317 318	40347 40347VI	389 390
2N5955 2N5956 2N5992 2N5993		431 432 567 568	40237 3 40237 3 40238 3 40239 3	317 318 319	40347 40347VI 40347V2	389 390 390
2N5955 2N5956 2N5992 2N5993		431 432 567 568	40236	317 318 319	40347 40347VI 40347V2	389 390 390 391
2N5955 2N5956 2N5992 2N5993 2N5994	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	431 432 567 568 569	40237 3 40238 3 40239 3 40240 3	317 318 319 319	40347 40347V1 40347V2 40348	389 390 390 391
2N5955 2N5956 2N5992 2N5993 2N5994	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	431 432 567 568 569	40237 3 40238 3 40239 3 40240 3	317 318 319 319	40347 40347VI 40347V2 40348	389 390 390 391
2N5955 2N5956 2N5992 2N5993 2N5994		431 432 567 568 569 569	40230	317 318 319 319	40347 40347VI 40347V2 40348 40348VI	389 390 390 391 392
2N5955 2N5956 2N5992 2N5993 2N5994 2N5995	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	431 432 567 568 569 569	40236 40237 40238 40238 40239 40240 40242 40242 40242	317 318 319 319 319	40347	389 390 390 391 392
2N5955 2N5956 2N5992 2N5993 2N5994 2N5995 2N5996	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	431 432 567 568 569 569 570	40230 3 40238 3 40239 3 40240 3 40242 3 40243 3	317 318 319 319 319 319 321	40347 40347V1 40347V2 40348 40348V1 40348V2	389 390 390 391 392 392
2N5955 2N5956 2N5992 2N5993 2N5994 2N5995 2N5996 2N6032		431 432 567 568 569 569 570 472	40236 3 40237 3 40238 3 40239 3 40240 3 40242 3 40243 3 40244 3	317 318 319 319 319 319 321 321	40347	389 390 390 391 392 392 392
2N5955 2N5956 2N5992 2N5993 2N5994 2N5995 2N5995 2N5996 2N6032		431 432 567 568 569 569 570 472 473	40236 3 40238 3 40239 3 40240 3 40242 3 40243 3 40244 3	317 318 319 319 319 321 321 322	40347 40347V1 40347V2 40348 40348 40348V1 40348V2 40349 40349V1	389 390 391 392 392 392 393 393
2N5955 2N5956 2N5992 2N5993 2N5994 2N5995 2N5996 2N6032 2N6033		431 432 567 568 569 570 472 473	40236 3 40237 3 40238 3 40239 3 40240 3 40242 3 40243 3 40243 3 40245 3	317 318 319 319 321 321 322 322	40347	389 390 390 391 392 392 392 393 394
2N5955 2N5956 2N5992 2N5993 2N5994 2N5995 2N5996 2N6032 2N6033 3N98		431 432 567 568 569 570 472 473 664	40230 3 40238 3 40238 3 40240 3 40242 3 40243 3 40244 3 40245 3 40246 3	317 318 319 319 321 321 322 323	40347 40347V1 40347V2 40348 40348V1 40348V2 40348V2 40349 40349V1 40340V2	389 390 391 392 392 392 393 393 394
2N5955 2N5956 2N5992 2N5993 2N5994 2N5995 2N5996 2N6032 2N6033 3N98		431 432 567 568 569 569 570 472 473 664	40236 3 40237 3 40238 3 40239 3 40240 3 40242 3 40243 3 40243 3 40243 3 40245 3	317 318 319 319 321 321 321 322 322 323	40347 40347V1 40347V2 40348 40348V1 40348V2 40348V2 40349 40349V1 40340V2	389 390 390 391 392 392 392 393 393 394
2N5955 2N5956 2N5992 2N5993 2N5994 2N5995 2N5996 2N6032 2N6033 3N98		431 432 567 568 569 570 472 473 664	40236 3 40237 3 40238 3 40240 3 40242 3 40243 3 40244 3 40245 3 40246 3	317 318 319 319 321 321 322 323 397	40347 40347V1 40347V2 40348 40348V1 40348V2 40348V2 40349 40349 40349V1 40340V2 40354	389 390 391 392 392 392 393 394 334
2/N5955 2N5956 2N5992 2N5993 2N5994 2N5995 2N5996 2N6032 2N6033 3N98 3N99		431 432 567 568 569 570 472 473 664 664	40230 3 40238 3 40238 3 40239 3 40240 3 40242 3 40243 3 40244 3 40245 3 40246 3	317 318 319 319 321 321 322 323 397	40347	389 390 391 392 392 392 393 394 334
2N5955 2N5956 2N5995 2N5993 2N5994 2N5995 2N5996 2N6032 2N6033 3N98 3N99 3N128		431 432 567 568 569 570 472 473 664 664 363	40230 3 40237 3 40238 3 40239 3 40242 3 40242 3 40243 3 40245 3 40245 3 40245 3 40245 3 40245 3 40245 3 40250 2 40250 2	317 318 319 319 321 321 322 323 397 398	40347 40347V1 40347V2 40348 40348V1 40348V2 40348V2 40349 40349 40349V1 40340V2 40354 40355	389 390 391 392 392 393 393 393 394 334 336
2/N5955 2N5956 2N5952 2N5992 2N5993 2N5994 2N5995 2N5996 2N6032 2N6033 3N98 3N99 3N128		431 432 567 568 569 570 472 473 664 664 363 364	40230 3 40237 3 40238 3 40239 3 40240 3 40242 3 40243 3 40244 3 40245 3 40246 3 40245 3 40246 3 40250 3 40250 3	317 318 319 319 321 321 322 322 322 323 397 398 412	40347 40347V1 40347V2 40348 40348V1 40348V2 40349 40349V1 40349V1 40340V2 40355 40355	389 390 390 391 392 392 393 393 394 334 336 288
2N5955 2N5956 2N5992 2N5993 2N5994 2N5995 2N5996 2N6032 2N6033 3N98 3N98 3N128 3N138		431 432 567 568 569 570 472 473 664 664 363 364	40230 3 40237 3 40238 3 40239 3 40240 3 40242 3 40243 3 40245 3 40246 3 40245 3 40245 3 40245 3 40250 2 40250 2 40251 4	317 318 319 319 321 321 322 323 397 398 412	40347 40347V1 40347V2 40348 40348V1 40348V2 40348V2 40349 40349V1 40349V1 40340V2 40355 40355	389 390 391 392 392 393 393 393 394 334 336 288
2/N5955 2N5956 2N5992 2N5992 2N5994 2N5995 2N5996 2N6032 2N6033 3N98 3N128 3N128 3N138 3N138		431 432 567 568 569 570 472 473 664 363 364 363 365	40230 3 40237 3 40238 3 40239 3 40240 3 40242 3 40243 3 40244 3 40245 3 40246 3 40245 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40251 4 40253 4	317 318 319 319 321 321 322 323 397 398 412 662	40347 40347V1 40347V2 40348 40348V1 40348V2 40349V1 40349V1 40349V1 40349V1 40355 40355 40355 40360	389 390 390 392 392 392 393 394 334 336 288 515
2/15953 2N5956 2N5992 2N5992 2N5994 2N5994 2N5996 2N6032 2N6033 3N98 3N128 3N138 3N138 3N139		431 432 567 568 569 570 472 473 664 664 363 364 363 364 365 373	40230 3 40237 3 40238 3 40239 3 40240 3 40242 3 40243 3 40245 3 40246 3 40245 3 40245 3 40250 2 40250 2 40251 4 40253 6	317 318 319 319 321 321 322 323 397 398 412 662 498	40347 40347V1 40347V2 40348 40348V1 40348V2 40348V2 40349V1 40349V1 40349V1 40340V2 40355 40355 40356 40360 40361 & F.	389 390 391 392 392 393 393 394 334 334 336 288 515 516のアンフ
2N5955 2N5956 2N5992 2N5992 2N5994 2N5995 2N5995 2N5995 2N6032 2N6032 2N6033 3N98 3N138 3N139 3N139 3N140		431 432 567 568 569 570 472 473 664 664 363 364 365 373	40236 3 40237 3 40238 3 40239 3 40240 3 40242 3 40243 3 40244 3 40245 3 40246 3 40245 3 40245 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40251 4 40253 4 40254 4	317 318 319 319 321 321 322 323 397 398 412 662 498	40347 40347V1 40347V2 40348 40348V1 40348V2 40349V1 40349V1 40349V1 40349V1 40355 40355 40355 40360 	389 390 391 392 392 392 393 394 334 336 288 515 516 いのノー
2N5955 2N5956 2N5992 2N5993 2N5994 2N5995 2N5995 2N5995 2N5995 2N6032 2N6033 3N98 3N128 3N138 3N138 3N138		431 432 567 568 569 570 472 473 664 664 363 364 363 364 365 373	40236 3 40237 3 40238 3 40239 3 40240 3 40242 3 40243 3 40245 3 40246 3 40245 3 40245 3 40245 3 40250 2 40250 2 40251 4 40254 2	117 118 119 319 319 321 321 322 323 397 398 412 662 498 662	40347 40347V1 40347V2 40348 40348V1 40348V2 40349V1 40349V1 40349V1 40340V2 40355 40355 40356 40359 40360 4037 4037 4037 4037 4037 4037 4037 403	389 390 390 391 392 392 393 393 394 334 336 288 515 515 515 515 515 515 515 515 515 5
2N5995 2N5995 2N5995 2N5993 2N5994 2N5995 2N595 2N5 2N5 2N5 2N5 2N5 2N5 2N5 2N5 2N5 2N		431 432 567 568 569 570 472 473 664 664 363 364 365 373 374	40230 3 40237 3 40238 3 40239 3 40240 3 40242 3 40243 3 40244 3 40245 3 40246 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40251 4 40253 4 40254 4 40255 6	117 118 119 119 119 121 121 122 123 1321 1222 123 1397 1412 1662 4498 1662	40347 40347V1 40347V2 40348V1 40348V1 40348V2 40349V1 40349V1 40349V1 40349V1 40355 40355 40355 40360 40361 \wedge F	389 390 391 392 392 392 393 394 334 336 288 515 516 506 00 506 00 506
2N5995 2N5995 2N5996 2N5993 2N5994 2N5996 2N5996 2N5996 2N6032 2N6033 3N98 3N128 3N138 3N138 3N139 3N140 3N141		431 432 567 568 569 570 472 473 664 664 363 364 363 364 365 373 374	40236 3 40237 3 40238 3 40239 3 40240 3 40242 3 40243 3 40245 3 40246 3 40245 3 40250 1 40250 2 40251 4 40254 2 40255 6 40256 6	117 118 119 119 119 119 121 121 1221 1221 1223 1322 1323 1397 1398 1412 1662 1662 1662 1662	40347 40347V1 40347V2 40348 40348V1 40348V2 40349V1 40349V1 40349V1 40340V2 40355 40355 40355 40359 40360 40361 ∧ F	389 390 390 391 392 392 393 393 393 394 334 336 288 515 515 515 515 508 6 ハアー 508 6 ハアー 508
2N5995 2N5995 2N5995 2N5993 2N5993 2N5994 2N5995 2N5995 2N5995 2N5995 2N5995 2N5995 2N5995 2N5995 3N595 3N595 3N199 3N128 3N138 3N140 3N141 3N142		431 432 567 568 569 570 472 473 664 664 363 364 365 373 374 367	40230 3 40238 3 40238 3 40239 3 40240 3 40242 3 40243 3 40244 3 40245 3 40246 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 40 40253 40 40255 40 40256 40	317 318 319 319 321 322 323 397 398 4662 4498 6662 6662 6662 6662 6662	40347 40347V1 40347V2 40348 40348V1 40348V2 40349 40349V1 40349V1 40340V2 40355 40359 40359 40361 CF <i>coutect</i> 40363 40363	389 390 391 392 392 392 393 394 334 334 336 288 515 516 516 516 516 516 516 516 516 516
2N5955 2N5956 2N5996 2N5993 2N5994 2N5996 2N5996 2N5996 2N6032 2N6033 3N98 3N128 3N138 3N138 3N139 3N140 3N141 3N142 3N142		431 432 567 568 569 570 472 473 664 664 363 364 363 364 365 373 374 368	40236 3 40237 3 40238 3 40239 3 40240 3 40242 3 40243 3 40245 3 40246 3 40245 3 40250 3 40251 40251 40254 2 40255 6 40256 6 40256 6 40256 6 40256 6	117 118 119 119 119 119 121 121 1221 1221 1223 1322 1323 1397 1398 1412 1662 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 1	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	389 390 390 391 392 392 393 393 394 334 336 288 515 515 515 515 508 6 ルレノー 508 6 ルレー 536 536 533
2N59955 2N59956 2N59952 2N59992 2N59994 2N5995 2N5995 2N5995 2N5995 2N5995 2N5995 2N5995 2N5995 2N5995 3N5995 3N5995 3N199 3N128 3N138 3N140 3N141 3N142 3N143 3N143 3N143		431 432 567 568 569 570 472 473 664 664 363 364 365 373 374 367 368 368	40230 3 40237 3 40238 3 40239 3 40240 3 40242 3 40243 3 40244 3 40245 3 40246 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40251 40 40255 40 40255 40 40256 40 40261 40	317 318 319 319 321 322 323 397 398 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662	40347 40347V1 40347V2 40348 40348V1 40348V2 40349 40349V1 40349V1 40340V2 40355 40359 40359 40360 40361 /> F	389 390 391 392 392 393 393 394 334 334 515 516 516 516 516 516 516 516 516 516
2N59955 2N59956 2N5996 2N59992 2N59994 2N5996 2N5996 2N6032 2N6033 3N98 3N128 3N138 3N138 3N139 3N140 3N141 3N142 3N141 3N142 3N142		431 432 567 568 569 570 472 473 664 664 363 364 363 364 365 373 374 368 368 368 368 368	40236 3 40237 3 40238 3 40239 3 40240 3 40242 3 40243 3 40245 3 40246 3 40245 3 40246 3 40250 1 40251 4 40254 2 40255 6 40256 6 40256 6 40256 6 40256 6 40261 6	117 118 119 119 119 119 121 121 1221 1221 1223 1322 1323 1397 1398 1412 1662 16	40347 40347V1 40347V2 40348 40348V1 40348V2 40348V2 40349V1 40349V1 40349V1 40340V2 40355 40355 40355 40360 40361 ↓ F C.DM ^A C ^A N 40364 40366 40366 40366 40367	389 390 391 392 392 393 393 394 334 336 288 515 515 515 515 508 の レーフ 508 の レーフ 508 の レーフ 478
2N59955 2N59956 2N59952 2N59992 2N59994 2N59995 2N5995 2N5995 2N5995 2N5995 2N5995 2N5995 2N5995 3N5995 3N5995 3N5995 3N199 3N128 3N138 3N140 3N141 3N142 3N143 3N143 3N153		431 432 567 568 569 570 472 473 664 664 363 364 363 363 365 373 374 367 368 369	40230 3 40237 3 40238 3 40239 3 40240 3 40242 3 40243 3 40244 3 40245 3 40246 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40251 40 40253 40 40255 40 40266 40 40261 40 40263 40	317 318 319 319 321 322 323 397 398 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662	40347 40347V1 40347V2 40348 40348V1 40348V2 40349 40349V1 40349V1 40340V2 40355 40359 40359 40360 40361 /\lambda F. 204 ² CCM ² CCM 40363 40366 40366 40367	389 390 391 392 392 393 393 394 334 334 515 516 516 516 516 516 516 516 516 516
2N59955 2N59956 2N5996 2N59992 2N59994 2N5996 2N5996 2N5996 2N6032 2N6032 2N6033 3N98 3N128 3N138 3N138 3N140 3N141 3N142 3N143 3N142 3N143 3N152 3N153		431 432 567 568 569 570 472 473 664 664 363 364 363 364 365 373 374 368 368 368 368 369	40236 3 40237 3 40238 3 40239 3 40240 3 40242 3 40243 3 40244 3 40245 2 40246 3 40250 2 40251 4 40253 6 40254 2 40255 6 40256 6 40256 6 40256 6 40261 6	317 318 319 321 321 322 323 397 398 412 663 6	40347 40347V1 40347V2 40348V1 40348V2 40348V2 40349V1 40349V1 40349V1 40340V2 40355 40355 40355 40360 40361 ∧ F. COMPCCM 40362 P. 40364 40366 40366 40367 40367	389 390 390 391 392 392 393 393 394 334 336 288 515 515 515 508 (ハレノブ 508 (ハレブブ 508 (ハレブブ 508 536 533 459 478
2N59955 2N59956 2N59952 2N59992 2N59992 2N59994 2N5995 2N5995 2N5995 2N5995 2N5995 2N5995 2N5995 2N5995 2N5995 2N5995 3N159 3N128 3N138 3N140 3N141 3N142 3N143 3N153 3N154		431 432 567 568 569 570 472 473 664 664 363 364 664 363 364 365 373 374 367 368 369 370	40230 3 40237 3 40238 3 40239 3 40240 3 40242 3 40243 3 40244 3 40245 3 40246 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40251 4 40255 4 40256 4 40261 4 40263 4	317 318 319 319 321 322 323 397 398 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662	40347 40347V1 40347V2 40348 40348V1 40348V2 40349 40349V1 40349V1 40340V2 40355 40355 40359 40360 40361 /\lambda F. 204 /2 C 40362 40362 40366 40366 40368	389 390 391 392 392 393 393 394 334 336 288 515 508 508 508 508 508 508 533 478 481
2N59955 2N59956 2N59962 2N59992 2N59994 2N5996 2N5996 2N6032 2N6033 3N98 3N128 3N138 3N138 3N140 3N141 3N142 3N143 3N153 3N153		431 432 567 568 569 570 472 473 664 664 363 364 363 364 363 373 374 368 368 368 368 368 369 370	40236 3 40237 3 40238 3 40239 3 40240 3 40241 3 40242 3 40243 3 40245 3 40246 3 40245 3 40250 1 40251 4 40254 2 40255 6 40256 6 40263 6 40263 6	317 318 319 321 321 322 323 397 398 412 663 664 <t< th=""><th>40347 40347V1 40347V2 40348V1 40348V2 40348V2 40349V1 40349V1 40349V1 40340V2 40355 40355 40356 40366 40366 40368 40368 40368 40369</th><th>389 390 391 392 392 393 393 394 334 336 288 515 515 515 508 6 ハー 508 6 ハー 508 536 459 536 533 459 478 481 481</th></t<>	40347 40347V1 40347V2 40348V1 40348V2 40348V2 40349V1 40349V1 40349V1 40340V2 40355 40355 40356 40366 40366 40368 40368 40368 40369	389 390 391 392 392 393 393 394 334 336 288 515 515 515 508 6 ハー 508 6 ハー 508 536 459 536 533 459 478 481 481
2N59955 2N59956 2N59952 2N59992 2N59993 2N59994 2N5995 2N595 2N5		431 432 567 568 569 570 472 473 664 664 363 364 664 363 364 365 373 374 367 368 369 370 374	40230 3 40237 3 40238 3 40239 3 40240 3 40242 3 40243 3 40244 3 40245 3 40246 3 40245 3 40246 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40251 4 40253 4 40254 4 40255 4 40254 4 40255 4 40264 4 40263 4	317 318 319 319 321 322 323 397 398 662 663 664 6	40347 40347V1 40347V2 40348 40348V1 40348V2 40349 40349V1 40349V1 40349V1 40340V2 40355 40359 40360 40361 /\lambda F. COMPCOM 40362 (C) COMPCOM 40364 40364 40365 40365 40368 40369 40369 40369 40369	389 390 391 392 392 393 393 394 334 334 515 508 508 508 508 508 508 508 508 508 50
2N59955 2N59956 2N59956 2N59992 2N59994 2N59996 2N59966 2N6032 2N6033 3N98 3N138 3N138 3N138 3N140 3N141 3N142 3N143 3N153 3N153 3N154 3N154 3N154 3N154 3N154 3N154		431 432 567 568 569 570 472 473 664 664 363 364 363 364 363 373 374 368 368 368 368 369 370 374 379	40236 3 40237 3 40238 3 40239 3 40240 3 40241 3 40242 3 40243 3 40244 3 40245 3 40246 3 40250 1 40255 6 40254 2 40255 6 40256 6 40263 6 40264 6	317 318 319 321 321 322 323 397 398 412 663 653	40347 40347V1 40347V2 40348 40348V1 40348V2 40349V1 40349V1 40349V1 40340V2 40355 40355 40360 40361 40366 40366 40366 40368 40369 40372	389 390 391 392 392 392 393 393 394 334 336 515 515 508 ベルテー 508 459 478 481 483 397
2N59955 2N59956 2N59952 2N59992 2N59993 2N59994 2N59995 2N59962 2N6032 2N6032 2N6033 3N98 3N128 3N139 3N128 3N139 3N140 3N141 3N142 3N143 3N154 3N153 3N154 3N159		431 432 567 568 569 570 472 473 664 664 363 364 664 363 365 373 374 367 368 369 370 374 379 370 374 379 370	40230 3 40237 3 40238 3 40239 3 40240 3 40242 3 40243 3 40244 3 40245 3 40246 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40250 3 40251 4 40253 4 40254 4 40255 4 40264 4 40263 4 40264 4 40265 4 40266 4 40267 4	317 318 319 319 321 322 323 397 398 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 663	40347 40347V1 40347V2 40348 40348V1 40348V2 40349V1 40349V1 40349V1 40349V1 40340V2 40355 40359 40360 40361 /\lambda F. COMPCOM 40362 (C) COMPCOM 40363 40364 40365 40368 40369 40372 40373 	389 390 391 392 392 392 393 394 334 334 335 508 508 508 508 508 533 459 478 481 481 397 397
2N5955 2N5956 2N5996 2N5999 2N5999 2N5999 2N5996 2N5996 2N6032 2N6033 3N98 3N138 3N138 3N138 3N140 3N141 3N142 3N143 3N153 3N153 3N154 3N154 3N154 3N154 3N154		431 432 567 568 569 550 472 473 664 664 363 364 363 364 363 373 374 368 368 368 368 369 370 374 379 380	40230 3 40237 3 40238 3 40239 3 40240 3 40241 3 40242 3 40243 3 40245 3 40246 3 40245 3 40250 1 40255 6 40254 2 40255 6 40256 6 40263 6 40264 6 40255 6 40264 6 40255 6 40263 6 40264 6 40265 6 40266 6 40266 6 40266 6 40266 6	317 318 319 321 322 323 397 398 412 498 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 662 663 653 653 653 653	40347 40347V1 40347V2 40348V1 40348V2 40348V2 40349V1 40349V1 40349V1 40340V2 40355 40355 40360 40366 40366 40366 40368 40368 40369 40373 40374 40374	389 390 391 392 393 394 334 335 516 508 508 536 533 441

Index to RCA Solid-State Devices

40375 40378 40379	460 4050 629 4050 629 4050 629 4050 436 4050	2	596 4061 596 4061 650 4062 650 4062	6 8 21	518 522 522 523
40385 40389 40390	430 4050 448 4050 437 4050	7	650 4062 630 4062		501 531
40391 40392 40394 40395	422 4050 460 4050 423 4051 289 4051	8 9 0 1	630 4062 589 4062 589 4062 589 4062 589 4062	15 16 17 18	519 502 531 519
40396 40397 40398 40399 40400	292 4051 302 4051 303 4051 304 4051 305 4051	2 3 4 7 8	589 4062 409 4063 409 4063 664 4063 664 4063	9	523 524 532 534 510
40405 40406 40407 40408 40409	336 4051 506 4052 511 4052 511 4052 510 4052	9 5 6 7 8	337 4063 591 4063 591 4063 591 4063 591 4063 591 4063 591 4063	5 36 37 38 39 	518 536 337 600 600
40410 40411 40412 40412VI 40412V2	511 4052 537 4053 437 4053 438 4053 438 4053	9 0 1 2 3 	591 4064 591 4064 588 4064 588 4064 588 4064 588 4064	10 11 12 13 14 14 10 11 12 13 14 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	627 627 653 653 653
40413 40414 40421 40428 40428	333 4053 333 4053 499 4053 657 4053 597 4053	4	588 4065 588 4065 509 4065 510 4065 517 4065	54 55 56 57 58	631 631 632 632 624
40430 40431 40432 40439 40440	597 4054 598 4054 598 4054 598 4054 503 4054 503 4054	2 3 4 6 	532 4065 534 4066 518 4066 664 4066 664 4066	i9 50 52 53 54	624 616 617 617 604
40442	658 4055 580 4055 306 4055 664 4055 664 4055	3 4 5 9 9 A	629 4060 628 4060 628 4060 664 4060 373 4067	i6 57 58 59 71	585 603 605 605 619
40462	500 4057 664 4057 371 4057 664 4057 372 4058	75	612 4067 612 4067 580 4067 581 4068 582 4068	/2 /3 /5 	619 382 584 647 647
40477 40478 40479 40480 40481	664 4058 664 4058 664 4059 664 4059 664 4059 664 4059 664 4059	2 3 4 5 8A	582 4068 651 4068 525 4068 525 4068 656 4068	12 33 34 35 36	647 647 589 589 589
40482 40485 40486 40486 40487 40488	664 4060 599 4060 599 4060 664 4060 664 4060 664 4060	0 1 2 3 4	376 4068 377 4068 377 4068 377 4068 377 4068 377 4068 378 4069	17 18 19 10 11	589 622 622 622 622 594
40489 40490 40491 40500 40501	664 4060 664 4060 505 4061 664 4061 664 4061 664 4061	5 8 1 2 3	582 4069 583 4069 517 4069 501 4069 521 4069	12 13 14 15 16	595 593 593 593 593 593

40697 40698 40699 40700 40701	593 4 593 4 622 4 622 4 622 4 622 4	0755 0756 0757 0758 0759	643 C 641 C 641 C 642 C 643 C	R107	654 654 654 654 654
40702 40703 40704 40705 40706	623 4 623 4 623 4 617 4 617 4	0760 0761 0762 0766 0767	641 C 588 C 588 C 594 C 588 C	R203 R204 R206 R206 R208 R210	654 654 654 654 655
40707 40708 40709 40710 40710	618 4 618 4 619 4 620 4 613 4	0769 0770 0771 0772 0773	586 C 586 C 587 C 587 C 587 C 594 C	R212 R301 R302 R303 CR304	655 655 655 655 655
40712 40713 40714 40715 40716	613 4 614 4 614 4 614 4 614 4 614 4	0774 0775 0776 0777 0778	594 0 602 0 602 0 603 0	CR305 CR306 CR307 CR311 CR312	655 655 655 655 655
40717 40718 40719 40720 40721	608 4 608 4 608 4 608 4 608 4 606 4	0779 0780 0781 0782 0783	609 0 609 0 609 0 609 0 609 0 614 0	R313 R314 R315 R316 CR317	655 655 655 655 655
40722 40723 40724 40725 40726	606 4 603 4 604 4 600 4 600 4	0784	614 0 615 0 615 0 609 0 610 0	CR321 CR322 CR323 CR324 CR324 CR325	655 655 655 655 655
40727 40728 40729 40730 40731	601 4 601 4 601 4 601 4 590 4	0797 0798 0799 0800 0801	615 (616 (609 (609 (609 (CR331 CR332 CR333 CR333 CR334 CR335	655 655 655 655 655
40732 40733 40734 40735 40736R	590 4 596 4 596 4 649 4 656 4	0802	615 6 615 6 615 6 618 6	CR341 CR342 CR343 CR343 CR344 CR351	655 655 655 655 655
40737 40738 40739 40740 40741	632 4 634 4 634 4 635 4 633 4	0807 0808 0809 0810 0811	618 652 652 624 624	CR352 CR353 CR354 CR354 CR401 CR402	655 655 655 655 655
40742	634 4 635 4 636 4 633 4 634 4	0812	624 624 383 384 386	CR403 CR404 CR405 CR405 CR406 CR407	655 655 655 655 655
40747	635 4 636 4 639 0 641 0 642 0	0822 0823 CR101 CR102 CR102 CR103	387 388 654 654 654	CR408 CR409 CR501 CR502 CR503	655 655 655 655 655
40752 40753 40754	640 641 642	CR104 CR105 CR106	654 654 654	CR504 CR505 CR506	655 655 655

Index

Absolute Maximum Ratings	282
Absolute Maximum System	282
AC Power Controls	204
Aircraft Radio	156
Air-Rescue Beacon	158
Alpha	18
Amplification, low-frequency	112
Amplifiers:	
Audio	112
Chopper	124
Class A	112
Class AB	112
Class B	112
Class C	112
Differential	125
DC	124
High-Fidelity	122
High-Frequency	133
Intermediate-Frequency	94
Microwave	163
Phase Inverter	124
Power	133
Push-Pull	119
Radio-Frequency	133
RF Power	133
Tuned	94
Wideband (Video)	129
Amplitude Modulation	90
Anode	7
Astable Circuits	189
Astable Multivibrator (Circuit)	753
Attenuators	127
Audio Amplifiers	112
Audio Drivers 113,	117
Audio Oscillators (Circuit)	738
Audio Power Amplifiers	117
Audio Power Amplifiers	
(Circuits)	725
Audio Stages, Low-Level	113
Autodyne Converter	110
Automatic Frequency Control	111
Automatic Gain Control	98
Forward AGC	99
Reverse AGC	98
Automatic Volume Control	98
Automobile Ignition System	204
Automobile Radio Receiver	
(12 V) (Circuit)	694
Avalanche Voltage	77
Balanced Phase-Shift Discriminator	92 8

Dalanced Phase-Shift Discriminator	
Base	. 8
Basic Transistor Circuits	15, 53
Dasic Italisistor (Cinquit)	747
Battery Chargers (Circuit)	0 000
Beta	0, 200
Rissing 7. 20.	49, 52
Diag Stability	23
Dias Stability	190
Bistable Circuits	103
Blocking Current	. 57
Blocking Oscillator	190
Blocking Oscillator	10 77
Breakdown Voltage	19, 11

Breakover Voltage Broadband Power Amplifier	56 159
Canacative Division	97
Cathoda	7
Channel	39
Characteristics 17, 47, 60, 65, 7	7. 78
Characteristic Curves	17
Chonner-Type Circuits	91
Circuits (Diagrams and Parts Lists):	
Aircraft-Band Amplifier	
(40 W PEP)	733
Astable Multivibrator	753
Audio Oscillator	738
Audio Power Amplifiers:	
12-Watt Complementary-	
Symmetry	718
25-Watt High-Fidelity, Quasi-	
Complementary-Symmetry	720
40-Watt High-Fidelity, Quasi-	
Complementary-Symmetry	723
70-Watt High-Fidelity, Quasi-	
Complementary-Symmetry	725
Automobile Radio Receiver	
(12 V)	694
Battery Chargers	747
Citizens-Band Transmitter (5 W)	727
Code-Practice Oscillator	737
Converter, Two-Meter	707
CW Transmitter (40 W)	729
Electronic Keyer	739
FM Stereo Multiplex	
Demodulator	703
FM Tuner for Multiplex	606
Receiver	090
FM Tuner using MOS RF	700
Amplifter and Mixer	736
Grid-Dip Meter	100
Integral-Cycle Temperature	749
Light Dimmon	755
Light Elechen	754
Light Minder for Automobiles	746
Multivibrator Astable	753
Oscillator Stable	
Variable-Frequency	709
Power Supply for Amateur	
Transmitter	741
Preamplifiers :	
Amateur-Band Receiver (6-,	ć.
10-, or 15-Meter)	~705
High-Fidelity for Phono, FM,	
or Tape Pickup	715
Microphone with High	
Dynamic Range	712
Radio Receivers	
Automobile, 12-Volt	694
Ring Counter	750
Servo Amplifier	750
Shift Register	150
Temperature Controller,	740
Integral-Cycle	707
1 wo-Meter Converter	101

RCA Transistor, Thyristor, & Diode Manual

Variable-Frequency Oscillator	. 709
(35 W, 175 MHz)	. 731
Voltage Regulators:	749
Shunt	745
Wide-Band RF Power Amplifier	795
Circuit Configurations	15, 53
Citizens-Band Transmitter (5 W)	727
Code-Practice Oscillator (Circuit)	. 7 <u>3</u> 7
Collector Collector Curves	. 17
Common-Base Circuit	. 15
Common-Collector Circuit	53
Common-Emitter Circuit	. 16
Common-Gate Circuit	53
Commutated Turn-off Time	. 67
(of Triacs)	. 73
Compensating Diodes	. 87
Controls, Tone and Volume	116
Converters Converter Two-Meter (Circuit)	707
Coupling	. 24
Cross-Over Distortion	. 119
Crystal Oscillators	. 108
Cutoff	. 19
Diffusion	. 6
Fault	. 79
Flow	; 71
Idling	23
Latching	19
Maximum Average Forward	. 79
ON-State	69
Peak Recurrent Forward	. 79
Saturation	. 19
Cutoff Current	19
CW Transmitter (40 W) (Circuit)	. 729
Data, Interpretation of	. 82
DC Amplifiers	124
Deflection:	
Horizontel	181
Vertical	179
Vertical Degenerative Feedback	179
Vertical Degenerative Feedback Delay Time Denletion Laver	179 115 65
Vertical Degenerative Feedback Delay Time Depletion Layer Depletion-Type MOS Transistors 9,	179 115 65 40, 41
Vertical Degenerative Feedback Delay Time Depletion Layer Depletion-Type MOS Transistors 9, Detection Devices	179 115 65 40, 41 89 7
Vertical Degenerative Feedback Delay Time Depletion Layer Depletion-Type MOS Transistors 9, Detection Devices Diac	179 115 65 40, 41 89 7 9, 59 71
Vertical Degenerative Feedback Delay Time Depletion Layer Depletion-Type MOS Transistors 9, Detection Devices Diac di/dt Characteristics Differential Amplifiers	179 115 65 40, 41 89 7 9, 59 71 125
Vertical Degenerative Feedback Delay Time Depletion Layer Depletion Layer Detection Devices Diac di/dt Characteristics Differential Amplifiers Diffusion Current	179 115 65 40, 41 89 7 9, 59 71 125 6 7
Vertical Degenerative Feedback Delay Time Depletion Layer Depletion Layer Detection Disc di/dt Characteristics Differential Amplifiers Diffusion Current Diffusion Current Diffusion Current Diffusion Current	179 115 65 40, 41 9, 59 71 125 6 77 8, 87
Vertical Degenerative Feedback Delay Time Depletion Layer Depletion-Type MOS Transistors 9, Detection Diac di/dt Characteristics Differential Amplifiers Diffusion Current Diffusion Current	179 115 65 640, 41 9, 59 71 125 6 7 8, 87 8, 83 8, 83
Vertical Degenerative Feedback Delay Time Depletion Layer Depletion-Type MOS Transistors 9, Detection Diac di/dt Characteristics Differential Amplifiers Diffusion Current Diffusion Current Diffusion Current Diffusion Current Varactor Varactor Voltage-Reference	179 115 65 640, 41 89 7 9, 59 71 125 6 7 8, 87 8, 83 8, 86 8, 86
Vertical Degenerative Feedback Delay Time Depletion Layer Depletion-Type MOS Transistors 9, Detection Diac di/dt Characteristics Diffusion Current Dides Compensating Tunnel Varactor Voltage-Reference Diode Biasing Dide Detector	179 115 65 640, 41 9, 59 71 125 6 7 8, 87 8, 83 8, 86 8, 86 8, 86 23 90
Vertical Degenerative Feedback Delay Time Depletion Layer Depletion-Type MOS Transistors 9, Detection Devices Diac di/dt Characteristics Diffusion Current Diddes Compensating Tunnel Varactor Voltage-Reference Diode Biasing Diode Detector Direct Coupling	179 115 65 40, 41 9, 59 71 125 6 77 8, 87 8, 83 8, 86 8, 86 8, 86 8, 86 8, 25 90
Vertical Degenerative Feedback Delay Time Depletion Layer Depletion-Type MOS Transistors 9, Detection Devices Diac di/dt Characteristics Diffusion Current Diffusion Current Diffusion Current Diddes Compensating Tunnel Varactor Voltage-Reference Diode Biasing Diode Detector Direct Coupling Dissipation, Transistor	179 115 65 40, 41 89 77 9, 59 71 125 65 8, 83 8, 86 8, 86 8, 86 8, 86 90 25 659 30
Vertical Pegenerative Feedback Delay Time Depletion Layer Depletion-Type MOS Transistors 9, Detection Devices Diac di/dt Characteristics Diffusion Current Diffusion Current Diffusion Current Diodes Compensating Tunnel Varactor Voltage-Reference Diode Biasing Diode Detector Direct Coupling Discontinued Transistors, Chart of Dissipation, Transistor Distortion: Distortion:	179 115 65 40, 41 9, 59 71 125 6 8, 87 8, 83 8, 86 8, 26 90 25 659 30 99
Vertical Degenerative Feedback Delay Time Depletion Layer Depletion-Type MOS Transistors 9, Detection Devices Differential Amplifiers Differential Amplifiers Differential Amplifiers Differential Amplifiers Differential Amplifiers Differential Amplifiers Differential Amplifiers Differential Amplifiers Differential Amplifiers Differential Amplifiers Diodes Compensating Tunnel Varactor Voltage-Reference Diode Biasing Diode Detector Direct Coupling Discontinued Transistors, Chart of Distortion: Cross-Modulation Cross-Over	179 65 665 6640, 41 89 9, 59 71 125 6 8, 83 8, 86 8, 86 8, 86 8, 86 8, 86 8, 86 8, 86 8, 86 8, 86 8, 80 25 659 30 99 99

Intermodulation Division, Capacitive Drain	. 122 . 97	27
Dritt Current Drivers 1 dv/dt Characteristics Dynamic Characteristics	13, 117	
Egginamic Range	. 114	•
Electronic Keyer (Circuit) Electron Flow Emitter	. 739 . 6	ŝ
MOS Transistors	40, 41	3
Fabrication	13, 46	ŝ
Fault Current Feedback Field-Effect Transistors	79 115 8, 39	;
Junction-Gate Types 9, MOS Types 9, Filters 9,	39, 40 39, 40 231 21)) [
Flip-Flop Circuits FM Demodulator (Circuit) FM Tuners (Circuits) 65	189 703 96, 700) 3) 3
Forward Bias Forward Breakover Voltage Forward Characteristics	. 56	ź
(Silicon Rectifier) Forward Current-Transfer Ratio Frequency Control, Automatic Frequency Conversion	. 78 . 17 . 111 . 110	3
Frequency, Cutoff Frequency Modulation Frequency Multipliers	. 18 . 91 . 17(5 []
Gain-Bandwidth Porduct	. 1'	788
Gate Characteristics Gate Nontrigger Voltage Gate Recovery Time	60)15,
Gate Ingger Circuits	736	;
Harmonic Distortion Heat Controls Heat Sinks	122 211 241	2.5
High-Fidelity Amplifiers High-Frequency Considerations High-Frequency Power Amplifiers Holding Current	122	535
Horizontal Deflection	0, 212	2
dling Current Impedance Coupling Impurities Inductive Switching	23	1514

Inductive	Swite	hi	n	g				i					2				÷		å	i				3
Integral-C	ycle 1	Гe	n	ŋ	96	21	.8	ιt	u	ľ	e			•	01	n	u	r.c	,,		e			74
Intermedi	ate-Fr	eq	ju	e	'n	ċ	ý	ŕ	Ì	Ń	'n	ij	p]	ĥ	ĥ	e	r	s	`					9
Intermodu	lation		D	i	51	0	r	t	ic)	1				-	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	12
Inverse F	eedba	ck			,	,	•	•	•	•		•	•		٠	•	٠	٠	•	•	•	•	٠	11
Inverter,	Phase			,	,					•				•	•	•	•	٠	•	•	•	•	•	12
Inverters					,					•	•	•	,		•	•	•	•	•	·	•	٠	٠	19
SCR	Туре											•			•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	20
Trans	istor '	T۱	/r	e	3								,			•	•	•	•	•	•	•	٠	19

ı

Junctions	5
Latching Current LC Resonant Feedback Oscillators Leakage Currents 19, Light Dimmers (Circuits) Light Dimmers (Circuit) Light Flasher (Circuit) Light Flasher (Circuit)	71 104 193 211 755 754
(Circuit) Line-Operated Audio Equipment Linear Amplifier Line-Section Matching Networks	746 123 154 143
Maximum Available Gain (MAG) Maximum Gate Power Dissipation Maximum Ratings	96 62 82
Maximum Usable Power Gain (MUG) Microwaye Power Amplifiers Microwaye Power Generation Military Radio Military-Specification Types Mobile Radio	96 118 168 156 275 145
Modulation: Amplitude Frequency Monostable Circuits MOS Field-Effect Transistors Biasing Techniques Characteristics	90 91 189 9, 39 9, 52 47
Circuit Configurations Data Depletion Type Dual-Gate Types Electrical Characteristics Enhancement Type Fabrication	53 363 41 42 47 41 46
Handling Considerations Integral Gate Protection Symbols Technical Features Testing Motor Controls	55 45 272 55 241 221
Full-Wave Half-Wave Induction Reversing Mounting: Rectifier	225 223 225 226 255
Thyristor Transistor Mounting Hardware Multivibrator, Astable (Circuit) Multivibrators	252 246 683 753 144
Negative Feedback Negative-Resistance Characteristic Noise Figure Nontrigger Voltage N-P-N Structures N-Type Material	115 83 113 189 61 8 5
OFF-State Voltage ON-State Current ON-State Voltage Oscillation	67 69 68 104
Oscillator, Variable-Frequency (Circuit) Outlines Overlay Transistors Overlad Protection	709 666 15 181

Pasking .	
Series	130
Shunt	129
Peak Reverse Voltage	78
Phase Inverter	124
Phase-Shift Discriminator	92
Pinch-Off Region	47
P-N Junctions	5
P-N-P Structures	163
Power Amplifiers, Audio	117
Power Amplifiers, RF	133
Power Control	189
Power Generation, Microwave	168
Power Output, Transistor	27
Power Supply for Amateur Transmitter (Circuit)	741
Power Switching	189
Preamplifiers	113
for Amateur-Band Receiver (Circuit)	705
For Phono, FM, or Tape Pickup	
(Circuit)	715
P-Type Material	112
Pulse Modulators	204
Punch Through Region	47
Punch-Inrough Voltage	119
"Q" (Selectivity)	119
_	
Radio-Frequency Amplifiers 94,	133
Radio Receiver (Circuits)	694
Ratio Detector	
RC Feedback Oscillators	110
RC Feedback Oscillators Reach-Through Voltage	110 20
RC Feedback Oscillators Reach-Through Voltage Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications	110 20 88 228
RC Feedback Oscillators	110 20 88 228
RC Feedback Oscillators Reach-Through Voltage Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications Rectification Rectifier Circuits: Single-Phase Full-Wave	110 20 88 228 228
RC Feedback Oscillators Reach-Through Voltage Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications Rectification Rectifier Circuits: Single-Phase Full-Wave Single-Phase Half-Wave Siry-Phase	20 88 228 228 228 228 228 228
RC Feedback Oscillators Reach-Through Voltage Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications Rectification Rectifier Circuits: Single-Phase Full-Wave Six-Phase Three-Phase Full-Wave	228 228 228 228 228 229 229
RC Feedback Oscillators Reach-Through Voltage Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications Rectification Single-Phase Full-Wave Six-Phase Half-Wave Three-Phase Full-Wave Three-Phase Half-Wave	53 110 20 88 228 228 228 229 229 229 229
RC Feedback Oscillators Reach-Through Voltage Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications Rectification Single-Phase Full-Wave Single-Phase Full-Wave Six-Phase Three-Phase Full-Wave Three-Phase Half-Wave Rectifier Mounting Rectifiers	53 110 20 88 228 228 228 229 229 229 229 229 255
RC Feedback Oscillators Reach-Through Voltage Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications Rectification Single-Phase Full-Wave Single-Phase Full-Wave Siz-Phase Full-Wave Three-Phase Full-Wave Rectifier Mounting Rectifiers: Silicon	110 20 88 228 228 229 229 229 255 , 77
RC Feedback Oscillators Reach-Through Voltage Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications Rectification Single-Phase Full-Wave Single-Phase Full-Wave Single-Phase Full-Wave Three-Phase Full-Wave Rectifier Mounting Rectifiers: Silicon Silicon Controlled	110 208 228 228 229 229 229 229 255 , 77 , 95
RC Feedback Oscillators Reach-Through Voltage Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications Rectification Single-Phase Full-Wave Six-Phase Half-Wave Three-Phase Half-Wave Rectifier Mounting Rectifiers: Silicon Silicon Controlled Tunnel Rectifier Symbols	110 208 228 228 228 229 229 229 255 7,77 5,66 85 274
RC Feedback Oscillators Reach-Through Voltage Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications Rectification Single-Phase Full-Wave Six-Phase Half-Wave Three-Phase Half-Wave Three-Phase Half-Wave Rectifiers: Silicon Silicon Silicon Controlled Tunnel Rectifier Symbols Regemerative Feedback	110 20 88 228 228 229 229 229 255 77 56 85 274 115
RC Feedback Oscillators Reach-Through Voltage Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications Rectification Single-Phase Full-Wave Six-Phase Half-Wave Six-Phase Half-Wave Three-Phase Half-Wave Rectifiers: Silicon Silicon Controlled Tunel Rectifier Symbols Regenerative Feedback Regulated Power Supply Descubited Circuits	110 20 88 228 228 229 229 229 229 255 , 56 85 274 115 235
RC Feedback Oscillators Reach-Through Voltage Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications Rectification Single-Phase Full-Wave Six-Phase Half-Wave Six-Phase Half-Wave Three-Phase Half-Wave Rectifiers Mounting Rectifiers: Silicon Silicon Controlled Tunnel Rectifier Symbols Regenerative Feedback Regulated Power Supply Regulated Circuits: Series	110 20 88 228 228 229 229 229 229 229 255 , 77 , 85 274 115 235 233
RC Feedback Oscillators Reach-Through Voltage Rectification Rectification Single-Phase Full-Wave Six-Phase Half-Wave Six-Phase Half-Wave Three-Phase Half-Wave Rectifiers: Silicon Silicon Controlled Tunnel Rectifier Symbols Regulated Power Supply Regulator Circuits: Series Shunt	110 20 88 228 228 229 229 255 77 56 85 274 115 235 233 234
RC Feedback Oscillators Reach-Through Voltage Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications Rectification Single-Phase Full-Wave Six-Phase Half-Wave Six-Phase Half-Wave Three-Phase Half-Wave Rectifier Mounting Rectifiers: Silicon Silicon Controlled Tunnel Rectifier Symbols Regenerative Feedback Regulated Power Supply Regulated Correlis: Series Shunt Switching 191,	110 20 88 228 228 229 229 229 229 229 229 229
RC Feedback Oscillators Reach-Through Voltage Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications Rectification Single-Phase Full-Wave Six-Phase Half-Wave Six-Phase Half-Wave Three-Phase Half-Wave Rectifiers: Silicon Silicon Controlled Tunnel Rectifier Symbols Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Regulated Circuits: Series Shunt Switching 191, Resistance-Capacitance Coupling Resistance-Capacitance Coupling	110 20 88 228 228 229 229 229 229 229 229 255 77 56 274 115 235 234 235 234 235 234
RC Feedback Oscillators Reach-Through Voltage Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications Rectification Single-Phase Full-Wave Single-Phase Half-Wave Six-Phase Half-Wave Three-Phase Half-Wave Rectifiers: Silicon Silicon Controlled Tunnel Rectifier Symbols Regulated Power Supply Regulator Circuits: Series Shunt Switching 191, Resistance-Capacitance Coupling Resistivity Resonant Circuits	110 20 88 228 228 229 229 229 229 229 229 229
RC Feedback Oscillators Reach-Through Voltage Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications Rectification Single-Phase Full-Wave Single-Phase Full-Wave Six-Phase Three-Phase Full-Wave Rectifiers Silicon Silicon Controlled Tunnel Rectifier Symbols Regenerative Feedback Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Resonant Circuits Shunt Switching Resistivity Resonant Circuits Reverse AGC	10 10 20 88 228 229 229 229 229 229 229
RC Feedback Oscillators Reach-Through Voltage Rectification Rectification Single-Phase Full-Wave Six-Phase Full-Wave Six-Phase Half-Wave Three-Phase Half-Wave Rectifier Mounting Rectifiers: Silicon Tunnel Rectifier Symbols Regenerative Feedback Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Resistance-Capacitance Coupling Resistivity Resonant Circuits Reverse Blas Reverse Blas	53 10 20 88 228 229 229 229 229 229 229
RC Feedback Oscillators Reach-Through Voltage Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications Rectification Single-Phase Full-Wave Six-Phase Half-Wave Six-Phase Half-Wave Three-Phase Half-Wave Rectifiers: Silicon Silicon Controlled Tunnel Rectifiers: Silicon Controlled Tunnel Rectifier Symbols Regenerative Feedback Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Regulated Circuits: Series Shunt Switching 191, Resistance-Capacitance Coupling Resonant Circuits Reverse Bas Reverse Blas Reverse Blocking Current Reverse Recovery Time	10 20 88 228 229 229 229 229 255 7,77 55 274 115 235 234 235 234 235 234 235 234 235 235 234 235 235 235 235 235 255 275 275 275 275 275 275 275 275 27
RC Feedback Oscillators Reach-Through Voltage Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications Rectification Single-Phase Full-Wave Single-Phase Half-Wave Single-Phase Half-Wave Three-Phase Half-Wave Rectifiers: Silicon Controlled Tunnel Rectifier Symbols Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Resistance-Capacitance Coupling Resistance-Capacitance Coupling Resistance-Capacitance Coupling Reverse Blas Reverse Blas Reverse Blas Reverse Blas Reverse Blas Reverse Recovery Time Reverse Voltage, SCR	10 208 228 228 229 229 229 229 229 229 225 5 5 233 234 235 235 233 234 235 235 234 235 235 235 234 235 235 235 235 235 235 235 235 235 235
RC Feedback Oscillators Reach-Through Voltage Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications Rectification Single-Phase Full-Wave Single-Phase Half-Wave Six-Phase Half-Wave Three-Phase Half-Wave Rectifiers: Silicon Silicon Controlled Tunnel Rectifier Symbols Regulated Power Supply Regulator Circuits: Series Shunt Switching Resistance-Capacitance Coupling Resistivity Resonant Circuits Reverse AGC Reverse Blas Reverse Blas Reverse Blas Reverse Blas Reverse Recovery Time Reverse Recovery Time Reverse Noltage, SCR RF Power Amplifiers (Circuits) 733, RF Power Amplifiers	530 200 200 228 228 229 229 229 229 229 229 229 229
RC Feedback Oscillators Reach-Through Voltage Rectification Rectification Single-Phase Full-Wave Single-Phase Full-Wave Six-Phase Half-Wave Three-Phase Half-Wave Rectifier Mounting Rectifiers: Silicon Controlled Tunnel Rectifier Symbols Regulated Power Supply Regulator Circuits: Series Switching Resistivity Resistance-Capacitance Coupling Resistivity Resonant Circuits Reverse Blas Reverse Blas Reverse Blocking Current Reverse Recovery Time Reverse Recovery Time Reverse Voltage, SCR	10 200 88 228 228 229 229 229 229 229 229 229
RC Feedback Oscillators Reach-Through Voltage Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications Rectification Single-Phase Full-Wave Single-Phase Half-Wave Six-Phase Half-Wave Three-Phase Half-Wave Rectifier Mounting Rectifiers: Silicon Controlled Tunnel Rectifiers: Silicon Controlled Tunnel Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Resistance-Capacitance Coupling Resistance-Capacitance Coupling Reverse Blas Reverse Blas Reverse Blas Reverse Blas Reverse Blas Reverse Blas Reverse Circuits Reverse Circuits Reverse Recovery Time Reverse Recovery Time Reverse Mapplifiers Circuit Design Transistor Characterization for Medulation	53 110 200 88 228 228 229 229 229 229 229
RC Feedback Oscillators Reach-Through Voltage Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications Rectification Single-Phase Full-Wave Single-Phase Half-Wave Six-Phase Half-Wave Three-Phase Half-Wave Rectifiers: Silicon Tunnel Rectifiers: Silicon Controlled Tunnel Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Resistance-Capacitance Coupling Resistance-Capacitance Coupling Reverse AGC Reverse Bias Reverse Bias Reverse Bias Reverse Recovery Time Reverse Recovery Time Reverse Voltage, SCR RF Power Amplifiers (Circuits) Silicon Characterization for Modulation RF Power Transistors, Features of	53 110 200 228 228 229 229 229 229 229 229
RC Feedback Oscillators Reach-Through Voltage Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications Rectification Single-Phase Full-Wave Single-Phase Half-Wave Sinz-Phase Half-Wave Three-Phase Half-Wave Rectifiers: Silicon Silicon Controlled Tunnel Rectifiers: Silicon Controlled Tunnel Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Resistance-Capacitance Coupling Resistance-Capacitance Coupling Resistance-Capacitance Coupling Reverse Blas Reverse Blas Reverse Blas Reverse Blas Reverse Blas Reverse Blas Reverse Blas Reverse Coltage, SCR RF Power Amplifiers Circuit Design Transistor Characterization for Modulation RF Power Transistors, Features of Frequency Response	53 10 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 2
RC Feedback Oscillators Reach-Through Voltage Rectification Rectification Single-Phase Full-Wave Single-Phase Full-Wave Six-Phase Half-Wave Three-Phase Half-Wave Rectifiers Mounting Rectifiers: Silicon Controlled Tunnel Rectifier Symbols Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Resistivity Resistance-Capacitance Coupling Resistivity Resonant Circuits Reverse AGC Reverse Blas Reverse Blas Reverse Blocking Current Reverse Recovery Time Reverse Recovery Time Reverse Recovery Time Reverse Voltage, SCR RF Power Amplifiers Circuit Design Transistor Characterization for Modulation RF Power Curtout	53 10 208 228 228 228 229 229 229 229 22
RC Feedback Oscillators Reach-Through Voltage Rectification Rectification Single-Phase Full-Wave Single-Phase Full-Wave Six-Phase Half-Wave Three-Phase Half-Wave Rectifier Mounting Rectifiers: Silicon Controlled Tunnel Rectifier Symbols Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Resistance-Capacitance Coupling Restifiers Switching Switching Reverse Blas Reverse Blas Reverse Blas Reverse Blas Reverse Blocking Current Reverse Recovery Time Reverse Recovery Time Reverse Recovery Time Reverse Recovery Time Reverse Recovery Time Reverse Recovery Time Reverse Voltage, SCR RF Power Amplifiers Circuit Design Transistor Characterization for Modulation RF Power Transistors, Features of Frequency Response Packages Power Output Ring Counter (Circuit)	110 200 88 228 228 228 229 229 229 229 229 229
RC Feedback Oscillators Reach-Through Voltage Receiver Tuner-Circuit Applications Rectification Single-Phase Full-Wave Single-Phase Half-Wave Six-Phase Half-Wave Three-Phase Half-Wave Rectifiers: Silicon Tunnel Rectifiers: Silicon Controlled Tunnel Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Regulated Power Supply Resistance-Capacitance Coupling Resistance-Capacitance Coupling Reverse Bias Reverse Bias Reverse Bias Reverse Bias Reverse Bias Reverse Recovery Time Reverse Coltage, SCR RF Power Amplifiers Circuit Design Transistor Characterization for Modulation RF Power Transistors, Features of Frequency Response Power Output Ring Counter (Circuit) Ripple_	53 10 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 2

J afe-Operating-Area Ratings	- 31
Saturating Current	- 19
Saturation Voltage	- 20
Scanning Fundamentals	17
Second Breakdown	- 20
Selection Charts	270
Selectivity (Q)	- 94
Self-Bias	2:
Self-Resonant Inductor	129
Semiconductor Materials	
Series Peaking	130
Series Regulators	23:
Serve Amplifier (Circuit)	720
Shift Register (Circuit)	750
Shunt Pasking	129
Shunt Regulators	234
Signal to Noigo Ratio	11:
Silicon Controlled Rectifiers 9 56	234
Silicon Rectifiers 7	7'
Data	65
Forward Characteristics	71
Most Sinka	24
Queuland Protection	- 8
Patinga	7
Renowe Cheve stouisting	77
Caulay and Danallal	
Series and rarate	81
Texting	24
The area I. Convidentione	77
Cie de Cideband The sumittem	140
Single-Sideband Transmitters	95
SK-Series Replacement Devices	15
Sonobuoy Transmitters	20
Source o	, 0;
Source ronower	
Stability Factor	17
Static Characteristics	
Storage Time	41
Structures :	
N-P-N	
P-N-P	
Surge Current	, 6
Sustaining Voltage	2(
Switching Regulators 191,	235
Switching Voltage	, 34
Symbols	270
Sync	170
Sync Separator	176

Cochnical Data for:	
MOS Field-Effect Transistors	363
Dowor Transistors 389.	538
Restifiers and Other Diodes	652
Small Signal Bipolar Transistors	284
Themistore	586
Television	0
Horizontal Deflection	181
Dessinger	88
Receiver European Provide Montale	175
Scanning rundamentals	176
Sync	179
Vertical Deflection	749
Temperature Controller (Circuit)	237
Testing	237
Bipolar Transistors	241
MOS Transistors	943
SCR's and Triacs	040
Silicon Rectifiers	0.9
Thermistor Bias	20
Thyristors	20
Current Ratings	100
Data	000
Gate Characteristics	00
Gate Trigger Circuits	02
Mounting	202
Power Control	199
Radio-Frequency Interference	75
Switching Characteristics	65
Transient Protection	71
Triac Triggering Modes	62
Voltage Ratings	67
Tone Controls	116

Transconductance, Extrinsic	18
Transfer-Characteristic Curves	17
Transformer Coupling	24
Transient Effects	37
Transistor, Bipolar:	
Characteristics	17
Circuit Configurations	15
Data	. 538
Designs	13
Dissipation	30
Fabrication	13
Features of RF Power Types	133
Military-Specification Types	275
Mounting	247
Selection Charte	276
Switching Characteristics	210
Switching Operation	30
Switching Operation	270
Touting	0.97
Tunout	201
Allen Treating	1.9
Diffured	10
Duife World	10
	13
Epitaxiai	14
Grown-Junction	13
Hometaxial	13
Mesa	13
Overlay	10
Planar	14
Point-Contact	13
Transistor Dissipation	282
Transition Region	6
Triacs	, 243
Triggered Circuits	189
Tuned Amplifiers	94
Tuned-Base Oscillator	104
Tuned-Collector Oscillator	105
Tunnel Diodes	3, 83
Characteristics	83
Operating Point	84
Radiation and Thermal	
Considerations	85
Turn-Off Time	66
Turn-On Time	65
Two-Meter Converter (Circuit)	707
Types of Devices	7

V anable-Frequency Uscillator	
(Circuit) 70	9
Vertical Deflection	9
VHF Power Amplifier (Circuit) 73	1
Video Amplifiers 12	9
Video Detector 9	ī
Voltage:	
Avalanche 7	7
Broakdown 19. 7	Ż
Korward Breakover 5	7
OFF State 6	ż
ON-State 6	ġ
Posk Vouorgo 7	ĕ
Purch Through 2	ŏ
Ponch Through 2	ŏ
Veuenee CCD 6	ž
Caturation 2	å
Saturation	ň
Sustaining	7
Zener 12	-
Voltage-Controlled Attenuators 12	ត់
Voltage Ratings	2
voltage-Reference Diodes	0
Voltage Regulators (Circuits) 743, 74	0
Volume Controls 11	0
Wide Rand Amplifians 12	g
Wide land PE Power Amplifier	
(Circuit) 73	5
(Circuit)	Ĩ
Zener Voltage 7	7





